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Annex

PREFACE.

This History of Shiawassee ami Clinton Counties has been prepared with the intention to make it

as complete and accurate as possible; to produce a truthful and exhaustive narrative of events of im-

portance or general interest which have occurred within the present boundaries of these two counties

from the period of their occupation by tlie aborigines down to the present time; to embody all obtainable

facts, but to exclude from the narrative everything of doubtful authenticity, confining it as closely as

practicable to the limits of Shiawas-see and Clinton, and referring to no outside matters except such as

could not properly be omitted because of their close connection with tlie history of the region which is

especially under notice.

The worlv is divided into thi'ce parts. The first l)art, embracing twenty chapters, is devoted to

matters common to both counties, viz., a short accotuit of the occupation of their territory by the native

Indians as far back as tradition reaches; the operations of white traders among the red men through all

this region; the several Indian cessions of land covering the territory now forming Shiawassee and Clinton;

internal improvements, including a mention of Territorial roads, State roads, and railways traversing the

two counties, and of the several projects formed in early years for improving the navigation of the Shia-

wassee, Maple, and Looking-Glass Rivers; military history, principally referring to the services performed

in the war of the Rebellion by a large number of Michigan regiments, all or nearly all of which contained

soldiers from both Clinton and Shiawassee Counties. Next after these general chapters is given a separate

history of Shiawassee County, its cities, Owosso and Corunn;i, and each of its townships; and this part is

followed by a similar separate history of Clinton County, its principal village, and the several towns.

The township histories are largely made np of accounts of pioneer settlers, the work wliicli they

j)erformed and the privations whicii they endured while transforming tiie wiidenicss into fruitful fields.

In this connection it is ])roj)er to say that if errors are discovered (as it is nearly certain there will

lie) in the orthography of some of the family names of the early and later residents of Shiawassee and

Clinton, it is largelv to be attributed to the fact that the names have been found spellcnl differently

(and sometimes in as many as three or four different ways) in the county, township, church, and .society

records, and that even members of the same family are not infrequently found to vary in the orthog-

rai>hy of their surname. Under such circumstances it caiuiot- be regarde<l as a uuitter of surprise if

the writers of the county and township histories, often finding themselves wholly at a lo.ss to know

which manner of spelling to ado|>t, have sometimes made the nii.stake of choosing the wrong one.

The historical material lor the work has been gathered partly from county, township, and society

records, and to .some extent from old new.spaper files, but prinii|iMlly iVom conversations with the oldc-t

residents and best-informed people, of whom a very large nund)er in each county have been called on

and consulted; and all, with hardly an exception, have fully antl freely— to the extent of their ability

—imparted the information sought. The pioneers and other citi/ens of Shiawa.ssee and Clinton Counties
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PREFACE.

who have tluis furnished information are so numerous that it is impracticable to give them the separate

individual mention which tliey are entitled to receive, but grateful thanks are tendered to each and all for

tiie assistance which they have so obligingly extended. The writer also desires especially to express his

acknowledgments to the editors and proprietors of the several newspapers, the county and township officers,

the pastors and leading members of the churches, and the gentlemen of the legal and medical professions

of the two counties, for favoi-s and courtesies received from them in the preparation of the work.

F. E.

Philadelphia, Pa., August 14, 1880.
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HISTORY
OF

SHIAWiSSEE m CLINTOI COUNTIES. MICHIllil

BY FRANKLIN ELLIS

CHAPTER L

INDIAN HISTORY OF THE TWO COUNTIES.

Forests, Rivers, and In»liaD Mtuimis—TraiUtion of Sauk Occupancy

and Expulsion—Chippewa Occupation—Early Indian Traders

—

Indian Villages, Fields, and Agriculture—Their Peculiar Super-

stitions—The Chief Okemos—Character of the Indians of this

Region—Fearful Ravages of Suiallpox among them in 1837.

A SECTION of country lyiiii; in the form of a parallelo-

gram, about forty-six miles in leugth due east and west,

and twenty-four mile.s wide from south to north, throujrh

which the principal meridian of the State pa.s.ses, one mile

east of the centre, and ul' which the south boundary is

parallel t(i, and twenty-four miles north of, the baseline;

—

this is tiie modern f^eof^rapliieal description of tlie territory

embraced in tlie counties of Shiawassee and (Jliuton. IJut

many years ago, before the surveyor's transit or compass liad

marked the course of a meridian or a base line across the

peninsula, this same territory could not have been described

much more correctly than as a wilderness tract, extending'

from the Grand River north and ea.st, embracing nearly

the whole of the valleys of the Wahwaysin (Looking-Glass)

and Du I'lain* Rivers to their heads ; as al.so the valley

of the Shiawassee River, from the point where its two prin-

cipal branches mingle their waters, down the course of the

main stream for more than two thirds of the distance to the

place where it enters the Saginaw. This was a country of

dense forests and timbered openings, occasionally inter-

sperscid with small ]irairies,f tamarack swamps, and marshes

covered with coarse, rank gra.ss ; and it was well watered by

the streams above mentioned, and their tributaries. Its

only human inhabitants at that time wen- the native In-

dians, and it is with these ])eople that its history com-

mences ; though the existence here of numerous cartlien

mounds (which were of unknown origin, and wholly unlike

*Tho name given by the early French trader?" to the utreani now

known as the Mapio River.

fTho field-notes of the original surveys of Clinton and Shinwafscc

Counties, by deputy United Stjitos surveyors, mention "prairies"

and **prairio Ian<ls," found in a majority of tlie townships of both

counties.

'>

anything known to have been constructed by those to whom
we apply the term aborigines) has induced the belief that

they were the works of a people who were superior to the

Indians, and the predecessors of the latter in their occupa-

tion of the country.

These mounds were generally circular or oval in form,

from ten to forty feet in diameter, and two to sis feet in

height. They were found in various part-s of both coun-

ties, but the largest number in any one locality were found

in the valley of the Maple River, in the northeast part of

Clinton County. | That they were built for purposes of

sepulture is made monr than pmliable, from the fact that all

or nearly all which were examinod were found to contain

huinaii liones. An exception to this, however, was a mound

discovered on the bank of the Shiawitssce River, near New-

burg, in Shiawa.ssee County. § This was nearly circular in

form, and consisted of a parapet inclosing an interior space.

It was surrounded by a ditch, and had an opening or gate-

way facing the east, with detached mounds fronting this

entrance. It has been supposed, from the peculiar construc-

tion of this work, that it was built for purpo.scs of defense.

15ut what were the objects for which the mounds were built,

or who were the people who erected them, are mere topics

of speculation. History has hut to record the bare liict of

their existence, before jja.ssing to the meagre annals of the

native tribes who were found in occupation of the country.

All that is or can be known of the hi.story of the Indians

who once inhabited the interior region now included in tiio

counties of Shiawassee and Clinton nniy lie easily and

briefly told, for it is all, or nearly all, embraced in a period

which is within tiic recollection of settlers who are yet

living and in full ]iossession of all their faculties.

When this wildernes.s region was first penetrated by wiiile

explorers they found it occupied by bands of the Saginaw

tribe of the Ojibwa or Chippewa nation, mixed with a few

Otiawas and still fewi'r I'ollawatlatnie.s, which latter two

had perhaps become allied by marrio^ or otherwise with

X An noonunl of this group of mounds will bo found in tho history

of Ovid and Duplnin townships in litis work.

^ Described by 1). O. AVillianis, Ksi|,, who visited it in the year

182U.
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the dominant Chippewas. The last named, however, have

always been mentioned in Indian history, and recognized by

the United States Government in all treaties, as the original

owners of the country bordering the Saginaw Kiver and

its tributaries, and of the great wilderness stretching away

thence northwestwardly towards the Straits of Mackinac.

The Indians inhabiting the valley of the Shiawassee River

were known to the early traders and settlers as the Shia-

wassee bands of the Saginaws, and these were the same

people who also occupied the country along the Looking-

Glass, the Maple, and the Red Cedar Rivers, though the

several bands were not infrequently designated by the names

of the streams on which their villages or camps were located.

All of them, however (except the Ottawas and few Potta-

wattamies who were found among them as before men-

tioned), were from the same parent stock, and members of

the same tribe or nation,—the Saginaw Chippewas.

But if we may believe their own traditions, the Chippe-

was had not always been masters of these forests and rivers,

nor did their occupancy extend back to years beyond the

memory of their ancestors. The story told by their old

men (and which is to some extent supported by authentic

history) was to the effect that, ages before, in the days of

their great-grandfathers, all the hunting-grounds bordering

the streams which find their outlet in Saginaw Bay, and all

the forests and openings extending thence west to the

Grand River, were held and inhabited by the Sauks, a pow-

erful and warlike people, who not only felt entirely able to

keep their own country, but who were often in the habit of

making bloody forays into the territory of other tribes, who

consequently hated them, and longed to exterminate, or at

least to expel them from the region which they regarded as

an Indian paradise, abounding as it did with fish, deer,

beaver, and almost every kind of game. This desire to

subjugate or destroy the powerful Sauks and to seize their

teeming hunting-grounds, burned nowhere more intensely

than in the breasts of the Chippewa warriors, whose home

at that time was far away at the north. But they dreaded

the prowess of their enemies too much to venture an attack,

and this consideration held them in check for many years,

though their hatred constantly increased and their wish to

possess the Sauk country became so ardent as to well-nigh

overcome their fears.

At last their ambitious desires could be controlled no

longer, and they resolved at all hazards to attempt the

enterprise which they had so long meditated. For this

purpose they held council with the Ottawa.s of the north

(whose country was contiguous to their own), and dispatched

messengers to the southern branch of the Ottawas (who

then occupied what is now Southeastern Michigan) asking

them both to join in a war of invasion. Their proposition was

favorably received, a league was formed, and the confeder-

ated bauds set out speedily and secretly on their bloody

expedition, which was destined to result in their complete

triumph.

The invaders entered the country of the Sauks in two

columns
;
one, composed of the southern Ottawas, inarching

from the southeast through the forests to the bend of Flint

River, where Flint City now stands, while the northern

confederates moved in canoes from Mackinac, paddling

down the west shore of Lake Huron, and boldly crossing

Saginaw Bay by night, landed in two detachments, marched

stealthily up along the shore of the river, and at the proper

moment and at a preconcerted signal fell like a thunder-

bolt on the principal village of the Sauks at or near the

present site of Saginaw City. " No precaution," says Mr.

Fox, in his history of Saginaw, " had been taken by the

Sauks to guard against danger, for none had been antici-

pated. The night wind sighed through the dark pine-tops

in mournful cadence, and the gentle spirit-bird hovered over

the sleeper with its low, gushing death-chant ; but its warn-

ing notes were unheard, and still the sleeper slumbered on.

Suddenly a wild, unearthly yell broke fearfully upon the

ear of night, and awoke a thousand echoes. Aroused by it

the Sauks sprang to their feet, but were met by the fierce

Chippewas, who commenced an indiscriminate slaughter.

Some were tomahawked, some leaped into the Saginaw and

were drowned, while a few escaped to impart the death news

to their brethren." Those who escaped, and others from

neighboring villages which had not yet been attacked, fled

in their canoes to a small island in the Saginaw, where they

believed themselves safe,—at least for a time,—for their

foes had no canoes in the river. But in this they were

mistaken, for the ice was rapidly forming, and on the

following day or night it had become strong enough to

permit the passage of the pursuing Chippewas, who there-

upon crossed to the island and renewed the attack with such

energy and ferocity that of all the Sauk refugees who had

taken shelter there not a single man was left alive, and only

about a dozen women were spared. The place, in after-

years, became known as " Skull Island," from the great

number of skulls* and other human bones which were

found in its soil.

After completing their bloody work on the island, the

Chippewa and Ottawa warriors moved rapidly up the river

to the confluence of the Flint and Shiawassee Rivers, where

they met the victorious band of southern Ottawas, who had

destroyed the villages on the Flint and massacred nearly

all the inhabitants, the few survivors retreating in terror

towards tlieir principal villages on the Saginaw, where they

vainly hoped to find safety from their enemies. These

j)anic-stricken fugitives now turned and fled up the valley

of the Shiawassee, where they were relentlessly pursued by

the invaders, and here the result was the same as it had

been on the Saginaw and Flint. All the villages on the

Shiawassee were given over to destruction and massacre

;

the Sauks were completely overthrown and almost exter-

minated, only a miserable remnant escaping westward

through the dense forests to the Grand River, and down

that stream to Lake Michigan.

The Chippewa and Ottawa warriors were now absolute

masters of the Sauk country, but they did not immediately

remove their settlements here. The conquered territory

was for a long time held as a hunting-ground, which was

roamed over in common by the bands of the two tribes.

* Ejihraim S. Williams, Esq., of Flint (brother of B. 0. Williams,

Esq., of Owosso), who was located at Saginaw for several years in the

fur trade, .says this tradition is probably well founded, for he has

often visited the island in question, and has seen many mouldering

skulls exhumed there.



INDIAN HISTORY OF THE TWO COUNTIES. 11

But when they found that some of their young braves who

entered these forests disappeared and were never again seen

or heard of, their superstitious fears were awakened, and

they came to the firui belief lliat the eddies of the streams

and the dark recesses of the woods were infested by evil

spirits,—the ghosts of the murdered Sauks,—-who had come

back to their old domain, and were thus mysteriously wreak-

ing vengeance on their destroyers. The dread inspired by

this belief and the strange di.sappearaiiee of their young

men became at last so strong that they entirely abandoned

the country, and for years afterwards no Cliippewa or Ottawa

hunter braved the terrorsof the " haunted hunting-grounds."

But after many moons (no one can say how many) they

ventured back, though still in dread and fear, and finally

in favored spots there sprang up many villages of the Chip-

pewas,* while their bark canoes sped swiftly over the bright

waters of tlie lakes and streams. And this (the tradition

says) was the manner in which the tribe that became

known as the Saginaw-Chippewa acquired and occupied the

domain which the Sauk chiefs and warriors had once called

their own.

The Ciiippewas of the Lower Peninsula possessed all the

fierce and sanguinary characteristics of their northern kin-

dred. From the time when England wrested the lake

country from the possession of the French this tribe was

distinguished for its aggressive disposition, cruelty, and

treachery; and during tiie almost continuous Indian wars

and conspiracies of the succeeding half century its chiefs

showed a spirit as turbulent and untamable as that of the

parent nation,—the Ojibwas of Lake Superior. The story

of their ravages is found in all the annals of Indian hostili-

ties. They were prominent actors in the Pontiac war

of 176li; in the Indian alliance against America in the war

of the Revolution ; in the savage rising which was quelled

by " Mad Anthony" Wayne a few years later ; and they

were among the most energetic and efficient allies of Te-

cumseh in his prolonged warfare against the United States.

They did bloody work at the Raisin, at Sandusky, and on

many other fields, and finally they fought with fierce des-

peration in the battle of the Thames, Oct. 5, 1813. Hut

that day extinguished forever the warlike spirit of the

Chippewas, for then and there '' the hopes of the red man

perished." Their total (htfeat in that battle, and the death

of Tecumseh, annihilated all possibility of successful resist-

ance to the government, and all hope of holding their hunt-

ing-grounds against the advance of settlement and civiliza-

tion. So the Saginaws, like other Michigan tribes, sued tor

peace, p^ve hostages for their future good conduct, received

a pardon (whicii they scarcely expected) for their ])ast

offenses, and retired to their villages—sullen and dejected,

but thoroughly subjugated—and never again made war

against white men. Nearly twenty years afterwards, the

Wisconsin chief, Black llawk, sent cmis.saries among them

to distribute " war-quills" and invite them to join his

bauds iu a new war, but they made reply that the Chijipe-

* It doe.i not nppciir that tlii' Ottiiwns ever caiiic ti) lliis si-clion uf

country Iti any consiilorulilu nuiiil)er.s, Ijutiuany of llitit tribe cliiigriitcd

from their norlliern lands (on the east shore of Lake Michigan, north

of (irnnd Travemo Buy) and .loltled in the .•<iMilhon.'<i, in the vicinity

of Ijalto .St. Clair, and the Uotroit, St. Clair, and Huron llivors.

was would not again raise the hatchet against the pale-

faces, who were masters of the land, and under the protec-

tion of the Great Spirit.

The earliest knowledge of the Indians, as they existed

in their native wilderness, was gained by white men who
went among them for purposes of trade,—the most impor-

tant branch of which was the purchase of furs. Of these

traders, the first of whom any account is found, as being

located in the country of the Saginaw-Chippewas, w;is a

Frenchman named Bolieu (called by the Indians, Kase-

gans) ; and soon after him there came another of the same

nationality, named Tremble (since corrupted to Trombley),

who established himself at Saginaw. The date of Bolieu's

coming is not exactly known, but it is certain that he was

trading with the Saginaws before the commencement of

the present century. He married a full-blood Indian

woman,! a sister or near relative of Neome, head-chief of

the Pewonigo band of Indians, who lived at Pewonigowink,

on the Flint River. He (Bolieu) prosecuted his trading

business with the Indians living on the Flint and Shiawas-

see, and, without doubt, with those on the Looking-Glass

and Maple Rivers also. It is not knowu where his post

was located, but there is strong probability that it was on

the Shiawa.ssee River at the Big Rapids (Owosso), near the

present residence of B. 0. Williams, Esq., for at that place

there are still in existence portions of two ancient ehimnej's

and some other ruins which Mr. Williams i^than whom no

person in Michigan is more competent to judge) pronounces

to be the remains of an old trading-post. This opinion is

strengthened by the iitct that at the same place there are

still to be seen pits in the earth, evidently made for the

burying of canoes.| As it is certain that this place was

not occupied by any of the later traders, it seems highly

probable that it was the post of Bolieu, the pioneer trader

among the Saginaws. If so, the buildings must have been

erected nearly or quite as early as the commencement of

this century.

Two of the earliest traders who followed Bolieu and

Tremble into the Saginaw country were Jacob Smith

(named by the Indians Wahbesins) and Conrad Ten Kyck,

who established at Saginaw before the opening of the war

of 1812-15. Both of these men found it necessary to

abandon their posts during the continnaiiee of that war,

but returned to Saginaw at the close of hostilities. In the

fall of 1S1!I, Smith removed his trading-post to the Grand

Traverse of the Flint River (where Flint City now stands),

and remained there in trade till his death, in the spring of

1825. lie was oi German parentiigo or descent, and a

native of (Quebec, C!anada. Two of his daughters (Mrs.

C. S. Payne and Mrs. T. B. W. Stockton ) are still living at

Flint, and another daughter became the wife of Gen. John

Garland, United States Army. His son, Albert J. Smitii,

is, or was recently, living in South America.

t A daughter of thoirs, AngtSliquo Buliou (whoao Indian namo waa

Taweuinegogua), wn» Kent at tho age of twolvo years to I)etroil,

where she received a tolerable education. She tnarriod a Krenehmiin

named Coutaul, and after his death she beoanio the wife of .Jean

Itaptisle .St. Aubin, "f Detroit.

t Tho Indians (and tho trailers, who learned the custom from ihein)

wore in the habil of burying their canoes in winter, to provonl thorn

from l>aing ruinod by the frost.
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Louis Catupau commenced in the Indian trade at Sagi-

naw in 1815. He remained there many years, but finally

removed to Grand Rapids, where he passed the remainder

of his life, and died highly respected. Antoine Campau, a

brother of Louis, also located at Saginaw in 1815 or 1816.

John B. Cushway,* Gen. Riley, of Schenectady, N. Y.,

and Whitmore Knasgs came to this Indian country as

traders not long afterwards, as did also Baptiste Cochios,

who established his post on the Flint. All these traders

dealt with the Indians inhabiting the valleys of the Shia-

wassee, Looking-Glas.'J, and Maple Rivers, but only Cushway,

Campau, and Knaggs located trading-houses in this region.

It was in or about 1820f that Whitmore Knaggs came to

open his post at the " crossing of the Shiawassee,"—that is,

the place where several trails crossed that river, on the In-

dian reservation of Kechewondaugoning.J or " Big Salt

Lick." The name given to the place by the French (very

probably by old Bolieu himself) was " Grand Saline."

The white settlers afterwards called it " the Knaggs place,"

for the old trader by whom it was established, and his son,

who was its last occupant as a trader. The post was situ-

ated on the river, in the northwest corner of the present

township of Burns.

In 1820 the nearest trading-posts to Knaggs' on the south

and west were that of the two Godfroys (father and son),

located on the Huron, at the present site of Ypsilanti, and

that of Rix Robinson " at the Thornapple and on Grand

River, above and below." These merchants, as well as

those at Saginaw, divided the trade with Knaggs to some

extent, but there is little doubt that the latter took the

lion's share among the Indians living within his range.

Not long after the time mentioned, a Frenchman named

Battise (correctly Baptiste) opened a post on the upper

waters of the Grand River, in the present county of Jack-

son, and this became a somewhat popular trading-place,

even for some of the Indians living as far north as the

territory of Clinton and Shiawassee Counties.

Whitmore Knaggs was succeeded, about 1824, by a

man named Grant, who continued in the trade for a time,

but became so unpopular with the Indians that they finally

drove him from their country.

The successor of Grant in the Indian trade on the Shia-

wassee was Richard Godfroy, who reopened the post at

Kechewondaugoning in 1828. In the spring of 1829 this

post was visited by the brothers Alfred L. and Benjamin

0. Williams, who were then making a tour of exploration

with a view to permanent settlement, they being probably

the first white men who visited Shiawassee County with

that intention. The Godfroy trading-post, as it existed at

* Cushway was called by the Indians Pewabicorzo, or " the iron-

shod," because he wore heavily-nailed boots.

f A list of the licensed traders in Michigan in that year places

Knaggs' post "on the river Shiawassee, at the Indian Reservation."'

J This tract of three thousand acres was reserved to the Indians of

the Shiawassee bands, in the treaty concluded by Gen. Cass at Sagi-

naw, Sept. 24, 1819. The name of this reservation is spelled in the

treaty Ketehewaundaugenink, which is perhaps as nearly correct as

any other manner of spelling,—the orthography of Indian names

being at best a matter of taste or caprice. It was located in the

northwest corner of the present township of Burns and southwest

corner of Vernon, and comprised also smalt parts of Shiawassee and

Antrim.

that time, is described by B. 0. Williams as a rude log

house and stable, with bark roof, and then in charge of

John B. Cushway, as Godfrey's agent. The post was con-

tinued by Godfroy's succes.sors, Antoine Beaubien and

John Knaggs, until about ISSO.

On the south side of the Maple River, at the site of the

present village of Maple Rapids, a trading-post was opened

as early as 1826, but whether the first trader there was

John B. Cushway or George Campau is a mattc-r of some

doubt. It is certain that it bore the name of the first-named

proprietor in 1837, for on the 17th of March in that year

the Legislature passed an act laying out a State road " from

the seat of justice in Eaton County to Cushway 's trading-

post on Maple River in the county of Clinton." Mr. James

Sowie, of Essex, is of the opinion, however, that Cushway

carried on the trading-station before Campau, which latter

seems to have been the one recollected by old residents

as the first proprietor. He was a brother of Louis and An-

toine Campau, and was known to the Indians as Waugoosh,

or "the Red Fox." His successor in trade at the post on

the Maple was John Johnson, who became a permanent

resident, and died there since 1875. Mr. Campau is (or

was very recently) living at Grand Rapids. The Cushway

or Campau trading-station, with the Genereau post, on the

river below, in Ionia County, took a large part of the trade

of the Indians living on the Maple and Looking-Glass

Rivers, but there was also for a time a post on the Grand

River, in Ionia County, kept by Gilbert W. Prentiss and

one or two associates, who (it was said) were also engaged

in counterfeiting, and were driven away from their post by

the Indians, on whom they had passed some of their spuri-

ous coin. The same fate also befell them at a trading-

station which they opened in 1834, in Cohoctah township,

on the north border of Livingston County, adjoining Shia-

wassee.

The Williams trading-post, which secured a very large

business among the Indians of this section of country, and

which is particularly noticeable from the fact that the two

young men who opened it became permanent residents and

very prominent citizens of Shiawassee County, was estab-

lished in August, 1831, by Alfred L. and Benjamin 0.

Williams, for Rufus W. Stevens and Elisha Beach, of Pon-

tiac. The location of this trading-station was a very little

north of the north line of the Kechewondaugoning reser-

vation, at the point where the Chicago and Lake Huron

Railroad crosses the Shiawassee River, on or very near the

dividing line between the townships of Shiawassee and

Vernon. To this station there were brought furs collected

within the present counties of Shiawassee and Clinton, as

well as in adjoining counties to the south and east. Their

trade within the limits of Clinton, however, was much less

than in Shiawassee, as much of the Indian trade in the

former county w;is secured by Genereau, at the post on the

Grand River, and by Campau, at his station at Maple

Rapids.

In 1832 the brothers Williams became agents for the

American Fur Company, and continued as such until 1836,

when they began trading on their own account, and re-

mained until 1837, when the post was vacated and the

business abandoned, the Indians having been in that year
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so greatly reduced in numbers, and so much scattered and

demoralized by the ravages of a fatal pestilence among

them, that their trade was no longer of any value. The

owners of the trading-station then removed to Owosso,

where Mr. B. O. Williams yet resides. He still speaks the

Chippewa language almost as fluently as English. He un-

(juestional)ly knows more of the Indian history of this

region than any other person, and it is principally on in-

formation furnished by him that this account of the Indians

of these two counties is based.

In 18oU the Indian villages or settlements on the Shia-

wassee River were those of Kechewondaugoning, on the

reservation of (he same name, and Shigemasking (meaning

"soft-maple place"), near Shiawasseetown. The former

was the summer residence of Waaso, the principal chief of

the Shiawas.see bands. These were the only villages on

the river within the boundaries of Shiawiissee County.

Below, on the same stream, but a few miles north of the

county line, was the Chippewa village of Che-a.ssin-niug or

" Big Rock," at the site of the present village of Chesaning.

This was a much larger village than either of those pre-

viously mentioned. Its people were under the chief Sher

manito, who died in 1836 and was succeeded in the chief-

ship by Nokchikaniing.

On the .south branch of the Shiawassee, in Livingston

County, near its northern border, was a very small settle-

ment of Indians at Assineboinaing ("Rocky Place").

This had in earlier years borne the name of Nabobish,

which was then also the name of its chief. His successor

was old Portabeck, who is yet recollected by residents of

that part of Livingston County. This settlement or village

was entirely abandoned by the Indians about 1830. Away

to the eastward, and nearly on the boundary between Gene-

see and Oakland ('ountios, was the village of Kopcnicorn-

ing, situated by a small lake, which is yet known by the

same name. This was a village of the " Fisher tribe" of

Saginaws, of whom a few are still living in Genesee

County.

On the Looking-Gla.ss River, in what is now the town-

ship of Antrim, there had been an Indian village of con-

siderable size, but this had been abandoned prior to 1831.

Farther down the stream, on its northern bank, just above

the place which is now the village of De Witt in Clinton

County, there was still in existence at that time the Chip-

pewa village of Wabwahnahseepee, of which the chiefs

were Wahbaskonoquay, or " Whit<;locks," and his son,

Canorbway. This village was broken up soon afterwards,

and there are now few, if any, of even the oldest settlers

in Clinton County who have any recollection of the exist-

ence of an Indian village at this place, though the ]ilac<'

continued to be for many years a favorite ground lor the

temporary camps of wandering parties of the (!hi])pewtt

bands. This was a W(^ll-known place to the early white

settlers, who called it the " Indian (ireen." Some four

miles above this, but on the opposite side of the river, at

Lowry Plains, there was another large and much Irequented

canip-giiiund, and still others W(>re found at (liireront places

up the .stream, in both (!lintoii and Shiawa-sset! Counties.

On the south bank nf the stn^im which the early French

traders called La Rivifere du Plain, but which the English-

speaking settlers named Maple River, was the village of the

chief Makitoquet, located on what is now to be described

as the northwest part of section 3, town.ship of Essex.

This .settlement remained and prospered (as much as any

Indian village can ever be said to prosper) for a considera-

ble time after the coming of the first white settlers. There

were also villages of Makituquet's people farther down the

river, in the pre.sent town.ship of Lebanon (on .section 14

and' at one or two other points), but these were not as an-

cient as the one first mentioned : and they were, in fact,

more like camps than permanent villages, but were always

fully occupied during the sugaring season. The sub-chief,

Wintagowi.sh, was a kind of lieutenant to Makitoquet.

The latter became a land-owner ( having purchased land

from government) in Lebanon in 1837.

Passing from lMakito(juet's village down the Maple River

to a point at or very near where the present village of Muir

stands, there would have been found at that time a settle-

ment of Chippewas, mixed with Ottawas, all under the

authority of a chief named Cocoo.se. The name of this

chief was also the name of the village. West of this, on

the Grand River, at the place which is now Lowell, Kent

Co., was the chief Kewagooshcum's village, also composed

of Ottawas and Chippewas. Many miles farther up the

Grand River, on its west bank, in the present township of

Danby, Ionia Co., and near the west border of Clinton

County, was the village of Pe-.shininecon (Apple Place),

which was under the authority of the chiefs Dayomek and

Kekonosoway, the latter of whom was stabbed to death by

one of his own braves in a drunken brawl. This village,

unlike most of the others named, continued to be held by

the Indians as a ]ilace of residence until within recent

years.

A few miles south of the southern boundary of Clinton

County were settlements of the people known as Red Cedar

Indians, though they belonged to the Shiawassee bands of

the Saginaws. Their principal chief was the veteran

Okcmos, and next to him in authority were Manitocorb-

way and Shingwauk, of the first two of whom further men-

tion will be made.

"The various bands," says Mr. Williams, "all belonged

to the Chippewa or Saginaw tribe. We found them .scat-

tered over this vast primitive forest, each band known by

its locality or chief They subsisted princi|>ally by hunting,

though all had summer residences, where they raised miu-

dor-min (corn), potatoes, turnips, beans, and sumotiuics

s((uashes, pumpkins, and nu'lons."

At or near all their villages, on the Maple, the Looking-

Glass, and the Shiawasseo, there were corn-ficids, which ihuy

]ilanted year after year with the same crops. The largest

of the eorntieUls in all this region were those in the vicin-

ity of Shermanito's village on the Siiiawasseo, now Ches-

aning, Saginaw Co., a little north of llie Sliiawassee County

line. Fields of cDiisidcrable exioni were situated midway

between Vernon and Shinwaissco Town. Smaller ones were

found near the villages and camping-grounds on the Look-

ing-Cilass, the (Jraiid, and Maple Kivers, as al,>io at Keche-

wondaugoning, (m the Shiawa,s.see. .\t the latter place

there was a small Indian orchard of stunted and uncared-
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for apple-trees, and similar ones were found at several

places iu both counties. The Indians carried on their agri-

culture in a careless, slovenly, and superficial way. Of

course they were ignorant of the use of plows, and the few

implements which they had were of the rudest and most

primitive kind. They had plenty of poor and scrawny

ponies, but these were wholly uncared for, and were never

made use of except for riding. From lack of care, and the

planting of the same fields for many years in succession,

these had become overgrown with grass, weeds, and sumach-

bushes, so that the crops obtained were very meagre, and

but for the almost boundless stores of food furnished by the

streams and forests, the people must have been constantly

in a state bordering on famine.

It was their cu.stom during the autumn to move from

the vicinity of their fields, proceeding up towards the heads

of the streams, making halts at intervals of six or eight

miles, and camping for a considerable time at each halting-

place for purposes of hunting and fishing. Upon the

approach of winter they floated back in their canoes (car-

rying them round rapids and obstructionsj, and betook

themselves to their winter quarters in comparatively shel-

tered places within the shelter of the denser forests. From

there the young men went out to the winter hunting- and

trapping-grounds, through which they roamed till the ap-

proach of spring, when all, men, women, and children, en-

gaged in sugar-making until the sap ceased to flow : and

after this process was finished they again moved to their

corn-fields, and having planted and harvested, and fished

and hunted up to the head-waters of the streams during the

summer and autumn, they again returned to their forest

camps or villages to pass the winter as before.

The manufacture of sugar was one of the principal In-

dian industries, if the term industry can be properly applied

to anything existing in an Indian community. They pro-

duced large quantities of this article, and of as good quality

as is made by white people. Having completed its manu-

facture for the year, they packed it in mokoks (vessels or

packages neatly made of birch-bark) and buried it in the

ground, where it was kept in good condition for future use

or sale. Their sugar-making resources were, of course, al-

most unlimited, for noble groves of maple abounded every-

where. There were extensive ones in the vicinity of the

Big Rapids of the Shiawassee, and many others of perhaps

equal extent along the valleys of the Maple, the Looking-

Glass, and other streams
;
and, in fiict, through nearly every

part of the territory of Clinton and Shiawassee Counties.

The Chippewas, like all other Indians, were extremely

superstitious ;
indeed, they appeared to be more marked in

this peculiarity than were most of the other tribes. It has

already been mentioned that the ancestors of the later Sagi-

naw Chippewas imagined that the country which they had

wrested from the conquered Sauks was haunted by the

spirits of those whom they had slain, and that it was only

after the lapse of years that their terrors became allaved

sufficiently to permit them to occupy the " haunted hunt-

ing-grounds." But the superstition still remained, and, in

fact, it was never entirely dispelled. Long after the valleys

of the Saginaw, the Shiawassee, and the Maple became

studded with white settlements, the simple Indians still

believed that mysterious Sauks were lingering in the forests

and along the margins of their streams for purposes of

vengeance ; that mnnesous, or bad spirits, in the form of

Sauk warriors, were hovering around their villages and

camps, and on the flanks of their hunting-parties, prevent-

ing them from being successful in the chase, and bringing

ill fortune and discomfiture in a hundred ways. So great

was their dread that when (as was frequently the case) they

became possessed of the idea that the munesous were in

their immediate vicinity, they would fly, as if for their

lives, abandoning everything,—wigwams, fish, game, and

peltry,—and no amount of ridicule from the whites could

convince them of their folly, or induce them to stay and

face the imaginary danger. " Sometimes, during sugar-

making,' said Mr. Truman B. Fox, of Saginaw, " they

would be seized with a sudden panic, and leave everything,

—their kettles of sap boiling, their mokoks of sugar stand-

ing in their camps, and their ponies tethered in the woods,

—and flee helter-skelter to their canoes, as though pursued

by the Evil One. In answer to the question asked in re-

gard to the cause of their panic, the invariable answer was

a shake of the head, and a mournful ' an-do-gwane' (don't

know)." Some of the northern Indian bauds, whose country

joined that of the Saginaw Chippewas, played upon their

weak superstition, and derived profit from it by lurking

around their villages or camps, frightening them into flight,

and then appropriating the property which they had aban-

doned. A few shreds of wool from their blankets left stick-

ing on thorns or dead brushwood, hideous figures drawn with

coal upon the trunks of trees, or marked on the ground in

the vicinity of their lodges, was sure to produce this result,

by indicating the presence of the dreaded munesous. Often

the Indians would become impressed with the idea that

these bad spirits had bewitched their firearms, so that they

could kill no game. " I have had them come to me," says

Mr. Ephraim S. Williams, of Flint, " from places miles

distant, bringing their rifles to me, asking me to examine

and resight them, declaring that the sights had been removed

(and in most cases they had, but it was by themselves in

their fright). I have often, and in fact always did when

applied to, resighted and tried them until they would shoot

correctly, and then they would go away cheerfully. I

would tell them they must keep them where the munesous

could not find them. At other times, having a little bad

luck in trapping or hunting, they became excited, and would

say that game had been over and in their traps, and that

they could not catch anything. I have known them to go

so far as to insist that a beaver or an otter had been in

their traps and got out ; that their traps were bewitched or

spell-bound, and their rifles charmed by the munesous, so

that they could not catch or kill anything. Then they

must give a great feast, and have the medicine man or con-

jurer; and through his wise and dark performances the

charm is removed and all is well, and traps and rifles do

their duty again. These things have been handed down

for generations."

A very singular superstitious rite was performed annually

by the Shiawassee Indians at a place called Pindatongoing

(meaning the place where the spirit of sound or echo lives),
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about two miles above Newburg, on the Shiawassee River,

where the stream was deep and eddying. The ceremony

at this place was witnessed in 1831 by Mr. B. O. Williams,

of Owosso, who thus describes it :
" Some of the old In-

dians every year, in fall or summer, offered up a sacrifice

to the spirit of the river at that place. They dressed a

puppy or dog in a fantastic manner by decorating it with

various colored ribbons, scarlet cloth, beads, or wampum
tied around it; also a piece of tobacco and vermilion paint

around its neck (their own faces blaclcencdj. and after burn-

ing, by the river-side, meat, corn, tobacco, and sometimes

whisicy offerings, would, with many muttered adjurations

and addresses to tlie

spirit, and waving of

hands, holding the pup,

cast him into the river,

and then appear to

listen and watch, in a

mournful attitude, its

struggles as it was

borne by the current

down into a deep hole

in the river at that

place, the bottom of

which at that time

could not be discovered

without very careful

inspection. I could

never learn the origin

of the legend they then

had, that the spirit

had dived down into

the earth through that

deep hole, but they be-

lieved that by a pro-

pitiatory yearly offering

their luck in hunting

and fishing on the river

would be bettered and

their health preserved."

Once a year, .soon

after sugar - making,

nearly all the Indians

of the interior repaired

to Kepayshowink (the

great can)ping-ground),

which was at the place

where Saginaw City now stands. They went there for the

purpose of engaging in a grand jubilee of (inc or two week.H'

duration, engaging in dances, games, and feats of strength
;

and as they were usually able to obtain lii|iiiir there, these

gatherings often brought about quarrels and deadly fighting.

" If an injury had been done to one party by another it

was generally .settled here, either with property, such as

arms, ponies, or blankets, or by the price of life. If the

injury had been one of an exceedingly aggravated nature,

a life was dfunandcd, and stoically and unflinchingly yielded

up by the doomed party." Many an inveterate Indian feud

readied a bloody termination on the " great camping-

ground" at Saginaw.

OKEMOS.

Although the Red Cedar band, of which Okemos* was

the leader, had its settlements several miles south of Shi-

awassee and Clinton Counties, yet a brief mention of the

old chief is not out of place in the history of these

counties, for it was in one of them that he first saw the

light, and in the other that he died; and the territory of

both of them was roamed over as a hunting-ground for

many years by him and his followers in common with the

bands whose villages and fields were within its boundaries.

Okemos w;us born at or near the Grand Saline, in what

is now Shiawassee County, at a date which is not precisely

known, but which has been placed by some historians ut

about 1788. That this

date is nearly the correct

one seems not improb-

able, fur rc;tsons which

will presently be given.

He was of Saginaw

Chippewa stock, his

people having been of

the Shiawas.see bands

of that tribe. It has

been said by some that

he was the nephew of

the great Pontiac, but

there is little reason to

believe that such was

the case, though it is

not strange that he

should, in the spirit of"

genuine Indian boast-

fulness, be more than

willing to favor the idi-a

that he sustained that

relation to the redoubt-

able (Jttawa chiefhiin.

How and where the

earlier years of Okemos

were passed is not

known. His first ap-

pearance ;is a warrior

was at Sandusky in

!
the war of 181 li, and

his participation in

^ that fight was the prin-

cipal event of all his

lite. On that uccn-

sionf eighteen young Chippewa bnives, among whom wen-

Okemos and his cousin Manilocdrbway, and who wore serv-

ing as scouts on I lie side of tlie liritish, had come in from

the river Raisin, and were crouching in ambusii not tiir from

* Okcmoi, or Ogomow, uiciint, in Ibo ('hi|i|iuw» limguago, " I.itllc

t'liiof," liiicl CliouKoiuiitr, " HiK t'liii'f." Wlicllior tlio tiniiio " bittlo

CliiufV UK njiplto*! (u tlii.H llitliiin. lin<l roftTi'liee to Inn iiiimll fttnliire

(as 111* was vory nhort ) or tu (ho cxioiit nf hin puwor nnd nii(li<irtly lu

a cliiof, tloi'fl not nppcar.

^ The nct'uiinl Iktu givoii uf llip pHrlioi|intioii of Okciiini nml t)ii>

cuuxin Mnniiocorliwny in Itie figlil at .'^andiiHky iit written fruni fncU

furniplifil liy I). (>. Witliiinii*, Kk^., nf Owontio, whu iiiid n ininuto

account of it from tlie two cliiorH tlioiuHolvcs, with both of whom he

wa« woll acquainted.



16 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE AND CLINTON COUNTIES, MICHIGAN.

the fort of Sandusky, waiting to surprise the American

supply-wagons or any small detachment that might pass

their lurking-place. Suddenly there appeared a body of

twenty American cavalrymen approaching them directly in

front. The red warriors promptly made their plans, wliich

was to wait till they could count the buttons on the coats

of the troopers, then to deliver their fire and close on them

with the tomahawk, fully expecting that in the disorder

produced by their volley they would be able to kill most of

them and take many scalps. But they had reckoned with-

out their host. When the flash of their guns disclosed

their place of concealment the cavalrymen instantly charged

through the cover upon them, sabre in hand. Almost at

the same instant a bugle-blast echoed through the woods,

and a few moments later a much larger body of horsemen,

warned of the presence of an enemy by the firing, came

up at a gallop to the help of their friends. The Indians, en-

tirely surrounded, wore cut down to a man, and, gashed and

pierced by sabre-thrusts, were all left on the field for dead.

Most of them were so, but life was not quite extinct in

Okenios and Manitocorbway, though both were wholly in-

sensible, and remained so for many hours. At last Okemos

returned to consciousness, and found that his cousin was

also living and conscious. Together these two managed

to crawl to a small stream near by, where they refreshed

them.selves by drinking, and washing off the clotted blood,

and then, crawling, rolling, dragging themselves painfully

and slowly along the ground, they at last reached the river,

found a canoe, succeeded in getting into it, pushed off into

the stream, and relap.sed to a state of insensibility, in which
'

condition they were not long afterwards discovered and

rescued by Indians of their own or a friendly band. When
at last they again returned to consciousness they were sur-

prised at finding themselves in charge of squaws, who were

faithfully and tenderly nursing them. Finally, both recov-

ered, but Okemos never wholly regained his former vigor,

and Manitocorbway was little better than a cripple during

the remainder of his life. Each had been gashed with a

dozen wounds; the skulls of both had been cloven, and

they carried the broad, deep marks of the sabre- cuts to

their graves.

Okemos was but a common warrior in the fight at San-

dusky, but for the high qualities and endurance which he

showed at that time he was made a chief, and became the

leader of the Red Cedar band of Shiawassee Cliippewas.

He obtained, through the intercession of Col. Godfroy, a

pardon from the government for the part which he had

taken in favor of the British, and he never again fought

against the Americans. The same was the ca.se with his

kinsman, Manitocorbway.

After the close of the war Okemos made a permanent

settlement with his band on the banks of the Cedar River,

in Ingham County, a few miles east of Lansing. There

were the villages of Okemos, Manitocorbway, and Shing-

wauk,—the latter two being also chiefs. Their settlements

were all located in the vicinity of the present village and

railroad station of Okemos, and there the band remained

till finally broken up and scattered.

Through all his life Okemos was (almost as a matter of

course) addicted to the liberal use of ardent spirits, and in

his later years (notably from the time when his band be-

came broken up and himself little more than a wanderer)

this habit grew stronger upon him, yet he never forgot his

dignity. He was always exceedingly proud of his chief-

ship, and of his (real or pretended) relationship to the

great Pontiac, and he was always boastful of his exploits.

But he sometimes found himself in a position where neither

his rank nor his vaunted prowess could shield him from

deserved punishment. Upon one such occasion, in the

year 1832, he appeared at the Williams trading-post on

the Shiawassee, and, backed by twelve or fifteen braves of

his band, demanded whisky. B. 0. Williams, who was

then present and in charge, replied that he had no liquor.

" I have money and will pay," said Okemos. " You had

plenty of whisky yesterday, and I will have it. You re-

fuse because you are afraid to sell it to me I" " It is true,"

said the proprietor, " that I had whisky yesterday, but I

have not now, and if I had, you should not have it. And
if you think I am afraid, look right in my eye and see if

you can discover fear there." The chief became enraged,

and ordered his men to enter the trading-house and roll

out a barrel of whisky, saying that he him.self would knock

in the head. '' Go in if you wish to," said Williams, care-

lessly, " my door is always open !" But the braves were

discreet, and did not move in obedience to their chief's

order. Then Okemos grew doubly furious, but in an in-

stant Mr. Williams sprang upon him, seized him by the

throat and face with so powerful a grip that the blood

spirted ; he snatched the chief'.s knife from his belt and

ordered him to hand over his tomahawk, which he did

without unnecessary delay. He was then ordered to leave

the place instantly, and never, as he valued his safety, to

be seen at the trading-house again. Disarmed, cowed, and

completely humbled, he obeyed at once, and moved rapidly

away followed by his braves, who had stood passively by

without attempting to interfere in his behalf during the

scene above described.

Some time afterwards Mr. Williams visited the settle-

ments of the Red Cedars for purposes of trade, and made

his headquarters at the village of Manitocorbway, whom
he held in high esteem as an honest, peaceable, and straight-

forward Indian. While there a messenger came to him

from Okemos,—whose village was not far off,—requesting

him to come there and trade with him. He had not in-

tended to go to Okemos' village, and was not disposed to do

so even upon this invitation ; but at the earnest solicitation

of his friend Manitocorbway he finally went, and was re-

ceived by Okemos with marked deference and respect.

The chief had previously dealt at Baptiste's trading-post,

on Grand River, below Jacksonburgh, but from this time

all his trade was taken to the Williams station on the

Shiawassee. This incident illustrates that Indian trait of

character which invariably led them to give their warmest

friendship and admiration to those who had boldly defied and

chastised them, instead of allowing themselves to be brow-

beaten by their threats and insolence.

After the breaking up of his band on the Cedar, Okemos
had never any permanent place of residence. It is said

that he then resigned his chiefship to his son,* iind this

* This son, John Okeiuos, is now a farmer in Montcalm Co., Mich.
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may be true, but if there was such a pretended " resigna-

tion" it was wholly nominal and without effect, for he had

ceased to have a following;, and therefore had no real chief-

ship to resign. It ha.s alsi) been stated that in his latter

years he degenerated into a vagabond, a common drunkard,

and a beggar, but this is wholly incorrect. He was cer-

tainly fond of liquor, and occasionally became into.xieated,

but never grossly or helplessly so, nor was it a common prac-

tice with him. Neither was he a beggar ; for, though

small presents were often bestowed upon him, it was never

done on account of solicitation on his part. That he was

regarded with a considerable degree of respect is shown by

the fact that he was not infrequently entertained as a guest

at the houses of people who had known him in his more

prosperous days. This was done by citizens of Lansing,

Corunna, and Owosso ; among the latter being the brothers

A. L. and B. (). Williams, the two earliest white acquaint-

ances of the chief in all this region.

Okemos died on the 4th of December, 1858, at his camp

on the Looking-Glass Kivcr, in Clinton County, above the

village of Do Witt. His remains—dressed in the blanket

coat and Indian leggins which he had worn in life—were

laid in a rough board coffin, in which were also placed his

pipc-liatchet, buckliorn-haiidled knife, tobacco, and some

provisions ; and thus equipped for the journey to the happy

hunting-grounds, he was carried to the old village of Pe-

shininecon, in Ionia County, and there interred in an ancient

Indian burial-ground near the banks of the Grand lliver.

The age of Okemos is not known. Some writers have

made the loo.se assertion (similar to those which are fre-

quently made in reference to aged Indian chiefs) that he

was a centenarian at the time of his death, while others

have reduced the figure to between eighty and eighty-five

years. In one account of him his birth is [ilaced in the

year 1788, as before mentioned. Mr. B. O. Williams was

told by both Okemos and Manitocorbway that the Sandusky

fight Was the first in which they had ever been engaged,

and that both of them were at that time young and inex-

perienced warriors. This, with the fact that until the end

of his life Okemos was lithe in body and elastic in step,

showing none of the signs of extreme old age, renders it

probable that the year mentioned was nearly the correct

date of his birth,* which would give him the age of .seventy

years at the time of his death.

Of the character of the Indians of this region, and their

melancholy fate, Mr. H. O. Williams says, "Tliey wore

hos[iitable, honest, and friendly, altliough always reserved

until well acquainted
;

never obtrusive unless under the

influcDco of their most deadly enemy, intoxicating drink.

None of these s[ioke a word of Knglish, ami they evinced

no desire to learn it I believe they were as virtuous

and guileless a people as I liave ever lived among, previous

to their great destrnetioii in 1S!M by the cholera, ami again

their almost extermination during the summer of 18;!7 by

^ Thi.< woutil lutike Okuiiioii abuiit twonty-llvo yonrfl old nl the tiiiii'

or the Sandusky liglit; niiil, rriiin tliu Mtiiteiiieiil wliiuli Imih liu nnd

Mnnitocurbwny ujiidc to Mr. AVilliiiin^, it 19 nlinoiit cerlnin tlint Iun

ugu cuiild not Imvo bccu more tlmn that ^and was most jirobably a few

years les.^) at tho titno of the fight.

3

the (to them) most dreaded disease, smallpox, wliich was

brought to Chesaning from Saginaw,—they fully believing

that one of the Saginaw Indians had been puqwsely inoc-

ulated by a doctor there, the belief arising from the fact

that an Indian had been vaccinated by the doctor, probably

after his expo.sure to the disea.se, and the man died of small-

pox. The Indians always dreaded vaccination from fear

and suspicion of the operation.

"The A.siatic cholera of 18/52 did not reach the interior

of Michigan, but in 1834 it seemed to be all over the

country, and was certainly atmospheric, as it attacked In-

dians along the Sliiaw;issee and other rivers, producing con-

vulsions, cramps, and death after a few hours. This began

to break up the Indians at their various villages. The white

settlements becoming general, and many persons selling

them whisky (then easily purcha.sed at the distilleries for

twenty-five cents per gallonj, soon told fe^irfully on them.

When the small[)ox broke out in 1837 they fled to the

woods by families, but not until some one of the iiimily

broke out with the disea.se and died. Thus whole villages

and bands were decimated, and during the summer and fall

many were left without a burial at the camps in the woods,

and were devoured b}' wolves. I visited the village of Che-

as-sin-ning—now Chesaning—and saw in the summer-camps

several bodies partially covered up, and not a living soul

could I find, except one old squaw, who was convalescent.

Most of the adults attacked died, but it is a remarkable

fact that no white person ever took the disease from them,f

although in many instances the poor, emaciated creatures

visited white families while covered with pustules. Thus

passed away those once proud owners of the land, leaving

a sickly, depressed, and eventually a begging, debased rem-

nant of a race that a few years before scorned a mean act,

and among whom a theft was scarcely ever known. I do

not think I possess any morbid sentimentality for Indians.

I simply wish to represent them as we found them. What

they are now is easily seen by the few wretched specimens

around us."

I'liAl'TKll 11.

INDIAN TREATIES AND CESSIONS OP LANDS-
INDIAN EiaiUKATION.

Troalics of 1705 and 1807—Cession of Territory Ka«l iif thn Prin-

cipal Meridian—Treaty of .'^)>rinf;n-ulli< in ISI.*!—Treaty of .Sa);inaw

(ISIU) and l^>^^iun of LaniU U\>t of the Meridian— Indian Ite^er-

vatiuns— I'ho).-* fur Indian Kniij^ralion— Iteiuoval of t*ollan'atlainie

llofugee!*.

It is a prim-iple wliieli has been recognized by the gov-

ernment of the I'niled Stales I'roni the lime of il.s fortnalidti,

that the Indians had pos.ses,sory rights in the lands which

they occupied, but that lho.se rights could piLss fnitn iliein

only to the govi'riimeiit, anil that this could only be done

by their own vohinlary act in public and open council lield

j It 10 a singular fact, also, that although tho disooso WM so oxccod-

ingly fatal to the Indians on the .Shiawassee, and in less degree to

thoi<e in the valley of tho l.noking-tllass, il was not cnininnnioated to

the Maple Itivor Indians at all, and they remained wholly unliarined

by il.
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by an accredited agent or commissioner of the United States,

with the chiefs and head men of the tribes interested. And

this principle and method have always been observed by

the government in treaties held with Indians for the pur-

chase of their territory.

The treaty by which the first cession was made of Indian

lands now in the State of Michigan was concluded on the

3d of August, 1795, at Greenville, Ohio, by Gen. Anthony

Wayne, for the United States, with the chiefs of the Chip-

pewa, Ottawa, Pottawattamie, and other tribes, who there

ceded to the United States " the post of Detroit and all the

lands to the north, the west, and the south of it of which

the Indian title has been extinguished by gifts or grants to

the French or English governments, and so much more

land to be annexed to the district of Detroit as shall be

comprehended between the river Rosine (Raisin) on the

south. Lake St. Clair on the north, and a line, the general

course of which shall be six miles distant from the west end

of Lake Erie and Detroit River," with several other tracts,

among which were the post of Michilimackinac and lands

adjicent, and the island of Bois Blanc ; mentioned as being

an extra and voluntary gift of the Chippewa nation.

On the part of the government it was expressly stipu-

lated that " the United States relinquish their claims to all

other Indian lands northward of the river Ohio, eastward of

the Mississippi, and westward and southward of the great

lakes and the waters uniting them, according to the bound-

ary line agreed on between the United States and the

King of Great Britain in the peace made between them in

the year 1783." This the government did in consideration

of the peace established by the treaty, and of the cessions

made by the Indians, as well as " to manifest the liberality

of the United States as the means of making the peace

strong and perpetual." It was also declared in the treaty

that '• the Indian tribes who have a right to those lands are

quietly to enjoy them ; hunting, planting, and dwelling

thereon so long as they please, without any molestation

from the United States ; but when these tribes or any of

them shall be disposed to sell their lands or any part of

them, they are to be sold only to the United States; and

until such sale the United States will protect the said Indian

tribes in the quiet enjoyment of their lands against all

citizens of the United States, and against all other white

persons who intrude upon the same." This treaty left the

Indians still in possession of all Michigan except the six-

mile strip along the Detroit River, the island of Bois Blanc,

Michilimackinac, and a few .small tracts in actual possession

of white occupants (principally French settlers) outside the

six-mile strip.

All the southeastern part of Michigan (including four-

fifths of the present county of Shiawassee) was ceded to

the United States by the terms of a treaty concluded at

Detroit, Nov. 17, 1SU7, " by William Hull, Governor of the

Territory of Michigan, Superintendent of Indian Affairs, and

sole oommi.ssioner of the United States to conclude and sign

a treaty or treaties with the several nations of Indians north-

west of the river Ohio, on the one part, and the sachems,

chiefs, and warriors of the Ottoway, Chippeway, Wyandotte,

and Pottawattamie nations of Indians on the other part."

The territory here ceded was described in the treaty as " be-

ginning at the mouth of the Miami River of the Lakes (the

Maumee), and running thence up the middle thereof to the

mouth of the Great Auglaize River ; thence due north

until it intersects a parallel of latitude to be drawn from

the outlet of Lake Huron, which forms the river Sinclair;

thence running northeast on the course that may be found

will lead in a direct line to White Rock in Lake Huron
;

thence due east until it intersects the boundary-line between

the United States and Upper Canada in said lake ; then

southwardly, following the .said boundary-line down said

hike, through the river Sinclair, Lake St. Clair, and the

river Detroit into Lake Erie, to a point due cast of the

aforesaid Miami River
;
thence west to tlie place of begin-

ning." In payment for this immense tract of land, the

Indians were to receive from the government—in money,

goods, agricultural implements, or domestic animals, at the

discretion of Gen. Hull—the sum of three thousand three

hundred and thirty-three dollars and thirty-three cents each

to the Chippewa and Ottawa tribes, and one-half that sum

each to the Wyandottes and Pottawattamies ; with an

annuity of two thousand dollars each to the Chippcwas

and Ottawas, and one thousand dollars each to the other

tribes. The Chippewas and Ottawas were also to be fur-

nished each with a blacksmith for the period of ten years
;

the former to reside at Saginaw and the latter at the Indian

settlement on the Maumee, " to do such work for the said

nations as shall be most useful to them."

The line forming the western boundary of the tract

ceded by this treaty, viz., the line from the mouth of the

Great Auglaize, and running " thence due north until it

intersects a parallel of latitude to be drawn from the outlet

of Lake Huron," was known for many years after as the

" Indian Boundary-Line," and this, prolonged northward to

the east end of Bois Blanc Lsland, in the Straits of Macki-

nac, was identical, or very nearly so, with the line afterwards

adopted by the United States surveyors as the principal

meridian of the lower peninsula of Michigan, which is the

dividing-line between the counties of Clinton and Shiawas-

see. The territory which the Indians ceded at the Detroit

treaty embraced all of Michigan lying east of this line as

far north as the northwest corner of the township of Sciota

in Shiawassee County, and south of a line drawn from

thence northeast to Lake Huron ; thus including all of

Shiawassee County except the township of Fairfield and

parts of the townships of Middlebury, Owosso, Rush, and

New Haven. Over all of the ceded territory until sold to

settlers the Indians had the right reserved to hunt and fish

at will during good behavior.

After the close of the war of 1812-15 a treaty was held

at Springwells, near Detroit, by Gen. William H. Harrison,

Gen. McArthur, and John Graham, on behalf of the gov-

ernment, with the chiefs of the Chippewa, Ottawa, and

Pottawattamie tribes, for purposes of conciliation, and to

restore to these Indians the rights which by their hostility

to the United States during the then late war they were

considered to have justly forfeited, and which they them-

selves scarcely expected to be allowed to retain. The
treaty, which was made and concluded on the Sth of
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September, 1815, declared that " the United States give

peace to the Chippewa, Ottawa, and Pottawattamie tribes.

They also a^reo to restore to the said Ciiippewa, Ottawa,

and Pottawattamie tribes all their possessions, rights, and

privileges which they enjoyed or were entitled to in the

year 1811, prior to the late war with Great Britain; and

the said tribes upon their part agree to place themselves

under the protection of the United States, and of no other

power whatsoever." Previous treaties and cessions were

also confirmed and ratified.

The treaty by which the Indian owners ceded to the

United States a large scope of territory including all the

pre-sent county of Clinton and all that part of Sliiawas.see

not embraced in the Detroit cession of 1807, w;is held at

Saginaw, in September, 1819, by Gen. Lewis Cass, Gov-

ernor of Michigan and ex-afficio Indian coniuiissioner, with

the chiefs and head men of the Ciiippewa tribe of the lower

peninsula. Soon after the close of the war of 1812-15 the

attention of West-bound emigrants from the old States begun

to be strongly directed towards IMichigan Territory, and it

became evident to the clear mind of Governor Cass that,

broad as was the domain acquired by the treaties of 1795

and 1S()7, it would soon bo i'ouiid too narrow to receive the

immigration which had already begun to spread westward

and northward from Detroit. He therefore at once set

about the task of securing further cessions from the na-

tives, and having laid his plans before the government,

and received its sanction with authority to proceed in the

matter, he convened the chiefs in council, as above men-

tioned.

The Governor, accompanied by quite a numerous retinue,

composed of his secretaries, Robert A. Forsyth (who was

also acting commissioner), John L. Leib, and D. G. Whit-

ney, with several other persons, set out from Detroit on

horseback on the 7th of September, and proceeding north-

westwardly through the woods and openings by way of

Royal Oak, Pontiac, Silver Lake, Grand Blanc, and the

Grand Traverse of the Flint River (now Flint City), ar-

rived at the Saginaw treaty-ground on the 10th. Two
small vessels,—a sloop and a schooner,—which had left

Detroit a few days before, had already arrived, and lay

moored in the river. They were laden with subsistence

stores, silver coin to be u.sed in payment for the lands ex-

pected to be ceded, and goods intended fir Indian presents;

and they brought also a company of the Third United

States Infantry, under command of Capt. C. L. Cass (a

brother of the Governor), wliu had disembarked his com-

mand, and cncamijcd it on the bank of the stream. The

presence of these troops was thought to be necessary, in

view of the possibilily of an atleni|it at violence by some

of the bands.

On his arrival. Gen. Cass IouikI a large iiuniber nf In-

dians a.sscmbled, but yet the altetidaiice was not as numi'r-

ous as he had expected. Having found, upon in(|uiry, that

a number of the more remote bands were unrepresented,

he dispatched runners to the villages on the Huron (now

Cass), Flint, Shiawassee, Mishtegayock, iMaplo, and Titta-

bawassee Rivers, to give furtiier ncitification to the chiefs,

and to urge them to come in and join in the council.

This pressing invitation had the desired effect, and nearly

all the absentee chiefs and warriors, with their squaws and

pappoo.ses, made haste to join their red brethren at the

rendezvous.

When all had come in, and the preparations were com-

plete, the council was opened, in a large house (or more

properly a bower, as its covering was composed principally

of the branches of trees) which bad been built for the

occasion, on the bank of the Saginaw, by Louis Canipau,

the trader, by direction of Gen. Cass. All around this

structure, and crowding closely up to the line which they

were not allowed to enter, were squaws and pappooses from

every band of the Saginaw Chippewa tribe, e.iger to look

upon the ceremonies which were little less than mysterious

to them. Ne.Kt in their front—and inside the leafy

" council-house"—were the young men and warriors,

while within their circle, seated on the trunks of trees

which had been placed there for that purpose, were the

chiefs and sagamores, those of highest rank being clustered

round a low jilatform of hewn logs, on which were seated

Gen. Cass, his secretaries,—Forsyth, Leib, and Whitney,

—Capt. Cass and Lieut. John Peacock, of the Third In-

fantry, Capt. Chester Root, of the United States Artillery,

Whitinore Knaggs (Indian trader, sub-agent, and principal

interpreter), and some others. Other interpreters present

were Louis Beaufait, John Hurson, William Tuckey, and

Henry Connor, who was knowu among the Indians as

Waliaskindebay, or " White Hair." Among the traders

who made themselves oflScious on the occasion were Louis

and Antoine Campau, Jacob Smith, and Archibald Lyons,

who was afterwards drowned in the Tittabawassee while in

the employ of G. D. and E. 8. Williams at their station

near where Midland City now stands.

Gen. Cass opened the council by an address to the In-

dians, delivered through his interjireters. He told them

that the Great Father (the President) earnestly desired

to preserve and perpetuate the peace which had been estab-

lished between their tribes and the government ; that ho

had the welfare of his red children at heart, and wished to

sec them gradually change their mode of life by depending

more on the pursuits of agriculture and less on hunting

and fishing, which would grow more and more precjirious

year by year because the advance of white immigration

was moving resistles.sly towards them, and in a little time

their streams would become less prolific, and their game

Would be driven to more reuwte hunting-grounds. He
explained to them that the government, wishing to pur-

chase their lands for the use of while s<'tllers, wouKI pay

them a generous price; and that other lands, ample in

extent, and as fertile as theae, would be set opart for the

perpetual use of thi^niselves and their chililren.

The original object of lien. Cslss wa.s not only to induce

the Chippewns to cede their lands, but ul.so to obtain from

thom ap agreement to remove from the peninsula and locate

tlicmsclvcs on tracts to be selected for them we.st of Lake

Michipm, or jierhaps beyond the Mis.sissippi. This obji-ct

was nuide apparent by the tenor of his opening speech, and

it roused the opposition and resentment of the chiefs to

such a degree as to threaten a suspension of all negotiations.

The first Indian who spoke in re])ly to the Governor wa.s
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Kishkawko* the principal chief of the Saginaws. He

spoke in a violent and angry manner against the cession of

any of their lands, and advised the breaking up of the

council. He was, however, considerably under the influ-

ence of liquor at the time, and on tliis account his harangue

had less eiFect than that of Ogeniawkeketo (a name mean-

ing " chief speaker"), who immediately followed Kishkawko

in a speech which was far less violent, but quite as uncom-

promising in its opposition to the objects of Gen. Cass.

Mishenanonequet and other chiefs spoke in nearly the same

vein, and when the council was ended for the day the pros-

pect of the conclusion of a treaty was far from favorable.

At the close. Gen. Cass, after having told the chiefs in a

friendly manner to go to their wigwams " and smoke and

talk the matter over together," retired with his secretaries

to their quarters in a state of disappointment and great

anxiety in view of the not improbable failure of the nego-

tiations. There was one favorable circumstance, however

:

the chief, Kishkawko, had reached a state of helpless in-

toxication, and he remained in that condition for the follow-

ing eight or ten days, not again making his appearance

until all the terms of the treaty had been agreed on.

The Indians had retired sullen and almost rebellious, and

no other session of the council was held for several days.

But during that time powerful influences in favor of the

treaty had been brought to bear on them by Jacob Smith

and other traders, who wished, for private reasons of their

own, to see the sale consummated. The trader Smith, in

particular, was high in favor with old Ncome and a great

number of the other chiefs, and his influence over them

was great. He was favorable to the cession, because in it

he expected to (and eventually did) secure a number of

choice reservations of land for his children. Archibald

^ Kishkawko was not a Chippew.i, but a member of one of the

Canadian tribes, who came to Sa_i;inaw and by some means was ena-

bled to usurp the power and place of principal chief. He was de-

scribed as "a miserable tyrant and a villainous coward." Mr. Tru-

man B. Fox, in his mention of Kishkawko, says; "The early settlers

of Oaliland County were very much annoyed by this villain and his

cowardly band as they passed through that section of the country on

their way to Jlalden to receive their annual presents from the British

government. Kishkawko was in the habit of traveling with thirty or

forty scoundrels, whom he called his warriors, and taking advantage

of the sparseness of the settlements would levy coutributions upon

the poor settlers. If his demands were not readily complied with ho

would take what he wanted by force, such as cattle, hogs, etc., thus

subjecting the poor settlers to great suffering and continual fear.

Upon one occasion, after his arrival at Detroit, which happened ,a

few days before payment, his men being very hungry, he applied to

some of the authorities for food, ' for,' said he, * unless my young

men get something to eat it will be impossible for me to restrain them

from robbing the settlers along the route.' * Sir,' returned Gen.

Cass, * if your young men commit any depredations upon the settlers

I will send mt/ young men to punish them.' Notwithstanding this

intimation depredations were occasionally committed upon the set-

tlers with impunity. Kishkawko'at length came to his end in a man-

ner strikingly in keeping with his wicked and cowardly career. One

day, while encamped at a place a little above Detroit, known as Chaine

Farm, he got into a drunken row and killed an Indian. He was

arrested by the proper authorities and imprisoned in the old Detroit

jail, where he_ remained several months. Feeling assured from his

past conduct that he need exjiect no mercy or lenity from the hands

of those he had so often outraged, and that his death was certain, he

anticipated the law by taking poison, supposed to have been provided

him by his squaws."

Lyons was another who expected ("and received) a similar

favor for his half-breed daughter Elizabeth. Several other

traders (among whom a principal one was Louis Campau)

stood well in the confidence of the Chippewas, and all these

exerted their powers of persuasion to induce the Indians to

make the treaty, iu the hope of receiving certain arrearages

due them out of the silver coin which would be paid in

consideration of the cession.

Gen. Ca.ss, although he was Governor of Jlichigan and

commissioner of Indian affairs, and was backed by the

military force of the United States, did not wield one-half

the power over the savages which was exercised by those

traSers ; but the latter used theirs so effectually that at the

end of a few days they had nearly overcome the opposition.

Having accomplished this result they notified Gen. Cass

(_who had all the while been aware of the means that were

being employed), and he thereupon reconvened the chiefs

and warriors in the council-house.

At this second council there was still a considerable

amount of discussion among the chiefs, but as the principal

difficulty had already been surmounted by the arguments

and persuasions of the traders, the scenes of the previous

meeting were not re-enacted here. All the circumstances were

now favorable for the conclusion of a treaty. The most de-

termined opponent, Kishkawko, was absent (not having yet

recovered from his debauch), and the chief speaker, Oge-

mawkeketo, had been won over by the traders. Gen. Cass,

having found that the Indians were bitterly hostile to the

plan for removing them bej'oud Lake Michigan, and that

if the measure was insisted on it would most probably re-

sult in the failure of the treaty, had ceased to press the

proposition, and substituted for it the plan of granting

tribal and individual reservations within the tract to be

ceded. These circumstances had wrought such a favorable

change in the feelings of the chiefs that the parties had

little difficulty in agreeing on the terms of a treaty, which

was virtually concluded at this sitting; all that remained to

be done being to engross it in due form, and to affix to it

the signatures of the commissioner, the chiefs, and the wit-

nesses.

On the following day (September 24th) the third and

last session of the council was held, and the treaty was

formally signed. The Indian attendance was much larger

at this than at either of the previous councils, being esti-

mated at fully two thousand chiefs and warriors ; while a

still greater number of women and children were crowded

together on the outskirts of the assemblage. The ceremony

of signing the treaty was made as imposing as possible.

The first name written upon the document was, of course,

that of Lewis Cass, United States Indian commissioner,

and this was followed by the totems of one hundred and

fourteen Chippewa and Ottawaf chiefs. Old Kishkawko

had finally come out of his prolonged trance, and was

present—somewhat sullen, but very quiet and dignified

—

t Only a very few Ottawas, however, were included among the

chiefs who signed the Saginaw treaty. The Ottawas were regarded

as the owners of a small part (the southwestern portion) of the lands

ceded by this treaty; but they had no proprietorship in the eastern

part, which (including the two counties to which this history has ref-

erence) was embraced in the domain of the Chippewas.
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;ind affixed his mark to the treaty with those of the other

(liiefs. The execution of the treaty was witnessed by

Actinjr Coniuiis.si()nor R. A. Forsytli ;
tlie Governoi's sec-

retaries, Lrib and Whitney; Capts. Cass and Root and

Ijieut. Peacock ;
Gabriel Godfroy, sub agent ; the inter-

preters Knajrgs, Beaiifait, Ilurson, and Tuekey ; John

Hill, army contractor; Henry I. Hunt, Barney Can)pau,

William Keith, V. S. Rylcy, J. Whipple, A. K. Lacock,

John Smyth, R. Head, Richard Smyth, Louis Dcquindre,

and Conrad Ten Kyck.

After the sijining, a large table was spread before the

commissioner, and on this table were placed great piles of

silver half-dollars, which, under the direction of Gen. Cass,

were to be paid out to the representatives of the several

bands. This part of the ceremony was watched with great

interest by both chiefs and traders, but for somewhat differ-

ent reasons. Many of the chiefs were indebted in consider-

able sums to the trader Louis Canipau, who had received

their promise that wiien the payment was made to them his

claim shoul.l be lifpiidated, at least to the amount of fifteen

hundred dollars. He had already notified Gen Ca.ss of this

agreement, and was now anxiou.sly waiting, hoping to re-

ceive the money from the commissioner without having it

pass through Indian hands at all. But three of the other

traders present were not pleased at the prospect of having

so considerable a jiart of the Indians' money appropriated

to the payment of their old debts. One of these three was

Jacob Smith, who at once set about the task of persuading

the wily and treacherous Kislikawko and some of the other

chiefs to demand that the entire sum due them should be

paid to the Indians, to be applied by them as they saw fit.

This diplomacy was .so entirely successful that when the

commissioner explained to the chiefs that Camjiau was ex-

pecting to receive his dues, and asked if they consented to

the arrangement, they replied that they were his children,

under his protection, and expected that he would pay the

money into their hands. The general could not disregard

their expres.scd wishes in this particular, and ho thcrelbre

directed that the money be paid to them, which was accord-

ingly done by the secretaries, much to the disgust of Cam-

pau, who, seeing that his money was lost, and believing

Smith to be the cause of his discomfiture, leaped from the

platform where he had been standing, and struck the latter

two stunning blows in tlie face. Quick as lightning Smilii

turned on his assailant, but Henry Connor and Louis Beau-

fait interposed between the belligerents and stopped the

fight.

After the payments iiad been made. Gen. Cass ordered

five barrels of government whisky to be opened, and the

lii(uor to be dealt out to the Indians. Upon .seeing this,

Campau, still filled with wrath at the treatment he had

received, and blaming the general almo.st as much as Smith

for it, ordered up ten barrels of his own whisky, knocked

in the heads, and posted two men with dippers to supjily

the Indians as they came up. Of course the .scene of in-

toxication that ensued was indescribable. At about ten

o'clock, the Governor, having become thoroughly alarmed at

the infernal orgies that surrounded the trading buu.se in

which he was quartered, sent his private secretary, Forsyth,

wiili orders to Canipau to shut off the supjily of li(|uor

;

but the trader only deigned the grim reply, " Gen. Cass

commeueed it himself." Then a platoon of Capt. Cass'

company was detailed to guard the store-house. Soon after

they had been posted, a new arrival of Indians demanded

whisky, and, upon being refused and held at bay, rushed on

the guard to force an entrance, during which attempt one

of them received a bayonet wound in the leg. In an instant

the war-whoop was sounded, and in a few minutes more

swarms of savages, infuriated with liquor, and tomahawk in

hand, came rushing towards the store. " Stop the litpior,

Louis !" screamed the Governor of Michigan Territory, as

he stood in the door of his quarters with a night-cap on

his head. " \Vc .shall all be murdered ! Stop the liquor, I

say !" " Certainemcnt, mon g6n6ra\," replied Campau,

" but you begun it, and you allowed Smith to rob me. I'll

keep you safe, but remember you commenced it, mon gen-

eral." He appeared to think that the satisfaction of thor-

oughly frightening Gen. Cass for having allowed Jacob

Smith to rob him, as he said, was cheaply enough purchased

by the expenditure of ten barrels of whisky. " I lost my

whisky and my money," he afterwards remarked, " but I

had good revenge on Cass."

By the combined efforts of the interpreters and traders

the Indians were at length pacified, and they retired to

their wigwams to .sleep off the effects of their intoxication.

After they had entirely recovered from their debauch they

became perfectly friendly and tractable, and even after the

commissioner and his staff of a.ssistants had departed for

Detroit, they sent the orator-chief, Washmcnondequct, to

overtake him, and express to him their plc;usure and satis-

faction at the result of the council.

By the terms of this treaty, the Indians ceded to the

United States an area of territory estimated at about sis

millions of acres; oa consideration of which cession, the

government agreed to pay to the Chippewa nation annually,

forever, the sura of one thousand dollars, in silver coin, and,

also, that all annuities to be paid them in pursuance of the

stipulations of previous treaties should thereafter be paid

in silver. The terras of the treaty of Greenville (in 1795),

giving the Indians the right to hunt and fish at will upon

the ceded lands, so long as they remained the properly of

the United States, were applied to this treaty. They were

also to be permitted to make .sugar wherever they choso

upon the same lands and during the same period, but with-

out any unnecessary waste of the trees. 'J'ho boundaries

of the cession, as described in the treaty, were as inllows :

" Beginning at a point in the jire.sent Indian boundary line

(identical with the ]U-incipal meridian of the Slate) which

runs due north from tlie mouth of the great Augiaiise River,

six miles soulii of the ]>laci' where the biusc line, so-culled,

intersects the same; thence west .sixty miles; ihence in a

direct line to the head of Thunder IJay River
;
thence down

the same, following the courses thereof, to the moulh
;

thence northeast to the liMumlary line between the United

States and the British jirovince of Upper Canada; iheneo

with the same to the lino established by the treaty of De-

troit in the year 1S07; and th<'nee with said line to the

jilace of beginning."

This immense tract joined the cession of ISO? along the

line of the ]irineipal meridian, and extended thence west-
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ward to a point about three miles northeast of the site of

tlie village of K;ilamazoo. From this point, the western

boundary of the cession was an unsurveyed line extending

nortlieasterly through the present counties of Kalamazoo,

Barry, Ionia, Montcalm, Isabella, Clare, Roscommon, and

Crawford to Montmorency, embracing all the country be-

tween the diagonal line mentioned and Lake Huron ;* thus

including, of course, the entire territory of Clinton County,

and all of Shiawassee which had not been covered by the

cession of 1807.

Within the boundaries of the great tract conveyed to the

government by the treaty of Saginaw a number of tribal

and individual reservations were made, viz. : A tract of

8000 acres, including an Indian village, on the east side of

the Au Sable ; 2000 acres on the Mesaquisk ;
GOOO acres,

to include an Indian village, on the north side of the Kaw-

kawling; 640 acres on the same river, " for the use of the

children of Bowkowtonden ;" 9640 acres, in three tracts,

on the Huron (Cass) River; an island in Saginaw Bay;

a tract of 2000 acres " where Nabobish formerly stood;"

1000 acres "near the island in Saginaw River;" 2000

acres "at the mouth of Point Augrais River;" 10,000

acres at Big Rock, on the Shiawassee, and " 3000 acres on

the Shiawassee River at a place called Ketchewandauge-

nink ;" 0000 acres at Little Forks, on the Tetabawasink

(Tittabawassee) River, and 6000 acres, near the same

stream, " at Blackbird's town ;" 40,000 acres " on the

west side of the Saginaw River, to be hereafter located
;"

" one tract of 5760 acres upon the Flint River, to include

Reaume's (Neome'sj village and a place called Kishkaw-

bawee ;" individual reservations on the Saginaw River to

" the Crow" a Chippewa chief, and to three half-breed sons

of Gen. Riley; also eleven individual reservations of 640

acres each, at the Grand Traverse of. the Flint River, em-

bracing the site of the present city of Flint ; five of the

reservations last named being granted for the use of the

five children of Jacob Smith the trader, whose influence

with the Indians (exerted principally in view of the secur-

ing of these same tracts) was largely instrumental in gain-

ing the Indians' consent to the treaty, and without which

it could hardly have been made.

The teu-thousand-aore reservation "at Big Rock on the

Shiawassee River" was located a short distance north of

the boundary of Shiawassee County, in Saginaw, at the

present village of Chesaning, which took its name from the

old Indian village of Che-as-sin-ning (Big Rock), which

was included in the reservation.

The tract of two thousand acres to be located " where

Nabobish formerly stood" was never laid out, but was

merged in the forty-thousand-acre reservation " to be here-

after located" on the west side of the Saginaw. The old

village of Nabobish (so called for the chief of the same

name, who died before 1830) was the place which was

''• The Indian title to all that part of the Lower Peninsula which

remained in possession of the Indians after the conclusion of the

Saginaw treaty was extinguished by the treaties of Chicago (Aug. 29,

1821) and Washington (March 28, is;i6). By the former the Indians

coded the southwest part of the State as far north as Grand River;

and by the latter, all the remainder of the peninsula (c^copt a few

reservations) which liad not been included in previous cessions.

known among the later Indians as As.sineboining, situated

on the south branch of the Shiawassee, in what is now the

township of Cohoctah, in the county of Livingston. The

reason why the Nabobish reservation was never surveyed

and set apart for the u.se of the Indians in accordance with

the terms of the treaty is not known, but the fact that it

was never done caused great dissatisfaction among them
;

and during all the years of their stay in this region they

never ceased to refer to it in bitter terms, as an act of bad

faith on the part of the government. The tract of three

thousand acres reserved " on the Shiawassee River, at a place

called Ketchewandaugenink," was the " Grand Saline" or

" Big Lick" reservation, embracing lands in the northwest

corner of the present township of Burns, Shiawassee Co.,

and also extending into the adjoining townships of Antrim,

Shiawassee, and Vernon. This was the only reservation

ever laid out for Indians within the territory of Shiawassee

and Clinton Counties.

Neither the reservation of Kechewondaugoning nor that

which was promised at Nabobish was, strictly speaking,

within the scope of the Saginaw treaty, nor within the tract

there ceded ; for, as has already been stated, the cession of

1807 included within its boundaries—as described in the

treaty of Detroit—a territory which, extending northward

as far as the centre of the west line of Shiawassee, and run-

ning thence northeasterly to White Rock on Lake Huron,

covered all of that county except the northwest corner,

—

about one-sixth part of its area. But the Indians did not

so understand it. They had no means of knowing where

the described lines would fall, and they supposed that the

northern boundary of that cession would pass to the south-

ward of the head-waters of the Shiawassee River, while in

fact it crossed that stream within the present boundary of

Saginaw County. The fact, however, that they believed

themselves to be still possessors of the Shiawassee Valley is

proof that they never intended to include it in the lands

ceded by the treaty of 1807. Whether Gen. Cass knew

that this region was comprehended within the limits of that

csssion—or, indeed, whether the northern boundary de-

scribed by the treaty of Detroit was ever accurately run

—

does not appear
;
but if the commissioner was aware of the

fact, he did not, and could not, insist on the right of the

government to the lands which the Indians believed to be

still their own, for by so doing he would probably have

enraged them to such an extent that the treaty of Saginaw

could not have been concluded.

PLANS FOR INDIAN EMIGRATION.

It has already been mentioned that one of the principal

objects of Gen. Cass in convening the treaty-council at

Saginaw in September, 1819, was to procure from the In-

dians an agreement that they would gradually emigrate from

their old hunting-grounds in Michigan and remove beyond

the Mississippi River, or at least to the country lying to the

westward of Lake Michigan ; but in this the commissioner

was disappointed, as we have seen. This repulse, however,

did not cause the government to abandon its cherished idea,

and, finally, after many long years of persuasion, the minds

of the red men seemed to have become fully prepared to
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entertain the proposition for ultimate removal to the new

countries of the far West. Finally, at the beginning of the

j'ear 1837, Ilciiry R. Schoolcraft, Indian commissioner,

met the chiefs and head men of the Chippewas in council

at Detroit, where, on the 14th of January in that year, a

treaty was concluded by which the tribe ceded to the United

States all the reservations, except those granted to individ-

uals, under the Saginaw treaty of 1819, but retained the

right to continue for five years in undisturbed occupation

of their tracts on the Augrais River, and on the Mushowusk

River west of the Saginaw ; no white man to settle or en-

croach on those tracts under penalty of five hundred dol-

lars. The United States agreed to furnish a farmer and

blacksuiilh for the tribe as before, and to continue the dona-

tions of cattle and farming utensils. The lands embraced

in the ceded reservations were to be surveyed by the United

States and placed in the market with the other public lands

as soon as practicable, and the amount due tiio Indians frmu

this source to be invested by the President in some public

stock, the interest to be paid annually to the tribe in the

same manner as their annuities were paid ;
and if, at the end

of twenty years, the Indians should wish the said stock to

be sold and the proceeds divided among the tribe, it might

be done with the consent of the President and Senate.

Hut the most important part of this treaty was that in

which the Chippewas agreed to remove from the State of

Michigan as soon as a proper location for them could be ob-

tained, lor which purpose a deputation wa.s to be sent to

view the country occupied by kindred tribes west of Lake

Superior ;
" and if an arrangement for their future and per-

manent residence can be made there which shall be satis-

factory to them and the government, they shall be permitted

to form a reunion with such tribes and remove thereto. If

such an arrangement cannot be effected the government of

the United States will use its influence to obtain such

location west of the Mississippi River as the legislation of

Congress may indicate." An amendment was made to the

terms of this treaty by a new treaty made by Mr. School-

craft with the Chijipewa chiefs at Flint River, Dec. 20,

1837, by which the United States agreed to reserve a

location for the tribe "on the head-waters of the Osage

River, in the country visited by a delegation of the said

tribe during the present year ; to be of proper extent agree-

ably to their numbers, embracing a due proportion of

wood and water, and lying eontig\ious to tribes of kindred

language;" the meaning and intent of this being to abro-

gate that article of the treaty of Detroit which entitled

them to lands in the country lying west of Lake Superior.

It was provided by the treaty that the sum of fifty cents lor

each acre of Indian reservali(jn land sold by the United

Slates should be reserved "as an ind<ninilicatii)n for the

location to be furni.shed for their futuri' permanent resi-

dence, and to constitute a fund for emigrating thereto."

Immediately after the treaty of Flint River, Comnii.s-

sioner Schoolcraft called another council, to be held at Sagi-

naw, the reasons for which convention were set forth to be

that " the chiefs of the bands have represented that combi-

nations of purchasers may be formed at the sale of their

lands [meaning the reservation lands relin<|nislied by the

treaty of Detroit, Jan. 14, 1837], for the jmrpose ol keep-

ing down the price thereof, both at the public and private

sales, whereby the proceeds would be greatly diminished

;

and such a procedure would defeat some of the primary

objects of the ces-sion of the lands to the United States, and

thereby originate difficulties to their early removal and ex-

patriation to the country west of the Jlississippi." The

council was held and a treaty made, in which it was pro-

vided that the reservation lands ceded by the treaty of

1837 should be offered for sale by proclamation of the

President, and that the sales should be conducted in the

same manner as the sales of other government lands, which,

together with other guarantees and safeguards to protect

the Indians from being wronged in the sale of their reser-

vations, had the effect to quiet their apprehensions. This

treaty was concluded Jan. 23, 1838.

The time set for the final evacuation of the Michigan

peninsula by the Saginaw Chippewas was January, 1842,

or five years from the conclu.sion of the treaty of Detroit,

in which they gave their assent to the project of emigra-

tion, and relin(|uishcd their reservations, except those on

Mushowu.sk and Augrais Rivers, which last two they were

to hold until the expiration of the five years of grace. But

the plans of the government looking to the removal of the

Chippewas from Michigan were never carried into effect.

Long before the time agreed on for their departure they

had bitterly repented of their promise to remove to the

lands in the far West, and they prayed the Great Father

that they might be allowed to remain on almost any terms,

and to die in the land of their birth. Probably, however,

this had less effect in averting their doom of expatriation

than the fact that, in the mean time, they had been almost

exterminated by the ravages of the smallpox, which left

but a feeble remnant of their once numerous tribe. The

bands were broken up, and the few miserable and dejected

ones who survived the scourge became too widely scattered

to be easily gathered together for banishment. Some of

them, in dread of being removed West, preferred to cross

into Canada,—and did so. Ollicrs (and the greater pro-

portion) went northward into what was then the wilderness.

These, or their children, are some of them now living on

the reservation in Isabella County ; a few yet remain in

Saginaw, Gratiot, and other counties towards the north
;

but very few, if any of them, are now residents of Shia-

wassee or Clinton.

JtEMUVAL OF l'()TT.\WATT.\MIK UKFUOKK.s.

The policy of the United States government in reference

to the Potlawatliiinie tribe was the same which was pur-

sued towards the Chippewas, except that with the former

the plan of emigration was carried out to the end, and

most of the pcujile of that tribe were ultimately renn>ved

beyond the Mi.-sissippi. The I'ottawallamies, by various

treaties, from 1H21 to 1828, had ceded their country to the

government, but, like the Chippewas, tliey liad retained

several reservations. In September, 1833, however, they

ceded lliesc reservations to the United States, and at the

same time agreed to evacuate and remove from their lands

witliin three years. They were not removed promptly nt

the expiration of the time agreed on, but in (he autumn of

1838 a large number of them were collected on the St.
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Joseph River (by some persons who had taken the contract

from government to remove them) and were sent West, es-

corted by United States troops. Many, however, had left

their villages and hidden themselves to avoid being taken,

and quite a number wiio started, escaped from the troops

and returned. In 1839 the process was repeated, and many

Indians were collected through all the country from the St.

Joseph eastward to the Huron. But even after this second

attempt, a large number of Pottawattamies (amounting in

all to several hundreds) had evaded the vigilance of the

contractors, and remained behind. In 1840 it was under-

stood that a very determined effort would be made to collect

all the lingerers and remove them, but the dejected fugitives

were equally determined to avoid capture, if possible, and

a body of them numbering about two hundred men, women,

and children, with their old chief Muckemoot, fled for

safety to the northern part of Shiawassee County.

Early in the autumn of that year (1840) Gen. Hugh

Brady* arrived at the village of Owosso under orders to

u.se the troops at his command in capturing the Pottawat-

tamie band, who were supposed to be lurking in the woods

and swamps to the northward. This duty of hunting down

the poor wretches and forcing them into exile was very

distasteful to the gallant old soldier, but his orders left him

no choice. His troops were to be used to assist the con-

tractors in collecting and guarding the Indians, f.nd after-

wards in escorting them on their weary way to the Mis-

sissippi.

Observation and inquiry soon revealed the fact that the

fugitives were a few miles north of Owosso, engaged in

picking cranberries on the marshes in the vicinity of the

Shiawassee River. It was not long, however, before the

Indians became aware of the presence of Gen. Brady, and,

of course, knew too well the nature of his errand. Upon
this the old chief, Muckemoot, started eastward with two

or three followers, and passed swiftly on through Genesee

and Oakland Counties, heading for Canada, and fully re-

solved never to be taken alive. The companions of Mucke-

moot had firearms, but the chief himself had only his

bow and a quiver of arrows at his back, with knife and

tomahawk in belt.

' Hugh Brady was born in Northumljerland Co., Pa., in the year

170.S. He entered the United States army as ensign in 1792, and
served with great credit under" Mad Anthony" Wayne in the Indian

campaigns which followed. He was made lieutenant in February,

1794, and captain in 1799. In the reduction of the army, which was
made soon afterwards, he was mustered out of the service, but was
restored with his former rank in ISOS by President .Tefferson. He
fought with great bravery in the war of 1S12, and was severely

wounded at the battle of Chippewa, where, as Gen. Scolt said in his

report of the engagement, "Old Brady showed himself in a sheet of

fire." The Hon. licorge C. Bates says of him: "Again and again

he faced death on the battle-fields of Chippewa, Queenstown, Niagarji,

and Lundy's Lane, amidst such slaughter as was never seen on any
previous battle-field of our country. He was colonel of the Twenty-
second Foot Corps, which crossed bayonets with Col. Basden, of the

British Twenty-first. He was so diffident, so modest, so brave, that

any mention of his gallant c^iiloits in his presence would drive bim
from the circle of conversation. But whenever duty called him to

action he went calmly, resolutely to it. Not only was (ien. Brady a

true soldier, but in all the broadest aspects of the word he was an
accomplished American gentleman." His death occurred at Detroit

in I Sol, the result of his being thrown from his carriage by a pair of

friirlitencd liorscs.

When their flight became known a party of three or

four white men set out on horseback from Owosso in pur-

suit. The chief and his men had kept to the Avoods for

many miles, but before reaching Pontine they took the

road and pressed on with all speed towards Auburn. Near

that place the pursuing party (having heard of the Indians

several miles back) overtook and passed them without

awakening their suspicions. Keeping on for a considerable

distance the white men finally halted, and when the savages

came up, demanded their surrender. Old Muckemoot, see-

ing that he was entrapped, made an involuntary movement

of defense, but recovered himself in an instant (probably

realizing the hopelessness of resistance with bow and arrow

while covered by the firearms of his opponents), and he

coolly demanded to know what they wanted, and why they

interfered with him on his peaceful journey. " Who are

you?" said the white man whom he addressed. "I am
Ogemawkeketo, the Saginaw chief. Why am I molested ?"

" No,' said the white man, " I have known Ogemawkeketo

for many years. You are not he. You are Muckemoot,

the Pottawattamie chief, and you must go with me.' Then

the old Indian saw that furtlier dissimulation was as vain

as resistance. His countenance fell, and he answered very

sadly, and yet proudly, '• Yes, it is true ; I am the great

chief of the Pottawattamies, and it is well for j'ou that

you came on me unawares, for otherwise Muckemoot could

never have been taken ! I would fight you now, but it is

too lute ! I will surrender ! It is very hard, but I will go

with you !"

The other Indians, following the lead of their chief, sur-

rendered peaceably, and all were taken to Owosso. After

the capture of Muckemoot and his followers the main

body of Pottawattamies did not make much eflbrt to escape,

and they were finally all (or very nearly all) taken in the

vicinity of the cranberry marshes, in the present township

of Rush. They were brought into Owosso in squads at

different times, and these, as they arrived, were placed

under guard. Some of them were quartered in a wooden

building which had been erected for a hotel, but more in

the Log Cabin which had been erected on the southeast

corner of JIaiu and Washington Streets as a rendezvous

for the supporters of Harrison and Tyler in the Presiden-

tial campaign of that year. They were kept in those

buildings for a considerable time, until ail who could be

found had been brought in. Then a number of four-horso

wagons were brought to the place, and into them were

loaded the women and children, with their few utensils and

other movable articles. Some of the Indian men were

allowed transportation in the wagons, some rode on ponies,

and many were obliged to travel on foot. Formed in this

manner, and closely guarded by troops in front and rear,

the mournful procession of Pottawattamies moved out on

the road, and sadly took their way to the place of their

exile beyond the waters of the Mississippi.
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CHAPTER III.

INTERNAL IMPROVEMENTS.

Laj'ing out and Construction of Early Roads in the two Counties

—

Maple River Navigation Projects—Navigation of the Shiawassee—
Northern Railroad and Northern Wagon-Road—Detroit and Shia-

wassee Railroad Company—Detroit, Grand Haven and Milwaukee

Railway—Jackson, Lansing and .Saginaw Railroad—Detroit, Lan-

sing and Northern Railroad—Port Huron Railroad Project—Chi-

cago and Lake Huron Railroad Line—Other l*rojected Railroads.,

Wherever immigrants of the Anglo-Saxon race estab-

lish themselves as pioneers in wild interior regions, the

opening of routes of travel between their isolated settle-

ments and the nearest civilized communities is one of the

first labors which they are called on to perform. In many

cases, when the country is heavily timbered (as was the

case through the greater part of the counties of Clinton

and Shiawassee), this is a heavy task, and one which the

pioneer is sometimes obliged to attend to before he can

transport his family and their movables to the place which

he has chosen for a home. If his location has been selected

in a country of openings, he still has some labor to perform

in clearing a path through thickets which are occasionally

found barring the way, or in filling wet places with brush-

wood to allow the passage of his team ; and even if he is

migrating on foot, without the convenience of either wagon

or animals, he will sometimes find it necessary to fell a tree

or two across a water-course, to serve as a foot-bridge for

his wife and children, with their scanty stock of household

goods. And whether the work be light or heavy, the

opening of these rude tracks to pioneer settlements is road-

making,—the first step in the direction of public internal

improvements in all now countries which are remote from

navigable waters.

The earliest highways in the section of country to which

this history has reference were the Indian trails, several of

which were found traversing the territory of Clinton and

Shiawassee Counties at the time when the first settlers

came here. The mo.st important of these was the one

known as the " Grand River trail," which, leaving that

river at the mouth of the Looking-Glass, passed up the

htst-named stream on its northern side through Clinton

County to what are now the villages of De Witt and

Laingsburg, and thence through Shiawassee County south

of the village of Hartwellville to a point whore an ancient

Indian village was .situated on the Looking-Glass in the

present township of Antrim. There it forked, and the

more southerly branch (known as the Red Cedar trail)

passed south to the Cedar River in Livingston County, but

the main Grand River trail continued eastward, crossed

the Shiawassee River where the present hamlet of Hums
stands, bore away southeast to Byron, and thence across

the southwest corner of Genesee County and the northeast

corner of Livingston into and through Oakland County to

Pontiac and Detroit.

The " Saginaw trail" passed from the great Indian camp-

ground at Saginaw, up the Saginaw and Shiawassee Rivers

to the " great crossing" of the latter stream, where it joined

the Grand River trail. The Saginaw and Grand River

trail, passing up the valley of the Had River in Saginaw

County, crossed to the great bend of the Maple River in

Gratiot County, and thence passed down the latter stream

through Clinton County to Genereau's trading-post on

Grand River. Another trail left the one last mentioned at

the great bend of the JLiple and pa.ssed southeastwardly

up that river, through Clinton and Shiawassee Counties, to

join the Grand River trail at tlie crossing of the Shiawas-

see. Almost directly through the centre of Clinton County

a trail led southeastwardly from Maple Rapids to Scott's

(De Witt village), where it crossed the Grand River trail

and the Looking-Glass River, and thence passed to the

Grand River in Ingham County. Besides the trails al-

ready mentioned, there were a number of others of less

importance which traversed the territory of Clinton and

Shiawassee Counties, and some of these were selected as

the routes of early roads to the pioneer settlements.

When Richard Godfroy came to establish his trad-

ing-post at the great crossing of the Shiawassee in 1S28,

he brought his goods from Oakland County by way of the

Indian village of Kopenicorning and across the south part

of Genesee County to his destination. The wagon in which

these goods were transported was without doubt the first

vehicle, as the route over which it came was the first road

(if the rude wagon-track through the woods could be consid-

ered as such) which entered or existed within any part of

the territory of these two counties. In the year 1833

a road was cut through the woods over very nearly the

same route from Kopenicorning (ja the extreme northwest

corner of Oakland County) to the Williams trading-post of

the Shiawassee, this being done mainly by the proprietors

of that post, A. L. and 15. 0. Williams, a.ssisted by the

few pioneer settlers who had then located themselves on or

in the neighborhood of its line.

The principal one of all the early roads in these counties

was that known as the " Pontiac and Grand River road,"

which ran from Pontiac to Ionia, and, of course, traversed

the entire breadth of both Shiawassee and Clinton Counties.

It ran from Pontiac westward through Oakland, and passed

" Ilillman's Tavern" in the township of Tyrone, Livingston

Co , whence its route was by way of Byron, Burns, Fre-

mont, ILirtwellville, and Laingsburg, in Sliiawa.ssec Co.,

and Do Witt and Wacousta, in Clinton, to Portland and

Lyons, in Ionia. The pioneer travelers over tiiis road (or at

least the Shiawassee and Clinton part of it) were members

of a party of colonists who were brought from the State of

New York by Judge Samuel W. Dexter, to settle on lauds

which had been purchased by him in Ionia County. This

party of immigrants, numbering sixty-three persons, came

from the east, through Oakland County, and arrived at the

Shiawassee River in the early |iart of May, 1833. Tiiere

were six or seven families of tiiem, besides several single

persons, all traveling with wagons, containing their movable

property, and having with ihera oxen, cows, and swine. Ar-

riving at the Grand Saline, where Antoine Beaubicn had a

trading-post, their leader (Judge Dexter) a.sked that trader

to pilot and assist them to their destination on the Grand

River, but as he refused to undertake it, the judge then

applied to B. 0. Williams, of the trading firm located be-

low on the river. lie was then eng.igcd in his spring farm-



26 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE AND CLINTON COUxNTIES, MICHIGAN.

ins;, and was unwilling to leave it, but finally acceded to

Judge Dextcr's proposal and started out to guide the party

on their way through the wilJernesa from the Shiawassee

to the Grand River. The account which he gives of that

pioneering journey is this :
" Having in vain tried to get

Beaubien to pilot them, Messrs. Dexter, Yeomans,* and

Winsor came to us for help. I left our planting, taking

my blankets and small tent, and in six days landed them at

Ionia, looking out the route, and directing where the road

•was to be. This was the first real colonizing party we had

ever seen,—myself having never been farther than De Witt

(the Indian village). I then induced Maeketapenace

(Blackbird), a son of Kishkawko, the usurping chief of all

the Saginaws, to pilot us past Muskrat Creek, and from

there proceeded with the party. At that point, a son of

Mr. and Mrs. Dexter, a child of about two years old, died

of scarlet fever. We buried the child by torch- and candle-

light, in a box improvised by the party. . . . The road we

opened was next year followed by others, and was substan-

tially the present Grand River road through Shiawassee and

Clinton Counties, and was traveled for many years after."

Mr. Williams is correct in saying that the route traveled by

him with the purty of Ionia colonists was nearly the same

as that of the Pontiac and Grand River road, east of De

Witt, but west of that place it was entirely different, as it ran

thence northwestwardly through the present townships of

Riley, Bengal, and Dallas, and down the south side of Stony

Creek to Ionia County. It was on section 31 of Bengal

—

on the fiirm of Judge Cortland Hill—that the child of

Judge Dexter was buried, as narrated by Mr. Williams.

The route opened by this party between De Witt and Lyons

became known as the " Dexter trail," and was cut out and

traveled for a number of years, but a large part of it was

afterwards closed and taken into the farms through which

it passed.

On the 9th of March, 1844, the Governor approved " an

act to establish and improve the Pontiac and Grand River

road," over the route which has already been described.

In 1845 an amendatory act was passed (approved March

12th), which provided " that Philip S. Frisboe, Elkanali

Parker, and Daniel Donclson be, and they are hereby, ap-

pointed commissioners to examine any part of the Pontiac

and Grand River road, and to make alterations of route

according to their judgment ;" and by the same act, Robert

Toan, of the county of Ionia
;
Loyal Palmer, of Clinton

;

Jonathan M. Hartwell, of Shiawa.ssee ; Samuel N. Warren,

of Genesee ; and Archibald Phillips, of Oakland County,

were " appointed special commissioners, each for the county

in which he resides, whose duty it shall be to direct and

superintend the performance of all labor which by the pro-

visions of this act, or the act to which this is amendatory,

are to be performed on said road, and to expend all monies

which may accrue to said road by the provisions of said

acts." Under the provisions of these, and acts passed in

subsequent years appropriating non-resident taxes, and by

labor applied by the highway officers of the several town-

ships traversed by it, the road was gradually worked and

mitde passable in its entire length, though it was not until

* Erastu^ Yccman-, afterwards a prominent citizen of Ioni:i County.

July, 1854, that it was declared opened through Clinton

County. It has been an important thoroughfare to these

two counties (though much less so now than formerly), and

it is still known and mentioned by its ancient name,—the

Pontiac and Grand River road.

The Detroit and Grand River road—more generally

known in the counties through which it passes as the

'' Grand River Turnpike"—was established by act of Con-

gress, passed on the 4th of July, 1832 (Jlichigan being

then a Territory), directing the President to appoint three

commissioners " to lay out a road from Detroit, through

Sciawassee County,f to the mouth of the Grand River,"

for military and other purposes. The road was accordingly

" laid out," and the sum of two thousand five hundred dollars

was expended by the government in the years 1833 and 1834

in working the eastern part of the road ten miles out from

Detroit. A further appropriation of twenty-five thousand

dollars was made by Congress, March 3, 1835, and this

amount was expended in 1835-36 in clearing the road one

hundred feet wide through the timbered land, and in con-

structing bridges on its line across the Rush, Huron, Shia-

wassee (south branch), and Cedar Rivers. This was the

last work done on the Grand River road by the general

government, as Michigan had cea-ed to be a Territory and

became a sovereign State. A grant of five thousand acres

of land was, however, obtained from the United States for

the benefit of the Grand River and Saginaw roads, of which

grant this road received its proportion.

After the United States ceased making appropriations

for the Grand River road very little was done on it for a

time. The State, however, took up the work soon after,

and the construction of the road was continued by State ap-

propriations from time to time, one of these being made by

an act approved April 2, 1841, which provided that five

thousand dollars bo expended on the construction of this

road, under the direction of the Board of Internal Im-

provement ; this sum being taken from the sixty thousand

dollars which remained unexpended of the appropriations

previously granted for the Northern Wagon-Road,J which

project had at that time been virtually abandoned. By

these appropriations, and by the expenditure of local high-

way taxes upon it, the Grand River Turnpike was finally

made an excellent road, which for many years accommodated

a vast amount of travel. So great was the traffic upon it

at one period prior to the opening of the railroads through

the section tributary to it that the vehicles passing over it

—heavy wagons, light carriages, and stage-coaches—formed

an almost continuous procession. With the opening of the

Detroit and Milwaukee, and Detroit, Lansing and Northern

Railroads this great travel suddenly ceased, and the former

glory of the Grand River Turnpike departed. The route

of the turnpike, being entirely south of the present territory

f Shiawassee County at that time extended south as far as the centre

of the present county of Livingston.

J The Northern Wagon-Road, of which the route lay through the

whole breadth of Shiawassee and Clinton Counties, and for which the

Legislature made an appropriation of thirty thousand dollars in 18-tl,

will be found mentioned in succeeding pages in connection with the

account of the old " Xorthern Railroad."
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of Shiawassee, enters Clinton County at the southeast corner

of tlie township of Watertowti, and passes nortiiwestwardly

through that and the towiisliip of Eagle into Ionia County.

The first Legislature of the State of Michigan, at its ses-

sion of 1835-30, provided for the laying out and establish-

ment of a large number of State roads, and among them

were a number of which the routes were partially within

the counties of Shiawassee and Clinton. These were au-

thorized by act approved March 26, 1836, as follows :

1. " A State road from Pontiac, in the county of Oak-

land, on the most direct and eligible route to the village of

Brooklyn, iu the county of Clinton, and iheuce to the seat

of justice iu said county." Jonathan F. Stratton, William

C. Rumsey, and Enos Leek were appointed by the act

" commissioners to lay out and establish the same."

2. A State road " from the village of Pontiac, in the

county of Oakland, by the most direct and eligible route, to

terminate at the county-seat of Ionia." The commissioners

appointed to lay out and establish this road were Alfred L.

Williams, William Terry, and Erastus Ycomans. The

route of this road crossed the entire width of the counties

of Shiawassee and Clinton.

3. " A State road from Jacksonburgh, in the county of

Jackson, through the centres (as nearly as may be) of the

counties of Ingham and Shiawassee, to Saginaw, in the

county of Saginaw." Commissioners, Daniel Coleman,

David Scott, and William R. Thompson.

4. A State road from Pontiac, in Oakland County, to be

laid out "on the most direct and eligible route until it inter-

sects the Grand River at the mouth of the Looking-Glass

River, passing the White Lake (Oakland County) .settle-

ment, Alfred Williams' on the Shiawassee River, and the

county-seat of Clinton County." The commissioners ap-

pointed to 'lay out and establish" this road were Alfred

L. Williams, Jonathan F. Stratton, and David Scott.

5. State road to be laid out running "from the village

of Pontiac, in Oakland County, to Mapes and Bursley's

mills, on Ore Creek, in township 3 north, of range 6 east,

and thence to the centre of Shiawassee County." To lay

out and establish this road John S. Webber, Samuel Mapes,

and George Buckley were appointed commissioners. The

act authorizing the above-mentioned roads was declared to

be inoperative and void after Dee. 31, 1839, as to such of

them as should not at that time have been laid out and

establi.slied.

It will be noticed that four of the five roads above men-

tioned were to have their eastern termini at Pontiac. As
it is certain that the public good could not have rcf|uired

so many highways running through these counties to that

point, it might seem strange that the Legislature should

have authorized all of them, but for the fact that it was

expressly provided in the law that all State roads so author-

ized were to be under the care of the commissioners of

highways for the several townships through which thoy

were to pass, and " subject to be by them opened and kept

in repair in the same manner as town.ship roads may be by

them opened and kept in repair." It was also provided

that " in laying out and cstabli.shiiig the roads, or any of

the roads named, the State shall not be liable for the e.K-

penses or damages incurred thereby." Therefore, as the

laying out of these roads brought no expense to the State,

it was the policy of the Legislature to grant such as were

asked for by interested parties, though without any expec-

tation that all would be actually built.

The second Legislature of the State, at its regular session

in 1837, passed an act (approved March 17th) which author-

ized the laying out of State roads to cross tlie territory of

Clinton or Shiawassee County, or both, as follows:

1. A road " from Byron, in the county of Shiawassee,

to Shiawassee town, so called, in town 6 north, of range 3

east, and from thence to Leach's Place in section 10, of

town G north, of range 1 east, and from thence by the most

direct and eligible route to the village of Lyons in the

county of Ionia." The commissioners appointed to lay out

this road were Francis J. Prevost, Archibald Purdy, and

Henry Leach.

2. " A State road at or near Farmington City, so called,

in the county of Oakland, running by the head of Walled

Lake to Byron, in the county of Shiawassee," with Erie

Prince, Isaac Wixom, and John Thomas as commissioners

to lay out the same.

3. A road " commencing at the village of Marshall, in

the county of Calhoun, and from thence to Saginaw City,

so called, in the county of Saginaw." The route of this

road must necessarily pass through the county of Shia-

wassee. The commissioners to locate and establish it were

Sidney S. Alcott, Cyrus Hewett, and Charles T. Gorham.

4. A road "from the seat of justice in Eaton County,

to Cushway's trading-point, on Maple River, in the county

of Clinton, on the most direct and eligible route." The

commissioners appointed were William Whe;iton, Stephen

B. Rogers, and Philander R. How.

5. A road " from De Witt, in Clinton County, to Pe-

Shimnecon, in the county of Ionia ;" for the location of

which Sylvester Scott, Alexander Chapel, and Philander

R. How were appointed commissioners.

6. Truman H. Lyon, A. F. Bell, and John Mclvelvey

were appointed commissioners to lay out and establish a

State road " from the village of Pontiac, in the county of

Oakland, by the mo.st direct and eligible route to the vil-

lage of Lyons in tlie county^ of Ionia."

In 1838 (by act approved Match 9tli) the Legislature

authorized the establishment of a State road " from the

Rochester Colony, in Clinton County, thence on the most

direct and eligible route to the county-seat of Ionia," and

appointed Lyman Webster, Lockwood Yates, and Cyrus

Lovell commissioners for that purpose. In the following

year (by act approved April IStli) Samuel Barker, Charles

Baklwin, and John Ferdon were appointed comnii.ssioners

" to lay out and establish a State road, commencing at the

village of Owosso in the county of Shiawassee, and running

thence on the most direct and eligible route by the way of

Rochester Colony, so called, to a certain point of intersec-

tion with a State road running from Ionia to the Rochester

Colony, at or near the dwelling-house of Hiram Benedict,

in township 8 north, of range 3 west."

An act of the Legislature, approved March 4, 1840, ap-

pointed Joseph P. Roberts, Apollos Dewey, and Eliits Corn-

stock coiuinis.sioucr8 " to lay out and establish a State road
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commencing at the village of Mason, in the county of

Ingham, thence in a northerly direction to the village of

Owosso, in the county of Shiawassee, and to file the survey

of so much of said road in the ofiBce of each township clerk

[in any township] through which the road shall pass as

shall be laid out in each township." And by another sec-

tion of the same act Daniel Ball, Alfred L. Williams, and

Alpheus F. Williams were made commissioners to lay out

and establish another State road (a northern continuation

of that above mentioned) " commencing at the village of

Owosso, in the county of Shiawassee, running from thence

in a northerly direction on the most practicable route to

Saginaw City, in the county of Saginaw, and to file the

survey of so much of said road in the ofiBce of each town-

ship clerk [in any township] through which the said road

shall pass as shall be laid out in each township."

For several years after 1840 the Legislature authorized

very few State roads to be laid out through Shiawassee or

Clinton County. The popular excitement in that direction

had in a great measure expended itself during the first tliree

years succeeding the organization of the State, and not onc-

lialf the roads authorized by the Legislature in those years

had been built, or even located. Railroad schemes, too, had

already begun to attract public attention, and a few years

later projects for the construction of plank-roads became so

popular that many persons believed that this kind of high-

way was destined to come into universal use, and to super-

sede the common road. These, and other causes, had the

effect to divert attention from the opening of new State

roads during a number of years preceding the removal of

the State capital to Lansing, but the accomplishment of

that removal, in 1847, caused the people, particularly those

of Shiawassee, Clinton, and other neighboring counties, to

desire more and better roads, to afford access to the new

seat of government. Among the numerous State roads

authorized at the next succeeding session of the Legislature

(in 1848) were several to be laid out within Shiawassee and

Clinton Counties, viz.

:

1. Alexander McArthur, Jonathan !M. llartwell, and

Luke H. Parsons were appointed (by act approved April 1,

1848) commissioners "to lay out a State road from the

village of Flint, in the county of Genesee, by the way of

the village of Corunna, in the county of Shiawassee, to the

capital of this State, or to such other point, touching any

road leading to the capital, as the said commissioners, or a

majority of them, may dccni proper."

2. A State road was authorized, to run " from the vil-

lage of Michigan, in the county of Ingham, on the most

direct and eligible route by the way of Owosso, in the

county of Shiawas.see, and Northampton and the forks of

Bad River, in the county of Saginaw, to the city of

Saginaw." The commissioners appointed to lay out and

establish this road were William Smith, Alfred L. Wil-

liams, and Daniel Gould.

3. Harvey T. Lee, John Thomson, and James M. Cum-

mings were appointed commissioneis " to lay out and estab-

lish a State road on the most eligible route from the village

of Byron, in the county of Shiawassee, to the capital of

this State."

4. A northeastern extension of the last-named road was

authorized by the appointment of Hartford Cargill,

Ephraim Fletcher, and George C. Holmes as commissioners

" to lay out and establish a public State road from Flint vil-

lage, in the county of Genesee, through the township of

Gaines ; thence on the most direct and eligible route to

Byron, in the county of Shiawassee, intersecting the State

road at that place."

5. James Seymour, Alexander McArthur, and Luke H.

Parsons were appointed commissioners with authority " to

lay out and establish a State road from the village of

Corunna, in the county of Shiawassee, on the most eligible

route to the village of Flushing, in the county of Genesee."

And by the same act, J. B. Bloss, Simon Z. Kinyon, and

Isaac Castle were made commissioners to lay out and estab-

lish a State road from Corunna " to a point at or near

where the present traveled road, leading from said village

of Corunna to Shiawasseetown, touches the Shiawassee

River."

An act approved March 31, 1S4S, appropriated six

thousand acres of internal improvement lands " for the pur-

pose of improving certain roads in the county of Clinton, as

follows, viz. : three thousand acres thereof upon a road to

be laid out from the village of De Witt to the village of

Mapleton, in the township of Duplain, crossing the line of

the Northern Railroad at or near the residence of Stephen

W. Downer; also one thousand acres thereof for laying

out and improving a branch of said la.st-mentioned road,

commencing at a point where it intersects the Northern

Railroad line, and running thence to the northeast corner

of section 25, in the township of Essex ; and from thence

on the most eligible route to a point at or near the

centre of the township of Greenbush, in said county of

Clinton ; and also two thousand acres of said land for

laying out and improving a road from the village of De

Witt through the German settlement in Westphalia to

Lyons, in the county of Ionia ; said appropriation to be

expended within the limits of the county of Clinton." An

act pas-sed at the same session (approved March 21, 1848)

appropriated seven thousand acres of internal improvement

lands in the lower peninsula " for the purpose of opening

and improving the road loading from Corunna, in the

county of Shiawassee, to a point at or near the forks of

Bad River, in the county of Saginaw."

It should be borne in mind, in reference to the roads au-

thorized by the Legislature, as above mentioned, that the

"laying out" of roads in that manner (particularly in the

earlier years) was by no means equivalent to opening and

making them ready for travel ; that some of them so au-

thorized were never opened at all ; and that in nearly every

case a long time (sometimes a number of years) intervened

between the time when a State road was laid out by the

commissioners and the time when it was actually worked,

opened, and made passable for vehicles.

There have been a number of State roads laid out in

Clinton and Shiawassee Counties later than those mentioned

above. It is impracticable to notice in detail the laying

out and construction of all these, but it is proper to men-

tion the Shiawassee and Saginaw, and the Clinton and

Gratiot State roads, as among the most important north-and-

south thorousrhfares of these counties. The first mentioned
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was laid out from Owosso to St. Cliarlcs in ISGl, and was

worked tlirough in 1SG2 to 18G4 by Pliilip Mickle, con-

tractor. The project of planking this road between Chcsa-

ning and Owosso was started, and a short distance was

planked in 18G5 (the first pJaiik being laid April 27tli of that

year at Chesaning), but the planking was not extended

into Shiawassee County.

The fine thoroughfare passing northward through the

village of St. John's, and thenee into Gratiot County, is a

part of the line authorized by act of Feb. 12, 1859, which

provided for the laying out of a State road "from Port Hu-

ron, in St. Clair County, to Bay City ; thence westerly to the

meridian town.ship line between ranges 2 and 3 west ; thence

southerly to St. John's, in Clinton County ; to be known as

the Port Huron, Bay City and Clinton road." The sec-

tion passing through the north part of Clinton into Gratiot,

however, has usually been known as the St. John's and

Gratiot road. This section was built by Christopher C.

Darling, of Lansing, in 1859 and 18G0, but has since been

improved at great expense by the townships of Bingham

and Grecnbush, so that it is now one of the best highways

in the county or State.

PLANK-ROADS.

Projects for the construction of plank-roads began to

come into generai favor in Michigan about the year 18-t7,

and it was in that year that the first two of these companies

whoso proposed route lay across any part of the territory of

Shiawassee or Clinton County were formed, as follows:

The Pontiac and Corunna Plank-Road Company—in-

corporated by act approved March 17, 1847—was "em-

powered and authorized to .survey and lay out a road com-

mencing at the village of Pontiac, and running thence

nortliwesterly through the village of Byron and the village

of Shiawassee to the village of Corunna, in the county of

Shiawassee, . . . and to construct and keep in repair a

plank or macadamized road on the route so established from

the village of Pontiac to the village of Corunna." Horace

C. Thurber, J. W. Crandall, Jairah Hillman, George C.

Holmes, J. B. Bloss, Seth Beach, and William Axford

were appointed commissioners to receive subscriptions to

the capital stock, which was authorized to the amount of

two hundred thousand dollars.

Tiie Portland and Shiawassee Plank-Road Company was

incorporated at the same time as the above. Tiiis company

was authorized " to survey and lay out, on tlie line of any

existing highway, or elsewhere, a road commencing at the

village of Portland and running thence easterly to some

eligible point on the Pontiac and <Jorunna Plank- Road."

Commissioners appointed, Peter Laing, David Sturgis, and

Harvey Hunter. Capital authorized, two hundred and fifty

thousand dollars. The object of tliese two companies was

to plank the Pontiac and Grand River Road from Pontiac

to Portland.

After 1817, and before tlic enactment of the general

plank-road law, the Legislature incorporated the following-

named companies, each of which proposed to build plank-

roads through some part of Shiawassee or Clinton County,

viz. :

The Clinton and Bad River Plank Hcpad Cuniiianv, in-

corporated April 3, 1848. Route, "from the village of

De Witt, in the county of Clinton, on the most eligible

route to the forks of Bad River, in the county of Saginaw."

Commi.ssioners, J. W. Turner, Daniel Ferguson, Stephen

W. Downer, Chandler W. Coy, and Robert K. Graver.

Capital, seventy-five thousand dollars.

The Portland and Jlichigan Plank-Road Company, in-

corporated April 3, 1848. To build a plank-road from

Portland, Ionia Co., to the town of ^Ii.'higan (now Lan-

sing), Ingham Co. Commissioners, William F. Jennison,

A. Newman, and Hezekiah Smith. Capital, fifty thousand

dollars. An amendatory act, approved March 8, 1851,

empowered this company to enter upon and use the De-

troit and Grand River turnpike between Lansing and Port-

land.

The Owosso and Bad River Plank-Road Company. In-

corporated April 3, 1848, to build a road from the village

of Owosso to the forks of Bad River, in Saginaw County.

Commissioners, Alfred L. Williams, Amos Gould, and

John B. Barnes. Capital, forty thousand dollars.

The Michigan and De Witt Plank-Road Company. In-

corporated April 3, 1848. Proposed route, " from the town

of Michigan, in the county of Ingham, to the village of

De Witt, in the county of Clinton." Capital, ten thousand

dollars. Commissioners, James Seymour, Siloam S. Carter,

J. W. Turner, George T. Clark, and David Fergu.son.

The Corunna and Saginaw Plank-Road Company. In-

corporated April 3, 1848, " to lay out, establish, and con-

struct a plank-road from Corunna, in the county of Shia-

wassee, to Saginaw, in the county of Saginaw, or to such

intermediate point as the stockholders of said company

shall determine." Capital, fifty thousand dollars (after-

wards increased to seventy thousand dollars). Commis-

sioners, Isaac Castle, Alexander McArthur, Ransom W.
Hawley, Luke II. Parsons, Ebenczer C. Kimberly, and

Samuel ^V. Cooper. To those were afterwards added

Gardner D. Williams, James Fraser, Charlei S. Kimberly,

and David Eaton.

The Howell and Bynui I'lank-Road Company. Incor-

porated March 25, 1850, to construct a plank-road from

Howell, Livingston Co., to Byron, Shiawas.see Co. Ca]iital,

thirty thou.sand dollars. Commi.ssioners, Josiah Turner,

George W. Leo, B. W. Dennis, F. J. Prevost, and Noah

Ramsdell.

None of the above-mentioned companies built their pro-

posed roads, or any i)art of them, within these two counties,

and the only reason why ijiey have been noticed here is to

show how general was the plank-roud mania here, as in

other portions of the State, and al.so to show what were the

several projects of this kind, and who were their originators.

MATLK KIVEK NAVIOATIOX I'KO.JKCTS.

In the first half of the present century, before the days

of railroad communication, the people of Michigan, liko

tho.se of other States, were disposed to place an extrava-

gantly high estimate on the importance and value of their

rivers for purposes of navigation, and to favor bold and

often visionary projects for the improvement of the streams,

in the expectation (which was seldom if ever realized^ of

securing great advantages from the utilization of these
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water-ways. Such projects were conceived and their pro-

secution commenced with regard to the principal rivers of

Clinton and Shiawassee Counties,—the Shiawassee, Grand,

and Maple, and the improvement of the latter two was em-

braced in the internal improvement system (more fully

noticed in succeeding pages) which was adopted by the

State at the regular session of its second Legislature in

1837.

In that year an act was passed (approved March 20th)

which provided: '-Section 5.—That the sum of twenty

thousand dollars be and the same is hereby appropriated

out of any moneys which shall come into the treasury to

the credit of the internal improvement fund, for the fol-

lowing surveys, to be made under tbe direction of the board

of comniissionei-s : for the survey of a canal or for a canal

part of the way and railroad the balance of the route, com-

mencing at or near Mount Clemens, on the Clinton River,

to terminate at or near the mouth of Kalamazoo River

;

ai.d for the survey of a canal route to unite the waters of

the Saginaw River with the navigable waters of the Maple

or Grand Rivei-s, and for the purchase of surveyors" and

other instruments ; and for the survey of the St. Joseph,

Knlamazoo, and Grand Rivers, with a view to the improve-

ment of the same by slack-water navigation." Section 7

of the same act provided :
" That the sum of fifteen thou-

sand dollars be and the same is hereby appropriated out of

any moneys which shall come into the treasury to tlic

credit of the said internal improvement fund, to be applied

to the construction of a canal to unite the waters of the

Saginaw with the navigable waters of the Grand or Maple

Rivers, if said board of commissioners shall decide that it

is practicable to construct a canal on said route.'

Under the authority conferred by this act the board of

internal improvement caused a survey to be made by Tracy

JlcCracken, Esq., chief engineer of the Saginaw and Maple

Rivers Canal, and this survey resulted in the location and

adoption of a route running from the forks of the Bad

River (a navigable tributary of the Saginaw), in Saginaw

County, westward to the Maple River, at its " Big Bend,"

in Gratiot County. The report of the survey was regarded as

exceedingly favorable, showing the existence of a remarkable

valley or depression, extending westward from the watere

of the Saginaw to those of the Maple ; that these waters,

flowing in opposite directions, were only three miles distant

from each other at one point, and that between them the

highest elevation necessary to be crossed was only seventy-

two feet above Lake Michigan. It was along this valley

and across this low summit that the engineer located the

route of the canal, which, with certain slack-water improve-

ments to be made to the east and west of it, on the Bad,

the Maple, and the Grand Rivers, was to open a line of

uninterrupted navigation between Lake Michigan and Sag-

inaw Bay, and to bring prosperity to all the country contig-

uous to it.

Contracts were let for the grubbing and clearing of the

route and for the excavations upon a five-mile section on

the most difficult portion of it ; the last-named contract

being taken by Norman Little, of Saginaw. Another part

of this work was taken by Alpheus Williams. Work was

commenced in 1838, and was continued with more or less

vigor until July of the following year, when it was bus

pcnded. The immediate cause of the suspension is made

apparent by the following extract from the official report of

Rix Robinson, president of the State board of internal

improvement, dated Nov. 30, 1839. He says :
" Early in

the season Norman Little, Es/"(., the principal contractor on

this work, expressed to me his incapacity to proceed wiih

the work in case the Stale should fail to pay his estimate

for labor monthly, and punctually according to the tenor of

his contract. There being no possible means for me to

obtain sufficient funds for that purpose, the work has ac-

cordingly been abandoned by him. The chief engineer, Mr.

McCracken, in his report for 1839, said: " It was not to

be expected that the contractor for this work, which, from

its position, is one of the most difficult to execute, would

be able or willing to pro.secutc it without prompt payment

on the part of the State, which, failing to meet its engage-

ment in the payment of the monthly estimates, was averred

by the contractor as the cause of the work being aban-

doned. This occurred some time in June last [1S39]
;

since theu nothing has been done towards the construction

of the work. . . . Most of the work rerjuired upon one

section of the canal, together with the grc:iter part of the

clearing and grubbing of the line under contract, has been

completed. There is now upon the line several thousand

feet of plank and timber intended for the locks and dams.

A great portion of the timber is framed, and will, from its

present exposed condition, decjiy very rapidly."

The suspension of wurk by the contractors in July, 1S39,

proved to be a final abandonment of the construction of the

canal as a State work. The timbers mentioned by the chief

engineer as having been intended for the construction of

locks and dams remained to rot on the ground, and the

remnants of some of them have been visible in recent

years in the town of Chapin, Saginaw Co. (a few miles

from the northeast corner of Clinton County), having been

left to decay in the place where they were framed more

than forty years ago.

The sums expended on the Saginaw and Maple River

Canal (and which were, of course, a total loss to the State)

were as follows : In the year 1838, SG271.12 ; in the year

1830, 615,985.69; totiil, 822,25U.81.

Ten years after the abandonment of this canal project by

the State, the Legislature of Michigan (by act approved

March 30, 18 19) incorporated Gardner D. Williams, James

Frazier, and D. J. Johnson, of Saginaw City ; Adam L.

Roof, of Ionia County; Rix Robinson, of Kent; D. II.

Fitzhugh, John F. Mackie, and Charles Yates, of New
York City, as the " Saginaw and Grand River Canal Com-
pany," with authority ' to enter upon the canal commenced

by the State, as their property, at the forks of the Bad

River, and upon lands on either side and through which

the said canal may pass, to the bend of Maple River, a

tributary of Grand River, and as far on that river as may
be thought proper ; to construct a tow-path, and concen-

trate the water for canal use, and to dig, construct, or ex-

cavate the earth ; to erect or set up any dams, locks, waste-

weirs, sluices, feeders, or any other device whatsoever to

render the same navigable with boats, barges, or other

craft." The company was also empowered to make such
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improvements on the Bad, Maple, and Grand Rivers as

niiuht be necessary to carry out tlie objects for which it was

incorporated. Tiie capital stock of the company was placed

at two hundred thousand dollars, and its charter was to

continue Cor a terra of sixty years. The revival of the

project reawakened hopes that the Maple River was at last

to become part of a navigable water-way between the two

great lakes
; but no work on the canal was ever done by

the company, and finally the enterprise was definitely

abandoned, never to be again revived.

At the present time a small steamboat, named the " May
Queen," is running on the river from Maple Rapids to

Bridgeville, Gratiot Co. ; this part of the stream being

deepened and made navigable for craft of that size, by the

dam at the Rapids, which sets the water back for many

miles.

At about the same time when the Maple River improve-

ments were in agitation, a project was started for the con-

struction of a canal along the Looking-Glass River between

De Witt and Wacousta, but the work was never accom-

plished, or even actually commenced.

NAVIGATION ON THE 8HIAWASSEE.

The improvement of the Shiawassee River, so as to form

a slack-water navigation from the Big Rapids of that stream

northward to the Saginaw, was a project which had been con-

templated by the founders of Owosso from the time when

the first settlements were made at that place. Between

them and the outside world there were no roads practicable

for heavy transportation, and the obstacles to the construction

of such for a distance of more than fifty miles (to Pontiac)

were at that early day regarded as almost insurmountable.

It seemed to them, therefore, that their settlement must

continue in its isolated condition, and that very little im-

provement as a village could bo expected until they could

secure communication with Saginaw by making the river

boatable. These were the considerations which gave birth

to the idea of improving the Shiawassee, and but a short

time elapsed before they moved towards the execution of

the plan by procuring the necessary authority from the

Legislature.

The " Owosso and Saginaw Navigation Company" was

incorporated by act approved March 21, 1837. By this

act Daniel Ball, Alfred L. Williams, Benjamin 0. Wil-

liams, Lewis Findley, William Gage, Gardner D. Williams,

Norman Little, Samuel G. Watson, Ephraim S. Williams,

Elias Comstock, Alexander Hilton, and Perry G. Gardner

were appointed commissioners to receive subscriptions to

the capital stock, which was authorized to the amount of

one hundred thousand dollars. The company thus incor-

porated was empowered " to enter upon the river Shiawas-

see, and upon the lands on either side, and to use the rocks,

stones, gravel, or earth which may be found thereon in the

construction of their works, first giving notice to the owners

or occupiers of the land ; and to form and make, erect and

set up any dams, locks, or any other device whatsoever

which they shall think most fit and convenient to make a

complete slack-water navigation between the points herein

mentioned, to wit : from the village of Owosso, situate on the

Shiawassee River, to and down said river to a point where

the Flint River intersects the Shiawassee ; and the locks for

the purposes of passing steamboats, barges, and other craft

up and down said river shall be of sufficient width and

length to admit a safe and easy passage for steamboats,

barges, and other craft, up as well as down said river."

The company (in which Daniel Ball* was the leading

man, and Sanford M. Green a prominent member) com-

menced the work in 1837, and continued it during that

and the following season, expending several thousand dol-

lars on the river in removing fallen timber, driftwood,

and other obstructions (principally between Chcsaning and

the mouth of Bad River), erecting dams, and constructing

tow-paths above Chesaning. The river was thus made nav-

igable for flat- bottomed boats or scows, several of which

were built with foot-boards at each side, on which men

walked forward and aft in " poling" the craft up the stream.

This poling process was employed on that part of the river

which is below Chesaning, but above that place horses were

used. At some points the tow-path was made on the east

side of the stream, and at others on the west (for the sake

of economy in its construction), the horses being crossed on

the boat from one side of the river to the other as occasion

required. Larger boats were afterwards used for floating

produce down the river from Owosso. One " Durham"

boat, built at that place by Ebenezer Gould and others,

carried a cargo of two hundred barrels of flour from

Owosso to Saginaw.

The company was reincorporated under the same name by

act approved May 15, 184B, Amos Gould, Alfred L. Wil-

liams, Benjamin 0. Williams, Elias Comstock, Ebenezer C.

Kimberly, Lemuel Castle, Isaac Gale, George W. Slocum,

George Chapman, Edward L. Ament, Anson B. Chipman,

and John B. Barnes being appointed commissioners to re-

ceive subscriptions to the stock, which was authorized to

the amount of one hundred thousand dollars. In addition

to the powers granted by the incorporating act of 1837, the

company was now authorized " to construct a canal from

some point on said river Shiawassee to such point on Bud

River as they may hereafter determine upon, and to make

such improvements on said Bad River as will render the

same navigable." After this reincorporation there were

some further improvements made on the river by the con-

struction of a lock at Chesaning, the building of several

weir-dams, and in other ways ; but the company never

availed itself of the authority conferred to build the canal

between the Bad and Shiawassee Rivers. Boats continued

to be run on the river at favorable stages of water for some

years, and in fact this navigation was never wholly aban-

doned until the opening of the Detroit and Milwaukee

Railroad superseded this unreliable and unsatisfactory

means of transportation. It was then entirely discontinued,

after having been used to a greater or less extent for some

fifteen years, during which time it is doubtful whether its

advantages ever compensated for the outlay incurred in the

improvement of the river.

* Mr. Ball had previously been engaged in boating on the Genesco

River, in New Yorlt, and it waa he who originated the idea of secur-

inj: uavisation bv the Shiawassee River.
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NORTHERN RAILROAD AND NORTHERN WAGON-
ROAD.

Very soon after Michigan emerged from the condition of

a Territory to assume that of a sovereign State, and even

before its admission as a member of the Federal Union,

measures were originated having for their object the adop-

tion by the State of a comprehensive system of public

improvements ; and, in pursuance of this plan, the Legis-

lature at the session of 1837 passed an act (approved

March 20th in that year) " to provide for the construction

of certain works of internal improvement, and for other

purposes," by which the board of commissioners of internal

improvements in the State was authorized and directed,

" as soon as may be, to cause surveys to be made for three

several railroad routes across the peninsula of Jlichigan;

the first of said routes to commence at Detroit, in the

county of Wayne, and to terminate at the mouth of the

St. Jo.seph River, in the county of Berrien, to be denomi-

nated the Central Railroad. The second of said routes to

commence at the navigable waters of the river Raisin, pass-

ing through the village of Monroe, in the county of Mon-

roe, to terminate at New Buffalo, in Berrien County, and

to be denominated the Southern Railroad. The third of

said routes to commence at Palmer, or at or near the mouth

of Black River, in the county of St. Clair, and to terminate

at the navigable waters of the Grand River, in the county

of Kent, or on Lake Michigan, in the county of Ottawa,

to be denominated the Northern Railroad ;
which roads

shall be located on the most eligible and direct routes be-

tween the termini above mentioned." It was provided by

the same act, " That the sum of five hundred and fifty

thousand dollars be and the same is hereby appropriated,

to be taken from any moneys which shall hereafter come

into the treasury of this State to the credit of the fund for

internal fiuprovement, for the survey and making of the

three railroads mentioned in the first section of this act, as

follows : for the Southern Railroad, the sura of one liundred

thousand dollars ; for the Central Railroad, the sum of four

liundred thousand dollars ; aud for the Northern Railroad,

the sum of fifty thousand dollars."

The State Board of Internal Improvement, acting under

the provisions of this act, caused the surveys to be made

without unnecessary delay. The routes thus surveyed for

the " Central Railroad" and the " Southern Railroad" were

(excepting the western portion) substantially the same as

those of the Michigan Central and Michigan Southern

roads of the present. The '• Northern Railroad" route was

surveyed and located to run from the St. Clair River by

way of Lapeer and Flint River village (now Flint City),

nearly due west, to the Big Rapids of the Shiawassee (now

the city of Owosso) ;
thence through Owosso and M'ddle-

bury townships, in Shiawassee County, aud westwardly in

the same tier of townships through Clinton County (pass-

ing through the southern part of the present corporation

limits of St. John's) to Lyons, iu Ionia County, and from

there westward to Lake Michigan, at the mouth of Grand

River, a distance of two hundred and one miles. This was,

of course, the first survey made for railroad purposes

through any part of Clinton or Shiawassee Counties. The

work was done by Tracy McCrackeu, chief engineer of the

road, and his assistants, under supervision of Commissioner

James B. Hunt, who had been placed in charge of the

survey by the Board of Internal Improvement.

In 1838 contracts were let for clearing and grubbing

that portion of the line between its eastern terminus and

Lyons, Ionia Co., a distance of about one hundred and thirty

miles. The contract for the section extending from Lyons

to the line between ranges 2 and 3 east (near the cen-

tre of Shiawassee County) was awarded to A. L. and

B. 0. Williams, of Owosso. The section joining this, and

extending eastward across the remainder of Shiawassee

County, was taken by A. H. Beach & Co., of Flint. The

next section eastward was awarded to Gen. Charles C. Has-

call, of Flint. Twenty miles of the section east of Lyons

was sublet by the Williams brothei-s to Messrs. Moore &
Kipp at about two hundred and fifty dollars per mile. The

specifications required the grubbing of a central strip

twenty feet wide, and the clearing of a breadth of twenty

feet on either side of this strip. Outside these clearings,

on both sides, " slashings" were to be made, each twenty

feet in width, making a total breadth of one liundred feet.

The work of clearing the route was commenced in the fall

of 1838, and by the 1st of September following it was

completed in all the sections between Lyons and Port

Huron, except about three miles in Shiawassee County east

of Owosso, and seventeen miles east of Lapeer.

Contracts for grading some parts of the line were made

in the fall of 1838, among these being that of a ton-mile

section eastward from Lyons to B. 0. Williams and Daniel

Ball, of Owo.sso. The work of grading was commenced

on the contracted sections in January, 1839, and was pros-

ecuted till the following July. " The contractors then

stated," said the chief engineer, in his report dated Dec. 7,

1839, " that unless they were paid punctually they could

not proceed with their work. I then informed them, in

accordance with my instructions, that if they continued

the work their estimates would, as usual, be made monthly,

but that it was probable that they would only be paid

in treasury orders, which would be payable out of any

moneys received into the treasury to the credit of the

internal improvement fund. The contracts for grading

were then abandoned immediately, but those for clearing

and grubbing, which were not then finished, have

since been completed." In regard to these contracts for

grubbing and clearing the chief engineer said :
" It may

not be improper for me to .state that it is probable that

many of the contracts upon this road were let to those who

considered that they were to be benefited by its speedy

completion, and, iu consequence, bid so low that they have

lost money in the prosecution of the works assigned them."

This remark of the engineer was probably as applicable to
'

the grading contracts as to those made for clearing the

line. It is certain at all events that those who took the

latter class of contracts found them to be decidedly unprofit-

able.

The last of the appropriations by the Legislature for the

construction of the Northern Railroad was one of forty

thousand dollars, made by act approved April 20, 1839,

making the total amount appropriated for the entei'prise

one hundred and fifty thousand dollars. Of this there was
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expended upon the line in surveys, clearing, and construc-

tion the fullowing amounts, viz.:

In IS37 $S,22«.25
" 1838 12,772.44
" 1S:)'J .'. 39,122.09

Total ?60,12n.7S

The figures given above* show that at the close of oper-

ations in 1839 there remained of the amount of appropria-

tions made for thi.s northern line of railroad an unexpended

balance of eighty-nine thuu.sand eight liundrcd and seventy-

nine dollars and twenty-two cents. In view of this fact, it

might at first be regarded as strange that, with this very

considerable balance remaining, the work should have been

so suddenly brought to a close, but it must be remembered

that the figures indicating the unexpended balance did not

represent a corresponding amount of ready cash on hand

and immediately available. The extract given above from

the chief engineer's report fully explains the reason why

the contractors abandoned their jobs in the summer of

1839; and it only remains to say that the construction of

the Northern Railroad, being su.sponded at that time, was

never resumed.

As has already been stated, all legislative aid to the

northern line of railway ceased with the appropriation made

in April, 1839. Soon after this, the financial embarrass-

ments of the State cau.sed a feeling to spring up among

the people and their representatives that the adojition of so

extensive a plan of internal improvements had been pre-

mature, to say the least, and the result of this growing

sentiment was the restriction of appropriations to such

works as did, or could easily be made to, return the inter-

est on their cost. Accordingly, further aid was withheld,

except to the central and southern lines (then in partial

operation), and finally, in 1841, all idea of the construction

of the " Northern Railroad" as a State work was abandoned,

and the Legislature passed " an act relative to the appro-

priation upon the Northern Railroad" (approved April 2d

in that year), which recited in its preamble that " it is

thought impolitic under the present embarrassments of the

State to make at present further expenditures on said road

for the purpose of a railroad;" that "a large amount has

been expended in chopping, grubbing, and clearing said

road, which, if left in its present condition, can be of no

interest to the people of the north ;" and that " it is the

united wish and re(|uest of the people in the vicinity of

said road that the same should for the present be con-

verted into a turnpike- or wagon-road, and thus open an

important thoroughfare through tlii^ centre of the tier of

counties through which the said road pa.sses, and thereby

render the money heretofore expended on said road avail-

able to the best interests (under existing circumstances) of

the people in the northern section of the State." It was

therefore enacted that the commissioners of internal im-

provement be directed to expend thirty thousand dollars

of the unexpended balance of the moneys which had been

appropriated for the Northern Railroad " for bridging, clear-

* Taken from the ofEcml report of Rix Robinson, L. S. Ilumpliroy,

anil AVilliaiii K. Tlioinpi^un (cuiiipoding llio Hoard of Coinminsionors

iif Intvrnul linprovuiucnt?) to tlio Logii^Iaturu of Michigan, datod

Doc. 1, 1839.

5

ing, and grading said road, or so much of it as the said

commissioners shall judge will be most beneficial to the

inhabitants and public in the section of country through

which the same passes, so as to make a good passable wagon-

road."

In March, 1843, an act was pas.sed " to authorize the

construction of a Wagon-Road on the line of the Northern

Railroad," and ordering the application and appropriation,

for that purpose, of all the non-resident highway taxes for

a distance of three miles on either side of the line, to be

expended under the superintendence of a special commis-

sioner to be appointed for each of the counties of St. Clair,

Lapeer, Genesee, Shiawassee, Clinton, and Ionia. The act

was repealed in 1846, but in the following year another act

was passed (approved April 3, 1848) "to provide for the

construction and improvement of the Northern Wagon-

Road from Port Huron, in the county of St. Clair, through

the counties of Lapeer and Genesee to Corunna, in the

county of Shiawassee," and appropriating " twenty thou-

sand acres of internal improvement land.s" for the purpo.se.

To carry its provisions into- efiect the Governor of the State

was authorized to appoint a special commissioner, and he

did so appoint to that position the Hon. Alvin N. Hart, of

Lapeer. Still another act was passed in 1849 appointing

Lewis S. Tyler, Albert Miller, and Henry Hunt as com-

missioners, " with power to relocate, upon the most eligible

ground, the Northern Wagon-Road from the village of

Flint, in the county of Genesee, to the village of Corunna,

in the county of Shiawassee."

The result of all the laws passed and appropriations made

for the construction of the Northern Railroad and Northern

Wagon-Road was the clearing of the route of the former

as before mentioned, and the grading or partial grading of

parts of that route (but principally east of Owosso) into

an indifferent wagon-road, which never proved to be of

much practical advantage to Shiawassee County, and still

less to Clinton.

DETROIT AND SHIAWASSEE H.VILUO.M) COM-
PANY.

The Detroit and Shiawassee Railroad Company was in-

corporated by act of the Legislature, approved March 22,

1837, under the provisions of which Marshall J. Bacon,

Silas Titus, Elijah F. Cook, Thomas Curtis, Alfred A.

Dwight, Robert Warden, Jr., and Ely Harnard were ap-

pointed commissioners to receive sub.scriplions to the capital

stock, the amount oC which was placed at live hundred

thousand dollars. The company so created was author-

ized and empowered " to construct a railroad willi a single

or double track from Detroit, in the county of Wayne,

through Farmington, in the county of Uakland, Ken.sing-

ton, in the township of Lyon, Byron, in tlie county of

Shiawas.sce, to Sliiawa.ssec village, in said county of Shia-

wa.s.see ; with power to transport, take, and carry persona

and property u))on tlie same by the power and force of

steam or aninnds, or of any mechanicul ur other power, nr

combination of them." The company was re(|uircd by its

charter to commence the construction of its line within

one year ; to finish and put in operation twenty-five miles

(if niiiil wiiliin ihrec years; and to complete the whole dis-
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tance -within six years from the date of incorporation, under

penalty of forfeiture of charter. A change of route was

authorized by act approved April 6, 1838, but no part of

the line was ever built ; few, if any, subscriptions to the

stock were procured, and the company, having effected only

a temporary organization, ceasedto exist by non-compliance

with the conditions under which it was created. The in-

corporation of this company being a matter of very little

importance is mentioned here only because its charter was

the first which was granted by the Legislature authorizing

the construction of a railway in any part of the territory

which now composes the counties of Shiawassee and

Clinton.

DETKOIT, GRAND HAVEN AND MILWAUKEE
RAILWAY.

The line now known as the Detroit, Grand Haven and

Milwaukee Railway was the first which was built and com-

pleted to any point within the boundaries of the counties

of Shiawassee and Clinton ; and it was also over the eastern

link of this line (the old Detroit and Pontine road, which

was in operation many years before the locomotive reached

the waters of the Shiawassee River) that the inhabitants

of these counties enjoyed their earliest railway facilities, by

means of stage lines which ran from Lyons, by way of I)e

Witt, Laingsburg, and other points in Shiawassee, Genesee,

and Oakland Counties, eastward to the successive termini

of the railroad,— first at Royal Oak, then at Birmingham,

and finally at Pontiac. For this reason it seems proper to

make brief mention here of the building and opening of

the Pontiac Road, for though it was purely an Oakland

County enterprise, yet it was one in which the people of

Shiawassee and Clinton were interested,—first, because its

connecting stage lines gave them communication over it,

and afterwards because by its extension it became a part of

the grand through line which passes through these coun-

ties to Grand Haven and Milwaukee.

The Detroit and Pontiac Railroad project was agitated

in Oakland as early as the spring of 1830, and an act in-

corporating the '' Pontiac and Detroit Railway Company"

was passed by the Legislative Council of the Territory, and

approved by Gov. Cass, on the 31st of July in the j-oar

named, this being the first railway company ever chartered

in Michigan. The corporators were John P. Helfenstein,

Gideon 0. Whittemore, William F. Mosely, William

Thompson, Hervey Parke, " and such other persons as

shall associate for the purpose of making a good and suffi-

cient railway from Pontiac to the city of Detroit," the

stock of the company to consist of one thousand .shares, at

one hundred dollars each. Tiiis company, however, found

the project to be too heavy for the means which they could

command, and their charter became void by reason of their

failure to comply with its conditions.

A second company was formed, and an act granting a

new charter was passed by the Territorial Legislature, and

approved by the Governor, March 7, 1834. Under this

act, William Draper, Daniel Le Roy, David Stanard, John-

son Niles, Seneca Newberry, Elisha Beach, Benj. Phelps,

Joseph Niles, Jr., and Augustus C. Stevens were appointed

commissioners to receive subscriptions to the stock of •' The

Detroit and Pontiac Railroad Company," the amount of

which was fixed at fifty thousand dollars. The work was

to be commenced within two years from the passage of the

act, and completed within six years, the charter to be for-

feited by failure to comply with these conditions. The

principal stockholders were Alfred Williams, and Sherman

Stevens, of Pontiac, who were also managers of the affairs

of the company. Operations were soon commenced, but

very slow progress was made in the construction of the

road, and it was not until the fall of 1838 that a track

(which even then was composed of wooden rails for a part

of the distance) was completed as far as Royal Oak, and

trains made up of cars of the most inferior description were

run from Detroit to that point by horse-power. In the fall

of 1839 the road was extended so that the trains ran to

Birmingham, and steam was introduced as a motive-power

for their propulsion. At that time (September, 1839) the

Pontiac papers contained the advertisement of Henry J.

Buckley, agent and conductor, informing the public that

the trains were then running two trips a day between De-

troit and Birmingham, and making connection at the latter

place with a daily line of " post-coaches" for Pontiac and

Flint, and a semi-wceklj' line for Lyons on the Grand

River, by way of Byron, De Witt, and other points in

Shiawassee and Clinton Counties.

In 1840, the company being heavily in debt and without

means of payment, the road was sold at sheriflF's sale, and

passed into the hands of Dean Richmond, of Buffalo, and

other capitalists of the State of New York. Then followed

another period of delay and discouragement, but finally, in

September, 1844, the road was opened to Pontiac, which

for more than ten years continued to be the western ter-

minus, and the point of connection with the stage-lines run-

ning to Flint, Saginaw, and the Grand River.

In the earlier years of its operation, this road was made

the subject of unmeasured ridicule on account of the poverty

of the company, the rough and superficial manner in which

the line was constructed, the poor quality of its carriages

and machinery, and the exceedingly slow and irregular time

made by the trains between Pontiac and Detroit. From

an article which appeared in the Detroit Post a few years

since, containing some reminiscences of pioneer railway

travel, the following—having reference to the Pontiac line

—is extracted :
" The trains would frequently stop be-

tween way stations at a signal from some farmer who

wished to ask a few questions, or to take passage. An
old lady denizen of a farm-house, with spectacles of a primi-

tive manufacture placed high upon her forehead, came

running out to the train, waving her bandanna. Her signal

being heeded, the train was brought to a stop, and her

inquiry of the conductor was, if a certain lawyer named

Drake was on board. After receiving a negative answer, a

short conversation was kept up before the train started on

its journey. It was no uncommon occurrence for the en-

gineer, who kept his shot-gun with him, to bring down

game from his engine, shut off steam, and send his fireman

after the fruits of his marksmanship. The road being laid

with strap-rail, one of the duties of the conductor was to

keep a hammer for the purpose of spiking down ' snake-heads'

whenever they were seen from the cab of the engineer."
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An old resident of Shiawassee County has said to the

wiitt;r, that lie recognizes this as a truthful description of

the operation of the Poutiae road in the year IS H, and

there are no doubt many others who have siuiiUir recollec-

tions of their travel upon it at about the same period.

After a few years of operation with the primitive and

unsafe "strap-rail," the line was leased for ten years to

Gurdon Williams, but the lease was purchased or relin-

quished before its expiration, and the road came into the

possession of a company, of which II. N. Walker, Esq.,

was made the president. Under his administration a suffi-

cient amount of money was raised on the bonds of the road

to relay the track with solid T rails and to make other

improvements necessary to put the road in condition for

business.

Immediately after the completion of the road from De-

troit to Foutiae a project was formed to build a railroad

from that village westward through Shiawassee, Clinton,

and other counties to Lake Michigan at the mouth of Grand

Iliver, to connect at that point with steamers for Jlilwaukee

and other lake ports. This resulted in the formation of the

" Oakland and Ottawa Railroad Company," and its incor-

poration by act of Legislature approved April 3, 1848.

The persons appointed as commissioners to receive sub-

scriptions to the capital stock (which was fixed at two mil-

lion five hundred thousand dollars) were Gurdon Williams,

Edward A. Brush, H. C. Thurbcr, Alfred Williams, Bow-

man W. Dennis, John Hamilton, C. P. Bush, W. A. Rich-

mond, and Charles Shepard. The company was empowered

by the act " to construct a railroad with a double or single

track from the village of Pontiac, in the county of Oakland,

to Lake Michigan, in the county of Ottawa, passing it

through the most desirable and eligible route, by the way

of Fentonville," and was required to begin its construction

within five years and to complete it within fifteen years

from the pa-ssage of the act. In 1850 an act was pas.sed

(approved March 20th), providing " That the Detroit and

Pontiac Railroad Company be and they are hereby author-

ized to extend said railroad so as to connect with the Oak-

land and Ottawa Railroad when constructed, thus Ibrming a

Continuous line of railroad through the village of Pontiac."

The construction of the Oakland and Ottawa road was

commenced in 1852, and in the following year 11. N.

Walker (who was a leading spirit in this as well as in the

Pontiac road) purchased in England twenty-six hundred

tons of iron, which was estimated to be sufficient to lay the

track through to Fentonville. On the 13th of February,

1855, the Governor approved " An act to authorize the

consolidation of the Detroit and Pontiac and the Oakland

and Ottawa Railroad Companies, so as to form a continuous

line from Detroit to Lake Michigan, under the name of

the Detroit and Milwaukee Railway* Company." By this

act the name of the Detroit and Pontiac was changed

to that of " The Detroit and Jlilwaukee Railway Com-

pany," which was empowered to increase its capital stock

to an amount not exceeding ten millions of dollars
;
and it

was provided that '' the said company is hereby authorized,

* Tbo mime was obangod to " Dolroit uod Milwaukoo Railroad

Cuiii|iiiny" in IStSO,

for the purpose of forming a continuous line, to purchase

all the property, riglits, and francliLses of the Oakland and

Ottawa Railroad Company upon such terms as shall he

mutually agreed upon ; and the stockholders of the said

Oakland and Ottawa Railroad Company shall, in case of sale,

become stockholders of the said Detroit and Milwaukee Rail-

way Company, in such proportions as may be agreed upon

in the terms of sale ; and the said Oakland and Oit^iwa Rail-

road Company shall thereupon become merged in the said

Detroit and Milwaukee Railway Company."

Under the authority so conferred the two companies were

consolidated, and the Oakland and Ottawa became the De-

troit and Milwaukee line. The work of construction west

of Pontiac had proceeded but slowly during the three years

succeeding its commencement, but as the new company had

negotiated a loan in Europe to the amount of one million

two hundred and fifty thousand dollars, it was now pushed

more vigorously, so that in October, 1855, the road w;is

opened to Fentonville, where stage eonnections were made

for Grand River, and for Flint and Sagiuaw. In the fol-

lowing spring the locomotive entered Shiawassee (!ouiity for

the first time, and on the 1st of July, 1856, the road was for-

mally opened to Owos.so, where the arrival of the pioneer

train was hailed with demonstrations of almost unbounded

delight and exultation. The same enthusiasm greeted the

opening of the road to St. John's on the lUth of January

following. Well might the people of Clinton and Shia-

wassee congratulate themselves as they saw the first trains

.speeding westward, for their coming was an event which

lifted the ban of isolation from these counties, and more

than doubled the value of their domain.

Between St. John's and Ionia the work was prosecuted

with vigor, and the road was completed to the last-named

place in September, 1857. Finally, on the 22d of Novem-

ber, 1858, the line was opened to its terminus at Grand

Haven, and the locomotive traversed the entire peninsula

from Detroit River to Lake Michigan.

The Detroit and Jlilwaukee road, although a very great

benefit to Shiawassee and Clinton Counties, proved a bad

investment for its original stockholders. The foreclosure of

the bondholders' mortgage in ISUO placed the road in the

hands of a receiver, and it remained in this condition until

Oct. 19, 1878, when it became the " Detroit, Grand Haven

and Milwaukee Railway," by passing into the po.ssession of

a company of that name, organized in the interest of the

Great Western Railway of Canada. It is still owned and

controlled by that company.

The road enters Shiawassee County in the township of

Vernon, and passes thence northwestward into Caledonia.

Then, turning to a nearly due west course, it crasscs the

remainder of Sliiawas.see County and all of Clinton through

the third tier of townships north of the south line of the

counties. The stations on the line within these counties

are Vernon, Corunna, and Owosso, in Shiawa.ssce, and

Ovid, Shepardsville, St. John's, and Fowler, in Clinton.

JACK.SON, L.VNSINC .\N1) SAtJlNAW liAll,-

KOAl).

Tlic first link in the present important lino known a^ iho

Jackson, Lansing and Saginaw Railroad w.is built as part
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of a proposed lino to run from Aniboy, near tlie south line

of the Stiite, to Traverse Bay on Laiie Micliigan. The

Amboy, Lansing and Traverse Bay Ilailroad Company

became incorporated in 1857 for tlie purpose of construct-

ing the line above mentioned, and in the expectation of

receiving in aid of such construction certain lands granted

by an act of Congress approved June 3, 185G. The act

referred to provided " that there bo, and hereby is, granted

to the State of Michigan—to aid in the construction of

railroads from Little Bay de Noquet to Marquette, and

thence to Ontonagon, and from the two last-named places

to the Wisconsin State line ; also from Amboy, by Hillsdale

and Lansing, and from Grand llapids to some point on or

near Traverse Bay ; also from Grand Haven and Pfere

Marquette to Flint, and thence to Port Huron—every

alternate section of land, designated by odd numbers, for

six sections in width, on each side of each of said roads."

Where such odd-numbered sections had already been sold

by the United States, or pre-empted, then the deficiency to

be made good by selections of a like number of alternate

sections of land owned by the government outside of the

six tiers of sections ; but in no case to be farther than fif-

teen miles from the lines of the proposed roads. By an

act of the Legislature of Michigan, approved Feb. 14, 1857,

the State accepted this grant of lands from the United

States, with the terms and conditions imposed.

The route on which it was originally proposed to build

the road from Amboy to its Luke Michigan terminus was

by way of Hillsdale and Lansing, and from the latter point

northwestwardly to Traverse Bay, leaving Owosso and

Saginaw far to the east of its route ; but the influence of

these two cities was exerted to change the route and bring

the road to their own borders. This was accomplished,

though at great danger of losing the land-grant, a strong

effort being made to deprive the company of its benefit, on

the ground that it had never been the intention of Congress

to give lands in aid of roads built on routes unnecessarily

circuitous, as this was claimed to be. One of the Lansing

newspapers, in ridiculing the alleged crookedness of the

line, named it in derision the" Ramshorn Railroad," a term

which clung to it (almost entirely superseding its legitimate

title), and has not yet been forgotten.

Among the men who were mo.st influential in promoting

the success of the Amboy, Lansing and Traverse Bay road,

and who were especially prominent in its board of directors,

were Judge Amos Gould and Alfred L. Williams, of Owo.sso

;

George C. Monroe, of Jonesville
; and Alvin N. Hart, of

Lansing. The construction of the road was commenced in

1857 on the section between Lansing and Owosso; and

though there ensued many delays and discouragements to

the friends of the enterprise, the obstacles were finally

so far overcome that the road between Lansing and Owosso

was completed and opened for travel and traffic about Nov.

20, 1862. The Owosso Press of Jan. 10, 1863, said,

" The rush over the Ramshorn road to Lansing this week

has been like the rush to a newly-discovered gold-mine."

The business of the road seems to have been considerable

from the first, but it was far from being sufficient to render

it profitable to the stockholders, and in 1864, under pres-

sure of financial difficulties, it passed into the hands of a

receiver,—the Hon. C. C. Trowbridge,—who held po.sses-

sion about two years, operating it through the superintend-

ent of the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad, that road fur-

nishing the rolling-stock. In the latter part of the year

1866 it was sold with all its franchises to the Jackson,

Lansing and Saginaw Railroad Company, which was or-

ganized as the Jackson and Lansing Railroad Company,

Feb. 23, 1864, and changed its name to that of Jackson,

Lansing and Saginaw, Feb. 24, 1865. It opened its road

for business from Jackson to Lansing in June, 1866, and

through the whole distance,—Jackson to Owosso,—in-

cluding the purchased road, in January, 1867.

The Amboy, Lansing and Traverse Bay Company, after

opening its road to Owosso, in 1862, continued the work

of construction on the section of the road between Owosso

and Saginaw, and a considerable amount of grading was

done before their financial difficulties compelled suspension.

The work was continued by the Jackson, Lansing and Sagi-

naw Company immediately afte" the purcliase, and was

pushed with sucii vigor that the road was opened through

Saginaw and Bay City in the same year. The railway

line thus opened, affording communication with important

points north and south, was and has continued to be an

important one to the interests of Shiawassee County, though

much less so to those of Clinton. The road is now operated

by the Micliigan Central Railroad Company. Its route

lies through De Witt, Bath, and Victor townships, in

Clinton County, and Seiota, Bennington, Owosso, and

Rush, in Shiawassee. At Owosso City it crosses and con-

nects with the Detroit, Grand Haven and Milwaukee

Railroad.

DETROIT, LANSING AND NORTHERN RAILROAD.

The railroad line now known as the Detroit, Lansing

and Northern, which crosses a corner of the southwestern-

most township of Clinton County, was formed by a con-

solidation of the Detroit and Howell, the Howell and Lan-

sing, and the Ionia and Lansing Railroads. The last-named

road (which included all of the Detroit, Lansing and

Northern line that is within Clinton County) was com-

pleted and opened for travel between Ionia and Lansing in

December, ISGO. The Detroit and Howell and the How-

ell and Lansing Companies (the titles of which indicate

their respective routes) were consolidated in April, 1870.

In September next following the con.solidation the fran-

chises were conveyed to James F. Joy and other capitalists

composing the "Detroit, Lansing and Northern Railroad

Company," to which the Ionia and Lansing Railroad was

soon after conveyed by consolidation. The nad between

Detroit and Lansing was completed about Aug. 10, 1871,

and on the 22d of the same month the officers of the com-

pany opened the line from Detroit to its (then) northern

terminus at Kaywood Station, five miles north of Green-

ville, Montcalm Co., the road having been completed from

Ionia to the last-named point in September, 1870. It was

completed in August, 1871, to Howard City, where it forms

a connection with the Grand Rapids and Indiana Railroad.

This point continued to be its terminus for several years.

In 1877 the name was changed from Detroit, Lansing and

Lake Michigan, to Detroit, Lansing and Northern Railroad,
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as it is at present. It has been extended from Howard

City to Big Kajjid.'?, Mecosta Co., and was opened for traffic

to the last-named point May 31, 1880. Tiie road passes

throuuh Clinton County for a distance of about twelve miles,

and three of its stations—those of Eagle, Delta, and In-

gersoir.s—are located in the townsliips of Eagle and Water-

town.

THE PORT HURON RAILROAD TEOJECT.

Soon after the abandonment of the old " Northern Rail-

road" by the State,— which has been mentioned in pre-

ceding pages,—the project was taken up by an association

of individuals who were, by act of Legislature approved

Jan. 30, 18-i7,* incorporated as " the Port Huron and Lake

Michigan Railroad Company," with authority " to construct

a railroad with a double or single track from Port Huron,

in St. Clair County, running westerly until it shall intersect

Lake Michigan at or near the mouth of Grand River, with

power to take, transport, and carry property and persons

upou the said railroad, or any part thereof herein author-

ized to be constructed, by the power and force of steam or

of animals, or of any mechanical or other power, or of any

combination of them which the said company may choose

to use or apply." John Wells, Alvin N. Hart, Charles C.

Hascall, Allied L. Williams, Jesse P. Turner, Ira Porter,

Edmund B. Bostwick, and Thomas W. White were ap-

pointed charter commissioners to receive subscriptions to

the capital stock, which was authorized to the amount of

two millions of dollars. The company was required to com-

mence its road in five years, and to complete it in fifteen

years, from the passage of the act. And the State relin-

quished to the company all her rights and privileges in the

line of the Northern road wherever the company might

wish to construct its road over that route. In alluding to

this relinquishment by the State, the directors of the com-

pany (in a statement published for the purpose of influen-

cing subscriptions to the stock) said that " instead of pay-

ing the State for 'vhat it has done towards the construction

of the road, the company have a donation of all that one

hundred and ten thousand dollars in cash, and twenty

thousand acres of land, have accomplished."

It was, in effect, a revival, by a private company, of the

Northern Railroad scheme, which had been commenced and

abandoned by the State ; and its proposed route, east of

Ionia County, was to be the same as that which had been

grubbed and cleared in 183S-3t) for the old road. Of
course, the resuscitation of the scheme, and the prospect

that after all a railroad would be built through Shiawassee

and Clinton Counties (the Oakland and Ottawa company

not having then been chartered), was very cheering to the

people living on or contigu(jus to the route, but the hopes

thus raised were destined never to be realized.

During a long series of years great eflorts were made by

the promoters to secure funds for the construction of the

road, and many changes were made in the management of

* The Legislature hai] passed an act of incorporation of Ibo same
company in 1846, but it had boon vetoed by Oiivcrnur I'eleh on Iho

ground that itjnight defeat tlie sale of the .Soutlicrn and Central roads,

negotiations for their jiurehasc from tlie Wtate being then in progress.

This sale having been oliectod, and the objection thus removed, tlie

incorporating act was approved in ISI7, n!> slated.

the company, but all to no effect ; the accomplishment of

the object so earnestly desired seemed as remote as ever.

In 1855, BIr. N. P. Stewart, of Detroit, procured the or-

ganization of a new company, under the general railroad

law, called the "Port Huron and Milwaukee Railroad Com-

pany," to build a railway line from Port Huron to Grand

Haven, there to connect with steamers for Milwaukee. The

survey of the route was made without delay, the right of

way obtained, and for a time the work of construction was

pushed most vigorously. A dock was built at Port Iluroni

some twenty miles of grading was done, and about a mile

of track was laid at the Port Huron end of the line, so that

the people living in the counties traversed by the route

(who cared chiefly for the success of the project, with but

little regard as to which company should build the road)

began to feel sure that at last their hopes were to be real-

ized. But they were again to be disappointed, for, about

the time that the work had progressed to the stage above

mentioned, Mr. Stewart procured—or at least assented to

—

the passage of an act of Legislature consolidating this with

the Detroit and Milwaukee road at Owosso
;
and from that

time, work on the eastern portion of the road was sus-

pended, and the means raised for its construction were used

on the last-named road west of Owosso. This help to the

Detroit and Milwaukee road pushed that line westward

through Shiawassee and Clinton Counties, but it prostrated

all hope of the building of the additional line to Port

Huron.

To follow the history of the hopes, disappointments, and

delays in the building of the Port Huron and Lake Michi-

gan road is unnecessary, for it has little reference to these

counties. It is sufficient to mention that, under a reor-

ganization of the company, work wits resumed near Port

Huron in March, 181JG, and that after nearly six years

more of disaster and delay the road was, on the 13th of

December, 1871, opened for travel from Port Huron to the

city of Flint, beyond which point, westward on the original

route to Owosso, nothing has since been done. A con-

siderable part of the route, however, had previously been

graded between Flint and Owosso, several miles of this

grading being in Shiawassee County.

CHICAGO AND LAKE HURON R.\1LR0AD LINE.

The " Chicago and Northeastern Railroad Comiiany" was

incorjiorated under the general law by the filing of articles

of association in the office of the Secretary of State, Aug. 1 2,

1874, the object of its fornialion being the construction of

a railroad from Lansing to Flint, to cunnect at the former

city with the Peninsular Railway and at Flint with the

Port Huron Railroad, and with these to form a through

line from Chicago to the city of Port Huron.

The preliminary work on the Chicago and Nortiioaslern

road was commenced in November, 187-1, and it was pushed

with vigor during 1875 and 1S7G, so that at the close of

the latter year the road was nearly ready for traffic. It

was formally opened about the 1st of February, 1877, and

was operated as a part of the " Chicago and Lake Huron"

line, which enjoyed a very heavy business (particularly in

freighting) until the early part of 187'J, when it was broken

up by the Chicago und Northeastern link being purchased
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by an Eastern capitalist (understood to be William H. Van-

derbilt, or parties in his interest), for the purpose of de-

stroying a formidable competitor to other through lines

under his control. This was for a time a severe blow to

the Grand Trunk Railway, as it destroyed its Chicago con-

nection, and measures were at once taken by that company

to supply the place of the Chicago and Northeastern link

by a new road from Flint to Lansing by way of Owosso.

A survey of the route (or rather a resurvey of the original

route of the Port Huron and Lake Michigan road between

Flint and Owosso) was made in April, 1879, and this re-

sulted so favorably that in July of that year Mr. Charles

B. Peck, general manager of the Chicago and Luke Huron,

advertised for bids for the immediate construction of the

road, full-tied, with stone and iron bridges and steel rails.

It seemed then as if the old project of a railroad from

Shiawassee County direct to Flint and Port Huron—a pro-

ject which, as the Northern Railroad and afterwards as

the Port Huron and Lake Michigan Railroad, had been

agitated, but held in abeyance for more than forty years

—

was destined at last to be realized ; but the hopes of the

people in this direction were destined to be again disap-

pointed, for the Grand Trunk Company afterwards suc-

ceeded in regaining possession of the Chicago and North-

eastern link between Flint and Lansing, which is still owned

and operated by that company as a part of their through

line to Chicago. The road, entering Shiawassee County at

its southwestern corner, passes in a northeasterly direction

diagonally through the townships of Woodhull, Perry, An-

trim, Shiawas.see, and Vernon, from which last-named town-

ship it crosses the county-line into Genesee. "'

OTHER PKOJECTED RAILROAD LINES.

In August, 18G9, the Owosso and Big Rapids Railroad

Company was incorporated under the general railroad law,

having for its object the construction of a railroad from

Owosso to Big Rapids, Mecosta Co., this being intended

as a northern connection of the Toledo, Ann Arbor and

Northern Railroad, which was incorporated in the same

year, designing to build a road from Toledo by way of Ann

Arbor, Howell, and Oak Grove, in Livingston County, to

Owosso. Nothing was accomplished by this company (the

Owos.so and Big Rapids), and in 1871 it was changed in

name and object, becoming incorporated as the Owosso and

Northwestern Railroad Company, with T. D. Dewey as

president, Gilbert R. Lyon secretary, and E. A. Todd as

treasurer, for the purpose of building a road from Owosso

to Frankfort, Benzie Co., on Lake Michigan. Work was

commenced on the line, and a great part of the necessary

grading was done on a section of about thirty miles in

length, from Owosso to Pine River, in Gratiot County.

This was done prior to the financial revulsion of 1873, but

the panic of that year caused a suspension of operations,

and no progress has since been made in the prosecution of

the enterprise. Its promoters, however, believe that the

road is destined to be completed, and to prove successful.

The subject of railroad communication from St. John's

village southward began to be agitated in 1864, upon the

incorporation of the Jackson and Lansing Railroad Com-

pany, which, as was understood, contemplated not only the

building of a road from Jackson to Lansing, but also the

securing of a northern connection through the counties of

Clinton, Gratiot, and Isabella. The route, if so extended,

would almost necessarily pass through St. John's, and so

great was the confidence of the people of this part of Clin-

ton County that such a result would surely be reached that

one of the papers of the village, in its issue of June 3, 1864,

announced, in reference to this project, that " the enterprise

is now a fi-^jed fact." The opinion, however, proved to be

unfounded, for in the following year the Jackson and

Lansing became the Jackson, Lansing and Saginaw Rail-

road Company, and changed tlie proposed route of its road

to conform to its change of name and title. The old

" Ramshorn" road to Owosso was purchased, and became a

part of the Jackson, Lansing and Saginaw line, and St.

John's had no longer anything to hope for from that com-

pany.

The Lansing, St. John's and Mackinac Railroad Company

(having for its object " the construction of a road from

Lansing northward through the villages of De Witt, St.

John's, Ithaca, Alina, St. Louis, and Salt River to Mount

Pleasant, Isabella Co., and thence north to a junction with

the Flint and Ptire Marquette Railroad," and eventually to

Mackinac) was incorporated about Jlay 1, 1869, its officers

being R. M. Steel, President ; I. A. Fancher, Vice-Presi-

dent ; Oliver L. Spaulding, Secretary ; and S. S. Walker,

Treasurer. In aid of the construction of this road the

townships of De Witt, Olive, Bingham, and Greenbush, in

Clinton County, voted an aggregate sum of eighty-five

thousand dollars, and deposited their bonds to that amount

in the office of the Secretary of State, under Act No. 45,

of the Laws of Michigan for 1809. But this act was de-

clared unconstitutional by the Supreme Court of the State;

and upon this announcement the townships took the neces-

sary measures to recall and cancel their bonds. In conse-

quence of this the company proceeded no further towards

the construction of the road, and became to all intents and

purposes dead. The survey of the route of the road be-

tween Lansing and St. John's had been made in November,

1869, and it was continued northward from St. John's, but

beyond these preliminary surveys the company did no

work upon the line.

Upon the collapse of the Lansing, St. John's and Macki-

nac Railroad the Gratiot and Isabella County promoters of

that enterprise transferred their support to the Owosso and

Big Rapids and Saginaw and St. Louis Railroad projects,

which were then being agitated. This withdrawal of sup-

port, however, did not wholly discourage the people of St.

John's from making a further attempt, and in the fall of

1871 the Lansing and St. John's Railroad Company was

incorporated for the purpose of building a railroad between

the two points named in its title. The corporators resident

in St. John's were Oliver L. Spaulding, Alvah H. Walker,

Henry M. Perrin, Porter K. Perrin, John Hicks, Charles

Kipp, 0. W. Munger, R. M. Steel, Samuel S. Walker,

Randolph Strickland, M. Heavcnrich, George W. Em-

mons. The officers of the company were R. M. Steel,

President ; H. M. Perrin, Treasurer ; 0. W. Munger,

Secretary ; 0. L. Spaulding, Charles Kipp, and P. K. Per-
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lin, Executive Committee. The sura of sixty thousand

dollars was raised hy subscriptions to the stock, and the

company proceeded to make tlie pircliminary surveys; but

the monetary panic of 1873 caused a suspension of opera-

tions, and nothing lias been done towards gradingthe road-

bed.

CHAPTER IV.

MILITAKY BBCORD OP SHIAAATASSEE AND CLIN-
TON.

Tho Mexican War—The First Michigan Rpgiracnt—Record of the

two Counties in the War of the Rebellion—The Second Infantry

—

Bull Run Campaign—Peninsula Campaign—Battles of Williams-

burg and Fair Oaks—The Seven D.ays' Fight—Campaign under

Gen. Pope—Fredericksburg—Campaigns in Kentucky and Missis-

sippi—In East Tennessee—Veteran Re-enlistraent—Campaign of

the Wilderness—In Front of Petersburg—Fall of Petersburg

—

Muster Out, and Return Home.

Nkither Shiawa.ssee nor Clinton County has any mili-

tary liistory dating farther back than the commencement of

the war between the United States and Mexico. At the

breaking out of the " Black Hawk War," about fourteen

years before fhat time, the entire territory of these coun-

ties was but a wilderness, containing less than ten white

inhabitants; and its condition was nearly the same when,

three years later, the quarrel known as the " Toledo War"

caused the mustering of a considerable number of troops,

which were furnished by the older counties of the State.

At the outbreak of the Mexican war the circumstances

were different. The total population of these two counties

had increased to nearly nine thousand, and included about

thirteen hundred men liable to do military duty, but still

there were not many who were in a condition which made

it possible for them to leave their families and farms to be-

come soldiers. Of these a few volunteered in the Michigan

Regiment (and some probably in other conimand.s), and

served honorably through the war. A part of the names

of those who so volunteered have been found, and arc given

ill this chapter.

On the 18th of May, 1846, was issued the re(|uisition

of the President of the United States, calling upon the

several States for troops to serve in the war with Mexico;

and under this requisition the" First Michigan Volunteer In-

fantry Regiment" was organized and placed under command

of Col. T. B. W. Stockton. Company C of that regiment

was raised and commanded by Capt. A. H. Han.scom, of

Pontiac, assisted hy his first lieutenant, Thomas H. Hunt,

and second lieutenants (for it had two of that grade) C. O.

Conant and A. P. Hanscom. It was made up of men of

whom a few were enlisted at Detroit, but by fir the greater

part at Pontiac and other points in Oakland County, at

Brighton in Livingston County, and at Corunna and other

places in Shiawassee County ; recruited in November and

December, 1S4G. From tho roll of tho company, as mus-

tered at the Detroit Barracks, Dec. 22, 1846, are taken the

names of those who enlisted in Shiawassee County, as fol-

lows :

Charles Baker, enlisted at Corunna.

Timothy AV. Brown, enlisted at Corunna.

Charles Curl, enlisted at Corunna.

James Culbert, enlisted at Corunna.

Charles Harpc, enlisted at Corunna.

J. Jingall, enlisted at Corunna.

Lewis Lyons, enlisted at Corunna.

W^illiam H. Lovejoy, enlisted at Corunna.

Andrew H. Letts, enlisted at Corunna.

Elisha A. Morgan, enlisted at Corunna.

William R. Chapman, enlisted at Owosso.

H. P. Murray, enlisted at Owosso.

Levi Pranglej', enlisted at Caledonia.

Daniel Phelps, enlisted at Caledonia.

Nathan M. Smith, enlisted at Caledonia.

Matthias Schermerhorn, enlisted at Caledonia.

Bartley Siegel, enlisted at Caledonia.

George W. Ormsby, enlisted at Burns.

Joseph B. Stone, enlisted at Burns.

The First Michigan Regiment was rendezvoused at

Detroit, where it was mustered on the 22d of December,

and on the 25th of the same month (before its ranks were

full) it left for the seat of war to move by way of Spring-

field, Ohio, Cincinnati, and New Orleans. Arriving at

Cincinnati it was embarked on the steamer " Andrew Jack-

son," and arrived in New Orleans ten days later. After a

stay of about one week, during which time it was encamped

on Gen. Jackson's battle-ground of 1815, it took passage

for Vera Cruz, and arrived at that city about the middle of

January, 1847. It remained encamped outside the walls

of Vera Cruz for about three weeks, at the end of which

time it moved with other forces, amounting in all to two

thousand men, under comniand of Gen. Bankliead, to the

city of Cordova, in the interior. A second detachment,

under Lieut.-Col. (afterwards general) A. S. Williams, had

left Detroit some time after the departure of the main body

of the regiment; and this delachment now came up and

joined the command at Cordova. Col. Stockton, of the

First Michigan, was made military governor of the city,

and remained tlu'ie in that capacity until the close of the

war. While there the regiiueiit was engaged in gar-

rison duly a;id occasional >kiniiislios with guerrillas while

acting as guard to supply-tr;.ins, but did not participate in

any general engagement, though it suffered severely from

sickness among the men. It was ordered home in May,

1848, and in duo time reached Detroit, where it was mus-

tered out of the service July 18th in that year.

The Fifteenth United States Infantry, which served in

Mexico in the division of Gen. Gideon J. Pillow, and

fought in some of the jirincipal hallles, conlaincd a large

number of volunteers from this part of Michigan, and is

said to have included a few from Shiawassee and Clintou

Counties, but tho names of these cannot be given here, for

the reason tliat the muster-rolls of tho regiment arc not

accessible.

The Mexican war, however, was hut a trivial iiiatlor when

compared with that mighty struggle—the war of the Re-

bellion—which opened some fifteen years later, and it is

with the commencement of that great conflict that the real

military liistory of the.se counties begins. Wlien on tho
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13th of April, 1861, the tremendous news ran through the

wires of the telegraph that a United States fort had struck

its colors to a band of armed insurgents, and when, two

days later, the President of the republic called on the States

to furnish a great army of volunteers to preserve the life

of the nation, there was no State which responded with

more alacrity than Michigan, and there were none of the

counties in the Beautiful Peninsula in which the fires of

patriotism flamed up more promptly or burned more

brightly than in Clinton and Shiawassee. Five days after

the issuance of the President's call, and just one week after

the day when the rebel flag supplanted the stripes and stars

above the brown ramparts of Sumter, an impromptu mass-

meeting (the largest which had ever convened iu Shiawassee

County) was held at Owosso, to take measures for sustain-

ing the government in its time of peril. The Hon. Amos

Gould was called to the chair, and Judge Josiah Turner,

B. 0. Williams, and T. D. Dowcy were made vice-presi-

dents of the meeting. Resolutions were presented and

adopted by the meeting without a dissenting voice, calling

upon every man to ignore and bury all party difierenccs and

prejudices, and to devote life, fortune, and sacred honor to

the support of the government and the preservation of the

Union.

A meeting similar in purpose, and equally large and en-

thusiastic, had been held on the previous evening (Friday,

April 19, 1861), at Clinton Hall, in the village of St.

John's. James W. Ransom was called to the chair, aud a

committee was chosen to draft resolutions. This committee,

composed of Oliver L. Spaulding, Randolph Strickland,

W. H. Moote, Joab Baker, Henry Walbridge, H. C. Hodge,

and H. S. Gibbons, reported resolutions nearly identical

with those passed at the Owosso meeting, and these were

adopted unanimously, and with great enthusiasm. At this,

as at the Owo.sso gathering, arrangements were made for

holding another meeting a few days later, and at these sub-

sequent meetings measures were taken to promote the

raising of companies of volunteers in the two counties, and

resolutions were passed pledging support (if needed) to the

families of soldiers absent in the army.

These meetings at St. John's and Owosso were supple-

mented by others, held in many of the townships of both

counties, and at all these the same patriotic spirit was mani-

fested. Enlistments commenced immediately. Men left the

farm, the store, and the workshop to volunteer in their coun-

try's service. Many of these, unwilling to wait for the

organization of companies in their own county, wont to

other places to enlist, and before the 1st of May a few men

from both counties had left for Detroit, Lansing, and Grand

Rapids, to place their names on the rolls of companies or-

ganizing there. By that time, however, recruiting bad com-

menced both in Clinton and Shiawa.ssee, and on the 4th of

May the papers announced that Capt. Richard Baylis liad

made good progress towards enlisting a company at St.

John's and Ovid, and that a company recruited at Owosso

and Corunna was already full, and had been accepted by

.the military authorities of the State.

From that time, during four years of war and terror, the

counties of Clinton and Shiawassee responded well and

promptly to the uumcrous calls for volunteers, and furnished

for the several armies fully three thousand men,* who.served

in more than fifty regiments,—infantry, cavalry, artillery,

and engineers. Several of these regiments, most notice-

able for the number of Shiawassee and Clinton County

men inclTided among their members, are especially men-

tioned in succeeding pages in historical sketches of their

organization and services in the great war for the union.

SECOND INFANTRY.

When, at the fall of Fort Sumter, President Lincoln

called on the several loyal States for an army of seventy-

five thousand men to sustain the power of the government

against a rebellion which had unexpectedly proved formid-

able. Governor Blair, of Michigan, responded by issuing

his proclamation calling for twenty companies out of the

uniformed volunteer force of the State, with field and staff

ofl5cers, to compose two regiments of infantry, to be placed

at the disposal of the President if required. The War
Department had placed the quota of Michigan at one full

regiment, but the Governor very wisely concluded—and

the people of Michigan concurred in the opinion—that a

second regiment should be made ready for service if it

should be needed, as he believed it would be. Four days

after the Governor's call (April 19th) the State's quota

was filled, and her fii-st regiment ready for muster into the

service of the United States, fully equipped with arms,

ammunition, and clothing, awaiting only the orders of the

War Department, and on the 13th of May it left Detroit

for Washington, being the first regiment to arrive at the

capital from any point west of the Alleghany Mountains.

The Governor's call for twenty companies had been

promptly and fully responded to ; and so, after making up

the First Regiment, there still remained ten companies

which, having failed to secure places in the First, were

ready and anxious to be organized as the Second Regiment

of Michigan. Nine of the companies composing this regi-

ment contained men from Clinton and Shiawassee, though

none of them were principally, or even largely, made up of

volunteers from these counties.

On the 20th of May, 1861, the Second Regiment was

announced to be full, and on the 25th it was mustered into

the United States service for three years by Lieut.-Cul. E.

Backus, U.S.A. The field-officers of the regiment were

* Clinton and Shiawassee were credited in the adjutant-general's

office for about three thousand four hundred men furnished to the

government, but this is considerably above the number of those who
actually served in the army from these counties. This discrepancy is

to be explained by the fact that of the large number who re-enlisted

as veterans each m:in was counted twice, and that each man who
paid commutation money in lieu of personal service was counted as a

soldier furnished by the county, though never actually in the service.

A few men also volunteered in the naval service, and these went to

swell the aggregate credit.

In regard to the lists given in these pages of officers and men from

these counties serving in the several regiments, it is proper to say

that great care has been taken in transcribing them from the rolls in

the adjutant-general's office, and in verifying them, when practicable,

by surviving members uf the regiments to which they have reference.

If, notwithstanding this, they are found (as they doubtless will be, to

some extent) incomplete, it should be remembered that it is on ac-

count of the neglect of officers whose duty it was to return full and

complete records with the muster-out rolls tiled in the adjutant-gen-

eral's office.
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Israel B. Richai'dson, colonel ; Henry L. Ciiipraan, lieu-

tenant-colonel ; Adolphus W. Williams, major. In the

afternoon of Thursday, June 6th, the Second Regiment,

one thousand and twenty strong, embarked on three steamers

(one side-wheel and two propellers), and at eight o'clock

P.M. left Detroit for Cleveland, arriving there the following

morning. From Cleveland it proceeded by railway, via

Pittsburgh, Ilarrisburg, and Baltimore, to Washington,

reaching the capital on the 10th.

The regiment made a stay of several weeks in the District

of Columbia, its camp being named " Camp Winfield Scott."

It was brigaded with the Third Michigan, First Massachu-

setts, and Twelfth New York, the brigade-commander

being Col. Richardson, of the Second Michigan. When
Gen. McDowell made his forward movement towards Ma-

nas.sas, this brigade moved with the army into Virginia, and

was engaged in the fight at Blackburn's Ford, July 18th,

and in the battle of Bull Run, Sunday, July 21st. In the

panic and disorder which ended that disastrous day the

Second Regiment behaved with great steadiness, covering

the retreat of the brigade towards Washington, for which

it was warmly complimented by the heroic Richardson.

After Bull Run the regiment was encamped for some

weeks near Arlington, and later in the season at Fort Lyon,

Va., where it remained during the fall. About December

20th, substantial and comfortable winter quarters were con-

structed at " Camp Michigan," three miles from Alexandria,

oa the Acotink Road. While this camp was in process of

construction an officer wrote that " Cabins are growing up

on every side, adorned with doors and windows, procured

by a process called ' cramping,' which is somewhere on the

debatable ground between buying and stealing." Here

the regiment remained until March, 1862, when it moved

with its brigade and the Army of the Potomac to Fortress

Monroe, and thence, up the Peninsula, to I'^orktown and

Williamsburg, at which latter place it took active part in

the severe engagement of Monday, May 5th, sustaining a

loss of fifty-live killed and wounded.

From Williamsburg the Second moved, with the army,

up the Peninsula to and across the Chickahominy, and

fought in the battle of Fair Oaks, May 31 and June 1,

18G2. Its loss in that engagement was fifty-seven killed

and wounded, though only seven of the companies were

engaged.

In the retreat (or " change of base," as it has .sometimes

been called) from the York River Railroad to James River,

the regiment fought at Gleiidale (or Charles City Cross-

Roadsj, June 30th, and at iMalvern Hill, July 1st. From

the latter field it retired with the army, and moved to Har-

rison's Landing, on the James, where it remained until the

general evacuation of that jiosilion, August l.'jth, when it

marched down the Peninsula, and was moved thence, by

way of the Chesapeake Bay and Potomac River, with other

troops, to the a.ssistance of the imperiled army of Gen. Pope

in the valley of the Rajipahannock, during which campaign

it took part in the fights of August 28th, 20th, 30th, and

in the battle of Chantilly, September 1st.

At Fredericksburg the Secdiid was not actively engaged.

It.crossed the Rappahannock on the 12th of December, but

in the great battle of tiie next day was held in reserve, and

6

sustained only a loss of one killed and one wounded by the

enemy's shells, but was, with the Eighth Michigan, among
the last of the regiments of the army to recross to the north

side of the river on the 16th.

On the 13th of February, 1863, the regiment moved to

Newport News, Va , and on the 19th of March took its route

to Baltimore, and thence, by the Baltimore and Ohio Rail-

road and steamers on the Ohio River, to Louisville, Ky.,

with the Ninth Army Corps, of which it was a part. The

corps remained in Kentucky during the months of April

and May, and in June was moved to Mississippi to reinforce

the army of Gen. Grant, near Vicksburg. The Second went

into camp at Milldale, near Vick.sburg, on the 17th, and

a few days later was stationed at Flower Dale Church. On
the 4th of July, the day of the surrender of Vicksburg, the

regiment left Flower Dale, and moved east towards the cap-

ital of Mississippi, to take part in the operations against

the rebel army of Gen. Johnston. It arrived in front of

Jackson in the evening of the 10th, and on the 11th ad-

vanced in skirmish line on the enemy's rifle-pits, which were

taken and held for a time. Superior numbers, however,

compelled the Second to retire from the position, with a loss

of eleven killed, forty-five wounded, and five taken prison-

ers. On the 13th and 14tli of July the regin)ent was again

slightly engaged. On the 17th and 18th it was engaged in

destroying the Memphis and New Orleans Railroad, in the

vicinity of Jackson and Madison, and then moved through

Jack.son (which had been evacuated by the enemy) back to

Milldale, where it remained till Augu.st 5th, when it marched

to the river, and thence moved with the Ninth Corps, by

way of Cincinnati, to Kentucky, and encamped at Crab

Orchard Springs, in that State, on the 30th of August.

Here it remained twelve days, and September 10th broke

camp and took the road ibr Cumberland Gap and Kno.x-

ville, Tenn., reaching the latter place September 26th. It

moved from the vicinity of Kuoxville, October 8th, and was

slightly engaged at Blue Springs on the lOlh. On the

20th it was again at Knoxvillc, but immediately afterwards

moved to Loudon, and thence to Lenoir, Tenn., where, on

the 8th of November, its men commenced building winter

quarters. The strength of the regiment at that time was

reported at five hundred and three, present and absent.

The anticipation of passing the winter at Lenoir was soon

dispelled by the intelligence that the enemy, under Gen.

Longstreet, was moving up the valley of the Tennessee in

heavy force, evidently having Knoxvillc as his objective

point. On the 14th of November, the Second Regiment

with its division (the First Division of the Ninth Corps) was

ordered out to meet and repel Longstreet, who was reported

to be crossing the Tennessee, below Loudon. He was found

in force near Huff's Ferry, on tiic Holston.and the division

fell back to Lenoir. Here a line of battle was formed, but

on the enemy coming up, the retreat towards Kiu)xville was

resumed, the Second Regiment, with its brigade, forming

the reur-guard. On tlie 16th it again .stot)d in line at Camp-

bell's Station to resist the advance of Longstreet, who was

pressing up with great vigor. A sharp engagement ensued,

in which the Second lost tiiirty-one in killed and wounded.

The position was stubbornly held till dark, when the retreat

was resumed, and the regiment reached Knoxvillc at five
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o'clock in the morning of the 17th, after a march of nearly

thirty miles through mud and rain, and a battle of several

hours* duration, all without rest or food. It took position

on a hill below the city, at Fort Saunders, where rifle pits

were constructed, and where the regiment remained during

the siege which followed. On the I'Jth and 20th it was

slightly engaged, and on the 24th, under orders to attack

a line of rifle-pits, it advanced under command of Maj. By-

ington, moving several hundred yards across an open plain

swept by a front and flank fire of musketry and canister.

The line was carried, but could not be held ; the attacking

force was dislodged and compelled to retire, with a loss to

the Second Regiment of eighty-one killed and wounded
;

this being very nearly one-half its whole number who were

in the fight. Among the killed was Adj. William Noble,

and Maj. Byington was mortally wounded.

In the morning of Sunday, Nov. 29, 1863, a force of

the enemy, consisting of two veteran Georgia brigades of

McLaws' division, made a furious and persistent assault on

Fort Saunders, but were repelled, and finally driven back

in disorder, with a loss of eight hundred in killed, wounded,

and prisoners, and three stands of colors. With the force

inside the fort during this assault were Companies A, F, G,

and H, of the Second Michigan. Their loss, however, was

inconsiderable, being only five killed and wounded. From

that time the regiment saw no fighting at this place other

than slight skirmishes, and on Friday night, December 4th,

the enemy withdrew from before Knoxville, after a siege of

eighteen days' duration.

The Second marched from Kno.xville, December 8th,

and moved to Rutledgo. On the 16th it moved to Blain's

Cross-Roads, which was its last march in 1863. During

the year that was then about closing the regiment had

moved a distance of more than two thousand five hundred

miles. It remained at Blain's for about a month, during

which time it was " veteranized," the nuiuber re-cnlistinc;

as veterans being one hundred and ninety-eight. About

the middle of January, 1864, it moved to Strawberry

Plains, thence to Knoxville, and to Erie Station, remaining

at the latter place until February 4th, when it moved under

orders to proceed to Detroit, Mich., and reached there

twenty days later. Here the veteran furlough was given

to those who had re-enlisted, and Mount Clemens was

made the place of rendezvous. At this place the regiment

received orders, on the 4th of April, to proceed to An-

napolis, Md., to rejoin the Ninth Army Corps, which had,

in the mean time, moved from Tennessee to Virginia to

reinforce the Army of the Potomac. The regiment left

Annapolis on the 22d, proceeded to Washington, and

thence into Virginia, where, on the 5th of May, it crossed

the Rapidan and joined the army, which was then moving

into the Wilderness. For six weeks following this time

the Second was, with its companion regiments of the brigade,

so constantly employed in march, skirmish, or battle, that

it is hardly practicable to follow the intricacies of the

movements
;
but the following statement of casualties during

that time shows where and how it fought. The statement,

which includes only the killed and wounded (and not the

missing), is taken from the report of the regimental sur-

geon, Richard S. Vickery, viz :

In the Wilderness battle, May 6th, killed and
wouniletl 38

At SpottiijIvaniaCourt-Ilouse, May 12th, killed and
wounded 11

At C-c Ford. North Anua, iMay 24th, killed 1

Skirmish of May 27th 1

Pamiinkey River, M.iy Slst 2

Skirmish, June Ut 5

Skirmish, June 2d 2

Battle of liethesda Church, June 3d 38

Cold Harhor and uther actions, from June 4th to

June 10th 9

The regiment crossed to the south side of the James

River on the 15th, reached the enemy's works in front of

Petersburg on the 16th, and took part in the attacks of

the next two days with the following losses in killed and

wounded, viz.

:

In battle of June 17th 91

In battle of June 18th 83

Recruits to the number of five hundred or more had

joined the regiment since the veteran re-enlistment,—other-

wise such losses would have been impossible.

On the 30th of July the Second took part in the engage-

ment which followed the explosion of the mine, and sus-

tained a lois of twent}' killed and wounded and thirty-seven

missing. Having moved with the Ninth Corps to the

Weldon Railroad, it there took part in repelling the ene-

my's assault on our lines, August 19lh, losing one killed

and two wounded. On the 30th it crossed the Weldon

Railroad, and moving towards the enemy's right flank, par-

ticipated in the engagement of that date at Poplar Grove

Church, losing seven wounded and twelve missing. It was

then encamped for about a month at Peebles' Farm, but

moved, October 27th, in the advance on Boydton Plank-

Road, losing seven wounded in that affair. It then re-

mained at Peebles', engaged in picket duty and fortifying,

till November 29th, when it moved to a point about ten

miles farther to the right, on the City Point and Peters-

burg Railroad, and there remained in the trenches during

the winter. On the 25th of March it fought at Fort

Stcadman, and sustained severe lo.ss. It again lost slightly

at the capture of Petersburg, April 3d. It then moved to

the South Side Railroad, eighteen miles from Petersburg,

and remained nearly two weeks, but in the mean time the

army of Lee had surrendered, and the fighting days of the

regiment were past. It moved to City Point, and embark-

ing there on the 18th, was transported to Alexandria, Va.,

from whence it moved to a camp at Tenallytown, Md. On
the 27th of May it was detached for duty in Washington

City, and remained there for about two months. On the

29th of July (having on the previous day been mustered

out of the service) it left by railroad for Michigan, and on

the 1st of August it reached Detroit, and was soon after

paid and disbanded, after four years and a quarter of hon-

orable service.

OFFICERS AND JIEN OF THE SECOND INFANTRY FBOM CLINTON
COUNTY.

Keld and Staff.

Maj. Porter K. Perrin, St. John's ; com. April 1, 1804; disch.for disability, Nov.

23, 1864.

Compatuj .4.

2d Lieut. Jos. Bcrrj-, Buplaiu ; com. April 1, 1S64 ; taken pris. July 30, 1S64;

died in rel'el prison, I860.

Geo. C. Bell, mustered out.

Reason Craren, Duplain ; died of diseiise at Annapolis, Md., Oct. 30, 18C4.

Luke B. Uicks, mnsteved out.

Miner Hicks, mustered out.
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Company B.

1st Lieut. AU'X. RicliarJd, St. John's; com. April 25, ISGj; must, out July 2S,

18G5.
Covipany C.

Mortimer Payer, died of disease at White Hall, Pa., Aug. 2U, 18C4.

Sidney C. Johnson, must, out July 2S, ISii.i.

\\m. J. Itogers, must, out Aug. 17, 18G5.

Compantj E.

2d Lieut. James II. Wellings, De Witt; com. April 1, 18G-i; disch. Dec. 28, 1804 .

Abnim F. Kimb;ill, must, out Aug. 9, LSfiS.

John F. Munsoii. must, nut July II, 1803.

Geo. Passtuore, must, out July 28, 1865.

Wm. ScUuIer, ini8>ing in action.

Asa Tillotson, died in action near Petersburg, Va., Aug. I, 1864.

Companjf F.

Jas, M. Biimingham, Duplain ; mustered out.

Compantj G.

Jeriinie L. Curtis, died of wounds at Washington, April 10, 1865.

Daniel C. Pierce, died of wounds, June 17, ISCI.

Wm. B. Parker, must, out May 15, 18G5.

Company H.

Silas S. Babcock, died in div. hosp., March 19, 1S65.

Geo. B. Morse, died in Washington, D. C, July 3, 1864.

Smith H. Stjiuton, died in action nnar Petarsburg, June 17, 1864.

Ichabod I. Towne, died in Washington, D. C, Nov. 11, 1864.

Abrani White, must, out June 22, 1865.

John II. Williams, must, oat June 26, 18G5.

Company I.

Emory Vance, disch. at end of service, July 21, 1864.

Company K.

2d Lieut. Orlando S. Perkins, St. John's; com. April 19,1861; sergt. 27th Inf.;

disch. Dec. 28, 18G4.

Bar/illai Coats, died at Philadelphia of wounds, July 30, 1864.

Saiiford Ilayes, must, out July 20, 1SG5.

CaU-1) II.'ill, must, out July 28, 1865.

Eno(-h Hand, must, out Oct. 10, 1865.

IsaJic V. Jones, Bengal ; died in hosp. 9th Army Corps, July 1, 1861.

Mathew Moore, died of wounds in 1864.

Corp. E. Teets, Greenbush.

SOLDIERS OF THE SECOND INFANTRY FROM SHIAWASSEE COaNTY.

Company C.

Andrew Allen, must, ont July 28, 18G5.

Company E.

Orren C. Chapman, died of wounds at Washington, D. C, July 17, 1864.

Frank Collins, must, out July 31, 1SG5.

S.nirord Hmiden, disL-li. for disability. Sept. 18. 1804.

George W. Keyes, must, out July 28, 1865.

James D. Mills, died of disease at Wusbington, D. C, July 21, 1864.

Company F.

Dennis Birmingham, disch. for disability, May 12, 1862.

Company K.

Charles C. Loynoa, disch. by order, June 3, 1865.

CHAPTER V.

THIRD INFANTBY.

Orgnnization of tbo Regiment at Grand llapids—Battle of Bull Run

—Peninsula Campaign—Seven Days' Battles—Fredericksburg,

Chancellorsville, and (Jettyi'burg—Service in New York—Mine Hun
—The Wilderness nndSpoltsylvania—Cold Harbor—Tlie New Third

Infantry—Service in Tennessee, Alabama, and Texas.

TllK Tliinl Micliigan Iiifautry was recruited in tlie

luonlli of May, 1801, and had its rendezvous and eanip of

instruction at (jrand Rapids. Clinton and Sliiawasscc

Counties furnished to thb regiment about .seventy men,

who were distributed anion-; six of its conijianics, tlie

larger nuiubcr being found in Coiujiany (J. Most of tlic

Sliiawassee uicu in tlic Tiiird were originally mciubcrs of

the " Ingersoll Rifles," which was raised by Capt. Quack-

enbush for the Fiftli, but were transferred to this regiment

on account of the " Rifles" being filled to considerably more

than the maxiinuiu strength.

The Third Regiment was mustered into the United

States service, one thousand and forty-two strong (oflicers

and enlisted men), ou the 10th of June, 18G1, under Col.

D. McConneli. Three days later it left Grand Rapids and

proceeded to Washington, D. C, where it arrived on Sun-

day, the 16th, and moved to the Chain Bridge, where it

encamped at " Camp McConneli." It was soon after

assigned to the brigade commanded by Col. Israel B.

Richardson, and first met tlie enemy at Blackburn's Ford,

Va., on the 18th of July. On the 2l6t the regiment,

with its brigade, was engaged in that famed conflict, the

first battle of Bull Run. In the disaster of that day the

Michigan regiments proved themselves to be among the

bravest and most steadfast of the troops engaged. The

army commander, Gen. McDowell, said, in his report, that

" Richardson's troops were the last to leave the field," and

the correspondent of the New York Trilntue who was pres-

ent at the battle wrote to tliat journal an account of the

fight, in whicii he said, " I was told that a few regiments,

besides the three faithful ones of Blenker's brigade, had

come in in fair order, and that they were the Second and

Third Michigan and the Mas.sachusetts First, of Richard-

son's brigade." When the defeated and disorganized Union

army fell back on Washington, this brigade served as rear-

guard. It maintained its position at Centreville Heights

until the morning of July 22d, and when all detachments

and stragglers had passed to the rear, it deliberately took

up the line of march to Washington, whore it arrived in

good order. Immediately afterwards the brigade was

assigned to the duty of guarding the position at Bailey's

Cross-Roads, and picketing otiier highways leading to

Alexandria and Washuigton from the South. After assist-

ing in the construction of the defenses of Washington, the

Third went into winter quarters near Alexandria, Va., and

remained tlierc until March, 1862, wlicn it moved with

McClellan's army to the Peninsula.

At the battle of Williamsburg, fought on the 5th of May,

1862, Berry's brigade* of Kearney's division moved to the

front through mud and rain, at double-iiuiek, formed line

under fire, and immediately charging a superior force of

the enemy, recaptured a lost position and artillery, and did

not stop until tlie enemy was dislodged and beaten back from

his position. In regard to this fight, a New Vork Tiibnne

correspondent said :
" By confessions of rebel prisoners, eight

hundred of Berry's men, mostly of Michigan regiments, drove

back sixteen hundred of the enemy." At Fair Oaks, on the

Slst of May, the Third particularly distinguislied itself,

losing thirty men killed, one iiundred and tweiily-four

wounded, and fifteen missing. Among the wounded was

its commander. Col. Stcplicn G. Chauiplin. The Prince de

Joiuville, an eye-witness of this battle, said: " As at Wil-

liauL-iburg, Kearney comes to re-establish tlie fight. Berry's

brigade of this division, composed of Michigan regiments

• Composed of tho Sooood, Third, and Fiflh Michigan, and Tliirty-

Seveoth Now York rcgiwcnts.
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and an Irish battalion, advances firm as a wall into the

midst of the disordered mass which wanders over the battle-

field, and docs more by its example than the most powerful

reinforcement."

The Third was engaged at Savage Station and Peach

Orchard, June 29, 1862 ; Glendale (or Charles City Cross-

Roads), June 30th; Malvern Hill, July 1st; and Grove-

ton (or Second Bull Run), Aug. 29, 1862. In the latter

battle it lost twenty men killed, besides a large number

wounded and missing. Proceeding from Edwards' Ferry,

Md., via Warrenton and Falmouth, Va., to Fredericks-

burg, Va., the regiment was engaged at the latter place

Dec. 13, 1862, losing nine men wounded. At Chancel-

lorsvilie, on the 1st, 2d, and 3d of May, 1863, it sustained

a loss of sixty-three men killed, wounded, and missing.

On the 1 1th of June the regiment began a toil.sorae

march via Centreville, Va., Edwards' Ferry, and Frederick

City, Md., to Gettysburg. The roads were dusty, the heat

intense, and the men suflTered terribly. At Gettysburg, on

the 2d and 3d days of July, 1863, the Third fought

bravely, sustaining a loss of forty-one men, killed, wounded,

and missing. Having followed the enemy to Willianisport,

it marched thence to Harper's Ferry, crossed the Potomac

at Berlin, and moved forward to Manas.sa.s Gap. On the

17th of August, 1863, the regiment proceeded to Alex-

andria, Vs., and from there to New York City, whither it

had been ordered to aid in the preservation of the public

peace and in keeping down a mob during the then pending

drait. Remaining there a few days, it proceeded up the

Hudson to Troy, N. Y., where it was stationed two weeks.

It then returned to its brigade in the Army of the Potomac,

arriving at Culpeper, Va., Sept. 17, 1863.

On the 26th of November, 1863, the regiment took part

in the Mine Run campaign, engaging the enemy on the

27th at Locust Grove, and on the 30th at Mine Run.

With the army it returned to Brandy Station December 2d,

having lost during the movement thirty-one men in killed,

wounded, and missing. One hundred and eighty members

of the regiment re-enlisted as veterans Dec. 23, 1863.

They received a thirty days' furlough, and at the expiration

of that time returned to their command.

From December, 1863, until the beginning of May, 1864,

was a season of inactivity. On the 4th of the latter

month the Third cro.sscd the Rapidan at Ely's Ford, ad-

vanced to Chancellorsville, and during the three following

days was in the midst of the terrific battle of the Wilder-

ness, sustaining a heavy loss. It was also engaged at

Todd's Tavern on the 8th and at Spottsylvania on the 12th,

where it participated in the successful charge of the Second

Army Corps. At the North Anna River it again encoun-

tered the enemy, May 23d and 24th. The Pamunkey

River was crossed on the 27th, and the advance continued

towards Cold Harbor. During this month of continuous

fighting the regiment sustained a loss of thirty-one men

killed, one hundred and nineteen wounded, and twenty-nine

missing.

At Cold Harbor, on the 9th of June, 1864, the regiment,

with the exception of the re-enlisted men and such as had

joined since the original organization, and certain desig-

nated ofiBcers, was ordered home for the purpose of being

discharged. The remaining officers and men—some three

hundred and fifty in number—were formed into a battalion

of four companies, and attached to the Fifth Michigan In-

fantry. The order consolidating these regiments was con-

firmed by the War Department June 13th, and on the 20th

day of June, 1864, the old Third, which had been one of

the first to take the field in defense of the government, was

formally mustered out of the Uliited States service.

THE NEW THIRD INFANTRY.

On the 18th of July, 1864, the President issued his proc-

lamation calling upon the loyal States for five hundred thou-

sand more men. Volunteers from the several States were to

be accepted for one, two, and three years, as they elected.

Michigan's quota under this call was more than eighteen

thousand, of which twelve thousand had to be recruited or

drafted. Governor Blair determined to raise six new regi-

ments of infantry, viz., the Third, Fourth, Twenty-eighth,

Twenty-ninth, Thirtieth, and Thirty-first, or one in each

Congressional district, and in pursuance of this plan, issued

his proclamation on the 21st of July, 1864. On the 29th

of the same month orders were issued to reorganize the

Third Infantry, and to Col. Moses B. Houghton (formerly

lieutenant-colonel of the old organization) was intrusted

the charge of raising the new regiment. Grand Rapids was

named its place of rendezvous, and the Fourth District its

field for recruiting.

The exigencies of the service did not permit the com-

plete organization of all these regiments before the enforce-

ment of the impending draft (Sept. 5, 1864), and seven

companies, which had been raised for the Thirtieth at

Pontiac, were distributed between the Third and Fourth,

four companies going to the former and three to the latter,

and the organization of the Thirtieth was abandoned. The

Third, thus reinforced, completed its organization at once

(October 1.5th), and, being mustered in with eight hun-

dred and seventy-nine officers and men, left camp for Nash-

ville, Tenn., Oct. 20, 1864, going thence to Decatur, Ala.

It remained at Decatur—-having meanwhile a skirmish with

the enemy at that point—until November 25th, when it was

transferred to Murfreesboro', Tenn., and ordered to duty at

Fortress Rosecrans.

On the 7th of December, while Gen. Milroy was engaged

at the Cedars with the principal part of Forrest's rebel com-

mand, Faulkner's rebel brigade of mounted infantry made

a dash on the picket-line at Murfreesboro', drove in the

guard, and gained possession of the town. After a spirited

engagement of an hour's duration, four companies of the

Third, together with an equal number of companies of the

One Hundred and Eighty-first Ohio, with a section of ar-

tillery, repulsed the rebels and pursued them two miles.

The regiment remained at Murfreesboro' and its vicinity

until Jan. 16, 1865, when it was moved to Huntsville, Ala.,

and assigned to the Fourth Army Corps. On the 31st of

January it was ordered to Eastport, Miss., and proceeded

as far as Nashville, Tenn., when, the order being counter-

manded, it returned to Huntsville, remaining there until the

middle of March. With its brigade it then marched to

East Tennessee, occupying successively positions at New
Market, Bull Gap, and Jonesboro', where it was employed
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in pursuing, capturing, and driving off the numerous guer-

rilla bands infesting that region. The Third was ordered to

Nasiiville, Tenn., on the 20th of March, arrived there the

28th, and on the 15th of June, 1865, with its corps, pro-

ceeded by rail from Nashville to Johnsville, Tenn. ; thence

by steamers down the Tennessee, Ohio, and Mississippi

Rivers to New Orleans, arriving on the 5th of July. After

a short delay the reiiiment proceeded in vessels to Indian-

ola, Texas, and thence it marched to Green Lake. On the

12th of September it started out for Western Texas, and,

after a fatiguing march of fourteen days' duration, it

reached San Antonio. During the following winter two

companies were on duty at Gonzales. Early in the spring

of ISGG tile entire regiment was ordered to Victoria, Texas,

and was there mustered out of the service, May 26, 1866.

Marching to Indianola, it took steamers to New Orleans,

going thence via the Mississippi River to Cairo, 111., whence

it was transported by railway to Detroit, Mich. It arrived

there June 10, 1866, and was soon after discharged.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTY SOLDIERS IN THE THIItl) INFANTRY.

Company B.

John N. Foster, died of disease, June 15, 1862.

Richai'd Herriiigton.disch. for disiibility, April 1, 1862.

Aaron Herrington, discb. for disability, Marchll, 1863.

Reuben Hopkine, disch. for disability, March liO, 1863.

Theron Janes, veteran, enl. Dec. 2;i, 1SG:J; must, out July 5, 1865.

Mortimer Markliam, died in action at Fair Oaks, May 31, 1862.

Lyman 3lcUarty, disch. tor disability, Aug. 9, 1861.

Ezra RariBom, disch. fur disability, Aug. 1, 1862.

Company C.

William Choates, died of disease at Camp Blair, Va., July 1, 1861.

ChriBtiiin Foster, disch. for disability, Oct. lu, 18G1.

Henry Reubelman, veteran, cnl. Dvc. 21, 186;i.

Abgah Southard, disch. at end uf service, June 20, 18G4.

Cusper Thener, veteran, enl. Dec. 21, 1863.

Company D.

Willard McKay, disch. for disability, Aug. 8, 18G1.

Company F.

James Guiinegal, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1864.

Company G.

Charles T. Goodell, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 18G3 ; died in action at Wilderness,

Va., May 5, 1864.

Eben D. Jackson, disch. fur disability, Nov. 10, 1862.

Patrick Kilboy, disL-h. lor disability, Oct. 24, 1861.

Francis aiHguirc, disch. for disability, Dec. 21, 1861.

Lemuel Smith, veteiiin, enl. Di-c. 24, 186.t; mu^t. out July 5, 1865.

Charles Shaft, VL-teran, enl. Di?c. 24, 1863; must, out Aug. 23, 1805.

John Shaft, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1863; died June 22, 1864.

Jamo8 Trimmer, disch. for disability, Aug. 6, 18G2.

Anhiir Walkius, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1863; must, out July 5, 1865.

rhily H. Wier, veteran, ciil. Dec. 24, 1863; died June 16, 1804.

SOLDIERS IN THE TIIIUD, FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Company B.

Burnett Hopkins, trans, to Tith Mich. Inf.; must, out July 5, 1865.

Lewis Rogers, trans. t<> r.th Mich. Inf ; must, out July 5, 186.').

Khenezer Sweet, trans. to5tb Mich. Inf.; must, out July 5, 1805.

Company C.

Francis Brinnick, died in AndersonviMo prison pen, July 12, 1864.

llornian Uardenbiirgh, minsing in action, June 30, 1862.

AU-ximder Turks, trans, to 5th Mich. Inf.; disch. for disability, Sept. 3, 1864.

Compuny D,

Jerome Briggs, missing in action.

Clinton Corey, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1863 ; trans, to 5th Mich. Inf. ; must, out

July 5, 1 65.

Edgar Green, disch. for disahility, May, 1862.

Amos W. Gillott, died in Virginia, .Sept. 20, 1862.

William n. IIicliH, disch. foi disability, Fi-b. 24, 1803.

rhibiiid.T J. Myv-rs, disch. to enl. in regular army, Jan. 18, 1803.

Webster Morris, Ovid.

James Reynolds, disch. at end of ecrvice, Juno 20, 1864.

Charles Vosburg, di>ch. for disability, May 20, 1863.

Elbridge Wclliugtou, disch. for disability, Aug. 5, 1861.

C-ompany F,

Asa IJ. Daniels, trans, to 5th Mieh. Inf.; must, out July 5, 1865,

Elijah Fish, died in action at Grovcton (Bull Run), Atig. 29, 1862.

Warren Stone, trans, to 5th Mich Inf. ; must, out July 5, .865.

Charles B. Sands, trans, to 6th Mich. Inf.; must, out July 5, 1865.

Chauncey D. Webster, trans, to 5th Mich. Inf. ; must, out July 5, 1805.

ComjHtny G.

Sergt. George M. Cook, Eagle; disch. for disability, Feb. 10, 1863.

Corp. John Blanchard, died in action at Seven Pines, May 31, 1802.

Corp. Case B. Wickhara,died in action at Seven Pines, Slay 31, 1862.

Mus. Dewitt C. Forman. pro. to principal mus.

Augustus Billings, died at Douglas Ho^pitiil of wounds, June 17, 1862.

Joshua R. Benson, vetcnin,cnl. Dec. 24,186^1; trans, to 5th Inf. ; must, out July

\ 1865.

John Bissell, must, out July 5, 1865.

William Clark, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1863; trans, to 5th Inf.; must, out July

5, 1865.

George W. Davis, veteran, enl. Dec. 24. 1863 ; trans, to 5tli Inf. ; must, out July

5, 1805.

William U. Davis, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1863; died in action at Wilderness,

May .5, 18 4.

Charles Gaskill, died in action at Seven Pines, May 31, 1862.

Calvin D. Holmes, died of wounds, May 18, 1864.

Andrew J. Heth, disch. for disability, March 18, 1863.

Henry W. McKoberts, died of disease at Fort Monroe, March 23, 1802.

Moses F. Newman, trans, to 5tli 3Iich. Inf.; must, out July 5, 1865.

Heury J. Patterson, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1863; trans, to 5th Mich. Inf.; must.

out July 5, 1865.

Charles H. Rose, disch. for disability. May 2.% 1862.

Chauncey Strickland, died of disease at Grand Rapiils, June 13, 1861.

Harrison Sickles, died of disease iu Virginia, March .i4, 1862.

Company K.

Wallace W. Wade, must, out Aug. 13, 1862.

Company C (new Third).

Corp. Benjamin F. Fuller, Westphalia; enl. Sept. 3, 1864; died of disease in

Texas, Nov. 5, 1805.

Samuel F. Cranaon, must, out May 25, 1800.

John Galliigher, must, out Sept. 25, 1865.

John J. Langdon, must, out June 14, I860.

Jason S. Mersbon, must, out May 25, 1806.

Spencer H. Noilhrop, died of disease at Cincinnati, Ohio, Aug. 9, 1865.

George Rich, died of disease at Nashville, Feb. 28, 1865.

William S. Stiles, died of disease in Texjis, Dec. 7, 1865.

Piescott Vernon, must, out Blay 25, 186C.

CIIAPTRR VI.

FIFTH INFANTRY.

Organization at Fort Wayne—Winter Quarters in Virginia—Batllea

of Willianisinirg, Fair Oaks, and Cliarles City Cro^s-RoaJa

—

Second Ituli Run, FlederieI^^burg, Clianeellorsville, and Gettys-

burg—Mine Hun—Veteran Re-enii^tiuent—The Wilderness Cam-

paign—Consolidation of the Tliird and Fifth—Spring Canipaiga

of 1865—Close of Service.

One of the conipiinies of the Fifth Infantry was raised

wholly in Shiawassee Couiily, and two others contained

a number of men from that eounty and Clinton. The

Shiawassee company—ori;;inally known as the " Ini^orsoll

Rifles"—was the first one raised in the county for actual

service, its formation having been commenced in the latter

part of April, 181) 1. On the 4th of May following its stron^th

had been raised to sevcnty-fbur, rank and file (as was an-

nounced in the Sliimoasscc American of that date), and not

loll"; afterwards Its ranks were filled to about twenty men more

than the maxiiniiin number. This excess of men afterwards

joined the Third Infantry at Grand lla|iids. The com-

niandint; officer of the " Uiflcs" was Capt. Louis B. Quack-

cnbush, who had been principally itislrumental in recruiting



46 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE AND CLINTON COUNTIES, MICHIGAN.

the company. Tlie other two ori;.jiDal commissioned officers

were First Lieut. "William Wakenshaw, and Second Lieut.

AVilliam K. TiUotson, hoth of whom had heen active in

procuriui; enlistments.

Several weeks passed after tiie company was full before

it was definitely assigned to its regiment. This period was

passed in perfecting its organization, drill, and discipline,

and on the 10th of August the " lugersoll Rifles" left

Owosso one hundred and ten strong, and proceeded to the

regimental rendezvous at Fort Wayne, Detroit, where it

lost its recruiting name, and was designated as Company

" H" of the Fifth Michigan Infantry. The regiment hav-

ing completed its organization was mustered into the United

States service on the 28th of August, 1861, with a total

strength of about nine hundred ofiicers and men, under

command of Col. Henry D. Terry.

On the 11th of September, at an early hour in the morn-

ing, the men of the Fifth Regiment broke camp at the

Fort Wayne rendezvous, packed their knapsacks, and pre-

pared for their departure to the front. It was a momentous

business, and nearly all the day was consumed in the prepa-

rations which in their later days of campaigning they

learned to accomplish in a half-hour. At a little before

four o'clock in the afternoon the several companies were

marched to the parade-ground of the fort, and tiiere formed

in line for the reception of a flag,—the gift of Messrs. F.

Buhl, Newland & Co., of Detroit,—which was about to be

presented to the regiment. There were many spectators

present, consisting of citizens of Detroit and friends and

relatives of the departing soldiers, who had come to say

good-by,—many of them for the last time. The crowd

was kept back by the unceasing labor of guards stationed

along the line. When the swaying to and fro of the people

in the vain effort of each one to stand in front of the others

had ceased. Marshal Whiting, with Mr. Frederick Buhl on

one side and Alderman Backus on the other, stepped for-

ward bearing the colors. Approaching to within a few

paces of Col. Terry, Mr. Backus made a few well-timed

remarks on behalf of Mr. Buhl, which were responded to

by Col. Terry in an appropriate manner. The flag, which

was of heavy silk, fringed with gold and surmounted by a

gilded eagle, was handed to Sergt. Asa A. Rouse, of " E"

company, who had been designated as the color-bearer of the

regiment. At the conclusion of the ceremony the companies

were marched back to the camp-ground for supper ; a few

final preparations were made, and between seven and eight

o'clock the command was marched to the river and em-

barked for Cleveland, en route for the national capital. The

journey of the regiment from Detroit to Washington was

described in a letter written by an officer of the regiment,

from which account the following extracts are given

:

" We embarked on Wednesday evening, September 11th,

on the steamer ' Ocean,' for Cleveland. Our journey

was pleasant but rapid. As the shrill whistle of the

steamer gave the signal for our departure, the most intense

excitement prevailed, and when she swung round from her

moorings cheer after cheer rose from tlie decks, for our

country and her flag, our homes and the dear ones left be-

hind us, and was returned with the same spirit ana enthu-

siasm by the numerous crowd that thronged the wharves to

witness our departure. About three o'clock in the morn-

in" we arrived at Cleveland, where we were detained till

nine o'clock, and then took the cars for Pittsburgh. As

the bell rang to warn us of our departure, crowds of people

gathered round the cars to bid the Wolverine boys good-

by. Nor was Cleveland behind in giving us a warm re-

ception. The whole line as far as Pittsburgh was crowded

with people of all grades, from the aged grandparent to the

lisping child, to see us pass. At nine o'clock the same

evening we arrived at Pittsburgh, where wo took supper,

changed cars, and resumed our way for Washington by the

way of Ilarri.sburg. We arrived in the latter place be-

tween two and three o'clock the next morning. There we

were numbered ofl" and stowed away in cattle-cars of the

most old and dilapidated kind, and in this wretched way

we proceeded to Baltimore, where we were again furnished

with good coaches. We arrived in Washington on Sunday

morning, somewhat fatigued from our long journey. We
remained there till night, when we received orders to

march,—to what place we did not know. We were soon

prepared for the journey, and after a march of some three

or four miles we arrived at Meridian Hill, where we learned

we were to encamp."

Meridian Hill is in the northwest part of the city of

Washington, and at this place the Fifth remained until the

morning of Wednesday, September 18th, just one week

from the day of departure from Detroit. It then broke

camp and marched down through the city to the arsenal,

where the men were furnished with indifl^erent Springfield

muskets. Thence the regiment moved across the Long

Bridge into Virginia and out to Arlington, where it bi-

vouacked for the night, and on the following day marched

about two miles farther from the river to Hunter's Chapel,

where it halted and pitched a camp, named Camp Richard-

son, in honor of Col. Richardson, to whose brigade (of

Heintzelman's division) it had been assigned for duty. On
the 22d a part of the regiment was placed on picket some

two miles farther to the front. This was the first time the

men of the Fifth stood in front of the enemy, and here it

was that they first heard the crack of hostile rifles.

On Saturday the 28th of September, six companies of

the regiment moved to Munson's Hill, Va. The remainder

of the regiment came up immediately afterwards, and to

Col. Terry's command is due the credit of first occupying

this position in the front where an attack was hourly looked

for, though none was made. At this place the regiment

was without tents, and constantly engaged on fatigue duty,

felling timber, and, with the Thirty-seventh New York,

constructing substantial earthworks on the hill. On the

12th of October the Fifth moved to Hunter's Creek, two

miles south of Alexandria, and the men were put on situilar

duty in the construction of Fort Lyon, and remained so

occupied at that place for about two months.

In the early part of December the regiment moved about

three milfe farther down the Potomac, to " Camp Michi-

gan," where the men were supplied with Sibley tents, and

set about preparing winter quarters. The enemy was in

their front, though not in much force, and the regiment

remained here in comparative comfort through the winter

of 1861-62, and until the general movement of the Array
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of the Potomac, in Marcli. The first of the operations of

that canipaijin was a feint made hy nearly the whole array

in the dirotlion of Manassas, whith was immediately fol-

lowed by the transportation of the immense host down the

Potomac to Fortress Monroe. The Fifth embarked at Al-

exandria, and moved with the army to the Virginia Penin-

sula, when, on the 4tli of April, 1862, it niarehed with its

division towaids Yorlctown, arriving in front of tliat strong-

hold on the following day.

The Filth, as a part of the investing force, remained in

front of Yorktown until Sunday, the 4th of ^May, when the

Union army was electrified by the announcement that the

hostile works had been evacuated during the previous night,

and that the enemy was retiring towards Kic-hniond. The

forces of Gen. McClellan were at once jiut in motion to

pursue, and the Fifth jMichigan, with its brigade, moved

from camp on through the evacuated intrenchments at about

three o'clock p.m., taking the road towards Williamsburg,

but bivouacking for the night a short distance beyond York-

town. At two o'clock in the morning of iMonday, the 5th,

the men were turned out in the pouring rain to prepare for

marcliing ; but the regiment did not move until about ten

A.M. Then forward over the almost bottomless roads,

which were clogged and blockaded by artillery, cavalry, and

army wagons, the men of the Fifth pressed on towards the

field where the battle had been in progress since the early

morning. For hours they struggled on through the mud

and rain, and as they approached Williamsburg the thun-

der of artillery and the continuous roar of volleys told too

plainly of the work on which they were about to enter.

Order after order came from the front to hurry up the

brigade, and about the middle of the afternoon the Fifth

stood in line of battle, about five hundred strong, in front

of the enemy's position, the Thirty-seventh New York

joining its line, the Third Michigan being in support of a

battery, and the Second Michigan being held in reserve.

These four regiments formed the Third (Berry '.s) brigade,

of Gen. Phil. Kearney's division.

It was not until between three and four o'clock that the

Fifth delivered its first fire, but from that time it was kept

up without intermis-sion till nearly dark. The ammunition

being then nearly exhausted, the order was given to charge

with the bayonet. It was obeyed witli alacrity. The reg-

iment charged, carried the rifle-pits in its front, and occu-

pied them through the night. The rain ceased and the

sky cleared during the night, and the morning of the 6th of

May opened bright and beautiful ; but the enemy had retreat-

ed, and was then some miles away on the road to Kichmond.

AVilliauisburg was the first battle-field of the Fifth

Jlichigan, and a wild initiation it was. The regiment went

in with about five hundred men, and out of this ibrce its

loss was one hundred and fifty-three in killed and wounded.

The heroism of the Fifth and its companion regiments of

the brigade in this battle is attested by the following order

of Gen. Berry, the brigade commander, viz. :

"SPECIAL OltDKIl.

" IIlvADyrAItTKUS TlllIlD lilUUAIlK, KkahMvY's Divisio.v,

" WiLi.iAMsniRO Uattle-Fikli), May 8, 1802.

" The commander of the brigade takes great pleasure in

making this oSicial communication to his command : That

they by heroic fortitude on Monday last, by making a

forced march through mud and rain, each vying with the

other to see who could most cheerfully stand the hardships

the time called for, making thereby a march that others

shrank from ; coming into a fight at double-quick, made

doubtful to our side by the overwhelming mass of the

enemy poured upon our centre ; b}' a rapid deploy and

quick formation, and by coolness, precision, and energy

beat back the enemy, recapturing our lost position and

artillery, and also by a heroic charge took a stronghold of

the enemy, and thereby di.slodged him and drove him on

the plain beyond his well-chosen po.sition, have done them-

selves great honor, have honored the States of Michigan

and New York, and have won a name in history that the

most ambitious might be proud of.

" R. G. Beruv,

" Briff.-Gen. c»mm(indiiig Third Jhigade."

In the advance from Williamsburg the Fifth moved witli

its brigade up to and across the Chickahominy, and took

its place in the lines confronting Richmond. Again, on

the 31st of May, it fought in the battle of Fair Oaks, and

again it suffered terribly ; its loss in killed and wounded

being one hundred and forty-nine out of about three hun-

dred men who entered the fight,—this being proportion-

ately much greater than its lo.ss at Williamsburg. Among

the killed of the Fifth at Fair Oaks was Capt. Louis B.

Quackenbush, commanding the Shiawassee company.

During the " Seven Days' " battles which accompanied

the " change of base," or more properly the retreat, of the

army from the Chickahominy tp the James, the Fifth

Michigan fought bravely at Charles City Cross-Roads,

losing thirty-three killed and wounded and eighteen miss-

ing. It was also engaged at Malvern Hill, July 1st, with

slight loss. After the evacuation of Harrison's Landing

the regiment was moved with its command and other

troops up the Potomac, and thence to the succor of the

.sorely-pressed Army of Virginia under Gen. Pope. In

this duty it was engaged, but without severe loss, at

Manassas, August SOth, and at Chantilly (where the gal-

lant Kearney fell) on the 2d of September. Later in the

fall, when the Army of the Potomac utider its new com-

mander. Gen. Burnside, marched towards Fredericksburg,

the Fifth Blichigan, as part of the force, marched i'rom

Loesburg, Va., on the 1st of November, moved down the

Rappahannock, and encamped on the left bank of that

stream near Falmouth.

When the oju-rations were commenced against the strong

position of the enemy on the heights of Fredericksburg, the

regiment crossed the Rappahannock with the attacking col-

umn on the 12th of December, and todk gallant part in the

disastrous battle (if the following day, in which it lost its

commanding officer, Lieut.-Col. John tJ illuly. The story how

the men of the Filth fought on that bloody day is briefly

told in the official report of Maj. Sherlock, who as.sumed

command when his superior officer fell. It is as follows:

" IlKAnijiAiiTKua Kuril Mhiikian Vom'ntkkiis,

" Bivm'AO OS TilK Haiti. K-KiKi.n, I>oc. !.'>, 18(12.

" Capt. Wilson, .1. .1. .1. Gni.

"Sill,—In accordance with a circular from headi|uarter3,

I have the honor to submit the following report of the part
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wliich this regiment sustained in the action of the 13th

instant. The regiment, under couiniand of Lieut.-Col.

John Gilluly, came upon the field at half-past one o'clock,

and after shifting from place to place, occupying different

positions, constantly exposed to a furious fire of shot and

shell, was at length detailed to support Randolph's Battery,

which was in rather a precarious situation, on account of

the falling back of some regiments thrown out in front of

it. At this juncture the regiment was ordered forward, and

opened an elFective fire upon the enemy, who were sheltered

by a brush fence, and after a brisk conflict drove them to

the woods. Lieut.-Col. Gilluly fell mortally wounded

while cheering on the men, and I assumed command.

The regiment remained on the scene of action till evening,

when the First New York relieved us, and we retired in

perfect order, carrying with us our dead and wounded.

The regiment numbered two hundred and seventy-two, rank

and file, and our loss is nine killed and seventy-four wounded.

The officers and men behaved nobly throughout the short

but sharp conflict, and it would be an act of injustice to par-

ticularize where all demeaned themselves so well
;
yet I can-

not forbear mentioning Color-Sergt. Bergher, who stood up

bravely, waving the colors defiantly in the face of the foe.

" I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

'• II. T. Sherlock,
" Major Commanding Fifth Michigan Infuntri/y

On the 15th of December the regiment recrosscd the

river from the battle-field, and returned to its old camp at

Falmouth. In January it took part in the historic " Mud
March" up the Rappahannock to Banks' Ford, and on the

abandonment of that expedition returned again to its camp,

where it pa.ssed the remainder of the winter. On the 1st

of January, 18()3, it numbered les.s than seventy men fit

for duty, but this number was soon after increased by re-

cruitment and returns from hospital.

On the opening of the spring campaign, under the new

commander of the army,—Gen. Hooker,—-the Fifth moved

up the Rappahannock, crossed the river on the 1st of May,

was engaged at the Cedars on the 2d, and took part in the

great battle of Chancellorsville on the 3d, where it again

lost its commanding oSicer, Lieut.-Col. Sherlock, killed in

action. The losses of the regiment in the engagement of

the 2d and 3d were fifty killed and wounded and thirty-one

missing. On the 6th of May it recrossed the river to its

north bank, and marching twenty-eight miles in twelve

hours, reoccupied its winter quarters at Falmouth.

Immediately after the battle of Chancellorsville the Con-

federate commander marched northward with the intention

of invading Maryland and Pennsylvania, and as soon as the

object of this movement became apparent the Army of the

Potomac was put in motion to intercept him. On the 11th

of June the Fifth Michigan moved northward with the

column, and in that day marched eighteen miles in seven

hours. On the following day the same distance was made,

through intolerable heat and dust, in six hours. The

march was exceedingly rapid and laborious through all the

distance. On the 25th of June the regiment marched

twenty-eight miles in eleven hours, though the day was ex-

cessively sultry. In the evening of the 1st of July it

bivouacked at Emmettsburg, Md., within six hours' march

of the field of Gettysburg.

The regiment with its brigade left Emmett.sburg at four

o'clock in the morning of the 2d, and marched with the

greatest possible rapidity to Gettysburg, where it arrived at

ten o'clock a.m., having made the last ten miles of the dis-

tance in three hours. The regiment was placed in position

on the field near the left centre of the line, where it re-

mained till about two o'clock, when the brigade was moved

to the front. Between three and four o'clock three com-

panies—A, B, and H—of the Fifth, under Capts. Waken-

shaw and Generous, were deployed as skirmishers, and

moved forward across a ravine, up a steep, rocky hillside,

and through an open wood to the edge of a wheat-field

;

the remainder of the regiment moving up over the same

ground to a position partly sheltered behind trees and

rocks. Soon a battery opened on them directly in front,

but soon changed po.sition about one hundred rods farther

to tlie left and again opened, but soon ceased firing, when

a heavy body of Confederate infantry moved out in close

column from the cover of the woods, and charged furi-

ously with the peculiar rebel yell.
.
They were received

with a fire which drove back their first line, but they re-

formed and again charged with greater desperation than

before. Simultaneously the enemy charged also on the

centre and drove it back, thus exposing that part of the

line in which was the Fifth Michigan to a murderous cross-

fire and the danger of being assaulted in flunk. This cir-

cumstance, with the furious charge in frout, compelled the

regiment and it.s brigade to fall back for nearly half a mile,

which they did in good order, and fighting over every rod

of the lost ground. Soon after this the regiment was re-

lieved by another, and was not again engaged, though the

battle continued till darkness closed the carnage of the day.

The Fifth had been engaged less than one hour, but in that

brief time it had lost one hundred and five men killed and

wounded, and five missing. On the 4th of July it was

held in reserve and not engaged, except slightly in skirm-

ishing. In the evening of that day the Confederate retreat

commenced.

The regiment moved from Gettv'sburg with other troops

in pursuit of the retiring enemy to Williamsport, on the

upper Potomac, and afterwards, the pursuit having been

abandoned, marched dowu the river to Berlin, crossed from

that point into Virginia, and moved by way of Manassas

Gap to a beautiful camp at Fauquier White Sulphur

Springs, where and in that locality it remained until the

16th of August, when orders were received for the Fifth

and Third Michigan Regiments to report at Alexandria,

Va. The movement ordered was a mysterious one, and all

kinds of surmises were indulged in by officers and men as

to their probable ultimate destination.

The Fifth Regiment embarked at Alexandria, August

22d, on board the ocean steamer " Baltic," which had also

on board four other regiments of the " Ohio brigade," to

which the Fifth was at that time temporarily attached. The

ship moved down the Potomac early in the morning of the

23d, but had only proceeded as far a.s Matthias Point when

she grounded on a sand-bar, and remained fast iu that position

for four days. By removing the anchor, three hundred
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tons of coal, and two regiments, and with the assistance of

five tug-boats, she at hist got afloat and moved down the

river and through Chesapeake Bay to the oeean, where she

turned northward towards lier destination (which was the

city of New York), and arrived there on the 30th. The

troops, which had been sent here to assist in quelling the

draft riots, if necessary, were disembarked on Governor's

Island. The Tliird Michigan had preceded the Fifth by

another vessel, and these two regiments were now ordered

to proceed up the Hudson River to Troy. They embarked

on river steamers, reaching Troy the next morning. Tlioy

were first quartered at the armory, a d.iy or two later at

the court-house, and finally, on the .5th of September, they

were removed to the Fair-Grounds. The Trojans were

very much surprised at seeing two Michigan regiments in

their streets, but they received them most hospitably, so

that the men of the Fifth counted their stay at Troy among

the most pleasant of all their war experiences. No duty be-

yond that of the camp and the drill-ground was required

of the regiment during its sojourn at Troy, and the neces-

sity for its presence there having pas.sed it left on Sunday

evening, September 13th, for New York by steamer, and

arriving there in the following morning, left immediately

by railroad for Washington under orders to rejoin the Army
of the Potomac. It arrived at Washington in the night of

September 15th, and three days later proceeded to Alex-

andria, whence, alter a stop of one day, it was moved to

Fairfax Station, and from there to the camp of its old bri-

gade, between that place and Culpeper. The brigade was

the Third of the First Division, Third Corps, Army of the

Potomac.

On the 17th of November the regiment moved to the

Rappahannock River, crossed at Kelly's Ford, and soon

after moved to near Brandy Station, occupying a deserted

camp of the enemy. On the 26th it crossed the Rapidan

with the forces which were movin<f to Mine Run. Taking

part in that expedition, it was engaged at Locust Grove on

the 27th, and there lost several killed and wounded. It

reached the front of the enemy's works at Mine Run, where

for thirty-six hours it remained in support of a battery.

From Mine Run the Fifth fell back with the army, and

again occupied its camp at Brandy Station, which became

its winter quarters until the 28tli, when (the recjuisite num-

ber of re-enlistments having been obtained) it left for

Michigan on veteran furlough. It arrived on the 4th of

January at Detroit, which was designated as the rendez-

vous, and then its members entered upon a brief period of

freedom and enjoyment with their families and friends.

Having been considerably augmented by recruiting

during its stay in Michigan, the Fifth Begiment, composed

of veterans and recruits, left Detroit on the 10th of Feb-

ruary, 18()4, and proceeding by way of Wa.shington, reached

Brandy Station in the evening of the 17th, and marched

ibur miles northwest to camp, and took position with its old

command in the Army of the Potomac. In the latter part

of March a general order was issued dissolving the First

and Third Corps, and consolidating their troops with those

of the Second, Fifth, and Sixth Corps. The First and

Second Divisions of the Third Corps were transferred to the

Second Corps, and made to constitute its Third Division.

7

The Third Division of the old corps was transferred to the

Sixth Corps.* " Thus," wrote a member of the Fifth

Regiment,—A. K. Sweet, of Detroit,—" was wiped out of

existence the gallant old Third Corps, with which our for-

tunes had been so long associated, and of which we formed

a part. Its glorious name, which we in some small degree

had helped to make illustrious, and in which we justly felt

a soldier's pride, became one of the things that were. The

corps had long been a mere skeleton of its former self

The old Third Division had been consolidated with the

First and Second immediately after the battle of Gettys-

burg, and a new division of ten thousand fresh troops,

under command of Gen. French, added. The old com-

manders of heroic fame, whom the men had learned to

love and respect, had gone, and a stranger filled the place

of command made glorious by Heintzelman and Hooker.

Still the glorious associations that clustered around the

name gave it a tender place in our hearts, and when at last

its death-knell struck, and the men so long associated in a

common history of the toil and triumph separated to their

various destinations, many a brave fellow felt a twinge of

sorrow and pain like that which pierces the heart as we

stand at the grave of a friend, and the cold clods of the

valley close over the dear face and shut it from our sight

forever. . . .

" On the 31st of March we broke camp and marched to

the south side of the railroad in the vicinity of Brandy

Station, and took up our new quarters in the Second

Brigade, Third Division, and Second Corps. The men

were allowed to retain the diamond badge,—a deference to

their feelings which was thankfully appreciated. The sense

of pain and disgrace slowly passed away as we became

better acquainted with our new companions in arms, for

they were as fine a corps of men as the Army of the Po-

tomac or any other in the world could boast, and we were

now under command of a general of brilliant abilities and

most intrepid bravery. Gen. W. S. Hancock. Gen. D. B.

Birney, our old brigade and division commander, was in

command of the division. We soon began to feel at home

in our new relations, and with the old red diamond to re-

mind us of the glorious past, we were soon ready as ever to

do and dare for the honor of the old flag and the success of

the common cause.

"... Towards the last of April nature had begun to

spread her rich garniture of green over hill and plain, and

soft gales from Southland fanned us with the first delicious

breath of spring. The warm sunshine, as May approached,

soon dried up the mud from the spring rains, and the roads

were once more in a condition for the movement of army

trains. On every hand the sure indications of an early

opening of field operations were apparent. A few days of

bustle and preparation and the last finishing touches were

complete. A week of comparative i|uict followed, like the

lull that precedes the bursting of the storm, and then, on the

evening of the 3d of May, the first move in what will go down

to history as the great campaign of the war commenced. No

drum-beat or bugle-note sounds a warning, but silently as

* Thu I'ifth Ufgiinciit ftl this time wiis only throe humlreil and

ninety strong, iniUuiing twenty-four sick.
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spectres in a dream, regiments, brigades, and divisions leave

their camps and fall into line. Already the vanguard is on

the march, and the dull tramp, tramp, comes from out the

darkness mingled with the low rumbling of artillerj' and

baggage trains. The camp-fires, as they light up the scene

with their fitful glare, reveal the faces of the men as they

stand leaning on their guns awaiting their turn to fall into

the line of march. They have little time to wait, for every-

thing moves with clock-like precision, and the long lines

follow each other in quick succession and disappear in the

darkness, until at last what was a few hours before a vast

city of snowy tents, with streets thronging with busy life,

is now one vast tenantless expanse of smouldering camp-

fires, over which broods the midnight stillness, unbroken

save by the echoes that come fainter and fainter from the

distant footsteps of the receding hosts.

" The morning finds us still on the march and nearing

the Rapidan, which we cross without opposition at Ely's

Ford, about nine A.M. We rest half an hour on the heights

beyond, from which we enjoy a fine view of the surround-

ing country,—a picturesf|ue succession of hill and plain,

with its distant background of mountains against the west-

ern horizon.

" The men, having marched all night with only a short

respite at sunrise for coflee and ' hard tack,' began to feel

tlic need of rest and sleep. But the march is soon re-

sumed and pushed forward at a rapid pace. The weather

is uncommonly hot for the time of year, and the narrow

forest-roads, walled in on either side by a dense under-

growth, afforded scarce a breath of cooling air. It was the

first march of the season, and the men had not become

liardeued to fatigue by exposure. But tired, sleepy, and

footsore, we hobbled on as best we could until about two

P.M , when we arrived on the old battle-ground of Cliaucel-

lorsville and halted for the rest of the day.

" How familiar looks every object around ! There is the

old Chancellorsville Hou.se, where Gen. Hooker had his

headquarters. But only tlie roofless, blackened walls re-

main ; the rest was destroyed by fire during the battle.

Farther on is the little country cemetery, with its white

fence and the white farm-house standing near, around

which raged the fiercest tide of battle on that lovely Sab-

bath morning in May. There is the field hard by where

the regiment lay for two hours or more the target for a

rebel battery. Just across that low swale, a little to the

left, is the open field where that battery stood, and on

whicli, the night before, Birney's division formed for the

midnight charge ; and there, too, is the thick hedge of

cedars bordering the field, through which we tore our way

to the charge, making night hideous with yell and whoop

and wild uproar, as if Pandemonium had turned loose all

its fiends at once.

" There is the old rifle-pit along the edge of the swale

still standing, and the narrow belt of open timber between

it and the plank-road, where the regiment rallied after the

uproar had subsided, and, in blissful ignorance of our im-

minent danger, passed the remainder of the night in sleep.

And here on the same ground and almost the identical spot

we again bivouac for the night."

The men of the Fifth had started on the campaign each

cariying five days' rations, and sixty rour.ds of ammunition.

In the morning of the 5th of Jlay the regiment left its

bivouac at Chancellorsville, and moved on the road leading

to Orange Court-House. The enemy was met, and a des-

perate battle ensued. On the morning of the 6th the regi-

ment was again engaged, making a successful charge on the

rebel works, capturing a stand of colors and thirteen hun-

dred prisoners, and suffering in this, as in the fight of the

previous day, a heavy loss in killed and wounded. By the

lo.ss of Col. Pulford and Maj. Matthews (both severely

wounded in the fight of the 5th of 3Iay, the command of

the regiment had devolved on Capt. Wakenshaw. In the

battle of the 6th he also fell, severely wounded, losing his

right arm.

The Fifth was again engaged with the enemy on the 8th

of May, and laj' under a heavy artillery fire until noon of

the 10th. It fought again on the 11th, and (with the rem-

nant of the Third Michigan, which was acting with it)

took part in the charge on the enemy's works at Spottsyl-

vania Court-House on the 12th. In this charge it cap-

tured two stands of the rebel colors, and was highly com-

plimented for gallant conduct both by Gen. Hancock and

Gen. Meade.

From Spottsylvania it moved forward by forced marches,

and, on the 28d of May, took part in the assault of the

works on the north bank of the North Anna River, at

Jericho Bridge ; the regiment carried them, captured a

number of prisoners, and drove the rebel force across the

river. In the afternoon of the 21th the regiment crossed

the river under a very heavy artillery fire, and again drove

the enemy from his position. On the 27th it recrossed the

North Anna and marched to the Pamunkey River, which

it crossed the same day. From the 28th to the Hist of

May the wearied and hungry men worked day and night

throwing up fortifications, and on the latter date the regi-

ment took part in a charge upon a line of works, which

the}' gallantly carried. Marching from the Pamunkey. it

reached Cold Harbor on the 5th of June, and immediately

commenced the erection of earthworks. It remained here

a week, and during that time the Third Michigan Infantry

(having become reduced to a mere skeleton, and the term

of service of a large part of its men having expired) was

consolidated with the Fifth under the following field-order

of the corps commander, viz.

:

"Headquarters SEroxD Army Corps,

"June 10, 1S64.
" Special Orders.

(Extract.)

" The term of service of the Third Michigan Volunteers

having expired, that regiment, with the exception of re-

enlisted men or such as have joined since date of original

organization, and such ofliccrs as are hereafter designated

to be retained, will at once proceed to Michigan, and report

to the Superintendent of Recruiting for that State, for the

purpose of being discharged. Descriptive lists must accom-

pany all men sent home. The remaining oflBcers and men
of the regiment will be formed into a battalion of four com-

panies, to be attached to the Fifth Michigan Veteran A'ol-

unteers, which regiment will be at once consolidated into

six companies,—and all ofiBcers not hereinafter designated
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to be retained will be mustered out of service. The follow-

ing officers will be retained in the above organization :

"?'/((>(/ Michigan Rcghnent.— Colonel B. 11. .Pierce,

Captain Simon Brennan, Captain Daniel S. Root, Captain

Thomas Tate, Lieutenant Daniel Converse, Lieutenant John

F. McGinley, First Lieutenant Jerome B. Ten Eyck, First

Lieutenant Charles A. Price.

' Fifth Mlchtijaa RegiiiKiit.—Major S. S. Matthews,

Surgeon Henry F. Lyster, Assistant Surgeon P. B. Ross,

Adjutant George W. Waldron, Regimental Quartermaster

Hudson B. Blackman, Captain William Wakenshaw, Cap-

tain Charles M. Gregory, Captain James W. Colville, Cap-

tain Amos A. Rouse, Captain Edgar H. Shook, Captain

James O. Gunsolly, First Lieutenant Walter Knox, First

Lieutenant John Braden, First Lieutenant Andrew Ham-

lin, Second Lieutenant George B. Dudley, Second Lieu-

tenant S. S. Lyon.

" This order is subject to the approval of higher au-

thority.

"By command of Major-General Hancock.

(Signed) " Francis A. Walker,
" Assistant Adjutant- General."

The order was confirmed by the War Department on the

13th of June.

The Fifth left Cold Harbor June 12th, crossed the

Chickahominy at Long Bridge on tlie same day, reached

Harrison's Landing on the 13th, crossed the James River

on the 14th, and arrived in front of Petersburg late in the

night of the 15th. On the following day, towards evening,

it was engaged with the enemy, and carried the assaulted

line of works.

During all the memorable but monotonous siege of Peters-

burg, from the time when the regiment reached the front of

that stronghold until the close of the great drama of the

Rebellion, the service of the Filth Michigan embraced a

.series of movements, changes of position, labors on fortifi-

cations, picket and railroad duty, life in the trenches,

marchings, skirmislu's, and battles, which it would bo too

tedious to Ibllow or to enumerate. In its assaults upon the

works in front of Petersburg, during the campaign of 1804,

its loss was fifteen killed, fifty-two wounded, and nineteen

missing,— total, eighty-six. It fought at Deep Bottom,

July 27th, 28th, with a loss of twelve wounded, and at

Boydton Plank-Road, October 27lh, losing nine killed,

filly-two wounded, and forty-three missing. It was also

engaged at Strawberry Plains, August 14th to 17th, and at

Poplar Spring Church on the 30th of September. During

the year following the commencement of the Mine Run ex-

pedition, in November, 1863, the total lo.ss of the regiment,

in killed, wounded, and missing, was five hundred and forty-

nine.

From October, 18()4, to the middle of January, 1S()5

the Fifth occupied Fort Davis, in the front line of works

at Petersburg. On the 15th of January it formed a part

of the force with which Gen. Warren made his raid south-

ward to the \V(-ldon Railroad
;
and after its return from

that expedition was posted for about two weeks at II um-

plirey's Station, and then moved back to tlie front of

Petersburg, and remained there until the 25lh of March,

when it moved with other forces to Hatcher's Run, and

took part in the assault on the works at that place, sustain-

ing the weight of a heavy engagement for four hours. In

the final assault on Petersburg the Fifth took part, and is

said to have been the first to plant its colors on the cap-

tured works. On the Gth of April the regiment with its

brigade attacked the retreating enemy at Sailor's Creek,

and captured a stand of colors and a large number of pris-

oners. The enemy being followed closely by the brigade

on the 7th and 8th of April, the Fifth Regiment, acting

as flankers and skirmishers, became engaged at New Store,

but with slight loss. And finally, on the 9th, it was present

in the front, in line of battle, at the surrender of the Con-

federate army by Gen. Lee. It lay at Clover Hill, near

the place of surrender, until the 13lh, when it moved back

to Burkeville, and on the 1st of May started on the march

to Washington by way of Richmond.

The regiment took its place in the great review of the

Army of the Potomac, at Washington, May 23d, and re-

mained in the vicinity of the city until June 10th, when

it left for the West, proceeding by the Baltimore and Ohio

Railroad to Parkersburg, W. Va., and thence by steamer

on the Ohio to Louisville, which place it reached on the

14th. Moving to Jeffersonville, on the north side of the

Ohio, it remained there until July 4th, when it was mus-

ered out of the service as a regiment, and on the 6th left

by railroad for Detroit, where it arrived on the 8th, and

where, on the 17th of July, 18(55, the men of the Fighting

Fifth received their pay and discharge.

OFFICERS AND MEN OF THE FIFTU FROM SIIIAWASSFK COUNTV.

Field and Staf.

1st Lieut, and Q.M. Willhini 11. Alien, Byron ; com. Aus. 28, 18G4 ; bvt. cnpt.

U. S. Vols, .\pril 9, 1SC5, " for galUnt and meritoiions services during

recent campaigns terminating in the surrender of tire relict army under

Gen. Eobeit E. Lee;" must, ont July 5, ISKi.

IIosp. Steward William II. Allen, Byron ; veteran, enl. Dec. 10, 1S63; pro. to 2d

lieut. Co. D, Juno 10, 1SC.4.

Coni..Sergt. Geo. A. Winans, Middlebilry
;
pro. to lat lieut. Co U, June 10, 18C4.

Coviptniy A.

Samuel jM. Atkins, ilied in action at Williamsluirg, Va., 5lay ^i ^862.

Edward Burgoyno, discli. for disability, Dec. 4. 181)4.

Daviil nines, trans, to Vet. KeH. Corps, Nov. 15, 1S6;|.

John Little, veteran; enl. Dec. l.'j, lSlj;l.

Isaac Lovi-joy, vetenin; must, out July 21, 18Go.

Company It,

Aln-aham Vandetuark, must, out July fl, 18ti.».

Company C.

John W. Cook, must, ont May 24, 1805.

Comjmny D.

Cupt. James 0. Gunsolly, Owobso, com, June 25, 18Ca ; discli, lit end of service,

Oct. 15, 18M.

2d Lieut. William 11. Allen, Byron ; com. Juno 10, 1804
;
pro. 1st llenl. and q.ni.

Edgar Calkins, died of disease ut Washington, D. 0., May 27, ISO:!.

Anthony Clees, discli. by order. May 11, 18fl.'i.

Clnirles Condon, discli. fur disal.llily, Aug. 29, 1802.

John llolcolub, disth. at end of service, Aug. 27, 1804.

lllralii JoliTison, discli. for dls:iliillty, Jan. lU, 1863.

David Johnsiin. must, out June 15, 1805.

Patrick Keveny, miiBl. ont June 15, 1S05.

William KiiilelH, disrh. at end of service, Aug. 27, 1804.

Sylvester Neiirii.g, died of illsease neiiV Kallnoutli, Va., Nov. 22, 1802.

Asnhul Bust, dinch. Aug. 9, 1802.

Janus M. Shippey, discli. at end of service, Aug. 27, 1804.

Ompimy F.

Joseph II. Ilennilt, dis. h. for disability, Nov. .'In, 1801.

Andrew Ullss, disch. for disability, April II, 1802.
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Ashley B. Clark, disch. for ilisaMIity, Aug. 21, 1862.

Robert Campbell, ilisuh. for disability, Aug. 15, 1S62.

Tlioniiis tgliri, died of woiiiid8, .Inly 14, 1SG2.

Diiiiiei Hurley, discli. fur liisability, July, 1^02.

Bradford F. Smith, died of disease, Oct. 18, 1801.

William R. Whitney, died of disease at Camp Michigan, Feb. 24, 1862.

Conipanij G.

Otis B. Fuller, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, April 10, 18G4.

Company H.

Capt. Louis B. Qiiackenbusli, Owosso; com. June 19,1861; killed in t)attle of

FairOak8, Va., May 31, 1802; buried iu Seven Pines National Cemetery,

Va.

Capt. William Wiikenshaw, Qwossd; com. June 1, 1862; 1st lieut, June 19,

1861; woiiiided May 6, 1864; capt. in Vet. Res. Corps, Nov. 7, 1864.

1st Lieut. Wm. K. Tillot^on, Owosso; com. June 1, 1802; 2d lieut., June 19,

1861 ; wounded at Williaimburg, Va., May 5, 1862 ; disch. for services in

Vet. Res. Corps, June 30, 1801.

1st Lieut. James 0. Gunsolly, Owoseo; com. July 12,1862; 2d lieut., June 1,

18G2 (sergt.)
;
pio. to capt., Co. D.

Ist Lieut. GfO. A. Winans, Middlehury ; com. June 10, 1864 ;
pro. to capt. and

must, out, July 5, 1865.

1st Lieut. David B.Wyker, Owosso; com. June 29, 1863; 2d lieut., June 1,1862;

died in action at Germania Ford. Nov. 27, 1863.

2d Lieut. John Shontz. Byron ; com. Nov. 7, 1864 ; 2d lieut., Oct. 1, 1864; must.

out July 5, 1805.

Sergt. Hiram L. Chapman, enl. Aug. 28, 1861; disch. fur disability, Ajirjl 10,

1802.

^Sergt. Morton Gregory, enl. Aug. 28, 1861 ; disch. for disability, Dec. 10, 1861.

Sergt. David B. Wyker, enl. Aug. 28, ISOl
;
pro. to 2d lieut., June 17, 18G2 ; 1st

lient., June 29, 1863 ; killed at Germania Ford, Nov. 27, 1863.

Sergt. John Shontz, enl. Aug. 28, 1861; pro. to 2d lieut.

Sergt. Lucieu A. Chase, enl. Aug. 28, 1861 ; disch. for disability, April 14, 18G2.

Sergt. Waj>hiiigton Howard, enl. Aug. 28, 1861 ; died of disease, Feb. 22, 1862.

Corp. William Bowles, enl. Aug. 28, 1801; tnins. to luv. Corps; disch. Aug. 27,

1864.

Corp. James 0. Gunsolly, enl. Aug. 28, 1801; pro. to 2cl lieut.

Corp. Orpheus B. Church, enl. Aug. 28, ISGl ; disch. for disability.

Corp. Alpha A. Carr, enl. Aug. 28, 1861; disch. for disability.

Corp. George A. Winans, eul. Aug. 28, 1861
;
pro. to coni.-sergt.

Corp. Charles Ormsby, died of disease at Fortress Monroe, April 10, 1802.

Wagoner Jenmie Trim, disch. for disability, Nov. 18, 1802.

Juhn C. Adams, disch. for disability, July 22, 1802.

Chauiicey W. Anible, disch. for disability, Sept. 30, 1862.

Wm. H. Borst, disch. for disability, Nov. 27, 1862.

John Beebe, veteran, died Juno 16, 1864.

Augustus Breekell, died of disease at Camp Pitcher, Dec. 27, 1862.

Fninklin S. Church, died of disease at Alexandria, Jan. 11, 1862.

Charles H. Collier, died of wounds. May 8, 1864.

Jeremiah Cassidy, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Feb. 15, 1804.

William Cummings, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863; disch. by onler, June 3, 1865.

Levi Clark, veteran, eul. Dec. 15, 1863 ; disch. for disability, Jan. 15, 1865.

Egbeit Campbell, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863; must, out July 5, 1805.

Alfred B. Crane, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863; must, out, July 5, 1865.

Charles Colman, must, out May 30, 1865.

Marcius S. Crawford, disch. for disability, Oct. 8, 1862.

Thomas M. Clay, disch. lor disability, Oct. 8, 1802.

John W. Close, disch. for disability, Oct. 8, 1862.

Benjamin C. Cook, disch. for disability by reason of wounds, Oct. 8, 1802.

John Q. A. Cook, disch. for disability, Dec. 4, 1862.

James Carmody, disch. for disability, Sept. 24, 1862.

Isaac Felter, wounded at battle of Wilderness.

Amos Finch, disch. for disability, May 11, 1862.

Clark Fineout, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863 ; must, out July 5, 1865.

Dwight D. Gibbs, disch. for disability, Oct. 8, 1862.

Wm. II. Harrington, disch. for disability, Feb. 20, 1863.

Melvin Honghtelin, disch. for disability, Aug. 22, 1862.

Martin N. Halstead, <lie<l in action at Fair Oaks, Va., May 31, 1862.

Myron E. Halstead, died in action at Fair Oaks, Va., May 31, 1862.

Allen Ilerrington, died of wounds. May 27, 1864.

William H. Hvrrington, wounded in battle of the Wilderness.

Michael Helms, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Sept. 1, 1863.

Wdliani F. Herring, died May 3, 1863.

Christopher Hayiies, killed in battle of Wilderness.

William A. Hall, veteran, oui. Dec. 15, 1863; died in action at Wilderness, Va.,

May 5, 1864.

Oscar F. Halstead, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863; disch. by order, Oct. 21, 1804.

Henry Herrick, vetenm, ent. Dec. 15, 1863; disch. by order, Feb. 4, 1865.

George W. Hnrris, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863; must, out July 10, 1865.

Stejihen M. Hammond, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863 ; muot. out July 5, 1805.

Benjamin Hoag, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863 ; must, out July 5, 1865.

Richard Haley, must, (uit May 31, 1865.

Ebenezer M. Ishain, dinch. at md of service, Aug. 27, 1864.

Joel M. Jackson, disch. for disability, Oct. 2, 1865.

Jefferson Kinney, disch. for disability. May 22, 1864.

Henry A. Keyes, disch. for disability.

John K.Kelly, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Jan. 15, 1S04.

John D. Keyes, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863; must, out July 5, 1865.

John V. Lindsay, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1803 ; must, out July 5, 1865.

Isaac Lovejoy, wounded at battle of Wibierness, May, 1864.

Thoma'^ Lawrence, disch. for disability, Nov. 20, 1862.

Edgar M. Leonard, <Usch. for disability (loss of arm at Gettysburg), Oct, 14,

1803.

Daniel Martindale, disch. for disability, July 22, 1862.

Orlanrlo Matson, killed at Freilerick-sburg, Dec. 13, 1862.

William F. McDivit, disch. for disability, May 1, 1862.

Lyman McCarthy, dirfch. for disibilily, Dec. 6, 1862.

Peter McLean, disch. for disability, Sept. 25, 1862.

Alexander McDivit, died of disease at Yorktown, Va.. May 0, 1862.

Edward BIcNeal, died of disease at Alexandria, Va., July 25, 1862.

Thomas Murlin, died of disease at Alexandiia, Va., Oct. 28, 1862.

AmoB Moore, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1803; died of disease near Petersburg, Va.,

Oct. 22, 1864.

Jacob Manshaw, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863; disch. by order, Oct. 21, 18G4.

Merriman Morehouse, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1803; died of disease at Salisbury,

N. C, April 27, 1863.

Milton Mattoou, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863; must, out July 5, 1805.

William Mvirlin, must, out May 31, 1865.

William Munshawee, must, out May 2-i, 1805.

Heruiau T. Newman, vet<;ran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863 ; must, out July 5, 1865.

Theodore Odetl, veteran, eul. Dec. 15, 1863 ; disch. for disability, aUy 23, 1805.

Andrew J. Patterson, disch. for disability, Dec. 10, 1861.

John M. Ross, wounded at battle of Wilderness, May, 1864.

James N. Peck, died of disease, Feb. 8, 1802.

William H. H. Shultere, died of disease at Alexandria, Va., Nov. 6, 1862.

Charles C. Scott, died of disease, Ajnil 12, 1862.

Abram K. Sweet, must, out Blay 31, 1805.

George A. Shelley, wounded at battle of the Wilderness, May, 1804.

Samuel A. Sutherltnd, disch. for disability, May 25, 1865.

Oren S. Skinner, disch. for disability.

James Shulters, disch. for disability, Nov. 11, 1862.

William Taylor, disch. for disability, Oct. 8, 1862.

Howard Wortliington, died of disease at Camp Michigan, Feb. 24, 1862.

John Weis, died of disease, Jan. 18, 1863.

Qlarcus Wakeman, died of wounds, April 25, 1865.

Patrick Waters, pro. to sergt.; wounded at Wilderness, May, 1864; veteran,

enl. Dec. 15, 1863; must, out July 5, 1865.

CLINTON COUNTY MEMBERS OF THE FIFTH INFANTRY.

C<>mjian>j C.

Frederick L. Buell, must, out July 5, 1865.

Chandler Ferguson, disch. for disability, June 20, 1862.

David Goodrich, died of disease at Washington, Sept. 25, 1861.

Wm. H. Goodrich, must, out July 5, 1865.

Valorous Green, disch. for disability, Jan. 19, 1863.

Ortou B. Green, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Jan. 16, 1864.

Merritt Howe, died in battle at Fair Oaks, Va., May 31, 1862.

Clinton McMurtry, St. John's.

Jos. Morton, St. John's; disch. for disability, Aug. 10, 1862.

Alvin McGowaii, disch. for disability, Aug. 27, 1862.

Edwin Perry, disch. at en<l of service, Aug. 28, 1865.

Uriah G. Tucker, died in action at Williamsburg, May 5, 1862.

Juhn S. Weatliervvax.died in action at Wihleroess, May 5, 1864.

Geo. E. Webb, Olive ; disch. for disability, Maicb 18, 1863.

Nathaniel D. Wickham, disch. at end of service, Aug. 28, 1864.

Compauy D.

Elisha A. Elwoud, must, out May 13, 1SG5.

Edwin Formaii, disch. for disability, June 20, 1862.

James A. Foruian, disch. for disability, 5Iarch 19, 1863.

David Frost, died of disease at Camp Michigan, Dec. 27, 1861.

John D. Ing-alls, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1803; must, out July 5, 18C5.

Ira P. Jones, disch. by order, Oct. 6, 1862.

Samuel Lee, disch. for disability, Feb. 7, 1863.

Charles B. Laud, must, out July 5, 1805.

Alson H. Reed, disch. for disability, Aug. 9, 1862.

William Reed, disch. at end of service, Aug. 27, 1865.

Peleg Sweet, disch. for disability, Jan. 8, 1863.

Robert K. Smith, must, out May 13, 1865.

Nathaniel S. Wells, veteran, enl. Dec. 15, 1863 ; must, out July 5, 1865.

Henry C. Williams, disch, by order,

Daniel G. Wade, disch. at end of service, Sept. 5, 1804.

Company F.

l8t Lieut. Joshua R. Benson, Riley ; com. Nov. 9, 1864, 2d lieut. ; Sept. 18, 1864,

sergt.; must, out July 5, 1865.

Company H.

Russell N. Bagley, disch. for disability, Jan. 13, 1863.

Almeroii Daniels, disch. for disability, May 31, 1865.

Daniel L. Harrington, died of disease, Feb. 28, 1862.

Nathan S. Ross, died in action at Fair Oaks, Va., May 31, 1862.

Company I.

Alexander Parks, disch. for disability, Sept. 3, 1864,
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CHAPTER VII.

EIGHTH INPANTKY.

Organizntion of tbc Eighth at Camp Anderson—The Port Koyal Ex-

pedition—Battles of Port Uoyal Ferry and Wilmington Island

—

Terrible Conflict at Secessiouville—Campaign under Gen. Pope

—

Soutli Mountain, Antictnm, and B'redericksburg—Campaigns in

Keutuuky, Mississippi, and East Tennessee—Veteran Re enlist-

ment and Return to the Army of the Potomac—The Wilderness

and Petersburg—The Eighth leads the Union Column into the

City—End of Service and Muster Out.

The p]ighth RegiincDt of Michigan Infantry was or-

ganized in the summer and fall of 18fil by Col. William

M. Fenton, who became its commander, and led it bravely

on many blood}- fields. One company of this regiment was

composed principally of Clinton County men, and another

was in the same manner distinctively a Shiawassee com-

pany. Volunteers from the.se counties were also found in

the ranks of five of its other companies.

The Clinton company contained the earliest enlistments

that were made in that county, dating as early as May 1st,

when Captain Richard Baylis commenced recruiting for

a company to join the Second Infantry. It was called

the " Clinton Rangers," and was filled in about two weeks,

but was after all too late for acceptance in the Second,

and this fact caused the announcement to be made, on the

17th of May, that " the Clinton Rangers are hereby dis-

banded.'' Afterwards, however, most of the " Rangers"

volunteered in other companies, principally in the " St.

John's Union Guard," which was organized at Clinton

Hall, St. John's, June 22d, by the enrollment of fifty names

of volunteers, and the choice of the following officers of

the company, viz. : Oliver L. Spaulding, Captain ; W. H.

Paine, First Lieutenant ; Charles F. Smith, Second Lieu-

tenant ; William T. Magoffin, W. Ely Lewis, J. W. Brad-

nor, N. T. Jones, and A. B. Nourse, Sergeants; and An-

thony Cook, Luther Pratt, Edwin Hewett, and Aaron B.

Taylor, Corporals. A " board of directors ' was also chosen,

composed of Charles Kipp, Henry Walbridge, Timothy

Baker, Stephen J. Wright, and William Sickels. The

company met for drill under these officers, but was soon

afterwards reorganized as the " St. John's Volunteers," un-

der Capt. Gilbert E. Pratt and 1st Lieut. W. Ely Lewis,

and having been augmented by a number of volunteers

from Gratiot County, was assigned to duty with the Eighth

Infantry, and designated as Company B of that regiment.

The Shiawassee County company of the Eighth was re-

cruited and organized in Augu.st, ISGl, under Capt. J. L.

Quackenliu.sh, of Owo.sso, and 1st Lieut. Albert Hainbridge,

of Byron, in the expectation that it would be joined to the

Ninth or Tenth Regiment. It was, however, as.signed to

duty with the Eighth, and designated in the organization

of that regiment as Company I.

The Eighth Infantry was rendezvoused at " Camp An-

derson," Grand Raimls, on the 21st of August. There it

remained for fdur weeks, engaged in drill, organization, and

the filling of its ranks to the maximum number. On the

18th of September it moved to Detroit, and thence to a

camp at Fort Wayne, liehiw the city, where, on the 23d, it

was mustered into tiie United States service for three years

by Capt. II. R. Mizner, U.S.A., its strength when mus-

tered being nine hundred. Its field-officers, besides Col.

Fenton, were Lieut.-Col. Frank Graves and Maj. Amasa

B. Watson.

Orders for the departure of the regiment were received

on the 2Gth of September, and on Friday (the 27th) it

embarked on the steamers " Ocean" and " May Queen," and

moved down the river and lake, arriving at Cleveland the

following morning. From there it moved by railroad

through Pittsburgh, Ilarrisburg, and Baltimore to Wash-

ington, where it arrived on the 30th, and encamped on

Meridian Hill, its camp being named " Camp Williams."

In due time the men received arms and equipments, and on

the 9th of October the regiment moved to Annapolis, Md.,

and there occupied the grounds of the Naval Academy.

On the 19th of October it was ordered to embark on board

the ocean-steamer " Vanderbilt," then lying at Annapolis.

It was evidently bound on some distant expedition, but its

destination and object were unknown, and were matters of

endless surmise and speculation among the officers and men

during the passage down the Chesapeake. On the " Van-

derbilt" with the Eighth was the Seventy-ninth New York

Regiment, called the "'Highlanders," and neither regiment

appeared to be very favorably impressed with the appearance

or presence of the other. One who was present on board the

ship at that time wrote afterwards concerning this, as follows:

" The men of the Eighth Michigan and Seventy-ninth New

l''ork looked distrustfully on each other. The ship was

rather uncomfortably crowded, having eighteen hundred

persons on board, and every effort to obtain better storage

by one party was jealously watched by the other. The

Eighth regarded the Seventy-ninth as a set of foreigners

and sots, and the latter regarded our men as a lot of un-

drilled bushwhackers, tinged with verdancy." How long

this state of feeling continued does not appear, but it is

certain that there was afterwards developed between them a

friendship which became absolute affection,—so strong and

marked that it was proverbial among the diflFerent commands

of the army where the two regiments wore known.

Upon their arrival at Fortress Monroe they found the

roadstead crowded with a fleet made up of war-steamers and

transports filled with troops. This fleet, including the

" Vanderbilt," went to sea in the morning of October 29ih,

and the sight was grand and inspiriting. For a time the

winds favored and the sea was comparatively smooth, but

afterwards a heavy gale came on in which tlie vessels were

scattered, and tliree or four of them were lost. During

this time the troops suffered greatly from seasickness and

overcrowding on the transports. The fleet had sailed under

sealed orders, and its destination was as yet unknown ex-

cept to the naval and military commanders. At last the

storm abated, the vessels one by one returned within sig-

naling distance of each other, and the low shores of South

Carolina became visible on the starboard hand. Six days

(which seemed as many weeks) from the lime of ita de-

parture from Furtress .Monroe the flirt arrived ofi" Hilton

Head, S. C, Nov. I, KStll. The object of the expedition

was now apparent, and, with a smoother sea and an enemy

almiist in sight, scasiekne.'<s and dejection gave place to

liuDyaiit spirits and i-agcr enthusiasm.

The licet was cdinjiosed of fourteen armed vessels, twenty-
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two first-class steamers, twelve smaller steamers, and twenty-

six sailing-vessels. The commander of the fleet was Com-

modore (afterward Admiral) S. F. Dupont, whose fl^ag-ship

was the splendid steam-frigate " Wabash." The land forces

consisted of thirteen regiments of volunteers, in three

brigades,—in all, about eleven thousand men,—under com-

mand of Gen. T. W. Sherman. The Second Brigade, com-

posed of the Fiftieth and One Hundredth Pennsylvania,

Eighth Michigan, and Seventy-ninth New York, was under

command of Brig.-Gen. Isaac I. Stevens.

The channel connecting Port Royal harbor with the sea

was guarded on either side by a strong rebel fortification.

These were known as Forts Walker and Beauregard, and

the reduction of these, by the navy, was the first work to

be done. For three days after their arrival the vessels re-

mained in quiet, below, as the weather was not considered

sulEciently favorable for operations; but on the 7th the

" Wabash" set her signal for battle, and advanced to tlie

attack, followed by the other armed ships iu their proper

order. They moved in a circular line, up, past one fort,

and down, past the other, delivering their tremendous

broadsides into each as they came abreast of it. With the

fire from the ships, and the responses from tlie forts, it was

almost a continuous volley of artillery, which shook tlie

earth and made the very waters tremble. But at length

the fire of the forts began to slacken, their replies grew

more and more feeble, and finally the stars and bars above

their ramparts gave place to the white flag. A little later

the standard of the Union floated above the captured works

on both sides of the channel.

On the following day the Eighth landed at Hilton Head,

and occupied Fort Walker. On the 17th of December, it

moved to Beaufort, a place of surpassing beauty, where

many of the wealthy people of Charleston had, in the old

days of peace, made their summer residences. It was now

found deserted by nearly all its inhabitants except negroes.

The camp at this place was made in a grove of magnificent

live-oaks, on the public square, wliich was surrounded on

all sides by stately mansions. Except on account of the

losses sustained by the Eighth in the vicinity of Beaufort,

the stay of the regiment at this place was among the most

pleasing of all its experiences during its term of service.

On the 18th, Companies A and F, of the Eighth, were

sent on a reconnoiteriug expedition to the mainland, across

Coosaw River, and while engaged in this service, David

Burns Foote, of Capt. Guild's company, was killed by the

enemy ; he being the first man of the regiment who fell

in his country's service. The Eighth, during the time it

was stationed at Beaufort, was engaged in other reconnois-

sauces, and in picket duty; and detachments occupied

Grey's Hill, Ladies' Island, Pinckney's Island, Brickyard

Point, and some of the neighboring plantations.

The first battle in which the regiment was engaged was

that of Coosaw River, or Port Royal Ferry, Jan. 1, 1862.

An oflBcial report by Col. Fenton to Gen. Stevens, embracing

an account of that engagement, is here given

:

"Headquarters Eighth Michigan Regiment,

"Mainla.vd, Port Royal Ferrv, Jan. 1, 1862.

" Brig.-Gen. Stevens : Sir,—I have the honor to re-

port that in compliance with your order this regiment was

safely landed at the Adams House on the mainland, having

effected the crossing iu flatboats from Biickyard Point,

Port Royal Island, and took up its Jine of march towards

the enemy's battery at this place at one o'clock P.M. On
our approach towards the ferry we were ordered to attack

(as skirmishers) a masked battery which opened fire on us

from the right. I immediately detached the first two and

tenth companies, and directed their march to the left and

front on the battery, which was followed by four additional

companies to the right and front. The fire of the battery

with shells continued on our lines until the skirmishere

reached the right, when it was turned on them, and on

their approach right, left, and front to within fifty to one

hundred yards of the enemy's position, a fire of musketry

was opened upon them. The force of the enemy, as well

as the battery, was concealed to a considerable extent by

trees, brush, and underwood, but appeared to consist of two

mounted howitzers, supported by a regiment or more of in-

fantry and some cavalry. The skirmishers were measurably

protected by underbrush and furrows, and continued their

fire upon the enemy, which was returned by volleys of mus-

ketry and shells from the battery. Our fire was well di-

rected, and seemed to be eflFective. One mounted ofiBcer

who seemed to be very active, was seen to fall from his

horse, at which the troops on the enemy's right were

thrown into confusion. Their position seemed to be

changing to the rear, and as our skirmishers were called

ofi" and the regiment formed iu Hue the enemy's fire ceased.

The regiment was then marched to its position in line of

battle in rear of the fort at this point.

" Lieut.-Col. Graves led the left and Maj. Watson the

right of the skirmishers. The major, in leading on the

line, received a severe fiesh wound in the leg. I have to

report that officers and men behaved with admirable bravery

and coolness. The loss of the enemy from the well-directed

fire of our skirmishers cannot be less than forty. Our loss

is seven wounded, two missing. A list is appended. I have

the honor to be, very respectl'ully, your obedient servant,

" Wii. M. Fenton,
" CoL Eighth Michigan Regiment."

Of the three companies which made the attack, Capt.

Pratt's company (" B," known in the regiment as the

" Clinton Boys") had the right of the line. The left of

this company was joined by the right of " A" company,

and the left of the line was held by Company K. The

afi'air of Port Royal Ferry, although not a great battle,

was extremely trying to the qualities of raw troops, as

they then were, but they went through it with the same

cool and admirable bravery which they afterwards exhibited

on many bloodier fields. Capt. Pratt's company sustained

no loss in killed, but it had a number wounded, amon"
whom were James Dodge, L. L. Warner, Henry 0. Brown,

Frederick Miller, and Amos Wetherby, acting orderly-

sergeant.

During the months of January, February, and March
the regiment was employed in drill and picket duty, but

always ready to respond to marching orders, which were

constantly expected, and were finally received on the 9th

of April, when the Eighth left Beaufort and moved to
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Tybee Island, Ga., where it was reported to Gen. Q. A.

Gillmore, commanding tlie operations against Savannah. It

was present (but not engaged) at the bombardment of Fort

I'ulaski, on the 10th and 11th, as also at the surrender of

that formidable work.

On the 16th of April seven companies of the regiment,

each about forty strong, and including the Clinton and

Shiawassee companies,—B and I,—wore detailed, with

a detachment of Rhode Island artillery, as an escort

to Lieut. C. H. Wilson, chief of the topographical engi-

neers. Department of the South, to make a reconnoissance

of Wilmington Island, with a view to the erection of forti-

fications upon it if found practicable. The force was em-

barked on the steamer " Honduras," and moved to the

place designated, where it landed and proceeded to the

execution of the duty assigned. This resulted in an en-

gagement with a force of the enemy, consisting of the 1.3th

Georgia, " Oglethorpe Light Infantry," and the " Altamaha

Scouts," in all about eight hundred strong. A detailed

account of this movement and battle is given in Col. Fen-

ton's official report, of which the following is a copy :

" IIkadquarters Eighth Regiment Mich. Vols.

**0n board the steamer ' Honduras,' off Wilmington rolimd,

Ga., April 16, 1S62,—eleven p.m.

" Lieut. W. L. M. BuROEa, Acting Aasistant Adjn/iiul-

Gviicral.

"Sir,—I have the honor to report, for the information

of the general commanding, that in compliance with Special

Orders No. 41, I embarked with seven companies of the

Eighth Michigan Regiment, as an escort to Lieut. C. H.

Wilson, Topographical Engineer, on a reconnoissance oflF

Wilmington Island. Two companies were landed at Scri-

veii'.s plantation under command of Capt. Pratt, with orders

from Lieut. Wilson to skirt Turner's Creek. The other

five companies were landed at Gibson's plantation. Two

of those companies were ordered to skirt Turner's Creek.

A third was to take the road to the right, towards the ferry

at Canan's Hluff, to protect the boat party up Oatland

Creek. Owing to the small number of boats, and the dis-

tance from the steamer, which was aground, sonic delay

occurred in the disembarkation. I directed Licut.-Col.

Graves to follow with the second company to skirt Turner's

Creek ; but he by misdirection took the road to the right,

towards Canan's Bluff, and on landing with the remaining

companies, I received information from him that the enemy

were in force at Flatwood's plantation, and to the left of

the road. This made the reconnoissance with boats unsafe,

anil I ordered the companies all in and stationed the re-

maining companies to guard against an attack at our land-

ing, and sc;nt out strong pickets on both roads. I believe

the advance of the company to the right, instead of along

Turner's Creek, saved my command, as it sooner enabled

me to post the men to advantage, and take a position from

which the enemy's approach could be observed. The enemy

apjieared to be the Georgia Thirteenth, about eight hundred

strong, armed with Enfield rifles. As they approached,

about four p.m., with a strong body of .skiniiishers in the

skirt of woods below the road, the companies to tlie right

and left of the road, in accordance with my in.structions.

opened fire. I immediately sounded the charge for an ad-

vance of the companies in the rear of the first line; but

the first line misunderstanding the signal, fell back to the

next company. A constant and effective fire was kept up

on both sides from the cover of the trees and bushes.

Lieut. Wilson, who had returned with the boat's party,

here proved of great service to me, and took a party, at

my request, to the left. I ordered a company to the right,

to flank the enemy. Both operations were successful, and

in a few moments the enemy retreated in confusion, leaving

several dead on the field, and followed by our men with

loud cheers. It being now about sunset, I recalled our

troops, and giving to Lieut. Wilson the command of pickets

stationed to guard against surprise, formed the companies

into line as originally posted, sent the dead and wounded

in boats to the ship, and gradually and very quietly, under

cover of darknes.s, withdrawing the men, sent them on

board as fast as our limited transportation would allow.

At the last trip of the boat I embarked, accompanied by

Lieut. Wilson, Lieut.-Col. Graves, and the remainder of

the command, at about ten o'clock p.m., and immediately

brought on board the two companies left at Seriven's plan-

tation. After the enemy retreated we were unmolested.

It is due to the officers and men of the command to say

that generally they behaved with cool and intrepid courage.

Adj. Pratt fell dead near my side, gallantly fighting, musket

in hand, and cheering on the men. Our loss, I regret to

say, was comparatively large,—ten killed and thirty-five

wounded, out of a command of three hundred men.

Among the wounded was Acting Lieut. Badger, of Com-

pany C, who was in charge of the advanced picket, and

exhibited undaunted courage. He, with one of his men,

was taken prisoner. Both escaped and were brought in

when the enemy retreated. The captain of the ' Honduras'

is deserving of great credit for his kind attention to the

wounded, and he afforded us every facility for the comfort

of officers and men in his power. I respectfully refer you

to Lieut. Wilson's report, which I have seen, which con-

tains some facts not embraced in this report ; among others,

in relation to the men detailed in charge of the field-piece

on board ship, who were vigilant and attentive. Ilerewilh

I transmit a list of casutilties.

" I am, very respectfully, your obedient serv.int,

" \\'ii,i.i.\M M. Fento.n, Col. Commanding."

The jiart of Lieut. Wilson's report to which Col. Fcnton

alluded as having reference to the detachment in charge of

the field-piece was as follows :
" Lieut. Caldwell and sixteen

men of the Rhode Island volunteers, with one light six-

pounder, were left in charge of the steamer. The gun

could not be handled on account of the inability of the

boat to lie alongside the landing. . . . Alk>r holding the

ground for three hours the entire force wius (piietly em-

barked without further accident, though it must be con-

fessed that had the enemy renewed his attack while wc

were embarking wo should iiave sutTcrod great loss. Our

five small boats could not move inun' than fifty men every

thirty minutes, and the sleaincr lay in such a ]iosition that

the six-pounder could not be brought to bear without jeop-

ardizing the lives of our own peojile."
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From Wilmington Island tlie command returned to Beau-

fort, and the first knowledge which Gen. Stevens had of

the battle of the 16th was conveyed by the arrival of the

dead and wounded from that field. The dead were buried

with all military honors, the entire brigade attending their

funeral.

During the month of May the Eighth was engaged on

picket duty and other similar service, on Port Royal Island.

On the 2d of June it moved thence to Stono River, S. C,

to relieve the Twenty-eighth Massachusetts Regiment, on

picket on James Island, where the Eighth arrived on the

day following its departure from Port Royal. Here it was

attached to the First Brigade of the Second Division,

under Gen. Stevens ; the brigade being placed under com-

mand of Col. Fenton, and Lieut-Col. Graves succeeding to

the command of the regiment.

The battle of James Island (or Secessionville, as it is

frequently called) was fought on the 16lh of June. In it

the Eighth Michigan took a more prominent part, and suf-

fered more severely, than any other regiment, and its losses

here were, taking everything into consideration, more ter-

rible than it sustained on any other field during its long

and honorable career. Secessionville, the scene of the

battle, was described by Dr. J. C. Wilson, surgeon of the

Eighth Regiment, as " a village composed of a few houses

whose owners have seceded from them, situated on a narrow

neck of land jutting into the stream on the east side of

James Island, skirted by tidal marshes and swamps on

either side, and difficult of approach, except from the

westward, where is a rebel fort which commands this

entrance." The fort was a formidable earthwork, with a

parapet nine feet in height, surrounded by a broad ditch

seven feet deep, and protected by a broad and almost im-

penetrable abatis. The neck of dry land over which (alone)

it was approachable was barely two hundred yards in width,

and every inch of it could be swept at close range by can-

ister from the six heavy guns of the fort and by musketry

from its defenders. And it was over such ground, and to

the assault of such a work, that the troops of Stevens'

division moved forward at four o'clock in the morning of

that bloody and eventful IGth of June, 1862.

The attacking column was composed of Col. Fenton's

and Col. Leasure's brigades, the former composed of the

Eighth Michigan, Seventh Connecticut, and Twenty-eighth

Massachusetts Regiments, and the latter of the Forty-sixth

and Seventy-ninth New York and One Hundredth Penn-

sylvania, with four batteries of artillery,—in all thirty-

three hundred and thirty-seven men. The following account

of the battle was written by the correspondent of the Neio

York Tribune, then at James' Island, and published in that

paper immediately after the fight

:

" The advanced regiments were the Eighth Michigan,

the Seventy-ninth New York, and the Seventh Connecticut.

There is some confusion as to the order in which these

regiments came up to the fort ; it seems, however, from the

best information within reach that the glorious but unfor-

tunate Eighth Michigan was the first there, led by its gal-

lant Lieut.-Col. Graves. The immediate assault upon the

fort was not successful, and the cause of its failure, as is

usual in such cases, is difficult to determine. . . . It appears,

from the statenientsof some of the officers and men in these

regiments, that about one-half mile from the fort there was

a narrow pass through a hedge, and (he men were compelled

to pass through, a very few abreast, thus delaying their

advance. The Eighth Slichigan got through and pushed

on with great vigor up to the fort, which they assaulted

with a shout. They were met with a murderous fire from

the fort in front, and from flanking batteries. A few of

these brave men overcame all dangers and difficulties, and

rushing over the dead bodies" of their slaughtered comrades,

actually climbed into the fort ; but it was impossible for

them to maintain their ground there against the fearful

odds which opposed them, the men who should have sup-

ported them being delayed in passing through the hedge.

" The Eighth was obliged to fall back as the Seventy-

ninth New York came up, led by the brave Col. Morrison,

who mounted the walls of the fort and discharged all the

barrels of his revolver in the very faces of the enemy.

Wounded in the head, and unsupported, he was obliged to

retreat. About as far behind the Seventy-ninth as that

regiment was behind the Eighth Michigan came the Seventh

Connecticut, which made a spasmodic and almost indepen-

dent effort against the fort, but was obliged to fall back.

Thus the brave regiments which were intended to act in

concert as the advance went into the fight one at a time,

one repulsed and falling back as the other came up, thus

creating confusion, and rendering abortive the charge on

the fort at this time.

" The Eighth Michigan has been most unfortunate. For-

ward in every skirmish and battle, always in the advance,

it has lost a considerable number of its officers, and can now

scarcely number three hundred men. All these regiments

fought well, and piled their dead around the fort ; but it

was a terrible sacrifice and a vain one.

"The first, as has been said, to reach the fort were the

Michigan Eighth, and New York Seventy-ninth. This was

not the natural order, but the Seventy-ninth, hearing the

cheers of the Eighth, ran past the other regiments and

joined the Eighth as it reached the works. Both regiments

suffered terribly from the fire of the enemy as they ap-

proached,—the Eighth from grape and canister, the Sev-

enty-ninth from musketry, as the nature of their wounds

show. Badly shattered, and wholly exhausted from three-

fourths of a mile on the double-quick, many fell powerless

on reaching the works; while a few, in sufficiently good

condition, mounted the parapet, from which the enemy had

been driven by our sharp and effective fire, and called upon

the others to follow them.

" At about nine o'clock, which seemed to be the crisis of

the battle, and when the generals seemed to be consulting

whether they should again advance upon the fort, or retire,

the gunboats decided the question by opening a heavy can-

nonade in our rear, which, instead of telling upon the

rebels, threw their shot and shell into our own ranks. This

must have resulted from ignorance on their part as to our

precise position, owing to the rapid changes upon the field,

and in the intervening timber. The shells fell and burst

in the very midst of our men,—several exploding near

the commanding general and his staff. The effect of this
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unfortunate mistake was an order for the troops to retire,

wiiicli they did in perfect order, taking position on the old

picket-line."

In the Scottish American newspaper, of New York, there

appeared, a few days after the battle, a communication from

an officer of the Seventy-ninth Highlanders, in which the

gallantry of the Eighth at Secessionville is thus noticed :

" I should mention that the Eighth Michigan, small in

Dumber, but every man a hero, had been repulsed from tlie

fort, witli terrible loss, just as we advanced. The Michigan

men could not liave numbered four hundred when they ad-

vanced ; when they retired they had one hundred and

ninety killed and wounded. One company alone lost, I un-

derstand, no less than ninety-eight men. The ordeal through

which they had passed the Seventy-ninth were now experi-

encing. Shot down by unseen enemies, and without having

an opportunity of returning tlie fire witli any effect, the

men got discouraged, but remained stubbornly on the

ground until the order was given to retire,—an order, let

me say, which was only rendered necessary by the sliameful

fact that, notwithstanding the strong force within support-

ing distance, no support came. The fort was ours had we

received assistance, but it is a fact that cannot be gainsaid

that every man who fell around its ramparts belonged to the

Eighth Michigan and the Sevenly-iiinth New York,—the

two weakest regiments, in point of numbers, in the whole

force under command of Gen. Bcnham."

The Eighth llegiment went into the fight with a total

strength of five hundred and thirty-four officers and men,

and its loss in the assault was, according to the surgeon's

report, one hundred and forty-seven killed and wounded

and thirty-seven missing ; this being more than one-third

of the number engaged. The first report of its lo.ss made

it somewhat greater than this. Gen. Stevens, in his

" General Order No. 2G," dated James Island, S. C, June

18, 1802, mentioned the heroism of the Eighth Michigan,

as follows: " Parties from the leading regiments of the two

brigades, tlie Eightl; Michigan and Seventy-ninth High-

landers, mounted and were shot down on the parapet, offi-

cers and men. These two regiments especially covered

themselves with glory, and their fearful casualties show tiie

hot work in which they were engaged. Two-fifths of the

Eiglith Michigan and nearly one-quarter of the Seventy-

ninth Highlanders were down, either killed or wounded,

and all the remaining regiments had a large number of

casualties. ... In congratulating his comrades on their

heroic valor and constancy on that terrible field, the

commanding general of the division has not words to ex-

press his and your grief at the sacrifice that has been

made. Our best and truest men now sleep tiie sleep that

knows no waking. Their dead bodies lie on the enemy's

parapet."

Gen. Stevens' command evacuated James Island on the

5th of July, the Eighth Regiment being the last to leave,

as it had been the first in the advance. Moving to Hilton

Head, it embarked there July 13th, with the Seventy-ninth

New York, Twenty eigiith Massachu,sctts, Seventh Con-

necticut, and other regiments for Fortress Monroe, where

they arrived on the IGth, and landed at Newport News on

the following day. They knew they were destined to rcin-

8

force the Army of the Potomac after its disasters in the

Seven Days' fight, and they did not like the change, for

they preferred to remain in the South, where their laurels

had been won. The Kighth remained three weeks in camp
at Newport News, and during this time Col. Fcnton left for

Michigan to obtain recruits, and Lieut.-Col. Graves was

left in command of the regiment. The command left this

camp August 4th, and moving to the Rappaiianuock

River, took part in the campaign of Gen. Pope, fighting at

second Bull Run, August 2Uth and 150th, and at Chantilly,

September 1st, losing considerably in both engagements.

Soon after, it moved with the Ninth Army Corps (to

which it had been attached) into Maryland. It fought at

South Mountain, September 1-tth, losing thirteen, wounded,

and was again engaged in the great battle of Antietam,

September 17th. Early in that day it formed in line on

the right with its brigade, but about noon, when the battle

became general, it was ordered to the left, and took posses-

sion near the historic Stone Bridge. " A more terrific fire

than we here met with," wrote an officer of the regiment,

" it has not been my lot to witness. It equaled, if it did

not exceed, that of James Island. At first our men gained

ground and drove the enemy half a mile, but the battery

that covered our advance and answered to the enemy's in

front getting out of ammunition, together with the arrival

of a fresh rebel brigade from Harper's Ferry, flanking our

position and bringing our men under a cro.ss-firc, changed

the fortunes of the day in their favor, and when night

closed upon the scene of carnage the enemy reoccupied the

ground wrested from them at such fearful sacrifice in the

afternoon." Tlie bridge, however, was not retaken by the

enemy, and, although the Union forces had been driven

back here on the left, the advantage remained with them

on other parts of the field. The battle was not renewed to

any extent on the following day, and the enemy, while

keeping up tlie appearance of a strong line in front, re-

treated from his position to the Potomac, preparatory to

crossing back into Virginia.

The loss of the Eighth at Antietam was twenty seven

killed and wounded,—a loss which appears quite .severe

when it is remembeivd that the regiment went into action

with considerably less than two hundred men, having been

reduced not only by its terrible los.ses in previous battles,

but also by discharges ; more than two hundred and fitly

men being discharged from the Kighth in the year 1S()2,

of whom just one hundred enlisted in the regular army.

The places of these were being filled to .some extent by re-

cruits, of whom a number joined the regiment the day

before Antietam ; and it was said of them that, although

they had never before heard a hostile gun, they endured

the terrible initiation of that day with almost the steadiness

of veterans.

For about a month after the battle the regiment re-

mained in Maryland, a short time in the vicinity of An-

tietam, and a longer time in Plea.sint Valley. On the 2(ilh

of October it marched to Wovcrton, and thence to Ber-

lin, Md., where it crossed the Potomac on pontoons into

Virginia. It passed through Ijovettsville, Walerford,

Slack's Mills, Rectortown, and Salem, to Waterloo, where,

on I lie 11th of November, it received the announcement of
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Gen. Burnside's promotion to the command of the army.

On the 15th it was at Sulphur Springs, and moved thence,

by way of Fayetteville and Bealton Station, to a camp

about ten miles east of the latter place, where was read the

order forming the "right grand division" of the army, by

uniting the Second and Ninth Corps, under command of

Gen. E. V. Sumner. On the 18th the regiment marched,

leading the brigade, to Falmouth, opposite Fredericksburg,

where the army was rapidly concentrating. Here it re-

mained (a part of it acting as provost-guard of the division)

until the 12th of December, when it crossed the Rappa-

hannock to Fredericksburg, but was not engaged in the

great battle of the 13th. It recrossed on the 15th, and re-

mained at Falmouth until Feb. IS, 1863, when it moved

with the Ninth Corps (which had been detaclied from the

Army of the Potomac) to Newport News, Va., and there

camped, evidently waiting ordere for a further movement,

which the oiEcers and men hoped might take them back to

the department of the South.

On the 20th of March the Eighth Regiment, being again

under marching orders, embarked at Newport News, on the

steamer "Georgia," preparatory to the commencement of the

long series of movements and marches in the Southwest

which afterwards gave it the name of " the wandering regi-

ment of Michigan." It left Newport News on the 21st,

arrived at Baltimore on the 22d, and proceeded thence by

the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad to Parkersburg, W. Va.,

reaching there on the 24th, and embarking on the steamer

" Majestic" for Louisville, Ky., where it arrived at noon on

Thursday the 26th. At that time it was brigaded with the

Second, Seventeenth, and Twentieth Michigan Regiments,

under Brig.-Gcn. Orlando M. Poe (formerly colonel of the

Second), as brigade commander ; this being the First

Brigade, First Division, Ninth Army Corps. This corps

(then a part of the Army of the Ohio) had for its im-

mediate mission in Kentucky to observe and hold in check

the forces of the guerrilla chief, John Morgan, who, at

that time, seemed to be omnipresent in all that region, and

whose movements were giving the government no little

trouble and alarm.

The Eighth moved by railroad from Louisville on the

28th, proceeded to Lebanon, Ky., and remained stationed

there and at Green River Ford, Ky., for some weeks.

While the command lay at Lebanon there was issued the

first number of a paper entitled The Wolverine, which was

announced as " published by members of the Eighth Michi-

gan Infantry, and will be issued as often as circumstances

will permit." How many numbers of this journal were

ever published is not known.

About the 1st of June the Ninth Corps, which had been

scattered in detachments at various points in Kentucky,

was ordered to move to Mississippi to reinforce the army of

Gen. Grant, then operating against Vicksburg. The Eighth

Regiment moved with the corps, going to Cairo, 111., by

rail, and then embarking on boats on the Mississippi River,

was transported to Hayncs' Bluff, Miss. From there it

moved to Milldale, Miss., and remained there and at Flower

Dale Church, near Vicksburg, until the operations against

that stronghold ended in its capitulation, July -Ith. Then

it moved with the corps towards .Jackson, Miss., in pursuit

of the army of Johnston, who had been hovering in Gen.

Grant's rear, attempting to raise the siege of Vicksburg.

In the several engagements which occurred from the lOth

to the 16th of July the Eighth participated, but suffered

little loss; and after the evacuation of Jackson, on the 16th,

it returned to its former camp at Milldale, remaining there

till August 6th, when it again took boat on the Mississippi

and moved north with the corps. It reached Memphis in

the night of tlie 11th, and passed on to Cairo and thence

to Cincinnati, where it arrived on the 18th, and, crossing

the river, camped at Covington, Ky. From Covington it

moved by way of Nicholasville to Crab Orchard, Ky.,

reaching there August 27th, and remaining there in camp

two weeks. On the 10th of September it was again on

the march, and moved by way of Cumberland Gap to Knox-

ville, Tenn., reaching there on the 26th.

The Eighth was slightly engaged with the enemy at Blue

Springs, October 10th, and, after considerable marching and

countermarching, went into camp, October 29th, at Lenoir

Station, where it remained until November 14th. It was

then, with its division, ordered to Huff's Ferry, on the

Holston River, to check the advance of Longstreet, who

was reported moving up from Georgia towards Knoxville.

He was found in strong force, and the Union troops retired

before him, and passing back through Lenoir, continued

the retreat to Knoxville. Being hard pressed, however, a

stand was made at Campbell's Station on the 16th, and a

battle ensued, lasting from about one P.M. until dark, and

resulting in a loss to the P]ighth of eleven wounded. Du-

ring the night the retreat was continued, and the regiment

reached Knoxville in the morning of the 17th, after an

almost continuous march of two days and three nights, in-

cluding a battle of several hours' duration, moving over the

worst of roads though mud and rain, and with less than

quarter rations.

Then followed the siege of Knoxville by Longstreet,

which continued eighteen days, during all of which time

the regiment occupied the front line of works. On Sunday,

November 29th, two veteran Georgia brigades, belonging to

McLaws' rebel division, made a furious a.ssault on Fort

Saunders (one of the works in the line of fortifications in-

closing Knoxville), and were repulsed and driven back with

a loss of nearly eight hundred men, the Eighth Michigan

being one of the regiments which received and repelled the

assault.

In the night of the 4th and 5th of December the enemy

withdrew from Knoxville. The Eighth took part in the

pursuit, but with no results, and on the 16th it encamped

at Blain's Cross-Roads. This proved to be the last camp

which it occupied for any considerable length of time in

Tennessee. It remained here about three weeks, during

which time three hundred of its members re-enlisted as

veterans. On the 8th of January, 1864, the veteranized

command, under orders to report at Detroit, left its camp

and took the road across the Cumberland Mountains for the

railroad at Nicholasville, Ky., nearly two hundred miles dis-

tant. It reached that place in ten days, having made an

average of nearly twenty miles a day, over miserable roads,

and through the ice and snow of the mountain passes.

From Nicholasville the men went by rail to Detroit, reach-
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inj; there January 25th. At tlie end of their furlough,

March Stli, tlicy left fur the front, and proceeded to Annap-

olis, Md., where they rejoined the Ninth Corps, which had

in the mean time heen ordered from Tennessee, to reinforce

the Army of the Potomac.

On tiie 23d of April the Eighth moved by way of Wash-

ington acru-s" the Potomac to Warrenton Junolion. When

the .spring campaign opened it moved (May 4tii) witli th.e

army, crossed the Rapidan on the 5th, and on tiie following

day was hotly engaged in the Wilderness, losing ninety-nine

in killed, wounded, and missing. On the 12th it took

part in the assault on the enemy's intrenchments at Spott-

sylvania Court-House, losing forty-nine officers and men in

the bloody work of that day. During the fight the corps

commander. Gen. Burnside, rode up, and called out to the

regiment, " Boys, you must support this battery and hold

the hill at all hazards, for it is the key to our safety!" A
moment later he inquired what regiment it was, and Col.

Ely informed him. "Ah,'" returned the general, "the

Eighth Michigan ! I know you. You'll hold it !" and

rode away.

The regiment crossed the Pamunkey River May 28th,

and moved towards Bethesda Church, where, in the battle

of June 3d, it gallantly charged and carried the enemy's

rifle-pits, sustaining a loss of fifty-nine killed, wounded, and

missing. On the 12th it was encamped near Mechanics-

ville, Va. The next day it crossed the Chickahoniiny, and

on the 14th cro.sscd the James River, from which point it

moved by a forced march to the front of Petersburg, ar-

riving there in the evening of the IGtli. On the 17th and

18th it took part in the attacks on the enemy's works, losing

forty-nine killed and wounded. For six weeks after that

time it was constantly employed on the fortifications, under

fire. In the fight at the " Crater," .July 3Uth, it was en-

gaged, losing thirteen killed and wounded. Soon after it

moved to the Weldon Railroad, and fought there in the

action of August I'Jth, losing thirty in killed, wounded,

and missing. It was again engaged, with but slight loss,

on the 21st; and on the 30tli it took part in the battle of

Poplar Grove Church, losing eight wounded.

The Kighth remained near Peebles' farm engaged in for-

tifying and picket duty till November 2'.lth, when it moved

again to a position before Petersburg. The strength of the

regiment at that time was only about three hundred men

fit for duty. It assisted in repulsing the enemy in his at-

tack on Fort Steadman, March 25, 18G5, and on the 2d

of April it was engaged in the attack on Fort Mahon, as-

sisting in carrying the work, and being the first regiment to

place its colors on the hostile ramparts. The next day it

marched into Petersburg. After this it was employed on

guard duty on the South Side Railroad till the 20lh, when

it marched to City Point, and on the following day em-

barked on transports and proceeded to Alexandria, Va.,

from which jilace it moved to Tenallytown on the 2()th. It

moved into the city of Wiushington May 9tli, an<l was ihiMe

engaged in guard and patrol duty until July 30, 18()5,

when it was mustered out of the service. It left Wa.shington

on the 1st of August, and on the ."id arrived at Detroit,

where it was paid off and disbanded, and the survivc^rs of

the " Wauderin'' Rejrimentof Michigan" returned to their

homes. During its existence the Eighth Regiment had

moved more than seven thousand miles by land and by sea
;

more than nineteen hundred men had marched in its ranks,

and it had been engaged in thirty-seven battles and skir-

mishes in seven different States of the Union.

OFFICERS AND MEN OF TIIE EIGHTH FROM CLINTON COUNTV.

CompaHij U.

Capt. Win. Ely Lewis, St. Jolin's; com. April 1, 1802 ; lut llcut., Aug. 1, 1801

;

pro. to miy. Murcli 12, ISC^J; killetl iti action at Cold Uartfor, Vh., June 3,

1804.

Capt. Robt. O. Hittcliinson, St. John's; com. Hnrch 13,1863; Igt llout., May 14,

1862; died of dispnso at Detroit, Jan. 2, 186.5.

Capt. Jiimea P. Dodge, SI. John's; com. Jan. 2,1865; 1st llent., Co. G, Oct. 27,

1804; must, out July 3(l, 1803.

2d Lieut. Sauil. A. Ituidwiti, Watertowu ; com. July 6, 1864; pro. Ut capt., Co.

E, Nov. 9, 18G4.

Sergt Jas. Tntvis, St. Joliu's; diiK;h. for disability, Dec. 2, 1801.

Sergt. Clias. V. Smith, St. John's: pro. to 2J lieut., Co. K, Jlay 14, 1862.

Sergt. Jas. 1", Dodge, St. John's; velerau, eul. Dec. 20, 1803; pro. to 2d lieut.,

July !•), 18B4.

Corp. Wm. H. Smith, St. John'* ; eul. Aug. 12, 1861 ; disch. Oct. 29, 1862.

Corp. Chas. F. Valleau, St. John's; eul. Aug. 13, 1861 ; died of disease at Wash-
ington, Oct. 20, 1801.

Corp. M. J. Morton, St, John's; eul. Aug. 15,1801 ; died of disease in Mississippi,

July 30, ISOl.

Corp. Tompkins Dunhip, St. John's ; enl. Aug. 15, 1801 ; disch. for disability,

March 3, ISO i.

Wagoner Moses Brown, St. John's; enl. Aug. 12, 1861 ; disch. at end of service,

Sept. 22, 1SG4.

Joshua AUlricli, disch. to enl. in regular army, Oct. 28, 1862.

Jolin Austin, disch. Oct. 31, 1S02.

Benj. F. Brown, disch. (or disability, Nov. 29, 1802.

Frederick Buike, died of disease, Dec. 2, 1801.

Chas, E. Blauchard, died of disease, April ii, 1802.

Albert M. Bennett, died of disease at Baltimore, Md , March 21, 1863.

Darrell Brewer, died of diseiise at Leltauon, Ky., .April 10, 1803.

Clark C. Brewer, died of disease in Michigan, Fob. 17, 1864.

Henry A. Brown, died in battle at Spottsylvania, May 12, 1804.

Henry O. Brown, disch. for .lisability, Feb. 9, 1803.

Wni. II. Brown, disch. at end of service, Sept. 22, 1804.

Marshall B.ichelder, disch. at end of service, Sept. 22, 1804.

John K. Brooks, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 1803; must, out July 5, I8C5.

Saiiforil linker, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 18&t; disch. by order, June 13, 1865.

]tj(us(un A. Brooks, veteran, enl. Feb. 17, 1804; disch. by order, Juno 20, 1865.

Sheldon Crowell, died in action at Antictam, Md., Sept. 17, 1^02.

Wui. A. Dntton, died in action at Cold Harbor, Va., June 3, 1864.

Henry W. Davenjtort, died ot disease at Washington, March 30, 1863.

Enoch Doty, disch. Feb. 19, 1803.

Franklin I)i>ly, disch. for disability, April 11, 1803.

Don A. Dcily, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 1863; must, out July 30, 1865.

Sanil. Dilliughani, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps; disch. at end of service, Sel't. 22,

1K04.

Leroy M. Dodge, died at James Island, S. C, Juno 10, 1802.

Jeremiah Dooliug, unist. out July 30, 1865.

David Forest, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 1803; disch. for disability, Aug. 17, l.***.

Marchus M. Face, disch. at end of service, Sept. 22, 1804.

Hiram (Gardner, Greenbush ; died of tlisease at I'ort Royal, Nov. 17, 1861.

Willett S. Ilreeii, died ol' disease at Millikeii's Ueiid, La , June 22, 1863.

Francis F. Oleasoii, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 1803; must, out July 30, 1805.

Win. J. llildielh, must, out July 30, 1805.

Mori is 11 Hill, velemn, enl. Dec. 29, 1803; disch. by onler, June 13, 1865.

Will. J. lialuniond, disch. by order, June 9, 1805.

James M. iiilnes, died of disease at Annapolis, Md., March 27, 1864.

Lester E. Jewetl, disch. to enl. in regular army, Oct. '.f7, 1802.

Chas. Kelly, disch. for disability, Dec. 9, 1802.

Will. Kelly, died ill action at lllne Springs, Tenn., Oct. 1», 1803.

John J. Knilllii, veteran, eul. Dec. 29, 1803; musL out July 30, 1809.

Eiios H. Klmniel, must, out July 30,1865.

Geo. W. Lewis, died of disease at Anna)Kdis, Md., April 9, 1804.

John M. Look, disch. at enil of service, Sept. 22, 1804.

Jose|>li Miller, disch. to enl. In regular urniy, (Xl. '29, 1802.

Miles .ManslUdd, diacll. for disability, Oct. 24, 1862.

Sanil. McVeigh, disch. lor dliuibllOy, l>ct. 2.i, 1802.

llonice .Mosier, disch. by onler, Juno 15, 1805.

Frederick Miller, disch. at end of service, Sept. 22, 1804.

, Geo. .McVeigh, died 111 aclioii al James Island, .<. I'., June 10, 1862.

Hal rod Morton, died In a<:llon al JauH<s Island, S. C., June 10, 1862.

David Mayliew, vi'lenin, enl. Dec, '29, 180:t; died of disi«we tl Nashville, Tenn.,

March 7, 1864.

James Morrison, must, out July :I0, 1861.

Cliai les Myselt, nillal. out July 30, I8ll.'i.

Charles Marsled, must, nut July 30, 1805.

Charles Otis, tnins. lo Vet. lies. Cor|>«, Jan. 15, 1804.
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Andrew Post, Jisch. for disaliility, Aug. 20. 1802.

Darius Pictell, discli. for disiibility, Feb. 16, 1863.

Chiis. T>. Putnam, discb. at end of service, Oct. 19, 1864.

James L. Patterson, discb. by order, June 5, 1805.

Wm. S. Seaver, disch. by order, April 12, 1SG5.

Wm. H. Sage, disch. by order, June 1, 1865.

Wm. H. Smith, disliargod Oct. 31, 1862.

Andrew J. Smith, disch. for disability, Nov. 29, 1862.

Josejih Silvers, disch. for disabiUty, Jan. 15, 1863.

Frederick Schwarz, disch. at end of service, Sept. 22, 1864.

George P. Steadman, disch. at end of service, Sept. 22, 1864.

Samuel Strickland, died of disease, Dec. 15, 1S61.

Wm. J. Strickland, died in action at James Island, S. C, Jnne 16, 1862.

Myron Tracy, died of disease, April 26, 1862.

John D. Thomas, died in action at James Island, S. C, June 16, 1862.

Homer Terwilliger, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, lS6:i ; di=ch. by order, Jnne 13, 1SG5.

Amos Weatherly, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 1863 ; must, out July 30, 1S65.

Compmvj C.

Capt. Chas. F. Smith, St. John's ; com. May 27, 1863 ; dii^ch. at end of service,

Oct 18, 1804.

Ist Lieut. Simon McLauj^hlin, St. John's ; com. Sept. 28, 1864 ; must, out July

30, 1865.

Darius C. Wait, died of disease at Bcanrort, S. C, Dec. 28, ISGl.

Ephraim Brown, St. John's.

Company E.

Capt. Samuel A. Baldwin, Watertnwn; com. Nov. 9, 1864, 2d lieut.Co. B , sergt.

Co. E; must, out July 30, 1865.

1st Lieut. Timothy L. Baldwin, Walertown ; com. April 25, 18G5, sergt. Co. E

;

must, out July 30, 18Go.

Thos. T. Davenport, died in action at Wilderness, May 6, 1SC4.

Kenneth F. Morse, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Jan. 15, 1SG4.

Marcus L. McCrum, must, out July 30, 18t>5.

Company G.

l8t Lieut. Jas. P. Dodge, St. John's; com. Oct. 1, 1864 ; 2d lieut., July 5, 18G4;

pro. capt. and must, out July 30, 1865.

Company H.

Luther J. Winter, disch. by order, Jnne 1, 1865.

Company I.

Chas. HiUireth, disch. for disability, Dec. 9, 1862.

Company K.

1st Lieut. Chas. F. Smith, St. John's; com. Nov. 1, 1862; 2d lieut. May 14,1802;

pro. capt. C^. C.

OFFICERS AND MEN OF THE EIGHTH FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Company A.

Elisha Bird, died of wounds, Oct. 2i, 1861.

John Mincbin, died in action at Weldon Railroad, Va., Aug. 19, 1864.

Albert Marten, must, out July 30, 1805.

Company E.

Charles Brott, disch. for disability, April 27, 18G5.

Company F.

1st Lieut. Oscar P. Hendee, Corunna ; com. April 25, 1865; 2d lieut. May 6,

1864 ; must, out July 30, 1805.

William S. Close, di&ch. for promotion in 29th, Nov. 17, 1864.

Joseph L. Hoyt, died of disease at Washington, D. C.

Edwin Wliitiiey, must, out July 30, 1805.

Melancthon E. Whitney, must, out July 30, 1805.

Company G.

Smith DouMeday, died near Petersburg, Va., Jnne 25,1864.

Company H.

Ist Lieut. John R. Dougherty, Shiawassee; com. April 25,1801 ; must, out July

30, 1865.
Company J.

Capt. Jay L. Qnackenbush,Owoes<> ; com. Sept. 5, 1861 ; resigned March 3,1862,

let Lieut. Albert Bainbridi;e, Byron ; com. Sept. 5, 1861; resigned April 7,1862.

1st Lieut. Bartley Siegel, Shiawassee; com. May 1,1865; must, out July 30,

1805.

Sergt. Wm. R.Smith, Owosso; enl. Sept. 7, 1861; disch. for disability, April 21,

1803.

Sergt. Bartley Siegel, enl. St-pt. 10, 1861 ; veteran, Feb. 17, '63
;
pro. to 1st lieut.

Sergt. John I. Knoop, Byron ; eul. Sept. 9, 1861 ; disch. for disability, April 21,

1863.

Sergt. Cyrus H Roys, Byron; enl. Sept. 10, 1801; died of disease at Washing-

ton, Feb. 10, 1863.

Corp. Geo. W. Love, Owosso; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; disch. Oct. 22, 1862.

Corp. Edwin Ayres, Owosso; cnl. Sept. 16, 1861; died in action in Georgia,

April IG, 1862.

Corp. D. H. Williams, Vernon ; enl. Sept. 9,1801 ; disch. for disability, Sept. 28,

1862.

Musn. Judson A. Clough, Shiawassee; enl. Sept. 2, 1801; discb. at end of

service, Sept. 22, 1804.

Joseph Ames, dit-ch. at end of service, Sept. 22, 1864.

David N. Arthur, veteran, enl. Jan. 15, 1864.

Alonzo Batchidder, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 1863; must, out July 30, 1805.

John K. Bunting, disch. for disability, April 10, 1802.

Henry Brown, disch. for disability, Oct. 18, 1801.

James W. Bronson, disch. for disability, Jan. 20. 1863.

Albert Biltner, disch. at end of service, Sept. 22, 1864.

Frederick T. B^ntly, died near Petersburg, Va., July 31, 1804.

Peter F. Camus, disch. Feb. 3, 1863.

George F. Camus, died of wounds, June 20, 1862.

Samuel B Corsons, died of disease at Hilton Head, S. C, Nov. 17, 1861.

Horace L. Clark, died of disease at Crab Orchard, Aug. 30, 1863.

Thomius F. Clark, must, out July 3(t, 1865.

Oscar I. Card, disch. for disability, Feb. 13, 1802.

Wni. H. Carr, disch. for disability, Feb. 13, 1862.

Philip W. Colman, disch. for disability, Oct. 15, 1862.

Wm. H. H. Chase, disch. for disability, March 6, 1803.

Benjiimiti Dutcber, disch. for disability, Feb. 13, 1862.

William Deniond, disch. to enlist in regular service, Oct. 27, 1862.

Charles Desoness, disch. by order.

Martin Decker, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 1803 ; died of disease in Michigan, March

17, 1S64.

Gridson M. Dutcher, died of disease at Newport Nexvs, March 7, 1863.

Juhii W. Eckman, disch. for disability, Feb. 13, 1802.

Charles Freeman, discb. for disability, Dec. 9, 1802.

Willi.TUi Fieimaii, died of disease, Oct. 2i, 1801.

It'iyiil I). Hendee, missing in action at James Island, July 16, 1862.

Oscar P. Heiidi-e, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 1803.

Henry House, mu.st. out Jul)" .30, 1805.

Jacob HnbbanJ, disch. for disability, Feb. 13, 1862.

Rtjuben Hydom, disch. for disability, June 29^ 1863.

George W. Jewell, disch. for disability, Aug. 19, 1862.

Adonijah Jewell, disch. to enlist in regular service.

Frederick Knrrle, disch. at end of service, Sept. 22, 1861.

Jacob M. Klingingsmith, disch. for disability, Oct. 9, 1861.

Francis S. Lum, disch. for disability, Oct. 29, 1862.

Wm. W. Lemnnyon, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 180^1.

John B. Maihewson, disch. at end uf service, Feb. 6, 1865.

Henry McClelien, disch. to enlist in regular service, Sept. 22, 1802.

AsTO Miller, died of disease at Clark's Plantation, Miss., July 21, 1803.

George W. McComb, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 1863; died near Petersburg, Va.,

Aug. 21, 180+.

Alpheus Ott, veteran, enl. Dec. 29,1863 ; disch. for disability, Feb. 7, 1865.

Edward Ogden, discb. at end of service, Sept. 22, 18G4.

John W. I'nuidle, diach. at end of service, Sept. 19, 1864.

George W. Porter, di>ch. lor disability, Feb. 22, 1862.

Wm. R. Punches, died of disease at Annapolis, Md., March 29, 1864.

Walter S. Ryness, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 1863 ; disch. by order, July 28, 1865.

John Sh'Mutz, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 186:i; must, out July 30, 1865.

Hiram Spear, veteran, enl. Dec. 29, 1863; must, out July 30, 1866.

Bartley Seigel, veteran, enl. Feb. 17, 1864; must, out July 30, 1865.

William Shissler, died of wounds, Sept. 7, 1862.

Benjamin O. Simons, disch. Feb. 15, 1862.

Dewitt Titus, disch. for disability, Sept. 1, 1862.

William Turner, disch. for disability, Oct. 15, 1862.

Wm. H. Wuod, disch. for di>ability, Sept. 28, 1862.

Francis Whilmure, disch. at end of service, Sept. 22, 1864.

Benjamin L. Washbourne, died in action at James Island, July 10, 1862.

Simon Wolf, veteran, enl. Dec. 2'J, 1863; died at Hanover Town, Va., May 31,

1864.

Charles W. Young, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Company K.

John Emery, must, out July 30, 1865.

CHAPTER VIII.

NINTH INFANTRY.

Organization of the Ninth—Service in Kentucky—Battle and Dis-

aster at ilurfreesboro'—High Opinion of the Ninth expressed by

Gen. Thomas—Assignment of the Regiment to Duty at Army
Headquarters—A'eteran He-enlistment—The Kegiment on Duty at

Atlauta, Chattanooga, and Nashville—Cluster Out and Discharge.

The Ninth Infantry Regiment of Michigan wa.s raised

during the latter part of the summer and in the early au-

tumn of the year 1861. Its rendezvous was at Fort Wayne,

Detroit, where its organization was perfected, under the
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followinp; officers : William W. Duffield, Colonel ; John G.

Parkliurst, Liputonant-Colonel ; Dorus M. Fox, Major; Kn-

nis Cliurcli, Surireoii ; Cyrus Smith, Assistant Surgeon
;

James G. Portman, (Jhaplain ; Henry M. Duifield, Adju-

tant; Charles H. Irwin, Quartermaster.

In the ranks of the Ninth during its term of service

were more than one hundred men from Shiawassee, and

some from Clinton County. Those from Shiawassee were

principally in Capt. George K. Newcombe's company,

which was raised by him in August, 18til, and was known

during the period of its enlistment as the " Fremont

Guard." In the organization of the regiment this com-

pany was designed as Company F.

The regiment, having been armed with weapons of an

inferior class, was mustered into the United States service

lor three years, by Capt. II. R. Mizner, United States army,

at the rendezvous, October 23 and 25, IStil, and on the

last-named day left Detroit for the seat of war in the South-

west, being the first regiment from Michigan which entered

the field in the Western departments. It reached JefFer-

soDville, Ind., on the 27th, and on the following day was

moved by steamboat to Salt River, Ky. It was soon after

engaged in the construction of a defensive work on Mul-

draugh's Hill, and made its winter quarters in that vicinity.

During their stay at that place the men of the Ninth were

terribly afflicted with measles and other disorders, as many

as four hundred having been on the sick-list at one time.

Immediately after the fall of Fort Donelson, the regi-

ment was moved by transports from Salt River to Nashville,

Tenn., wliere it remained for some weeks ; then moved to

Murfreesboro', and was posted there from April to July, as

one of tlie chain of detachments which were placed to

guard the rear and communications of Gen. (). M. Mitchell,

in his advance on Huntsville, Ala. During that time it

formed part of the force with which Gen. Negley made a

demonstration against Chattanooga, reaching the north bank

of the Tennessee River, opposite the town. After that

expedition it was again stationed at Murfreesboro' and vi-

cinity, and on the 13th of July the six companies which

were at that place (the other four, under command of Maj.

Fox, being at Tullahomaj were attacked by a body of the

enemy's cavalry, three thou.sand five hundred strong, under

Gen. N. B. Forrest. Of tiiis battalion of the Ninth at

Murfreesboro' one company (B) forty-two strong, under

First Lieut. Wright, was quartered in the court-house, and

five companies were camped in a body in the northeastern

outskirts of the village on the Liberty turnpike,—all under

command of Lieut.-Col. Parkhur.st. Col. Duffield was pres-

ent, but not on duty, he having arrived in the evening of

the lltli, in company with Gen. Crittenden, on business

connected with the formation of a new brigade, of which

Col. Duffield was to have the command. 'J'he Third Min-

nesota Infantry Regiment (nine companies, four hundred

and fifty strong) was encamped on the bank of Stone River,

less than two miles to the northwest of the town, and with

it was Ilewett's (First Kentucky) Battery of four guns.

Forrest'.s attack on the camp of Ijieut.-Col. I'arkhurst's

battalion was made at four o'clock in the morning of Sun-

day, the l;!th of July. He had evidently expected tliat it

Would be a surprise, but such did not prove to be the case.

Col. Parkhurst had been warned of their approach, for

the noise made by fourteen thousand hoofs sounding on the

hard niaeadaniized roads was so great that the alarm was

given before the head of the rebel column reached the

picket line, a mile out of the town, so that, although they

came in at full speed, the Union force was prepared to

give them a very warm reception. The result was that

the first attack was successfully repelled, with considerable

loss to the enemy, who then withdrew and proceeded to

attack the company occupying the court-house. Upon the

withdrawal of the enemy from his front, Lieut.-Col. Park-

hurst at once dispatched a messenger to the colonel of the

Third Minnesota, at Stone River, informing him of the

situation, and asking him to come to his (Parkhurst's) as-

sistance. With this request the officer in question, for

what doubtless seemed to him good reasons, declined to

comply. It was believed that he might have done so with

good prospects of success, he having a comparatively large

force, including an efficient battery. Certainly any attempt

of Col. Parkhurst—with his little force of less than three

hundred men, including the company in the court-house,

and with no artillery—to effect a junction with the 3Iinne-

sotians, in the face of such an overwhelming body of the

enemy, would have been almost fool-hardy.

At the court-house the attacking party met a very warm

I'cception from the del'ending garrison, who held them at

bay for two long hours, and only yielded when they found

such a course inevitable, the enemy having gained posses-

sion of the lower story of the building and set fire to it to

compel the surrender. Immediately after their capture

they were sent to the rear, in the direction of McMinnville,

without an hour's delay, for the rebel commander believed

that his work might at any moment be interrupted by

Union reinforcements from either or all of the several de-

tachments posted at different points in the vicinity ; a very

natural supposition, which might easily have been verified.

From the siege of the court-house the enemy returned

to the attack of Col. Parkhur.st's position, which, during

the brief cessation of hostilities, had been strengthened by

such slight defen.ses as the men had been able to construct

in the short time, ami with the insufficient means and ma-

terials at their command. Slight as they were they af-

forded sonie shelter to the defending force, who, though

outnumbered more than ten to one by their as.sailantM,

fought with the most determined and persistent bravery

until ]iast noon, when, as it became evident that they need

look no longer for succor, and that further resistance was

useless, their leader submitted to the inevitable and sur-

rendered. During the eight iiours through which they hud

stood at bay their loss had been thirteen killed and eighty-

seven wounded. The enemy admitted that his own los,s

in killed alone had been thirty-five, and there is little doubt

that it was much beyond this figure. Atnong the cajitured

ollicers were Lieut.-Col. I'arkhurst and Capt. Mansfield.

The first was marched uway by the victorious rebels. Capt.

Mansfield beijig unable to endure the inarch was left be-

hind, paroled, as was also Col. Duflicld, who had been badly

wounded during the fight. His companion in his unfor-

tunate visit to the post—Gen. Crittenden—had also been

captured at the hotel in (he village, and was taken away
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with the other prisoners, to whose numbers was also added

the Minnesota regiment before mentioned, and the men and

officers of Hewett's Battery.

At McMinnville, Forrest paroled the enlisted men whom

he had captured, and they returned to Nashville, whence

they were sent to Camp Chase. He, however, retained the

officers and took them to Knoxville. Fijim there they

were sent to Atlanta, then to Madison, Ga., where they re-

mained for a considerable time, then to Columbia, S. C, to

Salisbury, N. C, and finally to Libby Prison, at Richmond,

where they were eventually paroled. Col. Parkhurst was

exchanged in December, 18G2. In the mean time the

portion of the regiment which had escaped capture at

Murfreesboro' had been engaged against the enemy at

Tyree Springs, Tenn., and at Munfordsville, Ky., about the

time of Gen. Buell's advance from Louisville to Perryville

and Bowling Green.

On the 24th of December, 18G2, Lieut.-Col Parkhurst,

then in command of the Ninth (Col. Duffield was perma-

nently disabled by the wounds received at Murfreesboro',

and resigned less than two months after that time), reported

for duty at the headquarters of Gen. Thomas, near Nash-

ville, and was assigned to duty as provost-marshal ; his

regiment (reorganized and with ranks refilled by the ex-

changed prisoners) being detailed as provost-guard of the

Fourteenth Corps. The remark was made by Gen. Thomas,

on the issuance of the order assigning it to that duty, that

he had fully acfiuainted himself with the history of the

part taken by the regiment in its defense of the post of

Murfreesboro' against Forrest, and that just .such a regi-

ment was what he needed at his headquarters.

The duty to which the Ninth was thus assigned was

performed by the regiment from that time until the expi-

ration of its term of service. For the manner in which it

performed the duties devolving on it at the battles of Stone

River and Chickamauga (particularly the former), Col.

Parkhurst and the regiment were warmly complimented by

Gen. Thomas. When that general assumed the chief com-

mand of the Army of the Cumberland, after Chickamauga,

Col. Parkhurst (who received his promotion to the colonelcy

Feb. G, 18G3) was made provost-marshal-geueral of the de-

paitment, and the Ninth became provost-guard at army

headquarters. In December, 1863, the regiment, to the

number of two hundred and twenty-nine, re-enlisted as a

veteran organization, received a veteran furlough, and re-

turned to Michigan in a body, arriving at Coldwater in

January, 18G4. At the expiration of its furlough, re-

assembling at the same place, it left on the 2Uth of Feb-

ruary for the front, with its ranks filled to about five

hundred men. At Chattanooga it returned to duty at

headquarters, and in the summer and fall of 18G4 partici-

pated in all the operations of the Army of the Cumber-

land in Georgia and Tennessee. It entered Atlanta on its

evacuation by the enemy, and was there engaged in provost

duty till November 1st, when it returned to Chattanooga.

During October sixty-nine members were discharged by

expiration of their term of service, but as a large number

of recruits had been received during the year, the regiment,

on the 1st of November, 18G4, numbered eight hundred

and ninety-seven enlisted men. It remained in Chatta-

nooga until the 27th of March, 1865, when it was moved

to Nashville. There it stayed on duty at headquarters and

as guard at the military prison until the 15th of September,

when it was mustered out of the service, and on the fol-

lowing day left for Michigan. It arrived at Jackson on

the 19th of September, and one week later the men were

paid off and disbanded.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTY SOLDIERS IS THE NINTH INFANTRY.

NoH-Commufsioned SUiff.

Sergt.-Maj. Wm. It. Sellon, Owobso ; pro. to 2(1 lieut. Co. G.

Q.JI.-Seift. Arthur B. Hathaway, Owosso; pro. to 2d lieut. Co. K.

Compa7iij A,

Delo3 Ilourd, discli. by order, June 22, 1865.

Company B.

James B. Cunimings, died of disease at NashviUe, Tenn., May 28, 1865.

Slarsliall F. French, disch. by order, July 24, LStil.

Companif D.

John Miller, I'iscli. by order, Aug. Ill, 1803.

James N. Place, (iisch. by order, June 20, 18G5.

Wilson D. Smith, disch. by order, Aug. 30, I860.

Cfnnpatu/ E.

Hiram B. Andrews, disch. by order, May 15, 1865.

John K. Holl, disch. by order, Aug. 17, 1865.

Martin Judil, nuHt. out Sept. 15, 1SG5.

Ransom E. Kho<Ies, disch. by order, June 20, 1865.

Company F.

Capt. Geo. K. Newcombe, Owosso, com. Oct. 12, 1861; pro. to m:ij. of 7th Cav.,

Dec. 10, 1862.

William W. Brown, disch. by order, Aug. 25, 1865.

William H. Baljcock, di,ch. for disability, Oct. 1, 1863.

Jolin Coltiy, veteran, enl. Dec. 7, 1863; must, out Sept. 15, 18C5.

Steplien A. Crane, veteran, enl. Dec. 7, 1863 ; must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

George Cordray, veteran, enl. Nov. 3, 1863; must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Justus Coll'Uni, must, out Sept, 15, 1865.

Jacob H. Doolittle, died of disease at Murfreesboro', Tenn., July 18, 1862.

James Drown, died of diseai^e at West Point, Ky., Nov. 26, 1862.

Luther Drown, discli. April 17, ls62.

Francis Denning, veteian, enl. Nov. 3, 1863; must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Adam Dnbeck, veteran, enl. Dec. 7, 1863; ranst.out Sept. 15, 1865.

Jolin Doney, veteran, enl. Dec. 7, 1863; must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Sullivan Kaj . veteran, Dec. 7, 1863; must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Henry T. Fish, ilied of disease at Nashville, Tenn., April 13, 1865.

Samuel H. Gniham, disch. for disability, Feb. 28, 1862.

Edward Graham, disch. for disability, Feb. 28, 1S62.

Isaac Gould, veteran, enl. Dec. 7, 1863; must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Frederick Ghutekunst, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Reuben Harvey, veteran, enl. Dec. 7, 1S63; must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Lyman Hammond, must, out Sept. 15, I860.

George Holland, must, out Sept. 15, 1SG5.

Cyrus Hill, died of disease at Murfreesboro', Tenn,, July 7, 1862.

Edwanl Hagermao, diid of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., Oct. 21, 1862.

Edward Jones, veteran, eiil. Dec. 7, 1863; must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Barttett Johnson, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Morris Jackson, must out Sept. 15, 1865.

James E. Jackson, disch. for disability, Dec. 14, 1862.

George W, Knigtit, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

John Lampmaii, disch. for disability, Feb. 28, 1862.

Alfred Lefevre, disch. by order, Sept. 27, 1865,

Herrick Lefevre, veteran, enl, Dec. 7, 1863; must, out Sept, 15, 1865.

Alexander Morris, veteran, enl. Dec. 7, 1863 ; must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Edward McCann, veteran, enl. Dec. 7, 1863; must, out Sept, 15, 1865.

Frederick Moore, vetei'au, enl. Dec. 7, 1863.

Frederick Newman, veteran, enl. Dec. 7, 1863; must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

George W, Phillips, disch, for disability, Sept, 30, 1862.

Joseph H. Rhodes, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Henry Reis, disch. at end of service, Oct, 14, 1864.

William U, Rhodes, died of disease at Corunna, Mich,, Feb, 27, 1864,

Edwin W, R.ibiiison, died of disease at Murfreesboro', Tenn., July 7, 1862.

George A. Stickler, accidentally drowned at Chattanooga, Tenn,, Jan, 18, 1865,

Archer Simonds, veteran, enl, Dec, 7, 1863 ; disch, by order, Sept, "29, 1865,

Rodulpli M, Stickler, veteran, enl, Dec. 7, 1863 : must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Obadiah Suuth, veteran, enl. Dec. 7, 1863; must, out Sept, 15, 1865,

PhilipSchwable, must, out Sept, 15, 1865.

Michael Strahel, must, out Sept, 15, 1865.

Herman Schmitgal, must, out Sept, 15, 1865.
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Simeon Spnnlding, niiist. out Sppt. 15, 16C5.

Gfurge Scuut;iil, must, out Sej't. 15, 18Co.

Williiini V. Tri-adwny, vetenm, eiil. Dec. 7, 1FC:S ; must, t ut Sep* I''*. ^SfiS.

In* M. Ware, vHcrim, eiil. Nov. 28, 18G:i; must, out Sept. 15, 18G5.

Ihaiic WftttT, vt'ienin, enl. Dec. 7, lSli3; m^l^t tut Sept. 15, ltG5.

Cliauiicf-y D. Wliitman, veteran, enl. Nov. 11. 1863; di^ch. fur dienbilily, April

17, 1804.

Darius Walkins, ilisdi. for (ligability, Feb. 28, 18G2.

Elcliard Wjilhice, disch. at end of service, Oct. H, 1SG4.

I'aiiicI D. WihO, dic-d of diBca--e at Murlrecsboro', Tenn., Blarch 14, 1863.

Cvnipuny G.

2d Lieut. 'Williani R. Sellon, Owosso; com. Feb. 8, 1SG2; pro. to 1st lieiit., Co. I.

Horace 0. Curtis, must, out Sept. 15. 1865.

James Crandall, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Geiir»;e Ilulliuid, muht. out Sept. 15, 18G5.

John Miller, mut*t. out S.-pt. 15, 1865.

Eli K. Rood, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Company H.

Levi A. Bronson, muet. out Sept. 15, 1865.

Andrew Curtis, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Tbndilfus Huff, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Josepli Huff, disch. Iiy order, Sept. 6, 1865.

Alexan<ler Montgomery, died of disease at Chattanooga, Tenn., Apiil 9, 18G4.

John O'Coniier, discli. by order, Sept. 6, 1865.

AVillis Palmer, died of disease at Murfreesboro', Tenn., March 23, 1803.

Patrick Quinn, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Company I.

let Lieut. William R. Sellon, Owosso; com. Sept. 23,1862; pro. to lieut.-co]. of

lirzd U. S. Col. Troops, Aug. 17, 1863.

Joseph Brown, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Jereniiiih Coll', must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Charles H. Coif, disch. by order, Sept. 11, 1865.

Ira A. Juluison, disch. by order, Sept. 11, 1865.

Michael Punches, niU8t. out Sept. 15, 1865.

Company K.

2d Lieut. Arthur B. Hathaway, Owosso; com. Oct. 14, 1864; must, out Sept. 15,

18G5.

David M. Arthur, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Leroy Chapiti, disch. for disability, Sept. 18, 1863.

Ctjnielius Corson, trans, to Vet. Rea. Corps, Sept. 1,1863; must, out Sept. 15,

1863.

Eli F. Evans, disch. for promotion, Dec. 14, 18G4.

William P. Horton, died of diJ^ease at NiLshville, Tenn., July 10, 1865.

George A. Uiirrin^ton, died of disease at Muifieeaboro', Tenn., May, 1861.

Charles P. Jones, must, out Sept. 15, 1S60.

Daniel SIcColIum, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

William G. Rouse, must, out Sept. 15, 18G5.

Chuuncey C. Rouse, must. outSept. 15, 1865.

S;imuel It. Reed, must, out Sept. 15, 1»65.

Albert Snow, must, out Sept. 15, I8G5.

Franklin Scougall, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

William Shattnck, mu^t. out Sept. 15, 1865.

Allen Slater, veteran, enl. Dec. 7. 1863.

John Sabine, died of disease at Louisville, Ky.

James D. Saixlerson, di^ch. for disability, June 22, 1863.

Luther Truesdale, discli. by order, Sept. 28, 1865.

Alexander Yauwormer, disch. by order, Sept. 6, 1863.

Abel Vauwornier, disch. for disability, Sept. 9, 1863,

Eiihancr Vanwoinier, muat. out Sept. 15, 1865.

Company L.

Orlando Huriington, disch. for disability, April 9, 1863.

CLINTOX COUNTY MEN IN THE NINTH.

Company D.

Wilbcit Tliompsun, must, out Sept. 15, 1865.

Company E.

Peter Buiiram, disch. at end of service, Oct. 14, 1864.

CHAPTER IX.

TENTH INFANTRY.

The Tenth Organized at Flint—Campaigns nnd Marches in Missis-

sippi, Tennessee, and Alabama—Pursuit of Longstrcet in East

Tennessee—Winter Quarters in Georgia—Battle at Buzzard's Roost

—Veteran Ue-enlistment—Atlanta Campaign—March to the Sea

—

Carolina Campaign—March to Wajhington—The Urand Ueviow

—

Muster Out.

In the composition of the Tenth Regiment there were

several companies which contained men from Shiawa-ssee

and Clinton Counties ; but the greatest number of these

were found in the ranks of " A" company, which was

largely recruited at Byron (the home of its commanding

officer) and Corunna. and was made up almost entirely of

volunteers from Shiawassee and the northern part of Liv-

ingston County. The name by which this company was

known while being recruited and before receiving its desig-

nating letter in the regiment was that of " The Byron

Guard ;" its captain and first lieutenant being respectively

Henry S. Burnett, of Byron, and Robert F. Gulick, of

Corunna.

The ''Byron Guard" was raised in the fall of 1861,

under authority received by Capt. Burnett from the Gov-

ernor of Michigan, dated October 4th in that year. On the

28th of the same month it had reached the minimum num-

ber of men, and on the 2d of November the captain re-

ceived orders to report with his company at Flint, the

rendezvous of the Tenth Infantry, to which regiment it

had been assigned. It reached Flint November .'ith, eighty-

six strong, and was the second company to report at the

rendezvous, the company known as the " Saginaw Rangers"

having reached there three days earlier. In the organiza-

tion of the regiment, however, the " Byron Guard" re-

ceived the first letter, and the " Rangers" were designated

as Company B. The last of the ten companies reported

at Flint on the 2Gth of December, and by the 20th of Jan-

uary all had been filled and the organization of the regi-

ment was perfected.

The camp of instruction at Flint was named " Camp

Thomson," in honor of Col. Kdward 11. Thomson, of that

city, president ol' the State Military Hoard. At this camp,

on the 5th of February, 18G2, the Tenth Infantry was re-

viewed by Governor Blair, and on that and the following

day it was mustered into the United States service by Col.

Wright, US. A. The Tenth was now an organized regi-

ment in the service of the government, under the following

field officers, viz. : Colonel, Charles M. Lum ;
Lieutenant-

Colonel, Christopher J. Diekersoii ; Major, James J
. Scarritt.

The ceremony of presentation of a national flag to fho

regiment was iierfornicd on Friday, the 11th of April, at

the camp of instruction.

The regiment, nine hundred and ninety-seven strong,

took its departure from Camp Thomson on Tuesday, the

22d of April, its first destination being known to be St.

Louis, Mo. There was then no railroad from I'lint to the

line of the Detroit and Milwaukee road, and ihercfore the

men were n)oved to Holly Station on wagons and other

vehicles furnislied by patriotic citizens. This first stage of

tlicir long journey was accomplished in a snow-storm, which
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gave additional sadness to partings, some of which proved to

be final. At Holly, after abundant feasting, the coiumand

took the train for Detroit, and after inarching through the

city to the Michigan Central depot, escorted by the " Lyon

Guard" and Detroit " Light Guard," embarked on a train

consisting of twenty-three passenger and five freight cars,

drawn by two locomotives, and at a little before midnight

left for the West. Michigan City was reached at two

o'clock P.M. on Wednesday, and at six p.m. on Thursday

the regiment was at East St. Louis. Ou the following day

it embarked on the steamer " Gladiator," and at four p.m.

on Friday moved down the Mississippi. Cairo was reached,

and during the short stop which was made there the most

sensational rumors were circulated : that desperate fighting

was then in progress at Pittsburg Landing, on the Tennes-

see (the known destination of the regiment) ; that the river

at Paducah was filled with dead floating down from the bat-

tle-field above; and many other stories of similar import.

But the " Gladiator" moved on up the Ohio and Tennessee

on Saturday afternoon, passed Fort Henry on Sunday, and

on Monday night reached Pittsburg Landing, but was or-

dered to proceed four miles farther up the Tennessee to

Hamburg, which place was reached on Tuesday, the 27th,

just one week after the departure from Camp Thomson.

Here the regiment was disembarked on the 28th, and on

the 29th was assigned to duty in Col. James D. Morgan's

brigade, Payne's division, left wing Army of Mississippi.

On its first advent among the veterans of Shiloh the regi-

ment received the usual attentions which old soldiers pay to

fresh troops, such as sneering allusions to the cleanness of

uniforms and the size of knapsacks, with frequent appli-

cations of the epithets " paper-collar soldiers," " band-box

regiment," and many similar compliments ; but all this was

given and received in good-humor, for all knew that a few

days of marching would lighten the knap.sacks and remedy

the objectionable brightne.ss of uniforms, and alter the first

action all would be old soldiers together.

The first march of the regiment in the enemy's country

was made on the 29th, when it moved up about five miles

and bivouacked for the night in the woods. On the 1st of

May it again advanced towards Farmington, Miss., and re-

mained in the vicinity of that village until the enemy's

evacuation of Corinth, May 30th. During this time it was

several times slightly engaged in skirmishing, but sustained

no loss except on the 26th, when the adjutant, Lieut. Syl-

vester D. Cowles, was instantly killed by the bullet of a

sharpshooter while on picket.

The entire summer of 1862 was passed by the regiment

in marching, camping, picketing, and similar duties in the

north part of the States of Mississippi and Alabama, but

without any notable event (more than an occasional skirmish)

occurring in its experience. On the 1st of June it was at

Ilienzi, Miss., and from the 2d to the 11th was at Boone-

ville and in its vicinity. About June 15th it encamped at

Big Springs, six miles from Corinth, and remained there

five weeks. At this place a Fourth of July celebration was

held, and the stay at this camp was regarded by all as among

the most agreeable of all the regiment's sojournings during

the war. On the 27th of July the headquarters of the

regiment were at Camp Leighton, Tuscumbia, Ala., but the

several companies were posted at diflferent places for a dis-

tance of twenty miles along the Memphis and Charleston

Railroad, engaged in guarding that line. Lieut.-Col. Dick-

erson, who was at Town Creek, Ala., with a part of the

regiment, evacuated that place in haste in the night of the

31st on account of the (reported) advance of a heavy force

of the enemy. The camp was reoccupied the next day, as

the enemy (if there had been any in the vicinity) had

moved in another direction.

The headquarters of the regiment remained at Camp

Leighton until September 1st, when it received orders to

move towards Nashville, and on the following day it crossed

the Tennessee River and moved northward. The march

(the line of which lay through Rogersville, Athens, Elkton,

Pulaski, Lynnville, Columbia, Spring Hill, and Franklin)

occupied nine days, and in the evening of September 11th

the regiment with its brigade reached a point two miles

south of Nashville. There it remained until the 15th, when

it moved through the city and encamped in the suburbs.

For nearly two months the force of which the Tenth

Regiment was a part (consisting of the divisions of Gens.

Palmer and Negley) remained at Na.shville without com-

munications, surrounded by the forces of the Confederate

Gen. Breckinridge, and compelled to live by foraging on

the neighboring country, crowding back the enemy every

time that parties were sent out from Nashville for this pur-

pose. But finally, on the 6th of November, the advance

of the Army of the Cumberland (moving southward from

Kentucky under Gen. Rosecrans, in pursuit of the rebel

Gen. Bragg) reached Edgefield, on the north side of the

Cumberland, opposite Nashville ;
thus opening communi-

cation with the Ohio River for the force which had so long

been beleaguered in Nashville.

The army of Rosecrans remained encamped around Nash-

ville until the 2t)th of December, when it moved forward

towards JIurlVcesboro', on the campaign which culminated

in the great battle of Stone River, December 31st, and

January 1st and 2d. The Tenth Michigan did not take

part in this forward movement, but remained nearly seven

months after that time at Nashville, engaged in provost,

grand guard, and fatigue duty, and in protecting communi-

cation between Nashville and M urfreesboro' and other

points. Upon on6 occasion, Jan. 3, 1863, two companies

(one of them being Capt. Burnett's), while guarding a train

between Nashville and Murfreesboro', were attacked by a

large guerrilla force of the enemy, but repulsed them, taking

fifteen prisoners and killing an equal number without loss

to themselves. Again, April 10, 1863, a force of forty-

four men of the Tenth Regiment, having been sent under

command of Lieut. F. W. Vanderberg to guard a railway-

train, were attacked by a body of the enemy's cavalry in

ambush at Antioch Station, three miles north of Lavergne,

the train having been stopped for some cause when the

attack was made. Lieut. Vanderberg fell mortally wounded

at the first or .second fire, and five of his men were killed,

ten wounded, and three taken prisoners, making a total loss

of nineteen, or two-fiftl>s of the force engaged. This (with

the exception of the loss of its adjutant, killed on picket

in Mi-ssissippi) was the first loss inflicted on the regiment

in action by the enemy.
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Tlie men and officers of the Tenth had begun to regard

Nashville as their permanent eamjiing-phice, and some of

them had formed such strong attachments there that when,

on the 19th of Jul}', orders were received to move south-

ward, tliey were welcomed with very little of the enthusiasm

which similar orders would have produced a few months

earlier. But the regiment moved in the morning of the

20th, and reached Murfrecsboro' at noon of the 21st. Here

it remained on picket and guard duty till August 19th, when

it again marched southward.

The history of the regiment during the four months

next succeeding its departure from Murfrecsboro' is that of

an almost continuous march through' the States of Tennes-

see, Alabama, and Georgia. It passed south through Fostcr-

villc, Shelbyville, Farniington (Tenn.), and Lewisburg to

Columbia ; remained there on provost duty from the 23d

to the 26th of August ; moved on through Pulaski and

Lynnville to Athens, Ala.; remained there from August

29th to September 1st; thence passed through Huntsvilie,

Brownsville, on Flint River, Ala., Larkinville, Scottsboro',

and Bellefontc to Stevenson, Ala., remaining at the last-

named place on provost duty from the 7th to the 21st of

September ; moved to Bridgeport, Ala., remained there till

October 1st; moved at midnight, through dense darkness and

fathomless mud, on the road to Jasper, Tenn.
;
passed that

jilace and moved to Anderson's Cross-Roads ; remained

there picketing from the 3d to the 18th of October;

moved to Dallas, Tenn., thirteen miles above Chattanooga,

on the north side of the Tennessee River; remained there

J three days within hearing of the cannonading between the

hostile armies at Chattanooga; moved again October 24th,

passed through Washington, Tenn., and arrived on the

26th at Smith's Ferry over the Tennessee, fifty-five miles

above Chattanooga. There the regiment remained for

nearly four weeks, during which time the men had con-

structed comfortable quarters with fireplaces and other

conveniences, believing that this would be their camping-

place for the winter, which was then approaching. But on

the 20th of November marching orders came, and on

Saturday, the 21st, the Tenth Michigan was again on the

march. In the evening of the 22d it was once more

within hearing of the cannonade from the batteries on

Lookout Mountain, and on the 23d it reached Camp Cald-

well, on the right bank of the Tennessee, four miles above

Chattanooga.

Ou the following day the Tenth crossed to the .south side

of the river and stood in line during the progress of the

great conflicts at I^ookout and Mission Kidgc, but was not

engaged in either of those battles. Soon after midnight,

in the morning of the 26th, it moved up the Tennessee,

cros.scd Cliickaniauga Creek on a pontoon-bridge, and

marched up the right bank of that stream, where a part of

the brigade met a small force of the retreating enemy, and

a skirmish ensued in which one man of the regiment was

slightly wounded by a spent ball. The enemy's evacuated

works at Chickamauga Station were occupied on the same

day, the Tenth being the first to enter the works. On the

27th the regiment entered Georgia for the first time, pass-

ing through Grayville and camping near Ringgold. Ou
the 28th orders were received to march in pursuit of Long-

9

street, who was known to be in the vicinity of Knoxville.

Under these orders the regiment marched with its brigade

on the 29th, and continued to move rapidly up the valley

of the Tennes.«ce until December 0th, when it had reached

a point some fifteen niile.s above Loudon, where the intelli-

gence was received that Longstreet had withdrawn from

Knoxville and retreated into Virginia. Then the column

was ordered to return to Chattanooga. The Tenth passed

through Madisonville to Columbus, Tenn. (remaining at

the latter place from the 9th to the 15th of December,

during which time the bridge across the Iliawassee River

was constructed, and on the 18th reached itsold camp, four

miles above Chattanooga. Here it remained till the 26th

when it moved to near Rossville, Ga., and prepared to go

into winter quarters after a marching campaign of more

than four months' duration. The men had come in from

the East Tennessee march worn out, famished, and tattered,

many of them having no shoes, having been compelled to

cut up their ragged blankets into wrappings for their feet.

No men ever stood more in need of rest and recuperation.

At the Rossville camp the men built tight and comfort-

able log cabins, each containing a fireplace, and in these

(when not out on picket duty) the two remaining months

of winter were spent in a very agreeable manner. Prepara-

tions were made for mustering as veterans, and nearly all

the companies had the requisite three-fourths of their num-

ber re-enlisted, when, in the evening of February 3d, the

regiment was ordered out on picket to Chickamauga Sta-

tion, eight miles away. It remained out till the 14th, when

it was marched back to camp, and the veteran muster was

completed on the 16th, three hundred and eighty men

signing the veteran enlistment for three years, dating from

February 6th. The number of veterans was afterwards in-

creased to over four hundred. The re-enlistment and mus-

ter being perfected, the men were waiting impatiently for

the veteran furlough (which some of them were destined

never to receive), when, in the morning of February 23d,

the regiment bad orders to march iuiniediately, with three

days' rations and sixty rounds of amnumition. The men

could hardly believe that they were again to march to the

front before making the long-anticipated visit to iheir

homes, but they fell in without much audible conjplaint,

and marched away on the road which was to lead them to

their first battle-field. The regiment moved to within a

mile of Ringgold, and camped for the night. In the morn-

ing of the 24th it moved to a point between that town

and Tunnel Hill, where the brigade joined the forces

which bad moved out IVom Chattanooga to make a recon-

noissance in force of the enemy's positions in tlie direction

of Dalton and Lafayette, Ga. The enemy were flanked

out of their works at Tunnel Hill, and retired towards

Dalton. The Tenth (with other comnninds) followed in

pursuit, and at about five o'clock P.M. arrived at Buzzard's

Roost,—a rocky stronghold of the rebels, situated in a pass

of the mountains known as Kenyon's Gap,—three miles

from Dalton. The works were in the rear of Rocky-Faee

Ridge, and fully coniniaiMled the gap. Some skirmishing

was done in the aftemooi: and evening of the 24tli, and

the regiment took position lor tlie night between two spurs

of Rocky-Face Ridge.
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On the 25th the early part of the day was consumed in

skirmisliing, but about two o'clock p.m. the Tenth, with

the Sixtieth Illinois, was ordered forward in line over the

rid"es to attack the enemy and carry his position if possible.

They moved forward gallantly into a very hot artillery and

musketry fire from greatly superior numbers of the enemy.

They remained under this terrible enfilading fire for about

forty minutes, and did what men could do to carry the

position, but were at last forced back by superior numbers,

and at the end of one hour and ten minutes the regiment

reoccupied the position from which it had advanced to the

charge. In this brief time it had lost forty-nine killed and

wounded and seventeen missing, among the latter being

Lieut.-Col. Dickerson, who was wounded and made prisoner

by the enemy.

A characteristic account of the battle given by a rebel

paper (the Atlanta Register of Feb. 29, 1864) was as fol-

lows: "On Thursday, the 25th, the enemy commenced,

about nine a.m., to skirmish with our pickets and sharp-

shooters. At one P.M. the Federal general, Morgan, ad-

vanced on our right centre to force the gap. They were

gallantly met by Reynolds' brigade, of Stevenson's division,

Clayton's brigade, of Walker's division, and Stavall's bri-

gade, of Stewart's division, when a lively fight took place.

The enemy made three desperate assaults to take the gap,

and were repulsed each time with great slaughter, being

enfiladed at the same time by our artillery. We captured

some twenty prisoners, among them Lieut.-Col. C. J. Dick-

erson, of the Tenth Jlichigan, which regiment alone lost

two hundred and fifty killed and wounded. That night the

enemy fell back behind their intrenchments,—some three

or four miles from our front lino,—and a portion of (heir

forces moved over to our left, and succeeded in taking a

gap leading to the Lafayette road, through Sugar A'^alley,

three miles south of Dalton,"

It will be noticed that while this account made the loss

of the Tenth more than five times what it really was in

killed and wounded, it admits that the two regiments which

formed the Union attacking column encountered a rebel

force of three brigades in a strongly-fortified position. In

fact, neither the Tenth nor the Sixtieth Illinois had all its

strength present in the fight,—only eight companies of

each, making a total of about nine hundred men, being

engaged.

On the 20th the regiment with its brigade was relieved,

and marched to Ringgold, from which place it returned to

camp at Rossville on the 27th. About the 5th of March

the veterans of the Tenth left the Rossville camp and

moved to Chattanooga en route for Michigan, and arrived

at Detroit on the 11th. There they received the veteran

furlough, with orders to rea.ssemble at its expiration at the

rendezvous, the city of Flint. Upon reas.sembling they

remained in Flint for .some days,—a visit which was long

remembered by both soldiers and citizens. The veterans

and recruits left Flint on the 20th of April, and moved by

way of Fentonville to Detroit, thence by way of Kalamazoo

and Lafayette to Jeffcrsonville, Ind., Louisville, Ky., and

Nashville, arriving at the latter city April 24th. They left

Na.shville on the 27th, and marched to Chattanooga, where

they arrived on the 11th of May, and on the 12th marched

to their old winter quarters at Rossville, which were found

undisturbed and in good condition. On the 13th they

marched in search of the brigade (which had moved for-

ward with the army May 2d), and overtook it in the morn-

ing of the IGth, marching nineteen miles farther the same

day with Gen. Jeff. C. Davis' division, which was moving

towards Rome. On the 17th the regiment took part in

the fight at Oostenaula River and in the capture of Rome

on the following day, both without loss. Then followed a

series of marches and manoeuvres by which the Tenth

moved to Dallas, to Ackworth, Ga., and by way of Lost

Mountain to Kenesaw, where, in the assault of the 27th

of June, it formed part of the reserve of the charging

column. Its losses during June were fourteen killed and

wounded.

The enemy having evacuated his works at Kenesaw, the

Tenth took part in the pursuit, marching on the 3d of

July, and, having crossed the Chattahoochee River, it

advanced on the 19th to Durant's Mill, on Peachtree

Creek, and took part in the actions of that and the follow-

ing day, losing twenty-three killed and wounded. Through

the remainder of July and nearly all of August it lay in the

lines of investment before Atlanta. August 30th it moved

with a reconnoitering column to Jonesboro', and took part

in the battle at that place on the 1st of September, charging

across an open field on the enemy's works, and losing thirty

killed and forty-seven wounded, among the former being

the commanding ofiicer of the regiment, Maj. Burnett.

It was claimed for the Tenth that in this action it took

more prisoners than the number of men which it carried

into the fight. For its conduct on this occasion it was

complimented by Gens. Thomas, Davis, and Morgan, the

corps, division, and brigade commanders.

On the second day following the battle of Jonesboro'

the Tenth moved back to the front of Atlanta, and re-

mained there until and after the capture of that city. On

the 2Sth of September the brigade moved northward by

railroad to Chattanooga, and thence by way of Bridgeport

and Stevenson to Florence, Ala., the object being to expel

the enemy's cavalry from the country north of the Ten-

nessee River. In this the forces were but partially success-

ful, and after a stay of about ten days they were moved

back to Chattanooga, where a halt was made for several

days. The Tenth with its brigade then moved up the

Chattooga and Broomtown valleys to Rome, Ga., where it

joined its corps (the Fourteenth), which was moving into

Alabama iu pursuit of the Confederate army under Gen.

Hood. It moved across the mountain to Gaylesville, Ala.,

where it remained only one day and then returned to Rome.

From that point it moved rapidly to Etowah and Carters-

ville, Ga., and thence south along the Atlanta Railroad,

destroying the track and telegraph in its marcli, the object

being to cut all communication with Atlauta, preparatory

to Gen. Sherman's bold march acrcss Georgia to the At-

lantic. When the Tenth Regiment with its brigade ap-

proached Atlanta in the afternoon of the 15th of November

the city was on fire from end to end, it being the object

of the Union general to destroy everything in it (except

dwelling-hou.ses) which could be of service to the enemy

after the departure of the army. During the afternoon
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and eveninf; of the 15th, shoes, clothing, and rations were

issuod to tlie troops, and ever3'tliiiii; was made ready for the

forward uiaroh in the followinj; niortiiiijr.

At noon on the ICith of November, the Tentli Michigan

—forming a part of the First Brigade, Second Division of

tlie Fourteenth Army Corps—moved out with its com-

panion regiments (the Fourteenth Jlichigan, the Sixteenth

and Sixtictli Illinois, and the Seventeenth New York, all

under Col. Robert F. Smith, as brigade commander), and

took the road to Stone Mountain, (Ja., near which place it

bivouacked for the night. The march was resumed on the

17th, and was continued without intermission, except the

necessary halts, until tlie evening of the 21st, when the

command encamped several miles from JMiilcdgeville, and

remained quiet there during the following day. On the

23d the regiment resumed the march, and on the 24th it

passed through Milledgeville. It readied Louisville, the

county-seat of Jefferson County, on the 28th, and camped

there for three days, engaged in foraging and picket duty.

Again, on the 1st of December, it moved forward, and,

crossing the Savannah and Charleston Railroad on the 10th,

arrived in front of Savannah (four and a half miles distant

from the city) in the morning of the 11th. Ten days

later Savannah was evacuated by the enemy and immedi-

ately occupied by the forces of Gen. Sherman.

After a month's stay in Savannah, the Fourteenth Corps,

including the Tenth Regiment, left the city (on the 20th of

January, 1805) for the march through the Carolinas. The

crossing of the Savannah River was made at Sister's Ferry,

on I he 5tli of February. The Tenth remained here two

da3's before moving north, and while here (February 6th)

the non-veterans of the organization were mustered out of

the service, just three years having expired since the com-

pletion of the original muster at Camp Thomson.

The regiment readied Fayetteville, N. C, March 11th,

and was there slightly engaged in a skirmish with the

enemy. On the 12th it crossed the Cape Fear River, skir-

mishing at Averysboro', and on the ItJth was again engaged

at the same place, losing three men killed. Moving in ad-

vance of the corps on the 18tli, .six companies being de-

ployed as skirmishers, they struck the enemy about noon,

and a lively skirmi.sh ensued. The regiment was ordered

to take position at the junction of the Smithfield and

Goldsboro' roads, and during the night it was attacked, but

repulsed the enemy, and held its position until relieved by

troops of the Twentieth Corps, on the 19th, when it moved

and formed on the right of the second line of battle at Ben-

tonville. About four P.M. the enemy moved up in heavy

masses, and charged the first line, but was repulsed. Then
the Tenth with its brigade moved tbrward to the first line,

and in a few minutes the enemy was discovered coming in

on the left flank. The line was at once changed to the

ojiposite side of the works, and, after pouring a volley into

the ranks of the rebels, they were charged and driven with

the bayonet, many prisoners and arms being taken. On
the 20lh the regiment skirmished during the entire day

and night, and on the 21st moved towards Goldsboro',

reaching there on the 23d. Moving from Goldsboro',

it reached Smithfield April lOth and Raleigh April 13lh.

From Raleigh it moved to Avery's Ferry, forty-five miles

above Fayetteville, and lay there from the 15th to the 21st

of April, when it moved to Holly Springs, on the road to

Raleigh. On the 2Sth it was at Morseville, N. C, and there

received the announcement that its campaigning was over

and the war ended by the surrender of Johnston. In its

passage through the two Carolinas the regiment had sus-

tained a loss of fifteen, killed, wounded, and missing.

Moving north on the 30th of April, the Tenth arrived

at Richmond, Va., May 7th, and remained there till the

lOtli, when it marched on towards Washington, reaching

there about the IGtb. It took part in the grand review of

Gen. Sherman's army at the capital on the 24th. It moved

on the 13th of June, and proceeded to Louisville, Ky.,

where it was mustered out of the service July I'Jth, and

ordered to Michigan. It reached Jackson on the 22d, and

was paid off and discharged Aug. 1, 18(55.

The length and severity of this regiment's marches

during its term of service were remarkable. It is shown

that during 1862 and 1863 its foot-marches aggregated

sixteen hundred miles; that its marches in 1864 amounted

to thirteen hundred and seventy-five miles, and those in

1865 to six hundred and twenty miles,—a total of three

thousand five hundred and ninety five miles; this being

exclusive of the distances accomplished by railroad and

steamer. There were few, if any, regiments in the service

whose marching record surpassed this. The brigade to

which the Tenth was attached during the period of its re-

markable marchings through Tennessee, Georgia, and Ala-

bama was quite generally knowB among the men of the

Southwestern army as " Morgan's brigade of Davis' foot-

cavalry," the division being that commanded by Gen. Jeff.

C. Davis.

MEMBERS OF TllK TENTH INFANTliY FROM SHIAWASSEE COL'NTV.

Field mid Stuff.

Mnj. Henry S. Biiniott, li.vroii; com. Nov. IG, 1SC3; diud in action iit Joiio«-

boro'. On., Sept. 1,1804.

Non-CommisjiiOHfd Staff,

(i. M.-Sergt. George A. Alleu, Byron ; cnl. Oct. 20, 1861 ;
pro. to 2d Ik-ut. Co. C.

Compattit A.

Cupt. II. S. Buinett, Byron ; com. Oct. 4, 1801
;
pro. to niigor.

Capt. Sumucl S. Towir, Byron; com. May 20, 1805; 1st limit., Fob. 24, 1805;

Kcrgcunt; ninst. out July 19, ISOT).

1st Lieut. Uobort F. (juliclt, t'ornnna; com. Oct. 4, '01 ; resinned 5Iay 2.1, '62.

Sergt. .lay J. Tarlilinrst, Byrou ; mil. Oct. 24, 1801 ; died in Mississippi, July 30,

1802.

Sergt. Willium B. I'ralt, Byron; onl. Oct. 18, 1801 ; voterau, Feb. 8, 1804; \>n.

to 2d lieul. Co. I).

Seigt. Ibiiiles lilce, Byron; onl. Oct. 12, 1801 ; vclemn, Feb. 0, 1801; must. out

July r.i, 1805.

Sergt. Delos Jewell, Byron.

Corp. J.lin J. Campbell, Uyron ; onl. Oct. 9. 1801 ; died of disniso nt homo, July

30, 1802.

Corp. Marcus P. Andrew«, Vernon; onl. OcL 19, 1801; yoleran, Feb. 6, 1H04
;

died ol' disease in hospitil.

Musician Williaui W. Barker, Novvburgli; enl. Oct. 18, ISfil ; die<l alCillcln-

niiti, ()., Jnne27, 1802.

Mnsn. Itiley W. LItcbfleld, Corunua; enl. Jan. 14, 1802; tram, to brltiudo

banii.

Wagoner Henry II. Keyes, Byrou ; dlscli. for disability, July 9, 1802.

Itoberl Agnew, discii. lor disability, Jan. 2, 1803.

Wiiliaui Br.i»n, voloran, enl. Fob. 6, 1804 ; discli. by onlor, Mny 3, 1664.

Jonas W. Botsford, votemn, enl. Fob. 0, 1804 ; must, out July 19, 18«u.

Miner It. Blake, coi|>oial ; veleran, enl. Feb. 0, 1804 ; must, onl July 19, 1805.

Henry lliiird, veteran, enl. Feb. 0, 1804; must, out July III, UU.V

Marlln Brayloii, dis.li. Oel. 11, 1802.

Henry Brown, must, nul July 19, IStV'i.

Horace S. Calkius, veleran, enl. Feb. 0, 1804 ; cori>oml ; must, out July 19, 'O.*!.

Albert (Campbell, veteran, onl. Feb. 0, 1804; Inius. to U. 8. Kug.,Sopt. 2A, 1884.

Silas Crawloid, ninsl. out July 19, 180o.
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Jacob Croup, discii. fur disability, Feb. 11, 18G2.

Philip CliiimbL-rlain, ilisch. Aug. 5, 1862.

David C. Cnlkins, discb. for disability, June 24, 1862.

George C.ffin, disch. for disability, Aug. 2o, 1S62.

Alfrfd Crunkite, died of disease at Fiiniiiiigton, Miss., July 5, 18^2.

Siieldou Dicksou, died of disease at Farniingtou, Miss., July 22, 18G2.

Luman Harris, discli. for disability, I»ec. 23, 18li2.

Eztkiel Jewell, must, out July 19, 18G5.

Thurlow L. Millard, died of disease on board steamer "Empress," Mississippi

Kiver, May 17, 1862.

Albert Martin, disch. for disability, Aug. 5, 18G2.

Williani J. Mosely, disch. for disability, Oct. 24, 1862.

Corp. George E. Mills, veteran, enl. Feb. G, 18G4; must, out July 19, 1805.

Orlando Mills, veteran, enl. Feb. C, 18G4 ; must, out July 10, ISG.».

Henry Miller, veteran, enl. Feb. 6.1864; must, out July 19,1865.

Charles Newman, disch. for disabiUty, Sept. 2, 1862.

George A. Parker, veteran, enl. Feb. 6, 1864; disch. for disability, July 22,1865.

Thomas J. Pettis, disch. at end of service, Feb. 6, 1865.

William J. Parks, must, out July 19, 1865.

Abram Reigle, veteran, enl. Feb. 6, 1864; must, out July 19, 1865.

Philip Richardson, died at legt. hosp., Nashville, Tenii., March 13, 18G3.

Israel D. Russell, discli. at end of service, Feb. 6, 18&*.

Corp. Auren Roys, disch. at end of service, Feb. 6, 1865.

Corp. Lemuel J. Sniedley, disch. at end of service, Feb. G, ISGl.

Allen Stephens, disch. for disability, July 17, 1862.

Charles F. Stewart, disth. for disability, Nov. 26, 1862,

Ira I. Sweet, disharged Jan, 14, 1803.

George Stroud, died of disease at Farmington, Mich., Blay 30, 1862.

Edwin R.Scully, died of disease at Peach-Tree Cieek.Ga., July 20, 1864.

William J. Tower, veteran, enl, Feb. 6, 1804; disch. by order, June 12, 18G5.

Jiidd Vincent, died near GuIdal)oro', N. C, March 23, 1SG5.

Edgar D. Welch, veteran, enl. Feb. 6, 1864; must, out July 10, 1865.

Peter Wooliver, veteran, enl. Feb. 6, 1864; disch. by order, June 13, 18G5.

Gideon Whiting, discharged.

John Walworth.

Company B.

l8t Lieut. Wm. Pratt, Byron ; com. May 20, 1SG5; 2d lieut. Co. D, May 8, 1865;

must, out July 19, 1865.

Compaiiy C.

2d Lieut. Geo. A. Allen, Byron ; com. March 31, 1863; disch. at end of service,

Feb. 6, 1805.

James M. Gillett, died of disease at Smith's Ferry, Dec. 2, 1803.

Edgar E. Grilly, veteran, enl. Feb. C, lSfi4.

Frank Munger, died of disease at Farmington, Mich., July 11, 1862.

Heniy Ostrander, died of diseiise at Tuscumbia, Ahi., Aug. 22, 1862.

Alvah Kemington, disch. at end of service, Feb. 6, 1865.

Daniel Speai', disch. for disability, Sept. 5, 1862.

William E. Spr.igue, veteran, enl. Feb. 0, 18G5.

Ckimpani/ G.

Mus. Philip Goodwin, Shiawassee; enl. Jan. 14, 1862; disch. for disiibility,

March 4, 1863.

George R. Jvnapp, disch. at end of service, Feb. 5, 1865.

Company H.

Nathan Findlay, must, out July 19, 1865.

Albert Hill, disch. for disability, Sept. 3, 1863.

John Marsliall, disch. by order, June 20, 1805.

John W. M. Parks, must, out July 19, 186.5.

Company I.

William B. Gdlctt, disch. for disability, July 24, 1862.

David W. Gillett, disch. at end of service, March 10, 1865.

Company K.

Capt. Wm. B. Walker, Owoaso; com. May 8, 1865; 1st lieut. Nov. 8, 1864; 2d

lieut. Co. B, July 20, 1SG4 ; must, out July 19, 1S65.

MEMBERS OF THE TENTH INFANTRY FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Company B.

Warren Chatfield, must, out July 19, 1865.

Sylvester Hall, must, out July 19, 1865.

C^npany C.

Martin B. Payne, disch. by order, June 12, 1865.

Company E.

Ja-s. P. Salisbury, diach. by order, June 29, 1865.

CHAPTER X.

FOUHTEENTH INFANTRY.

Organization at Ypsilimti—Csimpaigns in Mississippi and Alabama

—

Jlarcli to Nnsliville—Service at Franklin and Columbia—A'eteran

Re-enlistment—Atlanta Campaign—March to the Sea and through

the Carolinas—Battles of Avcrysboro' and Bcntonville—March to

Washington—Muster Out at Louisville, Ky.

The volunteers fiom Shiawassee and Clinton Counties

who served iu the ranks of the Fourteenth Infantry were

principally found in Companies D, E, and K, though a con-

siderable number were scattered through several other

companies. The two counties were about equally repre-

sented in " D" company, which received its first enlistment

Oct. 11, 1861, and attained minimum strength December

12th. The original first and second lieutenants of this

company were, respectively, Gilman McClintock and Cyrus

F. Jackson, of Owosso.

Company E was chiefly made up of Shiawassee County

voluuteei'S. The date of the first enlistment in this com-

pany is Nov. 4, 1861, and it attained the minimum

strength December 30th iu the same year. Of its original

ofiicers, First Lieut. C. C. Goodale and Second Lieut.

Daniel Wait were residents of Owosso at the time of its

organization. It contained a small number of men from

Clinton County.

In Company K there were a few men from Shiawas-

see County, but it was principally composed of Clinton

County volunteers, recruited by John Kelly and Charles

B. Rose, of Westphalia, and N. T. Jones, of Greenbush.

Capt. Kelly became the company commander, and Rose

was made fir.st lieutenant, though in the recruiting of the

company Mr. Jones had been named as its second oSiccr.

One of the county papers, dated Nov. 21, 18G1, mentioned

the recruiting of Capt. Kelly's company, as follows :
" An

artillery company is being raised by Capt. John Kelly, of

Westphalia, to be attached to Col. Sinclair's [Fourteenth

Infantiy] regiment. The name of this company is 'Kelly's

Clinton Dragoons.' " This raising of an artillery company,

designated as dragoons, to form a part of an infantry regi-

ment, is mentioned in this connection as being a rather re-

markable military event.

The name of the company was changed soon afterwards,

and it became known as the " Clinton Rangers." The first

enlistment in it was made on the 7th of November; the

companj' attained the minimum strength on the 1st of Jan-

uary, 1862, and on the 3d of the same mouth it was re-

moved to Ypsilanti, the regimental rendezvous. The two

other companies previously mentioned reached the camp

of instruction at about the same time, and the three soon

after received their designating letters—D, E, and K, in

the Fourteenth Infantry.

The regiment was mustered into the United States service

on the 13th of February, under command of Col. Robert

P. Sinclair, with Robert W. Davis as lieutenant-colonel,

and M. W. Quackenbush, of Owosso, as major. Two
months more were spent in perfecting its organization and

drill, and, after the presentation of a stand of colors at the

camp of instruction, the command, nine hundred and

twenty-five strong, moved from Ypsilanti on the 17 th of
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April, and proceeded to the theatre of war in the South-

west, reaching Pittsburg Landing, on the Tennessee River,

about two weeks after the great battle of Shiloh had been

fought at that point. Passing on to Hamburgh Landing,

four miles farther up the river, the command was disem-

barked, and a few days later was assigned to duty as a part

of Col. Jarac's D. Morgan's brigade, in the Army of the

Mississippi. This brigade included the Tenth and Sixteenth

Illinois and the Fourteenth Michigan. The Tenth Michigan

and the Sixtieth Illinois were added soon afterwards, and

the brigade, as thus composed, remained together the greater

part of the time during the continuation of their terms of

service.

About the 1st of May the command moved forward to-

wards Corinth, Miss., at which point the enemy had made a

stand and thrown up intrcnchments. This march was a very

laborious one, for the weather was excessively hot, and the

Fourteenth was employed in guarding and moving to the

front several siege-guns, each of which was drawn by twelve

yokes of oxen, floundering through the almost bottomless

mud of the Mississippi swamps. The men wore continually

engaged in extricating the ponderous guns from the slough
;

in corduroying the roads, often in the face of the enemy's

skirmishers ; and alwa3'S throwing up temporary works of

defense before bivouacking fur the night. Several weeks

were spent in this way before the Fourteenth arrived in

front of Corinth, but, excepting some slight skirmishing,

the regiment did not take part in the operations by which

the enemy was forced to retire from his stronghold.

After the evacuation of Corinth the Fourteenth spent

the remainder of the summer in marching, skirmishing,

picketing, and guarding railroads through Northern Missis-

sippi and Alabama ; camping for a considerable time at

Farmington, at Big Springs, Miss., and for a longer period at

Tuscumbia, Ala. At this place Lieut. Wait, of " E" Com-

pany, was left in hospital prostrated by sickness brought

on by the hardships of the service, and from which he has

never fully recovered.

About the last of August it was announced that the

command was to move to Nashville, Tenn., and on the 1st

of September the detachments of the regiment concen-

trated at the military ferry on the Tennessee River and

awaited orders to move. The orders were received on the

following day, and the command moved northward with its

brigade. The march occupied nine days, during which the

regiment passed through Rogersville, Athens, Elkton,

I'ulaski, Lynnville, Columbia, Spring Hill, and Franklin,

and in the evening of the 1 1th bivouacked two miles from

Nashville. Hero it remained on picket duty for a few days,

and then moved through the city to a camp on high ground,

near Fort Negley.

The labor demanded of the regiment during its stay at

Nashville was severe, consisting of work on the extensive

fortifications which had been laid out by Uen. Negley, the

commandant of the post, besides constant picketing and

guarding of forage-parties, which were continually sent out

into the surrounding country, this being the only means of

subsisting the forces in Nashville, as all communication

with the city, by rail or river, was destroyed. This state

ol' affairs continued for about two months, Nashville being

held by the divisions of Negley and Palmer, but out of

communication with the outside world, and surrounded

on every side by troops of the enemy, principally cavalry.

The Army of the Cumberland, however, having defeated

the army of Bragg at Perryville, Ky., was marching south-

ward from Bowling Green, under Gen. Rosecrans, to the

relief of the' beleaguered force, and on the 6th of November

his advance-guard reached the river at Edgefield, opposite

Nashville. In the early morning of the day preceding that

of Rosecrans' arrival a large force of the enemy had at-

tacked the positions of the troops in Na.shville, and the

Fourteenth was quite sharply engaged with the other forces

in repelling them. Maj. Quackenbush, who was then in

command of the regiment, had his liorse shot under him

(though not killed) in the fight. This occasion was the

first on which the Fourteenth had ever delivered their fire

on a battle-field.

The arrival of the Army of the Cumberland at Nash-

ville opened railroad communication from the Ohio River

to Mitchelville, thirty-five miles north of Nashville, and

soon after it was opened to the city. This gave relief in

the matter of rations to the troops who had been so long

imprisoned there, and lightened the forage and picket duty,

but the labor on the defensive works of the town was still

continued, and a great amount of work was to be done in

repairing roads and bridges for the advance of the army

southward.

In the movements preliminary to the advance of Gen.

Rosecrans on Murfreesboro', the division of Gen. Palmer

(in which was the FourU;enth Michigan) was the firat

pushed to the front on the line of Stone River near the

" Hermitage," the former residence of Andrew Jackson.

It remained at this point facing the enemy for about eight

days, when on the general advance of the Army of the

Cumberland (December 2Cth), it was moved back to Nash-

ville by order of the commanding general, who, as he said,

wished to have that important place held by some of his

most trusty and reliable troops. Five days after f!ie ad-

vance of the main body of the army it was fiercely engaged

with the enemy at Stone River in front of Murfreesboro',

and the conflict raged with great fury and with little in-

termission until the evening of the 2d of January, at

which time the Fourteenth Michigan received orders to

move up wiih all speed to Stone River. In obedience to

this order it was marched all night through thick darkness

and pouring rain, and in the morning it hud reached the

field, twenty-seven miles from the camp which it had left

in the preceding evening. But as the enemy had already

retreated, and there was no more fighting to be done on

that line, the regiment did not participate in the meniorablo

battle which secured to Gen. Rosecrans the po.s.se.ssion of

Middle Tennessee.

During the month of March, IHli:!, the Fourteenth was

stationed for a few days at Franklin, Tenn., and in April it

was ordered out with its brigade to the neighborhood of

Brentwood, to hold the railway line between Nashville and

Franklin. The brigade was at this time attached to the

Reserve Corps, commanded by den. (iunloTi (Iranger. Hav-

ing returned to its camp at Na.shville, the regiment Wius

detached from its brigade on the 2d or 3d of July, and
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ordered to Franklin. Early in September the command

was transformed into a corps of mounted infantry, and

eight of its companies, witli a section of artillery, were

moved to Columbia, Tenn. From that time, for a period

of eight months, Columbia and Franklin and the railroad

line connecting the two places were held by the men of the

Fourteenth, who, with their cavalry equipment and Spencer

rifles, performed excellent service in clearing tlie surrounding

country of guerrillas. They also constructed a railway-bridge

across the Duck River, and erected formidable fortifications

at Columbia.

In the first part of January, 1SG4, the regiment re-en-

listed as veterans, and on the 21st of February five com-

panies—C, F, G, I, and K—left Columbia for Michigan on

veteran furlough, at the expiration of which they returned

to their post in Tennessee. The remainder of the regiment

then spent a thirty days' furlough in Michigan, and return-

ing, rejoined their comrades in the field about the middle

of May. On the 21st of that month the regiment received

order.s to move from Columbia and join the army of Gen.

Sherman in Georgia. How the people of Columbia received

the announcement that the Fourteenth was to leave their

town, is shown by the following communication from a

Columbia correspondent to the Nosliville Uiiinit, and pub-

lished in that journal on the day of the regiment's de-

parture :

" News having reached Columbia that the Fourteenth

Michigan Veteran Volunteers, which has been stationed

here since September last, was ordered off, a meeting of the

citizens was convened at the court-hou.se, and a series of

resolutions adopted which do credit alike to the citizens and

soIdier.s. The honorable and consistent and liberal policy

of the Fourteenth Michigan has merited and won the es-

teem and applause of all true lovers of their country, and

their sudden removal from our midst has brought fear and

mourning to all classes of the community. They have

driven guerrillas and thieves from this country clear to the

Tennessee River, and have done more to create a feeling of

respect and veneration for the old government than ten

thousand bayonets and proclamations could have done.

They strengthened the hopeful, confirmed the fiiith of (he

true, won back the erring and terrified, and subdued the

defiant. They fought bravely, often desperately, captured

many prisoners, and disarmed opposition with gentlemanly

kindness and courtesy. Ever mindful of their mission,

they treated the people as feeling human beings, and not

as brutes. They will be long and affectionately remembered

by our people.

" The chairman of the meeting, Joshua B. Frierson,

Esq., accompanied by the committee and a large delegation

of citizens, entered the Union Bank oflBce (post headquarters),

explained in a few feeling sentences to Maj. Fitzgibbon

(who had been in command since Col. Mizner went home

on furlough nearly a month ago) and read to him a series

of resolutions adopted by the meeting, highly flattering to

the ofiicers and men of the regiment. The resolutions

were replied to by the major iu an eloquent and feeling

manner which drew tears from many eyes long unused to

weep."

In compliance with the order the regiment left Columbia

and moved to Bridgeport, Ala. ; thence up on the south

side of the Tennessee River, by Lookout Mountain, to

Dallas, Ga., where it rejoined its old brigade, which was

then attached to the division of Gen. Jeff. C. Davis. From

Dallas it moved by way of Ackworth, Ga., to Kenesaw

Mountain, where the brigade participated in the battle of

the 27th of June. The gallant part taken in this battle

by the division of which the Fourteenth was a part is

mentioned in the " Annual Cyclopfedia, 1864," as follows:

" For the second, and more important attack, portions of

Gen. Newton's division of the Fourth Corps and Gen.

Davis' division of the Fourteenth Corps were selected.

At a given signal the troops rushed forward with buoyant

courage, charged up the face of the mountain amidst a

murderous tire from a powerful battery on the summit,

and through two lines of abatis, carried a line of rifle-pits

beyond, and reached the works. The colors of several of

the regiments were planted before the latter, and some of

the men succeeded in mounting the ramparts ; but the

death of Gens. Wagner and Harker and the wounding of

Gen. McCook, the destructive fire of both musketry and

artillery, and the difliculty of deploying such long columns

under such fire, rendered it necessary to recall the men.

Gen. Newton's troops returned to their original line, while

Gen. Davis' Second Brigade threw up works between those

they had carried and the main line of the enemy, and there

remained."

On the evacuation of the rebel works at Kenesaw the

Fourteenth moved in pursuit of the enemy, and coming up

with him on the north side of the Chattahoochee River,

assaulted and carried his first and second line of rifle-pits

on the 5th and 6th of July, capturing a considerable num-

ber of prisoners, and sustaining a loss of forty-four in killed

and wounded. It then crossed the Chattahoochee and took

part in the operations in front of Atlanta, where, on the 7th

of August, the Fourteenth sustained a loss of tliirty-five

killed and wounded in an assault which resulted in the

carrying of two lines of the enemy's works, and the capture

of a large number of prisoners. On the 30th of August

it moved with its division towards Jonesboro', and was hotly

engaged in the battle of September 1st at that place, losing

thirty killed and wounded, and doing its part in carrying a

strong line of works. After the battle at Jonesboro' the

regiment returned to the front of Atlanta.

On the 28th of September the Fourteenth left Atlanta

and moved by rail to Chattanooga, Stevenson, Huntsville,

Athens, and Florence, Ala., tearing up the Memphis and

Charleston Railroad. For several days it was in pursuit of

Wheeler's and Forrest's cavalry, but did not overtake them.

On the 13th of October the regiment moved by rail, back

to Chattanooga, where it remained five days, and on the

18th again took the road, movins to Lee and Gordon's Mills

Ga., to Lafayette, to Summerville, up Duck Creek, through

Broomtown Valley, Alpine, and Rome, Ga., across the

mountains into Alabama, to Gaylesville (October 20th), and

then back to Rome, where it was in camp November 1st.

On the 9th it was at Etowah, Ga., and on the 13th at Car-

tersville, where, at six o'clock a.m. on that day, the force

" bade good-by to the cracker line, and to all communica-

tions, and plunged into the Confederacy with four days'
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rations, marchiiif; south and tearing up the laihoad as it

moved." On tiie 13tli it made sixteen miles, on tiie 14th

twenty-four miles, and on the 15th thirteen miles, burning

the bridge over the Cliattahoochcc, and reaching Atlanta at

three o'clock in the afternoon of that day.

" As we approached Atlanta," wrote an officer of the

brigade, "a huge column of black smoke was seen, and

soon we found the railroad depots and buiidlng.s, with the

foundries and manufactories, a burning mass." When night

closed in the whole heavens were illuminated by the glare

of the conflagration, and the innumerable cani|)-iircs of the

Union hosts which lay encircling the conquered city, busy

with their final preparations for the storied March to the

Sea.

The troops, as they arrived at Atlanta, were immediately

ordered to draw clothing and rations, and to make the last

preparations for departure from the base of supplies, and in

these preparations they were employed during a great part

of the night. " All the troops," said Gen. Sherman, in his

report of the Georgia campaign, " were provided with good

wagon-trains loaded with ammunition and supplies, approx-

imating twenty days' bread, forty days' sugar and coffee,

a double allowance of salt for forty days, and beef-cattle

equal to forty days' supplies. The wagons were also sup-

plied with about three days' forage in grain. All were iu-

structed by a judicious system of foraging to maintain this

order of things as long as possible, living chiefly if not

solely upon the country, wliieli I knew to abound in corn,

sweet potatoes, and meats."

The forces composing the great army which Sherman

had concentrated here for the mysterious expedition, whohe

destination was then oidy a matter of conjecture, were com-

posed of four corps d'arm<5e,—the Seventeenth (a consoli-

dation of the old Sixteenth and Seventeenthj and the

Fifteenth forming his right wing, and the Fourteenth and

Twentieth forming the left wing of his gratid army of

invasion. In that army the po.silion of the Fourteenth

Slichigau was with the First Brigade, Second Division of

the Fourteenth Corps. The other regiments of the brigade

were the Tenth Michigan, the Sixteenth and Sixtieth Illi-

nois, and the Seventeenth New York, all under Col. Robert

F. Smith as brigade commander.

The right wing was the first to move out; then came the

Twentieth Corps, and lastly the Fourteenth, and with this

corps the Fourteenth Regiment marched away at noon on the

IGlli of November. A distance of eleven miles was made

during the afternoon, and at night the brigade bivouacked

near the celebrated Stone ilountain, a round-topped knob

of solid limestone about one mile in diameter at the base,

and rising bare and gray from the level plain to a height of

about thirteen hundred feet. From this halting-place the

regiment set out at six o'clock in the morning of the 17th,

and, with fine weather and a good road, made a march of

fifteen miles, passing through the decaying settlements of

Lassonia and Conyers' Station. On the 18th the Yellow

and Alcova Rivers, tributaries of the Ocmulgec, were

crossed on pontoons, and the tired men of the Fourteenth

lighted their bivouac fires in the vicinity of Covingtdii, the

seat of justice of Newton County. During this day they had

marched as train-guard, and made a distance of ten miles.

In the morning of the lUth they resumed their journey

at six o'clock, in a drizzling rain, and at night found them-

selves twenty miles from Covington, and twice that distance

from each of the towns of .Macon and Milledgeville. The

evening of the 20th saw them encamped three miles from

Eatonton and fifteen from Milledgeville. Here the dull

boom of distant artillery was heard, this being the first

hostile sound which they had heard since their departure

from Atlanta. Their march of the 21st was commenced at

ten A.M. and was continued until three p.m., at which time

twelve miles had been accomplished, and they went into

camp for the night.

Here they remained in rest during the following day,

and here the order of Gen. Sherman was read to them

giving the liberty to forage on the country, and to appro-

priate anything necessary for the sustenance of man or

beast. " These orders [said a letter written by an officer

of the brigade] were generally lived up to, and often ex-

ceeded. The citizens, on hearing of our approach, took

everything of value to the woods and swamps and covered

them with brush, or buried them in the ground. But the

' I'^anks' were not long in discovering this, and but little

is presumed to have escaped their notice. Sweet potatoes,

meal, flour, various kinds of li(|uor, tobacco, silk, and even

coin were thus unearthed from their hiding-places, and

many a frolic was had by the blue-coats at the Confederates'

expense.

" It was truly amusing to go ahead of the army proper

and see the foragers' proceedings. They were as good as

skirmishers and advance-guards, and often were the only

ones we had. They never failed to rout the rebels when-

ever and wherever (bund. Citizens could tell our approach

long before the army came along, by the popping of guns,

squealing of hogs, and the noisis of various farm fowls.

Nothing escaped the foragers' notice, and but little that was

serviceable to us eluded their grasp. When they came to

a plantation they generally separated into small squads,

each squad hunting for .some special thing. As if taught

by instinct that we meant them harm, all animals and fowls

tried to secrete themselves or get out of reach of us. Hogs,

sheep, and cattle would take to the woods, fowls to the

outbuildings, and turkeys to the trees. But it was all

of no avail. The enterprising and persistent Yankees,

prompted by hunger and the thought.s of a savory dish,

were sure to hunt them out and bring them to. We had

orders not to fire our guns to procure food, but that order

was oidy partially lived up to. Any animal which we could

not corner and eateh we shot; and when the fowls took to

the trees or the tops of buildings the Enfield rifle was sure

to bring them down. Often would the fat turkeys take

shelter in the trees, and cry quit, quid but there was no

quit. Occasionally the foragers would find a lot of tobacco,

honey, or sorghum molasses. Then there was a rush and

scramble. To many, a swarm of bees was no more an im-

pediment to the getting of the honey than if they had been

so many blue flies. A crowd of stildiers might be seen

around a barrel of molasses, liio head knocked in, and thoy

with their cups filling llieir canteens, cnfTee-pols, little pails,

and every available kind of vcisel thai would holil the sweet

fluid. At all hours of the day they might be scon coming
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in and taking their places in the ranks, with face, liands,

and clothes besmeared with molasses and honey. To see

them, one might think they would stick to the Union, or

to anything else ; and they would, too. Such was foraging

in Georgia, and even more than can be described with the

pen. Imagination must supply the rest."

In the morning of November 23d, at six o'clock, the

regiment was again on the road, and marched leisurely to

within two miles of Milledgeville, where it rested for the

night. About noon of the 24tli it passed through Milledge-

ville, and at night the men built their fires eight miles be-

yond the town. Here the foragers brought in a ton and a

half of captured flour found .secreted in a swamp. On the

25th a distance of eleven miles was made, and in the after-

noon of the 2Gth the brigade reached Sandersville, the

county-seat of Washington County. The marches of the

27th and 28th brought the regiment to a camping-place

one mile south of Louisville, the county-seat of Jeflferson,

where it remained for three days picketing and foraging.

In the first five days of December the men of the Four-

teenth marched sixty-three miles, and camped on the night

of the 5th at Briar Creek, sixty miles from Savannah.

During the 6th and 7th they made thirty-six miles, though

continually impeded by timber felled across the road and

bridges destroyed by the enemy. They had now entered

the marshy country lying along the south side of the

Savannah River. Their march of the 8th was uneventful,

but on the 9th they came upon a hostile battery of three

guns, so posted as to command a road or causeway over

which they were compelled to pass through one of the

swamps which were numerous in that region. The Second

Illinois Battery was ordered into position, and soon cleared

the road, but with the loss of one of its lieutenants killed.

The rebel battery on its retreat encountered the Twentieth

Army Corps, and was captured. On the lOth the regi-

ment with its brigade moved southward to the crossing of

the Savannah and Charleston Railroad, and went on picket

in that vicinity. In the morning of the following day

they marched nine miles south, and took position in the

Union line of investment four and a half miles from

Savannah,—one line being formed to face the city, and

another facing towards the country through which they

liad just passed. They had completed a distance of nine

hundred and forty miles, marched siuce the 28th of Sep-

tember, and now sat down to the siege of Savannah.

The city was defended by fifteen thousand to twenty

thousand men behind exceedingly strong fortifications, and

the artillery-fire under which the Fourteenth in common

with other regiments lay was uuiiitermitting day and night.

On the 1-lth news was received of the capture and occupa-

tion of Fort McAllister, south of the city. The first mail

received by the regiment in a period of six weeks came to

it here on the 17th. Finally, in the night of December

20th-21st, the enemy evacuated the city, and on the 2Lst

the troops marched in.

The Fourteenth remained a little more than four weeks

in Savannah, and it was whispered about among the men

that the division to which it belonged would be designated

as the one to hold and garrison the city when the army

should move north. This hope was soon crushed by the

arrival of Gen. Grover's division and its assignment to the

coveted duty, and there were many and loud murmurs of

dissatisfaction at the result, but these were of no avail, and

the men of the Fourteenth, in common with those of other

commands in the division, bore their disappointment as best

they could, and prepared for the loug and laborious march

through the Carolinas.

On the 20th of January, 1865, the regiment moved out

from Savannah, and took its way with the army up the

right bank of the Savannah River, bound north. It

reached Sisters Ferry, on the Savannah, January 2Sth,

and remained there until the night of Sunday, February

5th, when, with the other troops of the command, it

crossed to the north side of the river. '• Shouts and wild

hurrahs rent the welkin as the feet of each successive regi-

ment touched the soil of Carolina,"—so wrote an ofiBeer

who was present at this memorable crossing.

The regiment, after a two days' halt here, moved northward

on the 8th, and passed through South Carolina without

the occurrence of any especially notable event in its own

immediate experience. The march through this State was

much the same as it had been through Georgia, excepting

that here the foragers found a less productive field, and the

track of tlie army was marked by a far more general de-

struction of property than in Georgia, nearly all the build-

ings being burned, and only the tall, naked chimney-stacks

being left standing ; while all along the western and north-

western horizon great columns of smoke by day, and the

red glow of conflagration by night, told how the cavalry of

Kilpatrick were wreaking their treasured vengeance against

the Palmetto State.

The command marched through South Carolina by way

of Barnwell Court-House, AVilliston, and Lexington to the

vicinity of Columbia, the State capital, thence west of that

city to and up the right bank of the Catawba River to

Rocky Mount (where six days were spent in eflfectiog the ^'

crossing of Davis" division), and on from that point by a

forced march to the Great Pedee River, where a junction

was formed with the main body of the army. Entering

North Carolina a short distance above Cheraw, it reached

Fayetteville on the 11th of March, and on the following

day crossed the Cape Fear River, the brigade of which the

Fourteenth was a part being the first of all the army to pass

that stream. After this crossing, the brigade skirmished

with the enemy continually until the 16th, when the Con-

federate forces stood for battle at Averysboro'. In the en-

gagement which followed, the Fourteenth Michigan took a

leading part, advancing on the enemy's works with the

greatest bravery and carrying the first line, losing twenty-

two in killed and wounded, and taking a considerable

nuiuber of prisoners, though failing to dislodge the foe

from his second line of defense. The position thus gained

was held through the night, and in the morning it was

found that the Confederate works had been abandoned. A
vigorous pursuit ensued, in which lieavy skirmishing was

kept up with very little intermission until the 19th of

March, when the enemy again stood for battle at Beuton-

ville. The Confederate force at this point numbered be-

tween forty and fifty thousand men, under one of the ablest
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of tlieir comtuanders,—Gen. Joseph E. Johnston. The

position which ho had chosen was a very strong one, being

foiniidahly foitifiod and difficult of a.s.sault by reason of a

hirge swamp in its front. Ho did not, however, await an

attack, but took tlie initiative, charging five times with the

greatest fury on tiie temporary works of the Union troops.

At the hist charge tlie men of the Fourteenth Micliigan

(which held the extreme right of the Union line) and the

Sixteenth Illinois, which joined it on tiie left, leaped over

their parapet and made a counter-charge with such desper-

ation that they captured thirty-two officers (including one

general), two hundred privates, six hundred stand of arms,

and the regimental colors of the Fortieth North Carolina.

But while this was being done a force of the enemy had

gained their rear, occupied their works, and planted their

colors upon them. Upon seeing this they promptly faced

to the rear, and charged back upon the works which they

had themselves erected. A hand-to-hand fight ensued, in

which the Confederates lost heavily, and were driven from

the position in disorder, leaving more than one hundred

and thirty prisoners and the colors of the Fifty-fourth

Virginia in tlie hands of the Unionists.

This closed the day's fighting on this part of the line,

but at about ten o'clock on the following morning the

Fourteenth Michigan and Sixteenth Illinois were again

ordered i'orward to attack the hostile position. They ad-

vanced at double-quick, carried the work at the point of

the bayonet, took one hundred prisoners, and drove the foe

before them for nearly a mile. Here they were met by two

fresh brigades of rebels, with a full batter}', but notwith-

standing these overwhelming odds the Michigan and Illi-

nois men charged unhesitatingly and captured the battery.

The enemy, however, rallied, and, being so greatly superior

in number, recaptured the battery, and forced the two Union

regiments to retire a short distance, where they threw up a

light defense, and held it through the day and night, this

being nearly a mile in advance of all other Northern troops.

During the night the enemy retreated from his position,

and on the following day the aru)y of Gen. Sherman took

up its line of march for Goldsboro'. The Fourteenth Ilegi-

ment reached that place on the 21{d of March, and remained

there in camp until April 10th, when it moved on the road

to Raleigh, and kept up an almost continuous skirmish with

the rebel forces until it arrived at that city. From there it

moved, on the 13th, to the Cape Fear River, at Avon's

Ferry, where the cheering news of Johnston's surrender

was received. The fighting days ol'tho regiment were now

over, and on the I5()th of April it moved northward on the

road to Virginia and Washington. Proceeding by way of

Burkeville, Chesterfield, and Amelia Court-House, it reached

Manchester (on the south side of the James River, oi)iiosile

Richmond) on the 7th of iMay. Alter a halt of two days

it moved acro.ss the river, through the Confederate cajiital,

and pressed rapidly on towards the Potomac, where it

arrived about the 15th of May, and went into camj) at

Arlington Heights. On the 24th it took its place in the

grand review of Sherman's army at Washington. About

three weeks later it left the capital, and was moved by rail

and river to Louisville, Ky., where it was mustered out on

the 18th of July. From Louisville it was ordered to Jack-

1(»

son, Mich., and arrived there on the 21st. Eight days

afterwards the men of the Fourteenth received their pay

and were discharged from the service.

SOLDIERS FKOM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY IN THE FOURTEENTH.

Field and SUif.

Lieut-Col. M. W. Quackeiiliusll, Owosao; com. Not. 11,1802; nwj. Not. 1, 1801 ;

roBigiicd Marcli '.dS, 18(j:j.

Chap. Thomas B. Dook-y, Coruiiun ; com. Feb. 11,1862; resigued April 29, 1804.

Non-Commutionfd Staff.

Q.M.-Sergt. Henry 0. Jewell, Vernon ; enl. Jan. 24, 18G1 ; veUrau Jan. 14, 1864;

must, out July 18, 18G5.

Com.-Sorgt. Addison Biirtlctt, Shiawa-'^see
;
pro. 2d lieut. Co. B, Dec. 18, 1864.

Company A.

l8t Lieut. Marshall Ky te, Owosso ; com. March 14, 1865 ; sergt. Co. K ; must, out

July 18,1805.

John Groom, disch. Aug. 6, 1862.

Abel Hill, must, out July 18, 1805.

Otmpany B.

2d Lieut. Addison Bartlett, ShiawiiB^ico ; com. Dec. 18,18r4; com.-sergt.; res.

April 0, 1805.

Company D.

1st Lieut. GiUnian McCliutock, Owosso ; com. Not. 18, 1801 ; res. July :i, 1802.

1st Lieut. Cyrus V. Jacksou, Owosso ; com. July 4, 1S02 ; 2d lieut. Nov. 18, 1801

:

res. Aug, 2, 1804; maj. 15tli U. S. Cul. Tn>ops.

Charles 11. Allen, veteran, enl Jan. 4, 1S04.

William H. Adams, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1804.

Armead Botsford, must, out July 18, 1805.

Benjamin E. Crandall, diseh. Oct. 30, 1862.

John 11. Hays, veteran, eul. Jan. 4, 1804 ; must, out July 18, 1865.

John Hoy, must, out July 18, 1805.

Henry King, veteiau, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

Walter Laing, died of disease at Evansville, Ind., Sept. 16, 1802.

Charles McCarthy, disch. for disability, July 17, 1802.

Aiiroti Martin, disch. for disability, June 18, 186^5.

Ormau Jlillanl, died of disease, Middleburg, Mich.

William C. McFarren, veteian, Jan. 4, 1864.

David McCarty, veteran, Jan. 4, 1SC4.

Willinm i'rice, disch. at enil of service, Feb. 2, 1865.

John Kiclimouds, disch. for disability, Jan. 15, 1804.

Sidney Smith, disch. for disability, Oct. 13, 18lj3.

Teter Skutt, veteran, enl. Jati. 4, 1804; uuist. out July 18, 1865.

Francis Summer, veteran, Jan. 4, 1804.

William II. Slialler, veteran, Jan. 4, 1804; must, out July 18, 1805.

Edwiu It. Scutt, veteran, Jan. 4, 1804.

Company £'.

Capt. Edward S. Simonds, Shiawassee ; com. July 7, 1865; 2d llout. Sept. 1, 1804

;

sergt.; must, out July 18, 1805.

1st Lieut. C. C. Goodalc, Owosso; com. Nov. 1801; res. March 30, 1803.

2d Lieut. Daniel Wait, Owosso; com. Nov. 18, ISOl ; res. Feb. 4, 1803.

Sergt. Edward S. Simonds, Owosso; cul. Nov. 6, 1801; veteran, Jan. 4,1864;

pro. to 2d lieut.

Sergt. Henry Demiug, Scioto; onl. Dec. 4, 1801.

Sergt. Kvau Kobcrts, Antrim ; enl. Nov. 28, 1801 ; disch. Jan. 22, 18C1.

Corp. Lasello C. Brewer, Owosso; onl. Due. 2, 1801 ; disch. at end of scrvicu,

March 14, 1805.

Corp. Itoburt C. Kyle, Owosso ; cul. Dec. 21, 1801 ; disch. July li, 1802.

Corp. Beuj. F. Stevens, Owosso; enl. Dec. 21, 1801 ; disch. F»ib. 10, 18o;l.

Jiihn l^ Adams, ilisch. Dec. 30, I8i:2.

Edwin Bolslord, disch. Jan. 0, 1863.

Ebelie/.er Brewer, disch. for disability, July 10, 1802.

Beiijaiuiu Itagley, disch. Nov.'-21, 1802.

Jacob Bunch, disch, Oct. 17, 1802.

Julin II. Barnes, disch. for promotion in 23d Kogt,, Aug. II, 1802.

Jacob Byerly, died of disease, Aug. 21, 1802.

Leonard Black, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1804 ; must, out July 18, 18«5.

Mathew Coif, disch, Oct, 111, 1802,

George Clark, disch, for disability, April 17, 1802,

Levliius Coll, disch, fur disability, July 15, 1802.

Marcus Coir, disch. for disalillly, July 25, 18t)3.

Ezra Dibble, disch, fur disability, July 8, 1803.

Byron A. Dunn, disch. fur disability, July 8, I8fl:i.

Samuel C. Decker, discli. at end of »ei vice, Marcli 14, 1805.

William II. Dunbar, Teleran, Jan. 4, 1804; must, out July 18, IM9.

Jacob tie FoiosI, veteran, Jan. 4, 1864.

Jesse Fleming, veteran, Jan, 4, 1804 ; must, out July 18, 1805,

John Foil, died of disease at Aiiders.oivllle, tia,

William lion, disch at end of service, March 14, I860,

Jolhaiii Hunt, disch, for promoti May 17, 180:1.

Charles S. Harris, illsili. for diuiblllly, OcL 18, 1802.

Nathaniel Hyde, disch. for diKal.llity, July 22, 1802.

Wlllium Hill, died ul disease at luka, Uhu., Sopt. S, 1802,
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Welles J. Haynes, veteran, Murch 31, 1S64 ; must, out July 18, 1865.

Albert C. Johnson, veteran, Jan. •!, 1864 ; must, out July 18, 1865.

Valoi^ II. Morse, veteran, Jan. 4, 1804 ; must, out July IS, 1S65.

Thomas Munger, veteran, March 31, 1864.

Norman McLenilhan, disch. Slarch 10, 18G3.

Peter McNeliy, liisch. for disahility, July 1, 1862.

Husten Mahew, disch. at end of service, March 14, 1865.

Nuthiui Monroe, disch. at end of service, March 14, 1865.

William B. Monroe, ili^ch. at end of service, March 14, 1865.

Mason Phelps, disch. Sept. 16, 1862.

Israel Parslmll, disch. Jan. 4, 1863.

Ira A. PoUey, died at Columbia, Tenn., Nov. IS, 1863.

William Steen, died of disease at Owosso, Mich., June 15, 1S62.

John Seeveord, died of disease at St. Louis, Mo., Nov. 26, 1862.

Daniel D. See, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn., Dec. 15, 1862.

George Swimen, disch. for disability, Oct. 10, 18C2.

John W. Simpson, disch. for disability, July 25, 1863.

William Sargent, disch. for disability, June 16, 18G3.

George W. Smith, disch. Sept. 14, 1862.

Edward Sanford, disch. Nov. 18. 1862.

Allen Templer. disch. April 20, 1863.

Charles Terwilliger, disch. by order, Jan. 3, 1863.

Dor Tillolson, veteran, Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July IS, 18G5.

William Wiers, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn., Jan. 10, 1863.

Everett Woodbury, disch. at end of service, Nov. 10, 1863.

Company H.

Owen Miller, disch. to enl. in regul;ir service.

Company I.

Az;triah Fitch, disch. Aug. 22, 1SG2.

Caleb Hall, disch. Aug. 2, 1862.

Company K.

Sergt. Thomas Crane, Owosso, enl. Dec. 7, 1861; died of wounds at Nashville,

Tenn., Nov. 9, 1862.

John Buck, disch. 3Iarch IS, 1863.

James E. Crane, dieil of disease at luka. Miss., Oct. 21,1862. ,
Allen Davis, died of disease at Nashville, Teun., Dec. 10, 1862.

John G. Dellamater, veteran, Jan. 4, 1864.

Peter Garrison, veteran, Jan. 4, 1864.

Joseph Guyer, veteran, Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1860.

Williim Garrison, disch. at end of service, Feb. 13, I8(io.

Kichard O.lell, disch.

William D. Piatt, veteran, Jan. 4, 1864 ; must, out July 18, 1865.

Andrew Scott, discti. Aug. 29, 1864.

Olivers. Van Doran, veteran, Jan. 4, 1864 ; disch. by order, July 20, 1865.

John W. Wester, disch. for disabilily, Dec. 17,1862.

CLINTON COUNTY SOLDIERS IN THE FOUItTEEXTH.

CoDipanij A.

Ira .\rnistrong', disch. at enil of service, BLircli 14, 1865,

Nelson Hrown, died of disease at Nasliville, Tenn., Sept. 28, 1862.

William Hotaling, disch, Aug. 2H, 1862.

Oliii-y II. Itichmond, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1S64; disch, by order, July 20, 1865.

William \V. Thayer, VL'teran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; died in action at Uentonville,

N. C, March VJ, 1865.

Perry Watkins, died of disease at Nashville, Teuo., Apiil 15, 1SG3.

Company C.

James Barrett, veteran, enl. Jan. 3, 1S64 ; must out July 18, 1S65.

Francis Hintou, died of disease at Cincinnati, Ohio, June 25, 1S62.

Coitipany D.

Ist Lieut. Sylvanus BacheMer, Bath; com. March 14,1865; pro. to 2d lieut.

Dec. 29, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

Sergt. Sylvanus Bachelder, Bath; enl. Nov. 30, 1861 ; veteran, Jan. 4, 1864; pro.

to 2d lieut.

Corp. Theron Wead, Eagle; enl. Dec. 3, 1861; disch. Aug. 27, 1862.

GeorgL' Barnuni, disch. March 26, 1S63.

Benj. Lyman, disch, for disability, June IS, 1863.

John A. Bixby, disch. Oct. 13, 1862.

Ezra Benjamin, disch. by order, June 13, 1865.

Junalli;ni Burke, died of disease at Ypsilanti, Mich., Jan. 19, 1862.

Saiunel Carl, discli. for disability, April 16, 1862,

George S. Culver, disch. by order. May 20, 1865.

Stephen B. Crane, disch. at end of service, April 6, 1SG5.

William H. Clark, disch. at end of senice, April 11, 1865,

Jacob S. Clark, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

Jared De Bar, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 18G4; must, out July 18, 1865.

Milliam W. Fenton, disch. July 24, 1862.

George W. Howe, disch, Feb. 10, 1863.

Napoleon B. Howe, disch. Oct. 8,1862.

Hanlord H. Ilawley, disch. at end of service, April 11, 1865.

Jonathan Hendt-i-son, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864.

John B. Morgan, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

Samuel McKibbiu, died of disease at Ypsilanti, April 16, 1862.

Levi Morgan, died of disease in New York harbor, April 16, 18G5.

Henry W. Newsom, disch. at end of service, March 14, 1865.

Jidm Sinclair, disch for disability, April 16, 1SG2.

John E. Sweet, disch. Dec. 19, 1862.

Jiidsou Smith, disch.

Wilford N. Scadin, disch. at end of senice, March 14, 1865,

Andrew Seckenger, died of disease at Farmington, >lis3., Aug. 2, 1862.

Ansel Stevens, died of disease at Njishville, Teun., Doc, 19, 1862.

William Showerman, veteran, eul. Jan. 4, 1861; died in action at Atlanta, Ga.,

Aug. 7, 1S64.

Alfred Sprague, must, out July 18, 1865.

Harlan P. Towner, must, ont July 18, 1865,

William P. Trombly, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

Herman V. Trombly, vetemn, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; disch. by order, July 25, 1865.

Richard Thorp, disch. by onler, Sept. 18, 1865.

Samuel Talman, disch. f.>r disability, Feb. 11, 18G5,

Joshua Thuma, died of disease at Big Springs, Miss., June 26, 1862.

Compmiy E.

2d Lieut. William H, Shiffor, St, John's, com. July 7, 1865; must, out July 18,

1865.

Oliver D. Beebe, disch. Sept. 14, 1862,

Hezekiah Marcy, died of disease near Farmington, Miss., July 17, 1862.

Williiiiu A, Marsh, veteran, enl, Jan. 4, 18G4.

Ojtnpany F.

Corp. Ferdinand Platte, Westphalia; eul, Oct. 14,1861 ; re-enl. as veteran, Jan.

4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

Anthony Arnst, disch. at end of service, March 14, 1865,

Henry Ainerhtim, disch. at end of service, March 14, 1865,

Fiancis Blondy, disch. at end of service, March 14, 1S65.

John Baker, veteran, eul. Jan. 4, 1S64; disch. by order, July 19, 1865,

Peter Fox, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

Sibres Miller, disch. for disability, Aug. 16, 1862.

Peter Pung, disch. at end of service, March 14, 1865,

Henry Uuchal, vetGi-an, enl. Feb, 5, 1864; died in a<-tion in North Carolina,

JIarch 19, 1865.

Peter Snndy, died of disease in Mississippi, Aug. 20, 1862,

Timothy Serge, trans, to Vet. Res. Corpi, Jan. ID, 1865.

Jacob Stenkle, must, out July 18, 1865.

Anthony W'ertz, disch, for disability, July 10, 1862.

Anthony Wehr, veteran, enl. Jan, 4, 1864; disch. July 19, 1865.

Company H.

Henry Myers, disch. Oct. 1, 1862.

Company K.

Capt. John Kelly, We.'itphalia; com. Nov. 18, 1861 ; res. Juno 4, 18G3.

1st Lieut. Cha.s. B. Rose, Westphalia; com. Nov. 18, 18G1 ; died of di^ea-^e at

Farmington, iliss., June 11, 1862.

Corp. Edward Brass, Duplain ; eul. Dec. 13, 1861 ; died of disease at Farming-

ton, Mis^., July 18, 1SG2.

Corp. David Luuniis, Victor ; enl. Nov. 8, 1861 ; disch. April 24, 1863.

Corp. Samuel Kinney, Greenbush; enl. Dec. 13, 18G1; veteran, Jan. 4, 1864;

absent on furh'Ugh on uiuster out,

Corp. Martin C. Myers, Ea^le ; enl. Dec. 31, 1861 ; veteran, Jan. 4, 1864 ; died

in action in Georgia, July 6, 1864.

Sergt. John Sly, Bengal; eul. Nov, 19,1861; veteran, Jan. 4, 1864; must, out

July 18, 1865.

Wallace Anthony, disch. Dec. 9, 1862.

Talman Beardsley, disch. for disabilily, July 1,1862.

Wm. H. Barnes, died of disease in Ohio, Jan. 31, 1S65.

Edwin Baldwin, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

Samuel S. Bennett, must, out July 18, 1865.

Fredk. Carpenter, veteran, cnl, Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

Jacob C<jok, must, ont July 18, 1865.

Michael Cook, must, out July 18,1865.

Charies Calkins, disch. for disability, July 23, 1862,

Jacob L. Douil, died of disease. May 29, 1862.

Franklin Fish, died of disease, March 25, 1862,

Zuriel Fish, disch. for disability, March 1, 18fi2,

John Fisler, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864 ; disch. by order. May 15, 1865.

Deander Ferris, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864 ; disch. by order, Aug. 1, 1865.

Jasper Harrington, disch. for disability, July 24, 1862.

Richard Jones, disch. for disability, July 1, 1862.

Robert M. Jones, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

Marshall T. Kyte, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

David Loomis, disch. April 24, 1S63,

Mathias Miller, must, out July 18, 18G5.

John Morolf, must, out July 18, 1865.

Henry Murphy, veteran, eul. Jan. 4, 1864; must, out July 18, 1865.

Jeptha Owen, disch. for disability, Sept. 8, 1862.

Oscar Peck, disch. for disability, Feb. 15, 1862.

Homer Parks, disch. for di.sability, July 10, 1862.

Orrin Parks, disch. Jan. 8,1863.

Wm. H. Parks, died of disease at Detroit, Aug. 5, 1862,

Albert Passage, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; died in action iu Georgia, July 5,

1865,
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Alpbens Passage, discli. for ilisiibility, March 22, 18C5.

Thos. Ru-bulfmil, died of dsease, March 12, 181)2.

Chas. lioliinson, died of disi-nse at D k Springs, Miss.. .Jiil.v IG, 1802.

Edwanl Rjiliy, veteian, enl, Jan. 4, ISIH; nni^t. out Jul.v 18, 18G5,

Thus. Sliaw, vcleran, enl. Jan. 4, 1SG4 ; died in action at Jonesl)Oro', Ga., Sept.

1,1804.

Henry Siiiffer, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1804; pro. to 2d lient. Co. E.

Caleb Silvei-s, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1804 ; must, out Jnly 18, 18G5.

Richard Silvers, disch. lor disability, July 1.5, 1802.

John Shook, veteran, enl. Feb. 9, 1864; discb. by order, July 29, 1SG5.

John Spears, disch. Dec. 4, 18G2.

Jtclton Soper, discb. at end of service, March 14, 1805.

Nicholjis Srhernisli, disch. by order, Jnm* 8, 180.5.

Jerry Sullivan, died of disease in Indiana, Jnly 17, 1802.

John Sly, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1804; must, out July 18, 1R05.

Moses H. Tntlle, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 18G4; died on the field, Jnly 5, 18G4.

Marvin Thonuis, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1804; must, out July 18, 1805.

Il'-nry II. Tillapaugh, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1804; must, out July 18, 1805.

ThoB. Ulrich, died of disease at Nashville, Oct. 19, 1802.

David 1). Wheeler, disch. for di.sability, July 10, 1802.

Chas. S. Wise, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 18G4; disch. by order, July 20, 1865.

CHAPTER XI.

TWENTY-THIKD INFANTRY.

Renilezvous and Organization at E.ast Saginaw—Service in Kentucky

and Ohio—March to East Tennessee and Campaign in that Section

—The (jeorgia Campaign—Pursuit of Hood—Battles of Columbia,

Franklin, and Nashville—Transfer to the East and Service in North

Carolina—End of the War and Return Home.

The Twenty-tliiid Re<:iment was made up of men from

tlie counties composing the Sixth Congressional District,

and was raised and organized in the summer of 1862 under

the President's call for volunteers, issued on the 2d of

July, immediately after the close of the Seven Days' bat-

tles on the Virginia peninsula. The regimental rendezvous

was established at East Saginaw, and D. H. Jerome, Esq.,

was designated as commandant of the camp of instruction

and organization.

In this regiment the county of Clinton was represented

by one full company under command of Capt. (now General)

O. L. Spaulding, and another company (under Capt. Henry

Walbridge) of which very nearly all the members were from

Clinton.

Sliiawassee County furnislied for the Twenty-third a full

company under command of Capt. John Carland,* of

Corunna, and besides the above-mentioned companies sev-

eral others of the regiment contained men from Shiawassee

and Clinton Counties.

The headquarters of both the Clinton companies were

at tiie village of St. John's. The first enlistment in ('apt.

Spaulding's company was made on the 15tii of July, and

on the Uth of August it had attained the minimum strengtii

necessary for muster. Soon afterwards it was reported at

the East Saginaw rendezvous, and was incorporated in the

regiment as (Jompany A, with William Sickles as its first

and James Travis as second lieutenant.

Capt. Spaulding had been assisted in tht; recruiting of

his company by Henry Walbridge, with the expectation

tliat the latter would be made its first lieutenant, but when

it became apparent that many more than enough men to

* Capt. Carland was afterwords major of the regiment, and is nfiw

an officer in the Sixth United Slates Infantry.

fill one company could be obtained here he commenced the

formation of a second company, which was filled without

much difficulty, and he became its captain, with Stephen

J. Wright as first and Alonzo 0. Hunt as second lieu-

tenant. This company was designated as G company of

the Twenty-third.

The Shiawassee company was recruited by Capt. Carland,

1st Lieut. Benjamin F. Briscoe, and 2d Lieut. JIarvin

Miller, who were its original ofiicers. In the organization

of the Twenty-third this became Company II. The regi-

ment was mustered into the United States service on the

13th of September, 18(J2, with eight hundred and eighty-

three officers and men under command of Col. Marshall AV.

Chapin. The regimental surgeon was Dr. Louis Fasquelle,

of St. John's.

When the Twenty-third Regiment left East Saginaw for

the theatre of war it moved by detachments. The first of

these—composed of Companies C, H, and K—broke camp

in the morning of September 17th, and were transported on

the cars of the Flint and P6re Marquette Railway to Mount

Morris, which was then the southern terminus of the road
;

and thenee were moved across the country, by way of Flint,

to the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad, over which they

proceeded by train to Detroit. On the following day the

remaining companies left the rendezvous, and moved by the

same route to Detroit, where they arrived in the evening,

and all were hospitably entertained by the patriotic citizens.

With but little delay the ten companies were embarked on

steamers, which landed them at Cleveland the next morn-

ing, the weather being rainy and dismal, and the condition

of the men anything but comfortable. From Cleveland,

the regiment moved by rail across the State of Ohio to

Cincinnati, whence, after a stop of some hours, it again

proceeded by railroad, and on Sunday morning, September

21st, reached Jefiersonville, Ind., on the north bank of the

Ohio River, opposite Louisville, Ky. In the afternoon of

the same day the command moved to "Camp Gilbert,"

near by, and that night, for the first time, the tired men of

the Twenty-third slept upun the soldier's bed,—the bosom

of mother earth.

The city of Louisville was at that time in a panic-stricken

condition on account of the repented approach of the rebel

general S. B. Buckner, with a strong Confederate force.

In conseciuence of this, many people were leaving their

homes in the city and cro.ssing to the north side of the

river. Large quantities of government stores were also

being transferred to the Indiana side, by order of the gen-

eral then in command at Louisville. The Twenty-third

was placed on duty, guarding the public property and ferry

landings at JefliT.sonville, and remained so employed for

two days and nights, at the end of which time it crossed

the river and camped in the southwestern suburbs of Louis-

ville. Hero the situation of the men was not the most

comfortable, and it was made worse by thoir ahuost com-

plete ignorance of the methods by which veteran soldiers

mana"e to force something like cmnlort out of the most

unfavorable surroundings. A (cw Imuis later they were

ordered to move to another campingplace, and while on

their way thither tluy passed a biigade or divi.siuii of the

army of Gen. Buell, which bad then just entered the city
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after a fatiguing forced march from Nashville in pursuit of

the Southern army under Gen. Brajrg. As the Twenty-

third marched past the dusty and battle-scarred veterans of

Shiloh, Farmington, and luka, the latter indulged (as vet-

erans are apt to do) in many a sneer at the expense of the

fresh troops, few of whom had yet heard the whistle of a

hostile bullet. An officer of the Twenty-third* says of this

incident :
" The contrast of their dirty, tattered, and torn

garments with our men was a matter of much comment.

We were surprised that they jeeringly hinted at our green-

ness and inferiority, which a few months' experience in

marches and on battle-fields would change. In time we

learned that they had not been mistaken in their estimate

of our relative merits as soldiers."

The camp to which the regiment was moved at this time

will be well recollected by those who occupied it as " the

brick -yard camp," a dreary and comfortless place, where the

command remained without tents or other shelter until the

afternoon of the 3d of October, when the Thirty-eighth

Brigade (Army of the Ohio), composed of the One Hun-

dred and Second and One Hundred and Eleventh Ohio,

One Hundred and Twenty-ninth Illinois, and Twenty-third

Slichigan, all under command of Gen. Dumout, marched

away from Louisville, on the road to Slielbyvilie, Ky. The

weather was very hot, the road dusty, water almost impos-

sible to obtain, and the men, not having yet learned the

meaning of" light marching order," were overloaded with

the cumbrous outfits which they brought from home ; so

that when, late at night, they halted on the bank of a muddy

stream known as " Floyd's Fork," the exhausted and foot-

sore troops were glad enough to lie down upon the ground,

with no shelter but their blankets, and no thought but that

of rest from the fatigues of this, their first severe march.

Late the next morning they arose stiff and sore in every

joint, and soaked with the rain which was still falling.

Coffee was made from the muddy water of the stream, in

which hundreds of mules were stamping and wallowing.

The rations were neither very good nor plentiful, but these

were on this occasion supplemented by supplies taken from

a mansion which stood near by, and from which the occu-

pants had fled on the approach of the troops. " The sol-

diers, impressed with the idea that all food, raiment, and

other movables found in the enemy's country belonged to

Uncle Sam's elect, proceeded to ransack the premises,

bringing ofi^ meat, meal, vegetables, sauces, honey, jellies,

preserves, and some pretty good stock for the stable,—

a

portion of which we recognized the next spring grazing in

Michigan."

From Floyd's Fork the regiment moved early in the follow-

ing morning towards Shelbyville, which was reached the same

evening, and the Twenty-third encamped in the vicinity of

the village. Here the brigade remained until the morning

of October 9th, when it moved through the village and on

towards Frankfort, arriving in the neighborhood of that

town the same night, the advance-guard of the force having

already entered the city after a skirmish with the cavalry

of the enemy, who had succeeded in destroying the fine

^' Ciipt. W. A. Lewis, of the Twcnty-tliird, from whom all the quo-

t.uions iu this sketch (unless otherwise noted) are made.

bridge of the Lexington and Frankfort Railroad, and had

attempted the destruction of the turnpike-bridge, but had

been driven away before accompli.shing it.

Large numbers of negroes had fallen in with the column

on its march from Louisville to Frankfort. Some of these

had engaged as servants to the officers, hut the greater part

of them were following the troops without any definite ob-

ject that was apparent. So numerous were the dusky

crowds that " there wore found among them the names or

lineal de.scendants of every prominent general in the rebel

army." A considerable number of Kentucky horses had

also " fallen in" on the line of march, and were being ridden

by officers and privates; but " on arrival at Frankfort there

came for these a host of claimants, and the day was one of

reckoning for those in whose possession they were found."

A court-martial was instituted, and held a protracted session

at Frankfort. " It must have made sad havoc among the

Wolverines but for the fact that our fighting companion,

Capt. Walbridge, who rode the best captured steed into the

town on that eventful morning (October 10th), was the

honored judge-advocate in the court."

With the exception of an expedition in pursuit of the

guerrilla chief, John Morgan, the Twenty-third remained at

Frankfort thirteen days. It was at this time under com-

mand of Maj. B. F. Fisher, the colonel being in command

of the brigade, and Lieut. -Col. Pratt being absent. It was

while the regiment laid at this place that the death oc-

curred of Lieut. John Earle, of " E" company, en Sunday,

Oct. 19, 1SC2. His remains were sent home to. Michigan in

charge of Sergt. Lyons, and at about the same time the regi-

ment received the sad news of the death of Capt. Norville,

of fever, at Saginaw City, October 3d.

At a little past midnight on the morning of the day of

Lieut. Earle's death, the men of the Twenty-third were

startled from their sleep by the thrilling sound of the " long

roll," and at one o'clock A.M. they were marching rapidly

away in pursuit of the redoubtable Morgan, who was re-

ported to be at Lawrenceburg. Two companies of the

regiment, however (G and K), were left as guard at

Frankfort. The pursuing column was, almost as a matter

of course, a little too late to overtake the main body of

Morgan's force, but succeeded in capturing a few men and

horses belonging to his rear-guard, and with these trophies

the command returned the same evening to the camp at

Frankfort, having marched twenty-six miles under the

usual disadvantages of choking dust and great scarcity of

water.

The regiment took its final departure from Frankfort late

in the afternoon of the 21st of October, and encamped that

night in an oak grove, a few miles down the road towards

Lawrenceburg. On the following day it passed through

that town, and made its camp for the night at Big Spring,

some miles farther on. The weather had suddenly grown

cold, and manj- of the men suffered for need of the blankets,

which had been foolishly thrown away as incumbrances iu

the heat and dust of previous marches. In the morning

of the 23d the Kentucky hills and vales were white with

hoar frost. The regiment was early in line, and during

this day's march passed through Harrodsburg. Here the

men were not permitted to make a free exploration of the
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town, on account of tlieir rather daniajrinu: record as indis-

criminate foragers. About noon of the 24th they passed

through the little village of Perry ville, in the outskirts of

which the armies of Buell and Bragg liad fought the battle

of Chaplin Hills, sixteen days before, many of the Union

and Confederate wounded from that engagement being still

in the village, and in the farm house hospitals of the vi-

cinity. That night the weary men of the Twenty-third

made their bivouac on the banks of an abundant and toler-

ably clear stream of water, called the Rolling Fork. In

the march of the following day, this stream was crossed

and recrossed many times in its meanderirigs, and late in

the day the regiment reached the little half-burned village

of Bradibrdsville. The latter part of the day's march had

been made in a cold, drenching rain, which, as night fell,

turned to snow, and on the following morning (Sunday,

October 2Gtli) the Arctic covering lay six inches deep over

the ground. This was considered a remarkable event for

tliat latitude, and it brought remembrances of their Northern

homes to the minds of many whose eyes would never again

look upon the whitened expanse of the Michigan hills and

valleys. During all that Sabbath day the tired men en-

joyed a season of rest and recreation around their comforta-

ble camp fires, and while they rested the snow disappeared,

so that their march of the following day was over bare

roads, but free from tormenting dust. In the evening of

the 27th the brigade arrived at New Market, Ky., where

several commands of the rear-guard of Buell's army were

found encatnped, and where the Twenty-third and its com-

panion regiments also went into camp and remained for

eight days, engaged in recuperation, drill, and the prepara-

tion of muster-rolls, to be used upon a pay-day which all

hoped might come in the near future.

The Twenty-third again moved forward with its brigade

on the 4th of November, and on the following day it passed

through Munfordsville, where a Union force of ten thousand

men lay encamped. On the Gth it reached Dripping Springs,

where it remained one day, and in the afternoon of the 8th

arrived at Bowling Green, Ky.,a town which " had the ap-

pearance of having been visited by pestilence, famine, and

the besom of destruction," as was remarked by some of the

officers of the Twenty-third. " A large rebel force had

wintered there, and remained until driven out by the Union

forces under Gen. Mitchell, and they had made of the

whole visible creation one common camping-ground." This

place was destined to be the home of the regiment for a

period of more than six months. Its camp (which was

afterwards transformed into substantial and comfortable

winter quarters) was pitched near the magnificent railroad-

bridge crossing the Big Barren River, and the guarding of

this bridge formed a part of the duty of the regiment during

the winter of 1862-63 ; its other duties being camp rou-

tine, drill, picket, provost, and railway guard, and the con-

voying of railroad trains of stores over the road from

JSuwling Green to Nashville. While here the Twenty-

third, with its brigade, formed part of the Tenth Division

of the Army of the Cumberland, and they were successively

under command of Gens. Granger, Man.son, and Judah, as

commandants of the post during the six months that they

remained here.

Many notable events—some pleasant, some painful, and

others ludicrous—occurred in the history of the regiment

during its long stay at Bowling Green. Near the town was

a pleasure-ground, many acres in extent, with a magnificent

spring of clear cold water in its centre. This seems to have

been a favorite resort for both citizens and soldiers, and we

are told that " here, upon many a happy occa.sion, the beauty

and the chivalry of Bowling (Jrecn, and many inveterate

Yankees, assembled to enjoy the scene of unequaled hilarity

and mirth." It was several times the case that snow fell to

a sufficient depth for sleighing, and those opportunities for

pleasures were improved to the utmost. Private entertain-

ments, too, were sometimes given by the citizens, and

" there were, in several instances, strong indications of at-

tachments between some of the boys in blue and the fair

damsels of Bowling Green. . . . These were oases in the

dreary Sahara of the war." On the morning of the mo-

mentous 1st of January, 1863, the artillery on College Hill

fired a salute, which was afterwards changed to target prac-

tice; and during a part of the time of its continuance the

camp of the Twenty-third Michigan seems to have been the

target, for several solid shots were thrown into it, doing some

damage to quarters, and creating no little consternation.

This was the first time the regiment had been actually under

fire.

On the Gth of April, 1863, occurred one of the most dis-

tressing events in the experience of tlie regiment at Bow-

ling Green. This was the sudden death of Lieut.-Col.

Pratt. He had mounted a powerful and restive horse, but

was scarcely seated in the saddle when the fiery animal

plunged and reared so violently as to fall backwards upon

the colonel, crushing and killing him instantly. He was a

good and popular officer, and was sincerely mourned by the

men and officers of the regiment.

Upon the death of Lieut.-Col. Pratt, Maj. O. L. Spauld-

ing (who had been advanced to that rank to fill the vacancy

caused by the resignation of Maj. B. F. Fisher, February

3d) was promoted to be lieutenant-colonel of the Twenty-

third, dating from the day of the gallant Pratt's death.

From that time until the close of the war Col. Spaulding

was almost constantly in command of the regiment.

When .spring had fairly ojjcned, it began to be rumored

that the troops occupying Bowling Green would soon be

moved from there and enter active service. The men of

the Twenty third Michigan did not regret this probability

of a change, for although their experience there had been

in some respects as plea.sant as any which soldiers in time

of war have a right to expect, yet they had been terribly

reduced in numbers by sickness while there, and it was be-

lieved that this evil would be aggravated by the coming of

warm weather. Besides, they had grown tired of the mo-

notonous duty which they were ci^lled on to perform here,

and were, as soldiers almost always arc, inclined to wish for

a change. About the 20th of May orders were received to

make all preparations for a movement, and to hold the com-

mands in readiness for the march; and on the 2'Jth of the

same month the regiment broke camp, and moved with its

bri'.;ade on the road to Glasgow, Ky., which point was

reached on the 30th, and here the Twenty-third remained

until the 13th of June, when it was ordered in pursuit of a
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force of guerrillas, said to be at Randolph, about twelve miles

distant. Almost as a matter of course nothing resulted

from this expedition, and the regiment returned to Glasgow

on the 16th, after a most severe and exhausting march.

On the 22d it again moved, with Manson's brigade, to

Scottsville; thence, on the 26th, to Tompkinsville ;
and,

July 4th, back to Glasgow. Here, however, it made little

stay, but marched out (now in full pursuit of John Mor-

gan) to Munfordsville, reaching there July 7th, then to

Elizabethtown and Louisville by rail, reaching the latter

city on the 11 th. Morgan was now reported across the

Ohio River, in Indiana. The Twenty-third, as part of the

command of Gen. Judab, crossed to New Albany, Iiid., but,

making little stop there, proceeded to Jefiersouville, and

thence up the river by steamer, passing Madison, Ind., ou

the 12th, and reaching Cincinnati in the evening of the

13th; its brigade being the first to reach that city. From

Cincinnati the fleet (ou which was the Twenty-third, with

the other regiments under command of Gen. Judali) passed

up the river to Maysville, Concord, and Portsmouth, Oiiio,

at which latter place they remained until July 20th, when

they returned to Cincinnati, and disembarked the troops.

From there the Twenty-third Regiment, under command

of Lieut.-Col. Spaulding,—and unaccompanied by any other

troops,—was transported by railroad to Chillicothe, and

thence to Hamden Junction, where it encamped for a lew

days. Within the camp-ground of the regiment at this

place there remained a rude rostrum, from which, on a

previous occasion, the notorious Vallandigham had set forth

his peculiar views to the population of Southern Ohio. But

now the same rostrum was occupied by the chaplain of the

Twenty-third, the Rev. J. S. Smart, who most eloquently

" consecrated it to the cause of freedom, while the regiment

made the welkin ring with shouts for liberty and the

Union."

The pursuit of Morgan had now ceased, for the forces of

that daring leader had already been driven from Ohio, ex-

cept such as had been destroyed or captured. The regi-

ment soon after this returned to Cincinnati, and after a

short delay moved (under orders delivered by Gen. Burn-

side in person to Col. Spaulding) across the Ohio to Cov-

ington, and thence by rail to Paris, Ky., where Lieut.-Col.

Young, with two companies of the One Hundred and

Eighteenth Ohio, was threatened by a superior force of

Confederate cavalry, commanded by the rebel general

Pegram. The Twenty-third reached Paris on the 29th of

July, just at the close of a brisk fight, which had been

brought on by an attempt on the part of Pegram to destroy

an important railway-bridge at that point. The opportune

arrival of the Twenty third prevented any further attempt

by the enemy to burn the bridge, and doubtless also saved

the force of Lieut.-Col. Young from a second attack and

not improbable capture. The conduct of the regiment in

this affair was most creditable to its commander, Lieut.-Col.

Spaulding, and to all the oflicers and men under him.

The regiment remained at Paris until the -tth of August,

when it moved, by way of Lexington and Louisville, to

Lebanon, Ky., and thence to New Market, where it arrived

on the 8th of August, and was incorporated with the

Second Brigade, Second Division, of the Twenty-third

Army Corps, then organizing at that point. In this or-

ganization Col. Chapin commanded the brigade (composed

of the Twenty-third Michigan, the One Hundred and Elev-

enth Ohio, the One Hundred and Seventh Illinois, and the

Thirteenth Kentucky), and the Twenty-third remained

under command of Lieut.-Col. Spaulding.

Marching orders were received on the 16tli of August,

and at two P..M. on the following day the regiment, with its

divi.sion, moved out and took up the long and wearisome

march for East Tennessee. The camp of that night was

only seven miles out from New Market, on Owl Creek,

where the command rested during all of the following day

and night, but moved forward again at daybreak in the

morning of the 19th, and camped that night on Green

River. The march was resumed on the following morning,

and two days later (August 22d) the regiment forded the

Cumberland River and began to ascend the foot-hills of

the Cumberland Mountains. In the evening of the 25th

it made its camp at Jamestown, the county-seat of Fentress

Co., Tenn.

On the 30th the command reached Montgomery, Tenn.,

where were Gens. Burnside and Ilartsuff, with the main

body of the army, commanded by the former officer. In

passing through this little settlement " an enthusiastic old

lady harangued the corps upon the glory of its mission,

alternately weeping and shouting, invoking the blessings

of heaven upon the troops, and pouring out volleys of

anathemas upon the enemies of the country."

On the 1st of September the men of the Twenty-third,

having passed the gorges of the mountains, descended their

southeastern slope to the valley of the Tennessee, and camped

late at night on the right bank of the Clinch River, a trib-

utary of the larger stream. Fording the Clinch in the

forenoon of the 2d of September, the corps marched for-

ward and passed through Kingston, a considerable town of

East Tennessee, near which the waters of the Clinch join

those of the Holston and form the Tennessee River. The

camp of the Twent3--third was pitched for the night about

two miles beyond Kingston. At five o'clock in the morning

of the 3d the troops were in line ready for the march, and

then, for eight long weary hours, the Twenty-third Michi- \

gan and its companion regiments of the brigade waited for

the order to move. At nine o'clock in the forenoon the

brigade was formed in square four liuas deep, and while

standing in that formation was addressed by its commander,

Gen. White, who read a dispatch just received from Gen.

Burnside, announcing the capture of Knoxville by the Union

forces. Gen. White then congratulated his command, and

called on Col. Chapin of the Twenty-third for a speech.

The colonel responded in an address, which being brief and

comprehensive is given here entii'e. He said, " Boys, the

general calls on me to make a speech. You know that I

am not much of a speaker, and all I have to say is, that

you've done d d well I Keep on doing so !"

Long and loud acclamations greeted this vigorous ha-

rangue ; then the brigade resumed its previous formation,

and, after another tedious delay, moved out on the road to

Loudon, which was reached early in the afternoon of Fri-

day, September 4th. The enemy had hastily evacuated all

the strong works which they had built at this place, but

J
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had succeeded in destroying; the great and important rail-

road-bridge across the river. Here the brigade remained

for about ten days.

During the latter part of the march across the mountains

supplies had become so much reduced that rations of corn,

in the ear, were issued to some of the troops, and after their

arrival at London this situation of affairs was but little im-

proved until Tuesday, the 8th of September, when the first

railroad-train roaehcd the town from Knoxvillc, and was

hailed with wild delight by the weary and hungry soldiers.

Before this, however, their necessities had been partially

relieved by repairing and putting in running order a grist-

mill which tlie enemy had dismantled before his evacuation.

The advance of the wagon-trains also came up at about the

same time that the railroad was opened for use.

At two o'clock in the morning of September 15th the men

of the Twenty-third wei-e roused from their slumbers to

prepare for a march, and one hour later they were moving

on the road to Kuoxville, twenty-eight miles distant. This

march was performed with all possible speed, and late in the

afternoon the regiment bivouacked within a short distance of

the capital of East Tennessee. The next morning it entered

the city, but soon after proceeded by rail to Morristown, a

distance of about forty miles. Only a short stay was made

here, and on the 19th it returned to Knoxvillc, and went

into camp at the railroad depot. The next day was the Sab-

bath, and here, for the first time in months, tiie ears of the

men were greeted by the sound of church-bells, and they

passed the day in rest and quiet, little dreaming of the furi-

ous battle that was then raging away to the southward, upon

the field of Chickamauga, or of the rout and disaster to the

Union arras which that day's sunset was to witness.

At four o'clock Monday morning the brigade took the

road towards Loudon, and arrived there the same night.

Here the regiment occupied a pleasant and elevated camp

in a chestnut grove, and remained stationed at Loudon for

about five weeks, engaged in picket duty and scouting, and

during the latter part of the time frequently ordered into

line of battle, and continually harassed by reports of the

near approach of the enemy under Longstrect, who had

been detached from the army of Bragg in Georgia, and was

pressing northward with a heavy force towards Knoxvillc.

This advance of Longstrect decided Gen. Bnrnsidc to

retire his forces from Loudon, and on the 28th of October

the place was evacuated ; the Twenty-third Michigan being

the last regiment to cro.ss the pontoon-bridge, which was

then immediately swung to the siiore, and the boats loaded

upon cars and sent to Knoxvillc. All this being accom-

plished, the army moved to Lenoir, Tenn., and camped be-

yond the town, the line of encampment extending many

miles. The same night the camp-fires of the enemy blazed

upon the hills of Loudon, wliich the Union forces had just

evacuated.

At the new camp on the Lenoir road 'the regiment re-

mained until the 12th of November, when it moved with

the army back to Huff's Ferry,,where a heavy eng.agement

ensued, in which Col. Chapin's brigade (the Second of the

Second Division, Twenty-tiiird Army Corp.s) moved to the

attack on the double-quick, and, after a severe figlit against

overwhelming odds, drove the rebels back for more than

three miles. The enemy's force (consisting of three of

Longstreet's veteran regiments) took up an apparently im-

pregnable position on a hill ; but the Second Brigade

(Chapin's) charged the works promptly, and with such

effect that in less than fifteen minutes the hill was cleared

and the enemy in disorderly retreat.

The next day after the battle the army retreated to

Lenoir, the Second Brigade holding the most exposed po-

sition in the column, that of rear-guard, to cover the re-

treat. At Lenoir the camp equipage and transportation

was destroyed, the teams turned over to the several bat-

teries, and in the following morning .the army continued its

rapid march towards Knoxvillc. On the Ifith the retreat-

ing column was overtaken by the pursuing forces of Long-

street at Campbell's Station, where a severe battle was

fought, resulting in the repulse of the enemy and the re-

tirement of the Union force in good order, but with a lo.ss

to the Twenty-third Regiment of thirty-one killed and

wounded. The part which this regiment and its brigade

took in the engagement was mentioned in the Journal of

Louisville, Ky., by a correspondent writing from the field,

as follows

:

" One brigade of the Ninth Corps was in advance, the Sec-

ond Brigade of the Twenty-thinl Corps in the centre, and one

brigade of the Ninth Corps as rear-guard. The skirmish-

ing was begun by the Ninth Corps forming in the rear of

Gen. White's command, which formed in line to protect

the stock, etc., as it pa.ssed to the rear, and to cover the

retreat of the Ninth Corps, which was the rear-guard, and

was to file past it. Again was the Second Brigade in posi-

tion where it must receive the shock of battle, .ind mu.st

sustain more or less the honors already won. The arrange-

ments for battle had hardly been completed before the

cavalry came in from the front, followed by the infantry of

the Ninth Corps, and two heavy lines of the enemy emerged

from the woods three quarters of a mile in front. Each

line consisted of a divisioTi, and the men were dressed al-

most wholly in the United States uniform, which at first

deceived us. Their first line advanced to within eight

hundred yards of Gen. White's front before that officer

gave the order to fire. Hcnshaw's and the Twenty-fourth

Indiana Batteries then opened on them with shell, but

they moved steadily forward, closing np as their lines would

bo broken by this terrible fire, until within three hundred

and fifty yards of our main line, when the batteries men-

tioned opened on tliini wilh canister, and four batteries in

the rear and right and left of Gen. Wiiite opened on their

rear lino with shell. This was more than they could stand.

Their front line broke and ran back some distance, where

they reformed and deployed right and lull, and engaged the

Thirteentli Kentucky and Twenty-third Michigan on the

right, and the One Hundred and Eleventh Ohio and the

One Hundred and Seventh Dlinois on the left, which were

supported by Gen. Ferrcro's command of the Ninth Corjis.

This une(|ual contest went on for an hour and a half The

only advantage over them so far was in artillery, they not

having any in position yet. It sceme<l to be their object

to crush the inferior force opposing tliem with their heavy

force of infantry. The men were too .stubborn ; they would
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not yield an incli, but frequently drove tlie rebels from tbeir

position and beld tlieir ground. Finding ibey could not

move them with the force already employed, the rebels

moved forward another line of infantry as heavy as either

of the first two, and placed in position three batteries.

Their guns were heavier and of longer range than those of

the Second Brigade, and were posted so as to command Gen.

White's position, while his guns could not answer their fire.

They got the range of these guns at once, and killed and

wounded several gunners and disabled several horses, when

Gen. White ordered them back to the position occupied by

those in the rear, the infantry holding the position covered

by the artillery on the.hill. An artillery fight then began,

which continued nearly two hours till it was growing dark,

and the order was given for our troops to fall back to re-

sume the march to Knoxville."

The Twenty-third with its brigade arrived at Knoxville

a little before daylight in the morning of the 17th, after a

march of twenty-eight miles without rest or ftod, and

having fought for five hours, losing thirty-one killed and

wounded, and eight missing. Then followed the memor-

able siege of the city, which continued until the 5th of

December, when the enemy retreated. In the operations

of this siege the regiment took active and creditable part,

and on the withdrawal of the forces of Longstreet it joined

in the pursuit, though no important results were secured.

The enemy having passed beyond reach, the regiment

camped at Blaiu's Cross-Koads, December 13th, and re-

mained until the 25tli, when it was moved to Strawberry

Plains. From the commencement of the retreat to Knox-

ville until its arrival at the Plains the situation and con-

dition of the regiment had been deplorable, lor many of

its men had been without blankets, shoes, or overcoats, and

in this condition (being almost entirely without tents) they

had been compelled to sleep in unsheltered bivouac in the

storms and cold of the inclement season, and at the same

time to subsist on quarter-rations of meal, eked out by

such meagre supplies as could be foraged from the country.

The command remained at Strawberry Plains about four

weeks, engaged upon the construction of fortifications, and

on the 21st of January, 1864, marched to the vicinity of

Knoxville, where it was employed in picket and outpost

duty until the middle of February, having during that

time three quite sharp afl'airs with the enemy's cavalry

(January 14th, 22d, and 27th), in the last of which seven

men were taken prisoners and one mortally wounded. From

this time until the opening of the spring campaign it was

chiefly engaged in scouting, picket, and outpost duty, in

which it was moved to several diflTerent points, among

which were Strawberry Plains, New Market, Morristown,

and Mossy Creek, at which last-named place it lay encamped

on the 25th of April, 1864.

At this time orders were received for the troops in East

Tennessee to move at once, to join the forces of Gen.

Sherman in the forward movement which afterwards be-

came known as the campaign of Atlanta. Under these

orders the Twenty-third with its companion regiments left

Mossy Creek on the 26th of April and marched to Charles-

ton, Tenn., from which place it moved out on the 2d of

May and took the road to Georgia. In this campaign the

regiment, under command of Col. Spaulding, was still a

part of the Second Brigade (then under Gen. Hascall) of

the Second (Judah's) Division of the Twenty-third Army
Corps. Passing down the valley of the Tennessee, and

thence up Chickaniauga Creek, it reached the vicinity of

Tunnel Hill on the 7th, and confronted the enemy at

Rocky-Face Ridge, Ga., on the 8th of May, opening the

fight on that day by advancing in skirmish-line, and taking

possession of a commanding crest in front of the hostile

works. In the advance from Rocky-Face the regiment

with its brigade passed through Snake Creek Gap, arrived

in front of Resaca on the 13th, and on the following day

took a gallant part in the assault on the enemy's strong

works at that place. The result of this attack was a

repulse of the attacking column and severe loss to the

Twenty-third Michigan. The commanding oflScer of the

regiment (Col. Spaulding), in his report of this engage-

ment, said: "The assaulting column was formed in three

lines; this regiment being in the second line, advancing

over an open field, within easy rifle-shot of the enemy's

position, under a terrible fire of musketry and artillery.

The regiment in advance of the Twenty-third broke and

was driven back, and the one in the rear followed them.

We moved forward until we reached a deep creek which

it was impossible to cross, and held our position until

ordered back. In this advance the regiment lost sixty-two

killed or wounded. Lieut. William C. Stewart was among

the killed." All this severe loss (out of a total of not

more than two hundred and fifty muskets which the regi-

ment took into the fight) was sustained during only a few

minutes of most desperate fighting.

Resaca was one of the most memorable among the many

bloody battles in which the Twenty-third showed conspicu-

ous gallantry. Gen. John Robertson, Adjutant-General of

IMichigan, says of it, " Although this reliable and model

regiment acquitted itself with much celebrity in every en-

counter with the enemy in which it was engaged, Campbell's

Station, Resaca, Franklin, and Nashville will always be rec-

ognized as prominent among its many hard-fought battles;

and the memories of those fields, on which so much patri-

otism and daring courage were evinced, will last while a

soldier of that noble regiment lives."

The enemy, though successful in repelling the assault on

his works at Resaca, evacuated his po.sition there and moved

to the Etowah River, where his rear-guard was overtaken

and slightly engaged by the Union pursuing force, of which

the Twenty-third Michigan formed a part. From this point

the regiment moved on to Dallas and took a position in front

of the rebel works at that place, where it remained from the

27th of May until the 1st of June, and during this time

was almost constantly engaged day and night in skirmish-

ing with the advanced lines of the enemy. Again the rebel

forces evacuated their strong position and moved south

towards Atlanta, the Union troops pressing on in close and

constant pursuit, in which service the Twenty-third Regi-

ment participated, and took part in the engagements at Lost;

Mountain, Ga.,and Kenesaw Mountain, and at the crossing

of the Chattahoochee River at Isham's Ford, on the 8th of

July. It had been given out by the enemy that a most

determined stand would be made on the line of this river,

t
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and it was expected tliat the crossing at this place must be

a bloody one. Gen. Scholield iiad decided to attempt the

passage of the river at about four o'clock in tiie afternoon

(if the 8tli, and his plan was carried out successfully, and,

contrary to expectation, without loss. From an account of

this crossing, found in Moore's " llcbellion Record," and

written by an officer who was present, tlie following extract

i.s made

:

" On the morning of the 8th the Twenty-third Corps broke

camp at an early hour, and directed its march eastward,

aiming to strike the river at Isham's Ford, eiglit miles

above the railroad-bridge. Headquarters moved out in ad-

vance, and riding at a rapid pace with an old man, a resi-

dent of the country, as a guide, we emerged suddenly from

the thick forest out upon the brink of the river bluffs. . . .

Moving a little farther down the bluff, a close reconnois-

sance with the glasses discovered on top of the opposite

hill, just in the edge of a newly-harvested wheat-field, a

single twelve-pound brass howitzer with a few gunners

walking about it, and close down to the river's edge half a

dozen rebel sharpshooters squatted under a large tree, just

opposite the ford. The river here is about four hundred

feet wide, and from crest to crest of the hills on either side

of the river, between wliich the caunon must play, was

about a third of a mile. . . . Meantime, and until late in

the afternoon, the troops were slowly getting into shape,

and the lumbering pontoon-trains were coming up and park-

ing on the hill, ready to go down into the valley when

needed. A little before four. Gen. Schofield sent orders to

(icn. Cox to have his skirmish line in readiness, and at that

hour pass it rapidly across a few rods of corn-field which

lay between the hill and the river, and if they drew the

rebel fire, to open with his cannon and silence it.

" As the hour approached, a small party of spectators

l«)Sted themselves half-way down the hillside, a mile below

the ford, and with glasses thrust out from behind convenient

trees and fences, eagerly awaited the spectacle. The cap-

tain of the rebel gun could be clearly seen on the distant

hill, seeking comfort as best he could (it was the hottest

day of the year), and reading a January number of the

(J/uilltiiioo</n Rebel. The gun had been drawn back to

conceal it a little, and a sentinel sat on the brink of the

hill to observe our movements and give notice to the gun-

ners to bring forward the piece. The sharpshooters also

could be seen, glaring intently out of their cover upon the

opposite opening in the willows where the ford was ap-

proached.

" Our skirmish line was composed of about two hundred

men from several regiments ; and a volunteer detachment

of two hundred men from the Twenty-third and Twenty-

fifth Michigan, One Hundred and Eleventh Ohio, and

other regiments, which had in their ranks many old Lake

Erie sailors, were assigned to the use of the oars in the

pontoons which were to carry over the first companies.

" At half-past four o'clock the little squad of skirmishers

issued out of the woods which had concealed them perfectly,

rushed rapidly across the corn-field, and when they came

close in the rear of the willows they began pouring a sharp

fire upon the rebel gun on the hill, and kept it up without

cessation. The sentinel was seen to leap up hastily and

11

run to the rear, the gunners trundled out their gun in plain

sigiit, and the sergeant stoops to sight it. But it is in vain,

the bullets whistle so thick about his ears that, after dodg-

ing a few moments from one side to the other, he gives up

in despair, the lanyard is pulled, the shot plunges harmless

in the middle of the river, and the rebel gunners all incon-

tinently take to their heels and disappear in the woods. . . .

Suddenly a pontoon-boat filled with blue-coats is seen near-

ing the opposite shore, then another, and another. As the

first boat touches land, Captain Daniels, whose eye is riveted

to his glass, shouts, ' They hold up their hands! they drop

their guns ! they run down the bank !' The shells have

cut off their retreat ; there is no other resource, and they

come running down to the boats with uplifted hands in

token of surrender.

" Soon the pontoons had ferried over several regiments,

who formed in line of battle at once on the top of the hill,

but found no enemy. Soon after the troops began to cross

the corps below began to open a lively cannonade, doubtless

with a view of attracting the enemy's attention away from

us. Detached as this corps is, so far away from the others,

I am unable to learn whether they have yet crossed over

any forces or not ; but if I am not greatly mistaken, the

Twenty-third Corps has crossed the first regiment of the

army. True, they did not encounter strong forces in their

front ; but none could tell what they would find, and the

gallantry of the men who rushed forward to man the pon-

toons in the face of these uncertainties, and those who ran

up the hill with no others yet over to sui)port them, when

they might be met by a deadly fire from behind some

screen, is worthy of all praise. When men are compelled

thus to go upon suspense, and charge, it may be, upon lurk-

ing volleys which shall leave no one of them to return, it

requires a stouter heart than to dash forward amid the roar

and rattle of arms, to meet a foe whom they can see. I

have not known a more dramatic, brilliant, and at the same

time bloodless episode in the whole campaign than vfas en-

acted to-day by the corps of Gen. Schofield." Among the

troops to whose bravery at the passage of the Chattahoochee

the above tribute was paid, one of the most prominent

regiments was the Twenty-third Michigan, whose men vol-

unteered to form a part of the forlorn hope which crossed

on the pontoon-boats. Unexpectedly, the regiment suffered

DO loss in killed, but its record of gallantry at the Chatta-

hoochee was as bright as at Campbell's Station or Resaca.

Arriving in front of Atlanta, the Twenty-third took part

in the operations of the army whicli resulted in llie cajiture

of that stronghold. It was afterwards posted at Decatur,

Ga., from whicli place, on the iJd of October, it moved north-

ward in pursuit of tlie Confederate Gen. Hood, who was

then marching his army towards Nashville. While engaged

in this service, the regiment marcheii with ila division (it

was still in the Second Brigade, Second Division of the

Twenty-third Army Corps) to Marietta, New Hope Church,

Big Shanty, Allatoona, Cartersville, Kingston, and liome,

Ga., and from the last-named place, through Snake Creek

Gap, to Summervillc, Tenn., and Cedar Bluff, Ala., and

thence back to Rome, where it remained a short (inn-, and

early in November again moved through Alabama into

Tennessee, and was stationed at Johusonville, employed iu



82 HISTOKY OF SHIAWASSEE AND CLINTON COUNTIES, MICHIGAN.

jrarrison duty and the construction of defensive works until

the 24th. It was then moved by rail to Columbia, Tenn.,

where it arrived on the 25th, while a heavy, skirmish,

amounting to almost a general engagement, was in progress

near that place between the armies of Thomas and Hood.

A part of the regiment was immediately advanced upon

the skirmish line, while the remainder of the command

went into position. At midnight it was withdrawn and

ordered to the line of Duck River, where it lay on the

south side of the stream, throwing up del'enses and fre-

quently skirmishing with the enemy ; being constantly on

duty day and night until near daylight in the morning of

the 28th, when it retired across the river to the north

bank, where it held po.sition, and keeping up an almost con-

tinual skirmish with Hood's advance till noon of the 29th,

when it fell back with the army to the vicinity of Spring

Hill, Tenn., about ten miles north of Duck River. Here,

at about dark on the same day, the enemy was found in

force occupying the road. An attack was made, and after

a short fight the Confederates were driven from their posi-

tion. The Union forces then resumed the march to

Franklin, Tenn., and arriving there in the morning of the

30th, immediately took position and commenced throwing

up temporary defenses, which was continued through the

day. At about sunset the forces of Hood, moving in four

strong lines, assaulted the position most furiously, but were

repulsed with heavy loss. The attack was several times

renewed, but without success to the enemy. Finally at

about ten o'clock P.M. the Confederate forces, concentrating

all their energies in a supreme effort to carry the defenses,

made their final, and by far their most desperate assault,

charging up to and over the parapet, and planting their

colors on the work in front of the Twenty-third Michigan.

But beyond that limit they did not go, for Col. Spaulding's

men gave them the bayonet, in a counter-charge which is

described as one of the most brilliant and effective in the

entire history of the war. It was a short, but very desper-

ate hand-to-hand struggle, in which the Michigan men
gallantly held their position against the furious assault of

the Confederates.

Immediately after this successful repulse of the enemy,

the Twenty-third with the other Union troops withdrew,

and cro.ssing the river, moved on the road to Nashville, ar-

riving there at two P.M. on December 1st, having marched

fifty miles in forty-eight hours, five hours of which time

had been passed under fire in the desperate battle of

Franklin. During the week which had elapsed since the

arrival of the Twenty-third at Columbia the men had suf-

fered severely from scarcity of provisions, and in the last

two days of the movement had subsisted on less than quar-

ter rations.

The regiment lay within the works of Nashville for two

weeks, and then in the morning of the 15th of December

it moved out with its division and the other commands
under Gen. Thomas to attack the Confederate ainiy, which

had in the mean time concentrated in their front just south

of the city. In the great battles of the 15th and 16th of

December, which resulted in the defeat and complete rout

of Hood's army, the Twenty-third took an active part,

and was conspicuous for steadiness and bravery during those

two days of carnage. On the first day of the battle, " Col.

Spauldiiig, with his regiment, then in the brigade of Col.

Moore, made a most daring and dashing charge on a posi-

tion occupied by a portion of the enemy's infantry, posted

behind a heavy stone wall on the crest of a hill, which it

carried in most brilliant style, capturing more prisoners than

there were men in the line of the regiment. The flag-staff

was shot in two and the color-sergeant severely wounded,

but before the colors fell to the ground tliey were grasped

by the corporal of tlie color-guard and gallantly carried to

the front. On the 17th the pursuit of the enemy com-

menced, and during the first three daj-s of the march the

rain fell in torrents, the mud being fully six inches deep,

which, with the swollen stream, rendered progress ex-

tremely difiicult and tedious. The pursuit was continued

until Columbia was reached, where a halt was made and

the movement ended."*

Soon after this utter rout of Hood's army and its expul-

sion from Tennessee, the Twenty-third Army Corps received

orders to move east to the city of Washington, and on the

1st of January, 1865, the Twenty-third Michigan, as part

of this corps, loft Columbia and took up its line of march

for Clifton, two hundred and fifty miles distant, on the

Tennessee River, at which point it arrived on the 8th of

the month. On the IGth it embarked at that place, and

proceeded thence by steamer, on the Tennessee and Ohio

Rivers, to Cincinnati, where it arrived on the 22d, and im-

mediately left there by railroad for Washington. Reaching

that city on the 29lh, it went into camp at " Camp Stone-

man." D. C., and remained there until the 9th of Feb-

ruary. At that time the regiment moved to Alexandria,

Va., where, on the 11th, it embarked with its corps oii

transports bound for Smithvillc, N. C., at the mouth of the

Cape Fear River, and reached that point of destination

after a passage of four days. On the 17th it moved with

the other forces against Fort Anderson, taking position be-

fore it on the 18th, and commencing the work of intrench-

ing, under a furious artillery and musketry fire. Upon the

capitulation of the fort and its occupation by the Union

forces on the morning of the lyth of February, the Twen-

ty-third Michigan Infantry was the first regiment to enter

the captured work. The regiment was again engaged at

Town Creek, N. C, on the 20th, taking three hundred and

fifty prisoners and two pieces of artillery. In the morning

of the 23d the Union force crossed the Cape Fear River to

its north bank, and found that the city of Wilmington had

been evacuated by the enemy during the previous night.

The corps moved up the coast on the 6th of March, and

reached Kinston, N. C., just at the close of the severe en-

gagement at that place. In this movement the Twenty-

third marched one hundred and twenty-five miles in six

days, and during the last twenty-four hours moved con-

stantly without halting, except long enough to draw rations

and to issue thirty additional rounds of ammunition to the

men.

The corps left Kinston March 20th, and on the 22d

reached and occupied Goldsboro', where, on the following

day, the advance of Gen. Sherman's army made its appear-

* Gen. Robertson's Reports.
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ancc, couiiDg iii from the south. The Twenty-third Regi-

uieiit was then ordered back ten miles to Moscly Ilall, to

guard the raihoad at that point wliiie the army was receiv-

ing its supplies. On the 9th of April the regiment moved

with the army ou the road to Raleigh, which was occupied

by the advance on the lr5tli, the Twenty-third Michigan

entering the city on the following day and receiving the

welcome news of Lee's surrender at Appomattox. The

regiment remained at Ralei":h until after the war had been

closed by the surrender of the Confederate army under

Johnston. Its fighting days were over, but its men had

yet to experience a little more of the fatigues of marching.

On the 3d of May it moved on the road, by way of Chapel

Hill, to Greensboro', ninety miles distant, and reached that

town on the 7th. Two days later it left by rail for Salis-

bury, N. C, and remained there until the 2Sth of June,

when it was mustered out of service. All that now re-

mained of military life to the men of the Twenty-third was

the homeward journey to Miuliigan, and their final pay-

ment and discharge. They were transported by railroad

through Danville and Petersburg to City Point, Va., and

thence by steamer to Baltimore, Md., where they again took

railway transportation for the West, and arrived at Detroit

July 7, 18G5. On the 20th of the same month they were

paid and disbanded, and each went his way to resume the

vocations of civil life.

OFFICEES AND MEN OF THE TWENTV-TIIIKD INFANTRY EKOM
CLINTON COUNTY.

Fidtl and Baf.

Col. Oliver L. Siraulding, St. John's; com. April 10. 1.SC4 ; lii-ul.-col. A|>ril C,

180:!; niaj. Feb. l:!, 180;!; CHpt. Co. A; bvt. lirig.-gfii. U. S. Vols., Juiio

2.'), 1.S65, " for faithful jiiid inei'itoriotia services during the wiir."

Snrg. \/0\\U Fawinelle, St. John's; com. Aug. 23, 18G2; res. Nov. 20, 18G2.

Asst. Surg. Jos. 11. Uaclielor, St. John's ; com. Nov. 25, 18G4 ; hospital steward

;

must, out June '.^8, 180.'>.

Q.M. Charles Fowler, St. John's; com. June 20, 1804 ; Ist lieut., Co. C; must, out

June 28, 18(i5.

Non-Cvmnimioned Stuff,

Sergt.-llnj. Charles Fowler, St. John's ; pro. to 2d lieut., Co. C.

QM.-Sorgt. Joel II. Crans'.n, St. John's; trans, to 28lh Mich. Inf., June 28, 1805.

Q.M.-Sergt. Edwiti A. Forman, I)e Will; pro. to 2d lent., Co. E.

IloslJ. Stew. Abrani L. Custerline, Do Witt.

Company A.

Cnpt. 0. L. Spanhling, St. John's ; com. Aug. 1, 1802
;
pro. to niaj., Feb. 1.1, 1801.

Ist Lieut. William Sickles, SI. John's; com. Aug. 1, 1802; res. Dec, 22, 1802.

Ist Lieut. James Tnivies, St. John's; com. Dec. 22, 1802; 'id lieut , Aug. 1, 1802;

died of disease, Jan. 20, 1801.

Ist Lieut. Edwin A. Fornuui, De Witt; com. Aug. 15, 1804; must, out Jtine 28,

1805.

M Lieut. Michael Laftlin, St. John's ; com. Nov. 12, 1804 ; must, out Jiuie 28,

1805.

Sergt. ('liarlesS. Fowler. St. John's; enl. July 22,1802; pro. to sergt.-inaj.

Sergl. Elljridiie G. Wellington, Bengal; enl. July 18, 1802; pro. to 2d lieut., Co.

I!, Feb. 20, 180:1.

Sorgt. Edwin A. Forman, St. Jnhn's; enl. Aug. 1, 1802; l)ro. to 2d lieut., Co. R,

April 10, 1804.

Sorgt. John T. Cobb, Duplain; enl. July 2:1, 18C2; died of di»eiuie nt Bowling

Green, Ky.

Sergt. /eloies Avery, binghnm; enl. Aug, 5, 1802; died at Cincinnati, Ohio,

Feb. '22, 18C:!.

Sergt. Isiuic N. Cochran, Walertown ; enl. July 11, 1862
;
pro. to 2d llout. ; must.

out June 28, ISO.'!.

Corp. Siiniuel W. Taylor, SI. John's; enl. July 28,1802; died of disease at Knox-

ville, April 21,1804.

Corp. Kirby Thonip^on, Greetibush; enl. July 24, 1802; must, out May 27,

1 805.

Corp. Lymiin N. Barber, Greenbush; enl. July 21, 1802; on detached service at

must. out.

Corp. Michael Itochford, Essex; enl. July '20, 1802; must, out July '28, 180.1.

Co))). Mi<-I)ael J. Murphy, Essex; enl. Aug. 5, 1802; must, out by order, Juno

17, 180.5.

Corp. Michael LaRlin, St. John's ; oiil. July 10, 1802 ; pro. to lid llout.

Corp. Albert Bovee, St, John'%; enl. July 30, 1802; must, out by order, June 17,

180.-).

Mus. Albert E. Niles, Watertown ; enl. Aug. 4, 1802; died of disease at Knox-
ville,Tenn., July '24, 1804.

Mus. Theodore R. Birmingham, Duplain; onl. July 22, 1862; appoiuted chief

mus., March 1, 1805.

Wag. George Mowatt. St. John's ; eiil. July 21, 1802 ; must, out Jlay 31, 1865.

Horace W. Aveiy, flisch. for disaliility, Nov. 10, 1802.

John A. Aniiis, discli. for disability, April 20, 1801.

J. A. T. Ainernmn. disch. for disability, April 20, IS01.

Ervin II. Ainerman, died in Ander^wnville prison-pen, Aug. 7, 18G4.

Lyman Aldriilge, must, out June 28, 1865.

Charles T. Andrews, must, out June 28, 1805.

Robert Anderson, must, out June 28, 1805,

Seymour Barrows, must, out June 28, 1865.

John S. Brubakei-, must, out June '28, 1805.

.Sylvester Brown, must, out June 28, 1805.

Mose,s Brown, discli. for disability, March 25, 1801.

RoVrt Burnett, Duplain ; disch. for disability, Feb. 20, 1861.

William Bannister, dieil of disease at Newbern, N. C, April 6, 1865.

James V. Carr, disch. for disability, Oct. 24, IS62.

Roderick D. Carrier, discli. for disability. Doc. 1, 1862,

Irving Carrier, disch. for disability, Feb. 25, 18C1,

Nelson Capron, disch. for disability, Jan. 8, 1863.

Jos. N. Cochran, must, out June 28, 1S65.

Samuel Cochran, must, out June 28, 1805.

Iliram Coffni;ill, intist. out June 28,1865.

Charles Cook, must, out June 28, 1806.

Marvin B. Dimon, must, out June 28, 1865.

John H. D,*viilson, died of disease.

Rodney ElJri'ige, killed on foraging expedition, Decatur, Ala.

William W. Emery, must, out June 28, 1865.

Eli W. Foglesang. must, out June 28, 1865.

Loren R. Fii)it, died of disc ise at Bowling Green, Ky., March 11, 1861.

Clias. M. Ferdon, disch. for disability, F.-b. :t, 180:!.

Jus. J. Forman, disch for disability, April 15, 180:1.

Bartlett B. Hill, died of disease at Marietta. Ga., Oct 20, 1864.

Win. W. IIamnion<l, died of disease, April 10, 1804.

Milo 11. Hewitt, must, out June 28, 1805.

Tlieo. Iloyt, must, out June 28, 1805.

Levi Halsinger, must out June 28, 1805.

Robt. D. Heron, must, out Juno 28, 1805.

John llensell, trans, to 28th Inf.; must, out June 5, 1866.

Lafayette Kergan, must, out June 28, 1865.

Jas. Larkin, must, out .Itini' 2S, IS65,

Jos. G. Lamb, must, out June 28, 1805.

John II. Lowell, must, out June 28, 1805.

Benj. Land, nnist, out June 28, 1805.

Bichard C. Lewis, trans, to Vet. Res. Ck)rps.

Biirney B. Martin, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps.

Sanford S. Messenger, trans, to 28th Jlich. Inf.

Alex. McCi-aig, trans, to 28th Inf.; disch. at cud of service, Oct. 14, 1805,

John HcCraig, trans, to 28th Inf. ; disch. at end of senico, Oct. 14, 1805.

\Vayne E. Moore, must, out June 28, 1805.

Ge<j. W. Myers, must, out June 2.S, 1805.

Geo, Myer, must. out June "28, 1S05.

Wm. Miller, must, out .lune 28, 1865.

Win. W. Morton, died of disease in Indiansl, April 14, 1804.

John H. Owen, died of .lisease at Bowling Green, Ky., Dec. I, 186'2.

Gilbert Odell, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., Dec. 7, 1862.

James Odell, must, out June '20, 1865.

Leauder L. Olio. must, out June '28, 1865.

Tints. I'arris, must, out June "28, 1805.

Sblney D. I'aiks, trans, to 'iSlh Inf. ;
miisl. out June 19, 1865.

Win, 11. I'ennington, trans, to 28th Inf.; must, out July 25, I86S.

Peter K , d,-cb. for .lisability, Nov. 17, ISO 1.

Guy S. Saul, disch. for disability, April l:l, 186:1.

Wm. 51. Spangle, disch. for disabllily, Feb. '25, 1861.

David Sinilh, died of illseiise at Bowling Green, Ky., Nov. II, 1802.

Chas. Strickland, died of disease at ll..wlinK Green, Ky., Nov. 9, I80'2.

Reuben Spade, died of wounds, Jan. 21, 1804.

Merrill Seaton, d ed of dlseiwe at Knoxiille, April 4, 1804.

Wesley Sprague, must, out June 28, 180,'i.

Geo. Tlius, must, out June '28, 1»0.'>,

Henry M. 'I'aylor, died of disease al Bowling Green, Ky., Slarch 19, 18(13.

Joseph Veriiia, died of dlseiwe nl Bowling Greon, Ky., March 3, 1803.

Cornelius V)m Sickle, must, out June '28, 180.5.

Jay II, Van Deusen, must, out June 28, 180S,

Theo, J. Wagner, must, out Juno '28, 1805. ^
Ossiiio n. Wheeler, must, out Juno 28, 18IU5.

Jus. I). Woodanl. Irnlis. to 21111 Inf ; mint, onl Nov. 9, 1865.

nilvln V. Weller, illed of disease at IWwIIng Green, Ky,, March I, 180.1.

Delso W. Warner, dl.'d •)r ill-eiuie at ll,iwllng Green, Ky., Feb, II, 1803,

Franklin Warner, died of disease at Wilmington, N. c',, March I, 1804.

Emery S. Warner, diixl in action at lles.ca, Ga,, .May 14, 1804.

Fr.d Wilhipl, died of disease at Knoxvlllo, Tenn., July 14, 1864.

Hon). Young, tr»ii». to 28lh Mich. Inf; must, out Juno 6, 1800.
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Compninj li. #

2d Lieut. Elbridge G. Wpllingtori, Bengal; com. Feb. 26, 18G3; 8Prgt. Co. A
;

resigned Aug. VJ, 1864.

2d Lieut. Edwiu A. Furnmn, Do Witt ; com. April Ifi, 1SC4
;
pro. to 1st licut. Co. A.

John Blnnstall, discli. at end of service, Oct. 14, ISr..^.

Jacob liartrnfr, must, out May 22, ISOI*.

Joseph Hofuer, must, out June 28, 1865.

Owen McGonegal, trans, to 28lh Inf.

i'ompantf C

Capt. George R. Long, St. John's; com. Nov. 30, 1804; nnist. out June 25, 1865.

1st Lieut. Charles Fowler; com. Pec. 25, 1SR3: 2d lieut., Dec. 17, 1862; pro. to

q.-m.

John J. Oakley, must, out July 10. 1865.

John Kanisey, must out June 28, 1S05.

Juhn W. Wilson, died of disease at Chattanooga, Tenn., Sept. 21, 18C4.

Company E.

Ist Lieut. George R. Long,St. J«ihn'p ; com. Feb. 24, 1864; pro. to rapt. Co. C.

George W. Anderson, died in Andersonville prison-pen, Dec. 27,1864.

Charles Ressaw, must, out June 28,1865,

John Shaffer, must, out May 30,1865.

Cowpany F.

Henry Barnes, trans, to 2Sth Mich. Inf. ; muat. out Aug. 3, 1865.

Jesse Newsoni, trans, to 28th Midi. Inf.; must, out Sept. 13, 18G5.

Company G.

Capt. Henry Walbridge, St. John's; com. Aug. 1,1862; resigned Jan. 3, 1864.

1st Lieut. Stephen J, Wright, St. John's; com. Aug. 1, 1862; resigned Feb. 6,

1863.

2d Lieut. Alonzo 0. Hunt, St. John's; com. Aug. 1, 1802; resigned Dec. 29, 1862.

2d Lieut. Mason S. Alexander, De Witt ; com. Oct. 6, 1864; must, out June 28,

1865.

Sergt.John G. Cronkite, Riley ; Mil. Aug. 11, 1862; disch. for disability, Feb. 13,

1864.

Sergt. George R. Long, St. John's; enl. Aug. 22. 1862; pro. to 2d lieut. Co. I.

Sergt. Benj. C. Maconiber, Eagle; enl. Aug. 18, 1862; trans, to Inv. Corps, Jan.

15. 1SG4.

Corp. Elliott Shattnck, Eagle; enl. Aug. 18, 1862; on detached service since

Aug. 17,1863.

Corp. Pembroke S. Buck, Bengal; enl. Aug. 11, 1862; must, out June 28, 1865.

Corp. George G. Bush, Bingham ; enl. Aug. 12, 1862; disch. for disability, April

2, 1863.

Corp. Gilbert W. Smith, De Witt ; enl. Aug. 20, 18G2 ; must, out June 28, 1865.

Corp. Daniel L. Kelly, De Witt; enl. Aug. 13, 1862; died in Richnioud prison,

Feb. 15, 1864.

Corp. Harry C. Nutting, Riley; enl. Aug. 12, 1862; died at Bowling Green, Ky.,

Feb. 1, 1863.

Corp. George W. Pray, St. John's; enl. Aug. 15, 1862; must, out June 16, 1865.

"Wagoner Asa W. Williams, Lebanon; enl. Aug. 13, 1862 ; died in Kentucky,

Nov. 17, 18C2.

Abijah Arnolt, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., June C, 1863.

Paul A. Averill. disch. for disability, April 28, 1863.

Albert Benjamin, disch. for disability, April 2, 1SG5.

Oliver Blizzard, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., Feb. 15, 1865.

Henry H. Bond, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn., Dec. 12, 1864.

Francis Brown, trans, to 28th Inf.; mustered out.

Joshua Brown, must, out June 28, 1865.

Sidney J. Bliss, must, out Mjiy 31, 1865.

Henry N. Blakeslee, must, out May 30, 18G5.

Edward Clnise, must, out June 28, I860.

Juhn F. Carpenter, nnist. out June 28, 1865.

George H. Crego, must, out June 28, 1865.

Lorenzo D. Chadwick, must, out June 28, 1865.

John P. Caster, must, out June 28, 1865.

Freeman N. Carr, must, out June 28, 18G5.

Lewis H. Carpenter, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., Nov. 7, 1862.

John Culp, died of disease at Louisville, Ky., Dec. 16, 1802.

Benj. Cildwell, died in Andci-sonville prison-pen, Sept. 17,1864.

Charles M. Cronkite, died of disease at Cincinnati, 0., Jan. 16, 1863,

Andrew T. Chapman, disch. for disal^ility, Sept. 13, 1864.

Ezra Dunsmoie, disch. for dis-ibility, April 28,1863.

Abrani Delong, must, out June 28, 1865.

A. V. Dickinson, must, out June 28, 1865.

Samuel Evans, must, out June 28, 1865.

Uriah Fritts, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Nov. 15, 1863.

William 0. Ferguson, disch. for disability, Feb. 10, 1863.

"William R. l-reeman, disch. for disability, Ft;b. 12, 1863.

Ezra Glass, died uf woundu at^^noxville, Tenn., Jan, 14, I8G4,

Lewis Groesbeek, must, out June 28, 1865.

"Walter W. Gorthy, must, out June 28, 1865.

Delos Hayes, died of wounds at Kuoxville, Tenn., July 14, 1864.

Chas. W. Hinman, disch. for disability.

Nathan E. Jones, disch. for disability, Jan. 7, 18G3.

Geo. C. KnitBu, died of disease at Cincinnati, Ohio, Jan. 17, 1863.

John D. Knapp, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky,, March 18, 1863.

John Lewis, died of disease ut Bowling Green, Ky., Jan. 22, 1863,

"Wm. L. Miller, disch. for disability, Feb. 20, 1863.

Wm L. Nichols, died of disease at Frankfort, Ky.,Dec. 17, 1862,

John Ni-al, died of disease at Bowling Green. Ky., Dec. 7, 1862.

John M. Newsonie, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., Nov. 23, 1862.

Daniel Newsome.died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., Jan. 4, 1863.

Jesse C. Owen, di^ch. for disability, March 26, 1863.

John Redmond, disch. for disability, April 2, 1863.

Peter Russell, died in Andersonville prison-pen, April 5, 1864.

Juhn Reed, must, out June 28, 1865.

Andrew Rubb, must, out June 28, 1865.

Myron Sherman, must, out June 28, 18G5.

Stephen W. B. Teniple, Duplain ; must, out June 28, 1865.

L. H. Treat.

Davis Thurston, died of disease at Frankfort. Ky., Nov. 22, 1862.

Edward L. Tinklepaugh, died of disease at Lebanon, Ky., Nov. 3, 1862.

Clark A. Vredenbnrgh, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., Dec. 30, 1862.

Finnk Vredenburgh, must, out June 28, 1865,

Wm. G. Vanbiirgh, must, out Aug. 3,1865.

Shubael Vincent, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Dec. 1, 1863,

Milo White, trans, to 28th Inf.; must, out April 4, 1866.

Asa M. Williams, died of disease at Louisville, Ky., 1862,

Thos. J. Winters, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., Jan. 24, 1863.

Alex. Watson, died of disease at Bowling Green. Ky., Feb. 7, 1863.

Chas. G. Wright, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., April 1, 1863.

Jared Wright, disch. for disability, Oct. 9, 1863.

Henry West, must, out June 28, 1865.

Company H.

Henry L. Porter, must, out June 28, 1865,

Edward Rose, must, out July 24. 1865.

Danl. Steele, died of disease at Brooke's Station, A*a., Dec. 2, 1862.

Company I.

2d Lieut. Geo. R.Long, St. John's; com. Feb. 13, 1863; sergt.; pro. to lat lieut.,

Co. E.

Anthony Newman, trans, to 28th Inf.

Henry Yager, trans, to 28th Inf. ; disch. at end of service, Oct. 14, 1865.

Company K.

John W. Drake, trans, to 28th Inf. ; must, out June 5, 1866.

Hiram Murphy, trans, to 28th Inf.

OFFICERS AND MEN OF THE TWENTY-THIRD INFANTRY FROM
SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Field and SUiff.

Maj. John Carland, Caledonia ; com. Dec. 20, 1864, capt., Co. H ; must, out June

28, 1865.
Company A.

James Gay, must, out June 28, 1865,

David R. Nicholson, disrh. at end uf service, Oct. 18, 1865.

Edw in A. Walter, must, out Juno 16, 1865.

Company B,

Alfred M. Bennett, must, out June 28, 1865.

Company C.

Abel D. Liverniore, must, out July 24, 1865.

Mosea A. Norris, must, out May 15, 1865.

Company D.

Albert Guyer, must, out June 5, 1S6G.

Cowpany E.

2d Lient. James H. Anderson, Caledonia; com, March 11,1864; pro. to 1st lieut.,

Co. I, Oct. 6, 1864 ; trans, to 28th Mich. Inf. ; must, out June 5, 1866.

Daniel R. Mungerj disch. for wounds.

C-ompany G.

Capt. Benj. F. Briscoe, Corunna; com. Feb. 24, 1864; Ist lient. Co. H ; must, out

Jan. 8, 1866.

Sergt. Alonzo H. Crandall, Shiawassee, Aug. 14,1862; pro. to 2d lieut. Co. F.

Samuel Goron, must, out July 13, 18G5.

Truman Husted, died of disease at Camp Chase, Ky., May 15, 1S64.

Oi-son Post, disch. for disability, Oct. 15, 1862.

Daniel S. Post, must, out June 28, 1865.

James St. .lohn, discli. for disability, April 2, 1863.

William Sterling, died of woiinds, June 24, 1864.

Edward A. Vining, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., Jan. 20, 1863.

Company H.

Capt. John Carland, Corunna; com. Aug. 1, 1862; pro. to major.

1st Lieut. Benj. F. Briscoe, Corunna; com. Aug. 1, 1862; pro. to capt. Co. G.

2d Lieut. Marion Miller, Caledonia; com. Aug. 1, 1862; res. Dec. 17, 1862.

2d Lieut. Calvin Smith, Caledonia; com. Oct. 6. 1864.

Sergt. Wm. U. Jones, Caledonia; enl. July 26, 1862; disch. for disability, Feb.

12, 18G3.

Sergt. James H. Anderson, Caledonia; enl. Aug. 9, 1862; pro. to 2d lieut. Co. E.

Sergt. Caleb Mead, Caledonia; enl. Aug. 6, 1862; niuet. out June 28, 1865.
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Scrgt. Iwiac II, Poet, Antrim; trans, to Invalid Corps.

Scigt. I.ndierSiuitell, Venice ; trans, to Itivntiil Corpc.

Corp. Andrew S. Parsons, Perry ; eiil. Aug. 9, 1802 ; must. out.

Corp. D.ivid West, Caledonia; enl. Aug. 7, 18G2; must. out.

Corp. E. L. M. Furd, Cjiledonia ; eiil. Aug. 5, 1HC2 ; died of wonndeat KnoxviUe,

Feb. 18, 18C.5.

Corp. Jason S. WiliBe, BnrnB; enl. Aug. 14,18G2; dieeli. for pro. in U. S. Col.

Art., Aug. n, 1864.

Corp 08-*iau W. C'>on. Bennington ; enl. Aug. 13, 1862 ; discli. for disability,

May ir..lS6:J.

Corp. Gi'orge Dippy, Antrim ; died at Cliattnnoogn, Tenn., May 18, 1RG4.

Corp. Charles F. Heard, Antrim ; died in action at Campbell's StJition, Tenn.,

Nov. IR, I8r..i.

Corp. Jolin M. Ciilkins, Venice ; enl. Aug. 13, 18G2 ; diecb. by oid<-r , May 29, ISfS.

Corp.Williiim II. Baker, Burns; enl. Aug. 14, 1862; discb. fordisabiliiy, Feb.2(>,

186:j.

Corp. Charles E. Smith, Perry ; onl. Aug. 15, 1862; died at Louisville, Ky., Oct.

8, I86:i.

Oliver M. Able, disch. for disability, Feb. 20, 1863.

Uriah Arnolil, must, out June 5, 1866.

Israel G. Atkins, must, out June 28, 1865.

William D. Baib-y, must, out June 28, 1865.

Alvah D. Ueach, must, out June 28, 1866.

James Boutee, must, out June 28, 1865.

(hestus Blake, must, out June 5, 1666.

Archibald Brown, died of disease at Camp Nelson, Ky.

(iporge L. Bailey, died of disease at New Albany, Ind., July 16, 1862.

Samuel Brown, died of disease at New Albany, Iml., June 2'.\ 18G4.

Ebenez<T Ball, trans, to Vet. Res. Corp-, Jan. 15, 1864.

Cyrus Brigham, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Dec. 15, 18G:i.

Channcey W. Barnes, trans, to Mis-sissippi Marine Urigade.

William C. Baker, disch. for disability, Feb. 20, 1863.

George Bi'nlb*y, disch. for disability, Dec. 10, 1862.

Henry P. Calkins, disch. for disability, April 13, 1863.

Sidney ("Aty, died of disease at Louisville, Ky., Oct. 8, 1862.

William H. Coburn, died of disease.

Daniel J. Cbingh, di*-d in action at Town Creek, N. C, Feb. 20, 1865.

Asa F. Chiilker, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps.

Calvin II. Card, must, out June 28, 18G5.

Samuel Conklin, must, out June 28, 1865.

Nelson K. Calkins, must, out June 28, 1865.

George Ceraven, must, out June 28, 1865.

Charles Dean, must, out June 28, 1865.

Benjamin F. Dickeraon, must, out Junf> 28, 18G5.

John L. Dippy, died at Stone Mountain, Ga,, Sept. 25, 1864.

Willett C. Day, died of disease at Frankfort, Ky., Oct. 10, 18G2.

Charles P. Day, di.si-h. for disability, Feb. 20, 18G3.

Benjamin Defries, disch. for disability, Fi-b 22, 18G3.

Alfred Dunham, disch. by order. Jan. 5, 1865.

H.Miry B. Dildde, disch. for wounds, Sept. 29, 1864.

Daniel P. Eldridge, must, out June 5, I8G5,

Fnink Garabiand, must. <iut June 28, 18G5.

Francis A. Ilitll, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., J;in. 29, 1863.

Jeniuie E. Harris, died o*" disease at Curunna, Mich., May 21, 18G5.

Sli-rritt S. Harding, trans, to Vet. Ilea. Corps; must, out July 5, 1865.

George Lytle, died of disease at Knoxville. Tenn., April 15, 1804.

Samuel A. Lyile, disch. at end of service, Feb. 13, 186G.

Perriii S. Lingo, disch. for disaliilily, Oct. 20, 1862.

Chester W. Lynds, disch. for disability, Oct. 31, 18G2.

Enos P. M'-lvin, dieil of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., April 1, 18G3.

IMiilamlur Murray, died of disease in Michigan, May 20, 1864.

Marmoii Mooro, died of disease at Marietta, Ga., Sept. 21, 1864.

Gtforgo N. Macombor, trans, to Vet. Res. Coipa, Dec. 15, 1863.

James W. McKnight, must, out June 28, 1860.

Frederitk S. Mitts, must, out June 23, 1865.

Julius W. Piper, must, out June 8,-lSG5.

FriUK is Puidy, must, out June 28, 1865.

Joliii K riper, must, out June 28, 1865.

William Plasi-, trans, to 28th Regt.

George F. Pn-ntiss, disch. for disubility, Dec. 4, 1802.

Mostly W. Potter, dlseh. for disability, Aug. 20, 1863.

James J. I'eacock, disch. by order. Dec. 17, 18G4.

Williiim H. Ream, trans, to Vet. Ues. (^orps, Dec. 1, 1803.

David M. HicbaulsDU, must, out May 31,1865.

CharU->t 0. Russell, must, out June 28, 18G5.

Geuige 1*. Seal, must, out June 27, 18G5.

Frederick Stiikney, niu^t. out Juno 28, 1865.

Tliomiis Shiiw, must, out June 28, 1865.

Godfrey Sliuouiz, must, out Juno 28, 18G5.

John B. Swan, must, out June 28, 1865.

William H. Stickney, must, out June 28, 1865'.

linlicrt L. Shurtleir, died of discasio at Fiankfort, Ky., Oct. 29, 18G2.

Guy J. Siotleld, died of dist-ase at Cinclnnuti, O., Dec. 20, 1862.

George H. Spauldlng, missing at Caniplieirn Stutiun, Tenn., Nov. 1(>, 18G3.

Churles P. Stevens, trans, to Mi^^siKsippi Murine Brigade.

William II.Shaw,disih. for disability, Nov. 1">, 1862.

Orliunio Titus, died of disease at Bowling Green, Ky., April 0, 18G3.

Edward A. Thompson, must, out June 28, 18G5.

Austin Trowbritlge, must, out June 28, 1865.

Paul Trnynon, ntnst. out June 10, 1865.

Edgar L. Tyler, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Feb. 15, 18G4.

William D. Voohieo, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Dec. 15, 1863.

Horace Wiikeman, died of disease ut Grand Rapids, Mich.

John Walters, must, out June 5, 1866.

CharU'B P. Williams, must, out June 14, 1865.

William J. Warren, must, out June 28, 1865.

Alonzo Wallace, must, out Jtine 28, 1865.

Charles W'ilkesou, must, out Juno 28, 1865.

Company K.

Walton Mitchell, missing in action near Nashville, Tenn., Xov. 29, 18C4.

Monroe Wolvey, must, out May 30, 1865.

CHAPTER XII.

T'WENTY-SEVENTH INFANTRY.

Orgjinization at Ypsilanti—Services in Kentucky and Mississippi

—

Campaign in East Tennessee—Battles al Huff's Ferry and Camp-

bell's Station—Transfer to Army of the Potomac—The Wilderuess

Campaign—Operations at Petersburg—Assault and Capture of Fort

Mahon—Close of Service.

Recrititino for the Twenty-seventh Regiment was com-

menced in 18G2, and its first rendezvous was established at

Port Huron. Another regiment, to be designated as the

Twenty-eiglith, was commenced not long afterwards, with

a rendezvous at Ypsilanti. Both these filled very slowly,

and the exigencies of the service demanded their consolida-

tion. An order was accordingly issued, directing the nu-

cleus at Port Huron to break camp and proceed to the ren-

dezvous of the Twenty-eighth at Ypsilanti, where the two

commands were consolidated as the Twenty-seventh Infan-

try, under command of Col. Dorus M. Fox. The other

field-ofiScers of the regiment were Lieut.-Col. John II.

Richardson and Major William B. Wright.

Clinton and Shiawassee Counties were represented by a

few men in " A,'' " B," " C," " E," and " H" companies,

and by a larger number in the " Independent Company of

Sharpshooters," which was attached to the Twenty-seventh
;

but the greatest number was found in Company. I, which

was principally made up of volunteers from Clinton, and

was on this account usually mentioned in the regiment as

the Clinton comjiany. Its officers were Capt. Abner B.

Wood and First Lieut. Porter K. Perrin,* of St. John's,

and Second Lieut. John Q. Patterson, of Ovid. All its

original non-commissioned officers were of Clinton County.

This company, however, was not organiised until several

months after the regiment took the field, and therefore took

no active part in its earlier campaigns.

On the 12th of April the Twenty-seventh Regiment

—

then composed of only eight companies—left Ypsilanti and

proceeded, by way of Cincinnati, to Kentucky, wliore it be-

came a part of the Ninth Army Corps. In tlie following

June it was moved to Mississippi and look part in the ad-

vance against Jackson, as well as in some of the other

movements in the Vicksburg campaign. In August it re-

turned willi the Ninlii Corps to Kenlneky, and on the Idth

of September reicivid orders to move with that corps to

• Afterwards proiiiolod lo captain of Ibo Shnrpshoolerf, and tomnjor

of the Second Infantry.
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Cumberland Gap, wliere it arrived about ten days later.

Tiience it moved on to Knoxville, and reached there on the

2Gtli. From Knoxville it moved to Lenoir Station, and

remained encamped there several week.s. On the 14th of

November it moved with its division to Huff's Ferr}', Tenu.,

where a brisk fight ensued with the advance of Longstreet's

army. From this place it moved back through Lenoir on

the retreat to Knoxville. At Campbell's Station the column

was overtaken by the enemy, who attacked vigorously, and

a battle of several hours' duration was fought, in which the

Twenty-seventh lost eleven killed and wounded and ten

missing. After this engagement the retreat was continued,

and the regiment reached Knoxville on the following day.

Then followed the siege of Knoxville by Longstrcet, during

which the regiment occupied a position at Fort Saunders,

and participated in the repulse of the enemy's furious as-

sault on that work, on the 29th of November. It marched

with other troops in pursuit of Long.street, when that gen-

eral withdrew from Knoxville, and was afterwards encamped

successively at Rutledge, Blain's Cross-Roads, and Mossy

Creek, at which latter place it was joined by the company

(I) from Clinton and Shiawassee, another company (K)

and a number of recruits, numbering in all tbree hundred

and sixty-two men.

Immediately after this accession to its numbers orders

were received for the Twenty-seventh, with its corps, to pro-

ceed east to reinforce the Army of the Potomac. Under

these orders the regiment left Mossy Creek on the ITlli of

March, and moved by way of Knoxville and Hall's Gap to'

Nicholasville, Ky., making the march over horrible roads

and through the ice and snow of the mountains in fourteen

days. From Nicholasville it moved by railroad to Annapo-

lis, Md., arriving there on the 5th of April. At that place

it was joined by the company of Sharpshooters, which con-

tained a considerable number of men from Clinton and

Shiawassee Counties, under Capt. P. K. Perrin.

From Annapolis the regiment moved, on the 23d of

April, to Washington and thence to Warrenton Junction,

Va., where it took its place in the Army of the Potomac

as part of the First Brigade, Third Division of the Ninth

Army Corps. On the 5th of May it crossed the Rapidan

and moved into the Wilderness, where it fought in the

battle of the following day, and sustained a loss of eighty-

nine killed and wounded.

At the battle of Spottsylvania, May 12th, the regiment

was again engaged, and fought most gallantly, charging up

a hill to the assault of a strong earthwork. The attack

failed, but the regiment unflinchingly held its ground,

though almost entirely unsupported on the left, and exposed

to a raking fire of musketry from this direction, as well as

to the storm of shell and canister from the fort. While in

this terrible situation the regiment joining it on the right

was withdrawn, thus leaving both flanks exposed to the fire

of the enemy. But the orders given to its commanding

officer were not to lall back an inch, and these orders were

obeyed, even after the last round of ammunition had been

expended, and until the friendly shadows of night ended

the work of death. In this battle the loss of the Twenty-

seventh was one hundred and seventy-five killed and

wounded and only twelve missing.

In the movement from Spottsylvania to the North Anna

River the regiment was engaged (though not heavily) on

the 24th and 25th of May. On the 3d of June it took

part in the battle at Bethesda Church, losing seventy-six in

killed and wounded, among the latter being the heroic Maj.

Moody, whose wound proved fatal. The regiment was

present at the battle of Cold Harbor, but sustained no

considerable loss. From this place it moved rapidly to the

James River, which it crossed at Wilcox's Landing. It

arrived in front of Petersburg on the IGth of June, and

charged with its brigade on the enemy's works on the fol-

lowing day, sustaining heavy loss. The loss of the regi-

ment during the month of June, exclusive of the loss at

Bethesda Church on the 3d, was ninety-four killed and

wounded.

From this time the Twenty-seventh was on duty in the

investing lines round Petersburg until its final evacuation

by the forces of Lee, but its changes of position were too

numerous to mention in detail. It took part in the opera-

tions at the springing of the mine on the 30th of July,

and lost severely, among its wounded being the command-

ing ofiicer,—Col. Wright. During the month of July the

regiment lo.st one hundred and twelve in killed and wounded.

It fought in the engagements at the Weldon Railroad, on

the UHh and 20th of August, but with a loss of only seven

teen killed and wounded. Again, on the 30th of Septem-

tember, it took part in the fight at Poplar Grove Church,

with a loss of one killed and nine wounded.

The regiment remained near this place for two months,

but returned to the trenches in front of Petersburg on the

29th of November, and remained there engaged in severe

and constant duty until the 2d of April, 18G5. Before

daybreak on that day it advanced to the attack of Fort

Mahon, which was one of the strongest of the defenses of

Petersburg. The assault was successful ; the men of the

Twenty-seventh charged on the double-quick, passed the

ditch, mounted the parapet, and planted the regimental

colors upon it. The fortification thus taken was not the

entire work which was known as Fort Mahon, but its east-

ein wing. The number of men of the Twenty-seventh who

made this assault was only one hundred and twenty-three,

but they took one hundred and fifty-nine prisoners and six

pieces of artillery. The regiment lield the captured work

during the day against repeated attempts of the enemy to

retake it. Petersburg was evacuated by the forces of Lee

during the succeeding night, and the Twenty-seventh entered

the city at three o'clock in the morning of the 3d.

The assault and capture of Fort Mahon was perhaps the

most brilliant exploit in all the bright record of the Twenty-

seventh, as it was also nearly the last of its experience in

the field of war. It moved in pursuit of the retreating

columns of Lee, but the surrender at Appomattox followed

a few days later, and the Army of the Potomac had no

longer an armed foe to oppose it. The Twenty-seventh

was soon after moved to Washington, where it took part in

the great review of the army on the 23d of May. It was

encamped at Tenallytown, D. C., from that time until July

26, 1865, when it was mustered out of service. Three

days later the men had reached Detroit, on the way to their

homes.
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CLINTON COUNTY MEN IN THE TWENTY-SEVENTH.

Company A.

JamcH Brown, disch. Tor ilisiiliility, M:iy 9, 1865.

Fmnkliii Doty, discli. for ili^^abiliry, Jan. G, 1SG5.

Elian Myers, must, out June 2. 18fJ5.

Liiyton Kicliiiiond, died of disease near PeteiBliurjr, Va., June 19, 1864.

Ricliard E. Snow, disch. for disaLiUly, Miirch 7, 1805.

Jauu's H. Woodi uff, discli. fur disability, Dec. 29, 18U4.

George A. Wliitnian, must, out July 2fi, 1805.

William Wliitman.died of wounds at York, Ta., Nov. 7, 18G1

Compaiin B.

JaniPB C. Howell, must, out of Vet. Res. Coriw, Aug. 9, 18G5.

Company C.

Bobeit Duuiels, died of disejise at Washington, D. C, February, 18G5.

Company H.

William C. Blodgett, must, out June 9, 18G5.

Henry Copenhaver, must, out June 8, 1865.

George W. Christopher, must, out June 10, 18G5.

John J. Chiisti-pher, must, out July 17,1865.

Albt-rl Loih, must, out July 7, 18G5.

Janie.s Matteson, must, out May 29, 1865.

Kufu.s W. Partridge, must, out May 27, 1865.

Joseph Tjibor, disch. by order, Jan. 12, 1865.

Frank Webb, must, out July 20, 1865.

Benjamin F. Yeomans, must, out July 1, 1865.

Company I.

Capt. Abncr B. Wood, Jr., St. John's ; com. Dec. 20, lSfi3 ; resigned Nov. 12, '64.

Ist Lieut. Porter K. Perrin, St. John's; com. Dec. 20,186:*; pro. tocapt., let Ind.

Co. S. S., Feb. 29, 18C4; pro, to maj , 2d Michigan Inf., April 1, 1864.

2d Lieut. John Q. Patterson, Ovid; com. Dec 20,1803; disch. for disability

April 28, 1805; pro. to Ist lieut. Co. C, May 5, 1864; wounded iu action

June 18 and Dec. 7, 1864.

Sergf. Nelson Fitch, Ovid; enl. Nov. 30, 1863; disrh. for wounds.

Sergt. Joseph Berry, Victor; enl. Nov. 30, 18G3; disch.; pro. to 2d Vet. Vol.

luf., July 1,1864.

Sergt. Daniel R. Ditts, Ovid ; enl. Dec. 1, 1863 ; disch. for disability, Oct.12,1864.

Sergt. G.-orge Simpson, Ovid; enl. Nov. 30, 1863; must, out July 26, 1865.

Sergt. William 11. Hicks, Bingham ; enl. Dec. 9, 186^; died of wounds received

at Cold Harbor, June 3, 1864.

Sergt. Orlando S. Perkins, St. John's; pro. to 2d lieut., Co. K, 27th Inf., April

19, 1SG4.

Coi p. Cynis Stout, Essex ; enl. Dec. 12, 18G3; must, out July 2G, 1865.

Corp. William D. Hodge, Ovid ; enl. Nov. 2.'», 18G3; disch. by order, May .3, 1865.

Corp. Cornilius M.Letts, Ovid ; enl. Nov. 24, 186:1; disch. by order, May 3, 1865.

Corp. John S. King, Victor; enl. Nov. 30, 18G3; disch. for disability, Oct. 10, '64.

Corp. Jacob Parsage, Victor; enl. Dec. 1, '63; disch. for disability, April 20, '65.

Corp. John W.Outcalt, Olive; enl Dec.24, '63; disch. for disability, April 18, '6.5.

Corp. Jacob Gibbard, Victor; enl. Dec. 1, '63; disch. fur disability, March 5, '65.

Mua. George F. Besley, Bingham; enL Dec. 19, 1863; died of disease at Wash-
ington, Aug. 15, 1804.

Abram Bacr, must, out July 26, 1865.

John Brigga, must. ou.t June 5, 1805.

Joseph Bynns, must, out July 26, 1805.

Frederick K. Butler, St. John's ; must, out from Vet. Res. Corps, Aug. 3, 1865.

Nelson Cadeuu, must, out May 23, 1865.

John Carpenter, must, out July 26, 1865.

John Duricklee, must, out June 7, 1865.

Jabez 8. Dcnui.sun, must, out Vvh. 7, 1865, for wnnnds received June 3, 18G4.

William S. Decker, St. John's; must, out May 12, 1865.

Nathaniel Doak, dietl of disease nt Petei-sburg, Jan. 7, 186L

Joseph N. Ellicutt, must, out July 26, 18G5.

Joseph Fields, munt. out July 20, 1865.

Arlington L. Fields, must, out July 26, 18G5.

John Flynn, mn«t. ovit July 26, 1365.

Ebenezer B. Fuller, must, out July 26, 1865.

Milan Gleastin, Dtiplain, ninst. out June 15, 1805.

John K. (ilenson, Dnpbiiii, must, out May 23, 1805.

Lewis Garland, died of wounds at Philadelphia, Pa., July 4, 18G4.

Clark Gray, died of wounds at Cold Harbor, Va., June 3, 1864.

Merrilu^w Green, died of disease at Alexandria, Va.

Cleon Green, died of disease at 3d Div. Hosp., Aug. 10, 18G4.

Hivilla H. Hamcs, must, out July 26, 1865.

John A. Hillakcr, must, out from Vet. Res. Corps, Nov. 7, 1805.

Charles F. Hathaway, must, out July 2G, 1805.

Hiram M. HiigheH, must, out July 20, 1805.

Henry II. Isb.ll, mut<t. <uit July 20, 1805.

J>din B. Jackway, Duplain, must, out July 26, 1805.

Alonzo Le Baron, must, out from Vet. Res. Corps, Aug. 2, 1805.

George P. Mattoon, must, out July 20, 1865.

W. L. Miujsey, died of di.Hoa«e at Waahhigton, D. C, Oct. 11, 1864.

D- P. Miner, disch. for disability, Oct. 8, W64.

Henry S. Marsluill, Greonhush, disch. for wounds, Doc. 15, 1804.

James E. Owoti, must, out July 26, 1805.

John E. Pelton. must, out July 26, 180.5.

Joseph Y. Perkins, must, out July 26, 1865.

Henry Putnam, Victor, disch. for wounds, Jan. 31, 1865.

George W. Pruden, disch. Feb. 18,1805.

George W. Steele, disch. Nov. 12, 1804.

Silas B. Siiuthworlh, disch for wounds, Jan. 2S, 18G5.

Joseph Silvers, must, out July 2G, 1865.

Uriah Smith, must, out Jnly 20, 18fi5.

Sidney Smith, must, out Aug. 4, 1805.

Adin C. Skinner, Bengal, died in action at Spottaylvauia, May 12, 1864.

S. B. Stiickland, died of wounds at Washington, June 1, 1804.

Heiiry G. Thompson, disch. for disability, Feb. 4, 1805.

James Touse, must, out May 15, 1865.

Hart L, Upton, must, out July 20, 1805.

Alvin B. Wansey, must, out May 2:i, ISG-i.

Luther W. Wetherbee, must, out June 9, 18G5.

Palmer M. Wilbur, must, ont July 20, 1805.

Alvan E. Wells, disch. for disability, July 21, 1804.

G. H. Wliitney, died of disease at Philadelphia, Pa., Jnly 17, 1864.

D. F. Whitney, died of dise-ase at Washington, Oct. 11, 1864.

William E. Wing, died in action before Petersburg, Vu., April 2, 1865.

Rubert Youngs, disch. for disability, Oct. 8, 1864.

Fimt Independent Company Shnrpshooters, aUached to the Ticenty-sevcnlh bifnntry.

Capt. Porter K. Perrin, St. John's, com. Feb. 29, 1864; pro. to maj. 2d Inf., April

1, 1864.

Arctus H. Allen, must, ont July 20, 18G5.

Charles Bigelow, Ovid, died in action at Spottsylvania, May 12, 1804.

Enos Carey, died in action near Petersburg, Va , June 18, 1804.

James H. Hathaway, must, out July 26, 18G5.

Richard M. Johnson, must, out Aug. 5, 1805.

Henry Leonard, must, ont July 20, 1805.

George M. Lyon, must, out May 5, 1865.

George A. Laniii, must, out July 26, 1865.

William S. Le Clerc, died near Petersburg, Jan. 25, 1865.

George McDowell, died of wounds at Washington.

John M. Myer, must, out July 20, 1805.

John A. Matthews, must. <iut July 26, 1865.

Ambrose Murtaugh, must, out July 20, 1K65.

James H. Worden, mu-it, out July 2G, 18G5.

Horace B. Whetstone, must, out May 2:t, 1865.

William H. Whetstoue, must, out May 23, 1865.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTY MEN IN THE TWENTY-SEVENTH.

Company C.

Walter E. Norton, must, out .\ug. 4, 1865, from Vet. Res. Corps.

Company E.

Henry Van Vleit, disch. for disability, Dec. 2-3, 1864.

Company II.

Charles D. Beach, must, out Juno 17, 1865.

Company I.

Corp. CharU-a Van Deuseu, Fairfield; enl. Dec. I, 1863; must, out July 26, '65.

E. Aialrows, disch. for disability, Oct. i:t, 1864.

William Brown, must, out Jnly 211, 1865.

Charles Cole, must, out May li<, 18(i5.

Reuben Davis, must, ont July 29, 1K65.

Samuel Davis, died of wounds at Washington, D. C, Juno 1, 1864.

Thadeus (Jraves, died of disease at City Point, Va., July 11, 1804.

Samuel E. Tshell, must, out July 20, 1805.

Jackson N. Vooiheos, died of wounds nt Alexandria, Va, June 28, 1804.

Truman A. Van Dcusen, died iu action at Wilderness, May 6, 1804,

First IndependoU Company of Sharpshooterty atiached to Turnty-Mrtnth Itsfautry.

Herman Ford, must, (uit May 23, 18G5.

Charies H. Hammond, died of disease, July 15, 1804.

J. J. Kenney, died of wounds at Washington, D. C.

Aaron Munsel, must, out Aug. 5, 1805.

John W. Parker, must, out Jnly 2G. 1805.

Horace Tibbetts, must, out Aug. 8, 1806.
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CHAPTER XIII.

TWENTY-NINTH AND THIRTIETH INFANTHY,
AND FIRST ENGINEERS AND MECHANICS.

Organization of the Twenty-ninth at Saginaw—Campaign in Tennessee

Fights at Decatur, Murfreesboro', anil Winsted Church—Railroad

Duty—Muster Out—The Thirtieth Infantry—Service in Michigan

—Engineers and Mechanics—Rendezvous at Marshall—Its varied

Services in Kentucky, Tennessee, Mississippi, and .\iabania—Fight

at Lavergne—Services in Georgia—March to the Sea and through

the Carolinas-Garrison Duty at Nashville in 1865—Muster Out and

Disbandment.

TWENTY-NINTH INFANTRY.

More than'one hundred men of Shiawassee and Clinton

Counties—officers and private soldiers—served with the

Twenty-ninth Infantry in the war of the Rebellion, one

of its companies (E) being raised almost entirely in Shia-

wassee County, under Capt. A. J. Patterson and First

Lieut. Sidney G. Main, of Owosso, and Second Lieut.

William F. Close, of Byron. This regiment was organized

at Saginaw in the autumn of 18U4, its muster into the

United States service under Col. Thomas M. Taylor being

completed on the 3d of October in that year. Three days

later it left the rendezvous for Nashville, Tenn., where it

arrived October 12th, and soon after moved to Decatur,

Ala., reaching there on the 26th. On the day of its ar-

rival at Decatur that place was attacked by the army of the

Confederate Gen. Hood, and the Twenty-ninth was ordered

to move to the front and occupy a line of rifle-pits and a

small defensive work. In obedience to the order the regi-

ment moved forward bravely and steadily, though under a

severe fire of artillery and musketry, and held the position

until dark, notwithstanding that the enemy made several de-

termined efforts to carry it. The Confederate force during

this day's fight had outnumbered the Union troops nearly

ten to one, but during the night the latter received rein-

forcements, and on the following day a little advantage was

gained in the driving in of the enemy's skirmishers, and a

slight advance of the right of the Union line. Before

daylight in the morning of the 28th the Confederates

made an attack, driving in our pickets and advancing their

line considerably. This line they held against a strong at-

tempt to dislodge them in the early morning, but they

were afterwards driven back by a pare of the Eighteenth

Michigan, who took over one hundred prisoners in the

afikir. Later in the day a general engagement was brought

on, the enemy assaulting with great determination, but the

Union forces had by this time been increased to about five

thousand men, and they were able to hold their ground

and inflict severe loss on the assaulters. In the morning of

the 29th it was found that the main force of the enemy

had been withdrawn, and only a rear-guard was left in the

rifle-pits. This rear-guard was driven out from the pits

during the afternoon, and thus the defense of the place was

made entirely successful. The part taken by the Twenty-

ninth in the fight at Decatur was highly creditable to the

regiment, and more particularly so because its men were

then fresh from the camp of instruction, and had never

before smelled the smoke of battle. The adjutant-general

of Michigan in his report of this affair says :
" The ex-

emplary conduct, Ihe vigorous and splendid fighting of Col.

Taylor's regiment and his officers, although less than a

month in the field, could scarcely have been excelled by

long-tried veterans.'

The Twenty-ninth, after this battle, garrisoned Decatur

until the 24tli of November, when it marched to Murfrees-

boro', and reaching there on the 2Gth composed a part of

the defending force at that point during the siege of Nash-

ville and Murfreesboro' by Hood, being engaged with a part

of the enemy's forces at Overall Creek, December 7th.

Having been sent out to escort a railway-train on the 13th,

it was attacked at Winsted Church by a superior force of

the enemy,—infantry and artillery,—and in the severe

action which ' ensued it sustained a loss of seventeen in

killed, wounded, and missing. The track was relaid under

a brisk fire, and the regiment brought the train safely tack

to Murfreesboro' by hand, the locomotive having been dis-

abled by a shell. On the 15th and 16th it was attacked

by two brigades of the enemy's cavalry on the Shelbyville

turnpike, south of Murfreesboro', while guarding a forage-

train, and was again slightly engaged at Nolansville on the

17th. On the 27ih it moved by rail to Anderson, and was

assigned to the duty of guarding the Nashville and Chat-

tanooga Railroad. It remained on this duty till July, 1865,

when it moved to Decherd; Tenn., and thence to Murfrees-

boro', arriving there on the 19th. It was employed there

on garrison duty till September 6th, when it was mustered

out of the service, and on the Slh left Tennessee for Michi-

g:in, and was disbanded at Detroit about the 13th of Sep-

tember.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTY MEN IN THE TWENTY-NIXTU.

Compartif A.

Diivid M. Black, must, out Sept. 6, I860.

Charles A. Funda, must, out Sept. 6, I8G0.

Thomas Grahaiti, must, out May 22, 1865.

Jaaper Jolin^iou, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

James C. Luce, must, out Sept. G, I8G0.

Jai-ob Layer, must out Sept. G, I8G0.

William U. Oriusbee, must, out Sept. C, 18G5.

David Struble, muat. out Sept. R, 1865.

Company C.

Robert McFarlaud, must, out Sept. C, 1865.

ELeuezer Thnsgoud, must, out Sept. 6, 18t;5.

Compant/ E.

Capt. .Vnd. J. Patteraon, Owosso ; com. July 29, 1864 ; nmst. out Sept. 16, 1865.

Ist Lieut. Siduey G. Maiu, Owosso; com. July 29, 1804; must, out Sept. 16,

ISUo.

2d Lieut. Wui. F. Close, Byron; com. July 29, 1864; pro. to 1st lieut. Co. K.

2d Lieut. Juhn Q. .\dauis, Owosso; mu»t. out as sergt., Sept. 6, 1865.

Sergt- A. M. Parmeuter, Veruou ; eiil. Sept. 2, 1864; must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Sergt. J. C. Woodman, Sbiawassee; enl. Aug. 25, 1864 ; must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Sergt. Chas. C. Rowell, Bennington, eul. Aug. 26, 1864; must, out May 16,1865.

Sergt. Cyi-enua Thomas, Owosso ; enl. Aug. 16,1864 ; must, out Sept. 16, 1865.

Sergt. Orriu Drown, Owosso; eiil. Aug. 16, 1864; died in action at Shelbyville

Pike, Tenn., Dec. 15, 1864.

Sergt. PhilelusWaldron, Bennington ; on!. Aug. 22, 1864 ; must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Sergt. Geo. F. Browuell, Bennington; enl. Aug. 20, 1864; must, out Sept. 6, 18G5.

Sergt. Wm. G. Merrill, Burns; enl. .\ug. 27, 1864; discb. for disability, April

19, 1865.

Sergt. Theo. Creque, Sbiawaasee, eul. Aug. 22, 1864; must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Sergt. \Vm. J. Wiswell, Benniugton ; eul. Aug. 19, 1864; diacb. for disability,

June 7, 1865.

Sergt. Edward H. Jones, Antrim; enl. Sept. 4, 1864; must out Sept. 6, 1865.

Corp. James M. Freeman, WoodliuU; eul. Aug. 29, 1S64; must, out Sept. 6,

1805.

Corp. John Huffman, WoodhuU ; enl. Aug. 29, 1864 ; must, out Sept. 0, 1866.

Corp. Richard Cbenell, Woodhull; enl. Aug. 12, 1864; must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

John M. Arthur, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn., Dec. 13, 18t>4.

WillJjim M. Balcbelor, must, out Sept. 6, 18G5.

Nathan Borem, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

David Brown, must, out May 30, 1865.

William W. Bennett, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.
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Williiim Btiddi', nnist. out Sept. 6, 1865.

Thoiiuis ('yienu«, must. oiit8**pt. G, 1865.

Jeremiah C'liison, must, out Sept. 6, 1805,

Benjiiniiii Co(I«ell, must, out Sept. 6, 1805.

Leoniinl Cnuiso, must, out Sept, G, 1805.

Cbiistophof Cook. must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Geoige E. Cole, died of disease at Cowan, Tenu., April 17, 18681

Diivid W. Dunn, must, out June 7, 1805.

John A. Drew, must, out June 27, 1SG5.

Duvid Dwight, must, out Sept. 0, 1865.

Liiduck Gillett, nmst. out Sept. G, 1805.

Richard German, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Williiim P. Harer, n.ust. out Sept. G, 1805.

John \V. Ilagernian, must, out Sept. 6, 18G5.

Charica Ji. Harris, must, out Sept. 0, 1805.

Gedi'go Iluag, must, out Sept. G, 18G5.

William B. Hendee, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Newell Kellogg, must, out Sept. 6. 1865.

CharleH N. Kilridpe, must, out Sept. 0, 1805.

JuliTi Kliiif^ensmith, must, out June 7, 1805.

William H. Lavery, must, out July 18, 18G5.

Weston W. Lamunyon, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Heniy L. Lamunyim, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

George Lindner, must, out Sept, G, 1865.

Oscar M. Morse, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Jacob Mason, must, out Sept. G, 18G5.

Enos Otigood, dind of disease at Louisville, Ky., April 0, 1805.

Chailes E. Perkins, must, out June 20, 1865.

Austine Phillips, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Hiram Platner, must, out Sept, 6, 1865.

Leroy Kegua, must, out May 22, 1805.

William Sanderson, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Sherman Stevenson, disch, for disability, May 31, 1805.

Andrew Vandusen, must, out Sept. G, 1&65.

John E. Watson, must, out Sept. 0, 1865.

Scth N. Walter, must, out Sept. 0, 1805.

Stephen L. W'oliver, must, out Sept. 0, 1865.

Edward D. Woulcot, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn., Dec. 1, 18G4.

Dennis Watkins, disch. for disability, March 7, 1865.

Company F.

Godfrey Armaugher, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Geoigo Aldrich, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Noah G. Berg, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Thomas Graham, must, out May 5, 1865.

Jacob MutHy, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

David Martindalo, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

David Muffiy, disch. fur disability, June 3, 1865-

Compnny H.

Isaac Cassada, must, otit Sept. 6, 1865.

Charles Hemjisted, must, out Sept. 6, 1S65.

Alonzo Hunt, must, out Sept. 6,1805.

Charles Lotig, must, out Sept. 6, 18G5.

Leonard Kobinson, must, out Sept. G, 1865.

William K. Vanpatteii, must, out May 30, 1805.

Eli Wuodward, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

1st Lieut. William F. CI

out Sept. 6, 1865.

Vordon U. Worden, must, out Sept. 0, 1805.

Covipavy K.

Byron ; com. July 7, 1865. 2d liout., Co. E ; must.

SOLDIERS OF THE TWENTY-NINTH FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Company O.

William Oilman, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Company E.

Salem S. Pufler, must. o\it Sept. 6, 1805.

Silcnus A. Simona, must, out Sept. 0, 1865.

Company F.

TAViH Buckingham, must, out Sept. 0, 1805.

James h. Covel, (lied of disease at Na-shvillo, Toun., Feb. 20, 1805.

Cfsmpany Q.

Sergt. U. A. Burch, must, out Sept. 6, 1805.

Sergt. Joseph Lathrup, must, out Sept. 6, 18G5.

Henry C. Atwell, must, out Sept. 0, 1865.

Charles Hoi)k('r, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

FraricJH M. Haynna, must, out Sept. 6,1865.

Alexaniler llovey, must, out Sept. 6, 1865.

Albert Martin, must, out May 23, 1805.

Edward N. Plerco, must, out Sept. 26, 1865.

Clintou W. Rose, disch. for disability, March 22, 1865.
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Albert f). Vredeiiburgh, must, out Sopt. 26, 1805.

John S. Wright, must, out St-lit. 20, 1805.

Oompatiy K.

rhilo Chiippel!, uiuat. out Aug. 9, 18(*5.

THIRTIETH INFANTRY.

On account of the numerous attempts made by the Con-

federates to organize in Canada plundering raids against

our Northern border, aulliority was given by the War De-

partment to the Governor of Michigan, in the autumn of

18G4, to raise a regiment of infantry for one year's service,

and especially designed to guard the Michigan frontier.

Its formation, under the name of the Thirtieth Michigan

Infantry, was begun at Jackson in November, 1864, and

completed at Detroit on tlie 0th of .lanuary, 186.5. To

this regiment Shiawassee and Clinton Counties furnished a

total number of men equal to about three-fourths of a com-

pany, the greater part of whom served in the ranks of

Company K.

When the organization was completed the regiment was

stationed in companies at various points, one company being

placed at Fort Gratiot, one at St. Clair, one at Wyandotte,

one at Jackson, one at Fonton, three at Detroit Barracks,

and one on duty in the city. But the speedy collapse of

the Rebellion put an end to Canadian raids, and the regi-

ment had no active service to perform. It remained on

duty until the 30th of June, 1865, and was then mustered

out.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTY MEN IN THE THIRTIETH.

Field iinrf Sl'iff.

iBt Lieut, and Adj. Jerome W. Turtior, Owosso; com. Nov. 28, 1804; resigned

Apiil 7, 1805.
Company C

Corp. James A. Hojt, Bush ; enl. Nov. 18, MHi; must, out June 30, 1865.

Companij F.

Jerome R. Fairb.iTik9, must, out June 30, 1S65.

James Rummer, must, out Juno 30, I8li5.

Jolinson Tayi<tr, must, out June 3D, 1865.

Charles W. Williams, must, out .Tune .lO, 1805.

Alfred B. Williams, must, out June 30, 1805.

Oimpttny I.
^

John F. Cartwrigbt, must, ovit June 30, 1805.

Ctimpmnj K.

Corp. Ora C. Waugb, OwosBo; enl. Pec. 10, 1804; nuist. out Juno 30, 1805.

Corp. Robert Upton, Owosso; enl. Dec. 7, 1804; uiuat. out June 30, 1805,

Cori>. Oscar Bailey, Owt)Sso ; enl. Dec. 2, 1804; must, out June 30, 1805.

Corp. Eluatban Beebe, Caledonia; enl. Dec. 20, 1801 ; muai. out June 30, 1805.

Leonard Al^er, died of discjise at Jackson, Mu-h., March 28, IKtio.

Loander A. Rush, died of disease at Jackson, Mich., Feb. 14, 1865.

Robert F. Buck, must, out June 30, 1805.

Henry Roslaw, must. (Uit Juno 30, 1805,

Edward Bright, nuist. o\U Juno 30, 1805.

Ebeuexer Childs, nnist. out June 30, 1805.

John Crane, must, out June 30, 1805.

Aiulrew Case, must, out June 30, 1805.

T. Fancheon, must, out .lune 30, 1805.

John Oaniuju, niu.-^t. out .lune 30, 1805.

Lyman E. Hill, must, out Juno 30, 1805.

George Johnson, must, luit Juno 30, 1805.

Robert Smith, must, out June 30, 1805.

Charles N. Welmoro, must, ou't Juno 30, 1805.

CLINTON COUNTY MEN IN THE THIRTIETH.

Company F,

Elijah E. Baldwin, must, out Jnne 30, 1805.

George E. Bliss, must, out June ito, 18tl5.

Henry I", ('utter, must, out June 30, 1805.

John W. Day, must, out Juno 30, 1805.

Andrew Jones, must, out June 30, 1805,

Albert Jones, must, out June 3(t, 18115.

Wm. U. Owen, nuist. out Juno M, 1805.
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Company A*.

Seigt. Sil-is E. Lnsey, Bingham ; must, out June 30, 1865.

Sergt. Albert H. B. Fitcli, Bingliain ; must, out June 30, 18G5.

Corp. Charles K. Blakeslee, must, out Jiinu 30, 1865.

Corp. John G. Hathaway, Bingham ; died of disease at Jackson, Mich., May 29,

1865.

Horace Avery, must, out June 30, 1865.

Henry H. Bunlirk, must, out June 30, 1865.

John (-'handler, must, out Jan. 9, I86.i.

John Edwards, must, out June 30,1865.

Herlu-rt Estes, must, out June 30, 1865.

Jolin Iletherington, must, out June 30, 1865.

Franklin Hickox, mnat. out June 30, 18G5.

Nelson Lorenberg, must, out Jnne 30, 1865.

William Lorenberg, must, out Jnne 30, 1865.

porter Pratt, must, out June 30, 1865.

Scutt Starkweather, mU'.t. not June 30, 18G5.

John W. Spauhling, must, out Juno 3U, 1865.

George W, Shuttes, must, out June 30, 1865.

Clark Schrani, must, out June 30, 1805.

Charles Sherwood, must, out June 30, 1865.

Charles Travis, must, out June £0, 1865.

M. Vanfiiet, must, out June 30, 1865.

\Vm. It. Wilson, must, out Juue 30, 1865.

FIRST ENGINEERS AND MECHANICS.

The Micliigan regiment of Engineers and Mechanics

wa.s recruited and organized by Col. William' P. Innes (its

commanding officer) in the summer and autumn of 1861.

It was the intention, in raising this regiment, that it should

be largely composed of men skilled iu mechanical trades,

and that upon entering the field they should be principally

employed in the work with whicli they were acquainted,

a great amount of which is always required in the opera-

tions and movements of large armies. This implied prom-

ise, made to the men at the time of the enlistment, was

measurably carried out, though they were always expected

to enact the part of fighting-men upon occasion ; and for

this purpose they were regularly armed and accoutred as

infantry. It can be said of them with truth that they

always proved themselves as brave and steadfast in battle

as they were skillful and efficient in their own peculiar field

of labor, though it was in the latter that their services

were by far the more valuable to the government.

The Engineers and Mechanics organization was composed

of men from almost every county in the central and southern

part of the peninsula, the counties of Clinton and Shiawassee

being represented in nearly all its companies, but most

numerously in Company E. The regiment was rendezvoused

at Marshall, and was there mustered into the service of the

United States, by Capt. H. R. Mizner, U.S.A., October

28 to December 6, 1861, and on the 21st of the latter

month left Marshall, one thousand and thirty stron<', for

Louisville, Ky. On account of the peculiar nature of the

service required of them, they were employed in detach-

ments, and thus it would be impracticable to trace them

through all their numerous marchings and labors. One of

the detachments was under Gen. 0. M. Mitchell in his ad-

vance on Bowling Green, and among the first Union troops

to enter the town after its evacuation by the enemy. After

the capture of Fort Donelson opened Tennessee to the

Union forces, the Engineers and Mechanics were speedily

at work in that State repairing bridges and railroads and

opening lines of communication. For eight weeks imme-
diately following the battle of Shiloh they were enga"ed

in constructing steamboat landings, wharves, and ware-

houses, and during the spring and summer of 1862 they

were chiefly emploj'ed in the repair or reopening of the

railroads between Nashville and Chattanooga, Nashville and

Columbia, Corinth and Decatur, Huntsville and Stevenson,

and Memphis and Corinth, and twice assisted in reopening

the road between Louisville and Nashville. In the month

of June, 1862, alone, they built seven bridges on the Mem-
phis and Charleston Railroad, each from eighty-four to

three hundred and forty feet in length—in the aggregate

nearly three thousand feet—and from twelve to sixty feet

in height.

Serious difficulties existed in the regiment during the

first months of its service, owing to a misunderstanding as

to the pay the men were to receive, it having been found

after their organization that there was no law by which

they could receive the pay expected. This trouble was

finally remedied by an act of Congress, which act also pro-

posed to increase the regiment's strength from ten to twelve

companies of one hundred and fifty men each, forming

three battalions, each commanded by a major. Half the

men, as artificers, drew seventeen dollars per month, and

the others thirteen dollars per month.

On the 1st of November, 1862, the regiment was en-

camped at Edgefield, Tenn., when the alterations and cas-

ualties to that date aggregated as follows : Died of disease,

seventy-five; died of wounds received inaction, two; killed

in action, one ; wounded in action, seventeen ; discharged,

one hundred and twenty-four ; taken prisoners, fifteen ; de-

serted, twenty ; recruits received, sixty-seven. Until June,

1863, the regiment was stationed at Edgefield and Mill

Creek, near Na.shville, at Lavergne, Murfreesboro', and

Smyrna, and at a point near Nashville on the Tennessee

and Alabama Railroad. During this time the regiment

built nine bridges, besides a number of magazines and build-

ings for commissary, quartermaster, and ordnance stores,

and also repaired and relaid a large amount of railroad track.

While at Lavergne, on the 1st of January, 1863, a part

of the regiment was attacked by two brigades of the enemy's

cavalry, under Gens. Wheeler and Wharton, with two pieces

of artillery, but succeeded in defeating them with serious

loss.

On the 29th of June the regiment moved south from

Murfreesboro', and during the two succeeding months was

engaged repairing and opening the railroad from Mur-

freesboro', Tenn., to Bridgeport, Ala. Of five bridges

completed in July, the one over Elk River was four hun-

dred and sixty feet in length ; that over Duck River, three

hundred and fifty feet long. During September and Oc-

tober detached companies were employed in building an

immense bridge over the Tennessee River at Bridgeport,

Ala., constructing commissary buildings at Stevenson, Ala.,

and building and repairing bridges, etc., on the lines of the

Nashville and Chattanooga and the Nashville and North-

western Railroads ; the headquarters of the regiment being

at Elk River Bridge, Tenn. The alterations and casual-

ties for the year, to Nov. 1, 1863, were: Died in action or

of wounds, six
;
died of disease, fifty-eight ; discharged for

disability, one hundred and eighty-nine; discharged for

other causes, fourteen ; deserted, twenty-seven ; officers

resigned, ten
;
joined as recruits, three hundred and sev-

enty-two ; aggregate strength, nine hundred and sixty-five.
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111 the months of November and Dt'cember, 18G3, and

January and February, 1864, tlie regiment was engaged in

building trestle-woric and bridges on the line of the Nash-

ville and Northwestern Railroad, and in the construction of

store-houses and other buildings at Ciiattanooga, Tenn.,

and Bridgeport, Ala., for the quartermaster, ordnance, and

oilier defiartniPiits of the army. At the same time one

battalion was engaged at Chattanooga in refitting saw-mills,

where it continued during the months of March, April, and

May, employed in running sawmills, getting out railroad-

ties, building hospital accommodations, and working on the

defenses.

Detachments from the other battalion.^ were engaged

erecting block houses on the lines of the Tennessee and Ala-

bama, the Nashville and Chattanooga, and tiie Memphis and

Charleston Railroads. Two companies were at Bridgeport,

Ala., building artillery block-houses. Two companies were

at Stevenson, Ala., completing its defenses, while another

battalion was stationed on the Memphis and Charleston

Railroad, building block-houses at various points between

Decatur and Stevenson. The major portion of the regi-

ment was finally concentrated upon the line of the Atlantic

and Western Railroad during the summer months of 186-t,

where it built and repaired railroads, block-houses, etc. The

task allotted to this regiment during the campaign of

Sherman's army, in 1864, was one of great magnitude,

and most nobly did its members fulfill their duly. But for

such men as composed the Michigan Engineers and Me-

chanics, and the rapidity with which they repaired the rail-

road right up to the enemy's skirmish line,* the more than

one liundred thousand Union soldiers in front would many

times have been compelled to go without their rations.

At the close of the Atlanta campaign, head([uarters of

the regiment were established in the latter city. The al-

terations and casualties for the year were reported as fol-

lows : Died of disease,' one hundred and twelve; trans-

ferred, thirty-six ; discharged for disability, etc., fifty

;

re-enlisted as veterans, one hundred and forty-eight.

On the 31st of October, 1864, the original term of the

regiment expired, «nd such officers as desired to leave the

service were mustered out, as were also the enlisted men
whose terms had expired. The re-enlisted veterans, together

with the recruits who had joined the regiment, enabled it

to maintain its organization entire and nearly its full

strength.

From the 1st to the 15th of November, 1864, the regi-

ment, with the exception of Companies L and M, was

stationed at Atlanta, Ga., being employed in constructing

defenses, destroying rebel works, depots, rolling-mills, foun-

* As Johnston's army fell back from ono chosen position to another

before the fierce attneks and flanit movements of Shcniinn's veterans,

the railroad was invariably destroyed by the enemy, and in a man-
ner, too, that would seom to require days to repair it. It must have
been a matter of great surprise and chagrin to the Confederates when,
as was often the ease in the course of a very lew hours after the dc-

struelion of a road, a locomotive bearing the legend " United States

Military Railroad," driven by a greasy Northern mechanic, would
dasli up almost in their very midst, saluting them with several short,

sharp wliisllcs, and then a prolonged scream of deliancc. The salute,

however, as well as the cheers from (ho " Yanks," usually, and very

quickly too, received a response in the shnpo of bIioMs from a rebel

bittery.

dries, gas-works, and other rebel property, and in tearing

up and rendering useless the various railroad tracks in the

vicinity. After the complete destruction of Atlanta,! the

regiment set out on the morning of November 16th with

the Fourteenth Army Corps, as part of the engineer force

of Gen. Sherman's army, going to Sandersville, Ga., and

thence with the Twentieth Army Corps to Horse Creek,

where it received orders to join the Seventeenth Army Corps,

with which it continued on to Savannah, Ga., reaching there

Dec. 10, 1864. During this march the regiment was

required to keep pace with the movements of the army,

traveling over twenty miles a day, and meanwhile was en-

gaged tearing up railroad tracks, twisting rails, destroying

bridges, repairing and making roads, building and repairing

wagon-bridges, etc. On the 10th and 11th of December

the regiment built a dam across the Ogechee Canal under

the fire of rebel batteries.

From that time until after the evacuation of Savannah

by the enemy, the regiment was constantly at work tearing

up railroad track and destroying the rails of the several

railroads leading out of the city, and in constructing long

stretches of corduroy-road for the passage of army-trains.

On the 23d of December it moved into the city, and five

days later coninienccd work on the fortifications laid out by

direction of Gen. Sherman. These works, constructed by

and under the supervision of this regiment, were over two

miles in length, and included several strong battery posi-

tions and lunettes. The regiment was again put in motion

on the 3d of January, 1865, marching to Pooler Station,

converting the railroad into a wagon-road, and then return-

ing to Savannah.

It embarked on board transports for Beaufort, S. C, Jan-

uary 26, 1865, and on the 31st started with the victorious

army on its march to GoliLsboro', N. C. It moved with

the Fifteenth Army Corps to Banbury, S. C, thence with

the Twentieth Army Corps to Columbia, S. C, thence with

the Seventeenth Corps to Fayetteville, N. C, and thence

with the Twentieth Army Corps to Goldsboro', N. C, where

it arrived March 23, 1865. It is estimated that during

this campaign, besides making and repairing a great distance

of corduroy-road, the regiment destroyed and twisted the

rails of thirty miles of railroad track and built eight or ten

important bridges and crossings. At Edisto the bridge was

constructed under fire fnuii tlu^ enemy's sharpshooters. At

Hughes' Creek and at Little and liig Lynch Creeks the

bridges and approaches were built at night. At tlie last-

named stream the men worked in water waist-deep. A
foot-crossing was made there in one night nearly a mile in

length, and the next day the space was corduroyed for the

heavy army-trains and artillery to puss over. Tlie regiment

destroyed factories and rebel ariiiy-su])plies at Columbia,

rebel ordnance and stores at Cheraw, and the old United

States arsenal at Fayetteville, N. C.

Companies L and JI, which had been detached from the

regiment early in the summer of 1864 and placed upon the

defenses at Stevenson, Ala., having completed those works,

which consisted of a system of eight block-houses, were

retained in the Army of tho Cumberland. They assisted to

t Afternoon and night of Nor. 15, 1864.
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fortify and defend the line of the Nashville and Cliatta-

noo^a Railroad for some weeks, and on the 28th of Novem-

ber, 18G4, were moved to Elk River Bridge. For some

time after that, when not interrupted by Hood"s rebel army,

they were engaged in building blockhouses between that

bridge and Murfreesboro', Tenn. During the most of the

month of December a portion of the Engineers and Me-

chanics was. engaged in completing and repairing Fort

Rosecrans, at Murfreesboro', Tenn., while the rebels, under

Hood, were investing Na.shville.

A detachment, consisting of Company L of this regi-

ment, with several companies of an Illinois regiment, whicii

had been sent out to bring through from Stevenson, Ala.,

a railroad-train of .supplies, was captured Dec. 15, 186+,

after several hours' hard fighting.

On the 1st of March, 18G5, Companies L and M left

Murfreesboro', Tenn., to rejoin their regiment, and pro-

ceeding by rail, via Louisville, Indianapolis, Crestline, Pitts-

burgh, and Philadelphia, to New York
;
they then took

steamer to Beaufort, N. C, thence by rail to Newbern, and

finally joined their comrades at Gold.sboro', N. C, March 25,

1865.

Gen. Sherman's army began its last campaign April 10,

18G5. By breaking camp at Goldsboro' and moving

rapidly to the northward, Johnston's fleeing forces were

pursued to, through, and beyond Raleigh. The Engineers

and Mechanics marched with the Twentieth Army Corps,

but proceeded no farther than Raleigh, where they remained

until after Johnston's surrender.* On the 30th of April the

regiment moved out on its homeward march with the Sev-

enteenth Army Corps. It crossed the Roanoke River at

Monroe, and passing through the cities of Petersburg,

Richmond and Alexandria, Va., arrived at Washington,

D. C, during the latter part of May, 1865. It partici-

pated in the grand review of two hundred thousand veteran

soldiers held at the nation's capital, May 23 and 24, 1865,

and then went into camp near Georgetown, D. C. Early

in June the regiment was ordered to Louisville, Ky.,

thence to Nashville, Tenn., where it was employed upon

the defenses until September 22d, when it was mustered out

of the United States service. It arrived at the designated

rendezvous, Jackson, Mich., September 25th, and on the

1st day of October, 1865, was paid off and disbanded.

The battles and skirmishes which by general orders it

was entitled to have inscribed upon its colors were those

of Mill Springs, Ky., Jan. 19, 1862; Farmington, Miss.,

May 9, 1862 ; siege of Corinth, Miss., May 10 to 31,

1862; Perryville, Ky., Oct. 8, 1862; Lavergne, Tenn.,

Jan. 1, 1863; Chattanooga, Tenn., Oct. 6, 1863; siege of

Atlanta, Ga., July 22 to Sept. 2, 1864; Savannah, Ga.,

Dec. 11 to 23, 1864; Bentonville, N. C, March 19, 1865.

CLINTON COUNTY MEN IN TUE ENGINEERS.

Company E.

Stcbbins C. Bli^s, tlisch. at end of service, Oct. 31, 1864.

Fnuicis A. Coats, tnins. to Vet. Kes. Corps, Sept. 1, 1803.

Marcus A. Case, must, out Sept. 22, 1SG5.

Martin Fisher, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Jutin Grier, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

S. C. Hutchinson, disch. at end of service, Oct. 31, 1864.

» April 26, 1S65.

James Kelly, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Jackson Kelly, must, out Sept. 22, 18G5.

Sam!. S. Ketittielil, died of disease at Bridgeport, Ala.

Hervey Lyon, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Chas. P. Lyon, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Arnold L. Lake, must, out Sept. 22, 18C5.

Nathan J'eniiy, disch. at end of service, Oct. 31, 1864.

Luther B. Pr.ilt, disch. fur disability, Nov. 29, 1862.

Hull L. Prndden, disch. by order, Aug. 25, IS65.

Merritt Randolph, disch. by ord.-r, June 2, 1862.
"

Joel T. Smith, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Emanuel Sumner, died of disease at Bridgeport, A a., March 23, 18G4.

Hiram H. Starr, disch. at end of service, Oct. 31, 1864.

Frederick Tuttle, disch. for ilisability. May 18, 1863.

Company G.

David Scott, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Jan. 1, 18G5.

Company L.

Danl. Bauglin, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

John Ci-awford, died of disease at Stevenson, Ala., Oct. 27. 1864.

Will. H. Hewitt, died of wounds at Murfreesboro", Jan. 13, 1865.

Peter W. Prudden, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

John Vanoise, disch. by order, July 3, 1865.

Company M.

Oscar F. Bristol, disch. by order, July 21, 1865.

Saml. Orawfjld, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Peter Duffs, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Hiram Hilliker, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Clias. Randollih, disch. by order. May 22, 1865.

Martin Siitl>hen, disch. by order, Sept. 27, 1865.

Oven Sebring, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Sylvester SebrinsJ, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Saml. T. Simpson, disch. for disability, April 23, 1865.

Danl. J. Wilkinson, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTi' MEN IN THE ENGINEERS.

Comjiany B.

Nathan Colby, disch. by order, June 6, 1805.

Alexander Kellas disch. by order, June 6, 1865.

Company C.

Newell E. Cady, disch. by order, July 11, 1865.

Andrew Kinney, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Company D.

2d Lieut. Herman W. Perkins, Corunna; com. iiov. 3, 1864 must, out Sept. 22

1805.

Daniel F. Case, disch. for dis;ibility, Juno 1, 1862.

Company E.

Isaiah Slayter, disch. at end of service, Oct. 31, 1864.

William B. SUner, disch. at end of service, Oct. 31, 1864.

Company F.

William E, Delbridge, disch. by order, June 6, 1865.

Company G.

2d Lieut. Rodney Mann, Owosso ; com. April 12 ,1802 ;
pro. to 1st liout.

J.)hn Berkley, disch. by order, June 6, 1865.

Joseph Gest, disch. by order, June 0, 1S05.

William Stone, disch. by order, June 0, 1805.

Charles W. Smith, discli. by order, June 6, 1865.

Company H.

Harrison Hackett, disch. by order, June 6, 1865.

Company I.

Oliver Hopkins, disch. for disability, Jan. 14, 1864.

James H. Maible, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn., March 24, 1863.

Company K.

Charles E. Rowell, must, out Sept. 22, 1805,

Cimipany M.

Lewis M. Dickinson, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.
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I

CHAPTER XIV.

FIRST AND SECOND CAVALBY.

The First Cavalry in Virginia in 1S62—Cftrapaigning in 1863

—

Raids and otlier iVIovements in 1S(U and ISGo—Organization of the

Second Cavalry at Grand Rapids—Campaigning in Missouri, Mis-

sissippi, Kentucky, and Tennessee in 1862 and ISGU—Re-en!ist-

mcnt—Campaigns of Atlanta and Nashville—Raidings in 1865—

-

Muster Out.

The First Michigan Cavalry Regiment was organized in

the summer of 18G1, at Camp Lyon, Detroit, which was

designated as the regimental rendezvous. One company of

the regiment was chiefly made up of volunteers from Clin-

ton and Shiawassee Counties. This company, originally

styled the " Constitutional Guard," was recruited by Capt.

Josiah B. Park, of Ovid, and First Lieut. Thurlow W.

Lusk, of Duplaiii, under whom it was mustered and saw

its first service. The recruiting headquarters were at Ovid,

and the company was raised to a strength of sixty-four men

in three days from the date of its first enlistment.* It left

Ovid about the 1st of August, was reported at the regi-

mental rendezvous, and designated in the organization as

D Company of the First Cavalry.

The regiment was mustered into the United States ser-

vice September 13, 1861, eleven hundred and forty-four

strong, under command of Col. T. F. Brodhead, and on

the 29th of the same month Companies A, D, E, and M
embarked on the steamer " May Queen," and Companies

H, I, K, and L on the " Ocean," for Cleveland, on their

way to Washington and the seat of war. They reached

Washington on the 2d of October, and were soon after

joined by C, F, and G Companies, which had been left be-

hind in charge of the horses. About the 20th of November

the regiment moved to Frederick, Md., where it remained

in camp, two miles from the city, during the winter.

Upon the opening of the spring campaign of 18G2 the

First became actively employed on the Upper Potomac and

in the passes of the Blue Ridge Mountains. On the 23d

of March it took part in the battle at Winchester, and won

honorable mention for its bravery and efficiency in covering

the retreat of Gen. Banks' forces from the Shenandoah

Valley, being almost continuously under fire while engaged

in that service. Afterwards it took part in the actions at

Middletowu (March 25th), at Strasburg (March 27th),

Harrisonburg (April 2d), Winchester (second battle. May

24th), Orange Court-House (July lOtli), Cedar Mountain

(Augu.st 9thj, and at the second battle of Bull Run,

August 30th, in which last-named engagement its com-

manding ofiBcer, Col. Brodhead, was mortally wounded.

The losses of the regiment in that battle were twenty killed

and wounded, seven prisoners, and one hundred and si.K

missing. From that time until November Ist ten more

liaJ died of wounds received in action, and sixty of disease.

During the month of November, and through the follow-

ing winter and spring, the regiment was employed in grand

guard duty along the line of the I'otoniac Rrvcr, in Vir-

ginia, from Leesburg (the locality of the battle of Hall's

Bluff in 18(il),on the northwest, to the mouth of Occo-

* This statement is from the local newspapers of that time.

quan Creek, below Mount Vernon. This duty, be.sides

being of the most arduous and laborious kind, was one

which required the exercise of constant and almost sleep-

less vigilance in guarding against the inroads and attacks

of the bold and enterprising guerrilla bands of Mosby and

Stuart; but so well did the men of the First Michigan

keep their guard against surprises, that though two cavalry

regiments of other States lost each about two hundred men

while engaged in the same duly, during the same time, this

regiment lost only about thirty men. When the enemy's

cavalry, under the famous J. E. B. Stuart, made a raid

along the Union lines, in February, 1863, a detachment of

the First was sent out to observe their movements, and

finding them on the Oceoquan, at once engaged them, and

drove them back in confusion. They, however, rallied on

learning the weakness of the attacking party, and in turn

charged vigorously, and compelled the Union force to re-

tire ; which they did, however, in good order, and con-

stantly fighting, over a distance of several miles, inflicting

quite heavy loss on the raiders.

When Gen. Lee invaded Maryland and Pennsylvania, in

June, 1863, atid the Army of the Potomac marched north-

ward to meet him, the First Michigan moved with the

other cavalry regiments (June 27th) on the campaign ot

Gettysburg, and during fifteen days fought in sixteen bat-

tles and skirmishes, being almost constantly in the saddle.

At Gettysburg, on the 3d of July, it met and charg(;d three

regiments of Confederate cavalry, composing the " Hampton

Legion," and in six minutes put the rebel force to flight

;

but in this engagement it lost eighty enlisted men and

eleven officers out of the three hundred who went into the

fight. Geo. Custer, in his report of the operations of the

cavalry at Gettysburg, said of this fight: "Arriving within

a few yards of the enemy's column a charge was ordered,

and with a yell that spread terror belbre them, the First

Michigan Cavalry, led by Col. Town, rode upon the front

rank of the enemy, sabering all who came within reach.

For a moment, but only a moment, that long heavy column

stood its ground ;
then, unable to withstand the impetu-

osity of the attack, it gave way itito a disorderly rout,

leaving vast numbers of their dead and wounded in our

posses.sion, while the First, being masters of the field, had

the proud satisfaction of seeing the much-vaunted chivalry,

led by their favorite commander, seek safety in headlong

flight. I cannot find language to express my high appre-

ciation of the gallantry and daring displayed by the oflicers

and men of the First Michigan Cavalry. They advanced

to the charge of a vastly superior force witii as much order

and precision as if going upon parade; and I challenge the

annals of warfare to produce a more brilliant or successful

charge of cavalry than the one just recounted."

On the following day the regiment was again engaged at

Fairfield Gap. The following extract is from (lie report of

that fight made by Col. C. H. Town, commanding the Firat

:

" We moved early on the morning of the 4th of July to

Emmettsburg, thence to Monterey. Before reaching the

laltiT ]ilaec t4ie enemy was discovered in force upon the

liills to the right of the road. The regiment, being in ad-

vance of tiic column, was sent on a road leading to Fair-

field Gap. Tlic enemy having passcssion of the gap, a
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charge was made by one squadron, wliicli, with the re-

inainder of the regiment deployed as skirmisliers, was

successful in driving the enemy from the gap. The regi-

ment held the position until the entire column liad passed,

though the enemy made desperate efforts with superior

numbers to drive us out."

During the pursuit of the enemy from Gettysburg to

the Potomac the men of the First were almost constantly

in the saddle and frequently engaged. On the Gth of July

it supported a battery under heavy fire, but fortunately

sustained no loss. It took part in the actions at Boonsburo',

Hagerstown, and Williamsport ; and at Falling Waters, Va.,

on the 14th of July, it was heavily engaged, capturing five

hundred prisoners and the colors of the Fortieth and Forty-

seventh Virginia Infantry.

In September, 1863, the War Department authorized the

consolidation of the twelve companies of the regiment into

eight, and the raising of a new battalion of four companies.

These were speedily raised, and were mustered into service

at Mount Clemens, in December, 1863. This battalion went

to Camp Stoneman, near Washington, in December, 1863,

and remained there until the spring of 1864. Meanwhile,

the two old battalions re-enlisted, came home on veteran

furlough, and joined the new levies at Camp Stoneman.

The three battalions went to the front together, and in

the latter part of March, 1864, joined Gen. Sheridan's

cavalry -corps at Culpeper, Va., being still a part of the

Michigan Cavalry Brigade. The regiment did excellent

work in the arduous campaigns of May and June, 1SG4,

one of its most brilliant engagements being that at Yellow

Tavern, Va., on the 11th of May. The splendid charge

of the First on that occasion is mentioned in Gen. Custer's

report of the movement, as follows :
" From a personal

examination of the ground I discovered that a successful

charge might be made upon the battery of the enemy by

keeping well to the right. With this intention, I formed

the First Michigan Cavalry in column of squadrons under

cover of the woods. At the same time I directed Col.

Alger and Maj. Kidd to move the Fifth and Sixth Jlichi-

gan Cavalry forward and occupy the attention of the enemy

on the left, Heatou's battery to engage them in the front,

while the First charged the battery on the flank. The bugle

sounded the advance, and the three regiments moved forward.

As soon as the First Michigan moved from the cover of the

woods the enemy divined our intention, and opened a brisk

fire from his artillery with shell and canister. Before the

battery of the enemy could be reached there were five fences

to be opened and a bridge to cross, over which it was im-

possible to pass more than three at one time, the intervening

ground being within close range of the enemy's battery.

Yet, notwithstanding these obstacles, the First Michigan,

Lieut.-Col. Stagg commanding, advanced boldly to the

charge, and when within two hundred yards of the battery

charged it with a yell which spread terror before them.

Two pieces of cannon, two limbers filled with ammunition,

and a large number of prisoners were among the results of

this charge. . . . Lieut.-Col. Stagg, who commanded the

First Michigan in the charge, with the officers and men of

his command, deserve great credit for the daring manner

iti which the rebel battery was taken."

The regiment was engaged at Hanovertown, on the 27th

of May, and at Hawes' Shop on the 28th, where fifteen of

its members were killed and wounded, and at Old Church

on the 30th, where fifteen were killed and wounded. On the

31st of May and 1st of June it was engaged, together with

otlier cavalry regiments, at Cold Harbor, where it fought,

dismounted, in advance of the infantry, having eighteen

men killed and wounded. It shared the fortunes of the

brigade throughout the summer, having fifty-one men killed

and wounded at Trevillian Station (where six commissioned

officers were killed), eleven killed and wounded at Front

Royal, in the Shenandoah Valley, thirty-two at Manchester,

and twenty-seven at Cedar Creek. During the six months

closing on the 1st of November, 1864, the regiment had

eighty-two men killed or mortally wounded in action, and

one hundred and two less seriously wounded, while only

thirty three died of disease.

After being in quarters with the brigade near Winchester

through the winter, the First went with it in Sheridan's

great raid in March, 1865, and was warmly engaged in the

closing scenes of the Rebellion. A most gallant charge

made by the regiment at the battle of Five Forks is men-

tioned as follows :
" The next morning we moved forward,

passing over the ground from which we had been driven the

day before. Our brigade being in advance, we soon came upon

the enemy, strongly posted behind a large swamp, through

which it was impossible to penetrate. Moving to the right,

the enemy's, cavalry appeared in our front, and was driven

to his main line of works, occupied by Kershaw's division.

In the afternoon the regiment participated in the final

charge and capture of these works, taking many prisoners

and pursuing the flying enemy until long after dark."

This battle was immediately followed by the surrender of

the Confederate army under Gen. Lee, and soon after this

the regiment moved into the edge of North Carolina, then

returned to Washington, and immediately after the review

of the Army of the Potomac, on the 23d of May, 1865, was

sent by rail and steamer to Fort Leavenworth, Kan., whence

it was ordered across the Plains. There was much dissatis-

faction, but most of the regiment set out on the march,

reaching Camp Collins, at the foot of the Rocky Mountains,

on the 26th of July. Its headquarters remained there

until about the 1st of November, when it was removed to

Fort Bridger. There it was consolidated with those men

of the Sixth and Seventh Michigan Cavalry who had the

longest time to serve, forming an organization known as

the First Michigan Veteran Cavalry. After the consolida-

tion eight companies were sent to Camp Douglas, near Salt

Lake City, while four remained at Fort Bridger. The

regiment garrisoned those two stations until the 10th of

March, 1866, when it was mustered out, paid oif, and dis-

banded. The men were given their choice,—to be dis-

banded in Utah then, or to remain till June and then be

marched to Fort Leavenworth, without horses or tents. All

but about seventy made the former choice. The commuta-

tion paid tliem in lieu of transportation, however, was not

enough to carry them home, and on representation of the

injustice to Congress, that body voted three hundred and

twenty-five dollars to each member of the regiment, minus

the amount already paid as commutation money. This
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gave each member about two hundred and ten dollars extra,

wliich was duly paid tiicm by tiie government.

SOLDIERS OF THE FIRST CAVALRY FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

/Tei.f and Slnff.

Maj. Tliiirlow W. Lusk, Duplain ; com. Oct. 25, 1864 ; must, out Nov. 28, 18C5.

Koii-OommisHo»f<t StnjT.

Q.M.-Sergt. Samuel L. Brass, Ovid; vetentu, enl. Dec. 21, I8GT; pro. to 1st li eut

.

Cu. G.

Q.M.-Scrgt. C. F. Carrier, Ovid; veteran, enl. Dec. 21, 13G:i; died of disease at

Alexandria.

Q.M.-Sergt. Edward I). Weed, Dviplain; veteran, enl, Jan. 2, 18G4; trans, to

Co. H.
ComjiaHii C.

Joscpli Tucker, disch. for dis.ibility.

Compnwj D.

Capt.' Josinh B, Park, Ovid; com. Aug. 10, 18GI; pro. to maj, of 4th Mich. Cav.,

Aug. u, isna,

Capt. Thurlow W, Lusk, Duplain ; com. .Aug. 1, 1862; 2d lieut, Aug. 22, 1861;

pro. to niMJ., Oct. 25, 18G4.

fid Lieut. Harry Marvin, Ovid; com. Nov. 12, 1802; must, out at end of service,

Dec. 21, 1804.

Sergt. Richard 0. Finch, Ovid; enl. Aug. 12, 1862; died of disease at Frederick,

Md.

Sergt. Mark B. Wansor, Ovid; enl. Aug. 12, 1862; pro, to 2d lieut,

Corp. Henry S. Chapman, Duplain; enl, Aug. 12, ISGl ; disch, for disability,

June, 1862.

Corp, George G, Winficld, Ovid ; enl. Aug. 12, 1801; killed in skirmish in Vir-

ginia, April 1,1862.

Corp, James W, Howd, Duplain; enl, Aug. 12, 1862.

Corp. John II, Faxon, Duplain; enl, Aug, 12, 1862,

Mus, E. V, Clia'ie, Duplain; eut, Aug. 10, 1862: sergemt; veteran, re enl. J,in,

4, 1864; pro, to id lieut,, Co, F, Oct. 2.'i, 18G4; pro, to Ist lieut,, Cu, F, and

trans, to Co. M; must, out March 10, 18C0,

Mus, S, L, Bra«8, Ovid; enl. Auk. 12, 1862; trans, to Co, B.

Sad, Henry L. Holli*ter, Duplain ; enl, Aug, 12, 1862; veteran, nvenl, Jan, 2,

1864; must, out April 2.% 1866.

Far. Charles Chase, Ovid ; enl, Aug, 12, 1862.

Far, Jerome Bilely, Ovid; enl. Aug. 12, 1862; mustaput March 10, 1866,

Wag, Almon Bennett, Duplain ; enl, Aug, 12, 1862.

Byron Aldrich, veteran, enl. Jan, 4, 1861; disch. liy order, Juno 9, 1865,

James Bennett, veteran, enl, Nov. 16, 186;{; must, out Jan. 16, 1866,

Albert Bradley, veteran, enl, Jan, 4, 1864,

John Bromley, veteran, enl. Jan. 2, 1864,

Oliver Cros-*, disch. for disability, Dec. 5, 1862.

Ebenezer Cowles, disch. for disability, .January, 18G2.

Evan Davis, missing in action, Feb. 26, 18G:t.

8. R. Dewstoe, Duplain ; disch. for di<ability, Feb, 13, 1863,

Daniel U Dilts, disch. for disability, June, 1862,

John Dilts, veteran, enl, Feb, 21, 1864; must, out by order, July 15, 186.5,

Morris Dilta, veteran, enl. March 3, 1864 ; must, out Aug. 7, 1.S6G,

George \V. Davis, veteran, ejjl, Jan, 4, 1864; must, out March 10, 1806,

Francis M, Davis, Duplain; veteran, enl, Jan, 4, 1864; must, out March 10,

1S66,

John Hibbard, veteran, enl, Jan. 4, 18G4; must, out March 10,1866.

John W. Hawkins, disch, for disability, Oct. 14, 1802,

George E. IloUiiter, disch, for disability, Nov, 20, 1861.

Jacob House, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1864; must, out May 12, 1806.

George R. Jameson, Ovid ; died of disease in Virginia, April 29, 1802,

Morgan L. Leach, disch. for disability, Oct. 14, IH02,

And. J, I.innian. Duplain; died of ilisease at Washington, D, 0,, Nov, 9, 1861,

And, J. Mead, ilied of disease at Wjishington, Dec. 2:i, 1802,

Bernard Oberle, veteran, enl, Jan. 4, 1864; must, out March 10, 1806,

Silas .s. Perry, Dnpbiin; veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1804; must, out Aug, 8, 1860,

James K. ItoKS, discb, for ilisal.ility, June M, 1802,

William A. .Simmons, veteran, enl, Dec. 21, 1803; must, out July 11, 1806.

William Sweet, veteran, enl. Jan. 4, 1804; disch, by order. May 3, 1805,

William D, .Scott, disch. for disability, Nov, 25, 1861,

Charles Upton, must, out Dec. 7, laG.I,

Jo<iah D. Van llerger, veteran, enl Nov, 10, 1863; must, out Jan, 16, 1800,

Albert Watson, disch, lor disability, Juno 30, 1862,

Allen D. Watkins diseli. for disability, Oct, 9, 1802,

Charles J, Young, disch. for disabdily, Nov, 20, 1801,

Daniel C, Young, disch. by order, Juno 9, 1805,

Company IT.

Kdward Hinclnian, must, out March 26, 1800.

Chai les 0. Hler, must, out June 30, 1800.

SOLDIERS OF TIIH FIRST CAVALRY FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY,

Oompimij C.

Charles Bogue, veteran, enl. March 3, 1804 ; must, out March 1", 1800,

George L. Foster, disch, at end of service, Aug 22, 1804,

William D. Jewell, veteran, enl. Dec, 2I,18G3,

Joseph Naracon, missing in action at FaiifletdGap, July 4, 1863.

OiiHpang D.

Ist Sei-gt, Frank Slieplienl, Owi»<o; enl, Aug. 12, 1861; disch. Jnno, 1862.

Corp. George P. Guilford, Owo^go; enl, Aug. 12, 1801; veteran, Jan, 4, 18W;
di.sch. for disability, July 17, 1805,

Corp, Joseph O. Hathaway, Middl(4jury; eid, Aug, 12, 1861,

Lemuel W. Bogue, died of disease at Camp Rucker, Nov, 0, 1801.
' John Brooks, disch. for disability, Aug. 7, 1862.

Bradley II, Bennett, veteran, enl. March 3, 1804; disch, by order, July II, 1865.

Henry N, Curtis, veteran, enl, Jan, 2, 1864 ; must, imt March 10, 1860,

Jacob Color, veteran, enl. Jan, 2, 1864; must, out Slarcli 10,1806,

William Hankinson, veteran, enl, Feb. 23, 1864; luust. out July 10, 1865.

William Hyatt, veter.m, enl. .Ian. 2, imA; mu.n. out March 10, 1806.

Egbert iMaton, veteian, enl. Jan. 2, 18lU.

Henry C. McCarty, disch. for disability, Nov. 24. 1801.

Charles W. Mosher, disch. for disability, Jan, 2, 1862.

Willard Ryan, disch. for disability, June 30, 1862.

Samuel K Smith, disch. for disability, June 3U, 1802.

Aaron L. Tubbs, died of disease at Camp Rucker, Nov. 9, 1861.

ContpoMij F.

Gustavus Brenner, must, out March 25, 1866,

Company G.

William Everest, must, out March 10, 1860.

Alvah C. Laing, discli. by order, June 3, 1805.

William Maheen, must, out Blarch 10, 1866.

Alexander Mabeen, must, out March 10, 1866.

SECOND CAVALRY.

The Second Cavalry Regiment was organized in the

summer and autumn of 18G1, by Hon. F. W. Kellogg,

and ibr this reason was generally known during the period

of its recruitment as " Kellogg's First Cavalry,"* " It con-

tained between fifty and sixty men from Clinton and Shia-

wassee Counties, these being scattered tlirough all the

companies. The regimental rendezvous and camp of in-

struction was located at Grand Rapids.

The regiment was mustered into the United States ser-

vice on the 2d of October, ISGl, and on the 14th of Novem-

ber following it left Grand Rapids for St, Louis, Mo,, where

it remained till March, 1862. It then moved to New

Jladrid, IMo., where it took part in the military operations

agaiibst that place, and afterwards at Island No, 10, In

May, 1802, it moved to Corinth, Miss., and was occupied

throughout the summer in cavalry duty in Northern Mis-

sissippi and Western Tennes.see. Its colonel was then

Philip H. Sheridan, now lieutenant-general, who had re-

cently been detailed from duty as a captain in the regular

army to receive the colonelcy lately Viicated by the promo-

tion of Gen, Gordon Granger. Col, Sheridan commanded

the brigade consisting of the Second Michigan, Second

Iowa, and Sevenlh Kansas Cavalry, and at its head made

numerous excursions through the country around Corinth,

to keep down gucrrilhis and learn the movciiients of tiic

enemy.

Early in the autumn, however, Col, Sheridan was made n

brigadier-general of volunteer^^ and transferred to llie Army

of the Cumberland, and about the same time the Second

Cavalry was sent to Kentucky, In December, lHt)2, and

January, 18(i:5, it was engaged in a luovcment into Kitst

Tei)nc8.see, the men being in the saddle twenty-two days

and taking i>art in several sharp skirmishes. Soon after-

wards il moved into Middle Tennessee, and for several

• CalU'il the Fi/"i because Mr. Kelbigg soon after oommoncod tho

orguniiution of other c»v«lry regiment*.
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months ils headquarters were at or near Murfreesboro',

while it was almost constantly engaged in scoutings and

raids through that region.

On the 25th of March, 1863, it had a sharp encounter

with a large rebel force under Gen. N. B. Forrest, killing

and wounding many and capturing fifty-two prisoners.

The Second had seven men killed and wounded. On the

4th of June it had another brisk skirmish between Frank-

lin and Triune, five of its men being killed and wounded.

When the army advanced from Murfreesboro' in June,

1863, the Second accompanied it in the cavalry division,

driving the enemy from Shelbyville, Middletown, and other

points. In the autumn it was engaged in scouting around

Chattanooga, atone time being part of a force which chased

Gen. Wheeler's cavalry one hundred and ninety-one miles

in six days (October 3d to 8th inclusive). In November

it marched into East Tennessee, and on the 24th of Decem-

ber it participated in an attack on a large force of the

enemy at Dandridge, Tenn., having ten men killed and

wounded. On the 26th of January, 1864, the Second

with other forces attacked a brigade of rebel cavalry on

Pigeon River, capturing three pieces of artillery and

seventy-five pri.soners, and having eleven of its own men

wounded.

Three hundred and twenty-eight of the men re enlisted

as veterans, and in April went home on veteran furlough.

The rest of the regiment accompanied Gen. Sherman in

his Atlanta campaign, having several sharp skirmishes with

the enemy, but ordered back from Lost Mountain to Frank-

lin, Tenn., were rejoined by the veterans in July. During

the summer and autumn it was busily engaged in marching

through Middle Tennessee, fighting with the horsemen of

Forrest and other rebel generals.

On the 5th of November, 1864, the regiment was at-

tacked at Shoal Creek, Ala., by a large Confederate force

(a part of Hood's army, then advancing against Nashville),

and was forced back with heavy loss. It steadily fell back,

skirmishing almost constantly with the enemy, and at

Franklin, on the 30th of November, it resisted his ad-

vance all day, having eighteen officers and men killed and

wounded.

After Hood's defeat before Nashville, the Second pressed

hard on his rear, and at Richland Creek, on the 24th of

December, charged repeatedly, driving the foe sixteen

miles, and having seven men killed and wounded. After

Hood's fiual retreat from the State the regiment remained

mostly in Middle Tennessee until March 11, 1865, when it

set out on a long raid through Northern Alabama to Tusca-

loosa, thence through Talladega to Macon, Ga., where it

arrived on the 1st day of May, 1865.

After remaining in Georgia, on garrison duty, until the

17th of August, the regiment was mustered out and sent

home, arriving at Jackson on the 25th of August, where

it was disbanded.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTY SOLDIERS IN THE SECOND CAVALRY.

Conipnntt B.

David Barnum, diftd in action at Dandridge, Tenn., Dec. 24, 1863.

Henry Badder, must, out Aug. 17, ISG.'>.

Abel Cronson, must, out May 3(1, 1806.

Holland Halt, diod in action at Dandridge, Tenn., Dec. 24, 1863.

John Jackson, must, out Sept. 14, 1865.

James H. Lyman, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 18G4 ; disch. by older, Jan. 5, 1806 .

Cornpiiv'j C.

Dean Cutler, must, out Aug. 14, 1805.

James A. Farr, must, out .\ug. 17, 1865.

Contpanij D.

John Hicks, trans, to Vet. Kes. Corps, April 30, 1864.

Warren L. Woulman, must, out June 20, 1865.

Company E,

John Bowman, must, out June 21, 1805.

Thomas C^mnor, must, out Aug. 17, 1865.

James I. May, must, out Aug. 17, 1865.

Joseph Moeher, disch. by order, Aug. 19, 1865.

Company T.

Charles Bradford, died of dise.nse at Annapolis, Md., March 21, 1865.

Andrew i'all, must, out Aug. 17, 1865.

George Hilma, must, out July 18, 1805.

Alonzo Mattisou, must, out June 21, 1865.

Sidney M. Shelley, must, out Aug. 17, 1865.

Company G.

John Codger, trans, to U. S. navy, .\pril, 18G4.

William Jacobs, disch. for disability, Feb. 2, 1862.

George Jewett, disch. for disability, .\pril 14, 1863.

Daui**l E. Leutonyou, died of disease on steamer " Woodford," April 19, 1862.

George Laflin, died of disease at Little Kock, .\rk., June 22, 1865.

Charles Lemonyon, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1804 ; must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Archibald McUenry, mnst. out Ang. 17, 1865.

Company Jl.

Andrew Kinney, died of disease at Benton Barracks, Mo., Dec. 26, 1862.

Eniinctt Mullett, mnst. out Ang. 17, 1865.

Silas Newman, must, out .^ug. 17, 1805.

Owen Otto, must, out Aug. 17, 1865.

Conipa^iy 1.

Sergt. Abram Jones, Byron.

James C. Graham, must, out Aug. 17, 1865.

Company K.

9Iartiu Spencer, must, out Ang. 17, 1865."

George Sliultz, milat. out Ang. 17, 1865.

C(ffnpany L.

Azariaii Slaitin, must, out June 3, 1865.

Lyman S. Tbr.islier, must, out Aug. 17, 1865.

Charles Vanalstin.
Company M.

Harry D. Wardwell, mnst. out June 3, 186.5.

Henry M'ilsoii, discb. by older, Aug. 25, 1865.

CLINTON COUNTY SOLDIEBS IN THE SECOND CAVAMST.

Company A.

Johnson L. Sutliff, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Feb. 11, 1665.

Comjtany C.

Henry P. .\dams, St. John's; vetei-an, enl. Jan. 5, 1864; must, out Aug. 17, 1805.

Wm. H. Buck, must, out Aug. 3u, 1865.

Christian llizer, died of disea.se at Nashville, July 13, 1864.

AInioii Keliy, must, out Aug. 17, 1865.

Bobt. G. Mason, disch. at end of service, Oct. 22, 1864.

Leroy B. Stuwell, disch. for disability, Sept. 20, 1862.

Beuj. F. Tifft, must, out July 20, 1865.

Company D,

Mus. Jas. A. Stevenson, veteran, enl. Jan. 5, 1864 ; must, out Aug. 17, 1865.

Levi S. Blakely, died of disease at Savannah, Tenn., June 26, 1862.

Company E.

Saml. II. Barton, must, out Aug. 17, 1865.

Jacob Blakely, must, out June 30, 186.5.

John D. Moon, died of disease at Rienzi, Miss., Aug. 1, 1862.

Company F.

Jeremiah Blackman, must, out Aug. 17, 1865.

Company I.

Jeremiah Mahoney, must, out Jnne 30, 1865.

Company HI.

Sergt. Henry U. Walker, pro. to 1st lieut. and q.-m.

Cbarles M. Duke, disch. for disability, June 15, 1865.
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CHAPTER XV.

THIKD CAVALRY.

Rendezvous of the Third at Grand Riipids—Winter Quarters in

Missouri—Campaigns of 1862—Marching and Fighting in Missis-

sippi and Tennessee in 1863—Ue-enlistuient—Campaign in Ar-

kansas—At Mobile—Services in Texas till the Close of the War.

The Third Cavalry RegimeDt of Michigan was recruited

and organized in the summer and fall of 1861, and was mus-

tered into the United States service at its rendezvous, Grand

Rapids, on the 1st of November of that year. Its total

strength was eleven hundred and sixty-three oflScers and

enlisted men, under conimaiid of Lieut.-Col. R. H. G.

Minty. One of the companies of this regiment (Company

B) was made up of Clinton and Shiawassee men, and a

considerable number of soldiers from these counties served

in eight of the other companies.

The regiment left its rendezvous Nov. 28, 1861, and pro-

ceeded to Benton Barracks, Mo., where Col. John K. Miz-

ner soon after assumed command. It remained at St. Louis

until early in the spring of 1862, when it joined Gen. John

Pope's "Army of the IMississippi," and actively participated

in the operations which resulted in the capture of the rebel

strongholds Island No. 10 and New Madrid. With Gen.

Pope's army it then proceeded by way of the Mississippi,

Ohio, and Tennessee Rivers, to Pittsburg Landing, where

it arrived soon after the battle of Shiloh, and took an active

part in the advance of Gen. Halleck's army upon Corinth,

Jliss. Immediately after the evacuation of Corinth by

Beauregard, the Third was ordered to Booneville, Miss., to

ascertain the position and strength of the enemy. While

in the performance of this duty a small detachment of the

regiment was sent out in advance, under one of the captains.

It ran upon a rebel force of all arms, drove them from their

position, halted, and bivouacked for the night. The fol-

lowing morning, while eating breakfast, a Union scout dis-

covered the enemy in the vicinity. The men left their

breakfast half eaten, mounted, and hurried forward, Tiiey

soon found a small body of rebel cavalry, who fled before

them. The Union hor.semen advanced at a rapid pace,

and soon came upon an entire regiment of rebel cavalry

drawn up to dispute their further progress. There was no

time for consideration. If the little command had then

retreated, it would liave been attacked and cruslied by the

elated Confederates. The commanding officer knew it was

essential for cavalry to get the advantage of its own mo-

mentum in a combat, and accordingly sjiouted the order to

charge. The detachment dashed forward at the top of its

speed, burst through the Confederate lines, and then turned

and charged back. The enemy were so demoralized by

these movements tliat no attempt was made to follow. How

many of the foe were killed and wounded was not known,

but it was certain that at least eleven were dismounted, for

that number of their horses accompanied the Union force

on its returning charge. After retreating a short distance,

the commander halted and sent a dispatch to camp. About

four o'cliiek in the afternoon he was relieved by the Second

Michigan Cavalry, under the command of Col. Philip II.

Siieridan. The latter drove back the enemy four or five

miles, ami ti\en rejoined the main army.

13

The regiment was actively engaged in the usual cavalry

duty of picketing and scouting throughout the whole sea-

son. Through the month of August it was at Tuscumbia

and llussellville, Ala. On the approach of Price's rebel

cavalry it returned to the vicinity of Corinth. At luka,

Miss., on the 19th of September, 1862, while in command

of Capt. L. G. AVilcox,—Col. Mizner being chief of cav-

alry,—the regiment was actively engaged, and was specially

mentioned in Gen. Rosecrans' report of that battle. When
Price and his defeated rebel army retired from the field

the Third hung on his flanks and rear for many miles, be-

coming several times hotly engaged, and causing him re-

peatedly to form line of battle to check the Union advance.

At the close of the year ending Nov. 1, 1862, the regi-

ment had lost one hundred and four men who died of dis-

ease, seven killed in action, forty-five wounded in action,

and fifty-nine taken prisoners. Its battles and skirmishes

to that date were New JMaJrid, JIo., March 13, 1862 ; siege

of Island No. 10, Mo., March 14th to April 7th ; Farm-

ington. Miss , May 5th ; siege of Corinth, Miss., May 10th

to 31st ; Spangler's Mills, Miss., July 26th
; Bay Springs,

Miss., September 10th; luka, Miss., September 19th;

Corinth, Miss., October 3d and 4th ; and Hatchie, Mi.ss.,

October 6tli. It advanced with Gen. Grant's army into

Mississippi in November and December, 1862, and engaged

the enemy at Holly Springs, November 7th ; at Hudson-

ville, November 14th, where it captured an entire rebel

company ;
at Lumkin's Slill, November 29th ; and at Ox-

ford, December 2d ; and .shared in the defeat of the Union

cavalry at Coffeeville, December 5th.

The Tiiird passed the winter in Northern Missis-sippi,

and in 1863 was again employed in that State and West-

ern Tennessee in almo.st continuous marching, fighting, and

raiding, in the arduous service of driving out the numer-

ous bands of guerrillas which infested Western Tennessee

and Northern j\lississippi, and repelling the incursions of

Confederate forces from other quarters, its camp being

must of the time at Corinth, Miss. It fought at Clifton

on the 20th of February ; at Panola, Miss., on the 20th

of July; at Byhalia, Miss., on the 12th of October; at

Wyatt's Ford, Miss., on the 13th of October. At Gre-

nada, Miss., also, on the 1 4th of August, the Third led

the Union advance, and, after a vigorous fight, drove

back the enemy, captured the town, and destroyed more

than sixtv locomotives and four hundred ears, gathered

there by the Confederate authorities. By (he 1st of No-

vember in that year it had taken an additional number of

prisoners, sufficient to make the whole number ca]itured by

it since its commencement of service two thousand one

hundred, of whom about fifty were ofliccrs. " During the

year (from Jan. 1 to Nov. 1, 1863) the regiment marched

a distance of ten thousand eight hundred miles, exclusive

of marches by separate companies and detachmcnl.s." Ac-

companying the Third in its movements was a light bat-

tery of twelve-pound howitzers.

On the 1st of January, 1864, the regiment arrived at

La Grange, Tenn., where it prepared winter quarters, and

where, during January, nearly .six hundred of its mem-

bers re-cnlistcd as veterans, and received the usual furlough,

—to rendezvous at Kalamazoo. From that place they



98 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE AND CLINTON COUNTIES, MICHIGAN.

moved, with their numbers larcely augmented by recruits,

to St. Louis, where they remained about two months on

provost duty in the city, while awaiting the arrival of new

horses and equipments. Still dismounted, the regiment

moved May ISth, and proceeded to Arkansas, there joining

the army of Gen. Steele. It was mounted and armed with

the Spencer repeating carbine on the 1st of August, and

from that lime until winter, was engaged in scouting and

outpost duty in that State. Its winter quarters were at

Brownsville Station, on the Memphis and Little Rock Rail-

road. At this place the men built such fine appearing

quarters and stables, that it was called Michigan City, in-

stead of Brownsville.

The regiment was transferred (March 14, 18G5) from

Arkansas to the Military Division of West Mississippi,

under Gen. Canby, to move with the forces designed to

operate against Mobile. In this service—as a part of the

First Brigade, First Division, Seventh Army Corps—it

moved to New Orleans, and thence to its objective point,

Mobile. After the fall of that city the regiment was em-

ployed on outpost duty till after the surrender of Lee and

Johnston, and was then detailed as the escort of Gen.

Canby, on the occasion of his receiving the surrender of

the Confederate Gen. Taylor and his army. It moved

across the country from Mobile to Baton Rouge, Louisiana,

arriving there May 22, 1865. On Sheridan's assuming

command of the Division of the Southwest, the Third was

ordered to join troops designed for Texas, and left Baton

Rouge June 10th, moving by way of Shreveport, and across

Texas to San Antonio, where it remained, employed in gar-

rison duty, scouting expeditions for the protection of the

frontier, and other similar duty till Feb. 15, 1SG6, when it

was dismounted and mustered out of service. The men

returned, via Victoria, Indianola, New Orleans, and Cairo,

Illinois, to Jackson, Michigan, and there received their final

payment, March 15, 1866.

MEMBEKS OF lUE THIRD CA\ ALKY FROM CLINTON COUNTT.

Companij B.

1st Lieut. William T. MngofiSn, St. John's ; com. Sept. 7, 1861 ; resigned March

29, 1802.

1st Lieut. Daniel T. Wellington, St. John's; com. Oct. 3, 1864, us 2d lieut.; pro.

to capl. Co. H, Dec. ", 1SC4.

Q.M.-Scrgt. EiasuMis D. Tiipp, St. John's; discli. for disability, July 24, 1SC2.

Q.U.-Sergt Uurace S. Greeu, St. John's; died ut disease at St. Louis, March 3,

1862.

Q.M.-Sergt. Enos B. Bailey, St. John's ; disch. for pro. in Uth Cav., Oct. 1, 1863.

Corp. D. T. Wellington, St. John's; enl. Oct. 14,1801; veteran, Jan. 19, 1864;

pro. to 2d lieut.

Corp. Jacob P. Sleight, Bath ; disch. for pro. in U. S. C. T.

Corp. Hiram Steffy, St. John's ; enl. Oct. 19, 1861 ; must, ont Feb. 12, 1866.

Corp. Phineas R. Freemau, St. John's; enl. Aug. 31,1861; disch. for disability,

Feb. 7, 1863.

Musician James Gunner, St. John's; enl. Sept. 4, 1861; trans, from N. C. S.

(sergt.); disch. for disability, Jan. 2, 1803.

Musician Charles II. Eaton, St, John's; enl. Sept. 17, ISGl ; veteran, Jan. 19,

1804; col-j). ; must, out Feb. 12, 1S66.

Amos T. Ayers, disch. for disability, Jan. 27, 1862.

Henty Alward, must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Theo. Asbley, must, out Feb. 12, 1806.

John BoUon, must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Lyster R. Bond, must, ont Feb. 12, 1866.

John A. Brown, must, out Feb. 12, 1860.

Gaines Brown, disch. for disability, Feb. 6, 1802.

Sumuet Brubaker, discb. for disability, July 19, 1862.

Abraui Brubaker, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1804 ; must, out Oct. 9, 1SC5.

William H. Baker, disch. for disability, Feb. j, 1805.

Enos Batlielder, died of di>ease at Duvall's Bluff, .\rk., July 10, 1804.

Charles E. Bottom, died of disease iu Texas, July 24, 180o.

>Vil|ium H. H. Cook, died of disease at New Madrid, Mo., March 24, 1862.

Wallace J. Cronkhite, died of disease at St. Louis, Mo., April 30, 18C2.

John I. Cable, died of disease at Shreveport, La., July 6, 1865.

Lawrence Croy, disch. for disability, July 2, 1SG4.

Theo. W. Curtis, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1804 ; must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Leonard Coffman, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1861; must, out Oct. 9, 1865.

Aaron Cantre'l, must, out June 2, 1865.

Perry Cantrcll, must, out May 18, 1865.

Theo. Duwd, disch. for dis:ibility, June 4, 1862.

Anson R. Doyen, veterun, enl. Jan. 19, 1804; must, ont Oct. 9, 18C5.

Abram Eagles, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1S04; must, out Oct. 9, 1865.

William Eiigles, veteran, enl Jan. 19, 1804; must, out Oct. 9, 1865.

Charles II. Eiiton, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864 ; Corp. ; must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Michnel N. Freer, uinst. out Oct. 9, 1S65.

Leonard G. Fry, must, ont March 17, 1866.

Arthur L. Gunn, Victor; veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864; must, out Oct. 9, 1865.

Charles A. Gunn, disch. at end of service, Oct. 24, 1S64.

Oliver D. Gillson, disch. at end of service, Oct. 24, 1864.

Stiphen D. Gillson, must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Horace S. Green, Olive; died of disease at St. Louis, Mo., March 2, 18G2.

Wm. Ilnlsc, Greenbush; died of discisent St. Louis, Mo., Feb. 7, 1862.

Miles Hall, Victor; died of disease at St. Louis, Mo., Jan. 31,1862.

Hiram .K. Hillaker, disch. for disability, June 21, 1862.

John A. Hillaker, Dnplain ; disch. for disability, June 21, 1862.

Geo Hand^ley, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864; must, out Feb. 12, 18GC.

John R. Jeffreys, must, out Feb. 12, 1806.

Henry B.Johns, must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Myron A. Kniffen, died of disease at Jackson, Oct. 7, 1862.

Thomas Lester, must, out Aug. 11, 1805.

Klfjab Mudge, must, out Sept. 19, 1865.

James L. Miller, veteran, Jan. 19, 1804; must, out Feb. 12, 1SC6.

Daniel Miller, disch. for disability, Sept. 20, 1862.

Wm. U. ilartin, died of disease in Tennessee, June 1, 1862.

Ezra Nelson, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1804; disch for disability, Nov. 18,1864.

Daniel G. Owen, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1^04; ninst. out Sept. 4, 1865.

Jackson Page, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1S64; must, out Fob. 12, 1866.

Albert F. Palmer, veteran, enl. Jan. 19,1864; died of disease in Arkansas, .\ug.

29, 1804.

Cliarles II. Blieinbotham, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864; must, out Feb. 12,1866.

VVilliiim J. Ituisdale, must, ont June 2, 1865.

James H. Robinson, died of disease at Memphis, Tenn., July 26,1801.

Owen Stephens, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864.

Samuel Shaw, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864.

Jacob Smith, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864; died of disease at Baton Rouge, June

25, 1865.

David D. Sowles, died of disease at San Antonio, Aug. 26, 1865.

James Terry, must, out June 2, 1865.

John II. Tripp, must, ont Feb. 12, 1866.

Daniel Vail, must, out Feb. 12, 1800.

William Vail, died of disease at Duvall's Bluff, Ark., July 12, 1864.

Wm. L. Van Dyke, disch. fur disability, July 16, 1862.

Jiimes A. Woodruff, disch. for disability, July '<y, 1862.

Warren E. Wilton, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864; must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Henry C. Young, Olive ; died of disease at St. Louis, Mo., March 2, 1802.

Compawj Dc

Abram Hane, died of disease at Grand Rapids, Dec. 1, 1861.

David H. Payne, discU. for disiibility, Aug. 1, 1862.

Cfympamj E.

Peter Clark, must, ont Feb. 12, 1860.

Albei t B. Gregory, must, ont Feb. 12, 1866.

Edwin Hewitt, must, ont Feb. 12, 1866.-

Charles A. Sloan, must, ont Feb. 12, 1866.

James M. Warren, must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Company H.

Capt. D. T. Wellington, St. John's; com. Dec. 7, 1864; must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Wm. A. Foster, must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Companij L.

Charles W. Hildrcth, must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Robt. G. Temple, must, out Dec. 9, 1865.

Company M.

Francis M. Gillette, must, ont Feb. 12, 1806.

Francis M. Jones, must, out Feb. 12, 1800.

Lafayette Van Vliet, must, out Dec. 30, 1865.

MEMBERS OF THE THIRD CAVALRY FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Company B.

Sergt. James H. Lyman, Shiawassee; enl. Sept. 14, 1801 ; veteran, re-enl. Jan.

19, 1804 ;
pro. to 2d lieut. Co. E.

Corp. Wilson Wright, Vernon; enl. Sept. 10, 1801 ; died of disease at St. Louis,

Jan. 22, 1862.

Corp. John C. Woodman, Corunna; enl. Sept. 4, 1861 ; disch. for disability.

John Bair, died of disease at Duvall's Bluff, Ark., Aug. 21, 1864.

William H. Cole, died in action at Coffeeville, Miss., Dec. 5, 1862.
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Thomas E. Carey, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, ISGt; liiscli. for disa'nlity, Nov.18, 1864.

RiisweM R Hirkey, Tetemti, cnl. Jiin. 19, 18(54; must, out Kelj. 12, 18GG.

Loren Harrington, veteran, i-nl. Jan. 19, 1SG4; must, out June 10, 1865,

Robert Lawrence, must, out Feb. 12, 18GG.

George C. McCoy, died uf -Hseaso at St. Lnuia. Mo., Jan. 28, 18G2.

Iver Ri.'berts, died in action at Cuffeeville, Miss., Dec. 5, 1302.

diaries P. Tillson, disch. at end of strvice, Oit. 8, 1804.

Hiram T. loungs, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 18G4; must, out Feb. 12, 18GG.

Company D.

William M. Case, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1SG4; must, out Juno 2, 18G5.

Company E.

2d Lieut. J. H. Lyman, Shia\vas.see; com. July 4, 18G5; must, out Feb. 12, 186G.

Fmnk Payne, must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Company F.

Orange Storey, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864; must, out Nov. 28, 1865.

Company G.

Silas H. Alliton, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864; must, out Feb. 12, 1806.

J. G. m-titley, didcli. for disability, Dec. 7, 1802.

David It. Carrier, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 18G4; must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Harrison H. Carson, vetenin, enl. Jan. 19, 1864; must, out Feb. 12, 1866.

Silas W. Currier, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1804 ; must, out June 2, 1865.

Peter Dnmond, disch. fur disability, July 21, 18G2.

Frederick D^Jano, diacb. at end of service, Aug. 13, 1865,

Oliver C. Gaylard, died of disease at St. Louis, Mo., May 11, 1862.

John J. Gurnee, disch. for disability, July 1, 1802.

George W. Hanford, discli. for disability, June 11, I8G2.

Harvey J. Hopkins, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864; must, out Nov. 3, 1865.

Joseph B. Miller, died of disejise at New Madrid, Mo.

Austin Miller, di^d of disease at St. Louis, Mo., Jan. 7, 1862.

Ellis Ott, must, out Aug. 17, 1805.

Russell Rynes", veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1864; must, out June 22, 1865.

Tbomas J. Smedley, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1801; must, out Feb. 12, IS66.

Valentine Shaeppabi, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 18G4; must, out Feb. 12, 1860.

Seymour Sbipnian, disch. for promotion 1862.

Roswell Shipnian, died of disease at St. Louis, Mo,, Jan. 25, 1862.

Asa D. Whitney, veteran, enl. Jan. 19, 1804; must, out Feb. 12, 1860.

Company }[.

Adolphus Campbell, must, out Sept. 21, 1865.

C'mipany I.

Charles Campbell, must, out Feb. 12, 1806.

John E. Herrick, died at La Grange, June 20, 1SG3.

CHAPTER XVI.

FOURTH CAVALRy.

Organization of the Regiment—Movement to the Front—Operations

against Guerrillas in Kentucky— Fight at Franlilin, Tenn.—Ad-

vance with the Army of the Cumberland in ISO.'i—The Georgia

Campaign of 1864— Fight at Laltimore's Mill— Pursuit of Gen.

Hood—Raid through Alabama in Iho Spring of 1805—Capture (»f

Jefferson Davis by the Fourth Cavalry.

The renowned Fourtli Regiuieut of Michigan Cavalry

was recruited and organized in the summer of 1862, the

city of Detroit being its place of rendezvous. Clinton and

Shiawassee Counties were represented in eleven of its twelve

companies, but most numerously in Company B, which was

principally composed of men from these counties. The

regiment was mustered into the service of the United States

on the 29th of August, 18(!2, with eleven hundred and

eighty-six enlisted men, and the usual complement of offi-

cers. The coiumanding officer of the regiment was Col.

Robert H. G. Minty, previously lieutenant-colonel of the

Third Cavalry.

The regiment loft Detroit for the seat of war, in Ken-

tucky, on the 26th of September; being hurried forward

without preliminary drill, on account of Gen. IJuell's retro-

grade movement towards the Ohio River, and the Confed-

erate Gen. Bragg's advance northward, with the supposed

intention of crossing that stream. The Fourth proceeded

from Detroit to Jeffersonville, Ind., where it received arm.o,

and made other preparations for crossing the Ohio into

Kentucky. In the mean lime, Bragg had abandoned his

plan (if he ever entertained one) of invading Ohio, and had

turned the head of his column southward, pursued in turn

by Buell. The regiment crossed the Ohio on the 10th of

October, and pressed on with all speed to join the army of

Buell, leaving tents and baggage behind. It was soon en-

gaged in the pursuit of the guerrilla, John H. Morgan, and

overtaking him at Stanford, Ky., led the column which at-

tacked his forces at that place, October 14th, defeating and

pursuing them to Crab Orchard Springs. It also led in

the attack on Lebanon, Ky., November 9th; five hundred

and forty-three of its men pushing in Morgan's pickets at a

gallop, entering the town two miles in advance of the in-

fantry, and driving out the guerrilla leader and his force of

seven hundred and sixty men.

Arriving at Nashville, Tenn., it made a short stay at

that" city, and on the 13th of December marched to Frank-

lin, Tenn., attacked and drove out a rebel force thirteen

hundred strong, capturing their colors and a considerable

number of prisoners. On the 2Gth of December it moved

with the Army of the Cumberland in its advance on

Murfreesboro', fighting the cavalry of the enemy at La-

vergne, and taking part in the great battle of Stone River,

December 31st, when it charged the enemy three times,

each time driving a brigade of Confederate cavalry from the

field. The Fourth was the first regiment to enter Murfrees-

boro', in the morning of Jan. 3, 18G3; and from the 9th to

the 19th of that month it took part in an imjiortant cavalry

expedition, which drove Forrest's, Wheeler's, and Whar-

ton's cavalry beyond the Ilarpeth River. During the

month of February the regiment was constantly on the

move, and captured one hundred and forty-five prisoners,

including two colonels and a number of commissioned offi-

cers of other grades.

On the 22d of May following, tliis regiment with two

companies of United States cavalry charged into the camp

of the Eighth Con federate. First Alabama, and Second

Georgia Cavalry, and after a sharp engagement routed them,

taking fifty-five prisoners and destroying their camp. The

colors of the Alabama regiment were also capturinl by the

Fourth JUchigan, and are now in the office of the Adjutant-

General of the State.

Again, at Shelby ville, Tenn., June 27, ISCk?, the Fourth,

as a part of the brigade of C<il. Minty, assaulted an in-

trenched position held by a superior force of the enemy's

cavalry, and how the regiment did its work on that occa-

sion is told in the official report of Col. Minty, as follows:

" At Shelbyville I found myself, with a force of fifteen

hundred men, in front of formidable breastworks, with an

abatis of over one-fourth of a milu in width in front of

them, behind which (Jens. Wheeler and Martin had an

opposing force of four thousand men and three pieces of

artillery. I detached the Fourth Michigan, in command

of M:ij. Mix, well to the right, with orders to force their

way through the abatis and assault the works, and it' suc-

cessful to turn to the left and sweep up the intrenchments,
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promising that so soon as I heard their rifles speaking I

would make the direct assault on the Murfrcesboro' and

Shelbyville pike. The}? did their work so well that as I

entered the works on the main road they joined me from

the right, having carried the jvorks and taken prisoners

from six different regiments. The fruits of that day's

work were the whole of the enemy's artillery and six hun-

dred prisoners, while over two hundred dead bodies were

afterwards taken out of Duck River, into which I had

driven Wheeler and his entire command."

The fight at Shelbyville was delivered during the move-

ment of the Army of the Cumberland from Murfrcesboro'

to the Tennessee River. Through all that movement the

Fourth Cavalry was nearly always in the advance, and was

repeatedly engaged with the enemy. In tiiese fights and

skirmishes it was always successful until it reached the

vicinity of Chattanooga, where it was several times re-

pulsed. On the 18th of September—the day before the

opening of the great battle of Chickamauga—it took part

in a severe fight with a greatly superior force of the enemy's

cavalry near Lee and Gordon's Mills, Ga., in which the

Union cavalry was compelled to retreat, but so stubborn was

the fighting ou that occasion that the brigade commander,

Col. Minty, said in his report that " with less than one

thousand men the old First Brigade disputed the advance

of seven thousand from seven o'clock in the morning until

five o'clock in the evening, and during that time fell back

only five miles."

The next day, September 19th, the regiment fired the

first shots in the disasti-ous battle of Chickamauga, and

subsequently protected tlie left and rear of Rosecrans' army

and the trains moving to Chattanooga. On the 20th, while

assisting to hold the enemy in check until the shattered

Union forces could retire from the field, Slinty's brigade

attacked and defeated Scott's rebel brigade of cavalry and

mounted infantry, driving it back across the creek. The

regiment bivouacked on the ground it had held, but the

next day was compelled to share in the general retreat.

On the 30th of September it was driven by Wheeler's

rebel cavalry near Cotton's Ferry, on the Tennessee ; but

from the 1st to the 3d of October the tables were turned,

and the Fourth had the pleasure of following its late pur-

suers with ardor and success. By the 1st of November,

1863, the service of the regiment had been so severe that

only three hundred of the men were mounted. This bat-

talion was actively engaged on picket and scout duty in

Southeastern Tennessee and Northern Georgia and Ala-

bama throughout the winter ; the number of mounted men

being reduced by the latter part of JIarch, 1864, to one

hundred and twenty-eight. Meanwhile, the dismounted,

men had been employed in various duties in the same lo-

cality, and also in Middle Tennessee.

The regiment, except the one hundred and twenty-eight

mounted men, set out for Nashville on the 2Sth of March,

186-1, where the men received new horses and equipments,

and were armed with Spencer carbines. On the 14th of

April, under the command of Maj. F. W. Mix, the regi-

ment joined the Second Cavalry Division at Columbia,

Tenn. Thence it advanced with eight hundred and seventy-

eight men into Georgia, where the cavalry began its arduous

and dangerous service in co-operation with Gen. Shermaq's

army, which was then advancing on Atlanta. In this

campaign its hardest conflict was at Lattimore's Mill, on

Noonday Creek, where it took part in one of the most bril-

liant achievements of the war. A small detachment of the

Seventh Pennsylvania Cavalry had crossed the creek, and,

becoming hotly engaged with a superior force of the enemy,

Capt. Pritchard, with two battalions of the Fourth Michi-

gan, was ordered across to its support. This force had scarcely

reached the position assigned it when a whole rebel division,

eight times their own number, swept down upon the Penn-

sylvania and Michigan men, with the evident purpose of

driving them back across the creek. They did not, how-

ever, propose to go immediately, so, dismounting and avail-

ing themselves of the protection afforded by the inequali-

ties of the ground, they met their assailants with terrific and

continuous volleys from their Spencer carbines. Again and

again did the rebels bear down upon them, making desper-

ate efforts to destroy the little force of Unionists, but being

as often repulsed. At length, after holding their ground

again.st the repeated a.«saults of the enemy for more than

two hours, they retired slowly and in good order at the

command of Col. Minty.

The following extract from a letter published in the

Memphis Appeal, at Atlanta, Ga.,* June 25, 18C4, gives

the rebel version of this fight, and shows very plainly the

gallantry of Minty 's brigade and the immense preponder-

ance of the rebel force :

" On the 2()th instant two divisions, Kelly's and Martin's,

and one brigade, Williams', of our cavalry, went round to

the left flank and rear of Sherman's army,—it was said to

capture a brigade of Yankee cavalry situated at McAfee's.

We succeeded in getting to the right place, where the

enemy, Minty's brigade, was vigorously attacked by Williams'

and a portion of Anderson's brigade. After a sharp conflict

the enemj' were driven from the field, Hannon's brigade

having come up and attacked them on the fiank. The

Yankees fought desperately and fell back slowly, with what

loss we are unable to ascertain, as they carried off their

wounded and most of their dead. To one who was an

eye-witness, but not an adept in the 'art of war,' it seemed

very strange that the whole Yankee force was not sur-

rounded and captured. Dibrell's brigade was drawn up

a few hundred yards from and in full view of the battle-

ground, with Martin's whole division immediately in the

rear. This is one of the best fighting brigades the Y^an-

kees have, and to have captured or routed it would have

added a bright feather to the plume of the successful

hero accomplishing the feat. After he (Minty) had been

driven from his first position, Martin's whole division was

brought up, and lost several men of Allen's brigade. Brig.-

Gen. Allen had his horse shot. The Eighth Confederate

and Fifth Georgia, of Andereon's brigade, lost several killed

and wounded. Williams' Kentucky brigade also lost sev-

eral good soldiers."

Col. Minty, in his report, after quoting this statement,

added

:

* The MempJiis Appeal was published at half a dozen different

places, to which it was successively driven by the victorious Uniouists,
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" According to the above, there was the following rebel

force in the field : Kelly's and BLirtin's divisions, consisting

of tiie brigades of Anderson, six regiments; Ilannon's, five

regiments ; Allen's, five regiments ; and Johnson's, five

regiments; and the independent brigades of Williams and

Dibreli, composed of five regiments each ; say in all, thirty-

one regiments, of which the Fifth Georgia numbered over

eight hundred. The entire force I had engaged was, of the

Seventh Pennsylvania one hundred and seventy men, and

of the Fourth Michigan two hundred and eighty-three ; in

all, four hundred and fifty-three. These few men held their

ground against the repeated assaults of the enemy for over

two hours, and when [ ordered them to fall back, they re-

tired slowly, in good order. I beg to call the attention of

the general commanding to the heavy loss sustained by this

small force. In a less of over twelve per cent., the very

small proportion reported missing shows how steadily and

stubbornly they fought."

In a note appended to this report Cul. Jliiity said :

" My lass in this engagement was two officers and sixty-

five men. The Marietta (Ga.) papers acknowledge a loss

of ninety-four killed and three hundred and fifty-one

wounded. Two battalions of the Fourth Michigan repulsed

three sabre charges made by the Eighth Confederate and

Fifth Georgia, numbering over one thousand men, and one

battalion led by Capt. Hathaway repulsed a charge made

by Williams' Kentucky brigade by a counter-charge."

Of the two hundred and eighty-three officers and men

of the Fourth engaged at Lattimore's Mill, thirty-seven were

killed and wounded, and three were reported missing.

After the capture of Atlanta, the mounted men of the

regiment followed Hood's army northward nearly to the

Tennessee River, harassing his rear and ttiking many prison-

ers, liy this time only about one hundred of their horses

remained fit for service. The.se were turned over to another

command, and the Fourth, dismounted, concentrated at

Nashville in October. It was remounted at Louisville,

Ky., and by the last of January, ISG.), was back in Ala-

bama, on duty near Gravelly Springs, where it remained till

the 12th of March, when it joined with other regiments

(all under command of Gen. Wilson) in a long raid through

Alabama, swimming rivers, building corduroy roads, fighting

the rebel cavalry Gen. Forrest, and finally capturing the

city of Selma, Ala., which was defended by at least seven

thousand of Forrest's men, behind very strong fortifications.

At one point fifteen hundred dismounted cavalryiuen, of

which those of the Fourth formed a part, charged strong

intrenchments, and captured' them in twenty minutes, hav-

ing had three hundred and twenty-four men killed and

W(mnded. This was on the lid of April. On the 20th,

alter numerous adventures, the command reached Maeon,

Ga., where the news of the surrender of Lee was the signal

to cease fighting.

The Fourth Regiment had won an enviable reputation

for gallantry and steadfastness on the field of battle, but it

was destined to gain still another title to renown by the cap-

ture of Jefferson Davis, the ' I'residenl" of the now dead

Confederacy,—the figure-head of the " Lost Cause." While

the regiment lay at Macon, Ga., it became known that

the arch-rebel and his suite were fleeing through Central

Georgia in the hope of escaping from the country ; and on

the 7th of May the Fourth Michigan, four hundred and

forty strong, under Lieut. -Col. I'ritchard, left Macon for the

purpose of capturing the rebel chief and his party. Having

struck the trail of the fugitives at Abbeville on the 9th of

May, Col. Pritchard selected one hundred and fifty-three of

his best-mounted officers and men, and moved rapidly by a

circuitous route to intercept them. At Irwinsville, at one

o'clock in the morning of the 10th of May, the colonel

learned that a train, which probably belonged to Davis, was

encamped a mile and a half distant. Moving out into the

vicinity of the camp, he sent Lieut. Purinton, with twenty-

five men, to wait on the other side of it. At daybreak Col.

Pritchard and his men advanced silently, and without being

observed, to within a few rods of the camp, then dashed

forward and secured the whole camp before the astonished

inmates could grasp their weapons, or even fairly arouse

themselves from their slumbers. A chain of mounted

guards was immediately placed around the camp, and dis-

mounted sentries were stationed at the tents and wagons.

The result was, that this detachment of the Fourth Michi-

gan Cavalry captured Davis, drcs.sed partially in female

attire, and that Col. I'ritchard, with twenty-five officers and

men of the regiment detailed as a special escort, took their

prisoner to Washington, whence he was transferred to the

casemates of Fortress Monroe.

Soon after this event the regiment marched to Nashville,

Tenn., where it was mustered out of the service on the 1st

of July, and nine days afterwards it was disbanded at De-

troit. Ninety-four battles and skirmislics are inscribed on

the record of the Fourth Cavalry of Michigan, and every

one in the bright list is an addition to its fame.

CLINTON COUNTY SOI.DIKllS IN THE FOUIITII C.\V.\I,KY.

Field and SfcyT.

I,iout.-ft)l. Josiah D, I'nrl!, Ovid, com. Feb. 18, 18G3; niiij. .-^u-. H, IS(12; ro-

signed Nov. iC, 1864.

Cotnpmty A.

2d Lioiit. Hiram D. Treat, St. Johirs; com. Nov. 24, 1804; sergt. ; umsl. out

Jul.v 1, 18Cj.

Luther W. Holmes, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps.

Geo. W. Nilos, disili. for di&alHlity.

Cfimpauy B.

1st Lieut.Julius M. Ciirtir, Ovid; com. Dec. 24, 1802; 2d lieiil. Aug. 13, 18«2

;

wounded In action at Kingston. Ga., May 18, 1804; pro. c.-ipt. Co. M;
brevet nmj. U. S. Voltt., Marcit l,t, 18G.^, for gaUaiit and meritoHons ser-

vices in action at Kiugsttin, Ga.; illscli. for dl.(al>ilily. May 17, 18tV).

Sergt. Ileiiry A. Poller, Ovid ; onl. July 28, 1802; pro. 2d lieuL Co. E, Keb.

10, 180,1.

Sergt. Joliu N. Cilberl.Ovid; eiil. July 28, 1802; diecli. for di«:il.i1ily, Aug. 0,

18c:i.

Sergt. Kdward Watson, Dnplain ; eld. July 10, 1862; died of disease at IViw-

llng Green, Ky., Nov. 10, 1802.

Suigt. (Jonrad Wreslor, Uuplain; ulil. July 28, 1802; died of disease at Mur-

freeslioro', Tenn., Mareli 2:1, 18fl;l.

Sergt. Lorenzo J. South worth, Ovid; onl. July 28, 1802; pro. 2d liout. Co. H,

Dec. 10, 1804.

Corp. Jus. M. Harrison, Itlnghiini; oid. July 28, 1802; died of dlsoosu iil Nash-

vlile, Tenn., Dec. 20. 18li2.

Corp. Thoo. H. Gleason, Dnplain ; ciil. July 18, 1802 ; died of disnuo iit SUui-

ford, Ky., Oct. 28, 1862.

Corp. Win. W. Ilanimuiid, Ovid ; eul. July 28, 1802 ; died of discue hI Louis-

ville, Ky., Nov. 2n, 180:i.

Franklin Aldlleh, discli. for disaklllly, March 2.1, 180.1.

John A<laln'', Tiiuiil. out Ju'y I, 18(i/i.

\Vm. Hiivl, die<l of disease at Nilslivllle, Tenn.

Nelson II. Ileolie, llupliiln; trans, to Vel, lies. O.rlw, July 1, 180.1.

Geo. II. llrnnelt, must, out July I, 1^r^'>.

John W. Ilrndner, must, out July 1, IM'/i.

Win. W. Crow, must, out July 1, INiV..

Lewis T.Coon, died of disease at Murrre««boru', Tenn., Match 2, 1803.
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R. F. Diiyne, died of disease at Stanford, Ky.

Win. U. Etjgleston, must, out July 1, 18tj5.

Levi Fishbeck, <Iiscli. by order, June 9, 1865.

Andrew E. Ferduu, disch. for disibility, Nuv. 5, 1863.

Tlio-*. H. Goodrich, must, out Juty 1, 18ii5.

Pliilip Hull, died of disease at N.isliville, Tenn., Dec. 2, 186 1.

E. M. Hf-acox, disch. for disability, July 2'), 18G4.

Samuel ileinpstead, Dupliun ; ili^cb. for disabiiity, Dec. 15, ISGS.

Franklin 8. Jones, disch, by order, June 6, 18G5.

Herman D. Kiiowles, died of diseiise at Murfreeshoro', May 10, 1863.

Herman H. Lounsbery, died of disease at Murfreesboru'.

Geo. McClintuck, died of disease at Nashville, April 29, 18G3.

John Morrisey, died of disease at Nasliville, Feb. lo, 1864.

Guy C. McTntyre, trans, to Vet. R s. Corps, April 10, 1864..

Franklin Oldrich, disch. for disability, Jan. 18, 1S64.

Asa Pound, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Sept. 1, 1863.

Henry Ryan, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn.

Charles U. Smith, died of disesise at Nashville, Tenn.

Norman Smith, died of disease at Murfreesboro', Tenn., April 3, 1863.

Samuel K. Simpson, must, out July 1, ISGo.

Jos. E. Seaver, Uuplain ; must, out July 1, 1865.

John F. Sherburn, must, out July 1, 1865.

Chas. A. Stiii kweather, must, out July 1, 1865.

Lewis n. Wilcox, must, out July 1, 1865.

William H. Wood, must, out July 1, 1SG5.

Company I).

Juhii S. Harvey, must, out Aug. 15, 1865.

Comjiauy E.

2d Lieut. Henry A. Potter, Ovid; com. Feb. 16, 1863; pro. 1st liout. Co. H.March
31, 186:1.

Company H.

Capt. H. A. Potter, Ovid; com. Aug. 1, 1864 ; 1st lieut. March 31, 1863; must.

out July 1,1865.

2d Lieut. L. T. South worth, Ovid; com. Dec. 10, 1864; must, out July 1, 1865.

Company M.

Cipt. J. M. Carter, Ovid; com. July 9, 1864; 1st lieut.; disch. for disability,

May 17, 1865.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTY SOLDIERS IN THE FOURTH CAVALRY.

Company A.

Timothy Hill, must, out Aug. 15, 1865.

Edward Ryno, must, out Aug. 15, 1865.

Company B.

Ist Lieut. Chauncey F. Shepherd, Owosso; com. Aug. 13,1862; res. Dec, 24, '62.

Willi;im Aiinidon, must, out July 1, 1865.

Eiiistus W. Blair, must, out July 1, 1865.

B.ixter IJ. BenTiett, must, out July 1, 18G5.

Abel A. Bradley, must, out July 1, 1865.

Albert Babcock, must, out July 1, 1865.

Albert R. Bradley, must, out July 1, 1865.

Daniel F. Blair, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, April 10, 1864.

Henry J. Bearce, disch. for disability, Nov. 18, 1862.

Gi'iirgo A. Chase, must, out July 1, 1865.

Charles Dean, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn., March 10, 1863,

Cyrus Dean, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Sept. 1, 1863.

Benjamin Dntcher, disch. by order, July 25, 1865.

WcltOM D. Fox, disch. for disability, May 11, 1863.

C. S. Fox, died of disease at Mumfurdsville, Ky.
L. W. Harrington, died of disease at Nashville, Teun.

Ira Johnson, disch. for disability, March 5, 1863.

George Jacobs, must, out July 1, 1866.

Charles F. Parker, must, out July 1, 1865.

Jacob I. Powell, must, out July 1, 1865.

William P. Stedman, must, out July 1, 1865.

Theodore Sanford, disch. for disability, July 30, 1864.

John D. Smith, disch. for disability, March 5, 1863.

Darias Watkins, disch. for disability, July 14, 1862.

William Weswell, disch. for disability, Jan. 6, 1863.

Company C.

Ehenczer Brewer, must, out Sept. 2, 1865.

Thomas Brewer, di.sch. by order, June 26, 1865.

Thaddeus M. Carr, disch. for disability. April 14, 1863.

Edwin L. Howe, disch. for disability, March 19, 1-63.

Patrick Sweeney, disch. for disability, Aug. 16, 1863.

H. H. Stewart, disch. for disability, April 14, 1863.

Emery T. Warle, must, out Aug. 15, 1865.

Company E.

1st Lieut. Joshua W. Mann, Owosso; com. Aug. 13,1862; pro. capt. Co. M, March
31, 1863.

Homer A. Bristol, died of disease at Louisville, Ky., April 15, 1863.

Edgar P. Byerly, disch. by order, Dec. 22, 1863.

George A. Bullard, must, out July 1, I860.

Silas Bullard, must, out July 1, 18G5.

Dewitt C. Carr, must, out July I, 1865.

Stephen G. Fuller, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn., Dec. 15, 1862.

David B. Green, niu>t. out July 1, 1865.

L. B. McUmber, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn., July 14, 1863.

John Nelson, disch. by order, June 14, 1865.

George M. Rose, disch. by order, July 24, 1865.

Anson L. Smions, disch. for disability, Jan. 19, 1863.

Thomas L. SpafTord, died of disease at Bardstown, Ky., Oct. 10, 1862.

John G. Stevens, must, out July 1, 1863.

William C. Stiff, must, out July 1, 1863.

George A. Underbill, must, out July 1, 1863.

Company F.

Gilbert M. Hemingway, must, out Aug. 15, 1865.

James St. John, rau--l. out Aug. 15, 1865.

Company H.

Albert Spinks, must, out July 1, 1S65.

Company I.

William S. Howard, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, April 30, 1864.

George W. Titus, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Jan. 10, 1864.

Company K.

George Sumner, disch. by order, Aug. 2, 1865.

George W. AVillets, died of disease at Gallatin, Tenn., Jan. 24, 1865.

Oympanj/ L.

Stillmau W. Green, must, out Aug. 15,1865.

Company HI.

Capt. J. W. Mann, Owo-iao; com. March 31, 1863; res. Aug. 1, 1864.

Jacob Spotts, Owosso, must, out Aug. 15, 1865.

CHAPTER XVII.

FIFTH CAVALHT.

Rendezvous at Detroit—Winter Quarters near Washington—Cam-

paign of Gettysburg, and in Virginia in 18G3—Winter Quarters at

Stevensburg—Campaigns of 1S64 and Spring of 1865—Service in

North Carolina—Transfer to Fort Leavenworth and the Plains—
Muster Out and Disbandment.

Early in 1862 authority was given by the War De-

partment to Joseph T. Copeland (then lieutenant-colonel of

the First Cavalry), William D. Mann, and Richard Baylis

to raise a regiment of cavalry in Michigan
;
and in August

of the same year this authority was con^rmod by the Gov-

ernor of the State. Upon receiving the Governor's sanc-

tion, Col. Copeland established his rendezvous at Detroit,

and in the exceedingly short period of two weeks from that

time the ranks were filled sufficiently for muster. While

being recruited and organized, and until it received its des-

ignating number, the regiment was known as " Copeland's

Mounted Rifles."

The counties of Clinton and Shiawassee were represen-

ted by men in nine companies of this regiment, but most

numerously in Company G, of which the original com-

missioned officers were Capt. William T. Magoffin, of St.

John's, First Lieut. George W. Townsend, of Green-

bush, and Second Lieut. John Gunderman, of Essex
;

while its ranks were principally filled by volunteers from

Clinton County. One of the original field-officers of the

regiment—Maj. Ebenezer Gould—was of Owosso, Shia-

wassee Co., and he was afterwards promoted through the

intermediate grade to that of colonel. The adjutant of the

Fifth was Richard Baylis, of Ovid, Clinton Co. He had

previously (immediately after the close of the Mexican

war) been a non-commissioned officer in a cavalry company

in the United States re-rulars, and with that command had
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seen three years of Indian service in Texas and New

Mexico, having been twice wounded, and discharged from

tiie service on that account.

Tiic officers and men of " Copeland's Mounted llifles"

were mustered into the United States service on the 30th

of August, 1862, as the Fifth Cavalry llegiment of Mich-

igan, under command of Col. Copeland.

For about three months after muster, the Fifth remained

at the headquarters waiting lor arms, and at the time of

its departure—December 4th—the men had been but par-

tially armed, tliough fully equipped. From Detroit the

command moved to Wasliington, D. C, and remained at

" Camp Copeland," on East Capitol Hill in that city, through

the winter. In the spring of 18(;3, after being fully armed,

it was attached to the Second Brigade of the Third Divi-

sion of the Cavalry Corps, Army of the Potomac. This

brigade became known and widely famed as the Michigan

Cavalry Brigade. It was commanded successively by Gens.

Kilpatrick and Custer, and gained the liighest reputation of

any cavalry brigade in the service.

Moving from Washington in February, 18G3, the regi-

ment crossed the Potomac, and was encamped for more

than two months at Fairfax Court-House, where it was

visited by the Governor of Michigan. Its duty while en-

camped liere was arduous, and it was several times en-

gaged in skirmishing, but without much loss, until the

opening of tlie campaign of Gettysburg. It moved north-

ward on that campaign on the 27th of June, and on the

2d of July was sharply engaged with the enemy at Hun-

terstown, Pa. On the 3d it was moved, with the brigade,

to tile York turnpike road (leading to Gettysburg), where

it was dismounted and placed in position in front of the

centre and left of the brigade line. The enemy advanced

soon after noon, and how he was met by the men of the

Fifth Michigan Cavalry is told in Gen. Custer's official

report of the engagement, as follows :
" The enemy was

soon after reported to be advancing on my front. The de-

tachment sent to the Oxford road was driven in, and at the

same time the enemy's line of skirmishers, consisting of

dismounted cavalry, appeared on the erest of the ridge of

hills on my front. The line extended beyond my left. To

repel their advance I ordered the Fifth Micliigan Cavalry

to a more advanced position, with instructions to maintain

their ground at all hazards. Col. Alger, commanding the

Fifth, assisted by Majs. Trowbridge and Terry, of the same

regiment, made such admirable disposition of their men be-

hind fences and other defenses as enabled them to success-

fully repel the repeated advance of a greatly superior force.

I attributed their success in a great measure to the fact

thiit tills regiment is armed with the Spencer re])eating

rifle, wiiicli in the hands of brave, determined men, like

those cotuposing the Fifth Michigan Cavalry, is, in my
estimation, tlie most eftective firearm that our cavalry cau

adopt. Col. Alger held his ground until iiis men had ex-

hausted their ammunition, when he was compelled to lull

back on the main body. The beginning of this movement

Was the signal for the enemy to charge, which they did

with two regiments, mounted and dismounted." Then

follows the account of a counter-charge made by the Seventh

Michigan Cavalry, in which the latter was compelled to re-

tire, pursued by twice their number of the enemy ; but

" by this time Col. Alger, of the Fifth, having succeeded in

remounting a considerable portion of his regiment, gallantly

advanced to the assistance of the Seventh, whose further

pursuit by the enemy he checked." This was the last

fighting done by the Fifth during that day. The brigade

held possession of the field until dark, and then returned to

its camping-place of the previous night. On the following

day it was engaged at Monterey, Md., and in the pursuit

of the enemy to the Potomac it fought at Cavetown, Md.,

July 5th ; Smithtown, Jld., Jul}' lith ; Boonsboro', Md.,

July 6th ; Hagerstown, Md., July 7th ; Williamsport,

Md., July 7th ; Boonsboro' (2d), July 8th ; Hagerstown

(2d), July 10th ; Williamsport, July 10th ; and Falling

Waters, July 14th. It is impracticable to give a detailed

account of the almost innumerable marches and constantly

changing movements and counter-movements which suc-

ceeded during that eventful j-ear. It is sufficient to men-

tion that having ero.5sed the Potomac soon after the fight

at Falling Waters, the regiment took part in the following-

named engagements, viz : Snicker's Gap, Ya., July 19th;

Kelly's Ford, Va., September 13th; Culpeper Court-House,

Va., September 14th ; Raccoon Ford, Va., September 16th
;

White's Ford, September 21st; Jack's Shop, Va., Septem-

ber 26th ; James City, Va., October 12th ; Brandy Station,

Va., October 13th
;
Buekland's Mills, Va., October 19th;

Stevensburg, Va., November 19th; and Morton's Ford,

Va., Nov. 26, 1863. Sixty-four men were killed and

wounded during the year 1863, besides one hundred and

twenty-one reported missing in action, many of whom were

killed. Other reports of alterations and casualties show

that from the time the regiment was organized until the

close of 1863 forty men died of disease, sixty-eight were

discharged for disability, twenty-one by sentence of general

court-martial, fifteen by order, two for promotion, twenty

officers resigned ; one officer was dismissed, and the total

number of recruits received was thirteen. During the

winter of 1863-64 the Fifth had its (piarters at Stevens-

burg, Va., and was emiiloyed mostly on picket duty along

the Rapidan.

In the latter part of February, 18t!4, it took part in the

raid made by the cavalry under Kil]>alriek to the outer de-

fenses of Richmond. The main body of the regiment

cro.ssed the Rapidan, niarchod thence by way of Spottsyl-

vania and Beaver Dam Station to Hungary Station, and

moved do\yn the Brook turnpike to within five miles of llio

city of Richmond. Being attacked on the 2d of .March by

a superior force ol" the enemy, the Union cavalry was com-

pelled to fall back on Gen. Butler's turccs, stationed ut New

Kent Court House. A detachment of the regiment had

also accoui|iaTiicd the forces commanded by the gallant Col.

Ulrio Dahlgren. They moved down the James River to

within five miles of the rebel c^ipital. The detachment of

tiie Fifth being in front, charged the enemy's works, and

captured his first line of fortifications. Following \ip its

advantage, Dahlgren's command pushed back the enemy

from one line to aimlhcr, until a point was reached within

two miles of the city, when it was found ini|ios,sible to ad-

vance farther with so small a I'orce. Meanwhile tiie rebels

were gathering from all points, and in the endeavor to
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extricate itself from its perilous position the detachment of

the Fifth became separated in the night (whicii was rainy

and very dark) from the main portion of Dahlgren's com-

mand. On the following day this detachment cut its way

through a strong rebel force posted at Old Church, and suc-

ceeded in rejoining the regiment near White House Land-

ing. At Yorktown, Va., on the 11th of March, the regi-

ment embarked on board transports for Alexandria, whence

it marched to Stevensburg, arriving there on the 18th of

April, 1864. Here a reorganization of the cavalry forces,

under Gen. Sheridan's command, took place, and the Mich-

igan Cavalry Brigade was thenceforth known as the First

Brigade of the First Division, Cavalry Corps, Army of the

Potomac.

On the 5th of May the brigade, commanded by the fiery

Custer, again crossed the Rapidan, and soon became engaged

in the great battle of the Wilderness ; fighting mounted, the

first three days, against the forces led by the renowned rebel

cavalry leader, Gen. J. E. B. Stuart. On the Dth of May
the cavalry corps set out, under Gen. Sheridan, on hi.s great

raid towards Richmond. Three divisions, numbering full

twelve thousand men, turned their horses' heads to the south-

ward ; the blue-coated column, as it marched by fours, ex-

tending eleven miles along the road, from front to rear. On
tiie route they overtook a large body of Union soldiers, who

had been taken prisoners at Spottsylvania, released them, and

captured the rebel guard. Toward evening, the same day,

the Michigan brigade, followed closely by the rest of the

column, dashed into the rebel depot at Beaver Dam Station,

scattering, almost in an instant, the force stationed for its

defense. All night long the men were busy destroying the

immense amount of rebel supplies accumulated at Beaver

Dam, worth millions of dollars, consisting of three long

railroad-trains, with locomotives, stores of goods of vari-

ous kinds, and one hundred loaded army-wagons, the flames

from which rose in lurid columns through the darkness amid

the cheers of the exultant soldiers.

At daybreak the next morning the command moved
forward, and after tearing up the railroad-track at Negro

Foot Station it reached " Yellow Tavern," ten miles from

Richmond, on the 11th of May. There Gen. Stuart had

assembled a large force of rebel cavalry, and a severe battle

ensued. The Fifth Cavalry fought dismounted, and charged

the enemy's position under a heavy fire
; routing him after

a most stubborn resistance. The rebels lost heavily in this

engagement, including their commanding officer, Gen. J.

E. B. Stuart, who was mortally wounded by a private of

this regiment. Having defeated all the forces opposed to

it, the Union column pursued its way " on to Richmond''

unmolested.

The next day the command arrived within a mile and a

half of Richmond, but found fortifications in front, on

which cavalry could make no impression. Gen. Sheridan

then turned his course towards the Chickahominy at Meadow
Bridge. The rebels had destroyed the bridge, and a large

force of them disputed his further progress. The ap-

proaches to the stream led through a swamp, along which

not more than four men could ride abreast, and a well-

posted battery on the opposite side cut down the head of

the Union column, completely checking its advance. The

leading brigade vainly endeavored to force a passage. The

next one likewise failed.

Gen. Sheridan then sent for Custer and his Michigan

brigade, which at once hastened to the front. There the

youthful general dismounted the Fifth and Sixth Michigan,

and sent them forward into the swamp as flanking-parties,

while with drawn sabres the First and Seventh Michigan

breathlessly awaited the order to charge. The dismounted

men drove the enemy from their first position, advanced

through water waist-deep to the railroad-bridge, crossed it

on the ties, and then plied their Spencer rifles on the rebel

cannoniers with such effect that the latter were obliged to

turn their guns on these assailants to prevent being entirely

enfiladed. The moment they did so Custer gave the order

" Charge !

" and the two mounted regiments, with brandished

sabres and ringing cheers, dashed forward at the top of

their horses' speed. The rebels had barely time to limber

their guns and retreat ; leaving the road again open for the

advance of the whole corps. The command then proceeded,

via Malvern Hill, Hanover Court-House, White House,

Aylett's and Concord Church, to Chesterfield Station,

where it joined the main Army of the Potomac.

On the 28th of May the regiment was hotly engaged

near Hawes' Shop, where it aided in driving the enemy

from their position after a desperate hand-to-hand fight.

The loss of the regiment in this action was very severe.

Moving to Old Church Tavern on the 3Uth,it was engaged

with its brigade in the routing of Young's rebel cavalry.

On the 31st of May and 1st of June it was engaged, to-

gether with other cavalry regiments, at Cold Harbor, where

it fought dismounted in advance of the infantry, and,

although losing heavily, succeeded in capturing many

prisoners.

The Michigan brigade .soon after set out under Gen.

Sheridan to join Gen. Hunter, who was moving from the

Shenandoah Valley to Lynchburg. On the 11th of June

the command met at Trevillian Station a large force of the

enemy, both infantry and cavalry. During that day and

the next there ensued one of the severest cavalry tights of

the war, the Union cavalry mostly fighting dismounted.

The Michigan brigade did most of the fighting the first

daj', and lo.st heavily. The brigade batterj' was three times

captured by the enemy, and as many times recaptured by

the determined efforts of the Michigan men. The rebels

were finally driven from the field and pursued several miles
;

six hundred prisoners, fifteen hundred horses, one stand of

colors, six caissons, forty ambulances, and fifty wagons

being captured by the victorious Unionists. In this action

Adjt. Richard Baylis was severely wounded. He had pre-

viously been thanked in general orders by Gen. Custer,

" for remarkable gallantry in transmitting and executing

orders on the field" in the battle of Gettysburg, and also

by the same general for similar gallant services in the series

of engagements which occurred in the month of October,

1863. And now, " for gallant services at Trevillian Sta-

tion," he was brevetted captain. Afterwards he was

brevctted major and lieutenant-colonel " for gallant and

meritorious services during the war."

Moving from Trevillian Station in the direction of Louisa

Court-House, the regiment encountered a column of the
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eiiemj', but cut its way through with considerable loss in

prisoners. Geii. Hunter had failed to make the passage of the

mountains. Gen. Sheridan, in conse(iuence, then marched

his troops to White House Landing, and soon after joined

the Army of the Potomac, south of Petersburg. After

serving on picket and scout duty in front of Richmond and

Petersburg during the mouth of July, 18G-1, the Michigan

brigade was taken on transports to Washington, D. C, early

in August, and thence marched to the Shenandoah Valley.

Here it followed Custer in many a desperate charge, fully

sustaining its old renown. At Middletown the Fifth Cav-

alry was attacked by a strong force of the enejny, but re-

pulsed them, capturing sixty-five prisoners. Again, on the

19th of August, while a squadron of the regiment were

scouting to the front, they were attacked by a greatly supe-

rior force of the enemy, under the guerrilla leader Mosby,

and being overpowered were driven into camp with a loss

of sixteen men killed. It was also engaged at Front Royal,

August 16th; Leetown, August 25th; at Shepardstown,

August 25th ; Smithfield, Augu.st 28th ; Berryville, Sep-

tember 3d; Opequan Creek, September 19th, where the

Micliigan brigade utterly routed the enemy's cavalry and

broke their infantry lines, capturing two battle-flags and

four hundred prisoners; Winchester, September 19th;

Luray, September 24th ; Woodstock, October 9th
;
and

Cedar Creek, Oct. 19, 1864, where Custer's command

charged the enemy's main line, driving it back in confu-

sion and capturing a large number of prisoners. During

the year ending Nov. 1, 1864, the regiment had seventy-

six men killed, one hundred and seventeen wounded in

action, fourteen missing in action, one hundred and ninety-

four taken prisoners ; two hundred and nine recruits joined

the regiment, while but thirty-three men died of disease

and but two desertions were reported.

Tiie Michigan brigade went into winter quarters near

Winchester, Va., in December, 18G4, and remained until

the latter part of February, 1865. On the 27lli it broke

camp, and with the cavalry corps commanded by Gen. Sher-

idan started on a long and rapid march up the Shenan-

doah Valley, past Staunton, over the mountains, and down

the James River to the Army of the Potoma(\ 1'lie com-

mand met with but little opposition, dispersed all forces op-

posed to it, destroyed much property on the line of the

Lynchburg and Gordonsville Railroad, locks, mills, and

aqueducts on the James River Canal, and on the 19th of

March joined the forces assembled to give the last blow to

Lee's rebel army.

On the 80th and 31st days of March and 1st of April,

1865, the Michigan brigade was warmly engaged at Five

Forks. During these three days of battle it was in the

advance, and on the extreme left of the Union armies,

—

figliting dismounted,—and finally succeeded, with the rest

of Sheridan's corps, in ea|)tuiing the enemy's line nf de-

fense and several thousand prisoners. From this time until

the surrender of Lee, at Appomattox, April 9, 1865, it

was constantly engaged with the enemy, and biMiig in the

advance, the flag of truce to negotiate the surrender was

tent through its lines. Alter the .surrender of Lee the

reginiiMit moved with the cavalry corps to Petersburg, Va.

Soon after it made an incursion, with other forces, into

u

North Carolina ; thence it marched to Washington, D. C.,

participated in the review of the Army of the Potomac,

May 23, 1865, and immediately afterwards, with the Michi-

gan Cavalry Brigade, was ordered to the Western frontier.

The Fifth was sent by rail and steamboat to Fort Leaven-

worth, Kansas, where the men having two years or more to

serve were transferred to the First and Seventh Michigan

Cavalry regiments. On the 22d of June, the regiment, as

an organization, was mustered out of service, and returned

to Detroit, where it arrived July 1, 1865.

FIFTH CAVALnV SOLDIERS FEOM CLINTON COUNTY.

Fiflil and SlilJ.

1st Lieut, and AdjI. Richnrd liaylis, Ovid; com. Sept. 25, 1802; wounded in ac-

tion at Trevillian Station; pro. to brevet capt., for gallant services at

Trevillian Station ; to lirevet niuj. and lieul.-col., March 13, 1805, for gal-

lant and meritorious services during the war.

Chaplain John GuTiderman, Essex; com. Oct. 'J, 1803
;
pro. to 2d lieut., Co, B,

Nov. 25, 1802 ; must, out June 22, ISGo.

Company A.

Frank E. Simmons, trans, to 7th Cav and 1st Cav., Nov. 17, 1865.

Compantf E.

James G. Sickles, trans, to 1st Michigan Cav,

Ontijmny F.

liansford Cnimstock, disch. for disaltility, June 22, 1803,

Compantf G.

Capt, William T. Magoffin, SI. John's; com, Aug. 14, 1802; res, Aug. 1, 1804 ;

pro, to brevet maj, U. S. Vols. March 13, 1805, for gallant and meritorious

service^ during tliu war.

1st Lieut, George W, Townsend, Grecnbush ; com, Nov. 20, 1862; pro. to 2d

lieut. Aug, 16, 1802; pro, to capt, Co. I.

2d Lieut. John Gunderman, Kssex; com, Nov, 25, 1802; pro. to chaplain.

(J M,-Sergt, N, S, Hammond, Essex ; enl. Aug. 15, 1802; died in action at

Brandy Station, Va., Oct, 12, 1863,

C^jm.-Sergt, William W, Ilumiston, Bengal; enl, Aug, 15, 1802; must, out June

22, 1805,

Sergt, Charles I, Young, Kssex ; enl. Aug, 15, 1802; must, out Juno 22, 1805,

Sergt, Benj, Hawes, Essex ; enl. Aug. 17, 180J; ilied of disease at Annapolis,

Nd,, Dec, 12, 1804,

Sergt, John Cornivell, St, John's ; enl, Aug, 19, 1SC2; must, out June 22, 1805,

Sergt. George B, Wixom, Olive ; enl, Aug, 15, 1S62 ; died nt Washington, }(arch

26, 1804,

Sergt, Chauncey Morton, Greenbush ; died in rebel prison at Richmoud, Vn,,

Dec, 13, 1803,

Corp, Sylvester P, Bailey, Farrier; must, out June 22, 1805,

Corp, Aaron 1), Lyon, Essex ; dieil in ,\udorsonville prison-pen, July 21, 18C4,

Corp, Andrew J, Taylor, Essex ; enl, Aug, 15, 1S02; disch. for disability, Oct, 13,

1803,

Ckirp, Martin Blackford, Greenbush ; enl, Aug, 18, 1802; must, out Juno 22,

18l»,

Gabriel Auders(ui, must, out June 22, 1805.

Marcus llentley, disch. by order, May 3(1, 1805.

Samuel Colennin, died of disease at Washington, D. C, Aug. 6, 1863.

Jani'-s Cronk.died in Andersonviljo prison-pon, Aug. 3, 1864.

J. din K. CoMuell, trans, to Isl I'av,

James A, Chapuiim, must, out ,Iuno 22, 1805.

Loren 1). Cliupman, must, out June 22, 180A,

Daniel Fergn.son, must, out June 22, ISO.**.

(Jeorge K, Godfrey, must, out Juno 22, 1805.

James Grltllth, must, out Juno '22, 18<*5.

ll.iiilel Gunderman, discli. for disability, June I, 1804.

Edward A, Onndei nuvn, disch, f.ir disahlllly, March \ 180.1.

Levi Gibbs, died of wininds, Aug, 8, 1803.

Daniel Handy, .llsch, for disability, March 1, 1804,

William II Hewitt, disrh, Oct, 24, 1802,

John J, lIender.<ou,dled of disease nt Fall fax Cmrt-llonse, May 2(1, 1803,

John K, Hammond, dieil In rebel prison, Hlohmond, Va, March 15, 1804,

Sin II. Hawes, trans, to Vet, Rm, Corps, Sept, 1, 1863,

William L, Havens, must, ont Juno '22, 1805.

B. H, llalien, must, out June 22, 1H05,

(Ji.orge ('. Hooker, disch, by .mier, July 8, 1809.

Oliver r. Ingersidl. nkust, out June '22, 1805.

Alansoti Mathews, must, out Jnno 22, 1805,

Siimuel II. Mcl'herson, must, out Jnno 22, 1805,

James I', Mliuird, muHl, out Jilne 22, 1805,

Joseph M, Morheiiou, died of disouo at Waibington, Aug. 8, 1(63.
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Albert S. Norris, did in rebol priwin, Richmond, Va., March 5, 18G4.

Ilimni Nestel, discli. for djsiUiility, Oit. 1. 18(>2.

Willijini S. Parker, must, out June 22, ISCo.

Jacob Redner, died of disease at Brandy Station. Va., March 9, 1SG4.

Natliantel Rilssell, died of disease in Michigan, December, 18G4.

Adam Knssell, disch. >iy order, July 7, 1865.

Walter F. Reeves, trans, to 1st Mich. Cav.

Horace A. Soule, disch. for disability, Oct. 2, 1862.

Erwin M. Sliinner, died in action at Gettysburg, Pa., July 3, 1863.

Hintni Sturgis, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Feb. 15, ISIJl.

William Sheriff, died of disease at Pljiladelphia, Pa., Sept. 3, 1864.

William T. Smith, disch. for disability, Aug. 18, 1863.

George H. Soule, must, out June 22, 1865.

Albert H. Vredenburgh, tnins. to Vet. Res. Corps, Feb. 15, 1864.

Lyman Van Sickle, died in Andereonville prison-pen. Ang. 31, 1864.

James H. Washington, died of disease in Michigan, March 20, 1865.

Alonzo Wheeler, died of disease at Frederick, Md., Nov. 17, 18G4.

Carlos A. Webster, tians. to 1st Michigan Cav.

Miles D. Webster, must, out June 22, 1865.

Martin Weaver, must, out June 22, 1865.

Henry F. Warren, must, out by orvler, July 7, 1865.

George Young, must, out by order, June 19, 1865.

Company U.

Hugh Jamison, died in action at Trevillian Station, June 11, 1864.

Company I,

Capt. George W. Townsend, Greenbu.-*h ; com. Nov. 2, 1803 ; disch. for disability,

July 15, 1864.

FIFTH CAVALRY SOLDIERS FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Field and Staff.

Col. Ebenezer Gould, Owosso; com. Sept. 21, 1864; lieut.-col. Dec. 31,1862;

nuij. Sept. 2, 18G2 ; wound-d in action at Hager8town,Md., July 13, 1863;

disch. for disability, Nov. 10, 1864.

Noit-Commi»sioned Staff,

Sergt.-Maj. Charles Y. Osburn, Owosso
;
pro. to 2d lient., Co. H, Aug. 18, 1863.

Company D.

Thomas G. Ingersoll, died of disease at Washington, D. C , Dec. 2, 1862.

Company F,

John Beniis, di^ch. by order. May 17, 1865.

Sanford Bemifl, disch. by order. May 3, 18G5.

William D. Ingersoll, pro. to 2d lient., Co. I.

Company G.

2d Lient. Emery L. Brewer, Owosso; com. Feb. 27, 1864; wounded in action at

Hawes' Ship, Va., May 28, 1804 ; disch. for disability, Oct. 8, 1864.

A. H. Clark, disch. for disability, Jan. 6, 1864.

Thomas Johnson, died of disease at Andersonville prison, Ang. 4, 1864.

Patrick Mitchell, must, out June 22, 1865.

Company H.

Capt. 0. Y. Osburn, Owosso ; com. Aug. 9. 1864; 1st lient.. Nov. 2, 1863; 2d lient.,

Aug. 18, 1863; eergt.-maj.; wounded in action at llawcs' Shop, Va., May
28,1864; disch. for disaldlity, Sept. 28, 1864; brevet capt. U. S. Vols.,

March 13, 1865, "for gallant and meritorious services during the war."

Oliver C. Uollister, died of disease at Philadelphia, Pa., Sept. 4, 1864.

Robert Purdy, died in action at Trevillian Station, Va., June 11. 1864.

Company I.

2d Lieut. William D. Ingersoll, Owosso; com. Oct. 28, 1864; wounded in action

at Five Forks, Va.; resigned, 1865.

Company K.

Sergt. Emory L. Brewer, Owosso; pro. to 2d lieut., Co. G.

Emory L. Brewer, disch. for promotion, Nov. 25, 1863.

Andrew I. Bemis, missing in action at Annon Church, Va., May 28, 1864.

Adam Dell, must, out June 23, 1865.

Charles Edwards, must, out July 17, 1865.

William Edwards, disch. by order, June 19, 1865.

Anson Howe, disch. for disability, Dec. 31, 1864.

Milton Ilodge, died at Brandy Station, Va., Oct. 12, 1863.

George B, Lynds, disch. for disability, Oct. 21, 1862.

Jnliel W. Monroe, must, out June 23, 1865.

George W. Morse, must, out June 23, 1865.

OrvlUe Ogden, died of disease at Detroit, Mich., Feb. 25, 1865.

Rowell P. Root, died of disease at Fairfax Conrt-House, Va., June 17, 1863.

Milan S. Warren, died at Newby's Roads, July 24, 1863.

Orlando F. Wilkinson, must, out June 19, 1865.

Allen I. Williams, disch. by order. May 16, 1865.

Company M.

Jones H. McGowan, discli. n.r disability, Dec. 4, 1862.

CHAPTER XVIII.

SIXTH CAVALRY.

Organization and Departure from Michigan—Assignment to Daty in

tlie Cavalry Corps, Army of the Potomac—Its Campaigning in 1863

—Winter Quarters at Stevensburg—The Richmond Raid—Continu-

ous Campaigning in 1S64—Campaign of ISGj—General Pickett's

Opinion of a Charge made by the Si.xth—Movement to North Car-

olina^—Return to Washington and Participation in the Grand Re-

view—Transfer to Fort Leavenwortii—Service on the Plains

—

Muster Out and Disch.arge.

The Sixth Cavalry (one of the regiments composing the

famed Michigan Cavah-y Brigade, which won imperishable

laurels under the gallant Custer) contained Clinton and

Shiawassee soldiers in six of its companies, these being

principally found in Companies D and G. The first-named

of these companies entered the service under command of

Capt. David G. Royce, of Burns, Shiawassee Co., and

the other had for its original first lieutenant, Harrison N.

Throop, of Owosso. The regiment was recruited in the

fall of 1862, under authority given by the War Depart-

ment, and the Governor of Michigan, to the Hon. F. W.
Kellogg. Its rendezvous was at Grand Rapids, where it

was mustered into the United States service under com-

mand of Col. George Gray, on the 13th of October in that

year, it having on its rolls twelve hundred and twenty-nine

officers and enlisted men.

Mounted and equipped, but not armed, it left the regi-

mental rendezvous on the 10th of December following, and

proceeded to the seat of war in Virginia, where it was soon as-

signed to the Michigan Cavalry Brigade, in the Third Divis-

ion of the Cavalry Corps of the Army of the Potomac. In the

early part of 1 863 it was encamped for a considerable time

at Fairfax Court-House, and saw some service in February

and March, but was not engaged in any notable actions

with the enemy until the time when the rebel army of Gen.

Lee moved northward after the battle of Chancellorsvillo.

In that campaign it fought at Hanover, Pa., June 30,

1863; at Hunterstown and Gettysburg, Pa., and Monterey,

Cavetown, Smithtown, Boonsboro', Hagerstown, Williams-

port, and Falling Waters, Md., in July. At Gettysburg

and Falling Waters it was particularly distinguished. In

reference to its part in the latter engagement the corre-

spondent of the Neio York Times said in that journal :

" The Sixth Michigan Cavalry was in the advance. They

did not wait for orders, but a stjuadron composed of Com-

panies D and G, under Captains Royce and Throop, were

deployed as skirmishers, while Companies B and F, led by

Major Weaver, made the charge. The line of skirmishers

was forced back several times, but the men rallied promptly,

and finally drove the enemy behind their works. A charge

was then made, the squadron passing between the earth-

works. So sudden and spirited was the dash, and so de-

moralized were the enemy, that the first brigade surren-

dered without firing a shot. The charging column moved

directly on and engaged the second brigade, when the bri-

gade that had surrendered seized their arms, and then com-

menced a fearful struggle. Of the one hundred who made

this charge, only thiity e.scaped uninjured. Seven of their

horses lay dead within the enemy's works. Twelve hun-

dred prisoners were here captured, and the ground was
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strewn with dead and wounded rebels. Amoiij; the killed

was Maj.-Gen. Petti^row, of South Carolina." The two

coiupanies particularly mentioned in tliis account were

those whose ranks were principally filled with Shiawassee

County men, and Capt. lloyce, commanding Company D,

died there, as a brave soldier would wish to die, in the

thunder and smoke of the charge.

Cro.ssiiig tiie Potomac into Virginia after the battle of

Falling Waters, the regiment was engaged with the enemy

at Snicker's Gap, July 19th; Kelly's Ford, September

13th; Culpeper Court-House, September 14th; Raccoon

Ford, September IGth; White's Ford, September 21st;

Jack's Shop, September 2t)th ; James City, October 12th
;

Brandy Station, October 13th; Buckland's Mills, October

19th; Stevensburg, November 19th; and Morton's Ford,

November 2Clh. From the latter date it remained in

winter quarters at Stevensburg until the 28th of February,

1861, when it joined the cavalry column of Kilpatrick, on

his great raid to the vicinity of Richmond. Returning

from tliat expedition to camp at Stevensburg, it was trans-

ferred to the First Cavalry Division, and soon after moved

camp to Culpeper.

Companies I and M, which had been operating in the

Shenandoah Valley during the year 1863, rejoined the

regiment on the 3d of May, 1864, and two days later the

command moved across the Rapidan and into the Wilder-

ness. It was engaged, and fought bravely, near Chancel-

lorsville. May 6th, and skirmished on the 7tli and 8th.

On the morning of the 9th it moved with Gen. Sheridan's

command on the raid to the rear of the Confederate army,

holding tlie advance. From this time its history is one of

almost continuous movement, which may be summed up

by the enumeration of the fights and skirmishes in which

it t6ok part, as follows : Beaver Dam, Va., May 9th

;

Yellow Tavern, May 10th and 11th; Meadow Bridge,

May 12tli; Hanover Court-House, Va., May 27th; Ilawe.s'

Shop, May 28th ; Baltimore Cross-Roads, May 29lh
; Cold

Harbor, May 30th and June 1st; Trevillian Station, June

11th and 12lh ; and Cold Harbor, July 2l8t.

Early in August the Michigan brigade, with others of

Sheridan's command, was transferred to the Shenandoah

Valley, where the Si.\th took active part in all the skir-

mishes, battles, marciies, and counter-marches that occurred

during this part of the operations in the Valley,—a cam-

paign which had made the names of Sheridan, Winchester,

and Cedar Creek famous for all time. The principal actions

in which the Sixth participated in tlie valley were those

of Front Royal, Leetown, Smithfield, Opecjuan Creek, Win-

chester, Luray, Port Republic, Mount Crawford, Fisher's

Hill, Woodstock, and Cedar Creek. In December, 1861,

it went into winter quarters near Winchester. Its total

list of killed to November 1st amounted to fifty-five, while

forty-four of its members had died of disease.

During the last days of February, 1865, the regiment

began its final Virginia campaign. After a long and event-

ful march under Sheridan, during which it helped to defeat

the rebel Gen. Rosser at Louisa Court-House, to break up

the Ijynchburg and (iordonsvilli' Hailmad, and to destroy

the locks, a(|ueducts, and mills on the James River Canal,

it reached White House Landing on the 19th of March,

moved thence to and acro.ss the James River, and joined

the Army of the Potomac in lime to take part in the final

battles of the war, being engaged at Five Forks, Va., March

30th, 31st, and April 1st; at Southside ILiilroad, April

2d ; Duck Pond Mills, April 4th ; Sailor's Creek, April

6th
; and Appomattox, April 9th. In one of these en-

gagements the rebel general Pickett was captured, and he

afterwards spoke of the charge of the Sixth on that occa-

sion as " the bravest charge he had ever seen."

After Lee's surrender the regiment moved to Petersburg,

thence to North Carolina, and then north to Washington,

D. C, where it marched in the great review of May 23d.

Immediately after it was ordered West, and moved with

the Michigan Cavalry Brigade, via Baltimore and Ohio

Railroad, and the Ohio, Mississippi, and Missouri Rivers,

to Fort Leavenworth. There it received orders to move

over the Plains, westward, on duty in the Indian country.

The officers and men were greatly di.sgusted at this, but

they would not soil their noble record by disobedience, and

so they moved unhesitatingly to the performance of the dis-

agreeable duty, on which they remained till the 17tli of

September, 1865, when the men of the regiment whose

term did not expire before Feb. 1, 1866, were consolidated

with the First Michigan Cavalry, and the remainder of the

command was ordered back to Fort Leavenworth, where it

was mustered out of service, Nov. 24, 1865. Returning to

Slichigan, it arrived at Jackson, November 30th, and was

there disbanded.

SIXTU CAVALRY SOLDIERS FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

FUld and Stag.

Asst. Surg. J)i6. Sleotli, Byron; com. March 1, I8G3; must out Nov. 7, 18G5.

Company A.

Fri-eliiig I'otter, must, out July II, 18C5.

Company D.

Capt. David G. Eoyce, Burns; com. Oct. 13, 1802; died in action at Fulling

Waters, Va., July 14, 180:).

Com. Sorgt. Henry M. Billings, Burns ; enl. Sept. 4, 1802; trans, to Inv. Corps,

Jan. 1, 1864.

Sorgt. Suuil. C. Sniitli, Caledonia; oul. Sept. 1, 1802; Uiscli. by order, June 9,

180.').

Sorgt. Alunzo Ferguson, Now Haven; oul. Sept. 9, 1802; mutt, out from Inv.

Corps, Sept. 4, 180.5.

Corp. Chas. Simpson, Burns, ent. Sept. 5, 1SG2; discli. for pro.ln lltli Cuv.,Oct.

22, 1801.

Corp. VVni. H. Dailoy, Burns; onl. Sept. 9, 1862; died in action in Virginia,

May 28, l.HOi.

Mus. Wju. II. RuHt, Burns; onl. Sept. 3, I8C2; must. out Nov. 24, 18G5.

91 us. And. J. Williiiniti, Burns; onl. Sept. 20, I8G2; must, out from luv. Corpt,

July r.i, istir,.

Wagoner Jus. W. Ratliliono, Caledonia; enl. Sept. 8, 1802; must, oul June 12,

ISO.').

Orin B. Arnold, ditdi. for disability, May 24, 1803.

Ueorge W. Aldricli, diicli. for disability, July 28, IS03.

Jacob II. Alliton, must, out Nov. 24, ISU,').

David <^ Austin, jnusl. oul June 20, 1805.

I'eler B..ugliton, must, out March 2.1, 186(1.

ICy.ni I>. Bai nes, must, out Nov. 24, 180.'i.

George W. Ilotsford, must, out Ang. 8, 1865.

Augustus M. HiirrK's, nupposetl lost on steamer "Sultana," April 28, 1865.

Ale.\iinder (.'niwford, ninsl. out .March 25, 1860.

Henry Cols, tunst. ont Nov. 24, ISO.'t.

Diivbl Campbell, must, oul .Nov. 24, 1865.

Henry W. Cramer, nnint. <Hit Dec. 12, 1805.

Gilbert Dutcher, died of dineaNo ut ItichmoDd prison, Va., Feb. 12, 1864.

Kdwin J. Kniery, must, out Nov. 24. lJi65.

Fi^rdinand Knler, must, ont Nov. 24, 1805,

Alvn F. Kwing, must. <nll Nov. 24, 1S65.

John II. Green, mnsl. out Jnly In, IKav

riiilunder Gleasou, must, ont March 27, 1800.

George II. Harris, must, ont March '25, 1806.

Hal Iford llanling, must, out Nov. 24, 1866.
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George noi)kiTiP, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Jacob Iluist, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Horace Hurt, iUhiI of wuuuds at Haoover, Va., July 3, 18G3.

Ira C. Harding, died in action at Summerville Ford, Va., Sept. 16, 186:1.

James M. Hath, disrli. for diBubility, July 12, 1865.

John Judd, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps. July, 1SG4.

L. F. James, died ol" wounds at Hawes' Shop, Va., May 28, 1864.

Edwin Judd, must, out Nov. 24, 18(15,

W. K. Kendall, liied of disease at Andei-sonvillo, Ga., Aug. 4, 1804.

Albert Lyon, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, July, 1864.

D. S. Munger, discli. for pro., Feb. 17, 1864.

Thomas Murray, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Albert Otis, died in action at Falling Waters, Md., July 14, 1863.

Truman Osgood, died of didease at Washington, D. C, July 22, 1863.

Samuel E. Fiits, discb.for disability, June 1, 18(53.

Abraham Polly, discli. for disability, Dec. 5, 1864.

William E. Parker, nmat. out May 31, 1865.

Allen W. Rhodes, died of disease at Richmond prison, Va., Nov. 20, 18G3.

Samuel Sherbourne, died of disease at Richmond prison, Va., April 12, 1864.

Ananias Stafford, died in action at Hawes' Shop, Va., May 28, 1804.

Jacob Seller, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Martin Simpson, must, out Nov. 24, 1S65,

Edward Simiwon, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

William H. Shaft, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Joseph Sliaffer, miasing in action.

John Van Dyke, tlied of disease at Andersonville, Gn., June 20, 1864.

Tiffany S. Wright, must, out M;iy 24, 1865.

Dennis C. Welch, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Jan. 1, 1864.

Compani/ E.

George Bennett, disch. for disability.

ihmpany F.

George Dutcher, died of wounds at Annapolis, Md., Oct. 2, 1863.

C'Mmpany G.

1st Lieut. Harrison N. Throop,0wos9o ; com. Oct. 1 1, 1862; pro. to capt., Co. K,

March 13. 1863.

Q.M.-Sergt. Norton Gregory, Owosso ; enl. Aug. 30,1862; must, out Nov. 24,

18t>5.

Com. Sergt. Geo. B. W. Ingersoll, Owosso ; enl. Aug. 30, 1862; killed in action

iu Virjiinia, Aug. 28, 1864.

Sergt. Isaac F. Parkhurst, New Haveu ; eul. Aug. 30, 1862; trans, to luv. Corps,

Nov. 15, 1863.

Sergt. Danl. I. Wyker, Owosso; enl. Aug. 30, 1862; died of disease at Annapo-

lis, Dec. 9, 1864.

Sergt. John B. Kay, Woudlmll; enl. Sept. 9, 1862 ; taken pris. at Brandy Sta-

tion, Va, Oct. 11, 1S63.

Corp. Wm. M. Linsley, New Haveu ; eul. Aug. 30,1862 ; disch. from In v. Corps,

July I'.i, 1S65.

Corp. Jas. N. Smith, Owosso; enl. Sept. 3, 18G2; mustered out.

Corp. George H. Wymari, Owosso; eul. Aug. 30, 1862 ; died, in huspital, March

28, 1S63.

Teamster Jacob Pettit, Owosso; enl. Aug. 30, 1862; must, out Nov. 24, ISCo.

Farrier Andrew r.Culp, Scioto; enl Aug. 30, 1862; died of disease, Nov. 4, 1863.

Farrier L. I. Eckler, Benningtou; enl. Sept. 2, 1862; taken piisouer; must, out

by order, June 12, 1865.

Joshua Austin, died of disease at Washington, D. C, March 10, 1863.

John Allen, died of diseaso at Richtuoud, Va., Sept. 24, 1864.

Artemus W. Angel, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

James Bull, must, out June 5, 1865.

John Covel, died of disease at Andersonville prison, Ga., April 17, 18C4.

Arthur Colycr, died of disease at Washington, I). C, Feb. 21, 1S63.

George Dutcher, died of disea-^o at Summerville Ford, Va., September, \SG3.

Selh Dutcher, died of diseiise at Owosso, Mich., Nov. 12, 1864.

Isajic Deuiiston, died of disease at Washington, D. C, June 20, 1864.

John Demiston, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

George Edwards, must, out March 10, 1866.

Aveiy D. French, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Sept. 1, 1863.

Henry H. Tiaiu, trans, to 1st Cav,

Albert N. Train, must, out Nov. 24, 1S65.

Saniuel Graham, m»ist. out Aug. 17, 1865.

Lewis E. Galusha, died in action at Falling Waters, Md., July 14, 1863.

John E Grabam, disch, by order, Jan. 28, 1805.

Henry Herat, must, out July 5, 1865.

George W. Judd, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, July 1, 1863.

John H. Moon, died of disease at Andersonville prison, Nov. 12, 1861.

Jesse Monroe, disch. July 10, 1865.

Abraham Utt, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Peter I. Putnam, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Feb. 15, 1864.

John E. PottL-r, died of disease at Fairfax Oourt-House, Va,, April 1, 18G3,

John P. Ream, died of disease at Fairfax Court-House, Va., April 3, 1863.

Oliver H. Ratbboue, died of disease at Washington, D. C, March 15, 1863.

John P. Riiy, missing in action.

Almond N. Stephens, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

George Stickler, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Samuel J. Soutbworlh, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

James Vanderhoof, died of disease at AnderaonTille priaon, Ga., April 23, 1865.

Christian Wolenbuigb, must, out Nov. 24, 1^65.

William F. Williams, must, out Nov. 24. 1865.

Orange Williams, disch. for disability, June 11, 1864.

Cojiipatitf H.

Capt. Henry L. Wise, Caledonia; com. Oct. 13, 1862; pro. to niaj, iu llth Cav.,

Aug. 31, 1863.
Company K.

Capt. H. N. Throop, Owosso ; com. March 16, 1863 ; resigned July 10, 1864.

SIXTH CAVALRY SOLDIERS FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Company D.

Chas. Ferrir, trans, to Ist Mich. Cav., Nov. 17, 1865.

Chas. E. Uaviland, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Company E.

Com. Sergt .\mo8 T. Ayers, Bingham ; enl. Oct. 13, 1862; disch. for pro., Oct.

13, 1863.

Sergt. Marvin D. Avery, Bingham ; enl. Sept. 9, 1862; killed in action at Tre-

villian Station, June 11, 1864.

Corp. Benj. B. Tucker, Duplain ; enl. Sept. 9, 1862 ; disch. for disability, Feb. 28,

1863.

Mu8. John A. Gates, Bingham; enl. Oct. 8,1862; disch. by order, March 6,1865.

Marion Case, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Geo. I. Goodale, died in rebel prisju, Richmond, Va., Jan. 12, 1864.

Henry M. Harrison, died in action at High Ridge, Va., April 6, 16G5.

Samuel Hoyle, died of disease at St. Loni^, Mu., July 14, 1865.

Chas. O. Haire, tnins. to 1st Mich. Cav., Nov. 17, 1865.

Edwin C. Hinman, tmns. to 1st Mich. Cav., Nov. 17, 1865.

Martin Lerg, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Gershom W. Matinon, must, out Nov. 24, 18G5.

Wm. T. Martin, died of disease at Washington, D. C, July 25, 1864.

And. J. Miller, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Feb. 15, 1864.

Moses C. Nestel, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Feb. 15, 1864.

Hiram J. Sateilee, died in Andei-sonville prison-pen, Sept. 3, 1$64.

Lewis II. Yeunuind, died in action at Brandy Station, Va., Oct. 13, 18C3.

Oiittpany G.

Mus. John C. Taylor, Bingham; enl. Sept. 17, 1862; must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

David Camp, trans, to Vet. Ues. Corps, Nov. 19, 1864.

Allen Dr>ei , intist. out Nov. 24, 1865.

Wm. Fiiiley, Inins. to Vet. Res. Corps, Nov. 10, 1864.

Jas. McDuniels, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Henry Spr-igue, must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Geo. W. Taylor, tmns. to Vet. Res. Corps, Sept. 1, 1863.

Company H.

James ReynoMs, must, out June 13, 1865.

Winchester R. Rice, must, out July 10, 1SC2.

CHAPTER XIX.

TENTH CAVALRr.

Organization of the Tenth—Its Advance into Kentucky—Movement

thence to Kno.wille, Tenn.—Arduous Service in East Tennessee,

Virginia, nnd North Carolina— Unsuccessful Pursuit of Jefierson

Davis—Disbandmcnt of the Tenth.

Company' F of the Tenth Cavalry was largely made up

of Shiawassee County men, recruited iu that county by

Capt. Chauncey F. Shepherd, of Owosso, who had pre-

viously served in both the First and Fourth Cavalry Regi-

ments.

Company H was raised in Shiawassee County by Capt.

Peter N. Cook, of Antrim, who was its original command-

ing officer. Prior to Sept. 1, 1868, he had recruited si.\ty

men for this company, abd had reported with them at the

rendezvous. The remainder were recruited soon after,

—

nearly all of them being from Shiawassee County.

Company I was almost entirely composed of Clinton

County men, largely recruited by First Lieut, Enos B.

Bailey and Second Lieut. George M. Farnham, who were

original officers of the company.
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The rendezvous of the Tenth was at Grand Rapids,

wlierc it was organized and mustered into the United

States service with nine hundred and twelve ofiBcers and

men, and with Col. Thaddeus Foote as its commanding

officer. On the 1st of December, 18G3, it left its rendez-

vous and was transported to Lexington, Ky., whence, on

the liith, it moved to Camp Nelson. From that camp it was

moved, on the 25th of January, 1864, to Burnside Point,

from which place it marched, on the 29th of February, for

Kno.wille, East Tenn. It was engaged, though with but

little loss, at Bean's Gap, March 2t)th, and at Rheatown,

April 24th ; but a more severe fight was had on the 25th

at Carter's Station, near Joncsboro', Tenn., when the Tenth,

with the Third Indiana Cavalry, were sent to destroy a

railroad-bridge across the Watauga River. At Carter's

the Tenth and Third attacked the enemy within his earth-

works. The Tenth fought dismounted, charging at a

" double-quick" over the outer rampart through a galling

fire into the main bastion, driving the enemy out com-

pletely, to seek protection in a rocky gorge. The fight

lasted from two P.M. until dark, and resulted in a loss to

the Tenth Regiment of seventeen, killed and wounded.

The operations of the regiment during the months of

Jlay and June embraced little that was out of the usual

monotonous round of cavalry duty, excepting that a detach-

ment, one hundred and sixty strong, while engaged on a

reconiioissance to Bull's Gap and Greenville, encountered a

superior force of the enemy, attacked and routed them with

severe loss, capturing twenty-six prisoners and a number of

horses and mules.

On the 2;5d of July the Tenth took part in an attack

made on a rebel brigade at Blue Springs, Tenn., driving

the Confederates from their position in disorder. In this

the loss of the regiment was six wounded. It returned to

Strawberry Plains on the 31st. On the 4th of September

the regiment attacked the forces of Gen. John H. Morgan

at Greenville, routed them, took a large number of prison-

ers, and killed the guerrilla chief During the remainder

of that mouth the men of the Tenth were continually in

the .saddle, in pursuit of Wheeler's and other rebel cavalry,

and frequently overtaking and fighting them, though not

taking part in any general battle. In all the month of Oc-

tober it was engaged in picket duty and scouting.

At the end of October the regiment was posted at Straw-

berry Plains, and remained there for more than a month

engaged in camp duty, scouting, and erecting defensive

works. While there it was attacked (November 14ih) by

a force of rebel cavalry, with artillery, under command of

Gen. Breckinridge. This attack was commenced by the

artillery from the opposite side of the Holston River, and

the cavalry force at the .same time threatened the position

from the rear. The fight, which was a prolonged skirmish,

with almost continual artillery firing from the opposite side

of the river, was kept up for a number of days, but the

enemy was decisively repulsed on the 24th, and withdrew

from the field. On the 6lh of December the regiment

marched under orders to Knoxville, and thence soon after-

wards to Saltville, Va., where it a.-sistcd in destroying the

Confederate saltworks at that place, having been engaged

at Kingsport, December 12th, at Bristol, December 14th,

and at Saltville, December 20th. After the accomplish-

meut of the purpose for which the force was sent out, it

returned to Knoxville, having had a smart skirmish at

Chucky Bend on the 10th of January, 1805.

The Tenth remained at Knoxville until the latter part

of March, when it marched with its brigade to the north-

ern part of East Tennessee, and soon afterwards joined an

expedition to North Carolina under Gen. Stonemau. In

this incursion it fought the enemy at Brab.sou's Mills,

Jlarch 25th, and at Booneville on the 27th. Turning

thence northward by way of Wilkesborough, it penetrated

to the Virginia and Tennessee Railroad at Christiansburgh,

Montgomery Co., Va., reaching that place on the 5th of

April, and then taking part in the destruction of nearly

one hundred miles of that railway line. Then it moved

to Henry Court-House, ninety-five miles away, and made

that distance in a little less than twenty-four hours. At

that place, on the 8th of April, it was attacked by a heavy

rebel force of cavalry and infantry, but successfully held

its ground with only a slight loss. On the 9ih of April

(the day of Lee's surrender) the Tenth with its companion

regiments left Henry Court- House, moved south, destroy-

ing the railroad line, fighting at Abbott's Creek and High

Point on the 10th, capfuiing the town of Salisbury and

with it an immense amount of stores, and then, passing

down the Catawba River, engaged in the business of pick-

ing up bands of rebel cavalry, who had heard of. the sur-

render of Lee and were endeavoring to make their escape

to their homes. A few more skirmishes (among which

was one at Statesville on the 14th and another at Newton

on the 17th of April) finished the fighting of the Tenth

Cavalry. News of the surrender of Johnston's army was

received soon after, and then the regiment was sent on an

expedition having for its object the capture of Jefferson

Davis ; but in this it "was forestalled by the Fourth Cav-

alry. When it was found that the pursuit of the rebel

chief would be fruitless, the regiment was ordered west-

ward, and passing by way of Stevenson, Ala., into Ten-

nessee, it remained on duty in that State until the 11th of

November, when it was mustered out of service at Mom-

phis, and thence proceeded directly to Michigan, arriving

in Jackson on the 15th of the same month. .V little later

the men received their final payment and dispersed to

their homes.

TKNTII C.\V.\r,ItY SOLDIERS FKOM SHIAWASSEE COU.NTr.

FieM anil Sl.\f.

Miij. V. N. Cook, Antrim
;
pro. from cnpt. Co. II ; mu«l. out Feb. II, 1885.

Chupluin Iluiirj Chorry, Owomo ; toin. Dec. 3, ISO:! ; must, oilt Nov. 11, 1803.

A'oii-O'mniiwt/oMir*/ St<\ff.

Scrj7t.->Iiij. L. T. RoiinMWoll, C4iK»ilolila; liiilnt. out Nov. 11, 1805.

Cliiof Mus. John I,. Wllil, Ciiloiloulu ; ful. Si'pt 10, 1803 ;
pro. to 2il llont, Co. F.

CfUHjinity A.

Ciipt. Mjron A. Convorso, rorunnu) roni. Jiin. 5, 1804; Ut lloul., April 1,1804;

mnnt. out Nov. II, I80.'i.

lat LU'iil. John It. Iltoinult, Shiiiwiiuoii ; com. Si'pl. 3, I80.'>; 2il llout., Co. U.

t\iiH)mny U.

A. I'". Curllon, iliM'h. Uy c)i-<U'r, Juno 17, ISOfi.

OnnjMiiii F,

Cnpt. Chituncoy K. Slicphvnl, Owowo; com. Juno 0, 180.1; roilKlicd for diaabll-

lly, Fob. J.^i, iHtvi.

Isl Liuut. Wui. E. Oumnilnn, Cornnuii ; rotn. July 25, 18&I; pro. to capt., Co. 1.
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lat Lieut. John L. WiM, Coninna; com. Jan. 1, 1865; 2d lieut., April 1, 1864
;

must, (lilt Nov. 11, 1865.

2d Lieut. M. A. Cnnverse, C'oiunna; com. July 25, 1863; pro. to 1st lieut., Co. A.

Q M.-Sergt. L. S. Kuunswell, Caledunisi; iipp. sergt.-maj. Sept. 18, 1865.

Cuni.-Sergt. Wilsun M. Burk, Owos-io; must, out Nov. 11, 1SG5.

Seigt. Liicien A. Chase, Owosso; pro. tu 2d lieut., Co. G.

Sergt. James R. Conklin, Owoiso; died of disease in Kentucky, Feb. 11, 1864.

Sergt. Ebor D. Jackson, Caledonia ; must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Sergt. Albert K. McBride, Caledonia; must, out Nov, 24, 1865.

Sergt. Perry Swain, Vernon; must, out Nov. 24, 1865.

Sergt. Christian Prine, Perry ; must, out Nov. 20, 1865.

Sergt. Joel M. Jackson, Caledonia; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Corp. John Parsuris, Perry; must, out Nov. 24, 18G5.

Corp. Edward S. Treadway, Perry ; died of disease at Knoxville, Aug. 1, 1864.

Corp. Lewis T. Putnam, Vernon ; discb. for disability, Oct. 1, 1865.

Corp. Daniel Morehouse, Middlebury ; trans, to Vet. Res. Corps.

Farrier David W. Palmer, Caledonia; died of dise^ise at Grand Rapids, Nov. 18,

1863.

Mus. Elisha P. Tew, Ciiledonia; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Saddler Abner Sears, IJurns ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

"Wagoner Albert A. IJ.irnes, Caledonia; discli. fur ili.sability, Aug. 25, 1864.

Hf tiry E. Angus, disch. for disubility, Feb. 20, 1864.

Alon Becki<-y, missing at High Point, N. C, Aprd 25, 186.5.

Robei t H. Barton, must, out June 13, 1865.

Charles M. Calkins, must, out Nov. il, 1865.

Daniel Conklin, muat out Nov. 11, 1865.

Oscar F. Card, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Edward R. ClitTord, died of disease at Camp Nelson, Feb. 13, 1864.

Hiram Clark, died of diseaae at Camp Nelson, March, 1865.

Charles Conklin, disch. for disability, Feb. 19, 1SG4.

Levi Eldridge, must, out June 8, 1865.

Charles D. Foati-r, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

AVm. E. Forney, died of disease at Grand Rapids, Mich., Nov. 18,1863.

Eli?lm C. Gleason, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

William Gleason, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Gforge Howe, must, out May 27, 1865.

George AV. Harrie, must, out Nov. 22, 1865.

Reuben J. Holmes, must, out Nov. II, 1865.

Andrew J. Hcvey, must, out Nov. 11, 1365.

Willurd S. Hawthorn, mast, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Hiram Ualleck, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Peter Hamlin, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Andrew Hart, died of disease at Camp Nelson, Ky., Feb. 3, 1864.

Albeit E. HuntU-y, died of dise;ise at Camp Nelson, Ky., Feb. 1, 18G4.

Samuel liolcomb, died of disease at C^mip Nelson, Ky., Feb. 9, 1864.

Henry Howe, died of disease at Camp Nelson, Ky., March 1, 1865,

Friend D. Jackson, died uf disease atCv^runna, Mich., Nov. 12, 1863.

Company F.

Carpenter Jacobs, died of disease at Somerset, Ky., Feb. 13, 1864.

Lambert Johnson, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

David Kinyon, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Daniel L. Kiiiyon, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Charles Kinney, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Daniel Kief, died of disease at Knoxville, Tonn., March 9, 1864.

Otis Lamunyon, must, out Nuv. U, 1865.

James Mole, must, out Nov, 11, 1865.

Henry C. McCarty, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Jerry M. Mallery, died of disease at Knoxville, Tenn., Feb. 2, 18G5.

Aivin Owen, must, out Nov. 11, 18i>5.

Daniel Owen, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Edward Pu:nam, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Frank Putnam, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

John N. Pratt, must, out Nov. 27, 1865.

George F. Prior, must, out May 11, istio.

George R. Simuis, died of disease at Camp Nelson, Ky., Dec. 28, 1863.

John Snow, died of disease at Owosso, Mich., Nov, 24, 1863.

"William Thomas, died of disease at Knoxville, Tenn., April 23, 1864.

Philip Thomas, must, out June 9, 1865.

John D, Thomas, must, out Nov, 11, 1865.

Milliam R. Walcott, disch. for disability, Feb. 20, 1864,

Juhn Woodruff, died of disease in Michigan, March 1, 1865.

Company G.

2d Lieut. Lucien A. Chase, Owosso ; enl. Feb, 18, 1865 ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Levi Hall, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

James H. Morgan, died of disease at Lenoir, Tenn., June .5, 1865.

Company H.

Capt. Peter N. Cook, Antrim : com. Aug. 26, 1863
;
pro. to major, Feb. 18, 1865.

Capt. Edgar P. Byerly, Owosso; com. Feb. 18, 1865 ; 1st lieut., July 25, 1863;

must, out Nov. 11, 1865,

2d Jjieut, J. Q. A. Cook, Antrim; com. July 2.5, 1863; resigned April 12, 1864,

2d Lieut. John R. Bennett, Shiawassee; com. Feb. 18, 1865; sergt.; pro. to let

lieut., Co, A.

Sergt. John L. Banks, Shiawassee ;
disch. by order, Aug. 3, 1865.

Sergt. Lewis Decker, Antrim
;
must, out Nov, 11, 1BG5.

Sergt. Aaron Herrick, Shiawassee; trans, to Inv. Corps, June 16, 1864.

Sergt. David F. Tyler, Perry ; must, out Nov. II, 1865.

Sergt. Jacob N. Decker, Antrim; died of wounds at Knoxville, T«"nn., May 24,

1864.

Sergt. Samuel B. B 'venaugh, Shiawassee ; disch. for disability, Slay ;jl, 1805.

Sergt Ribert D. Adim-*, Antrim; must- out Nov. tl, 186-5.

Corp. Samiel H. Graham, Woodhul! ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Corp. Win. H. Bachelder, Antrim ; died of disease in Kentucky, March 25, 1864.

Corp. John N. Baker, Antrim ; must, out Nov, II, 1865.

Corp. Stephen D. Stedman, Perry ; died in Andersoriville priaon-pen, Oct. 31,

1864.

Corp. Piatt S. Pelton, Shiawassee ; must, out Nov. 11, 18C5.

Corp. And. Bliss, Burns ; must, out Nov, 11,1865.

Corp. Chiis. F. Coles, Shiawassee, disch. by ord'-r, Oct. 17, 1865.

Mus, Gideon Whitman, cotp., Burns ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Mus. Samuel K. Bennett, Antrim; died of disease in Kentucky, Feb. 24, 1864.

Saddler Geo. Hart, Sliiawassee; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

George Bentley, died of disease at Camp Nelson, Feb. 27, 1864.

Francis M. Baker, died of disease at Knoxville, Tenn., April 5, 1864.

William Battishill, died of disease at Knoxville, Tenn., June 10, 1864.

William R. Bugbee, died of disease at Somerset, Ky., Feb. 27, 1864.

John R. Bennett, disch. for promorioii, May 29, 1805.

E. E. Barnes, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Walter Brown, must, out Nov. II, 1805.

Hector E. Bentley, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

John S. Babcoek, must, out Nov, 11, 1865.

Edgar C/ole, must, out Nov. 11, 186.5.

George W. CoU", must, out Nov. 22, 1865.

Andrew Crowell, muat. out Nov. 11, 18G5,

Samuel W. Carr, died of disease at Detroit, Mich., Sept. 12, 1866.

L. A. Decker, died of disease at Andersonville prison, Ga., April 24, 1864,

Peter Dumoud, must, out Nov. 24, 18G5.

Benjamin Dufreze, must, out Nov. 22, 1865.

George P. Dean, must. out Nov. 11, 1805.

Samuel H. Graham, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Hale P. Goodwin, died of disease at Knoxville, Tenn., March 27, 1865.

Daniel B. Herriugton, must, out 3Iay 19, 1865.

Truman W. Hemingway, must, out Nov. II, 1865-

Renben C. Hatchings, must, out Nov. II, 1865.

Hiram Johnson, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Sylvester Ketchum, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, May 1, 1864.

Alfred Lamunyan, must, out Nov. II, 1865.

John R. Lucas, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

John C. Levy, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Robert Lyons, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Arthur lilead, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

George F, MerriH, must, out May 19, 1865.

William F. McDivit, disch. by order, Feb. 4, IS65.

Loren D. Peck, died of disease at Grand R ipids, Mich., No%-. 18, 1863.

Martin Pierce, died of disease at Ander>onviI!e, Ga.

Thomas Rjitigan, died of disease at Andersonville, Ga.

Samuel Robinson, died of disease at Andersonville, Ga,

William A. Richardson, must, out Nov, 14, 1865.

John W. Simpson, died of wounds at Knoxville, Tenn., May 7, 1864.

William H. Shaw, disch. for disability, June 23, 1864.

Hiram W. Stevens, disch. by order, May 1, 1865.

Almon M. Sandford, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

William 0. Sherburne, must, out Nov. 11, 1865,

Allen Scott, must, out Nov. 11, 18G5,

Allen H, Teiberry, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

William Vaughn, died of disease at Annapolis, Md., May 2, 1864.

Frederick Wolf, dsch. by order, June 30, 1865.

Company I.

Capt. Wm. E. Cunimings, Corunna; com. Jan. 7,1865; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Melvin Haiightland, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Company M.

William M. Decker, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

George W. Hickox, mast, nut Nov. 11, 1865.

William Roberts, died of disease at Camp Nelson, Ky., July 24, 1864.

Charles Thomas, must, out Nov, 11, 1865,

TENTH CAVALRY SOLDIERS FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Field and Staff.

Maj. Harvey E, Light, Eureka; com. Jan. 6, 1865; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Compaity B.

1st Lieut. Nelson Robinson, Jr., Eureka; com. Aug, 3, 1365; must, out Nov. 11,

1865.

John Hodges, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Homer Parkes, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Tompkins Parkes, must, out Nov. 11, 1805.

Albert Van Alstine, died of disease at Somerset, Ky., Feb. 12, 1S61.

Company D.

Allen Hicks, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.
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Companij E.

(.'apt. Harvey E- Light, Enrekit ; com. July 25, 186:i; pro. to maj.. Jan. 0, 1865,

2(J Lieut. Nl'Isoii E Kobiiiauii, Eureka; n.ni.-seigi.
;
pro. to Ut lieut. Co. B,

Aug. :i, ISG.'J.

M»8. Jolm B. Lackey, Rilt-y ; must, out Nov. 11, 18G5.

Farrier .Mlrrtl V. Ituosa, Eun-ka ; mu't. out Mov. 11, 18G5.

Wagoner Levi Spaiilding, Eureka; disch. for ilisability, April 20, 18G4.

Ji.lin M. Bi'iijii"'in. disch. by order, Sept. 5, 1865.

Jaiiie^ (>. Chart, died of disease at Camp Nelson, Ky., Jan. 17, 1864.

John I'orler, inuat. out Nov. 11, 18G5.

Company F,

Sergt. Tatnian Beardslee, 0\id: must, out May 17, 18C5.

Coe S. Swegles, disrh. for disability, Sept. 20, 1865.

Johti Sinchtii', must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Comjxtiiy G.

Sergt. Oacar E. Grover, Eagle; died of di-sease at Piirdy, Tenn., Oct. 2;J, 1865.

Corp. Azro BI. Bates, Eagle; disch. for disability, Sept. 10, 18G4.

John Brown, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

0)nipany H.

Daniel Ackley, must, out Nov. 11,1865.

Compaiifj I.

Capt. Eaos B. Bailey, St. John's; com. Jan. 22, 1864; l.st lieut. July 25, 18G3;

must, out Jan. 7, 1865.

iBt Lieut. George M. Farnhani, St. John's ; com. Jan. 22, 1864 ; 2d lieut. July 25,

186.i; pro. to capt. Co. K.

2d Lieut. John Spears, Kiley ; com. Oct. 19, 18C5 ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Q.M.-Sergt. Joseph S. Tu( ker, Riley ; disch. for disability. Tune 1, 1865.

Com.-Sergt. Oscar Chase, Binjiham; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Sergt. Daniel C. Tucker, Riley; trans, to Vet. Res. Corps.

Sergt. Willard N. Daggt-tt, Greenbnsh ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Sertlt. Lyman J. Daniels, Walertown ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Sergt. Charles H. Rose, Watertown; must, ont Nov. 11, 186r>.

Sergt. Samuel S. Lee, De Witt ; sick and absent, Nov. 11, 1865.

Sergt. James M. Siuiltors, Bingham ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Q.M.-Sergt. William Adams, Greeribusli ; must, out Nov. 18, 18G5.

Corp. Engine B. Ketchuni, Bingham ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Corp. William J. Esler, Eayle ; must, out Oct. 23, 1865.

Corp. Enimed Kirby, Groenlmsh ; niu->t. out May 26, 1865.

Corp. Charles 0. Cohen, Lebanon ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Sergt. John Spears, Riley
;
pre to 2d lieut. Co. I.

Sergt. Frank H. Rossnian, Waleitown ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Mus. Orlo W. Bermingbani, Duplain ; disch. by order, Sept. 11, 1865.

Mus. Fred. Brown, Westphalia ; died of iliseaee at Grand Rapids, Mich., Nov.

13, 186;J.

Saddler Paul J. Averill, Olive ; must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Farrier Abram Bennett, Westpbulia; diseh. for disiibility. May 23, 1864.

Farrier Geo. W. Baker, Greenbush ; died of disease itt Kentucky, Feb. 11, 1SG4.

Teamster Richard Cook, Olive ; must, out Nov. 10, 18G5.

Oliver Babcock, died of disease at Camp Nelsun, Ky., March 31, 1864.

Edwin Burrows, died of disease at Knoxvillo, Tenn., March 24, 1864.

Joseph L. Brink, died of disease at Camp Nelson, Ky., Jan. 7, 18G4.

Chailes Baron, died of disease at Cuinp Nel.son, Ky., Feb. 21, 1864.

Stephen II. Baker, missing in action.

Willijim T. Blizzard, died of disease at Knoxville, Tenn., May 20, 18G4.

Andrew Bailey, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps.

John Brown, must, out Nov. 11, 18G5,

Janie.t Brown, disch. by order, Oct. 3, 18C3.

Edwin Buuhnell, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Abram Cook, munt. out Nov. U, 1HG5.

Williatii Coveretone, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Linns Densmore, died of disease at Cump Nelson, Ky., Jan. 20, 1864.

Chaunrey Ferris, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Alonzo Force, must, out Nov. 11, 18G5.

John W. Force, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Isjiac Giant, mutst. out Nov. 11, 1865.

Isaac H. Ilai ringlon, must, out Oct. 20, 1865.

Charles J. Uoople, n^l^t. out Nov. 11, lh65.

(leori^e J. Iluggett, drowned ut Knoxville, Tenn., Sept. 12, 1805.

Huiiiel S. Hathaway, died of disease at (.'amp Nelson, Ky., Feb. 1, 1864.

(iodlrey Kline, died of disease at Knoxvilt<», Tenn., July 13, 18G4.

L\ man W. Kimball, died of dlseaao at Grand Rapids, Mich., Oct. 2, 1863.

Myron J. Lattimore, died of dlseiUHo at Detroit, Mich., Feb. 20, 1864.

James A. Laughlin, disch. fur disability, Oct. 6, 1863.

Goubl E. Mathews, disch. by order, June 10, 1865.

B. B. Owen, must, out May 12, 1865.

Alexander I'ai ks, nni>t. out Nov. 11, 1865.

Lorenzo D. Thilips, died of disease ut Knoxville, Tenn., Sept. 1, 18C-I.

W. W. Stiles, died of disease at Somerset. Ky., Feb. '28, 1864.

Alvin Searn, died of disease at (Janip Nelsot), Ky., May 4, 1864.

Warren Stilew, died of diMcaso ut Nashville, Nov. C, 1864.

Edniond II. Sltta, must, out Nov. 11, 1805.

Jaeksoii A. Sanborn, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

H. Frank. Sanborn, must, out Nov. 11, 1805.

John W. Stanswell. must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Emery B. Smith, must, out Nov. 11, 18C5.

Jesse E. StoTie, sergt., Duplain ; must, out Nov. U, 1805.

Lafayette A. Townson, died of disease at Knoxville, Tenn., Oct. 4, 1864.

Zenas J. Thomn,s, died of disease at Knoxville, Tenn., Nov. 6, 1864.

Denison Van Vliet. disch. by order, Sept. 25, 1865.

Samuel Whitlock, died of disease at Camp Nelson, Ky., Feb. 11, 18G4.

Elliott Wright, <iied of difeaso in Tennessee, Juno 11, 1804.

Anthony Winans, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

Charles Williams, must, out Nov. 11, 1865.

William Wells, must, out Nov. 11, 18G5.

CHAPTER XX.

OTHER SOLDIEHS FROM SHIA"WrASSEE AND
CLINTON COUNTIES.

Representation of the Two Counties in Twenlv-fivo Infantry and
Cavalry Regiments, anJ Eleven Michigan Batteries.

Besides the regiments of which historical sketches have

already been given, there were many others containing Clin-

ton and Shiawassee County soldiers, whose record is e(|ually

honorable, though they served in regiments in which these

counties were less numerou.sly represented. Of the officers

and enlisted men who served in these regiments lists (made

from the official records in the adjutant-general's office)

are given in this chapter.

SOLDIERS OF THE FIRST INFANTRY.

CLINTON COUNTV.

Compani/ F,

Aljihcus Bixby, disch. for disability, May 12, 18G4.

Compantf H.

Andrew J. Briggp, vetomn, Dec. 25, 18G3.

Alvalina L. Dickinson, disch. bj' order, Jane 10, ISfWi.

Jaaics B. Marab, disch. at end of service, .\ug. 30, 18G4.

Companit I.

David W. Zacbarias, mast, oat July 9, 1805.

SHIAWASSEE COCNTY.

Company H.

George W. Laking, ilisch. for disability.

FOURTH INFANTRY.

SOLDIERS FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

OmjMDij/ K,

James G. Abbott, died of disease in New York, Juih', 18G2.

Sergt. Ezra Brown, Ouphun, disch. at end of service, Juno 28, 1864.

Alonzo Force, disch. for disability, Jan. 16, 18G2

Colwell Martin, diwh. for disability, Nov. I, 186i.

Orrin K. Perry, diHch. ot end of service, Juno 28, 1864.

Compmty 1 (.Vcip h'oxtrih).

Illram A. I^rber, disch. at end of service, March 8, 18G0.

Zoar n. Hates, disch. ul end of service, March 8, iKtW.

Harvey Cook, died of disease in Texas, Oct. 22, lHrh'>.

William A. Diet/, disch. at end of service, March 8, 1806.

Giles Hill, died uf di'<easo in Texni, Nov, 0, 181)5.

Charles V. Lewis, died of dlseiue in Texus, Nov. 4, 18(V>.

AVasliingbui Lewis, disch. at end of service, March H, 1806.

Albert H. Miller, disch. at end of servi.n, March 8, 18ti«.

John D. !<hernmn, disch. at uiid of soivice, Mnich 8, 18G0.

Stil.l'IKIlS FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

(Company K.

Thoinu Sherry, dis. h. at <nd of service. Juno 28, 18C4.

{"ompany Kils'fw Fourth)*

Goorgo BradiHon, niunt. out May 26, 1SGG.

CMHjMHy C
Jnnu'<i> DavlN, nuiit. out Fob. 2G, 1860.
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SIXTH INFANTRY.
3IEN FKOM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Company A.

Solomon Henry, disch. for disability, Aug. 2, 1865.

Seymour Lyon, must, out Aug. 20, 1865.

SEVENTH INFANTRY.
MEN FROM SHIAWASSEE COCNTT.

Company B.

Gilbert A. Frazier, di-sch. Jan. 20, 1862.

Oscar S. Jewett, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, March 15, 18G4.

Ansel James, di^-d of diseiise at Camp Benton, Md., Kov. 16, 1861.

Cad. S. Pelton, missing in retreat from Fair Oaks.

Caleb B. Peltun, dis« h. at end of service, Sept. 9, 1SG4.

Covipoiiy F.

Benj. F. Green, disch. for disability, June 6, 1862.

Henry S. McCarty, disch. for disability, May :i, 1862.

Jacob D. Snyder, disch. for disability, Oct. 10, 1862.

Wellington Stark, disch. for disability, June 23, 18C2.

Willinm Stone, died of disease at Point Lookout, Md., Jan. 1, 186^-

Johu D. Walker, disch. for promotion, Aug. 4, 1862.

William White, disch. for disability, Nov. 5, 1861.

MEN FROM CLINTON COUNTY.
Compmuj G.

Thomas Stevens, must, out July 5, 1865.

Compuny H.

Charle? Hale, disch. for disability, Oct. 17, 1862.

ELEVENTH INFANTRY (NEW).

MEN FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Company B.

George W. White, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn., June 3, 1865.

Company H.

John Br.ndel, must, out Sept. 16, ISO.'J.

TWELFTH INFANTRY.

MEN FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Company B.

Birdsley Morse, must, out Feb. 15, 1866.

Company C.

Geo, Oliver, disch. by order, June 17, 1865.

Valororous Oliver, must, out Feb. 15, 1866.

Company D.
,

Wilson M. Holmes, disch. by order, 3I:iy 28, 1865.

Company F.

David Whalin, died cf disease in Arkansas, Aug. 17, 1SG3.

Company G.

Edward C. Hinman, disch. Aug. 18, 1862.

Albert A. Sherman, disch. for disability, Aug. 26, 1862.

A. J. Austin, disch. at end of service, Nov. 20, 1863.

J. R. Moss, disch. at end of service, Nov. 20, 1863.

THIRTEENTH INFANTRY.
CLINTON COUNTY VOLUNTEERS.

Company B. ^

James Anderson, disch. by order, June 8, 1865.

Lewis C. Grtrdner, disch. by order, June 16, 1865.

Alson P. Kinney, disch. by order, June 8, 1865.

Company C.

George G. Baker, must, out July 25, 1865.

Company D.

Sergt. Michael Miller, Westphalia; enl. Nov. 12, 1861; disch. at end of service,

Jan. 16, 1865.

Michael Bechtold, disch. for disability, July 21, 1863.

Gerritt S. Finn, veteran, enl. Jan. 18, 1864 ; died of disease in Georgia, Feb. 28,

1865.

Lorenzo Hance, disch. for disability. May 1, 1862.

Hiram S. Miller, disrh. at end of service, Feb. 17, 1865.

Anson J. Rummer, disch. for disability, Feb. 23, 1863.

Frank Wiler. disch. for disability, Sept. 15. 1862.

Mathins Webber, disch. on order, June 20, 1865.

Company F.

Sergt. Walter Belong, Lebanon; enl. Oct. 5,1861 ; died in action at Stone River,

Tenn, Dec. 29, 1862.

William G. Annis, veteran, enl. Jan. 18, 1864; must, out July 25, 1865.

Silas H. Crttlin, vetemn, enl. Feb. 10, 1864; disch. at end of service, July 18,'65.

D;ivi<l R. Corey, disch. for disability, March 8, 1863.

Nathan Evan-*, disch. for disability, Dec. 10, 1862.

Frederick Fifield, died at home.

George W. Hewitt, died of disease at Nashville, Tenn.

Weltster Ljiwrence, must, out July 25, 1865.

William McRoberts, must, out July 25. 1865.

Horace MoRoberts, died of disi>ase at Kalamazoo, Feb. 9, 1862.

Laureston B. Myers, disch. fnr disability.

Phinney B. Millard, disch. for disability.

William M. Payne, di-^ch. by order, June 8, 1865.

Reuben Place, must, out July 25, 1865.

Joseph Randolph, disch. for disability, Dec. 10, 1862.

Sylvester Stoddard, disch. by order, June 8, 1865.

Orrin A. Smith, died of disease at Nashville, Dec. 20, 1862.

James D. Sowle, missing in action.

Silas Tripp, died of disease, July 21, 1862.

David Trijip, disch. by onler, Jan. 19, 1863.

Company G.

John Hoover, must, out July 25, 1865.

Company I.

Walter Weaver, died in action at Stone River, Tenn., Dec. 31, 1862.

Company K.

Edward Everett, niust. out July 18, 1865.

Tobias Egner, discharged July 20, 1864.

Clark S. Green, discharged Sept. 5, 1862.

FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Lewis Wiitman, veteran, enl. Feb. 15, 1864.

FIFTEENTH INFANTRY.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTY MEN.

Company A.

Jiimes Delaney, disch. by order, May 30, 1865.

Company H.

Richard Haines, must, out Aug. 13, 1865.

Company C.

Nelson Bengart, mu'^t. out Aug. 13, 1865.

William S. Corwin, disch. for disability, July 28, 1863.

Company F.

Corp. Richard Ralph, Corunna ; enl. Jan. 5, 1862 ; disch. at end of service, Jan.

28, 1865.

Reuben Cu«ln*^y, disch. for disability, July 24, 1862.

Benjamin F. Dunlap, must, out Aug. 13, 1865.

John S. Skelton, must, out Aug. 13, 1865.

Company I.

1st Lieut. Henry F. Wallace, Corunna; com. Jan. 1, 1862; wounded at battle of

Shiloh, April 6,1862; thanked by Gen. Rosecrans in special orders for

gallantry and efficiency at the siege of Corinth; disch. for disability,

Sept. 1, 1862.

2d Lieut. John Edwards, Corunna; com. Jan. 1, 1862; res. April 17,1863.

Sergt. James Brown, Corunna; enl. Dec. 29,1861; disch. for disability, Nov. 12,

1862.

Corp. John A. Wallace, Corunna; enl. Dec. 20, 1861; veteran, Feb. 14, 1864;

absent on furlough at muster out.

Henry H. Barnes, veteran, enl. Feb. 14, 1864 ; must, out Aug. 13, 1865.

J.'hn Crow, died of disease at Big Black River, Miss., Aug. 14, 1863.

Wallace Dibble, died in action at Shiloh, Tenn., April 6, 1862.

Thomas Donahue, disch. fur disability, March 31, 1863.

Alonzo Johnson, disch. at end of service, Nov. 10, 1863.

Henry Punches, disch. for disability, Nov. 6, 1862.

James Penfold, died of disease at Pittsburg Landing.

Samuel B. Revenaugh, disch. for disability, Aug. 29, 1862.

Warren J. Woolman, disch. at end of service, Nov. 10, 1863.

Thomas Yerton, died of disease in Tennessee, June 1, 1862.

CLINTON COUNTY MEN.

Ci>mpany G.

Joseph Hnme&ton, died of disease at Detroit, Mich., March 3, 1865.

Company G.

Ezm B. Dietz, disch. by order, May 30, 1865.

Covipayty /.

Charles Minke, disch. by order. May 30, 1865.

Robert W'ynian, must, out Aug. 13, 1865.

h

\
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Company K.

Williiuii 11. Hoe, ilisch. at end of seiTice, Nov. 17, ISC').

Samuel A. Smith, died of disease in Slississippi, Aug, 0,1863.

Chrihtian Taylor, Uisch. Ijy order, May 3U, isGo.

SIXTEENTH INFANTKY.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTY MEN.

Company B.

William 11. C. II;ilI, must, out July 8, 1865.

Henry F. MoTiroe, uiiist. out July 8, 18G5.

Company D.

Daniel Ilusa, died of wounds at Alexandria, Va., Oct. 27, 18G4.

Company F,

Tliomas Catlin, diacli. by order, Slay 3, 18G5.

Company H.

George Broom, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 18C3.

Muthew Crowter, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1863; died of wounds, near Pctereburg,

Va., June 21, 18G4.

George W. Erray, died in action at Gettysburg, Pa., July 2, 1863.

Nicholas Fitzpatrick, died of disease at Hall's Hill, Va., Nov. 14, 1862.

Alfrf^ii R. Frazier, disch. by order, Dec. 15, 18G1.

David Gordon, disch. by order, July 13, 1865.

Warren Hathen, died of wounds, 1862.

Hinim Johnson, disch. for disability, Aug. 27, 1864.

Sanford G. Morton, disch. at end of service, Sept. 7, 1864.

Nathaniel B. Overton, died in action at Gainea' Hill, June 27, 1862.

Acloniram J. Payne, died of disease at Washington, D. C, Oct. 2, 1861.

Charles J. Perry, disch. for disability, Oct. 13, 1863.

Jesse Parmenter, wagoner, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1863 ; disch. for disability, Feb.

20, 1865.

Lefind'-r A. Vamlusen, disch. at end of service, Sept. 7,1864.

William U. Wilkinson, disch. for disability, Sept. 25, 1862.

Company K.

Josepli G. Scott, died of disease at Washington, D. C.

IsaJiC H. Scott, died in action at Gettysburg, Pa., July 2, 1863.

Bradley S. Whitney, must, out July 8, 1865.

First Independent Company.

Jacob F. Wagner, must, out July 8, 1865.

CLINTON COUNTY MEN.

Company B.

Lloyd G. Stover, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1863; must, out July 18, 18C5.

Company F.

John G. Daker, died of disease in Virginia, Oct. 21, 1861.

Jeremiah Walker, died of dii^ease at Baltimore, Md., Nov. 20, 1862.

Company G.

Duvid Clark, disch. by order. May 20, 1865.

Company U.

l8t Lieut. Daniel Lyon, St. John's; com. Sept. 27, 1864; sergt. Aug.

veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1863; wounded at Hatcher's Run, Va., Fe

diKCli. for disability, May 15, 1865.

Sergt. Lafayette L. Trask, St. John's; enl. Aug. 13, 1861 ; disch. for

Jan. 3, 1863.

Corp. John T. Newell, St. John's ; enl. Sept. 1, 1801 ; died in action

Mill, Juno 27, 1862.

Corp. Tbeoduro L. Everest, St. John's; enl. Aug. 16, 1861 ; disch. for

Sept. 17, 1862.

Abnim Itigeluw, disch. for disability, Feb. 21, 1862.

Carlos Bellows, veteran, enl. Dec. 24, 1803 ; must, out July 8, 18C5.

Jolm J. I'artello, disch. at end of service, Sej)!. 7, 1864.

Juseph Van Vechten, died in action at Bull Run, Aug. 30, 1802.

liavid Wainwright, discharged.

SEVENTEENTH INFANTRY.

FBOM CLINTON.

Company Jl.

Pflos W. Vandorberg, died li] actimi at South Mountain, Md., Si'iit. M, 1802

Noah WilkoM, liuist. out Juno 3, 1805.

Company K.

Wnlt'T Love, dk-d of diHPnao at Camp Cho^p, Ohio.

William Morrltt, iliach. for dlnabllity, Jon. 4, 1804.

FROM SlIIAWASSKK.

Company F.

Sylvoutor Evorts, dlpd ofdiKoaso at WaaliiiiKton, H. C, Feb. 23, 1863.

William Jordan, died In uciiou at Anliulnm, Md., Sci)t. 17, 1802.

15
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William F. Reed, diech. for disability, Feb. 25, 1863.

Nichnlas Riiby, niisaing in action.

Joseph Sbarik, must, out May 24, 18G5.

Andrew J. Stevens, must, out June 30, ISBS.

John Steele, must, out June 30, 1865.

Cliarles Stickles, disch. for disability, Nov. 15, 1862.

Samuel Steele, dii^ch. for disability, Sept. 20, 1862.

Charles W. Thomas, disch. for disability, April 30, 18G3.

Company I.

Mathew Black, must, out June 30, 1865.

'I'lieodore Hiller, must, out June 30, 1865.

Job Sexton, must, out June 30, 1865.

Homer Watson, must, out June 30, 1865.

Comjmny K.

William Morse, must, out June 30, 1865.

FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Company D.

Orrin Dodge, must, out June 30, 1865.

Company E.

Manley M. Boington, must, out June 30, 1865.

Jerume B. Frasier, must, out June 30,1865.

Lewis Metcalf, must, out June 30, 1865.

Company G.

James W. Goodfellow, disch. for disability, June 3, 1865.

Orville C. Simonson, died of wounds, June 18, 18C4.

William H. Van Otter, disch. for disability, Sept. 20, 1862.

Company K.

Henry L. McCarthy, must, out June 30, 1865.

Dexter B. Proper, must, out June 30, 1865.

RecniUs.

James Ackley, must, out June 28, 1865.

Samuel A. Hubbard, must, out June 30, 1865.

Kdward Leeland, must, out June 30, 1865.

David B. Shannon, must, out June 30, 1865.

TWEXTY-SIXTH INFANTRY.
FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Non-CommisHoned Staff,

Priuc. Mus. George G. Harris, Antrim ; enl. Aug. 6, 1862 ; must, out Juno 4, '65.

Company B,

James M. Clements, must, out June 4, 1865.

Company E.

Willis E, Brown, must, out Sept. 10, 1865, from Vet. Res. Corps.
John L, Bennett, must, out June 4, 1865.

Charles Bennett, must, out June 4, 1865.

Ashley C. Elder, must, out June 4, 1865.

FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Non-C<immissioned Staff.

HoBp.-Stew. Zadock B. Freeman, Bath
;
pro. to asst. surg.

Company D.

George Hawkins, must, out June 27, 1865.

Andrew Silvornai!, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, Sept. 20, 1863.

Sergt. William D. Towner, died of disease at Jackson, Mich., Sept. 27, 1862.

Company II.

Napoleon Delong, died of disease at Alexandria, Va., Feb. 15, 1863.

TWENTY-EIGHTH INFANTRY.
FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Company B.

1st Lieut. Eli F. Evans, Vernon ; com. Nov. 26, 1864 ; must, out JuneS, 1866.

Company E.

Samuel A. Luther, disch. at end of service, Feb. 13, 1866.

FIRST REGIMENT LIGHT ARTILLERY.
MEN FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Battery A.

Ist Lieut. Hezekiah E. Burchard, Ovid; com. March 6, 1865; 2d lieut. Sept. 6,
1864 (sergt.)

;
must, out July 28, 1865.

Alexander Robertson, must, out July 28, 18G5.

Baflery E.

Caleb G. Powell, must, out Aug. 30, 1865.

James II. Redsou, must, out Aug. 30, 1865.

died of wounds at Hoorer'a

Battery H.

Henry C. Grant, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, March 15, 18&4.

Isiiac P. Place, must, out July 22, 1865.

TJiirteenth BtUtertj.

George D. Ensign, must, out July 1, 1865.

Heman Frisk, must, out July 1, 1865.

Julius Frisk, must, out July 1, 1865.

Benjamin F. Freeland, disch. by order, May 6, 1865.

Edward Judd, must, out July 1, 1865.

Robert Lapworth, must, out July 1,1865.

William J. Ottoway, must, out July 1, 1865.

Asa B. Sheldon, must, out July 1, 1865.

MEN FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Battery A.

Geo. Butterfield, must, out July 28, 1865.

Clias. W. Eaton, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, April 10, 1864.

August Rochol, trans, to Vet. Res. Corp-i, April 10, 1864.

Danl. C. Warren, must, out July 28, 1865.

Battet^j D.

Wagoner Saml. Fowler, Bath ; enl. Oct. 26, 1861

;

Gap, Tenu., June 26, 1863.

Battery E.

Marvin .Albright, disch. for disability, July 27, 1862.

Chas. M. Chadwick, disch. to enl. in regular tirniy, Nov. 27, 1862.

Oliver Cunningham, must, out Aug. 30, 1865.

G. H. Groom, must, out Aug. 30, 186.^.

R;ilph W. Holley, must, out Aug. 30, 1865.

Wm. R. Newman, must, out Aug. 30, 1866.

Wm. H. Bbelnbotham, must, out Aug. 30, 1865.

BaUery G.
Hiram Miller.

Geo. H. Van Tyne.

Battery I.

Wm. A. Ingraham, died of disease in Indiana, Oct. 12, 1864.

Jauathan Miller, mnst. out by order, June 23, 1865.

Battery L.

Joseph Miller, disch. by order. May 15, 1865.

Battery M.

Silas H. Jones, must, out Aug. 1, 1865.

Silas Watson, must, out Aug. 1, 1865.

THIRTEENTH MICHIGAN BATTERY.
FROM CLINTON COUNTY,

John C. Clark, must, out July 1, I860.

W»n. E. Clark, must, out July 1, 1865.

Oliver P. Morgan, must, out July 1, 1865.

FOURTEENTH MICHIGAN BATTERY.
FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Gotlieb Carche, must, out July 1, 1865.

Henry Geer, must, out July 1, 1865.

SEVENTH CAVALRY.
SOLDIERS FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

Field and Staff.

Maj. George K. Newcombe, Owosso; com. Dec. 10, 1862; wounded in action at

Gettysburg, July 3, 1863; resigned Oct 13, 1863.

Company C.

Capt. Joseph I. Newman, Owosso ; com. July 31, 1864 ; disch. for disabilitj, Feb.

27, I860.

Jacob Russell, mu^t. out Dec. 15, 1865.

0)mpany E,

William H. Palmer, trans, to Ist Cav., Nov. 17, 1865.

Company G.

Ist Lieut Joseph I, Newman, Owosso; com. Oct 15, 1862; pro. to capt Co. C.

Sergt John S. Gates, Owosso ; must, out Dec. 15, 1865.

Corp. Alanson J. McCann, Perry ; disch. by order, June 2, 1865.

Corp. Irwin Bennett, Perry ; missing in action, Oct. 19, 1363.

Teamster Norman Van Alstine, Sciota; trans, to Inv. Corps, Jan. 15, 1864.

Farrier Wm. Bartholomew, Owosso; must, out at end of service, Dec. 28, 1865.

Wagoner Leonard L. Howe, Owosso; must, out at end of service, Dec. 28, 1865.

Jeremiah Ackley, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, May 15, 1864.

Amos Finch, must, out Dec. 28, 1865.

William Gillson, must, out Dec. 28, 1805.

Jeiinan H. Jolinson, died of disease at Andei'sonville prison, Ga., Aug. 4, 1864.

f

i
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Howiinl A. Tibbetts, ilicd uf (lisense at Fairfax, Va., Juno 25, 1863.

Henry Weatlierbee, trans, to Vet. Kcs. Corps.

Company //.

Oliver D. Decker, disch. for disability, Sept. 30, 1803.

SOLDIERS FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Comp»Hy A,

Charles E. Dusson, must, out Sept. 0, 1805.

Company I).

Sergt. James Anderson, Eureka; disch. Aug. 20, 1863.

Company E.

Elislia J. Higbee, died t,{ diseaae at Winchester, Va., Dec. 10, 1861.

Atmon II. Isham, must, out July 17, 1865.

Amos Towman, must, out Sept. 11, 1865.

Compaity I.

Henry Cook, trans, to Ist Mich. Cav., Nov. 17, 1805.

Rodney W. Choat,must. out July 1", 1805.

Calvin E. Green, must, out Dec. 15, 1805.

Chester C. IliUri-tli, must, out July 17, 1865.

John KirkKind. trans, to 1st Mich. Cav., Nov. 17, 1805.

James Monroe, trans, (u 1st Mich. Cav., Nov. 17, 1S65.

Sidney Staunton, trans, to Ist Mich. Cav., Nov. 17, 1865.

Perry Shepherd, must, out July 17, 1805.

Company Jlf.

Emery Bowen, trans, to Ist Mich. Cav., Nov. 17, 1865.

Josiah Cobb, disch. for disability, Oct. :l, 1K03.

Betijiimin R. Tinkle, must, out Dec. S, I.S65.

W. II. Uaniniond, disch. for disability, Nov. 0, 1803.

John C. Meyer, missing in action at Dockland Mills, Va., Oct. 19, 1863.

Joseph R. Stickles, trans, to 1st Mich. Cav., Nov. 17, 1865.

EIGHTH CAVALRY.

MEN FROM SHIAWASSEE.

Company A.

James H. Williard, must, out June 13, 1865.

Company F.

Charles L. Young, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Company L.

Simon Hause, disch. for disability, Sept. 15, 1863.

Charles Williams, died of disease on board transport " Baltic," Dec. 30, 1864.

NINTU CAVALRY.

FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Assl. Surg. Morgan L, Leach, Duplain ; com. Nov. .3, 1862 ; resigned for disability,

July 15, 1864.

ELEVENTH CAVALRY.

FROM SHIAWASSEE.

FieUl and S^U/'.

Miij. Henry L. Wise, Corunna; com. Aug. 31, 1863; must, out Aug. 10, 1805.

Non-CommtMiion&l Stoff.

llosp. Stew. Owen Blanchnrd, Sclola; trans, to N. C. S., 8th Mich. Cav., July

20, 1866.
Company D.

Capt. Charles Simpson, Owosso; com. Feb. I, 1864; Ist liout. Aug. 1, 1803;

most, out Aug. 111,1865.

Sergt. Waller ('. Hewitt, Middlobury; trans, to 8th Cav.

Sergt. Eail S. Hall, Owosso; trans, to 8tli Cav.

Sergt. Thro. T. Dewilt, Mhbllebury; trans, to 8th Cav.

Sergt. Walter lielgan, Sciotii; disch. by order, Juno 12, 1866.

Far. Klislia Itoed, llenniiigton ; must, out July 16, 1805.

Far. Charles D. Stimstui, Middlobury; must, out Juno 12, 1865.

Charles II. Cidver, must, out Oct. 2, 1865.

Charles I). Hunt, niiisl. out Juno 30, IgliS.

George N. llalhawiij, died of disease at Lexington, Ky., Jan. 2:), 186-t.

Harvey C. Snnmer, must, out Sept. 22, 1805.

Oliver Siicu, must, out Sept. 22, 1806.

Comjmny C.

Eilgar Bruno, died of diaeaao at Lexington, Ky., Fob. 7, 1864.

M. C. Doly, died of disease at Lexington, Ky., Feb. 7, 1804.

Lovi B. Sniedley, disch. by order, July 13, 1806.

Company I).

Henry C. Woodwanl, died of disease at Lexington, Ky., July, 1804.

Company F.

Sidney S. Morse, died of diseaso at Lexington, Ky.

Oompany M.

A. FurgoBon, disch. by order, Feb. 2, 1865.

William Grant, must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Company B.

Sorgt. Ralph II. Ilollister, Victor; trans, to 8th Mich. Oav. ; must, ont Sept. 22,

1805.

Sergt. Charles Valentino, Victor ; trans, to 8th Mich. Cav.; must, out Sept. 22,

1805.

Mus. J.ihn F. Stortz, De Witt; trans, to 8th Mich. Cav.; must out Juno 16, 1865.

John C. Aldrich, trans, to 8th Mich. Cav.; must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

George S. Bartlett, trans, to »th Jlich. Cav. ; must, out Sept 22, 1865.

John T. Craig, trans, to 8th Mich. Cav.

James P. Cross, tl-ans. to 8tli Mieh. Cav. ; must, out Oct. 7, 1805.

Elijah Caiman, trims, to 8th .Mich. Cav. ; must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Charles M. Doty, tians. to 8th Mich. Cav. ; must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

James Price, disch. by order, July 10, 1865.

John Parker, disch. for disability, June 24, 1865.

Edward Strickland, trans, to 8tll Mich. Cav. ; must, out Sept 22, 1866.

Oliver M. Munzey, trans, to 8tb Mich. Cav. ; must, out Sept. 22, 1865.

Company K,

Sergt. Henry P. Clark, Do Witt ; trans, to 8th Mich. Cav. ; disch. for promotion.

Charles U. Reynolds, died of disease at Lexington, Ky., Sept. 15, 1804.

Company L.

Newberry Eddy, died of disease at Lexington, Ky., July 19, 1864.

Moses F. Hamlin, disch. for disability, June 6, 1865.

FIRST MICHIGAN SHARPSHOOTERS.

MEN FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Company E.

Asher Le Baron, died of disease at Chicago, III., Jan. 20, 1863.

Company I.

Wm. Dellenbaugh, missing in action near Petersburg, Va , July 30, 1864.

Henry A. Howe, died of disease at Chicago, 111., Nov. 24, 1863.

Horace Martin, died in action near Petersburg, Va.,June 17,1864.

Ira Martin, died of disease at Annapolis, Md., Jan. 13, 1865.

Daniel H. Spicer, died of disease at Alexaniiria, Va., Oct. 4, 1864.

Charles Sutherland, missing in action near Peteraburg, Juno 17, 1864.

FIRST MICHIGAN (ONE HUNDRED AND SECOND
UNITED STATES) COLORED INFANTRY.

FROM CLINTON COUNTY.

Company C.

1st Liout. Edward Cahill, SI. John's ; com. Jan. l'.l, 1864; pro. capt. Co. D.

2d Lieut. Jacob P. Sleight, Bath ; com. Dec. 23, ISO! ; must, out Sept. 30, 1805.

Jasper Moffatt, must, out Sept. 30, 1805.

Company Z>.

Capt. Edward Cahill, St. J. hn's ; com. Jan. 10, 1865 ; nnist. out Si'pt- 30, 1805.

Ist Lieut. Win. E. Sleight, Hath ; com. May 6, 1864; 2d liout. Jan. 20, 1864

;

must, out Sept. 30, 180.'i.

FROM SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.

FiM ami «<#.

Lieut.Col. Wni. It. Sellon, 0«o»«o; com. Aug. 17, 1603 j Isl lleut. '.>lh Infaiilry.

Company 0.

John Tlioin|«on, must, out Sept. 30, 1865.

FIRST REGIMENT UNITED ST.VTES SII.XRI'-

8H0UTERS.
KKiiM CLINTON COUNTY.

(\impaMy C.

David II. Kellogg, died of disease at W.ishlngton, April 10, 1S62.

Henry K. Slwars, died of <llseiul<' at Yorklown, Va., Oct. 10, 1KC2.

SECOND RE(ilMENT UNITED STATES Sll.Mll'-

SIIOOTEKS.

FRdM CLINTON COUNTY.

( Viiti|><iiiy U,

Ellla W. Ilngerly, died in action at Wildorne.n, May 6, 1804.

J.din II. Thompson, dl.d lu action near IVIenihurij, Sept. U, 1804.

lib bard Warlle, died In action at S|Hills.vlvaiila, May 11, 1864.

TWENTIETH INDIANA ItATTKRY

John Burg.iyuv, Woodhull, Sbiawusnoo O.; vetonm.



SHIAWASSEE COUNTY.
CHAPTEK XXI.

LOCATION, TOPOGRAPHY, AND MINERAL RE-
SOURCES.

Boundaries, Surface, Soil, and Streams—Geological Formation—Re-

sults of Explorations for Coal and Salt—The State Geologist's

Opinion relative to Coal-Mining in Michigan.

Shiawassee, which is one of the counties in the fourth

tier,—counting nortliward from the southern line of the

State,—has for its western boundary the principal meridian

(which is the division-line between this and Clinton County),

and is bounded on the north by Saginaw, east by Genesee,

and south by Livingston and Ingham, the last-named three

counties having been formed iu part from its original terri-

tory. It is now one of the smallest counties in the State,

for although it contains the same number of townships

(sixteen) which are embraced in each one of several other

counties, the western range of townships in this has only

about two-thirds the usual width ;
this being the result

of a mistake or miscalculation iu the making of the original

surveys.

This county is properly regarded as among the best in

Miciiigan in regard to the productive quality of its soil

and its adaptation to the purposes of agriculture. The

surface, which can nowhere be termed hilly, is generally

rolling, though in many parts of the county there are found

quite extensive tracts of comparatively level country, which

in the original field-notes of the government surveyors are

frequently mentioned and described as ' prairie-lands."

The principal waters of the county are the Shiawassee,

Maple, and Looking-Glass Rivers, and their tributary

streams. The Shiawassee is formed of an eastern and a

southern branch, which, taking their rise in the lakes of

Oakland, Livingston, and Genesee Counties, join their

waters in the southeast corner of Shiawassee ; from which

point the main stream flows in a general northwesterly

and northerly course through nearly the entire length of

the county, crosses its northern boundary nearly at the cen-

tre of it, and thence flows northward through Saginaw

County into the Saginaw River. The Shiawassee River,

in traversing this county, passes the cities of Owosso and

Corunna and the villages of Vernon, Shiawassee, and

Byron.

The Maple River, taking its rise in the central and

southern parts of the county, flows thence in a northwest-

erly direction into Clinton. The sources of the Looking-

Glass River are in the northwest part of Livingston Couuty

and the extreme southern part of Shiawassee. Its course

through this county is first nearly north, and afterwards

generally west, to the point where it crosses the west

boundary-line into Clinton County. Neither the Looking-

UG

Glass nor the Maple become streams of much size or im-

portance until after they pass out of Shiawassee County.

The northeast part of the county is watered by the head

streams of the Misteauguay River, which flows northward

into Saginaw County and enters the Flint River five miles

above its mouth.

Of the geology of Shiawassee County there is little to

be said, more than to mention the efforts which have been

made here from time to time for the discovery of coal

veins and salt springs, and to notice the results of those

explorations.

The second Legislature of Michigan, at its regular ses-

sion in 18.37, passed an act (approved February 23d in that

year) which provided " that the Governor is hereby au-

thorized and directed to nominate, and by and with the ad-

vice and consent of the Senate to appoint, a competent

person, whose duty it shall be to make an accurate and

complete geological survey of this State, which shall be

accompanied with proper maps and diagrams, and furnish a

full and scientific description of its rocks, soils, and minerals,

and of its botanical and geological productions, together

with specimens of the .same." Under this act the Governor

appointed as State geologist, to take charge of the survey,

Dr. Douglass Houghton, who in the fall of the same year

set out with three assistants and made a cursory explora-

tion of Shiawassee Couuty and the contiguous country, the

object of the visit being to examine the outcroppings of

bituminous coal and the salt springs which were reported

to exist in this region. The party left Detroit by wagon

conveyance, and proceeded to Byron and thence to Co-

runna and other points below on the river. One of the

assistants of Dr. Houghton in that expedition was Bela

Hubbard, Esq., of Wayne County, who writes in reference

to the examination then made in Shiawassee County as fol-

lows :
" In the early part of the season, during the progress

of the geological survey, beds of bituminous coal had been

discovered in the bank of Grand River, in Ingham and

Eaton Counties ; and the rocks met with through the cen-

tral part of Shiawassee (belonging to the coal-measures)

gave hope of finding an outcrop here. Prospecting was ac-

cordingly commenced by us at Corunna, but, with the

slender means at command, did not prove successful. Yet

suflicicnt was determined from the character and dip of the

rocks and other indications to warrant a recommendation

to the settlers to continue the investigation." This recom-

mendation of Dr. Houghton caused considerable search and

several excavations to be made, resulting, in 1839, in the

discovery of a thin vein of coal, from which small amounts

continued to be taken annually until the formation, many

years later, of a company to work the vein. An account of



LOCATION, TOPOGRAPHY, AND MINERAL RESOURCES. 117

I

the workitif; of the mines in the vicinity of Corunna is

given in the separate history of the township of Caledonia.

Of the freological formation in the Corunna region Prof.

Roniinger,* State geologist, says

:

" The bottom of the Shiawassee Valley near Corunna is

all formed of rock-beds of the coal-measures where the

erosions of the drift period have not destroyed them and

filled their places with dihris. The upper sand-rock of the

formation is in many places entirely swept away, and the

shale-beds below lie denuded to the surface. The two

mines opened at Corunna, a mile or two east of the village

[city], have begun their shafts in tlie shale-beds ; one of

them, the more northerly situated, was abandoned at the

time of my visit. The other, located within a short, semi-

circular bend of the river, was worked. In the oblii(ue

drift leading to the bottom of the mine the following

section is offered

:

Drift 9 feet.

Shale, (lark, partly black .30 "

Sanit-'tonc 4 **

Black, slaty shales, containing lingula and
discina, besides compressed lamelli branehea (^ "

Coal 1 foot.

Fire-clay i feet.

Black, slaty shales, as above S **

Coal, from .'ito4 '*

Fire-clay 4 "

Black shales 4 '*

Arenaceous shales continue to the bottom, which is eighty

feet below the surface. The fire-clay seams are usually

arenaceous, and contain stems of stigmaria. The shale-

beds contain eenticular concretions of kidney-ore in the

non-decomposed condition of gray amorphous carbonate of

protoxide of iron ; seams and nodules of iron pyrites are

also found dispersed throughout the whole formation. In

the coal-seam the pyrites are concentrated into a band of a

few incites in tliickness. The coal is of bitutuinous qual-

ity, of the same character as the Jackson coal. Not far

off, west from the mine, the shale formation is found cov-

ered by the upper coarse-grained sand-rock, inclosing steins

of calamitcs. The visible thickness of the rock is about

fifteen feet, but it is probably thicker if it could be seen

better exposed. Other outcrops of the sandstone are to be

found iu the river-bed four miles above Corunna."

Coal was found outcropping in the bank of the Shia-

was.see River at Owosso, and iu 1857 or 1858 a shaft was

sunk for the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad Company at

this place on land of Judge Comstock. Prof llominger

notices this operation, and mentions the coal formation in

that vicinity as follows: "The next disclosures of the coal-

measures [he liaving previously mentioned those of Ingham

County] we find on Shiawa.ssec River, near Owos.so and

Corunna, in both of which places coal-mines are opened.

The shaft of the Owosso mine is close to the river, within

the village limits. It begins in a blue shale with coaly

vegetable remains, under which a coal-bed of fifteen inches

is found resting on fire-clay six feet in thickness; then

another coal-seam, likewise of fifteen inches, succeeds. The

bottom part of the shaft, which is forty feet deep, is formed

by .shales and fire-clay ; the fire-clay is partly of a hard,

sandy nature, and contains numerous stems and leaves of

* Geological Survey of the State of Miohignn, 1876.

Stigmaria ficoides. The coal is of a rich bituminous qual-

ity and tolerably free from sulphur, but the seams are too

thin to be profitably mined. . . . Several companies have

tried to work it, but gave it up after a short time as not

returning enough to cover the expense." He then gives

the record of a boring three hundred and seven feet in

depth, put down near the railroad at Owosso, and in wliich

a vein of coal was found at a depth of about one hundred

and eighty feet, but this was so thin as to be worthless.

" The coal-measures," says Professor Rominger, " are fre-

quently noticed in the bed of the Shiawa-ssee below Owosso,

as far down as St. Charles. A locality of particular interest

is near the mouth of Sis-Mile Creek, six miles north of

Owosso. In the bluffs of the Shiawassee River we ob.serve

the lower part formed of blue shales, with seams of sand-

rock and abundant concretions of kidney ore ; the top is

drift, with a considerable intermixture of angular debris

from the underlying strata. Under the shale, emerging a

few feet above the water and partly submerged, are layers

of a black, shaly lime-rock, visible in a thickness of four or

five feet, containing numerous fossils, partly in calcified

partly in pyritous condition. . . . The same limestone is

seen a quarter of a mile oft in the bed of Six-Mile Creek ; its

ledges are there more even,—bedded flagstones,—less shaly

than those seen in the Shiawassee River. Close under the

lime-rock is a fifteen-inch bed of coal, quantities of which

have been taken from the river-bed when the water is very

low. The coal reposes on a soft, pla.stic clay of greenish-

white color, which incloses stems of stigmaria and large,

calcareous, nodular masses of cone-in-cone structure. Stems

of stigmaria are also found in the upper shales of the bluffs

and iu the geodes ;
when split open, fronds of ferns are some-

times found, but their occurrence is rare. A few slops from

the mouth of Six-Mile Creek some parties made an experi-

mental shaft about thirty feet deep, and from that point

drilled to one hundred feet below the surface. From the

material thrown out of the shaft, I .see that shales of

various colors, with seams of sand-rock and conglomerate,

besides an abundance of kidney-ore, compose the surface-

layers as far as the shaft went. Mr. Ott, the owner of tiie

land, informed me that four beds of coal, aiimunling in all

to eleven feet, were found in the boring. . . . The record

in itself is somewhat doubtful, and the hesitation to t;ike it

iis a true representation of facts is increased by the subse-

quent act of the disciiverers of so rich coal deposits (eleven

feet within a vertical thickness of twenty feet of strata).

Mr. Ott ends his story by .saying that the men, after they had

reached the depth ol' one hundred feet, lell the place not to

return again."

Borings have been made from time to lime in various

parts of the county, .some having for their object the ob-

taining of brine for the manufacture of !<alt, some for the

di.scovery of coal veins, and some having both these ends

in view; but none of these have, so far us ascertained, re-

paid the outlay. One of the most notable of these was a

hole sunk to the depth of one thousand ami one feet on

section 5 of the township of Owosso (several miles north-

west of the city), by Mr. George Collier for the projiriolor.

The record of this boring gives the following as the: strata

pas.scd through :
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Drift 121 feet.

Shale 20 "

Coal 4 "

Shale 54 "

IlarJ rook 15 "

Shale 33 "

Sanil-rock 22n "

Limestone 3 "

Soft shale 20 "

Sandstone (with brine) 77 "

Blue and red shales 434 "

In 1859 a bca-ing was made by a company of Pennsyl-

vania men on section 23 of the township of Caledonia,

one and a quarter miles northeast of Corunna. A depth

of eight hundred and seventy-four feet was reached, and

the following is the record of the strata passed :

Drift 30 feet.

Shales aud slate-rock 60 "

Coal 1 foot.

Sand-rock and shales 285 feet.

Thin alternate strata of rock and iron ore 28 "

Shales and sand-rock 330 "
Weak brine struck at this depth.
Porous sand rock 140 "

A great number of other borings in various parts of the

county might be mentioned and statements given of the

strata through which they passed ; but these would be

neither valuable nor interesting. They are but records of

failure, so far as their disclosure of any valuable mineral

deposits is concerned. This is unquestionably true in re-

gard to all borings and excavations yet made in Shiawassee

County, unless the mining operations at Corunna are to be

regarded as an exception, which is, to say the least, ex-

tremely doubtful. That a similar opinion is entertained by

so eminent a geologist as Professor Rominger, in regard to

explorations and experimental excavations, not only in this

county, but in the entire lower peninsula, is made clear by

his summing up on this subject, as follows

:

" The benefit to the commonwealth of a geological in-

vestigation consists not only in adding discoveries of now

stores of minerals to those already known, but to a much
greater extent, I think, in causing to be fairly understood

the uselessness of explorations for certain minerals in places

where they do not exist. Thousands and thousands of

dollars have been spent in this way, which could have been

saved to their owners if they had had a clear comprehen-

sion of the structure of the earth's crust which they ex-

plored, or had asked advice of some one better informed

than themselves. . . .

" The coalfields of Michigan, supposed to cover a space

of eight thousand square miles, are up to the present day

of very inferior importance in the economy of the State.

Only four mines are in actual operation, and these are

worked with but a small force of men. Searching for the

causes of this neglect of apparently so great stores of

wealth buried beneath our feet, we find one of them in the

imperfect exposure of the rock-beds, which, with the ex-

ception of those in a few limited districts, are all deeply

covered by drift deposits. This would be no serious im-

pediment if the coal seams were spread in a continuous

sheet over the surface of a certain horizon
; we could then

without much risk go down and uncover them; but all

coal deposits are confined originally to certain limited basins,

and if we consider that the coal series, as the youngest of

the stratified rock-beds on the peninsula, has been without

protection, by later deposits exposed to the vicissitudes of

untold ages, we must expect to find a large proportion of

the deposits destroyed and swept off; in particular, during

the drift epoch the coal formation must have suffered im-

mense destruction from the moving glacier masses. The

direct proof of this is furnisiied by the large quantity of

debris of the coal-measures mixed with the drift material

;

but the drift action has not only destroyed a large propor-

tion of the coal formation, but has at the same time filled

up the eroded gaps with loose drift material, hiding the ex-

tent of destruction from observation, and thus rendering

our mining operations always hazardous in a deeply drift-

covered region, because we have no means whereby to know

how much of the supposed underlying rock-strata has es-

caped destruction. . . . This loose, porous mass ofdebris, io

proper comminution to make a soil, and being composed of

every variety of mineral substiince necessary for the suste-

nance of vegetable life, formed the destiny of this strip of

land ;
it makes it an agricultural country. No great min-

eral wealth is hidden here under our feet which we could

have reached through the gaps, so it were better they were

closed and leveled, to enable us to harvest golden ears of

wheat and corn from their surface, than that we should

enter shadowy subterranean passages in search of wealth,

endangering our lives, and without any certainty of success

in the end."

CHAPTER XXII.

CIVIL CHANGES-EARLY SETTLEMENTS.

The several Counties which have included the Territory of Shiawassee

— Erection of Shiawassee County—Reduction of its Territory

—

Settlements in the County from 1S31 to 1836.

The first of the counties of Michigan, as also the first

which was laid out to contain any part of the territory

afterwards included in Shiawassee, was the county of

Wayne. This county was first laid out, or rather pro-

claimed, by the executive of the Northwest Territory,

Aug. 18, 179G, to embrace all of lower Michigan and por-

tions of Indiana and Ohio. But although Wayne, as thus

laid out, contained a considerable number of inhabitants and

sent its representative to the General Assembly of the

Territory at Chillicothe, its white population was nearly all

clustered at its county-seat, Detroit, and along or near the

waters of its southeastern border, and its jurisdiction

—

scarcely extending a half-dozen miles back from the lakes

and navigable streams—had no existence in all the vast

wilderness of the interior. The county was again " laid

out," this lime with a greatly reduced area and with more

definite limits, by proclamation of Governor Cass, dated

Nov. 21, 1815. It was then made to include all "that

part of the Territory of Michigan to which the Indian

title has been extinguished," thus embracing all of the

lower peninsula lying east of the principal meridian as far

north as a point -due west from the outlet of Lake Huron,

aud thence northeasterly in a right line to White Rock, in

the present county of Sanilac. Within the boundaries of

this great tract was included all the present territory of
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Shiawassee County, except a small portion (about one-sixth

of its area) in the northwest corner. •

An executive proclamation, dated Jan. 15, 1818, erected

the new county of Macomb, with boundaries described as

follows: "Beginning at the southwest corner of township

No. 1, north of the base-line (so-called); thence along

the Indian boundary-line, north, to the angle formed by

the intersection of the line running to White Rock, upon

Lake Huron ; thence with the last-mentioned line to the

boundary-line between the United States and the British

Province of Upper Canada; thence on said line south-

wardly to a point in Lake St. Clair due east from the place

of beginning ; thence due west to the eastern extremity of

the said base-line, and with the same to the place of begin-

ning." This embraced all the lauds north of the base-line

which had previously been included in the county of

Wayne. But in the Governor's subsequent definition and

establishment of the boundaries of the new county, it was

made to extend westward only as far as the line between the

eleventh and twelfth ranges east of the meridian, so that

the territory between that line and the meridian was not

included in Macomb County proper, but was attached to it

in the same manner that Shiawassee County was afterwards

attached successively to Oakland and Genesee.

One year after the erection of Macomb a large part of

the territory which had been attached to that county was

set off to form the new county of Oakland, which was

erected by proclamation of Governor Cass, Jan. 12, 1819,

its boundaries being described as follows :
" Beginning at

the southeast corner of township No. 1, in range No. 11,

north of the base-line ; thence north to the northeastern

corner of township No. 6 in the same range ; thence west

to the Indian boundary-line [the principal meridian]

;

thence south to the base-line ; thence east to the place of

beginning," thus including the south half of the present

county of Shiawassee. It is shown in the preamble to the

Governor's proclamation that this erection of Oakland

County was considered to be in advance of the require-

ments of its people, but in view of a probable increase of

population sufficient to demand it in the near future. The

proclamation was not, therefore, made immediately oper-

ative, but was to take eflcct and be in force from and after

Deo. 31, 1822. Nearly three years before that time, how-

ever, the people of Oakland petitioned the Governor, re-

questing that their county should be organized, and this

was accordingly done by executive proclamation dated

March 28, 1820. At that time, and for some two years

afterwards, the lands which now form the south half of

Shiawa.ssee County were included as a part of Oakland
;

about two-thirds of the north half still remained attached

to Macomb, and a fraction in the northwest corner—being

included in the lands then recently ceded by the Indians

in the treaty of Saginaw—were not within the limits of

any county.

Shiawassee was erected a separate county by proclamation

of Governor Cass, dated Sept. 10, 1822, its boundaries,

• as defined in that document, being as follows :
" Beginning

on the principal meridian, where the line between the

eighth and ninth townstiijis north of the ba.se-line inter-

sects the same, and running thenco south to the line

between the second and third townships north of the base-

line; thence east to the line between the sixth and seventh

ranges east of the principal meridian
; thence north to the

line between townships numbered eight and nine north of

the ba.se-line; thence west to the place of beginning." The

same proclamation which thus erected the county of Shia-

wa.ssee provided also for the erection of Saginaw, Sanilac,

and Lapeer, and attached all these four counties to Oak-

land, from which a large proportion of their territory had

been taken. This attachment of Shiawa.ssee to Oakland

continued in force for nearly fourteen years.

At its erection, in 1822, Shiawassee County embraced, in

addition to its present area, the northeast quarter (four

townships) of Ingham County, the north half (eight town-

ships) of Livingston County, and eight townships (the

same which are now Argentine, Fenton, Mundy, Gaines,

Clayton, Flint, Mount Morris, and Flushing) in the county

of Genesee. The erection of Ingham County (Oct. 29,

1829), of Living.ston County (March 21, 1833), and of

Genesee County (March 28, 1835), cut off those portions of

the original territory of Shiawassee (in all, a strip of two

townships in width from its entire eastern and southern bor-

ders), and reduced the county to its present limits. The

organization of the county of Genesee was effected by act

of the Legislature, approved March 8, 1836; and it was

by the same act provided " that the county of Shiawa.ssee

be and the same is hereby attached to the county of Gene-

see, for judicial purposes, until otherwise directed by the

Legislature." The act took effect on the first Monday in

April of the same year, and from that time until Shiawa.ssee

was organized as a county—in 1837—it remained so attached

to Genesee. It had also been made a part of the town-

ship of Grand Blanc, Genesee Co., by the operation of an

act approved March 26, 1835, which provided " that the

county of Shiawassee shall be attached to and comprfse a

part of the township of Grand Blanc, for the purposes of

township government." This township jurisdiction con-

tinued until March 23, 1836, when the Governor approved

an act which provided " that the county of Shiawassee bo

and the same is hereby set off and organized into a separate

township by the name of Sliiawa.ssee. . .
." This town-

ship continued to embrace all the territory of the county

until March 11, 1837, when an act was apjirovcd providing

that " all that portion of the county of Shiawassee known

as town.ships 7 and 8 north, of ranges 1, 2, 3, and 4

east, be and the same is hereby set off and organised

into a separate township by the name of Owos.-io." And

by otlier sections of the same act, township No. 5 north

in range 4 cast, was erected as the township of Burns;

and township No. 6 north, in the same range, was set off, to

be organized as the township of Vernon. These were the

only townships erected in the county prior to its organiza-

tion, so that at that time its territory was subdivide*! sis

follows: Owosso township comprehended within its limila

the entire north half of the county
;

the townships of

Burns and Vernon embraced, respectively, the same terri-

tory as at present ; and the remainder of the county—that

part which is now included in the townships of Antrim,

Shiawa.s.see, Bennington, Seiota, Woodhull, and Perry

—

formed the township of ShiawiL*ice, which had been re-
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duced to three-eighths of its original dimensions by the

laying out of Owosso, Burns, and Vernon.

The above account exhibits the changes of jurisdiction

through which the territory of Shiawassee County had

passed prior to its separate organization, in 1837, as also the

several township subdivisions which existed within it at

that time.

EAKLY SETTLEMENTS.

The settlements which had been made in the county

prior to its organization were numerous, but had been made

chiefly during the last year of the period under considera-

tion. The first white settlers within the county were the

brothers Alfred L. and Benjamin 0. Williams; for although

Whitmore Knaggs had located here about 1820, Mr. Grant

a few years later, and Richard Godfrey in 1S28, yet these

were in no sense settlers, but merely transient traders, who

came to deal with the Indians so long—and only so long

—

as the traflSc continued to prosper. But the case was dif-

ferent with the brothers Williams, who came from their

home in Oakland County in April, 1829, to prcspoct in

Shiawassee, with the full intention of becoming settlers

here. " We concluded," says Mr. B. 0. Williams,* " when

we became of age we would settle in this new and beautiful

virgin forest;" and they carried out this intention in August,

1831, when they came to the county, and located on lands

entered by Alfred L. Williams (Benjamin 0. being then

still a minor) on the Shiawassee, adjoining the north line of

the Kechewondaugoning reservation. And although they

were at first traders, they soon began to cultivate land, and

becoming in every sense settlers, remained for nearly a half

century the seniors among the residents of Shiawassee

County, as Mr. B. 0. Williams is at the present time."j"

About two years after the Williams brothers came, the

second settlement in Shiawas.see was made by John I. Tin-

kelpaugh, who brought his family and located on section

24, of township 6 north, of range 3 east, in May, 1833.

He had previously cleared a small part of his laud on the

river-bottom and planted it, this being the first land plowed

in the county. Mr. Tinkelpaugh afterwards became a resi-

dent of Greenbush township, Clinton Co., and died there

in the fall of 1879. He was a brother of Captain Edward

Tinkelpaugh, of New York, the commander at diiferent

times of the " North Star," " South America," and other

ocean steamers running from that port.

Other settlers who came in the same year were Hosea

Baker, his son, Ambrose Baker, and his son-in-law, Aaron

Swain, all of whom settled in the same township, and

Henry Leach and Jacob Wilkinson, in township 6, of

range 4.

The settlements made in the county in 1834 were but

few, though entries of land and preparations for permanent

occupancy were numerous. In 1835, however, the number

of actual settlers was considerably increased, and their set-

tlements were extended northward and westward into the

township which is now Caledonia, and to the Big Rapids of

the Shiawassee, now Owosso. Among those who came in

and made permanent location in the two years named were

"* Michigan Pioneer Collections, vol, ii. p. 477,

t JVIr, A. L. Williams, after a residence of many years in Owosso,

removed to Virginia, where he is now living.

Isaac M. Banks (in town 6, range 3), John Swain (in

Caledonia), Samuel N; Whitcomb, Josiah Pierce, and James

Rutan (in Vernon), Zachariah R. Webb (in the township

now Venice), and Louis Findley, Kilburn Bedell, David

Van Wormer, John D. Overton, and Henry S. Smith, at

the Rapids. Overton and Van Wormer came as tenants of

Judge Elias Comstock, who had purchased land at the

Rapids, and had made some improvements in 1835, in

preparation for permanent settlement there. In the same

manner, Henry S. Smith (who had previously made a

temporary lialt near Shiawasseetown) moved to the new

settlement at the Rapids, and occupied a log house erected

for A. L. and B. O. Williams.

In this year (1835) the first settlement in the southeast

corner township (now Burns) was made by Dyer Rathburn,

from New York State. Naturally it would seem that this

part of the county should have been the first settled, for

not only was it nearest to the older settlements in the

counties south and east, and was traversed by the old

thoroughfare from Pontiac to the Grand River, Taut it con-

tained the county-site (as then established), and the region

contiguous to the confluence of the east and south branches

of the Shiawassee was one of great natural advantages.

The reason why these causes did not induce the first -set-

tlers in the county to locate in this township was undoubt-

edly because the lands in the most favored localities had

been secured many years before by Judge Dester, and were

held by him for purposes of speculation.

The year 1836 saw the greatest influx of immigrants

into Shiawassee, as was also the case in most other counties

of the lower peninsula. In that year settlements spread

through the county with great rapidity, particularly along

the line of the Grand River road (or trail) and contiguous

country. The list of those who came in as settlers during

that season is too numerous to be given at length, but men-

tion may be made of a few in several of the townships em-

bracing difierent sections of the county. In the southeast

corner township there came among the settlers of that year

Maj. Francis J. Prevost, Robert Crawford, John Burgess,

Wallace Goodin, John B. Barnum, P. L. Smith, and S. S.

Derby, several of whom were members of the Byron Com-

pany. Passing westward in the townships of the same

tier, there were among the settlers of 1836, Allen Beard,

Lyman Melvin, Peter Cook, Alanson Ailing, and others (in

Antrim) ; Josiah Purdy (in Perry) and Josephus and John

WoodhuU, in the township which was afterwards named for

them. Peter Laing came in the same year, and founded

the village of Laingsburg, in what is now the township of

Sciota, and Samuel Carpenter, Mason Phelps, and Milton

Phelps also made settlements in the same township. Ben-

nington received its first settlers in the persons of Samuel

Nichols and his unmarried brother James, who had entered

their lands in the previous year, and came to locate perma-

nently in the spring of 1836. In the fall of that year

Jordan Holcomb and Aaron Hutchins came to the same

township, and Lemuel Castle and several others came there

on prospecting tours, and made preparation for settlement

in the following spring. In 1836, William Newberry,

Ephraim Wright, William M. Warren, and many others

located in what is now the township of Shiawassee. John
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Smedley, Noah Bovicr, Williatn K. Roed, and Joseph Par-

incnter were among the immigrants of this year in Vernon,

Capt. John Davids in Caledonia (on the present site of

the city of Corunna), and Judge Comstock at Owosso.

Settlements were also made in the same year in Middle-

bury, on the west border of the county, by Obed Hatha-

way, George W. Slocum, and some others, and in New
Haven by Horace Hart and Richard Freeman. The other

townships of the northern tier remained unsettled until

a later date.

The above brief mention of a very few of the pioneers

of Sliiawassee is made here merely for the purpose of

showing the manner in which the settlements spread from

the point where they commenced, on the Shiawassee River,

to other points of the county. More extended and detailed

accounts of the early settlements and settlers will be given

in the separate histories of the several townships.

The rapid immigration of 1836 brought with it a fever

of speculation in wild lands. It was not long before hun-

dreds of speculators from the East were swarming here,

eager to select and purchase the best tracts of government

land, and this, of course, resulted unfavorably for the prog-

ress of the county. Numerous projects of "improvement"

were conceived and villages were started, which apparently

prospered for a time, but some of which afterwards decayed,

and went down as rapidly as they had sprung into existence,

and by the close of the year 1837 the prospect of material

progress in Shiawassee County began to assume a less rose-

ate hue than it had worn only a short time before. The

situation of affairs at that time at some of the principal

points in the county, was noticed by Bela Hubbard, Esq.

(who made a tour through this section in the fall of 1837,

as an assistant of Dr. Douglass Houghton in his geological

explorations), as follows :

" Byron, in the southeast corner of Shiawas.see County,

was the termination of our wagon journey. The name

had long occupied a prominent place on all the old maps of

Michigan,—at that time a decade was antiquity,—and held

out to the newcomer the promise of a large and thriving

village. The reality was disappointing. It po.sscsscd, all

told, but a mill and two houses. At Byron we exchanged

our wagon for a canoe, and commenced a descent of Shia-

wassee River.

" From Byron to Owosso, about twenty miles direct (but

many more by the course of the stream), our way lay mostly

through lands more heavily timbered, but varied with open-

ings and occasional plains. Through this part of the coun-

try roads had been opened and settlements had made rapid

progress. . . . Shiawasseetown at this time contained a

dozen log cabins and as many frames unfinished. One of

these was of (piitea superior construction, and indicative of

the era of speculation through which the country had passed.

It was three stories in height and designed for a hotel. The

whole village was under mortgage and was advertised to be

sold at public vendue.

" Corunna, the county-seat, we found to consist of one

log house, situated on the bank of the river, and occupied

by a Mr. Davids, who a year before, and soon after the organ-

ization of the county, had made an entry here. A sleam-

mill was in process of erection. About twenty acres of land

16

had been cleared and planted, and never did crystal stream

lave a more fertile soil.

" Three miles below was ' located' the village of Owosso,

already a thriving settlement, containing a dozen log build-

ings, one frame one, and a sawmill. With tlie exception of

a few scattered settlers upon the plains south of the line of

the present Detroit and Milwaukee Railway, such consti-

tuted the entire white population of Sliiawa.s.see County."

The real and personal valuation of the several townships

of the county, at a period ten }'ears later (1847), is given

below, as showing the progress which had been made in Shi-

awassee County during that time by settlement and improve-

ment, viz.

:

Antrim township $31,739
Burns township 39,254
Bennington townsliip 33,911
C:ileJonia township 51,748
MiJJleburj- tuwnshi]j 18,810
New Haven township (two survey townships) 27,768.50
Owosso township (two survey townships) 46,598
Perry township 32,003
Seiota township 19,747
Shiawassee township 46,304
Venice township 20,169
Vernon township 31,322
Woodhull township 20,402

Total of county $119,755.50

CHAPTER XXIII.

OKGAWIZATION OP THE COUNTY-COURTS AND
OTHER MATTERS.

Shiawassee organized by Act of Legislature— First Election—Subdi-

vision of the County into Townsliips—The Board of Supervisors

—

Wolf Record—Establishment of Courts in Shiawassee County and

their Early Proceedings.

The organization of the county was eflFected under au-

thority of an act of the Legislature, approved March 13,

1837, which provided " That the county of Shiawassee be,

and the same is, hereby organized fur county purposes;

and the inhabitants thereof shall be entitled to all the rights

and privileges to which, by law, the inhabitants of other

counties of this State, organized since the adoption of the

constitution, are entitled." Under this act a special election

was held in May, 1837, resulting in the election of Levi

Rowe as Sheriff, Andrew Parsons as County Clerk, Josiah

Pierce as Treasurer, James Rutan and Alfred L. Wil-

liams as Associate Judges, Elias Comstock as Judge of

Probate, and Daniel Gould as County Surveyor. Sanford

M. Green was made proseculing attorney by appointment.

By this election the organization of Shiawassee County

was made complete.

At tiiat time the county embraced the townships of

Shiawassee, Owosso, Burns, and Vernon, as lias already

been mentioned. The next subdivision was made by an act

approved March (5, 1838, which erected survey-town.ship

No. 5 north, of range 3 ea,st, into the township of Antrim

(its territory being the same then as at present), and sur-

vey-townships Nos. 5 and 6 north, of range No. 2 east,

into tiie township of Bonnington, which thus included,

in addition to its own present territory, that of the town-

ship of Perry.



HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN.

By act approved April 2, 1838, the township of 'Wood-

hull was erected, to comprise " all that portion of the

county of Shiawassee designated by the United States sur-

vey as townships Nos. 5 and 6 north, of range No. 1 east,"

so including the present towns of WoodhuU and Sciota.

By the erection of Woodhull the territory of the old

township of Shiawassee was diminished to its present size.

The first reduction of the original area of Owosso town-

ship was made by an act (approved March 21, 1839) which

erected survey-townships Nos. 7 and S north, of range

No. 1 east, into the separate township of Middlebury.

The same act also took from the territory of Owosso sur-

vey-township 7 north, of range 4 east (the same which is

now Venice), and attached it to the township of Vernon.

On the following day (March 22, 1839) the Governor

approved an act in which it was provided that " All that

part of the county of Shiawassee designated by the United

States survey as township No. 7 north, of range No. 3

east, which lies east of the west line of sections Nos. 5, 8,

17, 20, 29, and 31,* in said township, be, and the same

is, hereby set off and organized into a township by the

name of Caledonia; and the first township-meeting shall

be held at the house of Alexander McArthur in said town-

ship."

The reduction of Bennington township to its present size

was effected by the passage of an act (approved March 15,

1841) which provided that " all that part of the county of

Shiawa-ssee designated by the United States survey as town-

ship No. 5 north, of range No. 2 east, be, and the same is,

hereby set off and organized as a separate township by the

name of Perry." The size of this town has remained un-

changed to the present time.

New Haven township was erected by act of March 20,

1841, to comprise survey-townships numbered 8, in ranges 3

and 4 east. These were taken from Owosso township, and

are the same which now form the towns of New Haven

and Hazelton.

The township of Sciota was formed by act approved

Feb. 16, 1842, to include survey-township 6 north, of

range 1 east. This being taken from the original territory

of Woodhull reduced the latter township to its present size.

An act of the Legislature approved March 9, 1843, pro-

vided that " All that part of the county of Shiawassee desig-

nated by the United States survey as township No. 7 north,

of range No. 4 east, formerly belonging to the township of

Owosso, but now to the township of Vernon, be, and the

same is, hereby set off and organized as a separate township

by the name of Venice, and the first township-meeting

thereof shall be held at the house of Neely Sawtell." This

was the same territory which, by act of March 21, 1839,

had been taken from Owosso and attached to Vernon,

which latter township was consequently reduced to its orig-

inal and present size by the erection of Vernon, as above

mentioned.

* It will be seen that in this erection of Caledonia upon the terri-

tory of survey-township 7 north, of range 3 east, sections Nos. G, 7, IS,

19, and 30 were not included, but remained a jjart of the township of

Owosso. By an act approved Feb. 16, 18i2, however, these sections

were taken from Owoeso and annexed to Caledonia, thus making its

limits coextensive with those of the survey-township.

Hazelton township, embracing town No. 8 north, in

range 4 east, of the United States survey, was erected by

act of March 25, 1850. It was taken from New Haven,

and its erection left the latter township with its present

boundaries.

The last township taken from the territory of Owosso

was that of Rush, which was laid out and organized under

the provisions of an act approved March 28, 1850. By

the erection of Rush (comprising survey-township 8 north,

of range 2 east) the area of Owosso was reduced to a single

one of the eight survey-townships which it originally em-

braced.

The youngest township in the county is that of Fair-

field, which was erected with its present territory by action

of the Board of Supervisors on the 4th of January, 1854.

BOAKD OF SUPERVISORS—COUNTY COMMIS-
SIONERS.

The township of Shiawassee, organized on the 23d of

March, 1836, comprised the entire territory of Shiawassee

County, as before noticed. The first township-meeting was

lield at the house of Hosea Baker, who was elected super-

visor for that year, and represented the town-ship in the

Board of Supervisors of Genesee County, to wliich this

county was attached. The townships entitled to a repre-

sentation at the time of the organization of the county, in

1837, were Shiawassee, Owosso, Burns, and Vernon, and

De Witt and Watertown, of Clinton County, which was

then attached to, and composed a part of, Shiawassee.

No record is preserved of a meeting of the board in the

fall of 1837, but the fact that such meeting was held is

proved by the action of the board at the session of

October, 1838, when that body rescinded a resolution

" passed in October last," in reference to wolf-bounties. At

that ses.sion, which commenced on Tuesday, Oct. 2, 1838,

at the place known as the Shiawassee Exchange, situated

on the Shiaw.issce River, Lemuel Castle was chosen chair-

man, and Francis J. Prevost clerk pro fern. At the close

of that meeting the board adjourned to meet the next day

at the hotel at Shiawasseetown, kept by Lucius W. Beach.

The supervisors present were Lemuel Castle, of Benning-

ton ; Elias Comstock, of Owosso ; H. B. Flint, of Antrim
;

Francis J. Prevost, of Burns ; Thomas Beal, of Shiawas-

see ; James Rutan, of Vernon ; Jonathan Woodhull, of

Woodhull, Shiawassee Co. ; and Hiram Benedict, of Wan-

daugon, Calvin Marvin, of Watertown, and Welcome J.

Partelo, of De Witt, Clinton Co.f The first business was

the examination of wolf-certificates, and twenty-five of these

were audited, covering an amount of three hundred and

seventy-five dollars, without names attached, but designated

by numbers.

The townships of Owosso, Burns, Shiawassee, Water-

town, and the village of Mapleton (the last two in Clinton

County) had made requests to the supervisors for money

to build bridges. After considerable discussion it was de-

cided to levy the tax for the erection of the bridges, upon

the county instead of the several townships. The amount

t The townships of Bennington and Antrim wore organized in

March, 1S3S, and Woodhull in April of the same year. AVandaugon

{now Lebanon), Clinton Co., was organized also in March, 1S38.
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to each and the lucatioii of the biidjres are liere ;.'iveii

:

Owosso (at tlie vilhige), tliree hundred dollars ; Burns

(near John Knajrgs)^ two hundred dollars ; Shiawassee,

fifty dollars; De Witt (Looking-Glass River, near Welcome

J. Partelo), one hundred dollars ; Watertown (Looking-

Glass River on town line between ranges 3 and 4), one

hundred dollars; Wandaugon (lleywood Creek on State

road), one hundred dollars
;
Mapleton (on Maple River),

one liundred dollars.

The committee on equalization of assessment rolls re-

ported that " the as.sessment appears to be equal." The

aggregate amount of the .several towns was as follows :

1838.

Owo.-so ?297,6S1 Bennington $9f>,22t

De Wilt 2y-,0S7 Vernon Bfij-SSB

Burns 60,643 Shiawassee 6G,U37
Walcrtovvn Iil4,:).ill Antrim 61,0115

Woodhull 81,025 Wandaugon 180,028

It was resolved that the sum of $2076 be levied upon the

county as a State tax, and the sum of $4924 for county

purposes. Elias Com.stock and James Rutan were appointed

a committee to apportion the amount upon the several

towns, which was reported as follows :

Assessment.
c|,^,h."t'm Town Tax. Poor Tax. Total Tax.

Owosso $290,081.00 $U:iO.OO $28.3.50 $1714.00
De Witt 297,087.00 1470.00 212.50 $50.00 17:i:i.00

Watertown.... 194,:!.iO.O0 954.20 217.80 30.01) 1202.00
Burns 06,64:1.00 32:1.20 138.80 25.00 487.00
Wooilhull 81,025.00 393.00 100.00 50.110 603.00

Bennington... 90,224.00 471.90 128.10 000.00

Vernon 06,856.00 322.00 210.00 632.00
Shiawa.sseo.... 66,037.00 299.10 456.90 60.00 920.00

Antrim 04,095.00 305.20 142.80 448.00
WanJaugon.. 186,028.00 915.50 167.50 1073.00

$1,409,026.00 $6886.10 $2170.90 $205.00 $9318.00

Tlie board was in session several days, closing on the 0th

of October.

By the provisions of a law passed by the Legislature

in 1838, the powers and duties of the Board of Supervisors

were transferred to a Board of County Commissioners, to be

conip(jsed of three members. The first election of County

Commissioners was held early in November. Tlie Board of

Canvassers met on the 13th of the samemonth, and was

composed as follows :

Antrim, Allen Beard.

Bennington, Ira B. Howard.

Burns, Francis J. I'revost.

Owos.so, Elias Comstock.

Shiawassee, Peter Turner.

Woodiiull, Peter Laing.

De Witt, Kphraim H. Htley.

Watertown, Charles R. Spicer.

The canvasser who represented Wandaugon w.as not

present, and the canvass proceeded witliout him.

The three county commis.sioners elected were Lemuel

Castle, Ran.som W. Hollcy, and Ephraim II. lltley. The

board met and organized on the 20th of November, 1838,

in Shiawassectown, at the hotel of Lucius W. Beacli.

Jjcmuel Castle was chosen chairman.

After organization wolf-certificates were audited to the

amount of §100.84, but little other business was linmght

lii'Ibre tboin. The board convened at Corunna on the 8th of

July, 1S30, and on September 23d of the same year at the

Shiawassee E.xchange ; the latter meeting being held for the

purpose of adjusting account.s between Clinton and Shia-

wassee Counties, the former having been organized March

12, 1839. An agreement giving a balance of §202.91 to

Shiawassee County was signed by Lemuel Castle, R. W.
Holley, L. Rowe, Commissioners of Shiawassee County

;

E. H. Utley, Calvin Marvin, Commissioners of Clinton

County ; and John Gould, Treasurer of Clinton County.

On the 7th of October, in the same year, the commis-

sioners convened at Corunna, and accepted a block of land

three hundred feet square donated by the County-Seat

Company, designated on the recorded plat of Corunna as

the "public square.''

Dec. 31, 1839, a statement of the appropriations for

1838 and 1839 was made, viz.

:

1838.

For bridges » $1000.00
Bounties on wolf-scalps 117.60
E.\pcnses of county canvass 86.02
Sheriff's fees 186.76
Expenses of criminal prosecutions 62.55
County clerk's fees 97.37
Expenses of circuit c(»urt 7.76
Contingent expenses of Clinton and Shiawas-

see Counties 479.88

Total $2009.81

1839.
For bounties on wolf-scalps

, $49.00
Criminal prosecutions 49.91
Expenses of circuit court 23.25
Sheriff's fees 68.13
Prosecuting attorney's salary 150.00

County clerk's fees 127.33
Contingent expenses of county 212.70
County building 345.00

Total $1015.32

The business of the county was transacted by the com-

missioners until the office was abolished by act of Legisla-

ture, approved Feb. 10, 1842. The powers which had been

exercised by the commissioners were then resumed by tlie

supervisors of the county.

The Board of Su{)ervisors convened at the court-house in

the village of Corunna on the 4th of July, 1842, when the

following-named members were present : M. B. Martin,

David Bush, Jr., Sanford M. Green, Lyman Bennett, Lora-

uel Castle, II. W. Holley, .Vndrow I'arsoii-J, John Palmer,

Allen Smith, John K. Tyler, John Woodhull, and Hum-
phrey Wheeler. This was the first meeting held by tho

board under the law of 1842, and from that time to the

present the supervisors have eotitinucd to exercise their

functions as financial managers of the county.

^\'(>LV IIKCOIIU.

An act was passed by the Lt^gislaturoof tho State for the

destruction of wolves Dec. 28, 1837, and Feb. 9, 1838,

another act was adopted. Tho last section, repealing the

act of tlie previous December, provided " That every per-

son, being t\n inhabitant of this State, as well Indians as

olhers, who .shall kill a full-grown wolf, or wolfs wlu'lp

under the age ol' three months, in any organized township,

sliall bo entitled to a bounty of $8 for e;ich full-grown wolf,

and $4 for each wolf's whelp ;" tho person claiming such

bounty to take either the wolf or the head thereof, with the

ears and skin entire thereon, to a justice of the peace, and

make oalli before him as to the facts and circumstances of
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the killins;. It was thereupon the duty of the justice, if

satisfied with the statement, to certify the same and burn

the ears and scalp of such wolf. The certificate, in turn,

was to be presented, with the aflBdavit, to a supervisor or

commissioner within fifteen days, and if by either of them

found to be correct, it was to be presented to the next

county board, and if then found all right by that body, the

bounty was to be allowed and paid out of the county treas-

ury, one-half of which was to be chartred over to and

paid out of tlie State treasury. By one provision of the

act a Board of Supervisors, or of Commissioners, had " au-

thority to award and allow, at the expense of their respec-

tive counties, such other and further bounties for the de-

struction of wolves and panthers as they might deem

proper." This act, approved Feb. 9, 1838, was " to remain

in force three years and no longer," although the law was

afterwards extended to Feb. 10, 184-1, and the records

show bounties paid for that purpose several years after that

time.

The first business of the Board of Supervisors of the

county at the session commencing Oct. 2, 1838, was the

examination of wolf-certificates. An additional bounty of

$1 appears to have been added to the State bounty, making

the bounty for wolves $9 and whelps §5, as the first items,

appended, show

:

" The board then voted to allow a bounty of S9 each on

five wolves, killed as described in certificate No. 1, $45.

" Also on three wolves, $9 each, as described in certifi-

cate No. 2, S27.

"Also ou two wolves, $9 each, as described in certificate

No. 3, §18.

" Also on one wolf [whelp], $5, as described in certifi-

cate No. 4, S5."

Twenty-five certificates were examined and allowed in the

same manner as above, embracing a total of twenty six

wolves and eleven whelps. On the 4th of October, the

third day of the session, the board rescinded a resolution

" that was passed in October last," allowing a county

bounty of $5 for the destruction of wolves. No attention

seems to have been paid to the action of the Board of Su-

pervisors of the year previous in the examination of the

twenty-five certificates, but they evidently considered it of

sufiicient importance to rescind it. At the meeting of the

county commissioners on the 18th of November (the month

following). 1838, the State bounty only was allowed. They

also recorded the names of those to whom bounties were

granted. Below are given the names of persons, date of cer-

tificate, and amount of bounty allowed from that time.

Nov. 20, 1838.—Hiram Stowell,* $8 ; Silas W. Rose, SS.

Jan. 7, 1839.—Rulus C. Rathbone, $16 ; Enoch Willis,

$16; George Nichols, 88; Benjamin Morton, $4. The

last is a further allowance on wolf-certificate No. 21 in the

twenty-five certificates passed in October, 1838.

March 4, 1839.—Morris Cushman, $8 ; Lewis Hart,

$4..50 (whelps).

July 17, 1839.—Allen Baird, $5.

Sept. 20, 1839.—George Campau, $32.

* Mr. Stowell and several others in the list were residents of Clin-

ton CouDtj-, which was then a |iart of Shiawassee.

Nov. 20, 1839.—Rufus C. Rathbone, $44.

Jan. 10, 1842.—Ezra L. Mason, $10 ; Albert B. Mason,

$8; William Sladden, $8.

Feb. 24, 1842.—John F. Swain, $10; Ezra L. Mason,

$10.

March 28, 1842.—A. McArthur, $10 ; Jesse Whitford,

$8.

Dec. 21, 1843.-Jacob Esty, $13 ; Ambrose Baker, $13
;

Wellman Castle, §26; George W. Slocum, $13; Robert

G. McKee, $13 ; George Rowell, $13; Jesse Whitford, $13.

Nov. 12, 1844.—Clark'D. Castle, $13; Hiram Haight,

$10; Ama.sa Rowell, $13 ; George Bibbins, $13; Nicholas

Woolman, $13; ApoUos Dowey, $26.

Jan. 4, 1845.—Joel B. Goss, $6; William Placeway,

$13; Marvin Secord, $13.

Oct. 16, 1845.—Joel A. Hart, $30; Nathaniel Kimball,

$15; Apollos Dewey, $15; E. P. Mason, $13; Ambrose

Baker, $13; Hiram Haight, $13; Rial B. Chase, $15.

Oct. 15, 1846.—Ezra L. Mason, $45; Daniel D. Slo-

cum, $15.

Wolf-cerlificates were granted for several years, the last

account on the records being Jan. 5, 1869, when Mr. Rush

presented a claim for a bounty for killing a wolf in favor of

B. W. Steer, and moved that the same be allowed. The

certificate, however, was referred back to claimant for fur-

ther proof, and as it is not again brought up it is fair to

presume it was not again presented.

ESTABLI.SHMEXT OF COURTS IN SHIAWASSEE
COUNTY.

By the act under which Shiawassee County was organ-

ized it was provided that " The Circuit Court of the county

of Shiawassee shall be held at the county-seat if practica-

ble, and if not, at such other jdace as the sheriff of said

county shall provide until county buildings shall be erected.

" The county of Shiawassee shall belong to the second

judicial circuit, and tlie terms of the Circuit Court shall

commence on the first Monday of June and December in

each year."

The first term of the Circuit Court| of Shiawassee

County was, in accordance with the provisions of the above

act, held at the oflBce of the county clerk on the 4th day of

December, 1837. There were present the Hon. Alfred L.

Williams and the Hon. James Rutan, associate judges.

No circuit judge was present. Levi Rowe was appointed

crier for the term. The sheriff was ordered to appoint

four constables to attend during the term, and he appointed

Noah Bovier and Ma.son Phelps (only two), and they and

Aaron Swain, the under-sherifl^, were ordered to attend.

Application was then made by Sanford M. Green (now

circuit judge of the eighteentli judicial circuit) to be ad-

mitted as an attorney and counselor-at-law. After exam-

ination he was admitted. There being no prosecuting

attorney in the county, the court appointed Mr. Green to

act in that capacity for the term. The following are the

names of the grand jurors in attendance at that term :

Daniel Ball, Daniel Gould, Horace Hart, Robert Crawford,

t This sketch of the Circuit Court of Shiawa.ssec County is fur-

nished by the Hon. Josiah Turner, judge of the seventh judicial

circuit.
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Tlioinas P. Green, Elisha Brewster, Stephen Post, Samuel

Brown, M. Bradley Martin, Ira B. Howard, Ephraim

Wright, Cornelius W. Miller, James Van Aukin, Joseph

Parmeter, Josiah Pierce, John Smedley, Samuel W. Hard-

ing, and S. N. Whitcomb. Daniel Ball was appointed

foreman. A.few of these gentlemen are still living in the

county, lionorcd and respected by all, but the large majority

of them are believed to be dead. The grand jury found

one indictment, charging a man with perjury, and they were

then discharged.

The records show the following entry :
" John Knaggs

rs. Philiis, his wife. On motion of Sanford M. Green,

counsel for said Knaggs, the court^ordered that said Knaggs

have leave to present a petition for a divorce from Philiis,

liis said wife, at the next term of the court; and that said

Knaggs shall cause a written notice to be served upon his

said wife at least thirty days before the said term of the

court of his intention to present such petition and of the

hearing thereof."

This was the first proceeding in the county to obtain a

divorce, and it would be a novel way to get a party into

court at this day.

The court adjourned on the seoond day of its session.

Tlie next term of the court was held on the 4th day of

June, 1838, by Hon. James Rutan, one of the associate

judges. The grand jury were impannelled, but soon re-

ported to the court that they had no business before them,

and the court at once adjourned without day, no other

business having been transacted.

The next term commenced on the 25th day of Novem-

ber, 1838, and was held by the associate judge, the circuit

judge not being present.

The first petit jury ever summoned in the county was

present at this term, and their names were as follows

:

Harvey Harmon, David T. Tyler, Stephen Post, Samuel

W. Harding, Francis F. JMann, John Smedley, William P.

Laing, George Harrington, John B. Clark, Ichabod Knee-

land, Eli Shattuck, Calvin Sweet, Rufus Collier, Nicholas

P. Harder, Samuel N. Whitcomb, Samuel Millard, and

Ephraim Wright, very few of whom are now living. The

grand jury at this term found five bills of indictment, but

no further business was transacted. The next term of the

court was held on the 7th day of May, 1839, when the

Hon. Charles W. Whipple,* circuit judge, and Hon. James

Rutan, as.sociate judge, presided. This was the first term

in the county at which a circuit judge was present. At

this term George W. Wisner and Alfred II. Ilanscomb

were admitted to the bar, and were for many years there-

after distinguislied lawyers at Pontiac. Both are now

dead. The first trial ever had in this court was at tiiis

term. It was a criminal case, and the jury did not agree.

At the May term, 1840, the case of Robert Crawford vs.

Libeity Lyman was tried by a jury, and a verdict was ren-

* Juiigo Whi|iple was born in Now York, nnd rcmovod with his

f;itlier to Detroit when a buy. Ho was educated at Wtst Point. Ho

was several times elected to the State Legislature, and in 18:iC and

18^7 was speaker of the House of Rcprcscntutivcs. In 1S:)8 ho was

a)ipiiinted a justice of the SuprcTno Court, whieh office he hold for

many years. He was a member of the Constitutional Convention of

ISaO. Ho was a man of great dignity and an eminent jurist. Ho

died Oct. 2J, ISotJ

dered for the plaintiff for $17.55 damages, being the first

civil case ever tried in this court. At this term the late Gov-

ernor Moses Wisner made application for admission to the

bar, and the court appointed as examining committee Wil-

liam L. Mosely, Edward H. Thomson, and Artemas Thayer,

and after examination Mr. Wisner was admitted.

On the 3d day of May, 1843, a term was held, at which

the Hon. George Morrell, then chief justice of the Su-

preme Court, presided.

The next circuit judge of the county was the Hon. Ed-

ward Mundy, who held his first term commencing on the

2d day of August, 1848, and his last term was held in

June, 1850.

Judge Mundy was among the earlier emigrants to the

Territory of Michigan. He was the first Lieutenant-Gov-

ernor of the State, under the first State constitution, in

1835 and 183li, and again held the same office from 1837

to 1840. In 1847 he was appointed attorney-general,

which office he held until 1848, when he was appointed a

justice of the Supreme Court, and from 1844 to 1848 he

was a regent of the State University. He died in 1851.

The next circuit judge of the county was the Hou.

Sanford M. Green, who held his first term in the county in

May, 1852, and continued to so preside until May, 1857,

when he was succeeded by Judge Josiah Turner, the pres-

ent incumbent.

Judge Green was born May 30, 1807, in Grafton, N. Y.,

and was admitted to the bar in New York in 1832; re-

moved to Michigan in 1837 and settled in Owosso ; elected

to the State Senate in 1842
;
appointed commissioner to

revise the statutes in 1844, and reported to the Legislature

of 1846; elected to the Senate again in the fall of 1845,

and served two years ; was appointed judge of the Supreme

Court by Governor Ransom in 1848, and held that office

until May, 1857, and was chief justice two years of that

time. From Jan. 1, 1858, to April, 1867, and from June,

1872, to the present time he has held the office of circuit

judge,—now of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit.

PROBATE COURT.

The first session of this court of which any record is ex-

tant was held at the village of Owos.so, Feb. 13, 1838, Elias

Comstock, probate judge, presiding. The first proceedings

were " in the matter of the estate of Samuel Carpenter,

deceased." Ajiplication was made by Alvin S. McDowell

for letters of administration upon the above estate, which

were "ranted upon giving bond in the sum of two thousand

five hundred dollars, the bond being signed by A. S. Mc-

Dowell, William Phelps, and John Runcimaii. John Hill,

Jordan Holcomb, and Aaron llutchins were appointed ap-

praisers of the property, with orders to report on the 10th

of March, 1838.

On the .same day application was made by Isaac Tliomp-

son, of Ionia County, for letters of adiuinistratiim on the

estate of D.iniel Barker, of the county of Clinton. Bond

was "iven in the sum of three thousand dollars, and signed

by Isaac Thomp.soii, Frederick Hall, and Joseph Letankcr.

The appi-iiiscrs were Nathan Biiijumin, Tiiaddeus 0. War-

ren, and Silas Crippen. The first will (lliat of Orrin Perry)

was offered for probate on the 12th ul' .lune, 183S, bearing
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date April 30th of the same year. Elizabeth Perry was

appointed executrix, and Washington Z. Biancliard and

Horace B. Flint executors. Letters were issued April 25,

1830, to Ralph Williams as guardian of Violctta Car-

penter, a minor under the age of fourteen years and a

daugliter of Samuel Carpenter. Lewis Lindley was ap-

pointed, April 1, 1839, guardian of Lucinda Piiidelia Be-

dell, a minor, daughter of Kilburn Bedell. The will of

Moses Kimball, one of the proprietors of the Shiawassee

Company, was presented fur probate. It was dated Nor-

wich, Huron Co., Ohio, Sept. 18, 1837, and recorded in

the county of Shiawassee in 1838, as part of the property

mentioned in the will was in this county.

Judge Comstock served as probate judge until 1841,

when he was succeeded by Ira B. Howard, whose first busi-

ness was the division of the estate of Samuel Carpenter.

COUNTY COURT.

The county courts which had existed in Michigan prior

to April, 1833, were abolished by law at that time, but

were re established by an act of the Legi-slature in 1846.

Under the law last named the first session of the county

court of Shiawassee was held at Corunna on the 5th of

April, 1S47, Judge Robert R. Thompson presiding.

During the continuance of the county court Judge Thomp-

son presided until June 3, 1851, from which time A. B.

Chipman, the Second Judge, presided till the end of the

year, when, by a limitation embodied in the con.'-tilution of

1850, the county courts ceased to exist, and their business

was transferred to the circuit courts.

CHAPTER XXIV.

COUNTY-SITES AND COUNTY PEOPERTY.

Establishment and Vacation of tlie County-Site at Byron—Location

of the Seat of Justice at Corunna—Erection of Court-IInuse and

Jail—Fire-Proof Offices—Poor-House and Poor-Farm.

On the 4th of August, 1824, the Governor of Michigan

Territory approved an act providing for the appointment

of commissioners to locate the seat of justice of Shiawassee

County. Under this act James McCloskey, Frederick A.

Sprague, and AVilliam Meldrum were appointed such com-

missioners, and were instructed to report their action to the

Legislative Council at its next session. They proceeded to

perform the duty assigned them,- and duly made report to

the council, in accordance with their instructions, that they

liad selected the village of Byron, and had there established

the county site. Shiawassee County then embraced, in ad-

dition to its present territory, eight townships that now
belong to Genesee County, eight townships that are now

included in Livingston, and four townships of the present

territory of Ingham County,—in all twenty townships,

forming a belt two townships wide, along and outside of

the entire south and east border of this county as it now
stands. So the county-site determined on by the commis-

sioners was then near the territorial centre of the county
;

hut, in addition to the fact of its geographical position, it

was said that the influence of Judge Samuel W. Dexter, of

Washtenaw County, was potent in securing the selection of

that site, which was probably the fact ; for it is certain that

he was then the proprietor of a large amount of land at

that place, that the site was established on a part of his

tract, and that the expenses of location were paid by him

from his private means. It is proper to mention, however,

that this payment by him was in conformity with the pro-

visions of the law directing the appointment of the com-

missioners, which required that they should receive their

compensation (two dollars per day for time necessarily

employed) from the proprietor of the land on which they

should decide to locate the county-site.

But the erection of Ingham County in 1829, of Living-

ston in 1833, and of Genesee in 1835, reduced Shiawassee

to its present limits, leaving Byron, the county-site, within

one mile of its eastern, and within two and a half miles of

its southern boundary, making apparent the necessity for

the selection of a new seat of justice nearer the centre

of the reduced territory of the county. This cau.sed the

passage by the Legislature of " An act to vacate the seat

of justice of Shiawassee County" (approved February 26,

1836), embodying the following preamble and provisions,

viz.

:

" Whereas, the county of Sliiawassee has been so divided

since the seat of justice was established therein as to leave

the same in the southeast corner of said county and within

one mile of the east line thereof; and whereas no public

buildings or improvements have as yet been erected or made

at said seat of justice; therefore,

" Section 1. Be it enacted by the Senate and the House of

Representatives of the State of Michigan, that the seat of

justice for the county of Shiawassee as now established be

and the same is hereby vacated, any law to the contrary

notwithstanding."

The county-site being thus vacated, the Governor (under

a law then in force authorizing him to appoint commissioners

to establish county-sites in counties having none) appointed

John Greenfield and Col. Garry Spencer, of Detroit, and

Samuel Asford. of Macomb County, as commissioners to

locate a county-site for Shiawassee. This appointment was

made on the 12th of March, 1836, and on the 1st of April

of the same year the commissioners' report was filed locating

the county-site on the west half of the northeast quarter

of section 28, in township 7 north, of range 3 east,—the

present site of Corunna. . Proclamation was issued by tli«

Governor confirming the location on the 1st of July, 1836.

The commissioners while examining the different loca-

tions made their headquarters at the Exchange (the Williams

trading-post). They were accompanied by the Hon. Jacob

M. Howard, B. 0. Williams, and others. Three days were

spent in examining the different locations, visiting the Big

Rapids (Owosso) and other points, and after consultation,

decided upon the present site. The organizing act provided

that the courts should be held in such place as the sheriff

of the county should select, and the first court was held at

the place known as the Shiawassee Exchange, m the school-

house, on the 4th day of December, 1837. The October

term of 1838 wijs held at the house of Lucius W. Beach,

at Shiawasseetown, and adjournment was made to November

of the same year, at the " Exchange." For some reason not
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fliven in the records, this court was held at Owosso on the

date mentioned, at rooms over tlie store of Gould, Fisli &
Co , on the southwest corner of Washington and Exchange

Streets.

Section G of act No. 62, approved March 25, 1840, pro-

vides that " the Circuit Court shall be held at Shiawassee-

town in said county." An act supplementary to this (ap-

proved April 1st, five days later), provides that the act passed

March 25, 1840, " shall in no wise affect or alter the loca-

tion of the county-site of said county, nor shall the same

be construed as vacating or changing the same, but shall

be considered only as authorizing the courts for said county

to be held in the village of Sliiawasseetown, until the pro-

prietors of the present county-site, or the county commis-

sioners of said county, shall furnish a suitable building at

said county-site for the accommodation of said courts, to

be approved by the county comniissiuners or a majority of

them."

On the 7th of October, 1839, the Board of Commission-

ers unanimously agreed to accept of a block of land three

hundred feet square in the village of Corunna, designated

on the recorded plat of that village as the " Public Square,"

wliich was offered by the County-Seat Company as a dona-

tion to the county of Shiawassee. A contract was made

by Stephen Hawkins with the Board of Commissioners for

the erection and completion of a building on the public

square for county offices. The sum to be paid for buildings

was $HS2.5U. Tiie office building was about twenty by

thirty feet in size, situated near the northwest corner of the

square, and built of wood. It was moved across the street

in 184G, and is now used as a market. In the latter part

of 1839 a building belonging to the County-Seat Company

was rented by the county commissioners for their sessions,

and for purposes of holding court. In April of the next

year the following letter was sent to the commissioners ;

"Conr.NXA, April 17, 1S40.

"To THE Hon. County Comjiis.sioneks :

" Gentlemen,—The proprietors of the county-seat of Shia-

wassee County do hereby tender to the said commissioners,

for the use of the county, the building heretofore used by

the county commissioners for county purposes, and which

was engaged by them for the purpose of holding the Cir-

cuit Court for said county.

" The said building is thirty-six feet in length and twenty

feet in width, and will be furnished by the said proprietors,

fitted up with convenient and comfortable seats and a

proper desk for the judges. It is now lathed and plastered,

and fires will be kept up in said building during the session

of the court.

" The house now occupied by Alexander McArlhur will

be occupied during the season of the ensuing term of the

Circuit Court as a tavern, and extensive accommodations and

supplies will be provided, sufficient for all the persons who

may be in attendance on said court. Stables accommodat-

ing upward of fifty horses will be prepared, and an abund-

ance of provender is already provided. All of which is

respectfully submit ted.

(Signed) "A. McAiiTiiuii,

^'- Agent for the proprietors of the present connty-

seot of tiluawassec Coniiti/."

The building spoken of in the above letter was situated

on the corner of Fra.scr Street and Shiawassee Avenue,

where Preston & Wheeler's store now stands. The sum

paid by the commissioners for the use of the room for the

courts was $30 per annum. The house was a wooden

building, situated on the east side of Shiawassee Avenue,

and occupied the site where now stands the drug-store of Kil-

burn & Shattuck. It was destroyed by fire several years later.

At a meeting of the county commissioners on the 24tli

of February, 1842, the subject of raising money for the

erection of a court-house and jail was brought up and dis-

cussed. It was decided to present the question to the peo-

ple at the nest annual town-meeting, which w;is done, and

the proposition to loan the sum of 84000 for that purpose

was defeated.

On the 4th of July, 1842, the Board of Supervisors met

and resumed the functions which had for three years previ-

ously been vested in the county commissioners. After organ-

ization a committee was appointed to examine the title of

the county to the parcel of land donated to the county, and

known and designated as the " Public Square."

Mr. Ca.stle, one of the committee, reported an abstract of

title, and stated that he saw no evidence of fraud and con-

sidered the title good, but did not concur with the opinions

expressed by Sanford M. Green, Esq. Mr. Green presented

the following report as containing his individual opinions

and views in relation to such title, though drawn up in

form as the report of the committee :

" To THE Board op Supervisors op the Countv

of Shiawassee :

" The committee appointed by this Board at its last ses-

sion to examine the title of this county to a tract or parcel

of land described as the ' Public Square,' in the village of

Corunna, respectfully submit the following report : That we

have performed the duty imposed upon us by a careful

examination of the records in the oftice of the register of

deeds of said county relating to said parcel of land, assisted

by the register of deeds and by A. McArthur, Esq., who

was present with us at the examination of the records, and

gave us all the explanation and information in relation to

said title which the nature of the case .seemed to require or

admit of, and we herewith submit a brief abstract of said

title as it appears of record.

" In tracing the title by the description contained in the

deed presented by the board at its July session, the first in-

quiry that seemed to arise was, Wliere is the village of Co-

runna, in which the ' Public Square' in question is located ?

For the purpose of ascertaining this part we very naturally

ajiplied ourselves to the recorded map or plat of said village,

from which we had a right to su]ipose we should be able to

learn the precise location. On an examination of the map,

however, we find no description of the section, township, or

range in which it is located, nor any description of tho

' Public Square' by its boundaries, courses, and extent,

nor any designation of the uses or purposes to which it is

devoted, excepting what appears from the indorsement on

the face of tlu' square itself; and this designation being gen-

eral, without limitation, if it amounts to anything, sets apart

and devotes said square to the general use of the public,
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and we find that the public, as defined by Mr. Walker and

others, means ' the general body of a nation ;' and this defi-

nition we believe to be in accordance with the common and

correct use and application of the term when used without

limitation, as in this case. Hence it would seem to follow as a

necessary consequence that, if this map amounts to anything

in legal contemplation, it vests in the County of Shiawassee

the fee of this parcel of land in tru.st to and for the general

and common uses and purposes of the great body of the

people of this great nation, and for no other use or purpose

whatever. This map appears to have been indorsed upon

the face of it with the names of three individuals as trus-

tees, but of whom, or of what, does not appear by that map,

nor are their names either placed at the bottom of the

map, after the manner of a signature, or attached to or

connected with any statement in relation to the .said map.

In order to pursue the examination of the title, it became

necessary that we should seek information of the where-

abouts of the town of Corunna out of the records. Accord-

ingly, we inquired of Mr. McArthur, aud were verbally in-

formed by him that Corunna was located upon the west

half of the northeast quarter of section 28, town 7 north,

range 3 east, and that Col. Andrew Mack was the original

purchaser of said lot from the United States ; and upon the

examination of a schedule in the register's oiEce, it appears

that said lot was purchased by him, but we find no patent

to him from the United States for this land, of record. The

first deed of the lot upon the record is a deed from Col.

Mack and wife to A. McArthur of an individual fourth

part of it.

" The rest is a trust-deed executed by Messrs. Mack and

McArthur and their wives to Chauncey Hurlbut, A. D.

Fra.ser, and John Norton, Jr., purporting to vest in them

the legal estate, but no interest in the fee of the land, in

trust for the benefit of a company or copartnership firm

styled the Shiawassee County-Seat Company, under certain

articles of association which are recorded with said trust-

deed. These trustees were vested with power to make con-

veyances upon the requi.'^ition of the directors of the com-

pany, which requisitions are not required to be recorded

;

and in case either or all of said trustees should resign, or ne-

glect or refuse to act conformably to the requirements of

the directors of this private company, their trusteeship and

all powers vested in them by the deed of trust was abso-

lutely to cease and be at an end, without any record

thereof, or any declaration to that efl^ect by the directors.

They were also to exerci.se their powers subject to and in

conformity with the original articles of association, and such

alterations or amendments as might at any time be made
thereto in the manner therein specified

; none of which al-

terations or amendments are required to be made a matter

of record. The directors of said company are also subject to

change by election, resignation, etc., so that there is not re-

quired to be any record evidence of any change that may
liereafter take place in the trusteeship, directory, or funda-

mental organizatiou and constitution of the company itself

" It appears, al.so, that while trustees are thus appointed

for the benefit of the individuals composing this company,

and a legal title is vested in the trustees to their use, yet by

the articles of association the individuals of said company

are expres.sly declared to have no interest in the lands so

conveyed in trust, but the scrip, by the ownership of which

they became members of the association, is declared to be

personal property, and is transferable from hand to hand,

like negotiable paper. The trust-deed covers other lands

than the.se upon which the village is said to be located, and

pi'ovision is made for the purchase of more to be contracted

in the same manner, and the trustees are authorized to lay

out a town upon the lands referred to in the deed without

specifying on what part or parcel of the same.

" From the foregoing statement it appears perfectly obvi-

ous that within a few days or weeks after the execution of

the trust-deed the powers of the trustees may have ceased.

The directors of the company may have resigned, and the

character of the association may have been entirely changed,

while the records cannot aft'ord u.s any light or evidence in

regard to it. Subsequent to the recording of the map, we

find a quit-claim deed to the county, executed by an indi-

vidual as trustee, purporting to convey the interest of such

individual as trustee to the county commissioners for the

uses of the county, covering the ' Public Square.' But

whether the grantor was the trustee of the proprietors or of

the company, or had any power to make such deed at the

time it was executed, we have no means of knowing. The

deed now tendered to the Board of Supervisors purports to

be executed by the trustees of the Shiawassee County-Seat

Company, but the same difficulties are found in this deed

that attached to the former deed,—the warrants, being made

in behalf of men who have no interest in the land, and who

have no title of record, and are constantly changing, can be

of no value. Moreover, we cannot sec what right any indi-

vidual can have to convey this ' Public Square,' as trustees

or otherwise, after it has once been devoted by the record-

ing of the map to the whole body of the people at large

without any designation of its particular uses. It is proper

to observe that there are papers placed upon the records

purporting to detail some of the proceedings of this com-

pany and its directors, etc., but they are not placed there

pursuant to any provisions of the articles of association,

nor in virtue of any legal or judicial sanction, and cannot,

therefore, be any evidence to us of the facts they purport to

detail. Some of them are neither fully acknowledged nor

properly witnessed, and we are unable to understand by

what authority they are made an incumbrance upon the

records of this county, especially of our records of deeds.

" No one, we think, can fail to have perceived in the de-

tails of these transactions that a wide door has been opened

for the practice of stupendous frauds without leaving any

trace of them upon the records. That such frauds have

been practiced by this company we do not undertake to say

nor to intimate ; but that an association could be got up in

a manner more peculiarly calculated to admit of the com-

mission of ruinous frauds upon the community, were they

inclined to do so, with a strong probability of escaping the

just consecjuences, we cannot well imagine. When the

title to land is involved, and such land may bear but a very

small value compared with the improvements that may be

made on it, we think the record ought to show the title

perfect, and that the honesty and integrity of no man or

set of men, whatever their reputation may be, ought ever to
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be trusted, uor do wo think that any honest mau ought

ever to exact it."

It does not appear, however, that any action wa.s taken,

either then or afterwards, as a result of this opinion of

Mr. Green.

On the 4th of January, 1847, rooms were rented of E.

J. Van Buren for throe years, at thirty dolhirs per year,

for county offices. These were in a building north of the

Bacon block. In April of the same year the board ordered

the Judge of Probate to hold his courts in the office of the

Register of Deeds. In tlie month of April, 1850, the

Board of Supervisors resolved " that it is expedient at this

time to take the neces-sary steps for the erection of a court-

house at the present county-site of our county." A com-

mittee was appointed, consisting of Supervisors Parsons,

Holley, Harder, and Cummins. A report was submitted

the next day, substantially as follows : A building was to

be erected, forty by sixty feet in dimensions, two stories

high ; the upper part to be a court-room and two jury-

rooms ; the lower part to be divided in the centre length-

wise by a hall eight feet wide
;
the sides to be divided into

six rooms, two of which arc to be fitted up for a jail, the

others for accommodation of county officers and a grand-

jury room. The walls to be brick, the lower story sixteen

inches thick, upper wall twelve inches thick. The com-

mittee expressed the opinion that the building could be

erected for four tliousand five hundred dollars. Resolutions

were oflFered and adopted arranging for raising the amount

necessary and for the erection of a court-house. R. W.
IloUey, L. H. Pansons, and Z. Bunco were appointed a

building committee and authorized to receive plans, adver-

tise for proposals, make contracts, and superintend the erec-

tion of the court-house. The contract was let to George

0. Bachman, to be completed on the 1st of November,

1851. The Board of Supervisors, at the January session

in 1852, adopted a resolution "that the chairman of the

Board notify the present owners of the courtrhouso here-

tofore occupied by the county that they have no further

use for the same." This building was purchased soon after

by the Baptist Church, and occupied by them as a house of

worship. It is now removed a little south of its former

location, on the corner of Frascr and Woodworth Streets,

and is used as a parsonage by the society. The present

court-house was placed in charge of the sheriff on the (Ith

of January, 1854, and the next day the building com-

mittee was discharged.

Tlie first official action taken in reference to the erection

of a fire-proof office building for the county was the intro-

duction in the Hoard of Supervisors of the following pre-

amble and resolution, .July !(, 18()5, viz.

:

"WiiKiiEAS, The county offices now occupied by the

County Register and Treasurer are too small and inconve-

nient lor said offices, and also unsafe for the records of said

offices, it is desirable and proper that suitable offices be

erected, detaclied from the court-house ; therefore

" Resolved, That the building committee be and is hereby

instructed to cause the erection of two fire-proof offices for

said offices in the court-house yard, south of the court-

17

house, at such point as the committee may designate. And
it shall be the duty of said committee to procure a suitable

design for said offices, and let the contract for the building

of the same as they may deem for the best interests of the

county. That, for the purpose of accomplishing tlie above

object, said committee arc hereby authorized and empow-
ered to borrow, not to exceed three thousand dollars, pay-

able in not less than two or over five years from date, and

to issue bonds of the county for the same, said bonds to be

countersigned by the clerk and sealed with the seal of the

office."

The resolution was adopted on the next day. The build-

ing was erected in the court-house yard, south of the court-

house, and is the same which is now occupied by the

Register of Deeds and the Treasurer. The office of the

county clerk is in the second story of the court-house.

The Judge of Probate occupies an office in the lower story.

POOR-UOUSE AND POOR-FARM.

The first action of the Board of Commissioners in refer-

ence to the county poor was taken on January 9th, 1839,

when Sanford M. Green, Isaac Castle, and Hiram Stowell

were appointed to take charge of the poor of the county,

their terms of office commencing January 7th of that year.

Nothing further appears of record until Dec. 24, 1841,

when the distinction between town and county poor was

abolished, and the poor became a couuty charge. The sum
of two hundred dollars was appropriated from the incidental

fund for their support. On the 24th of February, 1842,

the superintendents of the poor were authorized and directed

by the Board of Commissioners to purchase a farm, not to

exceed one hundred and sixty acres of land, to be used as a

poor-farm, " and to make such improvements, by the erection

of buildings upon the farm, as the necessity of the ease m.iy

warrant." No action having been taken by the superintend-

ents during the spring, the board, at a meeting July Cth

of that year, suspended the resolution relating to the pur-

chase of a poor-farm until further action. On the 21st of

December, 1843, a committee previously appointed to con-

fer as to the best methods of supporting the poor of tho

county submitted the following rcj)ort, which was adopted:

" The committee to whom was referred the matter of sup-

porting the poor in this county report that it appears, by

the superintendents of the poor, the amount expended for

their support for the last year is three hundred and fifteen

dollans. Your committee are of the opinion that at jire.sent

no means can be provided which will enable tho county to

support the paupers therein with less ex|)onse than tliey

have been HUjiportod for the last year. (Considering the num-

ber of paupers who have had assistance from tlie county,

it shall be divided into districts so as to acconmiodale the

paupers in pnicuiiiig j)hysiciaiis cniplnyed in each district

by the year or otherwise, as the superintendents shall think

proper. The plan of dividing the county into districts

your coniniittce recommend, as follows: Burns, Veruon,

Antrim, and Shiawa.ssee, 1st Di.strict ; Caledonia, Venice,

and New Haven, 2d District; Owo.s.so, Bennington, Sciota,

and Middlcbury, 3d Di.strict; Perry and Wondliull, 4th

District." At this meeting three liun<lred dollars was ap-

propriati'il for the usi? iif ihr
| r. There is no further
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record of importance until Jan. 21, 1846, when seven hun-

dred and seventy dollars was appropriated for the same

purpose.

On the 7th of January, 1847, the superintendents of the

poor were directed by the supervisors to purchase a farm,

not to exceed one hundred and sixty acres of laud, and to

erect suitable buildings thereon, for which purpose the sum

of two thousand dollars was to be raised by tax, one-quarter

of the amount in 1848, one-quarter in 1849, and the bal-

ance in 1850. On the 13th of October, 1847, eighty acres

of land (the south half of the southwest quarter of section

32, Caledonia) was purchased for a county farm.

At the October session of the next year it was resolved

to raise a county tax of two tliousand seven hundred and

eighty-seven dollars and seventy cents (including five hun-

dred dollars appropriated) for the purchasing and fitting up

of the poor-farm.

At the June session of the supervisors, in 1858, the

committee on public buildings reported the dwelling on

the poor-farm as being in a very unsuitable condition for

the accommodation of the poor. After careful examina-

tion, fifteen hundred dollars was appropriated for the erec-

tion of buildings convenient for the purpose. These build-

ings—completed in January, 1859—are the same which are

still in use.

By the last report of the superintendents of the poor

(for the year ending Sept. 1, 1879) it is shown that the

expenses on the farm for that year were $2060.39 ; that

there was expended for support of insane persons at Detroit,

Pontiac, and Kalamazoo, §1854.62; that the value of pro-

ducts raised on the farm was $1059.97 (estimated) ; that

the number of persons receiving support at the county-

house was 32.

CHAPTER XXV.

THE PEESS-THE PEOFESSIONS-CIVIL LIST.

Newspapers in the County—The Legal Profession—Early Lawyers

—

The Present liar of Shiawassee—The Medical Profession—Early

Physicians—Shiawassee County JMedical Association—Homoeo-

pathy—Shiawas.see Civil List.

The result of much patient inquiry and research is

the disclosure of the fact that there is probably no person

now living in Shiawas.see County who is able to give with

anything like certainty the date of the establishment of

the pioneer newspaper of the county, or its early changes

of proprietorship. It has, however, been ascertained be-

yond reasonable doubt that the first public journal in Shia-

wassee was published at Owosso by Edward L. Ament

;

that this journal was in existence in the early part of the

year 1839, and that its name was the Shiawassee Exj^ress

and Clinton Advocate, having a circulation in both Shia-

wassee and Clinton,—the latter county being at that time

still attached to and a part of the former.

The Owosso Arffiis was also established by E. L. Ament,

in 1841. Dr. C. P. Parkill, of Owosso, who was in early

life a printer by trade, recollects that in that year he

worked on the Arffiis in Owosso, and tliat Mr. Ament

was then its proprietor. A proof of the existence at

that time of both the papers above mentioned i.s found

in the record of the Board of Supervisors, under date of

June 22, 1841, at which time it was by the board "He-

solved that the foregoing preamble be published in the

Oicosso Argus, and Shiawassee Express and Clinton Advo-

cate." But on the other hand, a copy of the Owosso Argus,

dated Sept. 20, 1848, and which has been examined by the

writer, bears the number 47, of Volume V., which would

place the first issue of the paper at about Nov. 1, 1843.

Yet it is proved to have been in existence at least two years

before that time, both by the testimony of Dr. Parkill and

by the record of the supervisors. This being the case,

the facts only are given as above, without any attempt to

account for the apparent contradiction. Nor can anything

further be stated as to the continuance of the Shiawassee

Express and Clinton Avocate after the date at which it is

found mentioned in the record above referred to.

The Argus, however, continued to be published at Owosso

by Mr. Ament until his death in December, 1847, when it

was published by Ephraim H. Gould, who was a son of

Daniel Gould, of Owosso, and who had previously been a

compositor on the paper under the proprietorship of Mr.

Ament. In the summer of 1848, Mr. Gould was suc-

ceeded as publisher of the Argus by M. H. Clark, who

changed the name of the paper to that of Owosso Argus

and Shiawassee Democrat. In the latter part of the year

1849, he removed the paper to Corunna, and continued to

publish it there as the Shiawassee Democrat, until 1856,

when lie removed to Omaha, Neb.

The Owosso American was commenced in the summer of

1854 by C. C. & O. R. Goodell, the office of publication

being in the south part of the National Hotel at Owosso.

In the ibllowing year the paper was sold to Charles E. Shat-

tuck, who remained its proprietor until the winter of 1856-

57, when it passed into the possession of Ephraim H.

Gould, from whom in 1858 it was purchased by John N.

Ingersoll, wlio changed its name to that of Owosso Amer-

ican and Peninsular State Times, and continued its pub-

lication under that title at Owosso till May, 18G2, when

Mr. Ingersoll removed it to Corunna, and having merged

in it the Corunna Democrat, which he had purchased a

short time before, changed its name to that of the Shia-

wassee American, under which name it is still published.

After its removal to Corunna it was increased in size from

a seven-column to a nine-column folio. Mr. Ingersoll con-

tinued to be its sole proprietor until May 26, 1880, when

Mr. George W. Owen, the publisher of the Shiaicassee

Republican, merged his paper in the American, and became

a partner with Mr. Ingersoll in the publication of the latter.

The American is Republican in its politics.

The Owosso Press (a six-column folio) was commenced

in 1862 by Hanehett & Lj'on, its first number being issued

on the 20th of September of that year. It was purchased

on the 9th of September, 1863, by Green & Lee, who in-

creased its size to an eiglit-column folio, and published it

until Jan. 1, 1867, when it was purchased by J. H. Cham-
pion & Co., who are still its proprietors and publisliere.

The paper is Democratic in polities. Since January, 1871,

its office of publication has been in a brick block owned
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by Champion & Co., and situated on Washington Street,

Owosso.

The Owusso Crusader, an eight-uoluuiu folio, w;is started

by Abner B. Wood at Owosso in 1870. It was published

by Sir. Wood till 1873, when it was sold to diaries L.

Fuller, who in 1875 removed it to Gaylord, Otsego Co.,

Mich., where it is still in existence as the Otsego Count)/

Herald.

The Neio Era was established at Owosso, May 5, 1873,

by a company consisting of A. B. Wood, J. Stedman, and

A. M. Bannister. The paper was for a time the organ of

the State Grange, Patrons of Husbandry, and reached a

circulation of nearly three thousand. In 1 875, A. B. Wood
became sole proprietor, and two years later removed it to

the county-seat, where in June, 1877, its name was changed

to that of Shiawassee County Atlas, as it is at pre.sent. It

is a five-column quarto, " National" in politics, edited by

Abner B. Wood, and published by the " Atlas Publishing

Company."

The Shiawassee Repuhlican was started at Owosso, Feb.

21, 1878, under the fanciful name of Odd Change, by

Perkins & Gregory. Some changes of proprietorship suc-

ceeded, and in April, ISl'J, the paper was purchased by

George W. Owen, was enlarged, and its name changed to

the one first mentioned. On the 2Gth of May, 1880, it

was consolidated with the Shiawassee American, under the

name of the latter.

At Corunna the first newpaper was the Shiawassee

Democrat, which was started in the fall of 1841 by Wil-

liam B. Sherwood, and was continued by him until the

spring of 1843, when the paper was discontinued, and the

press and material were removed to Flint, Genesee Co., and

there used by Mr. Sherwood in the publication of the

Genesee County Democrat*

The Corunna Democrat was a later paper published at

the county-seat, but the date of its first issue cannot be

given. It was purchased by John N. Ingersoll, and merged

witli- the Shiawassee American, as before mentioned.

The Corunna Weekly Courier was established Oct. 1,

1859, by William B. Pulis, editor and proprietor. It was

not long-lived.

The Corunna Journal w;is fir.st ii^sued by 0. A. Gould

k Co., in February, 18G0. It expired Aug. 29, 1801,

under the proprietorship of Jones & Ford. The other

papers which have existed at Corunna are those which

are now published there, the American and the Atlas,

and both these, having been commenced at Owosso, have

already been noticed with the paper.s of that city.

In the towns along the western borders of the county the

first new,spaper publi.shcd was the Laingshurg Recorder,

started by E. L. W. Baker, in August, 1870. It contitmed

for about one year, and then ceased to exist.

The Laingslnrg Herald was commenced soon after the

paper last mentioned. Its editor and proprietor wius Mr.

• About five years later, the name was revived by M. II. Clark, and

was by hiiu added to the title of bin paper, tlie Oicimno Afijits. After-

waid.i Mr. Ulark (as before mentioned) removed bis |iaperto Corunna,

dropped tbc first part of its name, and publisbcd it an tbo Shiawaaatc

AiticrUtiii till 1 S06.

Judevine, who sold to Charles Wilcox. At the end of

about two years from its commencement the paper was

di-scontinued.

The Laingshurg News was first issued on the 2d of No-

vember, 1877, by J. C. Stone, by whom it is still publi-shed.

The Laingsburg Leader, a seveu-coluiun folio, was es-

tablished at Laingsburg village, in June, 1880, by W. C.

Walters, who has continued as its proprietor to the present

time.

The Vernon Herald, a seven-column folio, was first is-

sued at Vernon village. May 7, 1878, by a stock company,

with A. L. Chandler as editor and manager. It is now

owned and published by Lucius E. Gould.

The Bancroft Bulletin, a six-column paper, published at

Bancroft village, and the Morrice Times, published in Perry

township, are both edited by William Secord. The former

was first issued in August, 1879, and the latter in Sep-

tember of the same year.

thp: legal profession.

EARLY LAWYERS OF THE COUNTY.

The first attorney who practiced his profession in Shia-

wassee County was Sanford M. Green, who came from Jef-

ferson Co., N. Y., and settled at Owosso in 1837, being

connected with the water-power and improvement company,

of which Daniel Ball was the head, lie had previou.sly

been admitted to practice in the Supreme Court of New
York, and was admitted in this county soon afler bis arrival.

In 1841 hebecame associated in business at Owosso with Mr.

Smith, a lawyer who had come here from Ann Arbor, and

who returned to that place not long afterwards. Mr. Green

was appointed pro.secuting attorney of Sliiawas.see County

in 1837, and held the office till 1842, when he was elected

to the State Senate. In 1843 he removed to Pontiac, and

did not again return to this county as a place of residence.

He was afterwards twice re-elected to the Senate. In 1 844

he was appointed commissioner to revise the statutes of

Michigan, and reported to the Legislature of 184C. lie

served on the Supreme Bench of Michigan from 1S48 to

1857 ; as circuit judge from Jan. 1, 1858, to April, 18G7;

and again from June, 1872, to the present time, lie is

now judge of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, residing at

Bay City. He is the author of" Green's I'ractice," whicli

is in general use by the profession in the State.

Andrew Parsgns, a native of llen.sselaer Co., N. Y., and

afterwards a resident of Mexico, Oswego Co., in that State,

emigrated from the latter place to Wa.shtenaw Co., Mich., in

1835, and removed in the following year to Shiawa.s.see. He

was active in his efl'orts to procure the establishment of the

county-sito at Corunna, and afler it was so established, and

the business of the county was removed to that place, he, with

his brother Luke IL Parsons (who had previou.sly resided

in Washtenaw County), located in Corunna and commenced

business under the firm-name of " L. H. & A. Parsons,

Attorneysat-]jaw." From that time Andrew Parsons con-

tinued to be a resident of Corunna until his death. Ho

was the first clerk of Shiawassee County, Wius sub.sec|uently

register of deeds for eight years, and also held the office of

pro.socuting attorney. He was elected to the Stale Senate

in 1S4U, was regent of the University in 1852-54, and was



132 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN.

elected Lieutenant-Governor in 1852. On the resignation of

Governor Robert jMcClelland, to accept a place in the cabinet

of President Pierce in 1852, Mr. Par.sons became Governor,

was inaugurated March 8, 1853, and served during the re-

mainder of Governor McClelland's term. In November,

1851, he was elected a member of the House of Representa-

tives, and having served during the winter session of 1855,

returned to Corunna, and died there in June of the same

year. Mr. Parsons showed himself to be a man of decided

ability in the office of acting-Governor, as well as in the

numerous other positions which he filled; but he was not

regarded as among the most conspicuous members of the

bar of the county.

Luke H. Parsons, brother of Andrew Parsons, and also

a native of the State of New Yort, emigrated to Ann Ar-

bor, Mich., in or about 1835, and was there admitted to the

bar. He removed to Corunna, Shiawassee Co., about 1839,

and entered on the practice of the law in that village with

his brother Andrew, as above mentioned. He was elected

register of deeds in November, 1840, judge of probate

in 1848, prosecuting attorney in 1852, and regent of the

University in 1857. He continued in practice at Corunna,

and was one of the leading lawyers of the county until his

death at that place in 1862.

Amos Gould, a native of Aurelius, Cayuga Co., N. Y., and

a law-student with the Hon. William H. Seward and Theo-

dore Spencer, at Auburn, N. Y., practiced law in that place

until 1843, when he removed to Michigan, and located at

Owosso in the following year. He purchased the mill prop-

erty of Daniel Ball, and carried on the business until the

property was destroyed by fire in 1848. IMeanwhile (in

1845) he had commenced the practice of law in Owosso,

and he continued it most successfully for twenty years ; re-

tiring from its active prosecution in 18tJ5, to attend to his

extensive property interests. He was elected judge of pro-

bate in 1844, and held the office during the full term ; he

was supervisor of Owosso continuously from 1845 to 1850;

was prosecuting attorney of Shiawassee County for two

years, and elected to the State Senate in 1852. Judge

Gould occupies a high place among the early lawyers of

the county, and has been distinguished and successful

through all the years of his practice.

William P. Mosely was a native of the State of Ohio,

and in 1825 emigrated from that State to Oakland Co.,

Mich., where he practiced his profession, and filled the

offices of prosecuting attorney and probate judge. From

Pontiac he removed to Fentonville, and in 1840 became

prosecuting attorney of Genesee County. About 1842 he

came to Shiawassee County, and settled on a firm, doing

something, however, as a lawyer. Subsequently he located

in the village of Newburg, and gave his attention to the

business of his profession. He was a master in chancery,

and several times filled the office of prosecuting attorney of

Shiawassee County, both by appointment and election. He
enjoyed quite an extensive practice in this county. He was

a man of good ability, witty and quick at repartee, but not

remarkably strong in argument, and somewhat lacking in

confidence. Ho died in 1860.

David Bush, Jr., settled at Shiawasseetown as a mer-

chant prior to 1840. He afterwards studied law, and was

admitted to the bar, but never took high rank as a lawyer.

He was elected county commissioner in 1840, and held

some township offices, among which were those of justice

of the peace and supervisor.

George 0. Baehman practiced law in Corunna for a few

years, but afterwards became an Episcopalian clergyman,

and having filled the sacred office at Adrian and other

places returned to Corunna, and was rector of the church

of his denomination there at the time of his death.

John P. Richardson (a brother of Lieutenant-Governor

0. D. Richardson, of Pontiac) came to Corunna as a law-

yer about 1850. He was a good counselor, well read in

the law, but lacked confidence in his own powers, though

he enjoyed a fair amount of business, and performed it to

the satisfaction of his clients. After a residence of a few

years here he removed to Omaha, Neb.

Ebenezer Gould, a brother of Judge Amos Gould, settled

in Owosso in 1837, and soon afterwards engaged in mer-

chandising, milling, and other pursuits. He commenced

reading law in 1846, and was admitted to the bar in 1851,

when he became associated in business with his brother,

Hon. Amos Gould. He continued in active practice in

Owosso until 1875, with the exception of his term of ser-

vice in the war of the Rebellion, in which he served hon-

orably with the Fifth Michigan Cavalry Regiment, and

became its colonel. In 1866 he was elected prosecuting

attorney of the county. He died at Owo.sso, Sept. 7, 1877.

" As a lawyer he was dignified, deliberate, and painstaking,

acting with the greatest fidelity to his clients, and to every

interest in his charge. In social life he was a kind, sym-

pathizing neighbor, and a genial friend." Although he

had but a common education, he had a strong legal mind,

and became one of the leading members of the bar of the

county.

S. Titus Parsons, a brother of Andrew and Luke H.

Parsons, studied law in their office and was admitted to the

Shiawassee County bar in May, 1854 (having previously

been admitted in Mexico, Oswego Co., N. Y.). He located

in Corunna, and remained in practice there for more than

twenty years. He was elected prosecuting attorney in 1856,

re-elected in 1858, and again elected in 1872. He was a

representative in the Legislature for the terms of 1863-04

and 1807-08, and was elected a member of the Constitu-

tional Convention of 1807. In 1877 he removed to De-

troit, where he is still in practice.

Hugh McCurdy, who had reached a prominent position

among the members of the Oakland County bar prior to 1855,

removed in that year to Corunna, where he at once entered

upon the practice of his profession. He was appointed

prosecuting attorney in the first year of his residence in

Corunna; was elected judge of probate in 1860, State

senator in 1864, and has since that time again filled the

office of prosecuting attorney. He has continued in the

practice of his profession in Corunna until the present time,

and is now the leading member of the bar of Shiawassee

County.

Spencer B. Raynale, a son of the veteran physician, Dr.

Ebenezer Raynale, of Birmingham, Oakland Co., entered

the law-office of Hugh McCurdy as a student, and, on his

admission to the bar, became associated with Mr. McCurdy
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in business. He was elected prosecuting attorney in No-

vember, 1860. In 1865 he became cashier of the First

National Bank of Corunna, and continued in that position

until Jan. 1, 1871, when he resigned, to take tlie office of

prosecuting attorney, to which he had been elected in the

previous November. From that time he continued to prac-

tice at the Shiawassee County bar until prostrated by the

sickness which ended in his death, Sept. 26, 1874.

J. T. Miller was admitted to the bar of Shiawassee

County in October, 1856, but never practiced extensively.

He afterwards removed to Detroit.

O. T. B. AVilliams was admitted in 1852. He filled

some public offices, but is not to be mentioned or regarded

as among the prominent members of the bar of Shiawassee.

The foregoing mention of early lawyers is intended to

include those who commenced practice in this county dur-

ing the first twenty years of its organization. Most of

those of later date will be found named in the following

list, which is taken from the attorneys' roll of the county.

The roll, however (and consequently this list), is known to

be incomplete.

Amos Gould, admitted Nov. 9, 1843.

K. D. Johnston, admitted May 20, 1857.

Jay L. Quackenbush, admitted May 20, 1857.

George K. Newcombe, admitted April 18, 1858.

Gilbert R. Lyon, admitted April 13, 1858.

Ebenezcr Gould, admitted Sept. 12, 1851.

S. Titus Parsons, admitted May, 1854.

0. T. B. Williams, admitted December, 1852.

J. T. Miller, admitted Oct. 2, 1856.

n. M. Ncwconibo, admitted Aug. 25, 1858.

James Heath, admitted Feb. 8, 1859.

Albert S. Wheadon, admitted Feb. 7, 1860.

Amos M. Kellogg, admitted Feb. 11, 18(10.

Edward R. Davis, admitted May 1, 1860.

John Carland, admitted Feb. 5, 1861.

Curtis J. Gale, admitted Feb. 5, 1861.

Frank Allen, admitted Feb. 8, 1861.

David A. Elliot, admitted Feb. 4, 1862.

Benjamin F. Bush, admitted Aug. 7, 1862.

James M. Goodell, admitted Sept. 8, 1863.

Alphonso J. Southard, admitted April 5, 1865.

Iliram L. Cliipman, admitted Oct. 4, 1865.

G. H. Wccdcn, admitted April 19, 1867.

A. Judson Loomis, admitted Aug. 5, 1868.

n. II. Pulver, admitted Feb. 5, 1869.

Lucius E. Gould, admitted May 4, 1871.

J. E. Graham, admitted Sept. 12, 1871.

Tlieron B. Pray, admitted Feb. 6, 1872.

II. C. Hoyt, admitted May 8, 1872.

Wm. E. Cummin, admitted Sept. 10, 1872.

AlcK. McKerchcr, admitted Sept. 10, 1872.

Almon C. Brown, admitted Sept. 10, 1873.

Peter N. Cook, admitted May 6, 1874.

Friend Davis, admitted Feb. 9, 1875.

Samuel W. Baker, admitted Feb. 1, 1876.

Joseph B. Wilkiiis, admitted Feb. 3, 1876.

William M. Kilpatriek, admitted May, 1867.

John D. Bennett, admitted Dec. 14, 1869.

James M. Pulver, admitted May 5, 1870.

SeldenS. Miner, admitted Jan. 17, 1878.

T. P. Hackleman, admitted May 7, 1878.

Stearns F. Smith, admitted May 10, 1878.

Charles C. Houpt, admitted Ajiril 16, 1877.

Glen D. Young, admitted Jan. 3, 1880.

Frank A. Rogers, admitted May 11,1880.

Following is a list of the members of the Shiawassee

County bar at the present time— 1880 :

CORUNNA.

Hugh jMcCurdy.

James M. Goodell.

Curtis J. Gale.

J. D. Bennett.

Wm. E. Cummin.

Almon C. Brown.

Peter N. Cook.

Albert R. McBride.

Levi J. Hamilton.

Wm. A. Eraser.

Glen D. Young.

VERNON.

Ales. McKercher.

Mathew Bush.

BYRON.

James Sleeth.

OWOSSO.

Amos Gould.

Gilbert R. Lyon.

Wra. M. Kilpatriek.

Jerome W. Turner.

Lucius E. Gould.

E. R. Hutchins.

Stearns F. Smith.

LAIXG.SBURG.

J. M. Pulver.

J. B. Wilkins.

H. H. Pulver.

MIDDLEBURY.

Samuel W. Baker.

BANCROFT.

M. V. B. Wi.Kom.

THE MEDIC.VL rilOFKSSION IN SUIAWASSEE
COUNTY.

EARLY PIIYSICrAXS.

The earliest settlers of Shiawassee County who needed

medical attendance before any physician had settled in the

county were dependent upon Dr. Cyrus Baldwin, of Grand

Blanc, and Dr. Samuel W. Pattison, of Dibblevillc (now

Fentonvillc). The former came from Onondaga Co., N. Y.,

in the spring of 1833, and located at Grand Blanc, and

soon obtained an extensive practice over a wide range of

country, and four years later removed to Atlas, in the same

county, where he practiced for a number of years. One of

his eailiest visits (if not the first) to Shiawas.see County

was in the spring of 1830, when he was called to Owos.so

to attend the sickness of David Wornicr.

Dr. S. W. Patlison came to this State on an exploring

expedition in the summer of 1835, and traveled tiirough

parts of Shiawa.s.see, Clinton, Ionia, and Barry Counties,

and finally settled at Fentonvillc, Genesee Co., that place

being a central point where several Indian trails came

to"cthcr. From tliis point his ride extended in all direc-

tions, often following Indian trails or guided through tim-

bered openings by blazed trees. He relates two instances

of visits that extended into Shiawa.ssee County, which arc

here quoted : " Quite late in the afternoon a message come

for mo to go to Es(|. Crawford's, in Byron, Shiawassee Co.,

sixteen miles off, and that I would have to leave my horse

twii and a half miles sliort of Mr. Crawford's, as there

was no bridge acro.s,s the Shiawassee. I used all dili-

gence, leaving n)y horse in good hands at the river, and

cro.ssed on trees fallen in and across the stream. It was

in November, 1S36, and my path was an Indian trail lead-
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ing through oak-openings and through what is now Byron

village, but at this time not a house, only one, a Mr. Jen-

nings', between the crossing and Mr. Crawford's. It soon

began to snow, and darkness almost like Egypt hid every

object, my only guide being the Indian trail, and the snow

soon covering that, so that I had to find it by kicking

away the snow, and to add to my perplexity there were two

trails from the river, meeting in perhaps half or three-

quarters of a mile, and when I came to the junction I was

bewildered and took the upper trail back to the river. I

now had to retrace my weary steps, and finally reached Mr.

Jennings', expecting he would guide me, but he was on the

bed sick, and his wife with the sick family half a mile

farther ; I undertook it, and soon found myself back, and

Mr. Jennings, sick as he was, guided me till I could see

the light of Mr. Crawford's house, where I was joyfully

received, as I was needed. Had I lost the trail so well

worn by Indian feet I had no guide many miles north,—not

a house,—and I should probably have wandered in vain

for a shelter.

" In the month of October* I received a message from

Judge A. L. Williams, of Owosso, to make him a profes-

sional visit,—distance thirty miles, and twenty-five miles

from Flint, where the board [supervisors of Genesee

County] were to meet next day, at nine o'clock A.ll. The

twenty-five miles was through an unbroken wilderness,

much of the distance heavy timber, and the traveler was

guided only by blazed trees. I found Mr. Williams very

sick with malarial fever, and assuming a somewhat typhoid

type, and I felt it my duty to remain with him until two

o'clock the next day, when I left, with that noble man John

Swain for a guide, well supplied with fireworks and blank-

ets in case we had to lie out overnight, as the nights had

become cold and frosty."

Soon after this Dr. Pattison removed from Fentonville to

Owosso. Of the reasons which induced him to make this

change he says, " The original plan of the Northern Rail-

road from Port Huron through Flint, Owosso, etc., to the

mouth of Grand River left Fentonville without a thorough-

fare. This, with the unsettled state of society, and its

being the outside of the county, led me to make the change,

which, however, I did with great reluctance, having formed

a wide acquaintance north, south, east, and west, through

good roads for a new country. Again, in Owosso were

several prominent business men,—A. L. and B. 0. Williams,

that prince of pioneers, Dan Ball, who afterwards went to

Grand Rapids, Judge Elias Comstock, Sanford M. Green,

A. B. Chipman, John Swain, Mr. Martin, the Goulds, Par-

kills, etc., men of whom any community might justly be

proud. Also near by and in full sympathy at that time

with Owosso were the brothers Andrew and Luke Parsons,

promising young lawyers, the first of whom afterwards was

elected Lieutenant-Governor. All seemed anxious that I

should become a citizen among them, and made me quite a

pecuniary consideration, not only in an eligible building site,

but assisting in building a fiiir dwelling for that day. And
so the change was made, leaving the place where I had

buried my beloved mother and my invalid daughter, so that

* The visit here mentioned was made in the year 1838.

to this day I have an abiding sympathy not only for the

place, but for the people who so kindly treated us in our

affliction. Both of these places have become flourishing

and prosperous villages, and have railroads leading through

them
;
both have suff"ercd depressions. Owosso failed to get

the county-seat, and the Port Huron road was abandoned

for years. To make the matter worse, that financier, Dan-

iel Ball, became discouraged, and removed with his capital

to Grand Rapids ; Judge Sanford M. Green went to Pon-

tiac, and several others followed his example ; and Owosso,

with its beautiful location, splendid water-power, and enter-

prising citizens, was .shut in on every side but one by heavy-

timbered lands and bad roads, making it absolutely neces-

sary for a physician to ride on liorseback, which I had done

for several years, making long and painful rides, until it

brought on a difiiculty which unfitted me for doing business

that way. I must either abandon my life's work or go

where I could ride in a carriage. I did the latter, and came

to Ypsilanti in the .spring of 1845."

The quotations given above are from an article furnished

to the Washtenaw Pioneer Society in 1878 by Dr. S.

W. Pattison, who still resides in Ypsilanti in his eighty-

fifth year. He lived, when in Owosso, on the southeast

corner of Washington and Mason Streets, and his office was

in a part of the house. He was a careful, thoughtful

practitioner, and met with a fair share of success.

The first physician to reside in the county was Dr. Jo-

seph P. Roberts, who came from New York (where he had

practiced several years) to the township now known as

Perry, in the fall of 1837, and settled near the present depot

of the Chicago and Lake Huron Railroad. He located land,

built a log house, and was called to attend a patient the

first night of its occupancy by Deacon Austin, who is still

living. Dr. Roberts died in the winter of 1844-45. His

time was not wholly given to his profession, but he only

practiced in cases of emergency near home, devoting his

time principally to farming.

In 1837, Dr. Washington Z. Blanchard was at Shiawas-

seetown and kept the hotel at that place. Concerning him

as a physician but little has been ascertained. He did not

remain long, and is said to have removed to Lyons, Ionia

Co., Mich.

Dr. Peter Laing was a physician prior to his emigration

to this State. He located the land on which Laingsburg

stands, and built there a hotel late in 183G. He did not

practice after coming to this county except in cases of

emergency.

Dr. Abner Sears came to Byron about 1838, and remained

a few years.

Dr. C. P. Parkin, a native of Niagara Co., N. Y., emi-

grated to Michigan when nineteen years old, and in the

fall of 1841 came to Owosso. He was a printer by trade,

and worked for one year on the Owosso Argus, then pub-

lished by E. L. Amont, on the northeast corner of Wash-

ington and Exchange Streets. He was employed as a

teacher in Shiawassee and surrounding towns for a short

time, and in the spring of 1843 commenced the study of

medicine with Dr. S. W. Pattison, in Owosso. He re-

mained with Dr. Pattison until the removal of the latter

from the town, when he entered the oifice of Dr. Barnes,
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completed his studies in two years, and graduated at Wil-

loughby Medical College, in Ohio, in 1846. He returned

to the county and practiced in Bennington twenty years.

In 1868 he removed to Owosso, gave up practice, and opened

a drug-store, where he is still engaged in business. He

was a member of the Legislature in 1857.

Dr. Pierce left the city of Philadelphia and emi-

grated to Michigan in 1842. He located at Oorunna,

where he was the first physician. He was very learned

and methodical, but not a successful practitioner, and after

about five years returned to Philadelphia, weary of the

toil attendant upon country practice.

Dr. William Weir was an early resident of Shiawassee-

town, and was, from 1840 to 1850, the leading physican

in the county. He was not a graduate of any college, but

was a close student and had a thorough knowledge of

medicine as known in those days. He removed to Albion

later, and while on his way to this county on a visit, died

at a hotel on the route.

Dr. Nicholas P. Harder was a physician who located at

Newburg, and lived at that place following his profession.

He practiced a few years at Corunna and returned to New-

burg, where he remained until his death. He was elected

county treasurer and supervisor of his township.

Dr. John B. Barnes, a native of Lowell, Mass., graduated

at Willianistown College, in that State, and practiced at Lock-

port, N. Y. In 1842 he emigrated to Michigan, and com-

menced practice at Owos.so, where he still live.s. He was

foremost in this section in the anti-slavery struggle, a

director of the "underground railroad," and intimately

acquainted with Garrison, Phillips, and others of the anti-

slavery leaders of that day.

Dr. E. M. Bacon, a former resident of Albion, N. Y.,

and a graduate of Geneva Medical College, emigrated to

Michigan and located in Corunna in 1846. Dr. Bacon

very early acquired a large practice, and experienced all

the hardships of the pioneer physician, finding long rides

on horseback a necessity of the undeveloped condition of

the country. He removed temporarily to California in

search of health, but returned and died in Corunna in

1869. His early death was doubtless hastened by ex-

cessive application to the requirements of his profession.

Dr. Freeman McClintock and Dr. L. D. Jones, from

Oliio, came to Laingsburg, in this county, in the .spring of

184(), and commenced practice, hut returned to Oliio in

the autumn of that year. Dr. McClintock again visited

Laingsburg in 1847 and resumed practice; he remained

until 1851, when he removed to California, but in 185G

returned. From that time he has been engaged in mer-

cantile pursuits. He was succeeded by Dr. J. D. North,

of Washtenaw County, who practiced for three years, and

returned to Ann Arbor. His practice was taken in 1862

by Dr. E. B. Ward, wiio is still the leading physician of

tile township.

" After the railroad was completed through the county,

doctors swarmed in like the locusts of Egypt." Tliis is

the remark of one of the oldest physicians of the county,

and it is the reason why it is thought impracticable to

notice here in detail the pliysicians of later date than lhii.se

who have already bccu mentioned.

SHIAWA.SSEE COUNTY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION.

In December, 1879, several physicians united in a call

to the physicians of the county to convene at Owosso for

the purpose of forming a county medical society. The

meeting was held, and adjourned to meet at the same place

in January, 1880, at which time Dr. Jabez Perkins was

elected President ; Dr. A. J. Bruce, Vice-President ; Dr.

L. M. Goodrich, Secretary; and Dr. W. C. Hume, Treas-

urer. Meetings are now held at Owosso every three months.

The members of the society at present are Jabez Perkins,

C. McCormick, and Charles A. 0.>borne, of Owo-sso ; A. G.

Bruce, L. M. Goodrich, and C. F. Armstrong, of Corunna
;

W. C. Hume, Bennington ; D. C. Holley, Vernon; G. 0.

Austin, Perry ; E. B. Ward, Laingsburg ; W. B. Fox and

Harvey, Bancroft ;
• Tock, Lothrop.

nOMcEOPATIIY.

The first physicians of this school who came to this

county were Dr. John D. Kergan and Dr. F. B. Smith,

who entered into partnership in Corunna, about 1868. In

1871 the latter moved to Owosso. Dr. Kergan was a grad-

uate of the Victoria College, in Canada, as an allopathist.

In 1870 he was clerk of the State society, and is a member

of the American Institute of Homoeopathy. He removed

to Newburg, remained there about a year, and in 1878 to

Detroit, where he is now in practice.

Alexander McNeale, a native of Canada, came in 1870

to Corunna, where he practiced about two and a half years,

and removed to New Albany, Ind.

Dr. B. F. Knapp came to Byron about 1874, and is still

there. Dr. John Babbington, a native of Canada, came to

Corunna in 1876, studied with Dr. Kergan, graduated at

the Chicago HouKiiopathic Medical College, and commenced

practice in Corunna in 1876. Dr. Knapp, now of Ban-

croft, came to that place in 1877, and is now in practice

there. Dr. Alexander 11. Ball came from Canada to Co-

runna in 187S, and commenced practice. He graduated at

the'NVestern Homoeopathic College, Ohio, in 1862, and

practiced in JIason and Mar.-'hall in this State before coming

to this county. Dr. A. IL Annis is a practicing phy.sieian

in Ilazelton. He commenced practice about 1878.

SHIAWASSEE CIVIL LIST.

This list embraces the names of residents of Shiawassee

(younty who have held important civil offices in the State

or national government, and also of principal officers of the

county since its organization.

LIEUTKN.ANT-GOVKRNOH OV SirCIIUJAN.

Andrew Parsons, elected Nov. 2, 1852 ; term commenced

January, 1853; inaugurated ucliug-Governor, March 8,

1853; served to Jan. 1, 1855.

STATU SENATORS.

Sanford M. Green, elected November, 1842 ; re-elected iu

1844.

Andrew Parsons, elected in November, IS 15; term com-

menced on Jan. 1, 1846; re-elected in 1847.

Amos Gould, elected Nov. 2, 1852.

,Iiihn N. liigersoll, elected November, 1860.

Hugh McCurdy, elected November, 1865.
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Jerome W. Turner, elected Nov. 3, 18G8.

James M. Goodell, elected Nov. 5, 1872.

Lorison J. Taylor, elected November, 1876.

REPRESENTATIVES IN THE LEGISLATURE.

Robert G. McKee, elected November, 1838.

Lemuel Castle, elected Nov. 4 and 5, 1839; re-elected

November, 1840.

Francis J. Prevost, elected Nov. 7 and 8, 1842.

Robert R. Thompson, elected Nov. 4 and 5, 1844.

Mortimer B. Martin, elected Nov. 2, 1847.

Herman C. Noble, elected Nov. 7, 1848.

Ebenczer C. Kimberly, elected Nov. 5, 1850.

Nicholas Gulick, elected Nov. 2, 1852.

Andrew Parsons, elected Nov. 7, 1854.

Dr. Charles P. Parkill, elected November, 1856.

Sullivan R. Kclsey, elected Nov. 2, 1858 ; re-elected

Nov. 6, 1800.

Paul C. Sprague, elected Nov. 4, 1862.

S. Titus Parsons, elected Nov. 4, 1862.

William P. Laing, elected Nov. 8, 1864.

Nathan G. Phillips, elected Nov. 8, 1804.

S. Titus Parsons, elected Nov. 6, 1866.

Charles Locke, elected Nov. 6, 1866.

John N. Ingorsoll, elected Nov. 3, 1868.

Edgar B. Ward, elected Nov. 3, 1868.

William D. Garrison, elected Nov. 8, 1870.

Charles Y. Osborne, elected Nov. 8, 1870.

Frederick G. Bailey, elected Nov. 5, 1872 ; re-elected

Nov. 3, 1874.

Benjamin Walker, elected Nov. 5, 1872.

Lorison J. Taylor, elected to fill vacancy caused by death

of Benjamin Walker ; re-elected Nov. 3, 1874.

Rasselas Reed, elected Nov. 7, 1876 ; re-elected Nov. 5,

1878.

Derwin W. Sharts, elected Nov. 7, 1876; re-elected

Nov. 5, 1878.

MEIIBERS OF CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTIONS.

Francis J. Prevost, elected Nov. 6, 1849, convention of

1850, convened at Lansing, June 3d.

Josiah Turner, S. Titus Parsons, elected Nov. 6, 1866,

couventiou of 1867, convened at Lansing, May 15th.

SUPREME COURT JUDGES.

Sanford M. Green, appointed in 1848, served until

1857.

Josiah Turner, appointed by Governor Bingham, May 9,

1857, to fill vacancy caused by resignation of S. M. Green
;

held till January, 1858.

CIRCUIT COURT JUDGES.

Sanford M. Green, elected April, 1852 ; term commenced
May, 1852.

Josiah Turner, elected April, 1857 ; term commenced
May, 1857; re-elected three times and still holds the office.

REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN.

Andrew Parsons, 1852 to 1854.

Luke II. Parsons, elected April 16, 1857.

ASSOCIATE JUDGES.

A. L. Williams, elected November, 1837.

James Rutan, elected November, 1837.

Elias Comstock, elected Nov. 2 and 3, 1840.

Joseph P. Roberts, elected Nov. 2 and 3, 1840.

Isaac Castle, elected Nov. 6 and 7, 1844.

Jonathan M. Hartwell, elected Nov. 6 and 7, 1844.

George W. Slocum, elected Nov. 14, 1848.

James Cummin, elected Nov. 14, 1848.

COUNTY JUDGE.

Robert R. Thompson, elected Nov. 3, 1846 ; re-elected

Nov. 5, 1850.

SECOND JUDGES.

Isaac Gale, elected Nov. 3, 1846.

Anson B. Chipman, elected Nov. 5, 1850.

CIRCUIT COURT COMMLSSIONERS.

Ebenezer Gould, elected Nov. 2, 1852 ; re-elected Nov.

7, 1854.

Samuel T. Parsons, elected Nov. 4, 1856.

George K. Newcombe, elected Nov. 2, 1858.

Gilbert R. Lyon, elected Nov. 6, 1860 ; re-elected Nov.

4, 1862.

Henry M. Newcombe, elected Nov. 8, 1864.

James M. Goodell, elected Nov. 6, 1866.

Hiram L. Chipman, elected Nov. 3, 1868.

R. Bonner Wyles, elected November, 1870.

Lucius E. Gould, elected Nov. 5, 1872 ; re-elected Nov.

10, 1874.

Curtis J. Gale, elected Nov. 10, 1874.

James G. Miller, elected Nov. 7, 1876.

Lucius E. Gould, elected Nov. 7, 1876.

Seldon S. Miner, elected Nov. 5, 1878.

JUDGES OF PROBATE.

Elias Comstock, elected November, 1837.

Ira B. Howard, elected Nov. 2 and 3, 1840.

Amos Gould, elected Nov. 4 and 5, 1844.

Luke H. Parsons, elected Nov. 14, 1848.

Robert R. Thompson, elected Nov. 2, 1852.

John B. Barnes, elected Nov. 4, 1856.

Hugh McCurdy, elected Nov. 6, 1860.

Sullivan R. Kelsey, elected Nov. 8, 1804 ; re-elected

Nov. 3, 1868 ; Nov. 5, 1872, and Nov. 7, 1876.

SHERIFFS.

Levi Rowe, elected May, 1837.

Elisha Brewster, elected November, 1838 ; re-elected

Nov. 2 and 3, 1840.

David Bush, elected Nov. 7 and 8, 1842.

Elisha Brewster, elected Nov. 4 and 5, 1844 ; re-elected

Nov. 3, 1846.

Alonzo Howard, elected Nov. 14, 1848 ; re-elected Nov.

5,1850.

John M. Fitch, elected Nov. 2, 1852 ; re-elected Nov. 7,

1854.

William P. Laing, elected Nov. 4, 1856 ; re-elected Nov.

2, 1858.

Jonah Fuller, elected Nov. 6, 18G0; re-elected Nov. 4,

1862.
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Sej'mour Sliipiiian, elected Nov. 8, 1864.

David Parker, elected Nov. C, ISGG ; re-elected Nov. 3,

18G8.

George A. Winans, elected November, 1870.

Benjamin B. Swain, elected Nov. 5, 1872.

Andrew G. Kelso, elected Nov. 10, 1874.

William J. Lewis, elected Nov. 7, 1876.

Clark D. Smith, elected Nov. 5, 1878.

COUNTY CLERKS.

Andrew Parsons, elected May, 1837.

Ira B. Howard, elected November, 1838.

John K. Smith, elected Nov. 2 and 3, 1840.

Joseph Purdy, elected Nov. 7 and 8, 1842 ; re-elected

Nov. 4 and 5, 1844, and Nov. 3, 1846.

Ebenezer F. Wade, elected April 7, 1848, to fill vacancy

caused by death of Joseph Purdy ; re-elected Nov. 4, 1848
;

Nov. 5, 1850.

Elias Comstock, elected Nov. 2, 1852.

Cortes Poud, elected Nov. 7, 1854.

Elias Comstock, elected Nov. 4, 1856 ; re-elected Nov.

2, 1858.

George C. Holmes, elected Nov. 6, 1860 ;
re-elected Nov.

4, 18G2; Nov. 8, 18G4.

Philip W. Coleman, elected Nov. 6, 1866.

John E. Graham, elected Nov. 3, 1868; re-elected

November, 1870; Nov. 5, 1872.

Almon C. Brown, elected Nov. 10, 1874; re-elected

Nov. 7, 1876.

Newton Baldwin, elected Nov. 5, 1878.

COUNTY REGISTERS.

No record of Register in 1837 or 1838.

John M. Gilbert, elected November, 1838.

Andrew Parsons, elected Nov. 2 and 3, 1840; re-elected

Nov. 7 and 8, 1842, and Nov. 4 and 5, 1844.

Luke H. Parsons, elected Nov. 3, 1846.

James E. Chaffee, elected Nov. 14, 1848 ; re-elected Nov.

5, 1850.

Owen Corcoran, elected Nov. 2, 1852 ; re-elected Nov.

7, 1854.

George W. Goodell, elected Nov. 4, 1856.

Chauncey S. Converse, elected Nov. 2, 1858 ; re-elected

Nov. G, 18G0, and Nov. 4, 1802.

William Oakes, elected Nov. 8, 1864.

Charles Holman, elected Nov. 6, 1866; re-elected No-

vember, 1868; November, 1870; November, 1872; No-

vember, 1874 ; November, 1876 ; and November, 1878.

COUNTY TREASURERS.

Josiah Pierce, elected May, 1837 ; re-elected November,

1838.

Isaac Castle, elected Nov. 2 and 3, 1840 ; re-elected

Nov. 7 and 8, 1842.

Alfred L. Williams, elected Nov. 4 and 5, 1844.

Nicholas P. Harder, elected Nov. 3, 1846.

Archibald Purdy, elected Nov. 14, 1848.

James Cummin, elected Nov. 5, 1850; rc-clcctcd Nov.

2, 1852; Nov. 7, 1854.

Hansom W. llnlK'y, elected Nov. 4, 1856.

18

Pliny S. Lyman, elected Nov. 2, 1858; re-elected Nov.

6, ISGO ; Nov. 4, 1862.

James Cummin, elected Nov. 8, 1864; re-elected Nov.

6, 1866; Nov. 3, 18G8 ; November, 1870.

Matthias L. Stewart, elected Nov. 5, 1872 ; re-elected

Nov. 10, 1874; Nov. 7, 1876 ; and Nov. 5, 1878.

COUNTY COMMISSIONERS.

Lemuel Castle, Ransom W. Ilolley, Ephraim H. Utley,

elected November, 1838.

Levi Rowe, elected April 29, 1839.

David Bush, Jr., elected Nov. 4 and 5, 1839.

Peter Cook, elected Nov. 2 and 3, 1840.

Francis J. Prcvost, elected April 5, 1841.

Archibald Purdy, elected Nov. 1 and 2, 1841.

COUNTY SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS.

Ezekiel J. Cook, elected April, 1870 ; re-elected April

7, 1873.

COUNTY SURVEYORS.

No record of Surveyor in 1837-38.

Daniel Gould, elected November, 1838.

Philander T. Maine, elected Nov. 2 and 3, 1840.

Nelson Ferry, elected Nov. 7 and 8, 1842; re-elected

Nov. 7 and 8, 1842 ; Nov. 4 and 5, 1844.

Andrew Huggius, elected Nov. 3, 1846 ; re-eleet(3d Nov.

14, 1848 ; Nov. 5, 1850.

Josiah B. Parker, elected Nov. 2, 1852.

Andrew Huggins, elected Nov. 7, 1854.

Monroe Holley, elected Nov. 4, 1856.

Ezra L. Mason, elected Nov. 2, 1858 ; re-elected Nov. 6,

18G0 ; Nov. 4, 1862 ; Nov. 8, 18G4, and Nov. G, 1866.

Horace C. Maine, elected Nov. 3, 1868.

Ezra L. Mason, elected November, 1870.

Abner B. Wood, Jr., elected Nov. 5, 1872 ; re-elected

Nov. 10, 1874.

Lyman Mason, elected Nov. 7, 1876; re-elected Nov. 5,

1878.

PROSECUTING ATTORNEYS.*

Sanford M. Green, appointed 1837, 1838, 1839, 1840,

and 1841.

J. C. Smith, appointed 1842-43.

William F. Mosely, appointed 1844.

Andrew Parsons, appointed 1845-40.

William F. Mosely, appointed 1847-48.

Amos Gould, appointed 1849.

Richard B. Hall, elected Nov. 5, 1850.

Luke H. Parsons, elected Nov. 2, 1852.

William F. Mosely, elected Nov. 7, 1854.

S. Titus Parsons, elected Nov. 4, 1856 ; re-elected Nov.

2, 1858.

Sjjcncer B. Raynolo, elected Nov. 6, 1860.

Benton Hanchett, elected Nov. 4, 1862.

James M. Goodell, elected Nov. 8, 1864.

Ebcnczor Gould, elected Nov. 6, 1866.

James M. Goodell, elected Nov. 3, 18G8.

Spencer B. Rayuole, clect«d November, 1870.

• Prosoouling Attorno}-n woro ap|inintoil by tlin Gcivornnr until Iho

n(l»|>tiun of tbo constitution of 1861), when tbo oflico bocamo

oluclivo.
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S. Titus Parsons, elected Nov. 5, 1872.

Hugh :McCurdy, elected Nov. 10, 1874.

William M. Kilpatrick, elected Nov. 7, 1876; re-elected

Nov. 5, 1878.

CORONERS.

David H. Tyler, elected November, 1838.

Ephraim H. Utley, elected November, 1838.

John Woodhull, elected Nov. 2 and 3, 1840 ; re-elected

Nov. 7 and 8, 1842.

Lyman Melvin, elected Nov. 2 and 3, 1810.

Henry Leach, elected Nov. 4 and 5, 1844.

George Harrington, elected Nov. 4 and 5, 1844.

Horace B. Flint, elected Nov. 3, 1846.

Eliphalet B. Tooker, elected Nov. 3, 1846.

Aaron Swain, elected Nov. 14, 1848.

Henry Leach, elected Nov. 14, 1848.

George Harrington, elected Nov. 5, 1850.

Levi Rowe, elected Nov. 5, 1850.

Humphrey Wheeler, elected Nov. 2, 1852.

Joseph Howe, elected Nov. 2, 1852.

Humphrey Wheeler, elected Nov. 7, 1854.

Palmer C. Card, elected Nov. 7, 1854.

William H. Eddy, elected Nov. 4, 1856.

David IngersoU, elected Nov. 4, 1856.

Jonah Fuller, elected Nov. 2, 1858.

Eli D. Gregory, elected Nov. 2, 1858.

Enoch Eddy, elected Nov. 6, 1860.

James Garrison, elected Nov. 6, 1860.

George L. Hitchcock, elected Nov. 4, 1862.

James Garrison, elected Nov. 4, 1862.

Garry Tuttle, elected Nov. 8, 1864.

Tolman Warren, elected Nov. 8, 1864.

S. M. Marshall, elected Nov. 6, 1866; re-elected Nov.

3, 1868.

Mills Tuttle, elected November, 1866 ; re-elected Nov.

3, 1868.

H. M. Mai-shall, elected November, 1870.

George T. Swinim, elected November, 1870.

Benjamin F. Taylor, elected Nov. 5, 1872 ; re-elected

Nov. 10, 1874.

Wells B. Fox, elected Nov. 5, 1872 ; re-elected Nov. 10,

1874.

John L. Miller, elected Nov. 7, 1876.

Ezra M. Harvey, elected Nov. 5, 1878.

John L. Miller, elected Nov. 5, 1878.

CHAPTER XXVL
COUNTT SOCIETIES—AGRICULTURE-MANUFAC-

TURES—POPULATION.

Old Settlers' Society of Shiawassee County—Shiawassee County Fire

Insurance Company—Shiawassee County Agricultural Association

—

Agriculture of the County—Manufacturing Statistics—Population.

OLD SETTLERS' SOCIETY OP SHIAWASSEE
COUNTY.

Early in February, 1873, a call was issued through the

county newspapers for the holding of a meeting to form a

pioneer society in Shiawassee, similar in its objects to so-

cieties of the kind existing in many other counties of the

State. The tenor of this call was as follows

:

" Desiring to perpetuate the history of Shiawassee County,

and the personal reminiscences of its early days, as well as

to foster a social feeling among the pioneers, we respectfully

invite such of the present residents of the county as had

settled in Michigan previous to Jan. 1, 1845, to meet with

us at the court-house, in Corunna, on the 22d inst., at

one o'clock p.m., to form an old settlers' society for the

county.

" Isaac Gale. Alex. McArthur.

S. R. Kelsey. Wm. Frain.

J. H. Hartwell. S. B. Bugbee.

F. P. Guilford. Allen Beard.

G. G. Doan. James Cummin.

John O. Henkley. John Spaulding.

S. Hawkins. Roger Haviland."

Jonah Fuller.

Pursuant to this call a large number of old settlers con-

vened at the court-house in Corunna, and organized by

choice of the Hon. Isaac Gale, of Bennington, as chairman,

and John N. IngersoU as secretary. S. R. Kelsey, J. N.

IngersoU, and William Newberry were appointed to draft a

constitution, which was prepared, presented, and adopted,

naming the association the " Old Settlers' Society of Shia-

wassee County," and setting forth that " the objects of the

society are to cultivate social relations, and to collect and

preserve biographical sketches, statistics, and historical facts

and reminiscences which are fast fading from memory."

The annual meetings of the society are held at the court-

house in Corunna. Picnics have been held during the

summer months at the following places :

Carutliers' Grove, near North Newburg, June 13, 1873;

Hawkins' Grove, Caledonia, June 20, 1874; Grove near

Pitts Corners, Bennington, June 26, 1875 ; Hawkins'

Grove, Aug. 19, 1876; Caruthers' Grove, Aug. 11, 1877
;

Gates' Grove, near Owosso, Aug. 17, 1878 ; Court-House,

Corunna, June 14, 1880. At these meetings addresses

are made by speakers from different parts of the county,

essays are also read, all bearing on the early settlement and

incidents connected with it.

The roll of the society shows the names of its members,

their place of residence, and place and date of birth, as

follows

:

Ebenezer F. Wade, Burns ; Massachusetts, 1810 ; settled

in Michigan in August, 1813.

John N. IngersoU, Corunna ; Massachusetts, 1817; settled

in Michigan in 1837.

John R. Barnes, Owosso ; Massachusetts, 1807 ; settled

in Michigan Sept. 7, 1842.

Samuel W. Cooper, Corunna; New York, 1812 ; settled in

Michigan in May, 1842.

James Renney, Middlebury ; New York, 1800 ; settled in

Michigan in April, 1845.

Anson B. Chipman, Owosso; Vermont, 1812; settled in

Michigan in January, 1837.

Jonah Fuller, Corunna ; Massachusetts, 1820 ; settled in

Michigan in 1835.

Henry W. Becker, Caledonia; New York, 1818; settled

in Michigan in 1836.
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William Newberry, Shiawassee; New York, 1812; settled

in Michigan July 2, 1836.

Sullivan 11. Kelscy, Byron ; Vermont, 1805 ; settled in

Michigan in December, 18-12.

Isaac Gale, Bennington ; New York, 1808 ; settled in

Michigan in April, 1840.

John Innes, Bennington ; Scotland, 1815 ; settled in Mich-

igan in August, 1836.

Roger Haviland, Burns; Ireland, 1812; settled in Michi-

gan in February, 1840.

George \V. Sloeum, Jliddlebury ; New York, 1810 ; settled

in Michigan in January, 1838.

C. S. Johnson, Corunua; Massachusetts, 1804; settled in

Michigan in November, 1838.

William G. Smith, Woodhull ; New York, 1804 ; settled

in Michigan in April, 1842.

A. H. Owens, Venice; New York, 1823; settled in Michi-

gan in July, 1835.

J. S. Simonson, Shiawassee; New York, 1820; settled in

Michigan in October, 1845.

James Cummin, Shiawassee; Ireland, 1814; settled iu

Michigan in December, 1840.

N. G. Phillips, Shiawassee ; Connecticut, 1825 ; settled in

Michigan in April, 1838.

William Morris, Perry; Scotland, 1801 ; settled in Michi-

gan in August, 1836.

Joseph Parraenter, Shiawassee ; Vermont, 1810
;
settled in

Michigan in September, 1835.

II. J. Van Aukin.

Henry Wiltsie, Corunna; New York, 1812; settled in

Michigan in October, 1838.

J. M. Van Aukin, Vernon ; New York, 1820 ; settled in

Michigan in 1843.

S. B. Bugbce, Bennington; New York, 1811 ; settled in

Michigan in October, 1837.

Archibald Purdy, Bennington; New York, 1811; settled

in Michigan in November, 1836.

George Howell, Bennington; New York, 1828; settled in

Michigan in March, 1841.

I. M. Chipman, Owos.so ; New York, 1817; settled in

Michigan in 1840.

T. H. Lemon, Shiawassee ; New York, 1816; settled in

Michigan in 1843.

Cortes Pond, Corunna; New York, 1812 ; settled in Mich-

igan in 1842.

H. S. Allen, New York, 1818 ; settled in Michigan in 1832.

Andrew Iluggins, Corunna; Massachusetts, 1817; settled

in Michigan in 1839.

Benjamin Ilulick, New York, 1825 ; settled in Michigan

in 1845.

E. Gould, Owosso; New York, 1818; settled in Michigan

in 1837.

John Spalding, Perry; New York, 1814; settled in Mich-

igan in 1840.

J. 11. Thompson, Caledonia; New York, 1809; settled in

Michigan in May, 1833.

lleuben Place, Shiawassee; New York, 1814 ; settled in

Michigan in 1835.

Allen Beard, Antrim; New York, 1810; settled in Michi

can in 1830.

C. C. Rowell, Owosso; New Y^ork, 1835; settled in Mich-

igan in 1841.

J. M. Fitch, Corunna; 1832.

K. W. Wallis, Perry; New York, 1818; settled ia Michi-

gan in 1844.

A. Van Aukin, Shiawassee; New York, 1814; settled ia

Michigan in 1835.

Hiram Davis, Shiawassee; New York, 1813; settled ia

Michigan in 1837.

J. W. Dewey, Owcsso ; New York, 1818; settled in Mich-

igan in 1827.

L. H. Chappcn, Bennington ; New Hampshire, 1797

;

settled in Michigiin in 1844.

C. S. Cronkhite, Venice; New York, 1818; settled ia

Michigan in 1844.

I. W. Rush, Owosso ; New York, 1822 ; settled in Michi-

gan in 1840.

L. Hopkins, Owosso ; New York, 1826 ; settled ia Michi-

gan in 1836.

J. G. Marsh, Woodhull; Maine, 1830; settled ia Michi-

gan in 18.37.

John A. Mason, Perry; Michigan, 1841.

James H. Hartwell, Shiawas,see; New York, 1824.

B. O. Williams, Owos.so; Ma.ssachusetts, 1810; .settled ia

Michigan in 1815.

Freeman McClintock, Laingsburg; New Hampshire, 1811

;

settled in Michigan in 1846.

Almoa B. Clark, Bennington ; Michigan, 1837.

Phineas Burch, New Haven; Canada, 1814.

Thomas R. I'^oung, Caledonia; Connecticut, 1812; settled

in Michigan in 1839.

M. L. Stevens, Perry; New York, 1820; settled in Mich-

igan in March, 1847.

J. B. Wheeler, Corunna; New York, 1829; settled ia

Michigan in March, 1338.

Charles Wilkinson, Venice; New York, 1813; settled ia

Michigan in 1834.

Schuyler Ferris, Caledonia; New York, 181S.

G. M. Roberts, Caledonia; New York, 1S13.

S. A. Yorkes, Benniiigtoti ; Michigan, 1S27.

Mrs. Susan A. Burgess.

Klnathan Brown, A'cnice ; Now York; settled iu Micliigaa

in 1837.

B. M. Watcrniaii, Caledonia; Vermont; settled in Michi-

gan iu 1839.

)10N0Ii.\KV MKMliKU.'^.

Mrs. Sarah Bacon. Mrs. B. Allen.

IMrs. liUcius Hcaeh. .Mi-s. Mariett.i Gale.

Mrs. 11. 11. Johnson. Mrs. Juliclta liowcll.

Mrs. Manning Hathaway. Mrs. Anna Olcolt.

Mrs. N. P. llardiT. -Mrs. Mari<' K. Cronkhite.

Mrs. JauKus Cunimin. Mrs. Kosina Siiunii.son.

Mrs. E. F. Wade. Mrs. l.i.rinda Williams.

Mr.s. ('athorini^ Haviland. Mrs. J. 15. Wh(\'ler.

Mrs. Susan SpauMiiig. Mi's. Margaret Inncs.

Mrs. Caroline A. Parsons. Mrs. Rulh Phelps.

Mrs. Kmmeline 11. Wallis. Mrs. Eunice Cooper.

The following is a li.st of the officers of the society from

its formation to the present time:
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1873.—

I

1876..

1877.

-President, Isaac Gale ;
Vice-Presidents, A. B. Chip-

man, William Newberry ; Secretary, E. F. Wade
;

Treasurer, S. R. Kelsey.

1874.—President, John Spaulding ;
Vice-Presidents, A. B.

Chipman, William Newberry; Secretary, E. F.

Wade ; Treasurer, S. R. Kelsey.

1875.—President, A. B. Chipman ;
Vice-Presidents, G.

W. Slocum, Roger Haviland; Secretary, E. F.

Wade ; Treasurer, S. R. Kelsey.

-President, George W. Slocum ; Vice-Presidents,

William Newberry, Ebenezer Gould ; Secretary,

Ebenezer F. Wade ; Treasurer, S. R. Kelsey.

-President, George W. Slocum ; Vice-Presidents,

William Newberry, Roger Haviland ; Secretary,

James B. Wheeler ; Treasurer, E. F. Wade.

1878.—President, Roger Haviland ;
Vice-Presidents, B.

0. Williams, A. B. Clark ; Secretary, James B.

Wheeler ; Treasurer, E. F. Wade.

1879.—President, William Newberry ; Vice-Presidents,

Roger Haviland, B. 0. Williams ; Secretary,

Cortes Pond ;
Treasurer, E. F. Wade.

1880.— President, William Newberry ;
Vice-President,

Roger Haviland ; Secretary, Cortes Pond ;
Treas-

urer, E. F. Wade.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTY MUTUAL FIRE INSU-
RANCE COMPANY.

In the month of May, 1861, Enoch Eddy, G. Sugdon,

Ezra D. Barnes, N. G. Philips, E. Cook, Isaac Gale, Nor-

man Green, Enos Merrill, Benjamin Walkei-, and William

Newberry, all residents of Shiawassee County, associated

themselves together as an incorporated company for the

transaction of insurance business under the above title.

The articles of association limited the territory to Shia-

wassee County, and restricted the insurance to dwellings,

barns, and out-buildings upon farms, " together with house-

hold furniture, farm iniplemcnt.s, stock, and grain which

may be therein or on the premises," against loss by fire or

lightning.

The organization was not perfected until the spring of

1862, when Enoch Eddy was elected President; Cortes

Pond, Secretary ; and W. G. Smith, Treasurer. On the

3d day of Slay of that year Cortes Pond commenced taking

applications for policies.

In 1867 the company had three hundred and forty-six

outstanding policies, with an assessment that year of four-

teen hundred and twentj'-three dollars and forty-four cents

and expenses of one hundred and fifty-three dollars and

fifteen cents.

The company has steadily increased in usefulness, and

gained the confidence of the community, and on the 31st

of December, 1879, it had fifteen hundred and fiftv-five

outstanding policies, covering a total risk of two million

eight hundred and twelve thousand nine hundred and fifty-

six dollars.

The total resources are two thoiis;ind two hundred and

five dollars and ninety-four cents, and total liabilities four

hundred and fifty-five dollars and fifty-nine cents. The

amount paid for losses during the year (of which two thou-

sand three hundred dollars occurred in prior years) was five

thousand one hundred and ten dollars and seventy-three

cents. Amount of salaries and fees one thousand one hun-

dred and twenty dollars and ninety-six cents. But two as-

sessments have been made during the year.

The present ofiicers are Roger Haviland, President

;

Fred. J. Bailey, Vice-President ; Ezra Mason, Secretary

;

Jefferson D. Leland, Treasurer ; R. Haviland, E. Mason,

and E. S. Burnett, Directors.

SHIAWASSEE COUNTY AGRICULTURAL ASSO-
CIATION.

No records have been found of the organization or pro-

ceedings of the old Shiawassee County Agricultural Society,

but a few facts have been gleaned from the papers of that

day, and from the secretary's reports to the State Society.

The Shiawassee Society was formed in 1850, and held its

first fair in the fall of that year, at the village of Corunna,

on grounds situated on the south side of the river, prepared

by the citizens of that place. In 1854 the fifth annual

fair was held on the 11th and 12th of October. The ofii-

cers were Robert R. Thompson, President ; P. S. Lyman,

Secretary ; James Cummin, Treasurer ; Ezekiel Cook, M.

B. Martin, Isaac Gale, M. H. Clark, Daniel Lyon, Execu-

tive Committee. There were three hundred and twenty-

two entries. The amount received for membership tickets

and visitors was eighty-one dollars and twenty-five cents.

The number of entries made at the fair of September, 1855,

were five hundred and twenty ; receipts for membership

and single tickets was one hundred and forty-six dollars and

twenty-seven cents. The fair in 1858 was held at Corunna.

The oflBcers of that year were Isaac Gale, President ; P. S.

Lyman, Secretary
;
Charles E. Kimberly, Treasurer.

No further information can be gained of any meetings

of the old society, and it appears to have become inop-

erative, as on the 16th of March, ISGO, a new society

was formed, and articles of association were adopted and

signed by the following-named persons, viz. : Isaac Gale,

George Sugden, James Lawler, A. H. Byerly, B. 0. Wil-

liams, George W. Slocum, Benjamin Walker, Benjamin W.

Davis, Edward F. H. McKay, John W. Dewey, Enoch

Eddy, and an organization under the name and style of the

Shiawassee County Agricultural Association was perfected

by the choice of the following persons as first oflBcers

:

Isaac Gale, President; B. W. Davis, Secretary; Adam W.

Byerly, Treasurer ; J. W. Dewey, George W. Slocum, E.

F. H. McKay, Enoch Eddy, and Geo. B. Sugden, Direc-

tors. A meeting of the board of directors was held at

Gould's Hall, Owosso, on the 23d of March, 1860, at

which time by-laws were adopted. At a later meeting, in

June of the same year, it was resolved that the fair be

held at Owosso for a term of five yeai-s, on condition that

the citizens of Owosso provide not less than six acres for

the use of the association (to be surrounded with a tight

board fence), build nccessai-y buildings and sheds, dig a

well to be provided with a pump, and grade a carriage-

drive and track, two rods wide at least and eighty rods in

circumference, the same to be provided without any expense

to the association. Seven hundred dollars was subscribed

for the purpose, and the lease was afterwards extended to

ton years, and a permanent building erected at an expense of
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one thousand dollars. The first fair of the association was

held on the 17th, ISth, and 19th of September, 1800, on

the ground prepared by the citizens of Owosso, situated

on Hickory Street.

The total receipts were S303.50. The annual fairs con-

tinued to be held at the same place until 1880. In 1866

five hundred dollars was expended in extending; the track.

the citizens of Owosso contributing two hundred and fifty

dollars and the association the balance. At a meeting held

April 17, 1877, it was decided to purchase thirty acres of

land, known as the Kggleston tract, at one hundred dollars

per acre, and two small lots of land containing about one acre.

In the' spring of 1880 the buildings on the old grounds were

removed to the new and repaired. One acre of ground, on

which a dwelling-house is located, was purchased for five

hundred dollars ; this will be occupied by a tenant who

will have charge of the grounds. A floral hall will be

erected in the summer of 1880, a half-mile track is now

being graded, and the first fair of the association on the

new grounds will be held in the fall of 1880.

The following is a list of the officers since the organiza-

tion of the association :

Presidents.—1861, Benjamin Walker; 1862, Isaac Cas-

tle; 1863, Geo. L. Hitchcock; 186-1, John W. Dewey;

1865, Ezra D. Barnes; no record for 1866; 1867-68,

Isaac Gale; 1869, A. H. Byerly ; 1870, S. A. Yerkes

;

1871, Wm. Newberry; 1872-73, Wm. Rideout; 1874,

John W. Dewey; 1875-76, C. Hibbard; 1877-80, John

W. Dewey.

&c»-f^niVs.—1861-62, George L. Hitchcock; 1863,

Henry B. Gregory; 1864, George L. Hitchcock; 1865,

A. G. Young; no record for 1866; 1867, George P.

Moses; 1868, N. McBain ; 1869, George P. Moses;

1870-73, C. A. Osborne; 1874, Emory L. Brewer; 1875

-78, Newton Baldwin ; 1879-80, J. A. Armstrong.

Treasurers.— \^Q\-iJ-2, E. D. Gregory ; 1863-65, New-

ton H. Robinson; no record for 1866; 1867-69, A. G.

Kelso ; 1870-73, A. B. Chipman
; 1874, Amos G. Young

;

1875-76, A. B. Chipman ; 1877-80, C. A. O.sborne.

agricultui'vp: of the county.
In the history of its agriculture Shiawassee difliers very

little from nearly all the counties of the Peninsula. The

first care of the farmers who came to till the virgin soil

was, of course, to provide subsistence for their families ; and

so the first crops which they planted or sowed in the open-

ings, or in their small clearings in the timber, wore only

such as were recjuired for this purpose, and chief among

these was wheat. Potatoes and other esculents were pro-

vided for, but the article of prime; necessity was wheat, and

to it a great propijrtiim of the tilled area was devoted. Tiie

abundant crops which they obtained soon relieved their ne-

cessities, and placed them beyond the reach of possible

want; and then, from the sur]ilus of their crops, they began

to realize a revenue in money, though the very redundancy

of the yield of wheat in this and adjoining sections of

country brought the price so low at times that the remu-

neration for the labor of raising, harvesting and hand-

thrashing, and transporting the grain to a distant market

seemed discouragingly small. The experience of later year.s,

however, has shown that the immigrant farmers of the early

days were not far from right in their estimate of the im-

portance of wheat culture upon such a soil as this, where
its constantly increasing and almost uniformly successful

cultivation has been the foundation of so large a proportion

of the agricultural wealth and prosperity. After the first

struggle with poverty was over, and particularly afker in-

creased and improved means of transportation were secured,

the wheat-fields gradually increa.scd in size and in profita-

ble returns per acre
; and though other grains are and have

alwa^'s been produced quite extensively, yet it is wheat

more than any other product of the soil that has brought

comfort and wealth to the farmers of the county.

The raising of cattle and sheep has been carried on to a

considerable extent, but it has never assumed as great im-

portance here as in some other parts of the State, nor has

as much been done here in the extensive and general intro-

duction of improved breeds. In the report of the secretary

of the Shiawassee Agricultural Society for 1854 it is stated

that a full-blood Devon bull was introduced into the county

as early as 1837, by L. Lyman, of Shiawassee township;

that in 1839, Ezekiel Cook, of Bennington, brought in a

Devon and a Durham bull from Ohio; and that in 1841,

Alexander McArthur, of Corunna, was the owner of a bull

of imported stock, but that the animal had died in the se-

vere winter of 1842-43. A Durham bull was also sent

from Oakland County to Shiawassee by James B. Hunt.

In 1851, Deacon Cook, of Bennington, brought in a fine

young Durham bull from the herd of Mr. Brooks, of Oak-

land County, and a Durham cow from the Wadsworth

herd, of Geneseo, N. Y. (purchased from Mr. Uhlc, of Ypsi-

lanti)
;
and J. H. Howe, now of Owosso, received a Durham

bull from the same famous herd. At about the same time

several pure-blood bulls and cows were brought to the county

by Isaac Castle of Shi.iwassee ; Thomas B. Green, of

Burns ; Abner L. Gilbert, of Caledonia ; and Stim.son and

Dewey, of Owosso. Among these were Durhams, Ayr-

shires, and one or two of the Ilolderness breed. From the

animals above mentioned came much of the improved stock

of the county.

The same report from which the foregoing facts are gath-

ered mentions that in 1854 a flock of one hundred and

fifty Spanish Merino sheep was purchiised in the county.

At the fair of the agricultural society of the county in that

year Durham cattle were cxiiibited by C. S. Johnson, of

Caledonia, and H. Johnson, of Venice ; Devons, by Isaac

Ca.stle and C. S. Johnson ; Ayrsliiros, by Isaac Castle and

L. C. Eddy; Merino sheep, by Isaac Gale, J. M. Hart-

well, and J. W. Brewer; Spanish and Frcneii Merinos, by

liuke H. Parsons and J. W. Brewer,—the last-named gen-

tleman exhibiting a very fine imported ewe from the tlock

of A. S. Patterson, of Newark, N. J.

The introduction of pure-blood sheep into the county

dates from about 1852 (though some grades had been

brought here before 1840), and by reference to the pro-

ceedings of the agricultural society it is found that the

credit of being the pioneers in the introdueliou of Merino

and Saxony sheep into the counly is given to Isaac Gale

and J. M. Hnrtwcll, of Bennington; L. liynian, of Sliia-

Wiissce; R. W. Holly, of Vernon; and R. Burdick, of By-
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ron. There is no doubt, however, that others besides these

gentlemen mij;ht witli propriety be added to the list. Since

the introduction of pure-bloods was commenced, as above

mentioned, the improvement in sheep-breeding has spread

gradually, but so generally that it would be invidious as

well as impracticable to attempt to follow its progress

through the county. The same may also be said of the

general increase of improved breeds of cattle, both pure-

bloods and grades.

The development of the agricultural interests of Shia-

wassee County is shown (perhaps more clearly than could

be done in any other way) by the statistics given below,

having reference to this county. They are taken from the

census returns of the years indicated, viz.

:

1840.

Number of Dc:it cattle in the county 2,143
** sbcep ill the county 375
" swine " " 3,807

Tons of bay cut in the preceding year 502

Bushels of wheat jiroiiuced (harvest of lS3y) 19,584
** Indian corn jiroJuced (harvest of 1839) 13,772
" oats produced (harvest of 1839) 10,937
" barley " " 206
" potatoes" " 23,007

Pounds of wool sheared (1839) 583

Pounds of maple-sugar made (1840) 25,933

Value of the products of the dairy (1839) $2,147

1850.

Whole number of occujned farms 746

Cash value of occupied farms $734,965

Number of acres improved 31,203
" neat cattle 5,148
" sheep kept in the county 7,087
" swine " " 3,262

Total value of live stock $133,739

Bushels of wheat produced (harvest of 1849) 61,834
' rvc *' " 650
" Inilian corn (harvest of 1849) 56,505
" oats " " 32,705
"

. barley " '• 289
" buckwheat " " 6,284
" potatoes " " 26,475

V.alue of orchard products (1849) $1,041

Tons of hay produced " 7,136

Pounds of wool sheared in 1850 21,738
** maple-sugar made (1850) 61.157
" butter made (June, 1849, to June, 1850) 110,823
" cheese " " " 16,400

1854.

Number of acres improved land 30,043
Whole number neat cattle 6,735

" " swine 4,750
" " sheep 8,472

Pounds of wool sheared (preceding year) 21,364
" pork marketed " " 81,495

Acres of wheat harvested " " 6,111
Bushels " " " " 74,171
Acres of corn " " " 4,111
Bushels of corn " " " 64,947

" all other kinds of grain (preceding year).... 26,381
" potatoes raised (preceding year) 33,629

Tons of hay cut " " 10,655
Pounds of butter made " " 132,612;

" cheese made " " 16,062'
" maple-sugar manufactured (1854) 43,787

1860.

Whole number of occupied farms in the county 892
'* ** acres improved 43,727

Total cash value of farms $1,957,834
Number of neat cattle kept in county 8,427

** swine " *' 5,156
" sheep " " 19,379

Total value of live stock $326,724
Pounds of wool sheared in preceding year 46,770
Bushels of wheat harvested preceding year 101,101

rye " " " 5,773
" Indian corn harvested preceding year 93,467
" oats " " " 43,071
" barley " " " 3,829

Bushels of buckwheat harvested preceding year 2,8,10

" potatoes raised preceding year 54,190

Value of orchard products $8,976

Tons of hay cut in preceding year 12,579

Pounds of butter made preceding year 251.011
" cheese " " " 18.582
" maple-sugar made preceding year 96,723

1864.

Number of acres improved in the county 64.913
" neat cattle kept in the county 11,527
** sheep over six months old 43,187

Pounds of wool sheareil in preceding year 134,188
" pork marketed " " 332,172

Acres of wheat harvested " " 14,950

Bushels of wheat " " " 109,301

Acres of corn " " " 6,428

Bushels of corn " " " 129,670
•* all other grains harvested in preceding year. 76,236
" potatoes raised in preceding year 58,628

Tons of hay cut in preceding year 21,847

Pounds of butter made in preceding year 336,134

cheese " " ' " 27,329
" maple-sugar made in preceding year 95,666

1870.

Number of acres improved in county 111,390

Value of farms in county $8,123,000
" all live stock $1,181,149

Number of sheep kept 45,536

Pounds of wool shorn 192,612

Number of milch-cows 5,864

Pounds of butter made in preceding year 491,693

Bushels of wheat harvested in preceding year 484,687
Indian corn " " " 262,851

" oats " " " 202,510
" barley " " " 17,341
" buckwheat " " " 9,947
" potatoes raised in preceding year 240,162

Tons of hay cut in preceding year 32,464

Pounds of maple-sugar made (1870) 32,999

1874.

Total acres of improved land 118,781

Number of farms 2,813

Averiige area of farms (acres) 86^^
Number of neat cattle kept 18,920

** swine over si.x months old 8,132

Pounils of pork marketed in preceding year 793,646

Whole number of sheep kept 43,403

Number of sheep sheared in preceding year 41,580

Pouuds of wool ** *' " 186,277

Acres of wheat harvested " " 30,541

Bushels " " " " 463,412

Acres of corn " " " 10,750

Bushels " " " " 391,745
'* of all other grains harvested in preceding year. 356,432
" of potatoes raised in preceding year 110,286

Tons of hay cut in preceding year 29,667

Pounds of butter made in preceding year 743,353
" chee.se " " " 34,380
" maple-sugar made in 1874 57,356

Bushels of apples raised in preceding year 114,811

Value of fruit and garden vegetables $60,470

Number of acres in all kinds of fruits 6,966

WHEAT CROP OF 1877 BY TOWNSHIPS.

Bushels.

Antrim 60,667

Bennington 77,351

Burns 71,343

Caledonia 42,416

Fairfield 26,448

Hazelton 41,046

Middlebury 52,344

New Haven 36,595

Owosso 47,614

Owcsso City 3,275

Perry 60,420

Rush 3.3,518

Sciota (not returned)
Shiawassee 77,172

Venice 38,495

Vernon 63,001

Woodhull 46,947

Total of county 778,712

In that year Shiawassee County stood at the head of all

the counties in the southern four tiers (comprising the best
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airiicultural portion of the State) in the average yield of

wheat per acre of the area harvested.

MANUFACTURING STATISTICS.

Though Shiawassee cannot be termed a manufacturing

county, yet it contains a considerable number of manufac-

turing establishments, and these will be found fully noticed

in the histories of the cities and townships in which they

are situated. In this place, however, we give a series of

manufacturing statistics relating in their aggregate to the

whole county. They are compiled from the census reports

for the years named, extending from 1840 to 1874, the re-

turns for the present year (1880) not having yet been

made.

The earliest report containing manufacturing statistics

for the county of Shiawassee is that of 1840, which shows

as follows :

Number of saw-mills in tho county 8
** fluuring-mills in the county I

Barrels of flour inanufacturcd in ls;i9 800

Total amount of capital invested in manufactures $4fi,87S

Value of home-made manufactures (1839) $1,000

By subsequent census returns the following statistics of

manufactures in the county are shown for the years indi-

cated, viz.

:

1850.

Number of flouring-raills 5

Capital invested in flouring-niills $31,000

liarrcls of flour manufactured preceding year 11,700

Value of i»roduct , $36,400
Number of saw-mills (water, 0; steam, I) 7

Capital invested in lumber manufacture $10,500

Annual product of lumber (feet) 1,500,000

Value of product $9,990
Aggregnte amount of capital invested in all kinds of

manufactures (flour-mills and saw-mills included) $71,073
Number of bands employed in all manufactures 75

Aggrcgiite value of annual proiluct of all kinds of man-
ufactures in the county $110,474

1854.

Number of flouring-mills reported 3

Capital inv(^<tt!d in fluuring-milla $23,000
Barrels of flour made in the jtreceding year 5,884

Value of flour manufactured " " $29,081.75
Number of hands employed in flour-mills 8

" saw-mills operated in the county (steam, 1

;

water, 4) 5

Number of feet of lumber sawed in preceding year 1,300,000

Value of lumber product in preceding year $0,950
Amount of capital invested in lumber manufacture $9,200
Number of pernona employed " ** 11

Amount of capital employed in all other kinds of man-
ula^^turing $9,850

Value of products of same in preceding year $-1,500

Number of persons employed in same 15

1864.

Number of flour- nulls reported 5
" runs of stones 12

Amount of capital invested in flouring-mills $48,000
liarrcls of flour made in the preceding year 19,926
Value " " " '' $110,245
Number of persons employed in flour-mills 12

" saw-mills operated in the county (steam, &;
water, 7) 12

Ca{iital invested in lumber manufacture $26,200
Feet of lumber sawed in jireeeiling year 1,105,000

Value of •' " " $11,480
Number of bands employed in lunibc-r nianufiicture 36
Number of manufactories other than saw-mills and flour-

mitls (steam, 3; water, 8) 11

NuuiiuT of persons employed in same 120

Amount of capital investe<I in same $49,850
Value of products of same in preceding year $65,630
Coiil-minrs operated in county 1

Pounds of coal produced in prcco<liRg year 2,100,000

Value of product at mine $;i,r»00

Amountof capital invested $1,000
Number of persons employed 6

1874.

Number of flounng-mills in county (steam, 2 ; water, 6) 8
'• runs of stones in operation.. 22

Barrels of flour made in the previous year 42,450
Value •• " " $284,800
Capital invested in flouring-mills $184,500
Number of persons employt'd in fluuring-mille 26

" saw-mills in the county (i^team, 7 ; water, 9) 10
Feet of lumber sawed in preceding year 11,550,000
Value " •* $120,500
Capital invested in Iumbcr*manufacture $71,60U
Persons employed in " 73
Number of wood-working* manufactories (steam, 6;

water, 1) 6
Capital invested in same $33,200
ValuL' of product in preceding year $44,0(10

Number of persons employed 24
*' iron-workingf manufactories 4

Capital invested in same $25,700
Value of product in preceding year $47,000
Number of persons einployeii 26

•* musical-instrument manufactories 1

Capital employed in same $3,0ii0

Value of product in preceding year $3,000
Number of persons employed 4

" wagon-, carriage-, and sleigh-manufactories 2
Capital invested in same $5,000
Value of product in preceding year $13,000
Number of persons employed 11

" furniture- and chair-factories 4

Capital invested in same $51,200
Value of product in preceding year $121,000
Number of persons employed 76

" stave- and heading-factories 3

Capital invested in same $12,8(0)

Value of product in preceding year $12,500
Number of persons employed 29

" barrel-, keg-, pail-, and tub-factories 1

Capital invested in same $1,000
Value of product in preceding year $3,000
Number of persons employed 5

" tanneries reported 1

Capital invested in same $20,000
Value of product in preceding year $50,000

Number of persons employed i2
" saddle-, harness-, and trunk-factories re-

ported I

Capital invested in same $2,000

Value of i)roduct in preceding year $4,000

Number of persons employed 3
" breweries reported in county 2

Capital invested in same $13,000

Value of ])roduet in preceding year $16,000

Number of persons employed 7
*' paper-mills I

Capital inveigled in same $20.(hKI

Value of product in preceding year $N,i::u

Number of persons employed 14
'' boot- and sboo-factories I

Capital invested in same $1,00(1

Value of i)r(idu<t in preceding year $2(1,000

Number of persons employed 15
'* poi- and pearl-ash factories 1

Capital invested in same $500

Value of product in preceding year $^1,1100

Number of persons employed 2
** brick- and tile-manufaetorios 2

Cajiital invested in same $l,5(Mt

Value of ]>ruduct in pre(*e«ling year $I2,('"0

Number of persons employed 24
" stono- and maible-works 2

Capital invested in same $2,5(10

Value of product in preceding year $II,OllO

Number of b:inds employed 8

Total number of manufacturing establishments (includ-

ing saw-mills and grist-mills) reported in the county

for the year 1873 58

Persons eniplovcd in same 364

Capital invested $464,500

Value of product for the year $805,930

Coal-mines uperatod (1874) 2

Cajiital invested $168,519

Men employed ^
41

Value of product at miuoa $39,000

POPULATION OF TlIK COUNTY.

The total population of Shiawassee County iti the year

1837, as shown l»y tho census returns of that year, was

* Including in thin rlass planing- and turning-milli, and sn.xh
-,

door . blind, and sp<ike facturie«.

f This claiui included foundrici*. nincbiuc-shopv, and bi>ilcr-work0.
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1184; in 1840, 2103; and in 1845 it was 3010. The

population at several later periods, from 1850 to 1874, in-

clusive, is given by townships in the following table:

1800. 1864. 1860. 1S04. 1870. 1874.

Antrim 2S2 4I.S H46 727 il92 HS5
Bennington 60 660 S95 1,0115 1,424 l,4y0

Burns 717 949 1,065 1,173 1,557 1,498
Caledoni.i 500 905 1,203 1,664 891 1,008
Corunna (Village and

City) S64 1,40S 1,345

Fairfield 74 346 352 632 643
llazelton 26 72 350 3S9 822 1,134
Middlebury 132 229 616 605 1,018 969

New Haven 130-5 174 44s 522 999 1,148
Ovvosso 392 621 573 5S9 1,058 1,050

Owosso(City) 1,169 1,346 2,0(i5 2,448

Perry 313 445 670 693 1,058 1,016
Rush 126 346 397 683 774
Scioto 191 297 499 538 1,270 1,312
Shiawassee 810 917 1,146 1,168 1,422 1,336
A'ernon 674 790 1,100 1,144 1,797 1,785
Venice 186 409 575 569 986 1,076
WooJhull 250 338 3S7 584 776 756

Total of County 5233 7419 12,898 13,465 20,858 21,773

CHAPTER XXVII.

CITY OF OWOSSO.f

The Location of the City and its Advantages—Early Ilistory, Settle-

ment, etc.—City Incorpor.atiou and Organization—First City As-

sessment—List of Cit3' Oificcrs—Fire Department and Water Supply

—Mills and Manufacturing—Educational—Secret Benevolent Asso-

ciations—Other Associations —Religious.

The city of Owosso,| the most important commercial

and manufacturing point in Shiawassee County, is situated

on the Shiawassee§ River, at the crossing of the Detroit

and Milwaukee and the Jackson, Lansing and Saginaw

Railroads. From the junction of these roads it is seventy-

nine miles to Detroit, seventy-eight to Grand Rapids, thirty-

seven to Saginaw, twenty-seven to Lansing, and three miles

to Corunna, the county-seat.

Its beautiful and healthful location, great natural advan-

tages, together with its superior railroad facilities, render it

one of the most desirable dwelling-places in Central Michi-

gan. Lying mainly within the township of Owosso, its

corporate limits extend eastward into that of Caledonia, em-

bracing a total area of four square miles. The Shiawassee

enters the city from the east, thence flowing over its rocky

bed rapidly to the northward, until the west line of section

13 is crossed, it then turns sharply to the north and con-

tinues in that direction beyond the northern limits.

* Including Rush.

j" By John S. Schenck.

t According to Mr. B. 0. Williams, this name was derived from that

of " Wasso," the prinoijjal chief of the Shiawassee band of Chippewas,
who, prior to the first occupation of the county by the whites, and for

several years subsequently, lived near Shiawasseetown. Upon the

organization of the township, in 1837, the letter was prefixed to

the chief's name, and the same .adopted as the name of the new town-
ship. The hamlet in its midst, as yet without a cognomen other than
that of " The Rapids," or the " village of Shiawassee Rapids," also,

very naturally, assumed the same name. Originally the word was
spelled Owasso, but, by common—perhaps improper—usage, it has in

recent years obtained its present orthographical style.

^ Chippewa term for "straight running river."

Owosso of to-day contains about three thousand inhabi-

tants, and with its river and race, the substantial iron

bridges spanning them, the mineral springs, the inequalities

of the surface, adorned with elegant residences and well-

kept lawns, the regularly laid out residence-streets, sliaded

with luxuriant native forest-trees, the streets of traffic,

lined with imposing brick structures, the whirr of wheels

in the manufactories, the whistling of locomotives and

the rumble of freighted trains, the dome of a handsome

school building, and the spires of numerous church edifices

surmounting all, combine to form a picture at once satisfac-

tory and pleasing, to make the little city appear—what it

really is—busy and beautiful, the home of many citizens

of thrift and culture.

EARLY HISTORY, SETTLEMENTS, Etc.

The reader will observe by referring to the history of

Owosso township that during the year 1823 Deputy United

States Surveyors Joseph Wampler and William Brookfield,

working separately and accompanied by their respective as-

sistants, ran out the township and .sectional lines prevailing at

the present time, and that from their meagre field-notes we

obtain the earliest authentic information concerning the oc-

cupancy of this immediate vicinity by the English-speaking

whites. Meanwhile, ten years had elapsed since the original

survey. No settler's rude cabin or stumpy fields as yet de-

faced nature's landscape, and, save occasional visits from the

half-breed French and Indian coumirs-de-hois (forest-run-

ners), Wasso's band of Chippewas and the wild beasts of the

forest were the only occupants of this portion of the Shia-

wassee Valley.

The time last mentioned brings us to the spring or early

summer of 1833,—a time when Benjamin O. Williams, in

pursuing his journey to Saginaw, ri'a the broad Indian trail

which followed the course of the Shiawa.ssee, passed this

way in company with the Chippewa chief, Esh-ton-e-quet,||

or " Little Bear." Mr. Williams and his guide journeyed

on Indian ponies, and as they came out on the open plain

which skirted the right bank of the river at the Che-boc-wa-

ting, or " Big Rapids," the sight unfolded to them w;is most

pleasing. A halt was made on the high ground near the

present school-building, where a better and more extended

view was obtained. They saw here magnificent water-

pow'er privileges, beautiful rose-willow plains extending

to a considerable distance back from the east bank of the

river, while on the opposite side was a wooded tract of dense,

heavy timber,—the place, in fact, described by William

Brookfield in 1823, in these words :
" Plains or oak-openings.

Land first-rate. Good soil. No large timber. It was long

ago burnt off. Undergrowth white and prickly ash, poplar,

thorns, and briars ; all in abundance."

After surveying the beauties of nature for a few moments,

Mr. Williams turned to his companion and remarked,

" What a fine farm could be made here
!"

" Yes," replied the chief; and then, giving further ex-

pression to his thoughts and the knowledge that the wliite

men were steadily encroaching upon the hunting-grounds of

his people, continued, " Not many more moons will pass

II
lie was also known by the French as Moncousin, or " My Cousin."
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over my white brother's head ere the pale-faces will have

mills, a town, and cultivated fields here."

Fully detomiiiied to possess himself of a portion, at least,

of this fair domain, the journey was resumed towards Sagi-

naw. Upon his return to their trading-post, " Tiie Ex-

change," Mr. Williams acquainted his brother, Alfred L.

Williams, of his discovery, and urged that they purchase,

with what available cash they had, lands at the " Big Kap-

ids." Deferring to his elder brother's judgment, and accom-

panied by him, B. 0. Williams again visited this region the

Banie summer, when the brothers concluded to locate lands

here, recognizing its value for mill-sites, and strongly sus-

pecting that it would be a central point in a new county.

Acting upon this determination, Alfred L. Williams pro-

ceeded to Detroit, and on the 2d of August, 1833, the first

land in the surveyed township transferred to individual own-

ership was entered in the names of Alfred L. and Benjamin

0. Williams, being a portion of section 24. Their means

of obtaining ready cash at that time were very limited, and

their purchase did not cover as much territory as they de-

sired. Therefore, when more money was obtained, addi-

tional lots were purchased on section 13, November 13th of

the same year, in all about two hundred acres.

From the date last mentioned until the summer of 1835

no other purchases were made in this vicinity or township.

The Messrs. Williams had made no improvements, and

" hind-lookers'' had not penetrated the wilderness thus far.

However, in Juno, 1835, Elias Comstock and Lewis Find-

ley, from Oakland Co., Mich., entered lands situated upon

section 13 (the former upon section 24 also). In July,

1835, the Messrs. Williams entered additional land upon

the same section, and in October of the same year Abel

Millington, of Washtenaw Co., Mich., Trumbull Gary, of

Genesee Co., N. Y., Peter A. Coudrey, of New York City,

and Elias Comstock and Soth Beach, of Oakland Co., Mich.,

entered lands situated upon sections 13, 14, 23, and 24, all

within or near the present corporate limits of the city of

Owo.sso.

Early in July, 1835, the first settlement in the northern

half of Shiawa.ssee County was commenced at the " Big

Rapids of the Sliiawa.ssee," the locality now known as the

city of Owos.so, by people from Oakland County. The

movement was inaugurated by Elias Comstock, Lewi.s Find-

ley, and Kilburn Bedell (a soninlaw of Findley), who

having purchased lands here in June of the same year,

were desirous of beginning immediate improvements upon

them. Therefore a party, consisting of Klias Comstock,

Lewis Findley, Kilburn Bedell and wife, John D. Overton,

his wife and one child, and David Van Wormer, with his

wife and one child, left Pontiac in the first days of July,

1835, and began their journey to this point. Tlicir house-

hold effects and their women and children were mounted

upon two wagons, drawn by two o.^i-teams ; two or tlirec

Cows were al.so brought along. July 4tli was celebrated by

cutting out roads. An Indian trail was followed mainly,

but frequently it was diverged from and a route of their

own cut out, in the endeavor to keep upon dry ground and

the nmst direct course.

Upon their arrival, Mr. Findley immediately built a log

cabin and settled on the east part of the northwest frac-

I'J

tional quarter of section 13. His son-in-law, Mr. Bedell,

located a short distance north, on section 12, while the

Messrs. Overton and Van Wormer, who were in the employ

of Mr. Comstock, erected and occupied a double log house,

which stood near the river (the lot now owned and occupied

by Hon. Jerome W. Turner), the latter being the first build-

ing erected within the limits of the city proper. After his

tenants were comfortably housed and cared for, Mr. Com-
stock returned to Pontiac, where he passed the succeeding

winter.

During the fall of 1S35 another settler arrived at "The
Rapids," in the person of Henry S. Smith. He was a

blacksmith by trade, the second settler in the county

(John I. Tinkelpaugh having been the first), and first lo-

cated just below Shiawa.sseetown in the fall of 1832,

where, associated with a Mr. Cooley, and possessing a few

goods and a barrel of whisky, he endeavored to establish

an Indian trading-post. His wife, a delicate, nervous

woman, and five children joined him in 1833. The ven-

ture at Shiawasseetown did not succeed very well, however,

and in the fall of 1835 he was induced by Alfred L. Wil-

liams to remove and take up his residence at the " Big'

Rapids of the Shiawassee." A log cabin was erected on

land now known as block 24, east side of the race, and

when occupied by himself and family he became the first

settler on the site of the original village plat. The early

settlers remember him as a genial, liberal, and good fellow,

who had the confidence and esteem of all who knew him.

He brought the first plow into the county. He was elected

as the first collector, and also one of the highway commis-

sioners in 1837; was re-elected to the same offices in 1838,

and in 1839 or '40 removed with Daniel Ball to Chesaning,

thence to Grand Rapids, where it is believed he still resides.

Of the settlers before mentioned we will here add that

Lewis Findley opened the first farm in the township. He
became the first supervisor of Owosso in 1837, and again

filled the same position in 1841. After continuing as a

resident of this township for a number of years, he finally

removed to Six-Mile Creek. His son-in-law, Kilburn Be-

dell, was the first one in the .settlement to depart from the

cares and troubles of this life. Apparently in perfect

health, early in March, 183G, he proceeded to visit the

" Exchange" for the purpose of transacting some business.

Returning, he arrived at a point near the Byerly farm, when

he became seriously ill. I'eople at the A'aii Wormer and

Overton cabin were notified of his condition. They at once

hastened to his a.'^sistance, ]ilaced him upon a hand-sled,

and brought him to the cabin, where all the appliances and

remedies at hand were used for his restoration. But they

were of no avail. He died the same evening, and on the

following day was buried on his own land, near the banks

of the Shiawassee. Mr. Comstock, wlio was then present

in the .settlement, made the coffin from cherry lumber

which ."^Ir. Bedell had brought in to nnuinfaeture into tables.

Messrs. Van Wormer and Overton continued as residents

here but two or three years.

Hon. Elias Comstock, who has been prominently id<'Mii-

lii'd with the history of this coniinunily since 1S35, was

born at New London, Conn., Dec. 18, 171)9. His father.

Rev. Elkanah Cora.stock, was a Baptist clergyman, and re-
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moving from Connecticut to Albany Co., N. Y., about 1802,

was pastor of the Baptist Church in the town of Berne

until 1807. He then removed to Cayuga Co., N. Y.,

serving as pastor of churches in the towns of Scipio and

Owosco, N. Y., until the fall of 1824, when, with his

family, he emigrated to Michigan. He settled at Pontiac,

and became the first pastor of the first Baptist Church in

the Territory. His son, Elias Comstock, received the ad-

vantages afforded in the common schools of New York

State, and finally completed his studies under the tuition

of Mr. Ellis, at Skaueateles, N. Y. From his eighteenth

year until his removal to Michigan, May, 1823, he was

occupied as a teacher in Cayuga Co., N. Y. Soon after

his arrival he engaged in teaching in Detroit as assistant to

John Farmer, then principal of the Detroit Academy. He
nest taught school in Pontiac, which then contained less

than a dozen families. In 1824 he engaged in mercantile

business at Stony Creek, Oakland Co. The following

year he returned to Pontiac, where he became the suc-

cessor of John J. Jermain, the first merchant of that

place. He was appointed clerk of Oakland County by

Governor Cass in 1827, and soon after, by the same

authority, became justice of the peace, continuing to hold

both oflices for eight years. While filling the positions of

clerk and justice he also found time to clear and cultivate

a farm of eighty acres, which is now wholly within the limits

of the city of Pontiac.

Having sold his possessions in Pontiac in 1835, he then

located laud* on the Shiawassee River, now a part of the

city of Owosso. Like others, he located his land with the

idea that Owosso was to be the county-seat ; but the inter-

ests of Detroit land-owners prevailed, and Corunna was

established. By the settlement of Messre. Overton and

Van Wormer many improvements had been made upon

his purchase. A dwelling-house had been erected for him

b}' Henry S. Siuith, and in pursuance of his plans, on the

15th of May, 183G, he settled his family at "The Rapids,"

completing the journey from the " Exchange" in a canoe.

Holding an appointment as justice of the peace of Oakland

County, and as this region was then attached to that county

for all judicial purposes, he became the first resident justice,

and the succeeding year (1837) was elected to the same

position in the new township of Owosso. During tlio years

183S, 'ot), and '40 he served as supervisor. In subsequent

years lie has served as judge of probate, county judge, asso-

ciate judge of the Circuit Court, and in 1852, 1856, and

1858 he was chosen county clerk on the Republican ticket.

Although more than fourscore years of age, yet in appaient

good health and honored by all who know him. Judge

Comstock still resides in the beautiful little city he assisted

to found forty-five years ago.

In the autumn of 1835 and the winter succeeding,

Messrs. A. L. and B. 0. Williams became active in the pre-

liminary work necessary for the establishment of a village

on their purchase. The veteran surveyor Hervey Parke,

of Pontiac, came up and platted the village of Shiawassee

RapidSjf on lands resting on the right bank of the river.

* See list of land-entries, history of Owosso township,

•j" Maps of this ]>lat have not been preserved.

A petition praying for the right to dam the Shiawassee

River received favorable consideration at the hands of the

Territorial legislative body then in session, and by an act

approved March 28, 1836, Alfred L. and Benjamin O.

Williams, their heirs and assigns, were authorized to build

a dam across the Shiawassee River four feet in height, at

a place known and described as " The Rapids," on section

24, in township No. 7 north, of range No. 2 east. The

act further specified, " They shall also build a good and

sufficient lock, not less than seventy-five feet in length and

sixteen feet in width, for the passage of boats, canoes, rafts,

and other water-craft."

Early in 1836 a bargain was completed between the

Mes.srs. Williams and Daniel Ball & Co., whereby the

latter became the owners of one-third of the village plat,

besides the water-power and the land lying between the

proposed mill-race and river. Silas and Daniel Ball also

purchased of the general government in March, 1836, lands

situated upon sections 24, 25, and 36. Daniel Ball was a

practical millwright, an energetic business man, and, in pur-

suance of his project to establish mills and to assist in

building up a village, arrived here from Rochester, N. Y.,

early in the autumn of 1836, with a number of families,

people frequently spoken of as " Bull's colonists." Among

them were Rufus Collier, Simon Howell, John B. Griswold,

William B. Hopkins, Henry Crooks, Daniel Fletcher, Mr.

Sweet, John Lute, Mr. Hilton, Mr. Siegel,J who had

served with the First Napoleon, and perhaps others whose

names are not remembered.

Machinery for Ball's saw-mill, and the greater portion of

the goods belonging to this party of .settlers, had been

shipped to Saginaw, from whence it was proposed to bring

them up the Shiawassee on canoes, rafts, etc. But on the

6th of October a heavy and unseasonable snow-storm came

on, which, falling upon trees yet clothed in their summer

verdure, caused many of them to bend and fall into the

stream, thus rendering navigation impossible until cleared

away. In the long delay which ensued before getting

their household articles considerable privation and hardship

was experienced. Cabins were first erected, and after the

various families were comfortably quartered therein, work

was commenced on the mill-race. The latter, the dam, and

a saw-mill were completed sometime during the year 1837.

Mr. Ball occupied the log cabin built by Henry S. Smith

in 1835 for a store, and it is believed became the first

postmaster at about the same time.

During the spring of 1837, Alfred L. Williams moved

from the "Exchange" to the village and estiiblished the

store known at that time as " Williams' trading-post."

His brother, B. 0. Williams, did not permanently settle

here until the following year. The log dwelling-house first

occupied by A. L. Williams stood just in front of Dr.

Barnes' present residence. Mr. B. 0. Williams relates

that the mosquitoes and gnats were terribly annoying dur-

ing those days. Smudges of rotten wood were kindled each

night, and pans of the same smoking material carried into

the rooms. One night, when the Williams brothers and

J His wife received the credit of having given birth to the first

child (.John Sii'gcl) born in the township.
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two or three workmen were occupying the building, the

busy insects were more than usually on the alert ; the

"smudge" seemed to have no effect on them whatever. In

sheer desperation, Alfred L. Williams arose and threw a

handful of red pepper in the fire Nearly suffocated, the

inmates ran to open air for their lives. The mosquitoes,

however, were quieted for that night.

The year 1837 throughout was an eventful one in the

history of Owosso. It witnessed the formation of the town-

ship ;
the completion of the race; an increased number of

settlers, in the persons of Daniel Gould, who became the

first county surveyor, Austin Griffis, Ebcnezer Gould, an

early merchant and lawyer, and afterwards known to fame

as colonel of the " Fighting Fifth" Michigan Cavalry, Anson

B., William, and Isaac M. Chipman, Sanford M. Green,

George Parkill, and others; and the survey and location of

the Northern Railroad,* which, in passing from Port Hu-

ron, through Lapeer, Flint, Corunna, Owosso, Lyons, Ionia,

and Grand Rapids to Lake Michigan, was to become one of

tliQ most important internal improvements ever adopted by

any State.

At this time, too (1837), the citizens of Owosso began

looking about them for some means of conveying goods to

and from their settlement other than by the miserable,

deep rutted wagon-roads leading to Pontiac, Detroit, and

Ann Arbor, and by an act of the State Legislature, ap-

proved March 21, 1837, the Owosso and Saginaw Naviga-

tion Company"}" was incorporated, and Daniel Ball, Alfred

L. Williams, Benjamin 0. Williams, Lewis Findley, Wil-

liam Gage, Gardner D. Williams, Norman Little, Samuel

G. Watson, Ephraim S. Williams, Elias Comstock, Alex-

ander Hilton, and Perry G. Gardener were named as cor-

porators. Their purpose was to make navigable the waters

of the Shiawa.ssee River between the two points named in

the title of the act. The capital stock was to be one hun-

dred thousand dollars, divided into shares of twenty-five

dollars each. Besides those mentioned, other inhabitants

of Owosso aided in finding means for pushing the work,—

•

notably Ebcnezer Gould and David D. Fish.

This company went forward and expended several thou-

sand d<illars and worked for two years in removing ob-

structions of drift-wood and fallen timber, principally be-

tween Chesaning and Bad River. Tow-paths, stone dams,

and the many other expedients necessary to render the river

navigable to Saginaw were adopted. Messrs. Daniel Ball

and Sanford M. Green worked in the water beside their

men from daylight till dark, meanwhile tormented by mos-

quitoes continuously. One of their foremen, John B.

* In 18;>3-IVJ much of tliia proposed lino was clenrctl nntl grubbed

out, and cunsi(Ieral)Iu gniding wnA done at various points along the

lino. But the scheme was abandoned in the latter year, and except

where it has since been used as the " Northern Wagon-Road" the

money thus expended by the State was thrown away.

f Another company under the same name was empowered by an

aot of the liCgislature, approved May 15, 1816, to continue the worlt

in the endeavor to render navigable the Shiawassee. Those named in

the act as commissioners were Amos Gould, Alfred L. Williams, Ben-

jamin 0. Williams, Klias Comstock, Ebcnezer C. Kimberly, Lemuel

Castle, Isaac Gale, (Jeorgo W. Slocumb, Kdward L. Ament, Anson B.

Chipmnn, and John B. Barnes. But after some further expenditure

of time and material the project was abandoned.

Griswold, also greatly aided their efforts. At that time, to

fail in tiiis work was thought fatal to the success of set-

tling the country, as the expense of hauling over the terri-

ble wagon-roads was ruinous to bu.siness men. The com-

pany finally succeeded in rendering the river navigable for

flat-bottomed boats, and one Durham boat was built by

Ebcnezer Gould and others, which was capable of carrying

and did carry over two hundred barrels of flour at one

cargo from Owosso to Saginaw. Mr. B. 0. Williams, from

whose published pioneer recollections wc hwe gathered the

information concerning the navigation of the Shiawassee,

says that several scows were first built, with foot- or run-

ning-boards at each side for the boatmen to pole the boat

up the river. From Chesaning a horse was u.scd for tow-

ing, occasionally jumping the horse upon the bow of the

boat to cross him over the river when the opposite bank

afforded better facilities.

In 1838, Messrs. Ebenezor Gould and David D. Fish

established themselves as merchants in the village. They

were really the first, if we except the small stock kept by

Daniel Ball for the accommodation mainly of his workmen,

and the goods brought here by A. L. Williams from his

trading-post, " The Exchange."

On the 13tli of October, 1838, the land now known as

the original plat;|; of the village of Owosso was surveyed

and mapped by Daniel Gould, surveyor, at the instance of

Alfred L. and B. 0. Williams, proprietors. An explana-

tory note of the surveyor says, " This pfat includes the fol-

lowing parcels of laud : the northeast fraction of the

northeast fractional quarter of fractional section 24 ; the

southeast fractional ((uartor of fractional section No. 13, in

township 7 north, range 2 east ; and the west part of the

southwest fractional quarter of section No. 18, in township

No. 7 north, of range No. 3 east."

Grounds set aside for public uses were " Fayette Square"

and the " burying-ground." The streets, as shown by the

original map, ran north and south, east and west. Those

running east and west are North, Oliver, Williams, Mason,

Exchange, Main, and Comstock. Those running north and

south. Mulberry, Pine, Adams, Water, Ball, Washington,

Park, Saginaw, and Hickory. All are four rods wide ex-

cept Washington and Main Streets, and E.xchango Street

as far west as Water, which are six rods in width.

Dr. S. W. Pattison, the first practicing physician to re-

side in the county, came from Fentouville, Genesee Co.,

and settled in Owosso in 1839. Dr. Joseph 1\ Roberts

had previously settled in the territory now known as Perry

township, but he devoted all his energies to farming. Ho

was one of the earliest settlers there, and po.ssosMed a well-

cultivated mind. Before Dr. Pattisou came to Owosso, the

early settlers, in cases of dire emergency, sent to Fentou-

villc, to Grand Blanc, and to Flint for physicians. For the

treatment of ordinary cases of fevers, lever and ague, etc.,

I Additions to iho original plat have boon mado by Louisa A. Oould'a

subdivision of out-lots 1 and '1. .Tune .'10, I.S5(); 8. K. Barnes, July,

ISoO; Alfred L. Williams, Oct. 22, ISSfi; l^uey 1,. Conisloc-k, Aug. 16,

ISfj? ; Louisa Morell, Aug. 18, 1857; Williams A Lyon, Golobcr, 1857;

Charles L. Goodhue, .lun. V, 18(1(1; A. L. and li. (). Williams' subdi-

vision of out-lots (i and 7, Juno 110, 1801 ; Jennetl II. Kelly, .Sept. 3,

18GII; Krastus Barnes, Juno 4 and 5, 18(18 ; Alary A. Cbipuuin, .May

25, ISOU; A. L. and 11. 0. Williams, Sept. lit, 1872.
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many of the pioneers were provided with lancets and common

medicines, and in their use became quite expert. Particu-

larly was this the case with Mr. B. 0. Williams, who during

the early years preceding the settlement of physicians

treated many patients successfully.

In 1839 the township voted two hundred and fifty dollars

for the purpose of building a bridge across the river at the

Washington Street crossing, and during the same year

Messrs. Ball, Green & Co. erected the first grist-mill. This

was a great acquisition to this portion of the country, as

previously no gi-ist-mills were near^ than the " Thread

Mill" in Flint. Other business enterprises, such as wool-

carding and cloth-dressing mills, an iron-furnace, and various

small mechanical shops, soon followed, and the village

slowly yet steadily gained in importance and population.

It would be a matter of impossibility at this time to follow

in close chronological order the further liistory of Owosso,

so far as relates to the names of inhabitants, the precise

date of their settlement, and the gradual development of

business interests. It will not be attempted therefore,

other than to give the names of resident tax-payers at two or

three different intervals of time.

In 1844 the tax-paying residents of the village of

Owosso, alphabetically arranged, were

Ament, Edward L., news-

paper publisher.

Ament, Winfield S., black-

smith.

Barnes, John B., physician.

Barnes, Erastus.

Becker, H. W.
Comstock, Elias.

Comstock & Pattison, mer-

chants.

Chipman, Anson B.

Chipman, I. M.

Comstock, Luther.

Collier, Rufus.

Collier, Onin.

Carr, William A., cabinets

shop.

Chipman, William.

Crooks, Henry.

Casper, Felix, wool-carding,

etc.

Conrad, Justus.

Fletcher, Daniel, wagon-

maker.

Foot, Philip.

Goodhue, Charles L., mer-

chant.

Goodhue, J. M.

GrifiBs, Austin, saw-mill.

Griffis & Whitcomb.

Griffis, Alanson, cooper.

Graham, J. N., physician.

Gould, Daniel, surveyor.

Gould, Daniel, & Co., fur-

nace.

Gould, Amos, attorney and

owner of grist-mill.

Gould, Amos, and others,

water-power, and all the

land between the mill-

race and river, about fif-

teen acres.

George, Oscar.

Hardy, Seth, clergyman.

Howell, Simon.

Moses, Charles M.

McGilvra, Daniel.

Morton, Benoni.

Pattison, Samuel W., phy-

sician.

Perkins, Sprague, brick-

maker.

Parkill, George, carpenter.

Phillips, John G.

Parkill, Charles P., an early

teacher.

Roberts, J. P.

Smith, L. v., carpenter.

Simons, William.

Tyler, David F., blacksmith.

Tillotson, Matthew N., mer-

chant.

Williams, Alfred L.

Williams, Benjamin 0.

Whitcomb, Samuel H.

Whitlock, Joseph.

Additional residents mentioned in 1850 were James M.

Williams, William H. Keyfes, David Ingersoll, Dr. Charles

T. Disbrow, David W. Wheeler, Ebenezer Gould, Samuel

Wallace, Ira Merell, Robert G. Martin, Arthur Keytes,

Dwight Dimmick, Jesse H. Quackenbush, Lucius G.

Hammond, George L. Hall, George Jones, Alexander

Clagherty, William R. Chipman, Thomas D. Dewey, Ran-

dolph L. Stewart, Joseph Hedges & Co. (woolen-mills),

Jlerrill H. Clark, D. Stewart & Co., George W. Collier,

William Smith, and Ezekiel W. Stickuey.

CITY INCORPORATION AND ORGANIZATION.

By the completion of a portion of the lines of the Detroit

and Milwaukee Railroad in 1856, and the Amboy, Lansing

and Traverse Bay road in 1862, and the activity created in

consequence of Owosso becoming a railroad junction, the

people concluded that for their better government a city

charter was necessary. The village then contained about

one thousand inhabitants, and in accordance with their

wishes, by an act of the State Legislature approved Feb. 15,

1859, the city of Owosso was created.

Extracts from that act describe its original and present

boundaries, etc., as follows :

" That so much of the townships of Owosso and Cale-

donia, in the county of Shiawassee, as are included in the

following territory, to wit: Sections 13 and 24, and the

east half of sections 14 and 23 in township 7, north of

range No. 2 east, and also the west half of sections 18 and

19 in township No. 7 north, of range No. 3 east, being in

the county of Sliiawas.see, be and the same is hereby set off

from the said townships of Owosso and Caledonia and de-

clared to be a city, by the name of ' the City of Owosso,'

by which name it shall hereafter be known."

The city was divided into four wards, whose boundaries

were defined as follows : The First Ward to include that por-

tion lying north of the centre of Main Street and west of

Washington Street. The Second Ward all that portion

lying north of the centre of Main Street and east of the

centre of Washington Street. The Third Ward all that por-

tion lying south of the centre of Main Street and east of

the centre of Washington Street ; while the Fourth Ward
embraced all that portion lying south of the centre of Main

Street and west of the centre of Washington Street.

After arranging for the election and appointment of

oflBcers, designating their duties, and the enactment of

various laws for the government of the city, it was further

ordered that the first election under the charter should be

held on the first Monday of April, 1859. The polling-

places designated were " In the First Ward, at the inn kept

by Jacob Aberle ; in the Second Ward, at the inn kept by

Alfred Stewart ; in the Third Ward, at the store now kept

by William Goff ; in the Fourth Ward, at the inn kept by

S. J. Harding."

FIRST CHARTER ELECTION.

Pursuant to the provisions of the foregoing act, the elec-

tors assembled at their respective polling-places on Monday,

April 4, 1859, for the purpose of electing city officers, and

as a result the following-named officers were declared elected :

Amos Gould, Mayor ; John N. lugersoU, Clerk ; Daniel



CITl' OF OWOSSO. 149

Lyon, Treasurer ; E. W. Barnes, Supervisor of the First

District; Elislia Leach, Supervisor of the Second District;

Charles M. Moses, Charles L. Goodhue, Aldermen of the

First Ward ; Daniel L. Thorpe, Thomas D. Dewey, Alder-

men of the Second Ward ; John Gutekunst, George R.

Black, Aldermen of the Third Ward; Stillman J. Harding,

Eli D. Gregory, Aldermen of the Fourth Ward ; Ira Mer-

ell, Justice of the Peace for the Second District ; George

K. Newcombo, Amos INI. Kellogg, School Inspectors; Daniel

AVait, M. W. Quackenbush, Directors of the Poor; Robert

Hodgkins, of the First District, and Ephraim Gould, of the

Second District, Constables.

PIEST CITY ASSESSMENT.

In June, 1859, the first assessment was made on the

people residing within the city's corporate limits, and their

names,* arranged alphabetically, were

:

Amnet, W. S.

Andrews, H. S.

Andrus, W. H.

Aberle, Jacob.

Ayers, .

Almandinger, J. D.

Beckel & Co.

Byerly, Adam H.

Bradley, H. H.

Bennett, J. S.

Brooks, Daniel.

Bush, Frank.

Bush, G. & E.

Burnham, W. D.

Burpee, M. W.
Bagg, H. C.

Bagg, C. C.

Bagg, J. H.

Barnes, Erastus.

Brynell, H. D.

Barnes, Mrs. S. K.

Babcock, Wm. F.

Baldwin, George.

Black, Geo. R.

Bellinger, A. D.

Barnes, E. W.
Beebe, A. M.

Beebe, Charles M.

Barnum, Mrs. J. A.

Burge-ss, F. W.
Comstock, Elias.

Comstock, L. R.

Ca.se, William.

Cobb, D. J.

Chipman, A. B.

Chipman, M.

Collier, Geo. W.
Collier, Mrs. R.

Collier, C. II.

Clark, Robert.

Chamberlin, Levi.

Chapel, G. W.
Corbin, Jlrs. W.
Chipman, Wm. R.

Caille, Joseph.

Carr, W. A.

Colar, Jacob.

Colt, Mrs. M.

Cornelius, J. W.
Dewey & Stewart.

Dewey, T. D.

Davis, Lewis B.

Dimmick, D.

Decker, S. C.

Fletcher, William.

Gutekunst, John.

Guile, J. W.
Gilbert, Thomas.

Gute, Fred.

Goodburn, E.

Gregory, E. D.

Gould, L. A.

Gould, Amos.

Gould & Co.

Gould, Mrs. I. II.

Gould, D.

Gould & Todd.

Goodhue, C. L.

Goodhue, S. II.

Howell, Simon.

Ilurgenhaus, II.

Hedges, Joseph.

Hughes, Geo.

Hodgkins, Robert.

Hakes, S. W.
Ilorton, J.

Harding, Stillman J.

llolman, Ciiarlcs.

* Those names are copied from the roll. If any nro misspelled the

oiiors must bo altributod to the nsaosaur.

IIcavtstuff,t John. Robinson, W. E.

Hitchcock & Bro. Randall, A. M.
Howard, Charles. Randall, E. P.

Harmon & Retan. Rus,sell, John.

Howe, E. L. Retan, B. L.

Ingersoll, D. Rice, John.

Ingersoll, Wm. Rushton, Mrs. J.

Ingersoll, Jno. N. Reynus, Russell.

Josenhauns, G. Stewart, John.

Knill, Henry. Stewart, M. L.

Kellogg, Amos M. Smith, E.

Kingsland, Geo. Smith & Yates.

Keytes, Wm. H. Shattuck, Charles.

Kelly, John. Secord, M.

Kitredgc, Frank. Sly, Wm.
Lyon, W. J. Struber, L.

Leach, Elisha. Spencer, Laura.

Lamunion, Abel. Stewart, A.

Lyon, Daniel. Simmons, C. B.

Lyon, Joel. Smith, Wm.
Lewis, Hiram L. Stillwell, Mrs. M.

Laubengayer, Jno. F. Stewart, R. L.

Laubengayer, J. B. Sherman, Mrs. Louisa.

Mullen, D.J. Taylor, Benj. F.

Moss, Morris. Todd, Edwin A.

McBain, Newton. Thorpe, Daniel L.

Murray, John. Van Doren, J. B.

Miller, A. Van Doren, J. D.

Miller, John F. Weeks, D.

Mann, J. W. Whitman, E. A.

Merell, Ira. Whalen, Mrs. Sarah.

Mann & Gould. Williams, A. L.

Moses, Charles M. Williams, B. D.

Morris, W. M. AVilliams & Bro.

Newcomb, Geo. K. Wait, Daniel.

Osborn, L. E. AVilliams, A. L. (agent).

Phillipson, C. Williams & Co.

Pangburn, J. White, E. E.

Post, A. White, E. E. & Bro.

Perry, J. B. Young, James H.

Parsons, H. Young, Russell.

Palmer, J. C. Yates, Joseph.

Quackenbush, M. W.

The total amount of tax levied in that year was

$3981.11, applied to the following purposes

:

Stale. S2.57.99

Couutj- •. 382.12

City 990.00

Sohoul district 2H8.2i
" library 2.').00

Howard Street grading V.'i.OO

Highways &.07

Culleetors' commissions 8U.US

$.1984.11

Since its incorporation, and especially during the last

decade, many and important iniprovoment-s have been made.

Streets have been filled and graded, miles of sidc-wnikB laid,

a fire department created, and the many other details neces-

sary to the health and comfort of its citizens have been

attended to by cfliciont municipal authorities.

f Probably Uarl{*ufl'.
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Matters pertaining to its present manufacturinp; and

banking interests, churulies, secret associations, etc., will be

found upon other pages.

LIST OP CITY OFFICERS.

TLe following lists show the names of mayors, clerks,

treasurers, supervisors, justices of the peace, and aldermen

elected during the years from I SCO to ISSO, inclusive:

Clerks. Treasurers.

John N. Ingersoll. An?on B. Chijiman.

Ancl'w J. Patterson. '* '*

R. L. Stewart.* Stillman J. Harding

Charles Y. Osbii'rn. '• "

Henry B.Gregory. Andrew G. Kelso.

Mayors.

1S60. Amos Gould.

1861. Adam H. Byerly.

1862. Bonj. 0. Williams.

1863. Charles M. Moses.

1864. Josiah Turner.

1865.

1866. John B. Barnes.

1867. Anson B. Chipman. And'w J. Patterson.

1868. Thomas D. Dewey. " "

1869. Benj. F. Taylor. " "

1870. Edwin A. Todd. " "

1871. Eli D. Gregory

1872. David Gould.

1873. "

1874. "

1875. Wm. M. Kilpatrick. " '

1876. And'w J. Patterson. George Colt

1877. .Tames Osburn. '* " "

1S7S. " " Thomas V. Perkins. "

1879. Jerome Vf. Turner. " " George Colt.

1880. Wm. A. AVoodard. George W. Loriug. " "

IXenry W. Parker.

Jones S. Davis.
i< (I

Newton Baldwin.

II. B. Gates.

Henry C. Knil

II. B. Gates.

Newton Baldwin.

ALDERMEN.

1860.

18G1.

1SC2.

1803.

1804.

1SG5.

1800.

1807.

1808.

1SG9.

1870.

1871.

1872.

1873.

1874.

1875.

1S7C.

1877.

1878.

1870.

1880.

First Ward.

K. L. Stewart.

Chas. M. Moses.

Gilbert E. Lyon.

Johu Stewart.

Eli D. Gregory.

I. M. Cbipuian.

Edwin N. Knapp.

I. M. Chipmau.

Cephas W. Clal.p.

James Osburn.

Geo. B. Hughes.

Erastus E.White.

John W. Thorn.

James Osbnrn.

George Fauth.

W. H. Andrus.

Second Ward.

Tbos. D. Dewey.

Newton Baldwin

Daniel Lyon.

Joseph J. Austin.

Robt.W. Durkee.

Benj. F.Taylor.

G. L. Hitchcock.

M. A. Gregory.!

George U. Black.

Geo. W. Loring.

Arthur McIIardy

Cba.s. P. Parker.

C. W. Hastings.

Third Ward.

R. C. Beckwith.

Julia Gutekuiist.

11, C. Beckwith.

John Gutekunst.

Wm. S. Boerem.

John Gutekunst.

Darius Elwell.

John Gute.

Edgar P. Byerly.

H. H. Waters.

Edgar P. Byerly.

K. C. Beckwith.

Benj. S. Itutan. L. 0. Brewer.

HonryB Gregory. John Gute.

Beuj. S. Rutau. " "

1860.

1861.

1862.

1863.

1864.

1865.

1866.

1867.

1868.

1869.

1870.

1871.

Geo. Carpenter. C. A. Baldwin. Geo. W. Chapel.

Cbas. A. Osbnrn. Geo. W. Loring. J. F. Wilder-

nnith.

Nath. A. Fiuch. Arthur McIIardy. Geo. W. Chapel.

Edwin A. Todd. Oscar WelU. Edgar P. Byerly

Fred. Osburo. Chas. Lawrence. W. J. Wi-stlake.

Thomas Nelan. Oscar Weils. F. Wildermutli.

SUPERVISORS.
First District. Second District.

Benjamin W. Davis. M. "W. Quackenbush.

Benj. 0. Williams. " "

Ebenezer Gould. Charles A. Baldwin.

George P. Jloses. ** "

Geo. L. Hitchcock. " "

Fourth Ward.

Eli D. Gregory.

Daniel Wait.

Jos. J. Newman.
J. B. Van Doren.

Edwin L. Howe.

Benj. F. Rubbius.

M. Hansniau.

James F. Yeats.

Leonard L. Howe.

N. H. Welcher.

William Lewis.

Leonard L. Howe.

D. L. Densmore.

Leonard L. Huwe.

A. J. Pattereon.

Ell D. Gregory.

James F. Yeats.

Wm. J. Miller.

J. F. Wolverton.

Eli D. Gregory.

James F. Yeats.

Elliott V. Smith.

At Large.

Ebenezer Gould.

Ezekiel Salisbury.

Isaac S. Bockee.
(( ti

David Gould.

Charles E. Shattuek.
(I it

J. L. Qaackenbush.

Adam H. Byerly.

Charles Y. Osbur

* Henry B. Gregory appointed to fill vacancy, May 16, 1864.

j- George W. Loring elected to till vacancy, April 20, ISCS.

First District. Second District. At Largo.

1872. Ezekiel Salisbury. Adam H. Byerly. John II. Champion.

1873. " '• " " Wm. M. Kilpatrick.

1874. " " " "

1875. " " " " Gilbert R. Lyon.

1S70. Tim. M. Templeton. Henry W. Parker. Wm. M. Kilpatrick.

1877. " " Chas. A. Baldwin. Adam II. Byerly.

1878. Leonard L. Howe. " " " "

1879. Nathaniel A. Finch. " " Stearns F. Smith.

1880. " " " " " "

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

First District.

1861. Elias Comstock.

186.'). John B. Van Doren.

1869. Hiram L. Chipman.

1873. John B. Van Doren.

1877. Lawrence Van Dusen.

Second District.

18G3. Ira Merell.

1867. " "

1871. Benjamin F. Taylor.

1875. " "

1879. " "

FIRE DEPARTMENT AND WATER SUPPLY.

Prior to the autumn of 1871 the city possessed no fire

apparatus of any description, although the Common Council

had voted upon the matter frequently. During the time

mentioned, however, fifty leather fire-buckets and some

eight or ten ladders were procured. In the spring of 1S70

a hook-and-laddcr truck and eight Babcock fire-extinguish-

ers were purchased. A fire company—of which Frederick

Wildermuth was foreman—was organized at about the same

time. But the real organization of Owosso's fire department

did not take place until 1876.

In February of that year a Silsby steam fire-engine was

purchased, and in April following city fire department

officers were elected. Centennial Engine Company, Defi-

ance Hose Company, No. 1, Reliance Hose Company, No. 2,

and Phojni.x Hook-and-Ladder Company were regularly

organized during the same year.

Following are lists of city and company fire department

officers for the years of 1876 to 1880, inclusive:

Cit^, 1876.—TliomasD. Dewey, Chief Engineer ; James

Osburn, First Assistant ; Henry B. Gregory, Second A&sist-

aut ; Mcses Keytes, Treasurer ; Newton McBain, Secretary.

1877-79.—Thomas D. Dewey, Chief Engineer; James

Calkins, First Assistant ; John D. Evens, Second Assist-

ant.

1880.—Nathaniel A. Finch, Chief Engineer ; Henry A.

Woodard, First Assistant ; William Douglass, Second As-

sistant ; Warren A. Woodard, Secretary ; Bloses Keytes,

Treasurer.

Centennial Enejlne Company, No. . . . : 1876.—A. E.

McCullom,J Foreman ; George W. Collier, Assistant Fore-

man
; L. A. Hamblin, Secretary ; H. B. Gates, Treasurer

;

Walter A. Osborn, Engineer ; George W. Collier, Assistant

Engineer.

1877.—George W. Collier, Foreman ; Moses Keytes,

Assistant Foreman ; Walter A. Osborn, Engineer.

1878-79.—Moses Keytes, Foreman ; Warren A. Wood-

ard, Assistant Foreman ; Walter A. Osborn, Engineer.

1880.—Moses Keytes, Foreman ; Warren A. Woodard,

Assistant Foreman
; George B. Hughes, Treasurer ; George

^\^ Loring, Secretary ; Walter A. Osborn, Engineer
;
Frank

J McCullom resigned in May, 1876, when George W. Collier was

elected foreman and Charles A. Baldwin assistant foreman.

5

I
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Cherry, Assistant Engiueer; Charles Owen and Frank

Cherry, Firemen.

Phantx Ilixik-dud-Ladder Company : 1876.—J. Fred.

Wilderniuth, Foreman ; Charles W. Matthews, Assistant

Foreman; John F. Wolverton, Secretary; J. Fred. Wil-

dernjuth, Treasurer. These ofEcers have served continu-

ously to the present time.

Defiance Hose Company, No. 1 : 187G-7S.—Albert Chip-

man, Foreman ; D. Dwight, Assistant Foreman ; George H.

Bedford, Secretary and Treasurer.

1879-80.—D. Dwight, Foreman ; D. A. Barnum, As-

sistant Foreman ; George H. Bedford, Secretary and Treas-

urer.

Reliance Hose Company: 1876-79.—Nathaniel A.

Finch, Foreman ;
John S. Hoyt, Assistant Foreman

;
Isaac

S. Cooper, Secretary; George Smith, Treasurer.

1880.—Thomas J. Horsman, Foreman; John S. Hoyt,

Assistant Foreman ; Isaac S. Cooper, Secretary ;
and Fred-

erick Osburn, Treasurer.

The city fire apparatus, including two thousand feet of

hose, i.s in good condition, and its water-supply, in case of

need, is derived from the river and mill-race, also from two

capacious cisterns where a large quantity is stored. Water

for drinking and culinary uses is obtained from wells.

MILLS AND MANUFACTURING.
Among the manufacturing interests which once had an

existence in Owosso, but have now passed away, was that

carried on in the pioneer saw-mill erected by Daniel Ball

k (Jo., in 1837 ; the grist-mill built by Ball, Green & Co.,

in 1839, which burned ten years later ; Felix Casper's

wool-carding and cloth-dressing works, established some

time between 1840 and 1844, in a building now forming

part of Woodard's furniture-manufactory and phmirig-mills
;

the woulen-mill which burned in 1867 ;
and the building

owned and occupied by the " Owosso Woolen Manufac-

turing (^nipany,'' which was built in 1867, and burned

in 1873. These mills all deserve a place in history, and

some of them have been alluded to on previous pages.

The manufacturing interests of to-day are represented as

follows : The flouring-mill of Mes.srs. Dewey & Stewart

was established by them in 1850. It stands near the loot

of the Uiill-race, below and on the opposite side from the

site of the old grist-mill. It began operations with two

run of stones. Gradual additions have been made to its

capacity until it now has six run of stones, and will flour

.sixty bushels of wheat per hour. Power is derived from

both water and steam. They have in connection, also, a

saw- and feed-mill, which is carried on in a building erected

in 1863 as a saw- and plaster-mill.

Messrs. Fletcher & Roberts' grist-mill was built in 1871,

the present owners always having had a controlling interest.

Steam-power is used, and the work—chiefly custom— is per-

formed by two run of stones.

L. K. Woodard's sash-, blind-, and door-njanufaetory, in

connection witli his lumber-yard, has been opi'rated by him

since IStil). I'reviou.sly it had been controlled by the

Messrs. White Brothers, who first established the business.

Thirty men are employed, and his annual sales are from

fifty thou.sand dollars to seventy five thousand dollars.

The Owosso Foundry and Machinc-Shop of Messrs.

Yeats & Osborn came into their po.s.scssion in 1876. This

is the site of the original furnace or foundry established by

Daniel Gould & Co. previous to 1844. Meanwhile it lias

been owned, enlarged, and occupied by many parties. The

business of the present consists in general repairing and the

manufacture of pumj)S, plows, and various agricultural im-

plements. Seven men are steadily employed, and power is

derived from the Shiawassee River.

The Shiawassee Iron-Works were established by Ran-

dolph L. Stewart about 1865. The present firm, Messrs.

Howell, Cossitt & Bateman, came into possession in 1869.

Their business is general repairing, the manufacture of en-

gines and agricultural implements. From five to ten men

are employed. The building occupied is the one formerly

used by Russell Young as a sa.sh-, door-, and blind-manu-

factory.

George W. Oakes' sash-, door-, and blind-manufiictory was

established by himself, July 1, 1879. He employs six men.

The Union Mattress Company, which manulactures ex-

celsior, husk, hair, and moss mattresses, was established in

June, 1879. Seven men and women are given employment.

The Owosso Handle-Factory, now controlled by Mason

Wood & Co., was established by Mason Wood and Charles

Osborn in 1872. They continued the business about six

months, when finding that with their facilities they could

not successfully compete with others, operations were dis-

continued. Mr. Wood improved the lathes in use, and

again successfully engaged in the manufacture of all kinds

of handles of irregular forms. He has since had several

partners. In the fall of 1879, David Gould a.ssunied an

interest, and under the present firm-name eight men are

employed, and the most complete wood-turning lathes in

operation in the United States are daily turning out scores

of perfect hickory handles. Axe-handles are a specialty,

and their goods find ready sale in the various States from

Jlaine to Texas.

The Estey Manufacturing Company, composed of Jacob

Estey, of Brattleboro', Vt., D. M. Estey, and Charles E.

Rigley, of Owosso, !\Iich., was incorporated a.s such Feb. 3,

1879, and the actual stock paid in at that date was fifty-

three thousand three hundred and fifty dollars. This busi-

ness was first established in 186S by D. M. Estey, who

controlled it until the formation of the present company.

A factory for the manul'acture of comnmn bedsteads, a

saw-mill, store, and village-lots are owned at West Haven,

in New Haven township,—a village which has sprung np

since the projection of this enterprise. In Owo.-;so City

are situated the offices and waremonis of the company.

Here also are manufactured ash ami walnut chamber-suits,

elcant in design and finish, under contract by the .Messrs.

WliiUi Bros. Eighty rnm receive direct employment by

the (i()<'ralions of thi.s firm, and their nninufactures, the sales

of which amount to seventy-five ihcnisand dullars yearly, are

shipped to various points extending I'roni Vermont to

Missouri.

The Woodward Brothers' furniture-manufaclnry has

been controlled by them since Aug. 1, 1866. Tlio fii>t

edifice on the site of tiieir buildings was the woolen-mill,

built as early as 1844, and for a number of years carried
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on by Felix Casper and others. In 1855 it was changed

into a manufactory of furniture, sash, doors, and blinds,

and operated principally, we believe, by the Blessrs. White

Bros.

The Messrs. Woodards have thirty men in their employ.

Their manufactures consist of medium and fine grades of

furniture, done in a.sh and walnut, and their sales aggre-

gate twenty thousand to twenty-five thousand dollars yearly.

John Gute established the first brewery in the county

in Owosso in 1855, and at first made present-use ale.

During the past fifteen years attention has been chiefly

devoted to the brewing of lager beer. The Owosso City

Brewery has a capacity of two thousand barrels per annum,

and is now owned and operated by Albert Gute.

BANKING.

Under the name of D. Gould & Co. and the manage-

ment of Amos Gould, banking business was first com-

menced in Owosso in 1854 on the corner now occupied

by the First National Bank building. The present

building was erected in 1857, and in 1865 the busi-

ness of exchange and brokerage was merged into that

of the First National Bank. The latter bank organized

with a capital of fifty thousand dollars. It was afterwards

increased to one hundred thousand dollars ; but has since

been decreased to its present capital of sixty thousand dol-

lars. Upon its organization, Amos Gould was elected

President, Thomas D. Dewey Vice-President, and Adam
H. Byerly Cashier. Messrs Gould and Dewey still occupy

the same positions, but the cashier's desk has since been

filled by Orville Goodhue, George P. Moses, and Charles

E. Hershey ; by the latter since the death of Mr. Moses in

November, 1875.

Mr. M. L. Stewart established his present bank of ex-

change and brokerage in 1869. He came to Owosso first

in 1860, and engaged in merchandising. His present busi-

ness house was erected in 1869, when, in consequence of

losing his hearing, he relinquished trade and engaged in

banking. From a small beginning he has, by the exercise

of industry and economy and a strict attention to the minor

details of his busine.ss afiairs, attained his present financial

success.

EDUCATIONAL.
Samuel N. Warren, who officiated as clerk at the first

township election in 1837, and was elected as one of the

assessors at the same meeting, taught the first school in the

village, in the winter of 1837-38. This was a private

school, and its sessions were held in an unoccupied log

house which stood on or near the site of the present brick

planiug-mill.

Prior to this, however, some action had been taken by

school inspectors and the seiiool director, as will be shown

by the following extracts from the records: "At a meeting

of the inspectors of primary schools of the township of

Owo.sso, held at the office of the township clerk, Tuesday,

Aug. 8, 1837, Alfred L. Williams and Ellas Comstock were

present. Elias Comstock was chosen chairman of the board,

whereupon it was concluded to set off sections 11, 12, 13,

14, 23, 24, 25, 26, in township 7 north, of range No. 2

east, and sections 7, 8, 17, 18, 19, and 30, in township 7

north, of range No. 3 east, as .school district No. 1, and the

first school meeting therein shall be held at the store of A.

L. & B. 0. Williams, in the village of Owosso, on the 22d

day of August, 1837, at four p.m."

The meeting was held, and Benjamin 0. Williams elected

director. On the 2d of October, 1837, he rendered his

annual report, as follows :

"To THE Township Board of School Inspectors:

" Ge.mtlemen,—I hereby transmit you a report of the

condition of schools in district No. 1, of which I have the

honor to be the director, to wit: The whole number of

children in my district between the ages of five and seven-

teen years is thirty.

" There has been no school taught in the district, and no

moneys have been received by me. The district has voted

to raise the following sums for school purposes, viz. : five

hundred dollars for building a school-house, seventy-five

dollars for the purchase of a school library-case, and ten

dollars for the purchase of books. I have the honor to be,

gentlemen,

" Your obd't serv't,

"B. 0. Williams."

Although the first school building was not erected until

about the year 1840 or 1841, the leading citizens have

always taken a lively interest in educational matters, and

the excellence of Owosso's schools has ever been pro-

verbial.

The old school building, since repaired and enlarged, is

now used as a house of worship by the German Lutherans.

By an act of the State Legislature, approved March 11,

1846, the Owosso Literary Institute was incorporated,

Messrs. Elias Comstock, Alfred L. Williams, Benjamin 0.

Williams, Amos Gould, Charles L. Goodhue, Anson B.

Chipman, and John B. Barne.s being named as corpora-

tors. They were authorized to employ capital to the

amount of ten thousand dollars, and " to have power to

establish and continue in the township of Owosso an insti-

tution of learning for the instruction of persons in the

various branches of literature, and the arts and sciences."

However, nothing further was heard of the institute,

and the youth of Owosso continued to pore over the volumes

issued by Brown, Kirkham, Morse, Adams, Olney, Web-

ster, Sanders, and others in the old structure until 1858,

when a portion of the present handsome edifice was com-

pleted. This was an occasion of great rejoicing among

parents and pupils, and the event was noticed by a local

paper of date Oct. 23, 1858, in the following words:

"OPENING of the OWOSSO UNION SCHOOL.

" This institution was opened for the reception of pupils

on Thursday last, in the presence of a large number of the

friends of education, who have by their untiring efforts

successfully carried forward the enterprise to its final com-

pletion.

" The building is of the most substantial character, being

constructed of brick, and beautifully finished with the oak

of the country. It is divided into three principal apart-

ments, two recitation-rooms, besides large and commodious
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reception halls, ami will accommodate some two hundred

scholars.

" The school will consist of three grades, the primary,

iutermediate, and the upper departments, where the higher

Englisli branehes will be taught, also the languages
;
music,

both vocal and instrumental, with its ohanning influence,

will not be wanting, the board having secured the services

of a competent teacher for that department.

" The grounds located for school purposes are situated

upon tht right bank of the beautiful Shiawassee, a little

north and west of the village, and embrace about four

acres, covered with a fine growth of pristine oak, in the

centre of which is located the school building.

" At an early hour on Thursday morning the large upper

room in the building was filled witli parents and children

of the district. The proper ofiicer of the district called

the meeting to order, after which prayer was ofi'ered by the

Kev. Mr. Goodale, of this place. At the request of the

Board of Education, the parents and children were ad-

dressed by Mr. Kellogg, late of the Albany Normal School,

Rev. John M. Gregory, of Ann Arbor, Kev. Mr. Taylor,

Hon. Amos Gould, and Hon. A. L. Williams, of this place.

The district is greatly indebted to the latter gentleman for

material aid and valuable services in urging to completion

this praiseworthy enterprise.

" The remarks of all the gentlemen were timely and

fitting the occasion, calling up pleasant reminiscences of the

past and opening up to the youthful mind bright prospects

in the future.

" Mr. Winchell, the principal of the school, in behalf of

himself and as.sociate teachers, expressed his sense of obli-

gation to theboard, and to the gentlemen who had addressed

the meeting, for the kind greeting and warm and generous

manner in which they had been received by the friends of

education in Owosso, ]iledging himself that no effort should

be wanting on their part to fully meet the hopes and ex-

pectations of the friends of the school.

"Our slight ac(juaintance with Mr. Winchell prompts us

to believe that the board made a wise choice in selecting

him for principal of the institution.

" We understand that the school is rapidly filling u[),

and that large numbers (jf applications for admission have

been received from those residing out of the district; and

we doubt not that before the elo.se oi' the first term the

teachers will be straitened for room, and that an extra

primary department will have to be opened in some other

section of the village."

A few years subsequently the building just mentioned

was erdarged to its jiresent ]jroportions, and in still later

years other frame school-hou.sos have followed, wliich are

situated in the various wards. As showing the present

condition of schools, we subjoin the following statistics,

gathereii from the annual report for the yenr ending Sept.

1,1S7!):

Nuniiior of chiliJron (if school ago residing in tho

L-ity so:>
*' " ftttending SL'hool during the

year 72«
" brii-k houses 2
"

fniiiio L1UI8CS .t

sirtin;;^ Sim

Valuo of schuol jiioperty $i>0,(llMJ

20

.Men teachers employed 4

Womin " " " 12

Paid men teachers '. $1,5."16

" women tonchers $3,172
Total resources for the year $12,258.J9

Bonded indebtedness $24,000

The present Board of Education consists of Messrs. B.

0. Williams, David Parker, Gilbert 11. Lyon, Eugene U.

Hutchins, Joseph H. Howe, and O. Smith.

SECRET BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATIONS.

OWOSSO LODGE, No. 81, F. AND A. M.

This lodge held its first communication May 2, 1855,

under a dispensation granted by George C. Monroe, Grand

Master of the State of Michigan.

The officers first installed were Myndert W. Quacken-

bush, W. M. ; Alfred L. Williams, S. W. ; Benjamin O.

Williams, J. W. ; Warren Ladd, S. D. ; and Horace Hart,

J. D.

A charter was granted Jan. 10, 185(1, and on the same

date the following oflieers were installed: Myndert W.

Quackenbush, W. M. ; Alfred L. Williams, S. W. ; Ben-

jamin 0. Williams, J. W. ; Randolph L. Stewart, Treas-

urer; Charles 0. Goodall, Secretary; Elisha Leach, S. T).

;

JohTi B. Barnes, J. D. ; and William J. Lyon, Tiler.

Subsequent presiding oflScers have been Elisha Leach,

from Dec. 27, 1856, to Dec. 27, 1851) ; M. W. Quacken-

bush, Dec. 27, 1859, to Dec. 27, 18G1 ;
Elisha Leach,

Dec. 27, 1861, to Dec. 27, 1862; Eli D. Gregory, Dec.

27, 1862, to Dec. 27, 1863; Henry C. Knill, Dee. 27,

1803, to Dec. 27, 1867; Benjamin O. Williams, Dec. 27,

1867, to Dec. 27, 1868; Henry C. Knill, Dec. 27, 1868,

to Dec. 27, 1860; Eli D. Gregory, Dec. 27, 1869, to Dec.

27, 1871; Henry C. Knill, Dec. 27, 1871, to Dec. 27,

1872 ;
Eli D. Gregory, Dec. 27, 1872, to June 24, 1874

;

Jabez Perkins, June 24, 1874, to June 24, 1875; Wil-

liam J. Lyon, June 24, 1875, to Dec. 27, 1877; Walter

A. Osborn, Dec. 27, 1877, to Dec. 27, 1879.

'I'hc present officers, who were installed Dec. 27, 1879,

are Charles H. Co.ssitt, W. M. ; Thomas Nelan, S. W.

;

(JrenvilleS. Beardsley, J. W^ ;
Jo.seph Manning. Treasurer

;

Benjamin F. Taylor, Secretary ;
Endress .M. Shafer, S. D.

;

George H. Bedford, J. D. ; John T. Wolverton, Tiler;

Rev. Levi B. Slimson, Chaplain; Charles W. Parker,

Jacob S. Lewis, Stewards; James Calkins, William J.

Westlake, and E. K. Hutchins, Prudential Commillee.

The lod'_'c' includes one hundri^d members at the present

time, and regular communications are held Wednesday

evenings on or before the full moon.

OWOSSO ClIAl'I'Kli. No. SH, li. A. M..

be"'an work under a dispensation granted early in the year

187:i. The first officers, viz., Mynd.Tt W. Ouaekenbnsh,

M. K. H. P.; Anson B. Chipman, King; Jo.soph Man-

ning, Scribe; Geoige B. Hughes, V. H. ; Franklin B.

Smith, P. S. ; Richard Ciiipnnui, R. A. C. ; Henry W.

Parker, Treasurer; Newton Baldwin, Recorder; Newell II.

Welcher, M. :5d V.; Martin llausman, M. 2d \^ ; John

Rogers, ^^ I.St V. ; and E/.ekiel Salisl)ury, Guard, were

insralled April 22, 1873.

A charter was granted Jan. 24, 1874, and on the 17lli

of February of the same year the following oHicers were in-
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stalled : M. W. Quackenbush, M. E. H. P. ; Anson B. Chip-

mau, King; Joseph Manning, Scribe; George B, Hughes,

C. H. ; Franklin B. Smith, P. S. ; Richard Chipman, R. A.

S. ; Ezekiel Salisbury, Treasurer; Newton Baldwin, Re-

corder; Newell H. Welcher, M. 3d V.; John D. Evens,

M. 2d v.; John Rogers, M. 1st V.; Justin H. Wells,

Guard.

Other presiding officers have been Anson B. Chipman,

from December, 1874, to December, 1876 ; Charles A. Os-

born, December, 1870, to December, 1878 ; Franklin B.

Smith, December, 1878, to December, 1879.

The present officers are Martin C. Dawes, M. E. H. P.

;

Samuel Lamfrom, King ; Moses Mix, Scribe ; George B.

Hughes, C. H. ; Thomas Nelan, P. S. ; Charles H. Co.ssitt,

R. A. C. ; Joseph Manning, Treasurer ; Benjamin F. Tay-

lor, Recorder; Walter A. Osborn, M. 3d V.; George H.

Bedford, M. 2d V. ; Bernhard Rose, M. 1st V. ; John T.

Wolverton, Guard ;
Rev. Levi B. Stimson, Chaplain ; Wil-

liam J. Westlake and George R. Black, Stewards. The

chapter has a total of fifty-eight members. Regular convo-

cations are held on the first Friday in each month.

OWOSSO LODGE, No. 88, I. 0. 0. F.

This lodge was instituted Jan. 23, 18G5, by Special

Deputy B. W. Davis. Among the charter members were

Josiah Turner, William R. Chipman, Henry Barnum,

Lewis Swartz, F. P. Guilford, E. Van Houten, Henry M.

Newcombe, and P. M. Rowell.

The first officers installed were Josiah Turner, N. G.

;

William R. Chipman, V. G. ; Henry M. Newcombe, R. S.

;

P. M. Rowell, P. S. ; and F. P. Guilford, Treasurer.

Judge Turner was re-elected N. G. for the last half of

1865. Subsequent presiding officers of the lodge have

been Amos G. Young and Henry M. Newcombe, in 1866

;

Morris Osburn, Amos G. Young, 1867 ; Col. Gould, N. H.

Robinson, 1868; H. H. Pulver, J. W. Zimmerman, 1869;

N. H. Robinson, John H. Champion, 1870 ; D. H. Wil-

son, E. R. Brown, 1871
;
Thomas Nelan, James F. Yeats,

1872 ; Bert Wicking, Hugh Douglass, 1873 ; George W.
Loring, Jacob Aberlee, 1874; T. M. Templeton, W. Mat-

lock, 1875 ; Archibald Robertson, Oscar Wells, 1876

;

George R. Black, H. W. Martin, 1877 ; C. A. VVatkins,

John W. Thorn, 1878; C. C. Gregory and William M.

Kilpatrick, 1879.

The present officers (June, 1880) are S. F. Smith, N. G.

;

Mason Wood, V. G. ; Archibald Robertson, R. S. ; George

W. Loring, P. S. ; and Moses Keytes, Treasurer. Number

of present members in good standing, forty-three. The

lodge held its meetings in the Williams Block until July

1, 1873, when a removal was made to the elegant and com-

modious rooms at present occupied. Regular meetings are

held every Friday evening.

ORIENTAL ENCAMPMENT, No. 59, I. 0. 0. F.,

was instituted Sept. 4, 1873, by A. Ferguson, M. W. G. P.,

the charter members being George W. Loring, Thomas Ne-

lan, George R. Black, Archibald Robertson, Jacob Aber-

lee, Morris Osburn, Hugh Douglass, A. Barkley, William

R. Chipman, and Jacob Upwright.

The officers first installed were George W. Loring, C. P.

;

George R. Black, H. P. ; Archibald Robertson, S. W.

;

William R. Chipman, J. W. ; Jacob Aberlee, Scribe ; A.

Barkley, Treasurer.

Subsequent C. P.'s have been George R. Black and

Archibald Robertson, in 1874; Timothy M. Templeton,

Oscar Wells, 1875; Charles W. Mathews, John W.
Thorn, 1876 ; Charles McCormiek, Willoughby Matlock,

1877 ; C. C. Gregory, C. A. Watkins, 1878 ; Benjamin S.

Rotan and H. W. Martin, 1879.

The officers for the first term of 1880 are Charles Wil-

liams, C. P.; Charles McCormiek, H. P.; William M.

Kilpatrick, S. W. ; Archibald Robertson. S. ; Oscar Wells,

F. S. ; George W. Loring, Treasurer; Charles Jackson,

J. w.
The encampment embraces a total of thirty members in

good standing. Regular meetings are held in Odd- Fellows'

Hall on the first and third Wednesday evenings of each

month.

EQUITY LODGE, No. 402, KNIGHTS OP HONOR,

was organized in Good Templar Hall, city of Owosso, Nov.

20, 1876. The officers first installed were John W. Thorn,

Past Dictator; Franklin B. Smith, Dictator; Nathaniel A.

Finch, Vice-Dictator ; William J. Westlake, Asst. Dictator
;

Oscar Wells, Chaplain ; William K. Tillotson, Guide
; Geo.

C. Walker, Reporter ; Newton McBain, Financial Re-

porter ; John S. Hoyt, Treasurer ; Frank McCurdy, Guard-

ian
;
Chester J. Stewart, Sentinel

;
Nathaniel A. Finch,

William K. Tillotson, John S. Hoyt, Trustees.

Subsequent presiding officers of the lodge have been

John W. Thorn and Nathaniel A. Finch, in 1877; William

J. Westlake, Oscar Wells, 1878; Chester J. Stewart, John

S. Hoyt, 1879.

The present officers (June, 1880) are John S. Hoyt,

Past Dictator; Walter A. Osborn, Dictator; E. B. Ed-

monds, Vice-Dictator; Robert G. Marsh, Asst. Dictator;

Hiram L. Lewis, Reporter ; Perrin S. Crawford, Financial

Reporter ; W^illiam J. Westlake, Treasurer ; Chester J.

Stewart, Guide ; Alvin Evans, Chaplain
;

Oscar Wells,

Guardian ; G. Josenhans, Sentinel ; John S. Hoyt, John

W. Thoru, Walter A. Osburn, Trustees.

The lodge has thirty members at the present time, viz.

:

Newton McBain, John S. Hoyt, John W. Thorn, Na-

thaniel A. Finch, Willard F. Goodhue, William J. West-

lake, Chester J. Stewart, Oscar Wells, George R. Black,

John Rogers, Horace D. Lewis, Henry J. Merrill, Alvin

Evans, Amos G. Young, Hiram L. Lewis, Walter A. Os-

born, Albert Thayer, John Gute, C. E. Hershey, G. Josen-

hans, Perrin S. Crawford, E. B. Edmonds, Robert G.

Marsh, Milton E. Fisher, Charles A. Norcross, John G.

Saxe, Samuel Runyon, Joseph B. Davy, George C. Walker,

and George R. Hoyt. Regular meetings are held in Good

Templars" Hall, in the city of Owosso, on the second and

fourth Tuesdays of each month.

OWOSSO LODGE, No. 48, A. 0. U. W.

This lodge was organized June 4, 1878, in Odd-Fellows'

Hall, city of Owosso, where the first installation of officers

took place the same <late.

The officers elected were Welcome L. Farnum, Past

i
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Master Workman ; "William M. Kilpatrick, Master Work-

man ; C. McCormick, General Foreman ;
William N. Pool,

Overseer ; L. L. Baker, Recorder ; Charles E. Hershey,

Receiver; Benj. S. Retan, Financier; Oscar Wells, Guide;

Thomas Nelan, Inside Watchman ; John D. Evans, Out-

side Watchman.'

Those officers who have since presided over its meetings

have been C. McCormick and Thomas Nelan, in 1879, and

Thomas M. Wiley, who is the present (June, 1880) Master

Workman. Other officers of the present time are Thomas

Nelan, P. M. W. ; Charles H. Cossitt, G. F. ; Hiram L.

Lewis, 0. ; J. W. Zimmerman, R. ; Benjamin S. Retan, F.

;

John C. Dingman, Receiver ; Jacob S. Lewis, I. W. ; Wel-

come L. Farnum, 0. W.

Among its eighty-one members are Welcome L. Farnum,

Benjamin S. Rutan, John W. Thorn, John H. McCall,

Charles E. Hershey, Frederick Schmezer, Charles H. Cossitt,

Joseph H. Gillett, L. L. Baker, John T. Wolverton, Wil-

liam N. Pool, Nathan D. Ayres, C. McCormick, James F.

Yeats, William E. Copas, Robert D. Crawford, Hirum L.

Lewis, Charles H. Parker, Hugh Douglass, Newton Bald-

win, John D. Evans, Harrison H. Frain, Nathaniel A.

Finch, James A. Chapin, U. F. Clapp, J. W. Zimmerman,

Thomas Nelan, Thomas M. Wiley, Geo. R. Black, Horace

n. Rogers, William M. Kilpatrick, William S. Hodges,

IJeiijamin F. Taylor, Geo. W. Ayres, R. Lamson, John L.

Miller, H. M. Lindsay, John C. Dingman, L. B. Holman,

J. W. Likens, Nathan W. Finley, Wellington Clark, C. S.

Williams, Henry G. Titcomb, Jacob S. Lewis, Hiram E.

Galusiia, William Broad, George B. Hughes, C. kSoderquist,

George W. Owen, James A. French, W. F. Guile, Samuel

A. Pierpont, Silas Bailey, Albert E. Hartshorn, Norman C.

Payne, John W. Houck, A. Schuknesht, Michael Stralil,

Charles L. Bradley, G. W. Dehn, Michael Punches, Frank

E. Sheldon, William J. Lewis, Daniel Harter, David Dwight,

Harmon N. Miller, Alfred Drown, William H. Andrus, A.

Wicking, W. H. Osborn, Martin S. Post, John A. McKen-

sie, E. W. Sheldon, W. A. Hitchcock, Nathaniel Ball, W.

W. Hart, Robert Thompson, A. McKensie, F. Newman,

and L. A. Hamlin.

Their meetings arc held in Odd-Fellows' Hall on the first

and second Tuesdays of each month.

OTHER ASSOCIATIONS.

THK SHIAW.\SSEE iMUTUAI. LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY,

composed of Henry W. Parker, Horace D. Lewis, Isaac L.

Peck, Amos G. Young, William Jj. Van Tuyl, Ezekiel

Salisbury, Jerome W. Turner, John S. Hoyt, Tlumias C.

Garner, An.son B. Chipman, Newton Baldwin, Moses Mix,

and Timothy M. Tcmpletou, was incorporated in January,

1876.

THE SIHAWASSEE COUNTY MUTUAL BENEFIT ASSOCIA-

TION,

of which Henry W. Parker, Horace D. Lewis, Isaac L.

Peck, Amos G. Young, William L. Van Tuyl, E/.ckicI

Salisbury, John 8. Hoyt, Anson 15. Cliipniaii, Newton Uald-

wiu, Edwin Van Tuyl, Hiram Jj. Ijcwis, .Ir., ami Moms

Mix were named as corporators, was duly incoiporaled, ac-

cording to the laws of the State of Michigan, Jan. liO, 1878.

THE OWOSSO DRIVING-PARK ASSOCIATION,

incorporated Oct. 20, 1879, was organized by the election

of Thomas D. Dewey, I're.sidont ; Newton McBain, Secre-

tary
;
and John Stewart, Treasurer. Other members were

Jabez Perkins, A. J. Patterson, E. P. Byerly, A. McHardy,

J. F. Wildermuth, A. G. Kelso, J. D. Evens, George P.

Jenkins, M. W. Willoughby, 0. Sharpstene, D. Wait, and

William Samer.

Owosso's Cornet Band and Wesener's Orches-

tra are both prominent institutions of the city. The

latter was organized by Hugo G. Wesener, in November,

1878, and consisted of six membei's, namely, Hugo G.

Wesener, piano and leader ; August Wesener, first violin
;

Jasper Gregory, flute; Gottlieb Hoppham, clarionet; C. C.

Gregory, cornet ; and William Sharpstene, trombone.

The present members of the orchestra are Hugo G.

Wesener, flute and director ; August Wesener, first violin
;

Henry Moore, second violin ; John Wesener, viola; O.scar

Moore, bass; Gottlieb Hoppham, clarionet ; C.C.Gregory,

cornet ; and William Sharpstene, trombone. The members

are in good practice and render most excellent music, play-

ing only classical pieces. They have already given four

grand concerts, appearing first and second with fifteen per-

formers, third and last with twenty-five.

Of the cornet band we have obtained no data, other than

that J. H. Bobbins has been its leader for some fifteen

years. It has had its ups and downs, but at the present

time seems to be highly proficient and harmonious, and at

the State band tournament, held at Flint in June, 1880,

one of its members won the prize offered for the best trom-

bone solo.

RELIGIOUS.*

FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH OF OWOSSO (OLD ORGANIZA-
TION).

Among the early settlers of Owosso and its immediate

vicinity were a number of Baptists. They commenced

holding religious services in Juno, 183C,f and continued

them from Sabbath to Sabbath for a year more, the time

of their meetings being occupied in singing and prayer and

the reading of published sermons by some one of their

number. As brethren of other denominations came in

they temporarily united with these people, and greatly

a-ssisted in maintaining religious worship.

On the l.'Sth of January, 1838, a meeting w;w hold at

the house of Elias Comstock for the purpose of organizing

a Kaptist Church. I'jlias Comstock was chosen moderator

and Abniham T. Wilkinson clerk. Rev. Benjamin B.

Brigliam was al.so present to assist them. Allor consulta-

tion it was resolved to form a church, to bo known ii-i ilie

First Baptist Church of Owo.s.so, whereupon the follow-

ing brethren an<l sisters pre.sent<;d church letters, viz.:

* Tiiip nrticio inelink's hrit'C hi.'>tiiriciit skctolioj* »)f all tlio church

nrgani'/.iitiims in tlio city, oxoc|tt Iliiit of the (jormuii Lutherans, who

failed to rcHpond, although ourncft!}' rcquostcil t(t furnisti tlnla.

I The fnsl Huruiou \vii« prcaclicil in the fall of 1836 by Rov. .^nmud

\N'ilkinson, of the MclhodiHt Episoupal Cliurch, Ilv was an early

roniilcnt of the county, a pioneer teacher nl«o, and nubjicqucntly ro-

niuvcd to Flint. Rev. ,)ohn Booth, a Ihiptist pioneer niinititcr,

delivered the next t<orn)OU «ume tinto during the year 1837.
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Elias Comstock, Lucy Comstock, Abram T. Wilkinson,

Lucinda Wilkinson, Reuben Griggs, and Betsey Griggs.

Elder Brigham, Elias Comstock, and Reuben Griggs

were appointed a committee to prepare and report a con-

stitution, code of articles, and covenant. On the 10th of

February, 1838, Elizabeth Fletcher, Hannah Morton, and

John F. Swain* were received as members, and in July of

the same year Jacob Martin and Benjamin Morton. During

this time Elder Brigham preached occasionally and admin-

istered the Lord's Supper.

Early in 1839, Rev. William Pattison, an aged minister,

his son, Dr. Samuel W. Pattison, and family, came here from

Fentonville, and uniting with the church, added much to

its strength. Father Pattison preached while sitting in his

chair, and will long be remembered by the early settlers.

Among the members received during that year were Rev.

William Pattison, Samuel W. Pattison, Pha?be Pattison,

Charles Pattison, Prudentia Pattison, Eliza A. Peck, Castle

Peck, Rev. James R. Eldridge, and Mary Ann Eldridge.

In 1840, Leonard Stimpson, Nancy Ball, Roby Ann

Murray, Stephen Hawkins, Rawson White, Mary Ann

White, John Kingsley, Marcina Perkins, Charles Stimp-

son, John Vanderhoof, Daniel Fletcher, E. J. Van Buren,

Barnard Morton, Cynthia Wheeler, Caroline Comstock,

Ann Sumner, Mary Ann Smith, Harriet Young, Sprague

Perkins, Abram Covert, Daniel D. Fish, Wealthy Swain,

Benj. 0. Williams, Alvira Hawkins, Ira Murray, Rev.

John Gilbert, Elizabeth Gilbert, and Samuel Whitcomb

became members.

Elias Comstock and Reuben Griggs were first elected

deacons Feb. 10, 1838. John F. Swain was elected clerk

at the same time. He was succeeded after some time by

Dr. Pattison. The early meetings were held at the dwel-

ling-houses of Deacon Comstock and John F. Swain.

In June, 1839, Rev. James R. Eldridge became their

pastor, and continued until the fall of 1840. Rev. John

Gilbert, from Jlount Clemens, then became pastor for a

short time ; but early in life he was called to join the

redeemed above. Rev. Silas Barnes succeeded him, by

preaching at irregular intervals, until some time in 1843,

when this organization was dissolved. Several of its mem-

bers then united with the Maple River Church, where they

continued until the formation of the present

FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH OF OWOSSO.

This church was organized at a meeting held in the

house of worship of the Congregational Society, Nov. 15,

1856, Rev. S. Chase, of Detroit, being present and as-

sisting.

The constituent members were Elias Comstock, Daniel

Lyon, Mrs. Betsy Lyon, Homer P. Kimball, Mrs. Hannah

0. Kimball, Mrs. Mary D. Pangburn, Philetus D. White,

Wellington White, Erastus E. White, Mrs. Anna A. White,

Jacob B. Perry, Mrs. Hannah Perry, Reuben M. Randall,

Mrs. Sarah Randall, Mrs. Phebe Randall, William Hurrell,

* He was married to Wealthy Irons, by Rev. Benjamin B. Brig-

ham, Dec. 22, 1837. Another early marriage was that of Walter R.

Seymour to Nancy Ann Findley, by Samuel N. Warren, J. P., July

2, 1837. These are the earliest marriages of which we have obtained

any authentic data.

Elisha Hurrell, Cyrus F. Jackson, Mrs. Jessie Jackson,

and Mrs. Polly Sawyer.

Elias Comstock and Daniel Lyon were chosen deacons,

and Pjrastus E. White clerk; and in May, 1857, the church

was received into the Shiawassee Baptist Association. On
the 23d of August a meeting was held in the Congrega-

tional church. Rev. A. E. Mather, of Pontiac, delivered

a sermon, after which he baptized two candidates, and the

church for the first time celebrated the Lord's Supper.

In March, 1858, Gould's Hall was secured as a place for

holding religious meetings, and in April following Rev.

Joel Lyon was called to the pastorate, a position which lie

accepted, commencing his labors May 1, 1858. In Jan-

uary, 1859, the members voted to build a house of worship,

not to cost over six hundred dollars. This building was

built on lands leased from Deacon Daniel Lyon, and was

twenty-four by filty feet in dimensions. It was dedicated

Oct. 9, 1860. Elders George W. Harris and John Booth

were present and assisted in the dedicatory ceremonies. In

April, 1S61, Rev. Joel Lyon resigned, and in September fol-

lowing Rev. A. M. Hunt assumed the pastorate. He re-

signed Jan. 1, 1S63. John H. Osborn, a lay preacher, then

supplied until March, 1864, when Rev. John Booth settled

as pastor. Aaron Hinckley was chosen deacon in December,

1865. Mr. Booth resigned in February, 1866, and on the

1st of June, 1866, Rev. William R. Northrup came, re-

maining one year. The church was then supplied by Revs.

J. Moxani and H. A. Rose until May, 1869, when Rev.

B. J. Boynton settled as pastor. He remained until his

death, which occurred in August, 1870.

In November, 1869, the lot occupied by the present

church edifice was purchased, and in September, 1870, the

church building was removed upon it. Rev. C. E. Hul-

burt began his labors in April, 1871, and remained until

June, 1873. Rev. Joel Lyon then supplied until March

1, 1874, when Rev. Welcome L. Farnum, the present

pastor, settled.

The present church edifice, a brick structure forty by

seventy feet, was commenced in May, 1875, and dedicated

May 17, 1877. It has sittings for four hundred people,

and cost ten thousand dollars. Present membership of

the church, two hundred and sixty-three. The Sabbath-

school connected with it was organized in 1860. Welling-

ton White and Gilbert L. Osborn were chosen deacons in

December, 1877. They with Elias Comstock compose the

present diaoonate officers. The present clerk, Erastus E.

White, has served in that capacity since the organization

of the church, in 1856.

THE FIRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH OF OWOSSO

was organized Jan. 18, 1853. The first meeting, and other

subsequent ones until the building of their church edifice,

was held in the school-house, the building now occupied by

the German Lutherans.

Among the early members were Amos Gould, Charles

L. Goodhue, Anson B. Chipman, D. Lyon Thorpe, Erastus

Barnes, John B. Barnes, B. W. Davis, and Alfred L. Wil-

liams. The first board of trustees was composed of Amos

Gould, Charles L. Goodhue, D. Lyon Thorpe, Anson B.

Chipman, and Erastus Barnes. Rev. O. M. Goodale was

J
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chosen cliairman of the second meeting of the society, but

whether he was the first pastor the records do not show.

A church edifice was erected in 1854-55. Rev. A. H.

Fletcher became pastor in 1858, and served during the

succeeding year. Other pastors were James 11. Griifis in

1860; A. Sanderson, 1862; Henry Cherry, 1863; John

Patchiu, 1864 to 1868 inclusive; Charles H. Bissell, 1869-

70; D. W. Sharts, 1871 to 1874 inclusive; D. A. More-

iiouse, 1875 ; Rev. L. 0. Lee, July, 1875, to May, 1880.

lu the summer of 1871 the work of enlarging the

church building was completed, and it was then reded-

icated. The society now numbers two hundred and

eighteen members.

CHRIST CHURCH (PROTESTANT EPISCOPAL) OF OWOSSO.

This parish was organized under the ministrations of the

Rev. Thomas B. Dooley and the Rev. Henry Banwell, May

10, 1858. For some two years previously, however. Revs.

Messrs. Dooley, Banwell, and Brown, representing the Pon-

tiac, Lansing, and Flint Churches, had visited the people

here, and held occasional .services in the school-house and

in a public hall.

The corner-stone of the church edifice was laid Sept. 26,

1859, and the building was consecrated by the bishop of

the diocese Nov. 18, 1871. The structure is of brick,

with tower, spire, nave, and chancel. Its dimensions are

eighty by thirty-six feet, and its interior decorations are

most beautiful. Complete, it cost ten thousand dollars.

Not the least among the attractions of this hand.some edifice

is a sweet-toned bell of two thousand pounds from the

foundry of Meneeley & Kimberly, Troy, N. Y., bearing

the following inscription

:

" D. 0. M.

1879.

Christ Cliurch Owosso.

S S Harris lUshoji

L li Stimson Rector

Et Spiritus Et Sjiousa

Biuunt Veni."

Since its organization the following clergymen have of-

ficiated as rectors of the parish : Revs. Henry Banwell,

Thomas B. Dooley, Augustus Bush, George A. Whitney,

and Levi B. Stinson.

ST. PAUL'S (ROMAN CATHOLIC) CHURCH

was organized in the fall of 1871, the original members

being Peter Counelly, Michael Dwyer, John Connelly,

John Murphy, John Wade, Patrick Downey, William

Dwyer, Michael Grady, Michael Howard, Phil Kavanagh,

Frank Hurst, Charles Ilagan, Martin Clary, Lawrence

Doyle, Michael Rourke, 'J'lKiinas (Jrady, Jerry King,

Michael Carmody, Joseph Consteiii, Patrick Kourkc, Wil-

liam Cook, Patrick Carmody, James Lafiin, John Tracey,

Tim Conroy, Michael Toole, John Hogaii, liicliaid Haley,

I'atrick (!avanaugli, Daniel Sweeney, William Tracy, Mrs.

John Huntington, Kdward Marony, John Hollcran, James

McCarty, Mrs. William Ellis, Richard Grace, Maurice

Mack, Philip Butler, James Evans, David Burns, John

O'Neil, Michael Doyle, Patrick Haniberry, William Marrali,

James Tobin, Patrick Gorman, Jolin Haley, Patrick ivoyn,

Richard Walsh, and Michael Keyes.

Their church edifice was commenced in 1872, and roofed

in December, 1874. It is of brick, as yet unfinished,

costing so far over twenty-three thousand dollars, and has

sittings at the present time for five hundred people. One

hundred and nine families constitute the present member-

ship.

Rev. J. J. Kraemer served as pastor until the spring of

1877, when he was succeeded by the present incumbent,

Rev. James Wheeler.

THE FIRST METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH

of Owosso was organized about the year 185G. Its records

are meagre, and not much can be learned from them con-

cerning the history of this organization. Their first house

of worship is now owned and occupied by the Lutherans.

A second church edifice was built in lSi;5 at a cost of

nearly five thousand dollars. It has about three hundred

sittings. Among those who have served as pastors have

been Revs. Seth Reed, James T. Hankinson, J. C. Coch-

rane, James Venning, Elijah H. Pilcher, J. S. Joslin,

T. Wilkinson, D. Whitely, W. J. Clack, H. Ilodlekiss,

C. R. Kellerman, and W. H. Osborne.

SALEM'S (GERMAN) CHURCH OP OWOSSO,

of the Evangelical Association, was organized by the Rev.

John M. Houk, April 22, 1862. The first services were

held in the dining-room of the building now known iis the

Exchange Hotel, of which, at that time, Jacob Aberly was

proprietor, and among the original members were Christian

Moesuer, Frederick Gutekuust, Frederick Launstein. John

Miller, Christian Kurrle, Frederick Kurrle, John Storrer,

Michael Strehl, Philip Schnabel, Hermann Schmidgall, and

Mrs. Caroline Moore.

In the year 1864, under the management of Rev. John

Meek, a house of worship, with sittings for two hundred

people, was built at a cost of twelve hundred dollars.

The work of building up a church here commenced,

however, in 1858, when the Ohio Conference of the Evan-

gelical Association sent as missionaries to this region the

Revs. Frederick /oiler and Christopher Roehm.

Mr. llouk was succeeded by Rev. John Meek, and he in

turn by Mr. Houk again. Subsequent pastors have been

Revs. ('. Udc, two years; Christopher Roehm, two years;

J. M. Fuchs, two years, S. Henne, two years; John Oith,

one year; Frederick Schweizer, two years; and Lewis

Brunim, the present incumbent.

Meantime, churdus ol' this denomination have been es-

tablished in the townships of New Haven and Bennington.

In 1875 each of them erected houses of woi-ship, and in

1877 the church in Che.saning, Saginaw Co.,—which is

also in this district,—erected a church edifice. Two hun-

dred members of this denomination now reside in tlio

county of Shiawa.sj<ee.

Rev. John M. Houk, wlio has served as the presiding

older of this district for the past seven years, relates that

nineteen years ago lie traveled through six difiereut coun-

ties In preach lo the Grriiians. Then lliey were jioor. and

but few in nnnilieis ; now ihey are wealthy, and greatly

multiplied.
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BIOGEAPHIOAL SKETCHES.

ALFRED L. WILLIAMS. BENJAMIN O. WILLIAMS.

BENJAMIN 0. WILLIAMS.

The geutlemaa whose name heads this biographical

sketch, and his brother, Alfred L. Williams, were the first

two white settlers in Shiawassee County, forty-nine years

ago; and both have been residents in, and among the most

prominent citizens of Owosso, for a period of forty-three

years,—with the exception of temporary absences in the

prosecution of their extended business enterprises elsewhere.

Their father, Maj. Oliver Williams, was also a well-known

and universally respected citizen of Michigan (a resident of

Detroit and of Oakland County) for more than a quarter

of a century.

In the year 1638, Robert Williams emigrated from Wales

to America, and settled in Roxbury, Mass. For more than

two hundred years his descendants lived in that place, from

which most of the families of the name in this country

have sprung. Oliver Williams, one of the sixth generation

from his ancestor, Robert, was born in Roxbury, on the 27th

of August, 1774. He was early apprenticed, and learned

the trade of hatter, which business he carried on at Con-

cord, Mass., for several years. In 1796 he married Miss

Mary Lee, a native of Concord (^born July 11, 1777), and

continued to live in that town until 1808, when he came to

Michigan, and established a general mercantile business in

connection with the fur trade, making his headquarters at

Detroit. He purchased his goods in Boston, Mass., carried

them in covered wagons to Buffalo, N. Y., and transported

them thence by water carriage on Lake Erie to Detroit,

generally making two trips in a year to and from Boston,

and traveling on horseback between that city and Buffalo.

During the year 1811 his purchases of goods in Boston

amounted to more than sixty-four thousand dollars.

In the winter of 1810-11, Maj. Williams had built, at

the mouth of the Rouge River, a large sloop, which he

named " Friends Good Will," designed to be used for the

transportation of goods upon the lakes, in the prosecution

of his business. In the summer of 1812 the sloop (with

Maj. Williams on board as supercargo) visited the port of

Michilimackinac, where she was chartered by the United

States authorities to transport military supplies thence to

Fort Dearborn, Chicago, and to bring back furs and other

merchandise from the government factor there to Detroit.

Before the return of the vessel to Michilimackinac that

post had fallen into the hands of the enemy, and upon her

entrance into the harbor on her way back to Detroit she was

seized by the British commandant iis a prize of war. Maj.

Williams was made a prisoner, but was paroled and sent to

Detroit, and was there when the town was afterwards dis-

gracefully surrendered by Gen. Hull. The sloop " Friends

Good Will" was renamed by her British captors the " Little

Belt," and being armed with a battery of three guns, took

part in the naval battle of Lake Erie, in 1813. There she

was recaptured by Commodore Perry, and in the following

winter was destroyed by fire at Buffalo.

In the fall of 1815, Maj. Williams removed his family,

consisting of his^ wife and nine children,—six sons and

three daughters,—to Detroit. They traveled in a carriage

and a four-horse covered wagon from Concord, Mass., to

Buffalo, taking passage at the latter place on thfe schooner

" Mink" for Detroit, where they arrived on the 5th of

November, and where the family made their home for about

four years.

Maj. Williams had lost very heavily by the capture of

his vessel and other disasters during the war of 1812-15,

and finding it impossible to obtain reimbursement from the
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United States, or in any manner to recover the property

lost, determined to leave Detroit and become a farmer.

Having that object in view, he purchased, in 1818, three

hundred and twenty acres in Waterford township, Oakland

Co., a short distance northwest of Pontiac, and to this tract

he removed his family in 1819. Here, upon the homestead

which became widely known as the " Silver Lake farm," he

passed the remainder of his life in quiet and in enjoyment

of the respect and esteem of his numerous friends and ac-

quaintances. His death occurred on the 7th of October,

1834, at the age of sixty years.

The children of Maj. Oliver and Mrs. Mary Williams

were fourteen in number, twelve of them being born in

Massachusetts and two in Detroit. Of the latter, one died

in infancy, and of the former, four died young. Those who

lived to maturity were the following, viz.

:

1. Ephraim S. Williams, born at Concord, Mass., Feb.

7, 1802. He was an early settler in Saginaw County, and

is now living in the city of Flint, Genesee Co.

2. Gardner D. Williams, born in Concord, Sept. 9, 1804.

He was an early settler at Saginaw, and died there in

1858.

3. Caroline Lee Williams, born at Concord, Feb. 11,

1806. Married Rufus W. Stevens, of Grand Blanc, Gene-

see Co., and lived there and at the city of Flint. She died

in 1850.

4. Mary Ann Williams, born at Concord, May 9, 1807.

Married Schuyler Hodges, of Pontiac, Oakland Co., and is

still residing there.

5. Alfred L. Williams, born at Concord, July 18, 1808.

Settled in Shiawassee Co., Mich., in 1831. His residence

is at Owosso, though temporarily living in Virginia, in

charge of a railroad enterprise.

6. Benjamin Oliver Williams, born in Concord, Nov. 18,

1810. Settled in Shiawassee County in 1831. Came to

Owosso in 1837, and still resides there.

7. Alpheus F. Williams, born in Concord, Nov. 12,

1812. An early settler in Saginaw. Removed to Califor-

nia, and now resides at Oakland in that State.

8. Harriet L. Williams, born at Concord, Mass., Feb. 10,

1814. Married George W. Rodgers, at Pontiac, Oakland

Co., and now resides in California.

9. James Monroe Williams, born at Detroit, Mich., on

the day (Aug. 14, 1817j when his excellency James Mon-

roe, President of the United States, arrived in that city.

Maj. Oliver Williams was marshal of the day on the occa-

sion of the public reception of the President, and named his

infant son in honor of the city's distinguished guest. James

M. Williams is now living in Santa llosa, Cal.

Alfred L. and Benjamin O. Williams were, as has been

mentioned, the first two settlers in Shiawassee County. In

August, 1831, they set out from Pontiac with two assist-

ants and a double team loaded with goods, and piussing

through the intervening wilderness, came to the Shiawassee

River at the point where that stream is now crossed by the

Chicago and Lake Huron Railroad, and wiicre A. L. Wil-

liams had entered an eighty- acre tract of government land.

Here they opened a trading-post, and soon after built the

building which later became known as the " Shiawassee

Exchange," a double house one and a half stories liigh,

used as a dwelling and store-house and afterwards as a

tavern.

In July or August, 1833, the brothers Williams pur-

chased lands at Che-boc-wa-ting, or the Big Rapids of the

Shiawassee (^Owosso), this being the first purchase of lands

in the north half of the county. In 1835 the younger

brother, B. 0. Williams, established a mercantile business

at Pontiac, and remained there two years.

In the spring of 1836, B. 0. Williams, with his elder

brother, Gardner D. Williams, of Saginaw, went to the city

of Washington in charge of a party of thirteen Saginaw-

Chippewa chiefs for the purpose of concluding a treaty by

which the Indians should sell to the United States the

tribal reservations granted them by the treaty of Sagiuaw

in 1819. This negotiation was ultimately successful. The

deputation remained about three weeks in Washington,

and the whole journey consumed about two months,—the

means of traveling at that time being by stage and canal.

In the spring of 1837, B. 0. Williams returned from

Pontiac to Shiawassee County, and with his brother, A. L.,

located permanently on their lauds at Owosso, where they

at once commenced extending and adding to the improve-

ments which had been begun there under their direction

in the fall of 1835. In this removal from their old trad-

ing-post above, on the Shiawassee, they retained the " Shia-

wassee Exchange" property, but this they sold the next

year to the American Fur Company.

In 1838, B. 0. Williams married Miss Sophia A. Smith,

of Canandaigua, N. Y. His first dwelling-house was

erected in Owosso, near the present residence of A. L.

Williams. He afterwards built a house on the lot adjoin-

ing Judge Gould's. The residence which he now occupies

was built in or about 1869.

A contract for grubbing and clearing about forty miles

of the line of the old " Northern Railroad" (from the

centre of Shiawassee County westward to Lyons, Ionia

Co.) was taken by A. L. and B. 0. Williams, at 8248.50

per mile, and one-half of the distance was sub-let by them

to Messrs. Kipp and Moore, of Ionia. The work W!»s com-

menced in November, 1838, and was completed in the

summer of 1839, but resulted in loss to the contractors.

In 1839, B. 0. Williams and Daniel Ball took the contract

to grade ten miles of the same road, eastward from Lyons,

but only a part of this work was com]ili'tod before the

definite failure and abandonment of the project by the

State.

Soon after the commoiicomcTit of the California gold

excitement, the brothers A. L. and B. O. Williams re-

solved to try the experiment of niining on the Pacific slope,

and in the year 1850 they migrated thither, took up a

claim in Nevada ('ounty, and commciici'd operations. They

named their claim " Pontiac Hill. " and theirs were the

first liill-diggings opened in California. The history of

Nevada Co., Cal., gives U) them the credit ol' finishing

the first water-race for gold-washing in the county. -It ran

from Nevada City to Rough and Ready. Gold was found

within thirty feet of where they commenced work, and ten

feet below the surface they look out a ten-quart pan of

earth which yielded one hundred and twenty-sis penny-

weights of gold. They remained at this place for two
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years, then sold tlieir claim and returned to Owosso. In

May, 1852, they again wont to California—sending a party

of men with horses by the overland route—and purchased

a water-right in Sierra County, which they worked suc-

cessfully, and on which over half a million dollars has

since been expended. Accompanying them were their

brothers, Alpheus F. and James M. Williams, who re-

mained in charge of the mining operations while the elder

two returned to Michigan.

In 1863-64, B. 0. Williams accompanied Col. Haydcn,

of Ohio, on a tour for the discovery and working of gold

and silver mines in Honduras, Central America. They

made a very thorough exploration of the region in question,

but no extensive operations resulted from the discoveries

made.

Alfred L. Williams was prominently identified with the

project of the Amboy, Lansing and Traverse Bay Railroad,

which was chartered in 1857. He became the first presi-

dent of the company, and was chiefly instrumental in ob-

taining for the road its proportion of the lands granted to

the State of Michigan in aid of railroads by act of Con-

gi-ess passed in 1856. Mr. Williams continued to be one

of the most prominent men in the management of this

railroad until its sale, in 1864. In 1876 he, with several

associates, obtained from the State of Virginia a grant

giving them the use of the tow-path of the James River

Canal as a bed for a railway to run from the city of Rich-

mond westwardly to Clifton Forge, in Allegany County,

there to intersect the Chesapeake and Ohio Railroad at the

latter point. The enterprise is a most promising one, and

Mr. Williams is now in Virginia engaged in its prosecution.

Benjamin 0. Williams has always acted with the Demo-

cratic party from the casting of his first vote, in 1832, until

the present time. He has frequently served the party as

delegate to State conventions and in other similar ways,

but has never had any political aspirations. He has held

the oflEices of justice of the peace, mayor of the city of

which he was one of the founders, and has been elected to

a number of minor positions, but he has never held an

office which was the result of his own seeking. His family

have resided in Owosso from 1838 until the present time.

He has three children living, viz. : James A. and Charles

S., who are engaged in business at Owosso, and Benjamin

0., Jr., who is freight-agent of the Great Western Railroad

at Detroit.

HON. AMOS GOULD.

The life-work of few men illustrates more graphically

a series of struggles and triumphs than does that of Judge

Amos Gould, of Owosso. An honored and successful coun-

selor, .a faithful and industrious practitioner, he has ever

maintained that reputation for fidelity to duty which is the

general characteristic of the American lawyer. His ac-

quirements were not attained as light and idle pastimes.

Each advance step was taken after due deliberation, and was

then laboriously maintained. Years added to his strength.

and untiring industry greatly increased his stock of knowl-

edge, until in the full and complete man we scarcely discern

the feeble beginning.

The knowledge of Mr. Gould's ancestry begins with his

grandfather, Capt. Ebenezer Gould, of Killingly ( Windham

Co.), Conn. He was a young married man of good repute,

bj' occupation a farmer, who attained the rank of captain of

militia during the Revolutionary war, and later removed to

Granville, Washington Co., N. Y. He purchased a large

farm, which he improved and lived upon until his death,

which occurred about 1808. Mrs. Gould, his wife, was a

Miss Robbins, of Connecticut, and became the mother of

eighteen children, who were at one time all residing under

the parental roof. The father of Amos Gould, after his

marriage, about the year 1805, to Miss Polly Simmons,

removed from Granville to the old town of Aurelius, south

of Auburn, N. Y., where their son Amos was born, Dec.

3, 1808. The father there purchased a farm and began

the work of clearing, to which he devoted himself with

vigor until called again to the early home to participate in

the settlement of the estate of his parent. In 1813 he re-

turned to his purchase in Cayuga Co., N. Y.

Amos has a vivid recollection of those early days, and

recalls distinctly the war of 1812. On their return from

the East troops were seen encamped along the Mohawk

River. Farther west, in Onondaga County, the camp-fires

were burning, and a regiment of ciivalry overtook the emi-

grants on the route to their home, and having divided.

rode swiftly past and disappeared in the distance.

The son remained on the farm with his father assisting

in the labors of the husbandman, and devoting the winter

to such study as was afforded by the public .school of the

neighborhood.

From the age of ten years Amos developed a fondness

for reading, and eagerly availed himself of such material as

was aftorded by the ladies' library established in tlie vi-

cinity. One or two private collections were also accessible

to him.

In 1824 an opportunity occurred of enjoying the supe-

rior advantages of a school in Auburn, where the languages

were taught, and where he added greatly to the limited

knowledge of Latin he had previously acquired. This con-

tinued with interruptions for two years, after which the

academy at Aurora, Cayuga Co., opened its doors to him,

and in 1827 he entered the sophomore class at Hamilton

College, Clinton, N. Y.

Mr. Gould pursued his studies until an unfortunate cir-

cumstance caused the temporary suspension of the institu-

tion, when, lacking means to enter another seat of learning,

he engaged in teaching in Auburn, N. Y. He also en-

tered at this time the office of William H. Seward as a

student of law.

Later he became associated with Theodore Spencer, son

of Chief Justice Spencer, of New York, and received as

clerk a compensation which materially aided him in his

early struggles. His admission to the bar of the Supreme

Court and the Court of Chancery of New York occurred in

the fall of 1832.

He soon after opened an office, and at once found himself

in rivalry with the leading talent of Western New York,
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including Judge F. J. Jewett, of Skaneateles, James R.

Lawrence, Judge B. D. Noxon, of Syracuse, and other

noted lawyers. He ultimately formed a copartnership with

George Rathbun and continued it several years, the firm

having enjoyed an extensive practice throughout the

State.

The partnership was dissolved in 1840, and Mr. Gould,

having become involved and rendered liable for debts of

his brother and brother-in-law, who were merchants in

Owosso, Mich., and unsuccessful in business, concluded to

go to that place, and, if possible, close up the matter by the

payment of the debts. He was also influenced by a desire

to enjoy a change of climate, and thereby regain his health,

which was much impaired by close application to profes-

sional duties. He therefore made Owosso his residence in

18-13, and has remained there since that time. Two year.s

later he resumed the practice of his profession in Shia-

wassee and adjoining counties, and engaged actively in its

duties until the year 1865, when he surrendered its cares

and profits to his brother and former partner, Col. E.

Gould, for whom he had retained the business during his

service in the army. While in practice in New York Mr.

Gould was appointed ma.ster in chancery by his friend Wil-

liam H. Seward, then Governor of the State, and later

made by Chancellor Walworth injunction master for the

Seventh Judicial Circuit, the courts having been held at

Auburn, N. Y. These ofiices he held till his removal to

Michigan. In the fall of 1844 he was elected probate judge

for Shiawassee County, and in the year 1852 to the Senate

of the State of Michigan. He was also prosecuting attor-

ney of the county, and was supervisor of the township of

Owosso from 1844 to 1850. Mr. Gould has, since the

Rebellion, affiliated with the Republican party, but has

ever made principle a stronger motive than party in the

casting of his ballot. He has even been induced to change

his relations witli one great party when its platform and

measures did not accord with his views of right. The

State election of 1855 found him a candidate of the Demo-

cratic party for the office of attorney-general, but when cir-

cumstances arising from the late war witnessed the with

drawal of many of the strongest supporters of the party,

Mr. Gould was among them. He organized, in ISOS, the

Firet National Bank of Owo.sso, and has been since that

time its president, owning a majority of the stock. He is

also engaged in the superintendence of hi* largo farm of

twelve hundred acres, and the management of extensive

land and lumber speculations, which, at the advanced age

of seventy-two years, make him still an active man, and

one immersed in business enterprises.

He is an earnest member of the First Congregational

Church of Owosso, and was one of its early founders. Mr.

Gould's spacious residence is filled with the genial mem-

bers of a hajipy family circle. His wife, to whom he was

united in 1841, was .^liss Loui.sa Peck, of New York

State. They are the well-beloved parents of five grown

sons and daughters, whose delight it is to comfort I heir dc

dining years.

21

EZEKIEL SALISBURY.

Ezekiel Salisbury is a native of that old historic spot

which so many eminent men of the present and past gen-

eration claim as their natal place, Johnstown, N. Y., where

he was born in the year 1812. Until he was fifteen years

of age his time was principally occupied in -sehoul. Then

he went to Utica, N. Y., and apprenticed himself to learn

the trade of a blacksmith, which had been the vocation of

his father, John Salisbury. Upon reaching the ase of

twenty-one he began the business for himself in his native

EZEKIEL SALISBCKV.

county. At the age of twenty-four he removed to Oakland

Co., Mich., and purchased three hundred and twenty acres

of government land, and at the same time opened a black-

smith-shop. Eight years after, he .sold out his interest,

came to Bennington, Shiawassee Co., bought four hun-

dred and eighty acres of wild land and began clearinir it

up. At the same time he again opened a blacksniith-

.shop.

Mrs. Salisbury was, previous to her nnirriage with .Air.

Salisbury, a Miss Martha Stedman, also a native of Johns-

town, N. Y. They are the parents of eight children, of

whom four are living. To each they have given a farm,

and all are industrious, successful citizens. Mr. Salisbury

was justice of the peace in Hciniinglnn two terms, also

road conimissiii?ier.

In 18711, after iiiving up all active duties and leavinc his

lands with his children, he removed to the city of Owosso,

and .settled down In a (|niet life there and a rest from the

labor which he had so steadily pursued for over forty years.

Hut full (piiet has not been allowed him, for since oominsi

to Owosso he has acted as supervisor of that city five

years.

For twenty-five years Mr. Salisbury tia-^ licen an active

Christian and zoalon- wnrkrr in lli.' ihniili.
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HON. JOSIAH TURNER,

JUDGE OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT.

This distinguished gentleman was born on the 1st day of

September, a.d. 1811, in the old patriotic township of New
Haven, Addison Co., in the State of Vermont, and received

his academical education at the famous schools of Middle-

bury and St. Albans, immediately after which he entered

his name and commenced his legal studies in the office of

his uncle, Hon. Bates Turner, formerly one of the judges of

the Supreme Court of that State. He was admitted to the

bar in the fall of 1833, and opened his office in the village

of West Berkshire. In January, 1835, he married a

daughter of Dr. Ellsworth, of Berkshire, Vt., and in 1840

followed the great tidal wave of emigration to this State, and

settled at Howell, the county-seat of Livingston County,

where he at once resumed the practice of his profession.

Two years after taking up his new residence he was

elected clerk of the county, and held the office for six years,

and also held in rapid succession the honorable positions of

justice of the peace, township clerk, and master in chancery.

Upon the establishment of the county-court system, in

1846, he was elected judge of Livingston County, and held

the position with great credit to himself until the change

was made in the judiciary of the State by the adoption, in

1850, of the new constitution.

At the general State election, in 1856, he was elected

judge of probate for the same county. His personal popu.

larity was such, added to his professional character, that

notwithstanding the Democratic party held a very large ma-

jority in the county he was triumphantly elected, although

running on the opposition (Republican) ticket.

In May, 1857, he was appointed, by the well-deserved

favor of his old friend, Governor Kinsley S. Bingham, to

fill a vacancy on the Supreme Court bench, and in the same

year was elected circuit judge for the Seventh Judicial Cir-

cuit for the term of six years, at the expiration of which

he was again nominated and elected, and re-elected in 1869,

and with increasing satisfaction to the profession and to the

public he was again, and for the fourth period, in 1875, re-

elected ivithout any opposition, thus making, if he lives to

the end of his present term, a continuous occupancy of a

judicial position for twenty-four years and nine months.

Judge Turner has held the circuit court in forty counties

of this State, and in every circuit but one.

In 1860, with the view of getting nearer the centre of

his circuit. Judge Turner changed his residence to Owosso,

in the county of Shiawassee. Here he served the muni-

cipality of that city as mayor in 1864, and was again chosen

in the following year.

At the Constitutional Convention held at Lansing, in

1867, he was elected for the county of Shiawassee, and be-

came at once an active and valuable member, serving on the

committee of the judiciary, and chairman of the committee

on schedule.

Throughout the whole period of his public and judicial

life, from its very commencement up to the present period,

Judge Turner has been distinguished by patience and in-

dustry and a determination to do what is right whenever

and wherever that could be known, and it is this principle

which has won for those who administer the law the respect

and confidence of the people.

To the members of the bar, whether old or new practi-

tioners, he has ever exhibited a kindliness of disposition, an

unwavering courtesy of demeanor, and a display of charac-

teristics which so happily become a judge, whether sitting

in equity, at nisi priiis, or in the performance of professional

duties in chambers. The family of Judge Turner consisted

of five children, three of whom are now living, viz. : Hon.

Jerome W. Turner, of Owosso, State senater from 1868 to

1870, and afterwards mayor of that prosperous and enter-

prising city ; Lucia, the wife of Hon. H. M. Newcomb, of

Ludington ; and Miss Nellie Turner.



CITY OF OWOSSO. 163

WILLIAM MARVIN KILPATRICK.

William Marvin Kilpatrick is a uative of Middlesex,

Yates Co., N. Y., where he was born Dec. 25, 1840. He
was the youngest of the five sons of Jesse and Catharine

(Seaman) Kilpatrick, the father being of Scotch-Irish

descent and the mother a native of Maryland.

Ilis early experiences in life were such as are incidental

to a farmer's son, and although fond of all out-door sports,

his natural inclinations were of a studious character. He
read with delight all the books to which he had access, and

at the early age of fifteen resolved to study law and follow

through life that profession.

His boyhood home was one of strict discipline, and to

this and his early religious training he doubtless owes much

of his success in life. Having obtained his primary edu-

cation at Middlesex, he took an academic course at Ku.sh-

ville, N. Y., after which he entered Genesee Seminary,

where ho remained three terms ; then for a short time

taught school in Illinois, and entering the law depailniciit

at Ann Arbor University, graduated in the class of '66.

He then went to Grand Rapids, .seeking admission to a

law-oflice there in order to gain a further knowledge of the

profession. Being unsuccessful in this endeavor, ho came

to Owosso and entered the office of G. R. Lyon, where he

remained until 1867, when he began the active practice of

law and soon had a large practice. In 186!) he was ap-

])ointed city attorney ; in 1873 was elected supervisor at

large for the city of Owosso, which position lie retained

until the spring of 1875, when h<^ was elected mayor,

serving one term and declining a nuniinatioti for the second,

which was immediately tendered liini. In 1876 he was

again elected supervisor at large, and in the fall of the

same year to the office of prosecuting altorney for Shia-

wassee County; re-elected in 1878, and which position he

still holds.

Politically, Mr. Kilpatrick is a zealous Republican, and

in 1865 did efficient work on the stump. He was also in the

same year a member of the State convention. In 1874 he

was elected chairman of the Republican county committee,

which position he still retains. He was elected to the State

convention in 1880, and by that convention was made a

member of the State central committee.

Mr. Kilpatrick married, Dec. 31, 1869, Mary, daughter

of B. 0. Williams, Ks({., of Owo.=so. Her death occurred

the following year, and on June 10, 1873, he married

Emma, daughter of A. L. Williams, and a cousin of his

fiirmor wife. By this marriage he has had three children :

William D., born April 3, 1874; IMary, born in January,

1876; and Florence May, born March 12, 1879.

Few men in Shiawassee County enjoy the respect and

confidence of the people to as great an extent as Mr. Kil-

patrick. United to a genial and kind disposition, his fine

abilities, high character, and conscientious work mark the

true jurist.

I). M. KSTKY.

Mr. 1). M. FiSlcy, the gcnllcnianly pri'sidciit of the Kstey

Manutacliiiiiig Coiiipany, was born in Hillsdale, N. II., in

1842. When lie was four years of age his parents removed

to Ma.ssacluisclts, and thence to Vernuilit. Al an early

age (when about rmirleen) he engaged in lumlioring and

farming, and at I be age of twenty had accumulated one

hundred anil sixty dollars in cash, with which he purcliasi'd

a large tract of larnl In Windliani (,'o., Vt., incurring in ad-
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dition an indebtedness of nearly six thousand dollars. This

he paid, acquiring a large sum of money besides from this

venture, which he considers one of his most successful

business achievements.

Soon after this he went into the army, where he remained

six months. Returning to Vermont, he soon after com-

menced the manufacture of furniture, continuing in that

business until he was twenty-five years of age, when he

came to West Haven, Shiawassee Co., and laid the founda-

tion of the enterprise which has since attained the propor-

tions of the large establishment seen in the accompanying

cuts. Mr. Estey found the original manufactory at West

Haven inadequate to supply the increasing demands of his

business, and, being industrious and determined to succeed,

he erected the finishing-factory at Owosso, a large two-story

building or warehouse, to which extensive additions are

being made the present summer.

Feb. 1, 1879, he formed a stock company, known as the

Estey Manufacturing Company, which consists of himself,

Charles E. Rigley, and the Hon. Jacob Estey, so noted for

the excellent organs manufactured by him.

Mr. Rigley is a native of Vermont, thirty-two years of age,

and first became connected with Mr. Estey in Detroit, in

1870, as an expert ornamental finisher. In 1872 he be-

came bookkeeper, then a partner with Mr. Estey, and is at

present vice-president and secretary of the stock company.

He has patented a method of imitating French walnut,

which cannot be distinguished from the natural wood.

They have also a newly-invented machine in the dry-house

for drying lumber.

From forty to fifty men are employed continually at

West Haven, and two million feet of lumber kept con-

stantly in stock for manufacturing purposes. Their ma-

chinery is all lately improved and the best in the market.

They also own the best water-power on Shiawassee River,

and large tracts of land near the factory, which they culti-

vate as soon as the timber is removed.

Their furniture is manufactured at West Haven and sent

to Owosso for finishing, while their sales extend all over the

Union. Owosso is justly proud of this establishment, and

of the men who have so energetically and successfully pushed

the work to its present magnitude and prosperity.

JAMES M. GUILE.

James M. Guile was born in Rochester, N. Y., in 1818.

The death of his father occurring when he was an infant,

his mother removed with him, her only child, to Worcester,

Mass., where they continued to reside until James was about

twenty-one years old. During this time he attended school

in the winter season, and worked on a farm the remainder

of the year. After attaining that age he started for New
York on foot, stopping at different towns en route, working

at watch-repairing to replenish his exchequer, and arriving

iu that city with but a few dollars in his pocket.

Afler spending some ten years in a jewelry establishment

there he came to Detroit and remained about eleven yeare,

engaging in the same business for himself. In 1857 he

came to Owosso and opened a jewelry store, which business

he continued until his death, April 8, 1880.

Mr. Guile first married Miss Ann Eliza Weeks, in Octo-

ber, 1848. William F., the only living child of this union,

was born in Detroit, Feb. 21, 1851. Mrs. Guile died in

1853. May 3, 1855, he married Miss Lizzie F. Holman,

of Romeo, Macomb Co., Mich. To them were born three

children,—Kate Isadore, born May 7, 1857 ;
Grace Minerva,

born Jan. 8, 1859 ; and James Arthur, born July 31, 1860.

i



CITY OF CORUNNA. 165

Mr. Guile was in politics a staunch Republican. In

religion, for tliiity-five years a member of the Congre-

gational Church, and for several years a deacon in that

church
;
an earnest Christian, thorouglily honest and con-

scientious, of a retiring disposition, he enjoyed the respect

and esteem of all who knew hira, and was one of the most

widely-known and valuable citizens of Shiawassee County,

of which he was a resident twenty-four years.

EZRA L. MASON.
Until he was twenty-three years old Ezra L. Mason lived

on a farm with his parents in the vicinity of Rochester,

N. Y., where he was born Oct. 17, 1813. He received a

common-school education, such as nearly all farmers' boys

of that section received in those days.

In 1835 he married Miss Harriet Wheeler, a native of

Jefferson Co., N. Y., and in 1836 came to Owosso, Mich.,

which was then on the vercre of civilization, and located wild

EZRA L. MASON.

land for the purpose of e.stablishing a home. He rctunieil to

Rochester the .same year, where he remained until ISHl);

then came back to Owosso and began the clearing of his land

and the fulQllment of liis plan for a permanent abidini:-

place, becoming one of Owosso's pioneers and most esteemed

and substantial citizens. He has followed farming and sur-

veying all his lif(!; was county surveyor for several year*i,

which po.sition he filled with ability and to the satisfaction

of all. He has also held the office of supervisor of Owosso

town.ship for eight years, besides those of highway commis-

sioner and school director, all of which oflices he has filled

with fidelity, economy, and an eye solely to the greatest

good of the greatest number. He has through life been a

Christian not only by precept but al.so by example.

Mr. Mason has been twice married, having by his first

wife seven children, of whom six are still living. Mrs.

Harriet Mason died April 4, 1848, and in 1849 he uuirried

Miss Sarah W. Wlialey, a most estimable lady, who, with

her liusband, we hope may for many years survive as a

pioneer of Owosso.

CHAPTKR XXVIII.
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The city of Corunna, the county-seat of Shiawassee, em-

braces within its boundaries (as established by the legis-

lative act which erected it a city) an area of four square

miles of territory lying nearly in the form of a square, of

which the southwest corner is a little more than a mile

north and east of the geographical centre of the county.

It is wholly within the original limits of the township of

Caledonia, being described by law as covering all of sections

21 and 28 in that township, with the east half of sections 20

and 29, and the west half of sections 22 and 27. The Shia-

wassee River passes through it a little north of its centre,

flowing from cast to west, and furnishing excellent water-

power, which has been from the first settlement of the place

until the present time a useful auxiliary in promoting the

growth and prosperity of the village and city. The Detroit,

Gilmd Haven and Milwaukee Railway passes through the

southern part of Corunna, connecting the city with the

commercial metropolis of the State on the east, and with

Lake Michigan on the west, afl'ording excellent facilities for

the shipment of the produce of adjacent portions of the

county.

OHKilN.VL I..\NI)-KNTKIES.

The names of the original purchasers from the United

States of the lands embraced within the present limits of

the city, and the dates of their respective purchases, are

given below

:

ON SECTION TWENTY.

That portion of the southeast quarter south lif the Shia-

Wiissee River, by Augustus Randolph, of Wayne Co ,
Mich.,

Sept. 26, 1835.

The north part of the southca.st fractional quarter north

of the above river, by Trumbull Cary, of (Jene.see Co.,

N. Y., Oct. 21, 1835. The northeast quarter, by Silas and

Danici Hall, Mornoe Co., N. Y., March 25, 1835.

SECTION TWENTY-ONE.

South fraction, and east part of southwest fractional

quarter, Trumbull Cary, Nov. 2, 1835. Northwest part of

the southwest fractional (piarter and north part of the south-

exst fractional (|uarter, Ellas Comstoek and Solh Heaeh,

Oakland (/ounty, Nov. 19, 1S35. The south portion of the

southeast fractional ((uarter, William C. Baldwin, Dec. 14,

1835. The west ((uarter of the nortlieast quarter and the

east half of the northwest tjuarter, S. I'. Uermain, Albany,

N. Y., April 1, 183(1. The east half of the nmtheiu-t

<(uarter, Nathaniel I'routy, Wayne County, April 1, 1836.

The west hall' ol' the norlliwest quarter, Tliouia.s T. Owen

Wayne County, April 2, 1836.

• Ity E. O. Wagner.
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SECTION TWENTY-TWO.

That part of the southeast quarter lying south of the

river, Ira A. Blossom and E. D. Efner, Erie Co., N. Y.,

Dec. 9, 1835. The east part of the northeast fractional

quarter, Alexander D. Eraser, James Davidson, and Alex-

ander McArthur, Wayne Co., Mich., Feb. 10, 1836. The

west part of the northeast fractional quarter, James A.

Van Dyck and H. McClure, Wayne Co., Feb. 13, 1836.

SECTION TWENTY-SEVEN.

The northwest quarter, Ira A. Blossom and E. D. Efner,

Erie Co., N. Y., Dec. 9, 1835. The southwest quarter,

Elon Farnsworth, Erie Co., N. Y., March 29, 1836.

SECTION TWENTY-EIGHT.

The north fraction, Jonathan Kearsley, Detroit, Sept.

16, 1832. The west half of the southwest quarter, Ninion

Clark, Shiawassee County, Sept. 26, 1835. The west part

of the northeast fractional quarter and the east part of the

northwest fractional quarter, Andrew Mack, Wayne Co.,

Mich., Jan. 27, 1836. The east half of the southwest

quarter and the west half of the southeast quarter, same

party. The east half of the southeast (juarter, Henry

Raymond, Feb. 10, 1836. The east half of the northeast

quarter, Horace H. Conistock, Kalamazoo, Feb. 13, 1836.

The north part of the northwest fractional quarter, James

Bowman, Wayne Co., Mich., March 14, 1836.

. SECTION TWENTY-NINE.

The northeast quarter of the southeast quarter, Ninion

Clark, Sept. 26, 1835. The east half of the northeast

quarter, Joseph Pitcairn, New York City, Feb. 20, 1836.

The west half of the northeast quarter, Lot Clark and

Stephen Warren, New York, February, 1836. The west

half of the southeast quarter and the southeast quarter of

the southeast quarter, Elon Farnsworth, March 26, 1836.

SETTLEMENT, SETTLEKS, AND PKOGRE.SS OF
COKUNNA.

The first settlements in Corunua were promoted, and its

original plat as a village was laid out, by an association of

proprietors of the land on which it was located. This a.ssoci-

ation, known as "The Shiawassee County-Seat Company,

was composed of Andrew Mack, J. C. Schwarz, Alexander

McArthur, John McDonnell, S. B. Mizuer, and Horace H.

Comstock. The articles of association, in which it was set

forth that the object of the company was to secure the

permanent establishment of the county-seat at Corunna,

and to 'promote the growth and settlement of a village at

that place, were signed by these proprietors on the 6th of

August, 1836. None of them were residents of the town-

ship or county at that time, and it was not until about two

years later that one of their number—Alexander Mc-
Arthur, Esq.—removed here as the agent of the company,

to take charge of its affairs and advance its interests.

Upon the formation of the County-Seat Company, Capt.

John Davids was appointed its agent. He removed to the

place late in the year 1836, and erected fur his principals a

log house—the first building in Corunna—which stood on

the bank of the river, on what is now designated as block

7 of McArthur, Castle, and Ilurlburt's Addition. The

present owner of the property is Andrew Huggins, exten-

sively known through the county as a skillful engineer and

surveyor. The ruins of the old cellar may still be seen

adjoining the home of Mr. Huggins.

It is difiicult to obtain authentic information regarding

the progress of the new settlement during the years 1837

and 1838, the only survivor of that early period finding it

impossible to recall the events of more than forty years ago.

The first plat of the village of Corunna, embracing one

hundred and fifly-seven and seven one-hundredths acres,

and described as the west part of the northeast fractional

(juarter and the east part of the northwest fractional

quarter of section 28, was platted June 2, 1837, by A. D.

Eraser, John Norton, and Chauncey Hurlburt, as trustees

for the Shiawa.ssee County-Seat Company. The pkt was

recorded Feb. 5, 1840. The several additions which have

since been made to the village plat from time to time will

be mentioned in succeeding pages.

Capt. Davids, the company's first agent, was originally

from the village of Niagara, in Canada, and had removed

to Detroit, where he resided when employed by the County-

Seat Company to superintend their improvements. He re-

mained but a year in charge of tlie company's interests, and

then retired to the farm of John F. Swain, in Caledonia

township, embracing seventy acres on section 25, where

he followed agricultural pursuits until his death in 1869,

at the advanced age of eighty years. In Canada he had

been the keeper of a public-house, and an accidental cir-

cumstance brought him in contact with Morgan, of anti-

Masonic fame. Together they projected the idea of an ex-

posi of the secrets of Masonry, and it is said that the work

was written in the house of Capt. Davids. The latter gen-

tleman repaired with the manuscript to New York, and

ordered the publication of an edition embracing twenty

thousand copies, involving all his means. He later removed

to Fort Erie, N. Y., and it is stated that he narrowly

escaped the fate which overtook his coadjutor Morgan,

though the ba.sis of this statement is not known. He after-

wards removed to Detroit with a view to recuperating his

lost fortune.

Capt. Davids was succeeded in his management of the

company's interests by Joel L. Ancrim, a civil engineer.

His official career was likewise brief After a residence of

less than a year he departed ostensibly on a business tour,

leaving his implements with Mr. McArthur, and never

returned. Whether he was the victim of foul play, or had

determined to abandon a residence not congenial 16 him, is

unknown.

Alexander McArthur, one of the members of the com-

pany, now determined to remove to the county-seat and

personally supervise the interests of the company. In the

year 1838 he left Detroit, his former residence, and became

permanently identified with the locality as a resident, hav-

ing moved into the house built and vacated by Capt. Davids.

In that year he erected on the south side of the river a

saw-mill, which at that early date cut most of the timber

used in the immediate vicinity, and aided materially in the

building of the village. Other houses were built, and set-

tlers .slowly found their way to the spot, having been

attracted by its promising future as depicted in glowing

I

I

i

I
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colors by the various members of the company. Tn 1838,

Stephen Hawkins came from Poatiac, where he had for

three years been a resident (having removed in 1835 from

Chenango Co., N. Y.). He entered upon section 26,

in Caledonia, ninety-seven acres of land. By trade a

carpenter and joiner, he with his partner built many of the

earliest frame houses in Owosso, where he for a brief time

resided. Mr. Hawkins was for several years a settler in

Corunna, but ultimately removed to the farm which he

entered and where he still resides.

Abram Garrabrant came at about the same period, and

engaged in various occupations which afforded him a liveli-

hood. He was an eccentric individual and the object of

many jokes among his fellows, though his kindly nature

precluded their being of a very practical form. Mr. Garra-

brant was not, however, without means, having had a farm

of considerable size within the present city limits.

The company offered a plat of land designated as the

public square to be used for county purposes, and a contract

was made with Stephen Hawkins for the erection of a

building, in October of the same year, to be devoted to the

uses of the county officers. This building not being of

sufficient proportions to afford conveniences for the sessions

of the court, they were for a while continued at Shiawasse-

town, where they had previously been held.

S. Z. Kinyon emigrated from Onondaga Co., N. Y., to

the city of Flint in 1836, and entered land in the follow-

ing year. In April, 1839, he was attracted by the enter-

prise exhibited by the Shiawassee County-Seat Company,

and made Corunna his residence. He had meanwhile, in

connection with A. H. Beach, obtained a contract for the

construction of a portion of the Northern Railroad which

had been projected by the State. The project was, how-

ever, abandoned, and the firm were heavy losers. A suit

was brought and judgment for the recovery of a portion of

the amount obtained. Mr. Kinyon on his arrival was em-

ployed in the saw-mill erected by the company, and met

with a serious accident which for a while disabled him.

He afterwards engaged with A. H. Beach in the erection

of a hotel known as the " Corunna House," which is still

standing on Shiawassee Avenue, on the south bank of the

river. Tliey were proprietors for a while, and then it

passed into the hands of other parties, among whom was

S. VV. Cooper. Mr. Kinyon was married in 1841 to Miss

Cynthia M. Day, of Corunna, and on this occasion were

held the first marriage festivities in tlu; village. The ear-

liest death had occurred three years previously, an em-

ployee of tiie company haying died in 1838. The first

birth occurred in 1839. It was that of a ciiild of K. J.

Van Buren.

Both Isaac and Lemuel ('astle were among the early ar-

rivals, and wore both actively engaged in business enter-

prises. A brick store was erected in 1840 by Alexander

McArthur, who employed Dorus Morton, the first mason

and bricklayer, to construct the building. It was located

on the site of the .store of Joseph Hulick, and a stock of

goods was placed in it by McArthur, Castle it Cook. They

were succeeded by Harlow Beach, who came from I'ontiac

in 1841, and engaged in various mercantile enterprises

with Mr. McArthur. He remained a resident until his

death in 1856, and contributed much to the growth of

Corunna. For a while Mr. Beach was absorbed in the care

of the farm he purchased within the city limits, though

not entirely confined to this occupation. His brother, Seth

Beach, came at the same time and was also much inter-

ested in the advancement of the village.

E. C. Kimbcrley, whose name is in.separably linked with

land speculations in the county and elsewhere, removed

from Batavia, N. Y., in 1840, as the agent of Trumbull

Cary, an extensive land-holder. Mr. Kimberiey located in

the village and devoted himself to the care of the large in-

vestments made by his relative, and remained in Corunna

until his death. Robert McLaughlin came at nearly the

same time, and became one of the active business men of

that day, remaining in the village of his adoption until his

decease some yeai's later.

In 1842 a school-house was erected on the site of the

present pretentious building, and Mr. Nelson Ferry exer-

cised an imperious discipline over the little ones of the

place. A school had been held previous to this in one of

the county buildings used as the register's ofiice.

Joseph Clement arrived in 1842, and opened a blaek-

smith-shop (the company having offered him inducements

to settle, in the erection of a building), wherein he plied

his trade. The same year or soon after, Messrs. McArtliur

and Hoag succeeded to the general business of Harlow

Beach, and conducted a thriving trade.

Andrew and Luke H. Parsons came from Oswego Co.,

N. Y., in 1835, and after a brief residence in Ann Arbor

removed to Corunna, having purchased large tracts of land

in the county, a portion of which was located within the

present city limits. Both were members of the legal pro-

fession, in which they engaged on their arrival. Andrew

was the first county clerk of Shiawa.ssee County, and was

later elected Lieutenant-Governor. The Governor having

been appointed to a place in the cabinet of President Pierce,

Mr. Parsons filled acceptably the unexpired term as Gov-

ernor. Luke H. Parsons also held many important county

offices. The former died in 1855, and the latter in 1862.

Another brother, S. Titus Parsons, now resides in Detroit.

E. J. Van Buren came soon after and embarked exten-

sively in commercial pursuits. A brick structure erected

by Messrs. Morton & Smith was rented by him, and u.sed

as a store. This building, still standing on .Shiawassee

Avenue, is the first one of brick located south of the river.

In 1843 a frame building of considerable proportions

was erected on the corner of Woodworth and Fraser Streets,

for the holding of the sessions of the court. This edifice

was in use until the present more spacious quarters were

provided. It is now owned by the Baptist denomination,

and occupied as a house of worship.

Clement Johnson, a former resident of (,)neida County,

located in Owo.sso in 1837, and four years later removed to

Corunna, where he purchased his 'present tract of eighty

acres within the city boundaries. He first occupied a log

cabin on the bank of the river, and later erected for his

family a comfortable dwelling. Mr. Johnson cleared eighteen

acres in the first year. The early wheat crops were so

bountiful as to render prices by no means commensurat'e
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witli tlie labor of cultivating, and the grain was turned to

more profituble account for the feeding of stock. Mr. and

Mrs. Johnson experienced all the hardsliips of the pioneer's

life, and are now enjoying the results of an industrious

career.

Dorus Morton and Gerry Tuttle were both among the

arrivals of 1841, the former having purchased two hundred

and forty acres adjacent to the village. He was the earliest

uiason, and was constantly employed at the work of his

trade. Mr. Tuttle later removed to anotlier part of the

township of Caledonia, but now lives within the city limits.

S. W. Cooper (as narrated by himself) came to Corunna

an adventurer, in 1842, having learned the trade of a mill-

wright. He was on his arrival employed to superintend

the erection of a .saw-mill owned by Alexander McArthur

and Robert Thompson. In 1843, McArthur & Castle built

a flouring-mill, the construction of which was given to Mr.

Cooper.

Seth Beach built a foundry and engaged Mr. Cooper to

supervise the mechanical portion of the work. He was

also for a limited period one of the landlords of the Co-

runna House, and has from that time been a resident of the

city, and actively engaged in its business enterprises.

Corunna had now taken its place among the foremost of

the villages of the county, while its prestige as the county-

seat had greatly enhanced its growth and promoted its

business activity.

The earliest religious services were conducted by Rev.

Mr. Patterson, of Ovvosso, who in his advanced years occa-

sionally preached in Corunna. Rev. Mr. Gilbert was the

first resident clergyman. He was a minister of the Bap-

tist faith and a gentleman of much culture. On his arrival

in 1842 he became an inmate of Mr. S. Z. Kinyon's home.

He subsequently removed to Ann Arbor, where he died.

Seneca H. Petteys, an early resident of Corunna and a

shoemaker by trade, was also an exhorter, and held frequent

religious services in the village.

Henry and A. M. Jennings were the earliest brickmakers.

They emigrated from Canada to the village, where they

established a brickyard east of the school-house. During

the years 1846 and 1847 a fatal epidemic prevailed, which

included the brothers Jennings among its victims.

John M. Fraser was originally a resident of New York

State, and first removed to Oakland Co., Mich. In 1845

he chose a home in Corunna, and purchased a farm within

the present city limits. There was then a population of

several hundred in the village, and the several mills in full

operation, together with two hotels, gave the place an ap-

pearance of decided business activity. Mr. Fraser in

1865 relinquished his farming pursuits, but still retained

his residence in the village.

E. F. Wade, an early pioneer in Burns, removed in 1848

to Corunna, having been elected county clerk and made com-

missioner of the State to superintend the construction of the

State road from Corunna to St. Charles, in Saginaw County.

Later he engaged in the shoe and leather trade, for which

purpose he, in 1850, erected a store. In 1875 this build-

ing, standing on Shiawassee Avenue, was superseded by a

substantial brick structure. Mr. Wade is still one of

Corunna's most enterprising citizens.

John Derr came in the same year and made Corunna his

home, where he lived until his recent death in advanced

years.

G. 0. Bachman arrived a year later and engaged in the

practice of law. He afterwards studied theology and be-

came rector of the Episcopal Church of the city. His

death occurred in Corunna some years since.

Among the representatives of the medical profession.

Dr. Pierce, a Philadelphian, .settled in the city, then a vil-

lage, in 1842, and engaged actively in the labors of his

profession. He remained until 1850, when he returned to

his native State.

Dr. Wear, of Shiawasseetown, was also frequently called

to the village in a professional capacity. Dr. E. M. Bacon,

formerly of Albion, N. Y., was a pioneer of 1846, and

engaged at once in active practice, having been the second

resident physician of the village. Dr. Bacon was a gentle-

man of professional skill, and enjoyed a reputation which

brought him a laborious professional career and occasioned

much sorrow at his death, in 1869. Dr. Harder, of New-

burg, followed him, and after a residence of several years

returned to his former home.

James Cummin was an early settler in the township of

Perry, where he came in 1839. In 1850, having been

elected county treasurer, he removed to Corunna and held

the office for six, and again for eight, consecutive years.

Mr. Cummin purchased later one hundred acres within the

city limits, where he now resides, and is extensively en-

gaged in milling pursuits.

Morris Jackson came to Shiawassee in 1835, and to

Corunna in 1849, where he followed the trade of a wagon-

maker and carpenter and joiner. He is favorably known

as an early musician, and supplied music for many of the

pioneer gatherings of a social character.

James B. Wheeler, who represent-s one of the earliest

families in the township of New Haven, came to the city in

1850, where he engaged in business pursuits. Two y^ars

later he followed the fortunes of other pioneers to California,

and on his return made Corunna his permanent residence.

He has been for some years engaged in banking, but is now

occupied in the superintendence of his extensive farm within

the city limits.

Hiram Smith, a former resident of Mexico, N. Y., located

in the village one year previous to the coming of Mr.

Wheeler, and engaged in the manufacture of botanic med-

icines. In 1855 he became one of the landlords of the

place, and conducted the business for a period of two years,

when the hotel was consumed by fire. It was rebuilt, and

a second time burned. Mr. Smith retained his residence

in Corunna until his death, in 1879. His son, Clark D.

Smith, is now sheriff of the county.

Hugh McCurdy removed from Oakland County to

Corunna in 1855, and engaged in the practice of law, of

which profession he had been one of the leading represent-

atives at his former residence. In the year of his arrival

he was appointed prosecuting attorney, and has been since

elected to the same office. In 1860 he filled the position

of probate judge of the county, and four years later was

elected State senator for the counties of Shiawassee and Liv-

ingston. Mr. McCurdy has since been engrossed with the
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arduous labors of his profession, and is still an active prac-

titioner. He has, however, found leisure to devote to the

public interests of the city, and has been the leading spirit

in the organization of the various Masonic bodies in Corunna,

having been honored with the highest State offices in the

gift of the fraternity.

Curtis J. Gale came from Ingham County in 1846, and

made the county-seat his home, having, previous to his

emigration to Michigan, resided in New York City. He

engaged in active business pursuits, and was in IS.oi) elected

justice of the peace, which office he has held for successive

years since that date. He was also for six years postmaster

of the city, and has filled other important offices. He is

still one of the justices in Corunna.

ADDITIONS TO THE TILLAGE PLAT OF CORUNNA.

Since the laying out of the original plat of the village of

Corunna, in June, 1837, several additions were laid out and

recorded, as follows

:

McArlhiii; Castle & jffurlburt's Addition, surveyed for

the above proprietors by Nelson Ferry, Aug. 17, 1843, and

recorded Dec. 8, 1843.

Caiys Addition, surveyed for Trumbull Cary and Dorus

Morton by Nelson Ferry, Oct. 5 and 6, 1843, and recorded

Aug. 23, 1844.

McLougldiii's Addition, surveyed by Andrew Hugging,

December, 1860, for Kobert McLoughlin, and recorded on

the 21st of the same month.

McArtkur's Addition, made by Alexander McArthur,

Jan. 18, 1862, and recorded May 2, 1864.

C. S. Converse s Addition, surveyed by Ezra Mason, Dec.

10, 1866, and recorded Aug. 15, 1867.

INCORPORATION OF THE VILLAGE.

Corunna was made an incorporated village in 1858 by

the IJoard of Supervisors of Shiawassee County, the follow-

ing transcript from the records of that board showing its

official action in the matter :
" At a regular session of the

Board ot Supervisors of the county of Shiawassee, convened

and held at the court-house in Corunna, in said county,

commencing on Monday, the 11th day of October, a.d.

1858, in the matter of the petition of K. C. Moore, K. L.

Lyman, John Kinney, John Gouldcn, William Farrcll, II.

Pettibone, John Key, Jonas Fuller, J. A. Fowler, Dorus

Morton, James Anderson, S. Titus Parsons, James Lileli-

field, 11. M. Force, D. IJush, J. C. Clement, A. H. Beach,

J. Hildreth, H. H. Frost, Joseph Shuttleworth, J. N.

Lemon, John C. Kingsley, and others for an order incor-

porating the territory hereinafter described as a village by

the name of Corunna, said territory being known, bounded,

and described as follows, to wit : Commencing at the sec-

tion-line ruiming north and south between sections 28 and

29, where the Detroit and Milwaukee Ilailroad crosses said

line, running north to section-corners of 20, 21, 28, and

2'J ; thence north on section-line between sections 20 and

21 to the line of the Port Huron and IMilwaukiu' Ilailroad
;

thence easterly on the south side of said Port Huron and

Milwaukee Ilailroad line to where the section-line of sec-

tion 21 and 22 crosses said railroad; thence south to sec-

tion-corners 21, 22, 27, and 28; thence south on scction-

22

line between 27 and 28 to the north line of the Detroit

and Milwaukee Railway; tlience westerly along said railway

to the place of beginning ; said land and territory being

situate in the township No. 7 north of range No. 3 east, in

the county of Shiawassee and State of Michigan. The

board, after hearing the parties and being satisfied that all

the refjuiremeuts of an act entitled ' An act for the incor-

poration of villages, approved Feb. 17, 1857,' have been

complied with, and that said territory, hereinbefore de-

scribed, contains the population required by said act to

entitle the same to be incorporated as a village, therefore

it is ordered and declared by the said Board of Supervisors

(a fljuorum being present) that such territory hereinbefore

described shall be and henceforth is an incorporated village

by the name of the village of Corunna. And it is also

ordered that Edmund Green, Eli C. Moore, and E. F.

Wade be and they are hereby appointed inspectors of

election to hold the first election required by said act afore-

said, which election is hereby appointed to be held on the

second Tuesday of December, 1858, at or in the three-story

building situate in said territory, in a part of which build-

ing the post-office is now kept."

LIST OF VILLAGE OFFICERS.

Following is a list of officers of the village of Corunna

from its incorporation to the time of its organization as a

city, with the years of their election, viz.

:

1858.—President, A. McArthur; Clerk, 0. T. B. Wil-

liams ;
Trustees, E. F. Wade, A. A. Belden, C.

W. Coe, George Wilcox, P. S. Lyman, Daniel

Bush.

1859.—President, A. McArthur; Clerk, O. T. B. Wil-

liams; Trustees, E. F. Wade, A. A. Belden,

Jonah Fuller, M. H. Clark, E. C. Moore, Hugh

McCurdy.

18C0.—President, A. McArtliur; Clerk, D. F. Alsdorf;

Trustees, J. M. Thayer, Morris Jackson, A. A.

Belden, G. Wilcox, C. S. Convers.

1861.— President, P. S. Lyman; Clerk, D. F. Alsdorf;

Trustees, J. E. Bush, J. E. Chaffee, J. M. Sils-

beo, S. Pettibone, Ilobert JIcLoughlin, C. S.

Convers.

1862.— President, P. S. Lyman; Clerk, D. S. Alsdorf;

Trustees, Robert McLoughlin, G. W. Goodell,

James Litchfield, T. S. Martin, H. A. Crane.

1863.—President, Jo.seph M. Thayer; Clerk, Robert F.

Gulick ;
Trustees, E. F. Wade, Daniel Bush,

James B. Wheeler, Sheldon Keith, A. A. Bel-

den, I. E. Hathaway; Treasurer, J. E. Willis;

Assessor, J. M. Fitcli.

1864.—President, James S. Convers ; Clerk, E. P. Gregory

;

Trustees, E. C. .Moore, James E. Bush, Jo.seph

Anderson, Scth Pettibone, George W. (ioodcll,

James Litchfield ; Treasurer, II. A. Crane ; As-

ses.sor, George Wilcox.

1865.— President, A. McArtliur ; Clerk, David F. Alsdorf;

Trustees, D. B. Wilcox, Jo.seph M. Thayer,

Daniel Bu.sh ; Treasurer, James B. Wheeler; As-

sessor, Scth Pettibone.
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1866.—President, A. McAithur; Clerk, Theodore W.

Ferry ; Trustees, James B. Wheeler, Joseph

Huliek, James Anderson ; Treasurer, James E.

Bush ; Assessor, David W. Wheeler.

18G7.—President, Spencer B. llaynale; Clerk, David F.

Alsdorf; Trustees, Daniel Bush, Erwin M.

Bacon, Theodore W. Ferry ;
Treasurer, Eli C.

Moore ; Assessor, Robert McLoughlin.

1868.—President, James Cummin; Clerk, David F. Als-

dorf ; Trustees, Homer Wilcox, Michael Corland,

Albert C. Gage ;
Treasurer, Lorenzo D. Phelps

;

Assessor, Curtis J. Gale.

INCORPORATION OF TUE CITY OP CORUNNA.

The Legislature of Michigan at its session of 1869

passed " an act to incorporate the city of Corunua," which

was approved on the 12tli of March in that year, and

which provides, " That so much of the township of Cale-

donia, in the county of Shiawassee, as is included in the

following territory, to wit : the cast half of sections twenty

and twenty-nine, the west half of sections twenty-two and

twenty-seven, and all of sections twenty-one and twenty-

eight, in township seven north, of range three east, being

in Shiawassee County and State of Michigan, be and the

same is hereby set off from the said township of Caledonia

and declared to be a city by the name of the city of Co-

runna, by which name it shall be hereafter known."

The corporate limits of the city as thus established by

the act embrace an area of four square miles, lying in the

form of a square, as before mentioned. Since that time

there have been laid out and recorded the following plats,

viz.

:

S. B. Thomas Division of the City of Corunna.—Sur-

veyed October, 1871, by Andrew Huggins, and recorded

Oct. 18, 1871.

McArthur and Cnmmiiis Addition.—Surveyed for

Alexander McArthur and William E. Cummin, October,

1872, by A. Huggins, and recorded Feb. 19, 1873.

LIST OF CITY OFFICERS.

The names of officers of the city of Corunna from its

organization to the present time, with the years of their

election, are given below, viz.

:

1869.—Mayor, Alexander McArthur ; Recorder, Spencer

B. Raynale; Clerk, William Oaks; Treasuret,

Morris Ormsby ; Justices of the Peace, John N.

Ingcrsoll, Curtis J. Gale; Constables, Clark D.

Smith, Marvin Miller.

1870.—Mayor, Alexander McArthur; Aldermen, S. R.

Kelsey, Harvey Cregen, Daniel Bush ; Trea.surer,

Morris Ormsby; Justice of the Peace, William

Oaks; Supervisors: First Ward, John N. Ingcr-

soll ; Second Ward, Alexander Cummin ; Third

Ward, R. R. Harper; Constables, Charles G.

Gage, Samuel A. Fish.

1871.—Mayor, Johu N. IngersoU ; Aldermen, Joseph

Greer, D. W. Wheeler, Orton Williams, George

W. Harris; Clerk, R. B. Wiles; Treasurer,

Morris Ormsby ; Supervisors : First Ward, Hugh

McCurdy ; Second Ward, Alexander Cummin
;

Third Ward, James M. Goodell ; Constables, A.

A. Frain, J. J. Peacock.

1872.—Mayor, John N. IngersoU ; Aldermen, Seth Petti-

bone, Joseph N. Lemon, Horace Peacock ; Treas-

urer, Clark D. Smith ; Supervisors : First Ward,

Hugh McCurdy ; Second Ward, Alexander Cum-

min ;
Third Ward, James M. Pettibone ; Con-

stables, George Mason, Jr., Samuel A. Fish.

1873.—Mayor, John N. IngereoU ; Clerk, Orton Williams;

Aldermen, A. T. Nichols, Peter Reynolds, George

W. Harris ; Recorder, Philip W. Coleman ; Treas-

urer, Clark D. Smith ; Justices of the Peace, C.

J. Hale, E. F. Wade; Supervisors: First Ward,

Hugh McCurdy ; Second Ward, Alexander Cum-

min ; Third Ward, James M. Goodell ; Consta-

ble, Samuel A.. Fish.

1874.—Mayor, James M. Goodell ; Recorder, R. R. Harper;

Aldermen, Isaac E. Hathaway, Josiah Creque,

Horace Peacock; Treasurer, Frank T. Howlett;

Supervisors: First Ward, John N. IngersoU;

Second Ward, Morris Ormsby ; Third Ward, G.

W. Goodell; Constables, Charles L. Bradley,

Peter D. llauke.

1875.—Mayor, Curtis J. Gale; Clerk, Frank Peacock;

Aldermen, Joseph N. Lemon, Benjamin C. Miner,

A. R. McBride, George W. Harris; Treasurer,

Frank P. Howlett; Supervisors: First Ward,

Michael Carlaud ; Second Ward, L. H. Wilcox
;

Third Ward, George W. Goodell; Constables,

3Iarvin Miller, Albert Frain.

1876.—Mayor, Clark D. Smith ; Clerk, Frank Peacock
;

Aldermen, A. T. Nichols, Louis Etshman, Horace

Peacock ; Treasurer, W. R. Chapell ; Supervisors,

First Ward, Peter N. Cook ; Second Ward, L.

H. Wilcox; Third Ward, George W. Harris;

Constables, A. A. Frain, Charles Avery.

1877.—Mayor, Sullivan 11. Kel.sey ; Clerk, Frank Peacock
;

Aldermen, John D. Bennett, Benjamin C. Miner,

Albert Gage ; Treasurer, W. R. Chapell ; Super-

visors: First Ward, Hugh McCurdy; Second

Ward, L. H. Wilcox ; Third Ward, James B.

Wheeler ; Constables, Thomas Agnew, A. A
Frain.

1878.—Mayor, John D. Kergan ; Clerk, Frank Peacock
;

Aldermen : First Ward, Isaac E. Hathaway

;

Second Ward, Jethro Shout ; Third Ward, Hor-

ace Peacock ; Treasurer, F. M. Kilbourn ; Jus-

tice of the Peace, Romeyn B. Murray ; Super-

visors : First Ward, Hugh McCurdy ; Second

Ward, Lewis H. Wilcox ; Third Ward, James

B. Wheeler; Constables, Thomas Agnew, William

E. Chaffee.

1879.^—Mayor, John N. IngersoU ;
Clerk, Frank Peacock

;

Aldermen, Johu H. Shick, Richard A. Patton,

Harvey B. Young ; Treasurer, Frederick B. Kil-

bourn ; Supervisors: First Ward, Hugh Mc-

Curdy; Second Ward, A. R. McBride; Third

Ward, James B. Wheeler
;

Constables, Thomas

AgiiCW, William E. Chaffee.



CITY OF CORUNNA. 171

1880.—Mayor, Hugli MeCurdy
; Clerk, Frank Peacock;

Alderineu, Joseph N. Lemou, Albert Iliiues,

Albert Gage ; Treasurer, Charles Knight ; Super-

visors : First Ward, Peter N. Cook ; Second

Ward, A. 11. McBride; Third Ward, W. R.

Chapell ; Constables, Thoiu;is Agnew, William

P]. Chaffee.

MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES.

McAiihar's Saw-Mill.—In 1841, Alexander McArthur,

Sr., erected a dam on the Shiawassee River, and soon after

a saw-mill which derived its power from that stream, upon

whose bank it was located. The mill was equipped with a

large and cumbersome sash-saw, which did duty for many

years, and was replaced by a circular saw in 18GG. The

mill, now owned and operated by A. McArthur, Jr., manu-

factures both hard and soft wood, and ordinarily employs

four men in various departments of the work. It has a

capacity of four thousand feet per day. The market for

the lumber sawed is found principally in Detroit, though

large orders are frequently received from neighboring towns.

This mill is one of the oldest iu the county.

Steam Saw-Mill of McLaren & Wren.—This mill,

which was built in 187(), is devoted exclusively to the

manufacture of hard-wood lumber, and depends for its sup-

plies upon the adjacent country. It has both an upright

and a circular saw, which are propelled by power furnished

by a steam-engine of twenty-horse power. The average

product of the mill is three thousand feet per day, though

this can be greatly increased as necessity requires. The

Michigan Car Company, located at Detroit, are the sole

customers, and consume all that the mill produces. Five

men are employed about the establishment, and the business

is managed by G. W. Wren, the senior partner giving but

little attention to its details.

Flouring-Mill of J. D. Bennett.—This flouring-mill was

built 'by S.W. Cooper in 1843 and 1844 for McArthur

& Castle, with all the machinery in use at that early date,

and three run of four-and-a-half-feet buhr-stoncs. The firm

later became McArthur & Litchfield, and E. Green pur-

chased of them, selling in 1800 to Daniel Bush, from whom

the present proprietor purchased the property in ISTG.

Mr. Bennett thoroughly remodeled the mill, which is run

by water-power from the Shiawassee River, and placed in

it new machinery for manufacturing flour by the patent

process. He also added another run of stones. The

capacity of the mill is now one hundred barrels per day,

which can be increased as necessity re(|uires. The grain

is bought of the neighboring farmers, who deliver it at the

mill. The market for the flour manufactured is found in

Michigan and the Eastern States.

Foundri/ of D. O. Reynolds.—This establishment was

built and first operated many years since by Pettibonc

Brothers. After successive changes it passed into the

hands of Messrs. Lyiuan & Allen, of whom it was pur-

chased by the present proprietor. It is furnished with

steam-power derived from an engine of twelve-horse power,

and includes in its list of wares manufactured plows, land-

rollers, fanning-uillls, feed-cutters, corn-shollci's, milk safes,

ami all varieties of castings. A market is found for these

articles throughout the county ami in other portions of the

State.

Woolen-Mills of Amsden & Weeden The woolen-mills

located in the city of Corunna were established as early as

1844 by Pliny Lyman, and owned by him until 1872, when
the present firm became the purchasers. They are built

upon the Shiawassee River, which supplies the necessary

power by which they are operated. Mr. Lyman placed in

the mills two looms and one hundred and twenty spindles,

with which cloths of common grade were manufactured.

Messrs. Amsden it Weeden have added another fancy loom,

two hundred additional spindles, a thirty-spindle twister, a

twenty-four-inch condenser, and a picker, and have also

extended the buildings. The wool consumed is purclia.sed

in the immediate vicinity, and manufactured into ca.ssimeres,

flannels, stocking-yarn, and horse-blankets, for which a home
demand establishes a profitable market.

niniiii/-Mill and Handle.-Factory of Messrs. Salmon &
Wihoa.—This mill was erected by Joseph Thayer iu 1866,

on the corner of McArthur aud Brady Streets, and was

purchased of him by the ])resent owners in 1871. It is

fully C(|uippcd with the usual machinery of a planing-mill,

as well as the necessary apparatus for turning and finishing

broom-handles. Of the latter two hundred thousand per

year are manufactured, a large proportion of which are

shipped to the city of Philadelphia. Messrs. Salmon &
Wilson also manufacture milk-safes, clothes-bars, and land-

rollers, and find a ready home market for all these wares.

The material used in their establishment is principally found

in adjacent parts of the county.

Corunna Spok-;-Factory

.

—This factory was established

in 18G7 by S. H. & E. Hall, who manufactured spokes ex-

clusively. They sold in 1809 to J. Greer & Company, and

the present firm of S. D. Wiley & Company became owners

in 1873. The factory is run by steam, a forty-five horse-

power engine being used for the purpose. The principal

article of manufacture is spokes, though whifflctrees and

neck-yokes are also made. Twenty-one men are employed

and twenty -five hundred spokes per day are produced, though

the present active demand necessitates the employment of a

set of night hands. The material is furnished by limber

owners in the neighboring townships, who deliver the tim-

ber at the factory, for which cash is received. The build-

ing used by the firm is a spacious one of brick, formerly

built by the Corunna Car Company, and purchased by

Messrs. S. D. Wiley & Co. The market for the spokes is

found principally in Detroit and Grand Rapids.

Wajon- Shops.—J. M. Lemon aud A. & E. H. Gale

are manufacturers of wagons, and do a good business both

iu this line and in general repairing.

Charcoal Kilns.—The charcoal kins of the Union Iron

Company of Detroit are located within the corporation

limits, aud were constructed since 1870. Each kiln con-

tains thirty thou.sand bricks, and was built at a cost of from

three hundred to four hundred dollars. The kilns eon-

BUnie six thousand cords of wootl per yi'ar, each one havin"

a capacity of forty cords. Each cmil returns a product of

forty-five bnsluls of charcoal, which inakeji a gro.ss return

(jf eighteen hundred bushels to the kiln. Four days is

the time required for burning a kiln when filled with dry
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wood, two days more being allowed for green wood. Five

days more arc recjuired to smother the fire and to render

the material ready to withdraw from the kilns. All woods

but basswood and poplar are made available. Royal A.

Jenny is the aeting agent of the company, and Thomas E.

Green the manager of the works.

BANKING.

THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK,

the only one in Corunna, was established in 1865, with a

capital of fifty tliousaiid dollars. Its finst officers were

Hugh McCurdy, President, and S. B. Raynalc, Cashier.

The banking-house in which business is transacted is a

spacious building located on Shiawassee Avenue and owned

by the bank. Its present officers are Roger Haviland,

President ; A. McArthur, Vice-President ; A. T. Nichols,

Cashier; J. D. Leland, Assistant Cashier. Directors, A.

McArthur, W. D. Garrison, A. T. Nichols, Wm. McKel-

lops, J. D. Leland, Roger Haviland.

FIRE DEPAKTMENT.

CORUNNA IIOOK-AND-LADDER COMPANY, No. 1.

The constitution and by-laws of the Corunna Hook-and-

Ladder Company were adopted, and the company organized,

April 12, 1876, with the following names upon its roll:

Almon C. Brown, Wm. H. Cole, C. H. Shuttleworth, E.

M. Wheeler, A. S. Parsons, Frank Millard, Andrew Jack-

son, R. B. Ford, E. Huntington, Wm. F. Fowler, L. II.

Wilcox, J. E. Philips, G. W. Bachman, G. R. Tuttle, A.

F. Peacock, R. J. Pond, Fred Keith, F. B. Howlctt, Ed.

Chaffee, Geo. A. Shuttleworth, Fred Seeley, H. B. Headley,

F. C. Gale, Frank Shuttleworth, Frank Fuller, Levi Seeley,

John Hiltabiddle, Frank Hoover, Ed Shuttleworth, M. F.

Bradley, Andrew Seeley.

With the approval of the mayor and Common Council

the by-laws and constitution were submitted and were

formally adopted. The following officers were then

elected: Almon C. Brown, Foreman; Wm. II. Cole,

First Assistant; C. H. Shuttleworth, Second A.ssistant

;

E. M. Wheeler, Secretary ; Andrew S. Pai-sons, Treasurer

;

Frank Millard, Andrew Jackson, Stewards.

A vote had been passed by the Council on the 5th of

April, 1875, appropriating eight hundred dollars for the

purchase of all the equipments necessary to a complete

hook-and-ladder apparatus, and an order was at once given

for their manufacture, which was completed at the date of

the company's organization.

On the 5th of June, 1876, by the vote of the Council,

one hundred and ninety dollars was devoted to the purchase

of uniforms, which were at a later date purchased. Thus

the Corunna Hook-and-Ladder Company was formally or-

ganized and thoroughly equipped, and has proved itself on

subsequent occasions admirably adapted to the purposes of

its organization.

The following officers were elected for the year 1878:

Frank Hoover, Foreman ; Alanson C. Brown, First As-

sistant; H. B. Hadley, Second Assistant; T. B. Wil-

loughby. Secretary ; L. H. Wilcox, Treasurer.

For 1879, M. F. Bradley, Foreman; Wm. Linsley,

First Assistant Foreman ; F. A. Millard, Second Assistant

Foreman ;
Fred Goddard, Secretary ; L. II. Wilcox, Treas-

urer; Ed Shuttleworth, Steward.

No fires of consequence have occurred since the organi-

zation of the company, though on occasions where its mem-

bers have been summoned for duty a zeal and ambition has

been manifested which has evinced the excellence of its

working force.

SCHOOLS OP CORUNNA.

The records of the public schools of the city are not suf-

ficiently well preserved to afford a connected history of the

progress of its educational interests. There are no minutes

existing of an earlier date than 1854. For the years prior

to that, the recollection of residents is wholly depended upon

for such meagre facts as are given.

The earliest school was taught by Uriah Dubois, in 1840,

in a log cabin within the village limits. It was a private

enterprise, and was patronized by the very few families who

were then settlers and had children. In 1841 a school was

opened in a building used for county purposes, then stand-

ing on the west side of the main street, on the site at

present occupied by the market of William Cole. The

teachers who taught in succession were Miss Susan Whit-

comb, Miss Julia Van Auken, and Miss Mary Ann Mc-

Arthur. The latter also taught a private school at the

residence of her father. Luke H. Parsons and Richard

Parsons were also teachers in 1841.

In 1842 the district erected a substantial building on the

spacious ground devoted to school purposes, which was occu-

pied until the growing demands of the village made more

commodious quarters indispensable, and which is still stand-

ing. The first term in this building was opened by Nelson

Ferry, whose family resided in Venice, and who became a

resident of Corunna in his official capacity as teacher. The

later instructors from that time to the present are given

with the date of their teaching in Corunna, .so fi\r as it is

pos.sibIe to obtain them, viz.

:

1841.—Monroe Hawley.

1842.—Rev. John Gilbert.

1843 —Miss Sarah Potter, Miss Drusilla Cook.*

1844.—Miss Julia Hammond.

1846-47.—Mr. M. P. Wil.son.

1848.—Miss Phelps.

1849.—Mr. Sylvester Lyman.

1850.—Mr. G. G. Doane.

1851.—Mr. Edward A. Sheldon.

1852.—Mi.ss Sylvia Guilford.

1853-54.—Rev. S. P. Barker, Miss Cornelia A. Phelps.

1855.—Mr. G. G. Doane, Mrs. G. G. Doane, Miss Ma-

riette Thompson.

1856-58.—Mr. G. M. Reynolds.f Mrs. G. M. Reynolds,

Miss Mary Wade.

'^ Jliss Cook was a lady of established reputation as a teacher, and

found her services much in demand. The ordinary compensation at

that period was the sum of one dollar per week, with the privilege of

" boarding round." Miss Cook, whose presence was the cause of some

competition in the various districts, was secured by Corunna at the

unprecedented salary of two dollars and fifty cents per week, with

board.

t Under the successful principalship of Mr. Reynolds the school

was (Traded.
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1857.—3Ir.- Sweet, Mr. Silas Wood, Miss Webb, Miss

Trucsdell.

1858.—Mr. Marcus Haynes, Miss Haynes.

1859.—Miss Pingrey, Jliss Harriet Hawkins.

1859-1SG9.—Mr. Tlionias C. Garner.

I860.—Mi.ss Cliarlotte Hendricks, Miss R. Bradley, Mi.ss

Hildreth.

1861.— Mi.ss H. Southard, Mrs. C. Smith.

1862.—Miss Ida Bigelow.

1864.—Miss Julia Lemon, Miss Alvina P. Wheeler, ]\Irs.

Frank Howe, Mi.ss Etta Parsons.

1865.—Mrs. Andrew Jackson.

18GG.—Miss Amelia Goodell.

1868.—Mr. R. Banner Wyles, Mr. Ashley, Miss Stowcll,

Mrs. W. Jackson.

1869.—Mr. C. Van Dt)ren, Miss Kate Brearly, Mi.ss Myra

Bartlett, Miss Nellie Gillett, Miss Bachman, Mr.

S. W. Baker.

1871-72.-3Ir. H. C. Baggorly, Miss Humphrey, Miss

Armstrong, Miss White, Mi.ss Dawson, Miss

Mary Thayer, Miss Hannah.

1872.—Miss Kellogg, Miss Ferry, Miss Hall.

1873.—Miss Clara E. Wall, Miss Burrows, Miss Fall, Mr.

Fred. D. Par.soiis.

1874.—Miss Rutherford, Miss H. F. Yakely, Miss Coun-

tryman, Miss Reid, Miss Cooper.

1875.—Mrs. Agnes Van Aukcn,Miss Nancy MeGaw, Miss

Brands, Miss Arvilla Spaulding, Miss Nettie

Knight.

1875-79.—Mi.ss Josephine Wall.

1876-80.—Prof. Joseph McGrath, Miss C. Parmenter,

Miss Ilattie Curtis.

1876-79.—Miss Josephine Wall, Miss Ella Kyle.

1876.—Mi.ss Sarah Wilt.se.

1878.—Miss Hattie Harris.

1879.—Mr. George A. Wright, Miss Nethaway, Miss

Emma McGaw, Mrs. II. E. Holt, Mi.ss Linda

Fowkes, J. William Myers.

Before 1851 no building other than the one-.story frame

structure already described (and now used as a dwelling)

liad been erected for school purposes. A short time prior

to the annual school meeting of that year, a few pulilie-

spirited citizens of the village (Andrew Parsons, E. F.

Wade, L. II. Parsons, G. 0. Bachman, and others), deem-

ing the old building inadequate to the wants of the large

number of resident pupils, suggested to the school board

the propriety of erecting a more commodious edifice. A
resolution was, in accordance with this suggestion, offered

with a view to raising the sum of four thousand dollars for

the purpose, which met with strong opposition, and was voted

down by a discouraging majority. A similar resolution

specifying tlie sum of three thousand five hundred dollars

shared the same fate. The amount was reduced to three

thousand dollars, two thousand five hundred dollai-s, and

two thousand dollars successively, and mot with equal op-

position. I'iie hour of midnight had nearly arrived, and

the advocates of the measure, weary and disappointed by

the powerful and persistent array of foes against the enter-

prise, were about to abandon it. At this juncture one of

the strongest opponents offered a resolution devoting tlie

sum of one thousand five hundred dollars to the purpose.

On consultation it was decided by the friends of the measure

to accept this amount, depending upon subsequent appro-

priations to liquidate the entire cost of building. A con-

tract was at once let for labor and material sufficient to

cover the appropriation, and ultimately an additional sum

was voted to complete the structure, which w;ls erected at a

cost of four thousand dollars, and is still in use as a part

of the mail) building.

lu 1866 the wants of the public school of Corunna had

so greatly increased that the brick edifice of 1851 afforded

but meagre accommodations for the number of scholars

wishing to attend school. As a consequence the present

commodious edifice was erected at a cost of about twenty

thousand dollars, the city having issued bonds to meet the

indebtedness. This, with the additional space afforded by

the former structure still in use, admirably answers the

purpose for which it was erected. The school, under the

efficient superintendence of Prof Joseph McGrath and his

able corps of assistants, has attained a high reputation

throughout the State. In the high school four courses of

study are prescribed, requiring four years for completion.

The graduates in the cla.ssical and scientific courses are

admitted to the State University at Ann Arbor without a

preliminary examination, which may be regarded as a recog-

nition of the thoroughness with which these departments

are conducted. The present school board is compo.sed of

the following gentlemen: D. W. Shattuck, President; A.

R. McBride, Secretary ; D. N. Preston, Treasurer ; P.N.

Cook, Charles Jackson, Marcus Wilcox.

CllUllt'U IIISTOUY.

THE MKTIIODIST EPISCOPAL CUUUCU.

In an early day Corunna was upou the northern border

of what was called the Shiawa.s.see Circuit. As early as

1837 or 1838 the Revs. Washington Jackson and Isaac

Bennett (the latter (if whom is still living) were preachers

on that circuit. At this time occasional Methodist preach-

ing was given at Corunna, though a .society was not formed

until 1839 or 1840. The house of Alexander MeArthur

was the stopping-place for the Methodist ministers, as indeed

it was for ministers of all denominations.

The first class formed was very small, consisting of John

K. Smith, L. M. Partridge and his wife. Mr. Smith was

the first class-leader, and for many years was a very useful

man. Mr. Partridge, who was the father of Mrs. Fra.ser,

now living in Corunna, was a local elder, and was very

useful in this new country, preaching in the surrounding

nci"hbi)rhoods as soon as a few families would a.sscmble,

attending their funerals and weddings over a large tract of

country. He lived in a frame house which stood near Mr.

Ilulick's present store. He died April 23, 1845, the first

death in the little society. The few settlers who knew him

cherished his memory with much interest. In the same

year Mrs. Fraser, Mr. Partridge's daughter, came to the

place and soon after united with the cla.ss, of which slio

still rcnniins a member. In this year also Mr. Luke H.

Parsons and wife joined the society. Mr. Parsons becaujo

a useful and prominent member and a load preacher, and
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did much to stiengtlicn the society. He died April 19,

18G2, beloved by all. In July, 1844, Mrs. Mary Lyman,

now Mrs. David Howlett, came to this place one week after

her marriage to Mr. Lyman in Ann Arbor. She brought

her letter and immediately joined the society, and has ever

since been a faithlul and active member. Among the very

early and zealous members besides those already mentioned

were Truman Fox, a Mr. Piper and wife, John Kelly and

wife (who still live a few miles north of Corunna), Reuben

Emory (who afterwards became a preacher, and who died

several years ago), Mr. Freeman and wife, and a Mrs.

Harriet Beach.

The old frame court-house which was built in 1843

became the place of worship of all denominations until

their churches were built. Previous to its erection service

and prayer-meetings were held in the old frame school-house

which now stands on Main Street. Until their churches

were built, the Methodists and Presbyterians worshiped

together, and had a Union Sunday-school.

Washington Jackson and Isaac Bennett were succeeded

on the Shiawassee Circuit in 1839 by A. Flemming. In

1840, F. Brittan and S. C. Stringliam were appointed to

the circuit, both of whom arc still living. They probably

had regular appointments at Corunna. In 1842, John

Cosart, since deceased, succeeded. In 1843, Riley C. Craw-

ford and Wm. F. Cowles; and in 1844, R. C. Crawford and

F. A. Blades were on the circuit. The fir.st two named are

yet doing efficient ministerial work ; the latter sustains a

superannuated relation to the Detroit Conference, and holds

a government office in Detroit. At that time the Shiawassee

Circuit was so large as to aiford abundant exercise to the

preachers. It embraced the following places, at each of

which service was held once in two weeks : Shiawassee-

town, Corunna, Owosso, Bynn, Vernon, North Vernon,

Venice, Argentine, Deerfield, Boutwells, Boyd School-

House, Conway, Antrim, Perry, Austin School-House,

Kellogg's School-House, Bennington, Florence, Green's

School-House, and Newburg. From 1845 to 1855 the

following were some of the ministers upon the circuit of

which Corunna formed a part, though not in the order here

given, viz.: Westlake, Allen, Levington, Whitcomb,

Henienway, Arnold, Johnson.

For some years Owosso and Corunna were taken from the

Shiawassee Circuit and were constituted a separate charge,

and in 1857 the two places were separated, since which

time each place has constituted a charge. From 1855 to

the present the ministerial appointments have been in the

following order: J. M. Arnold 0. Whitmore, L. C. York,

E. E. Caster, A. J. Bigelow, I. W. Donelson, I. Crawford,

J. Shank, J. Wesley, L. J. Whitcomb, F. W. May, A. J.

Richards, J. Kilpatrick, B. S. Taylor, W. W. Hicks, J.

W. Campbell, S. Reed. The present church edifice in

Corunna was begun about the year 1848 or 1849, but was

not at once completed. The parsonage was built in 1863.

The foregoing sketch by the pastor is as complete as the

limited time at command enabled him to make it.

PRESBYTERIAN CUURCII.

A meeting for the purpose of organizing a church of this

deuomiuatiou was held in the school-house iu Corunna,

April 27, 1844, under the direction of Rev. Scth Hardy,

and the following individuals enrolled their names as its

first members : Harlow Beach, Nelson Ferry, Alexander

McArthur, James Cummin, Lyman B. Gilbert, Ira B.

Howard, Seth Beach, iNIrs. Elizabeth Beach, Mrs. N.

Daniels, Mrs. Turza McArthur, Mrs. Emma Howard, Mrs.

Roxanna Thompson, Mrs. H. Daniels, Miss Margaret Mc-

Arthur, Miss Anna M. Ferry, and Miss Frances Ann

Ferry. Nelson Ferry was chosen clerk. Soon after the

organization, Lyman B. Gilbert, Harlow Beach, and Nelson

Ferry were elected ruling members.

The pastors in succession have been the Revs. William

Smith, Swan, Alanson Schofield, E. Gregory, J. W.
McGregor, J. R. Stevenson (who filled two pastorates),

J. W. Phelps, Kellogg, and T. D. Bartholomew, who

is the present clergyman in charge. Of the original mem-

bership of seventeen, but one—Mr. Alexander McArthur

—survives. The present church-roll numbers sixty names

upon the list.

The court-house afforded a convenient place of worship

until 1866, when the present substantial brick edifice was

erected. Connected with the church is a large and pro.s-

perous Sabbath-school, in which many of the church mem-

bers are active workers. The present session embraces

the following gentlemen: Elders—Charles Holman, S. D.

Cooper, R. B. Murray, D. N. Preston, J. R. Curtis.

B.iPTIST CHURCH.

The society connected with the Baptist Church of

Corunna was organized in 1854, under the auspices of the

Rev. Joseph Gamble, and with the following constituent

members: William Weeden and wife, Hiram Smith and

wife, Jessie L. Smith, Jeannettc N. Smith, and Joseph

Gamble and wife. Of the original members the only sur-

vivors arc Elder Gamble and Mrs. Iliram Smith. The

first services were held in the old court-house, which was

purchased by the society and fitted for purposes of worship.

The early records of the church have been destroyed by

fire, and no minutes of a date prior to 1867 arc obtainable.

The pastors in succession since that time have been Rev.

B. H. Shepard, 1867 ; Rev. H. A. Rose, 1868 ; Rev. B. J.

Boyuton, 1869; P. D. Clarke (as supply), 1870; Rev.

George Wesselius, 1871; Rev. E. R. Clarke, 1873; D.

Pettit (as supply), 1878 ; Rev. E. E. Bay lis, 1879 ; Rev.

George Atchison, 1880. A new church edifice is now in

process of erection on the lot at the corner of Fraser and

Woodbridgc Streets, owned by the society. Connected

with the church is a flourishing Sabbath-school, of which

Dr. Goodrich is superintendent.

ROMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH.

A church of the Roman Catholic faith was first organized

in 1860 under the pastorate of Father Van Pannel, who

remained the resident pastor until 1862. During his min-

istry a house of worship was erected, the debt upon which

was speedily liquidated. He was succeeded by Father

Bolte, who remained four years, and was followed by

Father Behrings in 1867. His ministrations continued

but one year, after which Father Record was delegated to

the church in Curunua. Father Kramer came in 1S70,



CITY OF CORUNNA. 175

and remained seven years. The present pastor, who began

his labors in 1870, is Father Wheeler, who resides in

Owosso, but holds a semi-monthly service in Corunna. A
Sabbalh-school is connected with the church, held after

each service, at which the children are instructed in the

catechism by the pastor. The present trustees are Jere-

miah Collins, Dennis Corcoran.

THE UNIVERSALIST CHURCH.

The organization of the Universalist Society of Corunna

was effected at the court-house, April 9, 18G5 ;
and on the

27th of the same month a board of trustees was elected,

of which E. F. Wade was chosen moderator and Cortes

I'ond clerk. The Rev. C. W. Knickerbocker was the

pastor who visited the charge each month, and held services

on Wednesday and Thursday evenings. He devoted himself

with much vigor to the erection of a church edifice, which

was completed April, 1872, and formally dedicated soon after.

The succeeding pastor was Rev. Asa Countryman, who was

installed in 1872, and during the year the church was for-

mally organized, with about twenty members. On the 22d

of March, 1874, the pastor having tendered his resignation,

the Rev. Amos Crane was called, and conducted services

regularly every Sabbath, during which time the society

grew steadily in numbers and influence. The pastor was

ultimately called to a more extended field of labor, and the

church is now without a stated supply, though services

liave been regularly maintained by the lay members.

Clergymen of the denomination also occasionally supply

the pulpit, the Rev. J. M. Getchell and Rev. S. F. Gibb

liaving been among the number. The strength of the

society has been somewhat impaired by the removal of

several influential members, who, by their means and

influence, aided greatly in its advancement. The large and

burdensome debt, which has been a source of great anxiety

to the congregation, was entirely liquidated in December,

1879, and an effort is about being made to secure the

presence of a settled pastor. A flourishing Sunday-school

was early established, and now has sixty members upon its

rolls, J. D. Leland being the superintendent. Teachers'

meetings are held each Saturday evening.

ST. PAUL'S CHURCH OF CORUNNA (EPISCOPAL).

In the summer of 18G2, Mrs. K. G. Kinib«rly, Mrs.

Sophia Crane, Mrs. R. Piper, Miss Ruth Phelps, and Miss

Cordelia Haskell met at the residence of Mr. J. II. Has-

kell, and formed a Ladies' Kpiscopal Society for the ])urpose

of raising i'unds to enjploy a minister, and also to Ibund a

church in the village. They struggled on with succes.s,

slow but sure, until March, 18(!4, when the services of Rev.

'J'honias 15. Dcjoley, of Uwosso, were secured to conduct the

services for one year on the second and fouith Sundays of

each month, at the court-house in Corunna. On the 12th

day of January, 1805, a meeting of the society was held

at the residence of Mrs. Lockwood for the purpose of or-

ganizing a churcli. At this time articles of agreement

were drawn proposing and agreeing to organize a church to

be called St. Paul's Church of the village of Corunna.

These articles were signed by 11. A. Crane, J. H. Haskell,

Edward Rose, J. N. Lemon, John Ivey, William Ivcy,

J. Hedges, A. M. Smith, and John N. Ingersoll, and were

recorded in the clerk's ofiice of Shiawas.see County, Jan-

uary 13, 18G5.

At the same date a call was drawn and signed by II. A.

Crane, J. H. Haskell, William Ivey, and John N. Ingersoll

for the liolding of the first annual meeting of St. Paul's

Church on Friday, Jan. 27, 1805, to perfect the organiza-

tion. At that time a declaration of assent to the articles

of agreement was drawn and signed by II. A. Crane, J.

H. Haskell, Edward Rose, J. N. Ingersoll, J. N. Lemon,

John Ivey, William Ivey, J. Hedges, A. M. Smith, J.

Huliek, L. D. Phelps, and Robert Piper. The cliurch

then elected the following vestrymen : J. H. Haskell, H.

A. Crane, J. Huliek, J. N. Ingersoll, L. D. Pheks, John

Ivey, and A. M. Smith, which having been done, St. Paul's

Church of Corunna was then and there declared by Rev.

Thomas B. Dooley to be duly formed.

Rev. George 0. Bachman became rector of the church

in November, 186G, and under his excellent supervision the

society prospered greatly. A considerable number con-

nected themselves with the society, and in 1SG7 its mem-

bers felt encouraged to undertake the erection of a house of

worship. The work of excavating was begun June 21,

.18G7. The material was designed to be brick. It was to

be cruciform in shape, dimensions of nave to be twenty-

seven and a half by fifty-five feet, the choir and robing-

room to be thirty-eight feet, the building to be surmounted

by a tower. The foundation was laid and a large part of

the material on the ground when Rev. Mr. Bachman was

removed by death and the further progress of the work

ended. Services were, however, continued by Revs. Henry

H. Bonnell and Whitney, of Owosso, Bloodgood, of Corunna,

and Levi Stimson, of Owosso, until the year 1879. Since

that time they have been conducted by George D. Wright.

The society are still sanguine of their success in completing

a house of worship.

A FREE METHODIST CHURCH

exists in Corunna, but no facts have been ascertained on

which to base a historical sketch of it.

THE COKUNNA CEMETEHY.

The original plat of the cemetery at Corunna was con-

veyed by Joseph Purdy and wife to the board of health of

Caledonia by deed, bearing date Nov. 22, 1847. The deed

shows substantially that, for the sum of one hundred and

fifty dollars, the parties above named bargained and sold to

the parties in trust lor the township of Caledonia, forever

to be used as a burial-ground, the following described parcel

of land situated in said township of Caledunia, being a part

of the centre thiid of the west |iartof the north part of the

southwest ((uarter of section 21 ofsaid township, commencing

at a point on the east line of said centre one-third of .>iaid

part of said fractional -section where the south line of

Pine Street in Cury's addition to the village of Curunna

extended in a straight line would inter.scct said point ; run-

ning thence west on the .south line of said street so ex-

tended, lour chains; thence south parallel with the east line

of said lot or centre one-third, five chains
; thence east

parallel with the said street so extended, four chains ; theucc
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uorth on the east liue one-third five chains to the place of

beginning, containing two acres of land.

An addition was surveyed by Andrew Huggins in Octo-

ber, 1869, which is sixty-two feet east and west, and two

hundred and forty-eight feet north and south, and contains

thirty-five one-hundredths of an acre of hind.

A second addition was purchased of M. C. Bachman,

Oct. 1, 1878, described as commencing at the northwest

corner of the land used as a cemetery, situated on section

21 in the city of Corunna ; thence running west ninety-

eight feet ; tlience south two hundred and si.^tysix feet on

a line parallel with the west line of said cemetery lot

;

thence east ninety-eight feet to said west line of the ceme-

tery lot ; thence north on said west line of cemetery lot

two hundred and sixty-six feet to the place of beginning.

The Corunna cemetery is now under the control of the

Common Council of the city, and the lots are disposed of

by the clerk of the Council. The spot has picturesque sur-

roundings, and is adorned with many attractive memorial

tablets, but is still susceptible of much improvement.

SECRET ORDERS.

CORUNN.\ LODGE, No. 115, F. AND A. M.

The date of organization of the Corunna Lodge takes

precedence of that of any similar institution in the city,

the charter having been granted Jan. 14, 1859, after which

the following officials were chosen : Hugh McCurdy, W. M.

;

John M. Fitch, S. W. ; Eli C. Moore, J. W. ; Ebenezer

F. Wade, Treasurer; Austin A. Belden, Secretary ; Samuel

C. Smith, S. D.; George W. Goodcll, J. D. ; Daniel Bush,

Spencer B. Raynale, Stewards ; William Rollo, Tiler.

Its regular communications are held at the following

dates: January 27th, February 24th, March 23d, April

20th, May 18th, June 22d, June 24th, July 20th, August

17th, September 14th, October 12th, November IGth, De-

cember 14th, December 27th.

Its present officers are A. C. Brown, W. M.
; J. M.

Goodell, S. W.; J. E. Keith, J. W. ; A. T. Nichols, Treas-

urer; F. Betts, Secretary; C. M. Peacock, S. D. ; H. B.

Hadley, J. D. ; W. M. Carleton, Tiler ; J. Appleton, S. H.

McCurdy, Stewards.

CORUNNA COMMANDERY, No. 21, K. T.

A dispensation was granted April 7, 18GS, to Hugh
McCurdy as Commander, C. C. Goodalo as Generalissimo,

and Daniel Bush as Captain-General ; and the Corunna

Commandery received its charter June 3d of the same

year. Its charter officers were H. McCurdy, E. C. ; Seth

Pettibone, Gen. ; 0. L. Spaulding, C. G. ; T. C. Garner,

Prelate ; C. E. Shattuck, S. W. ; C. J. Gale, J. W. ; E.

C. Moore, Treasurer ; S. B. Raynale, Recorder.

The commandery has a membership of forty-five, and is

in a prosperous condition. Its present officers are Hugh
McCurdy, E. C. ; A. T. Nichols, Gen. ; C. J. Gale, C. G.

;

Seth Pettibone, Prelate
; Michael Garland, S. W. ; E. Rose,

J. W.; D. T. Kincaid, Trea.suror ; J. D. Leland, Recorder.

COKUNNA COUNCIL, No. 38, R. S. M.

The charter of the Corunna Council bears date February

19, 1874, its charter members having been Hugh Mc-

Curdy, Spencer B. Raynale, Jefferson D. Leland, Joseph

N. Lemon, F. P. Howlett, E. Rose, J. Anderson, L. D.

Phelps, W. D. Garrison, A. Garrison, C. J. Gale, and C.

D. Smith.

Its first officers were Hugh McCurdy, T. I. M. ; S. B.

Raynale, D. M. ; J. D. Leland, P. C. W. ; A. T. Nichols,

Treasurer ; J. D. Leland, Recorder. The present officers

are Hugh McCurdy, T. I. M. ; James Anderson, D. M.

;

Almon C. Brown, P. C. W. ; Albert T. Nichols, Treasurer

;

Jeff. D. Leland, Recorder ; Joseph N. Lemon, C. of G.

;

Henry W. Parker, C. of C. ; Willard M. Carleton, Sentinel.

The meetings of the council are held on the third

Thursday of each month, in an elegantly appointed hall,

owned and fitted by the various lodges of the city.

COUUNNA CHAPTER, No. 33, R. A. M.,

was organized Feb. 18, 1864, with the following officers:

Hugh McCurdy, H. P.; J. S. Hewett, King; G. D.

Phelps, Scribe ; C. S. Converse, R. A. C. ; J. Irland, P.

S. ; E. F. Wade, 3d V. ; D. Bush, 2d V. ; J. M. Thayer,

G. M., 1st v., and Treasurer; S. B. Raynale, C. H., Sec-

retary.

The present officers are J. D. Leland, M. E. H. P. ; W.
Eames, E. K. ; C. D. Smith, E. S. ; C. M. Peacock, C. of

H. ; A. C. Brown, P. S. ; J. A. Keith, R. A. C ; A. T.

Nichols, Treasurer ; F. Betts, Secretary ; G. W. Goodell,

3d V. ; A. G. Bruce, 2d V. ; J. M. Goodell, 1st V. ; W. M.

Carleton, Guard.

Its regular convocations are held on the first Thursday of

each month.

LODGE No. 36.1, I. 0. OF G. T.

The charter under which this lodge was organized was

granted April 18, 18G6, the charter njcmbers being I.

Shank, G. C. Holmes, A. J. Eraser, J. M. Goodell, J. W.
Turner, A. M. Pond, A. M. Eraser, H. P. Lawrence, S. A.

Lawrence, R. J. Pond, R. E. Kelsey, M. Ackley, William

Cochran, Nancy Cochran, Cortes Pond, E. B. Pond, John

Farrar, Paul Harmon, George Sloan, Julius Piper, James

Slater, J. G. Bryan, Henry Spaulding, William Lucas, J.

W. Hagerman, A. M. Smith, and G. H. Weeden. The

lodge, which is in a flourishing condition, embraces a mem-

bership of one hundred, and holds its meetings in the

Phoenix Block. Its present officers are Dr. L. M. Good-

rich, W. C. ; Miss Jennie Hathaway, W. V. ; Rev. Seth

Reed, Chaplain ; Lyman Brandt, Lodge Deputy ; Fred.

Goddard, Secretary ; BIrs. M. Allen, Treasurer.

SHIAWASSEE LODGE, No. 407, KNIGHTS OF HONOR.

This lodge was organized Dec. 9, 1876, with sixteen

members and the following-named charter officers : Peter

N. Cook, D. ; Michael Carland, Vice-D. ; Almon C. Brown,

Asst. D. ; Lewis H. Wilcox, Reporter; L. D. Phelps,

Treasurer ; A. T. Nichols, Chaplain.

Its present officers are J. M. McGrath, D. ; Michael

Reidy, Vice-D. ; William H. Cole, Asst. D. ; L. H. Wil-

cox, Reporter; A. C. Brown, Financial Reporter; J. D.

Leland, Treasurer ; A. T. Nichols, Chaplain.

The convocations of the Shiawassee Lodge are held in a

hall fitted for their use in the Phoenix Block, on the first
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and third Wednesday evenings of each month. The pres-

ent membership is twenty-six.

CORUNX.\ LODGE, No. 34, A. 0. OF V. W.

The order of United Workmen was first instituted iu

Corunna in 1878, the lodge having been organized on the

19th day of June of that year, with the following charter

officers: Almon C. Brown, M. W. ; C. T. Armstrong, Re-

corder ; Charles Jackson, Financier. Its present officers

are George R. Hoyt, M. W. ; Samuel A. Fish, Recorder
;

S. G. Blake, Financier. The lodge holds its convocations

on the second and fourth Wednesdays of each month in

Odd-Fellows' Hall, in the Phoenix Block, and has thirty-

nine names upon its membership roll.

CORUNNA COUNCIL, No. 5, ROYAL TEMPLARS OF TEM-
PERANCE.

The Council of Royal Templars of Temperance was or-

ganized Feb. 21, 1879, its ciiarter officers being George W.
McLain, S. C. ; R. A. Patton, V. C. ; A. G. Bruce, P. C.

;

Rev. J. W. Campbell, Chaplain
; W. A. Knight, Secre-

tary ; F. M. Kilburn, Treasurer ; C. A. Youngs, Herald
;

J. Creque, Guard
; W. C. Carleton, Sentinel.

Its present officers are A. G. Bruce, S. C. ; W. A. Knight,

V. C; G. W. McLain, P. C. ; Nancy Allen, Chaplain ; J.

Showt, Secretary ; L. Brandt, Treasurer ; C. A. Young,

Herald; Lottie E. Knight, Guard; R. E. Kelsey, Sentinel.

The lodge holds its meetings in Phcenix Hall, and includes

the names of forty-one male and thirty-two female members.

CHAPTER XXIX.

ANTRIM TOWNSHIP.*

Early Seltlementa and Settlers—Roads— Post-Offlees—Resident Tax-

payers in 1811—Ereetiun and Organization of Antrim— List of

Township Offieers—Schools of Antrim—Churches—Cemetery—M'ar

Recoril—Societies.

The township known in its civil organization as Antrim

is designated in the United States survey as town 5 north,

of range 3 east, of the principal meridian. The .surface,

like that of other townships in the same tier, is compara-

tively level, and in many parts wet and swampy. It con-

tains, however, several ranges of higher lands, though

these cannot be termed hills. On(i of these elevations

more distinctly marked than the rest, and yet hardly no-

ticeable in its alliludr aljovt' tlic snnonnding counlry, forms

a water-slu^d which divides the township into two (listiiu-t

parts. The eastern part of the township is (lr:uiii(l hy tin,'

branches of tlie Shiawa.ssee, and the eentiai and western

part by those of the Looking-tJlass Uivcr. The small

branches of these streams, assisted liy artili(i:il means, ren-

der the township comparatively free from waste land. The

soil is good, and the township is noted lin- the jirodiiction

of wheat.

By U. A. McAlpine

E.VItLY SETTLKMENTS A>M> .SETTLERS.

In the latter part of May, 1836, Allen Beard and Lyman

Melvin, two young men from New York, came to Michi-

gan. Leaving their families on Lodi Plains, Wxi^htenaw

Co., they followed an Indian trail northward, and finally

reached the log cabin of Dyer Rathburn, in Burns town-

ship. Being informed that up to that time no explorers

had entered land or passed from that trail to the westward,

they left the line usually traveled by land-seekers, and

made their way through swamps and over creeks, across

which they were often compelled to fell trees, and finally

came to a large and comparatively level tract on section 19,

a place which \Yould usually be described as oak-openings.

Here, upon an Indian mound, in the midst of luxuriant

vegetation and bright flowers, they sat down to rest and

refresh themselves ; and it is related that Melvin, who was

especially charmed by the beauty of the surroundings, re-

marked that if he lived in Michigan he wished to live there,

and if he died he wished to be buried there,—words which

were subsequently often repeated by him. After noting

the description of the land, they returned to Detroit, where,

on June 1, 183(3, Allen Beard entered the west half of the

southeast quarter, and Lyman Melvin entered the west

half of the same quarter of section 19.

On the Sth of July of the same summer they returned

with three yoke of oxen, a wagon, a small outfit of farming-

implements, and cooking-utensils. They built a small hut

of bark peeled from the bodies of black-ash trees. The

bark was cut in long lengths, pressed out flat, and then

leaned against a pole of a tent. Marsh hay well dried

served a good purpose as bedding. After thus providing

for their immediate wants they began to plow a piece of

ground for wheat. There being few trees and but little

fallen timber in the way, they soon pre])ared a field of con-

siderable extent, and then returned to Lodi, where they re-

mained during harvest. In the fall they came again to

Antrim, and subsequently brought their families. While

sowing wheat in the same autumn they were one day sur-

prised to hear a cow-bell in the timber north of their house.

Upon looking for neighbors they found the families of

Peter CViok and Alanson Ailing living in a cabin on section

17. l5olh these families had come into the township about

the same time. Mr. Cook located the northwest quarter of

section 17 and the northeast ipnirter of 18. Mr. Ailing

entered the northwest (|Uarter of .section 18 and the soulli-

west quarter of section 7. After building a cabin on the

land owned by Mr. Cook, he and Mr. Ailing went to Clin

ton, Mich., and persuaded Charles Ijocke to return with

them. Mr. Ailing .sold him eighty acres of land, agreeing

to take ])ay in work. It is believed that Mr. Locke's son,

born soon al'terwards, was the first white child born in the

township. .^Ir. L.nke is still living in I'erry. Mr. Cook,

after living in Antrim nniny years, removed lo Corunna,

where he spent the remainder of his life, and where his

widow is still living.

Four hrolhers named Harmon were early .settlers in .\u-

trim. Alnmn Harmon ciimu to the township in the fall of

183(i, with a wir<" and twn <'hil(ireii. He located (he south-

west quarter of tiie nculheasl (puirtcr of .section 20, now

owned by J. C. Adams. He built a good log hou.su on the

23
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site now occupied by the house of Mr. Adams, the best in

the township up to that time. Mr. Harmon remained but

a few years.

Horace B. Flint reached the township about the same

time as Almon Harmon, and bought forty acres of Mr.

Ailing on section 7, the same now owned by E. Goodburn.

Of the family which he brought, but one is now living.

Harvey Harmon came in the winter of 1836-37, and

settled on section 28, having also bought land on section

29. He remained but a few years.

Chauncoy Harmon and Daniel Harmon came in 1839.

Daniel located the land on which the saw-mill now owned

by Isaac Wright stands. On this site he .built the first

saw-mill in Antrim, in 1840. In 1848 he sold to

Thomas Munger, who, after running it but a short time,

sold it to Walter and I. S. A. Wright. Chauncey Har-

mon bought the land now owned by Chauncey Case, being

forty acres on section 29.

On June 2, 1836, Mortimer B. Martin, with a friend

named Townsend, came to the northeastern corner of the

township of Antrim. He, too, followed the usual line of

travel, coming first to the house of Dyer Rathburu, whence

he went north, striking the Shiawassee in the vicinity of

Knaggs' trading-post. From this place Mr. Martin went

to the hill on which his residence now stands, and although

up to that time he had scarcely thought of farming, he was

so delighted with the scene that he at once determined to

locate a tract, which he did on the 6th of July, 1836.

Mr. Townsend was not so enthusiastic and did not pur-

chase. Mr. Martin was the first settler in the northeastern

quarter of the township.

John Ward came to Antrim May 2, 1837, and settled

on the northeast quarter of section 7, taking up forty acres.

His family consisted of a wife and eight children. Mrs.

Ward died in December, 1839. Hers is believed to

have been the first death in the township. Lyman Melvin

died in 1850, and was buried in the mound just in the rear

of the orchard on his fiirm, to which we have already

alluded. His wife married again and went to California.

The farm is now owned by A. Dippy, also an early settler.

Allen Beard lives ou the farm he located more than

forty-four years ago. His first wife has been dead many

years. Nathaniel Durfee, one of the early settlers of An-

trim, is still living. His settlement is referred to in the

biography which will be seen in another part of this work.

The nearest post-office through which the earliest set-

tlers of Antrim received their mail was at Howell, twenty-

five miles distant. When the office was established at

Shiawasseetown it made it much more convenient, as the

settlers could then get their mail and " go to mill" at the

same time. The most embarrassing feature of the case

was the difficulty at times of getting the necessary twenty-

five cents to pay the postage on a letter. The next office

was established at Hartwell.

The first post-office located in Antrim was established in

1849, and opened at the house of John Near, who was

the postmaster. When he resigned, Allen Beard was

appointed. The name was then changed from Antrim to

Gla.ss River, and Joseph Blinson succeeded to the office,

after whom the present incumbent, J. C. Adams, was

appointed.

The fir.st road opened in Antrim was the north-and-south

road which passes through the western tier of sections. It

was located in the fall of 1839, as was also the road leading

east, connecting with a road established the year before in

Burns, running to Byron. These roads were the main

lines of travel for many years. But when Owosso and Co-

runna grew to be of importance trade and travel gradually

shifted to that quarter.

The mill used by the settlers in an early day was situated

at Shiawasseetown. The farmers from the southwestern

part of Antrim usually went with a yoke of cattle, and if

the roads were favorable, could make the trip in two days.

Before this mill was built they traded in Detroit or Ann

Arbor.

Although the lands of the entire township were taken up

soon after the firet entry was made (with the exception of a

few tracts at that time considered worthless), there were

but few permanent settlers, and these were in the western

and southwestern parts. In these localities were all those

(with one exception) to whom we have referred, who came

in in the summer and fall of 1836.

From the assessment-roll of the township for 1841, given

below, it will be noticed that there was but one taxable in-

habitant east of a line drawn north and south through the

centre of the township. At this time large tracts of land

were held by speculators, and some of it was retained by

them for many years. There is now, however, but little

non-resident land in the township.

RESIDENT TAX-PATERS IN 1841.

Following is a list of the resident tax-payers in Antrim

in 1841, as shown by the assessment-roll of that year,

signed by Harvey Harmon, assessor. All of these, with

two exceptions, were assessed on personal property

:

Names. Sections.

Mortimer B. Martin 1, 12

Alansun Ailing 7, IS

John Ward 7

William Ward 7

Charles Locke 7

S. S. Sheldon 4

Horace B. Flint 7

Peter Cook 18, 17

Harvey Harmon 29, 28

Joshua S. Saddler 29

Lyman Melvin 19

Hiram Van Natter 19

George Abljott 20

Daniel B. Harmon 21

James Colborn 32

Sylvester Colborn 32

Amos Colborn 32

Guy Lyons 30

Allen Beiird 19, 30

Chelcy Tupper 2S

Nicholas Walbarer 25,20

Totals

ERECTION AND ORGANIZATION OF ANTRIM.

Antrim was taken from the territory of Shiawassee town-

ship (of which it had previously been a part) and erected

a separate civil township by act of the Legislature approved
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Slarch tj, 1838. The act provided that the first township

election should be held at the house of Almon S. Harmon,

and in pursuance of this provision it was held at the place

designated on the 2d of April, 183S. Noyes P. Chapiuaii

was chosen moderator, AJmon S. Harmon clerk, and Alan-

son Ailing and Charles Locke assbtant judges of election.

As is usually the case at the first election in a township,

the number present was so limited that nearly every voter

received one or more oflBces. The number in this case was

twelve, their names being as follows : Almon S. Harmon,

Noyes P. Chapman, Alanson Ailing, Charles Locke, John

Ward, Philander T. Main, Horace B. Flint, Allen Beard,

Lyman Melvin, Hiram Van Natter, Harvey Harmon, and

Peter Cook.

A township-meeting was held at the house of Lyman

Melvin on the 8th of June of the same year, at which

meeting another full list of ofiBcers were elected, none of

thoee elected at the first election having qualified. We
therefore give the results in the following list, the names of

the officers chosen at the election of June 8th as the actual

township officers for 1838. The list here given includes

the names of the principal officers of Antrim township

from 1837 to 1880 inclusive, viz.

:

1838.—Supervisor, Thomas B. Flint; Clerk, Charles

Locke; Assessors, John Ward, Allen Beard,

Henry Harmon ; Highway Commissioners,

Horace B. Flint, Lyman Melvin, Henry Har-

mon ; Collector, Lyman Melvin ; Constables,

Charles Locke, Lyman Melvin, Hiram Van

Natter; Overseers of the Poor, Peter Cook,

Chauncey Harmon.

1839.—Super\-isor, Ichabond Kneeland ; Town Clerk,

Charles Locke ; Treasurer, Harvey Harmon

;

Justices, John Ward, John Culver; Highway

Commissioners, Isaac Colbom, Simon S. Shel-

don, David B. Harmon ; Assessors, Hiram Van

Natter, John Ward ; School Inspectors, Allen

Beard, Chauncey Harmon ; Directors of the

Poor, Peter Cook, Hiram Van Natter; Con-

stables, Nicholas Walbarer, Amos Colbom.

1840.—Supervisor, Harvey Harmon ; Clerk, Charles

Locke ; Assessors, D. B. Harmon, Allen Beard
;

School Inspectors, John C. Culver, Charles

Locke; Commissioners of Highways, John

Ward, Alanson Ailing, D. B. Harmon ; Treas-

urer, Lyman Melvin ; Collector, Chauncey Har-

mon ; Con.stables, Lyman Melvin, Lewb Ward,

Chauncey Harmon, G. Merrill ; Justice, M. B.

Martin.

1841.—Supervisor, Harvey Harmon; Clerk, Peter Cook;

Treasurer, Horace B. Flint ; Commissioners of

Highways, Hiram Van Natter, Mortimer B.

Martin, Amos Colbom ; Justices, Horace B.

Flint, M. B. Martin ; Constables, Guy Lyons,

Isaac Colbom, Lyman Melvin, Hiram Van

Natter.

1842.—Supervisor, Mortimer B. Martin; Clerk, Charles

Locke ; Treasurer, Nathaniel Durfee ; Justices,

Mortimer B. Martin, Henry Hill ; Commis-

sioners of Highways, Guy Lyons, Samuel Bal-

com, Simon S. Sheldon ; Constables, Guy Lyons,

Don C. Griswold, Sufford Hill.

1843.—Supervisor, Mortimer B. Martin; Clerk, Peter

Cook ; Treasurer, Lyman Melvin ; Commis-

sioners of Highwa3-s, Peter Cook, Samuel Bal-

com, Charles Locke ; Justice, Nathaniel Durfee

;

Constables, D. B. Harmon, Samuel Balcom,

Hiram Van Natter, Guy Lyons.

1844.—Supervisor, Mortimer B. Martin ; Clerk, John

Hill ; Treasurer, Guy Lyons ; Justice, Lyman

Melvin ; Highway Commissioners, D. B. Har-

mon, Samuel Balcom, John Dippy ; Constables,

Alanson Ailing, James Colbom, Hiram Van

NaUer.

1845.—Supervisor, Timothy M. Fuller; Clerk, John Hill;

Treasurer, Samuel Balcom ; Justice, Peter Cook
;

Highway Commissioners, John Dippy, Alanson

Ailing, Nicholas Walbarer ; Constables, Jabez

Cook, Martin H. Smith, Timothy R. Bennett,

D. D. Sias.

Ig46.—Supervisor, T. M. Fuller; Clerk, John Hill;

Treasurer, Samuel Balcom ; Justices, H. B.

Flint, James Beal ; Commissioners of High-

ways, John Dippy. T. R. Bennett, M. H. Smith
;

Constables, Sylvanus Sias, S. V. Sherlock.

1S47.—Supervisor, H. B. Flint ; Clerk, John Hill ; Treas-

urer, Samuel Balcom ; Justice, Ichabod W.

Mnnger ; Commissioners of Highways, George

W. Lamb, Guy Lyons, Hiram G. Heminway

;

Constables, A. M. Grosvenor, George S. Lamb,

Sylvanus Sias.

1848.—Supervisor, E. Gould; Clerk, Timothy M. Fuller;

Treasurer, John Near ; Justices, Peter Cook,

William H. Eddy ; Highway Commissioner,

Harvey G. Thomas; Constables, William H.

Blake, Ely Stone, George S. Lamb.

1849 Supervisor, Mortimer B. Martin ; Clerk, John W.

Wright; Treasurer, John Near; Justice, E.

Gould ; Commissioners of Highways, Stephen

V. Sherlock, Timothy R. Bennett ; Constables,

Augustus M. Grosvenor, T. Monger, William

Rust.

1850.—Supervisor, Peter Cook; Clerk, Timothy M. Ful-

ler; Treasurer, John Near; Justices, Stephen

V. Sherlock, Evan Roberts; Cummiiasiouer of

Highways, John Ward ; Constables, Thomas

Carlton, Francis McCormick, Otis B. Fuller.

1851.—Supervisor, I. S. A. Wright
;
Clerk, T. M. Fuller;

Treasurer, John Near ; Justice, Horace Flint

;

Highway Commissioner, Peter Cook ; Constables,

Andrew Shields, Benjamin Eddy, U. F. Sher-

lock, Ely Stone.

1852.—Supervisor, M. Martin ; Clerk, I. S. A. Wright

;

Treasurer, H. B. Flint ; Justices, D. Summers,

A. Rust ; Highway Commissioners, T. R. Ben-

nett, R. Can; Constables, Calvin Film William

Blake.

1853.—Supen-L«-.r, L. M. Martin ; Clerk, I. .^. A. Wright
;

Treasurer, H. B. Flint ; Justices, Asahel Ru.".t,

D. Summers; Highway Commissioners, T. R.
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Bennett, Robert Carr ; Constables, William

Blake, Calvin Flint, B. Colborn, John Dippy.

1854.—Supervisor, M. B. Martin; Clerk, Timothy M.

Fuller ; Treasurer, John Near ;
Justices, Eman-

uel M. Young, Stephen V. Sherlock ;
Highway

Commissioners, David Waters, Robert Carr;

Constables, John Near, William B. Wells, Solo-

mon H. Hoard.

1855.—Supervisor, Mortimer B. Martin ;
Clerk, T. M.

Fuller; Treasurer, John Near; Justice, I. S.

A. Wright; Commissioners of Highways, Wil-

liam B. Wills, Warren C. Harris; Constables,

John Near, Guy Lyons, Alanson Ailing, Wil-

liam B. Welch.

1856.—Supervisor, M. B. Martin; Clerk, Timothy M.

Fuller; Treasurer, John Near; Justices, Calvin

Howard, Allen Beard ; Commissioner of High-

ways, Solomon H. Hoard; Constables, William

H. Blake, Stephen V. Sherlock, Worthington

Howard, John Walters.

1857.—Supervisor, M. B. Martin; Clerk, Timothy M.

Fuller; Treasurer, John Near; Justice, Liberty

Lyman ;
Highway Commissioner, Ransom More-

house ; Constables, James T. Morgan, Byron

Beard, William Ailing.

1858.—Supervisor, M. B. Martin; Clerk, Timothy M.

Fuller; Treasurer, John Near; Justices, Evan

Roberts, James E. Carr ; Highway Commis-

sioner, John Ward ; Constables, John Moody,

Charles Tilson, Byron Beard, Samuel W. Carr.

1859.—Supervisor, Lafayette Arnold ; Clerk, T. M. Ful-

ler ; Treasurer, John Near ; Justices, Peter

Cook, Guy Lyons ; Commissioners, Anson Red-

son, James Case; Constables, John Moody,

Samuel W. Carr, David Waters, John Dippy.

1860.—Supervisor, Lafayette Arnold; Clerk, W. H. Eddy;

Treasurer, William F. Miller ; Justices, Walter

Wright, David Parker; Commissioners of High-

ways, Elias Haggerty, Byron Beard ; Constables,

Gilbert Hemingway, James Peck, A. H. Fuller,

Byron Beard.

1861.—Supervisor, Lafayette Arnold; Clerk, Worthington

Howard ; Treasurer, William F. Miller ; Justice,

Guy Lyons ;
Commissioner of Highways, James

Case ; Constables, James W. Fuller, James H.

Hood, William W. Morgan, Gilbert Heming-

way.

1862.—Supervisor, Lafayette Arnold
;
Clerk, Calvin How-

ard ; Treasurer, William F. Miller; Justice,

Horace Sinip.son ; Commissioners of Highways,

E. Burlingame, J. H. Hood
; Constables,

George Dippy, J. H. Hood, P. M. Shelp,

James Fuller.

1863.—Supervisor, Lafayette Arnold; Clerk, William H.

Eddy; Treasurer, William F. Miller; Justices,

David Parker, Jesse J. Bennett ; Highway Com-

missioner, Jacob T. Miller ; Constables, J. C.

Adams, P. M. Cook, C. M. Fuller, George

Bliss.

1864.—Supervisor, Lafayette Arnold ; Clerk, T. F. Burt-

nett; Treasurer, William F. Miller; Justice,

Walter Wright ; Conimi.ssiotiers of Highways,

J. T. Morgan, J. C. Adams ; Constables, J. C.

Adams, Stewart Krisler, A. M. Lyons, P. M.

Shelp.

1865.—Supervisor, P. Parker; Clerk, T. F. Burtnett;

Treasurer, William F. Miller; Justice, Guy

Lyons ; Comnii.«sioner of Highways, Jacob

Heath ; Constable, J. C. Adams.

1866.—Supervisor, David Parker; Clerk, Thomas F. Burt-

nett; Treasurer, William F. Miller; Justice,

Ransom Morehouse; Commissioner of High-

ways, Calvin Howard ; Constables, John Dippy,

George A. Parker, A. R. Carr, W. S. Scribner
;

School Inspector, W. H. Adams.

1867.—Supervisor, Lafayette Arnold; Clerk, T. F. Burt-

nett ; Treasurer, William F. Miller ; School In-

spector, William H. Fleming; Justices, Alfred

P. Sutterby, Evan Roberts ; Commissioners of

Highways, Byron Beard, Andrew Love; Con-

stables, John Dippy, M. Lyons, William Saul,

Jr., Austin Trowbridge.

1868.—Supervisor, Lafayette Arnold ; Clerk, Joseph Blin-

ston ; Treasurer, John Williamson ; Justices,

Allen Beard, W. Wright, P. N. Cook ; School

Inspector, John B. Howe ; Commissioner of

Highways, Thomas Gallagher ; Constables, Sam-

uel Morey, Morton Bennett, Lewis Decker,

David L. Edsall.

1869.—Supervisor, Lafayette Arnold; Clerk, Joseph Blin-

stoii ; Treasurer, James T. Morgan ;
Justices,

Mortimer B. Martin, John B. Howe ; School

Inspector, Lewis Decker
;
Commissioner of High-

ways, Lewis M. Baldwin ; Constables, Stephen

Ward, Delos Williamson, George Bliss, Parley

M. Shelp.

1870.—Supervisor, Lafayette Arnold ; Clerk, Thomas

Burtuett ; Treasurer, James T. Morgan ; Jus-

tices, John Dippy, Chauncey Case; School In-

spector, Alpha A. Carr ; Commissioner of High-

ways, George G. Harris ; Constables, Parley M.

Shelp, Lucius Slocum, Milo Hovey, Edgar Dur-

fee.

1871.—Supervisor, P. H. Gallagher; Clerk, T. F. Burt-

nett ; Treasurer, J. T. Morgan ; Justices, A. P.

Sutterby, Andrew J. Rounds, John B. Howe

;

School Inspectors, T. N. Blinston, W. S. Hunt-

ington ; Commissioner of Highways, Thomas

Gallagher; Constables, Hiram Skinner, P. M.

Shelp, George Bliss, Morton Bennett.

1872.—Supervisor, John Q. A. Cook; Clerk, T. F. Burt-

nett ; Treasurer, James T. Morgan ; Justice,

S. H. Hoard ; Commissioner of Highways,

Isaac Sliotwell ; School Inspector, Eben Bliss

;

Constables, Alpha A. Carr, Volney Allen, Whit-

ney S. Jacobs, Lafayette McDivit; Drain Com-

missioner, George Graham.

1873.—Supervisor, John Q. A. Cook ; Clerk, Thomas F.

Burtnett ; Treasurer, W. H. Adams ; Justices,

Thomas A. Lawrie, Evan Roberts; Commissioner

«
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of Highways, Prank McDivit ; Drain Commis-

sioner, George Graham ; School Inspectors, J. C.

Adams, J. E. Wright ; Constables, Joseph Ag-

new, Volney Ailing, Corydon M. Miller, L. C.

Dorn.

1874.—Supervisor, J. Q. A. Cook ; Clerk, T. F. Burtnett

;

Treasurer, W. H. Adams ; Justice, J. C. Adams;

Commissioners of Highways, William BuflF,

Jacob T. Miller ; Drain Commissioner, William

F. Miller ; Constables, Voluey Ailing, Jerome

B. Trim, Jonathan Wood. Joseph Agnew.

1875.—Supervisor, J. Q. A. Cook; Clerk, T. F. Burtnett;

Treasurer, W. H. Adams; Justices, Walter

Wright, Moses W. Fuller ; Commissioner of

Highways, I. Shotwell; Superintendent of

Schools, J. E Wright ; School Inspector, J. T.

Morgan ; Drain Commissioner, J. C. Adams

;

Constables, Andrew Love, Richard Harding,

John Dippy, Stephen D. Tasket.

1876.—Supervisor, J. Q. A. Cook; Clerk, T. F. Burtnett;

Treasurer, W. H. Adams ; Justice, Evan Rob-

erts ; Commissioner of Highways, Mills L.

Parker ; Superintendent of Schools, J. B.

Wright; Drain Commissioner, John C. Adams;

School Inspector, James T. Morgan
;
Constables,

Joseph Aguew, Heman Hagerty, E. 0. Brown,

John Dippy.

1877.—Supervisor, James L. Jared ; Clerk, T. F. Burt-

nett ; Treasurer, W. H. Adams; Justice, Thos.

A. Lawrio ; Superintendent of Schools, J. E.

Wright ; School Inspector, J. T. Morgan ; Com-

missioner of Highways, Wells B. Fox ; Consta-

bles, Lafayette McDivit, Voluey Ailing, Willis

Ellsworth, Stephen D. Tasket.

1878.—Supervisor, J. Q. A. Cook ; Clerk, T. F. Burtnett

;

Treasurer, W. H. Adams ; Justice, Austin

Trowbridge ; Superintendent of Schools, Moses

W. Fuller; Commissioner of Highways, J. T.

Morgan ; School Inspector, Alonzo Dippy

;

Drain Commissioner, Lewis J. Grant ; Consta-

bles, Albert B. Miller, Volney Ailing, Wilder

Main, Lafayette McDivit.

1879.—Supervisor, Isaac Shotwell ; Clerk, John C. Adams;

Treasurer, W. H. Adams; Justices, Walter

Wright, Volney Ailing ; Superintendent of

Schools, J. E. Wright ; School Inspector, Ro-

nianzo T. Stone
;
Highway Commissioner, James

J. Alherton
; Drain Commissioner, Alonzo Dip-

py ; Constables, Albert H. Miller, Smith D.

Morgan, Francis Wright, Henry Ailing.

1880.—Supervisor, Isaac Shotwell; Clerk, J. C. Adams;

Treasurer, Walter Wright
;
Justices, William S.

Huntington ; ("omniissinner of Highways, George

W. Harris; Drain Commissioner, Alonzo Di]ipy
;

Superintendent of Schools, J. E. Wright; School

Inspector, Albert H. Miller; Constables, Smith

D. Morgan, Stephen D. Tasket, Henry Ailing,

Calvin M. Fuller.

SCHOOLS OF ANTKIM.

On the 14th of November, 1837, when town 5 north,

range 3 east, now Antrim, was yet attached to Shiawassee

township, the school inspectors of that town met and divided

it into school districts.

Sections 1, 2, 3, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, to form district

No. 1.

Sections 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 34, 35, 36, to form dis-

trict No. 2.

Sections 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, !), 16, 17, IS, to form district No. 3.

Sections 19, 20, 21, 28, 30, 31, 32, 33, to form district

No. 4.

But it appears that the school districts were not organ-

ized until the fall of 1839, as will be shown hereafter.

The history of the schools of Antrim commences prop-

erly in the late fall of 1838. In the latter part of the

summer of that year, John Stiles, a young man from New

Jersey, came to Antrim to visit his uncle, John Ward, who,

as has been said, reached the township the year previous.

The young man having signified his willingness to remain,

an informal meeting was called, and it was determined to

employ him to teach a three months' school in the log cabin

built by Horace B. Flint, Mr. Flint, in the mean time, hav-

ing built another log house, and a rather commodious one

for those days.

The attendance in this school, though somewhat irregular,

owing to the great distance many had to come, was from ten

to twelve. Among the number were Levi and Lyman Kel-

logg, from Bennington. Mr. Stiles received thirty-six dol-

lars for his three months' services.

The first meeting of the sehool-board of Antrim took

place on the 6th day of April, 1839, at which time John

Culver was chosen moderator and Thomas Locke clerk.

On the 19th of the same month the board again met and

divided the township into four equal school districts. The

northeast quarter of the township was set ofi' as district No.

1, the northwest quarter as No. 2, the .southwest quarter as

No. 3, and the southeast quarter as No. 4.

A notice of a school-meeting in district No. 2 was given,

and the meeting was held on the evening of the 29th of

April, 1839. This was probably the first regularly organ-

ized school-meeting held in the township. Horace B. Flint

was chosen moderator, John Ward director, Charles Locke

assessor. It was decided by vote to select a site and raise

two hundred dollars for a school building. Tlio site deter-

mined upon was in the northeast corner of the northwest

([uartcr of section 18, being the same site now occupied by

the school-house in district No. 3.

On May 29, 1839, Alanson Ailing, " in consideration of

twenty-five cents, duly jiaid," leased one-half an acre of the

above-described land to the district. .\ log school-hou.se was

soon after erected, and Miss Polly A. Harmon was employed

as teacher at one dollar per week. Intellect seems to have

been at a discount and muscle at a premium in those days.

The next school was taught by Miss Lucretia Purdy. In

a few years the school-house was moved one-half mile

south. It was subse(|uently destroyed by fire, .since which

time two school-houses have been buill on the old site se-

lected at the first school-meeting in the district.

The next school district organized was in the Durfee
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neighborhood, or in what was originally district No. 4.

But the division of the township into four districts was

not of long duration. The boundary-Hues of school dis-

tricts, always more or less unstable, have been especially so

in Antrim, and to trace out the various changes would fill

a volume.

School district No. 1 was formed with nearly its present

boundaries in 1 848. The first meeting was called at the

house of Stephen Sherlock. That gentleman, John Near,

and W. H. Eddy were chosen officers for the district. Mr.

Eddy took the contract for building the school-house, which

was completed in the spring of 1849. It stood where the

Methodist church now stands. In the spring of 1850 it

was removed to a different site by the combined power of

eighteen yokes of oxen. It was used a number of years,

but finally took fire and was destroyed. The one now in

use was built on the same site in 1861. It cost four hun-

dred and fifty dollars. W. H. Eddy taught the first school

in the old building. Philander Munger was the first teacher

in the new house.

On the 3d day of September, 1853, the school inspectors

formed district No. 2. The warrant calling the first school-

meeting was directed to G. R. Bennett, notifying him to

call a meeting of the electors of his district at his house on

the 26th day of September, 1853. At this meeting T. R.

Bennett was chosen moderator, J. A. Guthrie director, and

Daniel Waite assessor. It was then resolved to build a log

school-house in time to have a three months' term of school

that winter. The building was erected at a cost of seventy-

five dollars. In 1863 the log school-house was burned, and

another was built on the same site at a cost of six hundred

dollars, which was used until 1880. The one now building

will cost one thousand dollars. Ruth R. Converse taught

the first school in the district, and received thirteen dollars

for the thirteen weeks' term. The attendance was eight.

School district No. 3 has already been noticed ; it is the

oldest district in the township, and was formerly No. 2.

CHUBCHES.

THE FIRST METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF ANTRIM

was organized while David Burns was presiding elder of

this circuit, about the year 1850. David Thomas was the

minister in charge. Mr. and Mrs. David D. Adams, Mr.

and Mrs. Calvin Howard, and Waller Wright formed the

class, and David D. Adams was chosen leader. The meet-

ings of the society were held in the school-house, which

stood on the site now occupied by their church building.

On Nov. 14, 1874, at a meeting of the Quarterly Con-

ference, held at the school-house in district No. 1, W. E.

Biglow being the presiding elder and George Stowe

preacher in charge, it was resolved to appoint a board of

trustees. The persons appointed were as follows : Walter

Wright, D. D. Adams, J. T. Miller, Andrew Love, I. S.

A. Wright, J. C. Adams, Calvin Howard, W. H. Adams,

James T. Morgan. On November 17th the same year, at

a meeting of the trustees, George Stowe was elected chair-

man of the board, J. C. Adams secretary, and Andrew

Love treasurer. The board resolved to take active meas-

ures to build a church. It was decided that the edifice

should be thirty-six by fifty-four feet, with a vestibule, a

belfry twelve feet square, and a spire eighty-five feet in

height. The site was also selected. The programme made

out in this meeting was carried out in every particular.

The site determined upon was the northeast corner of the

west half of the southwest quarter of section 21. At the

next meeting a building committee was appointed as fol-

lows : Walter Wright, Andrew Love, and James Morgan.

The church was constructed as specified above, and when

completed cost two thousand seven hundred dollars. It is

worthy of remark that the members of the board of trustees

paid seventeen hundred dollars of that sum. The church

was dedicated while George Stowe was pastor, Feb. 20,

1876, by Rev. G. B. Joslyn. The membership at the

present time is fifty-six.

CEMETERY.

The cemetery near the centre of section 19 was pur-

cha.sed of Allen Beard in the summer of 1842. On the

4th of June of that year the town board authorized Hor-

ace B. Flint to purchase a half-acre and pay fifteen dollars

for the same, which was done soon after. The first inter-

ment within it was that of a Mr. Lake, who was killed

while helping to raise a building for Lewis Ward, in Perry.

There was at that time no cemetery in the township of

Perry.

WAR RECORD.

Antrim sent six men to the Mexican war, of whom but

two returned. For the war of the Rebellion this township

furnished, as near as can be ascertained, one hundred and

twenty-five soldiers. Many of these were credited to the

State at large or to other townships. Their record, there-

fore, cannot be fully given. Their names are found on the

rolls of a majority of the regiments from the State. Some

were killed in battle, some were wounded; many died of

disease and the hardships incident to soldiers' life, and some

died miserably in rebel prisons. Among those who were

killed in battle were Charles F. Beard, John L. Dippy,

Jacob N. Decker, William Shaw, and Ailing Ilerrington.

The first one wounded from the township was J. C. Adams,

who received a shot in the face, by which he lost an eye,

the hearing of one ear, and was otherwise badly mutilated.

Leander Brown also lost an eye, and his brother Willis lost

an arm. There were many others wounded less severely.

SOCIETIES.

GLASS RIVER LODGE, No. 22.3, I. 0. 0. F.,

was instituted by P. G. M. B. W. Dennis, April 9, 1874,

with the following charter members : Amos Colboru, T. A.

Lawrie, James V. Avery, James E. Wright, George

Graham, John Dippy, James F. Colborn, James T. Mor-

gan, P. P. Booth, V. C. Bawlie.

The officers elected at the first meeting were T. A. Law-

rie, N. G. ; John Dippy, V. G. ; J. L\ Wright, R. S.

;

James F. Colborn, P. S. ; Amos Colborn, Treasurer

;

James V. Avery, W.
After organizing, the lodge proceeded to initiate sixteen

new members, whose names were added to the roll, as fol-

lows: J. Blinston, Walter M. Wright, Alonzo Dippy, George

Bliss, J. C. Adams, P. P. Chambers, Andrew Love, Jona-

than Wood, I. S. A. Wright, Chauncey Case, J. A. Fish,

t



ANTRIM TOWNSHIP. 183

L. M. Baldwin, T. Jarad, Charles Avery, S. D. Tasket,

William Gallup.

In the month of March next preceding the organization

of this lodge the persons who afterwards became its charter

members met and resolved to build a hall in anticipation of

the organization. Under this resolution a building was

erected at a cost of five hundred dollars. The lower part

of the building is finished as a store-room, but at present is

not occupied as such. The upper story is fitted up in neat

style for the use of the lodge, which holds its meetings in it.

The present membership of the Glass River Lodge is fifty-

seven.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

MR. JOHN C. ADAMS. MRS. JOHN C. ADAMS.

JOHN C. ADAMS.

The parents of the subject of this sketch were natives

of the State of New York, where also he was born, in

Canadicc, Ontario Co., Sept. 13, 1837. His fiither, David

D. Adams, was born in Johnstown, Montgomery Co., Aug.

23, 180(). His mother, Angeline (Howard) Adams, was

born in Livonia, Livingston Co., March 24, 1814.

They were married Dec. 11, 1833. David D. Adams

followed the trade of a stone-mason. He had visited

Michigan in 1842, and purchased the laud upon which he

has lived since making this State his home. A log house

was compl('t(!d in due time, and he, with his family, moved

into it Jan. 28, 1848. The death of his wife, the mother

of John C. Adams, occurred Oct. 21, 1856.

.Tohn C. remained at home, working for his father until

his twenty-first year, when he contracted to work for him

by the year for a term of two years, at ten dollars per

month. He then attended school nine months at Lodi

Academy. On Aug. 9, 1861, he enlisted in Company H,

Fifth Michigan Infantry, and was discharged July 22,

1862, having received a severe gun-shot wound on tin' ."illi

of May, 1862, at the battle of Williamsburg, Vix., to which

reference is made in the township history of Antrim. After

returning home and recovering .somewhat from his injury,

he worked the old farm for a .sliare of the products. On

the 28th of March, 1865, ho married Miss Anna M.

Hutchinson, the daughter of George Hutchinson, of Cuy-

ahoga Co., Ohio. She died Feb. 4, 1866. On the 22d

of December, 1870, he married Mrs. Mary (Krupp) Dodge,

widow of Henry F. Dodge, who had died May 2S, 1867.

Mrs. Adams was born in Niagara Co., N. Y., March 12,

1837.

Mr. Adams is a Republican in politics. He has been

townsiiip clerk for several successive terms, and ha.s also

been elected to minor offices from time to time, all of which

he has filled with ability and credit to liim.self and to the

township of Antrim.
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MR. X. S. A. WRIUHT. MRS. I. S. A. WRIGHT.

I. S. A. WRIGHT.

I. S. A. Wright claims for hi.s birthplace one of the

most romantic counties of the Empire State,—Greene

County,—one-half of the territory of which is a plain,

nearly level with the sea, and the other half mountains,

rising up from the lower section of the county like a wall,

with their summits among the clouds. Here Mr. Wright

was born, April 18, 1822, and was the fifth in a family of

twelve children. His parents were both natives of Con-

necticut. He remained with them, working at the cooper

trade after he had attained sufficient age, until about the

time of his marriage, which occurred on the 10th of Oc-

tober, 1848, marrying Miss Betsey Bliss, also a native of

New York, where she was born March 19, 1828. Her

father was one of Michigan's early settlers. Mr. and Mrs.

Wright were the parents of eight children, viz. : James E.,

born Aug. 9, 1850 ; Mary E., born June 2(5, 1852
; Cyn-

thia K., born April 24, 1854, died June 24th of the same

year; Francis, born Feb. 14, 1856; Wilbur C, born Jan.

23, 1859 ; John S., born May 24, 1861
; Hattie, born

Oct. 9, 1863 ; and Clark B., born Jan. 4, 1866, died Nov.

6, 1866. These children were nearly all natives of this

township, as Mr. Wright moved here, with his wife, in

1852, purclia.sing from his brother a one-half interest in

his milling property, which he still retains. Mrs. Wright

died on the 12th of January, 1866, and on the 16th of

June, 1869, Mr. Wright married Miss Josephine Blin-shaw,

a native of Erie Co., N. Y., born Sept. 25, 1848. To this

marriage there have been given three children,—Maggie,

born July 21, 1871 ; Gracie, born Dec. 25, 1878; and one

between these whose name we have been unable to obtain.

Mr. Wright, besides his milling, has large landed inter-

ests in Antrim, owning a farm of one hundred and ninety

acres. Politically he is a Republican, and has frequently

been called upon to fill some of the various township offices.

WALTER WRIGHT.

Walter Wright was born in Greene Co., N. Y., Sept. 4

1824, and wa.s the sixth in a family of twelve children

His father, James Wright, was born in Dutchess Co., N
Y., Oct. 22, 1787 ; died September, 1871. His mother

Cynthia (Clark) Wright, was born in Connecticut, May 12

1794; died September, 1851. The family moved to On
ondaga County when Walter was but one year old. Pre-

vious to their coming to Livingston Co., Mich., in 1836

Walter worked at farming and at the cooper trade. After

continuing at this trade two years he bought a piece of

land in Livingston County, which he held one year, and

then came to Antrim with his brother and bought the mill

property. They carried on the lumber business in An-

trim until 1856. About 1851 Walter went to California,

where he remained four years. During this time he en-

gaged in minin_-, with the exception of eighteen months,

when he carried on the lumber business extensively. This

proved financially very successful, but through misplaced

confidence he lost all, having scarcely enough left to pay the

expense of returning to Antrim in 1855. Upon reaching

home the interests in the milling property were divided,

Walter taking one hundred and forty acres of land and his

brother retaining the mill and power. In July, 1858, he

was united in marriage to Miss Hannah E. Miller, who

was born in Oakland County, April 17, 1835. Her father

came to this county in 1856. The children of Mr. and
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Mrs. Walter Wright are five in number, viz. : Alice and

Ella, born Oct. llj, 1859; Myron, born July 21, 18G7
;

John !>., born May 11, 1870 ; Millie, born July 14, 1878.

Klla lived but five months. Mr. and Mrs. Wright are

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church of Antrim,

and are among its most influential and respected members.

CALVIN M. FULLER.

Timothy M. Fuller, the father of Calvin M. Fuller, was

born in Genesee Co.,N. Y.. Dec. 17, 1797, and his mother,

Alvira (Blake) Fuller, was born in Vermont in 18U9. The

family came to Oakland Co., Mich., in 183G, and lived

there until 1842, when they came to Antrim township and

bought an unimproved farm on section 23. Mrs. Alvira

Fuller died March 22, 18G7, and her husband, Timothy

M. Fuller, died June 18, 1870. Mr. Fuller was a Repub-

lican in politics, and universally esteemed as a neighbor

and a citizen.

He was an efficient clerk of the town.ship, having been

elected to fill that posiiion niue years, as is shown by the

records of the township. His son, Calvin M. Fuller, from

whom we obtained the dates above given and who has

cau.sed the insertion of this brief mention of his parents,

was born in Oakland Co., Mieli., April 28, 1840. He was

the fourth in a family of sis children.

On the 27th of May, 1863, he married Miss Sarah A.

Howard, who was born in New York, May 27, 1843, and

came to this county in 1848, as the sketch of her father's

family in.serted in this work will show.

To Mr. and Mrs. C. M. Fuller have been born four

children: Cary A., born June 4, 1865; Minnie E., born

Feb. 25, 1868; Mary, born March 28, 1873; Wealthy,

born Jan. 25, 1878, and died Sept. 25, 1879.

C. M. Fuller bought the farm of his father in 1867 ;
he

has since sold forty acres and erected new buildings.

NATHANIEL DURFEE.

Stephen Durfee was born in Rhode Island, April 4,

1776, and his wife Mary (Allen) Durfee in Dover, Dutchess

Co., N. Y., in June, 1778. They were members of the

Society of Friends, and were among the earliest and most

respected .settlers and farmers of Palmyra, Wayne Co.,

N. Y., where Nathaniel was born Jan. 19, 1811. Here he

passed his childhood and youth, anil on the 9tli of Novem-

ber, 1837, married Miss Martha Carr, also a native of Pal-

myra, born July 16, 1817. Her father, Daviil (!arr, was a

native of New Jersey, born July 2, 1793, and her mother,

Rebecca (Evans) Carr, of Pennsylvania, liorn h'eb. 12,

1794.

After his marriage, Nathaniel rented his father's farm

and worked it for three years, at the e.vpi ration of which

time he came to Michigan, reaching Antrim Jan. 1 1, ISII.

He had been to this township three years previously, and

located the farm upon which he settled and where he has

since continued to reside.

24

To TMr. and Mrs. Durfee no children have been born,

but they have brought up two, adopting one at the age of

three years and the other when but five weeks old.

Mr. Durfee 's parents never came to Michigan, but ^Irs.

Durfee's parents, Mr. and Mrs. David Carr, came and lived

with them until their deaths, which took place as follows,

viz.: David Carr in July, 186(1; Rebecca Carr, Sept. 6,

1867.

Politically, Mr. Durfee affiliates with the Republican

party, of which be has often been a successful candidate for

minor offices.

Mr. and Mrs. Durfee have been industrious and frugal

citizens, and after years of toil enjoy a well-earned com-

petency and the respect and esteem of a large circle of

friends and acquaintances.

ALLEN BEARD.

Allen Beard was born in Ontario Co., N. Y., Jan. 11,

1810. His father, Jesse Beard, was a nalive of ^Maryland,

born Feb. 8, 1787, and his death occurred March 21, 1864.

His mother, Martha (Blake) Beard, was born in Saratoga

Co., N. Y., Aug. 9, 1790. Allen remained with his pa-

rents until he was twenty-one years of age, when he mar-

ried, March 10, 1831, Miss Hannah Arnet, who was born

Sept. 2, 1810.

Mr. Beard, the first year after his marriage, worked liiud

" on shares." At the e.'cpiration of that time he sold his

interest or bargain, and had remaining three hundred dol-

lars. It was just at the time when the tide of emigration

westward had set in. He, with a team and wagon bear-

ing his family, came to Cuyahoga Co., Ohio. Here he

remained eighteen months and worked a farm, but not

being successful, came on to Michigan, reaching Lodi,

Washtenaw Co., April 2.'), 1836, and on May 28tli came

to the farm where he still resides. He was accompanied to

the township by his brotlier-iu-law, Lyiuau Melvin, who

located a I'arm adjoining the one entered by Mr. Beard.

Having previously traded his horses for three yoke of oxen,

Mr. Beard sold one yoke, in order to |iay for his first eighty

acres of land, but found that he still lacked four dollai-s of

(he necessary amount. He then hauled a load of goods

from Detroit to lloinoo, for which be received sixteen dol-

lars, and another to Ann .\rbor, receiving for this twenty-

four dollai-s. After this he removed to his land iu Antrim

township. During the winter of 1836-37 he built a hou.se,

and moved into it in April, 1837, previous to that time

having resided in a bouse built by his brother-in-law and

himself. On Aug. 26, 1843, his wife, Mre. Hannah

Beard, died. They were the parenUs of the following chil-

dren : Martha B., born April 1,1832; Uyron, born Dec.

1, 1835; Charles F., born Sept. 21, 1838; Marietta A.,

born April 23, 1841. Charles F. was killed in battle at

Camiihell's Station, Tenn., Nov. 12, 18(>3.

Aller a lapse of five years from the death of iiis lirst

wile Mr Beard married Miss Charlotte Thunipsim, who

was born .\pril 13, 1828. To this marriage were born

eight children, as follows, viz. : Allen, born Nov. 13, 1818;

died Dec. 13, 1855. Jo.shua, b..rn April I I, 1S5(I; di.d



186 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE COUMTY, MICHIGAN.

Dec. 5, 1855. Walter, born Sept. 10, 1851 ; died Sept. 13,

1858. Alvira, born Jan. 12, 1854; died Oct. 21, 1858.

John C. Abraham L., born April 16, 1860. Sarah Etta,

born Feb. 8, 1864. George W., born Nov. 28, 1867.

Mr. Beard was formerly a Whig in politics, subsequently

became a Republican, but is now a Democrat. He has

added to the eighty acres which he first purchased until he

is now the possessor of one of the largest and finest farms

in the township, consisting of five hundred and eighty-five

acres.

BENJAMIN F. HOWARD.

The grandfather of the subject of our sketch was the

first settler in Livingston Co., N. Y., where Calvin Howard,

the father of Benjamin F., was boru Nov. 25, 1804. Ben-

jamin F. was also a native of the same county, boru Nov.

17, 1839. His mother, Sarah (Cory) Howard, was a na-

tive of Rhode Island, where she was born in 1811. In

1848 they removed to Michigan, living the first winter

with the family of D. D. Adams. The following year Mr.

Howard bought forty acres of land on section 22, upon

which there was a small log cabin and a little clearing.

This now belongs to Benjamin F. He afterwards bought

eighty acres across the road, where Calvin I. Howard now

lives. Benjamin worked for his father until the death of

the latter, which occurred in April, 1863. His wife, Mrs.

Sarah Howard, survived him four years, or until March,

1867, when her death occurred. Benjamin F. Howard

followed school-teaching successfully for several years, but

is now a farmer. Jan. 17, 1869, he married Mrs. Sarah

E. (Willistoo) Marcy, the widow of James H. Marcy, who

with their little son was drowned in the river at Grand

Haven, Nov. 9, 1867. Mrs. Howard's parents were both

of New England birth,—her father a native of Springfield,

Mass., where he was born Oct. 17, 1808, and her mother

of Rhode Island, born on May 10th of the same year.

The death of each occurred in 1863,—Mrs. Williston on

the 20th of November, and Mr. Williston on the 9th of

December. Mrs. Howard was born May 18, 1841.

To Mr. and Mrs. B. F. Howard have been born two

children: Lida E., born Jan. 20, 1874, and Nina, born

Feb. 23, 1879.

Mr. Howard has added to the original forty acres until

he now owns one hundred and sixty acres, one hundred of

which is under a good state of cultivation.

In politics he is an earnest Republican, as was also his

father, Calvin Howard.

In religion both himself and wife are zealous members

of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and although young

in years they have a large circle of acfjuaintances, and are

highly esteemed by the community in which they live.

CHAPTER XXX.

BENNINGTON TOWNSHIP.*

Description, Surveys, and Land-Entries—Early .Settlements— Resi-

dent Tax-payers of 1844— Civil and Political — Educational

—

Religious.

DESCRIPTION, SURVEYS, AND LAND-ENTRIES.

Bennington is one of the interior divisions of Shiawassee

County, situated southwest of its geographical centre. In

the field-notes of the original survey it was designated

township No. 6 north, of range No. 2 east. Owosso town-

ship joins it on the north, Shiawassee on the east, Perry on

the south, and Sciota on the west.

It has a beautiful undulating surface, and all the varieties

of soil common to Michigan townships, viz., alternate belts

or strips of clay and sand loam and alluvial deposits,—

a

soil that is particularly well adapted to grazing and the

culture of corn, fruits, and the cereals.

Originally, timbered openings, about one mile in width,

extended from east to west through its centre. To the

north and south of these openings were heavy forests of

beech, maple, oak, ash, elm, and other varieties of deciduous

trees.

The township has no lake surface. It is drained by the

Maple and Looking-Glass Rivers. The former intersects

sections 1, 2, and 3. The latter in its flow to the westward

crosses the southern part. Both are sluggish streams,

afford no mill-privileges, and are bordered by many acres of

swamp-lands.

The people are chiefly engaged in agricultural pursuits,

and in the amount of lands under cultivation, farm products,

and live stock, Bennington stands in the front rank among

Shiawassee County townships.

Railway, express, and mail ftcilities are afforded at Ben-

nington, a station on the line of the Jackson, Lansing and

Saginaw Railroad, which crosses diagonally the northwest

corner of the township. Pittsburg and Hartwellville are

also post-ofiBce stations.

ORIGINAL SURVEYS.

The first surveying-party to enter the trackless and as

yet unknown wilds of the present township of Bennington

was led by Joseph Wanipler, a deputy United States sur-

veyor, who, in accordance with instructions, ran out the

northern, western, and southern boundary-lines in February,

1823. The eastern line was blazed by John Mullett, July

16th and 17th of the same year.

The task of subdividing the territory designated as town-

ship No. 6 north, of range No. 2 east, was commenced by

Joseph Wampler, April 22, 1826, and completed on the

30th of the same month. Numerous survej'ing-parties

were then engaged mapping the lands in the Detroit laud

district, pursuant to contracts and instructions received

from Edward Tiffin, surveyor-general of the United States.

The surveyors were directed to enter upon their field-

books remarks concerning the nature of the surface, soil,

timber, etc.,—instructions which were so fully carried out

* By John S. Schenck.

I
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by some of his suborditiatcs tluit Goii. Tiffin supposed the

lands in the Detroit district almost worthless for aj^ricultural

purposes, and was induced to make the unfavorable report

coneernini; them which he did.

In his haste, however, to perform his work us rapidly as

possible,—in eij;ht or nine days, during wliiih time he must

have traveled at least one hundred and forty miles,—Mr.

Wampler did not wait to append voluminous remarks re-

garding the township's natural features
;
barely enough to in-

dicate it as a rolling, generally heavily-timbered, fertile

tract ; and therefore, at its birth, the township escaped the

condemnation laid upon others equally as good, yet where

the deputy surveyors were occasionally mired in swamps

and moiasses.

FIRST AND OTHER EARLY LAND-ENTRIES.

On the 25th of June, 1835, Samuel Nichols, of Chautau-

((ua Co.. N. Y., Israel Parsons and Benjamin L. Powers,

of Ontario Co., N. Y., made the first purchase of public

lands in the township, and all located upon section 24. Du-

ring October of the same year, Trumbull Cary, of Genesee

Co., N. Y.,aiid Abel Millingtou, of Washtenaw Co., Mich.,

entered many tracts situated upon various sections. The

Castles and Davises, from Oakland Co., Mich., also made

some purchases in this township in 1835, but it was not

until the year 1836, and the two or three years immediately

succeeding, that anything like a general transfer was made

from the general government to individuals.

Although a few of the original purchasers became actual

settlers, a large majority were speculators, men who arc en-

titled to no credit whatever in what relates to the develop-

ment and subsequent history of the township. Be that as

it may, the following list embraces the names and other data

of those who purchased from the general government, lands

situated in the present township of Bennington.

Section 1.

George W. Williams, Oakland Co., Mich., Janimry, 1836.

Daniel Goodwin, Wiiyne Co., Mich., February, 18;!6.

(leorge W. Willinma, Oakland Co., Mich., February, 1836.

Benjamin R. Morris, Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1836.

Section 2.

Daniel Goodwin, Wiiyuc Co., Mich., February, 18;!6.

George \V. Williams, Oakland Co., Mich., Fcbniary, 1836.

William Thompson, Seneca Co., N. Y., April, 1S30.

Nelson Waugh, Oakland Co., Mich., October, 1836.

Skction 3.

Lemuel Ca.itle, Diiklaml Co., Mich., November, 1835.

Mercy Castle, Oakland Co., Mich., November, 1835.

Lemuel Castle, Oakland Co., Mich., December, 1835.

Ira C. .Mger, Wayne Co., Mich., June, 1836.

Skction 4.

Rotsy Davis, Oakland Co., Mich., November, 183.').

William 'Ihompsiin, Seneca Co., N. Y., April, IS3ii.

Abncr Davis, Oakland Co., Mich., A])ril, 1836.

John X. Watson, Oakland C"., Mich., July, 1836.

Rodolphus Dewoy, Oakland Co., Mich., November, 1836.

David Johnson, Oakland Co., Mich., November, 1836.

Renjamin Davis, Oakland Co., Mich., Novouibor, 1836.

Skction 5.

Silas A. Yerkes, Shiawassee Co., Mich., January, 1855.

William Thompson, Seneca Co., N. Y., April, I83fi.

David Johnson, Oakland Co., Mich., October, 1836.

Isaac S. Taylor, Oakland Co., Mich., November, 1836.

George W. Williams, Oakland Co., Mich., March, 1837.

Lemuel Castle. Shiawassee C<i., Mich., November, 1837.

Hiram Davis, Shiawassee Co., Mich., November, 1838.

Joseph Peters, Washtenaw Co., Mich., January, 1843.

William Ycrkcs, Oakland C.i., Mich., December, 184«.

Willard M. Norris, ShiawiLSsee Co., Mich., March, 1854.

Skction 6.

Daniel Goodwin, Wayne Co., Mich., February, 1836.

Delos W. (ioulil, Genesee Co., N. Y., November, 1836.

Abner W. Blackman, (icnesec Co., N. Y., November, 1836.

Milo Uarington. Shiawassee Co., Mich., March, 1839.

Albert Fitch. Shiawassee Co., Mich., March, 1839.

David Alger, Shiawassee Co., Mich., February, 1840.

Charles li. Haight, Shiawassee Co., Mich., November, 1854.

Section 7.

William Thompson, Seneca Co., N. Y., April, 1836.

Daniel Fuller, Orleans Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

John Pitts, Shiawassee Co., .Mich., .March, 1839.

Hiram S. Goodwin, land-warrant, January, 1853.

Willard M. Norris, Shiawassee Co.. Mich., January, 1854.

John Cleaver, Shiawassee Co., Mich., November, 1854.

Skction 8.

William Thompson, Seneca Co., N. Y., April, 1836.

Daniel Fuller, Orleans Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

William Thompson, Seneca Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Section 9.

John L. Eastman, Seneca Co,. N. Y., April, 1836.

William Verkes, Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1836.

Eliphalet Lewis, Orleans Co., N. Y., May, 1836.

Section 10.

William Thompson, Seneca Co., N. Y., April, 1836.

Albert Clark, Shiawassee Co., Mich., November, 1836.

Isaac Hemmingway, Madison Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Joseph Peters, Washtenaw Co., Mich., January, 1843.

Abner Coif, Shiawassee Co., Mich., August, 1850.

Section 11.

William Thompson, Seneca Co., N. Y., April, 1836.

Section 12.

Halsey Sanford, Seneca Co., N. Y., April, 1836.

Archibald Purdy, Washtenaw Co., Mich., May, 1836,

William Thompson, Seneca Co., N. Y., April, 1836.

Section 13.

Trumbull Cary, Genesoe Co., N. Y^., October, 1835.

John L. Eastman, Seneca Co., N. Y., April, 1836.

Ebenc/.er Conklin, Seneca Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

Skction 14.

Abol Milliiigton, Washtenaw Co., Mich., October, 1835.

.Satterleo & West, Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1836.

David Perry anil Philip Worth, Rutland Co,, Vt,, May, 1836,

Remembrance Rni.t, Hampshire Co,, Mass,, June, 1836,

Hiram A, Caswell, Uonssclaor Co,, N. Y., June, 1836.

Section 16.

Joseph Purdy, Washtenaw Co., Mich., May, 1836,

Ebeno7.er t^onklin, Seneca Co,, N, Y., Juno, 1836.

John Champion, Genesoe Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

William Coir, Monroe Co., N. Y., June, 1836,

Ebene/.or Conklin, Seneca Co,, N. Y., Juno, 1836

Ira Moroll, Livingston Co., N. Y., June, 1836,

.Skction 16,

. School lands.

Skction 17.

L. Rates, OHoann Co., N. Y., May, 1836.

William Thompson, Seneca Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

Abner Rice, Huron Co., Ohio, Scplombor, 1836.
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David Perry, Huron Co., Ohio, September, 1836.

Henry Biarilslee, Sussex Co., N. J., Novomher, lS:i8.

Section 18.

William Burritt, Oakland Co., Mich., Aiiril. IS.Ifi.

Lyman Bates, Orleans Co., N. Y., May, 183B.

Daniel Phelp.«, Shiawassee Co., Mich., January, 1S40

William W. Burgess, land-warrant, January, 1853.

<;ieorge J. W. Hill, Genc.'^ee Co., Mich., February, 1855.

Section 10.

Daniel Fuller, Orleans Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

James Scott, Chenango Co., N. Y., September, 1836.

David Perry, Huron Co., Ohio, September, 1836.

Harrison S. Bugbee, Cattariuigus Co., N. Y., June, 1837.

Andrew Marlatt, Monroe Co., N. Y., October, 1837.

Alexander JIcKinney, Wayne Co., Mich., March, 1853.

Section 20.

Israel Parr-hall, Livingston Co., Mich., September, 1836.

Joseph Skinner, Oakland Co., Mich., September, 1836.

Abraham Hiekey, Genesee Co., N. Y., Sejttember, 1836.

Luther James, Hampshire Co., Mass., October, 1836.

Lemuel Cone, Shiawassee Co., Mich., October, 1836.

Lemuel Cone, Shiawassee Co., Mich., May, 1841.

Section 21.

Harriet W. Strong, Ontario Co., N. Y., March, 1836.

Nelson Reynolds, Genesee Co., N. Y., May, 1836.

Aaron llutchings, Shiawassee Co., Mich., September, 1836.

Amasa Bugbee, Shiawassee Co., Mich., September, 1836.

Major Riee, Huron Co., Ohio, September, 1836.

E. Toby, Oakland Co., Mich., October, 1836.

Joseph Skinner, Sliiawassee Co., Mich., June, 1837.

John Rice, Shiawassee Co., Mich,, January, 1839.

Civilian Morse, Shiawassee Co., Mich., September, 1847.

Asa Castle, land-warrant, September, 1851.

Aden Mitchell, Shiawassee Co., Mich., December, 1853.

Lanson B. Stevens, Shiawassee Co., Mich., March, 1855.

Section 22.

Trumbull Cary, Genesee Co., N. Y., October, 1835.

Harriet W. Strong, Ontario Co., N. Y., March, 1836.

Seymour Norton, Genesee Co., N. \'., May, 1836.

John Champion, Genesee Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Section 23.

Trumbull Cary, Genesee Co., N. Y., Oct. 20, 1835.

Abel Millington, AVashtenaw Co., Mich., Oct. 20, 1835.

Abel iMilliiigton, Washtenaw Co., Mich., April, 1836.

Abel Millington, Washtenaw Co., Mich., May, 1S36.

Theodore Champion, Genesee Co., N. \'., June, 1836.

Section 24.

Samuel Nichols, Chautauqua Co., N. Y., Juno 25, 1835.

Israel Parsons, Ontario Co., N. Y., June 25, 1835.

Benjamin L. Powers, Ontario Co., N. Y., June 25, 1835.

Trumbull Cary, Geuesee Co., N. Y., Oct. 20, 1,835.

Abel Millington, Washtenaw Co., Mich., Oct. 20, 1835.

Section 25.

Abel Millington, M'ashtenaw Co., Mich., Oct. 20, 1835.

William Howard, Washtenaw Co., Mich., June, 1836.

William Stevens, Washtenaw Co., Mich., October, 1836.

Section 26.

Abel Millington, Washtenaw Co., Mich., Oct. 20, 1835.

Abel iMillington, Washtenaw Co., Mich., May 28,« 1835.

Marcus Culver, Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1837.

Samuel B. Bugbee, Cattaraugus Co., N. Y., June. 1837.

Reuben Place, Shiawassee Co., Mich., January, 1855.

* So says the record, but it is probably a mistake.

Section 27.

Trumbull Cary, Genesee Co., N. Y., Oct. 20, 1835.

William L. Strong, Ontario Co., N. Y., March, 1836.

Samuel Pitts, Jr., Oakland Co., Mieh., Ajiril, 1836.

Williaui Page, Washtenaw Co., Mich., May, I.S36.

John Cbampion, Genesee Co., N. Y., June, IS.S6.

Section 28.

William L. Strong, Ontario Co., N. Y., March, 1836.

Moses Pitts, Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1836.

Jordan Holcomb, Niagara Co., N. Y., May, 1836.

Henry llutchings, Niagara Co., N. Y., May, 1836.

0. C. Hutchings, Niagara Co., N. Y., May, 1836.

.^aron Hutching!!, Niagara Co., N. \'., May, 1836.

Ebcnezer Reynolds, Oakland Co., Mich., September, 1836.

Section 29.

Ali)ert 11. and .Amos Dow, Chautauqua Co., N. Y., May, 1S36.

Friend Burt. Genesee Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Charles W. Middick.

Section ,''0.

John Dickin.son, Washtenaw Co., Mich., June, 1836.

Theodore Champion, Genesee Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Section 31.

John Dickinson, Washtenaw Co., Mich., June, 1836.

Theodore Champion, Genesee Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Henry Bcardslee, Sussex Co., N. J., November, 1838.

John Terrebury, Shiawassee Co., Mich., January, 1838.

Section 32.

Elon Farnsworth, Wayne Co., Mich., July, 1836.

Section 33.

Moses Pitts, Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1836.

C. Hutchings, Niagara Co., N. Y., May, 1836.

John Terrebury, Washtenaw Co., Mich , November, 1836.

Lyman Stevens, Wayne Co., Mich., November, 1836.

Samuel Pitts, Jr., Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1837.

Alfred Culver, Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1837.

Abncr Reid, Shiawassee Co., Mich., October, 1837.

John Pitts, Shiawassee Co., Mich., October, 1837.

SaSbrd Pitts, land-warrant, April, 1853.

Section 34.

Samuel Pitts, Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1836.

Linus M. Miner, Monroe Co., N. Y., May, 1.S36.

John Terrebury, Washtenaw Co., Mich., November, 1836.

Jarvis Leonard, Washtenaw Co., Mich., January, 1837.

Marcus Culver, Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1837.

Section 35.

Mathew C. Patterson, New York City, July, 1836.

George R. .\lbro, Washtenaw Co., Mich., July, 1836.

Morrison Bcardslee, Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1837.

Section 36.

Samuel Kellogg, Washtenaw Co., Mich., June, 1836.

William Howard, Washtenaw Co., Mich., June, 1836.

George R. Albro, Washtenaw Co., Mich., July, 1836.

EAELY SETTLEMENTS.

It is conceded by those best conversant with the facts

that Samuel Nichols was the first settler in that part of

Shiawassee township now known as Bennington. Chautau-

qua Co., N. Y., was his former place of residence, and on

the 25lh day of June, 1 835, by the purchase of the west

half of the southwest quarter of section 24, he became the

first individual owner of lands in the wilderness township.

I



BENNINGTON TOWNSHIP. 189

Messrs. Parsons and Powers, of Ontario Co., N. Y., also

purchased lands upon the same section the same day.

Whether they visited the Territory together, or but one of

them and he bought for the others, is now unknown, in the

absence of either mentioned.

However that may be, we find that early in the spring

of 1836, accompanied by his family and his unmarried

brother James, Samuel Nichols eft'eated a settlement upon

his purchase. His dwelling was an unpretentious log

cabin, and being situated near what afterwards became the

well-known Grand River road, he kept an open house or

tavern, furnishing such entertainment for man and beast as

was usually to be found in Michigan country hostelries

from thirty-five to forty-five years ago. His house also

gained prominence as the place where Wiis held the first

township-meeting. Otherwise Mr. Nichols was an ordinary

sort of person, and does not seem to have been conspicuous

in the further history of the township.

His brother James, by his marriage* to the rather

elderly maiden, Miss Thankful Y. Copeldnd (a ceremony

which was performed by Samuel Pitts, Jr., J. P., Jan. 26,

1839_), created considerable fund for gossip and amusement,

but doubtless he was afterwards thankful, for the chron-

icler of " ye olden time" saith that she made a most excel-

lent wife and housekeeper.

In May, 1836, Aaron Hutchings and Jordan Holcomb,f

from Niagara Co., N. Y., bought lands situated upon sec-

tion 28, and, removing here, occupied the same early in the

fall of that year. Soon after his settlement, Mr. Hutchings

purchased more land upon section 21. A quiet, unosten-

tatious citizen, he still resides in the township.

During the year 1837 quite a number of families set-

tled. They were from Vermont and New York States

principally, yet several had first settled in the counties of

Oakland and Washtenaw before coming here. Among
them were James Bugbee, from Monroe Co., N. Y., who

settled in Oakland County in 1836, and from thence re-

moved to the premises now owned by Erastus Burnett in

the spring of 1837, where he resided for a number of years
;

Joseph Skinner, from Oakland County, who purchased

land situated upon section 20 in September, 1846, and

upon section 21 in June, 1837 ; Samuel Kellogg, the first

blacksmith, who came in from Washtenaw County and

settled upon section 36 ; the Howards, Ira B., Smith,

Jerry, William, and John A., who also came from

Washtenaw and settled on section 36 ; and Samuel Pitts,

Jr., from Oakland County, who located land upon sec-

tions 27 and 33 in April, 1836. Samuel Moses and

John Pitts also purchased land in the same vicinity at

about the same time, and from this family the little vil-

lage of Pittsburg derives it« name. David John.son, who

located lands upon sections 4 and 5 in June, 1836, also

came here from Oakland County in 1837.

In May and June, 1837, the brothers Samuel 15. and

Harrison S. Bugbee, from Cattaraugus Co., N. V., arriveil

* Other early msvrriago.^ were tliosc of .loljii A. Ilinvanl to Mn.r;,'!in'l

Cnslor, of Striuwassoe townsbip, Sept. 2'.(, 1S3H, iiml of llurrisun S.

liuglicu to Miss Ainatiilii Hi™, l)y liUcius Doach, J. P., Fob. S, I SIM.

I 'I'he tir.st V)irtll in tlle townslu|i ociMirroil in his ruriiily in tlii' fall

of is.'.e.

in Michigan. From Flint they proceeded on foot westward

along the blazed line of the proposed Northern Railroad

to the vicinity of township 6 north, of range No. 2 east.

After making choice of locations they returned to Flint,

only to find that some one had preceded them, and the

lands of their first choice were already entered. This

necessitated a .second return journey, which resulted in the

selection and purchase—Juno 8, 1837—of the fine farms

they at present occupy. Mr. S. B. Bugbee recalls the fact

that at that time not a house or an acre of cleared land

was to be seen between the cities of Flint and Corunna,

and that where the Shiawtissee County court-house now

stands was a swamp. Returning to the State of New
York, final preparations were made for the removal to

Michigan, and in the latter part of October, 1837, accom-

panied by their father, Salmon Bugbee, and their si.sters

Viletta and Martha, and the wife and son of Samuel B.,

the Bugbees became permanent residents.

Previous to his settlement in Michigan, the father of llie

family had resided in the counties of Monroe, Cayuga,

Niagara, and Cattaraugus, N. Y. He was a shoemaker by

trade, and probably was the first of his craft to settle in

the township. The .sons were very proficient in beating

the drum. They brought their instruments with them,

and, assisted by Lewis Ward, of Perry, and others as fifers,

furnished music for fourteen successive Fourth of July

celebrations.

Bennington in 1837-38 would have been a good field

for one possessed of the powers attributed to Saint Patrick,

for Mr. S. B. Bugbee relates that he killed forty rattle

and other snakes in taking a stroll over his newly-acquired

premises. Bears, too, came close up to the settlers' dwell-

ings and looked in upon their occupants.

From the autumn of 1837 to April 1, 1838, others

afterwards prominent in the history of Bennington became

residents. One of them was Lemuel Castle. lie was brother-

in-law of Apollos Dewey (an early settler of Owosso town-

ship), one of the very earliest .settlers of Oakland County,

and one of the fir.st to purcluise of the government, land in

this township. He settled in Oakland in 1821, and what

w:is soon afterwards Bennington township in 1837. lie

became the first supervisor of Bennington in April, 1838,

and served in the same capacity for five subsequent years.

He was also the first treasurer, and one of the first justices

of the peace, serving as such several years. Ho was the

largest land-owner of Bennington, and a highly-respected

citizen. Several members of his family still reside here.

Nelson Waugh, one of Bennington's most worthy citi-

zens, still resides upon the land purchased by him from the

general government in October, 1836. He also came hero

from Oakland County, and was the second man to ]ioll his

vote at the first township-meeting of this township.

Archibald Purdy, from Wiufhtonaw Co., Mich., ptirclnLscd

a large portion of section 12 in May, 1836, and settled in

Bennington at the .same time as did Mr. Waugh. n(^ wa.s

an early and ellicient township officer, and enjoyed tlic

esteem and confidence of his townsmen.

Abner Rice, from Huron (Vi., Ohio, bought lands situ-

ated u|)on section 17 in Scpienilier, 18311. He became a

resident prior to April, 1838.
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William Coif, from Monroe Co., N. Y., who settled upon

section 15, and John Terrebury, from Washtenaw Co.,

Mich., who settled in the southwest part of the township,

were both domiciled in the town early in the spring of

1838. Marcellus Harris, Peter Harder, and Hiram Davis

also participated in the first township-meeting;.

Jonathan M. Hartwell, a former resident of Norwich,

Chenango Co., N. Y., came to Bennington first in June,

1838, traveling viu the Erie Canal and Lake Erie. At

Huron, Oliio, he purchased a yoke of steers. These and a

wagon were shipped to Detroit, and upon his arrival in the

latter city a supply of provisions, etc., was loaded in, and

the journey resumed towards Bennington. Upon reaching

his newly purchased homestead lie cleared ten acres of

land opposite his present residence, partly constructed a log

dwelling, and then returned to Norwicli, N. Y., all of which

was accomplished in six weeks. Accompanied by his wife

and five children, and traveling the same route, he again

arrived in the township on the 20th of November, 1838.

They encountered a terrific five days' gale on Lake Erie

and hardly expected to escape drowning, a fate which befell

so man}' in emigrating to Michigan.

A large portion of Mr. Hartwell's land was included in

the timber-openings before mentioned ; this enabled him to

place under cultivation many acres from the beginning, and

in 1839 he broke and sowed to wheat forty acres. He used

three yoke of cattle, and Samuel Kellogg was the black-

smith who sharpened his plow-irons.

During the same year he also opened his house to the

traveling public as a place of entertainment, the small

taverns of Nichols and Phillips in the same neighborhood

hardly suflBcing to supply the wants of thn.se who journeyed

over the Grand River road. Mr. Hartwell claims to have

built the first framed barn in the township, and believes

that Deacon Cook built the first framed house. About

1847 or 1848 Mr. Hartwell attempted to build a commo-

dious stone dwelling. The walls were up, and the workmen

were just beginning to place into position the rafters, when

the whole fell with a crash. Fortunately, none were se-

verely injured, although two of his sons and two or three

hired workmen were on top of the structure at the time.

This disaster, caused by the ineiBciency of the master me-

chanic, involved a loss of about one thousand dollars. But

happy over the fact that no loss of life had occurred, Mr.

Hartwell cleared away the dibris, and immediately began

the construction of his present residence.

The Hartwellville post-office, J. M. Hartwell, postmaster,

was established about 1844, and with the exception of a

few weeks it has since remained under the control of him or

his family. This point has also been the seat of quite an

extensive mercantile trade. The business was first estab-

lished by Giles Tucker. Mr. Hartwell and his sons suc-

ceeded him, and continued it for some seven or eight years.

Hon. Isaac Gale, a native of Albany Co., N. Y., settled

in Washtenaw Co., Mich., in 1830, and in Bennington in

1840. He soon after became one of its most prominent

citizens. He has since served four years as county judge,

sixteen years as supervisor, and tliirty-five years as justice

of the peace. His home and surroundings are not sur-

passed in the county.

Other early citizens, whose names are mentioned in the

following list of residents of 1844 and in lists of township

oflacers, etc., are equally worthy of an extended notice, but

it is found impossible to do so in consequence of deaths and

removals. Their work bears silent testimony to their worth,

however. All have added their niitc to the grand aggre-

gate which makes Bennington of to-day one of the most

beautiful and prosperous townships in the county, and their

memory should be kept green in the hearts of their pos-

terity and successors for many generations to come.

RESIDENT TAX-PAYERS l)F 1844.

Acres.

Asher Whitmore, section 1 120
Archibald C. Cooper, sections 1, 3 371

Ezekiel Cook, sections 1, 6 368
Nelson W'augh, section 2 SO

Lemuel Castle, sections 3, 4 860

Asa L. Kelly, section 4 160

John Pitts, section 4 80

Denison S. Bugbee, section 4 80

Lawrence Cuminings, section 4 80

Uodolphus Dewey, section 4 80

Waterman Perkins, section 5 114

Asa Castle, section 5 80

Chester Kemp, section o 114

Jonas Cook, section 5 78

David Alger, section 6 40

Robert Sevier, section 6 240
'Joseph Peters, section 10 40

Xancy Hayward, section 11 160

Owen Oakes, section 11 160

Lawrence Seagle, section 12 160

Archibald Purdy, section 12 320
William Hall, section 14 80
lloswell Root, section 14 160
Isaac Gale, sections 14, 23, 25 440
Cortes Pond, sections 14, 23, 26 200

Hiram Coif, section 15 40

James Stewart, section 15 160

William Coif, section 15 40

Zerah Sperry, section 17 120

Luther Sperry, section 17 40

David Perrv, sections 17, 19 160

Daniel Phe'lps, sections 18, 21 80

Jeremiah Phelps, section 18 80
Amasa Bugbee, section 19 ^ 80
Harrison S. Bugbee, section 19 94

John Spear, section 19 120

Jonathan M. Hartwell, sections 19, 24 268
Sylvanus Rice, section 20 80

Otis Hicks, sections 20, 21, 29 200
Abraham Hickey, section 20 80

James Bugbee, section 21 40
Aaron Uutchings, sections, 21, 28 160
Levi H. Chaffin, sections 22,27 160
Thomas Johnson, section 23 80

Solomon Frain, section 23 80
Ralph Williams, section 23 40
Cyrus Miller, sections 23, 33 267
Samuel Nichols, section 24 (west one-half, south-

west one-quarter) 80
William Frain, section 25 160
Silas L, Parks, section 25 80
Artemas Howard, section 25 40
Eaton Dewey, section 26 60

J. D. Dewey, section 26 80

Parley M. Rowell, sections 26, 34 120
Silas Howe, section 26 20
Samuel B. Bugbee, section 26 80
David Johnson, sections 27, 28, 34 200
Mosei Pitts, section 28, 33 120
Court Hutchings, section 28 160
Salmon Bugbee, section 29 40
John Harmon, section 30 80
Chilson Sanford, sections 30, 31, 36 324
John Terrebury, sections 31, 33, 34 140
Charles Terrebury, sections 31, 33 60
Henry Beardslee, section 31 196
Ebenezer Brown, section 32 640
Amasa Rowell, section 33 83

Lyman Stevens, section 33 40
Alauson Horton, section 35 SO
(Jeorge Alexander, section 36 , 10

Ira B. Howard, section 36 80
Jerry Howard, section 36 80

John A. Howard, section 36 120
Samuel Kellogg, section 36 105

I
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Acres.

Lyman Kellogg, section ^G 40

Levi Kellogg, section '.^G 40

William Howard, section 36 IftO

David Johnson, Jr., personal.

John M. Fitch, personal.

Horace Howe, personal.

CIVIL AND POLITICAL.

Bennington, including Perry, was formed from Shia-

wassee. An act of tlie State Legisluturo, approved March

G, 1838, provides that:

" All that part of the county of Shiawas.see designated

by the United States survey as townships Nos. 5 and 6

north, of range No. 2 east, be and the same is hereby set

off and organized as a separate township by the name of

Bennington,* and the first township-meeting therein shall

be held at the house of Samuel Nichols in said township."

Pursuant to the act of organization, Marcellus Harris,

Nelson Waugh, Jerry Howard, George N. Jewett.f Peter

Harder, Hiram Davis, William Randall, Archibald Purdy,

Abner Kice, Samuel Pitts, Jr., John Pitts, Samuel B. Bug-

bee, Lyman Stevens,t Smith Howard, Josiah Puvdy,f

Phineas Austin,| William Culf, Jordan Holcouib, William

Lemon,"!" William Howard, David Johnson, John Terre-

bury, Samuel Kellogg, William T. Stevens.f James Nichols,

Samuel Nichols, John A. Howard, Lemuel Castle, Ira B.

Howard, Joseph P. Roberts,-j" and Harrison S. Bugbee,

thirty-one electors in all, assembled at the house of Samuel

Nichols, April 2, 1838, for the purpose of electing the first

board of township oflBcers.

The meeting was organized by choosing Lemuel Castle

moderator, and Joseph P. Roberts clerk. Ira B. Howard,

a justice of the peace, administered the required oath to

Messi's. Castle and Roberts, and also took his seat as one of

the inspectors of the election. At the close of the pro-

ceedings the following officers were declared elected : Lemuel

Castle, Supervisor; Ira B. Howard, Township Clerk; Samuel

Pitts, Jr., Nelson Waugh, Joseph P. Roberts, Assessors
;

Samuel B. Bugbee, Collector; Samuel Nichols, Samuel Kel-

logg, Directors of the Poor ; Joseph P. Roberts, Jerry

Howard, Archibald Purdy, Highway Commissioners; Joel

North, Joseph P. Roberts, Lemuel Castle, Inspectors of

Schools ; Ira B. Howard, Joseph P. Roberts, Lemuel Castle,

Samuel Pitts', Jr., Justices of the Peace ; Samuel B. Bug-

bee, Hiram Davis, Horace Mann, Constables.

At this meeting it was resolved, " That the ballots be

presented on one piece of paper. That a bounty uf two

dollars be paid for each woll' killed in the township by an

inhabitant of said township. That the sum of lil'ly dollars

be raised to pay wolf-bounties. That the highway commis-

sioners divide the township into road districts, and appoint

overseers. That the supervisor report on the financial

affairs of the township at the next annual township-meet-

ing."

The total accounts audited and allowed March 19, 1889,

amounted to nincty-oiic dollars, of which Archibald Purdy

received ten dollars and fifty ceuts ; Sumucl Pitts, J r., six

* Name derived from IJonnington, Vt., the native State of sovoral

of the early settlers.

f Then residents of the territory now known as Porry township,

which was set off as a separate township in 1841.

dollars; Ira B. Howard, twelve dollars; Jerry Howard,

sixteen dollars ; Lemuel Castle, nine dollars ; and Joseph

P. Roberts, thirty-seven dollars and fifty cents.

That the separation from the old township of Shiawas.see

was not efi'ected amicably, the following copy of an old

document will show. It bears no date, however, but was

written, probably, in 1839 or 1840: "The report of the

township board of the town of Bennington to the electors

of said town, respecting the claims of the town of Shia-

wassee, respectfully showeth : That in March last the town-

ship board of the town of Shiawa.sscc presented a gross

account against the town of Bennington of about one hun-

dred and two dollars, which your board did not feel author-

ized to allow, and requested of them a bill of items, which

they have presented, purporting to be the expenses of the

town of Shiawassee from March 1, 1837, to April 1, 1838,

embracing a period while this town, together with Antrim

and Woodhull, were connected with the town of Shia-

wassee. As the town of Bennington embraces one-third of

the territory, they claim of us one-third of the amount of

their expenses, which your board do not think them in jus-

tice entitled to, and as they threaten a prosecution if it is

not allowed, we therefore submit the case to you, to say by

vote whether we shall allow it or not, or any part thereof,

and if any, how much, after giving you a statement of

their accounts.

" In the first place they present their bills for laying high-

ways to the amount of two hundred and fifty dollars and

eighty-one and a half cents, which we find laid almost

wholly in their own town, very little in ours, and no legal

record of a great .share of what was laid, as charged in

their bills. In the next place their school inspectors' bill

amounts to lhirte(Mi dollars and sixty-two and a half cents,

which we think we have no concern with, ils the business

was all done in their own t(jwn. Next, an assessor's bill

of nine dollars, and the bills of the town board, town

clerk, and highway commissioners for making out road

warrants, non-resident returns, etc., etc., to the amount of

four hundred and thirty-eight dollars and twenty-one cents.

In addition to which they present us a list of orders on

Shiawiissee township without the corresponding accounts,

bearing date Sept. 2(), 1837, to the amount of one Iwndred

and seventy-five dollars and forty-three cents. Also a list

of orders bearing date Jan. 1, 1838, to the amount of

seventy-five dollars and twenty-five ceuts ; in all, six hun-

dred and eighty-eight dollars and eighty-nine cents.

"There was in 1837 two hundred dollars raised in the

town of Shiawassee for contingent ex]R'nses, of which wo

have i>aid one-third, reducing the sum called for to four

hundred and eighty-eight dollars and eighty-nine cents.

They now call upon us to jiay one-lhird of the /<i//fr

amount, which is one hundred and sixty-two dollars and

ninety-six cents. We therefore .submit the matUT to the

electors of Bennington, whether we shall allow it or any

part thereof, feeling that this course will be more satisfac-

tory to all concerned."

The grand and petit jurors selected in 1839 were Ezekiel

Cook, Moses Pitis, Jomithan Kem|), Aaron liiilrhings,

William Coif, David Perry, James McCarty, Harri.son S.

Bugbee, Jordan Holcumb, Phineas Austin, Jonathan M.
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Hartwell, James Launsbury, Samuel Pitts, Jr., Levi Har-

mon, John A. Howard, Josiah Purdy, Samuel Kellogg,

Joseph P. Roberts, Cyrus Miller, Nelson Waugh, Hiram

Davis, John B. Burr, Bethuel Haywood, Thompson Hart-

well, William Howard, Jerry Howard, John Terrebury,

David Johnson, Amasa Bugbee, Major Rice, Joseph Skin-

ner, William Lemon, Jesse Whitford, Lewis H. Launsbury,

George Reed, Levi Launsbury, and William Harmon. A
list which comprised very nearly all the voters in the

township.

In 1842, William Golf, David Johnson, and P. M.

Rowell each received five dollars, the township bounty for

killing bears.

Subsequent township officers elected annually from 1839

to 1880, inclusive, are shown in the following list. But

where vacancies and appointments have occurred by reason

of not qualifying, resignations, and death, they do not

appear.

Township Clerks.

Ira B. Howard.

Jona. M. Hartwell.

Ira li. Howard.

Supervisors.

1839. Lemuel Castle.

18i0. " "

1S«. " "

1842. " "

1843. "

1844. Isaac Gale.

1845. " "

1846. Joseph Howe.

1847. Isaac Gale.

1848. " "

1849. " "

1850. " "

1851. Cortes Pond.

1852. Isaac Gale.

1853. Archibald Purdy.

1854. "

1855. " "

1856. Isaac Gale.

1857. " "

1858. "

1859. " "

1860. " "

1861. Cortes Pond.

1862. Isaac Gale.

1863. " "

1864. " "

1865. " "

1866. James H. Hurtwell

1867. "

1868. "

1869. Norman C. Pajne.

1870. Almon B. Oiark.

1871. Norman C. Payne.

1872. Peter H. Smith.

1873. Norman C. Payne.

1874. Peter II. Smith.

1875. "

1876. John C. Lunckton.

1877. "

187S. " "

1879. " "

1S80. " "

Treasurers.

Lemuel Caslle.

" " Joseph Purdy.

Jona. M. Hartwell. Samuel Eellogg.

Cortes Pond. " "

I'hilanili'r T. Maine.

Philo Newell.

Henry RuthrutV.

Cortes Pond.
It It

Charles P. ParkiM.

Jaiues A. Chapin.

Norman C. Payne.

James A. Cliapiu.

Edwin R. Myers.
H ti

Chester J. Stuart.

Cephas Stuart.

• ( It

George Goodwin.
tt it

if tt

tt ti

Joseph II, Howe.
(t it

Silas Howe.

Rollin Pond.

« It

tt tt

William Hammond.

Enoch Eddy, Jr.

Peter H. Smith.
ti if

Francis G. Morriee.

Francis Q. Morriee.

Lemuel C. Cooper.

Lemuel C. Cooper.
it ti

James A. Chapin.

Norman C. Payne.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

1839. Samuel Pitts, Jr.

1840. Lemuel Castle.

1841. Isaac Gale.

Ebenezer Brown.

1842. Ira B. Howard.

Cortes Pond.

184;>. Ebenezer Brown.

1843. ArchihaM Purdy.

1844. Lemuel ( 'astk-.

184ij. Isaac Gale.

1846. Archibald Purdy.

1847. Civilian Morse.

1848. Asa Castle.

IS41I. Isaac Gale.

1850.
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of April, 1838, the first board of school inspectors met at

the township clerk's office, and organized by choosing Joel

North, chairman. On the 27th of the same month five

school districts were ordered organized, and their bounda-

ries described. But it does not appear by the records, nor

have we learned that any schools were taught in 1838. In

1839 the electors voted to raise by tax fifty dollars for the

support of primary schools. The moneys received for school

purposes in 1840 amounted to forty-three dollars and fifty

cents, of which twenty-five dollars was voted from the town-

ship treasury, and eighteen dollars and fifty cents from the

county treasury. This was applied as follows

:

District.

No. 1..

" 2..

Scholiira.
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and Frederick Strong, the latter being the present incum-

bent. Number of present luimbers, sixty. In this charge

is included the Newburg class ; also one at Pittsburg of

forty members.

EMMANUEL CIIURCU OF THE EVANGELICAL ASSOCIA-

TION IN BENNI!*«TON.

The members of this church erected a house of worship

in 1875, and the society was incorporated June 26, 1876.

Those named as corporators were Gottlieb Eeuss, Henry

Wentz, Christian Berrick, Henry Merkler, John Hortman,

Michael Bower, Frederick Schuknecht, Jacob Schmidtgali,

Christian Kock, Frederick Hiuspader, Simon Salisbury,

George Merkler, F. Klein, John Crutts, and C. Crutts.

This church belongs to the district of which Rev. John

M. Houk is presiding elder, and includes churches at

Owosso, Bennington, New Haven, and Chesaning.

THE PITTSBURG CHUKCH OF BENNINGTON,

of which Joseph Place, Mary M. Place, Mary J. Gardner,

Sarah Hutchings, Hiram Pierson, B. C. Chittenden, and

Josephine Chittenden were named as members, was incor-

porated April 2, 1877. At a meeting held in the school-

house in Pittsburg, May 15, 1877, Rev. M. Haydeu

chairman, Joseph Place, D. P. Austin, and Albert Gillett

were elected trustees. This church has erected a house of

worship in the small village of Pittsburg, which structure

is also occupied by the Pittsburg Methodist Episcopal

class.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

ISAAC GALE.

Isaac Gale was born at Berne, Albany Co., N. Y., on the

4th of December, 1808. His parents were Roger and

Anna (Sherburne) Gale. The Gale family came to America

some time in the seventeenth century and settled in the

Eastern States. The Sherburne family were originally from

Germany, emigrating from that country to England in the

sixteenth century, and from the latter country to America

at a somewhat later date.

The young man remained at home, working on his

father's farm until he was twenty-one years of age, in the

mean time availing himself of such means of education as

were afforded by the ordinary district schools of the day.

Soon after his arrival at manhood, and after careful con-

sideration, he determined to follow, as the principal avoca-

tion of his life, the pursuit of agriculture, considering it

the most independent, and the safest and surest road to a

reasonable competence, and one that would afford the most

ample time for reading and contemplation, as well as a safe

asylum from the cares and perplexities of ordinary business

pursuits.

With this determination he bravely pushed out alone,

without an acquaintance or companion, and came to the

then wilderness and Territory of Michigan ; traveling by

the Erie Canal to Lake Erie, and thence by the steamer

" Niagara," commanded by the fiimous seaman. Captain

Blake,—eccentric and rough, but as kind of heart as a

woman. On the 15th day of May, 1830, he landed at De-

troit, then but an inferior frontier village. From there he

went to Superior town.ship, in the eastern part of VVa.shte-

naw County, near Ypsilanti, where he commenced improving

one hundred and sixty acres of timbered land ; cleared a

few acres, which he planted with wheat, and returned to

New York, where, on the -Ith day of September, 1831, he

married Miss M. A. Wilbur, and came back to his farm in

Washtenaw County, where he continued to reside until

April, 1840.

Miss Wilbur was a daughter of Henry and Lydia Sheldeu

Wilbur, of Dutche.ss County, N. Y., where she was born

September 4, 1813.

During his stay upon his new farm Mr. Gale made many

improvements, and also served the people as township clerk

and school inspector. Previous to 1840 he exchanged his

farm for a larger tract of new land in Bennington, Shiawassee

County, to which he removed in April, 1840, and where he

has continued to reside to the present time. His property

has grown till it embraces three hundred and eighty acres,

the greater portion of which is well improved, and on which

are good buildings and the necessary conveniences of a

well-conducted farm.

After many years devoted to agricultural pursuits, Mr.

Gale can look back with satisfaction and truly say, " If I

were again young, with the experience and observation I

have had, I should certainly choose the same occupation."

In addition to his labors upon the farm, Mr. Gale has

been called to officiate in another spliere as a servant of

the people, and as a prominent business man in various

positions. In the spring of 1841 he was elected to the

office of justice of the peace, which he has held for a period

of thirty-six years, a fact of itself sufficient to prove his

character and standing. He ha.s also held the office of

supervisor of the township for fifteen years, and served four

years as second judge of the county court before that

tribunal was superseded by the Circuit Court. He was an

industrious student, and upon his election as justice began

a systematic study of statute and common law by utilizing

the long winter evenings, rainy days, and other leisure time.

In the early days of Michigan an extensive business, both

civil and criminal, came before the justices of the peace.

Mr. Gale remembers with gratitude the timely advice and

valuable assistance tendered him by the late Governor

Parsons, and Hon. Amos Gould, of Owosso, both then

practicing before the justices' courts. In his capacity as a

justice of the peace, Mr. Gale considered it his duty to

advise a settlement of all difficulties without litigation if

it were possible.

During a period of ten years he was engaged in the bank-

ing business at Corunna, under the firm-name of J. B.

Wheeler & Co. The firm did a private business, in which

they were reasonably successful. At the «ud of ten years

they sold the business to other parties who have since closed

it up.

Mr. Gale has also been a prominent railroad man. In

connection with W. L. Bancroft and others, commencing
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about 1868-70. he took an active part in the construction

of a road from Port Huron to Lansing. Between Port

Huron and Flint this road was known as the Port Huron

and Lake Michigan road, and between Flint and Lansing

as the Chicago and Northeastern road. These now form

a part of the Chicago and Grand Trunk line. He was one

of the directors of the company, and worked through the

trying times when the company, like many others, was poor,

and the work progressed very slowly. When this road and

the one building at the same time between Lansing and

South Bond, Ind., were consolidated under the name of the

Chicago and Lake Huron Railroad, he was elected a direc-

tor in the new company. When the Chicago and North-

eastern Company was organized for the purpose of con-

structing the link lying between Lansing and Flint, Mr.

(tale resigned his position, and was elected to the office of

vice-president of the last-named company, which position

he occupied until the final sale of the entire line to the

Canada Grand Trunk Company, in September, 1879.

Mr. Gale spent a considerable portion of twelve years in

the interests of the various segments of what now consti-

tute a great international line of railway, during which

period the profits and losses about balanced each other,

leaving to him as the only valuable acquisition an extensive

experience and the knowledge gained by contact with an

able and energetic class of business men, of whom he con-

siders Hon. W. L. Bancroft, of Port Huron, the prominent

representative, and the one to whom, above all others, the

credit is due for pushing to completion a great and valuable

line of railway

The subject of this memoir is now living with his wife

on his farm, which is managed by his .son ; and his conclu-

sion, after a busy life, is that, were he to commence anew,

he Would .set aside all business except that pertaining to the

occupation of farming, and bend all his energies to the

cultivation of the soil and its kindred pursuits. He con-

siders a snnd bank more valuable to the farmer than any

other, and has come to the conclusion that " Short-horn"

and " Alderuey stock" is much better than railway stock

as an investment.

P(ilitically Mr. Gale favored the election of John Quincy

Adams in 1828. During the existence of the Whig party

he was a strong advocate of it.s principles, and on the for-

mation of the present Republican party, in 1854, ho :isso-

ciated himself with the Democracy, with which parly he

has since affiliated, lie believes it the duty of all Ameri-

can citizens to abide by and faithfully carry out every

provision of the constitution until annidlcd or amended,

not only by act of the general government, but by every

State in the Union.

In religious opinion and belief Mr. Gale has been a

member and supporter of the Methodist Church for a

period of thirty-six years. He claims to bo free from sec-

tarian or bigoted views and feelings, and totally ignores the

doctrines of election and reprobation jis taught by John

Calvin and his followers.

NEWCOMB MITCHELL.

Among the prominent farmers and early settlers of Ben-

nington the subject of this biography is entitled to special

mention. Although he is not a pioneer he has done much
pioneer work. He has perfected a valuable record, and

demonstrated his general worth as a citizen. He wa.s born

in Bennington, Vt., Sept. 21, 1821. He was the son of

Newcomb and Polly (Hone) Mitchell, who reared a family

of eleven children,—six boj's and five girls.

The elder Mitchell was a blacksmith, a sturdy, industrious

man, but devoid of the faculty of money-getting, and his

children were deprived of educational advantages, and their

learning was obtained more from the bitter school of ex-

perience than from books. When Newcomb, Jr., was a

babe the family removed to New York, where his father

followed his vocation, changing his residence from Syracuse,

where he first located, to Lyons, and from there to Wyo-
ming County. In 1844 he removed to Michigan, and set-

tled in the town of Salem, Washtenaw Co. He returned to

the State of New York, however, and died near Attica, at an

advanced age. At the age of ten years Newcomb was

thrown upon his own resources. He first obtained employ-

ment on a farm at a sixpence a day. His boyhood days

were devoid of pleasure, and toil and privation seemed his lot

;

but by reason of his .surroundings he developed in youth

many traits of character that might otherwise have remained

dormant, and which have had an influence upon his future.

He worked as a farm-laborer until he was twenty years of

age, when he went to Buffalo and apprenticed himself to

the trade of a mason, which avocation ho followed many

years. In 1844 he came to Michigan, where his brother

Calvin, now one of the prominent farmers of Wa.slitenaw

County, had settled the year previous in the town of Salem.

Soon after his arrival the two brothers made a trip of obser-

vation to Wisconsin, Upon their return Newcomb purchased

eighty acres of wild land in Salem, which he afterwards sold.

In the fall of 1847 he came to Lansing and engaged in

the grocery trade. This venture, owing to the perfidy of

his partner, proved disastrous. In the winter of 1849

he came to Bennington, and the Ibllciwing summer built

the octagonal school building near Corunna. 1852 found

him in the employ of the Michigan Central Railroad. In

1852 he returned to Bennington, and the following year

commenced the improvement of his farm, which he had

purchased in 1846. Here he has since resided, and to the

original purchase of eighty acres has added one hundred

and ninety acres. The farm is one of the best in the town-

ship, and his commodious buildings and finely-cultivated

fields attest his thrill and .success. Li 18t")G, Mr. Mitchell

married Mi.ss Eliza, daughter of Dyer Phelps, one of the

early settlers of the town of Shiawasssec. She was born

in Springfield, Pa., Christmas-day, 18;t5. Eight children

have been born to them,—three boys and five girls.

Mr. Mitchell is em]ihatically a sell'-niude man. Starting in

life with only his strong pair of hands and a robu.st consti-

tution, he has attained success in all deparlracnis of life.

Ill his political and n'ligious aflilialidiis he is a Republican

and a Mi'lhddi.sl, and among llu' rcpro-senlative men of

Bennington he occupies a tbremost position.
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SAMUEL NICHOLS.

Pioneer biographies are usually

devoid of romantic incidents and

startling events, but are always

replete with recitals of hardships

and privations that to the present

generation sound more like fiction

than fact. Many lessons of in-

dustry, indomitable perseverance,

and rigid economy can be gleaned

from them
;
and while all are of

historical importance, special in-

terest is felt in the life of that

adventurous individual who made

the first permanent settlement.

To Samuel Nichols belongs the

honor not only of being the first

white settler, but of building the

own. In 1832 he bought a new

farm near Jamestown, N. Y., on

which he remained four years,

when he sold his property and

came to Bennington, where he

made the first purchase of govern-

ment land in the township as at

present organized, it being the

southwest quarter of the south-

west quarter of section 24, town-

ship 6 north, range 2 east. Upon
this farm he resided until his de-

cease, which occurred March 30,

1869, in the sixty-fifth year of

his age.

In 1831 he married Miss Mi-

randa Kathan. She was also a

MRS. LYMAN HICKEY,

first house, felling the first tree,

and plowing the first furrow within

the present limits of the town of

Bennington. He was born in the

town of Hinsdale, Vt., in ISO-i.

But little is known of his early

history further than that he was

left an orphan at the age of four

years, and was reared by a gentle-

man by the name of Philander

Glover, in whose family he lived

until he was fifteen years of age.

He then started in life as a farm-

laborer
; was industrious and ener-

getic, and, by carefully husbanding

his earnings, acquired a sum suf-

ficient to purchase a home of his MRS. SAMUEL NICHOLS.

native of Vermont, and was born

in 1808. Although advanced in

years, her recollections of the

early days are still vivid, and she

recalls many incidents in her pio-

neer life that prove conclusively

that she was possessed of perse-

verance, energy, and remarkable

fortitude, and that she is worthy

of a conspicuous position among
the pioneer women of Shiawassee

County. She has been the mother

of ten children, six of whom died

in infancy. Of the four others,

two only are living, Samuel and

Mary M. The latter was married,

in 1858, to L. Hickey, who was
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born in Genesee County, N. Y., in 1824. His father came

to Michigan with his family in 1824, and settled in the

town of Commerce, Oakland Co., where Lemuel resided

until 1840, when he came to BenTiington, where he has

since resided. He is also a pioneer, havinj; been a resi-

dent of the town for forty years. He is the owner iif the

Nichiils farm, on which he resides, a view of which appears

on another page.

JOHN INNES.

The gentleman whose name heads this brief notice is one

of the early .settlers of Shiawassee, and was born in the

city of Peterhead, Aberdeenshire, Scotland, July 7, 1815.

His father, also named John, was born in the parish of

Alatlilick. He was a manufacturer of linen and cotton goods,

but in the later part of his life, owing to ill health, became

a farmer. He married Miss Jane Frasier, and reared a

family of four children,—two boys and two girls,—John

being the eldest. In 1825 he removed from IVterhead to

the place of his nativity, and lea.sed a farm of Lord Aber-

deen, on which he remained until his decease, which oc-

curred at the ripe old age of eighty-seven years. Ho was

an upright, honorable man, and highly esteemed by all who

knew him. John assisted his father on the farm until he

was sixteen years of age. He attended a parochial school,

and obtained a good education.

Peterhead, the place of his birth, is a seaport town, and

the mo.st easterly city in Scotland, and the dream of his

boyhood days was " a life on the ocean wave," and he deter-

mined to follow the sea as the principal avocation of his

life, but his plans were opposed by his parents, and lie de-

cided to come to America. June 18, 183G, he bade good-

by to friends and relatives, and after a tedious voyage of

seven weeks arrived in New York. He immediately

started for the West, and first stopped at Huron, Ohio,

where he found an organization known as the Ohio Com-

pany, having for its object the development of lands in

what is now the town of Shiawassee, Shiawassee Co. lie

engaged himself to this company, and with others started

for Michigan. They arrived at Detroit in August, 183G,

and the journey from that point to their destination was a

tedious one. From Fenton there was nothing but an In-

dian trail, and one week was consumed in their journey

from that place to Shiawasseetown. He remained in the

employ of this company until the autumn of 18;57, and

during that time a.ssisted in the construction of the first

saw-mill, grist-mill, and bridge within the present limits of

the county.

This enterprise proved unsuccessful both to the company

and Mr. Innes, and in the fall of ISiST he returned to

Ohio, where he remained one year. He then started on an

extended trip through the Southern States, stopping at

Natchez, Vicksburg, New Orleans, and (ither iini)orlant

towns.

In June, 18;)S, ho went into the nortlicrii part ol' Wis-

consin, where he engaged in lumbering until the fall of

1840, when he again went South with the intention of

making it his homo. He remained, liowever, but four years,

during which time he was engaged in rafting lumber, cord-

wood, and pickets to the New Orleans market. On his

return North lie stopped in the town of Perry, where he

met his destiny in the person of Miss Orissa Howard,

whom he married in April, 1845. Shortly after his mar-

riage he leased a large farm at East Plains, Ionia Co., and

commenced farming. About one month after his marriage

JOHN INNES.

Mrs. Inues died, and in the January following he was

again married to Mrs. Elizabeth Dean, who died thirteen

months after. Just previous to the death of his wife he

had purchased eighty acres of laud in Bennington, to

which he subsequently added eighty acres more, and upon

which ho resided until his removal to Owosso in 1880. In

October, 1849, Mr. luncs was married to Miss Margaret

Yeats. She is a Scotch lady, and was born in the parish of

New Deer, Aberdeenshire, Sept. 8, 1828. When she was

ten years of age the family came to the United States and

settled in Livingston Co., N. Y., where they resided until

1841, when they emigrated to Livingston Co., Mich. Mr.

and Mrs. Innes have been blessed with three daughters, all

of whom are living.

In his religious belief Mr. Innes is a Presbyterian. Ho

is a man of positive character, tenacious of his opinions,

which are formed by mature deliberation and investigation.

He believes that " an honest man is the noblest work of

God," and his practice is in accordance with his belief, and

wherever he is known his word is considered xs go<id xs his

bond. In his donieslie relations he is a kind husband and

an indulgent father. In his dealings with his follow-mon

he is dignified and courteous, and ))osne.s.siMl of much suavity

of manner. His life hius been an eventful one, and the

early part was one of rough experiences and replete with

hardship and privations; but notwithstanding the oh.st«elea

that beset his path iiis life has been a sueccs-s, and now in

the evening of his days, with bis family around him and
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knowing tliat he has the respect and esteem of all, and

that his success in all departments of life is due wholly to

his own efforts, he feels that he has been rewarded.

JONATHAN M. HARTWELL.

This venerable pioneer was born in Norwich, Chenango

Co., N. Y., July 29, 1801. His father, Ebenezer Hart-

well, was a native of Dutchess County, and was one of the

early settlers of Chenango County. He married Rachel

Mead, and reared a family of twelve children,—six boys and

six girls. His father, Oliver Hartwell, was a soldier in the

Revolutionary war, and served during its continuance, par-

ticipating in many decisive battles. He died at the advanced

age of ninety-seven years.

Ebenezer Hartwell, or Deacon Hartwell, as he wa."*

familiarly known, was an energetic and successful farmer,

and a man of undoubted integrity. He was a prominent

member of the Baptist Church, and was closely identified

with the history of Norwich and Chenango County. His

wife was one of those good women of the olden time ; she

spun and wove, and reared her children to habits of indus-

try and thrift. She died in Bennington in 1845.

Jonathan, as was the custom in those days, acknowledged

obligation to his father in his labor until he attained his

majority ; he acquired such an education as the district

school of that day afforded. In 1822 he married Miss

Eliza, daughter of Laban Crandall. She was a native of

Dutchess County, and was born in the town of Amenia,

Nov. 4, 1806. In his youth Mr. Hartwell evinced much

enterprise and energy, and shortly after his marriage he

purchased sixty acres of land near his father's farm, in-

curring an indebtedness of one thou.sand dollars for the

same. He remained upon this farm ten years, making sub-

stantial improvements and freeing himself from debt. In

1832 he sold his farm and engaged in trade in North Nor-

•wich. Merchandising proved an uncongenial occupation,

and he resolved to seek his fortune in the then Territory

of Michigan. In the spring of 1837, in company with

his brother-in-law, Horace Green, he came to Michigan

on a tour of observation ; he was favorably impressed with

the soil and natural advantages, and decided to make

this State his home. He returned East, and the following

year (1838) again came to Michigan, and purchased eighty

acres in section 24. He cleared, fenced, and plowed ten

acres, built a log house, and went back to the State of New
York, where he closed up his business, and November 10th

of that year started for Michigan with his family, which

consisted of his wife and five children. He brought with

him a stock of boots and leather, which found a ready sale

among the settlers. The following summer he broke forty

acres. He entered into the improvement of his farm with

his usual energy, and the third year after his arrival sowed

one hundred acres of wheat. In 1849 he established a

store near his present residence, and for a long time did an

extensive business. He also*kept a house of entertainment

for many years, and the " Hartwell Tavern" was known far

and wide.

Mr. Hartwell's record as a citizen and neighbor is an

enviable one. His word, whether given in a business trans-

action or in ordinary conversation, is as good as his bond

;

he has never sought political honors ; his aim in life has

been to accumulate a competency and to win an unspotted

reputation, and well has he succeeded. Socially he is genial

and courteous, winning the regard and esteem of all with

whom he comes in contact. We should prove recreant to

our duty did we not speak of the many virtues of his noble

wife, who shared the hardships of early days, and to whose

thrifl, industry, and sage counsel he attributes much of

his success ; her portrait, so full of character, in connection

with his own and a view of the old home, may be seen

elsewhere in this volume.

CHAPTER XXXI.

BURNS TOWNSHIP.*

liouniliirifs ami Natural Feature:*—Settleuieut of the Township

—

vSchools— Earl^- Roads— Civil History of the Township—Byron Vil-

lage—Church History—Societies and Orders.

Burns, the southeast corner town.ship of Shiawassee

County, described as town 5 north, of range 4 west, is

bounded on the north by Vernon, on the east by Genesee

County, on the south by Livingston County, and on the

west by Antrim. The surface, though in places level, and

inclined to be wet and swampy, is generally undulating,

and is well drained by the Shiawassee and its branches, as

well as by several large artificial water-ways. The stream

usually known as the East Branch unites with the Shiawas-

see River at Byron village, forming an excellent water-power

at that village. There are two small lakes in the township,

both of which have small outlets that unite and flow into

the river. The soil is very fertile, and the township is

justly considered one of the best in Shiawassee County.

Until September, 1850, parts of .sections 5, 7, and 8, and

all of section 6, were held as an Indian reservation,']' but at

that time it was opened for settlement.

SETTLEMENT OF THE TOWNSHIP.

Although Whitmore Knaggs came to what is now the

township of Burns and opened a trading-station here as

early as the year 1820, and was succeeded by the traders

Grant, Godfrey, and John Knaggs, the last mentioned of

whom (a son of Whitmore Knaggs) commenced trade on

the Indian reservation in or about 1832, the actual settle-

ment of the township by immigrant farmers intending to

become permanent residents did not begin until 1835. In

the summer of that year (in July as near as can be ascer-

tained) Dyer Rathburn, with a wife and seven children,

reached the township, and located the southeast quarter of

section 20. With the help of Rufus, his eldest son, then

about twenty-one years of age, he immediately built a log

» By G. A. McAlpine.

"I"
The reservation of Kechewondaugouiug, granted to the Shiawas-

see Chippewas in the Saginaw treaty of September, 1819.
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cabin dwolliup;, which, after the settlement of the township

fairly cummeuced, was used also as a tavern.

Mr. Rathburn seems to have had some idea of the diffi-

culties to be encountered, for he came well prepared to

meet them. He brought two yoke-s of oxen and a span of

horses, with wagon.s, farming implements, and household

goods. In the fall he sowed a small piece of wheat, and in

the spring jjlanted corn. For nearly a year the family lived

in solitude, with no neighbors but Indians, many hundreds

of whom at times passed along the trail east of the cabin

on their way southeast to the Detroit River, atid on their

return thence to their homes and hunfing-gmunds in the

northwest.

The first knowledge the family had of other .settlers

being in the township was brought about accidentally.

Some members of the family being in the woods at a con-

siderable distance from home heard the cackling of chickens

on the north side of the Shiawassee River, and on sear(;h-

ing for new-comers they found the family of Robert Craw-

ford comfortably located in a cabin, near the north bank of

the river, on section 15. Mr. Crawford came to Oakland

Co., Mich., in 182(5, fiom Canada, having gone there from

New York in 1820. He came to Burns in March, 1836,

and located as above stated. As soon as his cabin was

completed, Joseph Leonard (his son-in-law) and wife came

to the new home of her father. Her younger brother and

sister came at the same tiuie, and the rest of the family

came in June.

The first white child born in the township was Adelaide

Crawford, the daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Robert Crawford,

the date of her birth being Nov. 2, 183G. Wallace Goodin,

who with F. J. Frevost was striving to make a city of the

village of Byron, deeded this child (in commemoration of

the event) two lots tiow owned by Nicholas Gulick. She

subsequently became the wife of Eev. Mr. Sprague, a

Methodist minister, and now lives in Galesburg, Kalamazoo

Co., Mich. Robert Crawford is still living, at the age of

eighty-six years. His wife died in January, 1880, aged

eighty-one.

The next settler was John Burgess, who located the

southwest quarter of section 23. He brought a wife and

one daughter, named Lauretta. After building a log house

he sold to Capt. John Laurie, and then located a part of

the farm now owned by William Chaffee. Mrs. Burgess

died soon alter, and was buried on this farm. Her colli

n

was made of walnut boards taken from the floor of John

B. Barnum's cabin, and was nailed together and polished

with beeswax. Her remains have not been removed,

though the plow has passed over tliein many times, and no

trace of her grave is now visible.

John B. Barnum, who, on June 22, 1830, settled im the

northw(!St (|uarter of sectimi 28, was probably the next

settler in Burns, lie built a log house on this farm, and

after the expiration of a year and a half he traded it to

William Banleh for part of the southeast. {|uarler of sec-

tion 21). The farm first entered by Mr. Barnum is now

owned by S. S. Wiltsie, who purehascd it in IS-13. Mr.

Barnum built on his new farm a bou.se and barn, which

are still standing. His family at tli<! time ol settlement

consisted of a wile and four ehildren, and a liiiiriircjther,

Aimiliarly known in the early da_v8 as Uncle Tommy. John

B. Barnum died Feb. 5, ISGfj. His wife, Urena, died May
24, 1848. His second wife die-d in February, 1880. His

son, Isaac S. Barnum, married Amelia, the daughter of

Robert Crawford. They live on section 2G, near the site

of the old homestead.

Peter Kanou.se came to Burns with his family in the

summer of 1836. He was a blacksmith, and brought a

kit of tools with him. He settled on the south line of

section 27, built a cabin, and was ready for business, for

which he did not long have to wait, as the township filled

up very rapidly from this time on. His was the first black-

smith-shop in the township. The next was started at Byron

by Joseph Layton. The same month Ezra D. Barnes,

from Tioga Co., N. Y., settled on section 27. He brought

a wife and two boys, one of whom was killed by falling

from a fence. Mr. Barnes died in 1876.

Thomas P. Green reached Burns township in August,

1836, after a trip of twenty-one days. He stopped in

Livingston County, where ho met D. F. Rockwell, who

had located land on .sections 32, 33. Of him Mr. Green

bought one hundred acres, where he still lives, being one

of the few survivors of those who came to the township in

1836. Mr. Green helped locate many of the first roads

in the south part of the county. The Indians called him

" Che-Shemokeman," meaning big white man. At the

same time that he purchased his land. Bright L. Clement,

then a young man, bought sixty acres in the same locality.

In September, Amos Foster, with his wife, Ciime to tlie

township, and settled on the southwest quarter of section

22. Mr. Foster had been here and located forty acres

of this quarter in the May previous. He also bought

eighty acres for William Chaffee. During the summer of

1836 Mr. Foster acted as guide to the numerous land-

seekers who at that time began to flock into the township.

He then returned and brought his wife as stated. He
built a log cabin on his farm, in whieh Andrew Huggins

is suppo.sed to have taught the first .school in the township

in the winter of lS38-3i), while Mr. Foster and wife were

absent on a trip to the East. Mr. Foster afterwards sold

the forty acres on section 22, and bought eighty acres on

.section 20, now owned by George Rogers, who jmreha.sed

it in 1846. He afterwards purchased the land on the

school section now owned by Albert Rowley.

Among the names of the early settlors of Burns that

of Nichohus Braden should be included, who reached the

townshij) in 1836. He was born in Germany, but lefl

home when a mere youth, and finally, after residing iu

England and in New York, settled in the woods of Michi-

gan. He bought the northwest (juurter of section 32, and

built a log cabin, where he lived alone for eighteen months

and shook with the ague the greater jmrt of the time.

One day, while lying siek on hi.s bed, an Indian came and

sat down on a log near the liouse. Mr. Braden, hearing

the dogs bark, l.ooked through the window, when the Indian

opened the conversation with the single word—" Siek ?" Mr.

Braden replied that ho wius. " No squaw ?" said the Indian.

Mr. Braden replied he had none. This to llie Indian

seeme<l to be llu! very exiremity of misfortune, and he

Willi away, groaning in .sympathy for the sick man.
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Aaron Wellman reached Burns probably in 1836,

although there is a diflference of opinion in regard to the

exact date. He bought a large tract of laud on sections

10 and 14, part of which he sold to Raniah Cole, it being

the same now occupied by his son, Jason Cole. Aaron

Wellman died in 1851.

Ramah Cole, with his wife and three children, came to

Burns in 1837.

Gideon Drake and Oliver Wolcott were also pioneers of

Burns who settled in 1837.

•Daniel Kitson was the next settler north of the river.

He was a shoemaker by trade, and remained at the house

of Aaron Wellman until iiis cabin was completed on the

southeast quarter of section 11. The southeast quarter of

section 2 was entered by Roger Haviland in 1838, but he

did not settle permanently in the township until 1840.

After locating his land he returned to the south part of the

State, and worked in various places until 1839, when he

returned to Burns, and built a cabin on his land. Mr. and

Mrs. Haviland are now the only couple living north of the

river in Burns township who came in 1S40. Mr. and Mrs.

Isaac Barnum and Mr. and Mrs. Amos Foster are the

oldest residents south of the river.

J. J. Gaylord was the first settler on the Indian reserva-

tion. He was followed soon after by J. E. Martenus.

William Walworth reached the township about 1840.

Robert Fox was also a pioneer. Among those of a more

recent date, but still old settlers, are to be mentioned S. R.

Swick and W. W. Smith.

The first death in the township was probably that of

the daughter of Robert Crawford, which occurred in the

winter or early spring of 1837. She was the first per-

son buried in the cemetery at Byron.* There could have

been but few days, or weeks at most, between the death re-

ferred to and that of the son of F. J. Prevost, which is

spoken of in the history of Byron.

It is difiicult to decide who the contracting parties were

in the first marriage. The most authentic accounts point

to a double wedding which took place on the 17th day of

December, 1840, at which time Elder Brigham united in

marriage Jacob Kanouse to Miss Mabel Drake, and John

P. Drake to Miss Agnes Kanouse.

SCHOOLS.

The first school in the township of Burns was held in

the unoccupied log cabin built by Amos Foster, near the

road on the top of the hill, on the soutliwest quarter of sec-

tion 22. This school was taught in the winter of 1838-39

by Andrew Huggins, who is now a resident of Corunna.

During the following summer several schools were taught

in the township, although no school district was regularly

organized until 1843. It is held by some that a lady, who
afterwards married a Mr. McColin of Fentonville, taught

the first school in Byron in the summer of 1838. School

was taught at an early day also in the log house built by

Robert Crawford near the river. When the road was

established in 1837, Mr. Crawford put up a more pveten-

* Up to this time a large band of Indians had occupied this site,

but when this took place they removed their entire village to the

ground east of the river where the upper iron bridge now stands.

tious dwelling, after which his cabin was used both as a

church and school-room. The next school was taught by

Miss Jane Duncan, in a log house which stood on the north-

east quarter of section 20. This was in 1840. Several

terms of school had already been taught just across the

line in Livingston County, which gave the southwestern

part of the township better school fiicilities.

Schools were held in the cabins above referred to or in

other private dwellings until the regular organization of the

several districts, which occurred as has been stated. Though

the town board of school inspectors met in the spring of

1840 and divided the entire township into school districts,

with the exception of the Indian Reservation, the schools,

nevertheless, seem to have gone on in the same old way.

There is no record of the first .school-meetings in the older

districts. This is noticeably the case in district No. 5, the

oldest district in the township. The records reach but a

few years back, and these are imperfect and unsatisfactory.

In 1842 the board met and apportioned the primary-

school money as follows: District No. 3, Byron district,

received $8.64 ; district No. 5, ChaflFee district, received

S6.72 ; district No. 4, Green district, received $2.88.

It will be observed that these districts were numbered as

at present, and, although they are now .somewhat smaller,

they have not been materially changed since first organized

in 1840.

The first call for a school-meeting north of the river was

addressed to Robert Crawford under date of Nov. 14,

1842. This was to have been held at his house, but as

Mr. Crawford did not live in district No. 1, for the benefit

of which the school-meeting was to have been held, the

place of meeting was changed. On the 6th of May, 1843,

the school board, seeming not to have forgotten the disre-

gard paid to former instructions, addressed Robert Craw-

ford as follows :
" Mr. Robert Crawford, you are hereby

commanded to notify every qualified voter in the above

district (No. 2), either personally or by leaving a written

notice at his residence, that a school-meeting will be held

at the house of Ramah Cole, on the 18th inst., at one o'clock

P.M." It, no doubt, required considerable effort to notify

every voter in the above district, and perhaps equally as

much to leave a written notice at his residence.

The next action of the board was " to examine A. Hug-

gins and Sarah E. Stoddard, candidates for teaching," both

of whom received certificates. The board then directed

Mr. Henry Wiltsie to call a school-meeting in district No.

6 (now No. 10), at the house of Dyer Rathburn, on the

18th of May, 1843.

In di.strict No. 2 a log school-house was built soon after

the meeting called by the letter addressed to Robert Craw-

ford. It was used until 1856, when the one now standing

on the northwest quarter of section 10 was built.

In district No. 1 the first school-meeting was held at the

house of Edward Peck, April 24, 1847. R. Haviland was

appointed chairman, and the following district ofiicers were

elected: R. Haviland, Director; Edward Peck, Assessor;

Daniel Kitson, Moderator. The next year the same per-

sons were re-elected.

At a school-meeting on the 25th of September, 1848, a

motion w;is carried to raise seventy-five dollars to build a
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log school-house, which was completed the next year. This

one was used until 1870. The new one was then erected,

and cost seven hundred and fifty dollars. Miss Marinda

Bradley taught the first school in the log house. Miss

Acintha Wellman wa.s the first teacher in the frame build-

ing.

District No. 8 was organized about the year 1854, being

formed from other districts. The first school-meeting was

held in a cabin built some years previous for school pur-

poses. S. S. Tower was chosen director, and John B. Bar-

num assessor. The room was then repaired, and Athenia

Morse engaged as teacher. Several terms of private school

had already been taught in the district by Miss Eliza

Tower. The next teacher was Miss Candace Burgess, during

whose term the building took fire and was destroyed. An-

other log house was built on the same .site soon after. This

was used until 187U, when it was removed and another

erected in its stead, at a cost of eight hundred dollars.

The following tables may be of interest as showing the

apportionment of the primary-school fund for the years

1860 and 1879

:

ISfiO.

Distiicts. Number of Scholai-s. Amount.

No. 1 21 $10.58
" 2 51 25.7S
" 3 97 48.95
" 5 65 :!2.79

'' 6 20 10.08
' 7 41 20.68
' 8 ; 27 Hi. lit

' 10 20 10.08

1879.

Districta. Numtjer of Scholara. Amount.

No. 1 40 $26.72
" 2 61 40.76
" 3 147 98.22
" 5 39 26.06
" 7 44 29.40
" 8 47 31.40
" 10 27 18.10

The following table shows the total amount of money

expended in each .school district in the township for the

year 1879:

Districts. ' Amount.

No. 1 (fractional) $262.36
" 1 159.56
" 2 127.48
" 3 802.74
" 4 100.17
" 5 216.58
" 7 134.73
" 8 53.96
" 10 163.14

EAULY liOADS.

May 18, 1837, the minutes of the road from Genesee

County entering Burns just south of (lie East Branch of the

Shiawassee River were entered on tlu; recorils of tin; town-

.ship. It was located a ^nv/ clays previous, as was al.fo the

river road, leading northwest from Byron, which was really

a continuation of the survey which established the former

road. In the same month the road leading north fmni

Livingston County, jiassing the residence of Tlmnias 1'.

Green, on section 32, to the northwest corner of the town-

ship, was established. On the 9th of August the oast-and-

west road, pa.ssing the Moss Hotel and the Chaft'ee .schonl-

house, was established. Then the one pas.sii)g the .school-

house in district No. 8 and the residence of Isaac S. Bar-

26

num was located. These roads were laid out by Thomas

P. Green, Wallace Goodin, and Rufus C. Rathburn, com-

missioners of highways. In IS-tO the State road from

Byron to Owosso was established.

CIVIL IIISTOKV OF TUE TOWNSHIP.

Burns was .set off from the territory of the old t(jwnship

of Shiawassee, and was erected a separate civil township

with its present name and limits by act of the Legislature

of Michigan, approved March 1 1, 1837, which also directed

the first meeting of the electors of the newly-formed town-

ship to be held at the house of Francis J. Prevost. Under

this provision of the act the first meeting was held at the

ofiBce of the Byron Con)pany (which was in the house of

Maj. Prevost), on the 3d of A|iril, 1837, on which ocea.sion

there were present the following-named electors : Ezra D.

Barnes, Thomas P. Green, Amos Foster, Peter Kanouse,

Rufus C. Rathburn, Francis J. Prevost, Robert Crawford,

John Burgess, Wallace Goodin, Alonzo Woods.

All the voters who attended this meeting received one or

more offices. Francis J. Prevost was elected to four, Thom:is

P. Green and Ezra D. Barnes each t« three, while several

received two offices each.

In 1838 it w.xs resolved to pay W. Jackson fifty dollars

for building a bridge across the Shiawassee River. This

was the first bridge constructed by the township, and

crossed the river on the Reservation, near the cabin of

John Knaggs. It was very unstable, and lasted but a few

years.

April 3, 1843, the township voted to raise one hundred

dollars to bridge the river at Byron. This bridge was on

the road leading west from the village, and stood near the

place where the present one stands, below the Byron Hotel.

It also was a very frail structure. The upper iron bridge

was built at a cost of eleven hundred dollars. The wood

bridge now spanning the river in the west part of the vil-

lage is to be replaced immediately by an iron one, to cost

sixteen hundred dollars.

The following table shows the total amount of tax levied

for various purposes for the years 1860, 1870, and 1879,

not including school tax :

1860.

State tax J2r>.22

County tax 1168.18

Townsliip tax 690.00

lligliway tax 72.2S

Total tax luvioJ for all purposes 2820.87

1870.

Plato tax $VM1hM
County tax 1461.00

RojoctLil tax ;'6.46

Dituli lax '"•'•""

Town.ship tax 500.00

liy lii;;liw!iy coniniis.'^ioner 500.00

Dilinciuenl liijilnvay tax fl2.I»

lota! for all purposes 6535.39

1879.

Slate tax $I29S.7I

County tax 1271.02

Contingent Ux 300.00

IliKlnvav lax 200.00

liri.lBe tax SOO.OO

Total lax levied for all purposes 00».'i.92

The folldwing is a list of Inwiisliip nthcors fnnii it.s

ortranization to 1880 inclusive;
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1837. Ezra D. Barnes.

1838. Francis J. Prevost.

1839. E. D. Barnes.

1840. Francis J. Prevost.

1841. Ezra D. Barnes.

1842-44. John K. Tyler.

1845. S. R. Kelsey.

1846-48. Nicholas (iuliok.

1849. Bowman W. Dennis.

1850-51. S. R. Kelsey.

1852-53. Roger Havilaud.

1854-58. Sullivan R. Kelsey.

1859. Jabez Close.

TOWN
1837. Francis J. Prevost.

1838. Amos C. Foster.

1839. Pierpont L. Smith.

1840. R. C. CrawforJ.

1841-42. Henry Rowlaml.

1843-44. H. White.

1845. W. W. Kelsey.

1846. Holdeu White.

1847-48. Francis «. Lee.

1849. George C. Holmes.

1850. H. L. Drake.

1851-52. George B. Runyan.

1853. William S. Joslin.

1854-55. David G. Roycc.

SUPERVISORS.

1860. S. R. Kelsey.

COMMISSIONERS OF UIGHWAYS.

1861-63. Jabez Close.

1864-65. Amos Foster.

1866-67. Nelson S. Van Tuyl.

1868. Charles L. Allen.

1869-70. Roger Haviland.

1871. A. Judson Cole.

1872. Roger Haviland.

1873-75. Theodore M. Euler.

1876-77. Norman K. Potter.

1878. Theodore M. Euler.

1879. Charles H. Lemon.

1880. Norman K. Potter.

CLERKS.

1856. G. B. Runyan.

1857-58. George C. Holmes

1859. David Dickson.

1860. Hiram Webster.

1861-6.5. Nicholas Gulick.

1866. E. B. Welch.

1867. Frank Karrcr.

1868. William F. Close.

1869. Henry M. Billings.

1870. Norman P. Lel.and.

1871. E. A. Sheldon.

1872. Nicholas Gulick.

1873-80. Gilbert S. Lewis.

1839-40. Ramah Cole.

1841. Henry Wiltsio.

1842-44. W. H. Chaffee.

1845. II. White.

1846. Henry Rowland.

1847. Roger Haviland.

1848-49. Joseph II. Wendell

1850-51. Roger Haviland.

1852. Edward Peck.

1853. Robert Fox.

TREASURERS.

1864. William Drake.

1855-56. Edward Peck.

1857-60. J. P. Gale.

1861-66. Isaac S. Bamum.
1867-70. A. Judson Cole.

1871. Henry Croope.

1872-77. John Kitson.

1878-79. George U. Eddy.

1880. H. L. Cook.

JUSTICES

1837-38. Ezra D. Barnes.

Francis J. Prevost.

Thomas P. Green.

Robert Crawford.

1839. John K. Tyler.

1840. Thomas P. Green.

1841. Kamah Cole.

1842. Francis J. Provost.

1843. John K. Tyler.

1844. Nicholas Gulick.

1845. S. R. Kelsey.

1846. Edward Peck.

1847. Oliver E. Wolcott.

John P. Drake.

1848. Nicholas Gulick.

1849. Sullivan R. Kelsey.

1850. Robert Crawford.

John P. Drake.

1851. Harvey T. Lee.

1852. Nicholas Gulick.

Oliver Wolcott.

1853. Jabez Close.

1854. Horace B. Southard.

1855. John Davis.

1856. Nicholas Gulick.

1857. Jabez Close.

1858. J. M. Gorham.

1859. Thomson H. Reeves.

OF THE
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1839. Thomas 1'. Green.

Robert Crawford.

John Biir{^t'8rt.

1840. Kobcrt Crawford.

Martin Lovoland.

Abuer C. Bcit.-iford.

1841. Rufus Rathbiirn.

Thoiu;is P. (Jreon.

Edward I'cck.

1842. Roger llaviland.

Ezra D. IJarnos.

1845. John Burgess,

Sanford Smith.

1848. Roger llaviland.

AViUiani II. Clialfeo.

ISlt). David Sherwood.

Edward Kanouso.

CONSTABLES.

1837.

1838.

18.39.

1840.

1841.

1842.

1843.

1844,

1845.

184U,

1847.

1848.

1849,

I.S50.

1851

1852

1863

1854,

John Burgess. 1855.

Edmund Foster.

Alonzo Wood.

T. Nichols.

John Burgess. 1856.

Nelson Coston.

T. Nichols.

John (i. Tyler.

John Burgess. 1857.

John Burgess.

Nelson Coston.

Tilly Nichols. 1858.

Tilly Nichols.

John G. Tyler.

John Burgess.

William U. Knapp. 1859.

John G. Tyler.

John W. \Villiams.

Timothy Tyler.

Robert Fox. 1860.

Jarvis White.

Nelson Coston.

Timothy Tyler.

Robert Fo.\. 1861.

D. h. Reading.

D. L. Reading.

Robert Fo\.

Wm. L. M. Butler. 1862.

Benjamin Welch.

F. U. Loo.

N. P. Merrill.

I. C. (iillctt. 1863.

I. A. Guthrie.

Chauncoy Barber.

James Botsford.

A. P. Barnum. 1864.

T. Tyler.

Jarvis White,

Nathan P. Merrill.

Robert Fo.\. 1805.

Abijah P. Barnum.

James L. Middlcsworth.

James M. Blake.

Robert Fo.t. 1860,

N. P. Morrill.

Robert Fox.

Truman W. Rowley.

llonry II. Briidley. 1867.

Edward Foster.

Robert Fox.

Jonathan P. Gale.

Isaac Crawford. 1868.

Robert Fox.

II. B. TreadwoU.

Samuel Hunt.

Isaac Crawford. 1869,

Robert Fox.

G. B. Whitney.

Leslio Aldcn.

Henry A. Bradley. |,H70

Lester Aldon.

Myron A. Carpenter.

W. G. Morrill.

Thomas Trumbull. 1871

Charles West.

A. P. Wostcott.

Oliver Wolcott.

Olin S.' Spring.

Nathaniel Murdick.

B. H. C. Howo.

Robert Fox.

Leslie Alden.

Frank Karrer.

D. C. Burdick.

Alonzo Denton.

Frank Karrer.

George Van Tuyl.

Oliver C. Wolcott.

Robert Fox.

Frank Karrer.

0. C. Wolcott.

Martin L. Davis.

James T. Ketchledgc.

James T. Ketchledgc.

Robert Fox.

S. Swick.

M.^. Davis.

A. J. Rowley.

J. Parkhurst.

M. Cooly.

A. H. Clark.

A. J. Williams.

Leslie Alden.

Myron Corn.

A. J. Rowley.

George Foster.

George Rogers.

Lester Aldcn.

Myron A. Carpenter.

John L. Wilkins.

Robert Fox.

Myron A. (Jar|)entcr.

Frank Karrer.

William A. Vansiekles.

Reuben 11. Wiltsic.

B. J. Green.

Truman Van Tuyl.

B. F. Green.

F, M. Van Tuyl.

Reuben II. Wiltsic.

John Kitson.

Reuben \Viltsie.

Frank Van Tuyl.

Adam S. Bcttorly.

John Badger.

E. N. Fisher.

Molvin Jlaugbtin.

Francis Van Tuyl.

Albert Martin.

Nathaniel T. Murdick.

I'jdward Burlingamu.

William J. Tower.

William li. Vansiekles.

, Daniel Lewis.

Benjatuin F. Green.

Uufus Hood.

George C. Wolcott.

, Oliver Campbell.

1871. Albert M. Drumm.
Charles .Swan.

Martin Comstock,

1872. A. S. Botterly.

Rufus Rood.

W. P. Parsons.

0. Campbell.

1873. John A. Olmslead.

U. N. Lewis.

Lester Newman.

A. S. Betterly.

1874. S. Steele.

A. S. Betterly.

Charles II. Smith.

Lester Newman.

1875. William Boiue.

William Nel.son,

A. S. Betterly.

Lorenzo Barnes.

1876. William Boice.

1876. Albert Rowley.

Frank Karrer.

Mathcw Walworth.

1877. Charles W. Parker.

A. S. Betterly.

A. W. Campbell.

Alexander Orr.

1878. Milton Coykentlall.

David M. Tilmau.

Walter Wadley.

Anson Redson.

1879. Milton Coykendall.

John D. Williams, Jr.

Walter Wadley.

Talcott Tyler.

1880. David M. Tillman.

Waller S. Pratt.

A. S. Betterly.

Alfred Bigelow.

BYRON VILLAGE.

The corporation of the village of Byron comprises the

adjacent quarters of sections 13, 14, 23, and 24. This

territory was located by Judge Samuel W. Dexter, July

13, 1824. Tlie patent conveying the same to him is dated

October 20th of the same year. Judge Dexter came from

Mtussaehusett.s and .settled in Wa.-ihtenaw Co., Mich., at a

very early day, the township of Dexter in that county

being named in his honor.

On the 21st of June, 1H36, Judge Dexter .sold the lands

above referred to to his brother-in-law, .Muj. F. J. I'revost,

C. Smith, P. L. Smith, and S. S. Derby, who formed an

association usually known as the Byrou Company. On
the 28th of August of the .same year Wallace Goodin be-

came one of the firm by purchasing a one-fifth interest in

the undivided lands of the company. The village of Byron

was immediately platted and recorded April 28, 1837.

The moving spirit of the enterprise was Maj. P. J. Pro-

vost. He came from New York to Washtenaw Co., Mich.,

where he married the daughter of Judge Boyden, a pio-

neer of that county, atler whom the locality known as

Boydeu's Plains was named. Maj. Prevost lived in Wash-

tenaw County a few years and then came to Byron, bring-

ing his wife and three children, in the summer of 183G.

He employed men to build a log house on the company's

land, now owned by George Buel. His family lived lierc

until the fall of 1837, when they moved into the house

now occupied by William llu.ss. This luiu.se was erected on

the site where Jabez Close's resideuce stmids, from which

place it was removed.

Major Prevost and his wife lived in Byrou until April,

1850, when, accompanied by Augustus, their eldest son,

they went to California, where Maj. I'revost died. His

eldest daughter married Capt. David Koyco, who was killed

in the battle of Falling Waters, Va. She allerwards mar-

ried Mr. Fairbanks, and now lives in Nebraska. In the

cemetery near the bank of the river sttinds a small monu-

ment raised in memory of Tlieodoro II., the son of F. J.

and M. A. Prevost, who died .March 17, 1837. It records

the first death in the village of Byron. The name of a

sister, who died many years tilter, is also engraven upon it.

C. Smith, another member of the Byron Company, Ciime

to the now village, but ail«r remaining a short lime re-
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turned to Washtenaw County. P. L. Smith brought his

(iimily to Byron, and after remaining a fvw months re-

turned to his home in Livingston County. Of S. S. Derby

but little is known. His visits were infrequent and of

short duration. He would, as it were, look in on the little

village struggling for existence, and with a shake of the

head would soon depart.

Wallace Goodin came to Byron in the summer of 1836,

and, next to Maj. Prevost, wa.s the life of the entcrjirise.

He was married to Miss Angeline Smiley about the year

1845. Her people came from Pennsylvania and settled in

the vicinity of Newburg. Mr. Goodin lived in Byron

until 1847, when he disposed of his property and went to

Massachusetts, where he died.

As soon as fairly organized the Byron Company began

to build a dum across the East Branch of the Shiawassee

River, the village being located at the union of these

streams. This dam broke away many times, causing the

necessary outlay of considerable money. It was first com-

pleted late in the fall of 1836. The company also built a

log house intended for a boarding-house for their employees.

It was the first building in the village, and wa.s completed the

latter part of September, 1836. It stood on the hill above

the grist mill, and near the site of the present residence of

E. A. Sheldon. It was occupied by M. Mosier and wife,

who had been engaged to board the company's men. When
the saw-mill was completed, Mr. Mosier took charge of it.

But he soon became dissatisfied, and moved with his ftim-

ily to St. Joseph County, When Mr. Mosier left, the

building was occupied by Seth Saddler, to whom the com-

pany gave it, on condition that when he went away " he

should leave a landlord." It was afterwards occupied by a

Mr. McLaiu and then by a Mr. Haddin, neither of whom
remained long in Byron. In January, 1837, Joseph Lay-

ton, a blacksmith, came to the village. Maj. Prevost had

previously visited him at his home in Washtenaw County,

and persuaded him to come and look the situation over.

The company offered to give him two lots in a good loca-

tion and lumber for a shop, as an inducement to him to

locate with them. Mr. Layton accepted the proposition,

and in the month of May following brought his wife and

five children to Byron. He built the first framed building

in the village. It stood on the side of the hill, directly

north of the dwelling now known as the mill-house. Many
years afterwards it was moved to the top of the hill, where

it still stands, occupied by Dr. F. E. Sleeth. Mr. Layton

also built the first blacksmith-shop in the village. It stood

at the foot of the hill, on the east side of the road, where

the mill-house now stands. When Mr. Haddin wished to

leave Byron, Mr. Layton bought the log hotel from him,

and occupied it, but also continued to run the blacksmith-

shop, until his death, which occurred in July of 1840.

Mrs. Layton was subsequently married to a Mr. Woods,
and she is still living in a house which occupies the site of

an Indian camp near the upper iron bridge across the

Shiawassee River. Of the five children but two are living,

one near Omaha, Neb., and the other in Huron Co., Mich.

We have thus mentioned the founders and the first set-

tlers of Byron in a cursory glance. From this time its

history will be arranged under proper headings. The vil-

lage did not grow as rapidly as its founders had expected.

When Judge Dexter entered the laud in 1824 it was be-

lieved that a county-seat must be located somewhere in this

vicinity, but the erection of new counties from the territory

of Shiawassee ruined the pro.spects of the projected village.

To use the expression of an old settler, Byron " was t' one

side," and its excellent water-power and the splendid farm-

ing country surrounding it could not overbalance this dis-

advantage. After three years of hard work and much ap-

parently useless effort, the Byron Comjiany was poorer in

money and less courageous in spirit than when—at its com-

mencement with the plat of Byron—it saw in imagination

a prosperous and thriving village. In 1840 Byron con-

tained but five families. The first step that tended to

make life more tolerable was the establishment of a post-

ofiice, with a weekly mail. A letter from New York cost

twenty-five cents. Maj. Prevost was the first postmaster,

and opened the office in a little frame building which stood

on the east side of Main or Saginaw Street, nearly on the

site of Owen's Knapp's cabinet-shop. Prior to 1840 the

mail was brought from Holly, but not at regular intervals.

From the establishment of the office, in the early .spring of

that year, until about the 1st of June the mail was carried

on horseback. At this time a stage-line was established

from Pontiac to Ionia, by which the mail was brought to

Byron. The stage-line was not, however, a success finan-

cially, and was soon taken from the road. The mail was

then carried as before. In 1845 another stage line was es-

tablished over the .«ame route, which proved a success, and

which continued to run until the completion of the railroad

to the east. Maj. Prevost was succeeded as postmaster

by Holden AVhite, who came to Byron in 1842. Mr. White

opened the first general store in the village soon afterwards.

The following are the names of the postmasters of Byron,

in the order of their appointment, as near as can be ascer-

tained : Francis J. Prevost, Holden White, George C.

Holmes, Nicholas Gulick, G. G. Royce, C. Lemon, F. E.

Sleeth.

Dr. Abner Sears was the first physician who located in

Byron. He came to the village in 1838 or 1839, and

died in a few years. Dr. Henry Rowland came in 1841.

He was subsequently married to a daughter of Robert

Crawford, and practiced his profession until his death,

which occurred about the year 1850. Drs. Guthrie, Web-

ster, Sleeth, Austin, Fox, Colwell, Stevens, Knapp, and

Seymour are among the physicians practicing in Byron in

subsequent years.

Several attorneys have resided in Byron from time to

time, the first of whom was probably Corydon Lee. The

profession is now represented by James Sleeth.

Mills.—In 1842 a partnership was entered into in Byron

by Bowman W. Dennis and Sullivan R. Kelsey, under

the firm-name of Dennis & Kelsey. These gentlemen

were a most valuable addition to the business element

of the village, and their energy began at once to infuse

new life into the little settlement. They purch.ised the

mill-privileges of the Byron Company, and immedi.itely

began operations. The saw-mill was moved from the east
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end of the iLitu to the place where the one now stands, and

was repaired and improved. The road, which before had

run along the top of the dam, much to the terror of trav-

elers, was now changed to near the line of the present one,

and some time afterwards necessary bridges were con-

structed. The firm also opened a store, the second one in

the village of Byron. But the crowning achievement was

the completion of the flouring-mill, the first and only one

built in Byron. It was completed in 1843. The firm

continued to do business until about the year 1858. The

interest of Mr. Dennis was then purchased by Owen Good-

speed. The Hon. S. 11. Kelsey is now living in C'orunna,

and is filling the ofiice of Judge of Probate. The saw-

mill referred to above took fire and was destroyed. The

one now standing was built by Koyce & Lemon.

A building was erected by F. J. Prevost at the waste-

gate south of the flouring-mill for a carding-niill. It was

also burned, and another was built in the same place, which

was, however, discontinued in a few years, and converted

into a plaster-mill, which was not a success, and was soon

left to go to decay.

In 1856, Solon Stone built a dam aero.ss the Shiawassee

River, in the northwest part of Burns township, and soon

after completed a saw-mill. He sold it to I. A. Roberts,

who some years after tore it down and built a new one.

Mr. Roberts in 187-1 built the large flouring-mills at the

same place. A village has been platted here by Mr. J. J.

Gaylord, but it has not yet been recorded.

JIolcls.—The first public-house in Byron was the log

building intended as a boarding-house for the mill-hands.

When Mr. Saddler took possession of this cabin he hung

out the sign " Cottage Inn," which continued to attract at-

tention until 1847, when it was taken down by Mrs. Lay-

ton, who had kept the hotel from the death of her husband

to that time.

About the year 1841, Wallace Goodin built a small

frame building, which he named the " Byron Hotel,"—

a

name which has descended to the hotel now standing on the

same site. Mr. Goodin sold it to Freeborn Joslin, and it

was subsequently purchased and enlarged by Harvey Lee.

At two o'clock in the morning of the 19th of June, 1848,

it was discovered to be on fire, and it was totally destroyed.

Two young men, named J. D. Williams and E. L. Buck-

ingham, narrowly escaped death by jumping from an ujiper

window. It was the largest hotel at that time in the county.

Mr. Lee built another on the same site, which has since

been improved. The Eagle Hotel was built in 18G0, by

F. W. Downer.

Early Stores.—As has been stated, Holden White started

the first store in the village of Byron in 1842. The build-

ing stood on the site of the house now occupied by Dr.

Knaj)p. In 1845, Mr. White built the largo house oppo-

site the Byron Hotel now owned by Mrs. Wilson, and

opened a large stock of goods. He only continued in busi-

ness, however, in Hyron until ISKi, when lie again went

EaiJt and remained there. Nicholas Gulick came to Byron

in 1843, and was employed by Holden Wliite as clerk in

his store. Mr. Gulick subsequently bought a small stock

of goods from George (1. Holmes, who starti'il a store in

Byron in 1845. Mr. (Julick is still in the business, and is

now the only one left of those who had settled in the village

up to 1843.

The business interests of Byron are at present represented

by a number of fine general stores, two firms dealing in

agricultural implements, several wagon- and blacksmith-

shops, two hotels, and the usual accompaniment of smaller

business places.

Schools of Byron.—The first school in Byron was taught

by a young lady in a little log cabin that stood near the

place where the Odd-Fellows' Hall now stands. This young

teacher (whose name has not been ascertained) subsequently

married a Mr. McCollum and moved to Fentonville.

The next school was taught in the house now occupied

by Dr. F. E. Sleeth, before referred to. The first regular

school-meeting called in the village was held at the Byron

Hotel on the (jth day of December, 1843. There had,

however, been a number of terms of school taught in the

village besides those mentioned above, previous to this time.

At this meeting Freeborn Joslin, was cho.son moderator,

Joseph H. Wendell director, and Holden White assessor.

Dr. Abner Sears acted as chairman. It was resolved to

have three months' school in the winter, and four months'

school in the summer. William Chaffee was employed to

_teach the school, which was soon after commenced. By

resolution of the school board, each scholar was required to

furnish a one-half cord of wood.

The first school-house was erected in Byron in 1845,

and cost two hundred dollars. It stood on lots 5 and 6,

block 3. The union-school building was built in 1805,

and cost three thousand five hundred dollars. The primary-

school building cost about eight hundred dollars.

The report for the year 1879 shows the number of

scholars of school age in the district to have been one hun-

dred and forty-seven, and the total amount of money ex-

pended eight hundred and two dollars and seventy-four cent.-s.

Vilkuje Incorporation.—The village of Byron was in-

corporated April 1, 1873. The first election was held on

the 8th of the .same month in Welch k Leiand's hall. The

following are the names of the officers of the village from

its organization to ISSO:

1873.—President, Charles II Lemon; Recorder, James

Sleeth; Assessor, Jabez Close; Marshal, D. M.

Tallman ; Trustees, Chauncey Wells, Wellman

F. Close, Orlando Lee, A. B. Welch, Adam

Betterly, Isaac Barnum.

1874.—President, Charles Lemon; Recorder, Charles M.

Fuller ; Assessor, Jabez Close ;
Treasurer, Owen

Knapp ; Trustees, E. B. Welch, Jacob Boicc,

Perry Hadsall, H. D. Cook, F. E. Welch, E. B.

Newman.

1875.—President, George Goff; Recorder, F. Karror;

Treasurer, O. Knap]i ; A.sses.sor, O. II. Lemon;

Marshal, J. A. Olmstvad ;
Trustees, F. W.

Downer, E. B. Newman, Perry Hadsall, F. M.

Van Tuyl, Williiim ralilwell, Jacob Bniee.

1871!.— President, ( I corge (iotV; Uecorder, Frank Karrer;

Assessor, Charles H. Ijcmon ; Treasurer, O. S.

Fuller; Mai-shal, William Boice; Trustees, Perry

llad.sall, .Mark Boi.v, M.S. I'ook, William Cald-

well, E. B. Welch, James Anderson.
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1877.—President, Perry Hadsall; Recorder, Frank Karrer;

Marslial, Albert W. Campbell ; Assessor, Jabez

Close; Treasurer, Edward S. Fuller; Trustees,

Byron S. Knapp, Joseph M. Royce, Orlando

Lee, Hiram Webster, Byron Rosseter, Oliver

Campbell.

1878.—President, H. L. Cook ; Recorder, F. E. Welch
;

Treasurer, 0. S. Fuller ;
Assessor, Jabez Close

;

Marshal, E. H. Fisher; Trustees, E. B. Welch,

Orlando Lee, A. S. Betterly, E. B. Newman,

John E. Martinis, Mark Boice.

1879.—President, H. L. Cook; Recorder, F. E. Welch
;

Assessor, Jabez Close; Treasurer, C. M. Fuller;

Marshal, William Butcher; Trustees, Orlando

Lee, John Martinis, Mark Boice, E. B. New-

man, E. B. Welch, G. S. Lewis.

1880.—President, Orlando Lee; Recorder, W. H. Bige-

low ; Treasurer, E. A. Sheldon ; Assessor, F. E.

Welch; Marshal, F. G. Lynde ; Trustees, P.

Gale, John E. Martinis, Jacob Boice, Gilbert

Lewis, Joseph M. Royce, H. L. Cook.

CHURCH HISTOKY.

The first regularly organized society in Byron was tiiat

of the Christian Church. Occasionally, during the years

1838-39, several families living in Burns and Argentine

held religious meetings, usually led by William Cummings,

an authorized exhorter. These families had been connected

with this church in the Bast before coming to Michigan.

In 1840, Rev. John Cannon, a resident of Romeo, Mich.,

came to Byron and began a series of meetings, which was

attended with considerable success, and which resulted in

the organization mentioned above. These meetings were

conducted in an unoccupied dwelling on the hill on the

west side of Saginaw Street, and occasionally at the house

of Maj. Prevost. Mr. Cannon was followed by Rev. Stephen

Winans, who remained one year. The society built a

church in 1842-43, but there is a diversity of opinion as

to who was the minister in charge at that time. The

growth of the society was gradual until one of its members

joined a secret order in 1849, and the society having pre-

viously voted to ordain him as a minister then refused, and

in consequence of this several prominent members withdrew.

The society gradually declined until 1855-56, when meet-

ings were entirely discontinued, and since that time the

society of the Methodist Ilpiseopal Church has occupied

the building erected by the Society of Christians.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

Ahhough this society was not the first regularly organ-

ized in the town of Burns, it is probable that religious meet-

ings were held by its ministers at a very early day. The
church record, from which are taken many of the following

facts, does not give the names of the first class, nor does it

give the date of its organization.

In 1836 the Rev. Washington Jijckson made a circuit

of the new settlements in this vicinity, preaching wherever

and whenever an opportunity presented itself. He organ-

ized the Shiawassee mission, embraced in the Flint River

district, with the Rev. A. P. Shaw as presiding elder.

The Shiawassee mission at that time embraced an area of

country extending from Fentonville on the east to the

Rochester Colony on the west, and thence south to the

boundary of the Ann Arbor district, making a circuit of

more than one hundred miles to be traveled once in four

weeks. The Rev. Isaac Bennett succeeded Rev. Washing-

ton Jackson in 1837-38. He organized the class in Gaines.

The Rev. Abram Billings was appointed presiding elder,

and Flaviel Britton to the charge of the mission. The

latter was reappointed in 1840, with S. P. Springham to

assist him. The following are the names of the ministers

who traveled the circuit from 1840 to 1850: Revs. John

Cosart, Riley C. Crawford, W. F. Cowles, G. T. Heimway,

J. Boynton, E. Westlake, A. Allen.

In 1844 the mission embraced twenty-two appointments,

and Rev. E. Westlake made the circuit alono. The Byron

circuit proper was not formed till 1853.

Since occupying their present place of worship the so-

ciety has enlarged and repaired the building.

PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

The First Presbyterian Church of Byron was organized

by the Rev. Seth Hardy, June 24, 1845, at which time the

following-named persons presented testimonials of dismissal

and recommendations from other cliurches, and desired to

be organized into a church : Joseph H. Wendell, Phoebe W.
Wendell, Eliza Wendell, Nancy Hathaway, Peter Kanouse,

G. B. Runyon and wife, Samuel Lovejoy, Mary B. Lovejoy,

Emily Kelsey, Sarah C. Kanouse, Joseph Royce, Sally Royce.

After adopting the name for the society, Joseph Royce

and Joseph Wendell were elected elders. The first motion

made after completing the organization was to the effect

that the members should neither use nor traffic in intoxi-

cating liquors, which was unanimously carried. In the

afternoon Arthur B. Hathaway was baptized, after which

the Rev. Seth Hardy administt^red the sacrament.

The meetings of the society were usually held in the old

school-house until the church edifice was built, in 1858, at

a cost of two thousand dollars. It was dedicated in 1859,

Rev. Chauncey Osborn officiating.

The society is now free from debt and numbers thirty-

eight members.

BAPTIST CHURCH.

In the winter of 1838-39, Elder Brigham, who had

preached occasionally in the previous year in the township,

organized the First Baptist Church of Burns. The following,

so far as ascertained, composed the society : Deacon Sauford

and wife, Deacon Ramah Cole and wife, John Barnum and

wife, Michael Thatcher and wife, Mrs. Samuel Leonard,

Mrs. Aaron Wellman, Mrs. Beard, and Mrs. Botsford,

whose husband joined soon afterwards. In the spring of

1839 a protracted meeting was held, which resulted in the

conversion of nine persons, all of whom joined the church.

These meetings were held in a log cabin built by Edward

Foster, which stood on the south part of section 22. Al-

though receiving much encouragement at the start, the so-

ciety lost its influence and declined, and was finally disorgan-

ized. It was again revived and reorganized by Elder Peck

and some of the substantial members of the former associa-

tion. The meetings were held in the school-house which
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stood on the southeast corner of section 20, across the road

from the residence of G. Morse. In about ten years from

the time of its reorganization it was again broken up.

BAPTIST CHURCH OF BYRON.

On the 6th of October, 1866, the friends of the Baptist

Church met, agreeably to notice, at the " Green School-

House," as follows : Jacob Kanouso, Henry Wiltsie, Thomas

F. Shelton, Daniel Wiltsie, Mabel Kanouse, Lorilla Kanou.se,

Eliza Shelton, Elder William White, T. H. Shelton. The

result of the meeting was the organization of " A religious

association to be known as the Baptist Conference of Burns

and Cohoctah." The association formed at this meeting

was the germ of the society now in active operation in

Burns and the village of Byron.

On Aug. 31, 1872, at the covenant-meeting of the

society, it was resolved " to build a place of worship the

coming fall." Committees to select a site and solicit sub-

scriptions were then appointed. J. Kanouse, Isaac S. Bar-

num, and J. D. Williams, Jr., were appointed on the latter,

and J. Kanouse, A. J. Cole, J. Close, Noah Joslin, H. L.

Cook on the former. The edifice was completed at a cost

of three thousand dollars, and was dedicated Nov. 30, 1873.

The church now numbers ninety members.

SOCIETIES AND ORDERS.

BYRON LODGE, No. 43, I. 0. 0. F.

A dispensation was granted by the Most Worthy Grand

Master Benjamin FoUett, on the 2d day of July, 1849, to

B. W. Dennis, F. J. Prevost, George C. Holmes, Isaac R.

Middlesworth, C. C. Mills, W. W. Wixom, J. S. Curtis,

James Botsford, William S. Joslin, and J, M. Van Alstine,

and on the 9th day of August following District Deputy

Grand Master Charles D. Little, assisted by the Worthy

Grand Marshal George H. Hazelton, instituted " Byron

Lodge, No. 43, I. 0. 0. F." The following were the first

elective officers : Francis J. Prevost, Noble Grand ; Bow-

man W. Dennis, Vice-Grand ; George H. Holmes, Secre-

ary ; J. M. Van Alstine, Treasurer. Three candidates were

initiated the same evening, making a membership of thir-

teen. Byron Lodge, No. 43, has initiated since its organ-

ization three hundred and ninety-three candidates.

In 1865 articles of association were entered into by B.

W. Dennis, C. H. Lemon. Owen Knapp, Frank Karrer,

and H. L. Cook, who became incorporated as " Byron

Lodge, No. 43, I. 0. O. F.," according to an act of the

Legislature approved March 1.5, 1865.

The lodge now has a membership of eighty-one in good

standing, who rank among the best citizens of liurns. It

owns its building, which was erected at a cost of three

thousand dollars. It is twenty-lour by .seventy feet. The

first story is used as a store, and is the source of a good

revenue to the lodge. Tlie hall, which is in the .second

story, is twenty-four by forty feet, and lias two commo-

dious anterooms and an eneampnient-ronni attached.

BYRON ENCAMl'MENT, No. l.-i, I. 0. 0. F.,

Wiis instituted at Byron, June 9, 1864, by Grand Patriarch

Cummins, a.ssisted by 1*. G. P. Charles Hunt. The ful-

lowing named were the charter members, viz. : B. W.

Dennis, C. H. Lemon, Frank Karrer, A. Crippiu, Matthias

Cummins, Henry Croop, and A. H. Clark. Of the charter

members of Byron Lodge, No. 43, Isaac R. Middlesworth

is the only one now remaining
; and of the Encampment,

C. H. Lemon, Frank Kan-er, and Matthias Cummins only

remain.

The above historical sketch of the Byron Lodge and

Encampment was kindly furnished by F. E. Welch, Esq.,

for which courtesy he has the thanks of the writer.

BYRON LODGE, No. 80, F. AND A. M.

The charter granted by the Grand Lodge of the State

of Michigan authorizing the organization of Byron Lodge,

No. 80, F. and A. M., is dated Jan. 10, 1856. The

lodge in Byron now has a membership of fifty-six. It has

a commodious hall, comfortably furnished, and owns the

building. The names of the officers are Theodore Euler,

W. M. ; Orlando Lee, S. W. ; Robert Fox, J. W. ; George

Cosgro, Secretary.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

TRUMAN W. ROWLY.

Truman W. Rowly was born in Connecticut, Aug. 12,

1820. He was the youngest in a family of six children.

His father, Isaac, and his mother, Content (^Risley) Rowly,

TRUMAN W. ROWLY.

wore also natives of ('(iniu'ctient. Mis liilher being a soa-

captaiii, Truman reniained at Imme until twenly-six years

(lid, devoting the most of his time and attention to the wel-

fare of the family, and working in n .saw-mill and at farm-

ing, adding nialcrially to their comfort. With his jiarents

he came to .Moincic Co., N. Y., and then to Wasliienaw

Co., Mich.

On the lOlli of February, 1SI7, he married .Miss Jane
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Voorhis, daughter of Jaiues N. and Martha (Swartout)

Voorhis, who came to Michigan in 1830. They were for-

merly residents of Seneca Co., N. Y., where their daughter

Jane was born, Nov. 25, 1821. She was the third in a

fiuuily of eight children.

To the marriage of Mr. and Mrs. Isaac Truman Rowly

have been born seven children, viz. : A. J., born Nov. 23,

1847; Mary, born March 5, 1850; James E., born Dec.

6, 1852 ; Alva A., born May 6, 1855 ;
Martha, born Nov.

3, 1857, died the same day; William, born born July 10,

1860 ;
Frederick J., born Nov. 10, 1862. All live in Shi-

awassee County with the exception of two.

Truman Rowly came to Burns in 1847, and purchased

the farm where the family now lives. Here he resided

until his death, which occurred June 3, 1870. Mrs.

Rowly, who has caused this brief sketch and a portrait of

her husband to be in.serted in this work as a tribute of re-

spect to his memory, is still living with her sou Albert in

the old home.

ROGER HAVILAND.

Roger Haviland was born in Londonderry, Ireland, Dec.

12, 1812. Bernard Haviland, his brother, was born in the

same place, Feb. 2, 1808. Both, when of sufficient age,

were apprenticed to a shoemaker, and served seven years at

that trade. In 1832, Bernard landed in Philadelphia, Pa.,

and went to work at his trade. The year following Roger

left the old home of his parents (for they, too, were born and

brought up in the same town) and came to America, reach-

ing Philadelphia Oct. 25, 1833, and the two brothers con-

tinued diligently to attend to business until the next year,

when they moved to Canada, where they remained two

years. In April, 1836, Bernard came to Michigan and

bought land in Washtenaw County, and in July Roger fol-

lowed him to the new settlement. In the fall, having sold

their land in Washtenaw County, they came to Burns, and

located part of section 2. They then went back to Wash-

tenaw County, Roger working at his trade until 1839,

when he returned to Burns and built a log cabin on the site

now occupied by his residence. He then broke and sowed

five acres of wheat. On Feb. 16, 1837, he married Miss

Catherine Ferry, who was third in a family of four chil-

dren, and born in Wilton, Fairfield Co., Conn., April 21,

1821. Her parents, both of whom were natives of Ireland,

moved to Michigan in 1832, and settled in Scio, Washtenaw

Co. Roger Haviland, with his wife, moved to Burns, Feb.

9, 1840, and occupied the cabin already spoken of Ber-

nard came to the township soon after. The brothers worked

together and accumulated a large property. Upon the death

of Bernard, which occurred May 27, 1864, from consump-

tion, Roger inherited his property. Bernard, though not

a member of any religious denomination, died in perfect

faith of a better life. His plain and unostentatious ways,

his kindly disposition, coupled with sterling honesty, won

the esteem and respect of all who knew him. No children

have ble.ssed the union of Mr. and Mrs. Haviland, but five

orphan children have borne their name by adoption and

grown to maturity loving and honoring them. Mr. Roger

Haviland has filled all the more important offices in the

township, as is indicated by the records given in the history

of this county. He has large business interests in Corunna,

being president of the First National Bank of that place,

and is also president of the Mutual Fire In.surance Com-

pany of Shiawassee County. We might add to this brief

sketch many encomiums on the life and character of Mr.

Haviland which would be heartily endorsed by his many

acquaintances and friends, but we feel a.ssured that his un-

assuming nature and sterling common sense will be better

pleased with this plain statement of facts.

ROBERT FOX.

The parents of Robert Fox, the subject of this sketch,

were both natives of New York. His father, Chauucy D.

Pox, was born June 14, 1793, and his mother, Rebecca

(Lenox) Fox, Aug. 17, 1795. Robert, who was the second

in a family of fourteen children, was born in Ontario Co.,

N. Y., Oct. 16, 1816. On the 4th of June, 1842, after

a long and tedious journey, the family reached Burns

township, and the father bought a part of section 14.

Aug. 1, 1858, Robert married Mary C. Webster, who

died March 9, 1860. On the 25th of October, 1863, he

married Miss Celia Rathbun, who.se family were among the

early settlers of Burns, and are spoken of in the history of

that township. She was born in Shiawassee township,

Shiawassee Co., Oct. 18, 1846. The children of Mr. and

Mrs. Fox are three in number, viz.: Ida Belle, born Jan.

1,1865; Monroe, born July 12, 1867; Robert R., born

April 13, 1870. Mr. Fox bought the land where he now

lives in 1873, and having sold the place where he had re-

sided, on section 26, moved to it in 1878. Though his ad-

vantages for schooling were very limited, Mr. Fox, by the

judicious selection of reading-matter, became much better

informed than could have been expected, considering the

many discouraging circumstances which surrounded him.

In politics he is a Democrat, and has often been elected to

the various township offices by his party. In religion he

is liberal in his views, maintaining that each man has a

right to his own candid conviction. Mr. Fox's mother

died March 5, 1849; his father, July 29, 1871.

ISAAC S. BARNUM.

Isaac S. Barnum, the youngest in a family of five chil-

dren,—three sons and two daughters,—w;is born in Delaware

Co., N. Y., Aug. 17, 1827. His father, John B. Barnum,

was born in Dutchess Co., N. Y., March 28, 1798. His

mother, Urana (Sutherland) Barnum, was also born in

Dutchess Co., N. Y. They were married about the year

1818, and lived in New York until 1836, when they came

to Michigan, and settled in Burns township, Shiawassee

Co.

When twenty-one years of age Isaac, who up to this

time had remained at home, began taking contracts to

" break land" for new settlers in that vicinity. He followed

this occupation for three years. His father in the mean
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time havinp; helped him to forty acres of land, ho purcliascd

an additional forty acres adjoining. But he was not yet

satisfied. In 1852 he hazarded his little store of hard-

earned means, and started for California. The trip from

New York City to San Francisco, via Cape Horn, extended

over a ijeriod of one hundred and fifty-two days. The ves-

sel stopped twelve days at Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, and

twelve days at Valparaiso, Chili, giving the pa.ssengers (of

whom, when leaving New York, there were three hundred

and twelve) a fine opportunity to see those cities and the

surrounding country. Thirteen passengers died of yellow

fever on the voyage, and were buried at sea. Upon reach-

ing California Mr. Barnum turned his attention to mining,

which he followed the first year of his stay. The second

year he secured a good salaried position, which he retained

until his return home, when he found that he had realized

by his venture two thousand dollars clear of all expenses.

On his return trip he came via the Nicaragua route, the

journey occupying twenty-six days.

On the 28th of June, 1855, Mr. Barnum married

Amelia, daughter of Robert and Sarah Crawford, pioneers

in the township of Burns.

Robert Crawford was born in Ontario Co., N. Y., March

17, 1794. Sarah, his wife, was born Aug. 14, 1798, and

died Jan. 18, 1880. Mr. Crawford is still living.

Mrs. John B. Barnum died May 24, 1848, and her

husband Feb. 5, 18(55. Abiger P. Barnum, eldest son of

John B. and Urana Barnum, died and was buried at sea.

To Mr. and Mrs. Isaac Barnum have been born the fol-

lowing children: Ella, born April 19, 1858; Nellie May,

Jan. G, 1807 ;
Osmond S., born April 17, 1875, died Feb.

26, 1877.

Mr. Barnum's farm now consists of two hundred and

thirty-two and a half acres of land in one of the most fer-

tile and highly cultivated portions of the township. In

politics he is a Democrat, and in his religious belief is

liberal. Mrs. Barnum is a member of the Baptist Church.

Mr. Barnum remarks, with satisfaction, that although

fifty-two years of age, and having been actively engaged in

business with nearly all classes of men since he first com-

menced breaking land, he has never been compelled to go to

law, cither in his own defense or in the prosecution of others,

and has never invested but one dollar in legal advice.

NICHOLAS BRADEN.

Nicholas Braden was born in the kingdom of Hanover,

Germany, in February, 1808, being the ninth in a family

of ten children. He remained at home, working for his

father, until seventeen years of age, when he borrowed a

small sum of money and went to England, where he found

employment in a sugar-refining establishment. He re-

mained there two years, paying close attention to business

and exercising the strictest economy, by which means he

saved sufBciont money to pay his fare to New York City,

where he arrived in 1827, with only half a crown remain-

ing of his two years' earnings. He .soon secured a position

in a sugar-house, wliieli he retained for two years, at the

expiration of which lime he went into the grocery busi-

27

ness. He followed this occupation until 1836, when be

sold out, came to Michigan, and bought a farm, being a

portion of the one now occupied by him. After going to

New York and settling his business affairs, he came back

to Michigan, built a log cabin, and began the work of

clearing the forest around him. He lived alone in this

cabin about eighteen months, when he married Miss Ka-

trina Lahring, who was al.so born in Germany. By this

union four children were born, but one of whom is now

living,—Eliza, born Dec. 29, 1841.

Mrs. Braden died May 11, 1844, and Mr. Braden mar-

ried, as his second wife, Mrs. Deborah (Clayton) Minor,

the widow of Raymond Minor, who died in Oakland

County, April 9, 1844. Their only living child is a resi-

dent of Traverse County. Mrs. Deborah BradcMi was born

in New Jersey, Jan. 12, 1819.

Mr. and Mrs. Braden have been active members of the

Methodist Church for more than thirty years. To them

have been born the following children : Emma A., born

June 4, 1846; Luther J., born Aug. 24, 1848; Franklin

A., born Feb. 2,1851; Ruth E.,'born Jan, 22,1854;

and Henrietta, born Oct. 5, 1856.

Mr. Braden reached New York City at the age of nine-

teen, without money or friends, unacfinainted alike with

the language and the customs of the people. He now

owns a farm of two hundred and sixty-two acres.

He has been succe.ssful in business, and as a neighbor

and a citizen deserves honorable mention among the self-

made men and pioneers of his county.

AMOS FOSTER.

Amos Foster was born in Onondaga Co., N. Y., Oct. 26,

181 1. His mother, Elizabeth ( Lowrie) Foster, was a native

of Columbia Co., N. Y., and his father of Washington

County, same State. After the death of his father, Amos

being next to the eldest child was at an e;irly age called

upon to assist in providing lor and sharing in tlie care of

a large family. He remained at home, therefore, until in

his twenty-fourth year. On the 12th of March, 18^56, he

married Miss Ordelia, daughter of Hiram and Otse Rath-

bun, the former a native of Massachusetts and the latter

of New York, Mi.ss Ordelia was born in Onondaga Co.,

N, Y,, June 9, 1820, In the mean time the mother of

Amos had married William Palmer, of t)neida Co., N. Y.

In the spring of 18:{(;, Mr. Foster, with his young wife

(she being then scarcely sixteen years of age), came to

Mi<-higan. Leaving her in the southern part of the State,

Amos proceeded at once to the frontier, and after much

difficulty succeeded in finding, in the ,southern part of Burns

town.ship, a distant relative of his wife named Dias lUtli-

bun. Here he jiureha,sed forty acres in the southwest

((uarter of section 22. After acting as guide for several

new-comers in the township hi' relumed to his wife, and in

the September following they came to Burns.

He built a lug cabin on his property, in wliicli lie taught

scliool till' two winters following, this being tin- lirsl selioiil

in the township. Puring the summers he worked on the

land he had purchased. At tlie expiration of two years,
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on account of sickness, he sold his property and moved

with his family to Ohio, where he remained, spending

much of his time in the school-room, until 1862, when he

returned to Michigan and purchased the farm where he

now resides. Mr. and Mrs. Foster are the only couple now

living in Burns who were married and residing here as

early as 1836. They have been the parents of the follow-

ing children: Lauretta, born May 23, 1837; George L.,

born Sept. 20, 1838; Thomas, born Oct. 6, 1850; Mark

v., born July 17, 1851; Carrie, born June 27, 1856.

Thomas and Carrie died in infancy, and Mark V., June 3,

1879.

THOMAS P. GREEN.

Thomas P. Green was born in the State of Connecticut

in August, 1805. The family moved to Burlington town-

ship, Otsego Co., N. Y., about the year 1807. Thomas

remained at home until sixteen years of age. From that

time until in his twentjr-first year he worked by the mouth

during the summer, and taught school several terms. He
then went to work in a general store. On the 25th of

March, 1829, he married Ann Sprague, who was born in

Richfield, Otsego Co., May 7, 1807. He and his wife

remained in Burlington and Richfield until 1832, when

they moved to Cattaraugus Co., N. Y., where they resided

most of the time until 1836, when they moved to Michi-

gan, first stopping in Livingston County. The same sum-

mer, however, Mr. Green came to Burns and purchased a

tract of land. After building a small cabin he broke six

acres of ground, which he put under cultivation the next

spring. After several years Mr. Green erected a larger and

more commodious house, which was destroyed by fire

;

after which the present residence was built.

For many years Mr. and Sirs. Green lived happily to-

gether, enjoying the fruits of the labors and sacrifices of

earlier years. Her death occurred Oct. 1, 1875.

To Mr. and Mrs. Green but one child was born, Oscar

P., Feb. 19, 1830. He died Sept. 12, 1855, having pre-

viously married a daughter of Garret Morse, who was an

early settler of Burns township.

On March 15, 1876, Mr. Green married Elizabeth Mon-
roe, the widow of Angus Monroe, who came to Michigan

in 1854. The children of Mr. and Mrs. Monroe—three

in number—reside in Michigan. Mrs. Elizabeth Green

was born May 5, 1828.

At the time Mr. Green settled in Burns township it was

necessary for him to go three miles beyond Brighton a

distance of thirty miles from his residence—to mill ; and

the nearest post-oflBce was at Howell, fifteen miles away.

At the first town-meeting he was elected justice of the

peace, assessor, and a commissioner of highways ; in the

exercise of the duties of which latter ofiice he assisted in

locating some of the earliest roads in the township.

In politics Mr. Green is a Republican. Although a

member of no denomination he is liberal in his religious

views. His first wife belonged to the Methodist Church,

but his present wife is a member of the Presbyterian

denomination.

The hospitality of Mr. and Mrs. Green is well known

among a wide circle of friends and acquaintances. They

live in a pleasant home in the midst of comfortable sur-

roundings, the reward of patient toil and economy in earlier

years.

W. W. SMITH.

On the 18th of June, 1815, in Leicester, England, was

born W. W. Smith, the subject of this sketch and son of

John and Mary (Pool) Smith, and the eighth in a family

of fifteen children.

His father wa.s a blacksmith by trade, following that oc-

cupation until 1823, when with his family he sailed for

America, locating at Geneva, N. Y. Here he resided till

his death, which occurred in December, 1876, having

reached the advanced age of one hundred and four years,

ten months, and fifteen days. The mother of our subject

died at the age of seventy-five.

Mr. Smith remained at home till twenty-six years of

age, and on the 10th of January, 1843, married Rebecca

Woodin, who was born in Seneca Co., N. Y., May 3, 1821.

She was the third in a family of eight children.

Her father, Robert Woodin, was a native of England,

and her mother, Mary (Moline) Woodin, was born in Ire-

land. Mr. and Mrs. Smith moved to Warren Co., Pa.,

where they remained and engaged in farming for three years,

at the expiration of which time, in 1848, they came to

Washtenaw Co., Mich., and bought eighty acres of land,

for which they paid six hundred dollars. Mr. Smith im-

mediately began to clear his new farm. Four years of

energy and industry had placed it in such a condition that

he was offered sixteen hundred dollars for it, which he ac-

cepted, and then came to Burns and bought one hundred

and twenty acres of choice land. Of this but fifty acres

were cleared. Mr. Smith has since added to his farm until

he now owns two hundred and thirty acres, one hundred

and thirty acres of which are under good cultivation. Of
the family of fifteen children but two remain besides Mr.

Smith, a brother and a sister, the latter being seventy-seven

years old.

Mr. Smith was a staunch Democrat until the formation

of the National party, since which time he has adopted

many principles advocated in their platform. He is oppo.sed

to monopolies of every description, and especially disap-

proves legislation in their behalf

Mr. and Mrs. Smith have lived to acquire a fine property,

and to see several of their children married and comfortably

located near them. They have been the parents of the

following children, viz.: Mary Jane, born Nov. 11, 1843;

George M., born April 15, 1845; Charles H., born Nov.

2, 1849, died Jan. 22, 1878; Robert J., born Oct. 30,

1855
;
William B., born Oct. 17, 1857, died Sept. 5, 1858

;

Willis Winfield, born Dec. 27, 1859; John F., born March,

23, 1862.
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CHAPTER XXXII.

CALEDONIA TOWNSHIP,*

Location and Natural Features—Original Land-Entries—Early Set-

tlers and Settlements—Township Organization and Civil List

—

Early Roads—Schools—Coal-Mining.

The township of Caledonia may be justly regarded as

one of the two most important townships of Shiawassee

County, because, while its territory is composed of lands

second to none in fertility and productiveness, it numbers

among its natural resources a valuable vein of excellent

coal, and it includes within its original boundaries the city

of Corunna, the county-seat of Shiawassee. On section

20 are located the coal-beds, which continually develop new

resources as their wealth of material is explored. Section

32 is the site of the county farm, which, by careful culti-

vation, has been rendered one of the most productive pieces

of land to be found within the township limits.

Caledonia is designated as township number 7 north,

of range 8 east, and is bounded on the north by New

Haven, south by Shiawassee, east by Venice, and west by

Owosso. The township contains no lakes of any consider-

able size. A portion of the territory is watered by the

Shiawassee River and several small tributaries, which pour

their waters into the larger stream. This river, which

affords an excellent water-power, enters the township near

the southeast corner, on section 36, and flowing in a gen-

eral northwesterly course through the township and the

city of Corunna, passes out through section 19 of Caledo-

nia and enters the limits of the city of Owosso.

The surface of the township is generally undulating,

though in some parts nearly level, presenting few obstacles

to the operations of the husbandman. The soil is gen-

erally of good quality, and produces abundant crops. In

the northern part of the township the soil is considerably

intermixed with clay, but it becomes more sandy as the

southern boundary is approached. A rich muck is found

along the river, and this is very productive. The timber

found growing in the township is principally beech, elm,

maple, basswood, and hickory, very little pine being found

here. The Detroit, Grand Haven and Milwaukee Railway

passes through the southern portion of Caledonia, and has

a depot at Corunna. A branch of this road extends to

the coal-beds on section 23.

OKIGINAL LAND-ENTRIES.

The lands embraced in the township of Caledonia were

entered from the government or purchased of the State of

Michigan by the following persons :

SECTION 1.

Acroii.

S. M. Hoot (State), 1849 ;ill.ll5

P. J. Kinney, 1819 1S7.12

T. L. Woodworth, 1S4U 811

Z. V. Spencer, 186II Ill

S. M. Root, 1S19 411

Henry Wilco.v, I84'J 11)

SECTION 2.

Thomas R. Young (State), 1839 120

(i. W. Peck, " 1849 2117.91

* By E. 0. Wagner.

Acres.

Eli Bush (State), 1849 160

A. P. Frary, " 1848 40
David Wescott, " 1849 160

SECTION 3.

D. P. Sturdevant, 1S36 107.62

D. P. Congdon, 1836 80

W.R.Seymour, 1836 80
Wm. Lyiimn, 1838 240

Theodore Champion, 1838 186.97

SECTION 4.

D. P. .sturdevant, 1836 106.71

D. P. Congdon, 1836 80

W. R. Seymour, 1836 160

Luke Hoagland, 1836 160

L. H. Parsons (State) 188.30

SECTION 5.

Cyrus Backus, 1837 80

S. M. Root (State), 1849 271

C.W.Butler, " 1S49 113.19

Henry Dwight (State), 1S46 160

William Caywood, " 1856 80

SECTION 6.

J. and S. D. Beers, 1836 160

J. Kearslev, 1S36 140.46

Rolicrt Stewart, 1836 101.66

.J. B. Smith, 1830 113.28

Harvev Backus, 1837 80

David'Uould, 1854 160

SECTION 7.

J. and S. D. Beers, 1836 100

J. L. Stevens, 1836 , 141.28

George Dickenson, 1.^30 160

B. W. Farnum, 1836 :. 100

SECTION 8.

G. E. Peck, 18.36 80

J.D.Overton, 1836 240

B. W. Farnum, 1836 320

SECTION 9.

Horace Perry, 1836 80

A. Newcomb, 1836 80

Ale.xander Hilton, 1836 SO

Allen Cadwell, 1836 160

Joel Smith, 1836 160

S. H. Plieliis, 1838 4

R. Freeman, 1839 40

SECTION 10.

Aaron Seymour, 1836 80

T. Peck, 1830 80

Edwin Peck, 1830 80

Silas Warner, 1837 160

R. P. Coddington, 1837 80

L. H. Parsons (State), 1849 80

SECTION 11.

T. R. Young 320

L. H. Parsons (Stale), 1850 240

J. A. Clark, 1848 *«

S. Jl. Root, 1849 40

SECTION 12.

James Van Aukin, 1839 80

T. R. Young, 1839 80

C. S. Kimberley (Slate), 18,'.4 160

A. E. Babcock, 1854 80

Ethan Doane (State), 1862 40

Jesse Bradford, " 1800 40

John Newlon, •' 1858 40

S.T. Parsons, " 1808 40

SECTION 13.

F. (i. Maev, 1836 320

D. D. Lingo, 1854 40

D. Fraser, 1854 40

John Newlon (SUto), 1858 40

Daniel Eraser, 1868 80

A. P. Brewer, 1868 120

SECTION 14.

K. (1. Macy, 1836 480

A. B. Withorbcc, 1854 120

J. A. Thompson (Stale), 1805 40
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SECTION 15.
Acres.

S. A. Pettus, 1836 160

Thomas Crouch, 1836 320

F. G. Macy, 1836 160

SECTION 16.

Dorus Morton (State), 185-t 80

B.Stewart, " 1854 40

Joseph Laucron, " 1853 40

S.W.Cooper, " 1854 40

A.Stewart, " 1851 40

Fannv Hamilton, " 1853 40

EdwarJ Green, " 1847 80

Louisa Cooper, " 1848 40

A.M.Green, " 1853 80

S.W.Cooper, " 1853 40

J. M. Tliaver, " 1859 SO

H.S.Stewart. " 1845 40

SECTION 17.

S. and D. Ball, 1836 160

J.and S. D. Beers 480

SECTION 18.

A. L. and B. 0. Williams, 1835 72.56

Kimberleys. 1835 80

Henry Dwight, 1836 80

J. Kearsley, 1836 152.68

Schuyler Hodges, 1836 80

F. G. Maoj, 1836 160

SECTION 19.

Jos. Parmley, 1835 207.40

A. Kellogg, 1835 81.83

P. A. Coudrey, 1835 71.40

S. Hodges, 1836 80

J. Pitcairn, 1836 80

Clark and Ware, 1836 80

SECTION 20.

A. Randolph, 18.36 244.07

Trumbull Cary, 1836 64.52

Comstock and Beach, 1835 146.99

S. and D. Ball, 1835 160

SECTION 21.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 97.26

Comstock and Beach, 1835 120.87

W. C. Baldwin, 1835 78

S. P. Germain, 1836 160

N. Prouty, 1836 80

T. J. Owen, 1836 80

SECTION 22.

Blossom andEfner, 1835 207.96

A. D. Fraser & Co., 1836 116.25

L. B. Migner, 1836 49.40

Van Dyke and McClure, 1836 95.09

Benjamin Lebreton, 1836 80

A. Abbott, 1836 80

SECTION 23.

J. Kearsley, 1822 11.17

J. Greenfield, 1836 62.88

A. D. Fraser A Co., 1836 80.07

J. and S. D. Beers, 1836 160
Luther Smith, 1836 160

F. G. Macy, 1836 160

SECTION 24.

Entries not found.

SECTION 25.

J. F. Swain, 1834 32.07

H. B. Brown, 1836 ."

118.32

A. McArthur.t Co., 1836 160

Anthony Ten Eyck, 1836 80
E. W.Doane, 1836 80

S. C. Holden, 1836 80

SECTION 26.

S. Hawkins, 1835 97.48

Cornelius Bergen, 1S36 154.12
Charles Jackson, 1836 170.83

Silas Ball, 1836 160

J. and S. D. Beers, 1830 40

SECTION 27.
Acres.

Blossom and Efner, 1835 320

E. Farnsworth, 1836 320

SECTION 28.

J. Kearsley 80

N. Clark 80

Andrew Mack. 1836 317.77

Henry Raymond, 1836 80

H. H. Comstock, 1836 80

James Bowman, 1836 80

SECTION 29.

N. Cl.ark, 1835 40

Joseiih Pitcairn, 1836 80

Clark and Warren. 1836 80

E. Farnsworth, 1S36 280

William Gage, 1836 160

SECTION 30.

William Gage, 1836 150.24

S. and D. Ball, 1836 400

Mary Williams, 1836 68.48

SECTION 31.

B. F. Larned, 1836 77

Henry Bush. 1836 150.92

James Valentine, 1836 160

Samuel Warren, 1836 40
Ellis Doty. 1836 SO

Desnovers and Whipple, 1836 80

J. A. Van Dyke, 1836 40

SECTION 32.

C. Blake. 1836 160

G. C. and H. F. Lieb, 1836 240

D. J. Campnu, 1836 80

Nathaniel Prouty, 1836 160

SECTION 33.

James Churchman, 1836 320

G. C. and H. F. Lieb, 1836 320

SECTION 34.

Hartford Cargill, 1836 160

E. Farnsworth, 1836 160

G. C. and H. F. Lieb, 1836 160

S. P. German, 1836 160

SECTION 35.

J. P. Clark, 1836 SO

S. W. Harding. 1836 160

Hartford Cargill, 1836 160

J. L. Barton, 1836 80

J. and S. D. Beers, 1836 80

W. W. Whitney and Eber Crawford, 1836 80

SECTION 36.

J. F. Swain, 1834 40
Philo Rockwell, 1835 160

Patrick and Hitchcock, 1836 54.42

H. H. Brown, 1836 41.58
J. P. Clark, 1836 40
Chesley Blake, 1836 131.79

J. and S. D. Beers, 1836 80

S. C. Holden, 1836 80

EARLY SETTLERS AND SETTLEMENTS.

But few of the origioal pioneers of Caledonia remain.

Many have died, while others years since removed to adja-

cent portions of the county, or found homes in other counties

or States. The names and fiices of most of these indi-

viduals have passed from the recollection of the survivors,

and very few facts of a reliable and interesting character

are obtainable, which may account for the barrenness of

material regarding the township's early history.

The earliest settler within the township of Caledonia was

John Swain, who removed from Chenango Co., N. Y., and

located upon thirty-two acres on section 25. He entered

this land in 1834, and erected a log house upon it probably
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in the same year. Mr. Swain was for a while a resident at

the Williams tradiug-post in Shiawassee township, and

while there did something towards clearing the land and

rendering it habitable. He was by occupation a carpenter

and joiner, and also filled the sacred office of preacher at a

very early date. The first religious services in the town-

ship were conducted by him, and the latter years of his

life wore entirely devoted to the duties of an evangelist.

Mrs. Swain's death occurred in 1836. She was buried on

the farm, and the funeral services were the earliest held in

Caledonia. The first birth in the township occurred in the

family of Mr. Swaiii in the same year. At a later period

Mr. Swaiii purchased a farm in Vernon township, upon

which he died, as nearly as can be ascertained, about thirty

years since.

The farm which had been partially cleared by Swain, the

first settler, was purchased by Capt. John Davids, the ear-

liest agent of the Shiawa.ssee County-Seat Company, who,

after relinquishing his ofiicial duties in Corunna, removed

to the farm and engaged in agricultural pursuits.

The next settler was Philo Rockwell, who removed from

Saratoga Co., N. Y., and in 1835 entered one hundred and

sixty acres on section 36 in Caledonia. At this date John

Swain was the only resident of the town.ship. Mr. Rock-

well returned to the East, and in 1837 came again to

Michigan for the purpose of erecting a log house and mak-

ing a preliminary clearing upon his land. He found dur-

ing this interval a welcome to the household of William

Black, of Shiawassee township, and a year later his family

removed to their Western home. Capt. Davids had mean-

while purchased the Swain farm and become a resident of

the township, and two other settlers, whose names are not

recollected, had arrived. Mr. Rockwell, in addition to the

clearing already efiected, improved five acres and sowed

wheat, which yielded a bountiful crop. Many Indians

passed the house on their way to the Williams trading-post,

and occasionally shelter was affi)rded them for the night.

They were generally laden with supplies, which were ex-

changed with tiie traders for wares in use among the In-

dians. Other settlers followed Mr. Rockwell, though for

years much of the land of Caledonia remained uncleared.

In 1855 hia log cabin gave place to a substantial frame

house, which is still occupied as the family residence.

Thomas R. Young left the Empire State in 1838, and

located in Lapeer County. In the following year he entered

a tract ol' land on sections 1, 2, 11, and 12 of Caledonia,

embracing six hundred and forty acres. He retained two

hundred and si.xty acres of this pureha.se on section 11,

upon which he settled, and sold the remainder. The land

immediately near hini was entirely uncleared, and a pil-

grimage of two miles was necessary to visit the house of

the nearest neighbor. Mr. Young remained with Joel B.

Go.ss, in the t<jwnship of Venice, while erecting the log

house, to which he soon after removed. Six acres were

cleared the first year, and later iniprovemonts made as

opportunity offered. Much inconvenience was experienced

from the frequent visits of wolves and bears, who made

.serious inroad.s upon the sheep-folds and rendered constant

watchfulness a necessity. Soon after Mr. Young's arrival

there came in as settlers William Lemon, Gerry Tuttle, and

Auburn Stuart, whose location made them his near neigh-

bors. The log house erected in 1831) gave place in 1867

to the comfortable frame residence which Mr. Young at

present occupies. Mrs. Young, whose pioneer recollections

are very vivid, is the daughter of Horace Hart, the earliest

settler within the township of New Haven.

In point of chronological order, the arrival of William H.

Jewett should antedate that of Thomas R. Y'oung, the

former having located eighty acres upon section 4 as early

as 1838. It is probable that the land was bought from

speculators, as no record of a purchase by Mr. Jewett from

the government is found. He proceeded at once to the

erection of a log house and to the clearing of his farm,

which was little else than a wilderness on his arrival. Upon

this land he remained for many years, but ultimately re-

moved to New Haven, where he died.

At his house in Caledonia, in February, 1841, there was

celebrated the earliest marriage service in the township,—

that of Lewis Hart, of New Haven, to Miss Cordelia Sey-

mour. Early religious gatherings also occurred at the same

place, and the.se were generally conducted by Seneca Pettis.

Robert Mc Bride was a native of Kingston, N. Y., and

when a lad removed to Canada. In 183G he became a pio-

neer in j\Iichigan, having chosen a residence in Detroit,

where he remained two years and engaged in wagon-

making. In 1838 he removed to Sliiawa.ssoe County, and

purchased a farm of forty acres on section 36, which was

later increa.sed to one hundred and twenty acres. It was

uncleared, and Mr. McBride found the usual labor of the

pioneer awaiting him. He spent the closing years of his

life on this farm, and died in the year 1879. His sons are

the present occupants.

The family consisting of W. R. Seymour and his two sons,

George R. and Walter, were pioneers of 1839, the former

having entered land on sections 3 and 4 as early as 1836.

Upon this land they settled, and at once became prominent

in advancing the interests of the township. They exercised

a generous hospitality to all new-comers, and by their uni-

form kindly bearing won the esteem of the community.

George R. died on the homestead, and his widow subse-

quently made the township of Vernon her residence.

Walter removed to New Haven, where he remained until

his death.

Ninion Clark in 1835 located one hundred and twenty

acres on sections 28 and 29, which is now occupied by Wil-

liam Ames, and upon which he found a home in 1839.

Mr. Clark began at once the improvement of his laud,

upon which he expended much labor, but meanwhile found

leisure to devote to public interests. He was a member of

the first board of highway commissioners, and with his col-

leagues laid out many of the early roads of the township.

He removed from Caledonia to Shiawas.see, and later to

Vernon, where he died.

Don C. Griswold purchaseil of partii's wim had bought

for purposes of speculation a farm on section 2(», south of

the Shiawas.see River, now occupied by D. H. Keed. This

and was ra])idly cleared umlc r his .iiergetic managemeut,

and converted into ]iro(iuclivc' lields. Mr. Griswold was

an active partisan in pulitical ciimpaigns of an early day,

and was clothed with judicial honors iis one of the first
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justices of the peace. He later removed from Caledonia,

and is since deceased.

Abram Garrabrant, a pioneer from New Jersey, ar-

rived in 1839, and purchased forty acres on section 29, to

which he at once removed. He devoted much labor to

the clearing and cultivating of this land, and converted it

into one of the most productive farms in the township.

Ho resided upon it until 1875, when he removed to Ten-

nessee and died there.

Ammon Blain, from New York State, also came in 1839,

and .selected a tract of land embracing one hundred and

twenty acres on section 20, formerly occupied by a Mr.

Dunning. Upon this he erected a temporary shelter and

began the work of improvement. His progress was suf-

ficiently rapid to satisfy the most ambitious pioneer, but

he was attracted by a more eligible farm in Oakland County,

to which he soon after removed.

Benjamin M. Waterman was a former resident of Niag-

ara Co., N. Y., from whence he came to Michigan in 1840,

and located upon eighty acres on section 4 in Caledonia,

purchased of David Potter, of New York. The latter

gentleman had effected no improvement on the land, and

Mr. Waterman found it necessary at once to erect a log

house and clear a tract sufiiciently extensive to afford a

crop of wheat for future subsistence. His family were

meanwhile welcomed to the residence of their neighbor,

Mr. Seymour, and remained there for two months. After

a residence of some years upon his farm, Mr. Waterman

removed to his present residence on the .same section. Co-

ruuna at this time afforded a fair market, though much of

the milling was done at Pontiac and Owosso. Religious

services were held at the school-house in the neighbor-

hood, which was erected in 1842. and to which the settlers

went with ox-teams. Mr. Waterman is still a resident of

the township.

Norman L. Jennings was a resident of Monroe Co., N. Y.

He became a settler in this county in 1836, and four years

later removed to the township of Caledonia, where he

purchased one hundred and fifty-six acres on section 31.

No clearing had been effected upon this land, which was

still in its primitive condition. Mr. Jennings found shelter

in a hut that had been erected south of his land, and in

this he lived for some mouths the solitary life of a bach-

elor. On completing his own house he removed to it, and

in 1841 brought a wife as mistress of the establishment.

Emanuel Young was then the nearest neighbor, who was

located on the same section, but Stephen McCoy followed

soon afler. Indians were occasional visitors, and supplied

game and fish in abundance, for which other commodities

were given in exchange. Owosso was the most accessible

village, and there they purchased their household supplies.

Mr. Jennings still resides upon his purchase.

Robert R. Thompson, previously a resident of Washte-

naw County, came in the following year, and located upon

a farm in section 25. He was engaged with Alexander

McArthur in the saw-mill, and also embarked in commer-

cial ventures in the village. He afterwards sold and re-

moved to Saginaw, where he died.

Following is a list of the resident and non-resident tax-

payers in the township of Caledonia for the year 1840:

N. L. Prouty.

Fraser, McArthur & Hul-

bert.

A. McArthur.

McArthur & Hulbert.

I. A. Blosum and E. D.

Efner.

J. & S. D. Beers.

Luther Smith.

Jonathan Kearsley.

Elon Farnsworth.

Electa M. Dean.

Samuel C. Holden.

M. Reynolds.

Cornelius Burger.

Silas Ball.

Charles Jackson.

Henry Raymond.

Joseph Pitcairn.

Wm. Gage.

James A. Van Dyke.

Elias Doty.

Desnoyers & Whipple.

Henry Rush.

Carlton Sawyer.

Chelsey Blake.

G. C. & F. Leib.

County-Seat Company.

Stephen Hawkins.

D. P. Sturdevant.

Bishop.

George E. Peck.

John Dorelan.

Joel Smith.

Allen Cadwell.

Alex. Hilton.

Horace Perry.

Asahel Newcomb.

Philo Peck.

Phelps.

Francis G. Macy.

Comstock & Beach.

S. & D. Ball.

Silvenas German.

S. N. Warren, formerly of Oakland County, became

owner in 1841 of the farm now occupied by C. Flint on

section 31, which he cleared and cultivated. Mr. Warren

was known as a skillful farmer and a public-spirited citizen,

who manifested a lively interest in the advancement of the

township. He remained for many years in Caledonia, but

ultimately removed to tlie city of Flint, where he now re-

Auburn Stewart came to the township from Ypsilanti in

1841, and purchased sixty. acres on section 3. Upon this

land he built a log house and made some improvement, but

soon after sold to S. W. Cooper. He then removed to a

farm on section 16, and later to the village of Corunna.

William Lemon came from Livingston County in 1842,

and located in this township on section 3. He was en-

gaged in farming for a time, but afterwards lived in Co-

runna, and eventually removed to the West and died there.

Arthur Huntley formerly resided near Detroit, and in

1845 purcha.sed forty acres of land on section 3, Caledonia,

upon which he has since lived. After clearing a small

tract he built a log house, meanwhile having found a home

with his neighbor, M. Jewett. In the first year after his

arrival a serious calamity befell the family in a conflagra-

tion which swept away their household effects and con-

sumed a little child in the flames. The kindness of friends

in Detroit soon supplied the loss of furniture, with which

they recommenced their pioneer life. They still reside on

the same farm.

Samuel Young, a brother of Thomas R., removed from

Lapeer County in 1847 and settled on forty acres on sec-

tion 12, upon which the usual labor incident to clearing

was bestowed. The log house he erected was later super-

seded by a frame one of more extended proportions, in

which he still resides.

John Kelly, formerly of Cleveland, Ohio, purchased in

1846, and in the following year became a resident on, one

hundred and sixty acres of land on section 9, formerly
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owned by George Kirkland, of Ohio. Joseph Kelly took

sixty acres of this land, upon which he earl}' erected a log

house, and thus afforded his brother a welcome on his

arrival, and during the interval required for clearing and

building. JMr. Kelly cleared but three acres the first year,

but has since that time made rapid progress, and has now a

well-cultivated farm and a spacious residence as the reward

of his labor. Joseph Kelly died at his home in 1875.

Philo H. Currier, a pioneer from Ohio, located upon

eighty acres on section 9 in 1850, which he found little

else than a vast forest on his arrival. He found in John

Kelly a hospitable neighbor while building a cabin. He
early planted an orchard, which afforded an ample supply

of fruit when apples were so rare as to be regarded a lux-

ury. Mr. Currier died on the homestead in 1867. Mrs.

Currier's residence is now with her son in the township.

John Brands came from Tompkins Co., N. Y., in 1845.

He remained for a while in Corunna, engaged in daily

labor, but iu 1852 became the owner of his present ftirm

of ninety acres on section 26. His father, David Brands,

had two years before purchased one hundred and twenty

acres on section 25, upon which he lived until his death in

1865. Mr. Brands at once built the usual primitive abode

of logs, which in 1804 was displaced by a more substantial

frame residence,—his present home. His land is now

cleared and much of it highly improved.

0. B. Towusend was a pioneer of 1836 from Ontario

Co., N. Y., having first selected Ingham County as a loca-

tion. He was led to a favorable opinion of the lands in

Shiawassee County, and in 1854 selected one hundred

acres on section 7, in Caledonia, as a home, upon which he

at once located. Half of this had already been cleared by

Elijah Moak, whose father formerly owned it and built a

log house upon it. The immediate neighborhood was en-

tirely unimproved and destitute of roads. Mr. Towusend

obtained a contract and cut the road running from his farm

to Owosso, as he did also other highways adjacent to his

farm. His present spacious residence was built in 1858,

which was much superior to most of the dwellings of that

day. His ownership of a saw-mill and pinery in Mont-

calm County enabled him to build of excellent material

and at reduced cost. Mr. Townseud still occupies the farm

he originally purchased in the township.

J. A. Thompson emigrated from Jeffer.son Co., N. Y., in

1857, and located upon one hundred and twenty acres on

section 14, which he has since increased to one hundred

and eighty acres. Though central in point of location,

Mr. Thompson was for a time comparatively isolated, from

the fact that much of the adjacent land was held by specu-

lators who saw prospective fortunes in the coal and oil to be

developed upon them. There was at this time no road

from Corunna, the way being opened from that point with

the axe, as Mr. Thompson sought his purchase. Four

months were spent with a settler named Moe, who re-

sided upon the southwest corner of the .same section.

Meanwhile a log house had been built and a considerable

clearing effected. His time at first was spent in chopping

and clearing, for which he obtained extensive contracts.

The second year twelve acres of his own land was improved,

and the family, for whom he returned tu the East, comfort-

ably established in their Western home. In 1879, Mr.

Thompson erected his present imposing residence, which is

one of the most attractive in Caledonia.

Other settlers arrived at a later date, and, though active

in developing the interests of the township, may not, strictly

speaking, be entitled to mention among the number of its

pioneers.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND CIVIL LIST.

The township of Caledonia was formerly a portion of the

township of Owosso, and was separately organized by the

following act of the State Legislature, approved March 22,

1839:

" Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-

tives of the State of Michigan, that all that part of the

county of Shiawassee designated by the United States

survey as township No. 7 north, of range No. 3 east,

which lies east of the west line of sections Nos. 5, 8, 17,

20, 29, and 31, in said township, be and the same is hereby

set off and organized into a township by the name of Cale-

donia, and the first township-meeting thereof shall be held

at the house of Alexander McArthur in said township."

This lefl sections 6, 7, 18, 19, and 30 in town.ship 7 north,

of range 3 east, attached to Owosso. After much oppo-

sition these were embraced in Caledonia by an act of the

State Legislature, approved Feb. IG, 1842. By the incor-

poration of the city of Owosso the west half of .sections 18

and 19 were made a part of that city, leaving Caledonia as

it at present exists.

The first meeting of the electors of the township of Cale-

donia was held, pursuant to public notice, on the 29th day

of April, 1839, for the purpose of electing township officers.

Alexander McArthur was chosen Moderator; Samuel N.

Warren, David Warren, Stephen Hawkins, and Henry L.

Bangs, Inspectors of Election
;
and Don C. Griswold and

David Lester, Clerks. The following officers were declared

elected: Supervisor, Alexander McArthur; Township Clerk,

Samuel N. Warren; Treasurer, Samuel N. Warren; As-

sessors, D. P. Congdon, Alexander McArthur, W. R. Sey-

mour; School Inspectors, S. N. Warren, John Davids,

Alexander McArthur; Highway Commissioners, Stephen

Hawkins, Ninion Clark, John Davids ; Justices of tho

Peace, Samuel N. Warren, Alexander Mc.Vrthur, Jcihn

Davids, Don C. Uriswold; Constable and Collector, Ninion

Clark.

The names of tho officers of the townsliip from that lime

to the present are given in the following list :

SUPERV [.SOILS.

1810. Alexander MoArtliur. 18.09

1811. A. II. liun.'h. 1885.

18l2-4fi. Aiiilrcw I'limons. ISfiO.

1847-18. I-uki! Jl. I'lirBoiiH. 18117.

18111. Andrew Paraons. 18118.

1850-51. Luko II. I'lirminii. 180B-

1852. Andrew Piirmins. 1874-

185.'). L. 11. Pnrsonii. 1870.

1854-50. Edwiird Uroon. 1877-

1857. .lamcii L'liinuiin. 1879.

1858. Kdwiird CIroen. 188U.

(14. IIu).'li McCur.ly.

Pliny S. I.yniun.

liujjh McCurdy.

Willinni Ouktt.

Willinni I>. Holt.

'7:1. Juhn M. Pitch.

75. Janio? A. 1'liunipsun.

D. B. Kood.

78. Chiirira Wren.

JiiflOD W. Snnderfl.

Ilurnoe \V. liigclow.
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TOWNSHIP CLERKS.

1840.

1841-

1843-

1847-

1849.

1850-

1855.

1856.

1857.

1858.

1859.

S. H. Petteys.

42. John R. Smith.

46. Nelson Ferry.

48. P. S. Lyman.

George W. Harris.

54. Pliny S. Lyman.

E. F. Wade.

J. B. Wheeler.

E. C. Moore.

Cortes Pond.

W. Goodell.

1860-

1863.

1864.

1865.

1866.

1867.

1S68.

1869-

1871-

1873-

1879-

62. George Wilcox.

J. W. Turner.

P. W. Coleman.

Alexander Cummin.

James Anderson.

Theodore W. Ferry.

J. H. Anderson.

-70. Burt Saddleson.

-72. H. I. Newell.

78. J. B. Eveleth.

-80. William Parker.

TREASURERS.

1840.
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1833. Ninion Clark.

COLLECTORS.

1840-41. S. Z. Kinjon.

SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS.

1875-SII. Duane C. Cooper.

DRAIN COMMISSIONERS.

1872.
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SCHOOLS.

No very definite information is obtainable regarding the

early schools of the township. A school was opened in

Corunna some time before the erection of a scliool building;

in the township, and those settlers who removed to Caledonia

then enjoyed the advantages of education afforded in the

village. The earliest school-house was erected in the year

1842, and a school opened in it by Miss Drusilla Cook, who

for a number of terms instructed the youth of the township.

Her successor is not remembered. The present school ter-

ritory of Caledonia is divided into four whole and two frac-

tional districts. The following-named gentlemen compose

the board of directors : Walter Smalley, Albert Y'oungs,

Jonas Hornshell, Erwin Eveleth, John Brands, Samuel

Kirby. Tiie number of scholars in attendance is two hun-

dred and seventy-three, of whom seventeen are non-residents.

They are under charge of two male and eleven female teach-

ers, who receive in salaries a sum total of nine hundred and

fifty-seven dollars. The value of school property in the

township is six thousand four hundred dollars, which em-

braces one brick and five frame buildings.

COAL-MINING.

In 183Y a geological survey of the State was authorized,

and Dr. Douglas Houghton was placed in charge of it.

During the progress of the survey Corunna was visited, at

that time consisting of one log house occupied by John

Davids. The examination made by the corps along the Shi-

awassee River satisfied them that the character and dip of

the rock indicated the presence of coal ; but none was dis-

covered at that time. Two years later, in 1839, Alexander

McArthur discovered coal on his land on the bank of Coal

Creek, in the southeast quarter of section 22, about half a

mile west of where the present coal-beds are being worked.

It was at first taken out in small quantities, and as it became

known that coal could be obtained, purchasers (mostly black-

smiths) came from long distances, and trade increased to

quite an extent. It was delivered on the wagons of pur-

chasers for ten cents per bushel.

It was not, however, till many years after that any organ-

ized eiFort was made to mine coal to any extent. About

1864, B. Brisco, master mechanic of the Detroit and Mil-

waukee Railroad, assisted Mr. McArthur in making exami-

nations of the coal deposits. Parties in New York City be-

came interested in the discoveries and it was decided to organ-

ize a company for the purpose of mining coal, to be known as

the McArthur Mining Company, with a capital of one hun-

dred thousand dollars. On the 22d day of April, 18G5,

Mr. McArthur sold to the company one hundred and twenty

acres of land on the east half of the northwest quarter and

the west half of the west part of the northeast quarter of

section 22. The parties interested were Alexander McAr-

thur, of Corunna ;
Dr. G. M. Peck, Samuel Daskham, and

Edward W. Loekwood, of New York City. Dr. Peck was

chosen president, A. McArthur local agent. A large amount

of money was expended in the erection of engine-rooms, coal-

houses, oflSces, and tramways. In addition to machinery and

buildings at the mines, an extensive wharf was built on the

Detroit River, sheds and other buildings were erected, and

an agency established in the city of Detroit. The cost of

transportation was great from the coal-beds to the depot, and

in the latter part of 1866, labor was suspended and the com-

pany dissolved.

The Briar Hill Iron and Coal Company of Ohio, in 1869

and 1870, sent out to this county Charles Gilbert, a practi-

cal geologist, to examine the coal region. He began at once

the labor of testing for coal. Fifty-six test-holes were drilled

and deposits of coal were found in forty-six of them. On

the 1st day of April, 1871, Henry P. Gilbert purchased of

Chauncey Hurlburt the land on which these tests were made,

62-jS^ acres on the west part of the southwest fractional

quarter of section 23. In the December following he sold

an interest to George F. Perkins, John Stambaugh, of

Akron, Ohio, and George Todd, of Y^oungstown, Ohio. In

the following year (1872j they opened a slope and began

the work of mining, and operated for about a year, but not

being succes.sful the work was abandoned, the company hav-

ing expended ninety thousand dollars in various efforts.

On the 26th of February, 1873, the Corunna Coal Com-

pany was organized for mining coal, fire-clay, and other

ores or minerals, with a capital stock of one hundred and

fifty thousand dollars, forty thousand dollars paid in. The

corporators were George F. Perkins, of Akron, Ohio

;

George Todd, Youngstown, Ohio ; Henry P. Gilbert and

Harry R. Gilbert, of Corunna, with an ofiBce at Youngs-

town and Corunna. On the 5th of December, 1874, the

lands previously worked on section 23 were purchased by

the Corunna Coal Company, who have since leased lands

adjoining. In 1877 the company were induced (afler a

thorough investigation, which a.ssured them that large

fields of coal yet existed on their purchase) to open a new

shaft seventy-five feet in length. They were rewarded in

discovering a rich vein of the mineral from two feet three

inches to three feet nine inches in thickness. The neces-

sary works for mining and shipping were completed in

June, 1877, and the company at once began their labors.

This branch of industry having been unfamiliar to the

workmen of the neighborhood, much difficulty was at

first experienced in obtaining miners who were skilled in

their occupation. This obstacle was finally obviated by

employing nearly one hundred laborers from Ohio, who are

constantly engaged in various departments of the work. Of

this number seventy-five are skilled miners.

From seventy-five to one hundred tons are mined daily,

though the maximum quantity is rarely reached during the

summer season. The coal was originally hauled from the

mines to the depot of the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad,

a distance of two and a half miles. This difficulty was

obviated by the construction, in 1872, of a branch road

from Corunna to the present base of operations, which ma-

terially decreases the labor and expense. The stockholders

of the Corunna Coal Company are George Todd, George

F. Perkins, Thomas Struthers, John Stambaugh, H. P.

Gilbert. The officers are George Todd, President ; Todd

Kincaid, Secretary and Treasurer.
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

THOMAS R. YOUNG. MRS. THOMAS R. YOUNG.

THOMAS R. YOUNG.

Mr. Young is descended from New England stock, his

father, who early acquired the sturdy calling of a black-

smith, having been a native of Connecticut, as was also

his mother, formerly Miss Nancy Crane. Thomas R., the

seventh of an interesting family of eight children, was born

in Hampton, Windham Co., Conn., Sept. 26, 1815, and

became a resident of the Empire State at the age of eigh-

teen years. Ten years later found the family pioneers to

Michigan, where they chose a location in Lapeer County.

In 184G the family circle was afflicted by the irreparable

lo.ss of the wife and mother, whom the father survived but

six years, having during the interval improved a tract of

land in Lapeer County and followed farming pursuits.

Thomas 11., on taking leave of his homo, at the age of

eighteen, found ready employment in New York State, a

portion of the time being engaged on the Erie Canal.

When twenty years of age he was influenced by the charms

of a seafaring life to become a .sailor, and joined the crew

of the ship " Rambler," which sailed from Nantucket on a

three years' cruise. Mr. Young's share of the |)roceeds of

the return cargo was three hundred dollars, with which he

made a pleasure trij), and then repaired to his father's home

in Michigan. In the spring of 18H1) he entered the farm

upon which he at present resides, together with other land

embracing two hundred and eighty acres. After becoming

weary of the solitary life of a bachelor he married, Feb.

21, 1841, Miss Nancy M. Hart, whose birth occurred in

New York State, Aug. 17, 1823, and whose father brought

her when an infant from Monroe Co., N. Y., to the wilds

of New Haven township. Mr. Hart died in 1867, having

survived his wife nearly forty years. Mrs. Young is now

the only living representative of a family of eight children.

To Mr. and Mrs. Young, a sketch of whose home ap-

pears on an adjoining page, were born seven children in the

following order : William, born Dec. 20, 1841, died April

21, 1843; Albert, born Feb. 13, 1843; Lucinda, born

Dec. 2, 1845; Melinda, born Aug. 28, 1847; Sarah M.,

born Aug. 20, 1849, died Oct. 15, 1872; Mary L, born

July 8, 1851 ;
Delia A., born Sept. 13, 185:!, died March

19, 1866. All the surviving children are married and es

tablished in comfortable homes adjacent to the family resi-

dence.

Mr. Young's present farm includes two hundred and sixty

acres, which, in the high degree of cultivation it has at-

tained, well attests the indu.stry and enterprise of its owner.

The political preferences of Mr. Young have led him to

associate with the Democratic party. He has held minor

township offices, though not an aspirant for politicjil honors.

He has been since his residence in Caledonia actively inter-

ested in educational nnitters, and assisted in liie erection of

the earliest school building of the di.striet. He is inclined

to liberalism in his religious views, tliough not dognnitic in

the assertion of his opinions.

As a striking exum])leof the self made man, Mr. Thomas

R. Young is one of the finest types that Shiawassee County

affords.
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CHAPTER XXXIII.

FAIRFIELD TOWNSHIP.*

Location, Natural and Artificial Features—Settlement of Fairfield

—

Tax-payers of 1854-55—Township Organization and Civil List—
Voters of 1S59—Highways—Schools—Religious—Fairfield in the

Rebellion—Fatal Accidents.

This township (the youngest in the county), lying upon

the meridian line and occupying the northwestern corner of

Shiawassee County, is but a fractional town, containing

twenty-four full sections and six fractional sections, equal

in the aggregate to twenty-five full sections. The township

boundaries are the Saginaw County line on the north, Mid-

dlebury township on the south. Rush township on the east,

and the Clinton County line on the west.

When Fairfield received its first settlers it was heavily and

densely timbered in every portion, except along the northern

border, where there was a strip of pine woods. There was,

moreover, considerable swamp land, and of this there is yet

an abundance, although much has been reclaimed and more

will be, rapidly, according to present indications. There is

a swamp tract of perhaps a thousand acres in the north,

that touches sections 2, .3, 4, 9, 10, and 11, and one reach-

ing from section 11^ towards the southwest, as far as the

centre of section 22, and containing something like seven

hundred acres. There are other pieces of swamp, but they

amount in the aggregate to nothing important. Extended

town-ditches have latterly worked most excellent results in

clearing up these waste lands, which must ultimately, and

speedily, too, become valuable to the husbandman. A
singular topographical feature of the country may be

further remarked in the presence of a ridge, or " divide,"

which, extending north and south through the town, from

section 2 to section 35, causes the water-courses of the

town to flow both eastward and westward.

Fairfield is distinguished as a town that has never con-

tained either church building, post-ofiice, store, mill, or

mechanic.il industry, or yet permitted the sale of alcoholic

liquors within its borders. It is now and has ever been a

purely agricultural region, and is esteemed among the most

productive in the county. The surface is quite level and

is dotted in numerous localities with cold-water sprino-g,

wherefore it was sought, upon the organization of the town,

to bestow upon it the name of Cold Spring.

Fairfield enjoyed in 1869 the anticipation of railway

transportation conveniences at home, for in that year the

town voted bonds to the amount of six thousand five hun-

dred dollars in aid of the Owos.so and Big Rapids Railway.

The line was graded partially through the town, but the en-

terprise failed, and to-day remains in the unfinished condi-

tion in which it was then left. As the bonds were to be

donated only upon the completion of the road, the town
was, of course, not called upon to make the payment.

SETTLEMENT OF FAIRFIELD.

Previous to 1850 the town now known as Fairfield was

untenanted by settlers, although settlements south and west

of it were made as early as 1836. Why immigrants held

* By David Schwartz.

aloof so long cannot be explained, except upon the general

supposition that as it was one of the extreme northern

towns in the county it was compelled to await the settle-

ment of towns in more southerly localities. Even when

the tide of pioneering did set in towards the town it rolled

sluggishly at first, and failed to show much volume until

1854. A majority of Fairfield's early settlers came from

Ohio, and indeed a large proportion of the later ones came

from that State.

The place now occupied by S. G. G. Main on section 35

is the locality of the first white settlement effected in Fair-

field. Lewis Lockwood was the settler, and the spring of

1850 the date of his coming. At that date there were, of

course, white settlements close at hand in neighboring town-

ships, yet it was no slight task to penetrate single-handed

into the then dense forest that covered town 8. Lock-

wood was, however, a sturdy pioneer, and bravely held his

way through all obstacles, although he and his family ex-

perienced in no small degree the hardships of an almost

isolated existence in the woods. Lockwood was the solitary

settler until the fall of that year, when Aaron S. Braley

entered the town and moved to the northeastern corner

upon section 2, fir from the locations of other white men

and deep into a lonely stretch of wilderness. Braley ex-

perienced with his family a sharper taste of hardships and

privations than fell to the lot of Lockwood, since he was

farther removed from neighbors, and in times of emergency

had to go farther and pass over more difficulties in the

journeys to localities of civilization for supplies or assist-

ance. His and Lockwood's were for some little time the

only resident families in the town, and upon one occasion

Lockwood said to him, " Braley, you and I own the whole

of this town : you are the only one north of the swamp

and I the only one south of it." Of the Lockwoods none

are now in Fairfield
; of the Braleys the widow and her son

Alonzo still remain. Mrs. Lockwood's daughter, Henrietta,

born 1851, was the first white child horn in the town, and

Mrs. Lockwood, who died in 1854, the first white person

who died in Fairfield. Her husband died in 1858.

The third settler was James B. Rouse, who came in 1851,

and occupied upon section 11a place still the home of Mrs.

Elizabeth Cramer, whom he left his widow. Rouse cut out

his road from Hiram Bennett's in Duplain to section 11, a

distance of two miles and a half, and had for a time upon

his farm in the woods a sadly lonesome time. He was poor,

and made shift to get along only by tedious struggles and

much comfortless denial. Mrs. Cramer relates that she

passed through a very tedious experience in encountering

the cares and vexations of pioneer life. Carrying water

from a place a mile away from her home was among the

many familiar examples of life in the woods, while howling

wolves awakened freipient fears and tested her resolute

spirit to the utmost.

Referring to Braley once more, and the sorry time he

met in his efforts to pick up a livelihood, it is recalled that

he was often compelled to make a journey on foot of twenty

miles to St. Charles, where he got a chance to work for a

supply of flour or other provisions, and when he had earned

the provisions he had to bring them upon his back to the

home where he had been compelled to leave his wife and
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little ones to tremble in their loneliness while he toiled for

something to keep the wolf of starvation from the door.

They were frequently so poorly off for something to eat that

on more than one occasion they subsisted on nothing but

such nutritious roots as they could find in the woods.

THE MUNSON SETTLEMENT.

In the spring of 1853, George B. Munson made a loca-

tion in Fairfield upon section 32, where he still resides. At

that time the population of the town included just six other

families. They were the families of A. S. Braley, on sec-

tion 2 ; Lewis Lockwood, on section 35 ; James Rouse, on

section 11 ; Henry Iliggins, on section 17 ; Moses Wool,

on section 8; and Henry Wool, on section 8. In the spring

of 1853 came Alfred Veltman, John Myers, and Henry

Stebbins, and in the autumn following, Abadillah Borden

and Uriah Squires. The road passir g now eastward from

Mr. Munson's place was then simply underbrushed for three

miles, but was not in a condition passable for wagons. The

Meridian road was not opened until about two years after,

and this, as well as many other highways, was constructed

through the medium of " road-bees," at which, on each

Saturday, the settlers would gather en masse and work to-

gether to improve the means for getting out of and into

town. Urged on by their great desire to see the work

pushed ahead rapidly they performed efl^ective service, and

the result was that ere long they had all the roads they

wanted, and moderately good ones at that. Of the settlers

mentioned as having been in the town when George B.

Munson came in, he is the only one now permanently

residing in it, although Henry Wool owns a farm in the

town, and resides occasionally upon it.

Mr. Munson brought with him a pair of horses, and it is

his recollection that there was at that time no other horse-

team in the town, nor had there been but one, which the

Wool family brought in and traded ofl directly after they

came. Horse-teams were so scarce, indeed, as late as 1862,

that when in that year Roe G. Van Deusen made the town

assessment he found but three horse-teams and not more

than fifty sheep.

In 1854 settlers began to come in quite rapidly. Alfred

Veltman, who has been mentioned as a settler in 18515, came

to the town in 1851, put up a cabin on section 35, made a

clearing, and put in a croii. He kept bachelor's hall on his

place two years, and then going Kasl for his ilmiily, came

back in 1853 and made a permanent settlement. Upon that

place now lives Mrs. Sophia Culver, who was Mr. Veltman's

widow. Among the settlers in 1854 were E. F. Bennett,

Oscar Darling, Dory Castle, and later Ira Allen, the Brain-

ards, Perkins, Moses Lcavitt, C. J. Austin, Charles Wait,

Wm. Peek, I. L. Mun.son, C. G. Munson, John W. Curtis,

Orrin Wctiierbee, Merrick Ivoekwcll, l{iil[ni Van Deusen,

E. J. Herrington, and B. W. Darling. i{al|ih Van Deusen

came in 1854 from Medina Co., Ohio, and in lS5(i he was

joined by his brcitlu'r, Roe G. Van Deusen, who came and

stopjied in town thmugli that summer, working at his trade

as carpenter. In 185'J he made a permanent settlement

U]ion the place ho now occupies.

Elder lia Allen, now on section 17, locatrd in Diiiiliiin

in 1852, and in lS.")(i moved to his pn^sent home, which

was first settled by Henry Higgins. Elder Allen began to

preach Baptist sermons shortly after his location in Fair-

field, and for the past sixteen years lias been pastor of the

Baptist Ciiurch of Elsie. Upon the Meridian line in Fair-

field in 185G, when Allen located, the residents were Ralph

Van Deusen, Merrick Rockwell, E. J. Harrington (who

built the first framed hou.se in the town), John W. Curtis

(who had bought out Henry Wool), George B. Munsou,

Charles Wait, David Bates, and Moses Wool.

Concerning B. W. Darling, one of the settlers of 1854,

there is related a story of his ready wit in an emergency

and how he tricked a would-be trickster. " Buck" Dar-

ling, as he was known, was one of the town constables, and

was one day commissioned verbally to procure the arrest of

one Seely, who, it appears, had received an advance of

money upon a contract to build a school-house, and who

was understood to be contemplating a hurried departure

from the town instead of a fulfillment of his contract.

When Darling received orders for Seely 's arrest he felt

sure that if he delayed long enough to procure a warrant

in the regular way Seely would be off and out of sight,

since report had it that he was even then making ready for

flight, and was perhaps that moment on the wing. In the

emergency the sight of a " road-warrant" lying near him

gave Darling a sudden inspiration, and seizing the road-

warrant as if his salvation rested within it, he made off

post-haste after Seely. As luck would have it he over-

hauled the latter as he was upon the eve of taking a hasty

leave of absence, and presenting his document so that only

the word " warrant" appeared to view, said, " Seely, you

can't go just now
;
I've a warrant for you, and I rather guess

you'll have to go with me." Seely looked at the " warrant"

as Darling held it before him, and felt inclined to rebel at

an adverse fate that thus left him in the lurch, but he never

questioned the genuineness of the document upon wiiich he

was captured, and so marched away with his captor. The

upshot of the affair was that to avoid a prosecution he

made a settlement of the matter at i.ssue, and received his

liberty. Nut until then was he informed of the trick that

had been played upon him, and it is said that upon learn-

ing it he became one of the most disgusted men iver heard

of in Shiawassee County.

E. F. Bennett, conspicuously identified with town affairs

for twenty-five years, came to the township in 185 I. directly

after Uri Squires, who located iu the tall of 1853. An

underbrushed road was the only highway which lientictt

could use when he moved in, but tiiat condition of things

he, with Squires and others, soon improved by intnuincing

" r<iad-becs" and getting roads into such shape that travel

thereon was fairly ea.sy.

E. S. llanibleton came from Ohio in May, 1855, to lanci

upon .section 2S, which was even then a wilderness. His

nearest neighbor was Dury C. Castle, who lived u half mile

to the westward. I']ast the neiL'bbiirhood was a swampy

and heavily-woodod region. William Oaks, brcilher in-law

to llambletiin (sub.sequently county register of deeds and

Grand M:l^ler of the Grand Lodge of llu- Independent

Order of Odd-Fellows of tin- State), soon came in and

liiealeil iipnii a laiui ailjiMiiing liamblcton's on tiie east.



222 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN.

C. D. Searl, also a brother-in-law to Hambleton, came with

the latter, and still lives west of the Hambleton place.

W. H. Dunham came with his son, W. C. Dunham, in

1861, and bought one hundred and sixty acres on section

15. The sou made his settlement in 1861, but the elder

Dunham deferred his permanent establishment until 1862.

Upon the quarter section taken by the Dunhams there had

not been a stick cut up to 1861. North, on section 10,

was Asa Burbank, who occupied the place soon afterwards

bought by Andrew Williams, with whom, in 1865, came

to the town also his nephew, Thomas Williams, now living

on section 15. On section 3, in 1861, were Enos Gay and

James Corp, and on section 1 was W. L. Arnold, upon the

place settled earlier by Edward Smith.

Among the later settlers in Fairfield other than such as

have already been mentioned may be noted the names of

William Warner, William Peck, Eli Chamberlain, Chester

Fox, H. W. Puller, S. G. Main, C. B. Loyens, J. B.

White, and E. W. Washburn.

THE TAX-PAYERS OF 1854.

Fairfield's first assessment-roll, made out for the year

1854, presented the following names of resident tax-payers,

with the number of acres owned by each :

Acreti.

George B. Munson, sections 29, 32 121

Henry Stebbins, sections 33, 28 160

John A. Borden, section 28 40

Uri Squires, section 33 120

E. F. Bennett, sections 28, 33, 34 120

Moses Leavitt, section 24 160

Alfred Veltman, section 35 160

Lewis Lockwood, section 35 80

Henry Higgins, section 17 54

James Rouse, section 11 100
Moses Wool, sections 8,9 80

Aaron Braley, section 2 40

Number of acres assessed 10,138

Value of real estate $29,694
" personal estate 1,525

THE RESIDENT TAX-PAYERS OF 1855.

Acres.

A. S. Braley, section 2 40
Moses Wool, sections S, 9 SO
James E. Rouse, section 11 100
H. Higgins, section 17 53
Oscar Darling, section 21 80
Samuel Garrison, section 24 SO
John Gillam, section 24 80
Moses Leavitt, section 24 160
Levi Mosher, section 24 40
D. S. BufHngton, section 24 40
Warren Wetherbee, section 26 80
P. F. Balfour, section 26 40
B. W. Darling, section 27 100
B. F. Bennett, sections 28, 33, 34 120
D. A. Castle, section 28 160
J. A. Borden, section 20 80
William Walrath, section 28 40
William Peck, section 28 40
G. B. Munson, sections 29, 32 120
Henry Stebbins, section 33 160
Charles Wait, sections 32, 33 71

Uri Squires, section 33 120
A. Veltman, section 35 160

L. Lockwood, section 35 120

J. M. Gifford, section 23 80

Silas Sowle, section 34 40

THE TREASURER'S REPORT FOR 1854.

The first annual report of the town treasurer, dated Nov.

20, 1854, presented the following :

Dr.

To $544.48

Cr.

Return of delinquent taxes $353.53
Town oniers 52.27

Collecting fee 7.64

Balance in treasury 131.04

?544.48

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND CIVIL, LIST.

Town 8 north, in range 1 east, was a portion of the

township of Middlebury until Jan. 4, 1854, when it was

set off by the Board of Supervisors and given separate

jurisdiction under the name of Fairfield. The name of

Brunswick was sent in, among others, to the supervisors as

one desired by many residents of the town, for it was fi'om

Brunswick, Ohio, that a majority of the town's early set-

tlers came. For some reason of their own, however, the

supervisors put aside all the names sent in and adopted the

one now borne by the town.

The first town-meeting was held April 8, 1854, in the

house of Henry Stebbins, and even at that comparatively

late date Fairfield was so thinly populated that but twelve

votes were cast, and as there was necessarily but one ticket

in the field—the town being Democratic—the election was

quickly and easily brought to a conclusion.

The result of the election is given below

:

Officers. Candidates. Votes.

Supervisor J. A. Borden* 12

Clerk Henry Stebbins^ 12

Treasurer Henry Higgins*" 12

j
Lewis Lockwood^ 9

I

UriSquires* 7

Highway Commissioners \ James E. Rouse* 7

[
Henry Higgins 6

[ G. B. Munson 6

Uri Squires (one year)* 12

Alfred \'eltman (two years)* 12

G. B. .Munson (three years)* 12

A. S. Braley (four years)* 12
John A. Myers* 5

James Hall* 11

J. E. Rouse* 6

Alfred Veltman (one year)* 12

School Inspectors -j Uri Squires (two years)* 7

(_
John A. Borden 5

Henry .Stebbins'^' II

.\lfred Veltman* 6

John A. Myers* 5

One hundred and fifty dollars were voted for highways

and one hundred and twenty-five dollars for contingent

expenses. The pathmasters were A. S. Braley for district

No. 1, J. A. Myers for district No. 2, and Uri Squires for

district No. 3. Subjoined is a list of the persons chosen

annually from 1855 to 1880 to serve as supervisor, clerk,

treasurer, and justice of the peace

:

Justices of the Peace

Constables

Year



FAIRFIELD TOWNSHIP. 223

Year



224 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN.

place of beginning. No. 4 was organized June 22, 1858,

by dividing district No. 1 on the quarter line east and west

through sections 27, 28, and 29. No 5 was formed Jan.

17, 1860, and No. 6 in October, 1865.

Dec. 15, 1855, rules for the government of the town

library were adopted as follows :

1. For a grease spot on a book a fine of twelve and a

half cents. If more than one, in the same ratio.

2. A torn leaf, if not torn bad, ten cents.

3. Torn-out leaf, twenty-five cents.

4. If more than one torn out, the price of the book.

5. Corner of leaf turned over, six cents.

6. Ink spots and pencil marks, each six cents.

7. A broken or torn-oflf cover, fifty cents.

TEACHERS.

To 1860 certificates were issued to teachers as follows

:

March 17, 1855.— Harriet E. Borden and Sarah A.

Leckenby.

Dec. 7, 1855.—Ellen C. Beebe.

May 16, 1857.—Lydia D. Linman.

June 6, 1857.—Harriet E. Borden.

Nov. 7, 1857 Henry C. Ferris, Miss Miriam Wool.

Dec. 23, 1857.—John Wool.

April 5, 1858.—Sarah Ann Ferris.

April 10, 1858.-Sophia Burleson.

April 10, 1858.-Adelia M. Smith.
*

June 12, 1858.—Miss Marilla Netheway.

Nov. 6, 1858.—William H. Sexton.

Nov. 20, 1858.—Harriet Crow, Loren Shelby.

April 9, 1859.—Nancy Burleson, Amanda Peck.

May 14, 1859.—Lydia Rockwell, Harriet B. Borden.

November, 1860.—Elizabeth Hobbs, Nelson Olmstead,

Violetta Chase.

The annual school report for 1879 gave the following

details

:

Niuuber of districts (whole, 5 : fractional,!) 6

Number of children of school age 291
Average attendance 243
Value of school projierty $300(1

Teachers' wages $851

The school directors for 1879 were A. Southwell, B. W.
Gates, Charles Dunham, C. D. Searl, E. D. Loyeus, and

R. G. Van Deusen.

RELIGIOUS.

The first sermon preached in Fairfield is supposed to have

been the funeral discourse upon the death of Mrs. Lewis

Lockwood, delivered by Rev. Mr. Maeomber, in the winter

of 1854. In the following spring he preached a sermon to

the settlers at the house of E. F. Bennett, notice of such

intention having been given previously by personal commu-
nication with the settlers in all cases available. Mr. Ma-
comber preached but one more sermon in the town, and

that, too, at Mr. Bennett's house, and upon both occa-

sions is said to have had deeply interested if not large con-

gregations. About that time Rev. Mr. Angell, a Prot-

estant Methodist preacher, held services occasionally. There

was Methodist preaching in school district No. 1 very soon

after the .school-house was built, m 1855, and there a Meth-

odist Episcopal class was organized after a brief delay. The

class did not, however, flourish as well as it was hoped it

might, and although it made a good effort for vigorous life

the effort was unavailing. After a brief but uncertain ex-

istence it expired.

Fairfield has never been nor is it now prolific in religious

organizations, and as to church edifices there have been

none erected in the town. A reason for all this is found

in the statement that the township is so small that the

residents of any part of it find it convenient to reach houses

of worship in adjoining townships, and thus, for the uncer-

tainties which attend upon the lives of religious societies in

small communities, they exchange a membership with sub-

stantially-e.stciblished organizations and an assured system

of public religious services.

A METHODIST EPISCOPAL CLASS,

organized at the Leavitt school-house, about 1869, has

since then maintained worship with more or less regularity

in the same locality. There are now about fourteen mem-

bers, who assemble once each fortnight for public services,

conducted at the present time by Rev. Mr. Church, of

Mungerville. Sunday-school exercises are held weekly

under the direction of Ezra Latimer, superintendent.

A UNITED BRETHREN CLASS

was formed in the Hambleton school-house, in 1878, by

Elders Kinnon and Weller, with a membership of six.

The cla.ss is now on the Saginaw Circuit, in charge of Rev.

Mr. Bunday, has preaching once every two weeks, and is

led by William Brainard.

FAIRFIELD IN THE REBELLION.

Although organized only in 1854, Fairfield was, never-

theless, able to furnish no inconsiderable number of soldiers

for the national army during the Rebellion of 1861-65.

The military enrollment of the town at the close of the

war was but forty, and precisely that number of men en-

tered the service from Fairfield. Of these forty not one

was drafted, and in the contemplation of that circumstance

Fairfield's citizens are justly proud. Ten of the forty lost

their lives in the service, but of the ten only three were

killed in action. The aggregate expenditure for war boun-

ties reached the sum of four thousand nine hundred dollars,

of which two thousand nine hundred dollars was raised by

private subscription. For the Volunteers' Family Relief

Fund the county supervisors appropriated for Fairfield,

during the four years ending with 1864, the sum of one

thousand three hundred and ninety dollars and ninety-two

cents.

FATAL ACCIDENTS.

Present recollection recalls but two fatal accidents to

citizens of the town within its limits. The first was Henry

Rockwell, who, while at work upon a highway in 1855,

was struck by the falling limb of a tree and almost in-

stantly killed.

On the night of Dec. 7, 1878, two young men, named

Charles Caul and Peter Keyser, were out hunting rabbits

by moonlight, when by some mi.schance Caul's gun was

accidentally discharged, and Keyser being directly in its



FAIRFIELD TOWNSHIP. 225

range was shot and killed. Caul was taken into custody

upon the eiiarge of xuuiiiur, and taken for exaiuination

before Roe G. Van Deusen, Esq. There was considerable

local interest over the affair, and the examination was

attended by a good many people. There was, however,

no testimony to show that Keyser's death was the result of

anything but accident, and the discharge of Caul ended

the matter.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

EPHRAIM F. BENNETT.

Oliver R. Bennett was born in New Hampshire, from

whence he with his father moved into the State of New
York about 1808, and settled near Canandaigua. The

breaking out of the war of 1S12 fired the patriotism of

young Bennett, and he enlisted and was with the American

army at Buffalo when that city was burned. His regiment

was soon after discharged, when he again enlisted and served

during the remainder of the war under Gen. Harrison.

Afler the war he went to Shelby, Orleans Co., N. Y., where

he and his brother John bought a piece of new land of

Gen. Wadsworth. It was thirty miles from any inhabit-

ants, in the midst of a dense wilderness. Nothing daunted,

they built a .shanty on their lot and for a time kept bachelors'

hall while they cleared and improved tleir land. In 182(;

they sold out and again wended their way westward, set-

tling in Brunswick, Medina Co., Ohio, which was then very

new. Here Oliver resided until his death in August, 186;{.

Ephraim F., son of Oliver, was born in the town of Shelby

above named Feb. 12, 1817. He grew to manhood on the

home-farm in Medina, which he and his brothers cleared.

Arrived at his majority he bought a small piece of land,

upon which he made his home while he worked at the shoe-

maker's trade. This trade not agreeing with his health he

abandoned it and worked at whatever he could get to do

until 1854, when he sold his place and started for Michigan,

where land was plenty, cheap, and of an excellent quality.

He purchased from the government one hundred and twenty

acres of heavily-timbered land in the town oi' Fairfield,

Shiawa.ssee Co. Buying and settling upon his land ex-

hausted all his means, and for a few years he and his family

experienced many privations. They owned no stock, their

oxen being their only wealth save their land. For two

years they liad no cow and their living was of the plainest

kind, often c(jnsisting of corn-meal made by drawing an ear

of corn across a carpenter's plane. Butter, milk, and meat

were luxuries seldom seen by them, " but," says Mr. Ben-

nett, " we had appetites to fit our food." With energy and

perseverance Mr. Bennett plied the axe, and soon fields of

waving grain took the place of the wilderness and better

days dawned upon the family. In all the ups and downs

of pioni.'cr life Mrs. Bennett has shown herself equal to the

occasion, doing more than her share and proving such a

pioneer wife and mother as the times and surroundings

demanded. With Mrs. George Munson she dispensed the

homely but welcome fare of a frontier home, never so happy

as when doing some generous act. They now possess u well-

29

improved farm with a fine house and outbuildings, all the

result of hard work and close economy. In early life Mr.

Bennett was a Democrat, but since 1840 has been an earnest

Republican. He has filled acceptably most of the town-

ship offices. For forty-eight years lie and his wife have

been members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. On the

22d of May, 1842, he married Mi.ss Catherine W. Scjuires,

daughter of Morris and Rhoda (Wells) Squires, and born

in Shelby, Aug. 17, 1823. Her family were among the

early settlers in Shelby, and in 1848 moved to Brunswick,

where Mr. Squires lived until his death. To Mr. and Mrs.

Bennett have been born two children, Rhoda E., Aug. 22,

1846, and Edward R., June 23, 184!). Edward R. still

remains with his parents and conducts the farm. He, too,

is a Rejiublican in politics, and has been for several years a

member of the Methodist Episcopal Church.

GEORGE B. MUNSON.

The oldest settler now living in the town of Fairfield is

George B. Munson, who was the seventh settler in the

town, and is the only one left of the seven. He came into

the town in the spring of 1853, with his wife and child,

having moved from Brunswick, Medina Co., Ohio, by

wagon, being twenty-one days on the road, nineteen of

which were rainy. There were no roads to or near his

property, and Mr. Munson was obliged to underbrush the

way to his farm. The day before reaching Elsie was occu-

pied in removing trees which had blown down in a terrible

wind-storm of the previous day, one large tree falling across

the road but a few moments after they had passed. He
did not have money enough to pay for his land, and in

order to raise the balance both him.self and wife worked

out, he on the farm, his wife in the house, cooking and

performing the duties rendered necessary by a large force of

workmen. As soon as they had built a log house they

moved into it, and Mr. Munson at oiue eomnioneed to clear

his fiirni of one hundred and twenty aeies, which was heavy

timber-land. Hut only a portion of his time could be spent

on his land, as money had to be earned to keep the wolf

from the door. To do this he cleared land for others more

fortunate than himself, clearing in all more than liliy acres

besides his own. The sea.son of the hard frost was a .severe

one for them, as it cut ofl their crops, and for a long time

their food consisted of bread and tea ; butter, meat, and

potatoes being luxuries beyond their reach. Mrs. Munson

says the best meal of her life was one prepared after Mr.

Munson had been to Owosso and purcha,sed, witii money

sent him by his brother, some pork, butter, and groceries.

Their latch-string in those days was always out, and Mrs.

Munson was noted for her hospitality. By dint of hard

labor in and out of the hou.se, they have now a well-im-

proved farm, with good and comfortable buildings. Al-

though a Democrat, Mr. Munson has held nearly all the

offices in his township, which is strongly Republican, ho

having been one of the first highway cummissioiiors, and

since then treasurer for eight terms, clerk one term, also

school inspector and justice of the |(eace ; to all of wliicli

offices he has been elected by his fellow-townsmen regard-
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less of politics, they knowing his worth as a citizen of un-

blemished character and of warm and generous impulses.

Mr. Munson was born in the town of Guilford, Medina Co.,

Ohio, Aug. 10, 1824. His father, Jacob Munson, was

born in Walliugford, Conn., Feb. 16, 1798. He was a

carpenter, acquiring his trade in Canandaigua, N. Y.

When twenty-two years of age he married Postreme

Reeves, who was born in Mount Holly, N. J., July 6,

1797. After his marriage he moved to Medina Co., Ohio,

which was then new. In 1824 he moved to the town of

Brunswick, where he cleared a farm, and where he re-

mained until his death, Nov. 13, 1859 ; his wife died July

15, 1875. George married, Aug. 8, 1847, Miiss Zelinda

Peck, who was born in Mattewan, Dutchess Co., N. Y.,

Aug. 29, 1827. She was daughter of William and Eliza

Jane (Wilson) Peck. Mr. Peck was born Nov. 27, 1802,

and his wife April 7, 1805. He was a machinist, and

worked at his trade until compelled to stop by reason of old

age. He was an early settler in Fairfield, and built the

first school-house in that town. There have been born to

Mr. and Mrs. George Munson five children, viz. : Almira,

June 30, 1848; William Hen'ry, Nov. 27, 1850 (^died

March 28, 1852) ; Charles B., March 30, 1855 ; Edward

R., Jan. 14, 1863 ; and Emma E., Feb. 7, 1866.

ITHIAL L. MUNSON.

Of the early settlers who came into Fairfield there are

none who have been more successful or who have done

more to advance the growth and prosperity of the township

than Ithial L. Munson, the subject of this sketch. He
was born in Canandaigua, Ontario Co., N. Y., Nov. 8,

1819. When he was five years old his father moved to

Brunswick, Ohio, where Ithial grew to manhood, thus

early becoming acquainted with the hardships and priva-

tions of a life in the wilderness. His education was such

as could be obtained by a few terms' attendance in the dis-

trict schools of a new country. Mr. Munson remained

with his parents until he was twenty-three years of age,

when his health being poor for a number of years, he was

unable to make a start in life until after he was thirty. He
then for a number of years worked at the carpenter and

joiner's trade in Cleveland, Canada, and in Illinois. In the

fall of 1853 he purchased from the government two hun-

dred and forty acres of heavily-timbered land in the town

of Fairfield, Shiawassee Co., Mich., but did not go to it

until the spring of 1857, when he made a final settlement

on his farm. At that time he had caused to be cleared

five acres, and had cut the timber from forty acres addi-

tional. The new farm, purchased in 1853, has now be-

come one of the finest in the township, and consists at this

time of three hundred and twenty acres, of which two

hundred and thirty are under improvement; it also con-

tains a fine house, large barns, and is well fenced and culti-

vated. In 1877, Mr. Munson bought of William Armond

a fine thoroughbred short-horn, called the " Duplane Lad,"

and has since raised some fine cattle, with which his farm

is well stocked. Mr. Munson also keeps a fine flock of

well-bred sheep, believing that in mixed farming the great-

est success is to be obtained.

Among his neighbors and fellow-townsmen he statids

high as a man of sound business capacities and of sterling

integrity. In politics, Mr. Munson waS originally a Whig,

and has affiliated with the Republicans since the formation

of that party, but is not a politician. On the 10th of

June, 1860, he married Mrs. Mary A. Munson, the widow

of his cousin, Ithial J. Munson. She was the daughter of

Frank Carse, and was born in County Down, Ireland, June

24, 1831. There have been born to them three children,

namely, L. L., born March 15, 1861
; James J., Aug. 20,

1863 ; and Emily A., Oct. 7, 1866.

CHAPTER XXXIY.

HAZELTON TOWNSHIP.*

Origin of N.aiue—Natural Fe.atures—Original Land-Purchases—Set-

tlements—The Karliest Highways—Schools—Ilazelton U range

—

Lothrop Village—Hazeltouvillc—Judd's Corners.

Much of the land embraced in the township of Ilazelton

was owned by Porter Hazelton, of Genesee County, to

whom it was transferred by the State in 1849, in payment

for services performed in the construction of a bridge across

the Flint River. His brothers, George H., Homer, and

Edward, were engaged with him in the enterprise, and be-

came part owners of the lands in Shiawassee County, as did

Ezekiel R. Ewing, also of Genesee County, another partner

in the work. Mr. Hazelton offered many inducements to

settlers, and ultimately disposed of his property in the

township, which was, in deference to his connection with

its early history, named Hazelton.

In geographical position it may be described as the ex-

treme northeast township of the county, lying south of

Saginaw County, and bounded on the east by Genesee

County, west by the township of New Haven, and having

the township of Venice on its southern line.

The surface of Hazelton is generally level, presenting few

elevations. An exception to this is found, however, in the

south and east, where rolling ground is occasionally met,

though there are no abrupt declivities. Numerous streams

water the township and aflFord variety to the landscape.

Chief among these is the Misteauguay Creek, which rises

in Venice and entering this township on section 35 flows

in a general northward course, and leaves again at section 1.

Numerous small tributaries feed this main stream, which

affords an excellent power for milling purposes. Onion

Creek makes its entry on section 33, and, flowing north,

pours its waters into the Misteauguay, as does also Porter

Creek, which rises in the southwest corner and flows north

and northeast, ending its course on section 11. In the

northwest is a stream formerly known as Dutcher Creek,

which passes into Saginaw County through section 3 of

Hazelton.

The soil of Hazelton embraces in its composition sand,

* By E. 0. Wagner.
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o^avel, clay, and muck The northwest portion has a clay

subsoil with a sand and gravelly surface. More clay abounds

in the centre, while in the south and east is a sandy soil

of excellent quality. But a small proportion of the swamps,

which were at an early day an obstacle to the farmer, now

remain as such. An excellent sy.stem of drainage has con-

verted them into some of the best soil to be found in the

township. lu the north and northwest, however, there is

still apparent a belt of swampy land, from eighty to one

hundred rods wide, which is being rapidly drained.

Beech, maple, elm, and basswood are the prevailing

timbers, though other woods are occasionally found.

Wheat and corn find here a congenial soil, and produce

an average crop equal to that of other portions of the

township. The last ceusus gives the number of acres de-

voted to wheat in 1873 as eight hundred and three, which

produced a yield of thirteen thousand eight hundred and

fifteen bushels, while five hundred and thirty-three acres of

corn yielded a harvest of fourteen thousand eight hundred

and twenty-three bushels. Hay is usually a prolific crop.

The later dev£lopment of the township will of course

greatly enhance the above returns.

ORIGINAL LAND-PURCHASES.

The lands of Hazelton were entered from the general

government, or purchased of the State by the following

persons

:

SECTION 1.

Acrcn.

1-:. n. Strong, 1836 III.OU

.)ohn Cn.silcar, 1836 160

E. I.. WaUon, 1836 160

.1. n. Corldington, 1836 8n

.1. I>. Kmersoii, IS3fi 58.26

T. M. Lainc, 1836 80

II. L. Strong, 1837 58.2B

SECTIOX 2.

1'. F. Kwcr, 1835 1611

II. RexfurJ, 1836 187.28

.1. 1,. Larzalier, 1836 160

N. Haywood, 1836 186.y6

SECTION 3.

James Butler, 1836 811

Davi.l I,ce, 1836 SO

George MeDougall. 1836 80

Porter IIa-/.cHon (State), 1849 210
(ieorge Fleming, 1842 106

L. A. Teber, 1842 103.36

SECTION 4.

James Parsons, 1836 320
Porter Hazelton (State), 1849 160
John Oollins, 1854 101.51

Martin Welch, 1854 101.35

SECTION 5.

Porter Hazelton (State), 1849 682.48

SECTION 6.

Porter Ilnzellon (State), 1849 417.48
Harvey Adams, 1854 207.60
(i. M. Hemingway, 1854 160

SECTION 7.

Porter Ha/,olton (State), 1849 735.68

SECTION 8.

I,. 0. RusRell, 1857 I6II

Porter Hazelton (State), 1849 480

SECTION 9.

Acres,

B. F. Town, 1S36 80
Porter Hazelton, 1849 560

SECTION 10.

James Hiitlcr, 1836 80
John .Starkweather, 1836 80
Edward Jerome, 1836 80
J. M. Filch, 1837 80
Porter Hazelton, 1849 320

SECTION II.

Isaac Hill, 1836 640

SECTION 12.

Horace Foote, 1836 120
iM. I!. Brown, 1836 160

Jonathan Tiirgan, 1837 160
Harry Brotherton, 1837 80
Samuel Ilubbell, 1837 40
E. II. Hazelton, 1854 80

SECTION 13.

E. R. Ewing (State), 1850 640

SECTION 14.

liarrct D. Wall, 1836..... 640

SECTION 15.

(iardus Dunlap, 1836 160

Porter Hazelton (Stale), 1849 480

SECTION 16.

J. S. Knibs (State), 1865 40

J. H. Savage (Slate), 1865 40

E. C. Gulick (State), 1857 80

W. H. Crawford (State), 1854 80

C. R. Speers (State), 1854 80

S.C.Christian (State), 1867 40

D. C. Burpee (State), 1867 40

SECTION 17.

E. Conkling, 1836 240

L. C.Russell, 1837 160

J. G. M. Fisk, 1837 160

Henry Skutt, 1837 80

SECTION 18.

Stephen Fi.sk, 1836 120

E. Staccv, 1837 200

Daniel ISeobe, 1837 40

Joseph Peck, 18,37 80

Porter Hazelton (State), 1849 168.72

SECTION 19.

Philo Curtis, 1836 160

C. H. (iodspeed, 1854 80

J. I). Wright, I8.')4 209.80

Porter Hazelton (State), 1849 80

James UranI (State), 1851-52 211.44

SECTION 20.

James Grant (State), 1849 240

Porter Hazelton (State), 1849 400

SECTION 21.

William T. I.atta, 1854 40

Lorenzo Hrigliam, 1854 120

Porter Hazelton (Stale), 1849 160

James (Irani (State), 1849 320

SECTION 22.

James Wadsworth, 1836 160

I). R. Prlndlo, 1836 80

Porter Hazelton (State), 1849 400

SECTION 2.S.

James Wailsworlh, 1836 240

Almon Whitney, 1836 80
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Acres.

Gaidus Dunlap, 18.36 160

Paul Spofford, 1S36 160

SECTION 24.

Joseph Vallett, 1836 160

David Trombley, 1836 160

E. R. Ewing (State), 1850 320

SECTION 25.

Samuel Goddard, 1836 80

Azel Noyes, 1836 160

G. N. Chapplin, 1836 160

David Trombley, 1836 160

E. R. Ewing (State), 1850 SO

SECTION 26.

James Wadswortb, IS36 160

0. M. Nourse, 1S36 160

E. R. Ewing, 1850 320

SECTION 27.

T. L. L. Brent, 1836 320

John F. Bliss, 1836 320

SECTION 28.

John Robbing, 1836 320

James Grant (State), 1849 320

SECTION 29.

E. H. Hazelton, 1854 160

James Grant (State), 1849 320

Porter Hazelton (Slate), 1849 480

SECTION 30.

H. C. Riggs, 1853 80

C. H. Goodspeed, 1854 80
Porter Hazelton (State), 1849 587.92

SECTION 31.

Alfred Allen, 1834 80
M. C. Cole, 1834 160
Porter Hazelton (State), 1858 514.28

SECTION 32.

E. H. Hazelton, 1854 160
A. P. Greenman, 1854 160
William B. C. Gillett, 1854 80
Porter Hazelton (State), 1849 160
James Grant (State), 1849 80

SECTION 33.

John Martin, 1836 SO
John Robbins, 1836 80
J. F. Russell, 1836 320
Porter Hazelton, 1849 160

SECTION 34.

Colby Chew, 1836 160
Robert R. Howell, 1836 160
Weed and Howell, 1836 80
John Martin, 1836 160
E. H. Hazelton, 1854 80

SECTION 35.

James Wadswortb, 1836 160
D. R. Prindle,lS36 80
S. A. Goddard, 1836 SO
E. H. Brush, 1836 80
James Weed, 1836 80
E. R. Ewing, 1849-50 120

' H. W. Felt, 1849 iO

SECTION 36.

S. A. Goddard, 1836 160
J. L. Larzalere, 1836 160
J. T. Van Vlecli, 1836 80
Edwin Jerome, 1836 80
M. Mallowery, 1836 80
John Wells, 1836 SO

SETTLEMENTS.

The year 1848 saw the finst settlements made within the

limits of Hazelton. Stanton S. Latham and Eli E. Fowles,

who were relatives, came from Gene.see Co., Mich., and lo-

cated upon eighty acres on section 27. They at once built

a cabin and began a small clearing, but made no very de-

cided improvement. Their limited quarters afforded shel-

ter to the settlers who followed, and the ho.spitality extended

by these early pioneers was in no wise governed by the

dimensions of their primitive home. In the family of Mr.

Latham was born the first child in the township, in the year

following their arrival. In his home also occurred the

earliest death,—that of Mrs. Latham, in 1852. Four weeks

later he was married to his second wife by Charles Wilkin-

son, then justice of the peace, in Venice. This was the

earliest marriage in Hazelton. At the house of Mr. Latham

occurred the first township-meeting, in 1850, at which time

the list of voters embraced the following names : Stanton

S. Latham, Salmon Mclntire, J. C. Smith, p]than Lord,

Eli E. Fowles, John Willis, Orrin Black, Otis Burpee, the

latter of whom is the only one of this number still a resi-

dent of the township.

Mr. Latham ultimately removed to the West and became

an emigrant to the wilds of Oregon.

John Willis was a pioneer of 1849. Porter Hazelton

had given forty acres each to Messrs. J. C. Smith, John

Willis, Salmon Mclntire, and J. L. Richardson, under

agreement to effect certain improvements within a specified

time and also to purchase an additional forty acres, to be

paid for as they were able. Mr. Willis located upon eighty

acres on section 22, which he immediately began clearing,

having remained at the house, or rather shanty, of Mr.

Latham while erecting a habitation upon his own laud. He
soon had a very considerable tract cleared, which was sown

with corn and wheat, and presented something of the aspect

of a cultivated farm. He, however, wearied of the labo-

rious monotony of a settler's life, and he removed to Mis-

souri in 1858. Mr. Willis was chosen as the first super-

visor of Hazelton, and filled successive offices during his

brief residence in the township.

Salmon Mclntire, formerly of Ohio, was a companion

in his settlement with John Willis, in 18-19, and located

upon the farm now occupied by F. F. Brewer, on section

15, where he had eighty acres secured under contract from

Porter Hazelton. He lived at the cabin of Stanton S.

Latham while erecting a log house. He devoted some

years to the cultivation of his land, and on his removal,

some years after, removed to Grand Traverse, where he

became a resident.

Otis Burpee removed, in 1849, from Genesee Co., Mich.,

to the township, where he located upon eighty acres on sec-

tion 10. Half of this had been given him by George H.

Hazelton, while the remainder was purchased of him and

paid for on possession having been given. This was en-

tirely unimproved. He started with horses and wagon from

Genesee County and pursued an Indian trail as the only

guide. There were no roads, and the axe was an indispen-

sable implement in his progress. For three nights he found

no habitation, and was obliged to camp out, improvising

such shelter as was possible. Mr. Burpee erected a cabin
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of logs and cleared a few acres, but made no decided prog-

ress until four years later. Latham and Fowles were the

only settlers who had made inroads upon the vast forest of

the township, while Messrs. Willis and Mclntire had built

their cabins, but were still domiciled with the former settlers.

Mr. Burpee soon began the work of improvement, which

eventually resulted in the conversion of his land into a pro-

ductive farm. Ethan D. Lord came at the same time, and

chcse the east half of the southea^ quarter of .section 15,

upon which he began the labor of clearing. Not long after-

wards he moved to Genesee County.

J. L. Richardson arrived the following year, having had

eighty acres under the Hazelton contract, which he selected

upon section \i'2. This land rapidly improved under the

industry manifested by Mr. Richardson, who erected a

comfortable house and did much during his official career

as highway commissioner in 1850 to make various portions

of the township accessible by the laying out of highways.

He was prominent in public enterprises connected with the

township and filled many offices of importance.

J. C. Smith, another of the parties who.se advent is

associated with the Hazelton contracts, arrived in 1850

and became a settler on the east half of the southwest

quarter of section 27. His first work was the erection of

a shelter for his family, after which he began chopping.

Mr. Smith remained several years, and as a result of his

energy left twenty acres of improved land. He ultimately

found a more attractive home in Wisconsin.

The farm finst occupied by John Willis was in 1850

sold to Daniel L. Patterson, who removed from Niagara

Co., N. Y., in the same year. A cabin had already been

built by the former owner, though Mr. Patterson, finding

this insufficient to meet his wants, at once erected a more

spacious one adjoining. He met many obstacles to prog-

ress on his way, and underbrushed a portion of the road

with his jack-knife Salmon Mclntire, who had but re-

cently come in, was the nearest neighbor. Mr. Patterson

added much to the clearing already made by his prede-

cessor, and was actively engaged at an early period in lay-

ing out and opening roads through the township. He was

also an early dispenser of justice in Hazelton, and held his

court within the precincts of the log cabin. His death

occurred upon the farm in 1859. His widow—now Mrs.

Levi Mc(Jarn—still occujjios the estate and the log house

built by him.

The following list embraces the resident tax-payers in

the township of Hazelton for the year 1850, thus showing

pretty nearly who had been the settlers in the township

prior to that time

:

Acres.

Otis liurpce, section 10 SO

Eli E. Fowles, section 27 SO
Stanton S. Latham, sections 27, 23 Ifio

Ethan I), Lord, section 1.^ 80

Salmon Mclntire, section l.'> 80
Abrani I'icrson, section 27 SO

J. L. Uichard.-^on, section 22 SO

Orin ."^milh, section 22 80
.Miiioiid Torrey, section 15 80

.John Willis, section 22 80

Jes.se Rhodes, a former resident of Ohio, became a

pioneer to the township in 1850, having purcha.sed eighty

acres on section 25. His progress was not rapid at first.

the erection of a log hou.se having engaged his attention on

arrival. Later much of the land was cleared and afforded a

bountiful yield of grain. John Willis, one-half mile west,

had already settled and effected a small clearing. Deer and

wolves were among the visitors to the cabin, and the In-

dian in his hunting expeditions occasionally craved a wel-

come and a place before the blazing hearth for the night.

The township was at first .slow in its progress, but later years

have made a perceptible difference in its population. Mr.

Rhodes' death occurred in 1869. Two sons. Ransom and

Marshall, are still residents of the same section, where they

have each well-cultivated farms.

Another of the pioneers of 1850 was H. S. Allen, whose

land lay upon section 15 and embraced eighty acres. Mr.

Allen came from Grand Blanc, Gene.see Co., and was a

cabinet-maker as well as farmer. He built a house of logs

and effected some improvement, but ultimately removed to

Corunna, and later to Newburg, in Shiawassee township.

W. W. Warner emigrated from Potter Co., Pa., in 1852,

and located on section 34, where he purchased one hundred

and sixty acres. On a small clearing amid this wilderness

he built a board shanty, hauling the boards with an ox-

team from Flushing, where he remained while building.

Ten acres were chopped the first year, a small portion of

which was planted with corn. The following year Mr.

Warner built a substantial frame dwelling, in which he still

resides. Indians occasionally visited the house and brought

game and fish in exchange for other supplies. Early relig-

ious services were held at the houses of the settlers. Elder

W. J. Kent having been the first to conduct these exercises.

Mr. Warner has taken a prominent part in the development

of the township and manifested much public spirit during

his active career. He has been for successive terms super-

visor and held other minor offices.

C. S. Gillet, another early pioneer, came in 1853 (having

formerly been a resident of New York State), and purchased

eighty acres of uncleared land on section 9. Upon this he

erected the customary log house and began the improvement

of the land, having four sons who came with him and

assisted in the labor of clearing. Mr. Gillet was among

the early township officers and held many official positions

of responsibility. He later removed to and is still a resi-

dent of Flushing, his sons having also gone from the

township.

John liowman emigrated tinm Germany in 1850, and in

1855 became a pioneer in Hazelton. Section 20 afforded

him an eligible location, upon which he purchased one hun-

dred and twenty acres. Henry St. John, then a resident

of section 35, extended him a welcome on his arrival. Mr.

Bowman accompli.shcd but little in the way of improvement,

his time having been principally devoted to lumbering. The

timber for his first residence was drawn from Flushing, two

hundred feet being regarded as a lair load on account of

the exceedingly bad roads. The family suiiplies were car-

ried from the latter village ujion his back lui Saturday even-

ing. He has now reached a cundition when these depriva-

tions are but recollections of the past . 1 1 is present spacious

residence, built in 1870, bears witnc-is to the success which

has been the reward of his industry.

Jacob ('. Hniwii came liom Livingston Co., Mich., in
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1855. He purchased one hundred and sixty acres on sec-

tion 23. to which he afterwards added eighty acres on sec-

tion 24, formerly owned by John WilUs and partially im-

proved by him, after he had removed from his first purchase.

His brother, James Brown, had preceded him and located

upon section 24, where he for years resided, but ultimately

removed to Grand Blanc, having sold to William Eames.

The former erected a house of logs, while the yard was

partially inclosed by a maple-tree which was felled across

the front, and with a gate at the end did duty as a fence.

Mr. Brown began the labor of chopping and converted much

of the land into productive acres. He filled many town-

ship offices and was prominent as one of its most energetic

citizens. In 1877 he purchased a farm of fifty-four acres

within the limits of the city of Corunna, upon which he

now resides.

Amos Lewis came from Flint iu 185G and purchased a

tract of forty acres on section 29, which was uncleared on

his arrival. John Decker, a near neighbor, formerly of

Genesee County, offered him shelter while building a house.

Soon after his arrival Mr. Lewis was a victim to fever and

ague, which rendered labor impossible. For that reason

little progress was made during the time immediately suc-

ceeding his arrival. He remained upon this farm until

1870, when the township of Rush oflFered superior attrac-

tions, but later years found him again a resident of Hazelton

on section 33.

Elijah Coons, a pioneer of the same year, located upon

one hundred acres on section 32, formerly the home of John

Phipps, who had made some inroads upon the forest and

built a cabin, to which Mr. Coons removed. He was also

a victim to the prevailing malady of the day—ague—and

made little progress at first. He is still a resident of the

township.

George Jacobs, a former resident of the Green Mountain

State, settled in 1857, upon sixty-five acres on section 7,

which on his arrival was little else than an unbroken wilder-

ness. Eli H. Day, who was a pioneer upon the same sec-

tion, had preceded him and was liis nearest neighbor.

With him Mr. Jacobs found a temporary home while erect-

ing a log house, to which settlers from various parts of Hazel-

ton and adjoining townships came to the raising. This house

was occupied without waiting for the modern conveniences of

doors and windows. R. J. Holmes became a resident of the

same section soon after. Deer were abundant and afforded

a considerable addition to the family supplies. Mr. Jacobs

was a skillful marksman, and many of these fleet-footed ani-

mals fell victims to his unerring aim. He was an early

highway commissioner, and assisted in laying out many of

the early roads in the northwest portion of the township.

He still resides upon his original purchase, which he has

made into a highly-productive farm.

B. Dutcher preceded Mr. Jacobs by two years, having

come from Livingston County and located upon one hun-

dred and sixty acres on section 6. On coming from his

former home he met many obstacles to progress, and for

some distance was obliged to underbrush the road as he

came. J. A. Clough, a near neighbor iu New Haven, ex-

tended his hospitality wliile erecting a log cabin, after which

he proceeded to the labor of clearing, and improved eigh-

teen acres during the first year. Mr. Dutcher was for

many years somewhat isolated, but few settlers having

chosen the northwest portion of the township as a resi-

dence. At the close of the war, however, the land was

rapidly developed. Corunna attracted Mr. Dutcher in

1877, and he now resides there.

Levi Morse, formerly of Genesee Co., N. Y., came

to Hazelton in 1858, and located upon eighty acres on

section 30, which afforded a good field for development.

His neighbor at the time was Reuben Chapin, who then

resided on the same section, whither he had removed from

Canada. Later he moved to the West, but returned again

to Chesaning, in Saginaw County. Mr. Morse enjoyed

Mr. Chapin's hospitality while erecting a home. The first

year five acres were cleared, and from that time on much

improvement was the result of his labor, until the farm he

early purchased is now under a high state of cultivation.

Emery Lewis was a pioneer of 1859, from Ingham

County, though originally from the Empire State. His

first purchase was eighty acres on section 29, which has

since been increased to one hundred and sixty, with an

additional forty upon section 31. This site was originally

the home of John Decker, who had effected a partial

clearing and built a house upon it. Mr. Lewis continued

these improvements, and ultimately converted the land

into a fruitful farm, upon which he now resides. His

present house was built nine years since.

F. F. Brewer located upon the land formerly secured by

Salmon Mclntire, and described as the east half of the

southwest quarter of section 15, which he purchased in

1860, and has greatly enhanced in value. Mr. Brewer is

a citizen of much public .spirit, and has been frequently

elected to important township offices.

L. H. Barrett, a former resident of Oakland County,

located in 1863 upon forty acres on section 28, on which

he still resides.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND LIST OF
OFFICERS.

The survey of the township of Hazelton was made by

Joseph Wampler, who was employed by the government in

the capacity of deputy surveyor, and performed much labor

throughout the county. Hazelton was formerly a portion

of the township of New Haven, and was erected as an in-

dependent township by the act of the Legislature (approved

March 25, 1850) which provided " That town No. 8 north,

of range No. 4 east, in the county of Shiawassee, be and

the same is hereby set off from the township of New Ha-

ven and organized into a separate township by the name of

Hazelton, and the first township-meeting therein shall be

held at the house of Stanton S. Latham, in said township.'.

Under the provisions of this act the electors of the town-

ship of Hazelton met at the house of Stanton S. Latham,

on the 30th day of April, 1850, for the purpose of choosing

township ofiicers. Orrin Smith was appointed moderator,

and E. D. Lord and John Willis inspectors of election.

The following officers were elected for the year : Super-

visor, Orrin Smith ; Township Clerk, J. L. Richardson
;

Treasurer, E. D. Lord ; Highway Commissioners, Stanton

S. Latham, J. L. Richardson, Otis Burpee ; Justices of
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the Peace, Abrara Pearson, S. D. Latham, John Willis, J.

L. Richardson ; School Inspectors, E. D. Lord, Otis Bur-

pee ; Directors of Poor, Abram Pearson, E. E. Fowls;

Constable, E. E. Fowls.

The township officers of Hazelton elected in succeeding

years from that time until the present have been as follows,

viz.

:

1851.—Supervisor, Orrin Smith; Township Clerk, J. L.

Richardson; Highway Commissioners, J. C.

Smith, E. D. Lord ; Ju.stice, D. H. Patterson
;

School Inspectors, 0. Smith, E. D. Lord ; Direc-

tors of Poor, J. C. Smith, E. D. Lord ; Con-

stable, E. E. Fowles.

1852.—Supervisor, O. W. Smith ; Township Clerk, J. L.

Richardson; Treasurer, John Willis; Justices,

J. L. Richardson, J. C. Smith ; Hii^hway Com-

missioners, S. Mclntire, E. E. Fowles ; School

Inspector, Abram Pearsons ;
Directors of Poor,

S. Mclntire, J. C. Smith; Constable, Ransom

Rhodes.

1853.—Supervisor, H. S. Allen; Township Clerk, J. L.

Richardson ; Highway Commissioner, S. Mcln-

tire ; School Inspector, Abram Pearsons ; Treas-

urer, John Willis.

1854.—Supervisor, John Willis; Township Clerk, W. W.
Warner ;

Treasurer, J. L. Richardson ; High-

way Commissioners, W. W. Warner, A. Cum-

mings ; School Inspector, A. W. Rhodes ; Di-

rector of Poor, A. B. Woodcock ; Justice, John

Willis ; Constable. A. B. Woodcock.

1855.—Supervisor, John Willis; Township Clerk, W. W.

Warner ;
Treasurer, A. W. Gillet ; Justice, John

Phipps ; Directors of Poor, E. Flemmings, J.

L. Richardson ; Highway Commissioner, A. W.
Rhodes; Constable, F. H. Conklin.

1856.—Supervisor, J. Willis; Township Clerk, F. H.

Conklin ; Treasurer, A. W. Gillet ; School In-

spector, VV. B. Gillet ; Justice, W. C. Day

;

Directors of Poor, E. II. Sherwood, A. W.
Rhodes; Highway Commissioner, G. Bennett;

Constables, E. II. Sherwood, G. Bennett.

1857.—Supervisor, A. Pearsons; Townshij) Clerk, F. H.

Conklin ;
Tretisurer, J. D. Newell ; Justices, W.

W. Warner, B. Dutcher; Highway Commis-

sioner, J. Ferris; Constables, L. Bentley, \V. h.

Emery, A. Cummins, P. Frazier.

1858.—Supervisor, John Willis; Treasurer, J. B. IIol-

comb ; Ju.stices, A. Pearsons, John Willis;

Highway Commissioner, Otis Burpee
;
Consta-

ble, S. S. Gillett.

1859.—Supervisor, Daniel Torrcy ; Township Clerk, J. L.

Richardson ; Treasurer, D. B. Ilolcomb
;
Jus-

tices, Daniel Torrey, W. W. Warner; School

Inspector, George Jacobs; Highway Commis-

sioners, George Jacobs, J. C. Brown ; Directors

of Poor, J. W. Rickly, John Judd ;
Constables,

Cyrus Brigham, H. E. Burges, M. A. Pixley,

William Emery.

1860 Supervisor, D. Torrey; Townsiiij) Clerk, 1*. F.

Brewer; Treasurer, J. L. Richardson ; Justices,

Jacob Ferris, W. C. Day, M. E. Rhodes ; High-

way Commissioner, L. Colby, Jr.
;
Constables,

C. P. Day, Nathan Colby, Amos Lewis, W. W.

Emery.

1861.—Supervisor, J. C. Brown; Township Clerk, F. F.

Brewer; Treasurer, J. H. Brown; Justices, W.
W. Warner, D. B. Holcomb, William Piper;

Highway Commissioner, Emery Lewis ; School

Inspectors, James King, L. L. Houghton ; Con-

stables, W. Emery, C. P. Day, Alex. Kellas, J.

Featherby.

1862.—Supervisor, F. F. Brewer ; Township Clerk, D. B.

Holcomb; Ju.stice, J. C. Brown; Treasurer, F.

H. Conklin ; Highway Commissioners, J. Aus-

tin, Nathan Colby ;
School Inspector, Benjamin

Dunlap ; Constables, W. Fames, W. W. Emery,

Wm. Nobles, W. Amidon.

1863.—Supervisor, F. F. Brewer ; Township Clerk, Stephen

D. Warren ; Treasurer, L. Benchley ; Justice, A.

W. Gillet; Highway Commissioner, C. S. Gillet;

School Inspector, C. P. Day ;
Constables, W. W.

Emery, S. D. Warren, L. Benchley, S. S. Gillet.

1864.—Supervisor, F. F. Brewer ; Township Clerk, S. D.

Warren ; Treasurer, Loren Benchley ; Justices,

W. C. Day, Henry Lewis ; Highway Commis-

sioners, D. C. Pierce, C. W. Smith ; School

Inspector, L. L. Houghton ; Constables, L.

Brigham, C. W. Smith, S. D. Warren, William

Lyon.

1865.—Supervisor, W. W. Warner ; Township Clerk, Isaac

Sutton ; Treasurer, F. Benchley ; Highway Com-

missioners, E. Coons, John King, Jr., D. W.

Gillet ; School Inspectors, Daniel Torrey, L. L.

Houghton ; Constable, L. Benchley.

1866.—Supervisor, F. F. Brewer; Township Clerk, L. H.

Barrett; Trea-surer, L. Benchley; Justices, J.

C. Brown, D. W. Eames ; Highway Commis-

sioner, S. S. Puffer ; School Inspectors, Wm.
Eames, A. KcU

;
Constables, W. W. Emery, C.

W. Smith.

1867.—Supervisor, S. S. Bush ; Township Clerk, L. H.

Barrett ;
Treasurer, Wni. Eames ;

Justices, 0.

Hathaway, L. H. Barrett ; Highway Commis-

sioner, J. Austin ; Constables, O. Butterfield,

Sullivan Fay, H. Fra/.ier, A. Featherby.

1868.—Supervisor, F. F. Brewer; Township Clerk, L. H.

Barrett; Treasurer, Wm. Eames; Highway

Commissioner, Gilbert Heminway ; Justices,

George Jacobs, Phili]) Holland, .lolin Feath-

erby ; School Inspectors, Wm. Eames, E. M.

Judd; Constables, William Emery, Jackson

Barrett.

18611.—Supcrvi-sor, h\ 11. Brewer; Townsliiii Clerk, Cal-

vin Rich; Treasurer, Wm. Eames; Justices,

I). B. Holioml), Wilson West; Highway Com-

niissioncrs, C. W. Smith, E. S. Joni's ; Sehool

Inspector, Wm. Eames; Constables, L. 11. Bar-

rett, F. F. Brewer, \i. Brigham, Patrick Mnrpliy.

1870.—Supervisor, N\'. W. Warner; 'J'ownship Clerk, J*.

II. Barri'tl ;
TreiLsurer, John King; Justices,
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W. W. Warner, Alnion Brown ; Highway Com-

missioner, E. H. Joues; Constables, 0. Carpen-

ter, F. F. Brewer, B. F. Austin.

1871.—Supervisor, F. F. Brewer; Township Clerk, A. C.

Brown ;
Treasurer, John King ; Justice, A.

Houghton ;
School Inspector, William Eames

;

Highway Commissioner, Levi Morse ; Constables,

A. J. Featherby, Charles Lowrie, 0. Carpenter,

Wm. Emery.

1872.—Supervisor, W. W. Warner; Township Clerk, B.

F. Dunlap; Treasurer, John King; Justice, J.

C. Brown ;
Highway Commissioners, C. C. Law-

son, George Cronk ;
Drain Commissioner, Eras-

tus Call ; Constables, Thomas Lawton, W. W.

Emery, R. J. Holmes, George Welsh.

1873.—Supervisor, W. W. Warner; Township Clerk, B.

F. Dunlap ; Treasurer, John King ; Justice,

Caleb Lawson ; Highway Commissioner, George

Cronk ; Drain Commissioner, Erastus Call

;

Constables, L. Brigham, A. Dutcher, W. W.

Emery, R. Davis.

1874.—Supervisor, L. H. Barrett; Township Clerk, Wm.
Stage ; Treasurer, John King

;
Justices, W. W.

Warner, H. A. Feuner ; Highway Commis-

sioner, Levi Morse ; Drain Commissioner, Daniel

Cameron ; School Inspector, F. F. Brewer

;

Constables, W. W. Emery, S. Lyons, Isaac

Lewis, J. L. Delbridge.

1875.—Supervisor, L. H. Barrett; Township Clerk, F.

I. Richardson ; Treasurer, William Eames ; Su-

perintendent of Schools, H. A. Fenner ; School

Inspector, F. F. Brewer; Highway Commis-

sioner, Nathan Colby ; Justice, Wm. Emery

;

Drain Commissioner, Hiram Monroe ; Consta-

bles, Samuel Lyons, A. 0. Bush, C. W. Thorp.

1876.—Supervisor, L. H. Barrett; Township Clerk, F. I.

Richardson ; Treasurer, Wm. Eames ; Superin-

tendent of Schools, H. A. Fenner ; School In-

spector, F. F. Brewer; Highway Commissioner,

N. Colby; Justice, Carlos Burbauks ; Consta-

bles, A. 0. Bush, William Emery, 0. Brown,

Wallace Purse.

1877.—Supervisor, L. H. Barrett; Township Clerk, F. I.

Richardson ; Treasurer, F. F. Brewer ; Superin-

tendent of Schools, H. A. Fenner ; School In-

spector, F. F. Brewer ; Highway Commissioner,

W. H. Lyons; Justices, W. Decatur, John Far-

rar ; Constables, F. Featherby, W. W. Emery,

C. M. Braddock, Peter Brown.

1878.—Supervisor, L. II. Barrett ; Township Clerk, F. I.

Richardson ; Treasurer, F. F. Brewer
; Justices,

C. K. Runnells, Alanson Kimble; Highway

Commissioner, Erastus Call ; Superintendent of

Schools, H. C. Fenner; School Inspector, F. F.

Brewer ; Drain Commissioner, James Garrison
;

Constables, F. Featherby, Aaron Hartshorn,

Peter Jones, E. II. Munson.

1879.—Supervisor, F. I. Richardson
;
Township Clerk, H.

P. Niles ; Treasurer, C. K. Runnells ; School

Inspector, L. H. Barrett; Superintendent of

Schools, H. A. Fenner ; Drain Commi.ssioner,

James Fee ; Highway Commissioner, E. Call

;

Constables, J. S. Thompson, A. M. Brown, E.

D. Babcock, Robert Easton.

1880.—Supervisor, F. I. Richardson
; Township Clerk, H.

P. Niles; Treasurer, C. K. Runnells; Highway

Commissioner, Ambro.se Austin ; Superintendent

of Schools, 0. W. Took ; Drain Commissioner,

James Fee ; Justice, J. R. Farr ; School In-

spector, W. E. Jacobs
;
Constables, John Sharp,

A. Brown, Aaron Hartshorn.

THE EARLIEST HIGHWAYS.
For some years after the first settlement of the township

very few highways had been surveyed, and the earliest set-

tlers met with many obstacles to necessary travel. The

first recorded road was surveyed when Hazelton was still a

part of New Haven. As no date is given it is impossible

to give the time of survey, though the commissioners who

directed the work were Walter R. Seymour, Richard Free-

man, and Cyrenus Clark. It is described as " beginning at

the northwest corner of section 8, township 8 north, of

range 4 ea.st, and running thence north eighty-seven and

three-quarter degrees east on section-line eighty chains and

fifty links ; thence north eighty-seven and three-quarter

degrees ea.st on section-line seventy-eight chains thirteen

links to the northeast corner of section 9 ; thence north

eighty-seven and three-quarter degrees east two hundred

and thirty-eight chains fifty links to the northeast corner of

section 12, on the county-line."

Another road began at the northeast corner of section 9,

and ran thence by a great number of recorded courses and

distances to the northeast corner of section 34, in township

8 north, of range 4 east.

Later roads were surveyed as settlers became more numer-

ous. Excellent highways, which are maintained at a con-

siderable cost to the township, now traverse every portion

of its territory.

SCHOOLS.

The township was, soon after its organization, divided

into districts, whose boundaries were enlarged or diminished

as circumstances demanded. The earliest school in Hazel-

ton was taught in the year 1851, by Mrs. Daniel L. Pat-

terson, in a log cabin standing upon the farm of her husband,

on section 22, which was built by John Willis. It was

embraced within the boundaries of district No. 1, and the

succeeding teacher was Miss Mary Gillet, now Mrs. Nathan

Colby. The earliest school in the Judd neighborhood was

taught by Miss Jane Judd, now Mrs. John Bowman, in

1854, in a log school-house built the same year on sec-

tion 34.

The present territory of Hazelton is divided into seven

whole, and two fractional, districts. The board of directors

is composed of the following gentlemen : John A. Fitch,

L. H. Barrett, G. Garner, Enoch Wing, Batus Snyder, F.

J. Richardson, I. S. Jones, D. Beatty, J. C. Bronson.

The number of children receiving instruction is four

hundred and forty-eight, of whom twenty-eight are non-

residents. They are under the direction of eight male and

nine female teachers. The value of school property in



HAZELTON TOWNSHIP. 233

Hazelton is fimr thousand cijijht hundred dollars, which in-

cludes 01)0 log and eight frame school-houses.

CHURCH HISTOKY.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The first cla.ss of this denomination was organized Feb.

21, 1858, under the direction of Rev. S. W. Wooster, it

having been at that time a part of the Owosso district.

Its members were John Judd, Loren Bensley, Matilda

Judd, Jane Bensley, Mary Kellogg, JwHus Kellogg, John

Bowman, Klisha Coons, Hcpsah Coons, Jane Bowman,

Moses A. Pixley, John Judd, Jr., Edward Judd, Lorenzo

Brighani, John Meeker, Betsey Meeker. The llev. S. W.

Wooster, after having organized the class, left it in charge

of Rev. Jesse Bradford, now of Grand Rapids, who was

the active pa.stor for a period of five years, Loren Bensley

having been the first class-leader. In 1859 it was reorgan-

ized and became a part of the Corunna Circuit. Rev. L.

H. York succeeded to the pastorate in 185'J, and D. W.

Hammond acted as supply. Since that time the clergymen

in .succession have been as follows: 1860, Rev. Samuel

Wilkinson; 1861, Rev. J. H. Cornalia; 1863, Rev.

Thomas Wakelin ; from 1864 to 1867, supplies; 1867,

Rev. A. A. Allen; 1869, Rev. Joel B. Goss; 1872, Rev.

A. Whitcomb; 1873, Rev. Thomas Wakelin; 1875, Rev.

D. M. Van Deusen ; 1878, Rev. D. M. Ward
; 1879, Rev.

Edward Steer.

The present commodious church edifice was erected in

1871, and dedicated in October, 1874. Its debt of sixteen

hundred dollars is entirely liquidated, and a par.sonage has

also be(!n purchased by the society. A Sabbath-school

numbering sixty scholars is connected with the church, of

which the pastor is superintendent.

PHOTE.STANT METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

Very few facts regarding this churcl) are at command.

The class was organized many years .since and religious

services held at the Gillet school-house. An effort w;w

made to erect a house of worship, which was so far suc-

cessful that in 1879 ground was chosen at Lothrop, and the

building proceeded toward completion, when some unfor-

tunate circumstances caused a temporary su.spen8ion of the

work. The present pastor is Rev. Mr. SiiydcM-. The

trustees are Aaron lloxie, Isaac Wood, and Jjconard lloU-

ncr.

Th(^ building eonimittee is composed of John Frames,

Isaac Wood, Robert Craig.

SEVENTH-DAY ADVENTISTS.

The society of this denomination was organized in 1873,

under the direction of Elders Van Horn and Lane, meetings

having at first been held in Flushing, and later in the

school-house on section 34, in Hazelton. Various preachers

have .since that time supplied tlie pulpit. The society,

which has grown more flourishing as it advanced in years,

is now erecting a house of worshiji on the southeast corner

of section 26.

IIAZKI/L'ON (iKANOE, No. GOfi.

This grange was organized in 1875, with thirty-three

members, the following having been its first officers : Daniel

30

Cameron, M. ; L. H. Barrett, Secretary ; John Bowman,

Treasurer; F. I. Richardson, Lecturer; Edward .ludd,

Chaplain. The present officers are L. H. Barrett, M.;

Frank Twitchell, Secretary ;
John Towle, Tre;isurer ; A. O.

Bush, Lecturer; Edward Judd, Chaplain. A spacious

liall is owned by the organization, which also has a flourish-

ing supply department, of which Edward Judd is pur-

chasing-agent. Fifty names are enrolled upon its member-

ship list.

LoTlIllOI' VILLAGE.

The following description of the plat of the village of

Lothrop is recorded :
" Commencing at a point on the

section-line between sections two and eleven, township

eight north, of range four east, said point being eight

hundred and twenty-nine feet ea.st of the corner of sections

two, three, ten, and eleven, thence north parallel with the

west line of section two four hundred and thirty-three feet,

thence west fifty-five feet, thence north parallel with said

section-line three hundred and ninety-six feet, thence west

parallel with the south line of section two seven hundred

and seventy-four feet, thence west parallel with the south

line of section three eight hundred and twenty-nine feet,

thence south parallel with the east line of section three

eight hundred and twenty-nine feet, thence south parallel

with the east line of section ten eight hundred and twenty-

nine feet, thence east parallel with the north line of section

ten eight hundred and twenty-nine feet, thence east parallel

with the north line of section eleven eight hundred and

twenty-nine feet, thence north parallel with the west line of

section eleven eight hundred and twenty-nine feet, to the

place of beginning. Blocks 3, 4, 5, and 6 belong to N.

Colby; blocks 9, 10, 15, and Iti, to Gideon Silverthorue;

blocks 1 and 2 are reserved for Messrs. Runnells and Craig;

and the remainder of the blocks and lots belong to F. Berry.

Surveyed October 15th, KJtli, 17th, and ISth, by Lyman

Mason, C. E."

A tract of one hundred and sixty acres of land, upon a

portion of which the village of Lothrop is built, w;is en-

tered in 1836 by James Butler, of New York. This

included eighty acres each on sections 3 and 10, the latter

of which was purchased in 1855 by A. W. Gillet and a

man named Luce. In 1858, Nathan and Levi Colby set-

tled upon section 10, and the former brother, in 1865,

purchased the e;ust half of the southeast quarter of section

3, upon which ho built a residence. Gideon Silverlhorne

came in 1871, and also erected a dwelling. The .same year

Alexander Bailey came from Oakland County and built a

store, in which he placed a small slock of goods and liegiin

his career as the pioneer merchant. Francis Berry arrived

in 1875, and purchased the Gillet ]>ro))erly, which he im-

]iroved in various ways. He also establi.-'hed hiniself us a

merchant, but later sold to C. K. Runnells and resumed Ids

former calling, tli:i( of a clergyman. Mr. Hunnells also

—

in connection with bis partner—buill llie gristmill, and

Mr. Colby eonslnielcd a lilacksniitbshop, which was leiused

to N. Fenncr. iMr. Bi'iiy, in 1878, erected a spacious

store, which is now occupied by Messrs. Niles & Co., who

conduct an extensive business in general merchandising.

In 1879, Mr. Colby built a hotel of considerable proper-
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tions, and Andrew Krebs a harness-shop, and later a second

shop.

The business interests of the place may be summed up

as follows :

A. N. Niles & Co. and C. K. llunnells, dry goods, gro-

ceries, etc.

John Hart, groceries and clothing.

A. Krebs, harness, etc.

David Krebs, shoe-shop.

William Hill, blacksmith-shop.

N. Fenner, blacksmith-shop.

W. H. Reid, blacksmith-shop.

E. P. Beam, wagon-shop.

John Sharp, restaurant and livery-stable.

James Berry, harness-shop.

llunnells & Craig, saw- and grist-mills.

N. Colby, hotel.

Dr. 0. W. Tock is the active physician and surgeon of

the place, and C. K. llunnells the postmaster.

By order of the Post-Office Department the office has

been changed to New Lothrop, though no change of a

corresponding nature has been recorded with regard to the

name of the village.

Flouring-Mill and Saw-Mill.—The flouring-mill of llun-

nells & Craig, which has the reputation of being one of the

most complete in the county in all its appointments, was

constructed by the present proprietors in 1877; It is pro-

pelled by an engine of thirty-five horse-power, and has

three run of stones. It is devoted exclusively to custom-

work, and has a capacity for grinding one hundred bushels

of wheat and two hundred bushels of corn per day. The

average custom-work done per day is eighty bushels, though

at times this is greatly increased. The most approved

modern machinery for manufacturing flour by the patent

process has been introduced.

The saw-mill owned by the same firm is also propelled

by steam. It has an upright saw and an edger, and has a

capacity for sawing five thousand feet of hard timber per

day. The market is found in Owosso and East Saginaw.

HAZELTONVILLE.

A portion of the laud upon which the village of Hazel-

tonville is located was originally entered by Gen. James

Wadsworth, of Geneseo, N. Y., in 183G, eighty acres of

which was purchased by Eliakim Wood of the Wadsworth

estate. That part which borders on section 14 was for-

merly in possession of Hiram A. Fenner, while that on 22

—also a part of the Wadsworth purchase—was subse-

quently controlled by H. J. Patterson. In the year 1872,

Erastus Call and B. F. Dunlap each erected a store, the

former having also built a house and a cooper-shop. His

residence was brief, the same year having witnessed both

his arrival and departure. During the year 1874, Almond
Kimball erected a saw-mill and a grist-mill on the Misteau-

guay Creek, the power having been supplied by the stream

upon which it is located. The latter was furnished with

two run of stones and was devoted exclusively to custom-

work. Dean Hartshorn had arrived some time before and

opened a blacksmith-shop, which monopolized most of the

work of the neighborhood. Soon after, Lewis Elliott

opened a similar shop, and shared the patronage with his

predecessor. Several houses had meanwhile been erected,

and in 1878 another blacksmith- and wagon-shop was

opened. In 1879, Dana Bros, built a store, which was

filled with a stock of goods adapted to the wants of their

country trade ; and Thomas Ackerson and Benjamin San-

bom each established a wagon-shop. John Thompson also

opened a boot- and shoe-shop, the only one in the place.

The Post-Office Department has established here an

office, known as Hazelton, of which William Gage is post-

master. There is no hotel in the hamlet, but travelers are

entertained at the house of B. F. Dunlap.

JUDD'S CORNERS.

This point in the township was first settled by John

Judd, who came from Connecticut to Genesee County in

1836, and removed to Hazelton in 1858. He purchased of

the Hazelton brothers four hundred acres of land on sections

33 and 34 in the township, and section 3 in Venice. He
settled at once on this land, erected a cabin, and cleared ten

acres. The following year fourteen acres were added .to the

former improvement and much of it sown with wheat,

though the exceeding richness of the ground rendered the

crop a poor one. Leeks were prolific in their growth, and

the most formidable antagonist with which the settler con-

tended.

In 1854 a school-house was erected on section 34, in

which Miss Jane Judd was the earliest teacher. George

Pangborn bought a portion of section 34, upon which he

soon after made a small clearing. It was not until many

years later that any actual growth was apparent at the Cor-

ners.

In 1877 a blacksmith-shop was opened by A. Babcock,

and H. A. Brickwell built a saw-mill. In 1879 a spacious

store was erected by Wellington Cameron, who placed in it

a general stock of goods. His health failed soon afterwards

and the business was assumed by John Judd, who now

conducts the store. The saw-mill is at present operated

by John Fitch & Son, and a shoe-shop has also been

opened at the Corners. Dr. C. J. Anuis is the physician

and surgeon of the neighborhood.

The Methodist Episcopal church and the Grangers'

h;dl are both located at Judd's Corners. A post-office was

established in 1879, with E. D. Babcock as postmaster.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.
1

JOHN JUDD.

The genealogy of the Judd family traces their ancestry

back to the puritanical times of 1633-34. Thomas Judd

emigrated to this country, and settled at Cambridge, Mass.,

being eight generations removed from the present subject

of this sketch. John Judd, the father, married Abigail

Palmer, a descendant of Governor Carver, first Governor of

the State of Massachusetts. John Judd, the present, was

the eldest of a family of seven children, and born at Hart-

ford, Conn., June 15, 1809, where he continued until about
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twenty-one years of age, followiug the occupation of cooper.

lu that capacity he shipped aboard an outward-bound whaler,

and for three years followed the sea, vi.siting the Portuguese

island St. Helena, the burial-place of Napoleon, doubled

Cape Good Hope, and fished in the Straits of Mozambique

and Madagascar, visited the coast of Africa, and was twice

shipwrecked, barely escaping a watery grave. He turned his

face homeward, and on his arrival, July 27, 1834, married

Matilda Leach,—whose parents were Thomas and Temper-

ance Leach, descendants of the old Puritanical emigrants of

that name who settled at Norwich, Conn.,—and without the

tour which is considered .so e.ssential to the happiness of

the newly W(^dded they immediately started a home at

Hartford, Conn., where they resided until 1836, when a

colony of the Methodist Church was organized for emigra-

tion. Michigan was chosen as the future home. D. L.

Helden was appointed agent, and came to Michigan, visited

.several localities, finally decided to locate in Genesee County,

and purcha.sed nineteen hundred acres in the town of llicli-

field. As the time for departure drew near one after another

gave notice of their abandoning the enterprise, preferring

the comforts of a home by name instead of one in reality

in a new and >initn])roved cduntry. At the day appiiintcd

but two, 1>. L. Helden aiul John Judd and family, deiiarled,

and, after the usual fatigue and hardships incident to a

journey overland and by lake, tlu^y arrived at their destina-

tion fatigued and sore, but not disheartened. Mr. Judd

purchased eighty acres of Mr. Helden, to be paid fur in

work, and for a period of five years the struggle to meet

his payments, improve his land, and maintain his coiLstantly-

iiicreasing family continued, when lii^ was obliged to ex-

change his improved farm fur wild land, necessitated by

the non-payment of county orders, which he had received

in payment for contract highway work. A journey half

across the continent and we find them at Norwich, Conn.

Broken and despondent, they turned back to seek rest.

Five years later, with renewed strength and energy, they

returned to begin anew the pioneer lite, their past experi-

ence being turned to good account. Mr. Judd invested

their accumulations in merchandise, and connecting with

it the manufacturing of black salts and potash, ho was

enabled to carry forward, improvements more rapidly and

with less physical labor to himself. In 1854 an exchange

was made for four hundred acres in Hazclton township,

Shiawas.sce Co., and for a third time he began the subduing

of the wilderness. Since that time improvements have gone

rapidly forward, resulting in a finely-improved farm-home.

Not alone have men subdued the wilderness, but by their

side come her upon whom no purer, holier appellation than

that of wife can be bestowed. Sundering the ties that bind

them to home and its hallowed influences, they go forth to

do and endure for the .sake of those who call llieni wife

and mother. Such a one was Mrs. Judd, and when liuuie

comforts were provided, and while carefully instructing lier

own in the path of rectitude and virtue, she found time

and opportunity to aid others. Originally she was a Vow-

gregationalist, but finding the nnijority of new cciniers

favoring Methodism Mr. and Mrs. .ludd uniteil their efforts

in building up the wiuse, and to-day nil join in acknowledg-

ing the present advancement in church interest largely duo

ti) tlw'ir eli'orts. On April 18, 18i;il, Mrs. Judd pa.ssed

away, aged sixty-six, having lived to see her family of five
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children grown to men and women, and all within the ark

of safety for which end she had so untiringly labored.

Thomas, born April 30, 1835, at Hartford, Conn., resides

at Macosta, Mo. ; Jane M., born Sept. 19, 1838, at Rich-

field, Genesee Co., Mich., wife of John Boman ; Edwin and

Edward, born Sept. 1, 1840, at Richfield, each reside upon

part of the old homestead ; John, born Dec. 14, 1841, at

Norwich, Conn., also resides on part of the old homestead.

All the male members of the family served during the

Rebellion for a period of three years each. Edwin was

taken prisoner at Gettysburg, John was wounded at Fall-

ing Waters, and Thomas at Murfreesboro', Tenn. All

lived to return home.

In 1879, Mr. Judd married Mrs. Nancy Reed, who

resided in Montrose township, Genesee Co., an active mem-

ber of society and a member of the Methodist Episcopal

Church, an early pioneer, and together they are journeying

down the hill of life, surrounded by many friends. Mrs.

Nancy Judd was born in 1816 in Loekport, Niagara Co.,

N. Y. Her maiden name was Nancy Perry. She was

previously married to Willard Pettie, and reared a large

family, now all grown to man and womanhood.

MRS. \V. W. WARNER. W. \V. WARNEE.

W. W. WARNER.

The family of Mr. Warner dates back to the early settle-

ment of the English colonies. In this country his grand-

father, Samuel Warner, resided at Hartford, Conn., follow-

ing the occupation of miller, and was the father of five

children. William H., a son, was born July 5, 1762,

followed his father's occupation until of age, when he came

as far We-st as Cortland Co., N. Y., and found employment

at farming. Sept. 7, 1819, he married Polly Gill, by whom

he had four children. Five years after this marriage they

removed to Potter Co., Pa., where they spent the residue

of their lives. W. W. Warner, whose portrait appears in

this work, was born Aug. 11, 1824, at the first home, and

after his boyhood days followed the occupation of millwright,

carpenter, and joiner. In 1850 he married Susan Latta,

a native of Steuben Co., N. Y., whose family had removed

to Potter Co., Pa., as early as 1836. Fn the fall of 1852

he with his family journeyed West and located upon his

present farm in Hazelton, then a wilderness, with but

eight families residing in the town.ship. From Flu.shing,

Genesee Co., nothing biit an Indian trail marked the way.

Turning from this, they cut a passage for the ox-team which

he had hired to haul material for a shanty ; this completed

he returned to Flushing, where Mrs. Warner had tarried,

and on Nov. 24, 1852, built their first fire upon their hearth,

which has ever during the pioneer life burned bright in

welcome to others .seeking a home in the wilderness. But

years have passed, and by iheir industry the forests have

disappeared and blooming orchards and smiling fields of

grain are the results. Years of hard labor are recalled by

many pleasant recollections and few regrets. To Mr. War-

ner is attributed having sunk the first well and erected the

second frame house in town. Not only in his own interests

has he been a faithful worker, but at the first town-meeting

was elected to office, served as supervisor, and nearly all the

years of his residence in the township has held some ofiice

of public trust with honor to himself and satisfaction to his

townsmen. Their family consists of two sons, William L.,

born Aug. 10, 1854
;
George W., born Feb. 8, 1859, who

studiously endeavor to assume the burden of labor endured

by their parents to rear them to manhood.
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JESSE RHOADES.

In the early settlement of Shiawassee County came

Jesse llhoades and wife. A year previous he had pur-

chased of R. Ewings (a brother of Mrs. llhoades, residing

in Flushing), eighty acres on section 25, Hazelton township.

The facilities for obtaining the early history of the family are

very meagre. They were natives of Vermont, removed to the

Stateof New Vork, sojourned for a time, then with the tide of

emigration came West to Geauga Co., Ohio, thence to their

purchase as above, in the fall of 1852. The family consisted

of nine children. The eldest, Allen, had married previous

to his coming, locating on section 26, where he lived until

1862, when he enlisted in the Sixth Michigan Cavalry,

participated in many engagements, was taken prisoner, and

died in a rebel pri.son
;
Clark, resides in Ilazelton ; Sarah,

wife of John Harle, of Flushing, Genesee Co. ; Ransom,

proprietor of the homestead
; Marshal, resides in Hazelton;

Harriet, wife of J. St. Johns, resides in Clayton, Genesee

Co.; Martha, wife of J. (jillett, of Saginaw; Haskall, re-

moved to Missouri, and enlisted in 1862 in the United

States Army, and was killed in battle; Asa, when last heard

from, was in California. Mr. llhoades being in feeble health,

the management of affairs devolved upon llan.som, and to

him is due the peace and comfort of their declining days.

The father died in the fall of 1868, The mother survived

to the good old age of eighty-four, departing this life March

24, 1876.

Ransom, having the care of his aged parents resting

upon him, did not enlist at the breaking out of the Rebel-

lion, but feeling it his duty upon the last call of 1S61, en-

listed in the Ninth Michigan Infantry, and served till the

close of the war. Soon after his return ho married Miss

Almira Sharp, whoso parents lived in Ilazelton. Two chil-

dren have been born to them. In politics Mr. Rhoadcs is u

Democrat, but is not a politician. In his domestic rela-

tions ho is a good husband, father, and friend, and in every

sense a worthy citizen.

JOHN ROMAN,

John Boman was born April 18, 18.S1, in Ravaria,

Germany, and traces his ancestry among the wealthy rcji-

resentative people of their time, and is the' only member of

that family who has adopted this country as a honu', cxitept-

iiig a nephew, (Jiidfrilz llapp, who accompanied Mr. Row-

man on his return (o America from a vi,stt to his native

land. At the breaking out of the Gernuin RebellioTi, in

IS 18, Mr. Roman was drafted to .serve in King hudwig's

army of Ravaria for a period of six years. Soon after

joining the eonimand to which he was assigned, the entire

regiment forsook the king's cause and joined the revolu-

tionists. After a brief struggle they were compelled to

seek safety in another land. Still following the fortunes of

his leaders, Heeker, Carl Schur/,, Sigel, and others more

prominently known in this country, lie came to .\merica,

arriving in New York, Aug. 1, 1S">(), a stranger in a strange

land, with only one dollar, one-half llie sum of hi." available

possession. He came to Rulfalu, N. Y., where lie sueccwled

in linding employment at four dollars ]>er month, and con-

tinued in that vicinity for a period of four yeai-s, when with

his accumulated wages he pureha.sod eighty acres of iiis

present pro])orty.

The following year he came to .Nlicbigan, working at

hnnbering and al.su making .some small iniprovemenis

upon his farm. On July lit, 1857, he uuuried Miss Jane

M. Judd, the history nfwlio.se family is given in this work.

Together tliey began the labor of subduing ihi' forest and

establishing a home. We need not comment upon their

succuas further ihaii by calling atlenlion to the view of their

hiune pre.><enle(i in ibis wurk. In pulitii's Mr. Rowmaii
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was Democratic, but at the breaking out of the Rebellion

enlisted in the Second Michigan Cavalry, participating in

several small engagements, and was discharged with the

regiment, thoroughly convinced that the party and principle

that had so successfully closed the struggle should be sus-

tained, and when elections occur a straight ticket can be

counted upon from him.

Mr. Boman is not a church member, but favors the

Methodist Episcopal Society, of which Mrs. Boman is a

member, and has been since her girlhood days. Together

they have contributed largely to the building up and sus-

taining that institution in their vicinity. The family con-

sists of six children,—Louisa and Alice, dying in infancy
;

Matilda, born Oct. 2, 1858, wife of A. Campbell, and re-

sides in Saginaw ; Charles, born Sept. 23, 1867 ; Ida A.,

born April 9, 1869 ; Jamie, born Dec. 8, 1877.

CHAPTER XXXV.

MIDDLEBURY TOWNSHIP.*

Description—Tlie Pioneers of Middleburj—Additions to the Settle-

ment—Township Organiz.ation and List of Officers—Township

Koads—Mail Service in Middleburj— Burial-places— Religious

History of the Township—Schools—Jliddlebury Cheese-Factory.

The township of Middlebuiy, lying upon the western

border of Shiawassee County, contains but twenty-four full

sections and six fractional sections. Fairfield township

bounds it on the north, Sciota on the south, Owos.so on

the east, and the Clinton County line on the west.

Middlebury has always been entirely an agricultural

town, and as such ranks high. The soil is very produc-

tive, and the gently-rolling surface of the country, liberally

embellished with fine farms and elegant farm-houses, is

very attractive. Indeed, especial emphasis may justly be

laid upon the subject of the homes of Middlebury, for

they are upon every hand charming pictures in the land-

scape, adorned in many cases at great expense and with

refined taste.

Six schools provide for the educational wants of the

community ; but in the matter of churches the supply is

confined to one church edifice, although that fact bespeaks

by no means a lack of religious privileges, since places of

public worship are conveniently at hand in adjacent towns.

THE PIONEEKS OF MIDDLEBURY.

In June, 1837, a pioneer family of six persons, com-

prising Obed Hathaway, his wife, and four children, travel-

ing in a lumber-wagon drawn by oxen, reached the house

of Henry Leach, in Sciota, and bargaining with him to

mark a road for them through the woods to section 21

in the next town north, pushed on. Hathaway, a New
Yorker, had bought a tract of land in that town in 1836,

and was going now with his family to make a settlement.

No white man had preceded him into the territory whither

'^-' By David Schwartz.

he was bound, and he proposed accordingly to make his

home in the wide stretch of forest,—a solitary settler in

a howling wilderness.

Mr. Leach went forward and " blazed" the route, and

the elder Hathaway followed, cutting out the road for his

team. A trip of five miles brought them to their destina-

tion, and then their pioneer work began at once. Until he

could build a cabin, Hathaway lodged his family in the

wagon four weeks. When they came to the town they

brought provisions enough to last them, as they supposed,

until harvest. The supply gave out, however, before that

time, and Hathaway set out to obtain a fresh sup])ly, in-

teiKling moreover to stop awhile elsewhere and work long

enough to earn what money would be required for the

purchase. He was absent six weeks, and during that time

the folks at home rested their hopes upon a larder so lean

that salt and dry bread was their principal diet for more

than four weeks.

The Hathaways struggled on as best they could until

the approach of winter, when (no other settlers having

come to town) they concluded to return to Washtenaw

County and stop there until spring, since in their new

home there was no chance to winter their cattle, and al-

most as poor a chance to winter themselves without serious

discomfort, if not distress. Returning from Washtenaw

County in the spring of 1838 they found the Slocums on

section 35, where they had been since the preceding Jan-

uary. When the Hathaways left the town the fall before

they had put by a good supply of vegetables, so that when

they came back in the spring of 1838 they counted upon

finding a good stock of provisions to start on. Unhappily

for their calculations, .some person or persons had raided the

cabin and carried off everything to be found in the way

of eatables. The little they had brought with them of

food soon disappeared, and for weeks they lived on pota-

toes and leeks.

The Slocums, to whom reference has been made, were, as

remarked, the second family to settle in the town. George

W. Slocum came from New York to Michigan in 1836 in

search of land, and in the spring of that year located one

hundred and sixty acres on section 35 in town 7 north,

range 1 east. This was the first land-entry in that town,

and in the same year—the year of the great emigration to

Michigan—was followed by numerous others. Upon en-

tering the land, Slocum went into Oakland County and there

awaited the coming from New York of his father and

family, and in that county they remained until the closing

days of 1837, when it was decided to make a start for the

new land-purchase in town 7, with a view to a permanent

location.

On the way they stopped at Leach's, in Sciota township,

and while the women folks made shift to live there the elder

Slocum and his sons George, Daniel, and John went over

into Middlebury and put up a cabin, walking back and forth

from Leach's each night and morning. It took them two

weeks to get the cabin up, and then it boasted neither door

nor window ; but time and needs were pressing, and as it

was they moved into it. Their first night in that primitive

structure was anything but a peaceful one, for wolves, at-

tracted by the presence of human beings, gathered in packs
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about the shanty and howled through all the night, mueh

to tiie terror of the women, who were morally eerlain the

vile beasts would tear through the blanketed openings and

devour every member of the family.

When the Sloeums came to make their linmc in the

woods there was no other family in the town now known

as Middlebury, although the Hathaways had been in, and

came back again directly afterwards. Of course, there

were no roads in the Slocum neighborhood ; but roads were

a vital necessity, especially in such a heavily-timbered coun-

try, and among their first labors after housing the family

the Slocums cut out a thoroughfare. During the first year

of their residence in the town they underbrushed a road

from Leach's to their place, another one three miles east-

ward from the latter point, and still another four miles

towards the northwest to the Hathaway settlement.

No more fortunate in that particular than the Hathaways

(who, when they first came, had to journey eighteen miles

to mill and make a two days' trip of it), the Slocums could

find no mill conveniences nearer than the Rochester colony,

which, although by no means .so far distant in a straight line,

re((uired a twenty-mile jaunt over a zigzag course through

the woods to reach, and forty-eight hours to do it in. The

woods were full of beara, wolves, and deer, and bear hunts

were as common as the ravages made by the bears them-

selves upon the small stock of the settlers. Small pigs

were the morsels towards which their inclination turned

constantly. To preserve the inmates of pig-pens from tlie

bears at night fires were built in the pens, and sometimes,

indeed, bed-sheets were fastened over the pen as a protest

against the raids of the aggressive hog-stealers. One night

Daniel Slocum was awakened from his slumbers by the cry

of a hog, and knowing at once that a bear was at work in

the pen, he sprang out of bed, snatched a gun, and in his

bare feet ran over the frozen ground towards the pen just in

time to see an immense bear leap over a rail-fence with

a pig in his paws. When Bruin saw Daniel and the gun

he dropped the pig and ran away so rapidly that the bullet

missed him, and although Daniel and George (^his brother)

searched long and faithfully, they found no dead or disabled

bear.

George Slocum went out one morning before breakfast

to hunt the cows, and straying from the beaten path came

suddenly upon two bears. They, startled (juite as much as

he, climbled up a tree as quickly as they could, and he,

hastening home for a gun and a companion, returned with

both speedily, but the bears had meanwhile left the tree

and disappeared, and although the youths hunted for hours

tliey found them not. Daniel Slocum remembers distinctly

that when hv went to school in Sciota, to O. 15. Wcslcott,

he was more than once followed by wolves all the way from

home to .school.

As an illustration of what " going for a iloctor" meant in

those days, it may be recorded that when a physician was

suddenly needed in Nathan Herrick's Inmsehold, (Jeorge

Slocum was aroused at night and charged with the mi.ssion

of riding horseback eleven miles to Owosso for the man of

medicine. The night was dark, and the road was exceed-

ingly uncertain, since it pas.sed chiefly through the forest.

Frequently young George would ride full till against the

low branch of a tree, and in a twinkling would be swept

from his saddle ; but although he was unhorsed in that

way a dozen times during the journey, and was much dis-

couraged by darkness and rough riding, he readied Owos.so

eventually, and in due .'^oa.son returned in triumph with the

doctor.

As regards the lack of roadways, Mr. Slocum relates

how, in the spring of 1838, he agreed to make a trip with

the I'.ilmcrs to Owos.so. They footed it through the woods,

and finding Maple River very high, met with much diffi-

culty in crossing it ; but they were not the ones to let a

river, big or little, stop them, and they got over, of course,

and so on to Owo.s.so. Coming back they had better luck

in following the line of the surveyed Northern Railroad.

This railway was never pushed to completion, but the road

route was gladly used as a highway by the pioneers. Get-

ting to market at Pontiac or Detroit was no slight under-

taking, and then to consume a week over rough roads or

no roads at all, to sell wheat at forty or fifty cents, to take

half the proceeds in trade, and to get home again with but

little to show as the yield of the week's struggle, was among

some of the disheartening features of pioneer existence.

ADDITIONS TO THE SETTLEMENT.

Following upon the return of the Hathaways, in the

spring of 1838, the infant .settlement received acces,sions in

the families of John and William Palmer, who located re-

spectively on sections 21 and 22. In the same spring

Moses Clark, Jr., made a settlement upon the northeastern

quarter of section 34 ; Elijah Potter, a bachelor, and his

brother Silas (with family), on section 25. The Palmers

came from Middlebury, N. Y., and when the town (now

Middlebury, Mich.) was to be named they had the honor

of christening it, just as their father, who migrated from

Middlebury, Vt., to New York State, named Middlebury,

N. Y. Moses Clark was a Baptist, and used once in awhile

to preach sermons to the settlers. His fiither, who joined

him some years afterwards, was likewi.se a preacher, and in

that office performed industrious and effective service.

Adam J. Coons was one of the early comers, and at-

tempted to make a settlement on section 20. He began

to feel lonesome directly, and went over then to section

28, where he squatted and said he would stay because in

that neighborhood there were people, while on liis place in

section 2() he was too far from human beings. Coons was

noted for his disinclination to work, and would not lift a

hand in labor unless absolutely forced to choose between

working and starving. His invariable excuse for idleness

was that ho owned but one suit of clothes, and that ho

couldn't afford t<i ruin them by working in them. Coons

was regarded, moreover, as by no moans it brave man.

When he heard of the burning of Gla.ss' house, north of

Duplaiii, and (he loss therein of Glass' wife and children,

he made up his mind that rascally Indians had burno<l the

building and murdered the inmates. Acting upon this

idea, he resolved that no Indians shimld murder him with-

out having at least to fight for it, and when he went to bed

carried also each night an axe with him. A settler's wife,

in discussing the sulycct with Coons' wife, gave it as her
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opinion that the man was a terrible coward, and added,

wittily, " Mary, you made a big mistake when you treed

that Coon."

The northern half of the township was allowed to re-

main undisturbed until the year 1839, when James Mc-

Carty, with his son John,—both having fiiniilies,—ventured

to section 3. William McCaue and John Taylor followed

him thither a few years later, but Taylor returned about as

quickly as he had come, while McCane, after chopping about

eight acres on section 4, retired in a condition of high dis-

gust with the pioneer business, and declared afterwards that

the wolves were so thick in the infernal country that no

white man could stop there.

In that quarter settlements progres-sed slowly until 1860,

when a strong tide of emigration set that way, and

although then the country thereabout was generally wild,

it became within a short space an open farming region. In

1860, when Samuel Eaton (one of the pioneers of Oakland

County) came to .section 4, in Middlebury, there had been

very little done in that vicinity in the way of clearing land.

He occupied a farm (now owned by his son, A. M. Eaton)

upon which not a stick had been cut except upon the few

acres cleared years before by IMcCanc, but that patch was

then choked with a second growth of timber. Brazil Mar-

vin had come to section 9 in 1856, cleared the first year

one hundred acres, and put it all into wheat. He paid five

dollars per acre for four lots of eighty acres each, and in

something like ten years afterwards sold the major portion

of the land at one hundred dollars an acre.

Lyman Hikox was among the early comers to section 3.

In 1856, D. W. Kelley came to settle on section 4. H. C.

Main lived then on section 1, but between his house and

Kelley 's the country was all woods, although the next year

D. L. Dodder came to section 10, and about then, too, into

the northeast corner came the Munsils, the Reeds, Eddys,

and others.

In 184.S, Roswell and Nathan Herrick settled near the

Slocums, and in 1852 Nathan moved to a place on section

28. In that portion of the town William Hideout had been

living upon section 27 since 1844, and in that year, upon

his entrance. Hideout found John Flanagan on section 22,

A.J. Coons on section 28, and Hathaway on 21. Directly

afterwards James Kenney came in and put up his cabin on

section 22, and to section 21, on the day of Hideout's

arrival, came William Badgerow. Hideout found on his

land a number of Indian graves, and although nearly all

have been plowed over there may yet be discovered in a

piece of his woods a few mounds containing bones.

Middlebury's pioneer blacksmith, and one of its early

carpenters, was B. F. Tobey, who came to Michigan in

1835, and worked ten yeai-s after that at millwrighting.

In 1848 he settled upon wild land in Middlebury, and

opened a blacksmith's shop. In 1849, Tobey a.ssisted in

the erection of a school-house on section 23. Middlebury

had no saw-mill then, nor until some years afterwards, when
Cook & Kline built one on section 16, so that for lumber

the builder in Middlebury was compelled to go to Owosso
until some time after the year 1850. Tobey's neighbors

on the east he found to be James Kenney on section 22
Garrison Lounsberry on section 23, and Bushrod Warren

on the place in section 23 occupied in 1856 by L. F. Kings-

ley, the present owner. Two years previous to the coming

of Kingsley, Dennis Hammond made a settlement upon a

piece of wild land in section 20, and on section 36 Jere-

miah Howard made a clearing, where he died in 1869.

In that neighborhood, in 1854, about the only other re.si-

dents were William Hathaway, the Slocums, A. Sherman,

and Dexter Proper. In 1854, also, Levi Hyde cut out a

road for two miles to reach a place in section 14, where

he has made his home since that time. North of him the

town was a forest. Over at Clark's Corners Perry Clark

had cleared two or three acres, and west of him was Amos
Hilburn, who soon sold out to H. P. Thompson. About

the time of Hyde's arrival Sauford Mack located on sec-

tion 11, and Henry Ackerman on section 14, while in the

following .spring II. C. Main and David Smith penetrated

the wilderness upon section 1, and W. A. Barnes came to

section 16. When, in 1856, L. F. Kingsley first occupied

his present home on section 23, his neighbors on the east

were M. Wooden, Hollin Warren, and Charles Stimson ; on

the west, John Webster, Daniel and Robert Durkee ; on

the south, Daniel Bearce ; and north, Levi Hyde and

Stephen Eddy. Henry McGowan was in section 13 upon

a place owned soon afterwards by Charles Rose, and now

occupied by his son, J. W. Rose.

In 1848, when George H. and D. L. Warren came to

the places they now occupy in section 33, the town-line

road at that point had been chopped out but not cleared.

East of them on the town-line L. Z. Stephenson made a

settlement, in 1854, on section 34, where Charles Lock-

wood had already chopped twenty acres. Over on section

27, where he now lives, William Tubbs, of Oakland County,

made a location in 1847; north of him J. Marshall settled

in 1854, G. W. Babcock (a blacksmith) in 1857, and

west, at later dates, P. S. Ledyard and J. Smith.

The first white child born in Middlebury was Joseph,

son of Obed Hathaway. His birth occurred June, 1838,

and since then his home has been in Michigan, his resi-

dence at present being in Bennington township. The set-

tlement was not visited with death until August, 1843,

when Silas Potter died and was buried on his farm. Wil-

liam Palmer died also at about that time, and was buried

in the town cemetery. As to the first marriage in the town

it is difficult to fix it definitely. Careful investigation has

simply afforded the information that the marriages of Tru-

man White to a sister of William Hideout, and Jeremiah

Baker to a sister of Nathan Herrick, were among the

earliest, perhaps the first two.

Upon the assessment-roll of 1839, which gives the total

assessed value of the township at forty-seven thousand two

hundred and one dollars, the resident tax-payers, with

amount of lands they owned, are thus given :

Acres.

Obcd Hathaway, section 21 SO
John Palmer, section 21 80
William Palmer, section 27 120
Moses Clark, Jr., section 34 80
Silas Potter, section 25 80
Elij.-ih Potter, section 25 160
George W. Slocum, section 35 160

The assessment-roll for 1842 shows the following:
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Acres.

George W. Slocum, section 35 80

John Slocum, section .'J5 80

Silas Potter, section 25 120

Elijah Potter, section 25 80

A. J. Coons, section 26 160

William Palmer, sections 22, 27 120
Ohed Hathaway, section 21 80

James McCarty, section 3 80

John McCarty, section 3 80

John Palmer, section 21 80

The militia-roll of 1843, recording the names of all the

white male inhabitants between the ages of eighteen and

forty-five, bears the names of Nathan Ilerrick, D. D. Slo-

cum, John Slocum, Jr., George W. Slocum, Elijah Potter,

John McCarty, Thomas M. Jenkins, Obed Hathaway, and

Adam J. Coons.

In 1839 the jurors drawn were Moses Clark, Jr., and

John Palmer; in 1S4U, William Palmer and A. J. Coons.

In 1845, John McCarty and Iloswell Herrick were on the

list of jietit jurors, and Nathan Ilerrick and Elijah Potter

grand jurors.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND LIST OF
OFFICEKS.

A legislative act, approved March 21, 1839, organized

towns 7 and 8 north, in range 1 east, as the township of

Middlebury, th(! name being bestowed in pursuance of a

suggestion of William Palmer, who came to Michigan from

Middlebury, in the State of New York. Jan. 4, 1834, the

county supervisors set off town 8 and called it Fairfield,

thus reducing Middlebury to its present limits.

Middlebury 's first town-meeting was held April 1, 1839,

at the house of Moses ('lark, Jr., who was chosen modera-

tor. William Palmer, John Slocum, Elijah Potter, and

Silas Potter were chosen inspectors of election. Seven

votes were cast, and naturally, there being but one ticket in

the field, but little delay and no trouble was occasioned in

reaching a result. Indeed, the trouble was not to find

offices for men, but to find men for the offices, since the

latter so outnumbered the former that two, three, and some-

times four offices were forced upon one individual. William

Palmer was elected Supervisor ; Moses Clark, Jr., Clerk

;

John Slocum, Treasurer ; William Palmer, John SliicuTU,

and Elijah Putter, Assessors; William Palmer, Moses Clark,

Jr., and John Palmer, School Inspectors; William Palmer

and John Slucnni, Directors of iIk^ I'oor; Silas Potter, Con-

stable and (Vdlcctor; John Slocum, Moses Clark, Jr., and

John Palmer, Highway Commissioners; John Slocum,

Elijah Potter, Moses Clark, Jr., and John Palmer, Justices

of the Peace; William Palmer, ()ver.secr ol' Koad District

No. 1. One hundred and fifty dollars was voted for town-

ship incidental expenses, and tin; bonds of treasurer and

collector were placed at liv(; hundred dollars each.

At a special election, April 28, 1839, George W. Slocum

was chn.«cn justice of the ])eaee and commissioner of high-

ways to fill vacancies in those offices, six votes being cast

on that occasion.

At a special election for county commissioner, July 15,

1839, the voters ])resent numbi^red nine, as follows: Henry

Leach, John Sloiiiin, I'llijah Putter, Silas Potter, (iidi'on

Cross, iMoses Clark, Jr., John Palmer, George W. Slocum,

William I'almer. At the general election in 1839 |miIIs

31

were opened on two successive days at the houses of John

Palmer and George W. Slocum. Eight votes were cast by

William Palmer, Obed Hathaway, John Slocum, George

W. Slocum, Moses Clark, Jr., Sihts Potter, George Nichols,

and Elijah Potter. To inspect the election it required five

men,—Moses Clark, Jr., John Slocum, Elijah Potter, Silas

Potter, and George W. Slocum, and of their number Moses

Clark, Jr., w;is cho.sen to attend the county canvass.

THE VOTERS OF 1842, 1843, 1844, AND 1845.

At the election in 1842 the voters were ten, and were

named William Palmer, A. J. Coons, John Slocum, Elijah

Potter, George W. Slocum, Silas Potter, Obed Hathaway,

John Slocum, John Palmer, John McCarty.

In 1843 there were six,—John Slocum, Jr., Elijah Pot-

ter, Nathan Herrick, A. J. Coons, George W. Slocum,

John McCarty. In April, 1844, the voters were Nathan

Herrick, George W. Slocum, William Palmer. John Slocum,

pjlijah Porter, Roswell Herrick, John Slocum, Jr., John

McCarty, Thomas M. Perkins, Chester L. Kemp.

At the general election in November, 1844, eleven votes

were cast by Nathan Ilerrick, John Slocum, Nicholas

Flanagan, A. J. Coons, Obed Hathaway, William Badge-

row, John Slocum, Jr., Klijah Potter, Constantine Yerkes,

William Carpenter, Roswell Herrick.

In November, 1845, there were twelve, as follows: Nathan

Ilerrick, John Slocum, George W. Slocum, Roswell [ler-

riek, James McCarty, Osier George, William Hideout,

Nicholas Flanagan, Jesse Badgerow, James Kenney, James

M. Curtis, William Badgerow.

The following is a list of the names of the persons chosen

annually from 1840 to 1880 to serve as supervisor, clerk,

treasurer, and justice of the peace of the township:

Vviir.
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Tear. Superrisor. Clerk.

1877. H. P. Thompson. G. A. Huutuou.

1S78. J. Hathaway. " "

1879. A. M. Eaton. " "

1680. " " i. "

Treasnrer. Justice.

L. F. Kingsley. N. 0. Garrison.

" " W. H. Tandevere.

D. M. Morehouse. M. Wooden.
" "

S. Eaton.

TOWNSHIP KOADS.

The want of public highways was a serious difficulty in

the early days in Middlebury, and it was in pursuance of

a general desire to further the construction of township

roads that the organization of the township was urged at a

time when there were scarcely a half-dozen families therein.

Among the roads laid out at an early period the first

one recorded appears to have been surveyed by Daniel

Gould, May 14, 1839. The road commenced on the south

line of section 34, at a point " where the road in the town of

WoodhuU intersects said line," and ran thence north fifteen

degrees west sixty-five chains ; thence north fifty chains

and fifty links ; thence seventy-three and a half degrees

west five chains ; thence north sixty-eight and tliree-quarter

degrees west twenty chains twenty-three links to the west

line of section 27 ; thence north on said line eighty-three

chains, thirty-two links, to the centre of the highway run-

ning from the village of Owosso to the village of Mapleton,

in the county of Clinton.

July 8, 1839, a road was laid commencing on the merid-

ian line between sections 20 and 29, running thence east

two miles and ten chains; thence south two miles to the

town-line. On the same day a road was laid out from the

corner-post of sections 21, 22, 27, and 28, running due

south one mile ; thence three miles east to the town-line.

March 24, 1840, highway commissioners George W.
Slocum and John Palmer divided the town into districts as

follows: District No. 1 to contain sections 1, 2, 11, 12,

13, 14, 23, 24, 25, 26, 35, 36, in town 7, and sections 1,

2, 3, 10, 11, 13, 14, 15, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, and 36, in

town 8 ; No. 2, to include sections 3, 4, 5, 8, 9, 10, 15,

16, 17, 20, 21, 22, 27, 29, 32, 33, 34, 35, in town 7, and

sections 4, 5, 8, 9, 16, 17, 20, 21, 27, 28, 29, 32, 33, 34,

in town 8. No. 1 was ordered to build a road from the

town-line north of the quarter stake between sections 34

and 35 in town 7, and No. 2 to commence a road at the

quarter stake and run north as far as Moses Clark's.

A town road was Laid out Oct. 5, 1839, commencing at

the southeast corner of town 7, and running west on the

town-line between towns 6 and 7 twenty-one chains, fifty

links west of the .southwest corner of section 35, in town 7.

Nov. 18, 1845, a road was laid from a stake thirty-one

chains and seventy-four links south of the northeast corner

of section 24, running thence south eighty-five and a half

degrees west one hundred and thirty-seven chains, nine

links ; thence south eighty-seven and a half degrees west

one hundred and eighty chains, twenty-nine links, to the

southwest corner of section 20 on the county-line. Feb-

ruary 17, 1846, a road beginning at a stake on the McCarty
and Mason road, running thence north on the section-line

one hundred and twenty-five chains to the southeast corner

of section 35.

June 12, 1840, a road was laid out to begin at a stake due

north of Palmer's Corners, running on the old Colony road

as far as the section-line west from said stake
; thence due

north on the section-line to the corners of sections 4, 5, 8,

9 ; thence due east one mile to the corners of sections 3,

4, 9, and 10. Jan. 11, 1842, a road was laid out to begin

at the corners of sections 5 and 8, running thence east on

the section-line one hundred and sixty-six chains, ninety-

one links ; thence south sixty-five degrees east one hundred

and fifty-four chains, fifty links ; thence south seventy-two

degrees east thirty-six chains ; thence north eighty-eight

and a half degrees east thirteen chains, to the town-line.

A road was laid out in March, 1842, beginning at the north

quarter-post of section 26 ; thence south on the quarter-

line thirty-eight chains, seventy-eight links ;
thence north

eighty-seven degrees east thirty-eight chains, sixty-two

links, to the east quarter stake of section 26. A road,

April 4, 1842, commencing at a stake north of Palmer's

Corners, on the Colony road, running thence north on the

section-line to the south corners of sections 3 and 4.

Oct. 12, 1842, a road was laid to begin in the centre of

the Colony road at a certain stake, running thence .south

sixty-four chains, eighteen links, to the section-line fourteen

chains, fifty-seven links east of the northwest corner of

section 26.

The laying out of certain early roads is shown by the

following transcripts from the records of the township

:

" At a meeting of the majority of the Comiuis.sioners of

Highways of the Township of Middlebury, Dec. 11, 1846,

it was ordered and determined that said Township be di-

vided into three road Districts, to be Numbered one, Two,

6 three, and embrace the following lands (viz.) : District

No. one, to be composed of Sec. No. 25, 26, 28, 29, 32, 33,

34, 35, 36, and the south half of 27 in T. 7 N., of R. 1 E.,

and Sec. No. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 8, 9, 10, II, 12, in Town 8 N.,

of R. 1 E.

" District No. Two to contain Sec. No. 13, 14, 15, 16,

17, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, and the north half of 27, in Town

7 N., of R. 1 E., and Sec. No. 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 20, in

Town 8 N., of R. 1 E.

" District No. Three to contain Sec. No. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 8,

9, 10, 11, 12, in Town 7 N., of R. 1 E., and Sec. No. 21,

22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, in Town

8 N., of R. 1 E."

" At A Meeting of the Majority of Highway Commis-

sioners of the Township of Middlebury, Oct. 21, 1848, it

was ordered that A Road be laid out or Public highway he

recorded. To wit : Beginning at the southwest Corner of

Section Twenty-two, thence Running South 2 degrees and

twenty minutes, East 79 chains and 65 links, thence South

39 degrees West 10 chains, thence South 77 degrees West

7 chains and 65 links, thence South 21} Degrees West 8

chains, thence south 4 degrees East 14 chains and 28 links,

thence South 85J Degrees East 17 chains and 46 links,

thence South 2 degrees and 20 minutes East 47 chains and

60 links to the Southwest Corner of Section 27, Town 7

North, Range 1 East. Also Beginning at the south qr.

Post of Section 27, thence Running North 2 degrees and

20 minutes West 79 chains and forty-seven links to the

North qr. Post of Section 27, in the above Town."

" At a Meeting of a majority of the Commissioners of

Highways of the Township of Middlebury, May 11, 1850,

it was Determined and ordered that a public Highway
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should be laid out, Coninioiicing at the North East Corner

of Section two, on Town Line, thence lluuniiig West on

Section Line to the South East corner of Section thirty-

five, in Town Eight North, Range one East ; thence North

to the North East corner of section thirty-five, tlience South

Eighty-seven and half West Two hundred and fifty-four

chains and twenty links to the North West corner of sec-

tion thirty-two, on the Meridian Line, thence North two

and half West on said Line twenty chains and fifty-six links

to the South East corner of section twenty-four on Meridian

Line in Clinton County. Also a Road Beginning at tiie

South East corner of Section twenty-four in Town Eight

North, of Range one West, thence Running South two and

half East twenty chains and fifty-six Links to the Nortii

corner of Section thirty-two on the Meridian Line in Shia-

wassee County, Middlebury."

MAIL SEHVICK IN MIDDLEBURY.

.Middlebury had at one time two post-offices, but now it

has none. In the days of the town's earliest settlement

the people received their letters at Laingsburg. In 184.5,

however, Greorge W.Slocum succeeded in having the Middle-

burgh post-office established in Middlebury,—named Mid-

dlcburgh because there wits already a Jliddlebury post-office

in the State. Mail was received at the office once a week

over the route between Owosso and Ionia. Mr. Slocum

was appointed postmaster, and retained the office until the

creation of the Ovid office, in 1857, when Middleburgli

post-office was discontinued.

Maple Valley post-office was established at Ira Stimson's

house about 1850. Mr. Stimson was the postmaster until

1854, when Horton Warren received the appointment and

moved the office to his place, on section 21. He was the

incumbent until the office was abolished, in 1857. Upon

the Warren place one may see the building used in part as

a post-office,—now a barn,—and still bearing the faded

legend of " Post-Office."

BUKIAL-PLACES.

On the 24th of May, 1840, the town accepted from

Mo.ses ('lark, Jr., one acre of land on the southeast corner

of his farm, to be devoted to the uses of a burying-ground,

but on the 24th of August following reconsidered that

determination, and decided to have two burying-grounds,

—

No. 1, to contain one acre and to bo on Elijah Potters

land; No. 2, to be on section 21, to contain one acre, and

to be located on Obed Hiithaway's land. The chopping,

clearing, and fencing of both grounds were to be let at

auction, but for some reason neither burial-place was ever

laid out. Indeed, no public grave-yard was laid out until

in 1840, when William Tubbs, while visiting Elder Clark

one day and deploring the lack of school as well as burying-

ground, declared there ought to be some cBort looking to

the securing of both for the town. The result was that

Tubhs and Clark moved actively in the matter and obtained

both school and cemetery. Tlie latter was laid out in .sec-

tion 27, and included a .spot in wliieli there lay already

buried a child nf Osiur Ceorge and a daughter of J(;!in

McCarly. That burial-place is the only one the town lia.s

ever had.

KELIGIOUS HISTORY OF THE TOWNSHIP.

Among the early preachers in Middlebury the pioneer

was, doubtless. Rev. Mr. Whiting, of the Rochester colony,

who, in the summer of ISliO, undertook to break twenty

acres of ground for William Palmer, and during his stay

in Middlebury preached Methodist sermons in the houses of

George Slocum and William Palmer. Elder Allen, a Free-

Will Baptist minister of Duplain, wxs one of the early

preachers in Middlebury, and organized a church of that

denomination in the town. Elder Clark, father of Moses

Clark, Jr., preached occasional Baptist sermons, as did also

his son Moses. Residents in the southern portion of the

town generally went into Sciota to attend public religious

worship.

Occasional and irregular Methodist preaching only was

held in Middlebury until about 1860, when Rev. Mr.

Wright came on and organized the Warren Methodist

Episcopal class in a log school-house on section 34. The

organizing members of the class numbered eight, viz.,

Geo. H. Warren, David L. Warren, Balcoin, and

De Haven, with their wives, D. L. Warren being

chosen class-leader. From that time on regular services

were held once every two weeks.

In 1872 the Warren cliuss and Sciota class joined in the

erection of a handsome church edifice upon section 34, and

in it both classes have since then worshiped together. D.

L. Warren has been leader of the Warren class continuously

since 1860. John C. Putnam is the leader of the Sciota

class. Both classes have a membership of upwards of sixty

and meet for worship every Sunday, the pastor being Rev.

Mr. Mcintosh, in charge of the Laingsburg Circuit. The

church trustees are George H. Warren, D. L. Warren,

George W. Slocum, James Van Dyne, and Willard Ryan.

The cla.ss-stewards are Willard Ryan, James Van Dyne,

and John Sherman. The recording steward is William

E. Warren. The Sunday-school is in charge of A. D. Sher-

man, and has an average attendance of sixty scholars.

PROTESTANT METHODISTS.

A Methodist Episcopal class was organized in the Mc-

Carty school-house about 1860, by the preacher in cliarge

of the Owo.sso Circuit. It struggled feebly for existence

during the ensuing ten years, and met in various places

for worship. About 1870 the class beciime Protf.stjint

Methodist, and since then has met pretty regularly at the

Mead school-house. It is now on the Owosso Circuit, in

eharuc of the Rev. Mr. Mills. It has a small membership

and has preaching once in two weeks, Nelson Aekcrman

being class-leader.

TlIK CIllUU'll OK niKi.-^T,

which worships now in the school-house on (icction 24, was

organized in 1872 by John A. .Mavcrty and Elixs Silas,

ovangelisls. Among the members were L. F. Kingsley,

Samuel .\. Merrill, M. Wooden, and Barney Banghart,

with their wives. L. F. Kingsley and S. A. Merrill were

chosen elders, B. Banghart and M. Wooden deacons. Mr.

Mavcrty preached once a month for a year, and then cjime

.). Ija (irange, W. A. Sireator, G. J. MiLsscy, and .Jud.son

Brown. The ilnuvh is now without a pastor, but is in ex-
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pectation of beiug supplied soon. The membership, which

was at first about thirty, is now somewhat les.s. L. F.

Kiugsley and William A. Merrill are the elders, B. Vos-

burg and John De Witt the deacons.

SCHOOLS.

Although the township was organized in 1839, there

was no organized school district until 1845, for the very

good reason, doubtless, that there was no occa.sion therefor,

since there were in the town at that time scarcely any chil-

dren of school age. District No. 1 was organized May 28,

1845, and included the south half of section 3, the south

half of section 4, the whole of sections 9, 10, 15, 16, 21,

and 22, and the north halves of sections 27 and 28.

Before the organization of District No. 1, Curtis Staf-

ford taught a sub.<criptiun school in 1843, in an abandoned

log cabin upon William Palmer's place, and in that school-

house Mary Doaue taught a short time after Stafford left.

Although a district was organized in 1845, there is no evi-

dence to show that a school-houi*e was built or district

school taught until 1849. The school-house was built by

William Hideout on section 28, and in it the first school

was taught by Mary Sherman, whose term of service was

three months.

District No. 1 seems from the records to have been re-

organized in 1849, and it is likely that the district had no

operative existence until then. The reorganization gave to

the district sections 27, 28, 29, 32, 33, the south halves of

sections 20, 21, and 22, the southwest quarter of section

23, the northwest quarter of section 26, and the west half

of section 34.

School reports dated June 10, 1852, set forth that the

number of scholars in district No. 1 between the ages of

four and eighteen was twenty-four, and that Esther Doane

had taught the school three months at the wages of one

dollar and seventy-five cents per week. In district No. 2

there were likewise twenty-four scholars, whose teacher,

Achsah Blood, received one dollar and fifty cents per week.

In 1853, Sarah E. Sykes taught twenty-four scholars in

district No. 2, and for thirteen weeks received one dollar

and fifty cents per week.

Dec. 5, 1853, Ann Brooks and Sarah Salisbury were ap-

pointed to teach school at two dollars per week. During

the year 1853 the children attending school in district No.

1 numbered twenty-three, and belonged to families as fol-

lows : William Rideout, 1 ; William Tubbs, 1
; G. Mc-

Carty, 3; Alanson Seely, 4 ; Truman White, 1; William

White, 1 ; Obed Hathaway, 3
; P. L. Clark, 3 ; Sarah C.

Sykes, 1 ; Nathan Herrick, 3
; Stephen Taylor, 2.

For the year 1854 the amount of school money appor-

tioned to the two school districts was thirty-four dollars.

The annual report from district No. 1 for 1854 gave the

number of school-children as thirty-four ; the number that

attended school, forty-three ; the teachers as Ann Brooks

and Harriet J. Fitch
; and the list of school-books as Saun-

ders' Series of Readers, Birkan's Grammar, Smith's Geo"-
raphy, Mitchell's, Adams', and Thompson's Arithmetics,

Elementary and Saunders' Speller.

The annual school report for 1879 presented the follow-

ing statistics of the several districts of the township

:

Nuraber of school districts (whole, 3; fractional, 3)... 6
Number of scholars of school age 271
Value of school jjroperty $8050
Teachers* wages $765

The school directors for 1879 were James Baldwin, Wil-

liam T. Vaughn, D. Snyder, Luther Ryan, W. R. Hubbell,

and G. W. Davidson.

MIDDLEBURY CHEESE-FACTORY.

Middlebury has had since June, 1879, a cheese-factory

that appears to be a flourishing institution. Ion McCon-

nell, the owner, built it at the time named, and during the

first season made ten thousand pounds of cheese. The

yield was one pound of cheese for nine and three-quarters

pounds of milk, and according to Mr. McConnell's estimate

patrons of the factory gained from thirty dollars to thirty-

five dollars per cow during that sea.son.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKKTCHES.

GEORGE W. SLOCUM.

Around the name and memory of the first settlers of a

town, county, or State there will always cling a peculiar in-

terest, an interest felt for no other class of men. Who was

the first settler of the town ? why did he come in here

alone ? what must have been his feelings when he knew

that for miles around there was no other white man ? will

be the queries in after-years. Such a man was George W.
Slocum, who was born in Manlius, Onondaga Co., N. Y.,

Dec. 11, 1810. His father was born in Dutchess Co.,

N. Y., from whence he emigrated, after his marriage, to

Manlius, where he became the owner of a small farm, and

where George grew to manhood, receiving only a common-

school education. In early life he worked out by the

month, working most of the time for a Mr. Ives, who in

1834 took a job on the ship-canal from New Orleans to

Lake Pontchartrain. He sent Mr. Slocum to take charge

of a gang of men, which kept him about six months. He
then returned to New York, and in the spring of 1836 he

started West to look for a home in a new country. He
came to Detroit, and from there went on foot to Pontiac.

Arrived there, he was informed that desirable land could be

had in Lapeer Co., Mich. In company with others he at

once went to that county, where they made selections. He
then went on foot to Detroit to enter his land, but found that

some one had got ahead of him. He next selected some land

in Shiawassee and again went to Detroit, again to be disap-

pointed,—it was just taken. Nowise daunted, he again

made a selection,—this time in Owosso township, now Mid-

dlebury, in Shiawassee Co.,—this time successfully. There

had then been no land entered in Middlebury township,

and there was no white man living within its boundaries,

and Mr. Slocum and his father's family were its first per-

manent settlers. His nearest neighbor east was twenty-

two miles away. He made his entry June 12, 1836, it

being the southeast quarter of section 35, township 7 north,

of range 1 east. After entering his laud he returned to

Oakland County, where for a time he worked by the mouth.

In the summer of 1837 he took a piece of land to clear
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GEORGE W. SLOCUM.

and crop, getting five dollars per aore and the first crop for

clearing. In the fail and early winter he worked on the

Pontiac and Detroit Railroad. In January, 1838, he was

joined by his parents, and they at once came to the land

selected by Mr. Slocum. A log shanty was built, its roof

being of bark and its floor of split plank, with but one

window, which they had brought from Pontiac, and for

weeks with only a blanket for a door, around which the

wolves made night hideous by their bowlings. Their

means by this time were all expended, and they saw very

hard times. But by dint of hard work and the most rigid

economy hunger was avoided until the wheat he had sown

in Oakland County was harvested, when a team, wagon, and

cow were bought, and more prosi)erous days began to dawn.

With the energy and per.severance for which the American

pioneer is noted, Mr. Slocum applied himself to clearing

up and improving his land, which is now a well-arranged

and jjroductive farm of two hundred acres, while he has

given his son eighty acres. A fine house, surrounded by

large and cuniniudinus outbuildings, has taken the place of

the log shanty first built, while everything indicates the

luxurious home of the well- to-do American farmer.

On the 2d day of May, 1841), Mr. Slocum was joined

ill marriage to Mi.ss Emily A. Uoldridge, daughter of

Darius and Rebecca (Bishop) llolJridge. She was born

in Niagara Co., N. Y., Sept. 14, 1824. Their children are

as follows: Cass H., born April 28, 1851 ; Mary A., Oct.

5, 1852; Ella, April 8, 1854; and George L., Oct. 18,

1857. In politics Mr. Slocum is a Democrat of the old

schoDJ, and has been elected to nearly all the ofiBces in the

gift of his fellow townsmen. At the first towii-incrtiiig lie

was elected justice of the peace and highway cuniiiiissioiier;

the next year supervisor, which office he has many times

held. lie has also been treasurer and clerk, and has been

postmaster many years, and has been one term an associate

judge of Shiawassee County,—all of which offices were filled

with ability and credit, making for Mr. Slcicum a record of

which his descendants may well be proud.

GEORGE H. WARREN.

The family of Warrens is of English descent, and their

ancestry is identical with that of (!en. Joseph Warren of

Revolutionary fame. The great-grandfather of the subject

of this biography was an early emigrants from the shores of

Great Britain, though the date of his arrival is not a mat-

ter of record. His .son Samuel, the grandfather of George

H., was born in New Jersey, Sept. 18, 1753, and was mar-

ried to Miss Sarah Rainier, who was born Dec. 1, 1757.

This marriage occurred about the year 1775, and soon

after New Jersey became their home, during whicli time

Mr. Warren served in the war of the Revolution, and sur-

vived until his seventy-ninth year. His wife lived to be

ninety years of age. Their children were John, born July

4th, during the year American independence was declared;

William, whose birth occurred Aug. 'J, 1778; Susanna,

born Sept. 3, 1780; Samuel, Aug. 20, 1782; Aclisaii,

April 24, 178S) ; Ann, Dec. 31, 1792 ; Job, May 12, 171)(J

;

Gamaliel, March 14, 17'J'); Thomas, Feb. 12, 1802 ; and

two wlio.se record is not preserved.

The father of the subject of this biography was William,

whose birth has been already stated, and who was married

ill 1810 to Mi.ss Mary Horn, who was burn in Haddonfield,

Canidin C(i., N. J. Ilc>r lather was a native nf Germanv.

and her niollicr of Wales. 'I'liey first located in Newtown,
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Gloucester Co., and from thence removed to a home ad-

jacent to Egg Harbor, from which place they repaired in

the fall of 1816 to New York State, and settled in Onta-

rio County, their worldly possessions at this time embracing

the contents of a one-horse wagon, so moderate were their

circumstances. Their son, George H., was born Dec. 1,

1827, and emigrated with his parents to Michigan when

but three years of age, locating three miles from Pontiac,

Oakland Co., on a new farm of eighty acres. At the

age of five years he was afflicted by the death of his father,

who left a wife and family of six children in indigent cir-

cumstances. Mrs. Warren sought employment in the vil-

lage of Pontiac as a means of support, and was a second

time married to Joseph Hathaway, with whom the lad

George resided. They soon after removed to Salem, Wash-

tenaw Co., where George remained until his sixteenth

year, when he found employment as a farm-hand, working

for seven dollars per month. In March, 1847, when twenty

years of age, he settled upon eighty acres of land in the

township of Middlebury, his brother David locating upon

an adjacent farm of equal size, and with whom George

made his home for two years, his brother having married

Miss Mary Ingersull in 1847. At that time Mr. Warren's

nearest neighbor resided a mile and a half from his farm.

No permanent roads had yet been laid out, and in order to

attend church Mr. Warren traveled with an ox-team from

three to five miles. The first twenty bushels of wheat sold

from the farm were conveyed by Mr. Warren to Owosso,

performing a portion of the journey with three yoke of

oxen. Arrived at his destination, the wheat was disposed

of at the rate of forty-five cents per bushel, making the

total receipts nine dollars, which amount Mr. Warren upon

his return divided equally with his brother David. Upon
the occasion of this trip to Owosso, Mr. Warren carried

his lunch with him as well as hay for the use of his oxen.

The diSiculties and privations of these early pioneers may
well teach a lesson of contentment to those who at the pres-

ent day are raising the cry of " hard times."

March 17, 1851, he married Miss Almira Thayer, who
was born March 9, 1831, in Oakland Co., Mich. They
have four children living,—Albert H., born in 1856, and

married April 17, 1879, to Miss Jennie Welch, of Steuben

Co., N. Y. The birth of Elmer E. occurred in 1861.

Emery D. was boru in 1869, and George F. in 1874.

They are also the parents of two daughters, both of whom
are deceased. Mr. Warren is a Eepublican in politics, and

has served the township in various olficial positions, includ-

ing those of justice of the peace, highway commissioner

and school inspector.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Warren are members of the Methodist

Episcopal Church, and have been for a period of thirty

years actively engaged in church labor.

LEONARD F. KINGSLEY.

Among the leading men of Middlebury township we find

the name of Leonard F. Kingsley, who was born in the

town of Scipio, Cayuga Co., N. Y., June 2, 1811. When
he was six years old his father moved into the town of

Gates, in what was then the county of Genesee, now Mon-

roe. He bought a large fiirm, which for that time was well

improved. On this farm the family resided until three

years after the death of the elder Mr. Kingsley, which oc-

curred in 1818. The family then moved on to a farm near

Rochester, then but a small village. This was the home of

Leonard until he reached manhood, although he was there

LEONARD F. KINGSLEY.

but little, as he was obliged to work out by the month and

earn his own living. On the 26th day of December, 1833,

he was married to Miss Candace Bartlett, daughter of Elli-

ott and Waity (Lewis) Bartlett. She was born Dec. 9,

1810, in New Hampshire. After his marriage Mr. Kings-

ley worked a farm one year. Then, in October, 1835, they

came to Pontiac, Mich., where they had eighty acres of

wild land, on which he made a small improvement ; then

traded it for one hundred and sixty acres in Bennington,

which he soon sold, and then bought a farm near what is

now the village of Owosso. After a couple of years they

again sold out, and returned to Rochester, where they

resided sixteen years. During this time Mr. Kingsley was

constable, deputy sheriif, and collector. In 1856 they again

returned to Shiawassee County and settled in Middlebury,

where they bought one hundred and sixty acres of land, part

of which they have improved, and on which they still reside.

In politics Mr. Kingsley is a stalwart Republican, and was a

delegate to the convention which organized the Republican

party in New York. When Mr. Kingsley came to Middle-

bury the town was and had ever been Democratic, but the

following year gave, as it has since done, a Republican ma-

jority, and to Mr. Kingsley a large share of credit was given

for bringing it about. He has for ten years or more been

township clerk, also for some time treasurer. He has been

a notary public twenty years, and has done a great deal of

conveyancing and real estate business. He has also been

school inspector, and has many times been requested to take

the supervisor's office, but refused. For forty-five years he

has been a member of the Church of the Di.sciples. Mr.

and Mrs. Kingsley have had but one child, viz., Louisa

Almeda, born Oct. 14, 1834; died May 26, 1859.
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JAMES KENNEY.

To record and preserve for the coming generations the names

and deeds of the hardy first settlers of Michigan is indeed a

pleasure. Coming as they did from the old and long-settled

Eastern States, and |iUinging at once into the almost unbroken

wilderness, with no guides but Indian trails and the moss on

the trees, erecting and living for years in rude shanties, clear-

ing and improving the lands that have since become the beau-

tiful homes and farms of the State of Michigan, they are

deserving of monuments which shall last longer than those of

marble or granite. Among these we record the name of James

Kenney, who was born in the town of Northampton, Mont-

gomery Co., N. Y., April 21, 180(j. He is of Scutch descent,

his grandfather on his mother's side having been born in the

Highlands of .Scotland, from whence he emigrated to New
York and settled in Montgomery County. His grandfather,

Theodore Kenney, was a native of Connecticut, and was a

soldier in the patriot army during the war for Independence,

in which he was wounded. Elijah, the father of James, was

born in Montgomery County, where he grew to manhood and

was married.

When James was ten years old his father's family moved to

the town of Sparta, in Livingston County, where his lioyhood

days were passed, and where he obtained a limitcul education.

He remained with his father until he was twenty •si.\ years old,

when he started out in life on his own account. Ho first

worked a year for a Mr. Purchase, receiving the then largo

salary of two hundred dollars per year, becoming satisfied

that in an old country a poor man stood but a slight chance

of obtaining a position in life, he in 18:!.5 starte<l for Michigan,

coming to Detroit by steamer, and from tliere on foot to Sagi-

naw, stop])iMg in Flint long enough to help raise the first

framed building erected there. At that time the only struct-

ure marking the present site of Saginaw was a hotel kept in

the old fort, and the Williams Brother's Indian trading-post.

On his arrival Mr. Kenney found biniself the possessor of

twenty-two dollars, and with health, strength, and a will-

ingness to work, which have over been the foundation of

prosperity and wealth. His first work was clearing tlie land

wliero the city of Saginaw now stands. During tlie first

two years he worked at chopping, clearing land, and run-

ning a scow on the Saginaw Iliver, and whatever he could get

to do.

On the 16tb day of June, 1840, Mr. Kenney married Miss

Rosella Bruno, daughter of John and Mary (Blanchard)

Bruno. She was born in Canada, sixty miles north of Mon-
treal, Aug. 3, 1817. Her ])arents were French, and Mrs.

Kenney could only speak that language up to her tenth year,

when her parents moved to Vermont, from whence they went

to Saginaw in 183(!. There have been born to Mr. and Mrs.

Kenney the following children, viz. : Lester J., born May 23,

1842; Susan, Dec. 20, 1843; Martha, May 23, 1852; and

Lucy Ann, July 18, 18-53. After his marriage Mr. Kenney

bought a farm on Cass River, but being unfortunate in having

his house burned was compelled to allow the land to revert

to its former owner. In the fall of 1841 be was elected sheritf

of Saginaw County on the Whig ticket, although that jiarty

was largely in the minority, ho having been tho second to

adopt its principles. In 1843 he was again elected, filling the

office 90 satisfactorily that when, after the cxjiiration of his

second term, he came to Sliddlebury, men of both parties

asked him to stay and again take the office as soon as the statute

of limitation would iierniit. In April, I84(!, having met with

financial losses through the failure of others, he moved to the

town of Middlebury, where ho had previously purchased and

run in debt for three lots of wild laiul on section 22. There

were then but few inhabitants in the town, and but two houses

between his farm and Owosso. In two weeks' lime a log house

was built, into which the family immediately moved. Tho

old house has been torn away, and in its stead has been oreoled

one of the fine homes of Jliddlebury, while the wilderness

has given place to a large and well-improved farm of two

hundred acres. Mr. Kenney did niucli towards changing tho

politics of his town, which is now Kepublican hy a largo nni-

jority, of which parly ho is one of the mo^t I'arnosl supporlors.

Ho has hold nearly all of the town and school offices, including

those of supervisor, treasurer, and clerk ; ho has also been

notary public several years; and now in tho sovenly-fonrth

year of his agi', rcspceted and esteemed by all, ho is passing

the oven-linio of life in the enjoyment of more than a coni-

petoncjr.
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WILLIAM TUBES.

The Tubbs family is of English origin, two brothers,

Seth and Samuel, having emigrated from England to the

New World, and settled in Massachusetts prior to the

Revolutionary war. At that time and for many years they

were the only ones of the name known to be in this country.

They were young unmarried men, and came to America to

make for themselves a home. When the war broke out

they were married and had families, but both enlisted and

served during the war, Samuel coming home a colonel.

Seth had previously served in the French war, and was with

Gen. Wolfe, at Quebec, when that general was killed. After

the war, Seth, of whose family we shall write, returned to

his home in Massachusetts, where he resided until his

death. His son, also named Seth, was born in Massachu-

setts, from whence he emigrated in January, 1800, to

Western New York, locating in the town of Pitts, now

Richmond, Ontario Co., where he bought fifty acres of wild

land. The country was new and there were then but few

families in the town, and they were scattered over a large

scope of country. Wild animals were very numerous,

making it almost impossible for Mr. Tubbs to keep sheep

and stock. He was very poor, but was industrious, and

Soon made for himself and family a comfortable home. He

added to his farm until at his death he was the owner of

a large and valuable projierty. Mr. Tubli.s was in Shays' Re-

bellion, acting with Shays in liberating prisoners who had

been for many years in prison at Northampton for debt.

He was a man respected by his neighbors, and ultimately

became a leading citizen of his town. He lived to a ripe

old age, and passed away in 1858. His son William, the

third of nine children, and the subject of this sketch, was

born June 28, 1800, on the new farm in Ontario County,

where his father had but recently settled. Thus William

was born and grew to manhood in a new country amid.st

the privations and dangers incident to the lives of the

pioneers of that time. During the war of 1812 the news

reached them that the British were making a raid whicli

threatened Rochester and the surrounding country. Wil-

liam and his father both volunteered and started for the

scene of operations, but saw no active service, as the alarm

proved a false one. During the famine of 1815 and 1816

they saw hard times but never went hungry, as William's

father was a mechanic and earned good wages, and could

buy when others could not. William received only a com-

mon-school educaticin, but was early taught that work was

one of the first laws made for man's guidance. He remained

on his father's farm until he was twenty-four years of age,

when he started out in life for himself, working at the

cooper's trade. In 1838, wishing to get a home in a new

country, he cauie to Oakland Co., Mich., and bought a farm

in Novi township which was partly iinjiroved. and mi which

he and his son lived and kept bachelors' hail, he working

at his trade while his .son worked on the farm. Mr. Tubbs

remained on the Oakland County farm nntill 1847, when

he sold out and came to Middlebiiry, in Shiawaswee County,

and bought eighty acres of wild land, on which he built a

log house, and >vith his fan\ily commenced life in tiie wil-

derness. Here Mr. Tubbs has lived for many yeain, and

now in the even-time of life is enjoying the results of a

long life of industry and economy. He has cleared and

improved a farm, and has done his share towards making

Shiawa.ssee the fine county it is to-day. In politics he is

and has ever been a Democrat of the Jackson type, and has

been .several times elected to offices in his township, lie
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has been justice of the peace two terms, and highway com-

missioner two terms. In February, 1824, he was married

to Rebecca Bray, daughter of Andrew and Mary (Yanger)

Bray. There were born to them Betsey, June 1, 1825;

Ann, June 1, 1827 ; Seth A., July 28, 1829 ; Mary, Jan.

13, 1831 ; Jerusha, ; Martha, ;
William

B., March 3, 1837 ; James B., June 6, 1840.

For his second wife he married Catherine Van Dyne,

born April 29, 1811, daughter of Peter and Elizabeth Van

Dyne. Their union was blessed with one son, Samuel T.,

born April 19, 1851. He still remains on the old farm

with his father, and manages the business of the family.

Mrs. Catherine Tubbs died Feb. 2G, 1875.

HORACE C. MAIN.

Theodore Main was born in Rome, Oneida Co., N. Y.,

June 0, 1806. When ho was four years old his father

emigrated to Clarendon, Orleans Co., same State, where he

was an early settler. Theodore married Amanda M. Put-

nam. In Clarendon he lived until his death, July 13,

1852, surviving his wife but a month and two days. Hi.s

son, Horace C. Main, was born in Clarendon, Sept. 27, 1834.

After the death of his father, Horace was sent to the Brock-

port Collegiate Institute to complete his education ; but he

only remained eighteen months, when he went to Rochester

and became steward of the Eagle Hotel, then a first-class

house, and in which he remained until he was of age. On
the 5th day of June, 1854, he was married to Miss Dian-

tha S. Howe, daughter of George and Huldah (Fuller)

Howe. She was born in Bennington, Vt., June 5, 1832.

Her people were early settlers in Palermo, Oswego Co.,

N. Y., where her father and grandfather both died. Mr.

and Mrs. Main have never had children, but have an adop-

ted daughter, Lydia, who was born Aug. 10, 1867,—one

loved by them as though she was their own. In the fall of

1855 Mr, Main and his wife came to Michigan, and settled

in Middlebury, Shiawassee Co., where he had previously

bought the west half of the northwest quarter of section 1

.

The land was in its wild state, not a stick cut, and no roads

to or near it. Game of all kinds was plenty, it being noth-

ing strange to see bears near their house, while the wolves

were sometimes heard at night. Many of the roads in their

part of the county were .surveyed and helped to be cleared

by Mr. Main. A log house was built in which they lived

thirteen years, then moved into their present neat and

pleasant home, a view of which adorns another page of this

work. Mr. Main now owns one hundred and eighty acres

of land, of which one hundred and five acres are well

improved. In politics he is a Republican, and has filled

with credit to himself and his county the office of surveyor,

and the more difficult one of county drain commissioner.

He was deputy surveyor many years, and principal four

years, and commissioner six years. He has also held town

offices, and has taken a deep interest in the schools of his

neighborhood, having himself taught school, and served

fourteen years in succession as director of his district. He
has been for^years agent for the Davenport lands, and sold

farms to nearly fifty persons in this part of the county. Mr-

Main is highly spoken of by men of both parties as a man

of sterling worth and integrity.

Sept. 24, 1864, Mr. Main was drafted into the army, but

furnished a substitute, who served to the end of the war.

CHAPTER XXXVI.

NEW HAVEN TOWNSHIP.*

Description—Original Land- Purchases— Settlement and Settlers

—

Township Organization and Civil List—Early Highways—Schools

—Church History—Village of West Haven.

New Haven was among the earliest of the townships

of Shiawassee County in point of settlement, and was

probably, in 1837, the extreme northern limit of civiliza-

tion in the valley of the Shiawassee. It is described in

the government survey as township 8 north, of range 3

east, and joins Saginaw County on the north, Caledonia on

the .south, Ilazoiton on the east, and the township of Rush

on the west.

The surface of New Haven is generally level, with very

little rolling land. An exception to this is, however, ob-

served in the immediate vicinity of the hamlet of West

Haven, where some elevations vary the scene and greatly

enhance its picturesque beauty. An extensive tamarack

swamp formerly existed in the township, but careful drain-

age has converted this into the most fertile land found

within its limits. The soil may be generally described as

a clay loam mixed with gravel. To the north and west

sand prevails to some extent, while clay predominates in

the south and on the eastern border. The former marshy

land in the north and east is now well cultivated and very

productive. The soil yields a good quality of wheat, while

grass is always a prolific crop, and corn well repays the

labor of the farmer. The report of farm products for

1874 gives the number of acres of wheat harvested in

1873 as ten hundred and fifteen, which produced fifteen

thousand nine hundred and forty bushels, while the yield

of corn from five hundred and forty-two acres was seven-

teen thousand four hundred and ninety-two bushels. Of
other grains, nineteen thousand two hundred and twenty-

five bushels wore harvested, and fifteen hundred and fifty

tons of hay were cut. The yield of latter years is greatly

in excess of this, as a result of the improvement of much

of the land of the township.

Fruits find here a congenial soil, though the apple is the

staple product of the orchards. Peaches are grown, as are

also plums and cherries, but not in great abundance. The

prevailing timber is elm, beech, maple, and oak, some

specimens of wiiich attain an unusual size.

The Shiawassee River flows through the northwest por-

tion of the township, and affords excellent water-power,

which is utilized at West Haven for manufacturing. Six-

Mile Creek, a considerable stream, enters the township at

section 33, and flowing northwest pours its waters into the

« By E. 0. Wagner.
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river on section 18. Another stream of some magnitude

waters the eastern border of the township.

ORIGINAL LAND-PURCHASES.

The lands embraced iu township No. 8 north of range 3

east were entered from the government or purcha.scd from

the State by the following individuals;

SECTION 1.

AcrcB.

L. II. Parsons (State), 1854, 1855 687.03

SECTION 2.

0. 8. Kiiuberlcy (State), 1855 506.li'J

Margaret E. Kimberley, 1855 87.4;i

SECTION 3.

Hannah Wade (State), 1852 81.57

AlpheuB Oliver (State), 1849 1611

C. S. Kimberley, 1849 87.4.'5

M. E. Kimborlov, 1854 100

E. W. .\lgin, 18*54 80

Albert CJanson, 1855 80

SECTION 4.

Joseph Barry, 18.'i6 811

Nelson Thomas, 1855 76.U1

L. 11. Parsons (State), 1849 322.20

C. S. Kimberley fState), 1853 80

E. F. Wade (State), 185.3 40

S. W. Stout (State), 1851 40

SECTION 5.

R. McHenry, 1836 80

McIIenry, Healy, Smith, and Keroheval, 1836 80

•John L. Ireland, 1836 399.28

Gideon Scott, 1836 78.30

C. S. Kimberley, 1858 Ill

Franklin Clark, 1858 40

SECTION 6.

Laddand Little, 1835 161.10

Cornelius Bergen, 1836 129.10

MoHenry, Kcrcheval, Smith, and Healy, 1836 234.2(1

John Robins, 1836 76.84

SECTION 7.

Cornelius Bergen, 1836 271. .Ml

Mellenry, Kcrcheval & Co., 1836 322.56

SECTION 8.

McIIenry, Kcrcheval & Co., 1836 160

J. L. Ireland, 1836 240

John McOowan, 1836 100

Wm. Marshall, 1854 80

SECTION 9.

William Durkeo, Jr., 1830 80

William Washburn, 1836 160

E. II. Marsh, 1836 80

William Bloodworth, 1836 80

(Icorgc Judson, 1836 80

E. H. Marsh, 1836 80

J. C. Ileminway, 1854 80

SECTION 10.

K, K. Wade, 1850 320

1,. II. Parsons, 1849 320

SECTION 11.

Th.imas Durfee, 1837 80

L. 11. Parsons (State), 1849, 1854 400

C. S. Kimberley, 1855 160

SECTION 12.

Thomas Durfco, 1837 240

C. S. Kimberley (SUito), 1855 320

L. H. Parsons (State), 1854 80

SECTION 13.

William Durfee, 1837 320
M. R. Dimiuoek, 1854 80

C. S. Kimberley (State), 1856 240

32

SECTION 14.

Acres.

William Durfee, 1837 320
Milton Sutliff (State), 1850 320

SECTION 15.

William Durkee, Jr., 1836 160
Marcus Belden, 1836 160
II. B. Young, 1853 40
Daniel Young, Jr., 1854 80
M. E. Conklin. 1854 40

C. Brainard, 1849 160

SECTION 16.

School lands 640

SECTION 17.

John h. Irclan.l, 1836 640

SECTION 18.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 605.61

SECTION 19.

John L. Ireland, IS36 640.25

SECTION 20.

Ira A. White, 1836 160

A. L. Williams, IS36 80

Peter Bold, 1836 400

SECTION 21.

C. M. Boutwell, 1836 320

Peter Reid, 1836 320

SECTION 22.

P. A. Palmer, 1836 80

James Roberts, 1836 40

Norman Burgess, 1836 80

William Kellogg, 1836 160

John N. Garner, 1854 40

E. F. Krary, 1854 120

Mary E. Conklin, 1854 120

SECTION 23.

Horace Hart, 18.36 160

C. S. Kimberley (State), 1855 160

L. H. Parsons (State), 1854 320

SECTION 24.

William Durfee, 1837 80

Silas R. Pierce, 1854 80

L. H. Parsons (State), 1849 .320

0. H. Kimberley (State), 1855 160

SECTION 25.

Hezekiah Rowley, 1837 80

C. S. Kimberley (State), 1852, 1855 560

SECTION 26.

Ira Walker, 1836 160

James Dunton, 1836 80

Davi.l Davis, 1830 r 160

Con.sidcr Arras, 1.836 160

Joel A. Hart, 18.36 80

SECTION 27.

Peter A. Palmer, 1836 160

Ira Walker, 1836 160

James Dunton, 1836 80

S. B. Ansley, 1836 240

SECTION 28.

Riolnml K. Oliver, 1836 80

Peter Reid, 1836 80

William liriinium, 1836 80

Pell Teed, Jr., 1830 160

Samuel (Joodham, 1836 200

CzurduB Clark, 1851 40

SECTION 29.

Ira A. White, 1836 160
Margaret llurdenburgh, IS36 80

E. 1>. Shelhviuo. 1836 80

William Durkee, Jr., I8:ifl 160

William lirannan, 1836 120

William Durkee, Jr., 18.36 40
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SECTION 30.
Acres.

John Jones, 1836 80

Janie? .Tunes, 1836 80

A. L. Williams, 1836 78.48

Lot Clark and Stephen Warren, 1836 155.31

SECTION 31.

E. K. Kearslcy, 1836 67.32

E. Jones, 1836 160

Daniel Odell, 1S3U 231.60

M.Robinson (State), 1850 16U

SECTION 32.

George Fluck, 1836 80

D. P. Stunlevant, 1836 80

Benjamin Cotherin, 1836 129

William Durkee, Jr., 1836 40

S. C. Hall, 1849 160

P. J. Kinney. 1849 160

SECTION 33.

John Sturdevant, 1836 SO

Benjamin Cotherin, 1836 160

William Eames, 1836 80

SECTION 34.

John Sturdevant, 1S36 80
William Eames. 1S3B 80

R. C. Hart, 1836 80
B. N. Johnson, 1836 80

S. B. Ansley, 1836 40
James Vase, 1837 80
Michael Gibbons, 1854 120
Col. Thomas Gorton, 1855 40
Eliza N. Clark, 1855 40

SECTION 35.

James Dunton, 1836 40
Birdsall N. .Johnson, 1836 80
Hor.icc Hart, 1836 160
Daniel Prentice, 1837 80
Alonzo Barber, 1837 160
James Vase, 1837 80
John Lingo, 1855 40

SECTION 36.

Horace Hart, 1836 160
Daniel Prentice, 1837 80
Charles S. Kimberley, 1855 400

SETTLEMENT AND SETTLERS.

The earliest settler who invaded the forests of New Haven

was Horace Hart. Not a white man had yet penetrated this

dense wilderness with a view to making a permanent home
within its boundaries. Mr. Hart came from Monroe Co

,

Mich., in 1836, accompanied by four sons,—Lewis, Robert

C., Joel A., and Joseph W.,—all of whom located in the

township. He entered lour hyndred and eighty acres of

land on various sections of the township, and gave each of

his sons eighty acres, retaining him.self one hundred and

sixty on section 35, upon which he settled. He placed his

family on their arrival, in Owo.sso, while he, with his sons,

proceeded to the tract on the latter section and built a

cabin, which one of the sons, with his wife, occupied until

the family a few months later removed to it. Mr. Hart,

with the abundant aid which his family afforded, made
rapid progress in the labor of clearing, and at the expira-

tion of the first year had improved ten acres, a portion of

which was sown with wheat. He was for some time com-

paratively isolated, the nearest neighbor being four miles

distant. At his home was celebrated the earliest nuptials

in New Haven, Miss Nancy Hart, his daughter, havin<>-

been united to Mr. Thomas R. Young. In this family

also occurred the first death, that of his son Robert C, in

1848. Mr. Hart himself survived to an advanced age, and

died in 1867 at the home of his son, Joseph W. Hart, who

located in the east portion of the township, and later on

section 19, where he improved the land and remained until

his death in 1870. The homestead is now occupied by his

son William, who is one of the most enterprising farmers

in New Haven. Lewis Hart lived upon the same .section.

Joel A. Hart removed to Caledonia, where he died in 1862.

In 1837 occurred an incident which for a brief time

caused some consternation in the neighborhood immediately

adjacent. Miss Nancy Hart and a younger sister, aged five

years, while strolling in the woods lost their way, and from

Sabbath morning until the following evening no trace of

the wanderers could be discovered. The settlers for miles

around joined in the search, and they were at last discov-

ered two and a half miles from the paternal roof, nearly

exhausted with hunger and fright.

The second of the earlier pioneers who found a home in

New Haven was Richard Freeman, an Englishman by

birth, who came to Michigan very soon after his arrival

from the shores of Great Britain. Peter Reid, a resident

of the city of New York, purchased one hundred and sixty

acres on section 20, upon which he placed Mr. Freeman,

who began at once the work of clearing, the township at

that time being totally destitute of any suggestions of civ-

ilization other than were indicated by the small opening

made by Horace Hart. Mr. Freeman effected a consid-

erable improvement upon this place, but ultimately removed

to one hundred and sixty acres which he purchased on

section 21. He afterwards became a resident of the town-

ship of Rush, and is now located upon section 30 in New

Haven.

At the house of Richard Freeman was held the earliest

township-meeting, the voter.s on that occasion being Horace

Hart, Lewis Hart, William Durkee, Humphrey Wheeler,

Richard Freeman, John Dunlap, and Spencer W. Stout.

Mr. Freeman has been -during his residence in the town-

ship active in its interests, and is esteemed as a most excel-

lent citizen.

Humphrey Wheeler may be mentioned as the third set^

tier in point of arrival. He had been a former resident of

Chenango Co., N. Y., from whence he emigrated to Oak-

land County in 1836, and to New Haven in the spring of

1838. He removed to and settled on eighty acres section

15, which had been given Mrs. Wheeler by her father.

A cabin twelve by sixteen feet in dimensions was imme-

diately constructed, covered with troughs and having a

floor made of hewn logs. The box of a sled was dismem-

bered and did duty as a door after some remodeling. During

the construction of this modest dwelling Richard Freeman

extended the family a cordial hospitality. The family of

Mr. Wheeler were victims to chills and fever, which pre-

vented the accomplishment of a large clearing the first

year. At this time a pilgrimage of four miles was neces-

sary to procure water for household use. Indians were

frequent visitors, and bears caused much consternation

among the cattle. The following incident is given by John

N. Ingersoll in " Sketches of Shiawassee County :" " As

an illustration of the trouble which the pioneer settlers en-

countered from the close visits of these ' varmints,' James

B. Wheeler, Esq., relates to us the fact that when his father.
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Humphrey Wheeler, came into the countj', in 1838, settling

in whut is now New Haveu, he liruve witli him from Fon-

tiac three good-sized hogs ; and on the second night after

his arrival the entire family were roused from their slum-

hers by the excessive squealing of one of the porkers, and

on going out to discover the cause found a wolf in close

contact with the hog, the latter evidently getting the worst

of it. The wolf made its escape and the hog was saved,

only, however, to be carried off the next night by a bear,

—

the last of liis pigship. This same bear, a bold and plucky

fellow, was just afterwards supposed to have been captured

by baiting and a spring rifle, set for him by the renowned

John Pope. It was on a Saturday night, and early next

morning John was seen wending his way to Corunna, with

the carcass of old liruia and two signiflcant jugs, loaded on

a 'stone boat,' drawn by oxen of ' Pharaoh's lean kine.'

"

In 1855, Mr. Wheeler erected the spacious hotel familiarly

known as " Wheeler's Tavern," in which he became well

known as the genial host until his death, in Juno, 18GI).

He was the earliest supervisor of the township, and filled

other important civil offices.

Spencer W. Stout was a pioneer of 1839 from the Em-

pire State, and made a location upon eighty acres on section

4. Mr. Wheeler received him hospitably on his arrival,

and entertained him until a house could be built upon his

land. He made a small clearing, but finding the solitary

life of a bachelor monotonous very speedily obtained the

consent of Miss Rosanna Hart to become his wife. This

was the second marriage in the township. Mr. Stout in

18G8 removed to Tennessee, but later resumed his residence

in Michigan.

John Dunlap was the earliest settler of the year 1840,

when he purchased eighty acres on section 33, remaining

at Owosso while making the preliminary improvements

upon the land. His progress was not rapid, but a pro-

ductive clearing ultimately took the place ol' the wilderness

that greeted his arrival. Mr. Dunlap remained upon this

farm until his death He was one of the earliest inspectors

of election, and filled other offices of importance.

William Durkee, a previous resident of Oakland County,

was also a pioneer of 1840. He located upon two hundred

acres on section 2'J, and bought an additional forty on sec-

tion 32, which had been entered by him in 183G. He re-

mained with Mr. Wheeler (Whose brother-in-law he was)

until a shelter for his family was comjjieted, and on their

removal he at once began clearing. Mr. Durkee made

some progress in his improvements, but found the soil of

New Haven less suited to his ideas tlian that of Oakland

County, to which he returned in 1850.

Peter llcid, whose name has previously been associated

with that of Kichard Freeman, was a resident of New York

City, and entered land in this township in 183(5. lie was

for a while a settler, and afterwards came for short periods,

at one time remaining for two con.seeutive years. He can-

not, however, be spoken of as a pernninent resident.

lloswell Shipman, a pioneer of 1842, came from Mon-

roe C'O., Mich., and located upon eighty acres on section 23.

The land was entirely unimproved on his arrival. He

erected a structure of logs to which the liimily removed,

and Mr. Shipman began the labor of underbrushing and

clearing. He was dependent upon his own exertions, and

found industry and perseverance indispensable qualities to

his success. Mr. Shipman afterwards removed to Caledonia,

where his death occurred. Several of his grandchildren

are still residents of New Haven.

Czardus Clark, a former resident of Chautauqua Co.,

N. Y., located in 1843 upon eighty acres on section 29,

which was a dense forest with no indication of civilization

near. John Dunlap was living, and had a small clearing,

on section 33, to which ho and his family were welcomed

while building a cabin of logs. Mr. Clark found ready

employment in the i'elling of trees and clearing of brush.

Deer were readily shot from the dooryard or supplied by

the Indians, who traversed the forest on fishing and hunt-

ing expeditions. Wolves were also occasional visitors,

though not so obtrusive as in other portions of the town-

ship. Mr. Clark survived until 1875, when he died in

New Haven. His sons, Lorenzo and Ashley 1)., came at

the same date, both of whom located upon section 29. Tiie

former is deceased, and the latter now resides upon section

28. Three other sons, Czardus, J. Franklin, and Charles

B., are all farmers on section 28.

Jes.se B. Amidon removed iioni Oakland Counly and

selected land upon section 21. John Dunlap, a relative of

Mrs. Amidon, welcomed them on their arrival. There was

no highway other than the State road, and some difficulty

was experienced in reaching his purcha.se. There was not

a saw-mill in the township, Owosso and Corunna being de-

pended on to supply the lumber for building purposes.

Mr. Amidon found a journey of sixty miles to Pontiac

necessary to obtain flour and other sujjplies. He did not

long submit to these privations, but removed from the town-

ship. In 1859 he became a resident of Hazelton, his

present home.

Francis II. Pease came from New York Stat« to Living-

ston County in 1838, and to New Haven in 1843. Ho

first located upon section 18, and later upon section 21,

where he had forty acres, Mr. Amidon having formerly

occupied the place and built a log house to which he re-

moved. During the winter of his arrival there occurred

the heaviest snow-storm remembered, which so obstructed

the roads as to make travel very difficult. Snow or deep

water iis a consequence of defective drainage covered the

highways. At the house of Mr. Pease very early religious

services were held, being conducted by Klder I'atlison. .Mr.

Peii.se died in 1S.")('), and his widow still occupies the home-

stead.

Walter R. Seymour removed from Caledonia lo this

township in 1842, and located upon eighty acres, entered

by Trumbull Cary, on section 18, Inter purchased by Lewis

Finley. He built a log hou.se upon this land, which was

improved, and occupied until his death. His widow still

survives, and is the present owner of the place. Mr. Sey-

mour was prominent in the earlier interests of the township

anil hell] several town offices.

I.saac W. Rush purcha-sed of C. .^L Boulwell eighty

acres on section 21, upon which he settled in 1844. He

remaiiieil but a brief time and removed (n New Vnrk State,

where he died.

Till- names of .settlers who had conic to (he lowii>liip
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prior to 1844 are approximately shown by the following

list, which embraces the resident tax-payers in New Haven

for that year, with the section on which the land is located

and number of acres :

Acres.

Spencer W. Stout, section 4 SO

Humphrey Wheeler, section Ij SO

"Walter R. Seymour, section IS 80

Richard Freeman, section 21 160

Isaac W. Rush, section 21 SO

Jesse 15. Amidon, section 21 40

.Joseph W. Hart, section 2:',.: SO

Roswell Shipman, section 23 80

William Durkee, sections 9,29, 32 360

Dwight Dimmock, section 28 120

John Dunlap, section 33 SO

Lewis Hart, section 3-t 80

Joel A. Hart, section 26 80

Horace Hart, sections yi), 36 240

Robert C. Hart, section 36 80

John B. Burns, section 36 240

Richard Freeman, section 20 80

Peter Reid, section 20 80

Robert Ireland Personal.

F. R. Pease
D. W. Wheeler

Dwight Dimmock came from Owosso to New Haven in

1844, and located upon one hundred and twenty acres on

section 28, which is at present occupied by C. B. Clark.

He began a clearing and improved a few acres, but finding

liis labors uncongenial, returned again to his former resi-

dence.

John Pope, a somewhat eccentric character, came to

New Haven in 1844, and bought land on section 19. He
afterwards removed to section 34, upon the Lewis Hart

farm, and, after a somewhat migratory life, settled in Owosso,

where he died, in 1866.

Lewis Finley purchased, in 1845, the whole of section

18, which was entered in 1835 by Trumbull Gary. A
portion of this he located upon and improved. On his

death it was inherited by his sons Aaron and Nathan,

who now occupy it. The Dumond family, consisting of

father and sons, made their advent in 1849, having been

former residents of the State of New York. They im-

proved a farm on section 29. Some members of the family

are still residents of the township.

George Ott came from New York State to Monroe

County in 1847, and purchased meanwhile, in the town-

ship of New Haven, two hundred and forty acres on sec-

tion 19. He employed other parties to do the clearing,

and erected on Six-Mile Creek the first saw-mill in the

township, which for several years was run profitably. He
afterwards divided the early purchase among his children

and purchased a farm of ninety acres on section 18, the site

of his present residence.

Daniel Young, a pioneer from Wayne Co., N. Y., located,

in 1852, upon forty acres on section 15, which he subse-

quently increased to eighty, and upon which he erected a

substantial residence. At this date there were no roads

intersecting the State road, and no family had located

within a distance of twenty miles north. Humphrey

Wheeler—one mile distant—was the nearest neighbor.

He ofiered the family hospitality for a period of six weeks,

while Mr. Young obtained employment in the harvest-

fields. He built a house of boards, which afibrded him a

comfortable home for fourteen years, after which his pres-

ent dwellins' was erected. Indians of the Fisher tribe were

fre(]uent visitors. They were great beggars, and did not

maintain the established reputation of the race for honesty.

Mr. Young has two children residing in the township, to

whom he gave each forty acres on the same section.

Rev. William Cochran removed from Bufialo, N. Y., to

Washtenaw County in 1S37, and to the township of New

Haven in 1852, where he purchased of Warren Hart the

east half of the northwest quarter of section 23. Some

improvements had been made on the land and a log house

erected, though few settlers had yet arrived. He devoted

much time to the cultivation of this farm, and also became

familiar to the residents in the exercise of his sacred call-

ing, having been one of the earliest preachers in New
Haven. Mr. and Mrs. Cochran now reside in Corunna, the

latter having been a very early pioneer in Washtenaw County.

Phineas Burch came in 1854 from Niagara Co., N. Y.,

and made a home upon eighty acres on section 16, upon

which there were no improvements. The State road having

passed his farm afforded him advantages of travel not en-

joyed by many of his neighbors. He built a log cabin on

his arrival and effected a clearing of three acres the first

year. His trade of carpenter and joiner, however, occu-

pied much of his time. The farm is still his home, which

by cultivation has been made very productive.

Chester Cram, who preceded Mr. Burch by one year,

came from Oakland County, whence he removed from New
York State. He purchased one hundred and sixty acres

on section 27, together with an additional eighty which he

sold on arrival. On the remainder he located and erected

a house of logs, meanwhile availing himself of the tem-

porary abode offered by Roswell Shipman. Mr. Cram

cleared ten acres the first year, and continued improving

the land until his death in 1866. HLs two sons, Horace

and Levi, live upon sections 27 and 22, respectively, and

with them their mother alternately resides.

James H. Desbrough removed from Ann Arbor to New

Haven in 1855, having come direct from England to the

former place in 1852. He located upon eighty acres on

section 26, which was entirely uncleared. He remained

with William Cochran while building a temporary home,

and soon after had effected a considerable clearing. Mr.

Desbrough erected a substantial residence in 1869, but

lived only one year to enjoy it. His widow now occupies

the farm.

S. H. and J. Alliton came with their grandfather, Ros-

well Shipman, to the township in 1855. They engaged in

daily labor until the opening of the war, when they entered

the army. After their terms of service had expired, each

purchased a farm on section 33. This land was uncleared,

but has since been rendered by careful labor among the

most valuable farms in New Haven, and upon each is

erected a substantial residence.

Samuel P. Conklin came from Rockland Co., N. Y., in

1857, and located upon forty acres on section 22. In the

midst of the forest which covered this land a frame house

was standing that had been erected by J. J. Garner, a

circuit preacher, of whom he purchased the property. In

1869, Mr. Conklin removed to his present farm of eighty

acres on section 28. Daniel Conklin preceded him one

year, and located upon section 22, where he still resides.
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Patrick Riley caiiio from Flint to this township in 1857,

having purchased eighty acres on section 24. lie remained

with Jesse D. Hanford on section 26 while building, and

immediately after began chopping. A clearing of ten acres

was the result of his first year's labor. In the spring a fine

crop covered this land. He has been .successful in his

farming pursuits, and now lia.s two hundred acres on sec-

tion 20 and eighty on an adjoining section.

Edward Murray came at the same time as his friend

Riley, with whom he remained until a house had been

erected ou section 2'), where he owned eighty acres. Ho

still resides upon this land, where he has a well-improved

farm.

Michael Hart, who was formerly employed upon the

Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad, purchased one hundred

and sixty acres on section 36 in 1860. It had been for-

merly occupied and some improvements had been made

upon the land. He is rapidly cultivating this farm, having

nearly half of it now covered by growing crops.

Christopher Roehm come to the township in 1861, and

remained for a year at Six-Mile Creek, now West Haven.

He meanwhile purchased eighty acres on section 32, and

while building upon it remained upon the Dunlap farm.

He has greatly improved this land, and .still resides upon

it. His son, William H., is the present clerk of the

township.

Among other names that may with propriety be men-

tioned on the roll of pioneers are those of Oliver Hopkins,

John Desbrough, H. W. Wheeler, Lewis Rowe, P. B. Soule,

John T. Shepard, Willis Taylor, Ira Root, J. R. Knight,

William M. Liudsey, A. D. Whitney, II. J. Hopkins, and

O. C. Gaylord.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND CIVIL LIST.

,

,

New Haven was erected a separate civil township by an

act of the State Legislature approved March 20, 1841, which

provided " That all that part of the county of Shiawassee

designated as township number eight north, of ranges

number three and four east, be and the same is hereby set

off and organized into a separate township by the name of

New Haven, and the first township-meeting shall be held at

the dwelling-house of Richard Freeman in said township."

The ea.stern half of the township so erected and described

was taken off and erected into the town.ship of Hazclton by

act of March 25, 1850, thus reducing New Haven to its

present limits.

Pursuant to the provisions of the act erecting New
Haven, the electors of the township met on the first Monday

in April, 1841, at the house of Richard Freeman, for the

purpose of choosing town.ship officers. IIuin]ilircy Whcclcr

was chosen Moderator ; Horace Hart, Joel A. Hart, John

Dunlap, and William Durkee, Jr., Inspectors of Elections;

Peter Ilcid, Clerk ; and Lewis Hart, Assistant Clerk. The

ofiicers elected for the year were Sujiervisor, Humplirey

Wheeler; Township Clerk, Joel A. Hart; Treasurer, Lewis

Hart; Assessors, II. Wheeler, William Durkee, Horace

Hart; School Inspectors, Horace Hart, H. Wheeh'r, Peter

Rcid ; Directors of Poor, Richard Freeman, Joel A. Hart

;

Highway Commissioners, Peter Reid, John Dunlap; Justices

of the Peace, H. Hart, H. Wheeler, Peter Reid, William

Durkee; Constable, Robert C. Hart.

The following list embraces the civil officers elected in

the township of New Haven from 1843 to the present

time, viz. :

1843.—Su])ervisor, Humphrey Wheeler; Township Clerk,

William Durkee ; Treasurer, J. A. Hart ; Asses-

sors, Horace Hart, William Durkee ; School

Inspectors, H. Wheeler, Horace Hart ; Highway

Commissioners, Walter Seymour, H. Wliceler

;

Justice, F. W. Stout ; Directors of Poor, Walter

Seymour, H. Wheeler ; Constables, J. W. Hart,

J. B. Amidon.

1844.—Supervisor, Horace Hart; Township Clerk, Dwight

Dininiock
;

Trea.surer, J. B. Amidon ; Justice,

Roswell Shipman ; Assessors, Lewis Hart, F. R.

Pease; Highway Commissioners, I. W. Rush,

W. Seymour; School Inspector, Joel A. Hart;

• Director of Poor, Walter Seymour
; Constable,

J. W. Hart.

1845.—Supervisor, Horace Hart; Township Clerk, II.

Wheeler; Assessor, Lewis Finley ; Treasurer,

Lewis Hart ; Director of Poor, S. W. Stout

;

Highway Commissioner, F. R. Pease ; Justices,

Lewis Finley, Horace Stout ; Constables, J. W.
Hart, D. W. Wheeler.

1846.—Supervisor, Joel A. Hart; Town.ship Clerk, H.

Wheeler
;
Justice, Horace Hart; Highway Com-

missioners, Richard Freeman, J. A. Hart; Di-

rectors of Poor, S. W. Stout, R. C. Hart;

Assessors, L. Finley, Horace Hart; School In-

spectors, J. A. Hart, Lewis Finley ; Constable,

R. C. Hart.

1847.—Supervisor, J. A. Hart; Township Clerk, H.

Wheeler; Treasurer, Lewis Hart; Justice, S.

W. Stout ; Assessors, Joseph W. Hart, Lewis

Finley ; School Inspector, Lewis Finley ; Iligh-

wa}' Commissioners, Horace Hart, Richard Free-

man ;
Directors of Poor, S. W. Stout, Robert

C. Hart ; Constables, R. C. Hart, Josiah Dunlap.

1848.—Supervisor, Lewis Finley; Township Clerk, H.

Wheeler; Treasurer, D. W. Wheeler; Asse.s.sor,

Horace Hart; Highway Commissioner, W. K.

Seymour; School Inspector, Lewis Finley; Di-

rectors of Poor, Lewis Finley, J. W. ILirt
;

Constables, Josiah Dunlap, D. W. Wheeler.

1849.—Supervisor, Czardus Clark ;
Township Clerk, H.

Wheeler; Treasurer, D. W. Wheeler; School

Inspector, Czardus Clark ; Directors of Poor,

S. W. Stout, F. R. Pease; A.ssessors, W. R.

Seymour, H. Wheeler; Highway ('ouimi.ssioner,

Czardus Clark ;
Justice, Lewis Hart; Constables,

Josiah Dunlap, D. W. Wheeler.

1850.—Supervisor, Lewis Hart; Township Clerk, Hornee

Hart ; Treasurer, Peter Dunionil ; Directors of

Poor, John Dunlap, W. R. Seymour ; School

Inspector, Levi Rowo ; Asacssore, F. R. Pease,

.1. R. Hart; Highway Commi.x.sioner, .1. W.

Diamond; Justic<'«, W. V. Duniond, I'', I!.

Pease; (Vinstablcs, Poter Dumund, Peloi; Soulc.



254 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN.

1851.—Supervisor. Lewis Hart; Township Clerk, Horace

Hart ; Treasurer, George Ott ; Highway Com-

missioner, W. R. Seymour ; School Inspector,

John T. Shepard; Justice, John T. Shepard

;

Asses.sor, Lewis Rowe ; Director of Poor, John

Dunlap; Constables, Peter Dumoud, M. 11.

Finley.

1852.—Supervisor, H.Wheeler; Township ('lerk, David

Wheeler ; Treasurer, George Ott ; School In-

spector, Horace Hart; Director of Poor, John

Dunlap; Assessor, Avery French
;
Justices, F. R.

Pease, P. B. Soule ; Highway Commissioner,

W. M. Linzey ; Constables, H. Dumond, D. W.

Wheeler.

1853.—Supervisor, Humphrey Wheeler ;
Township Clerk,

Horace Hart; Treasurer, George Ott; School

Inspector, Daniel Young ; Director of Poor,

John Dunlap ; Assessors, Lewis Hart, F. R.

Pease ; Justices, Lewis Hart, William Cochran
;

Highway Commissioner, J. T. Shepard ; Con-

stables, E. H. Wheeler, J. G. Ott, Josiah Dunlap.

1854.—Supervisor, Lewis Hart ; Township Clerk, Horace

Hart ; Treasurer, Seymour Shipman ; Highway

Commissioner, W. R. Seymour; Justice, William

Cochran ;
School Inspector, H. Wheeler; Direc-

tor of Poor, John Dunlap ; Constables, P. Du-

mond, P. B. Soule, John Mansberger ; Assessor,

Lewis Hart.

1855.—Supervisor, Phineas Burch
;

Township Clerk,

Humphrey Wheeler ;
Treasurer, S. Shipman

;

, Justices, A. B. Clarke, Willis Taylor ; Highway

Commissioner, William Linzey ; School Inspec-

tor, Daniel Young, Jr. ; Assessor, H. Wheeler

;

Director of Poor, F. R. Pease ; Constables,

Joseph Ott, P. Dumond.

1850.—Supervisor, P. Burch ; Township Clerk, H.

Wheeler ; Treasurer, Daniel Y'^oung, Jr. ; Justice,

Ira Root; Highway Commissioner, A.sa Whit-

ney; School Inspector, H. J. Hopkins; Director

of Poor, William Cochran.

1857.—Supervisor, P. Burch ; Township Clerk, H. Wheeler;

Treasurer, Daniel Young, Jr. ; Justice, Lewis

Hart; Highway Commissioner, Walter R. Sey-

mour ; School Inspector, Daniel Y'oung, Jr.

;

Director of Poor, Czardus Clark ; Constables,

Joseph Ott, J. R. Knight.

1858.—-Supervisor, Lewis Hart ; Township Clerk, Sey-

mour Shipman ; Treasurer, Wm. Shankland
;

Justice, O. C. Gaylord
; School Inspector, H. J.

Hopkins; Highway Commissioner, J. R. Knight;

Director of Poor, H. Wheeler; Constables,

Warren Ladd, L. M. Newall, A. D. Whitney,

G. A. Wallace.

1859.—Supervisor, P. Burch ; Township Clerk, H.Wheeler;

Treasurer, A. D. Wheeler; Ju.sticus, Wni. Moore,

C. Clark ; Highway Commissioner, William M.

Linzey ; School Inspector, Daniel Young, Jr.

;

Director of Poor, J. R. Knight
; Constables, J.

H. Wortman, W. H. Shankland, Patrick Riley.

18G0.—rSupervisor, Phineas Burch; Township Clerk, 11.

1801-

1871.

1872.

187H.

1874

1875.

1876

1877.-

1878,

1879

Wheeler; Treasurer, H. J. Hopkins; Justice,

P. Burch ; School Inspectors, H. J. Hopkins,

O. C. Gaylord; Constables, H. J. Hopkins,

Isaiah Ott.

70.—Not obtainable.

—Supervisor, Phineas Burch ; Township Clerk, J. F.

Parkhurst ; Treasurer, J. P. Jones ; Highway

Commissioner, W. Underwood ; School Inspec-

tor, J. P. Jones ;
Constable, J. P. Jones.

—Supervisor, A. D. Whitney ; Township Clerk, S.

H. Alliton ; Treasurer, J. P. Jones; Highway

Commissioner, George Ireland; School Inspector,

Thomas Jenkinson.

—Supervisor, A. D. Whitney ; Township Clerk, J.

H. Alliton ; Treasurer, C. S. Dickenson
;
School

Inspectors, R. H. Angel, Thomas Jenkinson
;

Drain Commissioner, Charles Houghton ; High-

way Commissioner, Charles B. Linzey
;
Justices,

M. H. Ridley, Seymour Hart ; Constable, Thos.

E. Hanson.

Supervisor, A. D. Whitney ; Township Clerk, S.

H. Alliton ; Treasurer, C. S. Dickenson ; Justice,

L. W. Pray ; Highway Commissioner, Thomas

Jcnkin.son ; Drain Commissioner, A. E. Herring-

ton ; School Inspector, Thomas Jenkinson.

—Supervisor, A. D. Whitney ; Township Clerk, S.

H. Alliton ; Treasurer, C. S. Dickenson ; Jus-

tices, T. E. Hanson, G. E. Hurd ; Superin-

tendent of Schools, M. A. Taylor; Drain Com-

missioner, Ellis Ott ; Highway Commissioner,

Geo. Ireland ; School Inspector, Thomas Jenkin-

son ;
Constable, W. F. Williams.

Supervisor, C. S. Dickenson ; Township Clerk, S.

R. Chamberlain ; Treasurer, Ellis Ott ; Justice,

Chas. B. Linzey ; Superintendent of Schools,

L. W. Pray ;
Drain Commissioner, Urius Smith;

Highway Commissioner, Edward Gorman ; School

Inspector, M. H. Ridley; Constables, W. F.

Williams, R. H. Vanhorn, L. H. Smith.

Supervisor, C. S. Dickenson ; Township Clerk,

Wm. H. Ream ; Treasurer, S. H. Alliton ; Jus-

tice, L. W. Pray ; Highway Commissioner, A.

D. Whitney; Superintendent of Schools, L. W.

Pray ;
School Inspector, S. J.Young ; Constables,

W. F. Williams, Van. V. E. Ridley, William

Dumond.

—Supervisor, C. S. Dickenson
;
Township Clerk, W.

H. Ream ; Treasurer, S. H. Alliton ; Justice,

M. Hotchkins ; Superintendent of Schools, L. W.

Pray; Highway Commissioner, A. D. Whitney;

Drain Commissioner, W. F. Williams; School

Inspector, J. W. Clark
;
Constables, D. M. Pease,

S. H. Alliton, Wm. W. Hart.

—Supervisor. Nathaniel Ball ; Township Clerk, W.

H. Ream; Treasurer, S. H. Alliton; Justice,

T. W. Hinion ; Highway Commissioner, W. D.

Underwood ; Superintendent of Schools, S. J.

Y'^oung ; School Inspector, J. W. Clark ; Con-

stables, W. W. Hart, D. M. Pease, Ralph Wil-

liams, S. H. Alliton.



NEW HAVEN TOWNSHIP. 255

188(1.—Supervisor, Nathaniel Ball ; Township Clerk, W.
H. lleam ; Trea.surer, W. C. Underwood ; High-

way Coiumissionev, E. Penebaker ; Justices,

Sidney McCready, Oliver Hopson ; Drain Com-

missioner, J. W. Fairbanks ; Superintendent of

Sehool.s, S. J. Young ; School Inspector, J. W.

Clark ;
Constables, J. C. Fox, T. E. Ihistings,

W. I). Underwood.

EARLY HIGHWAYS.

The earliest highway in New Haven was laid out by the

State, and known as the " State Road." It ran north and

south, entering the township on section 33, and following a

northerly course to section 21, then angled to the east, but

again took a direct north course on the section line between

sections 15, 16, 9, 10, 3, and 4, and passed out of the town-

ship. The date of this survey is not a matter of township

record. The earliest recorded road in New llavcu began at

a stake on the north bank of Six-Mile Creek, in the centre

of the road running north through the .southeast quarter of

section 18, and pursuing a northerly course, terminated at

a stake on the north line of the township, east of the <|uar-

ter post on the south line of section 31. The date of

survey is not given, though jobs for clearing the route of

this ruad were awarded August I'J, 1843, by Humphrey

Wheeler, Horace Hart, and Walter R. Seymour, then com-

missioners of highways.

The next recorded road was surveyed by Andrew Hug-

gins, June 10, 1847, and is entitled a " Road from Dun-

lap's west to Town Line. " Beginning at the corners of

sections 28, 29, and 33, and running south eighty-nine

degrees and fifty -.six minutes west on the section-line thirty-

nine chains and ninety-six links to the quarter post stand-

ing on the south side of section 29 ; thence south eighty-

nine degrees and fifty minutes west forty chains to the

corners of sections 29, 30, 31, and 32 ; thence south eighty-

nine degrees and twenty minutes west thirty-nine chains

and ninety links to the quarter post on the south side

of section 30 ; thence south eighty-eight degrees fifty-three

minutes west thirty-five chains and five links to the south-

west corner of .section 30.

The town.ship was originally divided into seven highway

districts.

SCHOOLS.

The township, though first settled in 1830, was without

edueatioiuil advantages until 1843. During the year a

sehuol-liouse of logs was erected on land owned by F. R.

Pea.se, on the south section-line of section 21. Ira W.

Rush was the early teacher who taught the rudiments to

the rising youth of New Haven. The log structure was

later superseded by a frame one, familiarly known as the

" old red school-huuse." It still remains as one of the land-

marks of the olden time, though age has sadly inqiaired tlie

symmetry of its proportions and the brightness of its color

has departed. Early religious services were held in the

original log building by Noah Pettus, who divided with KIder

Patterson the honor of having been the earliest messenger

of gospel tidings.

The territory of New Haven is now diviiicd inio seven

whole and two fractional school-districts, under supervision

of the following-named board of directors : Uriah Smith,

Frederick Schantz, George Ott, Horace B. Cram, P. P.

Beswick, J. 11. AUiton, Cornelius Knight, J. M. BLshop,

John Hanna.

Three hundred and twenty-five children received instruc-

tion during the past year, of whom nineteen were non-res-

idents. They were under charge of four male and fifteen

female teachers. The total value of school property in the

township is 85350, and its total resources for the year for

educational purposes $2953.91, of which $197.28 is de-

riv<;d from the primary-school fund.

CHUliCH HISTORY.

WESLEYAN METHODIST CIIUKCU.

The first society of this denomination was organized in

1851 by the Rev. William Cochran, of Corunna. After

a brief career the church was reorganized at the " old red

school-house" as the Methodist Episcopal Church.

In the winter of 1871, Rev. Mr. McGee collected the

scattered members of the former body, and at the same

school-hou.se formed another church. During the season

another class was organized at the school building known as

the Desbrough school house. Rev. .Mr. McGee remained

for two years as pastor of these churches (^which were and

are a part of the Shiawassee Circuit), and Wiis succeeded by

Rev. Mr. Lyon, who remained for one year, when Rev. Mr.

McGee returned to the charge. Rev. William Waterman

became pastor in 1874, and under his labors the member-

ship was greatly increased. In 1875, Rev. Harvey Johnson

was called to preside over the charge, and in 1877 he or-

"anized the Underwood Wesleyan Methodist Church with

the following membership: P]dmund Underwood, Mrs.

Underwood, Eva Mor.se, Charles Morse, Orlando Morse,

Mary E. Morse, S(iuire Williams, Daniel Young, Catharine

Young, Martha E. Dutcher, Robert Dutcher, Harvey John-

son, Martha Johnson, Melis.sa J. Young. The present

class-leader is diaries Morse, and the stewards are Edmund

Underwood, Oriando Morse, and Robert Dutcher. The

clerk is Daniel Young. Rev. L. E. Jessop became pastor

in 1877, and was succeeded in 1879 by Rev. William Daven-

port, who still ministers to the congregation, and lixs been

signally blessed in his labors.

MKTIIODIST EPISCOr.M. Clirilfll.

The church of the Methodist Episcopal denomination in

New Ilav(!n was organized in April, 1859, as a part of the

Corunna Circuit, in the Owosso district. The Rev. L. C.

York was the first pastor. In 1808 it Wiis transferred to

the Che-saning charge, while under the ministrations of Rev.

A. B. Clough.

The pastors in succession since that time have been as

follows: in 1870, Rev. T. G. Onnin.s, who was in 1871

followed by Rev. I). B. Miller. In 1872, Rev. A. Allen

was pastor in charge, and in 1875, Rev. C. P. Kellerman

succeeded. Rev. J. \V. Crippin miiii.slcrcd to llw church

in 1877, and the present jaslor, Hcv. II W . Ilirksi, was

installed in 1879. Services are held in ihc school-house

scmi-nmnlhly, lliongli (he erection of a ehureh edifice is

but a matter of lime IMiineas Biirch has been for many

years class-leader.
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GERMAN EVANGELICAL CHURCH.

This organization was formed in 1860 by Rev. Cliristo-

pher Roehm, with a membership of thirty. Services had

been early held at tlie house of Frederick Steiner, with

Godfrey Schontz as class-leader. In 1875 the society be-

came sufficiently strong to begin the erection of a church

edifice, which was completed at a cost of twelve hundred

dollars, the debt having been wholly liquidated. The loca-

tion of the church building is on the southeast quarter of

section 19.

The pastor is Rev. Mr. Brumm, who resides in Owosso,

the church at New Haven being a part of the Owosso Cir-

cuit. The trustees are Fred Yenkel, Christian Cooley,

Fred Kirn, Jr., Godfrey Schontz.

CHURCH OF THE DISCIPLES.

A society under the discipline of the denomination above

mentioned was organized in 1875, by Elder Houghton. It

grew in numbers and influence during the two succeeding

years, and in 1877 measures were taken for the erection of

a house of worship, ground having been secured for the

purpose on section 3. The building was soon after com-

pleted, and services are held on each alternate Sabbath.

VILLAGE OP WEST HAVEN.

The village of West Haven is described in its survey as

situated on the north part of the northwest fractional quar-

ter of section No. 18, in township No. 8 north, of range

No. 3 east, and was surveyed Nov. 4, 5, and 6, 18G9, for

E. E. White and D. M. Estey, by Ezra Mason. The land

was originally entered from government by Trumbull Cary,

in 1835, and later owned by Lewis Finley. After some

transfers a portion of it came into the possession of George

Wallace, who disposed of forty acres to Jlessrs. Estey and

White, as did also Seymour Goodell a smaller tract which

he owned.

The water-power was first improved by Mr. Quackenbush,

who built a dam upon Sis- Mile Creek and erected a saw-

mill. It was run successfully for a number of years, but

finally went to decay. Mr. E. E. White became a resi-

dent in 1868, and in 1869, D. M. Estey came and erected

upon the Shiawassee River an extensive factory for the

manufacture of furniture, under the name of the Estey

Manufacturing Company. This establishment, which by

its magnitude and the employment it affords, makes the

village a point of some business interest, is propelled by

water-power furnished by the Shiawassee River, and ob-

tains its material exclusively from the adjacent country.

It is at present chiefly devoted to the manufacture of bed-

steads, of wliich are produced twelve hundred per month.

For these a market is found in Ohio, Indiana, Wisconsin,

Illinois, Minnesota, and the large cities of the East. D.

M. Estey is president and treasurer of the company, and

Charles E. Rigley vice-president and secretary.

The earliest store in West Haven was built by Joseph

Gibbs, who placed in it a stock of goods, but did not long

remain a resident. He was followed by Abrani Mott, who
erected a spacious store, which was later purchased by Messrs.

Estey & Tooley. It was subsequently controlled by the

Estey Manufacturing Company, who are at present proprie-

tors, and employ J. W. Angell as general manager of their

mercantile interests. He is also the postmaster of West

Haven. The village contains a blacksmith-shop, which is

carried on by Anson Kimball, and a wagon-shop owned by

Frank Thill.

In point of location West Haven has many natural ad-

vantages. It possesses an excellent water-power, is sur-

rounded by a productive farming country, and has one of

the most picturesque and attractive sites in the county for

a growing village.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

JACOB WIEDMAN.

John and Mary (Fry) Wiedman were natives of Wur-

temberg, Germany, and reared a family of four boys and

two girls. Three are residents of this country,—John, Jr.,

at Ann Arbor, Frederick in Pike Co., 111., and Jacob, the

subject of this sketch, who was born Jan. 1, 1834. His

earliest recollections are of stories told of a land across

the waters where each could build up their posses.sions as

unlimited as their desires or capacity would wish. At nine-

teen, after having passed through their rigid school disci-

pline, he borrowed sufiScient money of an elder brother to pay

his passage, and set out upon a voyage to the New World.

Most of his fellow-passengers had decided upon Michigan

as their future home, and from New York City he came

with them to Ann Arbor. He obtained employment for

two months at ten dollars per mouth upon a farm. With

his first pay he canceled the debt with his brother, and so

faithfully did he serve his employer that he remained eight

years. During this time, in 1860, he purchased seventy-

one acres on section 19, New Haven township, their present

home. On Feb. 4, 1862, he married Elizabeth, daughter

of Abraham and Sally (Koons) Steffe, natives of Pennsyl-

vania, who removed to Ann Arbor in 1856, and followed

farming until the family was broken up by the death of

Mr. Steffe, on April 5, 1876. The mother now resides

with a daughter in Washtenaw County. The day follow-

ing their marriage, Jacob and wife set out upon a journey

to their new home with a yoke of oxen and wagon to con-

vey them and their worldly effects. The first year proved

the most discouraging ever experienced by them. Their

only marketable commodity was wood, which Mr. Wied-

man cut and hauled to Owos.so, receiving six shillings in

store pay per cord. With the following year came a more

plentiful harvest. Each succeeding year has showered

upon them the fruits of industry and frugality. Their

children number three,—Reuben, born in 1862; Jessie,

born Feb. 22, 1865 ; John, born Oct. 1, 1867. Mr. Wied-

man is one of nature '.s noblemen, preferring to devote his

time and energies to the improvement of his possessions

and surrounding himself and family with the comforts of

life to following the empty baubles of political popularity.
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MRS. PIIINEAS BURCII. PIIINEAS nURCII.

PHINEAS BURCH.

Jonathan and Polly (St. Clair) Burch were natives of

Royalston, Vt., and after uniting their destinies by mar-

riage the first five years were spent at Montreal, Canada.

In 1817 they moved to Niagara Co., N. Y., purchasing a

farm, where they lived to see a family of seven children pass

from the parental home to begin life's labor for themselves.

Mrs. Bureh lived to the age of seventy-two, for fifty-four

years a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church, thus

exemjilifying the many good womanly qualities possessed

by her. Mr. Burch spent the remainder of his life with

his son, living to the age of eighty-four, a consistent

Christian.

Phineas Burcli, a son, and to whom this sketch h;us jiar-

ticular reference, was born Aug. 1 1, 1814. His years of mi-

nority were passed at home on the farm. May 1, 18HG, he

married Mary A. Brown, and engaged in farming. Thus

life piussed plia.santly fur a period of nineteen years, when

death's summons came to Mrs. Burch, .ind she was laid to

rest, leaving a family of six children. Three years later

Mr. Burch found consolation, and his children a kind and

indulgent parent, in Miss Adalinc Bartholomew. They

were married March 22, 1854. The offspring of this mar-

riage was one child. In June following they journeyed

West to Shiawassei^ ('ounty, .settling upon .section 16, New
Haven township, where they have since resided. Mr.

Burch has served his township and county in an oflScial

capacity almost incessantly as supervisor for fifteen consecu-

tive years,—justice of the peace until obliged to decline to

qualify on account of failing health. Through all the labors

of j)ioneer life and public duties Mr. Burch has been very

efTiciently aided by his good wile, making, as he affirms, an

accurate accountant as township clerk. In iiolitics he is a

Republican, and both have long been nirnibers of the Meth-

odist Kpi.seopal (Jlinrch.

WELLMAN HART.

Of the family history of Wellman Flart W(^ have the fol-

lowing record. Horace, with his third wife, came from

Monroe Co., Mich., to Sliiawassec County, and made the

first settlement in the town of New Haven, said location

being on section .'iC. Their family consisted of seven chil-

dren, six by first marriage,—Robert, JcjcI, Jjcwis, Ko.sconna,

Jo.seph W.,and Nancy,—by the second, Josephine. In the

course of human events the surviving children had departed

the old home to establish their own. Jo.seph W. located

eighty acres on section li), with whom the parents lived

and passed their closing clays. Horace Hart was born June

3, 1785 ; died in March, 18(17. Mrs. Hart continued with

them until Feb. 28, 1874. Of their family but one is now

living, Mrs. Nancy Youngs, of Caledonia. Joseph W. mar-

ried Miss Nancy Shipman, of Monroe Co., Mich., and to-

33

gether they pioneered the home which, willi their respected

memories, was lefl as an inheritance to a finnily of nine

children, that had grown to maturity under ibi'ir parental

care, viz. : Warner, resides in Saginaw ;
Marllia ( deoejused)

;

Wilson W., resides at Taliama, Cal. ; Wellman, Mrs.

Miranda Marshall (deceased), William M., and Hellic, all

of New Haven townslii|).

On Oct. 7, 1872, Wellman united in marriage witli

Mary J. Camp, of the town of Rush. The improvuments

so untiringly proseciiled by bis parents have been conlinucd

by them. To-day a beautiful lionie, surrounded by many

conveniences, is theirs, as nniy be sucu by the accompanying

sketches of the old home and the new. They are the

parent.s of two eliildreii,— Matilda, born Sept. 14, 1878, and

Emerald B., born ,\pril 17, 1878.



258 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN.

i

f

MRS. DANIEL YOUNG. DANIEL YOUNO.

DANIEL YOUNG.

The Young family of whom we have to 'write descended

from Emanuel Young, of Germany, who having received

the degree of M.D., emigrated to this country about the

year 1735, and began the practice of medicine. Eventually

we find him located in Montgomery Co., N. Y., surrounded

by a family characteristic of the Germans. The next in

line, P]manuel Young, Jr., joined in the struggle of 1777 for

independence, how well, the wounds received, by the .scars

that remained bore testimony to his dying day. At the age

of eighty-three he passed away, the latter portion of his

life being spent with his children in Onondaga Co., N. Y.

Daniel E. Young, the eldest of his family of six children,

was born in Montgomery County, March 1(3, 1791. In

his twenty-third year he united in marriage with Miss

Martha Brown, also a native of Montgomery County, born

Dec. 18, 1793. As was customary in those days, both

labored to secure a competency, he as a clothier, she as a

weaver ; their fin.al location being at Skaneateles, Onon-

daga Co., N. Y. Their family consisted of Maria, deceased
;

HaLsey, residing in Auburn, N. Y. ; Harvey, at Corunna,

Mich. ; Edwin, at Cayuga Co., N. Y. ; Daniel and Mrs.

Louisa Stoner, at New Haven. Daniel was born at Skane-

ateles, June 4, 1827. Being of a studious mind, at eighteen

was qualified for school-teaching, which he followed until

twenty-three. March 11, 1850, he married Miss Catherine

Gurnee, a native of Rockland Co., N. Y., born June 4,

1827. The year following he worked by the month upon

a farm. In the fall of 1S51 came West, and purchased of

his brother Harvey, living in Genesee Co., Mich., forty acres

of wild land on section 15, New Haven, Shiawassee Co.,

paying three dollars per acre, and returned home. May 19,

1852, with his wife he dep.arted upon their journey westward.

via canal to Bufiiilo, lake to Detroit, arriving the evening

of the 25th, where his brother was waiting to convey them

to his home in Davidson, Genesee Co. W. W. Young,

like most actual settlers in a new country, was not blessed

with a plentiful supply of cash, and while carrying forward

the work of erecting a home his family must be provided

for. Leaving his family at his brother's, he went in ad-

vance to his location, and began the work of erecting a

house. On June 11th he removed his family to a pioneer

tavern near his location, kept by Mr. Wheeler. July 9th

he went to Oakland County, and worked through harvest.

With his wages he was enabled to complete his house, and

on August 17th occupied their first home, where they con-

tinued for fourteen years, clearing and improving sum-

mers, teaching winters. In 1876 he completed a commo-

dious farm-house, and other improvements in the way of

farm-buildings have followed. To his first purchase he has

added one hundred and twenty acres. Where the wilder-

ness overshadowed all now smile green fields and fruit-

laden orchards, emblematical of industry and prosperity.

A due portion may be attributed to the good wife, whose

watchword has ever been, " Economy is necessary to success."

Their family consists of three children,—Sylvester J., born

Jan. 6, 1851 ; Mrs. Martha E. Dutcher, born May 27, 1854
;

Melissa I., born Feb. 1, 1863. Sylvester and Martha when

of age received forty acres, with a portion under improve-

ment, adjoining the old home. Mr. Young and wife have

been church members since sixteen years of age, and for

the past three years connected with the Wesleyan Methodist

Episcopal Church of New Haven. They contributed liber-

ally to secure a suitable church building, and are con-

sistent Christians and a worthy couple in every respect.
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MRS. H. B. CRAM.

II. B. CRAM.

Chester Cram was born Feb. 2, 181.3, in Essex Co., N. Y.

While yet a lad the family removed to Chautauqua County,

thence to Oakland County. In the sprinc; of 1834, Chester,

then of age, had accumulated sufficient means to purchase

forty acres in Oxford township. He put it under a good

state of cultivation, when, being desirous of securing more

land, he exchanged for one hundred and twenty acres of wild

land, taking a deed fur sixty acres and mortgage upon the

balance, which he failed to have recorded. The first parties,

finding the mortgage had not been recorded, sold the prop-

erty and Icl't the country, thu.s depriving him of its benefits.

In the fall of 1831) he took to himself a wife in the per-

son of Miss Margaret Eldred, whose family had removed

from Steuben Co., N. Y., to Oakland County in 1835. In

the spring of 1844, Mr. Cram again exchanged for one

hundred and sixty acres of wild land in New Haven town-

ship, iShiawa.ssee Co., but did not remove thereto until the

spring of 184i), where they continued to reside until his

death, which occurred Aug. 8, 186G, leaving a widow and

four children,— II. B. ('mm, born May 7, 1844, resides in

East Tennessee; II. B., burn Dec. U), 1852; Leroy, born

May 18, 1855 ; Mrs. Maria II opson, resides in New Haven.

Mr. and Mrs. Cram united with the Baptist (Jhurch .soon

after their marriage, and ever after lived a consistent Chris-

tian life. The present proprietor of the old hume, II. B.

Cram, on Feb. 7, 1874, married Miss Louisa Butcher,

whose family had removed from Oakland County to New

Haven four years previously. The newly-wedded couple

followed farming for a short period upon forty acres that

had been given him by his father, when a desire to visit

the gold field on the Pacific coast led him to rent his place,

establishing his wife witii her parent^s. lie journeyed

westward, visiting many places of interest ; finally located

at Preseott, Arizona, engaging in ipiarlz mining, which

proved the royal road to success. Two years later he re-

turned home, having sold his mining interest. He pur-

chased the heirship interest in the old home, and vigorously

set to work making substantial improvements. They arc

parents of two children,—Edson B., born Oct. 19, 1879;

Annie M., born Nov. 15, 1876. Mr. and Mrs. Cram are

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church in good

standing.

CHAPTER XXXVII.

OWOSSO TOWNSHIP.*

Description ami (Iriginiil .'>urvi'y»- First aiiii other l.uii>l-l')ntric8

—

Early Sottlomcnts—Civil auj Political— Educiitioiml.

Tins township, which originally embraced within its

limits the northern half of Shiawassee County, now occu-

pies the territory designated in the field-notes of the orig-

inal survey as township No. 7 north, of range No. 2 east.

It is one of the four interior divisions of the county, and

is situated northwest of its geographical centre.

Adjoining township organizations arc Hush on the norlli,

Caledonia on the east, Bennington on the south, and Mid-

dlebury on the west.

The surface, although comparatively level, is sufficiently

elevated above its water-courses to admit of good surface

drainage, the higher portions being fuund in the easliTu

and central part.s. Originally ibis wits a heavily limbered

township, beech, maple, oak, a.-fh, cherry, hickory, bulliT-

nut, black-walnut, and the many other varieties of deciduous

trees conunon to this climate predominating. Pines of

snndl size were found seatteri'd over various sections, and

tamaracks and black ash in the swamps, uf which there arc

many acres in the iKU'lhern and norlbwesl .sections
;

also

along the margins of Maple River.

The Shiawas-see and Maple Rivers are the principal water-

* liy John S. Sohonck.
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courses. Tlie former enters tlie surveyed township near

the centre of the east border, or witliin tlie corporate hmits

of the city of Owosso, and thence sweeping rapidly to the

northwest, affording excellent jyater-power privileges in the

latter city, passes on in a general northerly course, and

finally leaves the town.ship by crossing the north border of

section 1. Maple River, in its sluggish flow to the north-

west, drains the southwest corner of the township, inter-

secting sections 34, 33, 28, 29, 30, and 10. Numerous

springs and wells, whose waters are strongly impregnated

with iron, are found in various portions, and, as a whole,

Owosso town.ship may bo considered well watered.

Doubtless coal, in large quantities, underlies a large por-

tion of its surface, mines having already been developed

in tiie city of Owosso, also in the adjoining township of

Caledonia, at Corunna.

The people arc chiefly engaged in agricultural pur-

suits, the cereaLs, dairy products, and wool being the

principal articles produced.

ORIGINAL SURVEYS.

The history of Owosso as a township began in the year

1823, when deputy United States Surveyors John Mullett,

Joseph Wampler, and William Brookfield, in pursuance

of contracts, and acting under instructions from Edward

TiflBn, Surveyor-General of the United States, led their

separate surveying-parties into these wilds and began the

toilsome work of mapping out townships.

Joseph Wampler ran out the township boundary-lines in

the summer or early autumn of 1823, designating the

territory thus surveyed township No. 7 north, of range

No. 2 east, and on Saturday, November 8th of the same

year, William Brookfield, with his party, began the work

of subdivision.

Mr. Brookfield commenced in the southeast corner, sec-

tion 36, and thence continued north until the eastern tier

of sections were completed. Returning to section 35, he

again worked to the northward, and thus repeated his move-

ments until his task of running the sectional lines was

completed in the northwest corner on section 6, Sunday

evening, November 23d. On Monday, the 24th, he began

meandering the Shiawassee River, commencing on the

north boundary-line of the township, and on the left or

west bank of the river ; thence up the stream. Arriving

at the eastern line of section 24, on the evening of the

same day, he found that the hickory post set by Mr. Wam-
pler on the left bank of the stream Bad been destroyed by

the Indians. "For," he remarked, "it is where their trail

crosses the river, and where they have encamped." On the

succeeding day he crossed the right bank of the river, and

moving down its course to the northern boundary of sec-

tion 1, finally completed the original survey in all its

details Wednesday, Nov. 26, 1823.

In running the sectional lines, Mr. Brookfield supple-

mented his work by entering upon his field-book remarks

regarding the surface, soil, water-courses, swamps, kinds of

timber growing, etc. As his opinions of Owo.sso township

in 1823 will be of interest to those who occupy the terri-

tory at the present time,—fifty-seven years later,—we here

notice a few of them. In running east, between sections

13 and 24, and after crossing the Shiawassee River, he

found " plains or oak-openings. Land, first rate
;
good soil,

no large timber,—it was long ago burnt off. Undergrowth,

white and prickly ash, thorns and briers; all in abundance."

Going north between sections 13 and 14, the land was

good, no timber. l*]ast, between sections 12 and 13, he

again crossed the Shiawassee, and found " good and princi-

pally high land ; timber been burnt off, new growth of all

kinds springing up ;
some thorns, hazel, ash, poplar, and

briers." On Monday, November lOth, in going north,

between sections 11 and 12, he adds, "waded river seven

times to-day." Between sections 26 and 27 was "an In-

dian sugar-orchard, and land first rale." Another " fine

Indian sugar-orchard" was found on the line between sec-

tions 21 and 22. In running north between sections 2 and

3, November 13th, he says, "Three miles from camp, and

just dark. All black-ash swamp ; two miles of such tim-

ber." On reaching the north boundary-line of the town-

ship, between .sections 3 and 4, he noted, " I could find a

tamarack to bear to every second on the compass."

In accounting for the variation of cast and west lines,

especially west of a north and south line drawn through

the central part of the township, he said, after running

east between sections 28 and 33, " The compass has been

attracted in running this line." On the succeeding day, in

going north, between sections 32 and 33, he adds, " Again

to see if a mistake was not made in the distance of ten

chains, and found none. Run the easting also, and found by

running from the east boundary to the west, that we made

the same southing that we made northing. So that there

can be no doubt that regular attraction affected the needle.

Lost one half-day in this to ascertain our corrections."

Again, in running east between sections 16 and 21, he

said, " There is evidently attraction of mineral in this

vicinity ; in my northing I have been drawn three chains

and seventy-five links, and in my easting three chains and

sixty-four links." On the line between sections 9 and 16

he found a white oak " fifty links in circumference seven

feet from the ground, sixty feet to the limbs. It is sound,

and we judged it would make one thousand rails."

Thirty-two, in his opinion, for soil and timber, was the

best section in the township. Running north, between sec-

tions 7 and 8, he found time to say, " Wretched swamp I

Ash, alder, tamarack." But the height of his wretched-

ness was reached when running the line west, between sec-

tions 6 and 7, for here he ejaculated, " Land miserable

;

not fit even for wolves to inhabit."

FIRST AND OTHER EARLY LAND-ENTRIES.

The brothers Alfred L. and Benjamin 0. Williams en-

tered the first land in the township on section 24, being

the northeast fractional quarter, and the southeast part of

the northeast fractional quarter, Aug. 2, 1833. November

13th following they purchased on section 13 the southeast

part of the southeast fractional quarter, and the west part

of the southeast fractional quarter. No other entries were

made until the year 1835, when Trumbull Gary, William

Rood, James TilLsou, Kilburn Bedell, Lewis Findley, Elias

Comstock, A. L. and B. 0. Williams, Abel Millington,

and a few others bought land on various sections.
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Following, however, is a list of those who puiehased

from the geueral government lands situated in this town-

ship :

SECTION 1.

Ti'iMiiliulI (,'iiry, Genesee Co., N. Y., October, 1835.

Ali'xunilci- McParran, Wnyno Co., Mich., January, IS.'iO.

Jonatliiin Kearsley, Wayne Co., Mich., Kcbruary, ls:iG.

Van Dyko anil McClurc, Wayne Co., Mich., February, 1S36.

Buujauiin L. Breton, AVayno Co., Mich., March, ls;jf).

SECTION 2.

William Rood, Montgomery Co., N. Y., October, 1835.

Cornelius licrRcn, New Yorli City, January, 1S3G.

Sylvanus 1*. Jenuaiu, .Mliany, N. Y., April, 1836.

(leorgo Dicliiuson, Franklin Co., Mass., June, 183G.

IJ. Lovcuian, Shiawassee Co., Mich., March, 1855.

SECTION 3.

State of Michigan, November, 1842.

SECTION 4.

Ransom K. Bclding, <>akland Co., Mich., May, iS37.

SECTION 5.

John Comstock, Oakland Co., Mich., May, 1837.

Joshua W. Waterman, Wjvyne Co., Mich., July, 1853.

Martin Walron, Shiawassee Co., Mich,, 1854.

SECTION 6.

Sebra and Charles Howard, Wayne Co., Mich., April, 1851.

SECTION 7.

James K. tiuornscy, Monroe Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

SECTION 8.

Ezra L. Ma.son, M^tnroe Co., N. Y., December, 1836.

Martin S. Norton, Monroe Co., N. Y., December, 1836.

Raymond IJarnum, Putnam Co., N. Y., December, 1836.

Abijah B. Dunlap, Seneca Co., N. Y., December, 1836.

Alexander W. Shaft, Shiaw.assee Co., Mich., October, 1861.

Lucretia M. (Jailt'ord, Shi:iwa.«ce Co., Mich., .August, 1852.

Joshua W. Waterman, Wayne Co., Mich., July, 1853.

Albert B. Mason, Shiawassee Co., Mich., November, 1854.

SECTION 9.

Francis 6. Macy, Erie Co., N. Y., June, 1830.

George Talbot, Monroe Co., N. Y., December, 1836.

John McNiel, Boston, Mass., December, 1836.

Gideon Lee, New York City, January, 1837.

SECTION 10.

James K. Guernsey, Monroe Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Gideon Lee, New York City, January, 1837.

SECTION 11.

James Tillson, Wayne Co., Mieh., December, 1835.

Jarcd II. Randall, Niagara Co., N. V., May, 1836.

John F. Bliss, Genesee Co., N. Y., Jan. 8, 1836.

(Joorge Dickinson, Franklin Co., Ma.'<s., June, 1836.

SECTION 12.

Kilburn H.'di'll, Oaklan.l Co., Mich., June, 1835.

William Rooil, Montgomery Co., N. Y., October, 1835.

Trumbull ('ary, Genesee Co., N. Y., October, 1835.

Lewis Finilley, Wayne Co., Midi., January, 1836.

Miithew Kearsley, Wayne Co., Mich., February, 1836.

Henry Dwight, Ontario Co., N. V., February, 183C.

SECTION 13.

Heiijamiri ii. Williams, Oakland Co., Mich., Not'. 13, 1833.

A. I,, anil l(. O. Williams, Oakland Co., Mich., Nov. 13, 1833.

Lewis Findley, Oakland Co., Mich., Juno d, 1835.

Elias Comstock, Oakland Co., Mich., Juno 18, 1835.

Lewis Findley, f)akland Co., Mich., Juno 20, 1835.

A. L. and B. 0. Williams, Shiawassee Co., Mich., July, 1835.

Abel Millington, Washtenaw Co., Midi., October, 1835.

Trumbull Cary, Geueseo Co., N. Y., November, 1835.

SECTION 14.

Trumbull Cary, Geucseo Co., N. Y., October, 1835.

.\bel Millint^ton, Washtenaw Co., Mich., October, 1835.

Atla K. Mather, Wayne Co., Mich., February, 1836.

Joseph I'itcairn, New York City, February, 1S36.

Mary Williams, Oakland Co., Mich., March, 1836.

Daniel 1). Waggoner, Easton, I'a., Juno, 1836.

SECTION 15.

Mary Williams, Oakland Co., Mich., March, 1836.

.lobn F. Bliss, (loneseo Co., N. Y., June, 1830.

Henry Miller, Saratoga Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Gooi-ge Dickinson, Franklin Co., Mass., June, 1836.

Samuel L. Scott, Saratoga Co., N. Y., .lunc, 1836.

SECTION 16.

School lands.

SECTION 17.

tJidcon Lee, New York City, May, 1836.

John F. Bliss, (iencsee Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Henry Miller, Saratoga Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

James K. Guernsey, Monroe Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

SECTION 18.

Dudley F. Scott, Saratoga Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Henry Miller, Saratoga Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

James R. Bulling, Saratoga Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

Ebenozer Conklin, Seneca Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

Dudley F. Scott, Saratoga Co., N. Y., June," 1836.

SECTION 19.

Gideon Lee, New York City, May, 1836.

Ebcnezor Conklin, Seneca Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

Josiah B. Park, Shiawassee Co., Mich., April, 1854.

Cary and Kimberlcy, Shiawii^sco Co., Mich., April, 1854.

SECTION 20.

John F. Bliss, Genesee Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

George Dickinson, Franklin Co., Mass., June, 1836.

Oliver Athcrton, Genesoe Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

Ledyard Frink, Genesee Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

John MoNiel, Boston, Mass., December, 1836.

SECTION 21.

Jacob Wilkin.son, Shiawa,s8oe Co., Mich., June, 1836.

Reuben Griggs, Oakland Co., Mich., Juno, 1836.

John F. Bliss, Genesee Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

Aug. F. Rose, Seneca Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

Gideon Cobb, Monroo Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

Ira Washlmrn, Monroo Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

.Samuel S. Scott, Saratoga Co., N. Y., Juno, 1836.

SECTION 22.

Atla K. Mallnr, Wayne Co., Mich., February, 1836.

Gideon Lee, New York City, May, 1836.

Al>raham T. Wilkinson, Oakland Co.. Mich., Juno, 1836.

David D. Wagoner, Easton, Pa., June, 1836.

SECTION 2.3.

Trumbull Cary. Genosoo Co., N. Y., October, 1835.

James G. Crane, Wayne Co., Mich., January, 18;t6.

Johnson Nilcs, Oakland Cti., Mich., February, 1838.

Atla IC. Mather, Wayne Co., Mich., February, 1836.

Reuben Griggs, Oakland Co., Mich., June, 1836.

Gourgu Dickinsou, Franklin Co., Mass., June, 1836.

SECTION 21.

A. L. and I!. O. Williams, Oakland Co., Midi., Aug. 2, 1833.

Eliius Comstock, Oakland Co., .Mich., Juno 18, 1835.

Potor A. Coudory, Now York City, October, 1835.

E. Oomstook and Sotb Bcaob, Oakland Co., Mich., Norombor, 1835.
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Henry Dwight, Ontario Co., N. Y., February, 1836.

Silas and Daniel Ball, Monroe Co., N. Y., March, 1836.

SECTION 25.

Joseph Pitoairn, New York City, February, 1836.

Silas and Daniel Ball, Monroe Co., N. Y., March, 1836.

SECTION 26.

Marcus Culver, Oakland Co., Mich., March, 1836.

Gideon Lee, New York City, April, 1S36.

Newbold Lawrence, New York City, May, 1836.

A. L. and B. 0. Williams, Shiawa.ssee Co., Mich., June, 1836.

Harriet L. Williams, Oakland Co., Mich., June, 1836.

Catherine Brown, Shiawassee Co., Mich., September, LS.'i6.

Ira Merell, Shiawassee Co., Mich., March, 1854.

William Ingcrsoll, Shiawassee Co., Mich., October, 1851.

SECTION 27.

Gideon Lee, Now York City, April, 1836.

David P. Bunnell, Washington Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Ralph R. Smith, Genesee Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

David D. Scott, Seneca Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

SECTION 28.

Daniel Scott, Seneca Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

James M. , Ontario Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Beebe Truesdell, Monroe Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Abraham F. McCarthy, Shiawassee Co., Mich., April, 185-1.

SECTION 29.

Abigail Dewey, Oakland Co., Mich., December, 1S35.

Hamlet Harris, Oakland Co., Mich., April, 1836.

Gideon Lee, New York City, April, 1836.

Aaron B. Patterson, Monroe Co., N. Y., July, 1838.

Lucius G. Hammond, Shiawassee Co., Mich., July, 1846.

George Galloway, Shiawassee Co., Mich., September, 1842.

SECTION 30.

George W. Williams, Oakland Co., Mich., January, 1S36.

Gideon Lee, New York City, April, 1836.

Daniel Hand, Augusta, Ga., April, 1836.

Calvin Wickhara, Oakland Co., Mich., October, 1836.

Ezra P. Blackman, Oakland Co., Mich., November, 1836.

Chauncey F. Shepherd, Shiawassee Co., Mich., March, 1836.

James Aitkin, Genesee Co., N. Y., October, 1854.

SECTION 31.

Gideon Lee, New York City (whole section), December, 1836.

SECTION 32.

Abijah Dewey, Oakland Co., Mich., December, 1835.

Uauilet Harris, Oaklan.l Co., Mich., April, 1836.

tiideon Lee, New York City, April, 1836.

James B. Hunt, Oakland Co., Mich., June, 1836.

SECTION 33.

Apollos Dewey, Jr., Oakland Co., Mich., November, 1835.

Abijah-'- Dewey, Oakland Co., Mich., November. 1835.

Abuer Davis, Oakland Co., Mich., November, 1835.

Charles C. Hascall, Oakland Co., Mich., November, 1835.

William Garrison, Oakland Co., Mich., June, 1836.

SECTION .3-4.

Lemuel Castle, Oakland Co., Mich., December, 1835.

Hiram A. Caswell, Rensselaer Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

William S. Brown, Monroe Co., N. Y., June, 1S36.

Beebe Truesdell, Monroe Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

Herman R. Hewlett, Monroe Co., N. Y., July, 1836.

George W. Williams, Oakland Co., Mich., March, 1837.

SECTION 35.

Newbold Lawrence, New York City, May, 1836.

William I. Hanford, Monroe Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

* Perhaps Abigail.

John Hagaman, Monroe Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

E.and B. Fisher, Jlonroe Co., N. Y., June, 1836.

SECTION 36.

Benjamin F. Larned, Wayne Co., Mieh., March, 1836.

Silas and Daniel Ball, Monroe Co., N. Y., March, 1836.

Newbold Lawrence, New York City, May, 1836.

EAKLT SETTLEMENTS.

The first settlemeut in tlio township of Owo.s.so, outside

of the vilhige, was made by Reuben Griggs and Abram T.

Wilkinson, in June, 1836. They were brotliers-in-law,

and came from Henderson, Jefferson Co., N. Y. Mr.

Grigg.s' family consisted of himself, wife, and three children,

named Ezra, Lucelia, and Lucretia, an adopted daughter.

Mr. Wilkinson's, of himself, wife, and children,—Annette

and Alfred. These families traveled with their own con-

veyance from Henderson to Oswego. At the latter place

the horses and wagon were sold, and the remainder of the

journey to Detroit was accomplished via the Erie Canal

and Lake Eric. They then hired a conveyance to take

them to Novi, in Oakland County, where they remained

about one week, meantime purchasing from the general

government the lands in Owosso township upon which they

finally settled.

From Novi another man was hired to bring them here,

and in traveling to their wilderness homes they cut out the

first road leading west from the present city of Owosso.

In July, 1836, Mr. Griggs hired an ox-team and returned

to Detroit for the purpose of bringing out his household

goods. The trip consumed one week's time. Both fami-

lies occupied the same building the first winter, and at

that time their nearest neighbors to the westward were the

people composing the " Rochester Colony," sixteen miles

distiint. During that winter Mr. Griggs hired another ox-

team and traveled sixty miles in going to and returning

from mill. Mr. Wilkinson died about sixteen years ago.

Deacon Griggs still resides upon the land he first began

improving in 1836.

Apollos Dewey, a native of Vermont, seems to have

been the next settler in the rural part of Owosso township.

He removed from Chili, Monroe Co., N. Y., to BlooniBeld,

Oakland Co., Mich., in 1821, thus becoming one of the

earliest settlers in what was then termed the interior of

Michigan Territory. He purchased lands situated in the

southwest part of this township in 1835, but did not settle

here until the spring of 1839. He soon became one of

the most prominent and successful farmets in Owosso.

Not given to ofiice-holding, he, however, served as an early

justice of the peace and in various other positions accept-

ably.

His son, Thomas D. Dewey, now one of the most prom-

inent and active citizens in the city of Owosso, was born in

Oakland County in 1823. He began his business career in

1841, by engaging as a salesman in the store of Charles L.

Goodhue, where he remained some five years. In 18-16, with

John L. Goodhue as a partner, he began merchandising in

the village of Owosso. This copartnership was dissolved

by the death of Mr. Goodhue. In 1850 be started his

present extensive milling interests in connection with John

Stewart. The firm has been very successful. Besides



OWOSSO TOWNSHIP. 263

their flouring and other mills, farming is carried on on a

large scale, and they are also extensively engaged in breed-

ing fine horses. Mr. Thomas D. Dewey has filled many

positions in the gift of the people. (Sec list of township

city, and county officers.)

Ezra Ij. IMiuson, a native of Rochester, N. Y., aecom-

panied by his wife and two daughters, his brother, Albert

B., and the latter's wife, arrived in Owo.sso in September,

183!), settling upon land.s on section 8 which had been

purchased by him in December, 1836. He was the first

settler in all the northwest quarter of the township, and

does not remember that any families other than those

already mentioned, viz., Messrs. Griggs, Wilkinson, and

Dewey, preceded him in the township proper. The broth-

ers built a cabin of small poles, such as two men could

handle, and this was occupied by I'lzra L. for two years.

A good substantial log hou.se succeeded it, which in turn

gave place to a commodious frame dwelling in 1854. An

early frame barn was built by him in 1847, and pos.sibly

his son Ezra, whose birth occurred Nov. 9, 1839, was the

first child born—outside the village—in the township.

Mr. Mason was an experienced surveyor and performed

much work of that character in the early days. He is now

a resident of the city of Owo.sso, and relates that in 1839

he paid thirty-two dollars to have a load of hou.sehold

goods hauled from Detroit to his home in Owosso. Conse-

quently a barrel of salt worth two dollars in Detroit cost

him eight dollars when delivered. Here, as elsewhere in

the wilds of Michigan, bears were very troublesome, and

if the many encounters had with them by the Mason broth-

ers, Billy Scott, Calvin Hunt, and William Badgerow could

be fully described, they would (orui a most amusing ehaj)ter.

Samuel Shepard, from Monroe Co., N. Y., settled upon

the premi.ses now owned by his son, Francis M., in the fall

of 1840, and among other settlers of that year W(^re Francis

Mittleberger, a tailor, upon section 28, Waterman Perkins,

upon section 32, and perhaps otluns. However, settlements

were not made very rapidly, for we find that in 1844 those

named as resident tax-payers in the present township were

the f(jllowing

:

Acres.

William IJerry,* section I 811

William Uiiilgcrow, Hcctions II, 15 240

James Boguc, section 26 25

Apollus Dewey, sections 32, 33 400

John W. Dewey, sections 29, 32 240

Lewis Findley, section 1.3 100

Hetihcii (irij^gs, sections 21, 23 240
William r.. Hopkins, section II. 240

Abe! liiimunion, section 21 80

Francis Mittleberger, section 28 100

Kara I,. Miu^iou, sections 8, 17 255

Albert H. Mason, section 8 40

WttttTiiian I'erkins, section 32 80

Samuel (Shepard, sections 17,21) 160

Lewis Simpson, section I'J 383

Charles Stimpson, sections I t, 23 100

Ira Stini|tsoii, personal

Aliram T. Wilkinson, section 22 100

Satonel Wilkinson, section 2H 80

Ilorton Warren, sections 28, 20 200
Uiishroil Warren, section 28 80

Henry Hunt
WMIliaiu Jackson
t'liarles Stilupsoi

The total tax levied on the tdwii^hip and village during

th(! .same year was one thousand and twenty-one dollars and

• The first colored man to reside in the township.

thirty-nine cent,s, and the aggregate valuation of real and

personal estate, including resident and non-resident lands,

was forty-nine thousand four hundred and seventy-one

dollars and twenty cents.

In 1850, Bradford Bradley, Nathani.^l I'^wcll, Klisha

B. ILil.stead, Frank McCarty, Franklin P. (juilford, Henry

Crooks, Malcolm D. Bailey, Cha.s. Parker, Samuel Wheaton,

Edward Wood, Henry Ackerman, Isaac Secord, Ezokiel

Salisbury, and William M. Norris were additional residents.

At this time, with the village, Owosso township contained

but seventy-six dwelling-houses and three hundred and

ninety-two inhabitants.

Iti 1800, with that portion of the surveyed township

now embraced within the corporate limits of the city of

Owosso taken out, it had one hundred and twcMity dwellings

and five huiidriid and seventy-three inhabitants. .Accord-

ing to the last State enumeration (1874) it then had mic

thousand and fifty inhabitants. With three hundred and

fifty voters, it has a present population ol' about seventeen

hundred.

The greater portion of the township was held as non-

resident lands until within a period quite recent. 'J'his

ret.irded population iind improvements to .such a degree that

it is still comparatively a new township, susceptible of great

changes for the better.

Owosso, as village and city, having always been the chief

trading-point for its inhabitants, the place where were es-

t.iblishcd the first schools, stores, mills, post-office, etc., no

other commercial centre has ever been attempted within its

confines. Mungerville, a station on the line of the Detroit

and Milwaukee Railroad, is situated near the west border of

the township. Here w;is formed a Protestant Methodi.st

church in March, 1880, of which, by the articles of incor-

poration, Elihu W. Ma.son, George T. Mason, Myron Big-

nail, William Wright, and Nelson Ackerman were named

as trustees. For much else of interest regarding the past

history of Owosso township, tin' reader is referred tn the

history of Owosso City.

CIVIL AND POLrriCAI..

By an act of the State Legislature, approved March 11,

1837, the township of Owo.s.so was formed from Shiawa.ssee,

and included the northern half of the present county of

Shiawassee. Section 8 of said act reads as follows :

" All that portion of the county of Shiawas.see known

as townships seven and eight north, of ranges number one,

two, three, and four cast, be and the same is hereby set off

and organized into a separate township by the name of

Owosso; and the first townsliip-meeting therein HJiall be

held at the hnuse of Daniel Ball in said township."

Pursuant to the foregoing act the ('leclcirs of the town-

ship a.s.sembled at, the liou.se| of Daniel Ball, in the vilhigu

of (JWO.S.SO, on Monday, May 1, 1H37, and organizcil by

choosing .Icu'l Noilh modcralipr and Samuel N. Warren

clerk, who, together with Elias Comstouk, a justice cif ilu;

f The township election of 1838 was hebl at Williams Hros. store;

in 1831), at the odice of Hall, (irocn & Co. ; in 1810, at ilouhl, Kinh &

Co.'s store; and in 1811, at the sohool-house.
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peace, constituted the inspectors of the electiou. After

these officers had taken tlie required oath, on motion the

meeting was adjourned to the store of Daniel Ball, where

balloting commenced. At its close, and after the canvass

had been completed, the following officers were declared

elected : Lewis Findley, Supervisor ; Alfred L. Williams,

Township Clerk ; Daniel Ball, Samuel N. Warren, Abram T.

Wilkinson, Assessors ; John B. Griswold, Henry S. Smith,

Jehial Dunning, Highway Commissioners ; Daniel Ball,

Elias Comstock, Alfred L. Williams, John Davids, Justices

of the Peace ;
Elias Comstock, Alfred L. Williams, Samuel

N. Warren, School Inspectors ; Heury S. Smith, Jehial

Dunning, Abram T. Wilkinson, Constables ; Henry S.

Smith, Samuel Wilkinson, Lewis Findley, Poorniasters.

At the close of this meeting it was " Renolved, That

the nest annual township-meeting be held at the school-

house in the village of Owosso, if there should be one at

that time ; if not, then at the house of Daniel Ball, in said

village."

The highway commissioners at their first meeting divided

the township into two road district,?, described as follows :

" The Second District shall comprise all the land lying

south of the River Shiawassee, and east of a north and

south line drawn between sections nineteen and twenty,

twenty-nine and thirty, and thirty-one and thirty-two in

township number seven north, of range number three east.

The First District shall include all the remaining lands of

the township."

Caledonia and Middlebury were formed as separate town-

ships, in 1839; New Haven, in 1841; Venice, in 1843;

Rush and Hazelton, in 1850; and Fairfield, in 1854; and

all comprise territory which belonged to the old township of

Owosso during the years 1837-38.

In 1859 sections 13 and 24, and the east half of sections

14 and 23, were set off and placed within the corporate

limits of the city of Owosso.

The following is a tabulated statement of the supervisors,

township clerks, treasurers, highway commissioners, and

justices of the peace elected* annually for the years from

1838 to 1880 inclusive:

1838.

1839.

1840.

1841.

1842.

1843.

1844.

1845.

1846.

1847.

1848.

1849.

1850.

1851.

1852.

1853.

1854.

1855.

Supervisors.

Elias Comstock.

Lewis FinJIoj.

Sanford M. Green.

f

Alfred L. AVilliams.

Amos Gould.

Tuwnsliip Ck'rks.

Ehcnezer (jJould.

Sanford M, Green.

David D. Fish.

Daniel Gould.

David D. Fish.

Charles P. Parkill.

Thomas I). Dewey.

Daniel Lyon.

David Ingcrsoll.

Alfred L. Williams.

Anson B. Chipman.

Isaac M. Chipmau.

Charles L. Goodhue.

Anson M. Chipman.

Joseph Hedges.

Treasurere.

Elias Comstock.
it tt

Austin Griffis.

George Parkill.

Daniel McGilvra.

Erastus Barnes.

Mathew N.Tillotson.
*< it

Dwight Dimmick.

Lucius G. Hammond.
Erastus Barnes.

William A. Carr.

Jay L. Quackenbush. David Gould.



PERRY TOWNSHIP. iriD

1851. William 11. Keytes. 1862. John Wiley.

WinlielJ S. Amcnt. Edwanl B. Brewer.

1852. L. Masou. 1863. John Wiley.

Samuel .Shepard. 1864. Ira W. Rash.

185.'!. Thomas D. Dcwoy. 1865. No record.

1834. William H. Keytes. 1866. W.Davis.

Ilorton Warren. 1867. F. M. Shepard.

1855. Josiah B. Parks. 1S6S. H. H. Carson.

IraMerell. 1809. Frank 1'. Guilford.

1856. Anson B. Chipman. 1870. John II. MoCall.

1857. William H. Keytes. 1871. T. M. Templcton.

Oilbort O. Doano. 1872. Ira W. Rush.

1858. M. W. Quackeubush. 1873. John 11. MeCall.

1859. John S. (Jates. 1S74. Erastus B. Knapp.

Franklin 1*. Guilford. 1875. William P. Stt-adman.

Daniel Brooks. 1876. William J. Lewis.

1860. Joseph I. Newman. 1877. William B. Launstein.

1861. William C. Van Doren. 1878-80. John W. Dewey.

1862. Earl S. Hall.

EDUCATIONAL.

For matters pertaining to the first school in the township

in district No. 1, see history of city. School district No.

2, tlie Griggs and Wilkinson neighborhood, was organized

in 184.3. From the fact that the early school inspector.s'

reports have not been preserved, and the failure of those

living to remember, we cannot determine who taught the

first .school in the latter district. It seems that but two

districts— 1 and 2—had an active state of existence for

ten or twelve years after the organization of the township.

Since 1850 other districts have been formed, and the

boundaries of all contracted or enlarged at various times.

It is impossible to follow or describe their history.

Among the early teachers mentioned a.s receiving cer-

tificates were Charles P. Parkill, May 4, 1844 ; Drusilla

Cook, in 1847; Sarah Pratt and Dru.silla Cook, 1848; J.

W. C. Blades, Euphrasia Parkill, Clarissa lugersoll, Sylvia

Guilford, 1849 ; Amanda Guilford, Lucretia Griggs, 1850
;

and Uretta Chase, Annette Wilkin.son, C. F. Shcpard, Miss

U. Cook, in 1851.

A summary from the school inspectors' report for the

year ending Sept. 1, 1879, shows as follows:

Nnmbor of ilislricis (whole, 3; fractiimal, 3) 6
" children of school ago residing in the

township 295
" children attending school during the

year 25G
" frame fcliool-honsos 6

Value of school property S4150
Number of male teachers employed 3

female '• " 8

Paid male teachers $245
" female " $578.75

Moneys received from all .-Jources during the year $1218.50

CHAPTER XXXVIII.

PERRY TOWNSHIP.*

Location, Boundaries, and Early Settlement—Township Organisation

anil List of Officers—Schools of Perry—Old Perry Centre^— Village

of Morrice—Village of Perry.

TilK township of I'erry, designated in the United States

siii'vey as town 5 north, of range 2 west, i.s situated on the

south border of Shiawas.see County, and bounded on the

» By G. A. McAlpine.

west, north, and ea.st respectively by the townships of

Woodhull, Bennington, and Antrim.

The first settlement in this township was made by Josiah

Purdy in the fall of 183G, upon land which had been en-

tered for him by a Mr. Howe, and described as the west

half of the northwest quarter of section 13, and the west

half of the southwest quarter of section 12. Upon the

northern half of this land now .stands the village of Morrice.

While Mr. Purdy was building a cabin he left his family at

the house of Alanson Ailing, in Antrim. The rude dwel-

ling which he soon completed, and to which he soon after

brought them, was the first built by a white man in the

township of Perry. It stood just ea.st of the school-house

now in the village of Morrice. An Indian trail, which to

all appearances had been used for ages ( for in places it was

worn nearly a foot deep), pitssed near the door, and over it

at times, in their peculiar single file, long lines of Indians

would pass. They were at first totallj' oblivious to the

presence of their new neighbors, but gradually became

acquainted, and before leaving the township became very

friendly. They would sometimes stop during a storm, or

spend the night with him. At such times they would sleep

on the floor of the little front room, which w.is often covered

with them. Without a word of explanation they would

sometimes go away, leaving their guns standing in one

corner of the room, and be absent .several weeks in succes-

sion. As Mr. Purdy never touched them, or allowed any

one to interfere with them, he gained the entire confidence of

the Indians. In the spring of 1837, Mr. Purdy plowed a

small piece of ground for a garden, and although in the

mean time several other settlers had located in Perry, this,

it is thought, was the first land plowed in the township.

Mr. Purdy died in 18G8. Mrs. Diaritha Purdy, his wife,

died in 1866. The son, who came with them to Perry, is

living on the south part of the farm which his father en-

tered.

During the spring referred to many new settlers made

their appearance,—.some to buy land and remain, but most

of them soon became discouraged and returned to the older

settlements. Among those who remained were Horace

Green and Joseph Roberts. The latter wtis a physician,

the first in the township. They built a house and lived

under the same roof for three years. Mr. Green entered

the southwest quarter of section 15. He brought a wife

and six children, some of whom still remain in the town-

ship. He and his wife arc now living in Kent Co., Mich.

George Reed, Jesse Whitford, William Lemon, and Wil-

liam Morrice came to Perry about the same time. Mr.

Reed, who was a native of England, located one hundred

and sixty acres on section 8, and with bis wife remained in

Perry until his death, which occurred a few years since.

Jes.sc Whitford carac to Perry in llie hitter part of 1837,

and located the west half of the northwest (|uartcr of sec-

tion 3. He had a wife and five children. His daughter

Minerva, born in 1838, is sujiposed to have been the first

while child born in the township. William Lemon also

camu in 1837, and located the southwest (piarler of section

1. The next summer (1838) he married in Washlenaw

County, and did not remain long afterwards in Perry.

In March, 1837, William Morrice, from Aberdeensliire,

34
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Scotland, located with his family on the southeast quarter

of section 2. His brothers, John, George, and Alexander,

came to the township the next year. George located the

southwest quarter of section 2. Part of this land had been

entered by a Mr. Patten. John Morrice located the east half

of the northeast quarter of .section 2. He died in 1848.

Alexander did not remain in Perry, but went to Ionia

County. The village of Morrice took its name from this

family, a number of the members of which are still living

in the vicinity. William Morrice died in 1873. His wife

is yet living.

Phineas Austin came to Perry in 1837, having previously

entered the land on section 4, where his son now lives.

Lyman Bennett settled on the northeast quarter of sec-

tion 5. Levi Harmon, also one of the early settlers of

Perry, located on the south part of section 25. His daugh-

ter Polly was married to Lewis Ward (whose father was

a pioneer of Antrim) in September, 1831). This is said

to have been the first marriage in the township. Ebenezer

Turner came to Perry in 1837, and bought part of the

northwest (juarter of section 2.

In 1839, John P. Shaft located three hundred and twenty

acres of sections II) and 2t). The village of Shaftsburg,

in Woodhull township, is situated upon laud which he sub-

sequently purchased in that township.

In the following year John Spaulding, from New York,

purchased a part of section I'J ; after building a house he

returned to New York and married. He then came back

to Perry. At the first town-meeting in this township Mr.

Spaulding was elected assessor and justice of the peace.

TOWNSHIP UKGANIZATION AND LIST OF
OFFICERS.

An act of the Legislature of Michigan, approved March

15, 1841, set off survey-township 6 north, of range 2 east,

from the territory of the township of Bennington, and

erected the same into the separate civil township of Perry,

with the provision that the first township-meeting be held

at the house of Jo.seph P. lloberts.

In accordance with the last-named provision of the act,

the electors of the township met at the place dcsigimtcd on

the 15th of April, 1841, and organized the meeting by

choice of Joseph P. Pioberts as moderator, and Lyman
Bennett as clerk for the day. " A coffee-pot and an old tea-

kettle" were used as ballot boxes, and with these the elec-

tion proceeded. The names of the township officers elected

at that first meeting, as well as those who have been elected

in subsequent years to the present time, are given in the

following list, viz.

:

1841.—Supervisor, Lyman Bennett; Clerk, J. P. Roberts;

Treasurer, Lyman Bennett ; Assessors, John

Spaulding, J. P. Roberts, Winfield S. Ament;

School Inspectors, B. B. Brigham, J. P. Rob-

erts, Lyman Bennett ; Highway Commissioners,

Levi Harmon, J. P. Roberts, Lyman Bennett

;

Justices, J. P. Roberts, Levi Harmon, W. S.

Ament, John Spaulding ; Collector, Horace

Gi"een ;
Directors of the Poor, ^Villiam F. Ste-

vens, Josiah Purdy
;
Constables, John P. Shaft,

William Harmon, Horace Green, James Nichols.

1842.—Supervisor, Lyman Bennett ; Clerk, W. S. Ament

;

Treasurer, Levi Harmon ; Assessors, John

Spaulding, James Cummin ; School Inspectors,

J. P. Roberts, W. S. Ament, B. B. Brigham
;

Directors of the Poor, W. F. Stevens, Phineas

Austin ; Highway Commissioners, J. P. Shaft,

William Harmon, Lyman Bennett; Justice,

Orson S. Barker; Constables, J. P. Shaft, Wil-

liam Harmon, Horace Green, James Nichols.

1843.—Supervisor, Lyman Bennett ; Clerk, James Cum-

min ; Treasurer, Levi Harmon ; Justices, John

Spaulding, Phineas Austin ; Assessor, John

Spaulding
;

Higliway Commissioners, John

Spaulding, Lyman Bennett; School Inspectors,

B. B. Brigham, James Cummin ; Directors of

the Poor, Phineas Austin, Levi Harmon
;
Con-

stables, John P. Shaft, W. Harmon, James

Nichols, John Whaley.

1844.— Supervisor, Lyman Bennett; Clerk, James Cum-

min
;
Treasurer, Levi Harmon ; Justice, Lyman

Bennett; School In.spector, James H. Mills;

Highway Commissioners, W. W. Dcnio, Lyman

Bennett, John P. Shaft; Constables, W. W.
Denio, J. P. Shaft, Horace Green.

1845.—Supervisor, Lyman Bennett; Clerk, James Cum-

min ; Treasurer, Levi Harmon ; Justice, Jos.

P. Roberts ; Highway Commissioners, Levi

Harmon, John Morrice, Phineas Austin

;

School Inspectors, Lyman Bennett, Gilman

Warren ; Constables, Alanson Stevens, James

Nichols, John P. Shaft, James Cummin ; Di-

rectors of the Poor, Phineas Austin, W. F.

Stevens.

184G.—Supervisor, Lyman Bennett; Clerk, John Spauld-

ing; Treasurer, W. Holmes; Justices, James H.

IMills, Charles Locke, William Morrice; School

Inspector, James H. Mills; Highway Commis-

sioners, Lyman Bennett, Joseph Macomber;

Constables, E. Whaley, William Alsaver, An-

drew Turner, Lewis Ward.

1847.—Supervisor, Lyman Bennett; Clerk, Norman Green
;

Treasurer, P. Austin ; School Inspector, Lyman

Bennett; Highway Commissioners, John 0.

Hinkley, William Jlorrice ; Directors of the

Poor, Phineas Austin, Levi Harmon ; Justice,

Charles Locke; Constables, Andrew Turner,

Johnson Treadway.

1848.—Supervisor, Lyman Bennett; Clerk, Norman Green

;

Treasurer, P. Austin
;
Justices, John Dunning,

Lyman Bennett; School Inspectors, James Mills,

L. M. Stevens; Highway Commissioners, John

Spaulding, Levi Harmon ; Constables, Alanson

Stevens, Joseph Macomber ; Directors of the

Poor, Charles Locke, William Morrice.

1849.—Supervisor, James Cummin ; Clerk, Norman Green

;

Treasurer, Charles Locke ; School Inspector, Wil-

liam Wallace ; Justices, William Morrice, Ben-

jamin Walker, Albert W. Rann, John Dunning
;

Highway Commissioners, William Morrice, Phin-

eas Austin ; Assessors, Charles Locke, Phineas
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Austin ; Constables, M. Stevens, Orin Blanchard,

James Nichols.

ISSO.^Supervi.'ior, James Cummiti ; Clerk, Norman

Green ; Treasurer, Charles Locke
;

School In-

spectors, M. L Stevens, W. P. Laing; Highway

Commissioners, W. W. Clement, Levi Harmon
;

Justices, A. W. Raun, John Dunning ; Con-

stables, Andrew Turner, Joseph Macomber,

Johnson Treadway, M. L. Stevens ; Director of

the Poor, Levi Harmon.

1851.—Supervisor, John Spaulding; Clerk, Norman Green
;

Treasurer, Levi Harmon ; Highway Commis-

sioners, Charles Locke, William Holmes; Ju.s-

tices, Charles Locke, John Dunning ; Constables,

W. P. Laing, Joseph Macomber, Johnson Tread-

way, Alanson Stevens ; School Lispectors, Wil-

liam Wallace, Gillman Warren ;
Directors of the

Poor, Horace Green, John Dunning.

1852.—Supervisor, John Spaulding; Clerk, Norman Green;

Treasurer, W. P. Laing; Justice, Benjamin

Walker ; Highway Commissioners, Merrick

"Walker, Oscar Green ; School Inspector, Wil-

liam Wallace ; Constables, Ira Turuer, Joseph

Macomber; Directors of the Poor, William

Tryon, William Morrice.

1853.—Supervisor, John Spaulding; Clerk, Henry Bridgcr

;

Treasurer, Artemas Howard ;
Highway Com-

missioners, Orin Blanchard, John Dunning

;

Justice, Alanson B. Stevens ; School Inspectors,

Gillman Warren, James H. Mills; Constables,

Ira Turner, James Bridger, James H. Mills, W.

H. Tryon ; Directors of the Poor, Phineas

Austin, Levi Harmon.

1854.—Supervisor, John Spaulding; Clerk, Henry Bridger
;

Treasurer, Artemas Howard; Justices, William

Morrice, William Holmes ; School Inspectors,

Giles Kilbourn, William Wallace; Highway

Commissioner, Harry Huntingdon ; Constables,

Josiah C. Holmes, Albert W. Rann, George

Tyler, Johnson Treadway.

1855.—Supervisor, John Spauldnig ; Clerk, Gilman War-

ren; Treasurer, Artemas Howard; Highway

Commissioners, Edward Wallace, Phineas Aus-

tin ; Justices, .John Dunning, Alonzo Spaulding,

David V. Tyler ; Constables, James Bridger,

Artemas Howard, Harvey Roberts, W. il.

Tryon
;
Director of the Poor, William Morrice.

185G.—Supcrvi.sor, Phineas Austin ; Clerk, Owen Dudley
;

Treasurer, Artemas Howard; Justices, W. 1'.

Laing, Ambrose W. Calkins; School Inspector,

Gillman Warren ; Commissioners of Highways,

James C. Denio, William Morrice; Directors of

the Poor, William P. Laing, Ambrose W. Cal-

kins; Constables, Horace Green, Joseph Brown,

James C. Denio, James Bridger.

1857.—Supervisor, I'hineas Austin; Clerk, Orlando Flint;

Treasurer, Justus Coy; Justices, Charles Locke,

Bcnjamiu Walker, Orin Blanchard ;
School In-

spectors, David Gorton, W. Wallace, Henry

McKuight ; Highway Commissioners, William

Morrice, Harry Huntington ; Constables, Robert

H. Titus, Artemas Howard, William Chipman,

James C. Denio ; Directors of the Poor, William

Holmes, James Nichols.

1858.—Supervisor, Phineas Austin; Clerk, Benjamin

Walker; Treasurer, Lorenzo C. Watkins; Jus-

tice, Elijah T. Smith ; Highway Commissioner,

Orlando Flint ; School Inspector, William Wal-

lace
; Directoi-s of the Poor, Elijah T. Smith,

Alonzo Spaulding; Constables, Robert H. Titus,

James O. Walker, Orin Blanchard, W. R. Chip-

man.

1859.—Supervisor, Benjamin Walker; Clerk, Harvey

Roberts ; Treasurer, Lorenzo C. Watkins ; Jus-

tice, Orin Blanchard ; School Inspector, James

O. AValkcr ; Highway Commissioner, William

Blanchard ; Directors of the Poor, William

Morrice, Horace Green; Constables, Horace

Dunning, Ananias Stafford, David C. Austin,

E. Wh.ilcy.

18G0.—Supervisor, Benjamin Walker; Clerk, Guy Toser;

Treasurer, Charles II. Calkins; Justices, John

Dunning, Benjamin Walker; Highway Com-

missioners, William Morrice, John Cooper;

School Inspector, Horace Dunning; Constables,

A. Stafford, R. H. Titus, James O. Walker,

Horace Dunning.

18G1.—Supervisor, Orin Blanchard
;
Clerk, Gilman War-

ren; Treasurer, James H. Milk; Justice, Charles

Locke; School Inspectors, William Wallace,

Horace Dunning; Highway Commissioner, Guy

Toser; Constables, George W. Tyler, Ananias

Stafford, Samuel J. Southworth, Horace H.

Dunning.

18(52.—Supervisor, Orin Blanchard; Clerk, Charles P.

Hill; Treasurer, James H. Fravor; Justice,

"William P. Laing; School Inspector, William

Cooper; Commissioner of Highways, William

Blanchard ; Constables, John Green, A. S. Staf-

ford, Calvin Loeke, William Cooper.

18G3.—Supervisor, Orin Blanchard; Clerk, Charles Hill

;

Treasurer, Jepthah Cummins; Justices, Orin

Blanchard, J. B. Curtis; School Inspector, Mil-

ton Hinkley; Highway Commissioner, William

Morrice; Constables, J. 0. Walker, A. S. Staf-

ford, David Austin, James McCarn.

18G4.—Supervi-sor, Orin Blaiu hard ;
Clerk, Benjamin

Walker; Trea.surer, J. Cummin; Justice, Ben-

jamin Walker; Highway Commissioner, John

Cooper; School Inspector, David D. Dunning;

Constables, R. U. Titus, William Walker, 1).

F. P. Burnett, l-llias C. Maxon.

1SG5.—Supervisor, John Spaulding; Clerk, A. A. Harper;

Treasurer, James O. Walker ;
Jnsiiie, W.

Bcard.slcy ; School Inspector, M. L. Hinkley;

Highway Conimis.sioncr, William Itlancliard;

Constables, J. O. Walker. .J.inics Nichols, Leon-

ard C. Austin, Martin Britton.

18GG.—Supervisor, W. B.ardsloy ; Clerk, A. A. Harper,

Treasurer, James O. Walker; Justices, Joshua
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Curtis, J. Cummin ; School Inspector, D. D.

Dunning ; Highway Commissioners, Charles

Tyler, Edward A. McCarn ; Constables, J. 0.

Walker, R. H. Titus, Edward A. McCarn, D.

F. P. Burnett.

1867.—Supervisor, W. Beardsley ; Clerk, A. A. Harper
;

Treasurer, R. H. Titus ; Justices, Orin Blaucli-

ard, David Virgil ; School Inspector, James W.

McKnight ; Highway Commissioners, James O.

Walker, James McCarn ;
Constables, R. H.

Titus, Horace Purdy, M. L. Stevens, Homer

Dunning.

1868.—Supervisor, James 0. Walker ; Clerk, A. A. Har-

per ; Treasurer, D. D. Dunning; Highway Com-

missioner, J. McCan ; School Inspector, D. D.

Dunning; Justice, Benjamin Walker; Consta-

bles, D. D. Dunning, R. H. Titus, James Tyler,

D. V. Bennett.

1869.—Supervisor, Orin Blanchard ; Clerk, Brayton

Spaulding ; Treasurer, R. H. Titus ; Justices,

David Virgil, John A. Morrice ; School In-

spector, James N. McKnight, Jr. ; Highway

Commissioners, A. A. Bennett, George D.

Burkhart ; Constables, Robert II. Titus, W.

Bark, James L. Tyler, William Britton.

1870.—Supervisor, Orin Blanchard; Clerk, W. Beards-

ley; Treasurer, Amasa A. Harper; Justice,

John A. Morrice ; Highway Commissioner,

George D. Burkhart; School Inspector, David

D. Dunning; Constables, A. A. Harper, Oliver

B. Halleck, James L. Tyler, George H. Smith.

1871.—Supervisor, John Spaulding ; Clerk, Brayton

Spaulding; Treasurer, A. A. Harper; Justice,

J. W. McKnight ; Highway Commissioner, Wil-

liam Gillio ; Constables, Charles Tyler, A. A.

Harper, Anderson Bristol, Fernando Blanchard.

1872.—Supervisor, J. D. Bennett; Clerk, A. J. McCarn
;

Treasurer, B. C. Spaulding ; Justice, B. Walker
;

Highway Commissioner, Charles Tyler; School

Inspector, D. D. Dunning ; Constables, Oliver

M. Able, Brayton C. Spaulding, Andrew Bris-

tol, Washington Bush.

1873.—Supervisor, John D. Bennett; Clerk, A. A. Har-

per ; Treasurer, Brayton C. Spaulding ; Justice,

A. J. McCarn ; School Inspector, James 0.

Walker ; Highway Commissioner, George D.

Burkhart; Drain Commissioner, Augustus Wil-

cox ; Constables, Brayton Spaulding, Leonard

Ferris, George S. Pec1c, Anson Bristol.

] 874.—Supervisor, A. A. Harper ; Clerk, James 0. Wal-

ker; Treasurer, Brayton C. Spaulding
;
Justices,

John A. Morrice, B. F. Grout, John W. Ska-

don, Alexander Spaulding ; School Inspector,

D. D. Dunning ; Highway Commissioner, Wil-

liam Gillio ; Drain Commissioner, Augustus

Wilcox ;
Constables, Brayton C. Spaulding, An-

derson Bristol, Coburn Blanchard, James O.

Walker.

1875.—Supervisor, A. A. Harper; Clerk, J. J. Walker;

Treasurer, B. C. Spaulding ; Justices, J. Cum-

min, Thomas Sharp ; School Superintendent,

D. D. Dunning ;
School Inspector, G. R. Brandt

;

Highway Commissioner, Charles H. Calkins

;

Drain Commissioner, Augustus Wilcox ; Con-

stables, T. J. Walker, Brayton C. Spaulding,

Hopkins Tryon, C. Blanchard.

1876.—Supervisor, A. A. Harper; Clerk, J. J. Walker;

Treasurer, Brayton C. Spaulding; Justice, Ben-

jamin F. Rann ; Superintendent of Schools, D.

D. Dunning; School Inspector, William Cooper

;

Highway Commissioner, Charles H. Calkins;

Drain Commissioner, John Spaulding; Consta-

bles, B. C. Spaulding, J. J. Walker, H. W.
Cramer, J. 0. Walker.

1877.—Supervisor, A. A. Harper ; Clerk, Joseph Walker
;

Treasurer, B. C. Spaulding; Justice, B. F.

Grout ; School Superintendent, G. R. Brandt

;

School Inspector, D. D. Dunning; Highway

Commissioner, C. C. Calkins ; Constables, B. C.

Spaulding, S. II. Davis, Henry Beckly, B. F.

Eily.

1878.—Supervisor, A. A. Harper ; Clerk, Charles F. Wing

;

Treasurer, B. C. Spaulding ; Justice, W. P.

Laing ; Superintendent Schools, G. R. Brandt

;

School Inspector, David D. Dunning; Highway

Commissioner, Charles H. Calkins ; Drain Com-

missioner, E. W. Wallace ; Constables, T. N.

Boardman, B. C. Spaulding, John T. Crane, J.

J. Walker.

1879.—Supervisor, A. A. Harper; Clerk, Charles F. Wing;

Treasurer, T. M. Templeton ; Justices, J. Cum-

min, A. T. Bott ; Highway Commissioner, H.

W. Wallace ; Superintendent Schools, Robert D.

Marble ; School Inspector, D. D. Dunning

;

Drain Commissioner, Orin Blanchard ; Consta-

bles, Thomas Johnston, C. Blanchard, A. D.

Smith, J. J. Walker.

1880.—Supervisor, A. A. Harper; Clerk, Charles T.

Wing; Treasurer, Charles Tyler; School In-

spector, George R. Brandt ; School Superinten-

dent, Henry P. Halstead; Highway Commis-

sioner, William G. Morrice ; Justice, David D.

Dunning; Drain Commissioner, Homer B. Dun-

ning ;
Constables, Thomas Johnston, John C.

Crane, Charles Tyler, Samuel E. Lookingstill.

As indicating the increase of the population of the town-

ship the following figures are given, showing the number

of votes cast in Perry for supervisor at the end of the sev-

eral decades from the organization of the township to the

present time, viz.

:

Votes.

1841 28

1850 50

1860 137

1870 144
1880 348

The total valuation of real estate and personal property,

according to the assessment-rolls, was:
Yaltiation.

1S41 $63,978
1S60 157,201

1S70 141,070

1879 188,560



PEKRY TOWNSHIP. 2C9

(

The total tax levied for various purposes was

:

i8P,n
'.

$2117.93

1S70 .3216.77

1879 3S05.75

In 1879 the amount of tax raised for various purposes

was as follows

:

State tax $10.'50.29

County ta.\ 1057.32

Sohoi.i tax 1143.30

Rcjccteil tax 4.12

Contingent tiix 200 00

Highway and bridge tax 75.00

Cemetery tax 60.(10

Pound tax 30.00

Dog tax 103.00

Highway tax 59.27

Excess of roll 3.45

SCHOOLS OF TERRY.

Nov. 14, 1837, the school commissioners of the township

of Shiawa.ssee (at that time embracing what is now Shia-

wassee, Antrim, Perry, Woodhull, Bennington, and Sciofa)

met at the " Shiawassee Kxchange" to divide the townships

into school districts. Township 5 north, range 2 east (now

Perry), was divided as follows

:

Sections 1, 2, 3, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 to form district

No. 1.

Sections 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 34, 35, 36 to form

district No. 2.

Sections 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 16, 18 to form district No. 3.

Sections 19, 20, 21, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33 to form

district No. 4.

It is not known, however, that any of these districts ac-

cording to this division were regularly organized at this

time.

The first school of which any information has been ob-

tained was taught by Miss Julia Green, who is now the

wife of M. L. Stevens, in the year 1839. An upper room

of her father's house served as a school-room, where, during

twelve weeks, she labored, with from seven to ten children

as pupils. She received six dollars from the public-.school

fund, and it is believed that (contrary to the custom of

those days) no tuition was paid her in addition by the

scholars for this service.

The same year Horace Green, her father, built a small

log cabin for a shop. This was secured by those desirous

of having a school taught, and in the following winter it

was u.sed for that purpose. It stood on the west half of ihc

northwest quarter of section 15. The place where it stood

is now nearly indicated by the residence of Charles H.

Calkins. The school-house was built by Deacon Phineas

Austin and Horace Green. James Andrews and Henry

Smith were among the first teachers in the district.

The school-house in the southeastern part of the town-

ship, built by Charles Locke, and the one in the nortliern

part, usually known as the Austin school-house, were built

about the same time. This was probably about the year

1840. The one built by Mr. Locke stood on the south end

of the east half of tiie southeast (juarter of section 24, on

the farm now owned by Mrs. Brown. This was u frac-

tional school district, and was composed of adjoining ])arts

of the two townships. Tiiis building was used in tliat loca-

tion until 1846, when a new school district being formed

in that vicinity it was taken down and moved into the dis-

trict now known as number four. It was placed on the

site occupied by the school-house now in use, and was re-

paired and used a number of years. Miss Julia Green,

before referred to ;is the first teacher in the township, also

taught the first term in this school-house before it was

moved.

The same year Miss Jane Shaft taught a private school

in her father's house. She is now living in Shaftsburg, the

wife of Newton Bacon. After several terms of private

school taught by Miss Shaft, Samantha Norden, and Sarah

Holmes, school district No. 3 was set off. This was about

the year 1843. The first .school-meeting was held at the

house of John P. Shaft, and the district officers were then

elected. A vote decided on the building of a " log

shanty, to be roofed with hollow basswood logs." It was

built on the knoll now occupied by the house of Albert

Durant. It was afterwards used as a blacksmith-shop. The

first frame school-house in the township was built in this

district. It cost three hundred and thirty dollars, and is

still in use. The first school-meeting in district No. 4

Was held at the house of John B. Stevens, April 30,

1846. Upon being called to order, Charles Locke was

appointed chairman. District ofiicers were then elected, as

follows: Josiah B. Stevens, Moderator; J. Ilinkley, As-

sessor ; Charles Locke, Director. The site then selected

upon which to build a school-house was near the southwest

corner of the west half of the northwest (juarter of section

23. By a subsequent vote the school-house built by Mr.

Locke, in the southeast fractional district, was moved to

this site, as before stated. The scholars in this district

were Stephen and Emily Ward, George and Calvin Locke,

Mary J. and Sarah M. Stevens, and Wesley and Milton

Hinkley.

On Dec. 10, 1858, the inhabitants of that portion of

the township now in the vicinity of the village of Morrice

petitioned the school board to be set off as a separate school

district. In compliance with this petition scliool district

No. 5 was formed. The first school-meeting in this district

was held at the house of Benjamin F. Gale, February IGth

I'olldwing. Tiiore were then eighteen taxable inhabitants

in the district. At this meeting Giles Kilbourn was elected

Moderator; E. H. Calkins, Assessor; B. F. Gale, Director.

They then voted to purcha.se one-()uarter of an acre of land

from Josiah Purdy, described as the northwest corner of

section 13. And although this motion at a subsequent

meeting was rescinded, it was again passed, and alter a

number of meetings and votes pro and con, the house was

finally erected in the latter part of November, 1862. Sev-

eral small additions have been built to this house, one in

1878 and another in 1879. It now has two rooms and

employs two teachers. The amount of money received by

each of the various school districts for the years 1860 and

1879 is given below :

1800.

District No. 1
?»-t-2«

. a 57.50

.. .|". 9-.'.42
'< I—fraotiunal—(I'urry and Itcuiiiiigtun) 2li.7ll

i< « 2 " " " .'>3.00

" " I •' (Perry and hocltn) 2S.0II

1 •< " ' 50.55

" " 2 " (Perry and Ai.lriin) 11.2fl

.. " 6 " " •' H-H
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1879.

District No. 1 $220
" " X lOA

" i 10.1

" " 412
" " 7 66
" " 1—fractional—(Perry and Bennington) 42,

" " 2 " " " 18.
" " 5 " (Perry and Locke) 69,

" C " " '* 47.
" " 6 '* (Perry and Antrim) 30,
" " 8 " (Perry. Woodhull, and

Locke) 26 ..•!2

OLD PERRY CENTRE.

In 1850, William P. Laitii; came to Perry, and the fol-

lowing year opened the finst store in the township. It was

in a small building which he put up at what now is known

as Old Perry Centre. The first in this place, however, was

a log cabin built by James Titus. Richard Elliott, who

came from Lansing some time after, rented a room of Mr.

Laing, and opened a small stock of dry goods and groce-

ries. He soon after built the large store building now

standing vacant in the Old Centre.

In 1852, Mr. Laing was appointed po.stmaster, a posi-

tion which he filled several years. As he became " a little

shaky" in his views, however, Johnson Treadway super-

seded him. Mr. Laing was subsequently reappointed, but

after a time resigned in favor of Robert Titus. He was

followed by Dr. S. M. Marsh.ill. Rraden C. Spaulding was

appointed by President Hayes in 1877, and still fills the

position.

VILLAGE OF MORRICE.

The thrifty village of Murrice, now having a population

of about two hundred and fifty, was platted in the fall of

1877 by Isaac Gale, who owned the west half of the south-

west quarter of section 12. This land was settled by Joshua

Purdy, who is spoken of among the pioneers of Perry. At
the time the Chicago and Port Huron Railroad was com-

pleted Mr. Gale was vice-president of the company which

controlled it, which fact probably accounts for the establish-

ment of the railroad depot at Morrice.

The village has a flouring-mill, a stave- and heading-

factory, two good hotels, one hardware and agricultural

implement store, one drug-store, a general store, and several

smaller places of business. The flouring-mill was built by

B. F. Rann in the fall of 1877. It has two run of stones.

The stave- and heading-factory, which was built by J. F.

Schultz in lS7y, employs fourteen men and boys, and turns

out from seven to nine thousand headings and six tliou.sand

staves per day. The saw-mill was built by Henry Horton

in 1877. The business men of the town contributed six

hundred dollars to the proprietor of the flouring-mill, one

thousand dollars to Mr. Schultz, and three hundred dollars

to Henry Horton, as inducements for these gentlemen to

establish their business in Morrice.

The Sager House was built by C. W. Sager in 1878. It

is a wcll-furuished and commodious hotel, and is the most

substantially-built structure in the village. The first store

was opened by Frederick Cummins. The medical profession

is represented by Henry P. Halstead and George O. Austin.

PRESBYTERL\N CHURCH OF MORRICE.

On Dec. 28, 1839, some of the friends of the Presby-

terian Church in Bennington met at the house of William

Howard, for the purpose of organizing into a religious soci-

ety. The Rev. Mr. Geishorn, who presided then, entered

the following names : William F. Stevens, Abigail Stevens,

Smith Howard, Rebecca Howard, Milan Glover, Lydia M.

Glover, Polly Fitch, Sarah Griswold, John Morrice, Mary

Morrice, William Morrice, Geor<j;e Morrice, Archibald

Purdy, Caroline Purdy, Winfield S. Anient.

The society then adopted the name by which it was for

many years known, the First Presbyterian Church of Ben-

nington. The third resolution passed was to the effect

" that this church be organized upon the principle of totiil

abstinence from all intoxicating beverages, except for medi-

cinal purposes." Aichib.ild Purdy, John Morrice, and

Milan Glover were chosen and ordained elders; W. F.

Stevens was cho.sen deacon.

The society continued to hold meetings at the homes of

various members, or after school-houses were built, in them.

When the village of Morrice became a centre of some busi-

ness importance, the society voted to change the name, and

build a place of worship in that village. The name was

accordingly changed to The First Presbyterian Churcli of

Morrice, and its meeting-house was built in 1878.

The Methodist and Baptist societies of Morrice contrib-

uted liberally to the fund with which the church was built,

and these societies, therefore, have had the use of it alter-

nately since completion.

It cost four thousand five hundred dollars, and is one of

the finest church buildings in the county. Rev. Charles D.

Ellis is the minister now in charge of the Presbyterian

society, which numbers forty-throe members.

The Union Sabbath-.school of Morrice is one of the most

creditable and well conducted in this county. In this the

members and children of the various denominations unite,

and the best of feeling prevails. J. V. R. WyckoflT, Jr.,

is superintendent.

METHODIST EPLSCOP.\L CHURCH OF MORRICE.

The society of the First Methodist Episcopal Church of

Morrice was organized at the school-house (then known as

the Purdy school-house) in April, 18(55. Rev. J. R. Gordon

had been holding a series of meetings which brought about

the formation of a class, as above stated. The first meeting

called for the purpose resulted in the names of the following

persons being enrolled : Jlr. and Mrs. H. A. McKnight,

Mr. and Mrs. James Davis, Mr. and Mrs. Ely, and Mary

Davis. The society now meets in the Presbyterian church.

The Woman's Foreign Missionary Society of the Meth-

odist Episcopal Church was organized May 11, 1880. Mrs.

M. McKnight was elected President; Mrs. G. 0. Austin,

Secretary; Mrs. Jennie Colby, Corresponding Secretary.

The membership is thirty.

FIRST B.\PTIST CHURCH OF MORRICE.

In October, 1877, several families which had been con-

nected with the Baptist Society of Antrim and Perry met

and organized the Society of the First Baptist Church of

Perry. Elder Hayden, of Perry, presided at this meeting.

The names of those who were present and formed the so-

ciety are as follows : Mr. and Mrs. Horace Purdy, Abraham

Queick and wife and daughters, Anna and Eva, IMr. and
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Mrs. 51. Setterly, Mr. and Mrs. Morgan Ormsby, Morris

Ormsby and Miss Etta Ormsby, Mr. and Jlrs. Aiidur-son

Bristol, and Mrs. Leonard Ferris. The society now bas

twentytbrec members.

FKATEKXITIES.

Several fraternities, composed of tbe citizens of Morricc

and vicinity, hold their usual meetings in Sagcr's Hall, in

that village.

The charter granted to the lodge of Knights of Honor,

No. 1519, at Morrice, is dated Oct. 9, 1879.

The grange of tbe Patrons of Husbandry was organized

in 1873. It soon declined and surrendered its charter, but

was reorganized July IS, 1879.

The Independent Order of Good Templars, No. 53, was

organized Jan. 16, 1878. The order at this place is now

in a flourishing condition.

The charter of the Juvenile Templars bears date Jan.

17, 1879, with the following names as officoi-s: Jesse Ball,

C. T. ; Etta Ormsby, V. T. ; Anna Goodburn, Rec. See.

;

James Whaloy, P. C. F. ; Altie Dickinson, Fin. Sec.

;

Abbie Litchfield, T.

VILLAGE OF PEURY.

The village of Perry is situated upon land .settled by

Horace Green. When the railroad was completed through

the township the company established the depot on or near

a piece of land belonging to Mr. Isaac Gale. A majority

of the inhabitants of the township were much dissatisfied.

It had been understood that the station should be located

where the railroad crossed the " Mason and Owosso State

road," this location liaving been decided upon by a vote of

the people of the township. With this understanding con-

siderable contributions were made. Norman Green, with a

proviso to that effect, gave tlie company one thousand dol-

lars, and five acres of ground for depot and yard purposes.

After several private meetings had been held by some of

the more prominent men in this part of the town.ship it was

determined to plat a village and build up a business at this

]ioint. The village was platted on the land owned by C.

n. Calkins and William McKellops. The latter gentleman

commenced at once to build a mill, and other business

places were opened in quick succession, a number of build-

ings being moved from the old centre. Still the railroad

company would neither receive any freight for this point

nor ship any from it. The people then petitioned the

company, but without avail. They ne.\t petitioned the

Legislature of the State. After various investigations and

delays, l)y a special act of Assembly a committee was ap-

pointed to investigate the case. The report made, favored

the village, and resulted in compliance on the part of the

railroad company. The people then donated ties for the

side track, and contributed money to build the depot.

Tiic business interests of the village are continually en-

larging, while it is steadily increasing in iiopulation and

importance. There are two large flcmring-mills, two general

stores, a hotel, two hardware-stores, two drug-stores, two

harness-shops, three blacksmith- and wagon-shops. The

physicians now practicing medicine in Perry village arc L.

M. lMai>liall and 8. Chapin.

The Ferry Brick Mill was built by William McKellops,

in 1877. It lias four run of stones, and has a capacity of

one hundred barrels per day.

The Reliance Mill was built by 0. N. Parshall, in 1878.

It bas a capacity of one hundred barrels of flour in twenty-

four hours. Its flour took the premium at the Michigan

State Fair of 1879.

THE JIETUODIST EPISCOP.VL ClU'RCn OF PERRY.

The history of this society begins properly with tbe win-

ter of 1838-39, when Flaviel Brittan lield a series of re-

vival-meetings in the bouse of Lyman Melvin, in Antrim

township. A decided interest being manifested after the

continuation of these exercises during a few weeks, at the

first meeting called for the purpose, a class was formed com-

posed of tbe fellowing-nanied persons: Charles Locke, Har-

vey Harmon, Levi Harmon and wife, .John Ward and wife,

Josiah Stevens and wife.

The society at first hold its meetings in Antrim town-

.ship, but the place of worship was .subsequently changed to

the house of Josiab B. Stevens, in Perry township. In

after-years, when the class in Antrim w;is formed, a part of

the members residing in that township withdrew from the

society in Perry, and united themselves with it.

When tbe class was first formed the territory now com-

prised in the Perry Circuit was part of what was termed

the Shiawassee Jlission, spoken of more fully in the his-

tory of the Methodist Episcopal Church of Byron. In

1845 tbe Bennington Circuit was formed, which included

the appointments in Perry and Antrim. The first quar-

terly conference of this circuit convened in Bennington,

Nov. 29, 1845. Horace Hall was the preacher in charge,

gissistcd by G. W. Alexander, a local preacher. At one of

these meetings it is recorded that ftL L. Stevens, of Perry,

after making some remarks to the conference, oflTered the

following resolution, which was adopted :
" Resolved, that we

consider American slavery necessarily an evil." Although

his proposition received the approval of tbe conference, it

would probably have been ignominiously defeated had it

been submitted to the people at that time.

Perry was next included in Antrim Circuit, which was

formed in 1855. The first (|uarterly conference of this

circuit was held at the Beard school-house in Antrim, Oct.

27, 1855. The first board of stewards was then elected

as follows, viz. : David D. Adams, Seth Johnson, Charles

Locke, James C. Dennis, John P. Shall, and William

Wright. In 1857 the name of tbe circuit was changed

and " Perry Circuit" adopted. Lynian H. Dean was the

first minister in charge.

At a meeting of the society for the purpose of discuss-

ing the propriety of building a church, Charles Locke was

a]ipointed chairman of a building eoinmilleo. The other

members were J. W. Brown and M. S. Ilinkley. The

building was completed in 1868, nt n co.sl of eleven hundred

dollars. The .society has now a nietnliership of ci-jbly.

IIAPTI.'^T (.lIUUCll dl' I'KKHV.

On May 19, 1H3S, the society of the Baptist Cliunh of

Bennington was formed at the house of William F. Stevens.

After the township of Bennington was divided and IVrry
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formed, the society reorganized and adopted its present

name and title. The names enrolled at this meeting were

Horace B. Flint, Hannah Flint, Phineas Austin, Angeline

Austin, Jesse Whitford, Diantha Purdy, Polly Green,

Cynthia Hill. B. B. Brigham was the first elder in

charge. Cyrus Barnes, John Martin, and F. W. Colbe

are also among the pioneer preachers of this society. The

usual place of meeting was the " Tamarack School-house,"

now known as the " Austin School-house," until the build-

in" of their meeting-house in the village of Perry. At a

.meeting held in the " Green School-house" two committees

which had been appointed reported to raise a building-fund.

It was then found that the committee selected to work in

the village of Perry and vicinity had secured nine hundred

dollars. A site for the church was then selected by a

ballot, which resulted in locating it where it now stands.

A building committee was then appointed, compo.sed of

Charles Calkins, W. P. Laing, H. A. Roberts, to act in

conjunction with the trustees of the church. The meeting-

house was completed in 1877 (while Elder R. H. Hayden

presided), and was dedicated in December of that year.

M. H. De Witt is the present pastor, and the society

now has a membership of seventy-two.

THE FIRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH OF PERRY

was organized in December, 1879, the Rev. Leroy Warren

officiating. The names of fifteen persons were placed on

the record of the church at the first meeting. The number

has since been increased to thirty-four.

The society now meets in the Methodist Episcopal church,

and is under the charge of Rev. James Verney.

A LODGE OF THE 1. 0. 0. F.

was instituted at Perry by Past Grand Master B. W.

Dennis, May 13, 1873, with the following-named persons

as charier members, viz. : D. F. Burnett, A. J. McCarn,

J. W. Brown, D. D. Dunning, Eugene Brown, W. S.

IMorrice, S. Chapin.

The encampment of the order was established here in

1875, since which time the lodge has erected a hall build-

ino- costing fourteen hundred dollars. The lower floor is

used as a store-room. The hall is twenty-two by forty-four

feet, with proper reception- and ante-rooms attached. In

less than two years from the time of its organization the

society numbered sixty members in good standing, and is

now in a prosperous condition.

PERRY LODGE, F. AND A. M.,

was instituted under a dispensation granted by Right Wor-

shipful Master John Finch, Grand Master of the State of

Michigan. Tlie first meeting was held May 10, 1878. The

charter members of the lodge were as follows: T. S. Wright,

W. M. ; William Cooper, S. W. ; C. S. Stackhouse, J. W.

;

A. A. Harper, Sec. ; C. W. Halleck, Act. Treas. ; George

Goff, Act. S. D. ; Joseph Keene, J. D. ; Thomas Sharp,

Tiler ; Henry W. Cramer.

The charter was granted to the lodge Jan. 29, 1879.

The first election under the charter was held March 7,

1880, when the following persons were elected to the

various offices: T. S. Wright, W. M. ; William Cooper,

S. W.; C. S. Stackhouse, J. W. ; 0. Halleck, Treas.; A.

A. Harper, Sec. ; L. L. Sutterly, S. D. ; James 0. Walker,

J. D. ; Thomas Sharp, Tiler.

CHAPTER XXXIX.

RUSH TOWNSHIP.*

Location, Topogrnphy, and Capabilities of tho Township—Original

Land-Entries—.Settlement of the Township—Early Highways

—

Organization and Civil List—Hendersonville—Churches—Schools.

The township of Rush is one of the most progressive in

the county. The earliest settler first broke its stubborn

soil in 1839, but it was not until 1850 that emigration

affected materially its population and development. Since

that time its advance has been steady and rapid, and the

industry and enterprise of its farming population are placing

it among the foremost of the sixteen townships of Shia-

wassee County. It is designated in the United States sur-

vey as township No. 8 north, of range No. 2 east, and is

bounded on the north by Saginaw County; south, by

Owosso ; east, by New Haven ; and west, by Fairfield.

The soil of the township may be described as a combina-

tion of clay and sand and rich muck. Gravel predomi-

nates in the north and northeast, while in other portions,

more especially on section 2, sand prevails. A strong clay is

found in the northwest, which presents some obstacles to

cultivation. Near the centre is an extensive marsh, which

will prove the most productive soil in Rush when thor-

oughly drained. The township has already made applica-

tion to the State for an appropriation to this end. The

soil is admirably adapted to wheat and corn, while grass is

usually a prolific crop. The agricultural returns for the-

year 1873 give one thousand and seventy-seven acres of

wheat as harvested, which produced fourteen thousand one

hundred and thirty-five bushels of that grain, while four

hundred and sixty acres of corn yielded a crop of eleven

thousand nine hundred and ninety bushels. Twelve hun-

dred and fifty tons of hay were cut in the same year. Of

other cereals than wheat, the yield was fourteen thousand

and forty-three bushels. The prevailing timber of Rush

is ash, beech, maple, ba,sswood, and elm. A limited quan-

tity of black-waluut and butternut has been cut, but these

woods are not abundant in Rush. A dense growth of

tamarack formerly prevailed, but skillful drainage has since

rendered the land tillable, and much of the tamarack has

disappeared. The dark waters of the Shiawassee River

flow through the southeast portion of the township, enter-

ing at section 36, and following a circuitous course to the

northward. At section 13 they pass into the township of

New Haven.

The Jackson, Lansing and Saginaw division of the

Michigan Central Railroad passes through the east and

northeast sections of Rush, and has a station at Henderson.

This railway offers many advantages to farmers in the ship-

ment of their produce.

« By E. 0. Wagner.
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ORIGINAL I.AND-EXTRIES.

The lands of Rush were entered from the government or

purchased of the State by the following parties :

SECTION 1.

Acres.

Trumlmll Cirv, 1S35 152.73

Gideon Lee, lS;i() 320

A. J. Holmes, IS55 fi6.33

B. Collins (State), 1849 40

Isaac ^^ln, " 1852 40

SECTION 2.

Philiii Mickles, (State), 1849 52.19

Jos. Turner, " 1S49 80

R.L.Blake, •' 1851 160

P. C. Bliss, " 1848 80

Z.Perry, " 1855 80

M. B. Hess, " 1849 80

0. W. Stower, " 1849 411

Ira A. Lee, " 1851 40

SECTION 3.

Ed. Haynes, lS5t 160

J. B. Curtis, IS.iS 40

C. W. Butler (Slate), 1855 87.57

John Cox, " 1849 120

M. Robinson, "
A.Gould, " 1869 47.25

David Weeden, " 40

SECTION 4.

J. B. Burns, 1854 160

J. R. Post (State), 1859 148.43

S. B. Nnpp, " SO

C. W. Butler (State), 1855 51.72

Dyer Wood, " 1850 80

J. F. Chil.is, " 1S50 '80
George Hawkins (State), 1849 80

SECTION 5.

Gideon Lee, 1836 240

George Hawkins (State), 1849 80

Smith Wilcox, " 1852 80

James Briggs, " 1850 80

Silas Clark, " 1849 55.58

Rd. Camp, " 1S58 56.97

SECTION 6.

Gideon Lee, 1836 240

Peter Monlrosc, 1854 174.23

Jnnies Watson (State) 20.61

II. li. Young, " 144.80

SECTION 7.

Squire Wood, 1853 225

F. W. FowUr, 1855 40

Luther Marble (State), 1806 80

Wm. Raincv, " 62.12

L. Fowler, " 40

Nelson Farley, " 80

James l>avi(ls, *' 40

,«ilas Clark, " 80

F. W. Fowler, " 30.74

F. W. Fowler, " 1869 30.74

S. Runyau, " 40

SECTION 8.

0. S. Griirin, 1854 240

M. A. (Jrimley (State), 1860 120

S. J. Gilkey, " 1850 40

C. Wescott", " 1850 80

Dyer Wood, " 185(1 40

Ralph Sutliir, " 1850 40

John Russell, " 1850 80

SECTION 9.

Isaac Van (State), 1849 160

A. Ilarter, " 1850 320

Jos. Lix-kwood (State), I85II 40

C. L. .Slii|mnl, " 1852 40

M. W. Gardner, " 1850 40

Chas. Weecolt, " 1850 160

Ilorton Wilccx, " 1850 80

35

SECTION 10.
Acres.

William B. Gilbert (State), 1851 160
Edwin White, " 1850 80
William Hicks, " 1850 80
S. W. CrKtendcn, " 1850 80
Eilwar.l liuller, " 1850 80
W. T. (iilkey, " 1S49 160

SECTION II.

James Turner (State), 1849 160
C. W. Butler, " 1855 80
N. G. Cheesbro, " 1855 40
J. W. Norris, " 1855 120
N. Taylor, 1850 40
J. 0. ilardy, IS50 40
M. Robinson, 1852 160

SECTION 12.

W. M. Coplin (State), 1848 160
A. W. Sprague, " 1848 160

J. M. Tower, " IS49 80
M.Robinson, " 1850 40
T.O.Potter, " 1849 40
H. 0. Cheesbro, " 1850 80

Henry Woodard, ' 1851 80

SECTION 13.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 151.98

Cornelius Bergen, IS.'in 116.4 5

James Wadsworth, 1836 320

SECTION 14.

Gideon Lee, 1836 80

J. B. Siraonson, 1836 160

Gideon Lee, 1830 240

H. S. Hayne, 1854 40

J. 0. Hardy (State), I85U 40
Isa.ac Van, " 1S49 40

Thomas Matthias (State), 184S 40

SECTION 15.

Samuel Shuster, 1854 160

Henry Bowen (State), 1849 80

Clark Beebe, " 1849 40

W.F.Smith, " 1849 40

Lloyd Clark, " 1849 80

M. li. Hess, 1849 40

C. S. Kimberley, 1855 160

Ezra Jones, 1857 40

SECTION 16.

School lands.

SECTION 17.

C. S. Grifiin, 1854 80

J. J. Garnee, 1855 80

G. F. Gamber (State), 1806 80

Swamp land 320

Eli North (State)

SECTION 18.

Swamp land 270

\V. ('. Hawks (Slate), 80

Samuel Kunyan, *• 40

P. L. Skutt, " 70.,8i

J. D. Richmond 811

Abraham Skull 62.40

SECTION 19.

Charles Howard, 1854 320

G. C. McCoinb (Slate), 1868 80

Charles Howard, 1854 205.28

SECTION 20.

Charles Connor (State) 80

Swampland, ** 120

Cluules Angle, " 1806 40

Charles Howard. 1854 320

J. J. Garnee, 1855 80

SECTION 21.

T,. II. Parson», 1854 160

Charles Anglo (.^lato) 40

II. IS. Young, " IH69 80

S. li.Midale, " IS.'iO 40

John ilallagber, " 1858 40

Alviii llallin, " 1858 44
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SECTION 22.

Acres.

Foiil nnil Piitterson, 1852 SO

D. S. Centre. lS.i4 120

Francis Wnldron, 1854 40

Alvin Hallin (Stiite), 1858 40

D. S. Center (8tnte), ISaS. 120

J.ibu «:illagher (State), 1858 SO

Henry Pattison (State), ISS."! SU

Cliarfes S. Kimberley (State), 1855 _ 80

SECTION 2.'..

Jolin B. Willison, 1849 SO

Trumbull Carv, 18H5 :i0.10

C. Bcrgan, IS'.iG 186.40

Gideon Lee, IS.'ifi..: 80

John Parshall, 18:i6 SO

Albert Burrell, 1836 80

SECTION 24.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 I.Sfi

C. Bergan, 1835 6.10

Joseph Piteairn, 1836 141.10

Gideon Lee. 1836 80

John F. Bliss, 1836 SO

F. G. Macy, 1836 73.28

Henry Rush, 1836 240

SECTION 25.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 300.29
Cornelius Bergan, 1836 92.90

McHenry, Kerchcval and Hcaly, 1830 2B0

SECTION 26.

I. B. Simonson, 1836 80
Otis Judson .320

J. L. Curry, 1840 80
W. B. Gilbert, 1851 IfiO

SECTION 27.

Thomas Carmody (State), 1852 160
Michael Carmodv (State). 1853 80
William BurgessVstate), 1850 120
Jaines Grant (State). 1852 40
John Gallagher (Stale), 1858 SO
Goodwin and Diramoek, 1846 40
Sandy Patterson, 1854 SO
William King, 1855 SO

SECTION 28.

Williams and MeGilvra, 1846 40
Charles Howard, 1854 40
John Gallagher (State) 4IIU

Edwin Ayres, 1858 120
William Smith, 1858 40

SECTION 29.

John Gallagher (State), 1858 320
Charles Hnward. 1854 120
Daniel Trowbridge, 1854 40
A. T. Foss, 1854 SO
T. F. Sheldon, 1853 80

SECTION 30.

Charles How.ard, 1854 141 76
J. H. Park, 1854 80
William Scott, 1854 141.96
Daniel Trowbridge, 1854 80
John Gallagher (State), 1858 80
Cyrus White, 1860 80

SECTION 31.

Cyrus White (State), 1866 160
F. A. Barber (State), 1858 jO
John Gallagher (State;, 1858 160
Caleb Everts, 1854 191.76
Charles Howard, 1854 65

SECTION 32.

John (iall.agher (State), 1858 600
Benjamin Cr.aven, 1855 40

SECTION 33.

John (lallaghcr (State), 1S58 640

SECTION 34.
Acre*.

John Gallagher (State), 1858 320
J. V. Shalt, 1853 40
C. W. Butler (Stale), 1S68 40

Jeremiah Coughlin (Slatel, 1858 40

Walter Love (State), 1860 SO

Augustus Brockel (State), 1860 40

SECTION 35.

F. Middlcberger. 1836 320
Calvin Hose, 1830 100
Theodore Hobbins, 1854 80

Jacob Newman (State), 1858 80.

SECTION 36.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 297.77
Cornelius Bcrgan, 1836 90

Ale.-s JIcFarren, 1836 108.80

George Kiltridge, 1836 111.30

SETTLEMENT OF THE TOWNrillTP.

Though one of the latest of the town.ships of tlie county

in its organization, Rush chiinis among its present resi-

dents but few survivors among the number of tliose who

entered it when a wilderness, and in its clearing and early

development bore the heat and burden of the day. The

first white settler within its boundaries was Ransom White,

who arrived in 18.39, and purchased of E. C. Kimberly

(who controlled the land as agent for Trumbull Cary, of

New York) ninety acres on section 26. He erected upon

it a cabin and devoted some time to clearing, after which

lie took up his residence in Owosso. He later returned to

his purchase, where several years were devoted to the labors

incident to pioneer life. Mr. White was not, however,

successful in his early agricultural efforts, and allowing the

land to revert, he changed his residence and chose a home

in Barry County.

The second arrival in Rush was that of Avery Thomas,

who came with his family in 1842. Ho was a former resi-

dent of Cayuga Co., N. Y., and first located in Oakland

Co., Mich., but having been attracted by the superior ad-

vantages of the county of Shiawassee, soon after selected

a home in Rush. There were no roads at this time, and

as a necessity the family of Mr. Thomas embarked in scows,

and were floated down the Shiawassee River to their desti-

nation. On their arrival there were no settlers, Mr. White

having left for Owosso. While Mr. Thomas was erecting

a frame house of spacious proportions the family were cotu-

fortably quartered at Owosso. This house is still standing,

and was occupied until a more pretentious and elegant resi-

dence was recently erected by Avery Thomas, Jr., on the

adjacent ground. Mrs. Thomas died the year after their

arrival, and hers was the earliest death in the township.

The domestic economy of the family having been sadly de-

ranged by the loss of this wife and mother, Mr. Thomas

before the year had expired was married a second time, to

Sirs. Sarah A. Sampson, who still survives and resides on

the homestead. This was undoubtedly the earliest marriage

ceremony performed in the township. The question of

the earliest birth in Rush may not be easily decided. It

is possible that it was in the family of Mr. Thomas, though

the claims in behalf of the household of Mr. Henry Rush

are equally well founded.

The above-named gentleman with his family arrived in

1843, and entered one hundred and sixty acres on section
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24. It was first cleared by his son, Jacob Hush, who ro-

iiioveJ to the land soon after and built a shelter of logs

which he occupied. Hi.s father arrived some time later,

and for a while made it his residence, but subsc(iucntly re-

moved to Pennsylvania. The closing years of his life were

spent in the township, where he died, as did also his son.

Through the influence of friends the townsiiip bears the

family name, though many of the older settlers entered their

quiet protest, and regarded this mark of deference as hav-

ing been justly due the earliest pioneer, Mr. Ransom White.

Robert Irland arrived in 1843, and purchased eighty

acres, one-half of which was upon section 24 and the re-

mainder in the present township of New Haven. This

was entirely destitute of improvement on his arrival. There

were no roads and Pontiac was the nearest milling point,

involving a tedious journey, with the Indian trail as the

only guide. Mr. Irland built the usual house of log.s,

which was afterwards supplanted by a more modern frame

dwelling. He died many years since, and the widow and

a son now occupy the farm.

William Goss, formerly of Monroe Co., N. Y., arrived

in tke same year, and settled upon one hundred acres

on section 25. His brother, Samuel Goss, purchased the

same number of acres adjacent to his own. The latter, not

having been greatly impressed with the advantages of

Michigan, returned again to the Empire State. William

erected upon his purchase a log cabin, finding, meanwhile,

a temporary abiding-place with Avery Thomas. He cleared

ten acres the first year, and continued his labors until the

forest was transformed into a productive farm. Mr. Goss

died in 1863. Mrs. Goss still survives, and, with her son,

occupies the land.

Jonas Robbins came from New Jersey among the earliest

of the township pioneers. The date of his arrival is not

remembered with exactness by either himself or family.

He experienced some vicissitudes during the first years of

his residence in the county, and having been directed to

a tract of land not his own, was obliged to vacate. He
finally located upon eighty acres on section 26, where he

still resides.

Walter Graliam and Silas Clark were each pioneers from

Lenawee County to the township of Rush, where they

located upon section 5. The former purcba.sed eighty

acres, while Mr. Clark made a clearing and built a loir

linusc Upon forty-one acres. Mr. (irahaiu also erected a

primitive abode of logs and began the clearing of his land,

which, by constant labor, he rendered very productive.

Both arc now dead, and the properties have passed into the

hands of other parties.

11. A. Sutlilf was another settler who found the attrac-

tions of Shiawassee County superior to those of Lenawee

County and located a farm of forty acres upon section 8,

having, at a later date, added twenty to it. He found an

ample field for the exercise of industry in the unl'elled woods

which covered the land. He made a considerable clearing,

but ultimately removed to Sagiiuiw County. J3enjamin

Washburn became the subseiiuent owner of the land, and

Levi Clark is its present occupant.

Michael llourkc camo from Miissachusetis to Rush in

1851, and purchased of William B. Ilurd, who had already

been located some time upon it, forty acres on section 2C.

Upon this tract four acres had been cleared and a log house

built, to which he removed. Mr. Rourke found still much
labor to perform, and devoted himself with a will to the

task before him. At the expiration of the first year eight

additional acres bad been chopped and partially improved.

Jonas Robbins was the nearest settler, and the township

had as yet attracted but few individuals from the vast tide

of emigration then pouring into the State. But seven

voters a.ssembled at the pulls the previous spring. Indians

frequently chose Mr. Rourke's land for their camping-

ground. Deer were abundant, wolves made night hideous

with their howling, and bears would, under cover of the

darkness, visit the shecpfold in search of a victim. Mr.

Rourke has greatly improved his farm, which now embraces

one hundred and eighty-five acres.

William Sawyer came with his father from the shores of

England in 1851, and removed to Oakland County. William

having, meanwhile, earned sufficient means, purchased, in

1853, forty acres of land upon section 2, in the township of

Rush, upon which the family removed. As he was but

seventeen years of age, the father was made custodian of

the property. After a residence of sixteen years upon the

original purchase Mr. Sawyer removed to section 36,

where he has three hundred and fifty acres, of which two

hundred are improved.

He found his land on section 2 uncleared, and at

once set about the erection of a habitation. While engaged

at this work he camped in the wilderness a portion of the

time, and labored the whole of one night to construct a roof

for the cabin, which had been built some time and was

greatly dilapidated. William Sawyer, Sr., remained upon

the original purchase until his death.

The venerable Richard Freeman, for many years a resi-

dent of New Haven, and one of its foremost pioneers,

became a settler in Rush in 1854, having purchased ninety-

eight acres on section 25, which be improved and re-

mained upon for many years. He still survives, and may

with propriety be considered a resident of both New Ha-

ven and Rush, as his time is equally divided between

his children, with whom he ever finds a cordial welcome.

Patrick Rourke and William Noonan each located upon

eighty acres on section 20. This land was in its original

condition of forest and brush on their arrival, but lias been

by their industry transformed into luxuriant grain-fields.

They have erected for themselves comfortable houses upon

these farms, in which they now reside.

Curtis Devoc, a former resident of New York State,

was among the pioneers of 1854, and located upon eighty

acres on section 12 which he found unimproved on his

arrival, and no roads to make the land aece.s.-ible from adja-

cent points. He at once erected a log building and began

the process of clearing. Upon tliis land he remained until

his death in 1S~7, when his son Theodore became jiossessor,

and now occupies the farm tog<!llier with the log house

already built.

George Sawyer camo with his lather and brother William

in 1853, and succeeded to the original home on section 2,

which he purchased of the latter in 1871 and upon which

he now resides.
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Samuel Shuster was a former resident of Ohio, and in

1854 became a settler in Rush, having secured one hundred

and sixty acres on section 15. He found the land unim-

proved, and was able on his arrival to do but little towards

clearing, his time having been entirely occupied in labor for

his support. While building he found a welcome to the

home of Josiah Isham, who then had a farm of eighty

acres on section 23 and later returned to Ohio. Mr.

Shuster afterwards increased the dimensions of his farm to

two hundred and forty acres, upon which he is erecting a

substantial residence.

Samuel Ayres, who lived upon one hundred and sixty

acres on section 21, was also from Ohio, and a near neighbor

of Mr. Shuster, as was William Hughes, who purchased

eighty-eight acres north of his land on section 10. At

this date there was but one school building erected in the

township, located on section 25, very limited educational

advantages liaving been enjoyed by the youth of Rush at

an early day.

Benjamin Washburn removed from Ingham County to

this township in 1854, and located upon eighty acres on

section 12. Curtis Devoe, who came the same year, pur-

chased a farm near him, and the two pioneers materially

assisted each other in the early labors of the settler. Mr.

Washburn and his family remained one night with Robert

Irland, and the following day Mr. Devoe with his team

brought their household goods to his own home, where

they remained until a house was built. Mr. Washburn wa.s

advanced in years and made little progress. He remained

upon the farm until his death in 1869, after which Joseph

Hoffman became the owner. One son, Charles C. Wash-

burn, now resides upon forty acres on .section 1.

(j. Whitfield Drown became a settler soon afterwards

upon section 36, where he cleared a farm, and subsequently

sold to John R. Bush, who remained for several years and

disposed of the property in 1860 to G. W. Essig, the

present occupant. The land is well improved, and em-

braces one hundred and seventeen acres.

Among others who became residents of Rush between

the years 1850 and 1855 are William Berger, who located

upon one hundred and twenty acres on section 27 ; D. S.

Center, who purchased seventy-one acres on section 36, and

an additional one hundred and twenty on section 22

;

Patrick and Michael Carmody, each having farms on section

27 ; Solomon Horn, who owned eighty acres on section

26
;
John Russell, residing upon sixty acres on section 8

;

William F. Stearns, who became a settler on section 24
;

Daniel Whitman, who cleared a farm of eighty acres on

section 5 ; William Scott, whose pioneer experiences in the

township began on section 30, where he had one hundred
and forty acres; Andrew Simons, on section 25; and

Samuel Wood, on section 7. These settlers all performed

much of the early labor incident to clearing the wilderness

of Rush, and are equally deserving of credit.

The following lists show the names of the resident tax-

payers in the township of Ru.sh in the years 1850 and

1855:
1850.

Acres.
Robert Irland, section 24 40
Jacob Rusb, section 25 ;i;{

Henry Rush, sections 24, 25 220

Acres.

Jane Goss, section 25 5

Jonns Robbins, sections 26, 36 151
William B. Hurd, section 26 SO
Avery Thomas, section 36 103

1855.

Samuel Ayres, section 21 160
William Berger, section 27 120

D. S. Center, sections 36, 22 191
Patrick Carmody, section 27 60
Michael Carmody, section 27 80

Pilas Clark, section 5 41

Curtis Devoe, section 12 80
Richard Freeman, section 25 98
Jane Goss, section 25 100
Walter Graham, section 5

Solomon Horn, section 26 80
William Hughes, section 10 80

Josiah Isham, sections 23, 21 86.80

Cyrus Isham, section 23 56.40

Robert Irland, section 24 40

John McClure, section 35 40

William Noonan, section 26 80
Jacob Rush, section 25 20
Patrick Rourke, section 26 SO

Jonas Robbins, section 26 80

Michael Rourke, section 26 160

Joliii Russel, section 8 60

John Robinson, section 2 40

R. A. Sutliff, section 8 60
William Sawyer, section 2 92.19

Anson Simons, section 25 92.54

William Stearns, sections 24, 25 93.12

Samuel Shuster, section 15 160'

William Scott, section 30 141
Avery Thomas, section 36 102
Benjamin Washburn, section 12 80

."^au-uel Wood, section 7 40

Daniel Whitman, section 5 80

EAKLY HIGHWAYS.
Roads were early opened by the first settlers in the town-

ship to afford them means of egress from their lands, but no

official record of highways in the township of Rush ap-

pears earlier than 1845, when Nelson Ferry, on the 23d

and 24th of January of that year, surveyed the following

road :
" Commencing on the southwest corner of section nine-

teen, township eight north, of range three east, and following

a northerly course to the quarter post on the line of section

one in township eight north, of range two east ; thence north

thirty-four minutes, east thirty-nine chains and ninety-two

links, to the northwest corner of the township of New
Haven."

This road was not officially recorded until Nov. 7, 1850.

A road was surveyed in April, 1850, by Ezra Mason,

" beginning at the southeast corner of section twenty-six in

township eight north, of range two east ; thence running

west eighty-eight degrees, east, on section line, sixteen chains

and ninety-two links; thence west fifty-two degrees, east

three chains and twenty-eight links ; thence west seventj'-four

and a half degrees, east two chains and seventy-seven links;

thence south nine and a quarter degrees, east two chains

and sixty-three and a half links; thence west eighty-nine

and a quarter degrees, east six chains and forty-five links

;

thence south fifty-seven and three-quarter degrees, east

three chains and sixty-eight links ; thence south eighty-six

and a half degrees, east four chains and nineteen links to a

stake in the centre of the highway."

Jobs for the. chopping, causewaying, and ditching of the

above road were let by the commis.sioners of highways.

May 15, 1850, on the ground described. The successful

bidders were Francis R. Pease, Robert Irland, Richard

Freeman, Avery Thomas, Thomas Irland, and C. S. Kim-

berly. Other roads followed as necessity demanded them.

1
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ORGANIZATION AND OIVIL LIST.

The exterior lines of the township of Rush were sur-

veyed by Joseph Wampler, though no official record of the

date of .survey appears. The subdivision lines were run by

William Brooktield in 1823. The town.ship was erected

by act of Legislature, approved March 28, 1850, which de-

clared "That township eight north, of range two east, in

the county of Shiawassee, be and the same is hereby set off

from township seven north, of range two east, in said county,

and organized into a separate township by the name of Rush,

and the firet township-meeting therein shall be held at the

house now occupied by Henry Rush, in said township."

Pursuant to the requirement of the organizing act, the

fir.st township-meeting was held at the place designated, on

the 1st of April, 1850. At the meeting Henry Rush was

chosen moderator, William Goss township clerk, and Robert

Irland and William B. Hurd inspectors of election. The

officers elected fur the year were: Supervisor, A very Thomas;

Township Clerk, William Goss; Treasurer, Robert Irland
;

Justices of the Peace, William Goss, Avery Thomas, Robert

Irland ;
Highway Commissioners, William B. Hurd, Jonas

Robbins, Robert Irland ; Directors of the Poor, Henry

Rush, Richard Freeman ;
School Inspector, Avery Thomas;

Constable, Jacob Rush.

The following list embraces the succession of township

officers annually elected in succeeding years to the present,

viz.

:

SUPERVLSORS.

1851. Williiim Gos,s.

1852-55. Avery Thomas.

1856. William (Joss.

1857-58. J.Tiiies E, Crane.

1859-60. Thomas C. Crane.

1861. G. AV. Love.

1862. E. P. Bliss.

1863-66. George W. Love.

1867. R. F. Dutcher.

1808. V,. W. Love.

TOWN.SHIP CLERKS.

1860. John King.

1809-70. John Henderson.

1871. E. P. Bliss.

1872. Peter Hcndrlck.

1873. John Henderson.

1874. William H. Dean.

1875. Charles Freeman.

1876. Alfred Crane.

1877. Charles Freeman.

1878-80. A.B.Crane.

1851. EbenezerWhalcy.

1852-53. William Goss.

1854-55. Jacob Rush.

1856-57. P. H. Doolittlc.

1858-59. E. P. Bliss.

1860. Avery Thomas.

1861-63. James A. llayt.

1864. E. P. Bliss.

1865. John Henderson.

1851. Robert Irland.

1852. Richard Freeman.

1853. Anson Simons.

1854-56. Richard Freeman

1802. R. S. Haines..

1865. John Freeman.

1866-67. R. S. Haines.

1808. John Henderson.

1867-09. A. B. Allen.

1870. Charles 0. Lapham.

1871. A. B. Crane.

1872. A. B. Allen.

1873-75. John Skclton.

1876-79. Thomas Corcoran.

ISSU. Byron C. Pierce.

TREASURERS.

1869-71. Charles Freeman.

1872-73. William H. Dean.

1874. Eihvin E. Buntinj;.

1875. A. B. Crane.

1870. John Skelton.

1877-78. James A. Uayt.

1879-80. William H. Dean.

JU.STICES OF THE PEACE.

1851. Uichard Freeman. 1857. James A. lloyl.

1S52. J. V. Shaft. 1858. Benjamin Washburn.

1853. William (ioss. Avery Thomas.

1854. R. C. SutlilL 1859. Robert F. Duteher.

1855. Kiehard Freeman. 1800. James E. Crane.

Avery Thomas. 1861. James .\. ILiyt.

1850. R. S. Haines. 1862. A. B. Allen.

1857. Thomas C. Crane. Solomon Horn.

1863.



278 HISTOllY OF SHIAWASSEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN.

1851



SHIAWASSEE TOWNSHIP. 279

CHURCH OF THE DISCIPLES.

This society was organized in the year 1879, under the

au.^pices of Elder Massey, the earliest meetings having been

held in January, 1878, at the school-house in Henderson.

A series of revival-meetings had previously been held, on

which occasion twenty-one persons were baptiz('<l.

Elder Hurd was for several months the pastor of the so-

ciety. Since his departure the cliurch has been without

regular ministrations, though services are occasionally held

at the school-house. A pastor will doubtless soon be in-

stalled in connection with the New Haven charge. The

trustees are William Dean, Joseph Hoffman, Edward Bunt-

ing, John Lytic. The church-roll embraces sixty members.

The Society of the United Bretliren also have an organi-

zation in the township.

SCHOOLS.

The information obtained regarding the earliest schools

of the townsliip is vague and incomplete. The first school-

house in Hush was erected in the Goss neighborhood on

section 25, in 1850, and known as the Goss school-house.

Miss Amanda Sliepard was an early teacher, but probably

not tlie earliest. The second school-house was located on

section G, and known as the Washburn school-house, hav-

ing been built some years later. The division of the town-

ship into school territory embraces five whole and two frac-

tional districts. The board of directors is composed of the

following-named gentlemen : J. A. Mayerhoifer, C. W.

Hall, E. E. Banberry, A. L. Fowler, Humphrey Scott,

AVilliam S. Lewis. The corps of teachers embraces seven

males and six females. They have under their superin-

tendence three hundred and twenty-three children, of

whom eleven are non-residents. One log and six frame

school-houses have been erected for their use, a portion of

which number are spacious and of modern architecture.

CH A FT Ell XL.

SHIAWASSEE TOWNSHIP.*

Ldciilion nncl Natural Fciturcs—Original Liin.l-Kntries—Settlements

iinil Settlers—Townsliiii Orgiinizntion iiiul Civil Lift— Eiirly High-

ways—Sliiawafsee Exehange— Early Schools— Church History

—

Shiavvasseelown—Ncwburg—Fremont—Village of liancroft.

Til K township of Shiawassee, iii the priority of its scllle-

mciit, takes precedence of all tli(' other townships of the

county. Its forests yielded to the enterprise of the pioneer

nearly a score of years before some townshijis of the county

of Shiawassee were affected by the presence of the settler,

and much of the early business enterprise of this portion

of the Territory was at one time concentrated within its

limits. From the advent of the'earliest pioneers witliin its

boundaries in 1831, and the development of its resources

which followed, until the present, its progress has been

steady and rajiid.

Geographically, it may be described as loialcd sdnllirast of

the centre of the county, with its northwestern corner marly

» By E. 0. Wagnor.

on the territorial centre. It is bounded by Caledonia on the

north and Antrim on the .south, wliile Vernon joins it on the

east and the township of Bennington bounds its western line.

Several small villages contribute to its business activity,

chief among which is Bancroft, in the southeast, whose

marvelous growth, resulting from the opening of the Chi-

cago and Northeastern Railroad, has made the township one

of the prominent centres of commercial activity. The Shia-

wassee River, entering at section 25, on the eastern .«ide,

pursues a devious course to the northward, and curving

again to the east makes its exit at sectinn 1. Looking-

(jlass River flows across the southwestern corner, and

Maple River takes its rise in a marsh north of the centre

of the township, and flows north and west, passing through

section G into Bennington. The surface of the township is

sufficiently rolling to relieve it from monotony and to render

the scene picturesque and in many localities exceedingly

beautiful. The soil ni.iy be described as a combination of

clay, sand, and vegetable mould. The latter prevails in the

timbered land along the northern boundary, while sand

enters largely into the compo.sition of the soil in the south.

Gravel, though occasionally found, is not abundant. South

of the centre still remain traces of marshy land, though

much of it has been modified by draining. Wheat, corn,

and oats are among the staple products, the average yield

of the former being twenty bushels to the acre, while oats

and corn produced a crop of fifty bushels to the acre.

The prevailing woods are beech, elm, maple, basswood,

and black-walnut, though the latter is not abundant. Oak-

openings are occasionally seen, and invariably accompanied

by sandy soil. Pine prevails in certain localities, though

not ])roperly included with the prevailing timber of the

township.

ORIGINAL LAND-ENTKIES.

The lands of Shiawassee township were entered from the

United States government or purchased of the State by the

following persons

:

SECTION ].

Acres.

Augustus Riggs, l.S.'il 80.76

]i. D.Worthing, IS.'il 77. Si!

William Black, 18;i2 L'!-'.75

(leorgo Kittridge, lS:i(> 20.'.. -.'8

I'eck, Nimocks aud Hooker, 18X6 2115.16

SECTION 2.

S. W. Denton, 1821 •'t-Z"

S. T. Cookv, IS:U ""'•12

li. D.Worthing, I8.)l "'>*•

.Joseph I'ilciiirn, ls;!6 80

Jerrv Hilluian, 18:10 2UI.92

C. M. Van Doren, 1830 204.52

L. li. Wizncr, ISiSO 80

.SECTION ;(.

II. C. Walker, ISM I2;!.8»

M. W. Cogswell. 18:10 80

Thomas liuoll, I8.)0 122.80

i.y.lia llornell, 18:10 80

W. (J. lilancharil. I8:U1 40

Silas Warmr, Is.l" 200

Swamp-hiuil, IS.'iO 80

SECTION 4.

Ilenrv Dwigl.t. 18,16 12.1.28

M. ('.' Tutierson, 1k:!0 202.04

L. Van Wormer, IS:18 4"

N. It Ovrrlon, IS.IS 40

II. Van Wor r. IS.18 40

J. unil O. Mitchell, 1»J0 80
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Acres.

Swamp-land, ISoO 200

O. C. Moore (State), 1S65 40

S. T. Parsons (State), 1808 80

0. E. West (State), 1806 40

James Ashton (State), 1866 40

SECTION 5.

P. Goldsmith (State), 1858 40

G. W.Williams, 1836 160

O.Cook, 1836 40

Ira Davenport, 1836 124.20

Herman Camp, 1836 125.64

Dennis Kelly, 1836 80

N. 13. Overton, 1839 40

J. and 0. Mitchell, 1850 80

B. C. Thorn, 1854 40

SECTION 6.

Isaac Castle, 1835 240

G. W. Williams, 1836 483.76

SECTION 7.

Isaac Castle 80

Ora Cook, 1836 233.88

Ora Sprague, 1836 233.56

Myron Murdock, 1836 80

SECTION 8.

Seneca Reynolds, 1836 160

OraSprague, 1836 240
Newbold Lawrence, 1836 240

SECTION 9.

Ballard Ball, 1836 32(1

S. F. Henry, 1836 320

SECTION 10.

N. Taylor, 1835 80

Electus Backus, 1835 SO
Samuel Moore, 1835 240
E. K. Koarsley, 1835 240

SECTION 11.

S. W. Dexter, 1824 416.82
E. Raynale, 1831 107.40
E. C. Matthews, 1833 80.75

SECTION 12.

llosea Baker, 1833 SO
John Kent, 1834 40
Trumlnill Cary, 1835 80
Chesley Blake, 1836 SO
Lot Clark and Stephen Warren, 1836 200
Enoch Jones, 1836 80
Martin Post, 1836 80

SECTION 1.3.

Hosea Baker. 1833 9.98
Joseph Holmes. 1834 62.83
Ephraim Wright, 1835 560

SECTION 14.

S. W. Dexter. 1824 93.92
Hosea Baker, 1833, 1834 359.88
Oliver Wilson, 1835 160

SECTION 15.

N. Taylor, 1835 SO
Jehial Parmly, 1835 160
Trumbull Cary, 1835 160
Alvah Ewers, 1836 80
E. A. Kearsley, 1836 160

SECTION 16.

Henry Goodrich (State), 1853 240
Timothy Clery (State), 1865 40
Thomas E. Clery (State). 18C5 40
John Clery (State), 1853 40
Florin Baker (State), 1853 40
J. F. Elsworth (State), 1854 SO
M. R. Mead (State), 1853 40
W. B. Elsworth (State), 1853 40
Mary Jane Doty (State), 1853 80

SECTION 17.

Acres.

Milton Phelps, 1835 SO

B. Wight, 1835 SO
Isaac Secord, 1835 80
Newbold Lawrence, 1835 400

SECTION IS.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 153.16
B. Wight, 1836 160
Isaac Secord, 1836 80
Newbold Lawrence, 1836 233.36

SECTION 19.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 153.04
Abel MiUington, 1835 160
Trumbull Cary, 1835 160
Peter Runciman, 1S35 152.92

SECTION 20.

Abel MiUington, 1835 240
Trumbull Cary, 1835 80
James Phelps, 1835 120
Selden Phelps, 1835 40
Rachel Town, 1836 80

Abel MiUington, 1835 80

SECTION 21.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 320
Bethuel Noves, 1836 80

A. and A. G. Dow, 1836 80
T. W. Hosmer, 1836 120
Horad Martin, 1836 40

SECTION 22.

Orin Very, 1835 160
Trumbull Cary, 1835 160

Alva Ewers, 1836 320

SECTION 23.

Hosea Baker, 1833 80
William Black, 1834 80

S. S. Seymour, 1835 160
Consider Warner, 1835 160

William Black, 1835 80

Hosea Baker, 1835 40
Martin Post, 1835 40

SECTION 24.

Hosea Baker, 1S33 92.09

S. F. Durkee, 1833, 1834 167.04

Abel MiUington. 1835 155.65

Cheslcv Blake, 1836 40

Charles W. Penny, 1S36 160

SECTION 25.

A. L. Williams, 1831 79.55

Jasper Parish, 1832 217.69

Trumbull Carv, 1835 80

Abel Milliugt.in, 1835 136.78

L. B. Wizner, 1836 80

SECTION 26.

A. J. D. and T. Beaubein, 1835 40

Gabriel Bandi, 1835 40
Isaac M. Banks, 1835 80
Trumbull Carv, 1835 80

H. Riopelle, 1835 40

Peter Godfrey, 1836 40

Orange Skinner, 1836 40

Henry Hutchins, 1836 40

Gustavus Hines, 1836 40
Thomas Beall, 1836 20

SECTION 27.

William Black, 1835 ". 40
Isaac M. Banks, 1835 40

Oren Very, 1835 40
Elizabeth" Sidway, 1836 40

George Sidway, 1836 80

Thomas Curtis, 1837 80

S. S. Mathewson (State), 1S58 SO

Stephen Sargent, " 1859 40

J. 1). Congrevc, " 40
Hiram Herrick, " 40

John Herrick, " 1859 40



laAAC M. HANKS. MRS. ISAAC M. BANKS.

ISAAC M. BANKS.

Isaac M. Banks is of English descent, being a sou

of Artliur Banks, who was horn in England in 1756,

and who came to America with Lord Admiral Howe

during the Revolution.

Arthur was a ncpiiew of Sir Joseph Banks, of

England, and married, in Middletown, Conn., Miss

Sarah Ijoomis.

Isaac was born in Albany Co., N. Y., June 27,

1798, and at tiie age of eleven w;is apprenticed to

John Hendrick to learn the coopers' trade. When

fifteen years of age ho eidisted as a common sailor

under CJommodore Perry, to assist in the defense of

his country.

During his early life, when not engaged as before

stated, he was employed at farm work during the

summer, and atteiid('<I (lie inl'erior <'i)mmon schools

of those days in the winter, thus obtaiiiine- his edn-

cation.

He lisi'il in ( 'aiiada six years, and Iheii married

Miss Ilannaii Ileniek, and settled in Wilson, Ni-

agara Co., N. Y., where he icmaini'd nine years, re-

nidving in ls;)5 t(i AFiehigan, and settling in Shia-

wassee CdUiity, where he still lives. His principal

occupation has been farming, though for nearly

twenty years lie kept a hotel.

Mr. Banks was afflicted by the loss of his wife,

Aug. 10, 1>S38, leaving him with seven children.

Nov. 25, 1838, he married Mrs. Lorena Shepherd,

by which union he became the father of five children.

Of this large family of twelve children eight are still

living,—all married. June 7, 1870, Mr. Banks lost

his second wife, this being the sixth time dejvth had

entered his home; yet with head bowed in sorrow,

and the light seemingly shut out of his home and

heart, he submitted to the chastisement, and though

bitter the bereavement could only say, "Thy will be

done,"

In pcilitifs Ml'. Banks is a membei- of the Ke|)nl)-

liciui paity. lie has never been connected with any

('hrislian ehiii'eli, and, thuMgh having jiassed his

fourscore ycjirs, is quite active, antl enjoys the fruits

(if his indnslriiiu-i early life. Uespected by all who

know him, witii an nntarnished reputation, and being

thoroughly familiar with its early history, no one

more littingb represents the |>ioneers of Shiaw;is.sec

( 'onntv.
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SECTION 28.
Acres.

George Jones, 1837 SO

George Su;^iien (.State), 1858 80

Martha P. EdJv, " 1858 120

E. S. Till.son, " 1858 40

P. and G. Caruthers, 1859 120

C. W. Sager, 1866 40

Thomas Munger, 1868 40

Francis Ackerly (State), 1858 40
" 1858 80

SECTION 2y.

James Phelps, 1836 40

Samuel Chappel, 1837 80

K. Hopkins. 1847 80

Peter Strobe 160

Charles Kimberley, 1854 160

John Whaley, 1855 120

SECTION 30.

M. C. Patterson, 1836 233.92

D. R. Prindel, 1836 72.24

Peter Ewers, 1836 240

R. Hopkins, 1849 80

SECTION 31.

M. C. Patterson, 1836 160

Peter Coster. 1837 160

Alexander Oliver, 1837 234.08

John Lutkins, 1837 73.72

SECTION 32.

Peter Coster, 1836 80

W. S. Hoard, 1837 40

J. 0. Hinkley, 1837 120

George Jones, 1837 80

Hiram Haight, 1839 40

M. Glover, 1839 40

J. H. Dcsincss, 1841 40

M. C. iMerrill, 1853 40

E. S. Tillsun, 1854 40

E. P. McCollom, 1854 40

Amos Racheldor, 1855 40

SECTION .33.

Charles F. Coles (State) 40

E. S. Tillson, " 1858 40

Henry Wooleven, 1836 80

William Hoard, 1837 80
Austin Spaulding, 1837 160
William Mason, 1854 160

S. H. Hoard, 1854 80

William Cochran, 1855 40

SECTION 34.

George Sidway, 1836 160

Henry Wooleven, 1836 80
Thouiiis Beall, I83B 100

Thomas Curtis, 1837 80

John Q. Ailains (State) 40
G.W.Graves, " 40
John Reach, " 1865 40

SECTION 35.

Joseph Varnrt, 1836 40

Henry Hatchings, 1836 160
Court Hutchings, 1836 80

Gustavus nines, 1S3C 40
William M. Warren, 1836 120

Peter Robertson, 1H3C 80

Lucius Beach, 1839 40

N. P. Harder, 1841 40

Calvin Sweet, 1854 40

SECTION 36.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 160
Mason Phelps, 1835 160
Joseph Visger, 1835 80
Joseph Venuelt, 183B 40

M. H. .Martin, 1836 160
li. li. lirigham, 1830 40

SETTLEMENTS AND SETTLERS.

Tlie earliest settlers witliin the liiuit.s of Shiawassee

township were Messrs. A. L. ami \i. O. Williams, who

made a tour of exploration through the county in 1829,

and in August of 1831 became residents upon land on

section 25, which had been entered by the former in the

same year. This point was subsequently known as the

Shiawassee Exchange, and was undoubtedly the earliest

purchase of land with a view to permanent settlement.

The Williams biullicrs came through from Grand Blanc,

Genesee Co., and were obliged to cut the way for their ox-

teams, no roads at that time having been broken. Their

wagons were laden with household utensils and material

for building, which greatly facilitated them in working for

thcuLselves a comfortable habitation.

The brothers encountered some unfriendly demonstrations

from the Indian chief Wasso, but soon established them-

selves as traders, and controlled extensive business inter-

ests in the county. The advent of the Messrs. Williams,

and their influence upon the early development of the

county of Shiawassee, has already been fully mentioned in

the general history of the county, and in the separate

history of the city of Owosso, which renders a review of

their career unnecessaiy here.

The earliest settler who came for the purpose of es-

tablishing permanently and exclusively as a farmer in the

township was John I. Tinkelpaugh, who arrived with his

family in May, 1833, and located upon section 24, on the

farm at present owned by C. I). Chalker. This land was

not entered by Mr. Tinkelpaugh, and it is probable that

Hosea Baker made the original purcha.se and transferred it

to the subsequent owner, who had previously built upon it

a log house and made a small clearing. He plowed a por-

tion of the land along the river-bottom, and thus became the

pioneer in agricultural occupations in the county, no fur-

rows having as yet been upturned within its limits. Mr.

and Mrs. Tinkelpaugh afterwards removed to Clinton

County, where, in a serene old age, they enjoyed the re-

sults which years of indu.stry had brought. Mr. Tinkel-

paugh died there in the fall of 1879.

Henry S. Smith and a partner named Cooley came in

the previous year, and with a small stock of marketable

wares attempted the establishment of a trading-post below

Shiawas-sectown. In June of the same year Mr. Smith

brou"ht his family to the township, and for a while j)ursued

the calling of a blacksmith. Later he removed to Owosso,

and followed the same occupation.

In August, 1833, Hosea Baker and his son, Ambrose

Baker, arrived from Bradford Co., Pa., having in tlie pre-

vious April come to the county on a prospecting tour, and

entered land on section It, ujion which the former .settled.

He also purchased much land in the township for other

parties. Mr. Baker had previously engaged a man to break

the ground and a.s.sist in the erection of a log hou.se, which

was constructed of basswood logs, witli strips of elm bark

in lieu of shingles. A portion of the furniture of this

cabin was of primitive con.struction, especially the bitlslcad,

which was made of poles placed in holes borcii into iho

logs, and supported at the opposite end by pasts. This

was fastened with strips of dinliark, and llmngh primitive

in construction, .served the purpo.so well. No roads made

the township accessible at this early date, and the huiian

trail marked by blazed trees afforded '.he traveler but an
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uncertain guide through the wilderness. One of the

daughters of Mr. Baker brought apple-seeds from the East

and planted them here, which afterwards resulted in the

growth of the first orchard in the township. Later, Mr.

Baker procured apple-scions from the East, and grafted

them upon stocks taken from the old Indian orchards, and

thus raised a superior quality of fruit. The ladies of the

family frequently chased the wolves from the door with

brands of fire when they became too obtrusive, and the

large bounty offered by the State rendered their capture a

source of considerable profit. Three of these animals

caught in a trap brought Mr. Baker the sum of ninety

dollars.

Aaron Swain, also a Ponn.sylvaniaii, came with Mr. Baker

in 1833, and removed to eighty acres, adjacent .to the farm

of the latter, on section 23. lu his family was born the

first child in the township. Miss Julia Swain.

Isaac M. Banks came from Niagara County in 1834,

and located upon one hundred and sixty acres on sections

26 and 27, his log house having been erected on the latter

section. There were no roads at this time, and settlers

were largely dependent upon the Indians for supplies of

food. The milling was done at Pontiae or Dexter. This

necessitated a journey of two or more weeks, and on one

occasion a neighbor was absent forty-two days.

Orin Vary had preceded Mr. Banks by two weeks, and

located upon section '11. With him he remained until a

suitable habitation was constructed upon his own land. He

was followed by his former neighbors, Jordan Holcomb,

Niniou Clark, Orange Skinner, and John Herriek, who

purchased farms in the township. In 1853, Mr. Banks

erected a spacious hotel at the hamlet of Fremont, and be-

came one of the popular landlords of Shiawassee, in which

occupation he continued until 1870. He is still the ven-

erable and honored postmaster of the place, having lived to

witness the sudden development and still more rapid decay

of the village.

William Johnson came from Wayne County in 1835,

but it was not until 1837 that he purchased eighty acres of

land of E. C. Kiniborly, having previously been an inmate

of the family of ]']phraim Wright. He soon after married

the daughter of Mr. Wright, and began the labor of

clearing. He made little progress at first, but ultimately

made a well-improved farm. Mr. Johu.son was one of the

earliest voters, and participated in the organization of the

township.

William Newberry came to the township fron; Ohio in

183t;. He was by occupation a carpenter and joiner, and

was employed by the Shiawassee Company to assist them

in building, having known the various members of the

company in Ohio. He labored in this capacity for a year

or more and then removed to Owosso, where the Messrs.

Williams gladly availed themselves of his services. Here

he assisted in the erection of the first frame house in the

village. In 1839 he moved to a farm of eighty acres pur-

chased of Ephraim Wright, an early pioneer who had

located upon section 13. Mr. Newberry constructed a

frame house 22 by 28 feet in dimensions, which was first

occupied by the family iu 18-10. He alterwards erected a

substantial residence on his farm, and considerably iucrca.scd

its dimensions. Mr. Newberry has established a reputation

as one of the most scientific farmers in the county, and

avails himself of all the modern appliances for enhancing

the productiveness and value of his land. An excellent

system of drainage involving a length of ten miles has been

introduced on his farm.

Ephraim Wright, above alluded to, came early in 1836,

and entered nearly the whole of section 13, upon which he

removed and partially cultivated, building upon it a sub-

stantial house. Zimri Finch also purchased a farm near

by, on which he located, and on which he bestowed much

hard labor.

Isaac Secord, a former resident of Washtenaw County,

secured one hundred and sixty acres on section 18 in 1836.

While building a cabin the family made themselves com-

fortable under a shelter of bark, it having been the month

of June. James Phillips and Orin Vary were near neigh-

bors. Mr. Secord's family have since removed from the

township.

In the fall of 1836, William M. Warren left the attrac-

tive city of Rochester, N. Y., for the township of Shia-

wassee, where he purchased one hundred and twenty acres

on section 35. Later he removed to section 36. The

country was entirely uncleared, and as there were no bridges

he was obliged to ford the river ahead of the teams, and

an infant child was carried by him from Detroit, a distance

of sixty miles, in his arms or placed in a handkerchief

which was suspended from his neck. He began the labor

of clearing at once, and at the expiration of the year had

built a log house and improved eight acres. A pilgrimage

to Pontiae was made for supplies, and the prevailing prices

were such as to appall the settler who did not boast a

plethoric wallet. Pork was sold at fifty dollars per barrel,

while flour brought fifteen dollars, and often more, per bar-

rel. At a later period John Herriek and Covert and

Henry Hutchings were among his near neighbors. Mr.

Warren still resides upon section 26, surrounded by his

children, upon whom he has liberally bestowed the accu-

mulations of years of industrious effort.

Lucius Beach, a pioneer from Norwalk, Ohio, came to

Shiawasseetown in 1838, having, through the influence of

his brother-in-law, Moses Kimball, purchased an interest

in the Shiawassee Company, for which he paid one thousand

dcjilars. He became manager of the mills and also the

host of the rising hamlet. Mr. Beach, with his attractive

and energetic wife, rendered this the most popular hostelry

of the time. The house was often crowded, and on some

occasions the capacity of the building was unequal to the

demands upon it. As many as forty travelers frequently

sought its hospitality on a single night. There the Circuit

Court of the county first convened, and the spacious parlor

was early opened to accord the youth of the township op-

portunities of education. Mr. Beach afterwards purchased

one hundred and twenty acres on section 36, upon which he

also erected another large hotel, of which he was for many

years the landlord. The homestead is now occupied by

N. G. Phillips, with whom the widow of Mr. Beach re-

sides.

John Herriek came from Niagara County in 1837, and

settled upon section 35, where he had forty acres. He
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cleared and improved it, and remained several years, after

whicli Ills location was changed to Fremont, wliere eighty

acres afl'ordud him a comfortable home until his death in

1877. Six children and the widow are still residents of

the township.

A. Van Auken, one of the most successful of the agri-

culturists of Shiawassee, emigrated from Monroe Co., N. Y.,

to Washtenaw County in 1835, and to this township in

1831), when he purchased of Charles Penney, of Jackson,

one hundred and sixty acres on sections 2-1 and 13. He
was in debt the sum of two hundred and fifty dollars on his

arrival, whicli claim with close application to the work

before him was soon liquidated A cabin had already

been built, which was occupied until a more spacious log

structure cuuld be erected, and sixteen acres yielded to the

labor devoted to their improvement, having been speedily

covered by growing crops. On one occasion 51 r. Van

Auken started for Pontiac for the purpose of disposing of

a pair of cattle, and having been successful was obliged to

return on foot, a distance of forty-five miles. The roads

on this occasion were so obscure that in the darkness of

the night he could only be guided by the sen.se of touch.

Wheat was at this time often drawn to Ypsilanti, a distance

of sixty-eight miles, and brought but sixty-five cents per

bushel. Mr. Van Auken has now two hundred and .sixty-

five acres under a high state of cultivation. One of his

near neighbors was Sidney Seymour, who had eighty acres

on section 23, which he cleared and improved.

The clergymen best remembered at this time were Elders

Blanchard and Brighara, who conducted the earliest ser-

vices at the houses of the settlers. Dr. Paitison was the

pioneer physician, who practiced as early as 1836. Next

came Dr. Harder, who settled in Newburg.

Jordan Holcomb, a former resident of Ontario Co., N. Y.,

became a settler of Bennington in 1836, and two years

later removed to section 35 in this township, where he

located eighty acres. On this land he built a log house,

which is still occujiied by him. With him came Aaron

and Henry llutchings, who shared with him the humble

quarters he had prepared until a later period enabled them

to better their condition. Mr. Holcomb has converted his

land into a productive farm, and is one of the few survivors

among the very early settlers.

Till! following list embodies all the tax-payers in the

township of .Sliiawassoo for the year 1840, with .section and

number of acres :

Acres.

J. S.Tinkel|iauj;h, section 21 75
Myron Miinlock. aection 7 811

I*. P. En i-ij, section .'iO .|1IU

AlcxjiniliT Oliver, section 31 I.j4

M. ('. Tat torsiin, section ill Hill

.John Iliivis, section .il Kid
l*cter Itobcrtson, section ii.^ SO
tliiscpli \'annnttcr, section .'io -IO

Tninilfull Vtivy, section .*i(i and elsewllere 8t)

.Joseph Visgcr, section 12 36
I.yclia Hoiricll, section :) 80
M. C. I'altison, section 4 123
Henry l>wi)^lit, section -1 12-1

Ira Iiavenport, section ."J 121
llinniali Camp, section .'» 125

Asa Spra^^ue, section S 2t0
N. Lawrenci?, section S 210
Asa Spra;^ue, section 7 231
CliarloUe Henry, section H 3211

liallaril Hall, section fl 3211

Samuel Moore, section 10 210

Acres.

E. R. Kearslcy, section 10 240
E. Baclius, section 10 80
N. Taylor, section 10 .SO

Morgan L. Drake, section 11 107
Jolin Lawrence, section ,^6 40
Jonathan Mclvin, section 17 15
li. Wright, sections 17 and IS ^ 240
A, iMillington, sections lit, 21, and elsewhere 240
B. Noycs, section 21 SO
Tita.< Ilosnier, section 21 80
Alvah Rwers, section 22 320
Conficlcr Warner, section 23 100
Joseph Parish, section 25 215

.Stevens, section 22 120
L. B. Misner, section 25 80
Peter (^odfroy, section 20 40
H. Kiopellc, section 20 40
i;. Bond, section 20 40
I). K. Prin<;lc, section 30 72
Enoch Jones, section 12 80
Thomas Curtis, sections 2" and 34 160

iSpauIding, section 33 80
George Kittridf^e, section 1 125
Allen Park anil others, section 1 125
Augustus Boyd, section 1 87
Henry W. Elhnan, section 2 125
B. Q.W.irdiing, .section 2 80
James Pitcairn, section 2 80

H. C. Walker, section 3 124
M. W. Cogswell, section 3 SO

.Silas Warner, section 3 IGO
Joseph Bedford, section 13 00

0. Wilson, section 14 160
N. Taylor, section 15 SO

Alvah Elvers, section 15 SO

N. Lawrence, section 17 400
Chester Blake, section 24 40
C. W. Van Dougan, section 2 125
W'illiam Laiug, section 36 SO
Joseph .S. ,Jackson
Elijah Lansing
N. P. Harder, section 23

J. S, Harder came from Cayuga, N, Y,, in 1814, and

bought eighty acres on section 22, which he purchased of

E. C. Kimberly, A small cabin had been erected and a

portion of the land improved on his arrival, having for a

brief time been occupied by Lester Wright, Mr. Harder

still resides on the place, where he has increased his posses-

sions to two hundred acres, and erected a substantial resi-

dence.

John Lemon, who had been a former resident of Oak-

land County, came in 1843. The boundaries of his farm

embraciHl eighty acres of uncleared land, which was located

on section 1,'). His .son came the j'ear previous and made

such iiiipidvenietit.s as rendered the sjiot habitable, and wa,s

followed by Mr. lienuin, who resided upon it until his death

in 1841). It is now occupied by .Mrs. John Lenioii, his

daughter-in-law.

1). N. Sabiii came from Seneca, N. V., to Oakland

County, and moved to Shiaw;tssee township in 1S4S, pur-

cha.sing eighty acres on section 10. John Lemon offered

him hospitality while building, after which the work of

clciiring was begun and five acres improved at an early date.

His near neighbor wtis David Taylor, who located upon the

same section, where he had eighty acres. The Indians who

were eiicaniiied in Burns occasionally pa.'wcd througli, and

much ill tlie way of btirler was ilone with them. Mr. J^a-

bin still resides upon the farm ami in tlir liousc early con-

structed by him.

C. D. Chalkcr, a furmcr resident of Seneca Falls, N. Y.,

removed to Vernon in 1836, and in IS I!), having been

united in marriage to Miss ('ariiliiu- Maker, chose a home

for his hr'uU: on .section 23, in the township, where he pur-

cha.sed one hundred and forty acres, partially improved, of
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Mrs. Ambrose Baker. Newburg was already well popu-

lated, and there were few remaining evidences of the orig-

inal primitive condition of the country. The form was

associated with many early reminiscences, having been the

first soil of Shiawassee to yield to the labor of the settler.

Mr. Chalker, though a successful farmer, is largely engaged

in other business enterprises. Mrs. Chalker, who was a

daughter of Hosea Baker, has aflforded by her keen recol-

lection of facts much valuable aid to the writer. Her

sister, Miss Susan Baker, was early married to William

Black, though this event cannot with truth be chronicled

among the early annals of Shiawassee, as the marriage was

celebrated out of the township.

Mr. Joseph Parmenter, whose early history is intimately

connected with the settlement of Vernon, removed in the

spring of 1849 to one hundred and two acres on section 2,

purchased of James McGuire. Twenty acres of this had

been cleared and a house built upon it. John Wallace, of

Livingston County, was a new settler upon section 2, as

were also John O'Niel and Michael DriscoU. On the farm

of William Black, opposite that of Mr. Parmenter, was an

old field of the Indians which had been abandoned and was

covered with a spontaneous growth of wild turnips. Mr.

Parmenter often went to Pontiac for purposes of trade, as

also to avail himself of the excellent mill there located.

He still occupies the farm upon which he first located.

0. C. Moore became a Michigan pioneer in 1851, having

formerly resided in Lewis Co., N. Y., and located on one

hundred and eighty-eight acres on section 10. Martin Post

lived near by, with whom shelter was found while building

a house. He also had other improvements made before he

became a permanent resident. Mr. Moore made rapid

progress in the cultivation of his land, and in 1867 erected

his present attractive home,—one of the most inviting in

the township.

David A. Lindley, formerly of Livingston County, first

located in Deerfield, in that county, and later in Shiawassee,

where, in 1852, he purchased one hundred and forty acres

on section 9. William Hicks, a former occupant, had

built a house, to which he removed, and also improved five

acres. Few highways other than the State road were found

in the north portion of the township, though Shiawassee

took precedence of the other townships of the county in

the general aspect of civilization which pervaded it. Mr.

Lindley still retains his original purchase and resides

upon it.

William B. Ellsworth, from Livingston County, settled

in 1854 upon eighty acres on section 21, which were pur-

chased of G. W. Whitney. Upon this stood a substantial

frame hou.se, and some laud had been cleared, llichard

Jackson was one of the nearest settlers, and had made con-

siderable progress in the improvement of his farm. Mr.

Ellsworth now has four hundred acres, upon which many
evidences of labor and care are apparent.

Among other foremost settlers were David Bush, a promi-

nent lawyer of Shiawasseetown and an early supervisor,

Daniel Hall, Avery Shipman, Dr. William Weir, William

Collins, Milan Glover, and Nicholas P. Harder, of whom
the last-named two were both early officers of the town-

ship.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND CIVIL LIST.

The exterior lines of town.ship No. 6 north, of range

No. 3 west, were surveyed by John Mullett in 1823. The

township was erected, to include the entire county of

Shiawassee, by an act of the Legislature, approved March

23, 1836. On the 11th of March an act of the State

Legislature was passed organizing the three townships

of Owosso, Burns, and Vernon, Owosso embracing the

entire north half of the county, including townships

7 and 8 north, of ranges 1, 2, 3, and 4 east, Vernon

township 6 north, of range 4 east, and Burns township 5

north, of range 4 east, thus leaving Shiawassee as townships

5 and 6 north, of ranges 1, 2, and 3 cast. By an act of the

State Legislature, approved March 6, 1838, township 5

north, of range 3 east, was organized as Antrim, and town-

ships 5 and 6 north, of range 2 east, as Bennington. By

an act of the Legislature, approved April 2, 1838, town-

ships 5 and 6 north, of range 1 east, became Woodhull,

reducing Shiawassee to its present limits. By the provis-

ions of the act erecting the township, the house of Hosea

Baker was designated as the place of holding the first

township-meeting, which was accordingly held there in

April, 1836; but as the earliest records of the township

are missing, the result of that first election cannot be

given, nor can any complete list of township officers be

given prior to the year 1854. A partial list of the super-

visors is, however, appended. The first township-meeting

having taken place at the house of Hosea Baker, that

gentleman was chosen supervisor for the years 1836 and

1837, and Thomas Beal in 1838. The county commis-

sioners met at the house of Lucius Beach from 1839 to

1842, during which latter year David Bush was chosen

supervisor, and re-elected in 1843, '44, and '45. Milan

Glover was chosen in 1846-47, Aaron Swain in 1848,

and Nicholas P. Harder in 1849-53. The township

officers from that time until the present have been as fol-

lows :

1854.—Supervisor, Isaac Castle; Township Clerk, John

Lemon ; Treasurer, Josiah Fuller ; School In-

spector, G. M. Reynolds ; Director of Poor,

Isaac Castle ; Justices, Alonzo Howard, J. E.

Chase; Constables, Theodore Barnes, Collins

Sargent, Orson Post.

1855.—Supervisor, Isaac Castle ;
Township Clerk, J. Q.

Van Valkenburg ; Treasurer, Theodore Barnes

;

Justice, J. E. Chase ; Highway Commissioners,

William Johnson, H. Humphrey ; School In-

spector, J. Q. Van Valkenburg; Directors of

Poor, J. Goodspeed, A. P. Greenman ;
Consta-

bles, Theodore Barnes, George Colt.

Ig56.—Supervisor, C. H. Leach ; Township Clerk, John

S. Harder ; Treasurer, Theodore Barnes ; Justice,

B. F. Bush ; Highway Commissioner, G. N.

Merrill ; Directors of Poor, J. Goodspeed, Wil-

liam Newberry ; School Inspector, T. F. Shelton

;

Constables, H. C. Woodward, Theodore Barnes,

C. M. Sargent.

1857.—Supervisor, N. P. Harder; Township Clerk, J. S.

Harder; Treasurer, Theodore Barnes; Justice,

Elisha Brewster ; School Inspector, W. R. Sel-
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AUGUSTUS P. GREENMAN.

Among tlie early settlers in tlio township of Shia-

wassee, Augustus P. Greenman holds a conspicuous

position, botli hv reason of liis curls' association with

tiie county and his deservedly liigh character as a

citizen. His fatlier, Augustus (ircenman, was a na-

tive of Rhode Island, and his mother, Mary Ann

Shopard, was horn in Massachusetts. Their son,

Augustus P., was l)orn in Augusta, Oneida Co., N. Y..

April 9, 1810, where tiie family located at an early

day. He was afflicted wlicn i|iiite young by the loss

of his fallier, and wlieii \w had attained sufficient

age assumed the management of tlie farm, mean-

while devoting himself during the winter to such in-

struction as was afforded hy the common schools of

the time. At the age of tiiirtv-tiirce he purchased

a small farm at Alexander, ( ienesee Co., N. Y., and

in 1844 bought land in tlie State of Michigan, em-

bracing eighty acres in Genesee County ami one

hundred and sixty at Fri'inout, Shiawa>sec town-

ship.

iMr. (Jreennian's health iiaving proved unequal to

the arduous labor of the farm, he went to New York

and sought in travel and change of scone the benefit

he ultimately received. Returning again to Mich-

i<;an, he has since! been engaged in agricultural jmr-

suits. He married, May 23, 1852, Mi-s. Almiia

Curtis, daughter of Isaac Holmes, of New 'Sdrk.

Two .sons liavc! been i)orn to them, both of whom

reside with their parents. Mr. (irccmnan is a Rc-

publi<an in his political sentiments, and in religion a

consistent member ami generous supporter of the

l^antisi Churcli.
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lam ; Highway Commissioner, E. Eddy ; Direc-

tors of Poor, William Newberry, J. Goodspeed

;

Constables, H. C. Woodward, William Hart,

Thomas Barnes.

1858.—Supervisor, N. G. Phillips ; Township Clerk, F. E.

Sheldon
; Treasurer, George N. Merrill ; Justice,

Alonzo Howard; Highway Commissioner, E. E.

Sheldon ; School Inspector, John Lemon ; Direc-

tors of Poor, A. P. Harder, J. L. Simonson
;

Constables, Theodore Barnes, Levi Morris, J. L.

Banks.

1859.—Supervisor, 0. F. Greenman ; Township Clerk, F.

¥j. Sheldon ; Treasurer, T. H. Lemon ; Justice,

J. E. Chase ; Highway Commissioner, J. S.

Harder; School Inspector, G. M. Reynolds;

Directors of Poor, William Newberry, John L.

Simonson
;

Constables, J. L. Banks, Francis

Ackley, Levi Morris.

1860.—-Supervisor, George Sugden ; Township Clerk, F.

E. Sheldon
;
Treasurer, G. N. Merrill ; Justice,

Henry Peace ; School Inspector, William R. Sel-

lam ; Highway Commissioner, Enoch Eddy

;

Constables, M. C. Doty, J. L. Banks, W. H.

Hadcock.

1861.—Supervisor, George M. Reynolds; Township Clerk,

F. E. Sheldon ; Treasurer, George N. Merrill

;

School Inspectors, George M. Reynolds, Thomas

L. Sheldon ; Commissioner of Highways, E. E.

Sheldon ; Justices of the Peace, Elisha Brewster,

Alonzo H. Crandall ; Constables, Henry C.

Woodward, M. C. Doty, E. W. Drum.

1862.—Supervisor, George Sugden ; Township Clerk,

Charles A. Osborne ; Treasurer, George N. Mer-

rill ; Justices of the Peace, Francis B. Ackley,

Ambrose Baker ; Commissioner of Highways,

John S. Harder; School In,spectors, T. F. Shel-

don, F. E. Sheldon ; Constables, M. P. Gardner,

Alonzo Johnson, Levi Morris, James Vanderhoof.

1863.—Supervisor, George Sugden ; Clerk, C. A. Osborne
;

Treasurer, William Johnson ;
.Justice of the

Peace, William J. Mosely ; Highway Commis-

sioner, J. L. Gardner ; School Inspector, 6. M.

Reynolds; Constables, M. P. Gardner, H. A.

Hall, George Drum, John (j. Adams.

1864.—Supervisor, Oscar F. Greentnan
; Clerk, Henry A.

Hart ; Treasurer, William .John.son ; Highway

Commissioner, E. E. Sheldon
; Justices of the

Peace, Oscar C. Moore, Perry Trim ; School

Inspector, William G. Smith
;
Constables, B. F.

Lemon, R. H. H. Morris, E. Wheeler.

1865.—Supervisor, Austin A. Haldwin ; Township Clerk,

Fordyce F. Potter ; Treasurer, Albert Bain-

bridgc ; Justices of the Peace, King W. Fenton,

Harvey Adams ; School In.spcctor, Frank Grid-

ley ; Highway Commissioners, W. W. Bartlett,

Freeman Howard
;
Constables, Geo. W. Warren,

Theodore Barnes, Levi Morris, Newton Linlcy.

1866.—Supervisor, N. G. Phillips; Clerk, Peter C. Caru-

thers; Treasurer, F. K. Sheldon; Justices of

Peace, Harvey Adams, W. G. Smith ; Highway

Commissioner, D. N. Sabin; School Inspector, F.

E. Sheldon ; Constables, Charles E. Devins,

John L. Banks, Levi Morris, Truman See.

1867.—Supervisor, E. E. Sheldon ; Clerk, Peter C. Caru-

thers; Treasurer, F. E. Sheldon; Justices of the

Peace, William J. Mosely, C. H. Powell ; School

Inspector, Frank Gridley; Highway Commis-

sioners, C. H. Powell, E. Eddy ; Constables, David

Kittle, R. H. B. Morris, John L. Banks, Alfred

Hunt.

1868.—Supervisor, E. E. Sheldon; Clerk, H. A. Hart;

Treasurer, J. M. Gorham ; Justice of the Peace,

Levi Morris; School Inspectors, E. J. Cook, C.

A. Osborn ; Highway Commissioner, Hiram

Davis; Constables, George Cram, J. Q. Adams,

R. H. B. Morris.

1869.—Supervisor, E. E. Sheldon ; Town.ship Clerk, H. A.

Hart; Treasurer, Bruce Haight ; Justice of the

Peace, Caleb H. Powell; Highway Commis-sioner,

William Gunderman
; School Inspectors,,!. 11.

Hartwell, F. E. Sheldon ; Constables, R. H. B
Morris, David Kittle, J. S. Matthews.

1870.-Supervisor, E. E. Sheldon; Township Clerk, H.

A. Hart; Treasurer, J. S. Harder; Justices of

the Peace, William John.son, James H. Hartwell

;

Highway Commissioners, J. S. Aleott, H. R.

Waldron ; School Itispector, Frank Wlielan;

Constables, R. H. B. Morri.s, E. 0. Place, Wil-

liam Merlin, J. L. Banks.

1871.—Supervisor, E. E. Sheldon; Clerk, H. A. Hart;

Treasurer, F. H. Potter ; Justice of the Peace,

P. V. Brake; Highway Commissioner, H. R.

Waldron ; School Inspectors, F. E. Sheldon,

James Heath ; Drain Commissioner, Harvey

Adams; Constables, 11. H. B. Morris, G. H.

Crane, Joseph L. Morris, William H. Van
Otter.

1872.— Supervisor, E. E. Sheldon; Clerk, H. A. Hart;

Treasurer, F. H. Potter ; Justice of the I'eace,

J. W. Forsyth; Highway Coinniissioners, Peter

V. Brink, James Heath
; School Inspectors, F.

E. Sheldon, Charles Watson ; Drain Commis-

sioner, William S. Hodges; Constables, R. II.

B. Morris, William J. Kent, Sylvester Babcoek,

Edwin Place.

1873.—Supervisor, E. E. Sheldon; Township Clerk, H.

A. Hart; Treasurer, F. H. Potter; Justiee of

the Peace, P. C. Carutliers; Highway Commis-

sioner, F. E. Sheldon ; Drain Commis.sioners,

H. R. Waldron, 1'. B. Reynolds; Constables,

II. S. Allen, CMiarles Launey, George H. MiTrin,

John L. Banks.

1874.—Supervisor, C. S. Watson ; Township Clerk, A. F.

Lilchlield; Treasurer, V. II. Potter; Jn^lieo of

the Peace, Charles Coleman
;
Highway Conimis.

Btoners, J. M. Harder, John Lemon
; Selioul In-

spi'ctors, F. K. Shelilon, John W. For,-«ylh •

Drain Commissioner, V. K. Sli<>ldon
; Consljibles

E. \V. Loomis, John 1,. Banks, .1. \V. Morris

S. I). (Iriflith.



286 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN.

1875.—Supervisor, Charles S. Watson ; Clerk, A. F. Litch-

field ; Treasurer, F. H. Potter ; Justices of the

Peace, 0. C. Moore, James H. Hartwell ; High-

way Commissiouer, O. C. Moore ; Superin-

tendent of Schools, A. F. Litchfield ; School

Inspector, Frank Sergeant ; Drain Commissiouer,

Samuel S. Morris ; Constables, J. W. Morris,

Dexter Morris, Irwin W. Loomis, Aaron De

Frize.

1876.—Supervisor, Charles S. Watson; Township Clerk,

A. D. Topping; Treasurer, Fordyce H. Potter;

Justices of the Peace, William J. Mosely, J. B.

Curtis, John L. Banks ; Highway Commissioner,

E. Pj. Sheldon ; Superintendent of Schools,

George M. Reynolds ; School Inspector, Frank

Sargent ; Drain Commissioner, J. L. Banks

;

Constables, William H. Van Otter, J. Q. Adams,

E. W. Drum, A. D. Herrick.

1877.—Supervisor, Charles S. Watson; Clerk, J. H. De
Hart; Treasurer, F. H. Potter; Justice of the

Peace, William W.Moore; Highway Commis-

sioner, William Johnson ; Superintendent of

Schools, G. M. Reynolds ; School Inspector,

Frank Sargent; Drain Commissioner, A. D.

Herrick ; Constables, S. P. Smedley, Elias

Branuon, William H. Yan Otter, Ebenezer

Drum.

1878.—Supervisor, Charles S. Wat.son ; Township Clerk,

J. H. De Hart; Treasurer, F. H. Potter; Jus-

tice of the Peace, Peter C. Caruthers; Highway

Commissioner, Seth E. Sheldon
; Drain Commis-

sioner, A. P. Greenman ; Justice of the Peace,

H. V. Manzer; Superintendent of Schools,

Charles S. Watson
; School Inspector, Frank

Sargent; Constables, J. Q. Adams, F. C. Fer-

guson, William H. Van Otter, George E. Mills.

1879.—Supervisor, C. S. Watson
; Township Clerk, J. H.

De Hart; Treasurer, F. H. Potter; Justices, J.

B. Curtis, Albert D. Topping ; Highway Com-
missioner, E. 0. Place ; Drain Commissioner,

J. B. Curtis; Superintendent of Schools, G. M.
Reynolds ; School Inspector, F. Sargent ; Con-

stables, George E. Mills, R. H. B. Morris, Wil-

liam H. Van Otter, C. B. Hoard.

1880.—Supervisor, Charles S. Watson
; Township Clerk,

James J. Spence ; Treasurer, Charles A. Wlie-

lan ; Justice, William R. Sutton ; Highway
Commissioner, F. H. Potter; Superintendent of

Schools, F. C. Greenman ; School Inspector,

Frank Sargent ; Drain Commissioner, Henry
Williams

;
Constables, Henry Herrick, Leonard

Morris, Chauucey Hoard, R. H. B. Morris.

EARLY HIGHWAYS.
The first road that traversed the township was known as

the Pontiac and Grand River road. It was the chief

thorougbfiire of the day, and entered Shiawassee at the

extreme southeast corner, passing in an oblique line to tlie

centre of section 26 ; thence slightly deviating from a

straight course, it ran to the centre of the east section-line

of section 20 ; thence it pursued a westerly course with a

slight variation to the south, and passed out of the town-

ship on section 19. The earliest recorded road is without

date, and no mention is made of the surveyor. It is de-

scribed as beginning at the quarter stake on section 36,

town 6 south, of range 3 east, and running north eighty-

seven degrees east forty chains; thence north three degrees

west fifty-one chains and twenty-five links ; thence north

twelve degrees east eighteen chains twenty-five links; thence

north fourteen and a half degrees east seven chains and

fifty links; thence north three degrees east five chains;

thence north sixteen and a half degrees east and seventy-

five chains to its termination.

The second recorded road began at the centre of the

highway leading past N. W. Phelps' on the section-line,

and pursued a northerly course to the village of Shiawassee.

A road was surveyed under the direction of James Phelps

and Ephraim Wright, highway commissioners, April 12,

1837, " Beginning on the south line of the village-line of

Shiawasseetown at the centre of Chestnut Street; thence

running south two and a half degrees east thirty-two chains

fifty links
;
thence north eighty-seven and a half degrees

west thirty-one chains thirty-five links ; thence south two

and a half degrees east one hundred and fifty-six chains
;

thence south twenty and a half degrees east twenty-five

chains fifty links ; thence south fourteen and a half degrees

east fourteen chains twenty-five links ; thence south seven

and a half degrees west thirty chains seventy-five links
;

thence north twenty-three degrees east seven chains ; thence

south twenty-nine and a half degrees easi thirteen chains

seventy-five links; thence running south two and a half

degrees east ninety-five chains to the Red Cedar trail."

THE SHIAWASSEE EXCHAXCE.

Soon after the coming of the brothers A. L. and B. 0.

Williams a double log house was erected by them on the

Shiawa.ssee River, on, or near the east township line. This

building was in use as a trading-post, and in 1835 a

dwelling was attached twenty by fifty feet in dimensions,

which was occupied by A. L. Williams and wife as a resi-

dence. It was in 1837 rented to and later purchased by

Andrew Parsons and Lemuel Brown for a hotel, and was

so occupied by them for several years, Levi Rowe having

been the landlord, who was in turn succeeded by others.

Connected with this house was a frame barn built by Henry

Leach, in 1835, the first in the county, the lumber for

which was all drawn from Oakland County on wagons.

Soon after its first occupancy as a public-house, Messrs.

Morehouse, Bell, Toll, and others arrived from Ohio, and

established a banking enterprise under the title of the " Ex-

change Bank of Shiawassee." By an act of the State

Legislature passed Dec. 30, 1837, three bank commissioners

were appointed, who were to begin their official duties on

the 10th of January, 1838, the Shiawassee Exchange

Bank having meanwhile based their business transactions

upon specie certificates then in use by them to tiie amount

of twenty-seven thou.sand dollars. During a visit by the

commissioners to the bank, and a consequent examination

of their reserve, a small amount of pajjcr and seven coppers

were discovered, against which were bills in circulation to
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tlie jiiiiount of twenty-two thousand two hundred and sixty-

ono dollars, thirty per cent, of the capital stock having

been required by law. It will readily be seen that on the

discovery of this fact the Exchange Bank shared tlie fate

of similar wildcat enterprises of the day, and ceased to

exist.

The " bank" having had it.-' quarters in the building

erected by A. L. Williams, that became known by the name

of the bank itself,
—" Shiawassee Exchange," and the

designation was also applied to some extent to the locality

as well as to the house.

EAltLY SCIIUOLS.

The earliest school in the township and in the county of

Sliiawassee was opened at the tavern of Lucius Beach, in

Shiawas-setown, in December, 1839. The county at that

time offering no educational advantages, Mrs. Beach deter-

mined to open her liouse for a school and secured the ser-

vices of Mr. Wilcox, later familiarly known as Judge Wil-

cox, who conducted the enterprise at a compensation of

forty dollars per month for four mouths. The school opened

with seven scholars, four of whom belonged to the family

of Mr. Beach and three to William Hart. The second day

the number was increased to twenty-five, and the beginning

of the second week enrolled a class of forty, many of whom

rode a distance of several miles.

A very early school was also taught at tlie house of

Aaron Swain, on section 2o, by Miss Mary Ann Post, and

it is possible this may have antedated the one already men-

tioned, though no date is given by which the fact can be

determined.

The first teachers examined and found qualified to teach

primary school, and who received certificates in 1844, were

Miss Anna Lyman, Miss Esther L. Howe, Miss Clarissa

Pond, Miss Julia Ann Dorsey, and Charles ]). Parkill.

In 1845, William Lovejoy, Irene H. Beach, Maria Wright,

and Samantha Chapin were also candidates.

The State money of 1841, as apportioned on the Gth of

July, 1842, by the school inspectors, was as follows:

District. Sdiohtrt). Aniuiiiit.

No. 1 26 *8.;J2
" 2 24 T.tiS

" 3 24 7.OS
" 4 30 y.oo
" 5 26 8.32
" 6 ; 36 10.88

Totals 164 $52.48

The library fund for 1843 was divided, and books jiur-

cliased as Ibllovvs :

District. VoluilU'.H.

No. 1 7
•• 2 8
" 3 8
" 4 7

" :> 7

" 6 2

Jacob S. Harder and William Kinilull were school in-

spectors at the time.

On Nov. 14, 1837, the school inspectors convened for

the pui]iose of dividing the township of Sliiawassee into

school districts, it then having coni[iri>cil lnwnsliip (I ihhiIi,

of ranges 1, 2, 3 east, and townships 5 north, of ranges 1,

2, 3 east. The present Shiawa.s.see was divided as follows :

District No. 1 embraced sections 1, 2, 11, 12.

District No. 2, sections 13, 14, 23, 24.

District No. 3, sections 25, 2G, 35, 36.

District No. 4, sections 15, 16, 21, 22, 27, 28, 33, 34.

District No. 5, sections 9, 10, 34.

District No. 6, sections 5, 6, 7, 8.

District No. 7, sections 17, 18, 19, 20, 29, 30, 31, 32.

The present school territory of the township is divided

into five whole and five fractional districts, over which pre-

side, as a board of directors, J. N. Morris, F. H. Potter,

N. G. Phillips, H. H. Hart, Isaac T. Gould, I. C. Heath,

J. B. Ellsworth, Charles S. Watson, W. S. Hodges, Wil-

liam Hughes

Five hundred and twenty-eight scholars received instruc-

tion during the past year, of whom eleven were non resi-

dents. Nine male and nineteen female teachers are em-

ployed in the various districts. The school property of

Shiawa.ssee includes two brick and nine frame buildings,

some of which are of modern architecture and imposing

proportions.

CHURCH HISTORY.

THE FIK8T BAPTLST CIIURCII

on Maple Bivcr was organized July 13, 1839. Its con-

stituent members were Deacon Ezekicl Cook, Isaac Castle,

Bcthuel Hayward, John D. Overton, Myron Murdock,

Orsiuus Doty, Barbara A. Cook, Neana Cook, Ada Wellman,

Harriet Castle, Anna Doty, Louisa Vanwoemer, and Eleanor

Vanwoemer.

A council of recognition met on Jan. 22-23, 1840, and

extended the hand of fellowship to the churcli on behalf

of the denomination. Elders James Eldridge, S. Barnes,

John Martin, White, Delano, J. Gamball,

Call, George Reynolds, E. E. Bayliss, and George Atchinson

have officiated as its preachers and pastors.

At first the church held its meetings in the school-house

near its present house of worshij). In the year 1868 the

work of building an edifice was undertaken, and tliu structure

was completed the followinL: yi'ar at a cost of about two

thousanil seven hundred dollars.

In reviewing the history of the society it is found that

the summers and winters of church experience have alter-

nated with pretty uniform regularity. Once, five years

after its organization, a motion to dissolve the church was

made and sustained ; but at a subsequent meeting it was

rescinded. Since that time it has pa.s,scd through many

seasons both of spiritual depression and spiritual elutiuD

and fervor.

Several of the original standard-bearers are deceiused

;

others still liave removed to neighboring churches. Only

one—Deacon Ezekiel Cook—now remains a member. The

<'rowth of the ciiurcii lias been slow, i^ix years after its

or"ani/.ation the number of its membership ro.se to forty-

five. In 1852 it had decreased .somewhat
;

in 1863 sixty-

four members were reported; in 1870, .seventy-six
;
and in

1880 it numbers ninely-one upon its roll.

The members of the church and Sabbatli-schoul su.stain

an elhcient temperance organization.
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NEWBURG METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

A class was organized very early in Newburg, but the

date of its formation has passed from the recollection of the

present members. The present church edifice was erected

in 186.^ under the ministrations of Rev. Isaac Crawford,

meetings having previously been held in the brick school-

house of the hamlet. The pastors in succession since the

departure of Rev. Mr. Crawford have been Rev. Shank,

Rev. Whitcomb, Rev. May, Rev. Charles Aus-

tin, Rev

Rev. —
Richards, Rev.

Thompson, Rev.

Howard, Rev. Pierce,

- Lang, and the present

minister in charge. Rev. Fred. Strong. The trustees are

J. S. Harder. J. L. Gardner, P. C. Caruthers, C. P. Dev-

ereaus, and William Johnson.

A Sabbath-school, with fifty scholars, is maintained,

which convenes each Sabbath at the church, John S.

Harder being the active superintendent.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The Methodist Episcopal Church in Shiawassee was or-

ganized in 1878, under the direction of Rev. Mr. Tedman,

of Byron, who conducted services in the hall of the village

hotel during the winter, and in the adjoining grove when

the weather permitted. Meetings had been held the year

previous, but the class Wiis not regularly formed until 1878.

Ground was early selected for a church, and arrangements

with reference to the building of a church edifice partially

perfected, but circumstances intervened to arrest the further

progress of the work. In the year 1880 another site was

chosen, and measures are now being taken for the erection

of a building which will cost two thousand dollars when

completed. The present pastor is Rev. R. C. Lanning, of

Byron, and the board of trustees embraces the following

gentlemen : Hiram Elton, J. S. Simonson, William War-

ren, N. G. Phillips, John Warren, N. S. Van Tujl, Charles

Drum.
SEVENTH-D.\Y ADVEXTIST CHURCH.

The church of the Seventh-Day Adventists was early or-

ganized in the township of Antrim by Elders S. Lawrence

and Corliss, with the following membership : J. B. Trim,

Elizabeth Trim, M. Banks, 0. F. Olmstead, Melissa 01m-

stead, Laura Allison. Services were at first held at Hag-

gerty's school-house, in the township of Antrim, and con-

tinued until 1879, when a church edifice was erected in

Bancroft, the organization having been removed to that

place the year previous. The pastors in succession have

been Elders Corliss, Miller, Stewart, Jones, and White.

The trustees are 0. F. Olmstead, M. Bunks, Edgar Rathbun.

SHIAWASSEETOWN.

The village of Shiawasseetown may be said to have been

originated by Charles Bacon, an adventurer who emanated

from Huron Co., Ohio, and succeeded so far in inspiring

confidence in the minds of several of his acciuaintances as

to induce them to embark in the purchase of lands in

Shiawassee township. A company was formed, embracing

the following individuals: Simeon B. Sturgis, William D.

Calvin, Charles Bacon, Moses Kimball, Thaddeus B. Sturgis,

and A. R. Hart. Mr. Bacon was clothed with power for

the purchase of nearly six hundred acres of land in behalf

of the company, whose acknowledged agent he was, and

for which land he averred the sum of seventeen thousand

dollars was paid. As the largest shareholder he took the

lead in the preliminary labor of surveying, building, and

improving, and the dense forests soon yielded to the pro-

gressive spirit evinced by the founders of the prospective

city. The survey of the land was made in 1836, and re-

corded in Oakland County, with which Shiawassee was

early associated for judicial purposes, and an extensive

town was marked out, having two public squares and many

broad streets, named after the leading cities of the Union.

Marcus Bump, Joseph Jackson, and William Newberry

came from Ohio in 1836, and engaged in the erection of a

saw-mill, which was managed in the company's behalf by

several parties in succession. A building was next erected,

forty feet square and two stories high, to be used as a store.

It was converted, however, in response to the popular need

of the time, into a tavern, and Lucius Beach became the

popular landlord, tliough Dr. W. Z. Blanchard had been

its proprietor for a brief time at an earlier date. A card-

ing-mill was soon after built, many smaller dwellings sprang

up, and a store, which controlled an extensive trade, was

opened in a log building erected for the purpose, and its

business interests managed by Mr. Bacon. Elisha Brew-

ster, the second sheriff elected in the county, became in-

terested in the enterprise and took up his residence in the

hamlet. The early courts were held on two occasions at

Shiawasseetown, and justice was dispensed in the halls of

Lucius Beach's tavern. Mr. Bacon was prodigal in his

patronage, the town seemed destined to a rapid growth,

especially with the chances for the removal of the State

capital in its favor, and the stockholders were sanguine of

the success of their enterprise when Mr. Brewster deemed

it proper to summon Mr. Moses Kimball, one of the in-

terested parties, to the scene of action. A subsequent in-

vestigation of the company's books revealed the fact that

Mr. Bacon had paid but seven thousand dollars for the

lands on which the plat was located. Mr. Kimball re-

mained to settle the affairs of the company, and after a

varied and sad experience found himself a landed pro-

prietor and owner of the village and adjoining lands, with

the exception of eighty acres later known as the Drum

farm and forty acres now in possession of William New-

berry, formerly held by Mark Bump and Matthews re-

spectively.

Mr. Kimball with his family took up his residence in

the village, and his business talent was devoted to the

restoration of confidence among the townspeople and the

development of future enterprise at the place. In 1837,

however, death cut short his labors, and with his departure

ended the advancement of the attractive village of Shia-

wasseetown. The beautiful maples along its streets are

the only remaining landmarks of its spasmodic growth and

untimely decadence.

NEWBUKG.

Hosea Baker having come to the township in 1833, and

purchased the larger portion of the land between Shiawas-

seetown and Newburg, may be regarded as the founder of

the hamlet of that name. He erected the earliest log house
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and likewise the first frame house, and in 18'56 built a

saw-mill, which was the pioneer mill of the county. To

the raising of this mill, settlers came for a distance of

twenty miles, and were obliged to remain for the night to

complete the labor. A melancholy accident occurred on

this occasion in the death of an individual who volunteered

his assistance: one of the heavy timbers having fallen upon

him. His name is not remembered, though this death is

recalled as the first in the township.

The first store in Newburg was erected by Ambrose

Baker, and later a flouring-mill was built which was subse-

quently burned.

Benjamin Lemon soon after built a store and became one

of the merchants of the place, and a tavern was opened by

Mr. Sheers. Henry Smith was a very early blacksmith,

and for a long period monopolized that business in the vil-

lage.

A post-office was established at the hamlet, with John

Grumley as postmaster, though the mail was not so volumi-

nous as to render his labors arduou.s. The present official

is C. P. Devcreaux.

The church under the auspices of the Methodist Episco-

pal Conference was built iu 1865, in which services are

regularly maintained. Newburg seems to have shared

the fate of its neighbor Shiawasseetown in the decay of its

business enterprise. Though not projected with the same

pomp and circumstance, its present condition is but a rem-

iniscence of the former early prosperity which it enjoyed.

FREMONT.

The hamlet of Fremont, originally platted as the village

of Florence, was surveyed Nov. 24, 1841, by Nelson Ferry

for John W. Gilbert and Isaac M. Banks, and the plat re-

corded Jan. G, 1842. It may be briefly described as situa-

ted on the Grand I'ivcr road, on sections 2(5 and 27. It

embraced sixteen blocks, which contained one hundred and

twenty lots four rods by eight rods in dimensions, the

streets having been four rods wide excepting outside streets,

which were two rods wide.

Mercantile enterprise was commenced soon after by the

advent of two peddlers, whose names are not now recalled.

Thay erected a large store atid lor two years conducted an

extensive business which proved very luciativc. At the

expiration of that time, having desired to seek a fresh field

for thiiir enterprise, the business was sold to John Gilbert,

who became purchaser of their stock and the leading mer-

chant of the place. Stores were opened successively by

Jeptha Gorham and Henry Hart, who were also among the

active business men of the place.

The prospects of the village were so flattering that very

soon three taverns were erected by John W. Gilbert, Jotham

Goodsjieed, and Lsaac M. Banks respcctivi'ly, each one of

whom became landlord of his own house. William llerrick,

Charles Sidway, and George B. Whitney were blacksmiths,

Mr. Sidway combining also llu; business of a wagon-maker.

The Detroit and Milwaukee Bailroad was oiieix^d in

1851), and with its completion and the iMinsci|ucnl diversiiin

of the business of Fremont to other channels, tlu! advance-

ment and furlher develoiiment of the hamlet was ended.

The village post-office, with the venerable Isaac M. Banks

37

as postmaster, is now the only centre of life and activity in

this once promising locality.

VILLAGE OF HANCKOFT.

The land upon which the village of Bancroft stands was

originally owned by N. G. Phillips and W. M. Warren,

the first plat having been made by G. W. Warren, A. G.

Warren, and N. G. Phillips. This plat wiis never recorded,

and Mr. Phillips subsequently purchiused the interest of the

remaining parties, and employed Andrew Huggins to make

a second plat, which was accomplished April 28, 1877, and

recorded May 8th of the same year. A subdivision of a

portion of this plat was made March, 1880, and recorded

on the ISth day of the same month.

The Hemenway addition to the village of Bancroft was

surveyed March, 1878, by Andrew Huggins for Hiram F.

Hemenway, and recorded June 24, 1878. It may be de-

scribed as embracing about ten acres lying south of the

railroad and west of the original plat.

The Chicago and Lake Huron Railroad, which had been

previously projected and gave an impetus to the growth

and development of the village, was completed in January,

1877, and a depot established at Bancroft; but no agent

was at first appointed to transact its business. N. S. Van

Tuyl came in April of the same year, and erected a frame

dwelling, the first on the plat (excepting, perhaps, two or

three log huts). He embarked in lumbering interests, and

was seriously inconvenienced by the absence of a railroad

agent, which necessitated the payment of freight charges at

Flint or Durand. Later, H. M. Billings acted as station

agent, and is now also the village postmaster. Simeon

Kent very soon after engaged in building, and J. L. Simon-

son and Sweet each erected a store, having engaged

in mercantile pursuits. At the same time N. G. Phillips

and J. L. Roberts advanced the interests of the village by

the erection of buildings. Mr. I'hillips also, in 1878, con-

structed of brick a spacious and very completely appointed

hotel, which is one of the nio.st inijiosing edifices in the

place. The fall of 1877 witnessed the erection of a saw-

mill, which was followed by two ])laning-niills, and later a

flouring-mill. A school-house of extended proportions was

erected in 1870, in which IMiilo Dexter and Miss Jo.sie

Purdy are the instructors.

The ])hysicians ol' the place are Urs. N. 15. Knapp, W.

B. Fox, Harvey, and Gates.

Flouring- Mills.—The present building was originally con-

structed by Thomas Copeland as an elevator in 1870, and

by him converted in ISSO into a flouring-mill. A .•ilojim-

engine of ihirly-horse power is employed, which enables

the mill to grind twelve bushels of wheat and thirty bushels

of fe('(l licr hour. Two run of stones are used, which are

principally engaged with custom-work, though a fair patron-

a"e is extended to the mill by the merchants of the village.

Elcvitlur of J. L. Rohnls.—'VWxn enterprise was begun

in 1S77, and the building erected with special reference to

Iciiiiling grain. A sidetrack has been extended which

connects with the main line of the Chicago and North-

eastern Railroad, enabling the proprietor to avail himself

of superior advantages in the shipment of grain. The
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power is furnished by horses, and affords a capacity of two

thousand bushels per day. Wool as well as grain is exten-

sively dealt in, and both commodities are largely shipped.

Plaiiing-Milh.—The mill at present owned by Blessrs.

Jackson & Tyler was originally constructed by John Lat-

son, and by him sold to J. Atherton, the present firm hav-

ing become owners in 1880. The motive-power is supplied

by an engine of fifteen-horse power, which affords the mill

a capacity of twenty-five thousand feet of planing per

day, and one thousand feet of moulding can be done per

hour. The mill, which does custom-work almost exclusively,

depends largely upon the adjacent country for its patronage.

Messrs. Johnson & Symes also carry on an extensive saw-

ing, planing, and moulding business, and find both material

and market near.

Elevator of Watson, Ohert & Co.—This firm erected in

1879 an extensive warehouse and elevator, which has a

capacity of ten thousand bushels of grain, and i.s operated

by horse-power. They are also large dealers in wool, lum-

ber, flour, and country produce.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

WILLIAM NEWBERRY.

Mr. Newberry may be regarded as a conspicuous example

of the successful and self-made man. Having been left

entirely dependent upon his own industry, he has by saga-

city, prudence, and application established himself as a

strong influence in the community of farmers resident in

Shiawassee County, and one of the most successful and

independent of their number. His father, John New-

berry, was a farmer in Warwick, Orange Co., N. Y., and

married, in 1811, Miss Sallie Fancher, who was a native of

the State of Connecticut. Their son William, the eldest

in a family of seven children, was born April 4, 1812, in

Warwick, N. Y., where the family remained until 1827,

when Ohio presented attractions and induced their removal

to Lorain County, a portion of the State familiarly known

as the Western Reserve, where Mr. Newberry, the father,

died in 1 852, at the age of sixty-three years. The death

of Mrs. Newberry occurred in 1876, at the advanced age

of eighty-six years.

Their son William availed himself of the limited advan-

tages a district school afforded in his early youth, and later,

when a respite from labor permitted, continued his studies.

In the spring of 1863, at the age of twenty-one years, he

acquired the trade of carpenter and joiner at the village of

Huron, Ohio. Here he was sought by the agent of the

Shiawassee County-Seat Company and induced to repair to

Michigan to assist in the building of the prospective city

to be located at Shiawasseetown. Mr. Newberry continued

to follow his trade for a period of fifteen years, in which

thorough knowledge combined with practice had made him

skillful, meanwhile having purchased eighty acres of land

in Shiawassee township and obtained credit for the larger

portion of it. This land, which was unimproved, has by

his energy been brought to a high state of cultivation. A
careful system of drainage, many miles in extent, lias ren-

dered it very fruitful, while the annual yield is much in

advance of that of other lands in the county, and thereby

proves the wisdom of his judicious system of tillage.

During the period that Mr. Newberry pursued his trade he

was for a time a resident of Owosso, and assisted in the

construction of the earliest buildings in that city.

After erecting a frame dwelling on his land, he was in

1839 united in marriage to Miss Mary Pannenter, of Ver-

non, whose birth occurred in Vernon, Vt., July 24, 1814.

Seven children were born to them, as follows : Sarah, now

Mrs. John Wilkinson ; Harriet, now Mrs. C. S. Pratt,

whose husband was killed by a painful accident ; Elizabeth,

now Mrs. William S. Wilkinson ; Rebecca A., now Mrs. C.

A. Whelan ; James, who died Sept. 3, 1876, aged twenty-

five years ; John and David, who both reside at home.

Mr. Newberry's farm now embraces two hundred and

thirty-seven acres, which is cultivated under his immediate

supervision. He is in politics a strong Republican, and

regards his allegiance as belonging to the party with which

he afiiliates. His vote, as a matter of principle, is there-

fore always Republican. Both Mr. and Mrs. Newberry are

worshipers with the Baptist congregation of their town-

ship, the latter being an active member of the church.

JOHN WHALEY.

The subject of this brief sketch is a native of the old

historic county of Saratoga, where he was born in Day

township, Aug. 30, 1814, his father, Ebenezer Whaley,

being a resident of that county and a millwright by trade.

In 1838, Mr. Whaley moved to Michigan, purchasing

eighty acres of land in Perry township. He remained

there two years, and then removed to Shiawassee, pur-

chasing the farm upon which he now resides for one

shilling per acre. It consists of one hundred and twenty

acres, in a high state of cultivation. Mr. Whaley, being

very much interested in the improvement of his neighbor-

hood and township, gives much time and money to public

improvements ; and was the first man to set on foot the

making of roads and draining of lands in his section of the

county.

Nov. 30, 1845, he was united in marriage to Miss Clarissa

Tenyberry, also a native of the State of New York, where

she was born Sept. 12, 1826. Their family consists of the

following-named children : Jerry, born Jan. 11, 1847 ;
died

in the hospital at Knoxville, Teun., Feb. 20, 1865; Ca-

milla, born Aug. 30, 1848 ; John, born April 20, 1850

Mason, born June 3, 1854 ; Isabella, born March 15, 1857

Esther, born May 9, 1860 ;
Abraham, born Dec. 22, 1863

and R. T., born March 11, 1867.
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CHAPTER XLI.

SCIOTA TOWNSHIP.*

Description, and Settlement of the Township—Organization and List

of Officers — Eiirly Township Roads—Schools — The Village of

Laingsburg—Village Incorporation and Officers—Churches—Post-

Offices—Bank—Secret Orders—Tragic Incidents,

SciOTA township, numbered town 6 north, in range 1

east, lies upon the western border of Shiawassee County,

and has upon the north the town of Middlebury, upon the

south the town of Woodhull, upon the east Bennington,

and upon the west the Clinton County line.

Sciota is a prosperous and productive agricultural town.

It contains many fine farms and handsome residences, and

is a region of much natural beauty. There is on the Jack-

son, Lansing and Saginaw Railroad, which crosses the town-

ship, a lively village called Laingsburg, containing about

eight hundred people, and transacting a good deal of busi-

ness with a wide tract of outlying country. Churches and

schools are abundant, roads are more than ordinarily excel-

lent, and township affairs generally are in a healthful con-

dition.

SETTLEMENT OF THE TOWNSHIP.

The first settler in Sciota did not live in the town long

enough to make any extensive improvement or leave much

of a mark as a pioneer. This was Samuel Carpenter, who

came to the township in the spring of 1836, and upon sec-

tion 26 put up a rude shanty in which he lived alone a few

weeks while making a small clearing. During the summer

he went to Detroit to get three pairs of oxen, preparatory to

entering upon a vigorous campaign as a pioneer in Sciota.

On the return journey he fell from his wagon, ten miles or

so east of his clearing, the wheels passed over him, and he

was found dead upon the spot the next day. This was the

brief experience in the township, of Sciota's first settler.

His place in Sciota is now occupied by M. S. Beardslee,

whose father, Henry, located in Bennington in 1839, and

lived there until his death, and who himself settled upon

the Carpenter farm in 1850. Just before Carpenter's

death. Dr. Peter Laing, William Laing, and Mason Phelps

came to the town and founded Laingsburg village. Touch-

ing that portion of Sciota's history the reader is referred to

the history of Laingsburg, on succeeding pages. Mason

Phelps and his twin brother, Milton A., had lived in Wash-

tenaw County since 1832,—in which year their father,

James Phelps, located there,—and in 183.') they located one

hundred and twenty acres upon section 2G, in Sciota, on

the Grand River trail. Mason Phelps was a son-in-law of

Dr. Laing, and after assisting the latter to start the tavern

at Laingsburg, moved to his place upon section 20 in De-

cember, 1836. His widow resides now in Laingsburg. His

brother Milton lives upon the place which the two brothers

entered in 1835.

Cornelius Putnam located eighty acres in section 3 in the

summer of 1836, and with Ephraim Pixlcy came to look at

the land. They found also Henry Leach looking at some

land he had bought in the same locality. Putnam and

* By David Schwartz.

Pixley went back, but Leach remained behind and rolled

up the body of a log cabin on section 9, with the assistance

of Gideon M. Cross, at that time himself on a land-looking

tour. Having put up the house. Leach and Cross returned

to Shiawasseetown, whence they had come, and where Leach

had been located some little time.

Meanwhile, Cornelius Putnam, having gathered his family

and effects, was moving westward, and in October, 1836,

landed in Sciota with a wife and five children. He started

with an ox-team from New York State, sailed from Buffalo

to Detroit in the steamer " North America," and at Detroit,

resuming the ox-team, reached the place of his expected

settlement three weeks and two days after the start from

his New York home. The trip from Buffalo to Detroit

was a hazardous one. The steamer had about five hundred

people aboard, was crowded with wagons and Western sup-

plies, and by reason of rough weather put three times into

port for safety. After a tedious passage of eight days they

reached Detroit. Barnet Putnam, then a lad of ten, and

now living on the old farm, made the entire journey from

New York to Sciota (except from Buffalo to Detroit) on

foot.

From Detroit, Cornelius Putnam followed the Grand

River trail to a point within about six miles of his place,

and then struck northward by a blazed-tree path to the

Leach place. There he found the cabin which Leach and

Cross had rolled up, and into it he placed his family. That

done, he took an inventory of his worldly possessions, and

found that he was ready to begin his pioneer life in

Michigan with an ox-teani and wagon, a wagon-load of

household goods, one peck of potatoes, and six cents in

money. His oldest child was Barnet, aged ten, and that

he had got to face the stern reality of his position with

all the courage and earnestness he owned was a proposition

too plain to be mistaken. For three weeks his family lived

in the Leach cabin without roof, floor, door, or window,

and then having completed a bark shanty on his own place

in section 3, Putnam moved them into that. Young Bar-

net took upon himself what portion he could of the pioneer-

ing labors, but he could not call to his aid the philosophy

that gave his parents courage, and full many a time and

oft shed burning tears of bitter regret and sorrow over the

loss of the comforts of the old home in New York State.

More than once, in searching for the cows, would he come

upon wolf-tracks, and tremble with fear lest the beiusts

should devour him before he could get home. For nine

weeks Mrs. Putnam saw the face of no white woman alter

she came to Sciota, and during a week that her hu.sband

was absent at Elijah Carpenter's, where ho was earning

provisions which he had no money to buy, .she lived with

her children twenty-four hours on nothing but rutabaga

soup.

The year 1839 was a year of fever and ague infliction,

and many people coming to the Western settlements to

locate were frightened back by the deplorable condition of

things caused by the disorder. Cornelius Putnam was ill

and helpless with ague for nine months, and during that

time Mrs. Putnam, besides the care of her household, un-

dertook with her son Barnet (then ip his fourteentji year)
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the cultivation of their farm, she driving the oxen and he

holding the plow. During that time, for a period of six

weeks, they had no other provisions in the house, and all

lived on simply potatoes and honey. During the winter

of 1836-37, Putnam set out for Washtenaw County to

procure some wheat and meat, and left his family in a cabin

with blankets in the places of doors and windows. The

wolves howled around that lonesome mother and little ones

like demons, and brought the climax of misery to them

when they bade good-by to their protector. After he began

to raise crops Putnam used to go to market, either to De-

troit, where he could get seventy-five cents in cash for his

wheat, or to Owosso, where he had to take half " trade,"

but most frequently he went to Detroit. For a time he

bad to go to Pontiac, a distance of seventy miles, to mill,

and took a week or more for the trip.

A few weeks after Cornelius Putnam had got domiciled

upon his own place Henry Leach came with his family.

Leach, as already observed, had bceu farming in Shiawassee-

town, and when he came to Sciota he came well supplied

with provisions and abundant conveniences for prosecuting

his work. Indeed he not only made matters easy and

moderately comfortable for himself, but out of his abundance

was enabled to reach out a helping hand to his neighboi'S,

and thus materially lightened their trials and privations.

His settlement was made upon section 10, where S. N.

Pierce now lives, and before his place passed what was

known as the Colony road, reaching from the Grand River

road to the Rochester Colony. There was considerable

travel on that thoroughfare, and Leach entertained such

travelers as chose to ask for entertainment, but his favorite

patrons were Indians, to whom he dispensed whisky as

often as they could furnish an equivalent in trade; and from

this source of revenue his profit was no trifle, although the

whisky-drinking redskins did get villainously drunk and

howl by night and by day while the influence of intoxica-

tion remained upon them. Even in their drunken orgies,

however, they refrained from aggressions, and confined their

mischief to frightening women and children. Leach moved

to California about 1851, and became a ranchman. One
day he was knocked from his horse by the limb of a tree

and killed.

Simultaneously with Leach came also Gideon M. Cross,

who made his home on section 9, in the spring of 1837,

after living until that time with Henry Leach. Cross was

by trade a shoemaker, and without delay prosecuted his

shoemaking labors whenever occasion oflcred. His location

was on the Colony road, and he kept a house of entertain-

ment as well as a shoemaker's shop, by reason of which two

departments of industry he was enabled to gain money
enough to keep his family from starving while he cleared

his land and awaited his first crop.

The summer of 1837 saw the marsh on the Looking-

Glass flats abundant with hay, and, like others. Leach and

Cross went over there for a supply. They stopped there

four weeks consecutively, and during that period Mrs. Cross

spent an unhappy, lonesome time. Her cabin was furnished

with blankets in the stead of doors and windows, and wolves

howled about the place most ferociously. For four weeks

she saw but one white person, and thankful enough she was

to have her husband and neighbor back again.

During the ague period of 1839 Mr. Cross started for

Detroit to make the last payment on his land, and although

he was more fit for bed than for a journey he had no alter-

native but to push forward, since non-payment would be

serious in its results. Towards the first night out he grew

so ill that he could proceed no farther, but unfortunately

failed at four places where he applied to find lodging-room.

His fifth effort was at a miserable-looking roadside hut,

which promised poor comfort, but sickness and exhaustion

had so prostrated him that any shelter was welcome. Push-

ing open the cabin door he cast a hasty glance within, and

thankfully exclaiming, " I know I can stay here," sank

helpless upon the floor. Telling of the story of his trip,

subsequently to those at home, he said, " I knew I could

stay there, for when I looked in and saw how the woman of

the house was moulding candles in a cofiiee-pot I said to

myself, ' Surely people who can make shift after such a

fashion will provide a shelter for me,' and I was right, too,

for they took excellent care of me and did me a great deal

of good."

The first birth in Sciota was that of Charles, son of

Gideon M. Cross, born March 5, 1837. Upon reaching

manhood he became a preacher of the gospel, and died in

Livingston County in 1858. That infant's cradle was sim-

ply a hollowed log furnished with rude rockers. In that

cradle he and his sister (now Mrs. A. D. Sherman, born

May 15, 1839) were rocked, and when Ashbel Thompson,

during one of his annual visits to the West, saw the babes

thus bestowed he called them infants in a swell-box cradle.

Apropos of infants, the first female child born in the town

was Helen, daughter of Mason Phelps, born May 7, 1837,

and now the wife of H. P. Dodge, of Laingsburg.

Stories :ibout wolves and bears are of course plentiful

among those who deal in recollections of life in Sciota, and

recollection concerns itself, moreover, with the exploits of

some early settlers who were mighty hunters. Henry Leach

was considered a wolf-hunter of skill, and within a space

of about four years captured upwards of thirty wolves, for

whose scalps he realized a handsome bounty. Barnet Put-

nam achieved a wide notoriety as a bear-hunter, and claims

to have killed no less than nine during twenty-two years of

his residence in Sciota, his last victim having been dis-

patched in 1871. He was a wonderfully successful deer-

slayer. During the fourteen years preceding 1862 he

slaughtered fully five hundred with an old reliable shot-gun,

having in one autumn killed fifty-eight.

It was in 1840 that the first bear was seen by any of the

members of the Cross family. While Mrs. Cross sat

braiding hats one night she saw Bruin approaching, and

raising a sudden alarm she frightened him away. Intelli-

gence of the bear's appearance being conveyed to the neigh-

bors, they assembled the next night to capture him, but

somehow his bearship was too cunning for them. They

watched for him four nights, chased him one night and lost

him, and then giving up the t;isk of capturing him left him

to roam at will. Mrs. A. D. Sherman tells how when she

was but seven years old she and Ashbel Thompson " treed
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Thompson," and as Little Thompson he became engrafted

upon the pioneer history of Sciota and neighboring towns.

During his visit in 1850 he resolved that \o sell his land

he must begin to clear it. To this end he determined lit-

erally to clear it him.self. He bought an axe and attacked

his first tree. Between early morning and the hour of

noon he managed, by dint of most distressing labor, to sub-

due the forest monarch, but alas ! the cost of his victory

stood revealed in blistered hands, almost total exhaustion,

and a general disgust with a woodman's life. Satisfied to

end that experience then, he announced that he had an axe

to sell, and that he wanted no more employment as a wood-

chopper. Thereupon he engaged Barnet Putnam to clear

and break some of the land for him, and proceeded east-

ward. When he came out the next year he found that

Swarthout's barn contained a crop of wheat gathered from

the land Putnam had cleared; and when Mrs. Swarthout

asked him what he wished done with the wheat, he replied,

" Give it to the first poor preacher who comes along." And

sure enough, the first preacher to come along was made

happy with the gift.

In 1851, Thompson sold four hundred acres on sections

4 and 5 to Charles Balcom and James Hills, and in 1852

they came on and occupied their purchases. Theirs were

the pioneer settlements in that corner of the town, and in

1854 they were joined by S. A. Balcom and William H.

Stanhope, who located on section 5. Following them came

Orrin Blanchard to section 8, Luther Ryon to section 4,

Willard Ilyon to section 4, and Samuel De Haven to sec-

tion 3.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND LIST OF
OFFICERS.

Township 6 north, in range 1 east, was embraced in the

township of Woodhull until Feb. 16, 1842, when by act

of Legislature it was given a separate organization and

named Sciota, in accordance with the request of Oliver

Westcott, one of the town's early settlers. The first town-

meeting was held at the tavern of Cyrus Miller, in Laings-

burg, April 4, 1842, when Mason Phelps, William P.

Laing, James M. Blood, and Henry Leach were Inspectors

of Election ; O. B. Westcott, Clerk
;
and Cyrus Miller,

Moderator. One hundred and fifty dollars was voted for

contingent expenses, twenty-three dollars for the support of

common schools, and twelve dollars for the erection of a

pound " near O. B. Westcott's." Twenty-three votes were

cast at the election of town officials, the result being as

appended

:

SUPEHVISOR.
Mneon Phelp.'i 10

A. Siiiitli* 12

CLERK.
0. 1). Westcott y

Jlonrj- Siuitb* 1

J

TREASURER.
S. li. Fuller* 12

William P. Laing 10

ASSESSORS.
T.ovi McDaniela* 21

V. Putnam* 12

» Elected.

J. M. Blood 5
F. Childs 4
Cyras Miller 1

HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS.

Cyrus Miller 9
Ilonry Leach 11
A. C. Laing 10
R. Williams* 12
G. M. Cross* 12
D. F. Randall* 12
L. McDaniels 1

Silas Phelps 1

W. P. Laing 1

M. Phelps 1

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

R. W. Williams* 13

Cyrus Miller® 23
B. F. Childs* 12

A. Smith* 13
William P. Laing 10

F. Childs 7
A. Hohomb 9

S. M. Rlood 1

SCHOOL INSPECTORS.

0. B. Westcott 9

Henry Smith* 21

William P. Laing 10

A. P.Smith® 15

S. B. Fuller* 12

0. B. Westcott 1

CONSTABLES.
M. Wallis* 10

D. F. Randall* 10

Henry Leach 9

A. C. Laing* 10

Harvey Randall 9

L. McDaniels* 10

William P. Laing 1

OVERSEERS OF THE POOR.

0. B. AVestcolt 9

Henry Leach 11

A. Smith* 12

G. M. Cross* 12

S. Hill 1

From 184.3 to 1880 the supervisors, clerks, treasurers,

and justices of the peace elected annually have been the

following-named persons

:

SUPERVISORS.

ISIS.

1844.

1845-

1848-

1851-

1855.

1856.

1857-

1859-

1801.

M. Phelps.

William P. Laing.

47. Peter Laing.

50. F. McClintock.

54. L. Smith.

G. J. McClintock.

H. Carnahan.

58. F. McClintock.

60. H. Carnahan.

S. Treat. .

1862-61. J. M. C. Bennett.

1SG5. 0. .1. McClintock.

1866. H. Carnahan.

1867. 0. J. McClintock.

1868-70. H. Carnahan.

1871. G. A. White.

1872. M. Burt.

1873. J. Lawlor.

1874-80. S. H. Maiiior.

CLERIC.'^.

1843-
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in December, 1836, to his forest-farm on the Grand River

road, and for a few years Dr. Laing was tlie only resident

in the prospective village. About 1840, Oliver B. West-

cott opened a tavern " on the hill," and near there Cyrus

and Henry Wright located land and put up a log house.

Meanwhile, Ephraiiu Trumbull had made a clearing at what

is now known as McClintock's Corners. In 1841, Henry

Smith came and sot up a store near Westcott's tavern, and

one Gillilan, who afterwards took Westcott's tavern-stand,

started a blacksmith's shop. Subsequently, Moses Smith

was hired by Phelps & McClintock to carry on a smithy.

Patrick McGannis, now a merchant in Detroit, built the

first framed structure in Laingsburg about 1844, having

hauled the lumber for it from Lewitt's mill in Bath. In

the spring of 1846 the village contained the Laing tavern

(then a stage-house), McGannis' store, E. B. Smith's store

(Smith having bought out his son Henry), and the West-

cott tavern-stand. In that year E. B. Smith sold out to

Walter Laing, Mason Phelps, Freeman McClintock, and

Joseplius Woodhull, and moved his store to the place now

known as McClintock's Corners. Laing & Co. enlarged

the trade, established an ashery and blacksmith's shop, and

made a considerable stir as merchants. By and by llollis-

ter & Kellogg built a grist- and saw-mill, which was, how-

ever, burned after being used but one season. A new

grist-mill was built by Ilosley & Holmes in 18G3, and in

1870 the property passed from White & Bartholomew to

Place & Bros., and in July, 187U, to A. F. Place, the

present owner.

Laingsburg was platted in 1860 (when it was scarcely

more than a cross-roads village), by Freeman McClintock

and Amos Gould. Charles Wrecks platted two additions,

known respectively as Weeks' First and Second Additions.

Dr. Laing platted an addition, but it was never recorded.

After the village was laid out in 1860, the completion of

the railway caused it to grow rapidly.

VILLAGE INCORPORATION.

During the session of the Legislature in 1871 an act was

passed (and approved April 8th) incorporating the village

of Laingsburg. There was some objection to the incor-

poration, but Dr. E. H. Ward, representative in the State

Legislature, was determined to see the act carried into

effect, and took steps to have a village election held. Just

then it was discovered that the act of incorporation failed,

through some oversight, to designate inspectors of election

or a place for holding said election, llobert G. McKec,

thinking he had as much right as anybody to ai>point in-

spectors and a polling-place, did so, and so al.so did Ward.

It happened that McKce's inspectors were sworn in first,

and they claimed, therefore, under that circum.stance, a

slight advantage in the matter of legality for their election.

Ward's inspectors were at first unmoved at this, and so

both parties went on and opened the polls.

Although there were but a half-dozen or so of votes in

the McKee party, the Warditcs began j)resently to fear

that McKee's election might be ultimately adjudged the

legal one by reason of precedence in the matter of swearing

in the inspectors, and so they, secure in their overwhelming

majority, abandoned their election and marched over to the

:!8

McKee polls to cast their votes, not doubting for a moment

that they could in that way elect their ticket. Much to

their dismay, however, no sooner had they executed that

intention than the McKee inspectors declared their election

to be illegal ; and so not only was there no election but no

further steps towards one that year, as the Wardites, seeing

they were hopelessly beaten, deferred further agitation of

the matter.

But upon the a.ssembliug of the next Legislature the

Ward party caused a new act of incorporation to be passed,

and properly fortified this time, called the election at the

American House, April 8, 1872. Upon that occasion H.

P. Dodge and George L. Gibbs, inspectors of election, con-

vened at the American House, and in the absence of G. J.

McClintock (the third inspector) chose Miles Burt to act

in his place. At this stage the hotel landlord declined to

allow the election to be held in his house, and adjournment

was accordingly made to Burt's Hall. One hundred and

twenty-nine votes were cast, with the appended result

:

PRESIDENT.
Votes.

II. S. Partridge* 65

E. B. Ward 53

D. Ward 1

TRUSTEES {Two Years).

L. W. Fraine 41

Daniel Lebor 54

James MoLcod"'-' 77

I'liilo Bacon* 75

{One Year.)

S. n. Manzer 60

C. II. Ilartwoll* 63

J. A. Crippen* 69

P. C. Spraguc 59

CLERIC.

G. J. McClintocli* 59

H. P. Dodge... 3'J

TREASURER.
Charles AVceks 51

A. F. Place* 71

A. Place 2

MARSHAL.
William D. Gardner 57

Henry Win.^low* 65

William Gardner 1

ASSESSOR.

J. W. Seoutten 48

George Culon* 78

After the election it was discovered that undiT the act

no election could be held save at the American Hotel, and

as the election had not been held at that place, it followed

that the officials had not been legally elected. Nevertheless,

the ofiicials (jualified and had one session, at which they

pas.sed one ordinance ; but after-consideration seemed to

point so clearly to the conclusion that the alleged village

government could have no legal existence that the atlair was

by common consent abandoned. At the lolluwing Legis-

lative session there was some effort looking to a renewal of

the act, but there had meanwhile arisen a strong anti-incor-

poration party, and so sturdily did they work against incor-

poration that they succeeded in having the act repealed.

• Elected.
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Nothing further was done in the premises until the legis-

lative session of 1877, when, the signs being propitious,

Laingsburg was reincorporated (by act of March 9th) to in-

clude " all those tracts of land situate in Sciota township,

Shiawassee Co., commencing at the northeast corner of the

southeast quarter of section 21, running thence west to

the meridian line ; thence south on the meridian line three

hundred and twenty rods ; thence east to the southeast cor-

ner of the northeast quarter of section 28; thence north

three hundred and twenty rods to the place of beginning."

The names of the chief village officers chosen from 1877

to 1880 are here given :

1877.—President, H. S. Partridge; Trustees (for two years).

Miles Burt, John Crum, R. G. McKee (for one

year), S. H. Manzer, Charles Weeks, F. McClin-

tock ; Clerk, H. P. Dodge; Treasurer, Charles

H. Fraine; Assessor, Philo Bacon.

1878.—President, J. S. Lord ; Trustees, F. McCIintock, J.

H. Rohrabacher, and James Lawler ; Clerk, H.

P. Dodge; Treasurer, C. H. Fraine; Assessor,

S. H. Manzer.

1879.—J. S. Lord; Trustees, H. S. Partridge, William

Fraine, A. F. Peace; Clerk, H. P. Dodge;

Treasurer, C. II. Fraine; Assessor, Miles Burt.

1880.—President, F. McCIintock ; Trustees, S H. Manzer,

Philo Bacon, Wm. J. Tillotson ; Clerk, H. P.

Dodge; Treasurer, C. H. Fraine; Assessor,

James Lawler.

CHURCHES.

LAINGSBURG METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The settlement of Sciota township was less than two years

advanced when the voice of the Methodist missionary was

heard in the neighborhood where Leach and Cross and

Smith had built their rude cabins. Rev. Mr. Blowers

preached there in 1838, in the houses of the settlers, about

once a month, and the next year Rev. Washington Jack-

son, with another minister, made periodical visits. Blowers

had organized a class in 1838 consisting of six persons,

viz. : John Slocum and wife, Cornelius Putnam and wife,

and Gideon Cross and wife. In 1839, Wm. Palmer, John

Palmer, and Allen Smith, with their wives, joined the class,

Wm. Palmer being the first class-leader. In that year, too,

Isaac Bennett, the presiding elder of the district, visited

Sciota settlement and preached to the class. As soon as a

district school-house was built it was occupied by the class,

and in that locality worship was continued about twenty

years. At the end of that time the class was divided, a part

going to Blood's in Victor, and the residue to the Putnam

school-house in Sciota, whence they were transferred to the

Middlebury Methodist Episcopal Church.

There was Methodist Episcopal preaching at Laings-

burg as early as 1842 by the Revs. Bigelow and Cole, and

after them by Rev. Mr. Hall. The Sciota class, organized

in 1857, was a point on the Middlebury Circuit which in-

chided the Ovid, Warren, Muiigerville, Howard, Sciota,

and Middlebury classes. Rev. Elisha Wright was appointed

to the charge in 18.57, when it contained fifty-seven mem-

bers and twenty-three probationers. When the parsonage

at Laingsburg was completed, October, 1866, the charge

embraced one hundred members and twenty probationers.

The name of the circuit was changed in 18G8 to Laings-

burg, and in 1871 the church at Laingsburg was built. The

pastor is Rev. J. H. Mcintosh, who preaches to the Laings-

burg class every Sunday. The class membership is forty,

and the attendance at Sunday-school (in charge of F.

Thompson) thirty. The society trustees are Charles Weeks,

William Fraine, M. Deitrich, and C. S. Noyes.

FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH OF LAINGSBURG.

Elder Barnes, who organized a Baptist Church in Wood-

hull about 1840, preached also at Laingsburg, and after

him Baptist worship was conducted with more or less reg-

ularity at the latter point for some years by Elders Martin

and McLeod. After a time Baptist worship ceased in that

locality, and was not revived in anything like a permanent

form until the autumn of 1864. October 15th of that

year a few Baptists met at the house of J. M. McLeod for

conference and prayer. After consultation it wa.s agreed to

meet again October 29th, to consider the expediency of

forming a church, public services having previously been

held October IGth, by Elder G. M. Reynolds. October 29th

a covenant was adopted and signed by Moses Smith, William

Place, Josephus WoodhuU, M. A. Phelps, Charles R. Mc-

Kee, Frances Phelps, Catherine Hudson, Fanny McKee,

Catherine Carnahan, and Mary A. McKee. Josephus

Woodhull and Moses Smith were chosen deacons, ami

Charles R. McKee clerk. The first communion was held

March 20, 1865, and May 20, 1865, a church society was

organized, with Moses T. Headley, M. A. Phelps, Josephus

Woodhull, Charles R. McKee, Henry Osterhout, and Ma-

son Phelps as tru.stees. Directly after that the society be-

gan the erection of a church edifice, which was not, however,

completed until 1868. Elder Reynolds, who organized the

church, was the first pastor, and preached some years, after

which Elder James McLeod entered upon the charge. The

present pastor is Elder Hicks, of Bath, who preaches every

Sunday. The deacons are C. L. Kinney and Moses Smith.

The Sunday-school, which is in charge of the pastor, has

an average attendance of about thirty scholars, while the

church membership is fifty.

FIRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

At a meeting held in Laingsburg, July 24, 1864, the

First Congregational Church of Laingsburg was organized

by the following-named thirteen persons : Rev. James Ross,

Mrs. Frances Ross, Isaac T. Hollister, Ellen C. Hollister,

Rev. George C. Fox, Cynthia B. Fox, Nancy Clark, Eme-

line Partridge, Elizabeth A. Ward, Mary L. Drake, Zylpha

I. Trowbridge, Nellie P. McCIintock, Phoebe A. Hudson.

Aug. 7, 1864, at a second meeting. Rev. H. A. Reed,

general agent of the American Home Missionary Society,

was present, and after delivering an address formally re-

cognized the church, being assisted in council by the First

Congregational Church of Victor. Rev. G. C. Fox was

chosen the pa.stor and I. T. Hollister the deacon. Mr. Fox

served the church until his death. May 29, 1866. His

successor. Rev. William P. Mulder, began his labors in

July, 1866, and was succeeded by Rev. J. R. Stevenson,
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who took charge in July, 1875. Rev. J. C. Thompson

became the pastor in 1877, and after him came Rev. Fayette

'Hurd, the present pastor.

Since tlio organization tlie church has received eighty-

five members, of whom sixty-three yet remain. Meetin<;s

are now held in a fine church edifice at Laingsburg, first

occupied in the fall of 1871. The deacons are now Wil-

liam Ballentine and I. T. Hollister; the trustees are Philo

Bacon, Sydney Manzer, and Charles E. Hollister. The

Sunday-school, which has an average attendance of seventy,

is in charge of Sydney Manzer.

LAINGSBURG POST-OFFICE.

The only post-ofBee in Sciota is at Laingsburg, although

there was for a time, about 1846, a post-office called Sciota,

at Mitchell Blood's tavern on the Grand River road. The

Laingsburg post-oflBce was established in 1837 or 1838

through the eft'orts of Dr. Peter Laing, who was appointed

postmaster. He retained the office until about 1851, when

he gave way to Henry Smith and he to Loren Smith, who

caused the name of the office to be changed to Nebraska.

Tiiat name it retained through the succeeding administra-

tions of E. B. Smith and Freeman McClintock, the latter

beginning in 1857 and continuing to 1861. M. T. Headley

followed McClintock, and during his term the name of the

office was changed in 1863 back to Laingsburg, which it

has since retained. J. M. C. Bennett was for a short time

the incumbent after Headley, and after him Horace P.

Dodge from 1863 to 1865, Samuel Treat to 1866, G. J.

McClintock to 1869, and Philo Bacon from 1869 to the

present time. The business of the Laingsburg post-office

during the three months ending April 1, 1880, represented

sales of stamps, stamped envelopes, etc., to the amount of

two hundred and forty-six dollars and forty cents, money-

orders issued in the sum of twelve hundred and ten dol-

lars and sixty cents, and money orders paid to the amount

of four hundred and fifty-nine dollars and thirty-two cents.

LAINGSBURG'S LAWYERS.

Laingsburg has had but three lawyers. About 1860, J.

M. Pulver set up in practice at the village as the pioneer

lawyer, and after his departure came H. H. Pulver. The

third to be named is J. B. Wilkins, who has been j)rac-

ticing in the village since 1877.

BANK.

The Exchange Bank of Laingsburg, a private banking

corporation now doing business in the village, was estab-

lished by W. U. Card in 1875, and by him the business is

still continued.

SECRET ORDERS.

LAINGSBUim LODUK, No. 2.311, F. AND A. M.,

was organized Jan. 9, 1868, in the second story of M. T.

Headluy's store. The organizing members were E. B.

Ward, W. M. ; J. M. Short, S. W. ; G. J. McClintock, J.

W. ; M. T. Headley, M. Burt, J. G. Marsh, B. J. Putnam,

Rev. J. G. Morgan. E. B. Ward lias been Master of the

lodge every year since 1868, except for the year 1S77, when

G. J. McClintock served. The membership is now fifty.

Tiie official list is E. B. Ward, W. M. ; H. P. Dodge, S.

W. ; Philo Bacon, J. W. ; G. J. McClintock, See. ; L. B.

Huntington, Treas. ; E. K. Burke, S. D. ; N. N. Phillips,

J. D. ; W. O. Furey, Tiler.

LAING.SBURG LODGE, No. 110, I. 0. 0. F.,

was organized Jan. 17, 1868. The charter members were

named R. L. Case, R. Williams, G. B. Pitts, H. P. Martin,

J. B. Case, W. H. Martin, W. J. Armitage, L. L. Tuller,

J. W. Scoutten, W. N. Lewis, A. Holmes. The lodge has

a membership of forty, and officers as follows : William H.

Martin, N. G. ; William Taylor, V. G. ; N. P. Phillips, P.

Sec. ; H. Howe, Rec. Sec. ; L. B. Huntington, Treas.

LAINGSBURG GRANGE, No. 228,

was organized June, 1873, with a membership of about

thirty. Norman Tucker was chosen Master, L. J. Taylor,

Overseer, and George M. Kinney, Sec. In January, 1874,

A. F. Place was chosen Master, and served four years;

The next Master was F. M. Randall, who, in 1879, was

succeeded by D. D. Culver. Culver resigned, and F. M.

Randall was chosen in his stead. G. M. Kinney has been

the grange secretary continuously since the grange organ-

ization. The grange has continued to flourish from the

outset, and has now a membership of sixty. Weekly

Saturday meetings are held, and upon these occasions in-

teresting and profitable discussions engage much earnest

attention at the hands of the members. The officers of the

grange are now F. M. Randall, M. ; S. T. Headley, 0. ; A.

F. Place, L. ; P. Taylor, Chaplain ; George M. Kinney,

Sec. ; Mrs. George M. Kinney, Treas.

SCIOTA LODGE, No. 15S1, KNIGHTS OF HONOR,

was instituted April 25, 1879, with twenty members, and

has at present that number increased by eight. The officere

for 1880 are L. J. Taylor, D. ; V. A. James, V. D. ; E.

B. Ward, P. D. ; James Kyte, A. D. ; L. B. Huntington,

Treas. ; D. D. Shannon, F. R. ; Rev. J. H. Mcintosh,

Chaplain.
BABCOCKS' MILLS.

One of the most important industries of the town is

carried on at Babcocks' steam saw-mill, on the Jackson,

Lansing and Saginaw Railroad, about two miles east of

Laingsburg. E. F. & N. Babcock established the mill in

1866, and directly afterwards purchased tracts of timber

land aggregating seven hundred acres. The mill employs

from ten to twenty men, has a capacity of ten thousand

feet daily, and is confined almost exclusively to the manu-

facture of car and railway timber for Eastern shipment.

TRAGIC INCIDENTS.

The first fatal accident recorded in the history of Seiola

resulted in Francis Scouttens death, in 1846. Scoutten

was employed at the time in breaking land for Allen Smith.

Failing to return from his labors at the accustomccl hour,

he was searched for, and was found lying dead ujion the

ground beside his team. How lu' came to his death was,

and has always remained, a mysloiy. In lS5(i a young

Englishman w;us acciil(Mitally killed at a raising on the

Jones place, and about 1870 a Canadian, while logging for

D. L. Warren, was crushed by a log and instantly killed.
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In 1872 a young man employed upon W. E. Putnam's

farm committed suicide by throwing himself beneath a

train on the Jackson, Lansing and Saginaw road. The

cause of this suicide was never satisfactorily understood.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

MRS. NELLIE P. McCLINTOCK.

Mrs. Nellie P. McClintock, daughter of Dr. Peter

Laing, the founder of Laingsburg, and one of the earliest

settlers in Sciota township, was born in the town of Wil-

ton, Saratoga Co., N. Y., March 1, 1824. Her mother,

Mary (Calkins) Laing, was born in Saratoga Co., N. Y.,

1791. Her father, Dr. Peter Laing, was born in Saratoga

County, 1789, and in 1833 joined the army of pioneers

who were populating Washtenaw Co., Mich. Dr. Laing

pursued the practice of the medical profession at Ann

Arbor until 1836, where INIrs. Laing died in 1835, when,

coming farther westward, he made a new location in Sciota

town.ship, Shiawassee Co., and called into existence the

present thriving village of Laingsburg. He was a man of

mark, and for many years kept one of the most famous of

roadside taverns on the Grand River road. He was, more-

over, an extensive land-owner, and a man of wide influence

upon. the time and the community in which he lived.

Nellie, his daughter, came westward with her father in

1833, and in Ann Arbor spent the ensuing seven years at

school. In 1840 she joined her father's family at Laings-

burg, and in 1844, on the 11th of April, she was married

at the house of William Laing, her brother, to John Le-

witt, of Woodhull, where he was among the early settlers,

having come to America from Leicester, England. From

1844 to 1846, Mr. and Mrs. Jiewitt lived on a farm in

Woodhull. October, 1846, they moved to Ann Arbor,

where Mr. Lewitt was called to take the position of taxi-

dermist in the University museum. While engaged in that

work, he died Jan. 21, 1847. Upon her husband's death

his widow returned to Laingsburg, where in June, 1851,

she was married to Dr. Freeman McClintock. Leaving the

following November for California, Mr. and Mrs. McClin-

tock remained there until 1856, when they returned east-

ward, and in that year resumed their residence in Sciota.

In 1870, Mr. and Mrs. McClintock agreed to a mutual

separation, and since that period Mrs. McClintock has been

living in Laingsburg upon the estate left her by her first

husband, John Lewitt. Her living children are three in

number: Alfred L., born April 20, 1852, now a resident of

Laingsburg; Elva A., born Oct. 21, 1854, and now Mrs.

Oren Phelps, of California; Alta Belle, born Sept. 16,

1862, and now residing with her mother.

WILLARD RYON.

Willard Ryon, the eldest in a family embracing eight

children, was born in Monroe Co., N. Y., in 1836. His

father, also a native of the same county, was of Irish de-

scent, and by trade a cooper. His mother, formerly Miss

Mahala Stanhope, was a native of Wyoming County, New
York. At the age of ten years, Willard, with his parents,

emigrated to the wilds of Michigan, where a form in

Calhoun County afforded them a home for ten years, when

with their earnings they were able to purchase a small

farm in Middlebury. Willard meanwhile sought employ-

ment with his neighbor, George H. Warren, with whom he

remained two years and then became an inmate of the family

of Nathan Herrick. He in 1861 enlisted in Company D
of the First Jlichigan Cavalry, was taken prisoner, paroled,

and discharged. In the meanwhile with the proceeds of his

earnings he authorized his father to purchase for him the

farm of one hundred acres which he now occupies. On the

3d of July, 1866, he was married to Miss Marian C. Her-

rick, daughter of Nathan Herrick, one of the early settlers

in Middlebury, where her birth occurred. Mr. and Mrs.

Ryon have one child, Sylva, born March 10, 1872. Their

home, represented in the accompanying sketch, was a score

of years since wholly unimproved, but has since, by their

industry, been brought to a high degree of cultivation. In

politics Mr. Ryon is a staunch Republican. Both himself

and wife are exemplary members of the Methodist Episcopal

Church.

CHAPTER XLIL

VERNON TOWNSHIP.*

Location and Topogr.iphy—Original Land-Entries—SettU-ments nnd

Settlers—Township Organization and Civil List—Early Highways

—Early Schools—Village of Duraud—\'ernon Village—Church

History—Greenwood Cemetery.

The township of Vernon lies on the eastern county-line

of Shiawassee County, and is bounded on the north by

Venice, south by Burns, east by the county of Genesee,

and west by Shiawassee. It was in point of settlement the

second of the townships of the county, having been entered

by pioneers as early as 1833. It has other claims to prece-

dence in that its lands, which were originally superior in

quality, have by careful and judicious tillage been brought

to an unusual degree of productiveness, and that within its

borders is one of the oldest and most thriving of the vil-

lages of the county.

The Shiawassee River flows across the southwest corner

of the township, and following a tortuous course through

Shiawassee township, returns again to Vernon to water sec-

tions 6 and 7. It is here fed by a considerable stream

which rises in the south and flowing north through the

centre of the township diverges to the west and joins the

river on section 7. Other smaller water-courses, of no

special importance, are found elsewhere in the township.

The surface of Vernon is varied. A pleasing variation

is apparent without sudden or abrupt changes, and the pre-

dominance of level land renders it easy of tillage. The

composition of the soil embraces clay and sandy loam. Clay

prevails on the timbered land and in the openings, which

» By E. 0. Wagner.
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are found principally on the southern border. Sand is quite

generally distributed and is not excessive in any locality.

The land is not all drained, though great improvement has

been witnessed in this particular within recent years. Wheat

and corn are the staple products of Vernon, the average

yield of the former being at least twenty bushels to the

acre, though some localities produce a crop greatly in excess

of this.

The prevailing timber of the township is oak, maple,

beech, ash, and walnut, maple being especially thrifty in its

growth and j)rolific in its yield of sap. The Chicago and

Lake Huron Railroad and the Detroit and Milwaukee Rail-

road traverse the township, the latter having a station at

Vernon and one at Durand. The former road has a station

at Durand only.

ORIGINAL LAND-ENTRIES.

Following is a list of those pereons who entered from

government, or purchased of the State, the lands composing

the township of Vernon :

SECTION 1.

Acres.

L. G.Gordon and J.Cook,1836 185.24

Jasper Pari.«h, 1836 .346.63

Joel C.Sawyer, 1834 100

SECTION 2.

Joseph L. Peters, 1836 94.34

L. (J. Gordon and J. Cook, 1836 160

John Kheinfrank, 1836 80

Jasper Parish, 1836 80

Samuel E. Peters, 1836 80

William H. Sessions, 1837 40

William 8. Clark, 1839 53

SECTION 3.

William E. Peters, 1836 160

John Cook, Alexander McArthur, and Chaunccy
Hurll.ut, 1836 190.99

Edwin H. Gregory and John Cook, 1836 160

Joseph L. Peters, 1836 190.47

SECTION 4.

Ebenc7.er Brown (3d), 1835 80

Caleb Curtis, 1835 155.83

Edwin li. Gregory and John Cook, 1836 160

James Lawrence, 1836 80
Sanl'ord Clark, 1836 80

Benjamin Brown, 1836 112.71

Jasper Parish, 1836 40

SECTION 5.

Jacob Wilkinson, 1833 10

Samuel N. Whitcoinb, 1835 40

Charles Wilkinson, 1835 61.77

Abraham O. Newman, 1835 80

John W. Newman, 1835 240

Samuel N. Whilcomb, 1835 59.24

John Burtis, 1836 80

James Lawrence, 1836 61.77

James B. .Scott, 1836 59.24

SECTION 6.

Henry Leach, 1833 95.75

James Wilkinson, 1833 178
Jacob Wilkinson, 1833 113.70

Edwani K. Perry, IS34 88.34

Joseph Parmenter, 1835 54.47

George Kittridgc, 1836 102.18

SECTION 7.

Cheslcy Blake, 1836 48

Edwin B. tiregory and John Cook, 1830 80

Enoch Jams, 1836 47.18

Royal II. Waller, 1836 80

Acres.

.«allv IIollv, 1836 40
William Barker, 1836 100
Orson Barker, 1836 80

Dexter Clark, 1839 40

SECTION 8.

Ransom W. Holloy. 1836 160
Sally llolley, 1836 40
Walter Lawrence, 1836 80
Almon Isham, 1836 '. 40
Jabez Clark, 1836 40
Savina Hopkins, 1836 40
Sarah Clark, 1836 80
William Garrison, 1836 40
iMary B. .Miller, 1836 80

John Long (State), 1859 40

SECTION 9.

James Lawrence, 1836 160
Walter Lawrence, 1836 80

L. G. Gordon autl J. Cook, 1836 80
Hervey Miller, 1836 80

As.i F. Chalker, 1864 80

J. B. Miller (State), 1858 120

A. J. Van Osman (State), 1864 40

SECTION 10.

James Lawrence, 1836 160

Josiah F. Fowler, 1836 120

Jasper Parish, 1836 40

John Snyder, 1855 80

James F. Vincent (State) 40
Luther Dennison, " 1859 40

Cortland B. Stebbins," 1858 40

Josiah Brown, Jr., " 1869 80

Alex. W. Jackson, " 1865 40

SECTION II.

James Billington, 1836 40

Jabez Clark, 1836 80

Uri E. IIowcII, 1836 40

Daniel Curtis, 1836 80

John Burns, 1S5I 160

Stephen Loomis, 1851 40

Cabb Curtis, 1854 40

Alpbeus Stiles (Stale), 1864 40

Solomon Brown, " 1868 40

,Toel Vincent, " 1864 40

George Brown, " 1869 40

SECTION 12.

George Brown (State), 1869 40

Jonathan Stevens," 1868 40

William Brown. " 1869 40

Thomas Munger, " 1868 80

Joseph Cobb, 1838 40

Averv Guest, 1851 100

James Larue, 1851 160

SECTION 13.

Nicholas Bouck, J. G. Ocblmrdt, and David Dieli,

1S30 320

Elihu Ward, 1836 8«

B. W. Farnbaui, 18.36 240

SECTION 14.

Solomon F. Cook, 1836 80

William J. Pease, 1836 80

B. W. I'arnham, 1836 240

Ralph Wriglit, 1836 I«0

Benjamin I'elbigoon, 1852 40

James Smith, 1854 40

SECTION 15.

ll.nry B. Young (State), I860 40

C. w! Miller, 1830 40

T. A. Fowler, 1836 I-"

William Young, 1836 160

K. Van Wormer, 1836 120

Hiram Cornish, 1844 *0

B. P. Mayward, 1845 40

James Davis, 1817 ">

Hiram Cornish, 1853 40
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SECTION 16.

Acres.

School section 640

SECTION 17.

James Adams, 1836 80

Moses Woller, 18:i6 80

Reuben West, IS.SO 80

William K. Reed, 18.36 80

Isaac Barker, 1836 240

Austin Depue, 1836 40

James Collins, 1836 40

SECTION 18.

Benjamin Williams, 1836 120

Enoch Jones 120.60

B. Y. Barker 126.32

J. Thompson and Lyon 200

SECTION 19.

Joseph Baker, 1836 40
Levi Frost, 1836 '. SO

James Pennell, 1836 80

E. P. Hastings, 1836 46.12
Enns Welch, 1836 80
Joel Tuttle, 1836 40
Edmund Foster, 1836 SO
N. H. Johnson, 1836 40
Levi Cook, 1836 45.92

A. B. Webster, 1836 40

SECTION 20.

Joseph Heath, 1836 80
James I'ennell, 1836 80
James Adams, 1836 160
Henry Van Wormer, 1836 80
James T. Chittenden, 1836 80
George Jasperroud, 1836 80
Mary Van Wormer, 1836 40
Daniel Van Wormer, 1836 40

SECTION 21.

Aaron Swain, 1836 40
Sylvanus Ewcll, 1836 160
Alanson Foster 40
Saniuel Leonard, 1836 SO
Peter Desnoyers 80
George W. Arm.strong 40
Benoni Morton, 1836 40
Jesse and Wcttley Irons SO
Jasper Parish 40
Mary B. Miller, 1836 40

SECTION 22.

James A.Young, 1836 40
John D. Flower, 1836 40
John Young, 1836 40
Joshua Cnomer, 1836 80
Chaunccy Hammond, 1836 80
Ralph Wright, 1836 360

SECTION 23.

William Hay, 1836 480
Ralph Wright, 1836 160

SECTION 24.

William Thompson, 1836 320
L. G. Gordon and J. Cook, 1836 160
S. Bliss and S. Graves, 1836 160

SECTION 25.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 80
George Kissam, 1836. 80
William H. H. Sheldon, 1836 '. 80
Samuel W. Harding, 1836 80
W. and J. Hopkirk, 1836 160
S. Bliss and S. Graves, 1836 160

SECTION 26.

Trumbull Cary, 1S35 80
Abel Millington, 1836 80
Edward Chase, 1836 80
Martin M. Farns, 1836 80
William A. (iilbert, 1836 80
Beebe Truesdell, 1836 240

SECTION 27.

Acres.

Noah Bovier, 1834 40
Abel Millington, 1835 80
Stephen J. Durkee, 1836 40
Sarah G. Moore. 1836 80
Samuel W.Harding, 1836 '. 80
William A. Gilbert. 1836 80

L. G. Gordon and J. Cook, 1836 160
James Horton, 1836 80

SECTION 28.

James Rutan, 1834 40
Trumbull Cary, 1835 80
Alanson Foster, 1836 160
Linus K. Minor, 1836 280
John R. Martin, 1836 40
S. Bliss and S. Graves, 1836 40

SECTION 29.

John Smedley, 1834 40
Samuel W. Harding, 1836 SO
Loren Baldwin, 1836 80
Asa Pierce, 1836 40
Josiah Pierce, 1836 4fl

S. Bliss and S. Graves, 1836 280
John Shepherd, 1836 80

SECTION 30.

Josiah Pierce, 1833 74.65

Alfred L. and Beniamin 0. Williams, 1833 42.63

William Clack, 183+ 76.30

Trumbull Cary, 1835 80
Cornelius W. Miller, 1836 135.64

Loren Baldwin, 1836 160

SECTION 31.

Nathaniel G. Phillips, 1853 390.78
Joseph Grace, 1853 40
John A. Loomis, 1853 80
Nathaniel G. Phillips, 1854 90

SECTION 32.

Nathaniel G. Phillips, 1S53 12.40

Seth Frost, 1853 80
Thomas Had, 1853 19.20

Luke P. Smedley, 1853 36

N. G. Phillips, 1853 18.20

Henry J. Cartough, 1853 40

Jacob Hiller, 1853 217.30
Henry R. Dean, IS53 120

James M. Devon, 1853 80

SECTION 33.

Uriah Dubois, 1835 80
John Rutan, 1836 40
Samuel W. Harding, 1836 80
Linus K. Minor, 1836 160

S. Bliss and S.Graves, 1836 280

SECTION 34.

Mary Castle. 1835 160

Abel Millington, 1835 80

Uriah Dubois, 1835 SO

George Dowles, 1835 SO

Uriah Dubois, 1836 40

Abel Millington, 1836 160

Eli Shattuck, 1847 40

SECTION 35.

Trumbull Cary, 1835 80

A. Millington, 1835 80
Edward Chase, 1836 80

Martin M. Farns,1836 80
Lueinthc Chase, 1836 40
Randoljih Manning, 1836 80

William Merrill, 1836 2ll0

SECTION 36.

Elisha P. D.avis, 1836 160
Trumbull Cary, 1835 80

George Kissam, 1836 80
Samuel W. Harding, 1836 160
John Sturdevant, 1S36 160
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SETTLEMENTS AND SETTLERS.

The year 1 833 witnessed the advent of the earliest set-

tler within the present boundaries of Vernon. Henry

Leach came during the summer of that year, having aban-

doned the attractions of the city of Detroit for the life of

a pioneer. He entered about one hundred acres on section

6, and began at once the process of underbrushing and

clearing. Tinkelpaugh, Swain, Smith, and Baker were

already located in Shiawassee, and it is probable that with

one of these families Mr. Leach found hospitable shelter

while erecting his log cabin. Not a settler bad yet broken

ground in Vernon, and very little land had been entered.

He remained three years and accomplished an improvement

embracing twenty acres, after which he removed to Sciota.

The isolated life he led seemed disturbed by the presence of

settlers, and their arrival became the signal for his depar-

ture. He ultimately removed to California, where his

death occurred. A daughter, born in 1836, was the first

birth in the township. A squatter named Lathrop arrived

from Jefterson Co., N. Y., and located also upon section 6

the same year, where he built a bark shanty. He assumed

to be a surveyor, and had with him some evidences of the

statement in various implements of the craft. He, how-

ever, cleared no land, and manifested no energy either in

agricultural or professional labor, and soon after made his

exit.

Jacob Wilkinson, in 1833, entered forty acres on section

G, and may practically be regarded as the second settler in

order of arrival. He found Leach occupying his rude

shanty and making progress in his pioneer labor.

The township was a dense forest, and deer, bears, and

wolves were the unmolested possessors of the soil. As

aggressive as were the latter animals, the most formidable

foes appeared in the mosquitoes and gnats, which made life

a burden to the invader uf their domain.

In 1835, Samuel N. Whitcomb left Oakland County and

entered a fractional eighth of section 5, upon which he

built a log house and immediately commenced the labor of

chopping. He found Indians numerous, and though not

aggressive, often annoying by the frequency of their visits.

Mr. Whitcomb remained for .several years in the township,

and made much progress in the itnproveiueut of his pos-

sessions, but finding the picturesque and rolling lands of

Livingston County more attractive than his home, ex-

changed with Cyrus R. Angel, and became a resident of

the latter county. Mr. Angel remained a resident of the

township until his death.

James Rutan, who afterwards attained a judicial position

in the county, entered in 183-1 forty acres on section 31,

and became a settler in 1835. He found but few indica-

tions of progress, and devoted himself to hard labor and

various neighborly acts to later comers during the early

years of his life. At a subsequent period he became im-

mersed in professional duties, wbieli absorbed his time.

Joliii Smedley entered, in 1834, forty acres on section

29, \qion which he located two years later. He erected a

log structure for his family, and devoted his energies at

once to the conversion of this forest into a productive farm,

wliiih lie eciMlinued to cultivate and improve until bis

dealli. The homestead is now occupied by the widow and

one son, while his sons, L. I. and Jefferson Smedley, reside

on sections 1 and 33, respectively.

Josiah Pierce entered about seventy-five acres of land on

section 30 in 1833, and an additional forty on section 29

in 1836. He located the same year upon the latter, and

began his pioneer labor of chopping, erecting a log house,

and sowing wheat. He soon after engaged in the county

politics, and was chosen as the first county treasurer.

Noah Bovier also arrived in 1836, and located east of

Mr. Smedley on section 27, where he entered forty acres in

183-1; but later he removed to forty acres upon section 31.

He became involved in some complications connected with

the administration of the business of the county, and did

not long remain a resident in the township.

William K. Reed, formerly a resident of Tompkins

Co., N. Y., entered in 1836 eighty acres on section 17,

which at the date of purchase was entirely uncleared.

With him came six sons, who aided in cutting the road

from the Shiawassee Exchange to their land, which was as

yet unopened. On arriving at section 19 the family en-

camped in the forest from Friday until the following Mon-

day, improvising such rude shelter as was possible with the

material at hand. Abram Rutan was then employed to

convey the household wares on an ox- sled to their destina-

tion. A hut of sheets and boughs was constructed, and

underneath it a bed was spread in which all slumbered

peacefully. A few days later a log cabin was completed,

and soon after a small clearing was effected and sown with

wheat. Mr. Reed resided upon this farm until his death

in March, 1868, when his son, George W., became owner of

the homestead. His other sons, five in number, are also

residents of Vernon, Andrew W. having one hundred and

twenty acres on section 17 ; Abner G., the same number of

acres on section 7 ; Rasselas, ninety on section 17 ;
William

J., forty on section 16 ; and John, one hundred and fifty-

seven on section 7.

Joseph Parmeutcr emigrated from Madison Co., N. Y.,

and purchased fifty-four acres on section 6 in 1835. But

few settlers had arrived, and Vernon was yet a wilderness.

He remained with William Black in Shiawassee until a

house was built, to which the family soon after removed.

The labor of chopping was at once begun, and with the aid

of his father Mr. Parmeutcr improved five acres the fii-st

year, which was soon after covered with crops. He was

actively identified with the interests of Vernon until 1849,

when he removed to his present home in Shiawassee.

Another pioneer from Oakland County was Jabez Clark,

who arrived in 1836 and entered forty acres of land on

section 8. He remained with William K. Reed while

erecting a home, afker which he proceeded to the improve-

ment of the farm he had purchased. Mr. Reed and Mosca

Wolfen were his nearest neighbors. Mr. Clark left the

township for a short time, but returned and remained for

years upon the ]ilace, though his death occurred at the

house of his daughlcr, Mrs. A. D. llerrington.

Moses Wolfen, a former resident of Tompkins County,

in the Empire State, came to the county of Oakland in

1834, and to Vernon in 1836. He entered eighty acres on

section 17, and built a log cabin, finding a temporary abode

niciiinvhile with Jolm Reed on .scclion 7. Willi the assist-
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ance of his son he made an extensive improvement soon

after his arrival, and continued to reside upon the farm

until declining years found him enjoying the protecting

care of his daughter, Mrs. Reuben West, where he died in

1871. At Mr. Wolfen's house occurred the earliest mar-

riage,—that of Moses Melvine to Catharine Wolfen in

1838.

Henry Miller removed from Oakland County in 1836,

and entered eighty acres on section 9 the same year.

Ephraim Wright, of Shiawassee, a brother-in-law of Mr.

Miller, had preceded him, and with him he found a cordial

greetinsr on his arrival. He did much to make the farm

productive, and chose it as his dwelling-place until iiis later

removal to Durand, where he died.

Reuben West, a son-in-law of Mr. Moses Wolfen, re-

moved from Cortland County in 1836, and settled on sec-

tion 17, where he entered eighty acres. He was no excep-

tion to his neighbors in the routine of labor he pursued,

having first exercised his skill in the construction of a house

of logs, and later replaced it by a frame dwelling of more

extended proportions. The land, under his skillful manipu-

tion, rapidly became productive, and won for Mr. West the

reputation, which he still enjoys, of being one of the most

thorough farmers in Vernon.

Nathaniel Chalker, formerly of Seneca Co., N. Y., pur-

cha.sed of John Cook a farm entered by him on section 3.

This purchase of one hundred and thirty-six acres was made

in 1837, and the land iiaving been mortgaged, necessitated

a double payment from Mr. Chalker. Two sons accompa-

nied him, and the trio remained with Benjamin Brown,

who had earlier, during the same year, entered one hundred

and thirteen acres on section 4. After the completion of

their log structure and the sowing of wheat to afford sub-

sistence for the following year, wiiich embraced a field of

five acres, their attention was directed to the reception of

the family, who arrived the following fall. Mr. Ciialker

brought with him cooking-utensils, and expected to have

boarded himself, but having found a family near by, aban-

doned the project. Two sons of Mr. Chalker still reside

in the township,—Calvin C., who has one hundred acres on

section 1, and Chandler B., whose residence is located upon

one hundred and six acres on section 3. The latter gentle-

man has been many times elected to the office of supervisor

of Vernon.

George Herrington, another emigrant of 1836, purchased

a farm of eighty acres upon section 20. He was a former

resident of the Empire State, and fully imbued with the

spirit of enterprise and perseverance peculiar to the pioneers

of that early day. This land he cleared and cultivated, and

resided upon it until his death. The farm is now occupied

by M. 0. Herrington.

John K. Smith, a former resident of Pontiac, Oakland

Co., arrived in this township in February, 1837. He lo-

cated upon eighty acres on section 25, and was assisted in

the work of clearing by his two sons, Nathan M. and B.

F. Smith, the latter of whom gave his life in battle for the

cause of freedom. Nathan M. is still a resident of Vernon,

where he has eighty acres on section 27. In 1840, Mr.

Smith, having been elected to the office of county clerk,

changed his residence to Corunna, and on the expiration of

his term of office removed to California, but returned again

to the county-seat, and died in 1861.

Ezekiel Van Wormer came from Monroe Co., N. Y., in

1837, and located upon one hundred and twenty acres,

which he had entered the year previous, on .section 15,

the farm being now occupied by M. V. Russell. It was

entirely uncleared on his arrival, and during the time re-

quired to erect a comfortable habitation he remained at

the log house of George Herrington. He cleared the land

and afterwards erected a second log house, more capacious

than the first, in which he lived until his death, in 1861.

Two sons are now residents of the township,—A. J. having

eighty acres on section 16, and an additional forty on sec-

tion 9, upon which he has built a substantial residence.

The farm of Abel Van Wormer lies on sections 11 and 14,

and is well improved, with a modern dwelling upon it.

James Van Auken preceded Mr. Herrington by one

year, and purchased the farm formerly owned by Henry

Leach, on section 6, together with other lands adjacent.

He made very considerable improvements on this farm,

upon which he lived until his death. It is now occupied

by his son, H. J. Van Auken.

William Garrison removed from New Jersey to Oakland

County in 1836, and to the township of Vernon in the

spring of 1838, purchasing of Almon Isham forty acres on

section 8. He had previously entered (in 1836) forty

acres on the same section. On the former land had been

erected a small cabin, and a few acres bore some slight evi-

dence of improvement. Mr. Garrison devoted his energies

entirely to farming pursuits, and occupied the land until his

death, in 1858. Four .sons accompanied him to Michigan,

two of whom died on the farm. The remaining two arc

actively engaged in business pursuits in the village of

Vernon.

Lewis Sayre settled upon section 24, having left New

York State in 1839. The land was on his arrival still in

its original condition of forest. Mrs. Sayre was equal to

her husband in the ambition she evinced, and together

they cleared and cultivated the farm. Their log house was

afterwards superseded by a spacious frame residence, which

is still occupied, and which, with the competency that labor

has brought, they are now able to enjoy. Their sons,

Charles and Daniel Sayre, are owners of the extensive

saw-mill on section 25, familiarly known to the towns-

people.

The earliest death in Vernon, so far as remembered, oc-

curred in 1838, at the house of S. N. Whitcomb. It was

that of a settler named Howell, who had been engaged in

clearing land for Mr. Whitcomb, and had been for many

weeks in feeble health. Dr. Weir, of Shiawa.ssee, and Dr.

Pattison, of Owosso, were the earliest physicians in Vernon.

Elder B. B. Brigham, of Shiawasseetown, conducted the

first religious services.

In 1840, Mr. Sickles came to the township and located

upon section 25, where he purchased eighty acres of land.

He found no improvements, and the excellent farm later

owned was wholly the result of his own industry. His

death occurred upon the homestead, which is now occu-

pied by his son Emery, while John and James, the other

sons, have well-improved farms in the township.
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Following is a list of the

in 1840 :

George Kissain.

Trumbull Caiy.

John Sturdevant.

Thomas Bentley.

Lorin Baldwin.

Gordon and Cook.

Stephen P. Drake.

John B. Morton.

Bliss and Graves.

John Shepherd.

Mark Norris.

A. L. & B. 0. Williams.

William Sayre.

Abel Millington.

Edward Chase.

Cynthia Chase.

William Merrill.

Daniel Van Wormer.

Chauncey Hammond.

Randolph Manning.

James Smith.

Paul Spofford.

Mortimer Wadharas.

Henry Catelazer.

Augustus Crane.

H. V. R. Hawkins.

John P. Clark.

William P. Patrick.

Saunders and Kittredge.

Lansing B. Mizner.

Clark and Warreu.

Z. B. Webb.

Calvin P. Austin.

Henry C. Walker.

Samuel Wilkinson.

Daniel R. Carpenter.

Sipiire Adams.

David Sutton.

Alpha Carr.

Christopher Colson.

George W. Wells.

John Tliomas.

Crane and Freeborn.

Henry Miller.

Edward G. Faile.

('barlcs West.

Artenias Spoor.

H. Richardson.

Walter Lawrence.

Enoch James.

Dexter Clark.

William Barker.

Daniel Curtis.

James Billington.

Nicholas Bouck.

B. W. Farnow.

Elias Ward.

S. F. Cook.

39

tax-payers of Vernon town.ship

William Pease.

Theron A. Flowers.

William Young.

Isaac Barker.

Thompson & Lyon.

Benjamin Barker.

E. P. Hastings.

Levi Cook.

N. H. Johnson.

William A. Beers.

Enos Welch.

M. Holmes.

Jasper Parrish.

Samuel E. Peters.

John Reinfraub.

Joseph L. Peters.

William E. Peters.

Gilbert.

Cook & Gregory.

John Burtis.

.John W. Newman.

Daniel Johnson.

George Kittridge.

Royal W. Walker.

Orson Barker.

George Jasperson.

George W. Armstrong.

Samuel Leonard.

Joshua Cooman.

William J. Hopwich.

Herman Van Vicht.

James H. Jerome.

John Cogan.

Samuel A. Goddard.

Isaac Smith.

Jacob L. Larvalien.

George Horner.

Jacob Woodruff.

Edward G. Faile.

T. F. Burns.

Charles Taylor.

Nathaniel C. Peckham.

Charles Hillsbury.

N. R. Randolph.

Jabez Williams.

.John A. Weeks.

Edwin Randolph.

Lester Catlin.

C. C. Ilascall.

J. S. Bagg.

Rowland Sprague.

Lorenzo Bankman.

Thomas BiglVid.

David Halstead.

Samuel Meagre.

John P. Bliss.

David Halstead.

Almon Mack.

Charles Taylor.

Abram Boekhovcr.

Gideon Lee.

James C. Goodell.

Lanson Lacy.

Benjamin Dutton, Jr.

H. G. Bills.

Frank Taylor.

John F. Bliss.

John B. Valce.

Jacob B. Reed.

Louisa Cronk.

Benjamin Bradley.

Manson Taber.

Jacob B. Bird.

William Lovejoy, formerly of Lyons, N. Y., settled

upon section 27 in 1844, having purchased eighty acres.

Marvin Wilcox, who had preceded him and settled upon

.section 85, was the nearest resident. Samuel Harding was

located upon section 34 when Mr. Lovejoy came to Vernon

the year previous on a prospecting tour, but died during

the interval before returning. A brother of Mr. Lovejoy

occupied the place for a year, and effected a clearing of ten

acres, after which he removed to Ingham County, and its

purchaser continued the improvements already begun. lu

1878 he removed to Durand and erected a convenient

dwelling, which is his present residence. Daniel McCollom,

one of the numerous pioneers from Monroe Co., N. Y.,

arrived in 1846, and purchased of the State some years

later a farm on section IG, known as school lands. He had

previously been employed in various portions of the town-

ship, and found his services much in demand. A log house

was built and five acres improved the first year, after which

steady progress was made in the clearing and cultivating of

the land. In 1876 a spacious residence was erected, which

is now the family home.

Thomas Smith came in 1847, and purchased the farm on

sections 33 and 34 which had been partially cleared by

Samuel Harding. He continued the improvements already

begun, and rendered the farm very productive. Mr. Smith

is still a resident of Vernon, as are also his sons, Albert and

M. S. Smith, both being located on section 34.

Samuel Patchcl emigrated from New Jersey in 1848, and

settled upon eighty acres on section 9. William Gruusley,

who had located on the same section, offered him ho.'^pitality

while erecting the log house, to which he removed on its

completion. He chopped but little at first, but ultimately

cleared a productive farm. In 1866, Mr. Patchcl erected

his present substantial house and abandoned iiis primitive

abode. Caleb Conrad preceded Mr. Patchel, moving to the

townsiiip from Cattaraugus Co., N. Y. He purchased

eighty acres of uncleared land on section 5, upon which he

did the first chopping. A log cabin was first erected,

which was later replaced by a comfortable dwelling, his

present home.

Edward Holmes, formerly of Madison Co., N. Y., set-

tled in 1818 upon eighty acres on .section 19, wliich were

wholly uncleared. Roads had been surveyed but not im-

proved, and travel was much impeded by the obstruo-

tions encountered. Hampton Bentley had already made a

considerable clearing on section 20, and was the nearest

settler. With him Mr. Holmes remained while construct-

ing a temporary abode. He cultivated tliis farm, and in

1874 erected his present home. He is still actively engaged

in farming.

Willi Mr. llolnjes caipe 0. F. Perry, \yl)o settled on fbrt^
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acres on section 17, which was unimproved. He occupied

this farm for several years and then removed to his present

estate of eighty acres on section 19.

Horace Hovey, a pioneer from Ohio, purchased an ex-

tensive tract of land on section 20 in 1850, and resided

upon this laud until his death. His widow, now in ad-

vanced years, occupies the family residence, her sons being

located near her in the township.

John Jewell, formerly of Genesee County, purchased, in

1854, eighty acres on section 22, upon which a small clear-

ing had been made by a settler named Hammond, who en-

tered the land and liquidated the indebtedness upon it by

the sale of maple-sugar. It was subsequently owned by

Horace Pratt, of whom it was purchased by Mr. Jewell.

He occupied the log house and labored upon the farm until

his death in 1869, after which it came into tlie possession

of its present owner. Dr. J. M. Shaw. Three sons of Mr.

Jewell are residentjj of the township, two of whom are car-

penters and the third a wagon-maker in Durand, where he

is a considerable owner of land adjacent to the village.

Peter Randolph removed from Tioga County, N. Y., in

1855, and purchased of William Hammond eighty acres on

section 7, the latter having erected a log house and partially

improved the land. Some years later he removed one mile

east on the same section, where he at present resides. His

son, H. W. Randolph, has been a resident of Vernon vil-

lage since 1864. Many other residents of Vernon have

been active in advancing its interests and added greatly to

its development, but the time of their settlement does not

place them among its pioneers.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND CIVIL LIST.

The township of Vernon was originally embraced in the

township of Shiawassee, and was erected a separate town-

ship by an act of the Legislature (approved March 11,

1837), which provided and declared "That all that portion

of the county of Shiawassee designated in the United

States survey as township 6 north, of range 4 east, be and

the same is hereby set off and organized as a township by

the name of Vernon, and the first township-meeting shall

be held at the house of William H. Reed."

Afterwards Vernon included township 7 north, of range

4 east, which became a part of Vernon March 21, 1839,

by legislative enactment of that date. In 1843 it was de-

tached and became the township of Venice, reducing Ver-

non to its present limits.

The first township-meeting of Vernon was held, in ac-

cordance with the provisions of the organizing act, at the

house of William H. Reed, on the third day of April,

1837. R. W. Holley was chosen moderator and James Ru-

tan clerk, and the following-named officers were elected for

the year 1837 : Supervisor, Ransom W. Holley ; Township

Clerk, James Rutan ;
Justices, R. W. Holley, James Van

Auken ; Highway Commissioners, John Smedley, R. W.
Holley, C. W. Miller; Assessors, Noah Power, Marvin

Wilcox, Joseph Parmeuter ; Collector, S. N. Whitcomb
;

School Inspectors, James Rutan, R. W. Holley, James Van

Auken ; Coustables, Noah Rovier, S. N. Whitcomb.

Puring succeeding years, from 1838 to 1880 inclusive,

the following-named township officers have been elected in

Vernon, viz.

:

SUPERVISORS.

1S3S. James Rutan.

18.39-40. John H. Smith.

1841. George Herrington.

1842. R. W. Holley.

1843. John F. Swain.

1844-45. R. W. Holley.

1846-48. JoelB. Goss.

1849-5.3. R. AV. Holley.

1864-55. J. S. Bentley.

1856. R.W. Holley.

1857-59. R. Reed.

1860. L. D. Jones.

1861. R. Reed.

1862-68. L. D. Jones.

1869. G. W. Allison.

1870. Chandler B. Chalker.

1871. Perry B. Swain.

1872-77. C. B. Chalker.

1878. R. Reed.

1879-80. John Patohell.

TOWNSHIP CLERKS.

1838.



William K. Reed, father of tlie subject of our sketch,

was born in Trenton, N. J., in 17 94, and lived several years be-

yond the allotted existence of man, experiencing; all the hard-

ships and fascinations of a Michigan pioneer life ; and in his

declining years, having escaped mentally the withering influ-

ence of age, he brightened his fireside by many pleasing

reminiscences from his own life. Among the early memories

was the soldier life of 1812, to which he always reverted

with a degree of pleasure only excelled by that of recalling

the day when he was married to Miss Minerva Woolcot,

with whom he spent fifty years of his life.

In 1822 or 1823 he removed to Dryden, Tompkins Co.,

N. Y., where he resided about fourteen years. In 183G

we find him and his family en route for Michigan, traveling

by Cayuga Lake from Ithaca, thence by the Erie Canal to

Buffalo, where they took a boat for Detroit. July 23,

1836, he came to Shiawassee County, and settled in Vernon

township, his early home marking the place where the

first meeting was luild to organize the township, and also

where the first election occurred, in April, 1837. His death

occurred in 18G8, his wife surviving him but one year.

They were the parents of nine children, of whom Rasselas

was the sixth, and was born in Tompkins County, Oct. 18,

1826. He was a mere lad when he accompanied liis father

to the wilds of Michigan, but old enough to be of great

service to him on the I'arm which he occupied.

The public schools which are now so plentil'iil in llio

State at that time were \inkn(iwn, and the children of the

pioneers, if they received any instruction, obtained it at

their own hunios. As the population of the country in-

creased a school was established, wliicli Mr. Kccd attended

during the winter months. Nov. 27, 1854, he married

Eliza, daughter of George Harrington, Esq., of Plymouth,

Wayne Co., Jlich., who came to Shiawassee County in

1S38. Miss Eliza not only pos.scssed the domestic virtues

which make home happy, but the other qualities and per-

.sonal attractions which ornament society and have rendered

Mr. Reed such assistance in his success in life. They have

been the parents of three children,— Cassius S., born Dee.

16, 1857; Gordon S., born June 12, 1862; and Nora L.,

born Sept. 18, 1865,—all of whom are now living with

their parents.

Jlr. Keed is an enthusiastic Republican, and has served

his ]iarty with indefatigable energy. He has held tlio

office of clerk in his township, and served repeatedly as

supervisor. In 1877 he was elected to the House of Rep-

resentatives of the Slate Legislature from the first district

of Shiawassee County, and re-elected in 1879. During his

career as a legislator he was a member of several very im-

portant committees; in his firet term serving on the com-

miltees on State Public School, Federal Relations, and Roads

and Bridges. In 1 879 ho was a member of the committee on

Internal Improvements, and was chairman of the eommittco

on the State I'ublic School. His clhciont work in this insti-

tution, we have been told by gentlemen connected therewith,

was very valuable, and his earnest labor in behalf of the

dependent children of Michigan will always he remenihcreil.

Mr. Kocd is not a member of any religious dcnominalion,

but an advocate of the principles of the Christian religion

and a supporter and contributor towards its promulgation,

having contributed of his means towards the building of

three cliurchi'S in lii.- own lnwii.
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1871. M. V. Russell.

1872. William H. Kaston.

1873. James Sickles.

1874. M. V. Russell.

1875. J. D. Jewell.

1876. W. D. Jewell.

1877-78. H. 0. Jewell.

1879. Charles Huff.

1880. Luke Bentley.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

1838.
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line one hundred and fifty-one chains and ten links to

section corner of section 16.

" R. W. HOLLEY,
" C. W. Miller,

" John Smedley,
" Highway Commissioners.

"James Rutan,
» Town Clerk.

" Recorded Aug. 1, 1837."

EARLY SCHOOLS.

The board of school inspectors of the township of Ver-

non, consisting of J. B. Clark, Caleb Curtis, and Joseph

Parmenter, met April 4, 1844, for the purpose of dividing

the territory into school districts. After consultation the

following division was made :

District No. 1 to embrace sections 1, 2, and the north

half of sections 11 and 12.

District No. 2, sections 3, 4, and the north half of sec-

tions 9 and 10.

District No. 3, sections 5 and 6 and the north half of

sections 7 and 8.

District No. 4, sections 17 and 18 and the south half of

sections 7 and 8.

District No. 5, sections 15 and 16, the south half of

sections 9 and 10, and the north half of sections 21 and 22.

District No. 6, sections 13, 14, the north half of sections

23 and 24, and the south half of sections 11 and 12.

District No. 7, sections 25, 26, 27, 34, 35, and 36, and

the south half of sections 22, 23, and 24.

District No. 8, sections 28, 34, 33, and the south half of

sections 20 and 21.

District No. 9, section 19 and the north half of sec-

tion 30.

It is probable that the earliest school was opened in dis-

trict No. 3, but information regarding the building of the

first school-house or the teacher who early presided in the

district is not obtainable.

Tbe present school territory of Vernon is divided into six

whole and three fractional districts, over which preside, as

a board of directors, the following gentlemen: George H.

Cooper, George W. Reed, W. H. Easton, Henry Alchin,

Peter Patchell, James Scott, A. G. Cowles, William Gilmore,

and John Roper. Five hundred and eighty-one scholars

receive instruction, of whom thirty-five are non-residents.

They are under charge of eight male and eleven female

teachers. There are nine frame school buildings in the

various districts, some of which are large, commodious, and

admirably adapted for the purpose.

VILLAGE OF DURAND.

A portion of the land on which the village of Durand
was located was originally entered by Mary Miller in 1836,

and subsequently owned by James and John Kenyon.
Another portion was entered by William Young the same
year. Slill another tract was owned by Dr. L. D. Jones

and by him sold to J. Delos Jewell, who laid a portion of

the ground into lots but did not plat it. The land entered

by Mr. Young lay upon section 15, and after passing

through successive hands became the property of William

H. Putnam, who had a portion of it platted, a previous

plat having been made by James C. Brand. A church and

school building had already been erected, and some enter-

prise was being manifested. Mr. Brand built a saw-mill

which was furnished with steam-power, Mr. Putnam having

been his foreman, and did an extensive business in the

manufacture of staves and heading. In 1876 a post-office

was established, with Sir. Putnam as postmaster, who named

the place after Hon. George H. Durand, of the city of

Flint. The earliest store in the place was built by Messrs.

Putnam & Delano, and occupied by Ira D. Kellogg in

1876, after which the firm became Kellogg & Delano. A
hardware-store was built by Mr. Putnam, of which he was

proprietor, after which Kellogg & Delano erected a building

for mercantile u.?es. A. D. Bruce soon after erected a store

which was rented by W. H. Bielby, the present postmaster,

and two blacksmith-shops and one wagon-shop were also

opened. The pioneers in the drug and medicine business

were the Shaw Brothers, who arrived in 1878 and estab-

lished themselves in business. Messrs. Davis & Herrington

.soon after erected a building which is now occupied by W.
H. Bielby. The firm of Sayre Brothers erected, at nearly

the same date, a capacious store, which was afterwards pur-

chased by Messrs. Putnam & Delano, who removed to the

site of their present extensive business. In 1878 an elevator

was constructed by the same firm.

The capacity of the extensive steam saw mill of J. C.

Brand is twelve thousand feet of lumber and six thousand

staves per day. The mill is propelled by an engine of forty-

horse power, and the lumber cut is obtained in adjacent

portions of the county. The market for the staves and

heading is found in New York and the city of Pough-

keepsie. Detroit furnishes a demand for the lumber.

Extensive charcoal kilns were constructed in the suburbs

of the hamlet by Hiram Smith, of Flint, in 1879, and are

managed by his son, Ely Smith. The capacity of each

kiln is fifty cords, ten kilns having been constructed on the

ground of the proprietor. The product is shipped to various

points in the State.

The Chicago and Lake Huron Railroad was completed

late in 1876, and an agent appointed to the depot at Durand.

F. M. Pomcroy first acted in that capacity, and has been suc-

ceeded by L. S. Westrich, the present incumbent.

A flourishing school is under the direction of Miss Carrie

Biller. Two physicians—Drs. J. N. Shaw and A. G. Cole

•—reside here, and practice through a wide extent of coun-

try. The growth of Durand has been not only rapid but

healthy, and its citizens predict for it a future fully com-

mensurate with its brief but progressive history.

VERNON VILLAGE.

The original plat of the village of Vernon was surveyed

and laid out in the autumn of 1856, embracing the south

part of the southeast fractional quarter of section 6, and the

north half of the northeast quarter of section 7, township

6 north, of range 4 east, the main street of the village run-

ning on the section-line. This plat was, however, not re-

corded until Dec. 2, 1866. Van Auken's addition, de-

scribed as north of State Street and west of Duane Street,

was surveyed by Ezra Mason in August, 1865. Yerkes'
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addition south of Vernon proper, lying east of Walnut

Street and west of Chestnut Street, was platted August,

1865. Van Auken's second addition, lying west of Van

Aukcn's addition, was surveyed in the spring of 1870.

Rogers' addition, lying east of Yerkes' addition, was plat-

ted in the spring of 1870.

Greenwood Cemetery was platted in 18G2 by the Green-

wood Cemetery Association.

The original plat of the village of Vernon having been

lost or destroyed, a new plat embracing the various addi-

tions was ordered by act of the State Legislature, and is

now on record at the office of the register of Shiawassee

County.

As the land within the boundaries of the present village

of Vernon was the scene of the earliest pioneer labor in the

township, a review of its earliest settlement would be little

else than a recapitulation of the early history of the town-

ship. During the summer of 1833 Henry Leach emigrated

from Detroit to the attractive but unbroken forest of Shia-

wassee County. He found no bit of land so inviting as the

spot on section 6 now covered by the village of Vernon,

and there made his location and remained three years, but

ultimately removed to Clinton County. He was followed

by a squatter named Lathrop, and soon after by Jacob Wil-

kinson,—now familiarly known as Deacon Wilkinson.—who

the same year entered forty acres on section 6, and has for

a period of nearly half a century remained a resident of the

soil he first broke in 1833. Mr. Wilkinson has witnessed

the advent and departure of many settlers, the building of

school-houses, the erection of churches, and the growth of

an enterprising village where before was a dense forest.

Joseph Parmenter entered land on section 6, in 1835,

and Samuel N. Whitcomb removed from Oakland County to

land on section 5 in the same year. The latter gentleman

sold, a few years later, to Cyrus W. Angel, who after sev-

eral years' residence upon the farm removed in 1847 within

the village limits on the site now occupied by the brick

store of J. W. Yerkes, where he died in 1857.

In the year 183(5 James Van Auken (now spelled Van

Akin) arrived from Wayne Co., N. Y., and purchased the

land entered by Henry Leach three years previous, where

he erected in 1846 the first brick dwelling in the county,

and occupied it as a farm residence until his death in 1848.

His son, Henry Jennings Van Akin, now occupies the

homestead, having been prominent in the platting and im-

provement of the village.

11. W. Ilolley removed from Ovid, N. Y., to this State

in 1831, and iu 1831 settled in the present village, where

he purchased a considerable tract of land. He was a man

of much energy and actively engaged in all enterprises in-

volving the welfare of the village. At his house was or-

ganized the earliest Sabbath-school in the township and

also the Presbyterian Church in Vernon. Mr. Holley died

in 18()(l. His son, Dr. D. C. Holley, is engaged in the

practice of medicine in V ernon.

Fur a period of years no indication of the future village

was apparent. Commercial entcrfirisc first njade itsell' I'elt

in the hamlet with the advent of Milo Harrington in 1857.

The Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad was eonipletcd the

previous year and had established a station at Vernon, which

encouraged Mr. Harrington to embark in business pursuits

at this point. He erected the first store, and in connection

with William D. Garrison engaged in trade. Mr. Harring-

ton afterwards removed to St. Louis, Mich., where he died.

William D. Garrison was by occupation a carpenter, as was

also his brother Arthur. They built the first frame dwell-

ing in Vernon, which was also occupied as a shoe-shop.

They assisted in the erection of the depot of the Detroit

and Milwaukee Railroad. Arthur having subscribed fifty

dollars, which was paid in labor.

In the year 1858 Messrs. Bostwick & Co. established a

general store and remained in business a year, when their

interest was purchased by the Garrison brothers. George

Vincent came at nearly the same time from Byron and

opened the first blacksmith-shop in a log building, remaining

in business about one year, after which he abandoned his

trade, but continued a resident of the village until his

death.

Hiram Harrington was also among the early merchants,

Joseph W. Yerkes having been associated with him in

1864. The same year A. F. Westcott arrived and opened

the first hardware-store in the place, and in the following

year was appointed postmaster by Abraham Lincoln, which

office he still holds. His predecessors were Milo Harring-

ton, the earliest incumbent of the office, and his successor,

Henry Conant.

Thomas Winans was among the first to embark in the

grocery business, and Dr. D. C. Holley was the pioneer in

the drug and medicine business. Others followed in vari-

ous branches of trade, many of whom departed at a later

period. The Messrs. Garrison located on the north side of

Main Street, where they remained until 1866, when a

frame building twenty-two by sixty feet in dimensions and

two stories in height was constructed on tlieir present site,

to which they then removed.

In the spring of 1872 a calamity befell the little village,

which had been incorporated the previous year, in a disas-

trous conflagration, which in its course swept the chief portion

of Main Street and destroyed twenty-two buildings, chiefly

places of business importance. Among the heaviest losers

were W. D. & A. Garri.son, Bell & Ives, John Long, W.

M. Campbell, C. P. Weeden, Holmes & Livcrmore, H.

Trask, C. Harrington, and T. J. Winans. None doubted

that this was the work of an incendiary, a fact which was

afterwards proved by the arrest of the culprit and his sub-

sequent confession, implicating parties who had employed

him. While awaiting trial the prisoner escaped from jail,

and was never after heard from.

This fire materially checked the growth of the village,

and new buildings were not immediately erected in ]ilace of

those destroyed. The Messrs. (iani.Min erected a shanty

for temporary occupation, and in the summer of 1872 built

their pres('nt spacious brick store, embracing the most com-

plete modern ajipliances for the management of an exten-

sive business. They Inivc in addition a large warehouse

and elevator for their wool and grain trade, with a capacity

of ten thousand bushels. A. W. Nichols has also a large

elevator in the village, and K. II. Jones is the (iroprietor of

a foundry, which was establislied by Messrs. Pinney &
Garrison in 1858, the interest of the latter having been
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purchased by Mr. Jones in 1865. Mr. Pinney retired in

1874, since which time Mr. Jones has been exclusive pro-

prietor. Plows, drags, and other agricultural implements

are manufactured, and a general repairing business is done.

Connected with the foundry is a steam planing-mill, estab-

lished in 1868, principally devoted to work demanded by

the establishment. A custom feed-mill was started in 1870,

which has an extended patronage from the country imme-

diately adjacent to Vernon. Mr. Jones met with a severe

loss by fire in 1876, but at once rebuilt.

John Hopkins established a carriage- and wagon-manu-

factory in 1871, and has for years enjoyed a wide popu-

larity for the excellence of his work. He has a warehouse

on Main Street, and dispo.ses of eighty or more vehicles

per year. Seven workmen are employed in this establish-

ment. Besides the establishments mentioned there are the

usual number of stores of various kinds, all enjoying a fair

degree of patronage.

Vernon has always maintained a deservedly liigh reputa-

tion for the skill of its medical practitioners. The present

physicians are Dr. D. C. Holley, Dr. J. L. Smith, and Dr.

M. C. Sculley, of whom Dr. Holley is the senior in time of

arrival.

H. W. Angel is the agent of the Detroit and Milwaukee

Railroad.

VILLAGE INCORPORATION AND LIST OF OFFICERS.

Vernon village became incorporated by an act of the

Legislature, approved March 18, 1871, which provided

" That all that tract of land situated in the township of

Vernon, in the count}' of Shiawassee, known and distin-

guished as the west half of the northwest quarter of sec-

tion 8, the west half of the southwest quarter of section 5,

the houtheast quarter and the east half of the southwest

quarter of section 6, and the northeast quarter and the

east half of the northwest quarter of section 7, in town-

ship 6 north, of range 4 east, be and the same is hereby

constituted a village corporate, to be known by the name of

the village of Vernon."

The first village election was held at the National Hotel

in Vernon on the second Monday of April, 1871. Thomas

Winans and Joseph W. Yerkes were chosen as judges of

the election, and Henry A. Bruno clerk, and the following-

named ofiBcers were elected for the year, viz.,—President,

Russell E. Bell ; Trustees, Ephraim Jones, William Larry

;

Clerk, William S. Pinney ; Marshal, Benjamin Chase

;

Treasurer, Mortimer D. Rhodes; Assessor, Benjamin P.

Warner.

The village officers elected annually from tliat time to

the present have been as follows:

1872.—President, Russell E. Bell; Clerk, Alexander Mc-
Kercher; Trustees, William D. Garrison, Wil-

liam W. Campbell ; Marshal, A. J. Johnson
;

Treasurer, Arthur Garrison ; Assessor, Monroe

Holley.

1873 — President, Daniel W. Hammond
; Clerk, Alexan-

der McKercher; Trustees, Ephraim H. Jones,

Charles P. Weeden
; Marshal, R. H. Morris

;

Treasurer, Arthur Garrison ; Assessor, Monroe

Holley.

1874.—President, James E. Bush
;
Clerk, Henry Clark

;

Marshal, Charles Coriett ; Trustees, Henry Cud-

ney, William W. Livermore ; Treasurer, Nathan

S. Nichols; Assessor, Mortimer D. Rhodes.

1875.—President, James E. Bush ; Clerk, Henry Clark
;

Marshal, Amos B. Bliss ; Treasurer, Daniel

S. Post ; Trustees, Charles Dorrance, Hiram

Brown ; A.sses.sor, M. D. Rhodes.

1876.—President, Silas M. Seeds; Clerk, Amos W. Nichols;

Marshal, John F. Walter; Trustees, Myron C.

Sculley, Thomas Loveley ; Assessor, M. D.

Rhodes.

1877.—President, A. F. Westcott; Clerk, Richard Holms-

den ; Marshal, Stephen A. Post ; Trustees,

Arthur Garrison, Henry A. Sager ; Treasurer,

Daniel S. Post ; Assessor, Elisha Kinsman.

1878.—President, A. F. Westcott ; Clerk, Jacob L. Smith
;

Marshal, Calvin Whitney ; Treasurer, Daniel

S. Post ; Trustees, John Hopkins, Charles S.

Clark ; Assessor, M. D. Rhodes.

1879.—President, E. Wesley Angel ; Clerk, A. F. West-

cott ; Marshal, Ephraim Hart; Trustees, Henry

A. Sager, Thomas Hanifan ; Treasurer, Charles

Dorrance ; Assessor, ftlyron W. Reed.

1880.—President, Arthur Garrison; Clerk, A. Frank

Westcott; Marshal, E. Hart; Trustees, D. S.

Post, G. H. Cooper ; Treasurer, C. A. Dorrance;

Assessor, M. D. Rhodes.

The earliest school within the limits of the present vil-

lage of Vernon was opened in a log house erected by

James Van Auken in 1839, his daughter, Miss Julia W.

Van Auken, having been the teacher for a brief term of a

select school patronized by the few settlers of that early

date. The earliest school building was erected in district

No. 1, and located on the northeast corner of the north

lialf of the southeast fractional quarter of section 6, having

been placed upon the farm of C. S. Pratt. It was built in

1840, and lay within the bounds of the present corporation.

The teacher who earliest maintained discipline within its

walls was a young man from Fenton, Genesee Co., who

remained but six weeks, and finding little encouragement

in his work departed. The list of pupils at that time did

not exceed six in number. The first regular school was

opened by Miss Frances A. Ferry during tlie summer of

1841 in the same log building, and in the following term

Dr. Solomon Everts became associated with the district as

teacher. He remained during the winter of 1841—12, and

was succeeded during the summer term by Miss Ferry, who

was a second time employed as teacher.

During the winter of 1844 the services of an instructor

of reputation. Nelson K. Ferry, Esq., were secured. Miss

Ferry again assuming the charge of the summer school.

The winter term of 1845 was taught by Monroe Holley,

who was succeeded during the summer by Jli-ss Mary Holley.

The year 1846 was filled by the same parties respectively,

and D. C. Holley taught during the winter term of 1847-48.

JIarcus S. Angel commenced teaching here in 1849, and

remained during the winter. With this term ended the

career of the old log school-house. During the years 1850
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and 1851 a frame scliool building was erected adjoining the

site of the Baptist chuieli, and the first term in it was taught

by Miss Lytle, of New York. She was succeeded during

the winter of 1854 by Miss Alsina Wheeler, of Corunna.

The house was used for a period of seventeen years, but

was ultimately removed and made an appendage to the

present spacious edifice, built in 1871. This was opened as

a union and graded school the same year, under the super-

intendence of Mr. J. W. Manning, with Miss Hannah

Purdy as assistant. The course of study was arranged

with especial reference to completeness at every stage, leav-

ing the higher branches until the last, thus afibrding to

pupils who may not be able to complete the course the op-

portunity of making themselves familiar with the most

essential studies.

Under the recent judicious management Vernon school

has attained a deservedly high rank among the schools of

the county. The following list embraces the teachers in

succession since 1871

:

1872.—Mr. W. A. Frazier, Superintendent ; Mrs. A.

Chaffee, Mrs. Rose Read, Assistants.

1873.—Mr. S. T. Youngs, Superintendent; Miss Ida Ilin-

del. Assistant.

1875.—Mr. L. J. Hamilton, Superintendent; Miss Mary

Crippen, Miss Jennie Starks, Assistants.

1870.—Mr. C. W. Soulby, Superintendent; Miss Tola

Tilden, Miss Jennie Starks, Assistants.

1877.—Mr. R. H. Goss, Superintendent; Miss M. Cole,

Miss Holmden, Assistants.

1878.—Mr. A. L. Chandler, Superintendent; Miss L.

Palmenter, Miss Cole, Assistants.

1879-80.—Mr. A. L. Chandler, Superintendent; Miss L.

Palmenter, Miss Chaffee, Assistants.

THE PRESS OF VERNON.

The earliest newspaper in Vernon was established by a

Mrs. Crawford (date not known), and entitled the ]^enwH

Chronicle. Tlie lady remained but one year, and disposed

of the enterprise to Rev. D. W. Hammond, after which the

stock of the office was removed from this place. After this

fur some years there was no new.spaper published in the

village, but in 1878 Abram Reeves began the publication

of the VernoH Telephone, with the motto, " Independent in

ail things, neutral in nothing." Its motto was, however,

unable to save it from a speedy oblivion. A coujpany was

then formed by Messrs. Garrison, A. L. Chandler, M. H.

Read, E. W. Angel, and A. W. Nichols, who began the

publication of the Vernon Herald. A. L. Chandler soon

after purchased the enterprise, and in ] 880 disposed of the

paper lo Lucius E. Gould, of Owosso, who continues its

publication in Vernon. Under his management it has be-

cunie one of the leading papers of the county, having al-

ready a subscription list of nearly five hundred names.

SOCIETIES AND ORDERS.

VERNON LODGE, No. 279, F. AND A. M.

Tlic charter of the Vernon Masonic Lodge was granted

Feb. 11, 1870, and the following were its first officers:

W. D. Garrison, W. M. ; M. C. Sculley, S. \V. ; M. 1).

Rhodes, J. W. ; A. Garrison, Sec. ; R. E. Bell, Treas.

The present officers are S. E. Sheldon, M. W. ; Asahel Owen,

S. W. ; David Smith, J. W. ; E. W. Angel, Sec. ; T.

Harrison, Treas.

VERNON LODGE, No. 99, I. 0. 0. F.

The Vernon Lodge of Odd-Fellows was organized Jlay

29, 1866, its first officers having been A. Crippen, N. G.

;

H. E. Smith, V. G. ; A. G. Cameron, Sec; Milo Harring-

ton, P. S. ; A. F. Westcott, Treas. Present officers : H.

A. Sager, N. G. ; I. Waters, V. G. ; M. Bush, Sec. ; C. A.

Dorrance, Treas.

CHARITY LODGE, No. 467, K. OF H.,

was organized Feb. 14, 1877, with the following as its first

officers: A. F. Westcott, Post Dictator; C. P. Weeden,

Dictator; H. W. Randolph, Vice-Dictator ; A. W. Nichols,

Rep. ; T. Loveley, Treasurer. The present officers are O.

Krell, Dictator; A. W. Nichols, Vice-Dictator; H. W.
Randolph, Rep. ; F. C. Brown, Treasurer.

SAFEGUARD LODGE, No. IS, R. T. OF T.

The lodge of Royal Templars of Temperance was organ-

ized Dec. 19, 1879. Its first officers were E. W. Angell,

P. S. C. ; J. H. De Hart, S. C. ; A. Frank Westcott,

V. C. ; M. D. Rhodes, Secretary; H. B. McLoughlin,

F. S. ; C. P. Weeden, Treasurer. Present officers, J. H.

De Hart, P. S. C. ; A. Frank Westcott, S. C. ; H. Clark,

V. C. ; M. D. Rhodes, Secretary; H. B. McLoughlin,

F. S.; C. P. Weeden,.Treasurer.

CHURCH HISTORY.

CONGREGATIONAL CIIURCU.

A Presbyterian Church was organized at the house of

R. W. Holley as early as the spring of 1837, services

having been held at the houses of Nelson K. Ferry, R. W.
Holley, and William Garrison. In 1845 the church roll

numbered thirty-seven communicants. In the j'car 1851,

there having been many citizons who desired the organiza-

tion of a Congregational Church, the old Presbyterian so-

ciety was merged into a church of the above denomination.

The total membership at the date of its fir.st formation is

not known, though the female members embraced the names

of Mrs. Letitia Spaulding, Mrs. Olive Clark, Mrs. Mary

Garri.son, Mrs. Wolfen, and Mrs. Sarah Holley. The little

flock continued to worship together in the school-house,

alternating with the Baptist society, until 1863, when the

building of a church edifice was begun, and completed the

following year at a cost of two thousand and eighty-five

dollars and thirty-seven cents, as indicated by the treasurer's

books.

Until 1861 they were without a stated pastor, the con-

gregation having been furnished with occasional supplies,

among whom was Rev. Grover Smith, who ofliciated at the

school-house. During the year 1861, Rev. E. T. Branch

became pastor, and continuoil his ministry until IStiS, when

Rev. Warren F. Day succeeded him, and remained one

year. In 1869, Rev. H. H. Van Auken became pastor,

and the following year Rev. Charles Barstow was installed.

He remained five years, and was succeeded by Rev. W.
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M. Kellogg in 1 876, whose ministry extended over a period

of but one year, when Rev. Warren Mooney filled the pul-

pit during the year 1877. In 1878 the present pastor,

Rev. E. W. Shaw, was called to preside over the flock.

Connected with the church is a very flourishing Sabbath-

school, with a list of one hundred scholars, of which Peter

Patehel is superintendent.

The Deacons of the church are H. J. Van Auken, John

Patehel ; the Trustees, W. D. Garrison, H. J. Van Auken,

Peter Patehel, D. Martin, Thomas McSoren ; Clerk, Peter

Patehel ; Treasurer, H. W. Randolph.

BAPTIST CHURCH.

The facts at command with reference to the Baptist

Church of Vernon are derived from one of its oldest mem-

bers, who depends entirely upon his memory, and may pos-

sibly be at fault in some particulars. The church was first

organized under Rev. John F. Swain, who was ordained as

a licentiate in 1844. He removed from Owosso in the

same year, and filled a brief pastorate of six weeks, when

his death occurred.

Among the early members were Jacob Wilkinson, C. R.

Yerkes and wife, Joseph Parmenter and wife, Charles Wil-

kinson and wife, Joseph Yerkes and wife, John Vincent, C.

S. Pratt and wife, Mrs. Harrington, and Mrs. Barker. Ser-

vices were first held in a log school-house in district No. 1,

on the farm of C. S. Pratt. The death of Rev. John F.

Swain occurred April 15, 1845. His successor was the

Rev. William Pack, who was followed in his ministry by

Rev. Mr. Delano. Rev. William White next ofiiciated, and

a licentiate. Rev. James Surrine, succeeded. He was subse-

quently ordained and became the pastor. Rev. 0. B. Call

followed Mr. Surrine, during whose ministry in 1864 a

house of worship was erected, at a cost of two thousand

seven hundred dollars. During an interval succeeding this

period the congregation were without a pastor, and de-

pended upon occasional supplies, after which Rev. William

White was recalled. Rev. E. R. Clark afterwards had the

care of the flock, and remained during a pastorate of more

than three years, after which the present incumbent. Rev.

R. R. Coons, Jr., was installed, his ministry beginning in

1877.

The church has a membership of one hundred and fifteen,

and is exceedingly prosperous. The deacons are C. R.

Yerkes and Jacob Wilkinson. The trustees are C. R.

Yerkes, Joseph Parmenter, Abram Crippen, Cheney But-

ton, William Newberry, and Jacob Wilkinson.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHUKCH.

The records of the Methodist Episcopal Church contain

no facts regarding its organization or subsequent progress,

and its present members have very little information to

impart.

A class was organized very early, and seems to have been

connected for a while with the church in Venice. It was

not flourishing, however, and for want of the elements of

growtli and permanency was ultimately disbanded. Its

members worshiped with other denominations until 1868,

when it was reorganized under the pastorate of Rev. Mr.

Church. He was followed in his ministry by Rev. Mr.

Sanborn, after which the Rev. Charles Austin became pas-

tor. Under the efficient labors of his successor, the Rev.

Mr. Maywood, in 1871 a spacious church edifice was begun

and completed ; the building committee having been George

Goss, I. Van Auken, and Charles Dorranee.

The Rev. D. W. Hammond afterwards ofiiciated, and was

succeeded by Rev. N. W. Pierce in 1872. Rev. S. Bird

was installed in 1873, and in 1876 Rev. J. G. Whitcomb

was called to the pastorate, whose term of service extended

to 1879, when Rev. William Taylor, the present pastor,

assumed the charge.

The list of members embraces eighty-four names. The

cla.ss-leaders arc George Goss and Newton Strong. A grow-

ing Sabbath-school numbering seventy-five scholars and

teachers is connected with the church, under the superin-

tendence of Newton Strong

The present trustees are John Long, George Goss, John

Hopkins, and Joshua Curtis.

GREENWOOD CEMETEEY.

The Greenwood Cemetery Association was organized in

March, 1862, with John Read as President, James Garri-

son as Secretary, and Henry Conant as Treasurer. On the

21st of April of that year two and thirty-five one-hundredths

acres of land were purchased of Henry J. Van Auken for

the sum of one hundred and seventy-six dollars. Much
time and labor have been expended in the adornment of this

burial-spot, which is ornamented with shade-trees, and laid

out in walks that divide the well-kept lots and render it an

attractive resort, while still maintaining its secluded char-

acter. It has an especial interest from the antiquity of

some of the memorial-stones which mark the graves. Espe-

cially noticeable is that of the earliest settler in Caledonia,

John F. Swain, who.se life suddenly terminated at the be-

ginning of a career of ministerial labor at Vernon, in the

year 1845.

The association has recently made an extension to the

cemetery plat in the purchase of two acres of land adjoining,

which is being rapidly improved and beautified.

The present trustees of the Greenwood Cemetery Asso-

ciation are ; President, John Read ; Secretary, A. F. West-

cott ; Treasurer, A. Garrison.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

HENRY JENNINGS VAN AKIN.

The representative of the Van Akin family at present

residing in Vernon is Henry Jennings, the fourth child of

James and Elizabeth Van Akin, who was born July 13,

1823, near the village of Dublin, Seneca Co., N. Y., and

after changes of residence with his parents in his native

State ultimately removed to Vernon, Mich. He assisted in

the clearing of the land his father had purchased until

184G, when, a taste for study having been encouraged, he

entered the preparatory class at the University of Michi-

gan, located at Ann Arbor. Soon discovering, however, a

want of taste for the Latin nouns and verbs, he abandoned
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the classics for the more active duties of life. The follow-

ing year he entered the store of Osbnrn & Baker, of Hud-

son, Lenawee Co., Mich., and the following j'ear was sum-

moned home by the death of his father.

He was, in 1848, married to Miss Jane Lytle, of Venice

township, who.se death occurred in 1850. Five years later

HENRY J. VAN AKIN.

he was married a second time, to Miss Margaret E. Holley,

daughter of 11. W. Holley, of Vernon. To them five

cliildren were born, the youngest of whom, Henry 11., lived

to the age of fourteen years, and died May 5, 1880. Mr.

Van Akin was again afflicted in the lo.=s of his second

wife in 1875, and was united to the present Mrs. Van

Akin in January, 1879, who was Miss Anna, daughter of

Addison Stewart, of Flint, Mich. Mr. Van Akin still re-

tains and lives upon the homestead, located upon the banks

of the beautiful Shiawas.'^ee Kiver, where cluster the most

tender memories of his childhood. Among his early In-

dian friends was Shaco, a famous warrior who fought Mad
Anthony Wayne and frequently boasted tlio scalps he had

taken in battle.

But two of the large family of eleven children of James

Van Akin survive, C W. being a rcsidetit of Mount Ver-

non, Ohio, and Henry J., the subject of this biograpliy.

JAMES VAN AKIN.

.lanics, the father of Henry Jennings Van Akin, was

born on the banks of the Delaware, in New Jersey, in

17114, and was tlic second son (jf John anil Margaret W'est-

I'all Van Akin. Soon after his birth the laniily removed to

the township of Phelps, Ontario Co., N. Y., from whence

lie became connected with the Slate militia, and was for si.\

months engaged in active service at Huftalo, N. Y. On the

40

4th of September, 1817, he was married to Elizabeth Jen-

nings, of the township of Ro.se, Wayne Co., N. Y., and

there resided until 1836, when ho removed to Michigan

and located upon the land now occupied by his son, in the

township of Vernon. Here he erected, in 184C, the earliest

brick dwelling in the county, iu which he lived until his

death, on the 23d of February, 1848. Mrs. Van Akin

married a second time, and survived until Feb. 17, 1864.

Of his eight brothers, Simeon and William H. H. were

residents of Hudson, Lenawee Co., Mich. ; Charles is still

living in Ontario Co., N. Y. ; Lawson and Dudley removed

to Wayne Co., Mich. ; Hiram found a home in Hudson,

Mich. ; and David and George are both deceased, the

former having died iu Washington, D. C., in 1875, and the

latter in Ontario Co., N. Y., in 1870. The sister, Mrs.

Lucien Vandemaik, resided, until her death in 1870, in

West Junius, N. Y.

The progenitor of the family, John Van Akin, was a

patriot of the Revolution, and actively engaged in the

border-wars of New Y^ork, when his foes were Tories and

Indians. His experiences here were fraught with terror

and danger, and the reminiscences of this early struggle

were rehearsed with great zest to his descendants in after-

years. He survived until 1854, and his wife's death oc-

curred seven years later. The ancestors of Mr. Van Akin

were of Holland descent, and emigrated direct from their

native shores to the forests of America.

NATHAN M. SMITH.

Nathan M. Smith's father, John K. Smith, was born in

Auburn, N. Y'., and came at a very early date to Michi-

gan, and settled in Oakland County. He was elected

county clerk of Shiawassee County in 1840, and served the

people acceptably for two years. He always took a lively

interest in the affairs of his country, adhering politically to

the principles of the Whigs.

He was a very estimable citizen, being a man among

men, and highly regarded for his simplicity, probity, piety,

and candor.

His son Nathan was born in Pontiuc, Oakland Co., Mich.,

Nov. 22, 1827. He came with his father to Shiawassee

County in 1837. In the Reiiublican party he has always

been a zealous and constant worker.

When a boy he attended a district school in Oakland

County, and later was a member of the village school in

Corunna. He .served one year in the Mexican war.

During the year 1847 he was married to Miss Eliza Jane

Horton, by whom he liad seven children,—three boys and

four girls,—all of whom are living.

He is a member of tlie Methodist Church, and is an

earnest Christian nnin, and very energetic in all things i)cr-

taining to the church.
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CHAPTER XLIII.

VENICE TOWNSHIP.*

Boundaries, Surface, Soil, and Streams—Land-Entries in Venice—Set-

tlement of the Townsliip—Organization and Township Civil List—
Early Township Roads—Schools—Venice Grange Patrons of Hus-

bandry.

The township of Venice is designated in the United

States survey as township No. 7 north, of range 4 east,

and lies on the eastern boundary-line of the county. It is

bounded on the north by Ilazelton, south by Vernon, of

which it was formerly a part, east by the township of Clay-

ton in Gene.=ee County, and west by Caledonia.

The surface is in general undulating, though large areas

of comparatively level lands are found in some localities in

the township. The soil is excellent, being a loam, inter-

mixed in some parts with clay, and in other places with

sand or gravel. A larger proportion of .sand is found in the

northwest part of the township than elsewhere, and in

many other parts the clayey loam is mixed to some extent

with gravel. Along the water-courses there is usually

found a rich clay soil, which is very productive. In earlier

years there was quite a large amount of swampy land, but

much of this has now, by an excellent system of drainage,

been converted into fertile fields.

Beech and maple are the prevailing woods, though oak,

ash, black-walnut, and hickory are also found, and the tama-

rack is the usual growth on the swampy lands. Rush Bed
Creek, the principal stream, rises in a marsh in the south

border of the township, and flows northeast into the town-

ship of Hazelton. A stream, formerly known as Stowell

Creek, has its source also in the south, and flowing north

and east joins the former creek in Hazelton. Webb Creek,

which meanders through the south part, flows into the

Shiawassee River.

LAND-ENTRIES IN VENICE.

The following is a list of original purchases from the

United States or the State of Michigan, of land on the

several sections in the township of Venice, with the year

in which such purchases were made

:

SECTION 1.

Acres.

John Cogcr, 18.36 80
J. H. Jerome, 1836 80
S. A. Goudard. 1S36 240
J. 11. Jerome, 1S36 112.93
K. Van Vechten, 1836 199.77

SECTION 2.

Isaac Smith, 1836 240
J. H. Jerome, 1836 372.96
Porter Ilazelton (State), 1849 16o'

SECTION 3.

J. L. Larzalere, 1S49 377.30
George Harnell, 1849 160
Porter Ilazelton (State), 1849 leo

SECTION 4.

Porter Hazelton (State), 1849 378
Jumea Seymour (State), 1849 200
Nathaniel Hodge (State), 1849 80
S. M. Root (State), 1850 '..".

40

» By E. 0. Wagner.

SECTION 5.

Acres.

Porter Hazelton, 1849 271.62
J. P. Ilodge, 1849 80
Mole and Durham, 1819 160
James Grant, 1849 191.54

SECTION 6.

J. L. Woodruff, 1831 191.04
James Grant, 1849 160
S. M. Root, 1849 472.47

SECTION 7.

J. B.Goss, 1839 120
J. Van Auken, 1839 65.76
J. F. Hollerman, 1839 80
J. Durrin, ISoO 40
0. F. Sessions, 1842 40
John Layton, 1839 SO
Daniel Lingo (State), 1851 132.52
Henry AVilco.x (State), 1849 4fl

J. C. Bailey (State), 1849....". 40
John Pennington (State), 1851 40

SECTION 8.

E. G. Faile, 1836 160
Henry Hawkins, 1837 160
V. R. Hawkins.
G. W. Priest, 1839 80
J. F. Hollerman, 1839 80
David Young (State), 1848 160
J. C. Bailey (State), 1851 160
Henry Bale, 1850 80
S. M. Root, 1851 80
Louis Metcalf, 1850 160

SECTION 9.

Chiirles Hillsburg, 1836 160
T. J. Burns, 1836 160
N. G. Peckham, 1836 80

Charles Taylor, 1836 80

C. H.Ecklif, 1837 80

J. E.Brown, 1854 80

SECTION 10.

A. R. Randall, 1836 160
Gilbert White (State), 1850 40

S. M. Root, 1850 120

SECTION 11.

J. H. Weeks, 1836 160
Jabez Williams, 1836 160

N. C. Peckham, 1836 160

S. M. Root, 1S50 SO

W. H. Hartman, 1850 80

SECTION 12.

Edwin Randall, 1S36 320
Chester Catlin, 1836 320

SECTION 13.

L. Barkman, 1836 80

Rollin Sprague, 1S36 240

C. C. Hascall, 1837 80

J. S. B.igg, 1837 240

SECTION 14.

T. Begford, 1836 160
David Halsted, 1836 80

S. K. Stevens, 1836 80
W. H. Hartman (State), 1850 160

S. B. Printer, 1850 160

SECTION 15.

J. F. Bliss, 1836 160

S. M. Mege, 1836 160

David Halsted, 1836 80

William Halsted, 1830 80

L. D. Fuller (State), 1S50 160

SECTION IB.

State 640

SECTION 17.

Abraham Bockoon, 1836 160

Paul Spafford, 1836 160

Almon Mack, 1836 SO
Charles Taylor, 1836 160

J. L. Larzalere, 1837 80
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SECTION 18.
Acres.

A. Rockoon, 1836 370.96

Z. Barber, 1839 80

Truman Bunco, 1S39 80

William Crnig, 1S51 132.64

George Rix, 1860 40

Henry \Vilco.\, 1849 40

SECTION 19.

J. C. Goodell, 1836 160

Paul Spofford, 1836 160

Gideon Lee, 1836 213.20

Henry Church, 1854 216.32

SECTION 20.

David Lee, 1836 160

A. Lacy, 1836 240

J. C. Goodell, 1836 80

B. Dutton, Jr., 1837 80

Thomas Curtis, 1839 40

Joseph Yerkes, 1854 40

SECTION 21.

J. F. Bliss, 1836 160

Frank Taylor, 1836 100

H. C. Bills, 1836 160

David Lee, 1836 160

SECTION 22.

J. F. Bliss, 1835 160

J. B. Vallee, 1836 160

David Lee, 1836 160

JI. Waltham, 1837 160

SECTION 23.

William Halsted, 1836 40

A. Jlaok, 1836 160

David Lee, 1836 160

J. L. Larzalcre, 1837 120

M. Ferguson, 1838 40

C. S. Stowell, 1842 40

Alonzo Torrey, 18.')4 80

SECTION 24.

Frank Taylor, 1836 32(1

B. B. Bradley, 1836 40

J. B. Reed, 1836 80

L. Barkman, 1836 40

C. C. Hascall, 1836 120

Louise Cronk, 1836 40

SECTION 25.

B. B. Bradley, 1836 80

M. Sober, 1836 100

J. B. Reed, 1836 80

E.G. Failc, 1836 80

M.Stewart, 1851 SO

J. C. Bailey, 1853 160

SECTION 26.

David Lee, 1836 160

Paul Spofford, 1836 320

Michael Ferguson, 1838 80

David S. James, 1854 80

SECTION 27.

James Smith, 1836 160

E. G. Faile, 1836 320

Hill and Norton, 1836 160

SECTION 28.

I'aul Spofford, 1836 160

Henry Calclazcr, 1837 160

M. WadhaniH, 1837 160

Thomas Van Quil, 1838 80

H.Richardson, 1838 80

SECTION 29.

Augustus Crane, 1836 160

S. B.Noble, 1837 240

M. W. Stevens, 1837 80

H. and V. U. Hawkins, 1837 160

SECTION 30.

H. Bigelow, 1836 160

David Leo, 1836 224

11. and V. K. Hawkins, 1837 139.92

Thomas Van (Jiiil, 183,S 811

J. M. Babbitt, 1852 160

SECTION 31.
Acres.

Z. R. Webb, 1834 145.84

W. P. Patrick, 1836 35

J. P. Clark, 1836 218.21

Sanders and Kittredge, 1836 141.48

L. B. Mizner, 1836 80

Clark and Warren, 1836 80

SECTION 32.

D. R. Carpenter, 1836 40

David Sutton, 1836 80

Samuel Wilkinson, 1836 120

Squire Adams, 1836 80

John Scotford, 1836 80

H. C. Walker, 18.36 160

C.P.Austin, 1836 80

SECTION 3.3.

Samuel Warren, 1836 40

G. W. Wells, 1836 161

Benton Reed, 1837 80

C. Colson, 1837 40

A.W.Jennings, 1837 40

D. L Lipe, 1838 120

J. Van Auken, 1839 40

John Lavton, 1839 40

D. S. Jones, 1854 80

SECTION 34.

John Thomas, 1836 160

Paul Spofford, 1836 160

James Ferguson, 1838 160

C. T. Jones, 1842 80

B.S.Jones, 1842 40

A. W. Cronkhite, 1849 40

SECTION 35.

J. F. Freeborn and J.J. Crane, 1836 320

M. Wadhams, 1837 1«0

A. L. Smith (State), 1S58 40

(i. W. Stubbs (State), 1858 40

J. A. Case (Slate), 1864 40

SECTION 36.

Orson Bouch (State) 40

Levi Smith (State), 1S64 40

G. W. Stubbs (State), 1859 40

E. G. Fail, 1838 80

E. Spoor, 1837 80

Charles West, 1837 80

Dow Bogert, 18.38 80

IraH. Butterlield, 1850 160

SETTLEMENT OF THE TOWNSHIP.

The larger proportion of the lands of Venice were

entered by parties from Michigan and the Etist for pur-

poses of speculation, and it was not until years later that

the forests which covered thcnj were cleared and a decided

improvement in their condition was witnessed.

Tlie earliest settler within the boundaries of Venice was

Zachariah Rogers Webb, who ctime from another portion

of the county, and in 1834 entered one hundred and

forty-six acres on section 'M. Mr. Webb did not take

po8.scssion of his land until one year later, but remained in

Vernon and meanwhile erected a log house and began

clcarintr. He was a niiin of sdiolarly altainments and wide

information, though eccentric to a degree. Many stories

are told of his intercourse with the Indians, who, discovering

the vein of eccentricity in tlie man, occasionally took ad-

vantace of it to his discomfiture. He was an ardent

admirer of the Indian language, of which he acquired some

knowledge, but which failed to prove of any pnictical

value. jMr. Webb's house was destroyed by fire in KSItG,

after which lie removed from the township. The land

pa.ssctl itilo other bands, and is now occupied by •!. W. Clark

and Kli Martin.
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Joel B. Goss, who in point of arrival may be ranked as

the second settler, came from the South to Venice iu the

spring of 1837, having purchased land entered by other

persons. He bought eighty acres on section 32, upon

which he soon after erected a log house and began the work

of improvement. He did not, however, remain suflSciently

Ion" to reap a material benefit from this labor, but sold

and purchased the farm on section 7, which was soon after

exchanged for property in Vernon, where he found a tem-

porary home. He afterwards moved to Owosso, but his

restless nature early sought another change, and he migrated

to the State of Arkansas, where for years he followed the

career of an adventurer, encountering many vici.<situdes in-

cident to this nomadic life. His life was a varied scone of

prosperity and misfortune, and the exact measure of either

which fell to his lot it would be difficult to determine.

His death occurred iu Arkansas, far from the scenes of

his early pioneer experiences.

Hiram Johnson came from Livingston County in 1837,

and purchased one hundred and sixty acres on section 29.

Upon this land the work of clearing was not yet begun,

but Mr. Johnson entered upon his labors with a brave

heart. Mr. Go.ss extended a welcome to his family, and

with him they found comfortable quarters until a log house

was prepared for their reception. To this they removed

and Mr. Johnson began the labor of clearing. He made

rapid progress, and was fast converting the forest into a

productive farm when he became dissatisfied with his home

in Venice, and removed to the city of Flint. The farm in

Venice, however, ere long claimed them again as residents,

until their removal in 1871 to Caledonia, their present

home. Mr. Johnson was the third settler in the township,

only Goss and Webb having preceded him. The recollec-

tion of his pioneer days affords him a pleasing retrospect.

He was actively interested in the early progress of the

township, and frequently an office-holder. In his family

occurred the earliest birth in Venice, that of his daughter

Sarah in 1838. The same year witnessed the first death

in the township, that of a child of Joel B. Goss.

William Piaceway, a former resident of the Green Moun-

tain Slate, .settled upon one hundred and sixty acres on

section 30 in 1838, made a preliminary clearing, and built

a log house. He remained four years, and then exchanged

his farm for property owned by Andrew Lytle, in Living-

ston County, to which land he removed in 1845. Mr.

Piaceway was an active, enterprising citizen, but did not

remain sufficiently long in Venice to become identified with

its interests. John Webb, a pioneer of the same name

though not related to the earliest settler, leased of parties

who had previously entered the land a farm on section 29.

He remained in the township several years, and cultivated

the small portion he cleared, but made little progress in his

farming pursuits. At one time, while hunting cattle, he lost

his way, and for three days was not heard from. His absence

caused some alarm in the community, and a vigorous search

was instituted, accompanied by the tiring of guns, and other

signals. He finally wandered into Genesee County, where

he was discovered, ragged and bruised, and so helpless from

fatigue and fright as to be unable to give any information

respecting his absence.

Nelson Ferry, whose family figure conspicuously in the

early educational matters of the township, was a pioneer

from the Buckeye State in 1839, and located upon the farm

formerly owned by J. B. Goss on section 32. A log house

had already been built and a portion of the land improved,

which relieved Mr. Ferry of the earlier labor of the settler.

He remained until 1842, when he removed to Caledonia,

having effected an exchange of flirms with Thomas Mc-

Laren. He died in Corunna in 1846. Several of Mr.

Ferry's children still reside in the county. He was county

surveyor at the time of his residence in Venice, and is

described as a man of marked ability in his profession.

Elnathan Brown, another pioneer from Ohio, left his na-

tive State for the township of Vernon in 1837, and in 1839

came to Venice, where he purchased. of E. C. Kimberly

(then acting as agent for an Eastern company) seventy-two

acres of land on section 30. This was at the time wholly

unimproved. Hiram Johnson, William Piaceway, Joel B.

Goss, and John Webb were improving their land, while Z.

R. Webb had made his advent and departed. Mr. Brown

erected a log house, having meanwhile shared with Mr.

Piaceway his humble quarters. He cleared five acres the

first year, having bound himself to improve that amount

of land and place crops upon it each successive year. In

the third year the land was paid for, and he was thus freed

from his obligation. Mr. Brown was for some years the

only landlord of the township. His hotel having been

consumed by fire, his life has since been devoted to

farming.

Among the most enterprising and well informed of the

survivors of the early days of the township's history is

Charles Wilkinson, who came from Jefferson Co., N. Y., in

1834 and located in Oakland County, from whence he came

to Venice in 1840. His farm was the former home of Joel

B. Goss, and embraced eighty acres on section 7. A log

cabin was standing on his land when he arrived, and there

were nine acres cleared, to which he added seven additional

acres the following year. Truman Bunce, who came the

same season, was his nearest neighbor. Indians were then

quite numerous, and oflen called at the door to effect an

exchange of venison and other game for bread and potatoes.

Cranberries were also an article of traffic with them.

Occasional religious services were held at the houses of

the settlers, and on such occasions many people came to the

place of worship with ox-teams. Eldei-s Cosart and String-

ham officiated on these occasions. The former, who was

one of the earliest of the Michigan pioneers in the work

of the ministry, purchased a farm on section 31, to which

he retired and spent the remainder of his busy life, his

death occurring in 1876. George C. Wilkinson, who now

resides on the farm with his father, was the first boy born

in the township, 1840 being the year of his birth.

Truman Bunce, another pioneer of 1840, and a native

of the Empire State, settled upon eighty acres, which he

entered in 1839. He remained with Mr. Goss while build-

ing a cabin, to which, upon its completion, he at once re-

moved and began the labor of clearing. Mr. Bunce after-

wards went to California, and after a sojourn of two years

in the Golden State returned to his former home in Venice,

but did not long survive. He was a citizen of influence in
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the township, took a prominent purt in its organization, and

was the recipient of early official honors.

Daniel I. Lipe, wliose ancestors were among the hardy

sons of the Mohawk Valley, N. Y., first emigrated to

Grand Blanc, Genesee Co., and in 1838 entered one hun-

dred and twenty acres on section 33 of Venice. Soon

afler, he purchased an additional one hundred and sixty

acres of James Ferguson, and became a resident of the

township in 1840. Mr. Lipe devoted his energies to the

work before him, and found an ample field of labor in the

dense forest which covered the purchase he had made. In

1845 he had achieved much progress, and a productive

farm was already the result of his energy when death sud-

denly ended his labors. Mrs. Lipe removed to Genesee

County, but afterwards returned to the homestead in

Venice, where she now resides with her daughter, Mrs. F.

G. Bailey. Mr. Lipe was an important man in the first

township-meeting, and was honored by his neighbors with

the position of supervisor on that occasion.

John Durrin, previously of Ohio, located upon eighty

acres on section 7 in 1841. The soil of Venice did not

please him, and he .soon after departed, having made but

little improvement on the land. In the same year came

Palmer C. Card from the township of Burns to Venice,

and located upon one hundred and sixty acres now occu-

pied by L. Sprague. A partial improvement on the land

had been made by parties in Pontiac, who were the original

owners. Mr. Card spent ten years upon this farm (which,

in its highly-cultivated condition, bore witness to his in-

dustry), and then removed to section 30, where he remained

until his ultimate departure from Venice for another field

of labor.

During this early period much sufiering resulted from

the prevalence of malarial fever, Venice having been no

more favored than other portions of the State in this re-

gard. The physician who ministered to the wants of the

community was Dr. Harder, of Shiawassee township, there

having been no resident physician in Venice at that time.

Neely Sawtell, at whose house the first election for town-

ship ofiicers was held and who served in the capacity of

clerk on this occasion, removed from Oakland County in

1842, and located upon the east half of the .southeast quar-

ter of section 17. He found a serious obstacle to his set-

tlement in the depth of the Rush Bed Creek, which was

not bridged and could not be forded. Having arrived in

tli(^ township in the spring, the family were obliged to re-

main two miles east of the centre until July 4th, when

the crossing of the stream was made possible by low water.

Mr. Sawtell had meanwhile built a cabin of boughs, to

which they removed and at once began their pioneer labors.

Truman Bunce. whose log cabin was not far distant, alTordi'd

them an opjiortunity of occasionally paying a neighborly

visit. Mr. Sawtell remained in the township until 18GG,

when he removed to A'^crnon, and died in the following

year.

Very graphic descriptions are given of the earliest town-

ship-meeting. The actual business of the occasion was

trnn.sicted in a brief time, but the law required the polls to

be open until four o'clock. Many devices were employed

to kill the time, and a hilarious occasion was the result.

Three pioneers from Oakland County preceded Mr. Saw-

tell by one year. Klihu Stewart located upon eighty acres

on section 23, upon which he erected a log house. This

he occupied for two years while he felled the forest and

made a clearing sufficiently large upon which to raise a crop

of wheat. At the expiration of that period Oakland

County claimed him again as a resident.

James Dunbar arrived in the same year, and purchased a

farm of eighty acres on section 13. His pioneer experi-

ence in Venice was confined simply to the building of a

house, which he soon after vacated and returned to Oakland

County.

Daniel W. Stowell had an experience identical witii that

of his friend Mr. Stewart. He located on section 13, and

after a sojourn of two years returned with him to their

former home.

Andrew Lytic, a former resident of St. Lawrence Co.,

N. Y., became a pioneer in Livingston County in 1836,

and in 1844 moved to Venice. He occupied the farm of

ninety acres vacated by Mr. Placeway on section 29, upon

which a partial clearing had been made and a primitive

habitation built. His nearest neighbor was Thomas Mc-

Laren, who still resides in the township. Five years later

Mr. Lytle built a substantial frame residence, which is his

present home.

Alonzo H. Owens removed from Grand Blanc to the

township in 1843, and secured forty acres of land on sec-

tion 33, for which he paid by one year of labor. He
erected a board shanty, the lumber for which was purchased

with lumber-orders, which in view of the scarcity of cur-

rency at that time were a legal tender. Mr. Owens led the

solitary life of a bachelor for a year, after which a wife

was brought to his simple home. His nearest neighbor

was Abram Jennings, who located upon the same section

and died in 1847. Before his permanent settlement Mr.

Owens had cleared three acres, which he sowed with wheat,

using oxen to assist in the clearing. He sold his land in

1852 and selected what he regarded as a more eligible site

on section 28. This was also unimproved at the time of its

purchase. It has been converted since that time into a

highly-productive farm, upon which he at present resides.

Mr. Owens is a public-spirited citizen, and keenly alive to

the interests of the township.

The progress of settlements in Venice up to the year

1844 is indicated by lln' following list of resident tax-payers

in the township, taken from the as,sessment-roll of that year,

viz.

:

A. M. Jennings.

B. S. Jones.

P. C. Card.

William Placeway.

B. J. Bentley.

Thomas McLaren.

Alpha ('arr.

Klnathan Brown.

Jonathan Durrin.

Nocly Sawtell.

Truman Bunce.

Charles B. Yorkes.

Lewis W. Covoll.

(^harlcs Wilkinson,

(i. \V. Priest.

I>. 1 Lipe.

Lewis W. Covell settled, in \>>\l, on !<eclion 17, and

went resolutely to work to olcar and improve \m land.

Al'terwards the farm rami! into the pos-scssion of Thnni.is

Siuip.'ion, who now occupies it.
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Joseph Card was one of the pioneers of 1846, who located

a home upon section 31, where he purchased eighty acres.

He devoted much labor to its improvement, and remained

upon it until his death. Guy N. Roberts now resides upon

the estate.

L. S. and C. L. Cronkhite, former residents of JMonroe

County, N. Y., were among the arrivals in 1845, and located

upon one hundred and sixty acres on section 22. B. S.

Jones had previously settled upon section 29, and with him

they found a home while making their purchase habitable.

They found on their arrival a vast uncleared tract, which

has been converted into the most productive land in the

township. Both have now fine farms on the same section.

Asahel Owen, a pioneer of 1848, located on section 31.

This land had been previously occupied by a settler named

Carr, who had effected a slight improvement, to which he

added on taking possession. A highly-cultivated farm is

the result of his labor, and upon it a spacious residence has

recently been built. Mr. Owen has fref|uently served as

supervisor, and is esteemed as a public-s])irited citizen.

Samuel Martin, a former resident of St. Lawrence Co.,

N. Y., removed to the township of Venice in 1850, and

ultimately settled on section 18. With him came six sons,

five of whom are now residents of the township. Mr. Mar-

tin died, in 1871, on the homestead, which is now occupied

by his son, John L. Martin.

John J. P. Gerardy left his native France in 1855, and

the same year located in Venice upon the west half of the

northwest quarter of section 17, a small portion of which

had been cleared, and a log house built upon it. Mr. Ge-

rardy improved but little the first year, having become a

victim to chills and fever immediately on his arrival. The

nearest settler was George Wren, who located in the same

year, and died on the farm he occupied. Mr. Gerardy now

has one hundred and sixty acres improved, and a substantial

residence built upon it. He is now township clerk, which

office he has filled for successive terms.

Among other settlers who arrived in Venice between the

years 1840 and 1844 are B. I. Bcntley, Charles R. Yerkcs,

Alpha Carr, G. W. Priest, and Thomas McLaren, each of

whom contributed in a greater or less degree to the pros-

perity of the township.

ORGANIZATION AND TOWNSHIP CIVIL LIST.

The organization of Venice as a separate township was

effected under an act of the Legislature, approved March

9, 1843, which provided and declared, " That all that por-

tion of the county of Shiawassee designated by the United

States survey as township number seven north, of range

four east, formerly belonging to the township of Owosso,

but now to the township of Vernon, be and the same is

hereby set off and organized into a separate township by

the name of Venice, and the first township-meeting shall

be held at the house of Neely Sawtell."

In accordance with the provisions of the act, the earliest

township-meeting of the township of Venice was held on

the first Monday in April, 1843, at the house of Neely

Sawtell. D. I. Lipe was chosen moderator ; P. C. Card,

Truman Bunce, and Joseph Dunbar inspectors of election
;

and Neely Sawtell clerk. The officers for that year, together

with the result of succeeding elections, until the present

date, are given in the following list, viz.

:

1843.—Supervisor, Daniel I. Lipe; Township Clerk, Neely

Sawtell ; Treasurer, Charles Wilkinson ; Highway

Commissioners, Truman Bunce, Joseph Dunbar,

A. M. Jennings ; Directors of the Poor, Truman

Bunce, A. M. Jennings ; Constables, Charles

Wilkinson, William Placeway.

1844.—Supervisor, D. I. Lipe; Clerk, Neely Sawtell;

Treasurer, Charles Wilkinson ; Highway Com-

missioners, A. M. Jennings, B. S. Jones, G. W.
Priest ; School Inspector, D. I. Lipe ; Direc-

tors of the Poor, A. M. Jennings, Trumitn Bunce

;

Constables, W. Placeway, G. W. Priest.

1845.—Supervisor, Truman Bunce; Township Clerk, Neely

Sawtell ; Treasurer, Charles Wilkinson ; High-

way Commissioners, G. W. Priest, B. S. Jones,

EInathan Brown ; Justice of the Peace, John

Jones ; School Inspector, D. S. Jones ; Directors

of the Poor, T. Bunce, P. C. Card ; Constables,

A. A. Cronkhite, E. Brown.

1846.— Supervisor, T. Bunce; Township Clerk, N. Saw-

tell ; Treasurer, Charles Wilkinson
; Justice of

the Peace, T. Bunce ; School Inspector, D. M.

Lytle ; Highway Commissioners, C. L. Cronk-

hite, A. M. Jennings, 0. Limbocker ; Directors

of the Poor, T. Bunce, P. C. Card ; Constable,

A. A. Cronkhite.

1847.—Supervisor, T. Bunce; Township Clerk, E. Holt,

Jr. ; Treasurer, Charles Wilkinson ; Justice, P.

C. Card ; School Inspectors, D. S. Jones, E.

Brown ; Directors of -the Poor, 0. Limbocker,

Andrew Lytle ; Highway Commissioners, C. L.

Cronkhite, E. Brown, G. W. Priest ; Constable,

A. A. Cronkhite.

1848.—Supervisor, E.J. Holt; Township Clerk, Joseph

Card ;
Treasurer, Stephen Lytle ; School In-

spectors, D. S. Jones, E. Brown ; Justices, B.

H. Eraser, D. S. Jones; Highway Commission-

ers, C. L. Cronkhite, E. Brown, G. W. Priest

;

Directors of the Poor, H. Johnson, 0. Lim-

bocker ; Constables, Porter C. Card, A. A.

Cronkhite.

1849.—Supervisor, P. C. Card; Township Clerk, Joseph

Card ; Treasurer, E. Holt, Jr. ; Justice, Neely

Sawtell; Highway Commissioner, Andrew Lytle;

School Inspector, D. S. Jones ; Constables, H.

H. Jennings, R. Byington, E. Brown.

1850.—Supervisor, Truman Bunce ; Township Clerk,

Neely Sawtell ; Treasurer, Charles Wilkinson

;

Justice, Truman Bunce ; Director of the Poor,

J. M. Wells; Highway Commissioners, C. L.

Cronkhite, Riley Byington ; School Inspector,

A. II. Owens ; Constables, J. W. Card, H. Jen-

nings.

1851.—Supervisor, Truman Bunce; Township Clerk, H.

H. Lytle ;
Treasurer, Charles Wilkinson ; High-

way Commissioner, C. L. Cronkhite ; School In-

spector, E. Brown ; Directors of the Poor, R.

Byington, 0. Limbocker ; Constables, J. W.

I
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Card, G. W. Priest, E. Johnson, H. H. Jeti-

nings.

1852.—Supervisor, Charles Wilicinson
; Township Clerk,

D. S. Jones ; Justices, E. Brown, D. S. Jones

;

Treasurer, B. S. Jones
; Highway Commission-

ers, S. S. Martin, J. Pierce ; School Inspector, J.

W. Card ; Constables, A. H. Jennings, A. Pierce.

1853.—Supervisor, Charles Wilkinson ; Township Clerk,

D. S. Jones ; Treasurer, B. S. Jones
; Justice,

Charles Wilkinson ; Highway Commissioner, C.

A. Cronkhite ; School Inspector, A. H. Owens
;

Director of Poor, S. S. Martin ; Constables, H.

H. Jennings, J. W. Card.

1854.—Supervisor, Charles Wilkinson ; Township Clerk,

D. S. Jones ; Treasurer, William Lindsey
; Jus-

tice, S. S. Martin ; School Inspector, Benjamin

Wells; Directors of Poor, C. L. Cronkhite, D.

M. Lytic ; Constables, L. S. Wells, L. S. Cronk-

hite, H. H. Jennings.

1855.—Supervisor, Charles Wilkinson; Township Clerk,

E. Brown ; Treasurer, William Lindsey; Justice,

Palmer C. Card
;
Highway Commissioner, S. S.

Martin; School Inspector, D. S. Jones; Directors

of Poor, H. Johnson, Henry Church ; Consta-

bles, A. Daniels, Joseph Craig, L. S. Wells, L.

S. Cronkhite.

1856.—Supervisor, Neely Sawtell ; Township Clerk, P. C.

Card
; Treasurer, C. L. Cronkhite

; Justice, A.

H. Owens; Highway Commissioner, H. Elwell

;

Directors of Poor, R. H. Fraser, J. W. Yerkes
;

School Inspector, R. Byington
; Constables, R.

Byington, Amasa Daniels, A. L. Fraser, James

McLaren.

1857.—No record.

1858.—Supervisor, Charles Wilkinson ; Township Clerk,

D. S. Jones ; Trea.surer, C. L. Cronkhite ; Jus-

tice, S. S. Martin ; School Inspector, E. Brown

;

Directors of Poor, P. C. Card, R. Byington

;

Highway Corami.ssioner, M. S, Chapman ; Con-

stables, A. Fosdick, Jo.seph Craig, L. S. John-

son, J. M. Babbitt.

1859.—Supervisor, H. H. Lytic; Township Clerk, C.

Yerkes
; Treasurer, William Lind.soy

;
Justices,

M. L. Curtis, H. H. Lytic ; Highway Commis-

sioner, C. J. Young, II. Church ; School In-

spector, M. L. Curtis; Directors of Poor, T.

McLaren, J. W. Yerkes; Constables, H. Sawtell,

B. F. Card, Eli John.son, Charles Wren.

18G0.—Supervisor, II. H. Lytic; Township Clerk, C.

Yerkes ; Treasurer, William Lind.sey ; Justice,

B. F. Card ; Highway Commissioner, D. J. Ken-

dall ; School In.spcctor, R. C. Satterley
;
Consta-

bles, L. S. Cronkhite, Andrew Bliss, Ira Harding,

Eli Johnson.

18U1.—Supervisor, II. II. Lytic; Township Clerk, F. G.

Bailey
;
Treasurer, William Lind.sey

;
School In-

spector, C. Yerkes ; Highway Commissioner,

George Wren ; Justices, William A. Calkins,

II. II. Lytic; Constables, W. Leonard, Ira Hard-

ing, A. Daniels, Eli Johnso'J.

1862.—Supervisor, H. H. Lytic; Township Clerk, F. G.

Bailey ; Treasurer, W. A. Calkins ;
Justices, R.

C. Johnson, C. Yerkes; Highwaj' Commissioners,

E. C. Shipman, S. A. Lytic ; School Inspector,

C. A. Cronkhite ; Constables, W. A. Calkins,

Eli Johnson, E. Martin, E. Johnston.

1863.—Supervisor, H. H. Lytle; Township Clerk, R. B.

Wyles ; Treasurer, W. A. Calkins; Justices, C.

Yerkes, W. B. Hender; School Inspectors, C.

Yerkes, A. F. Martin; Highway Corami.ssioner,

D. J. Kendall ; Constables, E. Johnston, Eli

Johnson, L. S. Cronkhite, Nelson Heatou.

1864.—Supervisor, H. H. Lytle; Township Clerk, A. H.

Church ; Treasurer, W. A. Calkins ; Justice,

C. Wilkinson ; Highway Commissioner, S. A.

Lytic ; School Inspector, A. F. Martin ; Con-

stables, Eli Johnson, S. Cronkhite, John Wood,

David Calkins.

1865.—Supervisor, Asahel Owen ; Township Clerk, J. J.

P. Gerardy ;
Treasurer, Gleason Young ; Jus-

tices, P. C. Card, D. S. Lampheer; Highway

Commissioners, M. S. Chapin, Jerome Sprague,

N. Sawtell ; School Inspectors, R. B. Wyles, E.

Brown
;
Constables, Amasa Daniels, Peter Geek,

E. Johnston, Gilbert Card.

186G.—Supervisor, Asahel Owen ; Township Clerk, J. J.

P. Gerardy; Treasurer, William Calkins; Jus-

tice, G. I. Young ; School Inspector, R. B.

Wyles; Highway Commissioner, G. W. Priest;

Constables, Calvin Craig, G. H. Card, Reuben

Johnson, Gilbert Fraser.

18G7.—Supervisor, F. G. Bailey ; Township Clerk, T.

Resigue ; Treasurer, W. A. Calkins ; Justice,

Charles Wilkinson ; School Inspectors, A. F.

Martin, C. Yerkes ; Highway Commissioner, C.

S. Wren ; Constables, A. Bliss, Eli Johnson,

William Leonard, James Mott.

1868.—Supervisor, Asahel Owen ; Township Clerk, J. J. P.

Gerardy ;
Treasurer, Riley Byington

;
Justice,

E. Brown; School In.spcctor, Hiram Johnson,

Jr.; Highway Commissioners, C. L. Cronkhite,

I. D. Hannah ;
Constables, 11. John.son, L. By-

ington, Kdwaid Smith.

1869.—Supervisor, Asahel Owen; Township Clerk, J.J.

P. Gerardy ; Treasurer, G. C. Becbc ; Justice,

A. II. Owens; School Inspector, E. Brown;

Highway Commissioner, A. F. Martin; Consta-

bles, H. Hnmi)hrcy, J. W. Card, Hiram John-

son, Jr., Alfred Fraser.

1870.—Supervisor, Asahel Owen ;
Townshi]) Clerk, J. J.

P. Gerardy ;
Trea.surcr, E. Brown ; Justice, G. J.

Young; Highway Commissioner, I. D. Hannah
;

School Inspector, Hiram John.son, Jr. ; Consta-

bles, II. Humphrey, Joseph Priest, Samuel

Schoch, A. Stewart.

1871.—Supervisor, Alexander Stewart; Township Clerk,

J. J. P. Gerardy ; Treasurer, John West
; School

Inspector and Drain Commissioner, A. H.

Owens; Highway Commissioners, George Tur-

ner, A. M. Elwell; Justice, A- J- Augsbury

;
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Constables, H. Humphrey, R. Johnson, William

Rollin, John Card.

1S72.—Supervisor, Alexander Stewart; Township Clerk,

J. J. P. Gcrardy ; Treasurer, E. Brown ; School

Inspector, Hiram Johnson, Jr. ;
Highway Com-

missioner, C. E. Shipman
;
Drain Commissioner,

G. L. Cronkhite ; Justice, E. Brown ; Consta-

bles, H. Johnson, Jr., J. W. King, E. Leonard,

Theodore Niver.

1873.—Supervisor, Alexander Stewart ; Township Clerk,

J. J. P. Gerardy ; Treasurer, E. Brown ; School

Inspector, James Twitchell ; Drain Commis-

sioner, C. L. Cronkhite; Highway Commis-

sioner, C. L. Cronkhite; Justice, A. H. Owens
;

Constable, John Card.

1874.—Supervisor, Asahel Owen; Township Clerk, J. J.

P. Gerardy ; Treasurer, E. Brown ; School In-

spector, Hiram Johnson ; Highway Commis-

sioners, Ira Church, M. M. Byington ; Drain

Commissioner, H. Johnson, Jr. ; Justice, G. J.

Youngs; Constables, John Card, Peter Geeck.

1875.—Supervisor, Alexander Stewart; Township Clerk,

J. J. P. Gerardy; Treasurer, E. Brown ; Super-

intendent of Schools, G. T. Priest ; School In-

spector, James Twitchell; Highway Commis-

sioner, C. S. Cronkhite ; Drain Commissioner,

Charles Ewing ; Justice, A. J. Augsbury ; Con-

stables, J. W. Card, J. L. Whcclock, D. W.
Cronkhite, T. Niver.

1876.—Supervisor, E. Brown ; Township Clerk, J. J. P.

Gerardy ; Treasurer, M. M. Byington ; Super-

intendent of Schools, G. T. Priest; Inspector of

Schools, James Twitchell; Highway Commis-

sioner, Edwin Gidley ; Drain Commissioner,

George Wilkinson
; Justice, Alexander Stewart

;

Constable, H. Humphrey.

1877.—Supervisor, E. Brown; Township Clerk, J. J. P.

Gerardy ; Treasurer, M. M. Byington ; Super-

intendent of Schools, G. T. Priest ; Inspector of

Schools, J. Twitchell ; Highway Commissioner,

S.Schoch; Drain Commissioner, A. J. Augsbury.

1878.— Supervisor, Ira C. Church ; Township Clerk, F. G.

Bailey ; Treasurer, M. M. Byington ; Super-

intendent of Schools, C. W. Shipman
; Inspector

of Schools, Lewis Bugea ; Highway Commis-

sioner, James Martin ; Drain Commissioner,

Edward Leonard ; Justice, Charles Wilkinson
;

Constables, T. F. Niver, G. H. Fraser, C. W.
Shipman.

1879.—Supervisor, Ira Church; Township Clerk, F. G.

Bailey
; Treasurer, James Martin

; Superintend-

ent of Schools, A. H. Owens; Inspector of

Schools, Lewis Bugea
; Highway Commissioner,

William White; Justice, A. J. Augsbury.

1880 —Supervisor, M. M. Byington
; Tuwn.ship Clerk, J.

J. P. Gerardy; Treasurer, James Martin ; Super-

intendent of Schools, J. E. Lancock ; Inspector

of Schools, Lewis Bugea; Highway Commis-

sioner, Thomas Lancock ; Drain Commissioner,

Edward Leonard
; Justice, Alexander Stewart.

EARLY TOWNSHIP ROADS.

The earliest road that traversed the township of "Venice

was surveyed by Nelson Ferry, in June, 1840, and began at

the northwest corner of section 31 , from whence it pursued a

northerly course to the west f|uarter post of section 18,

having been two and a half miles in length. The second

road began at the quarter post on the west line of section

32, and ran north to the quarter post on the west line of

section 29 ; thence north to a point intersecting a road run-

ning east and west through sections 7, 8, 9, and 10. It

was surveyed Nov. 21, 1840, by Nelson Ferry; Heman

Harrington and Nelson Ferry having been highway com-

missioners. The third road began at the northwest corner

of section 20, and pursued a southerly course to the

northeast corner of section 23. The survey was made

by Nelson Ferry, on the 9th, 10th, and 12th of March,

1841. A fourth road was surveyed at the same date, be-

ginning on the southeast corner of section 33 and termi-

nating at the northeast corner of section 4, its length being

six miles.

SCHOOLS.

The earliest school in the township was taught in the

year 1840, at the house of Nelson Ferry, by his daughter.

Miss Frances Ferry, an addition having been built to his

house for the purpose. Meanwhile a frame school build-

ing, familiarly known in after-years as the " old red school-

house," was erected on section 32, and Mr. Ferry himself

presided as the teacher of the district. Some time after-

wards a school was opened in a barn belonging to Charles

Wilkinson, on section 7, and was taught by Miss Julia

Card. The school-house in this district, which was the

second built in the township, was erected in 1850, the first

teacher having been Miss Celia Hawkins, now Mrs. James

B. Wheeler, of Corunna.

The present school territory of the township is divided

into eight whole districts. The present directors are John

Davids, George Chavey, Lewis Bugea, A. J. Muzzy, Rolla

Turk, Charles Shipman, A. J. Augsbury, and John Gauss-

ley. The total value of school property in the town-

ship is three thousand two hundred and seventy-three dol-

lars, which includes one brick, one log, and six frame school

buildings.

VENICE GRANGE, No. 388, PATRONS OF HUS-
BANDRY.

The Venice Grange was organized April 13, 1874, by

Deputy C. M. Wood, with a charter membership of twenty-

seven male and twenty-five female Patrons. The following

were its first officers : Fred G. Bailey, Master ; A. H.

Owens, Overseer ; D. W. Cronkhite, Lecturer ; W. Bing-

ham, Steward ; E. C. Shipman, Chaplain ; Alexander

Stewart, Treasurer ; John J. P. Gerardy, Secretary. The

same officers were re-elected at the next election. The

latest recorded officers are William Leonard, Master
; Alex-

ander Stewart, Overseer ; F. G. Bailey, Lecturer ; M. M.

Byington, Steward ; A. H. Owens, Chaplain
; C. L. Cronk-

hite, Treasurer ; Hiram Reed, Secretary.

I



VENICE TOWNSHIP. 321

BIOGEAPHIOAL SKETCHES.

HON. F. G. BAILEY.

Among the names that are prominently connected with

the development, progress, and welfare of Shiawassee County

is that of F. G. Bailey. Having occupied some public

position the whole time during the last thirty years has

given him a large experience, which has contributed very

much to his .success and greatly to the advantage of the

public. He was born in the city of Bath, England, and at

the age of four years came to the United States with his

parents, who first made New York City their home and

afterwards removed to Rochester, N. Y. When he was

eighteen years of age he came to Hadley, Lapeer Co.,

Mich., where he engaged in teaching, which was for several

years his principal business. Ill health rendered an abandon-

ment of his profession necessary, and he then engaged in

mercantile business in Goodrich, Genesee Co., Mich., from

where he removed to Shiawassee County in 18C0, and en-

gaged in farming. Ill health again rendered a change

necessary, and he removed to Keweenaw Co., Mich., and

engaged in mercantile business. He was afterwards ap-

pointed freight agent by the Central Mining Company,

Eagle Harbor, for whom he erected an extensive wharf

and warehouses, and conducted the business until 1 SCO. He
then returned to his farm in Venice. He has served his

township as supervisor and as clerk for several terms. He
was one of the charter members of the State Grange, and is

vice-president of the Shiawassee Mutual Insurance Company,

and also one of the directors of the Shiawassee Agricul-

tural Association. He was elected member of the Legisla-

ture for 1873, also again for 187.'). He was appointed on

Committee on State Affairs and was the acting chairman

41

during the latter part of the session of 1873, also member
of Committee on Mines and Minerals. He was again ap-

pointed in 1875 on Committee on State Affairs, also made
chairman of Committee on Education. He was the intro-

ducer of the bill by which the three highway commissioners

were changed to one, securing more effective services and

greatly reducing the expen.se ; also offered an amcndmcDt

and secured its pa.ssage authorizing the j)urcha.se of State

bonds before maturity by the treasurer, by which the idle

millions in the State treasury were u.sed in payment of State

bonds and relieved the people of the payment of further

interest. In 1876, in conscf|uonceof the death of hi.s eldest

son and ill health, he refused to accept any public position

that might be tendered him, and since which has retired

from active public life.

ALONZO II. OWENS.

Alonzo H. Owens was born in Oneida County, State of

New York, Dec. .'), 1823. His father was a native of

Ma.s.sachusett8, and removed to the Mohawk Valley, New
York, in the year 1800. He was a gentleman of education,

and u.sed his scholarly ability in teaching, as he was very

sucocfssful in imparting hi.s kimwli'dge. He continued in

the profession many years, although his death occurred at

an early age, when Alonzo was in hi.s infancy.

Mrs. Owens, who was a native of Montgomery Co.,

N. Y., married again when her son was three years of age.

Very noon after this they removed to Western New York,



322 HISTORY OF SHIAWASSEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN.

remaining there until Alonzo was eleven years of age.

About this time his stepfather met with severe losses in

property and emigrated to Michigan, arriving in Grand

Blanc on the 1st of August, 1835, where he purchased

one hundred and sixty acres of land in an almost unbroken

wilderness. Alonzo passed his youth as did the sons of

all the early pioneers, toiling early and late, helping to

clear the land, hunting the cattle, driving the oxen, etc.,

until he reached the age of sixteen, when his stepfather

deeded his farm to his eldest son, obtaining a life-lease for

himself and wife. He was thus early thrown upon his

own resources. Many were the obstacles which he con-

stantly encountered, but " a brave soul is a thing which all

things serve;" so, through great perseverance, with the

encouragement of a devoted mother, he was enabled to

bear his lot with great bravery. He was passionately fond

of reading, and spent his leisure time perusing historical

works ; and as agriculture was the calling he had followed

and was still inclined to pursue, he was interested in all

books pertaining to this subject and a thorough reader of

many agricultural periodicals, the Albany Cultivator, from

the beginning of his career as a farmer, being always found

among his daily readings.

He attended a district school at the then small village of

Flint, paying his way by working for his board,—during

the summer months being employed on the farm. In

1843 he went to Venice, and for one year was in the

employ of Daniel J. Lipe, and was remunerated for his

services by forty acres of uncleared land. In the year

1845 he took up his abode with this family, improving his

land, sowing three acres of wheat, and in the spring of the

following year erected a temporary building, in which he

lived by himself until the spring of 1847, when he im-

proved this rude structure by remodeling and building an

addition to it, giving the house a neat and pretty cot^

tage appearance, suggestive of a home with all that name

implies. Thereupon he made a bold attack upon Capt.

John Davids, one of the first settlers of Corunna, asking

for his daughter in marriage. The proposition was ac-

cepted, the engagement short, and Miss Catharine Davids

became Mrs. Owens and graced the new home.

In the year 1851 he purchased the east half of northeast

quarter of section 28, one mile from his first home. Here

he built a frame residence, and occupied it in May, 1852,

where he still resides. In January, 1876, he purchased

eighty additional acres, thirty of which were occupied by

the Rush Bed swamp, which has been thoroughly drained

by a ditch, ten feet wide and four feet deep, running

through the centre, besides three hundred rods of under-

drains. His farm is also well supplied with springs, and is

considered one of the best and most desirable in this part

of the State, while his residence and buildings are of the

best, beautifully located, with picturesque landscape and

surroundings.

Unfortunately, Mr. Owens' wife soon after their marriage

became an invalid, and remained one until her death, which

occurred in June, 185G. On the 13th of May, 1857, he

was united in marriage to Miss Nancy Ann Crisman, of

Rome, N. Y., by whom he had two children,—Cynthia,

born June 21, 1858, and Crisman A., born June 0, 1862.

But again the angel of death visited his home, and on the

14th of June, 1862, his beloved companion was taken from

him, leaving the two little ones with their father, the eldest

being four years and the baby five days old. This blow

was a severe one, but persuaded by his friends he remained

on his farm, caring for and keeping his little family to-

gether; but in the early fall of 1862 he had again to drink

from sorrow's cup, little Cynthia leaving him to join her

mother, who had gone before. Then, indeed, the sunshine

seemed to have gone from his life, but he gloomily struggled

along its pathway until the 18th of November, 1864, when

he was again married to Miss Mary E. Lindley, of Venice,

Mich., though a native of Rochester, N. Y. On the 15th

of September, 1875, a daughter was born to them and

named Edith.

Mr. Owens is not sectarian in his religious views, but a

believer in the Christian faith and an active worker in the

Sabbath-school, contributing his means and influence to the

cause. He donated a beautiful grove of three acres, to be

used for picnics and out-door pleasures.

In politics he was, until the fall of 1878, a Democrat,

since when he has acted with the Nationals. He has never

sought office, but held a number of important positions,

viz. : school inspector, township superintendent, and justice

of the peace.

Mr. Owens' grandparents were soldiers in the war of the

Revolution, and during the late Rebellion he was known

as a War Democrat, contributing liberally to help his town

fill her quota and provide for the war-widows. His kind

and sympathetic heart often took him to visit the sick,

where he was of great help in caring for their wants,—

a

very desirable qualification for those pioneer days.

CHAPTER LXIV.

WOODHULL TOWNSHIP.*

Origin of the Township Name—Natural Features—Settlement and

Incidents—Township Organization and List of Officers—Early

Schools—Religious Societies.

The township of WoodhuU was named in honor of the

family of Joseph Woodhull, whose members were its first

settlers. At the time of its organization, it embraced, in

addition to its present territory, that which is now com-

prised within the limits of the township of Sciota, that

township having been set off' from it Feb. 16, 1842.

Woodhull presents nearly all the diversity in natural

features peculiar to Michigan. There are level tracts and

broken and upright ridges, and in contrast, considerable

low and swampy land. There are also heavily-timbered

tracts surrounding the more open and scantily-wooded por-

tions. In the northern part the .soil is somewhat heavy,

while in the southern part it is light and sandy. The

LookingGlass River flows through the northern part, while

Vermilion Creek waters the southern portions. The streams

afford good draining facilities for the township, and need

* B; G. A. McAlpine.
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only to bo taken advantage of in order to make valuable

much land at present comparatively worthless.

SETTLEMENT AND INCIDENTS.

On the 1st day of November, 1836, John and Josephus

Woodhull (brothers) reached the little log cabin then

known as Laing's tavern. It was probably the first build-

ing erected in the village of Laingsburg. It was a mere

slianty of logs, without floor other than the ground, with

no chimney save a hole in the roof, while stones set up in

one corner served as a fireplace. Here having met a pro-

fessional "land-looker" by the name of Johnson, they em-

ployed him as guide. They crossed the river on a raft,

south of the place now spanned by the bridge, and landed

between the " forks," as the locality was known in an early

day. After taking the description of certain portions of

sections 5 and 9, now in the township of Woodhull, the

brothers proceeded with all haste to Detroit. But it seems

the man whom they had employed as a guide was one

who in those days was called a " land-shark," but in the

refined phraseology of more modern days would be termed

a man of business capacity and shrewdness. They found

they had been preceded by a gentleman who had pur-

chased from the guide the minutes of the same land

which they wished to enter. They finally bought him off

for twenty dollars, and after waiting two days succeeded in

getting the duplicates of their land.

John Woodhull entered the northeast quarter of section

9. Josephus Woodhull entered two hundred and forty

acres of section 4, comprising the southeast quarter and the

east half of the southwest quarter. They then returned to

the frontier with two teams well loaded with provisions,

and the necessary implements and tools for building a house

and commencing life in their new home. On their return

they were accompanied by William Hildreth, a young man

in the employ of Josephus Woodhull. While these two

came into the township and built a cabin John Woodhull

returned to Nankin, Wayne Co., for the rest of the family.

Josephus Woodhull and William Hildreth therefore

built the first hou.se in the town.ship of Woodhull. 'J'lie

work was commenced and the first tree felled on the 2d day

of December, 1836. The house was built entirely of logs,

except the door, which was made of the lumber of a diy-

goods box brought from the State of New York. It was

sixteen by twenty feet, with a loft, which was reached by

means of a ladder hung by a hinge, in order that it might

be raised up to the ceiling out of the way. While the

house was building, the weather was exceedingly disagree-

able, being stormy and cold, and in addition to a lack of

help this also tended to retard its completion. Hut it was

finally finished, and a bright day it was for those who had

toiled many days in its construction (sleeping through the

long cold nights of the winter under a wagon) when it was

ready for" occupancy. It stood on the north part of the

cast half of the southwest quarter of section 4.

ISetweon Christmas and New Year Julin Wdoilhull re-

turned, bringing his parents and si.ster, his wife and three

cliildii'n. The settlement at this timcj therefore, consisted

of ten persons.

The winter was long and severe. The snow lay deep.

month after month, until near the 1st of April. The feed

for the stock was exhausted, and they were compelled then

to buy hay for six dollars per ton, which they hauled

twenty-three miles. Oats cost one dollar and sixty-three

cents per bushel, potatoes one dollar and twenty-five cents

per bushel, and pork twenty-five cents per pound. In the

spring Josephus Woodhull bought a load of potatoes of

Benjamin Gushing, who lived at Brighton. He planted

one-half acre, and cultivated them during the summer with

the greatest care, but owing to the heavy sward, which had

not yet decomposed, he received but fifteen bushels in re-

turn. Joseph Woodhull, the father of John and Josephus

Woodhull, died during the sickly sea.son of 1840. His

wife died in 1859, in the eighty-fifth year of her age.

John Woodhull, whose family, as stated, consisted of a

wife and three children, died in 1855. His wife went to

Wisconsin with a daughter, who married Walter Stone.

A son, Zenus S. Woodhull, still lives in the township.

Joseph Hildreth, the employee of Josephus Woodhull,

removed to Muskegon after living a number of years in

this county. His wife, who came to the township in 1838,

died in the fall of that year. Hers was the first death in

Woodhull. She was buried on the farm of Josephus

Woodhull. At this place one-half acre of land was after-

wards set off as a public cemetery.

Josephus Woodhull was a bachelor when he came to

Michigan. He married Phoebe Ann Laing, whose parents

were among the founders of Laingsburg.

In the early spring of 1837, Benjamin Lewitt and

Abram Schermerhorn, and their families, came to Wood-

hull. Mr. Lewitt purchased all of fractional section 5 ex-

cept forty acres, and employed Mr. Schermerhorn to work

for him. To him he sold the east half of the northwest

quarter of section 5 soon afterwards. In about three years

after coming to the township Mrs. Lewitt died, and was

buried on the farm. Mr. Lewitt then moved to Laings-

burg. In 1840 his brothers, John, Thomas, and William,

with their mother and two sisters, came in and occupied

this land. But the old lady soon died, after which Thomas

and the two sisters returned to England. Abram Scher-

merhorn sold his land to Joseph Woodhull and moved

away.

Philander T. Maine, a surveyor, came to the township

during this year, and was married to Miss Viana Wood-

hull. This was the first marriage in the township. She

died in a few years, after which Mr. Maine went to Jackson

County, where he died. In the fall several families located

across the line, in Sciota township, on section 32, Henry

Buel and Oliver B. Westcott being among the number.

The latter was the first town clerk and also tlie first .school-

teacher in Woodhull. In the fall of 1837 (about the 1st

of September), Josephus Woodhull sowed the first wheat

Sown in the township. The seed was |iurcliiLsed of .lob

Cranston, who lived near Brighton, Ijiviiigslon C<i.

In the spring of 1838, Francii^ F. Mann, John luid

Samuel (Jrahain, and Perry Parshiill, wilh their families,

arrived. Mr. Mann first came tn the tuwii.shi]! in October,

1837, at which time he located the southeast quarter of tiie

northeast ((Uarter of section 10, and purchased the south-

east (piarter of .section 9. In the following miinth of
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December, Mr. Mann having business in Ypsilanti, started

with a yoke of oxen and a grist of buckwheat to go to that

village. On the way he left his grain at a mill in Ham-

burg, Livingston Co., expecting it to be ready for him on

his return. In the mean time the mill was blocked with

ice, and he started for the mills in Shiawasseetown, where

he waited two nights and one day for his grist. He reached

home in the evening, having been absent eight days. Jo-

sephus Woodhull relates a similar circumstance, in which

he, accompanied by his sister, with two yoke of oxen and

a wagon-load of provisions, was nine days in coming from

Nankin, Wayne Co., to his home in Woodhull. Mr. and

Mrs. Mann are the only couple now living in the township

that came in in the spring of 1838. They have never

moved from the place of their first settlement farther than

from the cabin into the house which they now occupy.

Their daughter, Mary 0., was one of the first children born

in the township. John Graham, who had been to Wood-

hull in the summer of 1837, and cut hay, and later had

built a house, returned again when Mr. Mann came, in

February, 1838. He located six eighty-acre lots, half of

which was for his brother Samuel, to whom he gave the

privilege of selecting th;it part which be preferred. He
selected the land lying near the lakes, now known as Gra-

ham Lakes, on section 10, while John took the north part

of section 15, except the east one-half of the northeast

quarter. John Graham died in 1875. His wife had died

in 1847. The daughter who came with them married

Holden McFarlan ; she died in 1870.

Samuel Graham came to New York from Ireland, and

after traveling considerably through the United States set-

tled in Michigan. He located, as before stated, two hun-

dred and forty acres of section 10. He was a carpenter,

and built the first framed building in the township for Jo-

sephus Woodhull. Mr. Graham served in the war of the

Rebellion. His wife died in 1866, and the next year he

moved to Lansing, where he still resides.

Perry Parshall settled on section 4 in March of 1838.

He died in 1868. His wife had died many years before.

His son Harrison, who was about twenty-two years of age

when he came to the township, lived on the old homestead

till his death.

Patrick Corcoran, with his wife and children,—John,

Barney, Owen, Bartlett, Henry, Fannie, and Ann, from

Ireland,—came to Woodhull in the fall of 1838. He lo-

cated a large tract of land on sections 32 and 33. The pa-

rents, Bartlett, and Fannie are dead. The homestead is

still occupied by the family.

William Hammond and Reuben Place also deserve men-
tion among the pioneers of Woodhull. The former reached

the township about the year 1840. His family consisted

of a wife and one child. He settled the west half of the

southwest quarter of section 12. He remained some years,

but his wife having died, he sold his property and went to

the northwest part of Michigan. Reuben Place had con-

siderable skill in wood-work. He supplied the early set-

tlers with chairs, more remarkable for their solidity than

beauty. He subsequently removed to Bennington. E.

Tooker settled on the west half of the southeast quarter of

section 29, and S. Moon located on section 21.

A large portion of land was held by speculators for a

number of years, which retarded the settlement of the

township considerably. The most of this came into market

at a later day, and now there is comparatively little non-

resident land. Among those who owned considerable tracts

are the names of Bliss and Godfrey.

The most serious inconvenience known to the early set-

tlers was the distance they were compelled to travel for

their groceries and provisions. A market for produce, after

the home demand had been supplied, was almost out of the

question. If trading to any amount was to be done, a trip

was made, with cattle, to Ann Arbor or Detroit, usually

occupying from ten to fifteen days, according to the condi-

tion of the roads. Of their condition at this late day no

adequate idea can be given. They were at times almost

impassable, and frequently the wagon, and sometimes even

the oxen, would have to be raised from the mud or sink-

holes, which were not uncommon, especially in the spring

of the year. A serious want was a blacksmith-shop. The

iron implements so necessary in clearing and subduing a

new country were constantly broken and otherwise rendered

unfit for use. The hook of a chain or the point of a plow

would alike have to be carried eight or ten miles, a half-

day spent, or a long tramp made through the woods late at

night, in order to secure the necessary repairs. But in the

spring of 1839, Josephus Woodhull purchased a good bel-

lows and kit of tools, and opened a blacksmith-shop in a

little log cabin on his farm. From this time until other

shops were established in the villages near Woodhull, this

shop did good service to the settlers.

Several Indian trails crossed the township ; the one mostly

used by the Indians led east and west through Antrim,

Perry, and Woodhull town.ships to Laingsburg. The first

road established in the town pa.ssed between sections 9 and

16 and 10 and 15. Another was then established leading

also to Laingsburg. The next one led south through the

western part of the township. These roads were established

in the summer of 1838.

In the latter part of July, 1840, the "sickly season"' (as

the period was known for many years) commenced, and by

the middle of August a majority of the people in the settle-

ment were sick with bilious fever. Ralph Williams, who

lived in what is now Seiota township, was the only man in

the entire settlement who was able to go from house to

house and attend the sick. He was an excellent man in

this regard, and did all in his power to alleviate the suffer-

ings of those around him.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND LIST OP
OFFICERS.

Woodhull was set off from the old township of Shia-

wassee, and erected a separate township, by act of the

Legislature approved April 2, 1838. By this act it was

provided and declared that townships 5 and 6 north of

range 1 east be organized as a separate township named

Woodhull, and that ^he first township-meeting should be

held at the house of Peter Laing. In accordance with

the terms of this act the first town-meeting w;»s held at
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the place designated, April 30, 1838. Henry Leach was

chosen moderator; Oliver B. Westcott, clerk; Benjamin

Hewitt, assistant clerk ; Josephus and John Woodhull,

Walter Laing, and John Graham, inspectors of election.

The entire vote cast numbered twenty-two. The names of

the voters were as follows :

Henry Buell.

Joseph Woodhull.

Josephus Woodhull.

John Woodhull.

Joseph Hildreth.

John Hill, Jr.

John Brindle.

William P. Laing.

Abraham Schermerhorn.

John Graham.

Benjamin Lewitt.

Cornelius Putnam.

Perry Parshall.

Lewis Shippee.

Harris Parshall.

Alvin S. McDowell.

Samuel Graham.

Henry Leach.

Francis F. Monn.

Samuel Millard.

Oliver B. Westcott.

Walter Lainsr.

The township officers elected at this and subsequent

annual meetings until the present time have been as named

in the following list, viz.

:

1838.—Supervisor, John Woodhull; Clerk, Oliver B.

Westcott; Assessors, William P. Laing, Cor-

nelius Putnam; Collector, Walter Laing; School

Inspectors, Oliver B. Westcott, Benjamin Le-

witt, John Graham ; Directors of the Poor,

Milton Phelps, Alvin S. McDowell ; Highway

Commissioners, William P. Laing, Henry Buell,

Henry Leach ; Justices, Jcsephus Woodhull,

Peter Laing, Henry Leach, John Graham ; Con-

stables, Walter Laing, Gideon M. Cross.

1839.—Supervisor, John Woodhull; Clerk, Oliver B.

Westcott; A.ssessors, Francis F. Mann, Philan-

der T. Maine, Walter Laing ; Highway Com-

missioners, Mason Phelps, Samuel Graham,

Josephus Woodhull ; School Inspectors, Oliver

B. Westcott, Josephus Woodhull, Philander T.

Maine;- Constables, W. P. Laing, Gideon M.

Cross ; Collector, W. P. Laing ; Justice, Jo-

sephus Woodhull ; Treasurer, John Woodhull

;

Poormasters, Samuel Graham, Jolin Graham.

1840.—Supervisor, John Woodhull; Clerk, Oliver B.

Westcott ; Treasurer, John Woodhull ; As-

sessors, F. F. Mann, Philander T. Maine, Cor-

nelius Putnam ; School Inspectors, Oliver B.

Westcott, Josephus Woodhull, P. T. Maine;

Directors of the Poor, Oliver B. Westcott,

Peter Laing ; Highway Commissioners, Josephus

Woodhull, M. Phelps, Allen Smith ; Justice,

Allen Smith ; Collector, W. 1'. Laing ; Con-

stables, W. P. Laing, 11. Williams.

1841.—Supervisor, E. P. Tooker ; Clerk, P. T. Maine;

Treasurer, S. B. Fuller; Justice, John Graham;

Assessors, Franklin Childs, Cornelius Putnam,

Francis F. Mann; Highway Comniissioiicrs,

Mason Phelps, Henry Leach, Heiny Buell
;

School Inspectors, Charles Place, Franklin

Childs, P. T. Maine; Directors of the Poor,

Peter Luing, G. M. Cress; Constables, W. P.

Laing, Owen Corcoran, F. F. Mann, Smith

Tooker ;
Collector, W. P. Laing.

1842.—Supervisor, John Woodhull ; Clerk, Owen Cor-

coran ; Treasurer, Josephus Woodhull ; Justices,

Joseph Hildreth, John Corcoran ; Assessors,

Joseph Hildreth, Edward Bragg; Highway

Commissioners, Josephus Woodhull, Owen Cor-

coran, Smith Tooker ; School Inspectors, Jo-

sephus Woodhull, Owen Corcoran, Philander

T. Maine; Constables, Smith Tooker, F. F.

Mann.

1843.—Supervisor, P. T. Maine; Clerk, Owen Corcoran;

Treasurer, Eliphalet Tooker ; Justice, Josephus

Woodhull ; Highway Commissioners, John

Woodhull, Barney Corcoran, F. F. Mann;

School Inspectors, P. T. Maine, Edward Bray;

A.ssessors, William Hammond, John Corcoran
;

Constables, Smith Tooker, Stephen Finch.

1844.—Supervisor, E. S. Tooker; Clerk, Owen Corcoran;

Treasurer, G. W. Hosslcr ; Justices, John Cor-

coran, William Hammond ; Highway Commis-

sioners, Nathan Ilawlcy, F. F. Mann, G. W.

Hossler ; School Inspectors, G. N. Stoddard,

Edward Bray ; Constable, Stephen Finch.

1845.—Supervisor, S. B. Warner; Clerk, P. T. Maine;

Treasurer, Josephus Woodhull ; Highway Com-

missioners, James Warfle, N. Stoddard, John

Graham ; Constables, Stephen Finch, 0. G.

Tooker, A. M. Chadwick, E. Howell; School

Inspector, Josephus Woodhull.

184C.—Supervisor, S. B. Warner; Clerk, P. T. Maine;

Treasurer, Josephus Woodhull ; Highway Com-

missioners, Nathan Hawley, John Graham, R.

Place ; School Inspector, Sylvanus Bachelor
;

Justice, G. N. Stoddard ;
Constables, Peter Shaft,

A. M. Ciiadwick, James E. Bunnel.

1847.—Supervisor, E. F. Tooker; Clerk, Owen Corcoran
;

Treasurer, Josephus Woodhull ; Justice, John

Thonip.son ; Highway Commissioners, W. G.

Kent, John Graham, Joshua Jlarsh ; School

Inspector, Henry Frederick ;
Constables, J. V.

Shaft, Henry Frederick, Daniel S. Sparks, 0. G.

Tooker.

1848. Supervisor, John Thompson; Clerk, Owen Cor-

coran ; Treasurer, John Woodhull ; Justices,

John Corcoran, Nicholas Flanagan; Highway

Commissioner, William G. Kent ; School In-

spectors, Zetus Woodhull, Francis F. Mann

;

Constables, Charles Marsh, Zetus Woodhull, G.

n. Corcoran, S. C. Goodhue.

184<).—Supervisor, John Thompson; Clerk, Owen Cor-

coran ;
Treasurer, David Tooker ; Highway

Commissioner, Andrew Van Riper ; SehiH)l In-

spector, .W. G. Kent; Conj^table.s, Jacob V.

Shaft, Daniel D. Searles, Richard Warfcr, F.

F. Mann.

1850.—Supervisor, John Thompson ; Clerk, Owen Cor-

coran ; Treasurer, David G. Tower ; Justices,

David G. Tower, Josephus Woodhull; High-

way Commis-sioner, John Woodhull ; School
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Inspector, F. F. Mann ;
Constables, J. V. Shaft,

Hugh Oaks, James S. Harper, George H. Cor-

1851.

1852.-

1853.-

-Supervisor, Josephus Woodhull ; Clerk, Owen Cor-

coran ;
Treasurer, W. G. Kent ; Justice, John

Thompson ; Commissioner of Highways, Isaac

Thompson ; School Inspector, Zetus S. Wood-

hull ;
Constables, Hugh Oaks, K. Shaw.

-Supervisor, Josephus Woodhull ; Clerk, Owen Cor-

coran ; Treasurer, W. G. Kent ; Justices, Lewis

T. Bennett, John Corcoran ; Highway Commis-

sioner, Andrew Van Riper; School Inspector,

Lewis T. Bennett; Constables, John W. Van

Wormer, Roswell Shaw, B. E. Crandel, Alex-

ander Place.

-Supervisor, John Thompson ; Clerk, John G.

Marsh ; Treasurer, W. G. Kent ; Justice, Isaac

E. Everts; Highway Commissioner, Christopher

Mowers ; School Inspector, Jonathan Burke

;

Constables, Bartley Siegle, John W. Van

Wormer, Benjamin J. Crandal, James S. Harper.

1854.—Supervisor, Josephus Woodhull ; Clerk, Joshua

G. Marsh ; Treasurer, Andrew Van Riper; Jus-

tice, Ira Burlingame ;
Highway Commis.sioner,

Hugh Oaks ;
School Inspectors, Truman Willits,

Lewis Bennett ; Constables, P. Chalker, Charles

Gould, William Chaucarty, Solomon Burlingame.

1855.—Supervisor, John Thompson ; Clerk, J. G. Marsh
;

Treasurer, Andrew Van Riper ; Justice, Thomas

Stevens; Highway Commissioner, John W. Van

Wormer; School Inspector, James H. Burlin-

game ; Constables, Bartley Siegle, Jacob V.

Shaft, Henry Stevens, James H. Burlingame.

1856.—Supervisor, John Thompson; Clerk, J. G. Marsh;

Treasurer, Andrew Van Riper; Justices, John

Thompson, John Corcoran ; Highway Commis-

sioner, Solomon Burlingame ; School Inspector,

Francis F. Mann
;
Constables, Henry Stevens,

Charles Gould, James Burlingame, Philip

Chalker.

-Supervisor, John Thompson
; Clerk, E. P. Kay

;

Treasurer, F. F. Mann ; Justice, James Graham
;

Highway Commissioner, Philo C. Leavenworth
;

School Inspector, Sidney H. Munger; Constables,

George Colby, Charles Rohrabacher, Moses P.

Marsh, Isaac E. Everts.

-Supervisor, John Thompson ; Clerk, E. F. Kay

;

Treasurer, F. F. Mann ; Justice, William Hurd
;

Highway Commissioner, G. M. Colby ; School

Inspector, H. H. Hawley ; Constables, Philip

Chalker, Russell Dyer, Henry Stevens, James

Harper.

1859.—Supervisor, J. G. Marsh ; Clerk, E. F. H. Kay

;

Treasurer, F. F. Mann
; Jjistiee, Thomas Ste-

vens ; School Inspectors, Owen Corcoran, S. H.

Munger; Highway Commissioners, Hugh Oaks,

Henry Stevens; Constables, James Harper,

Henry Stevens, George M. Colby, Charles Rohra-

bacher.

18G0.—Supervisor, J. G. Marsh ; Clerk, John Thomp.son
;

1857.

1858.-

Treasurer, F. F. Mann ; Justice, John Thomp-

son ; Highway Commissioner, Andrew Rohra-

bacher ; School Inspector, Sidney H. Munger

;

Constables, Henry Stevens, George M. Colby,

Ira Burlingame, Charles Marsh.

1861.—Supervisor, J. G. Marsh; Clerk, Owen Corcoran;

Treasurer, F. F. Mann ; Justice, Sidney H. Mun-

ger ; Highway Commissioner, William Colby

;

School Inspector, Lewis Bennett; Constables,

Patrick McDowell, Isaac Rohrabacher, Israel

Parshall.

1862.—Supervisor, J. G. Marsh; Clerk, Owen Corcoran;

Treasurer, W. G. Kent ; Justices, Hugh Oaks,

Henry Stevens, John J. Giuteling ; Highway

Commissioner, John W. Van Wormer ; School

Inspector, S. H. Manzer ; Constables, G. M.

Colby, Patrick McDowell. Jerome Wright, Isaac

Rohrabacher.

1863.—Supervisor, J. G. Marsh; Clerk, S. H. Manzer;

Treasurer, William Kent; Justices, John Cor-

coran, William H. Force ; School Inspector, J.

V. D. Wyekoff ; Highway Commissioner, Pat-

rick McKeon ; Constables, George M. Colby,

Patrick McDowell, John S. Green, Abraham H.

Everts.

1864.—Supervisor, J. G. Marsh ; Clerk, S. H. Manzer
;

Treasurer, William G. Kent; Justice, D. J.

Tower ; Highway Commissioners, John S. Green,

Andrew Rohrabacher ; School Inspector, Joshua

G. Marsh ; Constables, G. M. Colby, Jerome

Wright, George Smith, John Siegle.

1865.—Supervisor, S. H. Manzer; Clerk, Owen Corcoran
;

Treasurer, William G. Kent; Justices, Henry

Stevens, Lawson W. Beardslee
;
Highway Com-

missioner, Bernard Bray ; School Inspector, S.

H. Manzer ; Constables, J. M. Shaft, George M.

Colby, George Acker, Isaac. E. Everts.

1866.—Supervisor, Josephus Woodhull; Clerk, Zetus S.

Woodhull ; Treasurer, W. Gr. Kent ; Justices,

Josephus Woodhull, James S. Harper ; School

Inspector, Joshua G. Ward; Highway Commis-

sioner, Bartley Siegle; Constables, S. S. Green,

John M. Shaft, John Siegle, James Bray.

1867.—Supervisor, Joshua G. Marsh; Clerk, Zetus S.

Woodhull ; Treasurer, James S. Harper ; Jus-

tices, John Corcoran, George M. Colby, Charles

Walker ; Highway Commissioner, William Col-

by; School Inspector, Arthur H. Bigg; Consta-

bles, John M. Shaft, Ofid Whipple, Isaac Rohra-

bacher, William Bailey.

1868.—Supervisor, Joshua G. Marsh ; Clerk, Arthur H.

Bigg ; Treasurer, Francis F. Mann ; Justices,

Hugh Oaks, Charles Arnold ; Highway Commis-

sioners, James M. Clement, Bernard Bray;

School Inspector, James S. Harper; Constables,

John M. Shaft, David Whipple, Oliver P. Everts,

Alford S. Wright.

1869.—Supervisor, Joshua G. Marsh ; Clerk, Smith F.

Warner ; Treasurer, John M. Shaft ; Justices,

David Tower, Henry Stevens ; Highway Com-
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missioner, S. S. Green ;
School Inspector, Henry

TalliDiidge; Constables, B. D. Corcoran, Oliver P.

Everts, Alfred L. Wright, Andrew J. Harper.

1870.—Supervisor, J. G. Mai-sh ; Clerk, Smith F. War-

ner ; Treasurer, John M. Shaft ; Justices, Henry

Stevens, Samuel Pope; Highway Commissioner,

A. Simpkins; School Inspector, James S. Har-

per; Constables, Oliver P. Everts, Alphonso

Harkness, George Acker, Charles S. Place.

1871.—Supervisor, Joshua G. Marsh; Clerk, Smith F.

Warner; Treasurer, Isaac Rohrabacher; Justice,

John Corcoran; Highway Commissioner, John

L. Tyler ; School Inspector, Henry Tallmadge

;

Constables, John H. Corcoran, Sidney Simpson,

Alphonso Harkness, John H. Panshall.

1872.—Supervisor, Joshua G. Marsh; Clerk, Smith F.

Warner; Treasurer, Isaac Rohrabacher; Justice,

Hugh Oaks; Highway Commissioner, Sidney S.

Green ; Drain Commissioner, Owen Corcoran
;

School Inspectors, James S. Harper, Michael

Flanagan ;
Constables, Oliver P. Everts, Andrew

J. Harper, Hartley Siegle, Israel E. Saddler.

1873.—Supervisor, Joshua G. Marsh; Clerk, Richard F.

Kay ; Treasurer, Isaac Rohrabacher
; Justice,

George W. Clements; Highway Commissioners,

Sar.sfield Corcoran, Almond N. Stevens ; Drain

Commissioner, Owen Corcoran
;
School Inspep-

tor, James S. Harper ; Constables, Oliver P.

Everts, Alfred L. Wright, William H. Robison,

Bartley Siegle.

1874.—Supervisor, Joshua G. Marsh; Clerk, Richard F.

Kay; Treasurer, John M. Shaft; Justice, Henry

Stevens ; Highway Commissioner, Zetus S. Wood-

hull ;
School Inspector, John Tyler ; Drain Com-

missioner, Chauncey Rohrabacher; Constables,

William Robinson, Parley Laing, Smith F. War-

ner, Rodolphus E. Tower.

1875.—Supervisor, Joshua G. Marsh
;
Clerk, Smith F.

Warner; Treasurer, John M. Shaft; Justice,

John Corcoran ; Highway Commissioner, Michael

Flanagan ;
School Superintendent, Charles M.

Smith; School Inspector, James S. Ilari)er;

Drain Commissioner, Chauncey Rohrabacher;

Constables, Oliver P. Everts, Paisley Laiog,

R. E. Hower, Bartley Siegle.

1876.—Supervisor, Joshua G. Marsh
;
Clerk, Charles M.

Smith ; Treasurer, John M. Shaft ; Justice, Hugh

Oaks; Highway Commissioner, Michael Flana-

gan ;
School Superintendent, Richard F. Kay

;

School Inspector, James S. Harper; Drain Con)-

missioncr, Isaac Rohrabacher ; Constables, Oliver

P. Everts, Bartley Siegle, John L. Tyler, John

Dunn.

1877.—Supervisor, Jo.shua G. Marsh; Clerk, Smith F.

Warner; Treasurer, Daniel R. Tutbill
;
Justice,

James S. Harper ;
Commissioner of Highways,

Edward Crawford ; School Superintendent, Dan-

iel O. Beardslee ; School Inspector, Hugh Oaks;

Constables, J. D. Soutliwell, Bartley Siegle, F.

M. Powell, J. F. Hunt.

1878.—Supervisor, Smith F. Warner ; Clerk, Joseph V.

D. Wyckoff; Treasurer, John Aikens ; Justices,

Henry Stevens, G. W. Chrouch ; School Super-

intendent, Daniel 0. Beardslee; School Inspec-

tor, James S. Harper ; Highway Commis-sioner,

William G. Kent ; Drain Commissioner, Joshua

G. Marsh ; Constables, F. M. Powell, J. D.

Southwell, Bartley Siegle, D. Marsh.

1879.—Supervisor, S. F. Warner; Clerk, Joseph V. D.

Wyckoff; Treasurer, Joshua G. Marsh ; Jus-

tice, John Corcoran ; Highway Commissioner,

William G. Kent ; School Superintendent,

George W. Chrouch ;
School Inspector, James

S. Harper ; Drain Commissioner, Joshua G.

Marsh ; Constables, Francis M. l^owell, Mark

Marlatt, Newton Shaft, Jediah Southwell.

18S0.—Supervisor, Smith F. Warner; Clerk, Joseph V.

D. Wyckoff; Treasurer, Joshua G. Marks ; Jus-

tice, Hugh Oakes ;
Highway Commissioner, Wil-

liam Kent ; School Superintendent, George W.

Chrouch ; Drain Commissioner, George W.

Colby ; School Inspector, James S. Harper

;

Constables, Alfred F. Tyler, Alphonso Harkness,

Oliver P. Everts, Horace R. Stevens.

EARLY SCHOOLS.

On Nov. 14, 1837, the school commissioners of Shia-

wa.ssee township (which at that time embraced the territory

comprised in Shiawassee, Antrim, Uennington, Perry, Wood-

hull, apd Sciota) met at the Shiaw;issee Exchange, and

divided the township into school districts. Woodhull was

divided as follows

:

District No. 1 incliided sections 2, 3, 10, 11, 12, 13,

14, 15.

District No. 2.—Sections 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 34,

35, 36.

District No. 3.—Sections 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, it, 16, 17, 18.

District No. 4.—Sections 19, 20, 21, 22, 28, 29,31,

32, 33.

In the fall qf 1838 the inhabitants of Woodhull and the

neighboring towns of Bath and Victor in Clinton County

met at the house of Josepiius Woodhull fur the transaction

of school bitsiness. Of this meeting Mr. Woodhull was

chosen moderator, ioid the usual school oflScers were elected.

It was then dctidcd to have a bee and build a school house.

Nearly all the settlers in the vicinity accordingly assembled

at a specified place a few days afterwards, and, working

with alacrity, soon completed a log school-house. This

building stood near the county-line, on section 5. It was

the first school-house built in Woodhull township, and in

it was taught the first school by Oliver H. Wo.'<tcott. He

received te|i dollars j)er month and boarded iiimself The

rtltcudaiiix' was from ten to sixteen, and among the number

W<'re cliildren from territory now comprised in four town-

ships.

As no money had tlms far been collected by taxation for

school purposes it Wius necc.s.sary to raise this amount by

subscription, or by assessing the parcnta of tho.se who at-

t<'n<led school a certain l)er cent. The nmncy wiw accord-

ingly raised in liiis way.
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The next school district was formed in 1842, in the

locality containing the northern Methodist Episcopal

church. The inhabitants met at the house of John Gra-

ham and elected the necessary district officers, but the

minutes of the meeting are not to be found. A site was

selected, being the one now occupied by the school-house

in district No. 2. A framed school-house was then built,

being the first in the township, in which Martha Spicer

taught the first school. Elizabeth Woodhull and Mary

Jane Hill taught in the same district soon after.

KELIGIOUS SOCIETIES.

The early settlers of Woodhull would compare favorably

in character and education with those of any other town-

ship in the county. They had scarcely placed themselves

in a position to provide for the bare wants of life when

they began to agitate measures for the establishment of

schools and churches. All the principal denominations of

the Protestant Church have been organized and encouraged

from time to time. Methodist, Presbyterian, Baptist, and

Congregational societies have been established. But the

changes and vicissitudes of more than forty years have

worked the dissolution of nearly all the societies formed in

an early day. In the church, as in the school-room, the

field, and the household, the men and women who, in the

strength and vigor of youth, put their shoulders to the

wheel have surrendered the task, unfinished, to another

generation.

In the year 1839 a Methodist class was formed in the

log school-house on section 5. A Mr. Finch, of Bath, was

the first class-leader. This class subsequently disbanded,

and others of the same denomination have since been

formed. The class now in existence in the northern part

of Woodhull was formed in September, 1855, in the Antrim

Circuit, and at that time was known as West Perry charge.

James S. Harper was chosen class-leader. The meeting-

house of the society was erected in 1879, at a cost of

one thousand and fifty dollars. The ground for the cemetery

at this church was donated to the township by F. F. Mann

and Samuel Graham. It contains one and one-half acres.

In the same year that the Methodist class was formed

Elder B. B. Brigham organized a Baptist Church. The

place of holding its meetings was afterwards changed to

Laingsburg.

In the month of May, 1879, a meeting was called at

Shaftsburg, for the purpose of taking action in regard to

building a church. The followiug persons were appointed

a building committee : James Harper, J. V. D WyckolF,

Sr., Joshua G. Marsh, and Rev. James Whitford, of the

Methodist Episcopal Church, as chairman. With the un-

derstanding that the various societies should be allowed to

worship in the new house, the members of all denomina-

tions subscribed liberally, and about two thousand two hun-

dred dollars was pledged for that purpose. The building

was erected during the summer of that year. It is now,

however, under the exclusive control of the Methodist

Episcopal Church.

SHAFTSBURG.

This station on the Grand Trunk Railroad contains four

stores, a hotel, a post-office, two blacksmith-shops, a saw-

mill, a flouring-niill, and a meeting-house. The village is

platted on the land of John P. Shaft, from whom it is

named. The post-office at this place was established in

1878, and Newton Bacon, who had opened the first dry-

goods store, was appointed postmaster.

The flouring-mill, the first and only one built in the

township, was erected by Jacob Stabler in 1877. It has

two run of stones. Just previous to its completion. Stabler

& Harlow built the saw-mill. The hotel was built by John

P. Shaft.
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BIOGEAPHICAL SKETCHES.

ANDREW J. VAN RIPER. MRS. ANDREW J. VAN Rll'EU.

ANDREW J. VAN RlPEll.

This venerable pioneer was born in Patcrson, N. J.,

Jan. 9, 180G. Ilis fatlier, Jereuiiali Vuu lliper, was born

in Lodi, Essex Co., N. J. He married Miss Elizabeth

Blareoni, and reared a family of seven cbildrcn. The elder

Van Riper was a llirifty, industrious, and successful I'aruier,

a man of undoubted integrity, and one of Michigan's ear-

liest settlers, and universally beloved for bis kindness of

heart. He had a large circle of friends, and was perhaps

witliout an enemy. Andrew lived with his father until he

was fifteen years of age, when he went to the city of New
York and apprenticed himself to the trade of a shoemaker.

He remained in New York two years, at the expiration of

wiiich time he returned to Patcrson and commenced business

for himself In 1824 he removed to Seneca Co., N. Y.,

whither his father bad removed the year previous. Here

he followed iiis trade, and in 1827 was married to Miss

Catherine Dubois. In May, 1831, he started ibr Michigan

with his family, wliicli consisted of his wife and two chil-

dren. He settled in the town of Jjodi, Washtenaw Co.,

where he purchased one hundred and sixty acres of land

from the government, receiving liis deed from Martin Van

Ruren. In 18:!4 his father followed liim, and ])urchased a

I'arm near the home of his son, where he resided until bis

death, wliich occurred in 1858. In 1848, Mr. Van Riper

removed to the town of Woodbull, where he had previously

42

purehiised four hundred and eighty acres of government

land. Here be lias since resided, and during the thirty-

two years that he has been a resident of Woodbull no man

ha.s been more closely identified with its development than

he. Energy, industry, and econcmiy are the salient points

in the character of Mr. Van lliper. He has jierfocled a

valuable record as a citizen, and no one stands higher in the

estimation of the people of Woodbull than be. His word,

wbelher given in a business transaction or in ordinary con-

versation, is considered to be as good as liis bond. He has

been highly successful in business, and has accumulated a

fine competency, and at the same time luis been a generous

giver, a friend to the poor and distressed, and a liberal sup-

porter of all public and charitublc enterprises. In his relig-

ious belief he is a Presbyterian. lie was one of the founders

of the I'resbylerian Church of Lodi, and identified liiinsclf

largely with the building of the Methodist uhurcli of Shafus-

burg. Socially he is genial and courteous
;
he loves a good

joke, and his frank, open countenance is indicative of good-

nature and generosity. In his domestic relations he is a

kind father and a valued IViend. lie has settled bis children

around him, to each of whom he Inus given good homes.

He is now in his seventy fill h year, and still retains much

of his former vigor and energy. He has made a name and

reputation that will live as long as the history of Woodbull.
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FUANtJlS K. JIA.NN. MKS. FRANCIS F. MANN.

FRANCIS F. MANN.

Tlie fjimily traditions of Francis F. Mann reach back to

a time before the French and Indian war, when two broth-

ers, named respectively William and Samuel Mann, came

to America. They went back to England, tlieir native

land, in a few years, but soon returned to America. Which

nf these was the ancestor of the subject of this sketch it is

impossible to say. His grandfather, Jacob Mann, who was

born in 1T4+, and lived in Wenham, Mass., married Miss

Susan Richardson.

While a young man, being afflicted with the rheumatism,

ho left the farm where he had lived and went to Harvard

College, from which he graduated. He was then admitted

to the Congregational Church as minister, and was the first

located pastor of that denomination in the town of Alstead,

N. H. In this place Jacob IMann, Jr., the father of Fran-

cis F. Mann, was born in August, 1782. His wife, Miss

Phcebe Fisher, was born Sept. 2, 1787.

Francis F. Mann was born in the town of Alstead, N. H.,

Doc. 12, 1808. When he was about three years old his

fiithcr died, and his mother subsequently married again.

He remained at home until he was fourteen, and then went

to live with his uncle, Samuel JMaiin. He subsequently

left Alstead and went to Walpole, where he met Laura

Robin.son, to whom he was married June 29, 18:?6.

The ancestors of Mrs. Mann are traced back to the time

when the Pilgrims left England and went to Leyden. She

is the descendant of John Robinson, formerly a preacher

in the Established Church near Yarmouth, Norfolk, Eng-

land, and whose sons came to Plymouth in the " May-
flower." John Robinson, the great-grandfather of Mrs.

Mann, lived in Connecticut, where Isaiah Robinson, her

grandfather, a deacon in the First Baptist Church of Ches-

ter, Vt., was born. In 1750 he married Sarah Robins, the

daughter of Colonel Robins, who served in the French and

Indian war. They lived in Killingly, where, while he was

in the Continental Army, her father, Daniel Robinson, was

born, Oct. 29, 1776. At the age of sixteen her father

moved to Springfield, Windsor Co., where he married

Nancy McElroy, Oct. 30, 1798. At this place Laura, the

fourth daughter, was born June 9, 1809. She subsequently

resided with her uncle's family, at Walpole, N. H., where

she met F. F. Mann and w;is married to him, as already

stated.

They came to Washtenaw Co., Mich., in October, 1837.

Their settletnent in Michigan is more fully spoken of in

the history of Woodhull township. The following is the

record of their children : Mary Omenda, born April 24,

1839; Helen L., born Dec. 20, 1841; Harriet L., born

Sept. 25, 1851. Adopted children: Amasa F. Chadwick,

born Sept. 17, 184G; James 0. McClintock. born Oct. 28,

1850 ; Albert J. Wilcox, born July 14, 18tJ5. Amasa F.

Chadwick died in the hospital at Chattanooga, Tenn., June

12, 1864, and was buried in the Soldiers' National Ceme-

tery at that place.

Mr. and Mrs. Mann are kind and hospitable, respected

by all who know them, and eminently deserving the brief

mention given them in this sketch. They are not members

of any church in the township, Mrs. Mann having never

severed her connection with the society to which she be-

longed in the East. They both encourage and favor all

societies of Christians the lives of whose members comply

with their professions.

i



JOHN P. SHAFT.

The Shaft family are of Gernian and French ex-

traction. The maternal grandfather of the subject of

this sketch was an officer under Napoleon. Nothing

is now known regarding his history or the date of

his emigration to America. The paternal grand-

father emigrated from Germany previous to the Revo-

lution, and upon the breaking out of the war enlisted

and served during its continuance. Soon after peace

was declared he settled in Rensselaer Co., N. Y.,

where Peter Shaft, father of John P., was born.

From Rensselaer County a portion of the family re-

moved to Saratoga County, where the fothcr of onr

subject purchased a farm, and where John P. was

born Sept. 16, 1805. His parents, Peter and Eliza-

beth (Loop) Shaft, reared a family of seven ciiiidrcn,

and when John was a babe removed to Madison Co.,

N. Y., where they resided until 1838, when lliey

emigrated to Perry, Shiawtvssee Co., Mich.

John remained with his father until he was twenty-

one years of age. He received a good common-sclnxil

education, and shortly after he attained his majority

apprenticed himself to the trade of a shoemaker,

which he followed until he came to Michigan, in

1839. He brougiit with him a stock of boots, shoes.

and leather, and settled in the town of Perry, where

he purchased two hundred and eighty acres of land

on sections 19, 20, and 29. About 1846 he removed

to Woodhull and j^urchased one hundred and sixty

acres of land where he now resides. To this purchase

he made repeated additions, until he owned at one

time two tiiousand three hundred and eighty acres.

He now owns one thousand and eighty acres, most of

which is in the town of Woodhull.

Mr. Shaft lias identified himself larirelv with the

interests of Woodhull. He laid out the thriving

village which bears liis name, anil was prominent in

the location and construction of the railroad which

passes through it. He is a liberal .-ujiportiT of ((lu-

catioiial and religious enter|)riscs, and lias ilmw his

])arl (() advance the best interests of the town. He

has been mari'ied livi' limes, first to ("hrisiiana Olsaver

ill 1829; she was a flue type of the iiinneor woman,

and was highly esteemed. His ]iresenl wife, tifr

Jidia !•".. Parks, is a lady ol' miicii ciilimc and

retiiiemeiit. ISfr. Shalt is now in his sevenU-lil'tli

year, and is still hale and hearty. His name is

prominent in the history of Woodhull, and he will

alwavs be i-emembered as a valuable citizen.





CLINTON COUNTY.
CHAPTER XLV.

BOUNDAKIES-TOPOGRAPHY^MINERAIi KE-
SOUBCES.

Location and Natural Features—The Coal-Measures—Salt Springs

—

Results of Explorations for Coal and Salt.

Clinton County lies directly west of Shiawassee, the

principal meridian of the State formiiij; the boundary-

line between them. On the north Clinton is bounded by

Gratiot County, on the we.st by louia, and on the south by

the counties of Injiham and Eaton. The Grand River,

flowinj; northwestwardly from the latter county, enters Clin-

ton, and, traversini; the extreme southwestern corner of its

territory for a few miles, passes across its west boundary into

Ionia. The other principal streams are the Maple and

Looking-Glass Rivers, both of which enter the county

across its eastern border, from Shiawassee. The former,

crossing the northeast corner of Clinton in a general course

towards the northwest, passes out into Gratiot County,

through the southern part of which it meanders for some

twenty miles, and then returns to Clinton acro.ss its north

boundary (about three miles west of the centre), and flows

in a general southwesterly course through the northwest

corner of this county into Ionia.

The Looking-Glass River, coming into the county across

the east line, at a point about seven and a half miles north

of its southeast corner, flows in a general course a little

south of west across Clinton into Ionia Coun;y, passing

out of the former about six miles north of its southwest

corner. The Looking-Glass receives tributaries of consider-

able size within this county, as does also the Maple. The

projected improvements on both these streams for purpo.ses

of navigation in early years have already been mentioned in

preceding pages.

The surface of Clinton County is properly described as

undulating, for the swells of ground are not sufliciently

lofty or abrupt to be termed hills, and there are iti the

county but very few places where entirely level upland

tracts of much extent are found, though in iho original

field-notes of the government surveys a great number of

places are mentioned where the surveyors, in traversing this

county, passed through " prairies," and " prairie lands."

They also note the existence of " floating prairie" in .some

localities, and continually mention " marsh," " cranberry

marsh," and "tamarack swamp." The aggregate of all

these, however, forms but a very small part of the area of

the county.

The kinds of timber noted in the surveys of this county

are oak (white, red, yellow, black, and burr), elm, beech,

niaple (hard and soft), white and black ash, aspen, tama-

rack, linn, birch, cedar, black-walnut, iron-wood, cotton-

wood, hickory, cherry, and spruce, with a very general

undergrowth of prickly ash and willow. The greater part

of the county was embraced in the heavily-timbered lands

and timbered openings, the open lands or " prairies" being

generally of small extent. The lands from which heavy

timber has been cleared are generally strongest and best,

t)ut a really poor soil is scarcely known in any part of the

county.

In geological formation and development, Clinton County

presents but little that is of much interest. Explorations

have been made here in past years for sa.'t springs, and also

for veins of coal, the search for the latter being encouraged

by the fact that the entire country is known to be under-

laid by the " coal-measures" of the lower peninsula, the

location and limits of which are described by Professor C.

Rominger, the State geologist, as follows:

" The approximate limits of the coal-measures on the

peninsula are within a line drawn from Sebawing, on Sag-

inaw Bay, towards Holly, in the south part of Genesee

County,* and from there, prolongated in a southwesterly

curve, to Jackson. From Jackson the line goes west, pass-

ing a few miles north of Albion ; it then strikes northwest,

passing some distance e;ist of IJelluvue to Hastings, whence,

northward, tiie extent of the formation is only guessed at.

The western edge of the coal-me;isures is supposed to inter-

sect the Detroit and Milwaukee Riilroad line near Lowell,

thence to go north, touching Big Rapids, and from there to

run in a northeastern curve diagonally through Osceola

County and the northwest corner of Clare County. The

line does not seem to transgress the second correction line
;

it goes parallel with it along the northern end of Gladwiu

County, from which point the formation is again known

through actual outcrops. It enters the northwest corner of

Bay County, and extends iti a soulhi'ast direction towards

the mouth of Rifle River, striking the shore of Saginaw

Bay. The rim of the formation is a few miles north of Itiflo

River." It will be seen that this description places the

county of Clinton entirely within and not far from the

centre of the great coal-busin.

In his report of 187(>, on the geological survey of the

State, I'rof. Komiiiger makes mention of the outcrop of the

coal formation and other geological developments ut Grand

Ledge, and along the Grand River below that place. As the

point first mentioned is within a short distance of the south

boundary of Clinton, and as his descriplion follows the

river in its course ufauverul uiilus through this county, it is

* Tile priiri'vaor lioro innkea n nii.ilnko iu luoating IIulI/, which ia in

tho northwest oornor of lliiklni.d Counl^'.

;i:n
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thought appropriate in^this connection to extract that por-

tion of his report wliich has reference to this region. He

says, " The most instructive natural section through the

coal formations which we have in this State is seen at Grand

Ledge in the valley of Grand River, ten miles below Lan-

sing. The river has carved its bed there to a depth of

about sixty feet below the general surface level of the

country. Tlie^upper part of tliejiills bordering the valley

is formed of drift ; the lower presents a section through the

rock-beds of the coal-measures. The village of Grand

Ledge is located nearly in the centre of the outcrops, which

continue up and down the river for about a mile. The

strata rise and .sink in undulations, which bring the higher

and lower beds to repeated outcrops on the same level.

The order of stratification, often visible in sections of large

horizontal extent, gives a fair opportunity for ob-serving the

changes to which a stratum in its horizontal extension is

often subject with regard to thickness and quality of mate-

rial. The observed variability explains why, in the numer-

ous sections seen within the limited space of a few miles,

no one exactly corresponds with the other, although many

of them represent about the same horizon.

" The upper part of the formation is a coarse-grained

sand-rock from twenty-five to thirty feet in thickness. In

the locality where I saw it best exposed the rock occupies

one of the depressed curves of an undulation such as has

been alluded to, and at both ends of the exposure lower

rock strata come up alongside the upper beds on the .same

level. The sand-rock ledges form a compact body with only

insignificant intermediate seams of shale, or with an occa-

sional coal-seam of a few inches thickness wedged in.

Calamites and other vegetable imprints, besides concretions

of kidney-ore and of iron pyrites and conglomerated seams,

are usually found inclosed within the rock mass. In grain

and hardness it fully resembles the upper sandstones of

Jackson ; its color, however, is a somewhat darker, yellow-

ish shade. Locally, the rock becomes very hard, and has

a dark chocolate-brown color from containing an abundance

of ferruginous cement ; a part of this brown rock is coarsely

conglomeratic. Next below this sand-rock, which borders

the river in vertical cliffs for nearly the length of a mile,

we find blue shales of arenaceous character, interlaminated

with thin layers of sund-rock, all amounting to a thickness

of about fifteen or twenty feet. Under these is a coal-seam

two and a half feet in thickness, and of very good bitumi-

nous quality. It wedges out in places, or changes into a

black, carbonaceous shale. This seam is worked at times

by single workmen as a teniporary occupation when they

liave little else to do. The coal-seam rests on a gray, argil-

laceous, laminated sand-rock, with softer shaly seams, which

both inclose a large quantity of coaly vegetable remains,

—

Lepidodendron, similar to Lepid. Wortheni, Stigmaria

ficoides, trunks and leaves. The thickness of the beds is

about five feet. Lower comes a fine-grained, whitish sand-

rock, in even, compact beds eight feet in thickness. Di-

rectly under this sand-rock is a fifteen-inch bed of good bitu-

minous coal. Lowest in the outcrop are about twenty-five

feet of additional strata, principally sand-rock ledges, with

some intermediate shale-seams. In the bed of the river at this

spot large, hard sand-rock slabs of very even bedding, and

from two to three inches in thickness, are laid open, which

would make excellent flag-stones for paving sidewalks. The

aggregate thickness of the given section is about ninety feet

;

it begins with the centre of the synclinal depression, and is

followed down the stream. . . .

" A good section through the formation can be observed in

the ravines of a creek entering Grand River from the south,

a short distance west of the village, and another in the

bluffs just below it, and opposite the section last described.

Highest in this latter, under a few feet of drift, are fifteen

feet of arenaceous shales, with nodular seams of sand-rock

and kidney-ore concretions, and a band of carbonaceous

shale with seams of coal
; below follow eight feet of a fine-

grained greenish-white sandstone, in thick, even beds, iden-

tical with the sand-rock found in the first section, interme-

diate between the two coal-seams. This rock is quarried

and worked into cut stone, window- and door-sills ; it is of

fine quality, better than any of the coal-measure sand-rocks

I have before seen. The beds at one end of the quarry are

much thicker than at the other, and seem to wedge out.

Under the quarry-stone, a foot or two of arenaceous shales,

laminated by black, coaly seams, follow, and then a coal-

bed fifteen inches thick. The coal is of very good quality

even for blacksmiths' use, and is occasionally obtained by

working the quarry for its sand-rock. The coal-seam rests

on bluish, arenaceous shales, and lower beds of sand-rock

form the base of the bluff and the bed of the river. The

banks of the river, at intervals for the distance of eight

miles, present more limited outcrops than those near Grand

Ledge, but after that no more rock is denuded in the river-

bed until Ionia township is reached, where, in section 23,

the upper sand-rock of the coal-measures comes to the sur-

face, or is only covered by a thin coating of drifl. The

quality of this sand-rock is superior to the equivalent beds

at Grand Ledge or at Jackson ; it can be quarried in blocks

of large dimension, and is of proper durability for building

purposes. . . . West and north of Ionia, the coal-forma-

tion disappears under the drift, and no other borings have

been made in these directions by which we could ascertain

the extent of its distribution as the surface-rock. To en-

counter the coal-formation again, we have to return east-

ward."

Several borings for coal have been made at different times

in the southwest part of the county, in the vicinity of the

region to which the professor refers in the extract given

above. One of these borings, made at Eagle, in 1873,

showed the following section :

Drift 8 feet.

Siincl-rock 23 "

Coal A tbiu vein.

Fire-clay 3 "
Light slate 13 "

Blaek slate 11 "
Saud-rook 2 "
Coal 35 inches.

Sand- rock 21 feet.

The other borings in the same township showed strata

passed through similar to this. A boring made at Ovid, on

the east line of the county, in 1878, showed a vein of coal

about one foot in thickness at a depth of fifty eight feet

below the surface. Another, sunk in the same year in Du-

plain, in the northeast corner of the county (but not for the
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purpose of discovering coal), reached a depth of one Iiuii-

drod and sixty-seven feet, disclosing no coal-vein.

From the time when the territory of Clinton County

first became known by white men, it was believed that val-

uable salt-springs existed along the valley of the Maple

River, and this belief resulted in explorations, with a view

to their discovery and development. The principal exami-

nation of the country to this end was made by the State

geologist. Dr. Douglass Houghton, in 1837, a report of

which was made by him in January, 1838, from which re-

port an extract, having reference to his examinations in

the northwest township of Clinton County, is here given,

viz.

:

" It has been known from the earliest settlement of the

country that the Indians formerly supplied themselves with

salt from springs occurring on the peninsula
; numerous

reservations of lands supposed to contain salt-springs have

been made by the United States. Many years ago several

unsuccessful attempts were made by individuals to manu-

facture salt, but, after all, the fact that most of the springs

reserved by the United States contain little else than some

of the salts of lime and iron, and the failure in the original

attempt to manufacture the salt, had with much reason

given rise to doubts as to the existence of saline springs to

any extent. In ascending Maple River saline indications

were first observed in township 8 north, range 4 west, and

were seen to occur at distant intervals between that point

and what may be considered as the head of navigation of

the stream, not far from the line between ranges 1 and 2

west. The Maple River, between these points, is a slug-

gish stream, having so slight a current as to resemble a suc-

cession of narrow lakes, while the alluvial shores, scarcely

rising above the water, even when lowest, are covered with

a dense forest of soft maple, giving to the whole stream, at

first, rather a forbidding aspect. But in passing from this

valley, which varies from half a mile to two or three miles

in width, we come upon a beautiful elevated and undula-

ting country, for the most past heavily timbered and well

adapted to the purposes of agriculture. The bottom of the

stream is seen to bo compo.sed of a yellowish sand, as are

also the alluvial deposits which bound it on either side, with

which are frecjuently seen bowlders of primary rocks, but no

rock was seen at any point upon the river.

" In Clinton County, township 8 north, range 4 west,

section 15, aTid where by a sumowhat sudden turn the river

approaches near to the elevated boundary of the valley just

described, saline indications of a decided character appear

in the narrow marsh or alluvial bottom which bounds the

river upon its northern side. Two marshes scarcely ele-

vated above the surface of the river, and partially separated

from each other, occur, in the lower of which no distinct

springs can be said to exist, but the water is seen at several

points oozing through the sandy soil in connection with the

water of the river, and although no means could be devised

for preventing the constant accession of fresh water and

foreign matter, it will be seen by reference to spring 14,

tables Nos. 1 and 2, a much more favorable result was ob-

tained than could under those circumstjinces have been an-

ticipated.

' Table {.—Spring 14, Loioer Marth, Clinlon Salt- Work*,* Toiciithip

8 Nmlh, flunge i HV«(, Serlion la.

"How owned Private property.

Giuiiifl.

Specific gravity 1.0026
Muriate of soJa 67.76

'* lime 1.22
" magnesia 5.54

Carbonate of lime 8.45
" iron 04

Sulphate of linio 7.13
Vegetable maltert 54
Siliceous and aluminous| 22

Solid matter 90.90

"Table No. 2.

—

Slioioin/J the VoiiHlilueiilt
<>f One Hundred Oraint of

Solid Contcnlt of Spring 14, 111 Table 1.

Graina.

"Muriate of soda 74.50
" lime 1.35
" magnesia 6.10

Carbon.ate of linic 9.30
Sulphate of lime 7.85
Carbonate of iron ,05
Vegetable matter 00
Siliceous and itluminous matter .25

Total 100.00

" At the upper marsh an excavation had been made to a

depth of a few feet, but not sufficient to prevent the free

ingress of fresh water. There was a constant discharge of

Water in small quantities, perfectly transparent and having

a temperature of 46°, and, as was also the case with that at

the lower marsh, having a slight odor of sulphuretted hy-

drogen. Since my visit to this place I am informed a shaft

has been sunk through alternate beds of sand and coarse

gravel to a depth of about forty feet, and has been attended

by a considerable increase of the saline contents of the water.

I have received, through the politeness of Messrs. Parks &
Warner, proprietors of the springs, several bottles of the

water, taken since the shaft was sunk. One hundred cubic

inches (three and one-half wine-pints, nearly) of the water

subjected to analysis give the following results

:

Gmins.

"Muriate of soda 143.SS
" lime 4.30
" magnesia 12.8.'{

Carbonate of lime 6.23
" iron .09

Sulphate of limo 1:).I7

Total solid matter ISO.80

" In consequence of the shaft which has been sunk there

has been an increase over a former analysis of 92.42 grains

of solid matter and 77.05 grains of salt in one hundred

cubic inches of water. As we continue to aseetid the Maple

River indications of saline occasionally appear, until we

* The "Clinton Suit-Works," roferrod to in Dr. Houghton's report,

was not what its name would imjily.—an estabtishmenl fur the nian-

ufaeture of salt,—but a paper-villago enterprise, started on tliu Maple

Kiver, in the township of licbanon. Clinton Co., by Hoberi .S. Parks,

Lawson S. Warner, Thotna:< II. .Andrews, Charles Hubbell, and Calvin

C. Parks, who afterwards (by act approved April 3, IS3S) became in-

corporated as '* The Clinton Salt-Works Company" ; the object of the

incorporation being set forth to bo " fi)r the purpose of manufiu'turing

salt by erecting the necessary buildings, vats, etc." The platting of

an imaginary village, the procuring of this high-sonnding act of incor-

poraliun, and the starting of the "Clinlon S.ill-Works Hank" (wild-

cat), by which many people sulTorod loss, was tbo only reaull of tho

enterprise of these gontlomon,

f Koroign.
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arrive near the source of navigation of that stream iu Gra-

tiot County, some fifteen to twenty miles above these al-

ready described."

This report, from so eminent an authority as Dr. Hough-

ton, established the fact of the existence of salt-springs in

the valley of the Maple River. It is certain, too, that the

Indians had made salt in small quantities from the springs

for many years. Mr. B. 0. Williams, of Owosso, who was

a trader among them as early as 1831, says he h;is seen and

eaten salt made by the natives from brine obtained there.

But no result was ever reached in the discovery of supplies

of salt water which would pay for manufacturing. The

same result has followed all searches for remunerative veins

of coal in Clinton. The fact became apparent years ago,

and is now universally accepted as such, that for the people

of this county at least, it is far better to expend their labor

on the surface of their magnificent fields than to delve in

the earth beneath thorn in search of mineral wealth.

CHAPTER XLVI.

CHANGES OP CIVIL JURISDICTION.

Clinton County inclmleil successively in Wayne, Oakland, and Kala-

mazoo—Erection of Clinton and its Attachment to the County of

Kent—Subsequent Attachment to Shiawassee County—Subdivision

of Clinton County into Civil Townships.

It is frequently said of the county of Clinton (as indeed

of many other counties of the lower peninsula of Michi-

gan) that it once formed a part of the county of Wayne,

which was first " laid out" by proclamation of Winthrop

Sargent, Acting Governor of the old Northwest Territory,

Aug. 18, 1796, with boundaries running from the Cuya-

hoga River, in Ohio, west to the eastern line of the State

of Illinois, and thence north to the boundary between the

United States and Great Britain, thus including all the

country between Lakes Erie, St. Clair, and Huron, and

Lake Michigan, as well as a great tract between the latter

and Lake Superior. Nominally, therefore, this county and

all the adjacent country was included within the indefinite

boundaries of Wayne for many years, and yet, practically

this inaccessible wilderness region, uninhabited as it then was

except by savages and wild beasts, was no more within the

jurisdiction of AVayue County than it had been within that

of the ancient Plymouth Company, to whom, in the early

part of the seventeenth century, James I. of England had

granted all the lands between 42° 2' and 44° 15' north

latitude, from the Atlantic to the Pacific Ocean. In the

subsequent " laying out" of Wayne County, by proclama-

tion of Governor Cass (in 1815), it was only made to in-

clude that part of Michigan Territory to which the Indian

title had already been extinguished, and as at that time

the western boundary of Indian cessions was a line identi-

cal with that which was afterwards established as the prin-

cipal meridian of the United States surveys, the county of

Wayne, as then defined, included no part of the territory of

Clinton.

On the 12th of January, 1819, a proclamation was made

by Governor Cass, erecting the county of Oakland, to in-

clude six tiers of townships north from the base-line, and

extending westward to the line which is now the principal

meridian, thus leaving all of the present county of Clinton

outside its limits. Oakland County was organized in 1820

with its original boundaries ; but by a proclamation of

Governor Cass, dated Sept, 10, 1822, it was reduced to its

present size, and the new counties of Lapeer, Sanilac, Sagi-

naw, and Shiawassee (which were erected by the same

proclamation) were attached to it, as was also " all the

country not included within the boundaries of any of the

before- described counties, to wliich the Indian title was

extinguished by the treaty of Saginaw." This latter at-

tachment of territory to Oakland included what is now

Clinton County, with many other counties lying to the

south, west, and north of it ; and it continued in force, as

regards the domain of Clinton County, until 1830, when

an act was passed by the Legislature (approved July 30th

and taking effect October 1st in that year) organizing the

county of Kalamazoo, and providing " that the counties of

Calhoun, Barry, and Eaton, and all the country lying north

of township four, north of the base-line, west of the prin-

cipal meridian, south of the county of Michilimackinac,

and cast of the line between ranges twelve and thirteen and

of Lake Michigan, where said range-line intersects the lake,

shall be attached to and compose a part of the county of

Kalamazoo County for judicial purposes." Included in the

above-described unorganized territory was that of the

county of Clinton, which remained so attached to Kala-

mazoo for about five and a half years.

The erection of the county of Clinton was effected by

an act of the Legislature (approved March 2, 1831), which

provided " that the country included within the following

limits, to wit : west of the meridian and east of the line

between ranges 4 and 5, west of the meridian ;
south of the

line between townships 8 and 9, north of the base-line ; north

of the line between townships 4 and 5, north of the base-line,

containing sixteen townships, be and the same is hereby set

off into a separate county by the name of Clinton."

Legislative acts, bearing even date with that which

erected Clinton, erected also the counties of Ottawa, Ionia,

and Kent. The last-named county was organized by act

approved March 24, 1836, which also provided "that the

unorganized counties of Ottawa, Ionia, and Clinton shall

be attached to the county of Kent for judicial purposes."

Clinton remained attached to Kent until March 18, 1837,

when, by the provisions of an act of that date organizing

the county of Shiawassee, it was attached, for judicial pur-

poses, to the last-named county, and so continued until its

own organization as a separate county, in 1839.

SUBDIVISION OF THE COUNTY INTO TOWN-
SHIPS.

The entire area of Clinton County was at first embraced

in a single original township,—De Witt,—which was erected

by an act of the Legislature of Michigan, approved March

23, 183t). That act provided: "Section 49. That the

county of Clinton be and the same is hereby set off and

organized into a separate township by the name of De Witt

;

and the first township-meeting therein shall be held at the

dwelling-house of David Scott, in said township."
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By an act approved March 20, 1837, the township of

De Witt was divided in its centre,—on the north and south

line wliich forms the boundary between ranges 2 and 3

west of the meridian,—and the western half was erected

into a new township ; that part of the act which has refer-

ence to this erection being as follows :
" That the townships

in ranges three and four west, in the county of Clinton, be

a township by the name of Watertown ; and the people

therein shall be entitled to all the privileges incident to

inhabitants of organized townships, and the first township-

meeting therein shall be held at the house of Anthony

Niles, in said township of Watertown."

The north half of the territory of Watertown was .set

off and erected into a separate township by the terms of an

act (approved March 6, 1838) which provided that " all

that part of Clinton County designated by the United

States survey as townships numbers seven and eight north,

of ranges three and four west, be, and the same is hereby

set off and organized into a separate township by the name

of Wandaugon, and the first township-meeting therein shall

be held at the house of George Campau, in said township."

The Indian name given to this township appears to have

been unfavorably received by the people, and an attempt

was soon after made to have it changed. This resulted in

the pas.sagc of an act (approved April 2d in the same year)

which provided that " That portion of townships .seven and

eight north, of ranges three and four west, according to

the United States survey, be and the same is hereby set

oft" and organized by the name of Lebanon, and the first

township meeting therein shall be held at the house of

James Sowle, Jr." It will be noticed that the above de-

scription of the boundaries of the new township is exceed-

ingly obscure. The law-makers had undoubtedly meant to

enact that " that portion of the county of Clinton which is

embraced in townships seven and eight north, of ranges

three and fiur west," should be set off and organized, etc.,

but the omission of the words here italicized was fatal to

the operation of the act. The proposed change of name

was therefore postponed until the ne.xt session of the Lcgis-

liiturc, and in the mean time the townsiiip remained Wan-

daugon, as before.

At the time of the organization of Clinton County there

had been erected wifhiii it only the three towiishij)S already

mentioned,—De Witt, Watertown, and Wandaugon,—and

the terriUiry embraced, respectively, in these subdivisions at

that time was as follows: De Witt included all the eastern

half of the county from the meridian westward to the west

boundary-line of range No. 2 ; Watertown covered the

southwest quarter of the county, comprising the present

townships of Eagle, Westphalia, and lliley, in addition to

its own reduced territory.

Immediately after the organization of Clinton the north-

cast quarter of the county—embracing the present towns of

Ovid, Bingham, Ureenbush, and Duplain—was erected into

the township of Bingham, by act of Legislature approved

March 21, 1839. As this block of territory was taken

from De ^Vitt, that township was left with only four survey-

townships, comprising the southeast quarter of the county,

and the oast half of this was taken off on the follnwing day

(March 22, 1839) by the Governor's apjiroval of an act

which provided, " That all that part of the county of Clin-

ton designated in the United States survey as townships

Nos. 5 and 6 north, of range No. 1 west, be and the same

is hereby set off and organized into a township by the name
of Ossowa." Again, on the 20th of March, 1841, survey-

township No. G north, of range No. 2 west,—being the north

half of the then remaining territory of De Witt,—was set off

by legislative act and erected into the township of Olive,

thus leaving to De Witt only a single survey-township,

which has continued to be the extent of its area until the

present time.

Watertown, which at first embraced the entire west half

of the county, but bad yielded the north half of its area in

the erection of Wandaugon township, as before noticed, was

further reduced by an act (approved March 21, 1839) which

took from it the survey-township numbered north, of range

4 west, and organized it as the township of Westphalia.

About two years later (March 15, 1841) an act was ap-

proved erecting .survey-township No. 5 north, of range 4

we.st, into the civil township of Eagle, and township 6

north, of range 3 west, into the township of Riley. This

left the township of Watertown with only its present area,

that of a single township of the government survey.

The township of Wandaugon, having survived the act of

April 2, 1838, continued to exist under its original name

until March 22, 1839, at which date an act was approved

which provided that " the township of Wandaugon, in the

county of Clinton, shall be hereafter known and designated

by the name of Lebanon." At that time, and for about a

year afterwards, the township retained all the original area

of Wandaugon (the northwest quarter of the county), but

on the 19th of March, 1840, an act was passed setting off

the eastern half of its territory, viz. : survey-townships Nos.

7 and 8 north, of range 3 west, and erecting the part so set

oft" into the township of Bengal. And finally, in 1845,

an act was passed (approved March 19th of that year) b)'

which the township of Dallas was erected on survej'-town-

ship 7 of range 4 west. This took from Lebanon the south

half of its then remaining territory, leaving it with but one

survey-township, as at jiresent. Bengal township (taken

from Lebanon, as before noticed, and embracing the north-

ern two survey-townships of Clinton County in range 3

west) was partitioned under the provisions of an act ap-

proved March 9, 18+3, and its northern half Wiis erected

into the towii.ship of Es.sex. The boundaries of both these

town.'-hips still remain as then established.

The township of Bingham, from the time of its erection

in March, 1839, continued to embrace the entire northeast

(luarter of the county until March 19, 1840, when, under

the provisions of an act of that date, the east half of its

territory was set off and erected into the townships of Sena*

and Ovid, the latter covering survey-township 7, and the

former township 8 north, of range 1 west. Of the terri-

tory remaining to Bingham after the setting off of these

two towns, the north half (township 8 north, of range 2

west) was taken by act of Fcbriiaiy l(i, 1842, and erected

* Tlio naino of Sona was <]i!<continucd, and l>ii|)lain ado])lL'il as the

naiiu> of this townslii]), by act of tlie Logislaturc, appruveil March

ao, is 1 1.
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iuto the town of Greenbusli. The boundary as then estab-

lished between Greenbush and Bingham continued undis-

turbed until April 7, 1846, when an act was passed pro-

viding " that all that part of the township of Greenbush,

in the county of Clinton, known and designated as the

south half of section 30, and sections 31, 32, and 33, be

and the same is hereby attached to the township of Bing-

ham, in said county." The sections and half-section above

named continued to form a part of the township of Bing-

ham until March 20, 1850, when, by an act of that date,

they were re-annexed to Greenbush, and the original boun-

dary between the two townships was re-established.

Ossowa township, set off from De Witt in 1830, held its

original area of two survey-townships until March 9, 1843,

when the Governor approved an act changing its name from

Ossowa to Bath, and erecting the north half of its territory

(township 6 north, of range 1 west) into the township of

Victor. These two towns have remained unchanged in

limits from that time to the present.

During several years prior to the organization, but after

the laying out, of Gratiot County, the two tiers of town-

ships composing the southern half of that county were

attached to the northern tier of townships of Clinton

County. The first act of the Legislature by which any of

those townships were so attached was approved March 16,

1847. It provided " that all the territory designated by

the United States survey as townships Nos. 9 and 10 north,

of range No. 2 west, be and the same is hereby attached

to the township of Greenbush, in the county of Clinton."

In the same way it attached township 9 north, of range 3

west, to the township of Essex ; and townships Nos. 9 and

10 north, of range 4 west, to the township of Lebanon.

A subsequent act. approved March 9, 1848, provided ' that

townships Nos. 9 and 10 north, of range No. 1 west, in

the county of Gratiot, be and the same are hereby attached

to and made a part of the township of Duplain, in the

county of Clinton; and that township No. 10 north, of

range 3 west, in the county of Gratiot, be and the same

is hereby attached to and made a part of the township of

Essex, in the county of Clinton."

The effect of this legislation was to attach the townships

which are now North Shade and New Haven, in Gratiot,

to the township of Lebanon, in Clinton County
; the town-

ships now Fulton and Newark, in Gratiot, to the township

of Essex, in Clinton
; the town.ships now Washington and

North Star, in Gratiot, to Greenbush, in Clinton ; and the

townships now Elba and Hamilton, in Gratiot, to the town-

ship of Duplain, in Clinton County. On the 12th of Oc-

tober, 1853, the Board of Supervisors of Clinton County,

in the exercise of powers conferred on such boards by the

State constitution of 1850, set off the two Gratiot town-

ships which had been attached to Lebanon, and erected the

southernmost of the two into the township of North Shade,

attaching the other one to it. After the organization of

this town, its supervisor met regularly with the supervisors

of Clinton County, and acted with them as a member of

the board. Some of the other Gratiot townships were set

off and organized by the Clinton Board of Supervisors in

1855, but their supervisors never met with the Clinton

.board, for the reason that the organization of Gratiot County,

which was effected in the same year, severed all connection

between its southern townships and the county of Clinton.

CHAPTER XLVIL

EARLY SETTLEMENTS—CODNTY ORGANIZATION
—COURTS AND OTHER COUNTY MATTERS.

Low Estimate of the Value of Michigan LanJs in Early Years— First

Settleiiieuts in Different Parts of Clinton County—Organization of

the County—Early Proceedings of the County Commissioners and

Supervisors—AVolf-Bounties—Establishment of Courts in Clinton

County—County Sites and County Property.

It was not until late in the present century that white

settlements began to invade the wilderness of Clinton

County, and the same is true to a great extent of the region

adjacent to it as far east as the older county of Oakland,

which had itself remained an almost unknown country for

fully a century after the cabins and clearings of French

immigrants began to cluster along the .shores of the Detroit

River, only a few miles farther eastward. That this siiould

have been so, that these lands of almost marvelous fertility,

lying within a comparatively short distance of the old post

of Detroit and the navigable waters north of it, should

have remained unappropriated—and unnoticed, except in

contempt—by emigrants seeking comfortable homes and

productive farms, seems not a little mysterious at first

thought ; but the cause is made tolerably clear by reference

to a few facts which are narrated below, showing that for

many years the peninsula wa.s believed to be a land unfit

for white men's occupancy; and how it came to be so re-

garded.

The earliest, as it was also the most extreme, among the

unfavorable notices of the lands forming the Michigan

peninsula is found in the writings of the French Baron

La Hontan, who passed up through the Detroit River, and

the lake and river of St. Clair, in 168G, and who, judging

of all the country from his glimpses of the swampy lands

bordering the lake and rivers, chronicled his opinion that

the entire region was truly " the fag-end of the world."

So contemptuous an expression from such a distinguished

man and extensive traveler could not fail to have its effect

on the minds of the people of that da}-, and it was. perhaps,

the beginning of the opinion which afterwards became well-

nigh universal, and continued for more than a century and

a quarter, that Michigan was but another name for a coun-

try of morasses, irreclaimable swamps, and barren sand-

knolls.

In the year 1812 an act was passed by Congress requir-

ing that two millions of acres of land in each of the (then)

Territories of Michigan, Illinois, and Louisiana—in all six

million acres—should be surveyed and set apart as military

tracts, out of which each soldier serving in the armies of

the United States in the war then existing with England

should be entitled to receive one hundred and sixty acres

of land fit for cultivation. Under the provisions of this

act surveys were made ; but, while engaged in the work,

the surveyors .seem to have formed an idea of the country

similar to that expressed by La Hontan, and to have im-
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parted their opinion to the surveyor-general, as may be in-

ferred from the following extract from his report, made

Nov. 13, 1815, and having reference to the Michigan sur-

veys, viz. :
" The country on the Indian boundary-line from

the mouth of the Great Auglaize River [that is, the line

established by the treaty of Detroit in 1807, and identical,

or nearly so, with the principal meridian of the government

surveys], and running theuce for about fifty miles, is, with

some few exceptions, low, wet land, with a very thick

growth of underbrush, intermixed with very bad marshes,

but generally very heavily timbered with beech, cottonwood,

oak, etc. ; thence, continuing north, and extending from

the Indian boundary eastward, the number and extent

of the swamps increases, with the addition of numbers of

lakes from twenty chains to two and three miles across.

Many of these lakes have extensive marshes adjoining

their margins, sometimes thickly covered with a species of

pine called tamarack, and other places covered with a

coarse, high grass, and uniformly covered from six inches

to three feet (and more at times) with water. The margins

of these lakes are not the only places where swamps are

found, for they are interspersed throughout the whole

country and filled with water, as above stated, and varying

in extent.

" The intermediate space between these swamps and

lakes—which is probably near one-half of the country

—

is, with very few exceptions, a poor, barren, sandy land,

on which scarcely any vegetation grows except very small,

scrubby oaks. In many places that part which may be

called dry land is composed of little, short sand-hills, form-

ing a kind of deep basins, the bottoms of many of which

are composed of marsh similar to the above described. The

streams are generally narrow and very deep compared with

their width, the shores and bottoms of which are, with

very few exceptions, swampy beyond description, and it is

with the utmost difficulty that a place can be found over

which horses can be conveyed in safety.

" A circumstance peculiar to that country is exhibited

in many of the marshes by their being thinly covered with

a sward of grass, by walking on which evinces tlic exist-

ence of water or a very thin mud immediately under their

covering, which sinks from six to eiglitecn inches under

the pressuie of the foot at every step, and at the same time

rises before and behind the person passing over it. The

margins of many of the lakes and streams are in similar

situation, and in many places are literally afloat. On ap-

proaching the eastern part of the military land, towards

the private claims on the straits and lake, the country does

not contain so many swamps and lakes, but the extreme

sterility and barrenness of the soil continue the same.

Taking the country altogether, so far as it has been ex-

plored, and to all appearances, together with information

received concerning the balance, it is so bad that ihire

would not be more than one acre out of a hundred, if

there would he one out of a thousand, that would in any

cane admit of ctdl ivali<m."

The tract of country surveyed for soldiers' buunly lands,

and on the survey of which the above-mentioned report

was based, did not include the territory of the present

county of (Hiiiton, but still the report it.sclf was accepted

1:5

as a sweeping condemnation of the whole interior portion

of the peninsula, and it was not doubted that the facts

were strictly as .set forth in the opinion of the surveyor-

general. It was doubtless an honest expression of opinion

on his part, for he of course ba.scd the report on the in-

formation furnished him by his subordinates, who per-

formed the work in the field ; but how tliei/ could have

been so deceived (if indeed they were so far deceived as

to believe the disparaging statements which they made) is

certainly a mystery. However it may have been brought

about, the result was that Congress p.issed a law (April 29,

1S16) repealing so much of the act of 1812 as authorized

the locating of soldiers' lands in Michigan, and, in lieu

thereof, providing for the survey of one million five hun-

dred thousand acres in Missouri; so that the brave men

who had periled their lives for their country .should not be

wronged and insulted by the donation of lauds of which,

according to the surveyors' reports, not one acre in a hun-

dred was fit for cultivation.

In 1822 the government established a military post at

Saginaw, and several companies of United States troops

were placed in garri.son there. Soon afterwards the men

of this garrison were attacked by disease, which continued

to rage among them with such fatal effect that a large pro-

portion of them perished. At last, after an occupation of

about fourteen months, the troops were withdrawn and the

post abandoned on the recommendation of the commandant,

who reported to the authorities above him that it was in

his opinion a great wrong to compel Christian men to re-

main in a country which was wholly unfit to be occupied

except by Indians, musk rats, and bull-frogs. This with-

drawal of the troops, with the accompanying opinion of

the commanding officer, was as effective as the surveyor-

general's report had been in bringing the entire country to

the north and west of Detroit into disrepute and contempt,

and for years afterwards there were very few while men

who thought of invading the terrible wilderness north and

west of Pontiac.

In the " Fortnight in the Wildorncss," written by the

eminent French traveler Alexis de Toc(|uevillc, de.fcribing

a trip made by him and a friend from Detroit to Saginaw,

in 1881, he narr.itcs a convfrsation he had with Maj. Bid-

die, the United States land-agent at Detroit, a.s follows

:

" We presented ourselves to him as persons who, wiiluiut

liaving quite made up our minds to &st;iblish ourselves in

the country, were interested to know the price and situation

of government lands. May Hiddle, the officer, now under-

stood perfectly what we wanted, and entered into a number

of details, to which we eagerly li.stened. . . . We thanked

Maj. IJiddli^ for his advice, and asked hiin, with an air of

indiffereiiee bordering on contemi)t, towards which side of

his district the current of emigration had, up to the pro-

sent time, least tended. ' Thi.s way,' he said, without at-

taching more importance to his answer that we had seemed

to do to our question, ' towards the northwest. About Pon-

tiac and its neighborhood .some jiretly fair estahlislimeiils

have lately been commenced. Hut you must not think of

fixing yourselves farther off; the country is covered by an

almost iinpenetrable forest, which extends uninterruptedly

towards the northwest, full of nothing but wild bea.>.ts and
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Indians. The government proposes to open a way through

it, but the road is only just begun, and stops at Pontine. I

repeat, there is nothing to be thought of in that quarter.'

We thanked Maj. Biddle for his good advice, and deter-

mined to take it in a contrary sense. We were beside our-

selves with joy at the prospect of at length finding a place

which the torrent of European civilization had not yet in-

vaded."

The next day (July 23, 1831) De Tocqueville and his

companion started on horseback from Detroit, and reached

Pontiac, the outpost of civilization, on their way to the

northwestern wilderness. At Pontiac they stopped for the

night at one of the two hotels of the place (probably the one

then kept by Judge Amasa Bagley), where they were beset

by the people, including the landlord, to induce tliem to buy

land in, or in the vicinity of, the village,—never dreaming

that it could be the travelers' intention to proceed farther

into the wilderness. But they were determined to continue

their explorations, and in the morning called for their

horses, having first thanked the landlord for his valuable in-

formation and wise counsels. " ' But before fixing in your

country, my dear landlord,' said M. de Tocqueville, ' we

intend to visit Saginaw, and we wish to consult you on this

point.' At the name of Saginaw a remarkable change

came over his features. It seemed as if he had suddenly

been snatched from real life and transported to a land of

wonders. His eyes dilated, his mouth fell open, and the

most complete astonishment pervaded his countenance.

' You want to go to Saginaw ?' exclaimed he. ' To Sagi-

naw Bay ? Two foreign gentlemen, two rational men, who

want to go to Saginaw Bay ! It is scarcely credible
!'

'And why not?' we replied. 'But are you well aware,'

continued our host, ' what you undertake ? Do you know

that Saginaw is the last inhabited spot towards the Pacific?

That between this place and Saginaw lies an uncleared

wilderness ? Do you know that the forest is full of Indians

and mosquitoes ? Have you no thought about the fever ?

Will you be able to get on in the wilderness, and to find

your way in the labyrinth of our forests?' . . .
' Have you

ever been in Saginaw ?' we resumed. ' I have been so un-

lucky as to go thither five or six times,' he replied ;
' but I

had a motive for doing it, and you do not appear to have

any.' " But he did not succeed in dissuading the travelers

from continuing on their tour. They pressed on to Sagi-

naw, and returned from that place in safety, finding in the

country through which they passed the untamed wilder-

ness which they came to Michigan to see. The above extract

from De Toc(iueville's narrative is given, somewhat at

length, for the purpose of showing what, even at that late

date, was the general opinion prevailing among the people

as to the great wilderness which stretched away to the north

and west from Pontiac, and the prospect which there then

seemed to exist, of its early settlement.

The opinion which had been given by the surveyor-gen-

eral in 1815, by the commandant of the post of Saginaw

in 1823, and which had received confirmation from many
other sources, had the effect to bring the Territory of Michi-

gan into great disrepute, as a country wholly unfit for

agriculture ; and this feeling was fostered by the Indian

traders, who were thoroughly acquainted with the interior

country and its capabilities, but were only too willing to

assi.st in perpetuating the delusion in order to postpone the

evil day (as they regarded it) when their lucrative business

should be ruined by the advance of white immigration and

•settlement. This is how and why there grew up the almost

universal belief that the interior of Michigan was worthless

for agricultural purposes ; the home of every .-ipocies of

malarial disease, and a land of which the obvious destiny

must be to continue in the possession of Indians and wild

beasts. And the existence of this belief was the cause

which for many yeare, deterred emigrants from seeking

homes in the forest land of Clinton and other interior

counties of the State.

The survey of land by the government does not always

precede the making of settlements on them, though it gen-

erally does, and such was the case in Clinton County, not

more than one settler (if any) having located in the county

prior to the survey of the lands on which he established

bis home. In 1824 the principal meridian line was run

by Joseph Wampler, deputy surveyor, to a point as far

north as the centre of the county of Clinton, and in 1826

and 1827 the south half of the county was surveyed and

laid ofi" into the usual subdivisions ; the laying out of the

townships being done by Lucius Lyon, deputy surveyor.

The north half of the county was surveyed in the year 1831,

the township-lines being principally run by Robert Clark,

Jr., but some of them being laid ofi' by C. W. Christmas.

Both of these gentlemen were deputy United States sur-

veyors. In addition to the four deputy surveyors above

mentioned, there were several others employed on the sub-

division-lines in Clinton County, among them being Hervey

Parke, Orange Risdon, R. Thomas, Joel Wright, Austin

Burt, and perhaps others. All of those who supervised

the running of lines held the appointment of deputy United

States surveyor.

The first settlement in the county was made at the place

now known as Blaple Rapids, by George Campau, who, sis

has already been mentioned, came there for the purpose of

trading with the Indians. The trading-post at that point

was established in 182G. John B. Cushway is believed to

have preceded Campau in the proprietorship, but the former

made but a temporary residence there, while Campau be-

came a permanent settler and entered government land in

that township (Essex) as early as 1832. About that time

Hiram Benedict settled in the same township.

David Scott, who has generally but erroneously been

mentioned as the first settler iu the county, located on the

Looking-Glass River, in the present township of De Witt,

in 1833. He there opened a public-house which became a

landmark iu the early years, and was known far and wide

through this part of the State by the simple appellation of

"Scott's."

In the southwest corner of the county the first settle-

ments were made by Anthony Niles and Stephen B.

Gruger, from Oakland County, who, with two or three

other families, settled in the township (now Eagle) in

1834.

The northwest corner township (Lebanon) received its

first settlers iu the family of Daniel Barker, who came

there and located in 1834.



ORGANIZATION OF TUE COUNTS. 339

In the northeast corner of the county a number of im-

migrants from Western New York, composint; what was

known as the " Rochester Colony," located in the valley of

the Maple River in the year 183G. This settlement, which

has retained the above name until the present time, will be

found mentioned at length in the history of the township

of Duplain, in which it is situated. The earliest settlements

in all the other parts of the county will also be similarly

noticed in detail in the separate histories of the several

townships.

The i)rogress made in the settlement of the county

during a period of about fifteen years from the date of the

first land-entry, is shown by the following statement of the

total valuation of real and personal estate in the different

townships of the county in 1847, viz.:

Bath $IG,705

Bengal 21,ti02

Bingham 2(I,.!S8

Duplain 2;),»2:i

Dallas 2li,lll

Do Witt &2,21.')

Eagle 4y,or)7

Essc-i 4:i,078

Grci-nlnish 12,000

Lebanon 24,204

Ovid 2:),221

Olive 30,041

lliley 2:i,l.'.fi

Victor 23,321

Westphalia 20,700

Walertown 42,403

Total $458,175

ORGANIZATION OF THE COUNTY.

The organization of Clinton County was effected in 18!!9,

by an act of the Legislature (approved March I2th of that

year) which provided " That the county of Clinton be and

the same is hereby organized. . . . There shall be elected

in the county of Clinton, on the first Monday of April next,

all the several county officers to which, by law, the said

county is entitled, and whose terra of office shall severally

expire at the time the same would have expired had

they been elected on the first Monday and Tuesday of

November last ; said election shall be hold in the several

townships at the same place where by law such annual

township-meeting is to be held." Under the provisions of

this organizing act the election was hold at the time (April

1, 1830 j and places designated, resulting in the election of

the following-named officers for the county of Clinton, viz.:

Sheriff, William F. Jenison ; Clerk, Sctli P. Marvin;

Register of Deeds, Milo H. Turner; Treasurer, John

Gould ; Judge of Probate, Hiram W. Stowell ; A.ssociate

Judges, Hiram Wilcox, Joseph Sever; County Comini-s-

sioners, Calvin Marvin, Ephraim II. Utley, Robert E.

Craven.

Tiie office of county commisioner was created in i\lich-

igan by si law pa.ssed in May, 1818, giving to each organized

county a board of three of these officers, to be appointi^d

by the Governor, and to receive a salary of thirty d(jllar8

each per annum. The office was discontinued by an act

l)assed in April, 1827, and the jiowcrs before held by that

board were given to a Roard of Supervisors, composed of

one supervisor from each township. The Board of Com-

missioners was revived by a law passed by the Legislature

in 1838 ; and this law being in force at the time of

the organization of Clinton County, there were included

among its first officers the three gentlemen above named as

composing its Board of County Commissioners, their powers

and duties being the same as those which now pertain to

the Board of Supervisors.

E.VRLT PKOCEP^DINGS OE TUE COMMISSIONERS
AND SUPERVISORS.

The earliest public business of the county was that

which came before the Board of Commissioners at their first

meeting, which was held in the village of De Witt on the

lUth of April, 1839. Ephraim II. Utley was chosen

chairman and Seth P. Marvin (the county clerk) was made

clerk of the board. Their first action was the appointment

of the 21st of April, 1839, to meet the Board of Commis-

sioners of Shiawassee for the purpose of making a settle-

ment between the two counties. The board then adjourned

to meet on the 10th of June, 183!), at the house of

Ephraim H. Utley in the village of De Witt.

At the adjourned meeting of the board the following

demands against the county were audited and ordered paid:

Wolf- certificate to No-wab-a-no $8.00

Asb-ha-be 8.00
'* " Alonzo D. lirewstcr 8.00

" " Alonz.o Vaughn 48.00

Account of David Watsun 7.50
" Timothy U. Petit 7.50

" John Berry 5.00

" B. U. Utley 5.50

" Seth P. Marvin 9.50

The following is a copy of the abstract of the assessment-

rolls of the several townships of Clinton County for the

year 1839, as equalized by the board:

Towns. Numl)«r of
Acres.

Ossowa 24,501

De Witt 33,919

Watertown 55,090

Westphalia 14,529

Lebanon 67,713

Bingham 49,191

Total 245,543 $741,825 $12,6SS $754,513

The following is the amount of tax levied in the several

townships in the same year :

Amount of
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To a proportion of the contingent expense of the two counties

up to Sept. 2:!, 1830, as per settlement $202.91

To interest on $202. 'Jl from Sept. 23, 1839, to Dec. IS, ISIO,

1 year, 2 montlis, and 25 days 17.55

To a proportion of expense in examining and arranging tiie

books, papers, and accounts, etc 56.00

To a proportion of a $1(1 counterfeit bill taken of Josiah

Pierce, late treasurer, for taxes 4.50

To ex]>enses of advertising and setting .'iO descriptions of

land discharged by the county commissioners of Clinton

County
'.

•. 25.00

$305.97

And it is hereby agreed that the county of Clinton shall

be credited with the sum of fourteen dollars and eighty

cents, to be deducted from the above sum of three hundred

and five dollars and ninety-seven cents, the said sum of

fourteen dollars and eighty cents being a proportion of the

bounties on wolf-scalps allowed by the auditor-general, Feb.

12, 1840, by letter of that date.

" Calvin Marvin,
" Robert E. Craven,

" Commissioners of Clinton County.

" R. W. HOLLEY,
" Lemuel Castle,

" Commissioners of Shiawassee County.

" Isaac Castle,

" Treasurer of Shiawassee County.

" Dated at Corunna, Deo. 2-t, 1840."

The following receipt shows the final settlement of the

account

:

" $291.17. Received of the county commissioner of the

county of Clinton two hundred and ninety-one dollars and

seventeen cents, being the balance due to Shiawassee County

from the county of Clinton, a settlement of the contingent

expenses of the counties up to Dec. 18, 1840.

" Isaac Castle,

" Treasurer of Shiawassee County.

" CoRtiNNA, Jan. 13, 1841."

In 1842 a law was passed abolishing the office of county

commissioner and restoring the Board of Supervisors. The

last meeting of the commissioners was held on the 16th of

March, 1842, and on the 4th of July of the same year (the

date designated by law) the supervisors met and resumed

the powers they had relinquished to the commissioners

four years before. There were present at this meeting the

following-named supervisors, viz.

:

De Witt.—Jesse F. Turner.

Eagle.—Oliver Doty.

Westphalia.—Anthony Kopp.

Riley.—Atwell Simmons.

Olive.—Daniel Ferguson, Jr.

Ovid.—Isaac V. Swarlhout.

Bingham.—Stephen W. Downer.

Bengal.—Chauncey M. Stebbins.

Greenbush.—David Levy.

Duplain.—Robert E. Craven.

The townships of Watertown, Ossowa, and Lebanon were

not represented.

From 1842 until the present time the Board of Super-

visors have continued to exercise their functions as fiscal

managers of the county.

WOLF-BOUNTIES.

The class of vouchers known as " wolf-certificates" were

issued by the County Commissioners and Board of Super-

visors to persons presenting proof of the killing of wolves

and applying for the bounty awarded for such killing.

Below is given a list of the names of persons to whom
such certificates were issued by the commissioners and su-

pervisors from 1839 to 1845, inclusive. Prior to Oct. 11,

1843, the bounty paid on each wolf was eight dollars, but

at that time it was raised to twelve dollars.

AmouDt of Certificate.

April 10, IS39.

No-wab-a-no $8
Ash- ha be 8

Alon'io D. Bre\¥ster 8

Alonzo Vaughn 48

Oct. 7, 1839.

Alonzo Vaughn 32
Sau-lo-de 8
Shant comagin 8

Enoch Willis 8

Nathaniel Russell 8

Nov. 16, 1S39.

Joshua Frink 8

Feb. 3, 1S40.

Nelson Daggett 16
George Pearsall 8

David Cooper 8

Joseph Russell 40
Elisha B. Isham 8

March 2, 1840.

Joshua Frink 8
Philemon Newman 8

Lucern Eldridge 8

April 8, 1840.

Stephen Willis 8

Me-we-zan 8
Nelson Daggett 24
John Ferdon 8

Alonzo D. Brewster 16

John P. Miller 16

Alonzo D. Brewster 8

July 8, 1S40.

Lyman Webster 16

Wa-ba-guu ish cum 8
Nelson Daggett 24
Joseph Russell 8
Au-gun-gno-ung 8

James Miller 8

Oct. 5, 1S40.

E-lie-no-sha 8

Bish-she-mony 8

Enoch Willis 8

Oct. 12, 1840.

John Berry S

Thomas Russell 8

George F. Dutton S

Posha-ton and Bash-ke-zick 8

Jan. 1, 1S41.

William Drake 8

Paraasc-quay 8
William Drake 8

Joseph Russell 8

Augustus Gillett 8

Jan. 25, 1841.

Joseph Russell 8

July 5, 1841.

Alonzo D. Brewster .-. SO
Joseph Russell 10

John Ferdon 16

James Stiles 8

Ora Stiles 8

Oct. 22, 1841.

William Drake 8
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Dec. 30, 1841.

Cornelius Drake $16
William Drake 8
Joseph Russell 8
Coo-Cosh 8

John Avery 8

James Stiles 8

Thomas Fisk 8

Augustus Gillett 8

Jan. 1, 1S42.

Sally Avery 8

March 14, 1842.

Willard N. Daggett 8
Thomas Fisk 8

Ora B. 8tiles 8
Hosea Baker 8
Lucius Norton 8
Thomas Fisk 16

Jan. 5, 1843.

Lucius Morton 24
J. W. Taylor 8

geth Morton 8

Oct. 9, 1843.

Henry Brown 8

Jan. 2, 1844.

Roberts. McKee 12
Minor R. Frink 12
Lucius Jlorton 24
David Olin 12

Oct. 18, 1844.

Cornelius N. Drake 12
Willard N. Daggett 12
John A. Millard 24
Silas W. Rose 12
Herod Morton 12

John Ferdon 12

John I. Tinkcliiaugh 12
Samuel M. Ramill 12

Lucius Morton 24

Oct. 19, 1844.

Ezra Thornton 24
Robert G. McKee 12

Jan. 1, 1843.

Daniel Fifield 12

Lucius Morton 12
John Ferdon 12
John A. Millard 12
Elkanah Peek 24
AVilliani K. Bennett 12
Cortland Hill 12
Henry S. Fisk 12
An Indian 12
Marvin L. Coots 12

ESTABLISHMENT OP COURTS IN CLINTON
COUNTY.

THE CIRCUIT COURT.

By the act under wliich Clinton County was organized

it was provided " That the Circuit Court for the county of

(!liiiton shall be held at the county-seat, in such place as the

commissioners shall i)rovido." The village of l)e Witt had

been selected as the county-soat some years before, and in

accordance with the provisions of this act the commission-

ers decided upon the house of David Scott as the place for

holding the court, the fiist term of which was hM at his

house on the 2d of October, 1840, the Hon. Hiram Wil-

cox, a.ssociate justice, lieing present. The Hon. Charles

W. Wlii])plc aud the Hon. Jo.seph Scaver not appearing.

Judge Wilcox ordered the court adjourned to the 9th of

October following. Court was called at the time appointed,

and was adjourned to the 17th of December, when, the

Hon. Charles W. Whipple not ajipearing, Judge Wilcox

declared the court adjuuniod until the regular term, com-

meucing on the 7th of May, 1841. On this day the Hon.

Charles W. Whipple, a justice of the Supreme Court and

presiding judge of the Circuit, and Hiram Wilcox and Jo-

seph Seaver, associate judges of the county of Clinton,

were present. The court was opened in due form, aud the

following persons composing the grand jury were sworn,

viz. : Harvey Alexander, John H. Andrews, Daniel H.

Blood, Grove Cooper, Benjamin Carpenter, Gilbert Cush-

man, Oliver Doty, Francis Francisco, Daniel Ferguson,

Jr., Hugh Hagerty, John Gould, Elisha Gunnison, Levi D.

Jenison, Allen Louiisberry, Thomas Myers, John Jessup,

John W. Merrihew, Welcome J. Partelo, Jonathan R.

Pearsall, John Parker, Charles Stevens, William S. Swart-

hout, and William H. Webb.

There being no prosecuting attorney, the court appointed

Calvin C. Parks to perform the duties of that office during

the term. Two cases were brought before the court, aud

were both sent back to the justice from whom they came

for a more full and perfect statement. Robert B. Daniels

appeared in court and made declaration in due form of his

intention to become a citizen of the United States. The

declaration was ordered placed on file.

The next case was that of Ej)hraim H. Utley vs. Joseph

Cook. In attachment.

The defendant was called and came not ; thereupon " Or-

dered that his default be and is hereby entered."

A petition for divorce was presented, and the court or-

dered publication of petition and order for six weeks.

The grand jury came in, presented sundry indictments,

and were discharged. The ease of the People vs. Lyman

Webster, for embezzlement, was called, and on motion of

the prosecuting attorney it was " Ordered that the prisoner

enter in recognizance himself in three hundred dollars, and

a surety in the sum of two hundred dollars consideration

for his appearance at the next term of court." There being

no further business, the court adjourned.

At the second term of the Circuit Court, in October,

1841, the first petit jury was called, the following- named

persons being the jurors : Benjamin Merrihew, Edward

Higbee, Henry Jipson, John McCollum, Calvin Barber,

Henry Gibbs, Jr., James Gunsolly, Richard Lewis, Lyman

Webster, Elijah I. Stone, Joab Dobbins, George A. Merri-

hew, D. B. Cranson, Jesse Olmstead, Nathan Case, Barney

Allen, Morris Cushman, Ransom Reed, John Ferdon,

Peter Finch, Reuben Rogers, Smith Parker, F. W. Croiik-

hite. Judge \Vhii)ple not being present, the court ad-

journed.

The jircsicliiig jiulgo of the circuit until 1847 was tlio

Hon. C. W. Whipple, who wius succeeded by the lion.

Edward Mundy. Judge Mundy tilled the unexpired term

of Judge Whipple, and continued in ofTice till 1S.')1, when

the Hull, (ioorge Martin wa.s elected fur a full term. In

1857 the Hon. Louis S. Lovell was elected circuit judge,

and has coiiliiiuid in the olfice till the present lime.

THE I'ROUATE COURT.

The first judge of probate of the county of Clinton wna

Iliram W. St^iwell, who was elected in Ajiril, 1831). Tho

first businc.'vs of wiiich any record appears was the appoint-

ment of Belinda Cushman as guardian of Mial and Charles

B, Cu.shman, minor children and hein) of Ira Cushman, of
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the township of De Witt. The date of this appointment

was the 11th of April, 1840. The next record is of the

appointment of Henry Moon as guardian of Catharine,

Caroline, Mary Ann, and llebeeca Phice, minor children of

David T. Place, of Salem, Washtenaw Co., and bears date

Jan. 10, 1842.

The first letters of administration were granted March

26, 1842, to Matilda and Calvin Marvin, of De Witt, on

the estate of Eleazer M. Marvin, deceased. Calvin Marvin

having waived his right to administer and declined the ap-

pointment, Seth P. Marvin was appointed. Harvey Alex-

ander, W. W. Webb, and Ephraim H. Utley were ap-

pointed appraisers and ordered to report May 10, 1842, at

which time they did so report and presented an inventory

of the property.

The first will ofi^ered for probate and recorded in the

probate ofiice was that of Joseph Eddy, of the township of

Eagle. The will was dated April 13, 1842, and bears the

names of Edward W. Higbce, Philo Doty, Jared Higbee,

and Curtis Hinnian as attesting witncs.ses. Jane Eddy and

Jeremiah Eddy were appointed administrators. Jane Eddy

renounced all right to administer upon the estate, and Jere-

miah Eddy remained sole administrator. On the 6lh day

of June, Sophia Eddy was appointed administrator on the

estate of Abram Eddy, deceased.

The above account includes all the business on record

during the incumbency of Hiram W. Stowell as probate

judge. He was succeeded by Theodore H. Chapin, who

held his first court on the 23d of January, 1843, when he

examined the accounts and received the resignation of the

admiuistrator.s of the estate of Eleazer M. Marvin.

The office of the probate judge was held in one room of

the building erected by the county on the public square in

the village of De Witt until the removal of the county-

seat to St. Johns in 1857. The office at that place was

held in Plumstead Hall until the completion of the first

county building on the public square, when it was removed

to that building, and to the court-house on its completion

in 1871.

THE COUNTY COURT.

County courts, which were established in Michigan on

the 24th of October, 1815, and abolished in April, 1833,

were re-established by act approved May 18, 1846. Under
this law an election of judges was held in Clinton County

on the 3il of November, 1846. Jesse F. Turner was

elected county judge and William Shepherd second judge.

The first term of the county court for the county of Clin-

ton was held on the 5th day of April, 1847 (the day ap-

pointed by law), in the upper room of David Scott's Iiouse

in the village of De Witt, the Hon. Jesse F. Turner pre-

siding. There being no business, the court adjourned.

Judge Turner officiated as county judge until the 8th of

February, 1851, when he resigned, and the Hon. William

Shepherd, second judge, presided until the close of the

year, when the county court ceased to exist by limitation,

—

the constitution of 1850 having provided that the terms of

the judges of county courts should expire on the first of

January, 1852, and the jurisdiction of all suits and proceed-

ings in law and equity then pending in the county courts

should become vested in the circuit and district courts.

COUNTY sitp:s and county property.
In accordance with an act of the Legislative Council of

the Territory of Michigan, passed in 1830, providing for the

appointment by the Governor of commissioners to locate

county-seats, acting Governor Stevens T. Mason, on the 5th

day of September, 1833, appointed James Kingsley, Stephen

V. R. Trowbridge, and Charles J. Lannian commissioners to

locate the county-seat of Clinton County. No record is

found of the date on which the report of the commissioners

was filed, and it was not until the 22d day of September,

1835, that the proclamation of the Governor was issued con-

firming the location, which was described as the west half of

the southeast quarter of .section 5, in township 5 north, of

range 2 west, the present site of De Witt. Clinton County

was attached to Kalamazoo County as unorganized terri-

tory from 1830 till Marcli 23, 1836, when it was erected

into a township by the name of Da Witt, and the next day

it became attached to Kent County. Welcome J. Partelo

was the first supervisor of De Witt township, and attended

the meeting of the Board of Supervisors of Kent County at

Grand Rapids. Upon the organization of Shiawiissee

County, on the 18th of March, 1837, Clinton County was

attached to it, and remained under that jurisdiction until

March 12, 1839, when it was organized as a separate

county. The first election of county officers was held on

the 1st day of April, 1839, and on the 10th of the same

month the commissioners for the county convened for the

purpose of organizing and transaction of county business.

The erection of county buildings soon became neces-

sary, and the subject was brought before the Board of Com-

missioners on the 12th of October, 1840, by the following

resolution, which was adopted :
" That four hundred dollars

be appropriated in erecting offices for the following county

officers : trea.surer, clerk, and register of deeds ; also that

a sufficient amount of money be appropriated in erecting a

jail and dwelling-house attached thereto, for the use of the

jailer; the offices to be completed by the 15th of Septem-

ber, 1841, the jail and residence on or before October 15th

of the same year." The Board of Commissioners convened

Dec. 3, 1841, and awarded the contract for building the

public offices and jail and jailer's residence to William H.

Utley, he being the lowest responsible bidder. The con-

tract price for the offices was four hundred and thirty-nine

dollars, and for the jail and residence one thousand and sev-

enty-eight dollars. The buildings were not completed at the

specified time, and in March, 1842, Seth P. Marvin was

appointed by the commissioners to attend to the completion

of the jail. About the time of the appointment of S. P.

Marvin, David Scott conveyed to Clinton County the parcel

of land lying in the village of De Witt, bounded as follows :

" Commencing at the southwest corner of the public square
;

running thence east three chains ; thence north three chains
;

thence west three chains ; thence south three chains to the

place of beginning; also lot 3GG, in block 50, according to

the plat of the village of De Witt, for purposes of the

county buildings of said county, with the express under-

standing that, should the present location of the county-

site of said county be removed, the said county is to further

remove from said lands any buildings belonging to said

county at the time of the removal of said county-site, and

til
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the lands above desciibed are to revert to tlie said David

Seott and Clarissa Scott, their heirs, executors, administra-

tors, and assigns, etc." This property was deeded in con-

sideration of ten dollars. The deed bears date March 15,

1842, and is recorded in Liber B, page 49, in the register's

ofiBce of Clinton County.

On the 5th of January, 1843, the committee on public

buildings reported recommending the immediate occupation

of the buildings, tliough they were not yet completed.

Tlie public oiBce building was erected on the public square.

It was about eighteen by thirty feet, and divided into two

rooms, the clerk and register occupying one, the treasurer

and judge of probate the other.

Prior to this time it appears the offices had been kept at

different places, for on the day following the adoption of the

committee's report bills were audited as follows: " To Milo

H. Turner,* $11.44, for rent for county offices. To Jesse

F. Turner and Seth P. Marvin, $20 for rent for county of-

fices." From this time the offices of the clerk, treasurer,

and register were kept in this building until the removal of

the county-site to the village of St. Johns. The old jail

at De Witt was occupied until 1862.f The rooms for the

use of court, juries, and Board of Supervisors were rented

of David Scott from 1839 to 1847. For the year 1843

the price paid was one hundred and fifty dollars, and one

hundred dollars per annum was paid from 1844 to 1847 in-

clusive. In October, 1847, the supervisors rented the school-

house in district No. 6 for county purposes for fifty dollars

per year, and continued to occupy it till 1855. From

that time until the removal to St. Johns the courts were

held in the following-named places : in 1855 in rooms rented

from Chiiuncey Lott, for one hundred dollars per annum
;

in 1850 in rooms rented of C. M. Derbyshire, for seventy-

five dollars per annum ; in 1857 in the Baptist church at

De Witt. In Octobcr,.1851, the board resolved to build

a court-house on tiie east half of the public square, in the

village of Do Witt.

The agitation of the removal of the county-site was com-

menced by jSIr. Palmer, who, in October, 1855. offered a

resolution " That the couuty-site be removed to St. Johns."

W. F. Jcnison moved to amend by striking out the " vil-

lage of St. Johns" and inserting the " centre of Mu.skrat

Lake." Vote was taken, and both the amendment and

origiiiiil re.siihitiori wore lost. At the January ses.sion the

next year the subject was again brought up, and a resolu-

tion was offered that two thousand dollars be appropriated

to be used in connection with one thousand dollars sub-

scribed by the citizens of De Witt for the building of a

court-house on tiie public square belonging to the county.

Another was offered that the county-site be located on the

northwest quarter of section 5, in the township of Olive.

A motion was also made to appropriate eight hundred dol-

lars for building fire-proof offices at De Witt. Tiicse reso-

lutions and the motion were all lost, and the question was

postponed indefinitely. On the 1st of January, 1857, Mr.

• Milo II. Turner lived on tho south side of Looking-Glasa Rivor,

in tliu villivgo of Now Albnny.

t During tho years 1817, 1818, 1819 tho jail was usud l.y tniiia

CouiUy for tho conlinfinent uf its priHoners four humlrcd and M;vority-

four days, for whiuli Ihoy paid thirty-three dollars.

Henry Jloote offered a resolution to remove the county-

site of Clinton County to the village of St. Johns, which

was laid on the table. The next day Mr. Moote offered a

substitute for his resolution of the day previous, as follows :

" Whereas it is proposed to remove the county-site of Clin-

ton County from the village of De Witt, in said county,

where it is now located. Therefore we, the Board of Super-

visors, resolve that the public square in the village of St.

Johns, in said county, according to the recorded plat

thereof, be and the same is hereby designated by said

board as the place to which such proposed removal is to be

made." The resolution was accepted as a substitute for

Mr. Bloote's original resolution. An amendment was

offered by Mr. Hunter, viz. :
" Provided that the inhabi-

tants, or some one in their behalf, will make to Clinton

County a good and sufficient deed for one and a half acres

of land for county buildings, on or before March, 1857,

and secure to said county the sum of two thousand dollars

towards the expense of the county buildings, to be paid on

completion of the buildings." Mr. Rodgers offered an

amendment to strike out all after the figures 1857. The

amendments were carried, and Mr. Moote's resolution, as

amended, was also adopted. At the evening session Mr.

Moote offered a resolution to stand in connection with the

others in reference to county-site: " That the day for hold-

ing the next annual town.ship-meeting shall be the day on

which the electors of said county shall vote on such pro-

po.scd removal ; and that the county clerk be authorized to

notify the township clerks and to furnish three notices of

the foregoing resolutions, to be posted in three public places

in each township" In accordance with this action the

((uestion was submitted to the people at the annual town-

ship-meeting, on the 6th of April, 1857, with the follow-

ing result : For the removal, 1423 ; against the removal,

G89. At the session in the autumn of that year Mr.

Moote offered a preamble and resolution, as follows

:

" Whereas, the Board of Supervisors of the county of Clin-

ton, by resolutions adi)])ted Jan. 2, 1857, proposed to re-

move the county-site of the county of Clinton and locate

the same at the village of St. Johns ; and whereas it

appears that at a subsequent election a majority of the elec-

tors of said county voted in favor of said removal ami loca-

tion ; therefore be it resolved, 1'liat the county-site of said

county be and the same is hereby declared to be estab-

lished at the said village of St. Johns, in accordance with

said resolutions and the vote of tlie electors of said county

thereon." Tlie reiohuion was adopted, eleven to five, and

under it the offices of the county were removed, in Decem-

ber, 1857, to Plumstead Hall, in the village of St. Johns.

In 1858 a brick building, about twenty by twcnly-five feet,

was erected on the public S(|Uare fronting on Stale Street.

This building was occupied by the county officers from

Jan. 19, 1859, until the completion of their present quar-

ters in the court-house, when the offices were removed to

that building. During the time intervening between the

removal of the county-site to St. Johns and the e()ni]ilelion

of the present courthouse, the courts were held first at

Plumstead's Hall until about 1801 ; then in Clinton Hall,

rented of (icdtge \V. Stephenson, till 1S(!9
; next in New-

ton's Hall, which was occupied for about a year; and finally
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in a building owned by John Hicks, on Clinton Avenue,

between Walker and Higham Streets.

On the 5th of January, 1869, a preamble and resolution

was offered as follows :
" Whereas, the village of St. Johns

has provided for raising the five thousand dollars offered for

construction of the court-house ; therefore resolved, Tliat the

county of Clinton build a court-house on the public square,

not to cost to exceed six mills on the dollar on the assessed

valuation of the county, estimated from the corrected ag-

gregate assessment of the county for the year 18G8 ;
three

mills of the amount to be raised in 1869, and three mills

in 1870. The question to be submitted to the electors at

the annual meeting in April, 1869." This action was re-

ferred to a committee, and on the next day a substitute was

offered and accepted as follows :
" That the proposition to

raise the sum of twenty-five thousand dollars be submitted

to the people in April, 1869, be raised by loan ; said loan

payable in five annual payments." This last resolution was

passed by a vote of twelve to two, and in the election that

followed seventeen hundred and thirty-four votes were cast

in favor of building a court-house, and eleven hundred and

seventy against it.

The following-named gentlemen were appointed as a

building committee, with power to contract for the erection

of the court-house : William L. Hicks, George R. Hunt,

Benjamin F. Shepherd, David Clark, Moses Bartow, and

John Hicks. On the 12th of October, 1869, this com-

mittee reported that they had adopted a plan similar to that

of the court-house in Bay City, Mich., and that contracts

were awarded for the construction of foundation-walls, to

be completed in November, 1869. On the 18th of Decem-

ber, 1869, proposals were opened by the committee for the

construction of the court-house ; the lowest bid was twenty-

four thousand dollars, which was not accepted, and work

was commenced by the day, the committee taking charge.

The building was finally completed, ready for use, in Octo-

ber, 1871. The cost of the building, as reported Jan. 9,

1872, by John Ilicks, chairman of committee, was thirty-

five thou.sand throe hundred and forty-four dollars and fifty-

eight cents.

On the 10th of January, 1873, a special committee, who
had been previously appointed to select a suitable site for a

jail, reported and recommended the purchase of lots 1, 2,

and 3, in block 20, in the village of St. Johns, for that pur-

pose. The report was adopted, and the lots were purchased

of John Turner for six hundred dollars, the deed bearing

date Jan. 20, 1873. On the 5th of January, 1875, a reso-

lution was passed by the board to submit a proposition to

the electors to raise ten thousand dollars for the erection of

a jail and sheriff's residence in the village of St. Johns. At
the next annual town-meeting, in April, 1875, this question

was submitted, with the following result : twelve liundred

and nmety-two votes in favor and seven hundred and two

against. In accordance with this decision the board con-

vened on the 12th of May following, for the express pur-

pose of transacting business pertaining to the erection of

the jail. Two days and a half were occupied in electing a

chairman. Forty-five formal ballots were taken before they

succeeded in choosing a presiding officer. The last ballot

resulted in the election of Eugene V. Chase as chairman.

Josiah Upton was then appointed to procure plans and

specifications for a jail and residence not to exceed the sum

of ten thousand dollars. After the accomplishment of this

item of business the board adjourned. In the June follow-

ing, plans presented by Mr. Heddon were accepted. John

Hicks, Josiah Upton, and Richard Moore were appointed

a building committee, with power to advertise, receive pro-

posals, and let the contract for building the jail, which was

soon after commenced, and completed in October, 1876.

On the 4th of January, 1877, the committee on building

the jail reported as to the cost of jail and residence as fol-

lows : total amount, ten thousand and fifteen dollars and

fifty-three cents.

COUNTY POOR-HOUSE AND FARM.

The first official action taken in reference to the support

of the county poor of Clinton is recorded in the proceed-

ings of the county commissioners in October, 1839, at

which time Grafton Webber, of Watertown, Thomas Fisk,

of Bingham, and Franklin Oliver, of De Witt, were ap-

pointed county superintendents of the poor for the ensuing

year. In the month of February following it was resolved

to abolish the distinction of county and township poor, and

that " all expenses hereafter incurred shall be a charge

again.st the county." The first step towards providing a

county farm for the poor was taken at a meeting of the

Board of Supervisors on the 4th of January, 1844, when

a resolution was offered that arrangements be made for the

purchase of a farm for the maintenance of the poor. This

resolution was laid on the table and finally rejected by the

board, but at the annual session in the following autumn a

committee to whom the report of the superintendents of

the poor was referred recommended the purchase of a farm,

and Supervisors Boughton, Pearl, and Taber were appointed

a committee to examine the farm of William Utley and

a.scertain his price. The committee reported, and after

due consideration the farm was purchased for six hundred

and sixty-one dollars and .-^ixty-eight cents, the deed bear-

ing date Nov. 1, 1844. Its location is in township 5 north,

range 2 west (De Witt), and is the northwest quarter of

the southwest quarter and the west half of the south

fraction of the northwest quarter of section 9. The farm

was rented to David Olin for one year from Jan. 1, 1845,

for fifty dollars, and was sold to Jesse F. Turner for six

hundred and sixty-one dollars and ninety-two cents on the

7th of October of the same year.

About ten years elapsed before further action was taken

for the purchase of a farm. At the fall session of 1854,

N. I. Daniels, of Watertown, moved " that a committee of

three be appointed, whose duty it shall be to examine

locations and receive proposals with a view to the purchase

of a farm and the erection of a poor-house, and report to

the board at the next meeting." Three days later Super-

visors Plowman, Estes, and Fitch were appointed such

committee. On the 12th of October, 1855, Stephen Pearl,

county treasurer, was authorized to advertise and receive

proposals for the purchase of a farm of from eighty to one

hundred acres. It does not appear that Mr. Pearl made a

purchase, as on the 24th of January, 1856, the committee

appointed in 1854 reported in favor of purchasing ope
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Imndred acres of land of George W. Stoddard for fifteen

liundred dollars, situated ou the northwest quarter of sec-

tion 18, in the township of Olive. Tiiis report w;i3

adopted, and Stephen Pearl was appointed agent to ex-

amine title and consummate the purchase. The deed is

dated Jan. 25, 1856, and recorded on the 2'Jth of January

of the same year. At the January session in 1858 a

communication was received from the superintendents of

the pour, recommending an appropriation to erect a build-

ing on the county poor-farm, which was referred to a

.special committee. There is no record of the appoint-

ment of this committee, or of any report made upon the

subject.

At the annual session in the autumn of 1859 it was de-

cided to let the maintenance of the county paupers to the

lowest bidder with good security. This method of sup-

porting the poor was continued for several years.

At the January session in 186-1 the offer of William

Sickles to exchange lots 1 and 2 in block 13, in the village

of St. Johns, for the county farm was accepted, and Charles

Kipp was authorized to convey the title. This exchange,

however, was not made, as it appears that on the 17th of

December, 1867, Charles Kipp conveyed the form owned

by the county to Henry Lackey,—this conveyance being in

accordance with a resolution of the Board of Supervisors

made Oct. 17, 1867, the farm having been sold on contract

to Mr. Lackey in October, 1865. A committee was ap-

pointed to report on the necessity of purchasing a poor

farm, which committee reported the next day, recommend-

ing the purchase of a farm of one hundred acres near the

village of St. Johns. This report was approved, and on

the next day the superintendents of the poor were author-

ized to purchase a farm at a price not to exceed four

thousand dollars. A farm was purchased of Hiram L.

Lamb for three thousand five hundred dollars, the deed

bearing date April 8, 1867. It contains seventy-six and a

half acres, forty of which are under cultivation, and in-

cludes an orchard of one hundred and seventy-five fruit-

trees. Its location is on the south half of the southeast

quarter of section 18, in the township of Bingham. The

superintendents of the poor were authorized to erect a

building not to exceed eighteen hundred dollars in cost,

" to meet the demands of the unfortunates who are in-

trusted to their care." Under this authority a building

was constructed in the summer of 1S71, and another is

being erected the present year to further accommodate the

iucrea.sing demands of the county poor.

The report of the superintendents of the poor for 1879

shows as follows: Tiie whole number ol' paupers maintained

in the poor-house during the year was thirty ; the whole

number temporarily relieved outside of tlic poor-liouse was

one hundred and nineteen ; the whole amount paid from

the poor-fund during the year was 86962.53 ; the whole

amount paid from other funds was 82393.00. The total

expenses of the poor farm, cxclu.sive of interest on capital

invested and value of pauper labor, was 83816.23. Value

of products of farm during the year (estimated), 8793.30.

Value of poor-farm and buildings, 86500 ; of live stock,

•"^ii'.O. Total value of poor-farm and appurtenances,

SSO50.50.
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THE LEG.VL PROFESSION.

EARLY LAWYER,S IN CLINTON COUNTY.

TUE first resident lawyer practicing in Clinton County

was Levi Townson, who studied law at Ann Arbor, and

was there admitted to the bar. He was appointed prose-

cuting attorney of Clinton County in 1842, and removed

to the village of Dc Witt, the county-seat. He retained

the position till 1848. In 1846 he was elected judge of

probate, and held that office until his death, which occurred

at De Witt, in July, 1849.

Theodore H. Chapin emigrated to Jlichigan about 1840,

from Lockport, Niagara Co., N. Y. He had practiced law

in that State, and was advanced in years when he located

at De Witt, Clinton Co. He was elected judge of probate

in 1842, and held the office till Jan. 1, 1847. He after-

wards removed with his son, De Witt C. Chapin, to Alle-

gan Co., Mich., where he died.

De Witt C. Chapin came to De Witt with his father,

Theodore H. Chapin, in 1840, and commenced the practice

of law. lie was admitted to the bar and practiced in New
York State before coming to Michigan. He was elected

county clerk in 1842, and served two years. Soon after-

wards he removed to Ionia County, where he lived a year

or two, and moved to Allegan County. In 1848 he was

elected judge of probate of that county, and served in that

office four years. He served as prosecuting attorney in

1851 and 1852. lleturning to Clinton County, he was

again elected county clerk in 1856, and re-elected in 1858

and 1860. Upon his retirement from this office he re-

moved to Gratiot County, where he was elected register of

deeds. He died about 1874. He was not a profound

lawyer, but was an excellent pleader before a jury.

Joseph Hollister came from Tompkins Co., N. Y., to

Victor, Clinton Co., in 1843. He brought with him from

the clerk of that county a certificate of good standing as

a lawyer in that State. Upon this certificate he was ad-

mitted to the bar in this county, Nov. 15, 184.'!, and was

appointed prosecuting attorney in 1848. lie was a good

office lawyer, but not very successful in court practice.

Joab Haker ciime to this Slate from Pennsylvania. Ho
was admitted to the bar in Iviton County in 1845, and

practiced for a lime in Portland, Ionia Co. In the spring

of 1847 he removed to Do Will, and was elecled pro.secut-

in^ attorney in 1850,—ihe first under the new constituliun.

When the county-seat was removed to St. Jolins he re-

moved to that place, and praclieed for five years. In 18()2

he moved to Gran 1 Haven, and is now living at .Muskegon,

where he is following his profession. He is a good advo-

cate and a successful lawyer.

Christopher W. Leffingwcll was adtnillcd to the bar in

this county on the 15tli of January, 181',), having previously

been admitted in Pennsylvania, whence he emigrated to
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Michigan. He was considered a good chancery lawyer

and excellent in oiEce business.

Randolph Strickland is a native of Livingston Co., N. Y.

He emigrated to Michigan in 1844, and studied law two

years in Portland, Ionia Co. In August, 1847, he re-

moved to De Witt, entered the office of Joab Baker, and

continued his studies until June 15, 1849, when he was

admitted to the bar, and has been in practice from that

time to the present. He is the oldest lawj'er now in the

county. He was prosecuting attorney from 1852 to 1858,

and again in 1862; State senator in 18G0-G2; provost-

marshal from 1SG3 to 1865 ;
member of State Republican

Committee; delegate to National Convention in 1856 and

1868; representative from Michigan in the Forty-first

Congress, serving on committees on invalid pensions and

mines and mining. He is cautious and painstaking in

practice, and very successful. In 1862 he removed from

De Witt to the village of St. Johns, where he still resides.

Jesse F. Turner came to De Witt from Rochester, N. Y.,

in 1839. He was elected county judge in 1846; studied

law, and was admitted to the bar in this county June 17,

1850 ; and later removed to California, where he was elected

to fill the position of judge of one of the courts. He died

about 1878.

James W. Ransom came from Niagara Co., N. Y., about

1853. He was admitted to the bar of Clinton County on

the 2d of June, 1853, and practiced at De Witt for four

years, removing to St. Johns upon the establishment of

the county-seat at that village. He remained at St. Johns

until 1860, when he removed to Grand Rapids, and is still

in practice there.

David I. Daniels was an early settler in Wacousta (town-

ship of Watertowu). He studied law late in life, was ad-

mitted to the bar June 9, 1852, and practiced until his

death. He was elected member of the State Legislature in

1858.

Obed F. Strickland, a brother of Randolph Strickland,

studied law with the latter, and was admitted to the bar

June 7, 1856. He practiced at St. Johns until 1864, and

removed to Salt Lake City, practiced two years, and was

appointed by President Grant judge of the Supreme Court

of Utah. He is now following his profession at Walla

Walla, Washington Territory.

Dclos C. Wiley came to De Witt about 1854 and entered

the office of Joab Baker. He was admitted to tiie bar

on the 9th of June, 1856. He practiced for a time in De
Witt and St. Johns, and removed to Lansing, where he was

a successful lawyer. He died in 1874.

Oliver L. Spaulding is a native of New Hampshire. He
emigrated from that State to Ohio, and graduated at Obor-

lin College. He came to Michigan, and, locating at St.

Johns, Clinton Co., entered the office of James W. Ran-

som, and was admitted to the bar April 6, 1858. From
that time until the present he has been a member of the

Clinton County bar, and has resided at St. Johns. In the

war of the Rebellion he served in the Twenty-third Michi-

gan Infantry Regiment, from the grade of captain to that

of colonel, and was brevetted brigadier-general for meri-

torious services. Among the civil offices which he has

filled is that of regent of the University of Michigan,

1858-64; Secretary of State of Michigan, elected in 1866

and re-elected in 1868; and special agent of the treasury

department, appointed in 1875 and still holding that

office.

Henry Walbridge is a native of Vermont, and was ad-

mitted to the bar in Montpelier, in that State, in 1848.

He came to Detroit in 1850 as agent for Fairbanks Bros.,

of St. Johnshury, Vt., and remained in their employ three

years and a half. In October, 1855, he came to St. Johns,

and was admitted to the bar in this county on the 7th of

June, 1856. From that time to the present he has continued

in practice in St. Johns. He was elected Circuit Court com-

missioner in 1856 and 1873, and prosecuting attorney in

1860.

Henry M. Perrin is a native of Vermont. He graduated

at the Albany Law School, came to Detroit in 1855, re-

mained there two years, and removed to St. Johns, Nov.

22, 1857. For a short time he was in the office of Henry

Walbridge, and in February of 1858 he opened an office

and commenced practice. Mr. Perrin was elected to the

office of judge of probate in 1860, and to the State Senate

in 1864. He is now a.ssociated with P. K. Perrin and

Albert J. Baldwin in the practice of law in the village of

St. Johns.

The above mention of early lawyers embraces the princi-

pal ones who commenced practice in the county during the

twenty years following the establishment of its courts. Of

some others who have not been mentioned but who came

to the county during that period, as well as of those who

have practiced here since that time, the names will be found

in the appended list (prepared from the court record.s) of

attorneys who have from time to time been admitted to

practice in the courts of Clinton, viz.:

William H. Parks, admitted May 9, 1843.

John C. Blanchard, admitted May 9, 1843.

Joseph Hollister, admitted Nov. 15, 1843.

Ralph B. Goble, admitted Nov. 12, 1844.

Theodore H. Chapin, Jr., admitted Nov. 12, 1844.

Harvey Bartow, admitted May 12, 1846.

H. M. Munson, admitted May 14, 1846.

William W. Upton, admitted Nov. 13, 1846.

Milton P. Burtch, admitted Nov. 13, 1845.

Randolph Strickland, admitted June 15, 1849.

Christopher W. Leffingwell, admitted June 15, 1849.

David E. Corbin, admitted June 15, 1849.

N. Byron Hollister, admitted Sept. 12, 1849.

J. Foot Turner, admitted June 17, 1850.

James H. SIcKee, admitted June 17, 1850.

David I. Daniels, admitted June 9, 1852.

James H. Ransom, admitted June 2, 1853;

Franklin Miller, admitted Nov. 15, 1855.

Stevens E. Longyear, admitted Nov. 15, 1855.

Delos C. Wiley, admitted .June 7, 1856.

Henry Walbridge, admitted June 7, 1856.

Obed F. Strickland, admitted June 7, 1856.

E. Nelson Fitch, admitted June 5, 1857.

Sylvester Hoyt, admitted Aug. 29, 1857.

Henry M. Perrin, admitted Feb. 2, 1858.

Oliver L. Spaulding, admitted April 6, 1858.

Ruel M. Boynton, admitted April 6, 1858.
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Alvah C. Laing, admitted April 8, 1859.

Sylvester H. Penningtoii, admitted April 8, 1859.

Robert V. Brij,'gs, admitted Sept. 24, 1859..

Warren R. Hickox, admitted Sept. 24, 1859.

William F. Moore, admitted -July 22, 1862.

William M. Slilos, admitted Get. 20, 1SG3.

Sidney Fitzgerald, admitted Jan. 19, 18G4.

Andrew Stout, admitted April 18, 1864.

George Tompkins, admitted April 18, 1864.

Hiram C. Hodge, admitted Jan. 19, 1865.

Daniel Granger, admitted Jan. 18, 1866.

Edward Caliill, admitted July 16, 1866.

Moses Bartow, admitted July 16, 1866.

Alviu Patterson, admitted Jan. 21, 1867.

Porter K. Perrin, admitted July 15, 1867.

Albert J. Baldwin, admitted July 15, 1867.

Frederick Wilkinson, admitted April 18, 1868.

Charles E. Williams, admitted April 18, 1868.

Ferrin C. Cummings, admitted Ovit. 3, 1868.

John Q. Patterson, admitted Oct. 3, 1868.

Samuel D. Haight, admitted April 13, 1870.

Francis W. Cook, admitted April 13, 1870.

William W. Dennis, admitted July 12, 1870.

Alfred G. lligham, admitted July 12, 1870.

Nelson De Long, admitted April 14, 1871.

Henry E. Walbridge, admitted April 14, 1871.

Jolin H. Fedcwa, admitted May 20, 1872.

Arlington C. Lewis, admitted ]^L^y 20, 1872.

James IL Walsh, admitted May 20, 1872.

Adelbcrt McCabe, admitted May 20, 1872.

Benjamin F. Button, admitted May 27, 1875.

Edward L. Walbridge, admitted Feb. 17, 1878.

Will A. Norton, admitted Aug. 19, 1878.

John G. Patterson, admitted Aug. 19, 1878.

Henry J. Patterson, admitted Aug. 19, 1878.

Loyal W. Hill, admitted May 21, 1879.

John J. Kerr, admitted May 21, 1879.

Tiie following is a list of the present members of the

bar of Clinton County :

llandoljili Strickland. Henry Walbridge.

Porter K. Perrin. Joel II. Cran.son.

Oliver L. Spaulding. Henry M. Perrin.

Jo.sephus 0. Seidell. Anthony Cook.

Richard Baylis. Albert J. Baldwin.

Anderson Stout. William W. Dennis.

Henry E. Walbridge. John H. Fedewa.

William H. Castel. 0. W. Barker.

William F. Moore. William Brunson.

Charles M. Merrill. Henry J. Patterson.

John G. Patterson. Edward L. Walbridge.

Loyal W. Hill. John J. Kerr.

S. B. Daboll.

THE MEDIC.VL PKUFESSION.

Dr. Scth P. Marvin came from Oakland County to Clin-

ton County with ]\\s father in 1835 and located in Water-

town, where Seth built a log house and lived until the

county was organized, when he removed to De Witt. He

liad studied medicine inevious to his settlement in Clinton

County, as the following certiticate indicates

:

" To all lo whom tliese presents shall come or mat/ in any

wise concern.

" The Pres't, Sec'y, and Censors of tlie Medical Society

of the County of Macomb send greeting. Whereas, Seth

P. ^Llrvin hath exhibited unto us satisfactory testimony

that he is entitled to a License to practice Physic and Sur-

gery : now know ye that by virtue of the power and au-

thority vested in us by Law, we do grant unto the said

Seth P. Marvin the privilege of practicing Physic and

Surgery in this State, together with all the rights and im-

munities which usually ajipertain to Physicians and Sur-

geons.

" A. C. Campbell, A

" Geo. Lee, > Censors.

" H. Tayloe, J

" In testimony whereof we have caused the seal of the

Society to be hereunto affixed, at the village of Mount

Clemens, this 14th day of November, 1836.

" A. C. Campbell, Secy.

" H. 11. Schitterly, President."

Dr. Marvin did not graduate at anj' medical college, but

was afterwards admitted as a member of the Central Mich-

igan Medical Society upon this certificate. He was the

first practicing physician in the county, but not the first in

the village of De Witt. lie was elected county clerk at

the first election of the county, in April, 1839, and served

two terms, and also served as register of deeds from 1851 to

1856, and as judge of probate from 1856 to 1860. His

practice was largely interrupted by attention to his duties

as a public officer, still he continued his practice until his

death, in August, 1864. He was very popular with the

people, a good conversationalist and story-teller. As a phy-

sician he was very successful in the management of disease.

Dr. Levi D. Jennison was a native of Connecticut, and

emigrated to the western part of the State of New York,

where he studied medicine in the village of Batavia. He

emigrated to Michigan in the spring of 1837, and located

on the south side of Looking-Glass River, then known as

New Albany. He was the first physician in the cluster of

villages that at that time were laid out along Lookiug-Glass

River. He obtained a large country practice, and resided

at that place until IS 13, when he removed to Es.sex and

resumed practice, which he continued until his death, in

1863, at the age of sixty-three years. As a physician he

was cautious and slow in forming an opinion. In cases of

uiflammation of the lungs he was uniformly successful, and

without an equal in this region of country.

Dr. Ilirani W. Stowell was a native of Cayuga Co., N. Y.

He studied medicine and graduated at Auburn, N. Y. Ho

emigrated to Michigan in 1836, and practiced medicine one

year at Ann Arbor, and in the summer of 1837 ho came to

the village of De Witt, where ho jiracticed until hi.s death,

in August, 1857. His ride was extended, reaching into

other counties. He was elected the first judge of probate

of Clinton County, and afterwards treasurer.

Dr. William B. Watson emigrated to Michigan in 1839,

and located in the township of Duplain, where ho opened

an oflice at the Rochester Colony, and commonced the prac-

tice of medicine, lie was the first physician in the town-
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ship, and for many years the only one. His practice was

continued till within a few years of his death, which oc-

curred in 1875. He enjoyed the confidence of the people

and the respect of his fellow-practitioners.

Dr. Martin Moore, a native of Steuben Co., N. Y., emi-

grated in 1838 or '39 from New York State, and came to

the settlement on Looking-Glass River and located, but

whether at Middletown, old De Witt, New Albany, or De

Witt, has not been ascertained. He practiced in the sur-

rounding country till his death, in 18.50. He was consid-

ered a good practitioner.

Dr. Stanton E. Hazard, a native of Niagara Co., N. Y.,

studied medicine in Oakland Co., Mich., and attended one

course of lectures in Ann Arbor. In the spring of 1842

he came to Wacousta, in the township of Watertown, where

be commenced practice, and soon obtained an extensive

patronage. He was careful and cautious, and uniformly

successful as a physician. His death occurred in May,

1880.

Dr. Isaac T. Hollister came in 1847 from the State of

New York to the township of Victor, in this county, to

visit his brother Joseph. There being no physician in the

township he was persuaded to remain. He rapiilly gained

the confidence of the people, and his ride was widely ex-

tended. He remained in Victor until 1864, when he re-

tired from practice and removed to Laingsburg, where he

still resides. He was elected to the State Senate in 185G.

Dr. John H. Bacon, a native of Niagara Co., N. Y.,

studied medicine in that State and graduated at the College

of Phy.sicians and Surgeons in New York City. He emi-

grated to Michigan and located in De Witt in 1852, where

he practiced medicine until about 1860. He then removed

to Lansing.

Dr. G. W. Topping is a native of Cayuga Co., N. Y.

He emigrated to Michigan in 1853, studied medicine and

graduated at the medical department of the State Univer-

sity, and in 1854 removed to De Witt and commenced a

practice in which he still continues. He is now president

of the county medical society.

The first medical practitioner in St. Johns was Dr. •

Darrow, a young physician, who located there soon after the

settlement of the village. He was a man of excellent edu-

cation and fine ability ; but he only remained about one

year at St. Johns, removing at the end of that time to

Okemos, and afterwards to Mason, Ingham Co., where he

is now living.

Dr. De Witt C. Stewart is a native of Gene-see Co., N. Y.

He emigrated to Tecumseh, Mich., in 1833, and was en-

gaged in farming and buying and selling lands until 1848,

when he returned to Allegany Co., N. Y., and studied med-

icine with Dr. William B. Alley about four years, riding

with him and practicing during the last year. In 1852 he

came to Michigan again, and practiced about two years in

the townships of Onondaga and Aurelius, Ingham Co., and

in May, 1854, removed to the village of St. Johns, where

he opened an office. He was the first permanent physician

in the township, and his ride extended twenty-five and

thirty miles from St. Johns into Gratiot and Shiawassee

Counties. At that time roads were few and poor, and the

many visits of the physician were forced to be made on

horseback. Dr. Stewart is a careful practitioner and has

been very successful in his profession. He still lives on the

spot where he first located in St. Johns. He was one of

the first members of the Clinton County Medical Society.

Dr. M. L. Leach located in 1854 in Duplain, where he

practiced till the breaking out of the war of the Rebellion,

when he entered the army. After his term of service had

expired he returned to the Rochester Colony, resumed prac-

tice, and continued there till 1878, when he removed to

Elsie. Dr. F. A. House came to the same township in

1858, and is still in practice in that place. Six years of the

time, however, he passed in Indiana.

Dr. Louis W. Fasquelle is a native of France. His

father was a professor in the State University for many

years. Dr. Fasquelle graduated in the medical depart-

ment of the University, and practiced about one and a

half years in Hartland and Cohoctah, Livingston Co.,

IMich. In April, 1855, he removed to St. Johns and re-

sumed his practice. He served in the army six months as

surgeon during the war of the Rebellion. He is still in

practice in the village of St. Johns.

Dr. Andrew J. Wiggins was educated at Warsaw, N. Y.,

graduated at Geneva (N. Y.) Medical College, and emi-

grated to Michigan in 1851. He attended medical lectures

at the State Univereity, practiced in Monroe Co., Mich.

;

Summit and Goshen, Ind. ; Chelsea, Washtenaw Co., and

Danville, Ingham Co., Mich. In 1862 he came to the

village of St. Johns, where he is still in practice.

Besides the physicians above named there were a few

others who located in Clinton County during the quarter

of a century succeeding its organization, but those who have

been mentioned were the principal ones who commenced prac-

tice here during that period. A large number of practi-

tioners have come to practice in the county in the later

years, and the names of many of these will be found in the

following notice of the county medical society.

CLINTON COUNTY MEDICAL SOCIETY.

As early as the year 1864 an eflfort was made to estab-

lish a medical society in Clinton County. Indeed, at that

time a partial organization was effected, but the resident

members of the profession were then so few that it was

found impracticable to infuse sufficient vitality into the or-

ganization, and in a little less than two years it expired.

From that time to the present the increase in population,

substantial developments, and material wealth has been un-

surpassed. While the natural and necessary developments

of the county have greatly diminished the causes of some

forms of disease, and entirely annihilated others, the rapid

influx of population has seemed to demand accessions to

the ranks of the medical profession. This demand has been

more than supplied.

With adequate numbers, early in June, 1874, a call was

issued for all persons residing in the county who were

" regularly engaged in the rational practice of medicine"

to assemble at the office of Dr. G. E. Corbin, in the village

of St. Johns, on Thursday, July 9th, of that year, for the

purpose of organizing a medical society. At the appointed

time and place, in response to the call, there were present

the persons here named :



THE PRESS. 349

Casper V. Beebe, of Ovid.

L. T. Wells, of Ovid.

Edwin Doty, of Maple Kapid.s.

David Hollister, of Maple Eapids.

S. M. Post, of Eureka.

L. A. Laurason, of Fowler.

L. W. Fasfjuelle, of St. Johns.

D. C. Stewart, of St. Johns.

G. E. Corbin, of St. Johns.

C. C. Dellenbaugh, of Westphalia.

Among the usual pielimimiries was the appointment of

Drs. Corbin, Doty, and Beebe as a committee to draft a

con.stitution and report at the afternoon session. On pre-

sentation the constitution drafted by the committee was

adopted with few alterations, and the organization of the

society was completed by the election of its first officers.

They were

:

President, L. W. Fasquelle.

Vice-President, C. V. Beebe.

Treasurer, L. T. Wells.

Secretary, G. E. Corbin.

The objects of this society cannot be better cxpros.sed

than in the brief preamble to its constitution which is here

quoted :
" Believing that men of congenial minds and

similar pursuits may derive mutual benefit from fraternal

association, thus promoting kind feelings and removing

prejudices that are liable to exist while strangers to each

other, and that a free interchange of opinions is calculated

not only to harmonize the views, but also to add to the

common stock of professional knowledge ; therefore, Re-

solved, That for these purposes, and in the furtherance of

these objects, we form ourselves into an association to be

called Clinton County Medical Society."

From its organization to the present date (June, 1880)

Drs. Fasquelle, Topping, and Gillam have served as pres-

idents ; Beebe, Topping, Dellenbaugh, Doty, and Post, as

vice-presidents; Wells, Laurason, and Post, as trea.surcrs

;

and Dr. G. K. Corbin has been its only secretary during the

same period. During the six years of its existence this

society has delegated Drs. Fasquelle, Beebe, Dellenbaugh,

Gillam, Topping, Corbin, and Doty to represent its in-

terests in the annual deliberations of the American Medical

Association. Its conslitulion requires that the meetings of

the society shall all be held in the village of St. Johns,

and thus far they have all been held in the office of its

secretary. A number of changes in membership have oc-

curred. Some have removed from its jurisdiction. None

have yet been removed by death. Tlic present membership

embraces the following list:

G. W. Topping, De Witt.

E. V. Chase, Elsie.

II. Hart, Eureka.

S. M. Post, Eureka.

L. A. Laurason, Fowler.

Edwin Doty, Majile llapids.

Samuel II. Wellings, Maple llapids.

Abbot, Ovid.

(). 15. Campbell, Ovid.

S. C. King, Ovid.

W. K. Yuill, Ovid.

C. C. Dellenbaugh, Portland.

L. 0. Ludlum, Shepardsville.

G. E. Corbin, St. Johns.

L. W. Fasquelle, St. Johns.

S. E. Gillam, St. Johns.

D. C. Stewart, St. Johns.

N. B. Welper, St. Johns.

A. J. Wiggins, St. Johns.

Simon Herres, Westphalia.

The officers for 1880 were elected on the 8th of July,

at the annual meeting, and are as follows :

President, G. W. Topping, De Witt.

Vice-President, L. W. Fasquelle, St. Johns.

Secretary and Treasurer, G. E. Corbin, St. Johns.

IIOMCEOPATIIIC PHYSICIANS.

The following list includes the names of the homneo-

pathic physicians who have practiced in the county, with

the year of their establishment here, as near as can be as-

certained :

Caleb Lamb, 1853, St. Johns.

T. B. Lamb, 18.J.5, St. Johns.

Timothy Baker, 1856, St. Johns.

M. J. S. Cook, 18G5, St. Johns.

D. L. Roberts, 1865, St. .Johns.

William Havens, 1871, St. Johns.

Graduates of Michigan Homoeopathic College

:

C. P. Burch, 1868, Ovid.

J. L. Harris, 187(j, Ovid.

Beds, 1879, Ovid.

Mrs. M. P. Havens, 1871, St. Johns.

Mrs. Dr. Sprague, St. Johns.

A. A. Allen, 1879, St. Johns.

Qraduates of New York Homeopathic College :

E. R. Iladen, 1S6S, Eureka.

William Walker, Eureka.

Obcd Wheeler, 1860, Maple Rapids.

Brown, 18C5, Maple Rapids.

Wcstcrvelt, 1868, Maple Rapids.

Charles Knapp, 1876, Maple Rapids.

THK PRESS OV CLINTON COUNTY.

The first two local new.spapers which circulated in Clin-

ton County were the Grand River City Courier and the

Shiiiirtisace /Jxjnrs.i and Clliilun Adviiatle. The latter

journal was published at Owo.sso, 8iiiawassee Co., in 1839,

and the former was commenced in 1837, at "Grand River

City," which was sinqily one of the " paper villages" bo

common at that day, and located on both sides of tiio

boundary-line between Clinton and Eaton Counties. It

was laid out and platted by EriLStus Ingcrsoll, on lands en-

tered by him in 1831. in the townslii|) of Watcrtown,

Clinton Co., and Delta, Eaton Co., and llio boundaries of

the village extended from the Orand River, a little south

of the counly-linc in the latter township, northward to the

Grand River turnpike, in Watortown. There is nothing

now known which shows whether the publication-office of

the Courier was in the Clinton or in the Eaton portion of

the village, but whicliovcr may have been the case it seems

proper to regard the newspaper, like the " City," iis belong-
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iug to both counties in equal share. Beyond the fact of

its existence at the time mentioned, nothing has been ascer-

tained of the Courier's history.

The GUntonian, a four-column newspaper, was established

about 1842, at the village of De Witt, by Mark A. Cliilds,

who was somewhat noted among the early settlers as a hu-

morist. This paper—particularly during the first part of

its existence—depended mainly for support upon the print-

ins of tax sales. Mr. Childs used to relate that in the first

years he received on subscriptions the sum of twelve shil-

lings from Alfred Gunnison, a settler residing a few miles

east of De Witt, and that, as most of the pioneers at that

time derived their principal revenue from hunting and

trapping, raccoon tracks were regarded as legal tender in

the payment of printers', lawyers', and doctors' bills. A
number of this paper, dated July 13, 1844, contains an ac-

count of a Fourth of July celebration held that year in the

village of De Witt. The Declaration of Independence was

read by Dr. Hiram Stowell, the oration was delivered by

De Witt C. Chapiii, and William Utley was marshal of

the day. De Witt at that time was the largest village in

the county, and contained three dry-goods stores, eight me-

chauic-shops, one hotel,—" The Clinton House,"—two at-

torneys, and two physicians,

Mr. Childs was succeeded in the management of the

paper about 1845 by Milo Blair, who continued it until

about 1849, when it passed to the proprietorship of John

Ransom, by whom the name was changed to The C/intuii

Express, the first volume of which was commenced Jan. 1,

1850. It was enlarged to a five-column folio, wide columns,

equal to six columns standard. It was Democratic in poli-

tics, with the motto " Where Liberty dwells there is my
Country." About the time of the removal of the county-

site to St. Johns, the Clinton Express was also moved jnd

the name changed to the North-Side Democrat. It was

published in an office in the upper story of Clinton Hall.

H. C. Hodge was associated with Mr. Ransom for a short

time, and became the proprietor in 1859, at which time the

name was changed to the St. Johns Democrat and the

office removed to the east side of Clinton Avenue, near the

public square, where it was published till May, 1864, when

it was discontinued and the material of the office was sold

to the proprietor of the Repuhlican at St. Johns.*

The De Witt Repuhlican was established at De Witt

village by Hascall & Hilton, the first number being issued

April 9, 1856. Mr. Hascall retired in about three months,

and Henry S. Hilton continued the paper at De Witt until

the removal of the county-site, when the paper was also

removed to St. Johns.

The Clinton Repuhlican is the new title given to the

paper last named upon its removal to St. Johns. It was

enlarged to a six-column folio, and was published by Mr.

Hilton until Dec. 3, 1858, when, on account of ill health,

he as.sociated others with him in the business. From this

time the paper passed through numerous changes of pro-

prietorship, viz., H. S. Hilton & Co., J. Kipp & A. D.

Carrier,* Hilton & Carrier, H. S. Hilton & Co., P. K. &

* The office was destroyed by fire April 13, 1860, while under the

proprietorship of Ivipp & Carrier, and the p.iper was re-established

te this disiistor by Hilton k Carrier.

H. M. Perrin, Robert Smith & Co., Philips & Doughty,

D. M. Philips, and A. II. Henon. On the 20th of June,

1873, the paper pa.ssed to the proprietorship of its founder,

Henry S. Hilton, by whom it is still continued. It has

been enlarged to a nine-column folio. It advocates Repub-

lican principles, and circulates eleven hundred copies.

The St. Johns Herald, a seven-column folio, was first

issued in the village of St. Johns on the 24th of August,

1864, about four months after the discontinuance of the

St. Johns Democrat. It was established by R. Cheney in

the interests of the Democratic party, having for a motto

'* Truth, ever lovely, since the world began

The foe of tyrants and the friend of man."

The first number bore the name of George B. McClellan as

Presidential candidate. The paper was published through

the fail campaign, and at its close was discontinued.

The Clinton Independent, a six-column folio, was first

issued Aug. 20, 1866, at the village of St. Johns, as an

exponent of Democratic principles. It was owned and

edited by John H. and James A. Stephenson, whose office

was in the rear of G. W. Stephenson's store, on Clinton

Avenue. On the 1st of January, 1867, the office was

removed to rooms over J. II. Corbit's hardware-store, on

Walker Street, and on the 17th of April of that year James

A. Stephenson sold his interest to George S. Corbit. On
the 17th of March, 1869, Mr. Corbit purchased the interest

of John H. Stephenson, and on the 20th of October follow-

ing James D. Estes became associated with him under the

firm-name of Corbit & Estes, by whom it is still published.

It has been enlarged from time to time, and is now a nine-

column folio. It has a circulation of about eleven hundred,

and is the leading Democratic organ in the county. The

office is now over the store of D. C. Hard, on Clinton

Avenue.

The Ovid Register, a six-column folio, was established

in May, 1866, in the village of Ovid, by J. H. ^Vlckwire,

who published it for about one year, and then sold it to J.

Leonard, who remained its proprietor only about three

months. From that time the paper passed through several

changes, as follows: Henry Eggabroad, A. B. Wood, J. W.
Fitzgerald, Rutherford & Rich, and J. W. Pierson. In

August, 1873, Reeves and Carrier purchased the paper, and

continued its publication until Jan. 1, 1879, when Mr.

Reeves sold his interest to Irving Carrier, and the firm is

now Carrier & Son. During some of the numerous changes

the paper was enlarged from six to seven columns folio, and

on the 4th of July, 1879, it was enlarged to its present

size. On the 2d of July, 1880, the paper changed from

independent to Democratic in politics.

The Maple Rapids Messenger.—A paper (six columns

folio) bearing the above title was established in 1874. by

the Dicky Bros., at Blaple Rapids. The first number

was issued April 16th of that year. Its publication was

discontinued about January, 1878, and the press and

material were removed to Muir, Ionia Co.

The Maple Rap)ids Dispatch was established by its

present publishers, 0. & E. D. Stair. It is an independent

weekly, published on Saturdays, and circulates over five

hundred copies. The first number was issued Oct. 26,

1878.
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The Clinton and Shiawassee Union (eight columns folio)

was established in the village of Ovid in June, 1879, by

Fitzgerald & Walsh. The latter retired April 5, 1880, and

Mr. Fitzgerald assumed the entire charge. The paper was

then reduced in size to a four-column folio.

The Jlome Chronicle was first issued on the 2d day of

October, 1878, by Frank H. Rose. It advocated green-

back principles, and was discontinued on the Cth of August,

1879.

CLINTON COUNTY CIVIL LIST..

In this list the names are given of those who have held

county offices, and also of those, resident in Clinton, who

have held important offices in or under the State or national

government.

REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS.

Randolph Strickland, elected Nov. 3, 1868.

PRESIDENTI.\L ELECTOR.

Charles Kipp, Sixth District, elected Nov. 7, 1876.

SECRETARY OF STATE.

Oliver L. Spaulding, elected Nov. 6, 186G ; re-elected

Nov. 3, 1868.

AUDITOR-GENERAL OF MICHIGAN.

John Swegles, Jr., elected Nov. 5, 1850.*

REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY.

Oliver L. Spaulding, elected Nov. 2, 1858, to fill vacancy.

Samuel S. Walker, elected April, 1875.

MEMBERS OF CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTIONS.

Convention of 1850, convened at Lansing, June 3d.

—

David Sturgis, elected November, 1849.

Convention of 1867, convened at Lansing, May 15th.

—

Alvah II. Walker and Nathaniel I. Daniels, elected April

1, 1867.
STATE SENATORS.

Jesse F. Turner, elected November, 1843; re-elected

November, 1844.

Isaac T. Ilollistcr, elected November, 1856.

Randolph Strickland, elected November, 1860.

Henry M. Perrin, elected Nov. 8, 1864.

Stephen Pearl, elected Nov. 3, 1868.

Adam Beattie, elected Nov. 5, 1872.

Porter K. Perrin, elected Nov. 7, 1876.

RKI'UESEXTATIVES IX THE STATE LEGISLATfKE.

Robert G. McKee,f elected November, 1838.

Milo H. Turner, elected Nov. 1-2, 1841.

Daniel Ferguson, Jr., elected Nov. 6-7, 1843.

Samuel M. Scott, elected Nov. 4, 1845.

Wm. W. Upton, elected Nov. 3, 1846.

Samuel M. Scott, elected Nov. 2, 1847.

Morris K. Allen, elected Nov. 7, 1848.

Samuel M. Scott, elected Nov. 6, 1849.

David Clark, elected Nov. 5, 1850.

* The fir.«t auilitur clcctctl under the constitution of 1860.

"I"
Elected before the organization of Clinton County.

Robert E. Craven, elected Nov. 2, 1852.

Timothy H. Petit, elected Nov. 7, 1854.

James Kipp, elected Nov. 4, 1856.

David I. Daniels, elected Nov. 2, 1858.

Chandler Freeman, elected Nov. 4, 1862.

Moses Bartow, Fir.st District, elected Nov. 8, 1864.

Orrin W. Munger, Second District, elected Nov. 8, 1864.

Sidney IT. Alexander, First District, elected Nov. 6, 1866.

Stephen Pearl, Second District, elected Nov. 6, 1866.

Philo Doty, First District, elected Nov. 3, 1868.

Aaron Sickles, Second District, elected Nov. 3, 1868.

Philo Duty, First District, elected Nov. 8, 1870.

Rowland S. Van Scoy, Second District, elected Nov. 8,

1870.

John C. Brunson, First District, elected Nov. 5, 1872.

Rowland S. Van Scoy, Second District, elected Nov. 5,

1872.

Samuel S. Walker, First District, elected Nov. 3, 1874.

Moses Bartow, Second District, elected Nov. 3, 1874.

Eugene V. Chase, First District, elected Nov. 7, 1876.

Newton Baker, Second District, elected Nov. 7, 1876.

Eugene V. Chase, First District, elected Nov. 5, 1878.

Frank Necker, Second District, elected Nov. 5, 1878.

ASSOCIATE JUDGES.

Hiram Wilcox, elected April 4, 1839 ; re-elected April

4, 1840.

Joseph Sever, elected April 4, 1839.

David Sturgis, elected Nov. 7-8, 1842.

Timothy H. Petit, elected Nov. 7-8, 1842.

Chandler W. Coy, elected Nov. 3, 1846.

Henry M. Sickles, elected Nov. 3, 1846.

Joseph Sever, elected Nov. 7, i848.

JUDGES OF PROBATE.

Hiram W. Stowell, elected April 4, 1839; term com-

menced upon election.

Theodore H. Cliapin, elected Nov. 7-8, 1842.

Levi Townson, elected Nov. 3, 1846 ; died July, 1849.

J. Baker, acting judge of probate remainder of term,

appointed July 14, 1849.

Cortland Hill, elected Nov. 5, 1850 ; re-elected Nov. 2,

1852.

Seth P. Marvin, elected Nov. 4, 1856.

Henry M. Perrin, elected Nov. 6, 1860.

William Sickles, elected Nov. 8, 1864.

I'orter K. Perrin, elected Nov. 6, 1866.

Joel H. Cranson, elected Nov. 5, 1872; re-elected Nov.

7, 1876.

COUNTY JUDGE.

Jesse F. Turner, elected Nov. 3, 1846; re-elected Nov.

5, 1850; resigned Feb. 8, 1851.

SECOND JUDGE.

William Sliopard, elected Nov. 3, 1846 ; rc-clcctod Nov.

5, 1850; acted as county judge from Feb. 8, 1851, to Jan.

1, 1852.

SlIERIl'FS.

AVilliani F. Jeni.son, elected April 4, 1839.

.lames K. Morris, elected Nov. 2-3, 1840.
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Samuel M. Scott, elected Nov. 7-8, 1842.

William F. Jenison, elected Nov. 3, 1846.

Robert G. McKee, elected Nov. 7, 1848.

Obadiah J. Niles, elected Nov. 5, 1850.

Adam W. Partridge, elected Nov. 7, 1854.

Philo Doty, elected Nov. 4, 1856.

Gardner Conn, elected Nov. 2, 1858.

William Brunson, elected Nov. 6, 1860.

William T. Plowman, elected Nov. 4, 1862 ; re-elected

Nov. 8, 1864.

Abner B. Wood, Jr., elected Nov. 6, 1866.

Henry P. Adams, elected Nov. 3, 1868 ; re-elected Nov.

8, 1870.

Cassius M. Carrier, elected Nov. 5, 1872.

Galusha Pennell, elected Nov. 3, 1874 ; re-elected Nov.

7, 1876.

Murdo McDonald, elected Nov. 5, 1878.

COUNTY CLERKS.

Setb p. Marvin, elected April 4, 1839 ; term commenced

upon election ; re-elected Nov. 2-3, 1840.

De Witt C. Chapin, elected Nov. 7-8, 1842.

Samuel M. Scott, elected Nov. 4-5, 1844.

Walter Hubbell, elected Nov. 3, 1846.

Joseph H. Adams, elected Nov. 5, 1850; re-elected Nov.

2, 1852 ; and again Nov. 7, 1854.

De Witt C. Chapin, elected Nov. 4, 1856; re-elected

Nov. 2, 1858, and Nov. 6, 1860.

Horatio Hunter, elected Nov. 4, 1862.

Heman C. Smith, elected Nov. 8, 1864 ; re-elected Nov.

6, 1866.

John M. Easton, elected Nov. 3, 1868; re-elected Nov.

8, 1870.

F. Byron Cutler, elected Nov. 5, 1872.

Charles H. Palmer, elected Nov. 3, 1874.

Hanford H. Hawley, elected Nov. 7, 1876; re-elected

Nov. 5, 1878.

REGISTERS OF DEEDS.

Mile H. Turner, elected April ^, 1839 ; term commenced

upon election ; re-elected Nov. 2-3, 1840.

Jesse F. Turner, elected Nov. 7-8, 1842.

Hiram Wilcox, elected Nov. 4-5, 1844.

Joseph H. Ad.ims, elected to fill vacancy Nov. 4, 1845.

Samuel Treat, elected Nov. 3, 1846.

Frederick R. Read, elected Nov. 7, 1848.

Seth P. Marvin, elected Nov. 5, 1850; re-elected Nov.

2, 1852, and Nov. 7, 1854.

Henry S. Gibbons, elected Nov. 4, 1856 ; re elected Nov.

2, 1858.

William Sickles, elected Nov. 6, 1860.

Morgan L. Leach, elected Nov. 4, 1862.

Burtis H. Beers, elected Nov. 8, 1864 ; reelected Nov.

6, 1866.

John B. McLean, elected Nov. 3, 1868 ; re-elected Nov.

8, 1870.

Robert Young, elected Nov. 5, 1872.

Jacob F. Shraft, elected Nov. 3, 1874.

Henry S. Hilton, elected Nov. 7, 1870; re elected Nov.

5, 1878.

COUNTY TRE.iSURERS.

John Gould, elected April 4, 1839 ; term commenced

upon election.

William Utley, elected Nov. 2-3, 1840.

Hiram Stowell, elected Nov. 7-8, 1842.

William W. Upton, elected Nov. 4-5, 1844.

Daniel Ferguson, elected Nov. 3, 1846 ; re-elected Nov.

7, 1848.

Stephen Pearl, elected Nov. 5, 1850 ; re-elected Nov. 2,

1852, Nov. 7, 1854, and Nov. 2, 1858.

Charles Kipp, elected Nov. 6, 1860 ; re-elected Nov. 4,

1862, Nov. 8, 1864, and Nov. 6, 1866.

Josiah Upton, elected Nov. 3, 1868 ; re-elected Nov. 8,

1870, and Nov. 5, 1872.

Richard Moore, elected Nov. 3, 1874.

Myron Ellis, elected Nov. 7, 1876; re-elected Nov. 5,

1878.

IPROSECUTING ATTORNEYS.*

Calvin C. Parks, appointed 1840-41.

Levi Townson, appointed 1842; continued to 1848.

Joseph HoUister, appointed 1848.

Joab Baker, elected Nov. 5, 1850.

Randolph Strickland, elected Nov. 2, 1852 ; re-elected

Nov. 7, 1854, Nov. 4, 1856, and Nov. 2, 1858.

Henry Walbridge, elected Nov. 6, 1860 ; re-elected Nov.

8, 1864.

Josephus 0. Selden, elected Nov. 6, 1866.

Anthony Cook, elected Nov. 3, 1868 ; re-elected Nov. 8,

1870, and Nov. 5, 1872.

John H. Fedewa, elected Nov. 3, 1874. J

Benton H. Scovill, elected Nov. 7, 1876. i

John H. Fedewa, elected Nov. 5, 1878.
*

COUNTY COMML^SIONERS.
j

Robert E. Craven, elected April 4, 1839. *

Calvin Marvin, elected April 4, 1839. I

Ephraim H. Utley, elected April 4, 1839.

Calvin Marvin, elected Nov. 4-5, 1839.

Hiram Benedict, Jr., elected Nov. 2-3, 1840.

Jesse F. Turner, elected Nov. 1-2, 1841.

COUNTY SURVEYOR.?.

Charles R. Spicer, elected April 4, 1839 ; term com-

menced upon election.

Jared Higbee, elected Nov. 2-3, 1840.

William W. Upton, elected Nov. 1-2, 1841 ; re-elected

Nov. 7-8, 1842.

Robert G. McKee, elected Nov. 4-5, 1844.

Charles B. Roberts, elected Nov. 7, 1848.

John 0. Palmer, elected Nov. 5, 1850.

Orville B. Ingersoll, elected Nov. 2, 1852.

Edward Paine, elected Nov. 7, 1854 ; re-elected Nov. 4,

1850.

Oliver C. HoUister, elected Nov. 2, 1858.

Hcnian G. Smith, elected Nov. 6, 1860.

John 0. Palmer, elected Nov. 4, 1862 ; re-elected Nov.

8, 1864, Nov. 6, 1866, Nov. 3, 1868, and Nov. 8, 1870.

* Prosecuting attorneys were appointed by the Governor until

lS50j when the office was made elective.
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Thurlow W. Lurk, elected Nov. 5, 1872.

Henry H. Jenison, elected Nov. 3, 1874;

Nov. 7, 1876.

Charles K ITollister, elected Nov. 5, 1878.

re-elected

CORONERS.

David Watson, elected April 4, 1839.

AVilliam A. Hewitt, elected April 4, 1839.

Edwin L. Phillips, David Watson, elected Nov. 2-3,

1840.

James Suwle, Jr., Ebenezer Smith, elected Nov. 7-8,

1842.

Henry Gibbs, Jr., Oliver Beebe, elected Nov. 4-5, 1844.

Mark A. Child, elected Nov. 2, 1847.

Ephraim liixby, Benjamin F. Nichols, elected Nov. 7,

1848.

Caleb A. Lamb, Isaac T. HoUister, elected Nov. 5, 1850.

Mark A. Child, Charles Turner, elected Nov. 2, 1852.

William Branson, Henry Lane, elected Nov. 7, 1854.

John Manchester, Charles Sessions, elected Nov. 4, 1856.

Charles Sessions, Burtis H. Beers, elected Nov. 2, 1858.

Charles W. Brown, Burtis H. Beers, elected Nov. 6,

1800.

Orange Whitloek, Charles Sessions, elected Nov. 4, 1862.

Nathaniel I. Daniels, AVilliam A. Chaddock, elected Nov.

8, 1864.

Warren II. Stone, Ransom Reed, elected Nov. 6, 1806.

Daniel Hurd, Charles Sessions, elected Nov. 3, 1868.

Daniel Hurd, Josiah Murdock, elected Nov. 8, 1870.

George Allen, John N. McFarlaud, elected Nov. 5, 1872.

John Miller, William Van Dyke, elected Nov. 3, 1874.

F. Byron Cutler, Charles Sessions, elected Nov. 7, 1870
;

re-elocted Nov. 5, 1878.

CIRCUIT COURT COMMISSIONERS.

David I. Daniels, elected Nov. 2, 1852 ; re-elected Nov.

7, 1854.

Henry Walbridge, elected Nov. 4, 1856; re-elected Nov.

2, 1858.

Obed F. Strickland, elected Nov. 0, 1860; re-elected

Nov. 4, 1802.

Anthony Cook, elected Nov. 8, 1804; re-elected Nov.

6, 1806.

Sylvester Hoyt, elected Nov. 3, 1868.

Moses Bartow, elected Nov. 5, 1870.

Nelson De Long, Henry E. Walbridge, elected Nov. 5,

1872. »

Richard Baylis, William H. Castle, elected Nov. 3, 1874.

Henry E. Walbridge, Charles M. Morrell, elected Nov.

7, 1870 ; re-elected Nov. 5, 1878.

SUPERINTENDENT OF SCUOOLS.

Elisha Mudge, elected April 5, 1809.

Joseph B. Cliapin, elected April 3, 1871.

Edward Paine, elected April 7, 1S73.

DRAIN COMMISSIONERS ( 7'io., Year,).

John 0. Palmer, elected April 5, 1869.

Stephen Pearl, elected April 3, 1871.

45

CHAPTER XLIX.

COUNTY" SOCIETIES—AGRICUIiTDRE-MANUFAC-
TURES-POPULATION.

Pioneer Society of Clinton County—Clinton Bible Society—Fnriuers'

Mutual Fire Insurance Company of Clinton County—Clinton County

Agricultural anti Horticultural .Society—Pomona County Grange

—

Agriculture of the County— .^[;lnufactu^ing Industries—Populatioa

of the County at DilTcrcnt Periods.

PIONEER SOCIETY OP CLINTON COUNTY.

On the 4th day of November. 1873, a meeting was held

at the Perrin House, in the village of St. Johns, for the

purpo.se of organizing a pioneer society. The meeting was

called to order, Orange Whitloek, of Greenbush, was called

to the chair, and Randolph Strickland, of Bingham, was

appointed secretary. After the object of the meeting had

been briefly stated, the society was organized by the elec-

tion of the following-named officers, viz.:

President, Cortland Hill, Bengal. Vice-Presidents, Ed-

win Phelps, Bath ; I. T. Hollister, Victor ; William Shep-

ard, Ovid; John Faxon, Duplain ; Orange Whitloek,

Greenbush ; John Avery, Bingham ; Moses Tabor, Olive
;

David Scott, De Witt; Harvey Hunter, Watertown ; Wil-

liam Van Dyke, Riley; Miner Frink, Bengal; David

Scott, Essex ; Charles Sessions, Lebanon
;

Constantine

Gruler, Dallas ; Moses Bartow, Westphalia ; David Clark,

Eagle. Secretary, Randolph Strickland.

The first annual meeting was held at the court-house on

the 15th of Januaiy, 1874. Short speeches were made by

several of the old pioneers, and the society adjourned to

meet at the fair-grounds in St. Johns, on the 10th of June,

1874, at which time an address was delivered by the presi-

dent, Cortland Hill, and a paper was read by Mrs. Parks.

Short .speeches were made by the Hon. Robert G. McKee,

Henry B. Gibbons, and David Scott. The first basket pic-

nic of the society was held at De Witt on the 25th of Au-

gust, 1877 ; the second, on the 22d of August, 1878, was

held at Maple Rapids ; the third, on the 27th of August,

1879, at the grove of B. M. Shepard, at Shepardsville.

The following is a list of the presidents, secretaries, and

treasurers of the society since its organization : Presidents,

Cortland Hill, 1874-70; B. F. Kneeland, 1877; John C.

Brunson, 1878; David Scott, 1879; Cortland Hill, 1880.

Secretaries, R. Strickland, 1874-75 ; Mrs. Mary E. Strick-

land, 187(i; John O. I'aliner, 1877-78; Henry S. Hilloii,

1879 ; William Brunson, 1880. Treitsurcrs, Morris ]{ough-

ton, 1874-75; William Van Dyke, 1876-78; M. II.

Frink, 1879-.S(I.

The i'olltiwingnamed persons have become members of

the Clinton County Pioneer Society at and since its orgau-

izalion, viz. :

Aaron Sickles. Miner R. Krink.

Mrs. M. J. Sickles. Lucindu Frink.

Randiilpli Siricklanii. Mrs. Mary E. Ilobert.

Mrs. Mury K. Strickland. (ienrge \V. Kiiinoy.

Homer \V. Hale. Alvah Walker.

Liberty Carter. Miiu'rvu S, Walker.

William M. Ilobert. D.ivi.l Ward.

Morris Boughton. Hiram Nastel.

Lueretia Boughton. William H. T,azclle.
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Moses Bartow.

Mrs. Adelia Bartow.

James N. Vansier.

Cortland Hill.

Mrs. Lucinda Hill.

Burtis II. Beers.

James E. Hiscock.
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CLINTON COUNTY BIBLE SOCIETY.

A County Bible Society was organized at De Witt in

the year 1848. The record of the first meeting is lost, but

the minutes of the society were kept from 1849 to 1854

inclusive, from which are taken the following items

:

" The Clinton County Bible Society held its first annual

meeting at De Witt on Tuesday evening, the Cth day of

February, 1849. The Rev. Lewis Coburn, President of

the Society, having taken the chair, Robert G. McKee

was appointed secretary j^^o tern. The Rev. John Baugh-

man addressed the Society and audience upon the subject

of the distribution of the Bible, after which a collection

was taken under the direction of the President of the

Society." The following persons were appointed officers

for the ensuing year : President, Lewis Coburn
;

Vice-

President, Daniel Ferguson ; Secretary, Robert G. McKcc
;

Treasurer, George T. Clark ; Executive Committee, J. F.

Turner, Cortland Hill, James Sturgis, Seth P. Marvin,

Joseph n. Adams, Levi Townson, and David Sturgis.

At the meeting in 1850 a collection was taken, and on

motion the amount was to be returned in books, and the

various clergymen were appointed a distributing committee.

At the annual meeting in 1851 it was resolved that the

ministers are rcfjuested to preach to their several congrega-

tions in favor of the spread of the Bible and take up col-

lections for the purchase of the same, also to employ others

to act as agents. The treasurer was authorized to order

Bibles when needed, so far as the funds would permit.

At a meeting held in September, 1853, the Revs. Lewis

Coburn, John Scolford, and John Gunderman were chosen

a committee to draft a constitution, which was adopted

October 2d of the same year. At this meeting the

treasurer reported five dollars and eighty'seven cents

collected. The annual meeting of 1854 was held in the

Baptist church of De Witt on the 1st of October. An
address was delivered by the Rev. J. Anderson, agent of

the American Bible Society, and a collection was taken up,

the amount of which was paid to J. Anderson.

The following is a report of the condition of the society

at that time: "The affairs of the Clinton County Bible

Society at this date, Nov. 29, 1854, are as follows:

** There is now duo the society fr(tin J. SturgiH, oUl

treasurer, oytcnsibly $IO.H t

From viirii>us persons ns ])er bill in treasurer's hands tf.US

J. D. E(^W!l^l^', present treasurer 4.08

Keceivetl this day from W. K. i^turgi.s, late treasurer, as

ftillows :

In liibles 8.rs

lu cash T.'JI"

The oflicers of the society from 1849 to 1854 inclusive

were as follows :

1850.— llev. Lewis A. Coburn, President ; Rev. Caleb

A. Lamb, Vice-President ; F. R. Read, Secretary ; James

Sturgis, Treasurer; W. W. Webb, J. F. Turner, D. B.

Johnson, W. R. Sturgis, David Sturgis, J. M. Estes,

Daniel Ferguson, Executive Committee.

1851.—Rev. Lewis Coburn, President; J. Hoynton,

Vice-President ; J. Sturgis, Treasurer ; F. R. Read, Secre-

tary.

1852.—Rev. Lewis Coburn, President; John (Jnnder-

man, Vice-President; R. Strickland, Secretary; J. U.

Adams, Treasurer.

1853.—Rev. John Scotford, President; Rev. Lewis

Coburn, Vice-President; R. Strickland, Secretary; W. R.

Sturgis, Treasurer.

1854.—Henry Post, President; Rev. John Gunder-

man, Vice-President; Joseph H. Adams, Secretary ; J. 1).

Edwards, Treasurer.

The constitution adopted in 1853 names the society and

explains its objects, thus :

"Article 1st. This Society shall bo called the Clinton

County Bible Society, auxiliary to the American Bible

Society. Article 2d. The object of this Society shall be

to disseminate the Holy Scriptures without note or comment

throughout the County." The names of persons attached

to the constitution are as follows : J. M. Estes, Lewis

Coburn, Mrs. Coburn, F. R. Read, John Scotsford, John

Gunderman, R. Strickland, George Allen, J. D. Edwards,

M. Moote, J. H. Adams, W. R. Sturgis, Ellen Sturgis,

Mrs. Goodrich, Mrs. Scotford, A. Dunton. Alsa Cushman,

A. Goodrich, 51. A. Child.

Since 1854 no records of the .society have been preserved,

and nothing further is known of its history. On the 14th

of February of that year several Christian organizations

convened at the Methodist Episcopal church in the village

of St. Johns for the purpose of reorganizing a county

Bible Society. A constitution was presented and adopted.

The drug-store of George Hunt & Brother was selected as

the depository of the society. It remained there till March,

1876, when it was removed to the drugstore of Dr. M.

L. Bagg, where it is at present The transactions of the

society since 1865, as shown by the treasurer's books, have

been as follows : Paid for Bibles purchased in 1865, S245.28 ;

1866, S466.72; 1867, $79.75; 1869. S219.89; 1870,

8173.44; 1872, 8126.82; 1873, $128.99 ; 1875, $142.G9
;

1876, $63.84; 1877,873.44; 1878,849.97; 1879,811.56.

Auxiliary societies were formed some years ago at Ovid,

De Witt, and Maple Rapids, but have now declined. The

officers of the .society since its reorganization are as follows :

Presidents, A. IT. Walker, 1864 to 1875 inclusive; Rev.

I). D. Gillett, 1876 ; F. H. Cary, 1877 ; J. E. Richards,

1878-79
; S. L. Hamilton, 1880. Secretaries, R. Apthorp,

1864; William Sickles, 1865; L. G. N. Randolph, 1860

to 1868 inclusive; M. V. Brown, 1869 to 1880. Treas-

urers, H. C. Hodge, 1864; A.'O. Hunt, 1865 to 1875 in-

clusive ; M. V. Brown, 187G ; Dr. M. L. Bagg, 1877 to

1880.

Following is a list of names of persons who became life

members in 1865 and 1866:

1865.— Burtis H. Beer, P. C. Porrin, William Brunson,

W. J. Bancroft, A. H. Walker, Mrs. IMoFarlan, Mrs.

Sarah A. B.iker, Mrs. Fanny Brown.

1B0G._S. S. Walker, Milo A. Fowler, Joseph Wood,

W. W. Braincrd, Jjouise F. A|)tiiorp, Elizabeth Kipp,

Hannah Plumstead, Isabel B. Sickles, Mary E. Strickland,

Mary 10. Burgess.

No names appear on the record since 1866.

FARMERS' MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COM l'.\N Y
OK CLINTON COUNTY.

This company was formed for the purpose of protection

against lo.ss by fire or lightning on all buildings and farm-
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property subject to such risk. It has been in existence

seventeen years, and has proved so successful that it is

resardcd witli much satisfaction by its members. On the

16th of March, 1863, a meeting was held at the village of

St. Johns pursuant to call ; articles of association were

agreed upon and signed by Jonathan R. Pearsall, Dewitt

C. Chapin, Asahel R. Marvin, Henry Moon, George W.

Cook, Lewis Coburn, and Jeremiah Emery. The articles

of association were published three weeks in the Clinton

Repuhlican.

On the 19th of June, the same year, articles of associa-

tion were published differing in some respects from the

first, and signed by the following-named corporators

:

Ainsworth Reed, Henry Moon, William R. Allen, Lewis

Coburn, George Allen, Asahel R. Marvin, Jonathan R.

Pearsall, Jeremiah Emery, and George W. Cook. In tlie

paper of the same date a call was issued for the first meet-

ing of the Farmers' Mutual Fire Insurance Company of

Clinton County on the 7th of July, 1863, for the purpose

of electing oflBcers and transacting other business.

The records of the society were burned a few yeare ago.

J. H. Osborne, secretary and financial agent of the com-

pany, opened an ofiice in the drug-store of G. R. Hunt &
Brother.

The business of the company extends over the counties

of Clinton and Gratiot. The number of j>olicies in force,

June 1, 1880, was two thousand Unee hundred, covering

property to the amount of §2,025,371. The losses from

September, 1877, to September, 1878, were §1933.05
;

from September, 1878, to September, 1879, S3268. 13.

The salaries, fees, and expenses for the year ending Dec.

31, 1879, amounted to §1822.47. Total expenses for the

year, §5205.97.

The ofiicers for 1880 are as follows:

Josiah Upton, President; R. Du Bois, Secretary.

Directors.—Clinton County : Orange Whitlock, Green-

bush ; Lewis Beutley, Essex ; William Collins, De Witt

;

W. W. Dunham, Duplain. Gratiot County : Charles Web-

ster, Fulton.

CLINTON COUNTY AGRICULTURAL AND HORTI-
CULTURAL SOCIETY.

On the 12th of January, 1853, a preliminary meeting

was held at the " Clinton House," in the village of De
Witt, for the purpose of organizing a county agricultural

society. A committee appointed on constitution and per-

manent officers reported, at a meeting held in the same

place, on the 19th of the same month. A constitution and

by-laws were presented and adopted. The following is a

list of the names of the original members :

Harvey Hunter.

Horatio Hunter.

J. H. Adams.

F. R. Read.

Jason Nichols.

David I. Daniels.

Samuel Forman.

A. R. Marvin.

W. Lee.

D. S. Ingersoll.

0. B. Ingersoll.

Eliel Ingersoll.

Charles Scott.

Russell Churchman.

A. C. Lee.

David P. Dryer.

Charles R. McKce.

D. S. Coats.

John CoUister.

Orange Ferguson.

H. Alexander.

U. R. Owen.

W. Dills.

Peter Merrihew.

Moses Tabor.

A. U. Cook.

J. W. Merrihew.

Linus Gillett.

George Fuller.

A. GHlett.

George A. Merrihew.

H. S. Green.

Ransom Reed.

D. Ferguson.

H. C. Butler.

A. Calder.

John Hicks.

Horatio Lyon.

C. A. Lamb.

C. Hill.

David Scott.

Parker Webber.

J. C. Brunson.

N. N. Thompson.

W. Utley.

Daniel H. Blood.

Lewis Coburn.

E. S. Ingersoll.

Thomas Lester.

W. R. Sturgis.

D. Olin.

A. W. Partridge.

I. F. Hollister.

J. R. Pearsall.

W. Brunson.

H. Post.

I. B. Smith.

Richard Walton.

Stephen Hill.

Gardner Conn.

Wm. Tanager.

Benjamin Silsbee.

David Knight.

Constant Shaw.

Henry Jones.

B. H. Beers.

A. Lounsbury.

L. Hungerford.

AViUiam H. Webb.

A. Goodrich.

C. Caywood.

John Voorhees.

David Clark.

Philo Doty.

J. H. Gardner.

H. Stowell.

John Skinner.

Thomas J. Allen.

James G. Pike.

Hiram Scott.

Moulton Sprague.

James Smith.

Henry Smith.

James W. McMillan.

Joseph Hollister.

Henry Jip.son.

Mary P]. Silsbee.

George Allen.

Ira S. Thornton.

Mrs. D. G. Wilsey.

A. Simmons.

S. Sherman.

W. T. Plowman.

T. Dunlap.

The Committee on Permanent Officers reported the

names of the following persons, who were elected for 1S53 :

President, Harvey Hunter.

Vice-Presidents, J. F. Hollister, B. H. Beers, D. Fergu-

son, H. Benedict, L. Hungerford, J. Sever, S. B. Smith.

Recording Secretary, F. R. Read.

Corresponding Secretary, I. H. Adams.

Treasurer, W. W. Webb.

Directors, 0. Ferguson, C. A. Lamb, C. Hill, M. S.

Allen, Henry Post.

The following-named gentlemen were appointed a com-

mittee of three from each township to secure members to

the society

:

Bath.—E. L. Phelps, R. Collister, S. Batchelor.

Victor.—J. C. Brunson, H. Hagerty, D. H. Blood.

Ovid.—J. V. Swarthout, E. Willis, E. Fitch.

Duplain.—H. Faxon, J. D. Sickels, Dr. Watson.

Greenbush.—H. Avery, D. Sever, 0. Whitlock.

Bingham.—G. W. Estes, C. A. Lamb, R. S. Norris.

Olive.—A. Calder, J. W. Merrihew, H. S. Green.

De Witt.—D. B. Johnson, E. Gunnison, N. N. Thomp-

son.
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Watertown.—S. Frary, A. R. Marvin, \V. Lee.

Riley.—C. Sliaw, II. Jones, L. Ilun^erford.

Bengal.—C. Hill, B. F. Kneeland, J. Ilamer.

Essex.—H. Benedict, T. II. Petit, F. Parr.

Lebanon.—P. Corey, J. Vance, A. G. Russell.

Dallas.—6. F. Button, M. Van Gerison, Z. Rice.

Westphalia.—W. F. Plowman, M. P. McVey, J. Piatt.

Eagle.—J. W. Hill, W. T. Jennison, J. W. McMillan.

The meeting adjourned to meet in the same place on

Wednesday, Feb. 23, 1873, at one o'clock p.m. At the

adjourned meeting in February it was decided to hold a fair

in the village of De Witt on the 5th and Gth of October

of that year. A premium-list was made out and judges

selected for the different departments, whose names are

given below :

On Cattle.—-N. N. Thompson, Robert Darrow, and John

Collister.

On Horses.—E. P. Daniels, H. B. Green, and John

Voorhees.

On Sheep.—W. P. Esler, S. W. Downer, and Parris

Corey.

On Swine.—M. Van Gieson, J. R. Pcarsall, D. II.

Blood.

On Fowls.—T. H. Petit, David Clark, Alexander Calder.

On Grain.—Philo Doty, W. Bronson, John Vance.

On Fruits.—E L. Phelps, M. Greenwood, W. T. Plow-

man.

On Vegetables.—David Sturgis, A. Goodrich, M. Bar-

tow.

On Ladies' Department.—Mary Sturgis, M. H. Adams,

Amanda Hunter.

On Cabinet-work.—M. S. Allen, J. H. Adams, R. S. Van

Sevy.

On Boots and Shoos.—Harvey Hunter, II. Benedict, C.

A. Lanil).

On Blacksmithing.—N. N. Thompson, T. II. Petit, W.
W. Webb.

On Miscellaneous.—A. R. Marvin, Moses Tober, D. Fer-

guson.

On Plowing.— II. Benedict, H. Post, David Clark.

Tiie annual fair fur that year was held on the public

square at the time specified. Premiums were awarded to

the amount of one hundred and thirty-seven dollars and

twenty-five cents. The entire amount of receipts from all

sources was one hundred dollars and seventy-eight cents.

Incidental expenses reduced this amount to eighty-one dol-

lars and forty cents, from which to pay the j)rcniiunis, it

being fifty-nine per cent, of the amount awarded.

Premiums were received on cattle by Charles A. Lamb,

Samuel Sherman, N. N. Thompson, Elicl IngersoU, C. Shaw,

David Scott, E. S. Ingcrsoll, A. R. Marvin, Sic'iiheii Hill,

A. W. Partridge, George Allen, William Dills, and B. II.

Beers; on sheep by Harvey Hunter, A. C. Lee, Lewis Co-

burn, and Charles Scott; on horses by Gardner Conn,

Charles Scott, A. Goodrich, A. Lounsbury, I. W. Gardner,

I'eter Merrihcw, E. S. Ingcrsoll, and Ransom Reed ; and

fur the best five acres of wheat by David Scott; .second

best, Harvey Hunter; best one acre of corn, I. Caywood
;

best acre of oats, David Scott.

The annual fairs for 1854-55-5G were held at Do Wilt.

At the annual meeting of the society, on the 10th, 11th, and

12th of March, 1857, it was resolved that the fair of that

year on the Sth and 9th of October be held either at De
Witt or St. Johns, the choice to be decided as follows :

" The one of the two villages that subscribes the most

money by the 15th of August, 1857, to be paid to the

Society on or before the fair, is to have the fair at said vil-

lage ; sealed proposals to be received until August 15th."

The executive committee met on the 9th of September

to consider proposals. A proposition was received from the

inhabitants of St. Johns stating that one hundred and six

dollars had been subscribed, and as none was received from

De Witt it was decided to hold the fair for 1857 at the

village of St. Johns, on the Sth and 9th of October. The

society advertised for propusal.s in 1858. No propositions

were received, and the fair was held at St. Johns, October

13th and 14th of that year. Nothing further Ls known of

the history of the society until its reorganization in 1863.

A preliminary meeting was held at the clerk's ofiice in De

Witt, on the 15th of August of that year, and adjourned

to the 29th of August, at which meeting a committee was

appointed to draft a new constitution and by-laws. Officers

were elected, and the 8th of October was the day fixed for

the fair. The constitution was adopted on the 9th of Octo-

ber of that year.

At a meeting of the .society at Clinton Hall in the vil-

lage of St. Johns, in 1865, it was resolved to purchase ten

or fifteen acres of land near the village, for fair-grounds.

Messrs. Isaac T. HoUi.ster, W. T. Bancroft, and Sidney

U. Alexander wore appointed to select the same and nego-

tiate for the purchase. The committee reported Jan. 27,

IStlG, that two tracts had been offered, and recommended

the purchase of thirty acres of Joseph Cardinal, situated

one mile south of the village. On the 7th of April the

secretary of the society reported that he had made the con-

tract fur the grounds at seventeen hundred dollars. Ten

acres were sold from the south part of the grounds for four

hundred dollars. In the May following a contract was made

with A. Hathaway for grading a trotting-course. The

grounds were also inclosed and prepared for the fall exhi-

bition.

During this year articles of association were drawn up,

having fur a purpose " the reorganization and perfecting

of a society to be known as the Clinton County Agricul-

tural and Horticultural Society, that was attempted to bo

made on or about the 19lh day of August, 1SG6." The

following-named persons are mentioned in the articles for

ofllcers: Dr. I. T. Ilollistor, President; William H. Moore,

Vice-President; B. II. Beers, Treasurer; Hubert Smith,

Secretary. These articles were not signed.

In 1S69 a floral hall was erected at a cost of three hun-

dred dollar.H. ll.s form was that of a Greek cross, about

eighty feet in length each way, with the central portion

twenty feet .s(|uare. The agricultural hall, twenty-fuur by

fifty feet, was erected in 1871, at a co.st of two hundred and

fifty dollius. The grand stand and dlning-hall were erected

in 1877. The former is twenty-four by sixty feet, and cost

three hundred dollars ;
the latter, twenty by fiirty, cost ono

hundred and twenty-five dollars. A commercial hall W!»s

built in the season of 1878, twenty-eight by eighty feet in
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dimeDsions, at an expense of four hundred dollars. In

1879 the judges' stand was built in a neat and ornamental

style, octagonal in form, sixteen feet square and two stories

in height, at a cost of three hundred and twenty-five dollars.

The society have about eighty rods of stabling for horses

a n cattle.

The twentieth annual fair of the society was held at the

fair-grounds in October, 1879. Nearly twelve hundred en-

tries were made ; the receipts from all sources were three

thousand three hundred and ninety-three dollars. Eleven

hundred dollars was awarded in premiums for the stock and

articles on exhibition, and one thousand dollars for speed in

horses.

A new constitution and by-laws were adopted in the

spring of 1880.

The officers of the society, as far as can be ascertained,

have been as follows :

Presidents.—Harvey Hunter, 1853; Henry Post, 185-1;

Isaac T. IloUister, 1855 ;
no records 1856 ; Seth P. Marvin,

1857 ;
William J. Bancroft, 1858 ;

Isaac T. Hollister, 1859;

Asahel R. Marvin, 18G3; John Gilbert, 186-1-G5 ; B. F.

Knecland, 18G6 ;
John C. Dayton, 1806 (reorganization);

Isaac T. Hollister, 1867; Charles Kipp, 1868-70; John

C. Dayton, 1871-72; D. P. Wilcox, 1873; A. Stout,

1874-75
;
Joshua Brown, 1876-77

; R. M. Steel, 1878-80.

Secretaries.—F. R. Read, 1853-55
; Nobles S. Ham-

mond, 1857; John C. Brunson, 1858; Rev. Caleb A.

Lamb, 1859; Hiram C. Hodge, 1863; Henry S. Hilton,

1864-65 ; T. B. Cutter, 1866 (reorganization) ; Robert

Smith, 1866-67 ; T. Baker, 1868 ; J. B. Nixon, 1869-70
;

T. B. Cutler, 1871-75 ; II. S. Hilton, 1876 ; Alvin Shaver,

1877 ; Richard Du Bois, 1878-79 ;
Charles W. Lyon, 1880.

Treasurers.—W. W. Webb, 1853-55; Charles Scott,

1857; Caleb A. Lamb, 1858; Hiram C. Hodge, 1859;

Harvey Alexander, 1863 ; S. U. Alexander, 1864-65 ; B.

H. Beers, 1866; Samuel S. Walker, 1866 (reorganization)
;

B. H. Beers, 18G7 ;
Samuel S. Walker, 1868-72 ; George R.

Hunt, 1873 ; 0. B. Swain, 1874; David P. Wilcox, 1875
;

R. B. Caruss, 1876-77
;
Alvin Shaver, 1878-79 ; Josiah

Upton, 1880.

The fair-grounds of the Ionia, Montcalm, Gratiot, and

Clinton Agricultural Society are situated in the village of

Hubbardston, in the township of Lebanon, and contain about

thirty acres of land, on which are built substantial and com-

modious buildings. The grounds are well fenced and a good

track is laid out and graded.

POMONA COUNTY GRANGE, No. 2.5.

Delegates from the subordinate granges of the several

townships convened at De Witt and St. Johns in the fall

of 1879, for the purpose of forming a county grange; but

nothing was eifected until December 31st of that year,

when a permanent organization was eifected by the election

of the following officers: Thomas W. Baldwin, Olive, Master;

Warren Halsey, Bengal, Overseer
; 0. G. Pennell, De Witt,

Lecturer; John J. Koyser, Keystone, Steward
; Avander

Dickinson, Riley, Assistant Steward ; Anson McWithey,

Olive, Chaplain ; James Sowie, Essex, Treasurer ; Frank

Conn, Bingham, Secretary; Daniel Dutton, Dallas, Gate-

Keeper; Mary J. Drake, Dallas, Ceres; Elizabeth M. Voor-

hees, Keystone, Pomona; Antoinette Emmet, Olive, Flora;

Lydia A. Rice, Bengal, Lady Assistant Steward. Meetings

are held once a month at the halls of the different granges

throughout the county.

AGRICULTURE OF TUE COUNTY.

The greater part of the pioneer farmers who settled in

Clinton County were emigrants from the State of New

York; men who either came here directly from that State,

or who had previously emigrated from there to the older

counties of Michigan, and had removed thence to Clinton.

This being the case, it was to be expected that they should,

as they did, plant and sow the same crops, cultivate their

lands in the same manner, and in general pursue the same

methods of agriculture as those to which they had been

accustomed in the country from which they came.

Emisrrants from the old wheat-raising sections of New

York always judged of the new countries to which they

went by comparison with that which they had left, and to

them the chief proof of the excellence of any soil was its

capability for the production of wheat,—as much wheat iu

quantity and as good wheat in quality as could be raised on

lands similarly situated in that garden spot of the world (as

it seemed to them), the western part of the State of New

York, and particularly the renowned Genesee Valley. And

in their applicaticm of this test to the county of Clinton

they found and acknowledged that in this essential particu-

lar the new country to which they came was equal, if not

superior, to the old country which they had left.

Their agriculture was, of course, small at first, and was

devoted to those crops which were indispensable to their

immediate necessities for the support of their families.

The first few crops of wheat, bounteous as they wore, re-

moved all fear of want, but as the very abundance lowered

the price, and as the isolated location of the settlers of this

county enhanced the expense of transporting their produce

to a market, the net profit resulting from their crops was

so small as to hardly repay the cost and labor of produc-

tion. This disadvantage, however, was only temporary.

In succeeding years prices became more remunerative, the

farmers steadily increased their tilled acres, and, what was

of more importance still, the improvement of roads and the

opening of railroads, by affording means of transportation

to markets, greatly enhanced the profits of agriculture.

But so gradually was all this accomplished that it would be

difficult to say just when the struggling pioneers of the

early days of Clinton County became transformed into the

prosperous and wealthy farmers who now own and till its

soil.

The breeding of cattle has been pursued by the farmers

of Clinton County quite exten.sively, but not sufficiently so

to give it a chief place among the agricultural industries.

The same is true of sheep-breeding. The first settlers who

came to locate in the county brought with them a rather

unusually large number of cattle, for the reason that the fact

had become known that stock could be kept here and win-

tered even before crops of fodder had been raised for their

subsistence. On the numerous marshes of this region there

grew spontaneously a heavy burden of tall, coarse grasses.
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wliich, in the absence of timothj', clover, or other cultivated

fodder, furnished very good food for cattle. Plain-grass

was also found in abundance in the openings (probably

brought in by the annual fires kindled there by the Indians

during many previous years), and this was equally good

and nutritious. The existence of these resources enabled

the settlers (who were nearly all men of sufficient means

to purcha.se stock) to bring cattle with them at the time of

their settlement without fear that the animals would die

for lack of subsistence during the first or succeeding

winters, and it was for this reason that the number of cattle

brought into this county by the pioneer farmers was rather

unusually large, though probably not. greater than was

brought in by an equal number of settlers in the other

counties of this region where the same favorable conditions

existed.

A few sheep were found in Clinton Coun(y prior to

1837, and their numbers have gradually and steadily in-

creased during subsequent years, until sheep-breeding and

wool-growing have become sources of largo revenue to

such farmers as are engaged in them. Improved breeds

were early introduced here, and the county now contains

a large number (notably the French and Spanish Merinoes

and Shropshire Downs) of pure blood, with a much larger

number of high grades. Nearly the same is the case with

regard to improved breeds of cattle kept in the county,

—

the Durham and Galloway pure-bloods and crosses being

perhaps the most numerous. The names of a groat num-

ber of breeders of both sheep and cattle might be given,

with a more particular account of their several flocks and

herds ; but as in such a notice the names of some would

neces.=arily be omitted, it is thought preferable to omit all

such mention, and more particularly for the reason that

here the breeding of improved stock is not a specialty, nor

to be reckoned among the most important of the agricul-

tural industries of the county.

There are in Clinton County a very large number of

excellent farms, with not a few of which each might with

propriety be termed a " model farm," as the term is usually

applied. It would be pleasant, and might be profitable, to

give a particularized account of each of these, but as it is

impracticable, on account of the difiieulty of properly

drawing the line of superior excellence, to notice all such

in detail, we shall make particular mention of only one,

—

a large and in every way a very remarkable farm, a great

part of which was a few years since a worthless and

malarious swamp, from which condition it was reclaimed

and brought to a state of high cultivation and productive-

ness by one of Michigan's most prominent public men, the

late Senator Zachariah Chandler. This farm comjirises

half of section 211, all of .section 30, and the greater part

of sections 31 and 32, in the township of Bath, with

nearly all of section 25, and considerable parts of sections

26 and 30, in the township of Dc Witt. An account of

the purchiuse of the lands, and of the manner in which they

were reclaimed and transformed into the present noble and

productive farm, is given in a recently published life of the

Hon. Zachariah Chandler, from which account is extracted

the following

:

"In 1857 the State of Michigan gave to its agricultural

college the public lands in the four townships of Bath,

De Witt, Meridian, and Lansing, which were designated on

the surveyors' maps as ' swamp-lands.' In the main, the

sections covered by the grant were marsh}', although their

rectilinear boundaries included some solid ground. Mr.

Chandler purchased from the college and other owners a

farm of three thousand one hundred and sixty acres,

located four miles (by railroad) from Lansing, in the towna

of Bath and De Witt in Clinton County ; it included

about nineteen hundred acres (five hundred acres of

marsh-meadow, six hundred acres of tamarack-swamp,

and eight hundred acres of oak-opening uplands). The

marsh was traversed by a slender water-course, deviously

connecting some small lakes with the Looking-Glass

River. The upland portion of the farm was thoroughly

fertile, but its development and cultivation did not specially

interest Mr. Chandler, except as furnishing the needed

base for his experiments upon the marsh, lie said,

' Michigan contains thousands of acres of precisely this

kind of land. The drainage of this particular marsh is

difficult, as much so as is the case with any land in this

peninsula which is not a hopeless swamp. If this tract

can be reclaimed, others can be, and I propose to give the

experiment of reclamation a thorough trial. I have the

money, and I believe I have the pluck. If I succeed, it

will be a good thing for the State, for it will show how to

add millions of dollars worth of land to its farms. If I fail,

it will also be a good thing, for it will settle an open ques-

tion, and no man need repeat my attempt.' He pushed

this experiment vigorously from the time of its commence-

ment until his death, and gave to it his frequent personal

supervision. His investments in the marsh-farm soon came

to be counted by many tens of thousands of dollars.

" Originally, practical farmers were inclined to regard

his operations as sheer folly, but as they saw the purpose,

methods, and thoroughness of his work, a just appreciation

of its aim followed. Mr. Chandler never disguised the

character of this enterprise. Repeatedly he said to visitors

at the farm and to friends, ' I have a theory,—that is a re-

markably expensive thing to have,—and I propose to test

it here; it will make me poorer, but it may make others

richer some time.'

" The public value of his experiment he believed to bo

"rcat, and that fact he was quick to make prominent when-

ever it seemed neces.sary. The general jilan of drainage

operations consisted in connecting by a large ditch Park

Lake (which has an area of two hundred and twenty-five

acres) with the JiOoking-tJla.^s River. This main dilcli

was constructed by straightening ihe bed of Prairie Creek,

and posses.scd descent enough to in.«nre o slow current in

wet .seasons. It is about four miles in length, and aveniges

fourteen feet in width by ftuir in depth. At intervals of

forty rods are construeled lateral ditches, us a rule live feet

in width at the lop by three in depth. This part of the

work had not been coni|ilclcd at tlie time of Mr. Chandlor'a

death, but still the lateral ditching had rciichcd about filly

miles in aggregate length, and I'.nd well drained about one

thousand acres in the western end of the marsh, near Iho

outlet into the Look ing-(i lass. In that portion of the
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farm the first results of the drainage—the rotting down

of the surface of the marsh into a vegetable mould—have

already manifested themselves satisfactorily. The extent

to which this decomposition will continue is not com-

pletely tested, nor does it yet appear what will be the full

measure of the arability of soil which will be created by

this process, supplemented by the tile-draining which will

follow the subsidence of the marsh to a permanent level.

This peaty surface varies from two and a half feet to a rod

in depth, and promises to become an enormously produc-

tive soil. The experiments thus far tried upon it have

resulted hopefully. Much of the native grass furnished

excellent hay, and stock fatted upon it thoroughly with no

more than the usual allowance of grain. The tame grass

sown was chiefly fowl-meadow and timothy. The former

Mr. Chandler had seen growing in Holland on reclaimed

land, and he determined to give it a trial. He was only

able to find the seed in the Boston market, and there paid

for it four dollars per bushel of eleven pounds. It is a

species of red-top, and soon yielded from one and a half to two

tons of excellent hay per acre. For four seasons this seeding

down with tame grasses was tried with satisfactory results,

and then other experiments followed. In the fill of 1S78

twelve acres of marsh, then well seeded down with grass,

were thoroughly plowed by Superintendent Hughes, who

in the following season raised thereon corn, potatoes, ruta-

bagas, and oats. The results conclusively showed that the

marsh possessed general productiveness, although the ex-

periment itself was marred by the unseasonable frosts of

1879. The corn looked well at the outset, but was severely

injured in the end. The potato-crop was a good one, and

the yield of oats was also large. In the foil of 1879

another tract of twelve acres was plowed, and the same ex-

periment was put in process of repetition.

" Superintendent Hughes is of the opinion that within

another year the reclaimed marsh will produce one hundred

bushels of corn to the acre. A short time before his death

Mr. Chandler said that in view of the success which had at^

tended the experiments already tried, he now felt confident

that in time his farm would be pointed out as an ague-bed

transformed into one of the most valuable pieces of prop-

erty in Central Michigan, and would demonstrate the re-

claimability of large tracts of swamp-land in that State.

About five hundred acres of the marsh are seeded with

fowl-meadow grass; about three hundred acres of this is

mowed, and the remainder is used for pasturage. Over four

hundred tons of excellent hay were cut there in the season

of 1879.

" Outside of the interest attaching to it by reason of the

drainage experiments, the Chandler farm would deserve

notice as one of the most thoroughly equipped and stocked

of the new farms of Michigan. It is traversed by a State road,

and by the Jackson, Lansing and Saginaw Railroad (which

has established a signal-station near the farm-house). Its

buildings are located upon the highest ground. They are

substantially constructed, and surrounded with all the evi-

dences of thrift. The main house of the farm, which is

occupied by the superintendent and his family, is a commodi-

ous frame structure, two stories in height, and conveniently

partitioned ofi' into spacious and airy apartments. Near it

is the horse-barn (thirty-two by fifty-four feet in dimen-

sions), with sheep-sheds adjoining. About a half-mile to

the east are two tenant-houses, occupied by families em-

ployed on the farm. On the east side of the State road, at

a distance of half a mile, is a large barn erected in 1879
;

its main portion is forty-one by sixty-six feet in dimensions,

with a wing thirty-eight by ninety feet; its height is forty-

four feet to the ridge ; attached are sheds two hundred and

fifty feet in length and L-shapcd. This barn is largely

used for storage purposes, and will receive two hundred and

fifty tons of hay. The basement of its wing is divided

into sixty cattle-stalls, thirty on each side, with a broad

pa.ssage through the centre? The stalls are ingeniously

arranged in the most improved style, and with a special

regard for cleanliness. In the basement of the main barn

is a large root-cellar (capable of holding two thousand

bushels of potatoes, turnips, etc.), stabling accommodations

for eight horses, two large box-stalls for stallions, a feed-

room, twenty by twenty-five feet in size, numerous calf-

pens, and many other conveniences.

" Located above are two granaries, each twelve by twenty-

six feet in dimensions. Attached to the barn, but in a

separate building, is a twelve-horse power engine, used for

cutting feed and for other farm purposes. A large automa-

tic windmill and pump supply water in abundance.

" The farm is well stocked ; on it are seventeen horses,

including ' Mark Antony,' an imported Normandy stallion,

which is a fine specimen of the Fercheron breed. There

are also one hundred and twenty head of handsome graded

cattle on the farm, three hundred sheep graded from Shrop-

shire Down bucks, and twenty-three pure-bred Essex swine.

In wagons and implements of every kind the equipment is

complete, and all are of the best manufacture and most im-

proved quality. The ibrce of laborers on the farm, as a rule,

includes five men in summer and three in winter, large

gangs being employed during the two months of the haying

season, and also when there is any extensive fencing or

ditching enterprise to be pushed. Mr. Chandler's experi-

ments were closely watched by the farmers of Michigan.

Visits were frequent from them singly, in small parties, and

in club or grange excursions to the marsh, and they always

met a hospitable reception. Letters of inquiry also came

from many parts of the State, giving evidences of the wide-

spread character of the interest felt. Mr. Chandler him-

self when in Michigan visited the farm at least once a

month, inspecting the work thoroughly, discussing plans

with the superintendent, making suggestions, and giving

orders. His experience as a farmer in his boyhood fur-

nished ideas which were yet useful and a judgment which

was well informed, still he was ready to welcome all inno-

vations that promised good results, and he closed many dis-

cussions with his superintendents by remarking, ' If you

come at me with facts, that is enough : I never argue

against them.'
"

The following agricultural statistics of the county of

Clinton at different periods from the year 1840 to the year

1874, inclusive, arc gathered from the returns of the several

censuses by the United States and the State of Michigan,

viz.:
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1840.

Number of neat cnttlc in the county 1,621
" swine in the county 2,560
" phee|) " " 294

Pounds of WDol slnirn 215
Busliels of wheat liarvested in the preceding year lS,ri.'{2

" Indian corn " " " 15,2«f>

" barley " " " ' ino
" oats " " " 11,:!10
" potatoes '* " *' 17,0^.3

Tons of hay cut preceding year 1)84

Pounds of sugar made (1840) 27,066

1850.

Whole number of occupied farms 652
Ca.-*!! value " " $549,835
Total number of acres improved 21,823

" ** neat cattle kept in county 4,700
" " sheep " " 5,085
" " swino " " 4,788
" value of live stock $108,071

Bushels of wheat harvested in preceding year 54,297
" rye " " " 328
" Indian corn raised " " 04,907
" oals " " " 38,900
" barley " " " 161
" buckwheat " " " 8,126
" potatoes " " " 41,000

Value of orchard products preceding year $337
Tons of hay cut preceding year 5,013

Pounds of wool sheared (1850) 14,638
" maple-sugar made (1850) 125,024
" butter made (June, 1849. to June, 1850) 135,613
" cheese " " " " 5,936

1854.

Number of acres of improved land 28,870
" neat cattle in county 7,423
" swino " 4,941
" sheep " 5,368

Pounds of wool sheared preceding year 14,096
" pork marketed " " 110,599

Acres of wheat harvested " *' 6,736

liushels " " " " 98,738

Acres of corn " " " 6,944

Bushels of corn " " " 118,686
" all other grains harvested in preceding year. 44,923

Bushels potatoes raised preceding year 53,791

Tons of hay cut " " 6,997

I'ounds of butter made " " 157,677
cheese " " " 6,783

" maple-sugar made in 1854 125,185

1860.

Whole number of occupied farms 2,074
" '* acres improved 78,425

Total cash value of farms $3,578,230

Number of neatcattle in county 14,892

swine " 9,G2R
" sheep " 17,527

Total value of livestock $509,571

Pounds r)f wool shi-ared in preceding year 50,855

liusliels of wheat harvested " " 149,182
" rye " " " 5,731
" Indian corn" " " 161,105

oats " " " 90,123
•• barley " " " 4,146
" buckwheat " " " 5,963
" j)Otat()es raiseil " " 59,780

Value of orchard products " ** $7,005

Tone of hay cut " " 16,352

Pounds of butter made " " 459,271
eheeeo •' " " 32,463

" maple-sugar made " " 329,273

1864.

Number of acres improved in the county 67,007
'* sheep over six months old 40,103

Pounds of wool sheared in preceding year 125,931

Acres of wheat harvested *' •* 14,654

Bushels " " " " 98,903
" corn " " " 169,472
•' all other grains harvested in preceding year... 117,480
" potatoes raised in preceding year 60,942

Tons of hay cut " " 21,145

l'oun<ls of pork marketed " " 459,900

butter made " " 382.146
" ,:heesc " " " 23,568
" maple'-sugar made '* " 174,183

1870.

Number of acres improved in county ll.'!,578

Value of farms $9,248,012
" all live stock $1,321,970

Number of sheep kept 44.S95
Pounds of wool shorn 196,444
Number of milch cows 6,020
Pounds of butter made in the preceding year 796.970
Bushels of wheat harvested " " 499,(130

' Indian corn " " " 274,606
" oats " " " 285.419
" barley " " " 17.871
" buckwheat " " " 8,603
" |)otatocs raised " " 227,140

Tons of hay cut in the preceding year 29,.'<69

Pounds of maple-sugar made (1870) 78,500

1874.

Total acres of improved land 144,568
Number of farms 3,290
Average area of farms (acres) 83i
Number of nent cattle kept 22,476

** swine over six months old 10,7n5

Pounds of i^ork marketed in preceding year l,04tt.847

Number of sheep kept in c(mnty 43,064

Number of shceji sheared in preceding year 43,3(2
Pounds of wool " " " 175,909

Acres of wheat harvesietl " " 36,979
Bushels of •' '• " " 565,552

Acres of corn ** " " 13,S27

Bushels of corn " " " 490,207
" all other grains " " 449,423
" potalois raised " " 90,390

Tons of hay cut jireceding year 28,106

Pounds of butler made preceding j'car 811,826

cheese " " " 21,916
" maple-sugar made in 1874 175,640

Bushels of apples raised in preceding year 105,205
" peaches " ** " 78
" pears " " " 485
" plums " " " 93
" cherries " " " 1,324

Tons of gra|)es " " " 43

Total value of fruits raised in preceding year $58,782

Total acres devoted to fruits in 1874 0,932

The agricultural report published by the Secretary of

State for 1877 shows the number of bushcl.s of wheat

raised ia that year in the several townships of Clinton

County to have been as follows :

Bath 63,590

Bengal 96,715

Bingham 62,610

Dallas 94,247

De Witt 81,485

Duplain 53,852

Eagle f''.>.94l

Ksscx 85,983

(ircenbush 60,092

Lebanon 79,149

Olive 68,029

Ovid 79,214

Itiley 61,747

Victor 54,457

Walcrtown 104,445

Westphalia 84,874

Total bushels raised in county 1,200,433

Total number of acres harvested 50,223

Average yield of bushels per acre 23.09

Agricultural .statistics—gathered frnni the name source

as the above—for the year 1878 show the follnwiiig yield

of wheat in the scvend townships of Clinton County, vie.

:

Hath township, from '1~U(\ acres produced .'itlOlti bushels,

an average of 'M.'.VA btishcls per acre; Bengal, from 4117

acres 93,!)0{) bu.shels, average 22,81 ;
Binghnni, from 1027

acres it.'), (ill 1 bu.shels, average 2l{.7f> ; Oallus, from Ili'.Mi acres

101,lti;i bnsbeis, average 21.71 ; De Witt, from :'.!) Ill acres

!)7,27H bushel.", average 24.82 ; Duplain, from 22:13 acres

Wl;l\:\ bushels, average 2:i.;i8 ; Kaglc, from •152:1 acres

1I)4,II8U bushels, average 28.21 ;
Essex, I'rom 4727 acres
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102,918 bushels, average 21.77; Greenbush, from 3329

acres 75,502 bushels, average 22.68 ; Lebaaon, from 3587

acres 79,579 bushels, average 22.19; Olive, from 3723

acres 86,99-i bushels, average 23.37 ; Ovid, from 4131

acres 106,862 bushels, average 25.87; Riley, from 3456

acres 81,608 bushels, average 23.61; Victor, from 3454

acres 82,414 bushels, average 23.86; Watertown, from

4825 acres 124,783 bushels, average 25.86; Westphalia,

from 3779 acres 86,492 bushels, average 22.89. Total

yield of the county, from 61,282 acres, 1,429,159 bushels,

an average yield of 23.32 bushels per acre.

In the same year the county produced 1,100,535 bushels

of corn, from 18,357 acres; 396,356 bushels of oats, from

13,184 acres; 9788 bushels clover-seed, from 6600 acres;

16,029 bushels barley, from 861 J acres; 144,895 bushels

potatoes, from 1738 acres; 31,093 tons of hay, from

28,843 acres. The greatest amount of hay raised in any

one township was produced by De Witt, the greatest

amount of potatoes by Bingham, and the most clover-seed

and barley by the township of Ovid.

The total number of pounds of wool shorn in the county

in 1878, as shown by the returns, was 267,236, from

52,799 sheep, the product of the several townships being

as follows : Bath, 20,747 pounds of wool, from 3934 sheep
;

Bengal, 13,026 pounds of wool, from 2683 sheep; Bing-

ham, 11,865 pounds of wool, from 2401 sheep; Dallas,

17,614 pounds of wool, from 3930 sheep ; De Witt, 20,621

pounds of wool, from 4106 sheep; Duplain, 7363 pounds

of wool, from 1529 sheep; Eagle, 12,755 pounds of wool,

from 2534 sheep ; Esses, 2146 pounds of wool, from 3901

sheep; Greenbush, 15,588 pounds of wool, from 2872

sheep; Lebanon, 21,135 pounds of wool, from 4167 sheep;

Olive, 14,006 pounds of wool, from 2894 sheep ; Ovid,

18,288 pounds of wool, from 3501 sheep; Riley, 16,478

pounds of wool, from 3309 sheep ; Victor, 23,745 pounds

of wool, from 4350 sheep; Watertown, 20,719 pounds of

wool, from 3934 sheep; Westphalia, 11,826 pounds of

wool, from 2754 sheep.

It is to he regretted that no statistics of the agriculture

of the county for the present year can be given, as at this

time (July, 1880) no returns of the census just completed

have been made.

MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES.

Clinton, though almost exclusively an agricultural county,

contains a number of manufacturing establishments, some

of which are quite extensive. These are located principally

in St. Johns and Ovid, and will be found mentioned more

particularly in the histories of those villages. The general

manufacturing statistics of the county, however, as shown

by the several United States and State censuses from 1850

to 1874, inclusive, are here given, as follows:

FOR THE YEAR 1S50,

Number of flouring-niills reported 2
Capital invested in flouring-mills $7,000
Barrels of tiour manufactured in preceding year 7,000
Value of flour manufactured *' ** .'jS.'ijOOO

Number of saw- mil Is 6
Capital invested in lumber manufacture $10,000
Annual product of lumber (fi'et) 1,530,000
Value of product $0,010
Aggregate amount of capital invested iu all kinds of

manufactures (flour-mills and saw-mills included) $21,176

Number of hands employed in all manufactures 28
Aggregate value of annual product of all kinds of man-

ufactures in the county $58,900

aS54.

Number of flouring-mills reported 1

Capital invested in flouring-mills $7,000
Barrels of flour made in the preceding year 1,500
Value of flour manufactured $12,000
Number of saw-mills operated in the county 8

" feet of lumber sawed in preceding year 1,572,000
Value of product , $13,700
Amount of capital invested in lumber manufacture $15,800
Number of hands employed 23

1864.

Number of flour-mills reported (steam, 4; water, 3) 7
" runs of stones 15

Amount of capital invested in flouring-mills $29,900
Barrels of flour made in the preceding vear 5,450
Value •' " " '" $26,000
Number of persons employed in flour-mills 12

** saw-mills operated in the county (steam, 6;
water, 4) 10

Capital invested in lumber manufacture $18,fi00

Feet of lumber sawed in the preceding year 1,247,000
Value " " ** " $25,820
Number of hands employed in lumber manufacture 23
Number of manufactories other than saw-mills and

flour-mills 3

Number of person? employed in same 64
Amount of capital invested " $31,000

Value of products of same in preceding year $64,480

1874.

Number of flouring-mills in county (steam, 5 ; water, 6) 11
" runs of stones in operation 25

Barrels of flour made in preceding year 28,480

Value " " " " $220,034
Capital invested in flouring-mills $70,000
Number of persons employed 26

" saw-mills in the county (steam, 17; water, 3) 20

Feet of lumber sawed in preceding year 8,919,000

Value " " " " $114,.300

Capital invested in lumber manufacture $62,400
Persons employed in " 86

Number of wood-working* manufactories 3

Capital invested in same $8,800
Number of persons employed 12

Value of product in preceding year .'. $10,500
Number of iron-workingf manufactories 2

Capital invested in same $7,500
Value of product in preceding year $6,000
Number of persons employed 5

Number of agricultural-implement works 3

Capital invested in such works $12,000
Value of product in preceding year $18,800

Number of persons employed 13
*' carriage- and sleigh-manufactories 4

Capital invested in same $18,000

Value of product in preceding year $26,980

Numberof hands employed 28
** furniture- and chair-manufactories 2

Capital invested in same $76,200

Value of product in preceding year $50,461

Numberof hands employed 48
'* pump- manufactories 1

Capital invested in same $6,000
Value of product in preceding year , $2,800

Numberof hands employed 4
'* stave- and heading-factories 2

Capital invested in same $25,000

Value of product in preceding year $1 10,000

Number of persons employed 52
** barrel-, keg-, tub-, and pail-factories 2

Capital invested in same $1,200

Value of product in preceding year $1,900

Number of persons employed 3
•* wooden -ware manufactories 2

Capital invested in same $7,000

Value of i)roduct in preceding year $7,947

Number of hands employed 10
" saddle-, harness-, and trunk-factories re-

ported 1

Capital invested in same $3,000

Value of product in preceding year $7,000

* Including in this class planing- and turning-mills, and sasb-,

door-, blind-, and hub- and spoke-factories.

I Foundries, machine-shops, and boiler-shops included in this class.
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Number of hands employed 4
" brcvvuries reported in county 3

Cnpitiil invested in same $7,000

Value of product in preceding year $11,016

Number of persons employed 7
•' brick- and tile-manufactories 1

Capital invested in same S600
Value of product in preceding year $1,000

Number of marble- and cut-stone works 1

Capital invested in same $8,000

Value of j)roduct in jireceding year $8,000

Numb(-r of bnnds employed 18

Whole number of luanufacturing establishments reported

in Clinton County in 1S73 60

Whole number of persons employed in same 32.1

" auiount of capita! invested " ** $315,700

Total value of product in 1873 $599,709

POPULATION.

The population of Clinton County in 1837 was shown

by the census of that year to be five hundred and twenty-

nine, and in 1840 it had increased to sixteen hundred and

fourteen. The censuses taken at subsequent periods show

the population of the county and of its several town.ships

to have been as given below for the years indicated, viz.

:

18-15.

Bath 151

Hengal 49
Bin;;haui 72

Dallas 108

l)e Witt 418
Dupliiin 213
Kaglc 364
Ksse.x 193

Grecnbush 105

Lebution 114

Olive 159

Ovid 102

Riley 134
Victor 229
Waterlown .... 198

Westphalia.... 401

1850.

222
143
185
185

706
419
521
410
318
192

228
172
191

277
315
618

1854.

283
350
336
476
885
559
657
833
518
389
316
276
400
403
442
803

1800.

577
638

1,460
910

1,1.39

915
912

1,013

967
661

627
936
607
662
808

1,091

18G4.

025
706

1,794

932
1,085

997
844

1,056

1,071

645
605

1,171

641

562
910

l,(r95

1870.

1,125

1,086

2,910

1,360

1,306

1,493

1,008

1,501

1,486

1,119

1,156

2,420

1,139

940

1,297

1,499

1874.

1,205

1,200

2,963

1,519

1,410

1,567

985
1,513

1,473

1,129

1,168

2,553

1,163
968

1,298

1,548

Total 3,000 5,102 7,926 13,923 14,739 22,845 23,661

CHAPTER L.

THE VILLAGE OF ST. JOHNS.

Situation and Natural Advantages—-Settlement and Progress of the

Village—Village Plat and Atlditions—Progress in 1856 and 1867

—

Village Incorporation nnd List of Officers—Churches—St. Johns

Union Schools— Post-Office—Societies and Orders—Cemetery As-

sociation—Banks—Manufacturing Industries—St. Johns Fire De-

partment— Mcinorablo Fires—Public and Private Buildings.

The incorporated village of St. Johns, the county-seat

of Clinton County, is situated within the boundaries of the

township of Bingham, the southeast corner of the corporate

limits being the territorial centre of that township. The

village occupies an elevated and excellent site, and is justly

regarded as one of the handsomest villages in Central iMicii-

igan. The main portion of the town lies upon a ridge

which slopes gradually and gracefully upon ail sides, and

from which the eye may sweep through an exieiided and

picturesque view towards all points df ilie compass. The

altitude of the town is seven hundred and fifty-five I'cet

above sea-level, one hundred and sevenly-.sevi^n feet above

liakc Iluriin, and thirty-one i'eet above the village ol' Ovid,

*By David Schwartz.

ten miles to the eastward, while tow<irds the west there

is a general gradual decline to the Grand Iliver.

Early in its history St. Johns was regarded as an un-

healthy locality, by reason of the swamps which lie around

it ; but these having been made fruitful garden-spots, it is

maintained, and with an excellent show of truth, that there

is now no healthier spot in Michigan than St. Johns. The

streets are handsomely laid out and well shaded ; and

among the numerous handsome and comfortable-looking

homes of the village, there are many which are especially

noticeable for elegance and refined taste in their architec-

ture.

To the advantage of being the county-scat the village

owes, of course, much of its business activity and enter-

prise ; but, aside from that, it gains much prominence as an

important manufacturing and railway shipping-point. It

contains (in July, 1880) a population of upwards of two

thousand five hundred. Taking the growth of recent years

as a basis, the village is likely to continue in the expansion

of its business and population in the future as in the past.

SETTLEMENT AND PROGRESS OF THE VILLAGE.

Late in the year 1853, while the Detroit and Milwaukee

Railway was being slowly extended westward from Detroit,

a party of four State officials at Lansing examined the line

of the proposed railway with a view to making purchases

of eligible lands for village-sites or other profitable enter-

prises. These four officials were John Swegles, Auditor-

General ;
Porter Kibby, Commissioner of the Land-OfiBce

;

B. C. Whilteniore, State Treasurer ; and H. S. Mead, Dep-

uty Attorney-General. They were in a position to know

something about choice tracts of land in Michigan, and they

delegated to John Swegles the task of securing a tract on

the Detroit and Milwaukee line likely to become a railway-

station and village-site. Robert Higham, chief engineer

of the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad, who had the fixing

of sites for railway-stations, was taken into the party as a

measure of policy, and Charles L. Dibble, landlord of the

" Biddlc House" of Detroit, was admitted as a sixth part-

ner, on the ground, probably, that ho was a good follow and

kept a good hotel.

Mr. Swegles was to buy the land and transact the general

business connected with the land-purchases and propo.sed

subsetiuent operations, and was ajipointed attorney-in-fact

for each member of the company, lie got a pretty clear

idea from Higham that the railway would fix a station at

the point now covered by St. Johns, and he at once went

to that locality to buy land. His first purcha.se was eighty

acres in the west half of the southwest quarter of section

9, of George W. Estes, representing the owners. At that

lime but one acre on that eighty had been chop|)ed. He

bought immediately afterwards land enough to make his

entire purchase aggregate nine hundred and twenty acres,

and to include (he south half of section 'J and allot' section

IG, except the southwest quarter of the southwest quarter.

The land having been purchased and the site of the vil-

lage being cho.son, Mr. Swegles at once set about the work

of surveying and cleariTig streets and lots. He bniught out

a gang of chojipers and other laborers, and engaged George

W. Estes to take charge of them, and to superintend the job
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of making a commencemeDt for a town. This was early in

1854, and the business in hand was taken hold of with an

energy that betokened prompt results. Mr. Swegles him-

self joined the band of workers, and pushed matters ahead

with great rapidity. The village-site was nearly ail woods

then, and the work of chopping was of course the first to

be done. As soon as possible Mr. Swegles built a steam

saw-mill, and in the winter of 1854-55 had it in motion.

The first frame house put up in the village was built by

Cornelius Vrooman before Swegles put up his saw-mill.

Vrooman hired John Avery to haul the lumber from the

Colony. The house stood just back of where the " Gibbs

House" stands, and was put up by guess, as the town had

then not been surveyed. Vrooman boarded the surveyors

and laborers, and called his place the " Whittemore House."

About the time Mr. Swegles began to clear the land

comprising the village-site Samuel Gardner, an early settler

in Bingham township and fur years the landlord of a tavern

in Bingham on the Bengal town-line, came on and bought

a lot upon what is now the extreme northern corner of

Clinton Avenue on the east side. He ([uickly put up a

board building for a tavern, and called it the " Gardner

House," but had kept only a short time when he leased it

to George W. Estes, who changed the name to that of the

" Clinton House." John Swegles built a store building on

Clinton Avenue just north of where the " Gibbs House"

stands. He put in a good stock of general merchandise, and

hired George F. Mead and George W. Estes as his clerks.

Thus the embryo village was started in the summer of

1854, with a hotel, a store, and a saw-mill as a commence--

ment. The railway was pushing westward, and Swegles'

village was beginning to attract attention. It was high

time, therefore, that it should be dignified with a name,

since it gave gratifying signs of healthy growth, and so in

due season it was christened.

There appears to be some conflict of testimony touching

the identity of the person to whom the honor of having

named the village was due. Both George W. Estes and

Elder C. A. Lamb claim that honor, but both unite in say-

ing the name was bestowed in honor of John Swegles, the

projector and creator of the place. Mr. Estes says that in

the summer of 1854, John Swegles, David Sturgis, M. E.

Burroughs, C. A. Lamb, and Estes himself (then super-

visor of the township) were one day sitting upon a log in

Walker Street (Clinton Avenue contained at that time a

good many standing trees), when the question of naming

the village came up. Swegles, desirous of honoring his

business associates, suggested Whittemoreville and Mead-

ville, while Sturgis put forth Swcglesville. Estes thought

the most eminently appropriate designation would be St.

Johns, as a mark of honor to John Swegles. ' The idea

seemed to suit the others, and they with one accord assented

to it. Swegles said he would submit the proposition at the

next meeting of the company, and so the conference euded.

Mr. Estes goes on to say that before the next meeting of

the company John T. Newell came in with goods for the

opening of a store, and that his boxes were marked " St.

Johns," thus showing that the name had already gone

abroad. Estes took the cover from one of Newell's boxes

and nailed it against a tree, with the name St. Johns show-

ing in bold relief. It was therefore already practically

settled as to the name, although the company did not

formally adopt the designation until some time afterwards.

Elder Lamb says that at the conference about a name

only he, Swegles, Sturgis, and Mead were present, and that

after the names of Richmond, Swcglesville, and Johnsville

were proposed, he (Lamb) said, " Call it St. Johns." Mr.

Swegles replied, " For some reasons I should be in favor

of St. Johns," adding, " Amen, St. Johns let it be."

JOHN SWEGLES.

In this connection it will be appropriate to note the facts

that John Swegles was born in Hector, N. Y., April 10,

1819; commenced the study of medicine at the age of

eighteen, and abandoned it to become purser's clerk on the

brig " Porpoise" of the Atlantic Coast Survey
;
was later a

school-teacher, and in 1840 removed to Jonesville, Mich.

He was chosen clerk of Hillsdale County, and .served sev-

eral terms ; became editor and publisher of the llUlsJale

Gazette, and in 1850 was elected auditor-general.

Allusion to the " company" suggests the explanation

that such was the collective title by which the association

of the village proprietors was by common consent known.

There was no incorporation, but there was a community of

property, and it was further agreed that each owner should

bear his proportionate share of expenses and receive like-

wise his due share of the gains. At the outset there were

six proprietors, and each owned one-sixth of the property

purchased. To John Swegles was left the exclusive con-

trol and management of affairs, and at stated periods the

proprietors met in Detroit to receive reports and review the

progress of the business.

Reference has already been made to the coming in of John

T. Newell with a stock of goods. Newell was the second

trader in the town (Swegles being the first), and opened

his store in a frame building that stood on Clinton Avenue

just .south of " Kipp's Corner." M. E. Burroughs, who
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previously lived near De Witt, came in about that time, and

put up a log house on the lot now occupied by tho post-

office. He started it as a meat-market, and presently

John Hicks, of De Witt, sent liim a few hundred dollars'

worth of goods, with which Burroughs opened a store in

a corner of his market. Olncy Brown opened a store late

in 1854 on Clinton Avenue south of Walker Street, and

one J. C. Sewell opened a saloon on " Bagg's Corner"

at about the same time.

There was but a small community living at St. -Johns

on the 4th of July, 1854, but it wa.s nevertheless resolved

to have an " Independence" celebration. The exercises,

which included music, " bowery dances," speeches, and a

dinner, took place in a grove then occupying a place upon

which the Gibbs House barn stands. Hilliker, of Green-

bush, a clarionet-player, Wilcox, a fifer, his son, a drum-

mer, and a man with a violin furnished the soul-stirring

music on the occasion, while James W. Ransom, a lawyer,

delivered the oration. The dinner was, however, a failure,

although the remainder of the day's celebration proved a

satisfactory success. Just as the company sat down to the

table there came up a terrific rain-storm, and away went the

assembled company, pell-mell, for shelter, leaving their

dinner, and ending abruptly the performances of the waning

Fourth. The celebration in 1855 included a dinner at

Gibbs' Railroad Exchange and a general happy time at the

grove, where the oration was delivered by H. C. Hodge.

The Gardner House has already been mentioned, as ha?

the fact of its change of name and proprietorship. Estes

J.
kept it until 1856, and then turned it over to a Mr. Mc-

Omber. It was not much of a tavern, according to reports,

but it doubtless served its purpose. John Hicks says he

took dinner there in 1856, and remembers that rain was

falling inside as well as outside, and that the guests at din-

ner had to move from place to place to avoid the rain-drops

as they came freely and copiously into the dining-room.

Early in 1855, Spencer W. Gibbs came to St. Johns for

the purpose of building a hotel, and, buying four lots, put

up the "Railroad Exchange," which he opened July 1,

1 855. A year after that he sold out to David Sturgis and

William L. Hicks, who changed the name of the house to

the " St. Johns Hou.se," and that name it still beais.

When Gibbs came to town with his family, early in 1855,

he occupied with Jacob Pas.snge a part of the house of Dr.

D. C. Stewart, who was then living on Walker Street, in a.

building now used as his barn. Clinton Avenue was then

chopped out, but it was full of stumps and fallen trees,

while standing trees even were plentiful.

At this time the west side of Clinton Avenue contained

the store of Olney Brown, the corner whisky-shop of J. C.

Sewell, a slab .shanty in which A. F. Cowell was living,

upon the lot now occupied by his store, and Marshall Wil-

cox'.s tin-shop. A. F. Cowell opened a store in 1S5G u]icin

the same site, and, with the exccpti<in of three years, has

been in trade there ever since. On the cast side of the street

was Swegles' store, and in that store was a shoemaker by

the name of Kinch, who had his shop and lived in a por-

tion of the Store building. Next south of Swegles' Corne-

lius Vrooman was keeping a boarding-hou.sc known as the

Whittemore House, now the Gibbs House. Newell, the

storekeeper, Blakcslee, the painter, and Deming, the shoe-

maker, were on that side, as was the (Jlinton House, while

east, on Walker Street, was Burroughs, the butcher. Of
those then residents upon the site now occupied by the

village of St. Johns, the only ones now living in the town

are George W. Estes and wife, A. F. Cowell and wife, S.

W. Gibbs and wife. Dr. D. C. Stewart and wife, Mr. and

Mrs. Henry Fitch, the widow of Lorenzo Hall, the widow

of John Swegles, and (Jeorge W. Emmons. Mr. Emmons
was the first white inhabitant of the present village tract,

and lives now wliere he located in 1845, although he did

not make a permanent settlement thereon until 1852.

The first child born in the village was Charles Cobb's

daughter. Her birth occurred in the summer of 1855,

but the exact date cannot now be given. She died the fol-

lowing year. The first male child born was George A.,

son of George W. Estes, born Oct. 28, 1855. The first

death of a resident was that of Mrs. Kinch, wife of the

village shoemaker, in May, 1855. She was buried in the

village cemetery, which had been donated by the village

proprietors, and hers was the first interment within it.

Before May, 1855, there was a death in the village, that

of Thomas Long, a railway employee, who in an altercation

with a fellow-laborer, about four miles west of St. Johns,

was mortally hurt. He was brought to the village, where

he died, but his body was conveyed eastward for burial.

The first man buried in the cemetery was Joseph McKinney,

a railroad hand, and over him was erected the first head-

stone put up in the burying-ground. It bears date July

17, 1857.

During the fiill of 1854 the new village received its first

physician. Dr. D. C. Stewart, who has since that time re-

sided continuously in St. Johns. A Dr. Darrall, who was

living about two miles ^outh of the village when Dr. Stewart

located, came to the town in about six weeks thereafter,

and next to him, as the third physician of the village, came

Dr. Louis W. Fas((ucllo, still one of the village praeliiion-

ers. Timothy Baker and James \V. Ran.som, lawyers, came

in and opened oflices, and in that same year John Crawley

and Hiram Herrington began in business a.s blacksmiths.

In January, 1855, James Stiles came over from Greenbush

and made his home upon the corner of Walker and Spring

Streets, where Alonzo I'lumstcad now lives, and eommonced

the manufacture of splint-botlonied chairs. In September,

1855, (jeorge W. Stephen.son opened a tailor's shop on

Clinton Avenue, just south of what is now known as Kipp's

Corner, and there built Cliritdii Hall, where schools, Sunday-

schools, and public a.s.seniblies were held at an early day.

In 1855 there was n change in the list of village pro-

prietors. Mead sold out to Swegles and N. 1*. Stewart,

and the latter becoming possessed also of Kibby's and

Swcfiles' interests, resold a portion to Orvillc and Asalicl

Clark. These changes vested the proprietorship of the

village in N. P. Stewart, H. C. Whittemore, Charles I,.

Dibble, Robert Higham, Orville Clark, and A.sahel Clark.

John Swegles continued, however, as heretofore, to be the
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attorney-in-fact for the proprietors, and to conduct their

business interests in the premises.

In 1855, David Sturgis, of De Witt, entered the trade

at St. Johns, and two drug-stores were started, by Dr. Stone

and Dr. J. E. Leach, respectively.

Of the business men in St. Johns at that period, 1855,

the only one now in trade is G. W. Stephenson. He has

carried on business uninterruptedly here since he started,

in September, 1855, and is accordingly its oldest merchant.

VILLAGE PLAT AND ADDITIONS.

The village was platted March 25, 1856. The document,

on file at the county register's office, reads as follows

:

" Know all men by these presents that we. Nelson P.

Stewart, Mary Ann Stewart, B. C. Whittemore, Caroline

Whittemore, Charles L. Dibble, Sarah I. Dibble, Kobert

Higham, Elvira Higham, Orville Clark, Delia M. Clark,

and Asahel Clark, do by these presents set apart and estab-

lish the following-described premises for a village, to bo

known and designated as the village of St. Johns, to wit:

that part of the south half of section 9, and that part of

the north half of section 16, in town 7 north, range 2 west,

in the county of Clinton and State of Michigan, com-

mencing on the section-line two hundred and seventy-seven

feet east from the section corners of sections 8, 9, 1 6, and

17 in said township, at which point State Street intersects

the west line of Ottawa Street ; running thence south along

the west line of Ottawa Street twelve hundred and twenty-

seven feet to a point where said west line of Ottawa Street

intersects the south line of Baldwin Street ; thence east,

and parallel with the section-line between sections 9 and 16,

for a distance of two thousand eight hundred and twenty-

two feet and six inches to the point where the south line

of Baldwin Street intersects the east line of East Street

;

thence north along the east line of East Street to a point

where the east line of East Street intersects the north line

of Railroad Street, one hundred feet south from the centre

line of the Detroit and Milwaukee Railway ; thence west

parallel with the centre line of said railway, and one hun-

dred feet therefrom, to the point where the north line of

Railroad Street intersects the west line of Ottawa Street

.

thence south along the west line of Ottawa Street to the

place of beginning. In witness whereof we have hereunto

set our hands and seals this 25th day of March, 1856, by
John Swegles, our attorney-in-fact.

(Signed) " Nelson P. Stewart.
" Mary Ann Stewart.
" B. C. Whittemore.
" Caroline Whittemore.
" Charles L. Dibble.
" Sarah I. Dibble.
" Robert Higham.
" Elvira Higham.
" Orville Clark.

"Delia M. Clark.
" Asahel Clark.

"By John Swegles, their att&rney-in-fuct.

" In the prei-ence of

" Timothy Baker.
" George F. Mead."

Additions to the village plat have been made from time

to time, as follows

:

May 5, 1857, George W. Emmons' addition, known as

Emmonsville, and commencing at the corners of sections 8,

9, 16, and 17, running thence west to the quarter-section

stake between sections. 8 and 17 ; thence south along the

quarter-section line of section 17 for a distance of ninety-

seven rods ; thence east, and parallel with the section-line

between sections 8 and 17, to the section-line between sec-

tions 16 and 17; thence north along said section-line be-

tween sections 16 and 17 to the place of beginning. June

16, 1857, Clark and Bolton's subdivision of out-lots Nos.

10, 11, 12, and 13; June 2, 1858, Francis Lynd's addi-

tion ; June 15, 1866, G. J. Gibbs' addition ; May 14,

1866, De Witt C. Hurd and William Sickles' subdivision

of out-lots G and H ; March 28, 1865, A. H. Walker's

subdivision of out-lot B; April 1, 1870, Walker &
Steel's subdivision of lands north of the Detroit and Mil-

waukee Railroad, in the village of St. Johns, by A. H.

Walker, R. M. Steel, S. W. Gibbs, and H. W. Carrington

;

Nov. 26, 1870, P. L. Vancousant's addition ; Feb. 10,

1871, Henry M. Perrin's addition.

PROGKESS IN 185G AND 1857.

The year 1856 saw considerable accessions to the village,

and matters began to look up with a show of something

like vigorous life. In the spring of that year J. H. Cor-

bit, now the hardware merchant of longest standing and

virtually the pioneer in that trade in the county, purchased

Marshall Wilcox's tin-shop business and became one of the

village merchants. In September, 1856, Mr. Corbit took

in William H. Moote as a partner. During the year

Charles Kipp opened a hardware-store, and since that date

has followed that business in St. Johns continuously. He
commenced business at the Rochester Colony in 1852, with

J. W. Paine. A. F. Cowell opened a small store. Lucas

& Wilson located at the corner of Walker Street and Clin-

ton Avenue, and Bliss & Walton established a blacksmith-

and wagon-shop, their wagon-maker being Arthur Catter-

mold. In 1856 the first village school was taught.

At that time Clinton Avenue was still thickly studded

with stumps, and mosquitoes were so exceedingly plentiful

that stump-fires on the avenue to drive away the pests were

nightly spectacles in summer. Store-keepers of 1856, other

than those mentioned, were Joshua Garte, W. W. Flagler,

J. F. Newton, M. E. Palmer, and Mrs. David Sturgis.

Although St. Johns had been making quite rapid strides

forward during 1855 and 1856, it was not until 1857 that

the movement reached a height that crowded into the space

of a twelvemonth the most important events in the history

of the village, and brought a great increase in population

as well as business.

One of the leading events was the completion in Janu-

ary of the laying of the track of the Detroit and Mil-

waukee Railway to St. Johns and the arrival, upon the

16th of that month, of the first passenger-train. R. M.

Steel, now an eminent railway contractor living in St.

Johns, took in 1856 a contract to lay the track and bridges

over the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad between Owosso

and Grand Haven, and in 1860 became a resident of St.
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Johns. In tlii.s year the county-seat of Clinton was re-

moved from De Witt to St. Johns, and that incident ^ave,

of course, a great impetus to tlie progress of tlie village,

and, with the opening of railway communication, gave

assurance of future prosperity to St. Johns.

In 18.57 a village school-house was built upon the lot

now occupied by the Episcopal church. This lot, as well

as lots for two churches, ground for a cemetery, and ample

space for railway-depots, etc., had already been set aside

for such purposes by the village proprietors when the plat

was made. Early in 1857, Alvah H. Walker, who became

shortly afterwards a resident of St. Johns and one of its

prominent merchants, was the actual owner of five-twelfths

of the village and possessed the titles to seven-twelfths,

while the residue was owned by Elvira Higham, C. L.

Dibble, Orville Clark, and Asahel Clark. In 18,57, John

Swegles built a grist-mill with two run of stones at the

corner of Higham and Spring Streets. In 1858 it was

burned and directly afterwards replaced with the mill now

carried on at the same place by Wood & Son. In 1857,

John Swegles rebuilt the Prospect House, called it the

American, and kept it until his death in 1861. The

Prospect House was built in 1850 by Lorenzo Hall, and

occupied the east side of Oakland Street just north of

Walker Street. The building was destroyed by fire in

1863. In 1857, John Hicks, of De Witt, engaged in

business with David Sturgis, and 0. W. Munger began to

trade on the lot now occupied by Dunn & Lee. Mr. Hicks

is yet in business. Mr. Munger is a retired merchant, but

still lives in the village. In 1857, Wilbur Ash had a

carpenter-shop in the building now occupied by the Ameri-

can Express Company, and in the same building in the

same year James W. Hungerford opened the pioneer cabi-

net-shop. Alonzo Plumstead built in 1857, at the corner

of Walker Street and Clinton Avenue, what was then the

best store in St. Johns; John Ransom started a news-

paper called the North-Side Democrat ; Archelaus Silsbee

started a foundry, H. C. Hodge a bank, W. W. Brainard

a carpenter's- and builder's-shop in Swegles' saw-mill, and,

lastly, the village was incorporated by the county super-

visors, Sept. 2, 1857.

In 1858, John W. Paine opened a general store, and

Hunt Bros, a drug-store. Paine built in 1860 the first

brick store, now occupied by A. Teachout, who commenced

to trade in the village in 185!). Dr. A. M. Crawford built

the first brick house. It stood where l{andol|ih Strickland

lives. The bricks were burned at the village by a Mr.

Higgins.

Directly upon the opening of railway transportation St.

Johns began to take on importance as a shipping-point.

The first car-load of wheat forwarded from the village by

rail was shipped by John Hicks in 1857 to George C.

Langdon at Detroit. Staves were purchased largely at St.

Johns for European markets, and in the early days of vil-

lage history the stave traffic rose to considerable niagnituile.

The business of the Detroit, Grand Haven and IMilwau-

kee Railway (formerly the Detroit and Milwaukee Kail-

road) at its station at St. Johns village in the year 1879*

was as follows :

» Hums furnished by the soorolary of tho company.

Number of passengers outwards
" " inwards
" tons of freight outwards
" " " inwards..

Receipts from outward passengers...
'• ** freight

1M1.3
1G,B82

4,922

$15,521.82

$38,519.41

DESCRIPTION OF FREIGHT FORWARDED.
Ajjplcs, barrels 197 Pork, pounds 96,204
Lumber, cars 121 Wool, " 63,596
Staves, cars 90 Brick and stone, tons. 50
Grain, pounds 27,7t.'i,915 Plaster, " . 1

Potatoes, " 158,550 Sundries, " . 3,185

St. Johns contains to-day at least eight merchants who
have done business continuou.sly in tho town for the space

of twenty years and upwards, ending with the present

year. There are, moreover, five professional gentlemen and

one manufacturer of whom a similar statement may be

made. Tiie merchants are George W. Stephen.son, John

Hicks, A. F. Cowell, Charles Kipp, A. O. Hunt, A. Teach-

out, P. L. Vancousant, and J. H. Corbit. The professional

men are O. L. Spaulding, H. M. Perrin, and Henry Wal-

bridge, lawyers, and Drs. Louis Fascjuelle and D. C. Stew-

art. The manufacturer is W. W. Brainard.

VILLAGE INCORPORATION AND LIST OF
OFFICERS.

The first step towards the incorporation of the village of

St. Johns was indicated in the following publication, viz.

:

" Notice is hereby given that the undersigned, legal voters

residing in the territory hereinafter described, will at the

next annual meeting of the Board of Supervisors of Clin-

ton County, to be held at De Witt on the first Monday of

October next, make application to the said board, on the

said day, for an order of incorporation of the following one

square mile as a village, to be described by boundaries as

follows

:

" Commencing at a point where the quarter-line of sec-

tion 9 intersects the section-line of 8 and 9 ; thence east

along said quarter lino to the point where said line inter-

sects the section-line of 9 and 10; thence south to the

south line of tho Detroit and Milwaukee Railway ; thence

west along the south line of said railway sixty-nine rods;

thence south to the quarter-line of section 16; thence west

along the quarter-line of sections 16 and 17 three hundred

and twenty rods; thence north to the south line of said

railway ; thence east along the said line of the said railway

to the section line of 8 and 9 ; thence north along the .said

l;t-t-mentioned line to the aforesaid quarter-line of section

9, the place of beginning, in the township of Bingham,

county of Clinton, and State of Michigan, to be known

and designated as the village of St. Johns.

" David Sturgis, S. W. Gibbs,

Henry Walbridge, William H. Moote,

Stephen J. Wright, J. T. Newell,

John Hicks, William L. Hicks,

George F. Mead, Charles Kipp,

(Jeorge W. Emmons, Williaui Weeks,

.). II. Corbit, Sheldon Munger,

A. M. Crawford, A. Plumstead,

J. E. Leach, William W. Flagler,

Joshua Garte, M. K. Palmer,

aiul thirty-one others.

"Dated Bingham, Sept. 2, 1857."
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The petition was presented to the Board of Supervisors,

and at a meeting held Oct. 15, 1857, an order of incor-

poration was entered, and John Swcgles, Charles Kipp, and

Alonzo Plumstcad appointed inspectors of an election to

be held on the first Tuesday in March, 1858, at Hicks'

Hotel, in the village of St. Johns.

The election was accordingly held on the 2d of March,

as provided. The oflBcers elected on that occasion were :

President, William H. Moote; Clerk, John Ransom; Treas-

urer, Alonzo Plumstead ;
Trustees, John Sweglcs, George

W. Stephenson, David Sturgis, George W. Emmons, Wil-

liam W. Flagler, and William L. Hicks ; Assessors, Marvin

E. Palmer, Ransom Plumstead ; Street Commissioners, S.

T. Hayward, Spencer W. Gibbs, John B. Lucas; Marshal,

George W. Estes ; Poundmastcr, Charles 0. Stiles.

At the fourth meeting of the board of trustees, April

17, 1858, by-laws and ordinances were adopted, and at the

meeting of April 24th the street commissioners were author-

ized to contract with Marvin E. Palmer for the grading

and filling of Clinton Avenue, at sixteen cents per yard.

Following is a list of the persons chosen annually to the

chief village offices of St. Johns from 1859 to 1880

;

1859.—President, W. W. Flagler; Clerk, John Ransom;

Treasurer, George W. Estes ; Trustees, Ransom

Plumstead, Archelaus Silsbee, James W. Hun-

gerford, W. L. Hicks, George W. Stephenson,

George W. Emraons.

1860.—President, Marvin E. Palmer; Clerk, R. V. Briggs;

Treasurer, Ransom Plumstead ;
Trustees, George ,

W. Stephenson, S. T. Hayward, John Hicks,

George W. Emmons, Charles Plumstead, Wil-

liam H. Moote.

1861.—President, William L. Hicks; Clerk, George F.

Mead; Treasurer, Hiram C. Hodge; Trustees,

W. W. Brainard, George W. Emmons, Jacob

Brown, Louis W. Fasquelle, Marvin E. Palmer,

Henry W. Walton.

1862.—President, R. M. Steel ; Clerk, George F. Mead

;

Treasurer, Hiram C. Hodge ; Trustees, M. E.

Palmer, Jacob Brown, Charles Plumstead, L.

W. Fasquelle, George W. Emmons, Joab

Baker.

1863.—President, G. W. Stephenson; Clerk, George F.

Mead ; Treasurer, Ransom Plumstead ; Trustees,

M. E. Palmer, John Hicks, J. W. Paine,

Thomas S. Congdon, George Worden, Celestin

Loranger.

1864.—President, Alonzo Plumstead ; Clerk, Charles

Plumstead ; Treasurer, Alpheus F. Cowell

;

Trustees, John H. Corbit, Thomas J. Urie, A.

G. Higham, Spencer W. Gibbs, Mina Boyd,

John Hicks.

1865.—President, Alonzo Plumstead ; Clerk, Charles

Plumstead ; Treasurer, Jacob Brown ; Trustees,

William L. Ilicks, Theodore W. Ferry, Arche-

laus Silsbee, Andrew J. Wiggins, Frederick

Wilkinson, George Worden.

1866.—President, Robert McFarlan ; Clerk, L, G. N. Ran-

dolph ; Treasurer, Samuel S. Walker ; Trustees,

A. H. Walker, E. D. Tripp, William W. Brain-

ard, William Sickels, Henry M. Perrin, James

AV. Reid.

1867.—President,* Thomas J. Urie ; Clerk, E. D. Tripp;

Treasurer, George W. Stephenson ; Trustees

(one year), Joseph H. Ingalls, Paul De Witt,

L. Z. Mungor (for two years), John Hicks,

Thomas S. Congdon, William S. Decker.

1868.— President, H. M. Perrin; Clerk, E. D. Tripp;

Treasurer, P. L. Vancousant ; Trustees, Henry

Walbridge, George W. Emmons, John C. Day-

ton.

1869. -President, Alvah H. Walker; Clerk, G. W. Wells;

Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson ; Trustees, Robert

IMcFarlan, Stephen J. Wright, Harvey W. Car-

rington.

1870.—President, A. H. Walker; Clerk, George A.

Wells ; Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson ; Trustees,

Richard Moore, John H. Corbit, John C. Day-

ton.

1871.—President, A. H. Walker; Clerk, George A. Wells;

Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson ; Trustees, H. M.

Lamphere, Henry S. Hilton, Charles Fowler.

1872.—President, James Kipp; Clerk, George A. Wells
;

Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson ; Trustees, L. C.

Kellogg, Warner Buiiday, Asher Teachout.

1873.—President, 0. W. Barker; Clerk, George A. Wells;

Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson ; Trustees, Charles

Fowler, A. J. Nelson, John D. Henderson, Jr.

1874.—President, Samuel S. Walker; Clerk, George A.

Wells ; Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson ; Trustees,

Thomas Padley, Warner Bunday, Harvey W.
Carrington.

1875.—President, Samuel S. Walker; Clerk, James H.

Collins; Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson; Trustees,

Charles Fowler, John D. Henderson, John M.

Easton.

1876.—President, Samuel S. Walker; Clerk, James H.

Collins ; Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson
;
Trustees,

Isaac Helton, Gilbert L. Goodyear, William

H. Hoffman.

1877.—President, D. S. French; Clerk, James H. Collins;

Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson ; Trustees, John

D. Henderson, Charles H. Eaton, E. L. Nichols.

1878.—President, D. S. French; Clerk, James H. Collins;

Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson ; Trustees, P. K.

Perrin, H. H. Hawley, Henry Fildew, Jr.

1879.—President, D. S. French; Clerk, J. H. Collins;

Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson ; Trustees, J. D.

Henderson, E. L. Nichols, Charles H. Eaton.

1880.—President, Charles Fowler; Clerk, James H. Col-

lins ; Treasurer, Charles E. Grisson ; Trustees,

A. L. Butler, Warner Bunday, Robert Young.

The votes cast at the first village election in 1858 num-

bered one hundred and sixty-six ; the number polled at the

election in 1880 reached five hundred and thirty-nine.

The Legislative act of incorporation, passed March 2,

1867, described the village territory as including the whole

of sections 9 and 16, the east half of section 17, the south-

^ Reincorporated by act of Legislature.

\
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east quarter and east three-quarters of the northeast quar-

ter of section 8, the northwest quarter of the northwest

quarter of section 21, and the east half of the northeast

quarter of section 20.

CHURCHES.

THE PIONEER RELIGIOCS ORO.ANIZATION—THE METII-

ODI.ST EPISCOPAL CLASS.

The first sermon preached in the village of St. Johns was

delivered in the autumn of 1855 at Gibbs' Railroad Ex-

change by Rev. J. S. Harder, then riding the circuit of Du-

plain as a Methodist Episcopal preacher. He came about

twice a month that year and a portion of the following

year, and during 1855 organized a class, of which the

original members were D. H. Warren, Caroline Warren,

Lovina Higgins, Henry Smith, Wilson Curtis, Ethan

Allen, Catherine Curtis, Michael Treece, and Mary Treece.

Early services were held at the Railroad Exchange, and

afterwards at Clinton Hall, on Clinton Avenue, above

Kipp's Corner. Of the first class the first leader was Ethan

Allen, who claimed to be a grandson of that old Ethan

Allen who captured Fort Ticonderoga.

In 1857, S. W. Gibbs was chosen class-leader, and in

the same year Revs. Brockway and Siierman were on the

work as the successors of Harder and Hill. The place of

worship was changed in 1857 to Pluiustead Hall, and from

there to the school-house and afterwards to the Baptist

church, which the Methodists occupied on alternate Sun-

days until the completion of their own church in 1863.

A Sunday-school partaking of the character of a union

Sabbath-school was organized by Mr. Harder before the

class was formed, and for a time the school had regular

weekly sessions in the Railroad Exchange. Early in 1857

there was a spirited revival and nineteen persons were

added to the membership, to wit: S. W. Gibbs, Clarinda

Gibbs, W. K. Homer, Esther Homer, Anna Hutchinson

and her daughter Anna, Pliilena Newton, Robert Shewin,

Susan Shewin, Charlotte Smith, Mary Urie, Siiarpnock

Urie, Eliza Hicks, John Halstoad, Elizabeth Halstead,

H. B. Bliss, Eleanor Bliss, E. M. Badgley, and Mary B.

Whitstone. Among the early pastors of the church wore

Revs. Harder, Hill, Brockway, Sherman, Otis, Cawlhorne,

Fox, Fowler, Wood, and Webb.

During 1863 the church society erected a hou.se of wor-

ship upon the lots originally set aside by the village pro-

prietors to the Episcopal Church Society. The E|iiseopa-

lians were, however, unable to pledge themselves to build a

church, and so the Methodists—agreeing to a similar prop-

osition—received the land as a donation, and Jan. 14,

1864, their house was dedicated, the dedicatory sermon

being preached by Dr. T. M. Eddy, of Chicago, editor of

the Christian Advocate. The churcli building is thirty-

nine by sixty-five feet in dimensions, and surmounted witii

a spire ninety feet in height from the ground. Its cost

was four thousand dollars. In 1864 tlie class membership

had risen to about fifty ; now it is one hundred and forty-

two. A. P. McCabe is class-leader; M. V. Brown, W. W.

Brainard, T. S. Congdon, A. Richardson, and P. C. Stuart,

trustees. The pastor is S. L. Hamilton. The Sunday-

schoiil is in charge of J. D. Pistes, superintendent, and a

47

corps of fifteen teachers. The average attendance is one

hundred and thirty-four, and the volumes in the library two

hundred.

THE FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

In 1857, Rev. William G. Smith, a Presbyterian mis-

sionary living at Hartwcllville, came to St. Johns and in

the house of James W. Ransom organized the First Pres-

byterian Church of St. Johns, with four members,—James

W. Ransom and John Ransom, his brother, with their

wives. The first members received after that were Levi

Brown and wife. A church society was formed May 31,

1858, by James W. Ransom, Levi Brown, 0. L. Spaulding,

William M. Snow, James Hayes, John Ransom, George

W. Estes, and S. T. Hayward. The trustees chosen were

James Kipp. H. S. Harrison, William M. Snow, James

Hayes, S. T. Hayward, and 0. L. Spaulding.

Services were held quite regularly in Plumstead Hall

until about 1800, when removals of members from town

and withdrawals to other churches weakened the society so

that before the close of the year it ceased to exist.

THE FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH.

The records of the First Baptist Cliurch of St. Johns,

dating from the beginning of the church's history up to a

comparatively recent date, were either lost or destroyed by

fire some time ago, and as evidence by oral testimony as to

the early days of the organization is exceedingly meagre,

this chronicle must needs be brief.

Baptist preaching was supplied in the townsliip as early

as 1849, and probably earlier. At all events, when Elder

C. A. Lamb, a Bajitist minister, came in that year from Oak-

land County to live in Bingham he held public worship in

the township. A church was organized by Elder John

Gundeman shortly after 1850, and in 1855 a church so-

ciety was incorporated, November 2d, with W. J. .^IcKay,

George W. Estes, William J. Bancroft, Charles Higgins,

H. S. Gibbons, and. J. O. Palmer as trustees. About that

time the present house of worship at St. Johns was built.

The first deacon of the church was Reuben S. Norris.

A union Sunday-school was organized in tlie village by

H. S. Gibbons and others even before the organization of

a church. The school-room was at first in tlie old blaek-

smiih-shop that served as a room for a day-school, and .soon

afterwards Clinton Hall was the place of meeting. The Bap-

tist Church and society have maintained an active existence

since their organrzalion. The church has now a fiouri.shing

membership of one hundred and eighteen. Tlie deacons

are J. 0. Palmer and George Morris. J. O. Palmer is

superintendent of the Sunday-school, which has an average

attendance of upwards of one linn<ln'd. Tlir church piLstor

is the Rev. J. W. Stone.

1'IR.ST CONUKEUATKiXAL CHlUCll.

The first entry upon the records of tlio First Congregn-

tioind Church of St. Johns is as follows :
" At a meeting of

prol'es.sed Cliristians, convened, pursuant to public notice, at

the school-house in the village of St. Johns on the first day

of April, 1860, to take into consideration the propriety

of organizing themselves into a Congregational Cliurch,

James Kipp was chosen niodcnilor and L. H. Pennington
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clerk. Rev. William P. Esler, a Congregationalist minister

of Eagle, was present and assisted in the exercises."

At tliat meeting the First Congregational Church was

organized, and the constitution, articles of faith, and cov-

enant subscribed to by James Kipp, S. H. Pennington,

Sarah A. Pennington, Henry Walbridgc, Charlotte E.

Willson, Charlotte Patch, Elizabeth A. Magoffin, and

Walter Norris. James Kipp and Walter Norris were

chosen deacons at the same meeting.

At a second meeting, held April 14th, further additions

to the membership were made in Asher Hathaway, Wil-

liam H. Norris, G. P. Mattoon, Horace M. Skinner, and

Harvey Lyon. Applications for membership were accepted

from Theodore Lyon, Harvey Lyon, Jr., James S. Skinner,

Daniel Webster, Elizabeth J. Lyon, Nancy L. Mattoon,

Nancy M. Mattoon, Susan Hinckley, Julia A. Skinner,

Amanda Webster, Sarah Ana Norris, Mahala Norris, Delia

E. Hathaway, Harvey Armstrong, Susan B. Armstrong,

and Eliza Armstrong. G. P. Mattoon was chosen deacon,

and Asher Hathaway, Horace M. Skinner, and William

H. Norris committeemen. Rev. William P. Esler was

chosen to be the church pastor for one year, and G. P. Mat-

toon, James Kipp, and H. Walbridge appointed to repre-

sent the church in the Genesee Association to be held at

Owosso, April 24, 1860. The first recorded celebration

of the Lord's Supper occurred April 29, 18G0, and the first

baptism—that of Daniel L. Kelley—on the same day.

A church society was organized Jan. 13, 18G2, and

Henry M. Penin, Asher Hathaway, George W. Barker,

Horace M. Skinner, Charles Kipp, and Henry Walbridge

chosen trustees. A church site donated by the village

company was exchanged for other lots, and upon the latter

a cl urch was built in the fall and winter of 1864.

The Rev. Jlr. Esler closed his labors as pastor in 1SG2,

and was succeeded by Rev. R. Apthorpe, who resigned in

January, 1867. Rev. George M. Tuthill succeeded him
in July, 1867, and on April 1, 1868, he presented the an-

nual report for 1867, showing a membership of seventy-

five and accessions during the year of six. Jlr. Tuthill

resigned his charge April 1, 1870, but continued to sup-

ply the pulpit most of the time until January, 1872, when
Rev. M. K. Pasco was engaged. He resigned in Novem-
ber, 1873, and was directly succeeded by Rev. L. F. Bickford,

who gave place in December, 1874, to Rev. S. Sessions, at

the close of whose service, in December, 1875, the mem-
bership of the church was one hundred and twelve. Rev.

C. Barstow was the pastor until 1877, when J. E. Rich-

ards, the present pastor, entered upon his labors.

The church membership June 1, 1880, was about one
hundred and fifty (two hundred and fifty-four having been
received since organization in 1860), and that of the Sun-
day-school one hundred and fifty. The trustees were B. D.
Palmer, Josiah Upton, A. Shafer, A. O. Hunt, William H.
Turner, and A. J. Baldwin ; the deacons, James Kipp,
Levi Brown, and B. D. Palmer. The Sabbath-school has

iburteen teachers and a library of two hundred volumes.

ST. JOHN".? (PROTESTANT El'ISCOlUL) CHURCH.

The first Protestant Episcopal services held in St. Johns
were conducted by Rev. John Bramwell, of Lansin", who

on the 21st of October, 1856, wrote to Timothy Baker, of

St. Johns, .saying that, if convenient, he would hold Epis-

copal services in the village on Wednesday, November 5th.

Mr. Bramwell accordingly came over and held the promised

services in the village school-house. After that Mr. Bram-

well made similar occasional visits to St. Johns, but how

many cannot be said.

The first step towards the actual organization of a church

was taken May 4, 1858, when, at a meeting "of persons

professing attachment to the Protestant Episcopal Church"

at Plumstead's Hall, William H. Moote was chosen chair-

man and Timothy Baker secretary. Thereupon the meet-

ing adjourned to meet at the post-office May 5th, and that

meeting resulted in the election of Louis W. Fascjuelle,

Timothy Baker, Hiram C. Hodge, William H. Moote, Oliver

L. Spaulding, George W. Stephenson, and George F. Mead

as vestrymen, Louis W. Fasquelle and George W. Stephen-

son as wardens, 0. L. Spaulding secretary, and Timothy

Baker treasurer. Precisely wliat was the outcome of the

foregoing does not appear from the records. From them,

however, it does appear that on May 25, 1858, formal

articles of a church organization were signed by Timothy

Baker, Louis W. Fasquelle, Hiram C. Hodge, William W.
Flagler, James H. Benson, William H. Moote, George F.

Mead, O. L. Spaulding, J. H. Corbit, D. N. Murray,

George W. Stephenson, H. M. Perrin. The name adopted

was that of St. John's Church, and the first annual meet-

ing appointed for June 4th, at Plumstead's Hall. Somehow

the plan for organization miscarried, and until April, 1864,

the Episcopalians of St. Johns depended for public worship,

as the}' had done before 1858, upon such occasional and

irregular services as could be obtained from time to time.

There had been set aside by the St. Johns Village Com-

pany a church-lot upon the site now occupied by the Meth-

odist Episcopal church, and as a majority of the village

proprietors were of the Episcopal faith, they confidently

hoped to see the site occupied by an Episcopal church.

The Episcopalians were, however, unable to put such a plan

into execution, and the Methodists agreeing to build a

church, conditioned upon the donation of the laud to

them, they were given the privilege, and thus obtained

their church-lot free of cost.

April 20, 1864, a successful effort was made to reorganize

St. John's Church, and on that day articles of association

were signed by A. G. Higham, Timothy Baker, Louis W.
Fa.squelle, Samuel S. Walker, Charles Plumstead, and N.

C. McCuUom. The first meeting was called for April 30th,

when a vestry was chosen. Rev. Thomas B. Dooley was

called to the rectorship, and officiated at stated times for

about one year. In 1865, Rev. Henry Barnwell became the

rector, and during his term of service, extending over a

period of fourteen months, the society, receiving from the

village company a donation of three lots (originally set

aside and occupied for a village school, but reverted to the

company by a removal of the school site), set about the

erection of a church edifice, worship from the reorganiza-

tion having been held in the school-house. The business

of building was checked by the retirement of Mr. Barnwell

from the rectorship in 1865, and the parish being vacant

until November, 1S66, nothing was meanwhile done towards
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the church cotiRtructiim. At the time hist mentioned Rev.

S. S. Chapin was called to be the rector, and in the .spring

of 18(57 the cornerstone of the present church building

was laid by Kuvs. B. H. Paddock and George D. Oillespie,

the former now bishop of Massachusetts and the latter of

Western Michigan. Upon the first Sunday in lSti7 the

church was first opened for divine service. Mr. Chapin

continued in the rectorship for the space of six years, and

was succeeded by Rev. Mr. Reeves, who tarried a little

more than a year. At the end of that time Rev. S. S.

Chapin returned, and in the ensuing autumn the church

structure was improved and enlarged. April 19, 1876, it

was dedicated by Bishop McCoskry. Mr. Chapin retired

in 1879, and the rectorate remained vacant until the en-

gagement of Rev. Joseph Cross, D.D., LL.D., the [irescnt

rector, in June, 1880.

To the beginning of 1880 the families who had joined

the parish numbered seventy, confirmations were seventy

in number, ninety-seven names were added to the com-

munion list, one hundred and thirty persons were baptized,

thirty-five couples married, and forty-nine persons buried.

The parish is now clear of debt, owns property valued at

four thousand dollars, and is in the enjoyment of much

prosperity.

The vestry in 1880 is composed of 0. L. Spaulding, F.

B. Cutler, C. E. Grisson, J. H. Cranson, G. S. Corbit, J. H.

Corbit, and S. S. Walker.

ST. JOHN'S (ROMAN CATHOLIC) CHURCtl.

During the progress of the construction of the Detroit

and Jlilwaukee Railroad, at and near St. Johns, in 1856

-57, Father Koenig, of Flint, visited the place occasionally

and held Roman Catholic Church service in the shanties of

the railway hands. Similarly Father De Yordia.s, of West-

phalia, visited the town subsequently, and still later Father

Von Palmer, of Corunna, conducted periodical services for

the space of two years in the house of Jeremiah Dooling.

By that time the acce.ssion of a dozen or more families to

the congregation warranted the attachment of St. Johns to

the Corunna mission and the provision of regular services.

After Von Palmer's term expired. Father Vandenriche was

given charge of the work and the place of worship trans-

ferred to the village school-house. In 1862 measures were

taken to erect a church building upon' lots donated by A.

II. Walker and A. G. llighani. A building committee, com-

posed of Father Vandenriche, Celestin Loranger, Michael

Ryan, Dennis Clanccy, and William Ryan, was appointed,

and entering at once ujion the work of soliciting subscrip-

tions, obtained by 1804 the sum of two thousand dollars,

contributed by the business men of the village without re-

gard to creed. The church was accordingly begun in 1864,

coni]iletcd in 1805, and dedicated in 18(i7, Bishop Caspar

A. Borge.ss, of Detroit, officiating. When the church was

occupied in the spring of 1865 the congregation included

about sixty families, and at that strength has remained

until this day without material change.

A Sabbath-scliool was organized in 1865 and a pastoral

residence built in 1H71. Father Vandciirichf reni.iini'd in

charge until 1867, and after him came Fathers Beranger,

Rickcrt, and Cramer. Cramer was made a resident priest,

his predecessors having been supplied from Corunna. With

the close of Cramer's service, in 1877, the church was trans-

ferred from the Corunna to the Ionia mission, and Father

Bolte, who was tlien given charge of the work, has since

that time held services regularly once each month. Since

Cramer's time there has been no resident priest, although

one is promised for the near future.

The church is now out of debt and owns a church edi-

fice and parsonage. The trustees for 1880 are Michael

Ryan, A. Florian, Augustus Werner, and Doyle.

FIIKE .METIIODI.-^T CHURCH.

In the winter of 1870-71, Free Methodist meetings

were held in the Baptist church and the liouses of Caleb

Ash and Rev. John Ellison. In March, 1871, Rev. John

Ellison, chairman of the Grand Rapids district, organized a

class of sixteen members in his own house in St. Johns.

Caleb Ash was cho.scn to be the fir.st leader, and directly

after organization Hicks' Hall was rented and occupied at

regular periods until the completion of the present church

edifice, which was built in 1872 and cost four thousand

five hundred dollars. Ellison preached two years, and then

the St. Johns circuit being established. Rev. W. R. Cusick

was sent upon the work as the first circuit preacher. After

Cusick the charge was delegated successively to Revs. J. G.

Witham, C. F. Irish, W. J. Johnston, C. D. Hoadley,

Hiram Bcarss, A. V. Leonardson, and G. II. Joslyn, the

latter being now on the work. The class numbered at its

most prosperous period upwards of one hundred members,

but removals from the town have reduced the number to

about fifty. The class-leader is Walter McFarlnn
; the

trustees, George Gilli.son, H. D. Park, Harmon Martin,

Thomas Atkinson, Alfred Barden. George Pray is super-

intendent of the Sunday-school, which has an average

attendance of twenty.

GERMAN LUTHERAN CHURCH.

A German Lutheran Church was organized in 1870 by

Rev. Mr. Smith, in the office of John I'McFarlan. The

organizing members included Henry Eckert, John Van

Hocsen, Conrad Burkhardt, Caspar Seibert, Charles Seibert,

Fred Martin, Christian Heclit, M. Holbrook, Jacob Siefert,

and Jacob Siefert, Jr., with their wives, and Henry Ferry.

Caspar Seibert was the first class-leader, and successively

after Jacob Siefert, Henry Eckert, and Henry Ferry were

leaders. Rev. Mr. Smith's succe.s.sors in the pulpit have

been Revs. Orchen and Wittey, the latter being now the

pastor and preaching once a month. In 1874 a church

edifice was built. The membership includes about twelve

families. The clas.s-leadi'r is Jacob Siefert.

ST. JOHNS UNION SCHOOLS.

The territory covered by the village of St. Johns in 1856

was on Oct. 6, 1855, set off by the township school iii.spee-

tors as district No. 4.

The first school taught in St. Johns was a select school

in charge of Miss Muriii Coryell, sister of Mrs. Swegles.

She Wits visiting Mrs. Swegles in the summer (if IS55, and

that summer taught the wchool in a shanty on Walker Street,

used before that lis a blacksiuith-shop.
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In 1856 the first public school was taught in the same

building by Mrs. Gunsally (previously iMiss Nancy M. Rich-

mond) and Mr. J. Wilco.K, tlie latter of whom was assisted

by his stepmother.

At the annual meeting of the voters of the school district

in September, 1857, it was resolved to organize the district

under the law authorizing the formation of union districts.

An election for officers resulted in the choice of Hiram C.

Hodge as Moderator ; John Ransom, Director ; Spencer W.

Gibbs, Assessor; and Timothy Baker, A. M. Crawford, S.

T. Hayward, and David Sturgis as Trustees. At the same

meeting it was resolved to raise three thou.'^and dollars to

build a school-house, and at an adjourned meeting, Oct. 12,

1857, the donation of a school-site was accepted from A.

H. Walker, on behalf of tlie village proprietors.

This resolution seems to have met with some subsequent

objection on the part of the tax-payers, many of whom

joined in a suit for an injunction against the levy of a tax

for the three-thousand-dullar school-house, upon the ground

that the appropriation was an extravagant one, and that the

resolution passing it was illegal. The courts sustained the

application for an injunction, and the district therefore voted

to raise five hundred dollars for the building of a school-

house without a dissenting voice. The house was erected

upon the lot donated by the village proprietoi-s, and stood

where now stands the Episcopal church. It was completed

in the fall of 1858, and cost four hundred and ninety-five

dollars, McKay & Mitchell being the builders. The taxes

voted in the district during the school year closing October,

1858, included one dollar each on one hundred and fifty-six

scholars, two hundred and six dollars to pay fees and costs

in injunction suit, and five hundred dollars to pay for school-

house.

In 1862 the district resolved a second time to organize

into a union school district. It would seem, therefore, that

a similar resolution, passed in 1857, fell short of practical

efiFect. Trustees chosen in 1 862 for the district were John

W. Paine, Henry 51. Perrin, Ransom Plumstead, Thomas

J. Urie, Samuel S. Walker, and Randolph Strickland. In

1863 it was resolved to purchase tlie present union school

site for eight hundred and seventy dollars, and to build a

new school-house to cost ten thousand dollars. Upon ad-

vertising for bids, it was found that Braiuard, Wood &
Dane would build such a .school-house as was desired for

eight thousand eight hundred and fifty dollars, whereupon

the district borrowed nine thousand dollars of James M.

Soverhill, of Geneva, N. Y., for ten years, at eight and a

half per cent, per annum.

The building was completed in October, 1865. It con-

sisted of a main .structure fifty-four by thirty-one feet,

flanked on each side by a wing fourteen by thirty-one.

The entire edifice was constructed of brick. Its height

was three stories. To the original contract price of eight

thousand eight hundred and filty dollars, the district added

on behalf of the contractors sixteen hundred dollars, to

cover extra expenditures incurred by them, so that the

total cost of the building reached ten thousand four hun-

dred and fifty dollars. On the 1st of November, 1865, the

old school-house was sold for five hundred dollars.

The first corps of teachers in the new union school, in

1865, was composed of J. B. Nixon, A.M., of Pontiac, as

principal ; Miss Anna A. Miller, of Ann Arbor, as first

assistant; Miss Emma Sickels, of Owosso, as second assist-

ant ; and Miss Hunt, of St. Johns.

The Perrin School was built in 1870, at a cost of ten

thousand dollars, and the East-Side School in 1876, at a

cost of three thousand dollars.

The enrollment of school children in the district for

1880 was two hundred and ninety-six boys and three hun-

dred and sixty two girls, or a total of six hundred and fifty-

eight. The average attendance was for the various depart-

ments as follows

:

High -school - 44

Gr:irain:ir department (Union School) 87

Secondary " (Union School) 62
" " (Perrin School) 5S
" " (East-Side School) .ifi

Primary " (Union School) fil

*' ** (Perrin School) "H
" " (East-Side School) .^2

The corps of teachers for 1880 is as follows : Douwe B.

Yntema, Principal; M. Allida Strickland. Preceptress;

Helen Lamphere, Principal Grammar School ; Anna Ryan,

Assistant Grammar School; William H. Brunson, Third,

Fourth, and Fifth Grades; L. Alice Woodruff, First, Sec-

ond and Third Grades.

Perrin School.—Jennie S. Hurd, Third, Fourth, and

Fifth Grades ; Helen G. Queal, First, Second, and Third

Grades.

East-Side School.—Crissie Hill, Third, Fourth, and

Fifth Grades; Ellen Moore, First, Second, and Third

Grades.

A two-story brick wing, sixty-four by forty and to cost

five thousand dollars, will be added to the union school

building in season for the fall term of 1880. The corps

of teachers will likewise be increased by the addition of

Misses Cora Stout, Hattie Baldwin, and Alice Barstow.

The Board of Education of St. Johns is composed of

Messrs. O. W. Barker, D. C. Hurd, C. E. Grisson, R.

Strickland, G. H. Stephenson, and Josiah Upton. O. W.

Barker is president, Josiah Upton secretary, and Charles

E. Grisson treasurer.

ST. JOHNS POST-OFFICE.

In 1852 the first post-oflSce in the township of Bingham

was established, and located at the house of George W.

Estes, who was appointed postmaster. He lived then on

section 17. The office was named Bingham, and was kept

at the house of Mr. Estes until his removal, in 1854, to

the site selected for the village of St. Johns. He carried

the office with him, and kept it there until 1856, when

Timothy Baker received the appointment, upon Estes'

recommendation, and at that time too the name of the

office was changed to St. Johns. To the time of the com-

pletion of the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad to St. Johns,

mail was received over the route from De Witt to the

Rochester Colony over the State road.

The postmasters succeeding Mr. Baker in regular order

were Thomas J. Urie, H. S. Gibbons, Richard Bay lis, J. M.

Carter, and George A. Wells. Mr. Wells, the present in-

cumbent, was appointed in 1875. It is related that the

first mail brought to St. Johns was carried in the mail-
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rider's hat, and that the first postmaster kept his o£Ece in

a cigar-box, but these stories are probably pure imagina-

tion. The early history of the St. Johns post-office boasted

no incident out of the ordinary course of such business.

The business of the St. Johns post-office during the

three mouths ending March 31, 1880, aggregated as fol-

lows :

Receipts for stamps, envelopes, etc $11164.00

Money orders issued $4171. 9.^

" paid $:iU92.:i6

Registered letters mailed 143

SOCIETIES AND ORDERS.

ST. JOHNS LODGE, No. 105, F. AND A. M.

This, the first lodge of a secret order organized in St.

Johns, received a dispensation from the Grand Lodge Sept.

23, 1857, and held its first communication December 3d

of that year. On that occasion the officers present were

Timothy Baker, W. JM. ; George P. Mead, Sec. ; W. W.

Braiuard, S. W. ; J. E. Leech, J. W. ; H. C. Hodge,

Treas. ; John Ransom, S. D. ; L. S. Conn, J. D. ; George

Richmond, Tiler. At the next lodge-meeting, Dec. 7,

1857, A. M. Crawford, George F. Jlead, C. A. Lamb, and

George W. Richmond were presented as candidates and

duly elected.

Jan. 11, 1858, the lodge received a charter, and Janu-

ary 25th elected officers as follows : Timothy Baker, W.

M. ; W. W. Brainard, S. W. ; L. C. Conn, J. W. ; George

F. Mead, Sec. ; H. C. Hodge, Treas. ; J. Ransom, S. D.
;

A. M. Crawford, J. D. ; C. A. Lamb, Chaplain; J. B.

Lucas, Tiler; George W. Richmond and 0. B. Swain,

Stewards.

The Masters of the lodge since Jan. 14, 1858, have been

chosen as follows: December, 1858, W. W. Brainard;

1859-GO, Ransom Plumstead ; 1861, J. W. Paine ; 1862,

W. II. Moote; 1863, J. W. Paine; 1864-05, \V. II.

Moote; 1866, O. L. Spaulding; 1867, R. McFarlan

;

1868-74, A. J. Wiggins; 1875-76, J. D. Henderson;

1877-79, W. W. Brown; 1880, M. D. Brown.

The lodge has now a flourishing membership of about

two hundred, and is exceedingly prosperous. A hand-

somely-appointed lodge-room in Hicks & Steel's block has

been the lodge ijuarters since 1867.

The present officers are M. D. Brown, \V. M.; E. R.

Sanford, S. W. ; George H. Stephen.son, J. W. ; J. D.

Henderson, Treas. ; A. S. Fildew, Sec. ; J. II. Ingalls, S.

D. ; H. P. Adams, J. D. ; George Hicks, Tiler.

ST. .lOlINS LODGE, No. 81, I. 0. 0. F.

This, the second secret order in.stitutcd in St. Johns, was

organized in 1859, and chartered Jan. 12, 1860. The

charter mcmbtrs numbered seven,

—

William L. Hick.s,

William Jones, Gardner Conn, Henry Walbridgo, N. C.

McCollum, W. H. Plumstead, and A. Plumstead. The

early records of the lodge having been burned, only meagre

details can l)e gleaned touching that portion of the lodgij

history to which they had reference. St. Johns Lodge has

now forty-one members, and has officers as follows : Wil-

liam Bishop, N. G ; S. E. Allen, V. G. ; N. D. Hoteh-

kiss. Recording and Financial Sec. ; F. R. Butirr, Treas.
;

L. Z. Munger, Warden.

ST. JOHNS ENCAMPMENT, No. 83, I. 0. 0. F.

A charter to the encampment was issued Feb. 11, 1876,

to P. E. Vauconsant, J. II. Ingall, II. P. Adams, William

P. Tromp, W. J. Esler, N. W. Bush, and L. Z. Munger.

The membership July 1, 1880, was twenty-two, and the

officers Charles M. Merrill, C. P. ; N. W. Bush, Ac. S. W.

;

L. Z. Munger, H. P. ; N. D. Hotchkiss, Scribe and Finan-

cial Sec. ; F. R. Butler, Treas. ; I. D. Richmond, J. W.

CORINTHIAN LODGE, No. 241, F. AND A. M.

This lodge was organized early in 1867, in the major part

by members demitted from St. Johns Lodge. The charter

was issued Jan. 9, 1868, and at the first meeting there-

after there were present the following officers : J. H. Cran-

son, W. M ; W. W. Brainard, S. W.
; J. M. Carter, J.

W. ; William Sickels, Treas.; Charles K. Grisson, Sec;

J. L. Paldi, S. D. ; O. M. Hidden, J. D. ; A. M. Steel

and J. Brown, Stewards; G. II. Stephenson, Tiler. The

Masters since tile organization have been J. II. Cranson,

W. W. Brainard, C. E. Grisson, James H. Collins, and

William Cochran. The present membership roll bears

fifty-eight names. The officers are William Cochran, W.

M. ; O. W. Miller, S. W. ; J. C. Watkins, J. W. ; C. E.

Grisson, Treas. ;
William iM. Leland, Sec; Henry Filden,

S. D. ; N. A. OlesuM, J. 1).; George Hicks, Tiler. Meet-

in<fs have been held in Masonic Hall—Hicks and Steel'so

block—since organization.

ST. JOHNS COUNCIL, No. 21.

The council received a dispensation Nov. 24, 1866, and

a charter June 6, 1867, but held no meeting until Sept.

17, 1867. Upon that occasion the following-named officers

were installed: O. L. Spaulding, T. I. G. M. ; Joseph W.

Bromley, D. T. I. G. M. ; Robert McFarlan, M. E. P. C.

;

G. H. Stephenson, Treas.
;
Sylvester Hoyt, Recorder. On

the same night petitions were received from Companions

William Sickels, M. F. Fasquelle, Charles E. Grisson, R.

M. Steel, O. H. Wood, William H. Sexton, A. J. Wiggins,

and Jiihn Hale. The membership is now sixty, and the

officers George H. Stephenson, T. 1. G. M. ; J. N. Frisbie,

D. T. I. G. M. ; J. U. Henderson, P. C. W. ; C. E. Gris-

son, Treas.; Q. E. Bridgnum, Recorder.

ST. JOHNS COMMANDEKY, No. 24, K. T.

The commaiidery received a dispensation Dec. 24, IhUS,

and a charter June 2, 1869. At ihe first conclave, held

Feb. G, 1869, the officers present were Sir Knight H. M.

Curdy, E. C. ; Sir Knight O. L. Spaulding, G. ; Sir

Knight E. S. Converse, C. G.; Sir Knight E. Sprngue,

Prelate; Sir Knight J. Gute, S. W. ; Sir Knight W. H.

Sexton, J. W. ; Sir Knight A. J. Wiggins, Treas.; Sir

Knight J. L. Paldi, Recorder; Sir Kiiiglii U. McFarlan,

Standard- Bearer; Sir Knight J. S. Ranney, Swnrd B. arer
;

Sir Knight T. W. l^usk, Warden; Sir Knight H. Boyd,

Sentinel. Petitions were presented Iroui Companions John

B. Nixon, Charles E. (iris.siin, William Sickels, R. Slriik-

land, H. C. Smith, R. M. Steel, Je.v<c Dunn, J. C. Dayton,

J. R. Hale, E. 1j. Smitli, Sylvester Hoyt, M. S. Fusquelie,

and J. .M. Frisbie. The present metnbershi|> is sixty seven,

and iIh- Dllicial list for IHSO as foUows : Sir Knight O.
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L. Spaulding, E. C. ; Sir Knight F. B. Cutler, G. ; Sir

Knight C. E. Grisson, C. G. ; Sir Knight R. B. Emmons,

Prelate ; Sir Knight Jesse Dunn, Treas. ; Sir Knight J.

M. Frisbie, Recorder; Sir Knight W. W. Brown, S. W.

;

Sir Kuight C. P. Wickes, J. W. ; Sir Knight G. Pennell,

Standard-Bearer ; Sir Knight J. I). Henderson, Swoid-

Bearer; Sir Knight 0. H. Stephenson, Warden; Sir

Knight George Hicks, Guard.

ST. JOHNS CHAPTER, No. 45, R. A. M.,

was organized April 13, 1866, and chartered Jan. 8, 1867.

The charter members were J. B. Lucas, T. Baker, 0. L.

Spaulding, W. W. Brainard, William S. Lazelle, J. B.

Nixon, J. M. Carter, S. Steele, R. M. Steel, Elijah Peck.

The chapter has now one hundred and twenty-seven mem-

bers. The officers for 1880 are J. D. Henderson, H. P.

;

G. H. Stephenson, K. ; W. W. Brown, Scribe; E. R.

Santord, C. of H. ; J. G. Watkins, P. S. ; Joseph H. In-

galls, R. A. C. ; 0. L. Vreeland, M. of 3d V. ; J. K. Bale,

M. of 2d V. ; Charles Pattison, M. of 1st V. ; C. E. Gris-

son, Trcas. ; C. P. Wickes, Sec. ; George Hicks, Guard.

Since the organization the High Priests have been 0. L.

Spaulding, J. B. Nixon, S. Hoyt, A. J. Wiggins, R. Mc-

Farlan, .J. W. Lewis, C. E. Grisson, and J. D. Henderson.

BINGHAM LODGE, No. 439, KNIGHTS OF HONOR.

This lodge, organized Jan. 11, 1877, has a membership

of iwenty-eight and the following officers : J. G. Wise, D.

;

Peter Mead, V. D. ; A. L. Butler, F. R. ; William H.

Tripp, Reporter ; G. E. Corbin, Treas. Regular sessions

are held once each fortnight.

ST. JOHNS LODGE, No. 28, A. 0. U. W.,

was organized Doc. 20, 1877, and has now sixty-five mem-

bers. Regular meetings are held twice a month in the

Odd-Fellows' Hall. The officers for 1880 areL. Z. Hunger,

M. W. ; W. F. Trourap, Foreman ; T. Hart, O. ; A. L.

Butler, Financier; William Cochran, Sec; Charles E.

Grisson, Treas. ; E. B. Bailey, Guide.

ROYAL TEMPLARS OF TEMPERANCE.

This lodge was organized Feb. 17, 1880, with seventeen

members. Meetings are held in the Teachout building.

The officers are James D. Estes, S. C. ; George H. Stephen-

son, V. C. ; George W. Estes, P. C. ; W. J. Smith, Sec.
;

Frederick Lee, Treas. ; John Stitt, Herald ; James Thomp-

son, Chaplain; James Gibbs, Guard; S E. Wilson, Sen-

tinel. The members number now twenty-two.

ST. JOHNS GRANGE, P. OF H.,

was organized in 1869, with thirteen members. The pres-

ent membership is upwards of forty, and the condition of

the grange exceedingly prosperous. Meetings are held

every Saturday in the Teachout building. The officers for

1880 are George Arnold, M. ; B. P. Conn, 0.; Richard

Moore, L. ; Frank Ridenour, Chaplain ; Frank Hale, Sec.
;

A. O. Huntly, Treas.

THE ST. JOHNS RED RIBBON CLUB

was organized in February, 1876, when the temperance

movement was at its height, and enrolled -a membership of

two hundred, with D. S. French as president. Now the

membership is forty. Meetings are held once a week. E.

P. Bailey is President ; G H. Stephenson, Vice-President

;

M. J. Bassett, Secretary ; and D. C. Hurd, Treasurer.

LADIES' LIBRARY ASSOCIATION.

The Ladies' Library Association of St. Johns was organ-

ized under the laws of the State Feb. 1, 1871, with Mrs.

G. M. Tuthill, Mrs. JI. Babcock, Mrs. R. M. McFarlan,

Mrs. S. S. Walker, Miss Frances E. Tuckerman, Mrs. J.

B. McLean, Mrs. H. M. Lee, Mrs. C. S. Wells, Mrs. Celia C.

Smith, and Mrs. J. H. Collins as charter members. The

association was chartered for a period of thirty years for

" the diffusion of knowledge and intellectual culture or

literary pursuits." An active organization has been main-

tained since 1871, and during that period the valuable

benefits steadily flowing from the a.ssociation's efforts have

met with earnest popular appreciation. The " Directory for

1880" is composed of Mrs. G. E. Corbin, Mrs. S. S. Wood-

ruff, Mrs. C. E. GrLsson, and Mrs. J. Dunn. Mrs. M.

Babcock is the President; Mrs. R. Strickland, Vice-Presi-

dent ; Mrs. S. S. Walker, Secretary ; Miss P. E. Tucker-

man, Treasurer; Mrs. C. E. Ball, Librarian; Miss C.

Shaver, Assistant Librarian.

THE ST. JOHNS CEMETERY ASSOCIATION

was incorporated July 28, 1863, for the government and

control of the cemetery grounds donated by the village

proprietors. Since the organization O. L. Spaulding has

been the president and G. H. Stephenson treasurer.

BANKS.

The pioneer bank of St. Johns was started in 1857 by

H. C. Hodge, on the west side of Clinton Avenue, south

of Walker Street. The bank was a small affair, but Mr.

Hodge contrived nevertheless to do a good deal of banking

business, and he found frequent opportunities for making

loans. He made them, too, at a good living rate of interest

for himself He carried on his bank until some time in

1864, just before which period Timothy Baker and A. G.

Higham opened a banking institution in a small building

which stood upon the site now occupied by the First

National Bank. Baker & Higham's business did not last

very long, and ended rather abruptly.

In January, 1865, S. S. Walker opened a banking-office

in 0. W. iMunger's store, and shortly after that Mr. Walker,

in conjunction with others, organized

THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK.

The first meeting of the stockholders was held May 31,

186.i,at the office of P. K. & H. M. Perriii, when Charles

Kipp was chosen President; John Hicks, Vice-President;

and S. S. Walker, Cashier. The directors elected were R.

M. Steel, Charles Kipp, John Hicks, Josiah Upton, H. M.

Eddy, R. Strickland, O. W. Munger, H. M. Perrin, and

Ransom Plumstead. Aug. 28, 1865, the bank was char-

tered, with a capital of fifty thousand dollars, limited to

two hundred thousand dollars, and Sept. 4, 1S65, began

business in the building originally used by Baker & High-

am, for which the bank paid seventeen dollars. Directly

afterwards a new bank building was put up on the same







VILLAGE OF ST. JOHNS. 375

site, the old structure occupying meanwhile a place on the

avenuo, and there for thirty days the banking business was

done until tiie new building was ready for occupation.

This latter served until 1870, in which year it was replaced

by the present fine brick structure. The old bank building

was moved around upon Walker Street, and now does duty

as the St. Johns post-oflBce. Mr. Walker continued to be

the cashier until his resignation, in July, 1877. G. W.
Bail succeeded him, but retired in December of that year.

His successor was Galusha Pennell, who is the present

cashier. The directory of the bank is composed of Charles

Kipp, President; John Hicks, Vice-President ; Galusha

Pennell, Cashier; Joshua Upton, and A. H. Walker. The

working capital of the institution remains at fifty thousand

dollars. At the close of business. May 10, 1880, the bank

statement showed the circulation to be forty-five thousand

dollars ; loans and discounts, one hundred and six thousand

seven hundred and ninety-eight dollars and fifty-nine cents;

deposits, seventy si.K thou.sand six hundred and ninety-four

dollars and eij;hty-ono cents; surplus, twelve thousand and

twenty-i'ight dollars and ninety-six cents; profit and loss,

five lliou?and four hundred and ninety-six dollars and

ninety-six cents; undivided earnings, five thousand five

iiundred and twenty-two dollars and thirty-three cents.

SHAVER &. GRISSON'S BANK.

The firm of Shaver & Grisson carry on a private bank-

ing institution, which they founded in September, 1877.

They occupy fine quarters in Steel's Block,and conduct a

general banking business.

MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES.

TIIE ST. JOHNS iMANUFACTURIN(i COMPANY.

This corporation, the most important of the industries of

St. Jolins, is an enterprise of more than ordinary preten-

sions. Devoted to the general manufacture of furniture, it

contributes towards the support of upwards of one hundred

families, and employs a capital of one huTidred and twenty

thousand dollars.

Its origin dates back to April, 18.")7, when W. W.
Brainard came to St. Johns from Ohio with a chest of car-

penter's tools (having previously—in July, 185(j—-been out

prospecting for a location), and fix(^d his carpenter's bench

in the lower portion of the village company's saw-mill,

which latter he rented and carried on in connection with

his business as carpenter and builder. In 18.')8 he gave up

the mill and moved up town, where he bought, on Walker

Street, a building which had been erected by Wilbur Ash

in 1857 as a carpenter-shop, and occupied a little later by

James Ilungcrford as a cabinet-shop. The building was

afterwards remodeled, and is now used by the American

Express Company. Mr. Brainard 'put in machinery and

started a cabinet-making cstablishinenl of respectable pro-

portions. He carried on business at that (ilacc two years,

and then moved to a place on Spring Street, just south of

Walker Street, where he had bnill a pretty good .-.ized fao

tory. Ho as.sociated wiili him Charles B. Andrews, and

at that stand Brainard & Andrews carried on the maniilac-

lure of furniture until January, 18(18. On the !l||i of that

montli the St. Johns Maiiulacluring Company wius organ-

ized by II. M. Steel, William Steel, W. W. Brainard, Oli-

ver Iliddon. and J. L. Paldi, who bought the business of

Brainard k Andrews with a view of continuing it upon a

more extensive plan. K. M. Steel was chosen president,

J. L. Paldi secretary, and W. W. Brainard superintendent.

The company was chartered with a capital of one hun-

dred and twenty thousand dollars, and proceeded to erect

new and spacious factory buildings at the north end of the

village, near the railway-track. While the new works were

being constructed the old factory on Spring Street was de-

stroyed by fire in December, 18G8. The only article .saved

was an adze, and that relic has ever since been in use at the

new work.s. The fire did not, however, retard the com-

pany's business very much, for in March, 1869, the new

factory was started with a force of thirty men. The main

building was ninety-six feet iu length by fifty feet in width,

with a height of two .stories and a basement. There was

also a brick structure three stories high, used on the ground-

floor for a boi'er- and engine-room, and above for shop-

rooms. During the same spring additions were made of

two store-houses, each two stories high and twenty-four by

sixty. The company purchased also extensive tracts of

timber-lands in Gratiot County, put up a good saw-mill,

and trafficked largely in lumber.

In 1874 further additions were made to the factory

buildings, so that now the works, including a mill for the

sawing of hard woods, cover about six acres. Since the

organization K. M. Steel has been the president and W.
W. Brainard the superintendent of the company. J. L.

Paldi was secretary until June, 1870, when he was suc-

ceeded by D. S. French, the present secretary. The com-

pany's capital remains at the original sum of one hundred

and twenty thousand dollars. Its stockholders are but

three in number,— 11. M. Steel, William Steel, and W. W.

Brainard.

One hundred and twenty men are employed in the manu-

facture of all kinds of furniture, of which the especial

features for the pa.st three years have been extension-tables

and extension slides, upon which latter a valuable ])atent is

held. These latter are marketed in all parts of the country.

The furniture product is generally sold within the State.

During the year 1879 there were used in the manufactory

two million feet of pine and five humlred thousand feet of

liard wood.

HICKS' FOUNDHY.

Archclaus Silsbee opened a foundry in 1857 for the mak-

ing of plow-points and general castings, and soon took in

as a partner Win. H. Mooie, of the firm of Corhit & Mootc,

hardware merchants. 'J'lio businos pa.s.sed tlir<mgh fro-

(|uent changes in owncrsliip, and lastly to John Hicks, who

has been interested in it since 187^!. The eslablishmcnl

i.s known as the St. Johns Foundry and Agricultural

Works, and is engaged in the manufueturc of general ma-

chine castings, but more especially in the manufacture of

the " Victor Mower," in which a good deal of business is

done.

TIIK ST. .lOllNS CO Ol'KUATlVK COMPANY.

In 1875, Messrs. A. S. Fildew, Ira D. Nichols, K. L.

Nichols, and Frank Fildew founded llie Si. Johns Co-
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operative Company for the extensive manufacture of doors,

sash, and blinds. In the summer of 1879, I. D. Nichols

was accidentally killed in the factory, and consequent upon

that event the establishment passed by purchase into the

hands of the Fildcw Brothers, present proprietors, who

have added a spoke-factory to the original works.

WIGGINS & FAIRCHILD'S MILL.

The firm of Wiiigins & Fairchild has been engaged since

1878 in the operation, on Higham Street, of an elm-bark

mill, to which was added in the fall of 1879 the business

of a bed-spring manufactory that is rapidly developing into

a business of considerable importance.

ST. JOHNS FIRE DEPARTMENT.

At a meeting of the village trustees held June 12, 1858,

a petition was presented by W. H. Moote, signed by J. VV.

Hungerford, H. C. Hodge, George F. Jlead, William H.

Moote, and thirty-five others, praying that they might be

enrolled as firemen in Hook-and-Ladder Company No. 1.

It was thereupon " Resolved, That the following-named

persons be organized into a fire company, to be denominated

Hook-and-Ladder Company No. 1, of the village of St.

Johns, in accordance with the provisions of act No. 168,

section 39, session laws of 18"j7
: James W. Hungerford,

Hiram C. Hodge, Henry Walbridge, II. Plumstead, George

F. Mead, W. W. Brainard, T. H. Foland, O. W. Munger,

J. H. Corbit, George W. Stephenson, S. W. Ingraliam,

William A. McOmber, William Wicks, William H. Vol-

leau, John Turner, John D. Cain, George W. Estes, George

W. Carly, Z. C. Cheney, C. W. Palmer, William H. Moote,

George L. Patch, H. A. Smith, Charles F. Smith, John

Ransom, Wilson Curtiss, W. W. Flagler, T. R. Burns, D.

P. Bissell, George W. Emmons, Abijah Schaff, S. T. Hay-

ward, L. McCabe, C. O. Stiles, William J. McKay, N.

Grummons, John Travis, G. B. Stevens, and George U.

Stephenson."

This hook-and-ladder company, so called, was simply

the addition of a ladder attachment to tlie old-time bucket

brigade. There was no " truck," but what ladders were

provided were kept iu various convenient places to serve in

time of need.

On the 14ih of March, 1860, the trustees received from

citizens and tax-payers a petition asking for the purcha.se

of hose and a fire-engine, and the construction of capacious

water-tanks on Clinton Avenue. At the meeting of April

3, 1860, the trustees resolved to purchase for five hundred

dollars the engine belonging to Eagle Engine Company,

No. 2, of Detroit, to secure a hose-cart and three liundred

feet of hose, and to construct two reservoirs on Clinton

Avenue.

At a trustees' meeting, June 2, 1860, the matter of or-

ganizing Pioneer Fire Company, No. 1, being under con-

sideration, William H. Moote and Charles Plumstead

were appointed a committee to take such measures as were

necessary for such organization. June 4th the committee re-

ported, and upon their report the following ordinance was

adopted

:

' Be it ordained by the president and trustees of the

village of St. Johns that we hereby establish and organize

a fire company, to be known and designated as Eagle Com-

pany, No. 1, consisting of the following-named persons, to

wit : William H. Moote, B. M. Shields, J. H. Corbit, C.

B. Holiday, Charles F. Smith, James H. Alward, Charles

Plumstead, Marvin E. Palmer, W. E. Servis, Charles Kipp,

William W. Flagler, James Vanrice, S. T. Hayward, James

Travis, Asher Teachout, John W. Paine, George W. Estes,

Richard Moore, James B. Wait, Jerome Bacheler, W. H.

Edick, G. M. Farnhara, John Dunn, Henry Hunn, Lorenzo

Hall, John Turner, Robert G. Shaw, Alfred B. Olin, An-

thony Cook, John Hicks, Jacob Brown, H. Walbridge, 0.

W. Munger, Jerry Dobin, Charles McColiff, and James

W. Hungerford.

The civil officers were William H. Moote, President

;

Charles Kipp, Vice-President ; Richard Moore, Secretary

;

Marvin E. Palmer, Treasurer. The fire officers, Charles

Plumstead, Foreman; John W. Paine, First Assistant; S.

T. Hayward, Second Assistant ; William W. Flagler, Pipe-

man ; George W. Estes, Steward.

The cause of change in the name of the company from

" Pioneer" to " Eagle" was a fancy of the majority to

adopt the latter because it had been borne by the company

from whom the engine was purchased,—" Eagle," of De-

troit, being somewhat noted as a company of elite young

men.

The hand-engine purchased in 1860 continued to do

duty for the Eagle Company of St. Johns until May, 1880,

when it was superseded by a fine third-class steamer of the

Silsbee make, costing three thousand dollars.

Firemen's Hall, now the headquarters of the department,

is a fine two-story brick structure, embellished with a mas-

sive bell-tower. The hall was erected in 1874, upon the

ground occupied by the old frame engine-house destroyed

by fire in 1873.

William Hoffman is chief engineer of the fire depart-

ment, and John Tramper first assistant. The department

consists of Eagle Steam Fire Company, C. B. Stout, fore-

man, with forty men ; Rescue Hook-and-Ladder Company,

No. 1, William W. Leland, foreman, with twenty-four men;

and Alert Hose Company, C. E. Pulfrey, foreman, with

sixteen men. George W. Estes is president, F. Faiichild

secretary, and Miner Boyd treasurer.

MEMORABLE FIRES IN ST. JOHNS.

The first village conflagration of any consequence oc-

curred in 1858, in the burning of Swegles' grist-mill. April

14, 1860, a fire originated in the second story of the

building occupied by John Hicks as a store, and swept away

every building save one on the west side of Clinton Avenue

between Walker and Higham Streets. In 1863 the Amer-

ican House was destroyed; in 1867 the Clinton House and

three or four stores were burned ; in 1875 four stores on

Clinton Avenue south of Walker Street and the engine-

house on Walker Street; and in 1878 several stores on

the west side of Clinton Avenue south of Walker Street.

These fires destroyed in each case frame structures, and

inasmuch as they called into existence brick blocks to fill

the vacant places, the disasters proved to be in the end

benefits to the village.
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PUBLIC AND PRIVATE BUILDINGS IN ST. JOHNS.

St. Johns has much of which to be proud in the way of

residences as well as business blocks, while it may be truly

Baid in respect to the court-house that few buildings of

the kind in the State can approach it in point of massive

and imposing proportions and architectural beauty. It was

built at an expenditure of forty-five thousand dollars, of

which the village of St. Johns contributed five thousand

dollars, Oct. 3, 18GS, by a popular vote of 1G7 to 11.

The first brick structures in the town were John W.
Paine's store and residence. Both were built in IStJO. The

best block of its day, and now a conspicuous feature of the

town, was the ilicks & Steel Block, built by John Hicks

in 18C7. There are besides the Hicks Block, numerous

fine brick blocks deserving of more than passing mention,

among them being the Opera-House building. There are,

moreover, other brick blocks in course of construction, and

these when completed will add materially to the present

attractive appearance of the chief business thoroughfare of

the village.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

OLIVER LYMAN SPAULDING.

Oliver Lyman Spaulding was born at Jaff'rey, N. H.,

Aug. 2, 1833, and is the son of Lyman and Susan (Mar-

shall) Spaulding. He prepared for college at Melville

Academy, in Jafi'rey, working on the farm during the

time. In 1851 he entered Oberlin College, from which

he graduated in 1855. He then spent three years in

teaching, devoting his leisure to the study of law. Ho

taught successively in the union schools at Medina,

Ohio, and Hillsdale, Mich., and in the academy at Me-

dina, Mich. In 1858 he was admitted to the bar, and

settled at St. Johns, where he has since continued to prac-

tice his profession, with the excejition of the time sj)ent in

the civil war. In 18(J2 ho began military service as cap-

t:iin in the Twenty-third Michigan Volunteer Infantry,

and was appointed, successively, major, lieutenant-colonel,

and colonel, having been senior officer in command of the

regiment from the time of receiving his commission as

major in 18G3. At the close of the war he was in com-

mand of the Second Division, Twenty-third Army Corps,

and was brevetted brigadier-general of United States vol-

unteers, June 25, 1865, " for faithful and meritorious ser-

vices during the war." In 185S he was elected a regent

of the State University, and held the office until 18G4. In

1866 he was elected Secretary of State, and was re-elected

in 18CS. In 1875 he was appointed by President Grant

Special Agent of the Treasury JJepartnient, which office he

still holds.

Gen. Spaulding has for a number of years been actively

connected with the Masonic fraternity. In 1801) he waa

Grand Master of the Grand Council of Royal and Select

Masters; in 1872, Grand Commander of tlie Grand Com-

inandcry of Knights Templar ;
in 1877, Grand High Priest

of the Grand Chapter; and for several years has been

chairman of the standing committee on appeals in the

48

Grand Lodge. He is at present Deputy Grand Master of

the Grand Lodge of the State of Michigan.

Gen. Spaulding was reared a Congregationalist, but in

186G became connected with the Episcopal Church, and

since that time has been senior warden.

Politically he has been an active member of the Repub-

lican party since its organization, and an ardent member of

the State Central Committee since 1870. In the Repub-

lican Convention held at Owosso, be was nominated by

acclamation, Aug. 5, 1880, for member of Congress from

the Sixth District.

His family consists of a wife and three children. Mrs.

Spaulding was the daughter of the Hon. John Swegles,

who was the founder of the village of St. Johns.

JOHN -H. FEDEWA.

Among the honorable names in the county of Clinton

that recall the qualities of energy and force of character as

the chief elements in a successful career, no finer example

is discovered than that presented in the life of John H. Fe-

dewa. With two hundred and fifty dollars given him in

early life,—a mere adjunct to the capital which his own in-

dustry and ambition supplied,—he has at the age of thirty-

one years not only acquired a thorough legal education

but been the recipient of many offices of trust, and is now

filling for the second term the office of prosecuting attor-

ney for the county.

His father, Morris Fedewa, was born in Germany, in

1812, the birth of his mother, also a native of Germany,

having occurred the year following. They emigrated to the

hospitable shores of America during the year 1842, and at

once embarked in agricultural pursuits in the township of

Dallas, Clinton Co. Here their son was born May 8, 1S49,

having been the eighth in a family of twelve children.

Mr. and Mrs. Fedewa experienced all the hard.ships of

the early settler, the former having borne his gri.st many

miles to Lyons, to avail himself of the nciirest mill. Until

the age of eighteen years John H. led the accu.stomed life

of the farmer's .son, having labored in summer and studied

in winter. He later enjoyed for two years the advant^iges

of the St. Johns High School, alter which he taught for n

brief period. In 1870 he entered the law-schuol at the

University iif Michigan, from which he graduatiMl May 27,

1872. He then began the practice of his profc-s-sion in

Westphalia, and in 1873 was elected supervisor of the

township. He was reelected the following year, and soon

after honored with the ofliee of pro.secuting attorney of

the county, which occasioned his removal to St. Johns,

where ho reinaineil until 1877. He ri'lnrned again to his

former resilience, and was soon recalled to I lie office of su-

pervisor of the township, which he filh'd for two successive

terms. The ability with which he discharged the onerous

duties of prosecuting altorni'y during a previous term in-

sured his re-election in 1878, and his removal again to St.

Johns as a result. Mr. Fcih^wa was on the 27lli of No-

vember, 187(!, married to Miss Lixxie Petseh, of Fowler,

Clinton Co., Mich. Their home is grai-ed by the presence

of one little daughter, named Pauline May.
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ROBERT M. STEEL.

Robert M. Stoe! was born in tbe town of Craftsbury, Vt.,

Oct. 21 , ] 833. His fiUbcr, William Steel, a native of Scot-

land, emigrated to j^merica in 1830, and settled in Vermont.

He was a contractor and builder. Robert M. Steel took an

academic course in that State. After having received a

thorough training in the carpenter and joiner business from

his father, at the age of twenty-one he went to Toronto,

and was employed as time-keeper on the Grand Trunk

Railroad. After two months he was appointed foreman on

the road that was building between Sarnia and Toronto,

and held the position for fifteen months. His employers,

Hayden & Ross, taking a contract to lay the superstructure

on the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad, he entered into a

partnership with them. In 1856 he removed to St. Johns

as the most convenient point, and was engaged in com-

pleting this contract until the fall of 1858. In 1859 he

took a contract to lay the superstructure on the Grand

Trunk Railroad from Detroit to Port Huron, and at the

same time was interested, with W. A. Stoarnes & Co., in

building a road from Three Rivers, on the St. Lawrence

River, to Athabaska, a distance of thirty-eight miles. He
finished these contracts in December, 1859. On the 9th

of September, 1862, he entered into partnership with one

of his first employers, Mr. Ross, under the firm-name of

Ro.ss, Steel & Co., to build the Kansas Pacific Railroad

from Kansas City to the one hundredth meridian, a distance

of three hundred and sixty miles. They had one hundred

miles located and about twenty-five graded when the com-

pany disposed of their franchise to Samuel Hallett and J.

C. Fremont. Mr. Steel then entered into partnership with

Ellethorpe & Adams, under the firm-name of Ellethorpe,

Adams & Steel, and was engaged in building stone bridges,

etc., for the city of Leavenworth. He was subsefjuently

engaged in rebuilding the Hannibal and St. Joseph Rail-

road, and continued in this work until December, 1869.

In 1867 he made an individual contract with James F.

Joy to build the accretions at Burlington, Iowa, for the

union depot of Burlington and Missouri, and Chicago, Bur-

lington and Quincy Railroads. This contract was com-

pleted in the fall of 1868 by working night and day. In

1870 he made a contract to build ninety miles of the St.

Louis and Southeastern Railroad, which was completed

November, 1871. In January, 1872, he took a contract

on the Cairo and Vincennes Railroad, having the entire

road to build through two counties, a distance of one hun-

dred and sixty-eight miles, and the building of culverts,

bridged, etc. This was completed in December, 1872. In

1873 he took the contract to build the superstructure of

forty miles on the Paducah and Memphis Railroad, and

completed that in thirty-five days. In May, 1875 Mr.
George Mason, of Toronto, made a contract to build seventy

miles of railway between the Great Western Railway of

Canada on the south, and the Wellington, Grey and Bruce

Railway on the north, to be opened for traflBc on the 1st

day of January, 1876. Mr. Steel received the contract to

grade thirty miles of the same ; also, the fencing of the

whole line, one hundred and forty miles of posts and board

fence. The following is an extract from a letter from Mr.

Mason

:

" The whole work is completed to my entire satisfaction,

and I have no hesitation in saying that to your skill, ex-

perience, and energy as contractor, I consider I am indebted

in a great measure for the successful completion of the

undertaking.
" Believe me faithfully yours,

" Geokge Mason,
" Chip/ Engineer, L. 11. and B. R. R., and D. and

M. R. R."

Besides his extensive railroad contracts Mr. Steel was

connected with the government work at Chicago, Calumet,

Ludiugton, Manistee, and Frankfort. In the year 1857

he became a Freemason, and is now a member of the St.

Johns Commandery. In 1848 he visited England, Ireland,

and Scotland, and was absent one year. He is a Republi-

can, and cast his first vote for Abraham Lincoln. In all

matters that pertain to the advancement of St. Johns or

Clinton County, Mr. Steel is ever ready to assist by his

counsel or capital. He largely engaged in agriculture, and

is the president of the Clinton County Agricultural Society.

He was instrumental in organizing the St. Johns Manu-

facturing Company, having a paid-up capital of one hundred

and fifteen thousand dollars. He owns ninety per cent, of

the capital, and holds the oflBce of president. In social

relations genial and companionable, in business matters

he is prompt and reliable, as a citizen respected and in-

fluential, at home cordial and hospitable; to the poor he

has been a quiet, unostentatious friend. He married, March

13, 1860, Miss Carrie A. Hyatt, daughter of James M.

Hyatt, of New York State. They have three children,

—

George A., Robert G., and Carrie L.

JOHN HICKS.

Mr. Hicks may with justice be regarded as one of the

foremost men of Clinton County in business enterprises,

and one who in certain specialties of trade has no com-

petitor. He is a Canadian by birth, having been born in

Kingston, Canada West, in 1824, his father, Samuel Hicks,

and mother, Eunice Bailey, having both been natives of

Connecticut. The former was a patriot of the war of 1812,

and was an active participant in the battle of Sackett's

Harbor. Mr. Hicks is of English extraction, and the first

twenty-six years of his life were spent mostly in Canada,

after which he came to the States, and repaired at once to

Michigan, having located in De Witt, Clinton Co., and en-

gaged as clerk and book-keeper with Hon. David Sturgis,

who was in the milling and mercantile business. A year

later he became a partner, and remained until 1856, when,

St. Johns presenting a wider sphere for his remarkable

business abilities, he became a resident' of the county-seat,

meanwhile having disposed of his interest at De Witt to

James Sturgis. Since then he has been actively engaged

in mercantile enterprises, first as a dealer in dry goods and

later as an extensive dealer in wheat. In the latter branch

of trade Mr. Hicks is one of the largest, if not the largest,

shippers of wheat in his portion of the State, and had the

satisfaction of forwarding the first car-load of that grain

by rail from St. Johns.
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Mr. Hicks was chairman of the committee on the erec-

tion of the court-house and jail at St. Johns, and has been

the vice-president of the First National Bank of the city

since its organization. He was married in 1855 to Miss

Eliza Huston, of Vermont, and has three children, who

with their parents share the comforts of the most attractive

home in St. Johns. Mr. Hicks, in connection with other

extensive business interests, is the proprietor of a foundry.

His integrity of character and fairness have not only mate-

rially contributed to his financial success, but established

for him an enviable reputation in all mercantile circles.

CHAPTER LI.

BINGHAM TOWNSHIP.*

Pioneers and Settlements—Township Organiz:ition and Civil List

—

Townsliij) Higliways—Educational—Religious.

Bingham is conspicuous among the townships of Clinton

County because it contains within its territory the village

of St. Johns, the county-seat. Its designation upon the

government survey is town 7 north, in range 2 west. Its

boundaries are Greenbush on the north, Olive on the south,

Ovid on the east, and Bengal on the west.

Originally including in many places considerable tracts

of waste land, Bingham still contains some swampy country,

—notably east and southeast of St. Johns village,—but the

rapidity with which this has been drained and improved

during late years makes its complete reclamation only a

question of time, and probably of the near future.

The Detroit, Grand Haven and Milwaukee Railway

pa.sses through the town from east to west upon almost an

air-line, and has in Bingham the station of St. Johns, the

market- and shipping-town for a wide stretch of surrounding

country.

THE PIONEERS OF BINGHAM.

Bingham township received its first settlers upon section

10, in the fall of 1837. The land there located covered two

eighty-acre lots, which Lucius Morton bought in 1837 for

his father-in-law, Thomas Neal, who with Morton and two

other .sons-in-law, named Joseph Russell and Bciij:iniin

Fiukle, was living in Lenawee County. In the autumn of

1837, Lucius Morton and his brother Herod came to the

place and rolled up the body of the first house built in

Bingham. Their intention was to stop until they could

complete the house and make a small clearing ; but their

provisions gave out before their allotted task was done, and

so they had to return to Lenawee County. When they got

back there, Lucius hired Benjamin Finkle and Runah Mor-

ton to go out to Bingham and finish what had been begun.

They reached the ground December, 1887, and in the fol-

lowing summer Thomas Neal came out. In September,

1838, Lucius Morton followed. Upon his arrival he found

that Silas Parks had joined the settlement and was on sec-

tion 3, whore John Avery now lives, anil that Joel Hebre

was on section 10. In February, 18311, Joseph Russell lo-

* By David Schwartz.

cated likewise on section 10. At that time, therefore, the

settlers in the northern part of tiie township included

Thomas Neal, Benjamin Finkle, Runah Morton, Lucius

Morton, Joel Bebce, Joseph Russell, and Silas Parks.

The first child born in the settlement was Lewis, son of

Lucius Morton, whose birth occurred in 1838. In 18G3

he was drowned in tlie Maple River while fishing from a

boat. He was subject to fits, and being attacked by one

while in the boat fell overboard. The first deaths in the

town occurred in 1840, when by scarlet fever, which raged

in a violent form, Benjamin Finkle lost three children, all

of whom died in the same week. At the same time Silas

Parks also lost two children by the same disease. Other

children of the neighborhood were sick with the fever, but

those mentioned were the only ones who died.

Silas Parks, already named, gained some notoriety during

the year 1839 by reason of the mysterious disappearance

of his four-year old boy under circumstances that were said

to have pointed strongly to Parks as the author of his

death, although nothing tangible was adduced against him.

Parks gave out that his child was lost, saying that the little

fellow had set out to visit a neighbor's house, and after that

had not been seen. Intelligence of the disappearance of

the child quickly spread, and people to the number of one

hundred or more promptly gathered and organized a search-

ing-party. They hunted for a week or ten days, and pur-

sued their work with unceasing vigilance until all hope of

discovery was given up, and then they came to the conclu-

sion that Parks had in a fit of auger made away with the

child and concealed the body. He stoutly maintained that

the Indians ' must have done it." Of course everybody

knew that story to be an improbable one, and that Parks in

a moment of impetuous rage had fatally injured another of

his children ; but no legal investigation followed, and Parks

went unscathed, at least by the law.

The first grown person who died was Thomas Neal,

whose death occurred in 1841. He was buried on William

Russell's farm in Greenbush, and was the first one buried

in the Greenbush cemetery (on section 8). The first

marriage is supposed to have been that of Ann Morton

and Stephen W. Downer, in 1841, at the house of the

bride's lather. Bishop Morton, on section 20, the ceremony

being performed by Joel Bebce, J. P.

The pioneers were obliged to go to Ionia or De Witt for

physicians, and when milling was nece.><.sary, to Ionia', Wa-

cousta, or Shiawasscetown. When Lucius Morton made

Ills first trip to mill after settling in Bingham, he had first

to start on a tour of exploration among older settlers to

buy or borrow some grain, and then, having found it, to

undertake the wearisome journey to mill, upon which ho

was absent four days, during which his lodging at night

was in the open air under his wagon. Mr. Morion's first

cabin had the trough-roof common enough in tho.se timers,

but, more aristocratic than his neighbors, whose windows

and doors were blanket.s, ho whittled with his jack-knife

thin sticks for window-sash, and over thein jiasted grea.sed

paper to serve as lights. M(nlon one day wished to start

for Do Witt by a shorter way than usual, nud with Runoh

Mortuii, Joel Hebec, anil Sylvester Carter wurkrd four days

undcrbrushing a roadway. At the end of that time they
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came to a swamp, and seeing no way (o cross it, gave up

tlie t;isk of road-building, and Morton, to get around the

swamp, which turned out to be less than half a mile across,

made a journey of twenty-four hours by way of Shiawas-

see. Working on the highways for the non-resident taxes

was a boon to the pioneers, as it gave to many of them the

only means of earning a subsistence while waiting for their

crops to mature. It was not always, however, that they

could get cash for their labor, and quite frequently county

or town orders were doled out to them. These orders were

good enough for taxes, but in trade they were current only

at a discount of forty per cent. Still they were welcome,

as being better than nothing.

Wheat was salable only at about fifty cents a bushel,

and at that no money could be got for it short of Detroit.

Hauling it that far for that price was far from profitable,

and in some cases farmers preferred to feed it to their cattle.

During Lucius Morton's first winter in the settlement he

could give his cattle no grain or hay, for he neither had any

nor could he buy any, and so during the season he cleared

fifteen acres to provide browse or tree-tops for nine cows.

In reply to the question, " Where did the people of the

settlement go to church ?" he said, " Why, bless your soul,

we didn't have any time to go to church ; we were too much

pressed for time to stop for church. Neither snow, nor

rain, nor Sunday made any difference in our ordinary pro-

gramme. We were out chopping at all times and in all sea-

sons, and begrudged even the night-time, which compelled

us to desist from labor, we were so anxious to hurry for-

ward."

Thomas Fisk, a resident of Greenbush,came occasionally

into the Bingham settlement and held religious services.

Fisk claimed to be a member of the Christian faith, but his

followers were popularly known as Fiskites. He grew into

disfavor in his own town, and was by reason of public

prejudice against him compelled to seek a home elsewhere.

Among other early comers into the Morton neighborhood

were Charles Simpson, William Silverwood, John Avery,

and Samuel Gardner. lu the year 1840 the extreme north-

western corner of Bingham came to be known as Gardner's

Corners, and for many years thereafter the Corners had a

reputation that reached far and wide. It was there that

Samuel Gardner located a piece of land in 1839, and in

February, 1840, he occupied the place as a permanent

settler. He was located on the De Witt road, passing via

the west town-line of town 7 (now Bingham) to Gratiot

County, and in the year 1840 there was a good deal of

travel over that road by land-seekers bound for Gratiot

County. Travel naturally suggested a tavern, and during

1840 Mr. Gardner put up a log tavern upon the spot now
occupied by one of his grandsons in the northwestern corner

of section 6.

Mr. Gardner called his tavern the Gardner House, and

the locality Gardner's Corners. At the time mentioned

(1840) he had but few neighbors in Bingham. Lucius

Morton, Benjamin Fiukle, and Joel Bebee were livin" in

the town east of liini, but south of him, on the De Witt

road, he knew of no one but William H. and Reuben
Norris between Gardner's Corners and De Witt. Travel

on that highway increased as time moved on, and in 1843,

to meet the demands of the occasion, Gardner replaced his

log tavern with a more pretentious and commodious framed

hotel. A portion of it he set apart as a store, and there-

after, between selling goods and keeping tavern, drove a

brisk trade. The Gardner House was, too, a place of

popular resort for the pleasure-seekers and merry-makers of

the adjoining country, and the many jolly dances and simi-

lar festive gatherings that marked its busy era are still sub-

jects of enjoyable remembrance among those who took part

in them. The country belles in those days were inordi-

nately fond of dancing opportunities, and although they did

walk barefooted many miles to a Gardner House ball and

carry their shoes to the ball-room door to save the wear of

them, they enjoyed the hilarious reunions none the less nor

missed one when they could help it.

Business at Gardner's tavern was during the briskest

season of travel so great that upwards of sixty teams were

kept there overnight, and the receipts of money before

ten o'clock in the morning were more than a hundred dol-

lars. Gardner kept the tavern until his death in 1867,

and after that his widow carried it on until it was burned

in 1872. During 1854, Mr. Gardner built at St. Johns

the first tavern put up at the village, although he was him-

self at no time the landlord of it. In 1857 a post-office

called Gardner's Corners was established at Gardner's

Hotel, and Mr. Gardner given charge of it. Mail was re-

ceived from St. Johns, the route being from the latter

place to Maple Rapids. Mr. Gardner remained in charge

of the office as postmaster until 18G3, when it was abolished.

The following list of resident tax-payers in Bingham in

1 840 shows very nearly who had been the settlers in the

township prior to that time, and the sections on which they

had located their homes :

Acres.

Silas Parks, section 3 40

Joel liebi'e, section 10 80
Lucius Morton, section 10 80

Josepii Russell, section iO 40

Benjamin Finkle, section 10 40

Reuben Norris, section 32 40

AVilliain H. Norris, section 32 120

Levi Frost, section 35 80

The resident tax-payers of the township in 1841 were:

Acres.

Silas Parks, section 3 80

Benjamin Finkle. section 10 40
Thomas Neal. section 10 40
Lucius Morton, section 10 80
Joel Bebee, section 10 80

Reuben Norris, section 32 80

William H. Norris, section 32 SO
W. C. Gardner, sections 1 and 6 320
S. C. Vandeventer, section 35 80

The following-named persons were drawn as jurors in the

township of Bingham in the year 1839 :

Enos Kinyan, William Swarthout, Charles Simpson, Joel

Bebee, Nathan Lowe, Samuel Barber, Francis Faxon, Henry

M. Sever, John Burnet, Charles Stevens, Sydney L. Smith,

Benjamin Carpenter, Oliver Bebee, Grove Cooper, John

Ferdon, Sylvester Carter, John Jessop, Allen Lounsbury.

Following is the list of jurors drawn for the year 1841 :

Grand.—Horace Avery, Joel Bebee, John Avery, Herod

Morton.
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Petit.—Moses Phillips, John Ferdon, J. I. Tinklepaugh,

Marvin Greenwood.

The residents in Bingham in 1842 liable to do mili-

tary duty were William C. Gardner, Samuel H. Gardner,

Stephen W. Downer, William H. Norris, Reuben S. Nor-

ris, C. Vandeventer, Joel Bebee.

The number of votes cast at the township election in

1845 was eleven, and they were cast by the following-named

persons : Samuel H. Gardner, Joseph A. Sperry, John

Avery, John Dickerson, William C. Gardner, John Avery,

Jr., Reuben S. Norris, Christopher Vandeventer, Samuel

Gardner, H. S. Harrison, Benjamin Fiukle, William H.

Norris, Bishop Morton.

Stephen W. Downer, famous for his successes as a bear-

hunter and the hero of a desperate bear-fight, located on

section 20 in 1841, and in 1849 exchanged his fiirm with

C. A. Lamb, of Oakland County, for a place in the latter

county. Lamb, who settled in Oakland in 1829, was a

Baptist preacher, and during his fifteen years' residence in

Bingham labored zealously in his ministerial calling. J.

li. Hale settled in that neighborhood in 1846, and in 1847

was followed by his brother. Homer W. Hale. At that

time the settlers in the vicinity were Lucius Morton, Ste-

phen W. Downer, David Snow, Bishop Morton, George

W. Estes. Later came A. 0. Huntley and A. Warren.

In 1847 the only settler in Bingham between H. W. Hale

and William H. Norris was J. R. Hale.

Daniel llidenour made a settlement in 1852 upon land

in sections 5 and 6, where he still lives. Some time after-

wards Simeon Haynes, Patrick Whittlesey, Richard Moore,

and J. H. Van Sice made settlements in the neighborhood,

llidenour had a number of adventures with bears, although

none of them, as far as report goes, were of a dangerously

exciting character. He was out after a cow in 1852, when

his dog started and made chase for a bear. Ridenour joined

the pursuit and came to close quarters with Bruin, who

turned and made a show as if for battle. Ridenour being

unarmed retreated in tolerable haste, but still in good order,

for William Silverwood's, and besought Silverwood to go

with him that they might slay the brute together. Silver-

wood admitted that the sport would be grand and that of

course the victors would be heroes, but however much he

might wish to immortalize himself, he was warned that his

lame back totally unfitted him for a bear-fight, and must

therefore decline to share in the honor, llidenour smiled

at the lame-back story, but he had to be content with it,

and not feeling particularly ambitious to engage single-

handed in the conflict, abandoned his purpose. Upon

another occasion Ridenour was aroused from his midniglit

slumbers by a commotion indicative of the presence of a

bear among the pigs. Rushing hastily forth, he founil sure

enough 'that an old bear and her two cubs were on the

ground' actively engaged in preparations for the removal

of a promising porker. Ridenour seized a cudgel and

boldly attacked the entire family. The old one anil one

of the cubs fled ingloriously into outer darkness, while the

second cub took to a tree. Ridenour hurried into his house

for a gun, but while he was gone the cub backed down

the tree and was gone by the lime his would-be slayer

returned, and thus in smoke ended the valiantly-directed

efibrts of the intrepid Ridenour.

John Avery, now living on section 3, located some land

in Greenbush, on section 33, in 1838. To earn sufficient

money to carry him eastward to his family, he cleared ten

acres for Marvin Greenwood, and in 1839 brought his fam-

ily out. In 1840 he bouglit his present place of Silas

Parks, but did not permanently occupy it until 1842.

Avery's first mill journeys were made in a canoe, by way

of the Maple River to Ionia; and when he wanted to reach

a market-town he journejed to Detroit, which place he

reached at times by ox-team and at others on foot. In the

winter of 1842 he cut out a road four rods wide and two

miles in length, and assisted later in the foundation of the

village of St. Johns, by hauling from the Rochester Colony

mill the boards for the first frame house built in the vil-

lage,—the Whittemore house, owned by Cornelius Vroo-

man. Mr. Avery was esteemed a hunter and trapper of

consummate skill, and carried on an active and profitable

campaign against wolves and other wild animals, the scalps

of the wolves yielding a handsome bounty.

Charles Simpson was a settler upon section 8 about the

time of Avery's location, and made himself famous chiefly

by reason of the fact that when he came in he brought

two barrels of pork and two barrels of whisky. The former

he peddled out to his neighbors. The latter he kept for

his own use, and used so freely that by the time the supply

was exhausted, lie himself was nearly in the same condition.

Among other early settlers in that vicinity were the

Davisons, Boughtons, Wykofis, Krolls, Balcoms, Doyns,

Shulters, Laphams, Tranchells, Williams, Hugus, and

Warrens.

In the southern portion of Bingham the earliest settle-

ment was made by William H. Norris in 1838, upon one

hundred and twenty acres in section 32, where he still lives.

From a recently-publi.shed sketch of Mr. Norris' pioneer

experiences is given the following :

" Ben Merrihew, of Olive, had built a shanty on a piece

of land owned by him, and quite near to Mr. Norris, and

being unoccupied the latter took possession of it until he

oould build upon his own. At this time he sold forty

acres of his farm to his brother, R. S. (now deceased), and

the two families lived together in the house which Mr.

Norris immediately erected. During the latter part of fall

and the early part of the winter following the logs were

gotten together and hewn for the brother's house, and

between Christmas and New Year they rai.sed it. On the

.^ame day, while they were at work at the new hou.so, the

fii-st one took fire, and for all they could do burned to the

ground with all its contents, although, happily, it was so

soon after their arrival that the belter part of the household

goods had not yet come from the former home in Washte-

naw. At this critical juncture some hardships were endured

which, even looked back upon through the softening .screen

of many years of plenty, bring with them no son.silii)ns of

pleasure. Of course there was nothing to do but to finish

the brother's house, and all occupy it until the burned spot

could be coverecl by annther home. In about two weeks

from the lime of the fire the father came from Superior
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witii tlie expected goods, together with some eatables, put

in with an especial reference to the late fire, all of which

exactly fitted into the niche which hard circumstances had

chiseled. The rest of the winter was spent quite comfort-

ably in spite of the uninviting outlook a little before, and

in the spring enough land was stripped of trees and logs to

allow of the sowing of two bushels of spring wheat on as

many acres ; and a little later three acres of corn were

planted, although the ground for tliis was not cleared of

logs, but the corn was thrust into the soil wherever a spot

could be found. One acre and a half of exceedingly rough-

looking ground was given to a scattering of oats, and thus

the new farm was cropped. In the following August the

burned house was replaced, and soon after, harvest coming

on, the crops were taken from the ground. A thrashing-

floor was made of split plank, a flail prepared, and the

yellow sheaves of wheat yielded up their golden treasure to

the amount of twenty bu.shels of clean, plump kernels.

The corn had eared splendidly, and two hundred bushels

were securely cribbed ; but the oats had been sown so late

that they could not ripen, and were cut and stacked for

fodder. Thus diligent hands, aided by a kind Providence,

managed to gather through the summer an encouraging

plenty for the winter, and these things provided for, what

if the home-nest was a little crude and frontier-looking?

It was comfortable and was home. To them " Be it ever

so humble, there's no place like home" was true, and hunger

was not to gnaw nor cold to pinch.

" After grain had been grown, harvested, and thrashed,

the work of putting it into a condition from which it could

be moulded into eatables was by no means accomplished,

for the milling in those days was a very important factor in

this preparation. Mr. Norris had come into the place well

provided with provisions, and not until August of the fol-

lowing year did he have to perform the laborious task of

going to mill. But at that time it must be done, and throw-

ing ten bushels of wheat into a wagon, and hitching on a yoke

of oxen, he started ofi" to find the mill at Delta, Eaton Co.

Persons not familiar with pioneer life can but illy imagine

what were the difliculties of team travel in those days of

footpaths and tree-blockaded roads. To the mill at Delta

he went until one was built at Ilochester Colony in 1841»

or 1842.

" Mr. Norris, as well as some others, was a religious man,

and realizing the need of gospel services in a place so emi-

nently calculated to breed a forgetfulness of God and the

incalculable interests of the soul, he, with others, organ-

ized a Methodist society in 1840, and they were soon shep-

herded by the Rev. Lewis Coburn. Revs. Lapham and VV.

Jackson, respectively, followed him in the gospel work in

those extreme early days of Bingham."

The next settler after Norris in the southern portion of

the township was Levi Frost, who in 1838 made a home
on section 35. While raising a barn in 1844, Frost was

crushed and killed by a falling log. Christopher Vande-

venter married the widow and lived on the place. He was

much given to hunting bears and wolves, and made a com-

fortable living on the scalp-bounties he obtained.

The place now occupied by William H. Krepps was first

settled by Nathan Flint about 1840. Flint claimed to be

a physician, and did doctor a good many people eff'ectively

with roots and herbs, although he was looked upon by reg-

ular practitioners as an impostor. Still he was gladly wel-

comed by sick settlers, and he did some good service.

While chopping. Dr. Flint was badly hurt by a falling tree.

Dr. Ilollister, of Victor, called to see him, and pronounced

his left leg so badly shattered, and Flint himself so pras-

trated, that it would be useless to attempt to set the leg, for

the patient was bound to die. Nevertheless, Dr. Flint

insisted that he would not die, and after nine days of suf-

fering, finding no one to set his leg, he set it himself and

finally recovered.

Moses D. Tabor settled in 1843 across the southern

town-line, opposite section 34, when the only settler west of

there was William H. Norris, and the only ones eastward

were Levi Frost and Dr. Flint. Tabor lodged his family at

J. W. Merrihew's while he was getting his cabin ready, and

although Merrihew's cabin had but one room in it, the two

families of nine persons managed to exist there, although

with little comfort or convenience. When Tabor had got

out logs for his cabin and was ready to raise it there came

on a heavy snow-storm and buried his logs so that he

could not well get at them. In this emergency he put up

a shanty in the snow as best he could, and for the next two

weeks his family lived without a pound of flour in the

house, but got along instead on hulled corn. What neigh-

bors he could reach were as badly off" for flour as he was,

and getting to mill was out of the (jucstion by reason of the

impassable condition of the few roads.

William Faucett, who in 1848 made a settlement on sec-

tion 34 (where he now lives), took a tract upon which

not a stick had been cut. In 1850, Ezekiel Lamphere lo-

cated on section 35, about a half-mile north of Dr. Flint.

Norman Williams came to section 35 in 1855. In the

southern portion of the town the early settlers included also

J. N. De Witt, 0. M. Brooks, William Gigler, George

Waldron, Carr, Richardson, Gillison, Newman, Barnes,

Hicks, Atkinson, and Beach.

L. S. Conn joined the settlers in Bingham in 1847, and

occupied a place on section 21, where a Mr. Ilalsiuger had

made a clearing of two or three acres. Mr. Conn's neigh-

bors were Benjamin Brown on the west, and Asher Hath-

away on the north, both within easy call. Although the

surrounding neighborhood contained (juite a number of

settlers, settlements had not in that quarter more than

fairly commenced.

South of Conn, and near the south line of the town,

Joseph Sperry had been living on sections 33 and 34 since

1844. When he came in for a settlement he had to cut

out a road from Laingsburg to his place. His nearest

neighbor was Moses D. Tabor, in Olive, on the north town-

line, where he had been living about a year. Christopher

Vandeventer was on section 35, near where W. H. Krepps

now lives. Sperry was the only one in the neighborhood

boasting the possession of a wagon, and he was therefore

the one who went to mill for all the neighbors,—the mill in

question being at the Rochester Colony. The pay he got

from those whom he thus served was daily labor on his place,

for money was too scarce to be paid out unless other means

failed. Sperry was a cooper, and made a good many barrels.
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wliich lie marketed at De Witt, where also the settlers

found their post-office as well as their church.

Sperry's cabin had a bark roof, but neither window nor

door, and many a night Mrs. Sperry was left alone with her

children to brave the terrors of loneliness, emphasized by

the presence of howling wolves. One night, while her hus-

band was gone on a journey to the Colony mill, Mrs. Sperry

was awakened by the pandemonium of what appeared to

her to be an hundred wolves howling about her cabin.

Terrified, she fled with her two small children into the

darkness and made for the house of Christopher Vande-

venter, nearly two miles distant, where she craved shelter,

and remained until morning calmed her fears and enabled

her to return home.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND CIVIL LIST.

Bingham was organized under act of Legislature ap-

proved March 21, 1839, and included towns 7 and 8 north,

in ranges 1 and 2 west, previously a portion of De Witt

township. Towns 7 and 8 in range 1 were detached in

1840, and called Ovid and Duplain respectively. Town 8

in range 2 was set oif Feb. 10. 1842, and named Green-

bush. The name of Bingham was bestowed in honor of

Governor K. S. Bingham.

The first town-meeting in Bingham was held, in accord-

ance with the provisions of the organizing act, at the house

of Joseph Sever, April 3, 1839. The record of the proceed-

ings of that meeting has been lost, and nothing can, there-

fore, be said touching the list of officers then elected. At

a special meeting held at Grove Cooper's house April 27,

1839, it was voted to raise one hundred dollars to defray the

expenses of the town for the ensuing year, that a pound

should be established at John Ferdon's barn free of ex-

pense, and that no money should be raised for the support

the poor.

Below is given a list of persons elected annually from

1840 to 1880 to the offices of supervisor, clerk, treasurer,

and justice of the peace in the township of Bingham:
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thence south, 48° east, 50 chains and 50 links to post

;

thence south, 52° east, 10 chains to post ; thence south, 43°

east, 5 chains to post; thence south, 50° east, 15* chains

to beech-tree ; thence south, 46° east, 6 chains and 25 links

to post ; thence south, 48° east, 7 chains to post ; thence

east, 21° north, 120 chains to post; thence south, 66° east,

5 chains to beech-tree; thence south, 77° east, 10 chains

and 65 links to beech-tree ; thence east, 3J° north, 6 chains

and 60 links to post; thence south, 65° east, 13 chains and

75 links; thence south, 59° east, 4J chains to basswood-

tree; thence south, 58° east, 19J chains to beech-tree;

thence south, 80° east, 8 chains and 40 links to maple-tree
;

thence south, 85° east, 15 chains and 38 links to post;

thence south, 75° east, 30 chains and 38 links to post

;

thence east, 17° north, 4 chains and 96 links to elm-tree;

thence east, IS chains and 25 links to post ; thence east,

27° north, 7 chains to basswood-tree ; thence east, 14°

north, 11 chains and 56 links to post; thence south, 85°

east, 19 chains and 87 links to post; thence east, 4° north,

4 chains; thence north, 37° east, 3 chains; thence east,

29° north, 1 1 chains and 81 links ; thence east, 5° south,

91 chains ; thence east, 13° south, 7 chains and 56 links;

tlience east, 5° south, 12 chains and 30 links; thence east,

10° north, 15 chains and 12 links; thence 39° north, 4

chains and 11 links; thence east, 43 J° north, 5 chains and

75 links; thence east, 32J° north, 6 chains; thence east,

48° north, 241 chains to the south [east] corner of section

36 in said town 8 north, of range 2 west.

" No. 3.—Also commencing 21° north, 40 chains east of

quarter-post, on the west line of section 6, town 7 north, of

range 1 west; thence east, 21° north, 36 chains and 5

links to post ; thence north, 5° west, 46 chains to the north

line of said section 6, 5 chains and 17 links west of the

northeast corner of said section 6."

COPY OF ENTRY IN UIGHWAY RECORDS.

" Mr. Stephen Pearl, T.C., of the township of Bingham :

We the undersigned, highway commissioners of the said

town, having determined to lay out the following roads, do

hereby order you to record the same.

" The minutes of the surveys of the several roads are as

follows

:

" Town 8 north, of range 2 west.

" No. 1.—Beginning at the west quarter stake of section

No. 23; thence running north 871° east, 80 chains to the

east quarter post of 23.

" No. 2.—Beginning at the northeast corner of section

No. 27; thence running south, 871° west, 160 chains to

the southwest corner of section No. 21.

" Toum 7 north, of range 1 west.

" No. 1 .—Beginning at the southwest corner of section

No. 36 ; thence running south, 87° west, 19 chains ; thence

north, 52 J° west, 8 cliains; thence south, 511° west, 17

chains and 3 links; thence south, 87° west, 32 chains and

13 links to the southwest corner of section No. 35.

" No. 2.—Beginning at the southwest corner of section

No. 36; thence running north, 3° west, 92 chains; thence

north, 45° east, 37 chains and 70 links to a stake 59 links

north, J° west, from w. oak 18 inches in diameter.

" Town 8 north, of range 1 west.

" No. 1.—Beginning at a stake bearing south 871° west,

20 chains from the northwest corner of section No. 33
;

thence running south, 2i° east, 80 chains and 24 links;

thence south, 15° west, 3 chains and 75 links; thence

south, 26° west, 1.3 chains and 52 links ; thence south, 21°

east, 12 chains and 59 links to a stake standing in the

centre of the highway.

"Recorded Dec. 14, 1839.

" Samuel Barker,
" Charles Stevens,
" Stephen Pearl, T. C,
"Commissioners of Highways."

EDUCATIONAL.

Bingham's first school was taught on the Silas Parks

place by Mary, daughter of Nathan Smith, of Olive. The

school-house was an abandoned cabin, and the pupils were

from the families of Lucius Morton, Silas Parks, and Ben-

jamin Finkle. Mary Smith taught the school two terms,

and after that Orpha Fisk taught in the same house. The

next teacher was Lucinda Richmond, who kept school about

two years in Lucius Morton's house, Morton having built

an addition to his residence for this purpose. He hired

Miss Richmond at one dollar a week, and charged a certain

sum per capita for each child to cover expenses. Some of

the pupils were boarded by him and others brought their

dinners.

The records of an early date having been lost, very little

touching the history of township schools from the begin-

ning can be gleaned. There is, indeed, nothing to be

gathered from the records antedating 1855. On the 6th

of October in that year it appeare of record that district

No. 4 was organized to contain the south half of section 9

and the whole of section 16, except the southwest quarter

of the southwest quarter. On the same day district No. 5

was formed, and contained sections 13, 14, 15, 22, 23, 24.

Fractional district No. 6 was formed Oct. 27, 1855, of a

portion of Olive and section 26, the east half of section 34,

and the whole of section 35 in Bingham. Oct. 27, 1855,

No. 7 was organized to contain section 29, the south half

of section 30, the whole of section 31, the north half of

the northwest quarter, the southwest quarter of the north-

west quarter, the southwest quarter, and the west half of

the west half of the southeast quarter of section 32. No.

8 was organized Feb. 2, 1856, and comprised the northwest

quarter of section 28, the north half of section 29, and the

north half of section 30.

From 1853 to 1858 teachers were appointed as follows:

Nov. 20, 1853.—Pamelia Bliss.

May 6, 1854.—Jane Clark.

May 29, 1854.—Stella Ferguson.

Nov. 6, 1854.—S. J. Wilcox.

Dec. 2, 1854.—Tamour Doty.

Dec. 5, 1854.— Catherine A. Fenner.

May 7, 1855.—Mary C. Richmond.

Nov. 3, 1855.—R. Dubois.

Dec. 15, 1855.—William Silverwood.

Dec. 21, 1855.—C. A. Lamb.
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Jan. 17, 1856.—Susan Gardner, Emily Rowan.

April 29, 185G.—Nancy M. Richmond, Adelaide Smith.

Nov. 1, 1856.—Charles T. Enoe.

Nov. 19, 185G.—George L. Wait.

Dec. 17, 1856.—Catherine A. Fenner.

Jan. 1, 1857.—John 0. Palmer.

Jan. 26, 1857.—George W. Doty.

April 13, 1857.—Sally Lamphere.

April 21, 1857.—Ann Davidson.

May 1, 1857.—Lucy M. Palmer.

June 19, 1857.—Betsey Warren.

Nov. 7, 1857.—Seth Hunt, Jr., Anthony Swarthout.

Nov. 12, 1857.—John Van Horn.

Dec. 2, 1857.—John R. Pond.

Dec. 12, 1857.—Esther Powell.

Jan. 5, 1858.—Nancy Sewell.

March 4, 1858.—Jeanette K. Newell.

April 10, 1858.—Elizabeth Severance, Rosina Severance,

Sophronia Corbin.

The annual school report for 1879 gives the following

details

:

Number of districts (whole, 5 ; fractional, 5) 10
'* sctiolars of sellout age 1,049

Average attendance 889
Value of school property $17,725

Amount of teachers' w.ages $5,014.50

The school directors for 1879 were H. W. Hale, C. H.

Sebert, Lyman Sperry, Josiah Upton, William Atkinson,

N. Williamson, Jans Purvis, Eugene Shulters, Frank

Sacket, and Richard Gay.

RELIGIOUS.

THE WEST BINGHAM UNITED BRETUREN CLASS.

In September, 1867, Rev. William Palmer, of the Ben-

gal Circuit, organized the West Bingham United Brethren

class, with five uieiubers, viz. : D. C. Nonis, Henry Lar-

kens, George Yallap, Mary Larkens, and Mary Yallap, the

class-leader being Henry Larkens. The Peck school-house,

ill district No. ^5, has been used as the place of worship

since the class organization. The class lias now a member-

ship of thirteen, and meets fur worship once a fortnight.

Mr. Palmer's successors on the work have been Revs. Dor-

rance, Beechler, Shelley, Barnaby, Older, Duryea, Lane,

Maynard, and Mowers. There is also a union Sunday-

school, of which Robert Larkens is superintendent, and in

which the attendance averages forty.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

JOHN R. IIALK.

John R. Hale was born at Sangersfield, Oneida Co., N. Y.,

Feb. 5, 1822, on the same farm and in the same house

where his father, Seneca Male, was born in 1790. John R.

lived iit home until he was twenty-one, and that year nH42)

came to Michigan with one hundred dollars, bought lainl

in Ingham County, where he remained some three yeans,

exchanging that jiroiierty for one hundred and si.\ty acres

49

of land where he now resides, and upon which he moved in

1845. The whole county was then a wilderness, scarcely

settled and all new beginners,—not more than fifty acres

of land at that time had been plowed in the town of Bing-

ham. Mr. Hale's first dwelling was a log cabin of the most

primitive kind, where he and his mother lived for several

years. To supply the neces.saries of life Mr. Hale was

obliged to seek employment in the more populous portions

of the State, consequently the improvements upon his own

land were made with the greatest difficulty. In 1852 he

went to California ; was absent two and a half years, when

he returned with sufficient money to enable him to purchase

other lands, erect a more pretentious log house, and make

substantial improvements from time to time until he now

has a fine farm of three hundred and twenty acres and a

commodious brick residence, a view of which may be seen in

this work. Mr. Hale has been twice married: first to Cor-

delia E. Redfield, June 2, 1847. She died Dec. 26, 1876,

leaving two children,—Emma, married Milton Smith;

the son, Frank 0., lives at home. Mr. Hale was again

married August, 1877, to Dorissa Miles, by whom he has

one daughter. Politically, Jlr. Hale is a Democrat, has

held several town offices, and is classed among the substan-

tial and reliable men of Clinton County.

JOHN AVERY.

John Avery was born in the town of Lyme, Conn., May

4, 1798, and is of English and Scotch descent. When six

years of age his parents moved to Jefferson Co., N. Y., and

when the war of 1812 broke out, John Avery, then a lad

of thirteen years, moved by a spirit of adventure and

independence which has characterized him through life,

enlisted in the Twenty-third Regiment of United States

Infantry. He participated in the capture of Fort George,

and nearly all the engagements on the frontier during the

war, and took part in the capture of the brigs " Adams"

and " Caledonia ;" was taken prisoner at the battle of Fort

Erie by the Indians, who took him to the forests of Canada,

where he remained more than a year in charge of Jack

Brandt, when his freedom was purchased by Adams & Ball,

merchants at Twelve-Mile Creek. He then returned to

Adam.-i, Jefferson Co., N. Y., where he was married, August,

1821, to Sarah Cooper, of Watertown. After a few years

they went to Chautaui|ua County, and in 1836 eaine to

Michigan, stopping in Oakland County two years, arriving

in Clinton County the fall of 183S with fifty dollars; pur-

chased forty acres ol' land in the town of (ireenhush,

where he remained five years, then purchimed eighty acres

iu Bingham, where he has since resided. At that time

this part of (he county was .sparsely settled, and all in\vt

beginners, with limited means. Mr. Avery cut out the

load ('or two miles, and |iut in iht? first log bridges on that

road. The country was heavily timbered, and tlie proeejw

of making a farm was slow, but by the indomitable jx-rse-

verance and strong arm of this pioneer the improvemenis

were made, other lands added, until at one time he had

more than four huiulred acres of land, witli large and snb-

Btanlial improvements. He has rai.sed a family of seven

children,— five sons and two daughters,—besides throe chll-



386 HISTORY OF CLINTON COUNTY, MICHIGAN.

dren which they adopted. Five of his own children are

now living. Three of his son.s took part in the late civil

war. John, Jr., was educated for a physician, was surgeon

of the Twenty-second Infantry, and with Sherman on his

inarch to the sea ; is now practicing liis profession at Green-

ville, Mich. Marvin was sergeant in the Sixth Cavalry,

and killed at Trevillian Station, Va., June 12, 1864. Mer-

ritt was living in Minnesota, and joined a regiment from

that State. Politically, Mr. Avery was a Denaocrat, and

remained with that party until the exigencies of war ap-

pealed to the patriotism of every friend of his country,

when he joined the Republican party and cast his vote for

President Lincoln.

Mr. Avery was a warm supporter of the Union cause.

In 1863 he called on President Lincoln, and was furnished

with a pass to the front; went to Fairfax Court-House,

where his son was stationed. Here he was furnished a

horse and rations, and rode with the regiment for four

weeks, during which time he witnessed the battle of Get-

tysburg.

John Avery and his wife were well calculated for a new

country, being blessed with strong constitutions, untiring

energy, and good common sense. She died Dec. 6, 1877,

aged seventy-eight years, after a married life of more than a

half-century.

Mr. Avery, although past his fourscore years, enjoys

good health. His faculties are unimpaired, and he man-

ages his large farm with the same energy and care of former

years.

DANIEL RIDENOUil.

Daniel Ridenour was born in Ashland Co., Ohio, Sept.

12, 1819. His father came from Pennsylvania, and was a

soldier in the war of 1812. Daniel lived with his parents

until he was twenty-three years of age, when he was married

to Alflefa Monson, who was accidentally killed some eighteen

months after they were married. She left one child, Mary,

then six months old ; she was born Jan. 23, 1845. Mr.

Ridenour was again married Feb. 1, 1846, to Almira Mon-

son, sister of his former wife. They came to Clinton County

September, 1852, with eight hundred dollars, which he had

saved from his earnings. His first purchase was two hun-

dred and forty acres of land, two and a half miles north of

St. Johns, where he has since resided. He at once erected

a log house and commenced cutting himself a home from

the unbroken forest ; the task was a laborious one, but by

energy and perseverance rarely equaled this pioneer couple

kept steadily on clearing ten acres each year for ten years
;

and from that time other lands were added, until he now

has more than six hundred acres at the home-farm, large

improvements, and substantial buildings. He has raised a

family of seven children. For his eldest son he has bought

a well-improved farm. Mr. Ridenour is classed among the

reliable and wealthy farmers of Clinton County, which

position he has attained by strict integrity, economy, and

industry. His wife died in 1873. He was again married

in 1874 to Mrs. Kentfield, formerly Miss Lodema Baldwin,

daughter of Sherman Baldwin, an early settler in the town

of Essex, where he died in 1847.

CHAPTER LH.

BATH TOWNSHIP.*

Settlement of the Township—Organization and List of Township

Officers—Schools—Churches—Village of Bath.

The township of Bath is the southeastern township of

Clinton County. It is bounded north by Victor, east by

Woodhull, in Shiawassee County, south by Ingham County,

and west by the township of De Witt. The soil where

tillable is of a good quality, but as a whole the township

has considerable marsh- and swamp-lands. It is drained

by the Looking-Glass River and its branches.

Several causes had a tendency to retard the early settle-

ment of Bath. The most potent of these was probably the

fact that it contained a very large proportion of swampy

land, which induced immigrants to look upon it with dis-

favor as an undesirable region for agricultural purposes.

Another and not the least cause, as given by old settlers,

was the fact that a certain eleme"nt detrimental to the best

interests of the township gained a strong foothold within it

during the first years of its settlement. Members of those

families who desired to hunt rather than work looked upon

the little clearings made here and there in the township

mucti as the Indian does who sees his hunting-grounds in-

vaded and his forests gradually disappearing before the

strokes of the axe. They looked upon new-comers as in-

truders, and did everything in their power to deceive and

discourage the better clement from settling among them.

In a number of places notices were posted upon the trees

bearing the warning that no hay or wood must be cut on

those premises, and signed by some real or fictitious name

as that of the owner of the land, while in fact the land had

never been purchased from government. But this trick

induced strangers to believe that there was no government

land in the township, and inquiry generally strengthened

these impressions. Many of the actual settlors themselves

were deceived in this regard. One gentleman, who came to

the township and found, as he was told, all the land already

entered, went to the land-ofiice and made out a plat showing

the resident, non-resident, and government land in the' town-

ship, and sold copies of this diagram for a trifle. He en-

tered land, built a cabin, and occupied it with the intention

of staying ; but he soon received a threatening notice to

leave. A road which he had constructed with a great

amount of labor was blockaded by trees which were felled

across it during his absence. He was continually annoyed,

until finally in despair he sold out and left the township.

It is unnecessary to add that these circumstances all worked

together to give the township a bad reputation and deter

its settlement, so that as late as 1850 there wore still gov-

ernment lands of good quality remaining unentered in the

township.

The honor of being the first settler in Bath is accorded

to Ira Cushman, who came to the township and entered a

part of section 19 in 1836. In February, 1837, he

brought his family and commenced the first improvement.

He built a log house sixteen by twenty-six feet, but whether

* By G. A. Mc.\lpinc.
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lie or Silas W. Rose plowed the first furrow is not satis-

factorily settled. Both planted spring crops. Jlr. Cusli-

man (and his brothers, who settled acro.ss the line in the

township of De Witt) planted a large field (for those days)

of corn and potatoes, and this field was sowed to wheat the

next fall.

Silas W. Ilo.se first came to Bath in the fall of 1836, on

a prospecting tour, and about the 1st of April, 1837, he

with his wife and five children reached his farm of three

hundred and twenty acres on section 23. He brought

three yoke of oxen, two cows, a wagon, some farming-im-

plements, and household goods. Over a ridge-pole, sup-

ported by two posts, he spread several (|uilfs as a temporary

shelter for his family, and then built a cabin. It stood

where the barn now stands, across the road from the residence

of his son, William Rose, with whom his mother, the widow

of Silas W. Rose, still lives. The old cabin was afterwards

used as a blacksmith-shop by Cornelius Potter. It was the

first in the township. He subsequently built a cabin and

opened a shop near the present site of the Baptist church.

In the same spring, and about the same time that Mr.

Rose came to Bath, James Smith and family came in and

settled on the southeast quarter of section 30. His daugh-

ter. Miss Nellie Smith, was married to Jacob Esty about

the year 1841. This is regarded as the first marriage in

the township. Mr. Smith was elected first treasurer of

the town.ship of Ossowa. His sons, James and Harrison

Smith, live in Bath, and Stephen is a resident of Ingham

County.

In the fall of 1837, Jacob Conklin settled on section 7.

The cabin which he built for his family of nine children

contained but a single board, and this formed a part of the

door to which the hinges were attached. Peter Conklin

(his son) lives on the old homestead.

At about the same time Nathaniel Newman, with his

family, settled on section 18. His brother, Joseph New-

man, came soon after, and commenced to clear up and im-

prove a farm on the same section. He died suddenly in

1838. This was the first death in Bath. He was buried

on the farm of Ira Cu.shman, where a piece of land was

then or soon after set ofi' as a burial-ground, and has since

been known as the Cushman Cemetery. Nathaniel New-

man subsequently left his property in care of his sons, or

di.spo.sed of it to them, and went away from the township.

Jesse and Jonathan Burke came in 1837 or early in

1838. Jesse settled on the northeast quarter of section 23.

He started to go to California some years afterwards, and

was supposed to have died on the way. Jonathan Burke

married a Mi.ss Parshall, of Woodhull. He died in the

war of the Rebellion.

In 1838, Peter Finch located the southwest quarter of

section 24. After a number of yeai-s he sold to Thomas

Newman. This farm is now occupied by William Peck, an

early settler near Ann Arbor. The farm which he tilled

there is now a part of the corporation of that city, and is

the .site of some of its best residences.

The northeast quarter of section 21 was settled by Wil-

liam Culver in 1839. He subsequently married the daugh-

ter of A. Priest, wlio settled on soclion 35. Ho.sea Root

settled on the northeast quarter of section 25. He sold to

the father of Hiram L. Tooker, who had been clerk of

Bath a number of years.

The farm now occupied by John B. Clark was settled by

A. Coddington. Mr. Clark came to Bath in 1849.

In 1841, Joseph Piersons entered a part of section 2, but

subsequently removed to section 3, where he now resides.

He was married when he came to the township and had one

son, who, in the war of the Rebellion, joined the Second

Regiment of Berdan Sharpshooters, and died in the city of

Washington.

From the list of the pioneers of Bath should not be

omitted the following names: Miles W. and Philemon

Newman, sons of Nathaniel Newman, before referred to;

0. A. and E. L. Phelps, R. J. Burt, William Coss, Stephen

B. Iloby, Jacob Lewis, Stephen Gregory, Lyman Potter,

Isaiah Fletcher. The latter was a blacksmith, and started

the second shop in the township.

D. P. Dryer, with his son, Isaac M. Dryer, came to Bath

in 1850 and bought the east half of the northwest quarter

of section 20. When Mr. Dryer had prepared the logs for

his house, he called upon some of the old settlers to assist

him at the raising. Several in the vicinity, however, upon

who.se hunting and grazing range ho had established him-

self, declined on the ground that they understood no

whisky would be furnished. This was true, and Mr.

Dryer was about to despair of receiving help without going

out of the neighborhood, when Samuel B. Smith promised

to come. He was a very powerful man, and put up one

corner of the frame alone. He (Mr. Smith) was one of

the first settlers in the township of De Witt.

The following statistics, compiled from the records, will

show the gradual development of the township

:

In 1843 the number of votes cast for supervisor was 24
;

in 1850, 31 ; in 18G0, 103; in 1870, 12G; in 1880, 29G.

In 1845 the total valuation of real estate was 814,743;

in 1855, $64,823; in 1860, §75,854.

In 1845 personal property amounted to 81170; in 1855,

811,496; in 1860, 813,066.

In 1845 the total amount of money raised by ta.Kation

was 8290.41; in 1860,81505.12; in 1879,84746.63.

OKGANIZATION AND LIST OK TOWNSUU'
OFFICE IW.

The territory now comprised within the liniit,s of the

towTishi]is of Hath and Victor formerly constituted the

township of Ossowa, which was organized and set off by

the Legislature of the State in March, 1839. The name

of Ossowa wa.s discontinued March 9, 1843, by act of Legis-

lature, and by the .same act the territory of the old township

was divided and the north half of it was erected into the

township of Victor, with boundaries as at present. The

southern half, described lus town 5 north, range 1 west, was,

through the infiuencc of Silas W. Ro.se (the second settler

in the township), named Bnth, from Batli, Steuben Co.,

N. Y., the place of his former residence.

Pursuant to a notice Lssued, the first annual meeting in

the township of ().s,sowa was held at the house of John

Hunter, at Round Lake, .\pril 1, 18.39. The names of the

Voters present it is now impossible to obtain, but it is prob-
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able there were several in addition to those given in the list

of oflBcers for that year.

By vote the following persons were elected pathmasters

in the several districts :

Silas W. Rose, district No. 1.

William Young, district No. 2.

Philemon Newman, district No. 3.

W. J. Partelo, district No. 4.

Jesse Jameson, district No. 5.

John Collister, district No. 6.

The first meeting of the town board of the township of

Ossowa. to audit its accounts, was held Nov. 18, 1839, at

which time the following accounts were entered :

James Smith $10.50

W. E. Young 2.25

Jonathan Burke 2.50

Daniel M. Blood 3.00

S. W. Rose 28.00

Alva Coddington S.OO

Jesse Jameson 21.00

Hugh Hagcrty 18.00

IIoseaRoot 4.50

John Collister 8.50

Philemon Newman 1(1.50

W.J. Partelo 7.15

Total SI20.00

On Jan. 23, 1840, "James M. Blood, in consideration

of twelve and one-half cents, received to [his] full satisfac-

tion," leased to school district No. 3 of the township of

Ossowa one-quarter of an acre in the northwest corner of

section 13, now in the township of Victor, " to have and

to hold the same for the use of said district as long or as

many years as the school district desire to occupy it as a

site for a school-house." This was the first lease made and

recorded in the township.

The first license to keep a tavern was granted to James

M. Blood. A few days after, the following one was granted

to Samuel Chappel, in the following words

:

'' County of Clinton, >
' I ss

State of Michigan, j

" At a meeting of the town board [of the township of

Ossowa], at the house of James M. Blood, for the purpose

of granting permits to tavern-keepers and common victual-

sellers, on the 11th day of April, 1840, Samuel Chappel

was allowed to keep a tavern in all its various branches, ex-

cepting the privilege to retail ardent and spirituous lickours,

which privilege the board do not grant or permit ; said license

to take effect on the 1st day of May of the present year,

and to expire on the last day of April, 1841, in his house,

formerly belonging to Chancey Davis, on section 27, town

6 north, range 1 W., and no other.

" James M. Blood,

H. Hagektt,

Jesse Jameson,

John Collister,

Tovm Board.'

As lias been stated, Ossowa was divided in 1843 and the

township of Bath was organized. The first election held

jn Bath as a distinct town.ship was at the house of Silas

W. Rose, on the 18th day of April, 1843, on which occar

sion the whole number of votes cast was fwenty-five.

The township officers of Ossowa and Bath annually

elected from 1839 to 1880, inclusive, have been as named

in the following list, viz.

:

OSSOWA.

1839.— Supervisor, Silas W. Rose ; Clerk, C. Davis* ; Com-

missioners of Highways, James Smith, Hosea

Root, Jesse Jameson ; Assessors, Hugh Hagerty,

A. Coddington, Philemon Newman ; School In-

spectors, Silas W. Rose, W. J. Partelo, A. Cod-

dington ; Justices, Hugh Hagerty, Jesse Jame-

son, P. Newman, S. W. Rose ; Collector, Jona-

than Burke; Constables, Jonathan Burke, Peter

Fiuke, Chauncey Davis, J. Canklin ; Directors

of the Poor, Robert Finch, James Smith ; Treas-

urer, Jesse Jameson.

1840.—Supervisor, James Blood ; Treasurer, Jesse Jame-

son ; Assessors, A. Coddington, D. H. Blood,

Hugh Hagerty ; Collector, P. Finch ; School

Inspectors, W. J. Partelo, R. Collister, Jr.,

Jonathan Burke ; Directors of the Poor, Robert

Collister, W. E. Young ; Commissioners, Robert

Finch, Joseph Parsons, James M. Blood ; Jus-

tices, W. J. Partelo; Constables, Peter Finch,

Stephen Finch, Samuel Chappel, W. Calkins.

1841.—Supervisor, W. W. Upton ; Clerk, Silas W. Rose
;

Treasurer, 0. A. Phelps ; Assessors, Hugh

Hagerty, Henry Goodrich, Jesse Burke ; Col-

lector, John Crist ; School Inspectors, Walter

Laing, John G. Brindle, W. W. Upton ; Com-

missioners, Edwin L. Phelps, C. Potter, Went-

worth Calkins ; Justice, Walter Laing ; Consta-

bles, John Crist, William Culver, W. Calkins
;

Directors of the Poor, James Smith, Jesse Jame-

son.

1842.— Supervisor, W. W. Upton; Clerk, D. H. Blood;

Treasurer, Ainsworth Reed ; Assessors, John

Groom, Walter Laing; Commissioners, Howe
Covert, John Collister, Joshua Priest ; Justice,

Stephen Smith ;
School Inspectors, John Brin-

gle, John Groom, W. W. Upton ; Directors of

the Poor, David B. Cranson, D. S. Coates ; Con-

stables, William Finch, C. S. Swegles, A. Groom

;

Sealer of Weights and Measures, James Calkins.

BATH.

1843.—Supervisor, O. A. Phelps; Clerk, S. W. Rose;

Treasurer, E. L. Phelps ; Assessors, R. J. Burt,

H. Culver ; School Inspectors, R. J. Burt, A.

Priest ; Directors of the Poor, Jacob Conklin,

S. W. Rose ; Commissioners, P. Newman, Wil-

liam Cass, James Smith ; Justices, S. Call, Wil-

liam Cass, J. Burke ; Constables, R. J. Burt,

H. Stevens, J. Persons, M. W. Newman.

1844.—Supervisor, 0. A. Phelps; Clerk, S. W. Rose;

Treasurer, E. L. Phelps ; Assessor, A. Eldrich
;

School Inspector, R. J. Burt. The minutes of

the meeting of this year are incomplete and in-

definite.

* At a special election called on May 11, 1839, for Ihe purpose of

filling vacancies, the following-named persons were chosen : Clerk,

John Collister; Assessor, Jesse Burke; School In.spectir, William E.

young.
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1845.—Supervisor, S. Cole; Clerk, W. H. H. Culver;

Treasurer, ; Assessors, Joliu Covert,

I. B. Towner ; Commissioner, J. Calkius ;
School

Inspector, S. B. Smith ; Directors of the Poor,

J. Smith, I. Fletcher ; Justice, R. Burt ; Con-

stables, T. Newman, L. Priest.

1846.—Supervisor, Samuel Cole ; Clerk, Israel R. Trcm-

bley ;
Treasurer, Jesse Burke ; Commissioners,

Edwin L. Phelps, Stephen Grei;ory, Montgomery

Burt ; School Inspectors, D. L. Elert, Samuel

B. Smith ; Justices, Ezias A. Phelps, Isaac

Fletcher ; Directors of the Poor, Isaac B.

Towner, Isaac Fletcher ; Constables, Montgom-

ery Burt, Harrison Levanway, Hamilton Stevens,

William H. Culver.

1847.—Supervisor, D. Levanway ; Clerk, John Crist

;

Treasurer, Jesse Burke ; Commi.ssioners, George

Smith, William Coss, E. L. Phelps ; School In-

spector, Richard Burt; Justices, Samuel Cole,

John Tyler; Directors of the Poor, Jacob Conk-

lin, Harrison Levanway ; Constables, Hamilton

Stevens, Alexis Tyler.

1848.—Supervisor, Dorus Levanway; Clerk, Sylvanus

Bachelder ; Justice, Isaac Fletcher ; Treasurer,

Jesse Burke ; School Inspector, Dorus Levan-

way ;
Commissioner, A. Tyler ; Assessors, Joseph

Piersons, Isaac B. Towner; Directors of the

Poor, J. Conklin, James Smith ; Constables,

A. Stevens, S. Tyler, P. Conklin, W. H. Culver.

1840.—Supervisor, R. Burt; Clerk, S. Bachelder; Justice,

R. Burt ; Treasurer, J. Burke ; School Inspec-

tors, W. II. Culver, J. Marsden ; Commission-

ers, J. Tyler, S. Cole ; Assessors, R. Collister,

J. B. Towner; Directors of the Poor, J. Smith,

J. Conklin ; Constables, L. Tyler, M. Cushman,

T. Newman.

1850.—Supervisor, S. B. Smith; Clerk, S. Bachelder;

Treasurer, A. Tyler ; Justice, Thomas Peacock
;

School Inspector, J. R. Trenibley; Commissioner,

James Smith ; As.sessors, E. L. Phelps, W. H.

Culver; Directors of the Poor, James Smith,

Jacob Conklin ; Constables, Stephen Tyler,

James Smith, Peter Conklin, Morris Cushmun.

1851.—Supervisor, S. B. Smith; Clerk, S. Bachelder;

Treasurer, J. Burke; Justice, S. Cole; School

Inspector, R. Burt ; Commissioner, D. P. Dryer

;

Assessors, J. Piersons, T. Peacock ; Directors of

the Poor, J. Smith, J. Tyler; Constables, A.

Sweet, P. Rose, L. Tyler, S. Cole.

1852.—Supervisor, S. Bachelder; Clerk, S. Fletcher;

Treasurer, A. Cole ; Justice, S. R. Trenibley

;

School Inspector, S. Bachelder ; Commissioner,

J. Tyl(T ; Directors of the Poor, K. l?url, D, P.

Dryer; Constables, A. Crane, A. Sweet.

1863.—Supervisor, S. Bachelder; Clerk, I. Fletcher;

Treasurer, S. Cole; Justice, E. L. Plielps;

School Inspector, A. Crane; Coniniis>i(iiii'r,

Joseph Pierson ; Directors of the Poor, S, Culr,

A. Sweet; Constables, A. Crane, W. Peacock,

R. Rose, James Smith.

1854.—Supervisor, S. Bachelder; Clerk, I. Fletcher, Jr.;

Treasurer, S. Cole ; Justice, D. P. Dryer

;

School Inspector, S. Bachelder ; Commissioner,

E. Trunible ; Directors of the Poor, S. Cole, E.

L. Phelps; Constables, S. Hunt, R. Rose, L.

Tyler, S. Tyler.

1855.—Supervisor, S. Bachelder; Clerk, I. Fletcher, Jr.;

Treasurer, I. Cole ; School Inspector, W. R.

Norton ; Commissioner, A. Smith ; Directors of

the Poor, R. Collister, Jr., E. R. Phelps; Con-

stables, J. Burke, J. Spangler, W. Stevens, S.

R. Tyler.

1 85G.—Supervisor, James H. Cay vett ; Clerk, Jacob Spang-

ler ; Treasurer, D. P. Dryer ; School Inspector,

James H. Cayvett ; Justice, John Watlin ; Com-

missioner, Benjamin Martin ; Directors of the

Poor, A. K. Shay, Henry Goodrich ;
Cou.stablea,

L. Potter, N. P. Gallup, D. Marr, Wm. Stevens.

1857.— Supervisor, John M. Easton ; Clerk, Samuel Cole;

Treasurer, I. Fletcher, Jr.; Justice, A. Crane;

School Inspectors, John G. Brindle, P. R. S.

Crage ; Commissioners, Walter Love, Oney

Davis; Directors of the Poor, E. L. Phelps,

Henry Goodrich
;
Constables, William Stevens,

Walter Coss, Jared Debar, Robert Rose.

1858.— Supervisor, Thomas Woodman ;
Clerk, W. M. Van

Leuven ; Treasurer, Isaac Fletcher, Jr. ; Jus-

tices, E. L. Phelps, Samuel Bender ; School

Inspector, Jacob Spangler ; Commissioners, A.

Debar, Silas W. Rose ; Directors of the Poor,

Joseph Piersons, Henry Goodrich ; Constables,

A. Debar, E. Smith, W. Love, M. Cushman.

1859.—Supervisor, Thomas J. Woodman
;
Clerk, W. M.

Van Leuven ;
Treasurer, Isaac Fletcher ; School

Inspectors, John M. Easton, John G. Brindle;

Justices, Walter Love, Isaac M. Dryer; Direc-

tors of the Poor, E. L. Phelps, Albert Smith;

Constables, James Culver, R. C. Comstock,

Abraham Smith, P. N. Galliger.

I860.—Supervisor, John M. Easton; Clerk, William M.

Van Leuven ;
Treasurer, Lsaac Fleluher ; School

Inspector, Hiram Ralhburn ;
Justices, Samuel

Cole, John G. Brindle ; Commissioner, Silas W.

Rose; Constables, Alexander McKibbin, R. C.

Comstock, James L. Culver.

1861.—Supervisor, John M. Easton; Clerk, W . .M. Van

Leuven; Treasurer, Isaac Fletcher; Justice,

T. J. Woodman; School Inspectors, John M.

Easton, W. R. Nortou ; Commissioner, James L.

Culver; Constables, William P. Trembly, Lyman

8. Potter, Ranslbrd C. Com.stock, Silas \V. Hose.

1862.—Supervisor, Thomas J. Woodman ; Clerk, Wash-

ington Youry ;
Treasurer, I.Mjiac Fletcher; Jus-

tice, Marion Smith ;
Comnii.-isiomr, Daniel Sober;

School Insjiectors, Jacob Spangler, John Seely
;

Constables, Albert P. Smilh, Charles Cu.shman,

George II. Spangler, Willier Tlionip.son.

1863.—Su))ervi8or,^riiomas J. Woodman ;
Clerk, Wii.sliing-

toii Youry; Treasurer, Stephen H. lloby
;

Ju.s-

tices, Samuel Hunt, Elisha Abel ; Commissioner,
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Milo Mead ; School Inspector, Isaac M. Dryer

;

Constables, John L. Tyler, Albert P. Smith,

Milo Mead, John Thompson.

1864.—Supervisor, John M. Easton; Clerk, David M.

Knox ;
Treasurer, Isaac Fletcher ; Justice, D.

M. Knox ; Commissioner, Silas W. Rose ; School

Inspector, John M. Easton ; Constables, Charles

W. Smith, George W. Fletcher, Daniel Peacock,

P. N. Gallup.

1865.—Supervisor, T. J. Woodman ; Clerk, Washington

Youry ; Treasurer, Albert Watson ; Justices, T.

J. Woodman, David P« Dryer, Albert Smith
;

School Inspector, Albert Watson ; Commissioners,

I. M. Dryer, Stephen B. Robj' ; Constables,

Milo Cushman, Robert Rose, George Spangler,

Stephen B. Roby.

1866.—Supervisor, John M. Easton ; Clerk, Hiram L.

looker ; Treasurer, Albert Watson
;
School In-

spector, J. N. Smith ; Commissioner, G. S. Cul-*

ver ; Justices, James Conkright, Levi Randall

;

Constables, F. M. Randall, W. H. Rose, George

W. Fletcher.

1867.—Supervisor, John M. Easton; Clerk, Hiram L.

Tooker ; Treasurer, Leon Benson ; School In-

spector, W. W. Bowdish ; Commissioner, Silas

W. Rose ; Justices, Levi Randall, John Read

;

Constables, Lawrence Price, Francis M. Randall,

Edward F. Riirgs, William Rose.

1868.—Supervisor, Washington Youry; Clerk, Hiram

Tooker ; Treasurer, Albert Watson ; Justices,

T. J. Woodman, Richard Trumbull ; School In-

spectors, R. C. Robinson, A. Watson ; Commis-

sioners, Henry Ousterhout, L. W. Knapp ; Con-

stables, Lyman Doughis, Isaac Chapman, Warner

Coston, A. M. Towner.

1869.—Supervisor, John M. Easton ; Clerk, Hiram Tooker

;

Treasurer, Albert Watson ; Commissioner, Peter

W. Sleight ; Justice, David Donaldson
;
School

Inspector, Henry Ousterhout ; Constables, Ly-

man Douglas, William Goodrich, William Sleight,

Jared De Bar.

1870.—Supervisor, Sylvanus Bachelder ; Clerk, Wiilard

A. Corn ; Treasurer, Albert Watson ; Justices,

Nathaniel J. De Bar, W. W. Bowdish ; School

Inspector, Newell A. Dryer; Commissioner,

Silas W. Rose
; Constables, Jared De Bar, David

Wherry, Edward Southworth, Charles B. Cole.

1871.—Supervisor, John Read; Clerk, A. B. Gregory;

Treasurer, A. Watson; Justices, Stephen B.

Rowley, H. H. Hawley ; School Inspector, C. B.

Church
; Commissioner, W. H. Famill ; Con-

stables, A. Sheffield, Daniel Peacock, C. W. Smith,

P. N. Gallup.

1872.—Supervisor, John Read; Clerk, Hiram Tooker;

Treasurer, Elijah M. Hawley
; Justices, W. W.

Bowdish, A. II. Clark
; School Inspector, N. A.

Dryer; Commissioner, Oscar T. Place; Drain

Commissioner, Hiram Tooker; Constables, Hel-

mer Gardner, David Wherry, Ira 0. Fletcher,

A. W. Sheffield.

1873.—Supervisor, Isaac M. Dryer; Clerk, Hiram Tooker-

Trea.surer, Elijah M. Hawley ; Justice, Ilanford

H. Hawley ; School Inspector, 0. S. Trumbull

;

Highway Commissioner, G. W. Fletcher; Drain

Commissioner, Silas W. Rose ; Constables, W.
H. Sweeny, C. W. Austin, Isaac Chapman,

Amos Phelps.

1874.—Supervisor, Isaac M. Dryer; Clerk, Hiram Tooker
;

Treasurer, Albert Watson ; Justice, T. J. Wood-

man ; Highway Commissioner, L. W. Knapp
;

Drain Commissioner, Milo Mead ; School In-

spector, Washington Youry ; Constables, Charles

W. Austin, Mitchell Hyler, Alfred Sprague, Al-

bert Hyler.

1875.—Supervisor, Isaac M. Dryer; Clerk, Hiram Tooker;

Treasurer, Albert Watson ; Justice, Ross Brown
;

School Inspector, Washington Youry ; School

Superintendent, T. A. Stephens ; Highway Com-

missioner, George W. Fletcher; Drain Commis-

sioner, Sylvanus Bachelder ; Constables, Charles

W. Austin, William Mitchell, Bradley T. Whit-

ney, Charles 11. Cushman.

1876.—Supervisor, Isaac M. Dryer; Clerk, A. W. Johnson
;

Treasurer, A. Watson : Justice, T. K. Makley

;

School Inspector, Washington Youry ; School

Superintendent, T. A. Stephens ; Highway Com-

mis.sioner. Job Sleiglit ; Drain Commissioner, T.

J. Woodman ;
Constables, T. B. Whitne}', James

Terry, T. M. Goodhue.

1877.—Supervisor, Ross Brown ; Clerk, A. W. Johnson
;

Treasurer, Albert Watson ; Justices, Sylvpnus

Bachelder, Isaac Fletcher, Edwin Clark ; School

Inspector, Daniel Peacock ; School Superintend-

ent, T. A. Stephens ; Highway Commissioner,

F. H. Mackloy; Constables, John G. Smith,

Warren Trumbull, C. B. Gillingham, C. J.

Martin.

1878.—Supervisor, Isaac M. Dryer; Clerk, H. L. Tooker;

Treasurer, Albert Watson ; Justices, A. H.

Clark, Silas W. Rose, E. 1^1. Hawley ; School

Inspector, Henry Talmage ; School Superintend-

ent, Edward Barber; Highway Commissioner,

James Sweeny ; Drain Commissioner, T. J. Wood-

man ;
Constables, Edward Everett, Nelson W.

Torrey, Denis Robey, George Van Scoy.

1879.—Supervisor, Isaac M. Dryer ; Clerk, Albert Watson
;

Treasurer, W. H. Rose ; Justice, T. J. Wood-

man ;
School Superintendent, T. A. Stephens

;

School Inspector, George H. Carl ; Highway

Commissioner, James Sweeny ; Constables, Ed-

ward Everett, Rolin Crandall, Samuel Cushman,

John Woodman.

1880.—Supervisor, Ross Brown; Clerk, Abel W. John-

son ;
Treasurer, William H. Rose ; Justice, Silas

W. Rose ; School Superintendent, T. A. Ste-

phens ;
School Inspector, George W. Fletcher

;

Highway Commissioner, C. B. Church ; Drain

Commissioner, James N. Smith ; Constables,

Nathaniel J. De Bar, Charles E. Phelps, Charles

W. Austin, Tunis Croukite. |
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SCHOOLS.

Tlie schools of Bath had their beginning in a little log

cabin, built by Peter Finch, on the farm now owned by

William Peacock. But the exact time in which this be-

ginning was made it is now impossible to say with certainty.

It was probably in the summer of 1840. Mrs. Finch, who

had taught before she came to the township, commenced a

school, and several days had glided peacefully away, with

from seven to ten scholars in attendance, when a minister

of the Christian Church came to the house of Silas W.

Rose, and signified his intention to hold public worship,

and this school-house was selected as the place in which it

was to be held.

Several boys in the neighborhood, thinking to give him

a warm reception, built a rousing fire in the fireplace, which

was made of stones, sticks, and mud, and the result was

that the building took fire and was destroyed. This ter-

minated the school until another log school-house was built

in this district. This second one stood where the one now

in use stands. It was the first frame scliool-house built in

the township. A school had been taught as early as 1831t,

in the northwest part of the towri.ship of Woodhull, and

this continued in active operation lor a number of years,

and to it the settlers in the adjoining part of Bath sent

their children. A school was also opened in Ingham

County, near the southeastern part of Bath. The second

school in the township was in a diminutive cabin, built by

Joshua Priest, on the farm of Jacob Wesncr, during the

summer of 1844. This, as well as several succeeding terms

(taught in another cabin built by Stephen Gregory, on the

farm now owned by Isaac Fletcher), was conducted by Miss

Mary Ann Young. In the log school-hou.se which was

built subsequently, Rliss Celestine Freeman taught the first

term
;
and Miss Kate Hardy taught the first term in the

frame School-house built in this district by Silas W. Rose

and James L. Culver.

The following table gives the number of scholars in each

school district (whole and fractional) in the township, and

the total amounts of moneys raised for various .school pur-

poses for the year 1879:

Difltriot. S('liuliir-8. Ainuiint.

No. 1 (whole) Xi $17ii.7n

" 2 ' ii.i 214.14
" ;{ " 32 (i.)S.»2

" 4 " )2o ID.'i.M

" 3 " 43 ISl.fi.'.

" 10 " 4.') 1113.4,')

" 6 (fractional) 3a 2.'i(l.',iy

" 7 " I'J 142.35
" 8 " 42 214.7B
" 9 " Ifl I43.S2
" 12 " 55 133.11

CHURCHES.

As has already been stated, a minister of the Christian

Church came to the hou.se of Silas W. Rose about the year

1840. Ills ctforts resulted in the organization of a society

of that denomination, the original members of which were

five in number, as follows: Mr. and Mrs. Sila.s M. Rose,

CoiiH'lius Potter and wife, iind William Culver.

The society prospered for some years, and at one time

became quite strong, but as some of its best members died,

and (idlers moved away, it declined and was at last dis-

continued.

The next society organized was that of the United Breth-

ren, but it was discontinued in a short time.

The Methodists also made several attempts to establish

their society in the township in an early day, but their

efforts were unsuccessful.

FIRST FlUCK-WILI, BAPTIST CHURCH.

This church was organized by S. Courier and William R.

Norton, in April, 1855. A series of revival-meetings had

been conducted with gratifying success, and at the first

meeting called for the purpo.se fifteen names were enrolled.

In 1872 the society built a meeting-hou.se, which cost

about two thousand five hundred dollars. The present

membership is ninety.

CLOSE-COMMUNION BAPTIST CHURCH OF BATH.

On the 16th day of March, 1808, the friends of this

society met, in compliance with the recommendation of

Rev. A. H. Parsons. At this meeting a vote to organize

was unanimously adopted, and the following-named per-

sons became the constituent members of the church:

Charles, Samuel, and Samantha Vandeventer, Sarah Cheney,

Abiram Riggs, Amanda Cronkite, Lucina Ellsworth.

These were admitted by letter from other Baptist socie-

ties to which they had belonged. There were also a num-

ber admitted on probation.

FIRST METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF BATH.

This society owes its organization to Rev. A. A. Ralph,

who, in the winter of 1869, conducted a series of revival-

meetings with notable success. These meetings were con-

tinued about four weeks, during which time a large number

of converts were made, and the class which, prior to this

time had belonged to the Okemos charge, received many

additions and became a distinct organization and the centre

of- the circuit. Rev. A. A. Ralph was succeeded by B. S.

Pratt. The society is now under the charge of Rev. J.

Hills. It has a membership of eighty-one. A class of

the same society, numbering fourteen members, meets at

.school-house No. 10, but it is not a chartered society.

The Methodist Kpiscopal Society at Pino Lake was organ-

ized about the same time iis the one mentioned abuvo. In

1879, while Rev. McKwing was in charge, it buili the

" Pine Lake Meeting- House," which cost fifteen hundred

dollars.

VILLAGE or BATH.

Tlie village of Bath is situated upon land which was

entered and settled by Oustin Marr, a soldier of the Mexi-

can war. He received a land-warrant from the government,

and camo to Bath and located on (ho southeast quarter

of section 17. He subsequently sold it to Charles Tomp-

kins.

When the railroad was <'ompleted into the township, the

people, desirous to secure u depot, olfcred the company

various inducements to that end. A sum of money was

raised by subscriptiiiii, ami in addition Mr. T(im|ikiiis offered

the undivided one half of forty acres, favorably located,

for depot and yard purposes. The propo.sition wa.s accepted

and a de]iiit immediately built. It was the first house built

in the village, which wa.s platted mxiii after. A lot was
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soon sold to Israel Van Ostran, who built a small tavern.

This was remodeled and a large addition built to it in 1879

by John Reade.

The first store in the village was opened by F. Kelly

and John Steffee, in the house now occupied by John

Smith. Charles Farrer opened a blacksmith-shop, and

after some years sold it to Walter Snell. The first post^

master in Bath was H. H. Culver. Artemas H. Clark, the

present postmaster, was appointed in 1873. About the

year 1864 a saw-mill was built by Mr. Lee, which did good

service. Since then several have been built and two have

been destroyed by fire. The one now standing was built

by Watson & Everetts. On the 20th day of January, 1880,

the Bath Flouring-Mill, built by Loach, Ray & Company,

commenced operations. It has one run of stones for flour,

and one for coarser grinding, with room for another run.

It has a forty-five horse-power engine. It was a valuable

addition to the business interests of the village.

There are now in the village four general stores, one

drug-store, one shoe-store, a carriage- and wagon-shop, etc.,

in addition to the business places already mentioned. The

population of the village is three hundred and fifty.

Dr. Newell A. Dryer and Dr. Albert Hicks are practicing

physicians of Bath.

BATH LODGE, No. 124, I. O. O. F.

This lodge was organized Dec. 1, 1868, with N. A.

Dryer, I. M. Dryer, W. S. Hall, Martin Neichswander, C.

J. Hyler as its charter members. The lodge is now in a

prosperous condition, having seventy members. The founda-

tion of a hall, twenty-four by fifty-five feet, is completed,

and the building will be at once erected and furnished for

the use of the lodge.

The present officers are N. Watson, N. G. ; J. Sweeney,

V. G. ; A. H. Clark, Recording Secretary, A. Webster,

P. Secretary ; Thomas Witchel, Treasurer.

BIOGliAPHIOAL SKETCH.

JAMES

This gentleman, one of the leading agriculturists of

Clinton County, was born in the town of Hector, Tompkins

Co., N. Y., April 20, 1830, and was the eldest in the family

of Jonas and Mary (Gilmore) Smith, which consisted of

six. The elder Smith was a farmer, and was born in

Tompkins County in 1807, and was niariicd in February

of 1829. In 1833 he reniuvcd with hi.s family to San-

dusky Co., Ohio, where he resided until his death. He
was a man of more than ordinary ability, and was one of

the prominent citizens of the county. He held various

positions of trust and responsibility, notably among the

N. SMITH.

number that of sheriff and county commissioner; the

latter position he filled acceptably for six years. He held

the office of justice of the peace for eighteen j'cars. He

was an energetic and successful farmer, and acquired a

competency. James received a common-school education,

and remained at home until he was twenty-four years of

age. He studied civil engineering and surveying, and for

several years was engaged as a teacher. In 1854 he met

his do^tiny in the person of Mi.ss Rachel Short, whom he

married in that year. Shortly after his marriage he pur-

chased a farm, which he carried on in connection with that
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of his father. He took an active interest in political mat-

ters, and ill 1858 was elected county clerk. At the ex-

piration of his term of office he was re-elected. lie dis-

charged his duties with fidelity to the trust reposed in him,

and with credit to himself.

In 1864, Mr. Smith disposed of his property in Ohio

and came to Bath, where he purchased seven hundred acres

of land, which is a part of his present estate of twelve

hundred acres, a large portion of which is under a high

state of cultivation. Since coming to Michigan Mr. Smith

has eschewed polities, and has devoted himself to farming

and stock-growing. He has a large herd of Galloway cattle,

of which he is said to be the largest breeder in the United

States.

Mr. Smith has devoted much time and study to the

subject of draining, and is considered to be standard au-

thority on anything pertaining thereto. He is county

drain commissioner, and in this capacity his services are of

immense value to the farming community. As a farm en-

gineer he is undoubtedly one of the most proficient in this

part of the State, and his services are in great demand.

He is one of the organizers and charter members of the

Central Michigan Agricultural Society, and has probably

done more to advance its interests than any other member

of the organization. The society was born under adverse

circumstances, and has had to contend with many difficul-

ties and embarrassments, and its success is largely attributa-

ble to the untiling eiForts of its present superintendent,

James N. Smith. The exhibition of the centennial year

was highly successful, and the officers of the society,—

•

business men of the city of Lansing,—knowing that it was

due largely to the efforts of Mr. Smith, and to show their

esteem and appreciation of his services, presented him with

an elegant cane suitably engraved.

Altogether, Mr. Smith is one of those leading spirits

whose identification with any community is always produc-

tive of good.

CHAPTER Lin.

BENGAL TOWNSHIP.*

Description—Original Land-Entrios—Early Settlements and Settlers

—Organixatiou and Civil Iji.st—Ueliginus History—Uurial (iruunds

—Agrieultural Statistics—Bengal Grunge—Population.

This is an interior township, its southeast corner being

the centre of the county. It is designated by the United

Slates survey as township No. 7 north, of range No. 3

west. The .southern boundary was surveyed in 182G by

Lucius Lyon ;
the east, north, and west boundaries were

surveyed in 1831 by Robert Clark, Jr. The subdivision

was made by Joel Wright and eertilied to June 2S, 1831.

Essex, which was ibrmerly included in this town.shij), lies

on the north ; Bingham township, with the village of St.

Johns, the county-.soat, is on the east; Riley lies sdiith,

and Dallas is on the west. The area of the township is

50

* By Gbarles A. Chajiin,

23,300y^,f acres. The surface is gently undulating, the

elevations being about fifty feet above the general level.

From these elevations some beautiful views of the surround-

ing country are had. The soil is remarkably fertile, pro-

ducing large crops of grain, fruit, and vegetables. Origi-

nally the township was heavily timbered with ash, basswood,

beech, cherry, elm, maple, oak, and walnut. Robert Clark,

Jr., deputy surveyor, in his field notes, Feb. 10, 1831,

speaking of Stony Creek, .«ays, " 1 have ascertained that

this stream Is called by the French traders La Riviere aux

Roche, or Stony Creek." This stream runs through the

southern portion of the town from cast to west, entering

the town on section 25, receiving a branch from section 24,

and running thence through sections 2G and 27 and in sec-

tion 34, receiving Bad Creek ; thence through section 33

and in section 31, mingling its waters with those of the

Mu.skrat, it passes out of the township into Dallas.

The northerly portion of the town is drained by Hay-

worth Creek and a branch, being principally on sections 2

and 3. The Detroit, Grand Haven and Milwaukee Rail-

way runs through this town from east to west, having a side-

track and station at Lyon's Mills. Bengal has no water-

power; it is entirely an agrieultural town, and is justly

entitled to its fame of being one of the best townships in

the county. Its farmers are well to do, and their well-

tilled acres are second to none.

Its first pioneer (Judge Cortland Hill) says, " Bengal

was heavily timbered, and the early pioneers had but little

inducement to stay in such a wilderness, to fight wolves

and work their way up to civilized .society. Several of the

first settlers who could get away left for other parts, but

those who remained acquired a competence, and some an

independent fortune. The wild beasts of the forests, the

deadly foes to flocks and herds, have been utterly destroyed
;

the forest has melted away before tlie hand of industry, and

orchards and fruitful fields now fill its place. The log

cabins that sheltered the early settlers from the storm have

rotted down, and elegant mansions stand in their stead.

In forty years Bengal liiis constructed two hundred and

eighty dwellings, sixty miles of good wagon-roads, and

spanned the crossing on every stream with a good, substan-

tial bridge. Fron 1837 to 1850 Hengal Wiis considered

the most worthless town in the county,—away back in the

woods, outside the boundaries of civilization. Land was of

no value, for no one would buy it; grain was not worth

raising, for it could not be 8hij)|H?d ; cuttle would not pay,

for it was too far to drive them to murkel ; sheep could

not be raised, for the wolves would eat them up
;
yet amidst

all these dilTicullies her progrcjis has been steadily onward,

until .'^hc stands the peer of any of her sister towns in the

county."

OKKIINAL L.VND KNTKIKS.

Th(! following list shows the nanics of I hose who bought

land of the general government in this township, and also

giTe.1 their residence, date of entry, and description :

8KITIHN I.

E/,ra J. Miindy, Idvingstun Ci>., Mieli., Nov. 1, IS.'lfl, nortlioAot frao-

lional quarter.

.Tames S. >Vrtdsworth, (Icne'co, N. Y., April 5, 1H.17, souihwoi^t quarter

and south lialf of nurtlnvo«( quarter.
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William D. Robinson, Wayne Co., Mich., Aug. 21, 1837, southeast

quarter.

Section 2.

James S. Wadsworth, Geneseo, N. Y., April 5, 1837, south half of

northwest quarter and south half of northeast quarter.

Peter Larkings, Washtenaw Co., Mioh., May 12, 1837, southwest

quarter.

Anna Denton, Seneca Co., N. Y., May 12, 1837, southeast quarter.

William D. Robinson, AVayne Co., Mich., Aug. 21, 1837, north hiilf of

northwest quarter.

Section 3.

James S. Wadsworth, Geneseo, N. Y., April 5, 1837, south half of

northwest quarter and south half of northeast quarter.

Hannah Green, Wayne Co., Mich., May 12, 1837, southeast quarter

and southeast quarter of southwest quarter.

William D. Robinson, Wayne Co., Mich., Aug. 21, 1837, north half

of northeast quarter.

Section 4.

Seymour H. Sutton, Ionia Co., Jlich., Deo. 13, 1836, south part of

east fractional quarter.

James S. Wadsworth, Geneseo, N. Y., April 5, 1837, southwest quarter

and west half of southeast quarter, and south half of northwest

quarter.

Section 5.

James S. Wadsworth, Geneseo, N. Y., April 5, 1837, south half and

south half of northeast quarter.

Section 6.

Mortimer C. Rice, June 9, 1852, southeast quarter of southeast quarter.

Section 7.

Abel Densmore, Calhoun Co., Mich., Nov. 7, 1836, east half.

James K. Guernsey, Monroe Co., N. Y., Dec. 13, 1836, southwest

fractional quarter.

Section 8.

John Easton, Trumbull Co., Ohio, Nov. 7, 1836, southwest quarter

and west half of southeast quarter; Dec. 12, 1836, northeast

quarter and northwest quarter.

Section 9.

Bush and Bailey, Lansing, Mich., Aug. 6, 1853, whole section.

Section 10.

Sarah 11. Porter, Lancaster Co., Pa., Nov. 5, 1836, east half.

Whealon Eldrich, Genesee Co., N. Y., Nov. 7, 1836, southwest quarter.

Hazcn Jaquish, Elton, N. Y., June 19, 1852, northwest quarter.

Section 11.

Sarah H. Porter, Lancaster Co., Pa., Nov. 6, 1836, northwest quarter.

William B. Waldo, Brooklyn, N. Y., Nov. 5, 1836, northeast quarter

and east half of southeast quarter.

Jeremiah Groat, Montgomery Co., N. Y., Nov. 5, 1836, southwest
quarter and west half of southeast quarter.

Section 12.

Daniel Starr, July 18, 1836, northwest quarter and west half of south-
west quarter,

James K. Guernsey, Monroe Co., N. Y., July 18, 1836, northeast
quarter and east half of southwest quarter.

Section 13.

William B. Waldo, Brooklyn, N. Y., Nov. 5, 1836, west half of south-
west quarter.

William Farley, Calhoun Co., Mich., Nov. 5, 1836, west half of noiJ,h-

east quarter.

Daniel Z. Ostrim, Orleans Co., N. Y., Nov. 5, 1S36, east half of north-
east quarter.

Section 14.

William B. Waldo, Brooklyn, N. Y., Nov, 5, 1836, east half,

Austin R, Gordon, Savannah, Ga,, Nov, 5, 1836, west half.

Section 15.

B. Bartow, Ionia Co., Jlich., Nov. 4, 1836, southwest quarter.

Caleb Tieknor and George M. Ilickok, New York City, Nov. 5, 1836,

northwest quarter,

Nathan Smith, Allegany Co., N. Y., Nov. 5, 1836, west half of north-

east quarter.

Section 16.

School lands.

Section 17.

Charles Osgood, Monroe Co., Mich., Dec. 12, 1836, west h.-ilf.

Section IS.

B. B. Kercheval, Detroit, Mich., Nov. 7, 1836, west half of southwest

fractional quarter.

B. B. Kercheval, Detroit, Mich., Dec. 13, 1836, northwest fractional

quarter and cast part of southwest fractional quarter.

Charles Osgood, Monroe Co., Mich., Dec. 12, 1836, east half.

Section 19.

Abram H. Stevens, Ontario Co., N. Y., Nov. 5, 1836, cast half of

southeast quarter.

H. S. Vanderbilt, Ontario Co., N. Y., Nov. 5, 1836, west half of south-

east quarter and cast half of southwest quarter.

William Case, Washteuaw Co., Mich., Nov. 7, 1836, northwest frac-

tional quarter.

Lucinda Perkins, Allegany Co., N. Y., Nov. 8, 1836, west part of

southwest fractional quarter.

Section 20.

Abner Perkins, Allegany Co., N. Y., Nov. 8, 1836, southwest quarter

and west half of northwest quarter.

George M. Ilickok, Salisbury, Conn., Nov. 8, 1836, east half of north-

west quarter.

Section 21.

Wheaton Eldrich, Geneseo Co., N. Y., Nov. 7, 1836, northeast quarter.

N. and D. F. llorton, Jackson, Mich., Nov. 8, 1836, south half.

Robert D. Swagart, Broome Co., N. Y., April 18, 1851, west half of

Borthwest quarter.

Section 22.

B. Bartow, Ionia Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 1836, northwest quarter and west

half of northeast quarter.

Wheaton Eldrich, Geneseo Co., N. Y., Nov. 7, 1836, southwest quarter.

Luther Tieknor, Salisbury, Conn., Nov. 8, 1836, southeast quarter.

Section 23.

B. B. Kercheval, Detroit, Mich., Nov. 5, 1836, southeast quarter.

S. V. R. Trowbridge, Oakland Co., Mich., Nov. 5, 1836, northeast

quarter.

William Reynolds, Portage Co., Ohio, Nov. 8, 1836, northwest quarter.

Luther Tieknor, Salisbury, Conn., Nov. 8, 1836, southwest quarter.

Section 24.

Sherman Page, Feb. 19, 1836, east half of northeast quarter.

Andrew T. Judsou, April 27, 1836, east half of southeast quarter.

Stephen L. (Tagc, Oakland Co., Mich., Nov. 5, 1836, northwest quar-

ter and west half of northeast quarter.

Section 25.

A. Montgomery, Lenawee Co., Mich., Sept. 21, 1836, southwest

quarter.

David Blakely, Jr., Otsego Co., N. Y., Sept. 23, 1836, west half of

northwest quarter.

Aldrich Knapp, Oakland Co., Mich., May 12, 1837, east half of north-

east quarter.

Ezra Thornton, Oakland Co., Mich., May 12, 1837, west half of north-

east quarter and east half of northwest quarter.

Section 26.

Mary Cronkhite, Lenawee Co., Mich., Sept. 21, 1836, south half.

George Lewis, Essex Co., N. Y., Nov. 5, 1836, west half of northwest

quarter.
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David F. Farley, Oakland Co., Mich., Nov. 5, 1S3C, northeast quarter

and east half of northwest quarter.

Section 27.

F. A. Kennedy, Lenawee Co., Mich., Sept. 21, IS.Ifi, south half.

George Lewis, Kssex Co., N. T., Nov. 5, 1S.3G, northeiust quarter and

cast half of northwest quarter.

Sanford Laccy, Livingston Co., N. T., Nov. 5, IS.'ifi, west half of

northwest quarter.

Sectios 2S.

Sanford Lacoy, Nov. 5, IS-TG, east half of northeast quarter.

Enos Dutton, Calhoun Co., Mieh,, Nov. 5, 18.36, west half ami west

half of northeast quarter, and west half of southeast quarter.

I). Lacey, Livingston Co., N. Y., Nov. 6, 18.3fi, east half of southeast

quarter.

Section 29.

Hiram Godfrey, Wa.shtenaw Co., Mich., Nov. 5, LS.3G, oast half of

northwest quarter.

Lemuel Dwelle, Jr., Oakland Co., Mich., Nov. 5, 1S3G, we.<t half of

northwest quarter.

Lemuel llrown, Ionia Co., Mich , Nov. 8, 18,3(5, southwest quarter.

Walter W. Deaue, Wayne Co., Mich., Jan. 18, 1837, southeast quarter.

Sectios 30.

Ebenezcr Sprague, Allegany Co., N. Y., Nov. 5, ISSfi, east half of

northwest quarter, and cost half of southwest quarter.

B. B. Kercheval, Detroit, Mich., Nov. 6, 1836, west part of northwest

fractional quarter and west part of southwest quarter.

Lemuel Dwelle, Jr., Oakland Co., Mich., Nov. 5, 1836, cast half.

Section 31.

Henry M. Moore, Genesee Co., N. Y., Sept. 21, 1836, cast half of

northwest fractional quarter and east half of southwest fractional

quarter,

James Grant, Oakland Co., Mich., Sept. 23, 1836, west half of north-

east quarter and west half of southeast quarter.

Thomas Palmer, Ionia Co., Mich., Sept. 28, 1836, west half of south-

west fractional quarter, and southwest quarter of northwest frac-

tional quarter.

Walter W. Deane, Wayne Co., Mich., Jan. IS, 1837, cast half of

souttieast quarter.

Daniel Merrill, Hancock Co., Me., Sept. 23, 1837, cast half of north-

cast quarter.

Section 32,

Daniel Merrill, Sept. 23, 1836, south half.

Walter W. Dcane, Jan. 18, 1837, north half.

Section 33.

Arunah Sopor, Hartford, Conn., Sept. 28, 1836, south half.

Section 34,

Elijah L. AValter, Washtenaw Co., Mich., Ajiril 28, 1837, west half of

southwest quarter.

Iluldah Curtis, Washtenaw Co., Mich., April 28, 1837, northwest

quarter.

Laura U. Curtis, Washtenaw Co., Mich., June 27, 1837, east half of

southwest quarter.

Section 35.

Miles E. Chapman, Medina Co., Ohio, Juno 12, 1819, northwest quar-

ter of northca.st quarter.

Henry T. Truman, Juno 12, 1849, northwest quarter.

Stephen F. Hammond, Medina Co., Ohio, July 17, 18.12, soutli half of

northeast quarter and southwest quarter of northeast quarter.

Section 36.

Sherman Page, Feb. 19, 1836, east half of southeast quarter.

Andrew T. Judson, April 27, 1836, east half of northeast (quarter.

Benjamin .Stanton, Medina Co., Ohio, June 16, 1852, northwest quarter

of northeast cjuarter.

EARLY SETTLEMENTS AND SETTLEKS.

Cordand Ilill and Luciiida, lii.s wifo, liaviii^ ju.-it been

uianicd, and liaviiiir cuncludod to seek a now homo in tlio

far West, packed up their goods and left their home in

Cortland Co., N. Y. Proceeding to Syracu.se they took a

canal-boat for Buffalo, and at that port took passage on a

steamboat for Detroit, which they reached in about four

days. In Detroit Mr. Hill hired two teams for one hun-

dred dollars to take thoni and their household goods

tlirough to Scott's (now De Witt), On arriving there

they met H, M. Moore and James Grant, who had just

come in from Ionia, wliero they had each entered one hun-

dred and sixty acres of land on section 31. Mr, Hill

bought this land of them at two dollars per acre, and then

hired a man to go on bi;fure him and put up a log cabin,

Mr, Hill hired from Capt. Seolt two wagons drawn by oxen

to convey his goods to their location in the unbroken wil-

derness. The road wliich they traveled was the State road

and Dexter trail, which had been undcrbrushcd and made

passable for wagons. On the 2lith day of September, 1837,

they arrived at their new home, and found a log cabin ready

for occupancy. This cabin .stood a few feet west of their

present residence. Its size was fourteen by eighteen, with

shanty roof covered with shakes. The floor was of white-

ash split thin ; the opening for a window was filled with

sash and glass, which they brought with them. The door

was made from the boards of their packing-boxes. The

fireplace was omitted, for they brought a cook-st«ve. Two
years later another and better log house was erected in

front of their first cabin. In 18.')(5 the frame house which

they now occupy was built, Mr, and Mrs, Hill have had

one son and five daugiiters born to them, but they have

been called upon to mourn the loss of their daughters, who

were cut down in the flower of their youth,

Clinton J, Hill was born on the homestead in 1838, and

is married and still living on it with bis parents. Judge Ilill

has been supervisor of Bengal fifteen years, and at times

has filled all the minor offices. He was the first justice of

the peace, having been elected while the town was a part

of Lebanon. In the county he lias been judge of probate,

serving from 1850 to ISStj. Ho has been postma-ster for

thirty years, and still enjoys the position and its emoluments,

though the latter are but nominal.

In the fall of 1838 the second family moved into the

township; they were William Drake and wife, with three

sons, two married and one single. They settled on the east

half of the northwest and southwest (|uartcr of section 30,

which was divided among the sons,—C. U. taking the south

part containing filly-five acres, Uriah the mid-portion of

fifty acres, and Levi the north part of fifiy-five acres.

The widows of C. U. and Uriah are still living on their

homesteads. Levi moved into Dallas, where he now lives.

The next pioneer was Adam Ijuughlin, a native of Ash-

tabula Co., Ohio, who in 183G, a young and single man,

settled in Oakland County. The next year, 1837, he bought

fruni David V. Farley the east half of the iiorliiea.st (|iiarter

of section 'M, and in the beginning of winter came in to

chop and clear ten acres for Farley, to make a payment on

his jmreha.se. His first work on the section wxs (o cut

down a large beech-tree which slotui on the corner of his

land, iiorllicasl nf his present residence; this tree served

as a back-log lor his camp-fire, in front of which he camped

three nights; dining the day ho w;w oceii]iicd in jiuniiig
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up a log cabin on the land he was to clear. After clearing

the ten acres he went back to Oakland County, where he

married, and in January, IS-IO, with his family, moved in

and occupied the cabin which he built three years before.

In the spring he built a log house near his present resi-

dence, which he built in 1866. Of six children four are

now living,—Charles is married and lives on the homestead
;

Lydia (Mrs. Gibson) lives in Bingham ; Jane (Mrs. Clark)

lives in Danby, Ionia Co. ; Mary (Mrs. Prudy) liv€S in De

Witt.

Charles Grant, of Wyoming Co., N. Y., having lost his

second wife, took their two children (boys) and came to

this State in October, 1836. Stopping in Ann Arbor, he

left his children with their grandparents and then went to

Mason, Ingham Co., where he built a saw-mill, which was

the first erected there. Proceeding to Lyons, Ionia Co., he

helped build the first bridge which spanned the Grand

Piiver at that place. He then went back to New York and

married Emelinc Gillett, of Gainesville, Wyoming Co.

Returning to Lyons in the winter of 1838, he lived there

working at his trade until the spring of 1840, when he

moved to Bengal and settled on the south half of the north-

east quarter of section 4. Being a carpenter he built a

frame house, which was the first in the town. He lived

on this place till 1849, when he moved to the south half

of the northwest quarter of section 3. His house, wiiich

was in an unfinished condition, was taken down and tran.s-

ferred, and now forms a portion of his present residence.

When they moved into the town there were no roads, and

their only way out and in was by a trail marked by blazed

trees.

Mr. Grant is a veteran of the war of 1812, and served

his country at Sacket's Harbor. Charles W. Grant, a son

by his first wife, lives at East Saginaw ; Elihu lives at Fall

River, Mass. ; Eugene, a son by his second wife, lives in

Minnesota. The children by the third wife are Julia D
(Mrs. B. F. Young), lives west of and adjoining the school-

house ; Sylvia lives west of her sister Julia ; Eliza lives in

Erie, Pa. ; Isaac lives in Lake Co., Mich. ; Phoebe J. lives

in Ovid ; Loring is married and lives on the homestead.

Mr. Grant is now eighty-seven years of age, and, in the

full possession of his faculties, has lived to see the township

rise from an unbroken forest to one of the principal agri-

cultural towns in the county.

William C. Gardner was farming in Hamburg, Living-

ston Co., Mich., but in the beginning of 1840 he traded

his farm with E. J. Mundy for the northeast fractional

quarter of section 1, and in February of same year settled

upon the land, and is still residing on it. He claims to

have set out the second orchard in the township.

Joshua Frink and family, from Wiiliamstown, Mass.,

emigrated to Farmington, Oakland Co., Mich., and in 1838

from the hitter place moved to Essex (then a part of Ben-

gal) and settled on section 34.

Miner II. Frink, a young man and unmarried, came with

his father into the wilderness. He married Lucinda Nich-

ols, and in the spring of 1841 settled on section 3 of Ben-

gal. They began the journey of life together by living in

a cabin built of split logs and covered over with a board

roof Their next dwelling was of logs, but in the usual

style, with gables, and was more commodious. The neat

and tasteful frame house which they now occupy was erected

in 1861.

Their son, Murrett, married a daughter of B. F. Knee-

land, and is living on the west half of the northwest quar-

ter of section 11. Amelia, their daughter, married H. B.

Kneeland, and lives in the neighborhood.

Jonathan Young emigrated from Yorkshire, England,

about 1834, and settled first in Northville, Wayne Co.,

Mich., and while living there married Mrs. Hannah Green.

She had on May 12, 1837, entered two hundred acres of

land on section 3. In the fall of 1841 they moved in and

settled on this land. Their first habitation was of logs, in

the cabin style, covered with bark. In this humble log

cabin they lived about three years, and then built a log

house larger and better suited to their needs. This stood

on the hill, about seventy rods back from the road, and

near the barn. Benjamin F., a son, is owner and occupant

of the homestead on which he was born. He married Oct.

7, 1867, Julia, daughter of Charles Grant; they have four

children. Their cottage was erected in 1867.

The following list comprises the names of the resident

tax-payers of the township of Bengal in 1840, with addi-

tional names to 1846, inclusive, together with the sections

upon which they paid taxes

:

Charles Grant, 1840, section 4.

Cornelius R. Drake, 1840, section 30.

Uriah Drake, 1840, section 30.

Levi Drake, 1840, section 30.

Cortland Hill, 1840, section 31.

Miner R. Frink, 1841, section 3.

Benjamin Thompson, 1843, section 19.

Jonathan Young, 1844, section 3.

Benjamin F. Kneeland, 1844, section 3.

Willard Knowles, 1844, section 13.

Samuel N. Bentley, 1844, section 13 ; sold and moved

away.

David Storms, 1844, section 13.

Amasa Johnson, 1844, section 13.

Ira S. Thornton, 1 844, sections 24, 25.

Adam Laughlin, 1844, section 26.

Justus Vaughn, 1844, section 27.

Lyman Swagart, 1844, section 28.

Herod Morton, 1845, section 13.

R. B. Crowner, 1846, section 1 ; in 1848 moved to sec-

tion 26.

Levi Jones, 1846, section 27.

Harrison Sutton, 1846, section 29.

John N. Plowman, 1846, section 26.

Some of the above names should have appeared earlier

on the rolls, but their taxes were assessed to non-residents.

In October, 1842, Ira S. Thornton, wife, and three chil-

dren moved from Oakland County into the town and settled

on sections 24 and 25. A log cabin was erected on section

25 ; the roof was made of hollow logs split in two pieces,

the floor was of black-ash puncheons, the door made from

boards, and in the windows greased paper took the place of

glass. The frame house situated on section 24 was built

in 1857. Of eight children, six are now living. Whipple

A., the eldest son, died while in the army; Sarah, the
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eldest daughter, died in April, 1880; Mrs. Acker lives on

a farm in the neighborhood; Mrs. Plowman lives in Water-

town ;
Napoleon is married and lives on the homestead

;

Mrs. Cronkhite lives in St. Johns ; Mrs. Keller lives in

Gratiot County ; Douglas lives at home.

Lyman Swagart, from Windsor, Broome Co., N. Y.,

came to Michigan and settled in Calhoun County. Here

he married, and in 1842 moved to Bengal and settled on

section 28, on land bought of Enos Button. His log cabin

stood in front of where his barn now stands. William

Swagart, a son, now lives on the homestead. George lives

on a farm on section 20, and a halfmile north. Mrs.

Sturges lives about a half-mile east.

Benjamin F. Kneeland and wife in the fall of 1843 set

out from Geneseo, N. Y., and came to Michigan to settle

in the township of Bengal, having previously purchased

land on section 3. On arriving here they stopped with

Miner R. Frink in his log cabin until they could build a

log house. The house stood on the south bank of a small

stream which runs through his farm. It was built of

hewed logs, with a shingle roof, matched floors, brick chim-

neys, panel doors, ete. The house when finished was the

envy of all who saw it.

Mr. Kneeland built the first steam saw-mill in the town.

It was put in running order in the spring of 1856, and was

situated on the south side of the brook. After being in

operation nine years it was taken down and moved to

Maple Rapids. The frame house in which they now live

was erected in 1861. Their five children living are Edwin,

on a farm on section 13; Mrs. Waleott lives in Essex;

Mrs. Frink lives about one mile south
;
Horace B. on a farm

east of the school-house; Mrs. Whitloek in Greenbu.sh.

Harrison Sutton came from Oakland County about thirty-

four years ago (1846) to Bengal, and here married Emcline

Nichols and settled on section 29, upon which farm he has

built two log houses, the last one in 1855, which is still

standing and occupied as a home. Their children arc : Celia

(Mrs. Sutton) lives in the neighborhood; Louisa (Mrs.

Kimball) lives on a farm adjoining on the east; Miner is

married and lives on the homestead ; Milo and Byron arc

living in Gratiot County; Harrison, Jr., is at home.

Andrew Weller and family moved from Geneseo, N. Y.,

in October, 1847, and settled on the north half of the

northwest quarter of section 2. Their first house was of

hewed logs, in which they lived until they built their frame

house, which they now occupy. Of four childicn, three

are living. Frank, the eldest son, is married and lives in

St. Johns. The other sons are studying medicine at Ann

Arbor.

Among tho.se who moved into Bengal in 1852 were

Ilusscll Harper and William F. Clark and families, from

Ashtabula Co., Ohio. They settled on section 26. Mr.

Harper had been in four years before and purchased his

land and cleared five acres, which he put into wheat. He

sold the crop on the ground, and went back to Ohio.

David, a son of William F. Clark, lives in Montcalm

County. Tlie children of ]{ussell Harper are George A.,

living on a farm two miles west; William N. lives iu

Gratiot County ; Edwin F. lives at home ;
Killy and Etta,

twin daughters, live at home.

Edward Jones, wife, and family came from Tompkins

County, N. Y., in July, 1850, and .settled on section 27, on a

farm now owned by Silas Chapman. Luther, the eldest son,

came in April, and began working on the land. He mar-

ried in 1852 Sarah E. I'lowraan ; they moved to their pres-

ent location on section 23 in 1861. Edward Jones lives

at this time on .section 24. Names of children as follows :

Isaac V. died while in the army; Eliza (Mrs. L. M. Lyon)

lives on section 22
;
George M. lives in Carson City ; Hiram

P. enlisted in the army and died in the service.

Dorr K. StowoU, son of Dr. Hiram Stoweil, one of the

pioneer physicians of De Witt, married Louisa Nichols, Oct.

10, 1862 ; settled on the east half of northeast quarter of

section 15, and began housekeeping in a log house which

is still standing. Of six children three are now living,

—

Clark, Fred, and Emma. In 1864 lie bought eighty acres

across the road, for which he paid ten dollars and fifty cents

per acre. His present substantial dwelling, built in 1874,

stands upon this land, and is opposite the log house. Mr.

Stoweil has been supervisor and treasurer of his town, hold-

ing each ofiBce three years. Mre. Stowell's father, Samuel

D. Nichols, moved from Genesee Co., N. Y., to Farmington,

Oakland Co.. Mich., in 1825, and in April, 1854, came to

Bengal, settling upon the northeast quarter of northeast

quarter of section 22. Mr. Nichols was a veteran of the

war of 1812, and was at Buffalo when it was burned by

the British. He died in September, 1860. Mrs. Nichols

lives on the farm with her son Allen.

Emmons Blakeslee, from Medina Co., Ohio, came into

Michigan in April, 1852, looking for a suitable location

for a farm. In August of that year he was in Bengal,

and selected land on section 23. In October of same year

he chopped and cleared two acres, and built a .small frame

hou.se. May, 1853, saw him with his wife and four chil-

dren moving from the old home to the new one in the

woods. Mrs. Blakc.slce died in June, 1874. The children

are : Kliakim R. lives on the farm next north ; Charles E.

lives on southwest corner of section 13 ; Henry N. lives in

Lebanon ; Cornelia (Mrs. Charles Travis) lives on the

homestead; Mabel A. (Mi's. Harper) lives on section 23,

south side.

October, 1853, saw another family moving from Medina

Co., Ohio, into the forests of Bengal. R. C. Lyon, wife,

and five children settled on a farm purcluuscd from Luther

Jones, now owned by I. M. Bray. In 1S57 they moved to

the northwest corner of socfion 26. Mr. Lyon died in

1873. Mrs. Lyon still resides on the homestead. They

had six children,—Willard lives on a farm about a half-mile

west ; Sarah married Charles W. Lyon, and is living at

Lyon's Mills; Dow lives on a farm across the road, west

of homestead ; Delight married Clinton Hill, she died in

May, 1875; Virginia E. died in 1871 ; Emma (Mrs. Charles

Pojie) lives near the United Brcllin-n church.

Alonzo E. Jaquisli located on the norlliwest quarter of

section 10 in 1852, and went back to Cattaraugus Co., N. Y.

In 1854 with his wife they came on to occupy (he prom-

ised land in the wilderness. They lived at first in a board

shanty, but next year built a part of their present dwelling.

John Travis, with his wife and a part of his family,

came from Shelby, Orleans Co., N. Y., in the fall of 1856,
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and settled where he now lives. Two sons preceded them

in 1855,—James settled in St. Johns and Isaac in Bengal

(died in 1879) ; Mrs. Dane now lives in Kiley; Parker is

living on the homestead ; Leonard moved back to New

Y^ork; Frances (Mrs. Blakeslee) lives in the vicinity;

Charles Travis is married and living on the Blakeslee

homestead.

Many other persons who have lived in the town and

been connected with its early history deserve mention
;

but as it is difficult to obtain facts and data of their early

settlement, they must necessarily be omitted.

The first death in the township was that of a child of

Judge S. W. Dexter. Mr. B. 0. Williams, of Owosso, says :

" At that point (Muskrat Creek) a son of Mr. and Mrs.

Dexter, a child about two years old, died of scarlet fever.

We buried the child by torch and candle-light in a box im-

provised by the party. Never shall I forget that scene.

The whole family, and most if not all others, in tears ; the

gray-haired sire, after inviting the heads of other families to

lead the exercises of the mournful occasion, with tears

streaming down his cheeks, read a burial service, amid the

sobs that nearly drowned his voice in that deep, dark,

gloomy forest, the gloomiest spot of the whole route.'' The

grave was made and is still .seen on the farm of .Judge Hill,

on the bank of Muskrat Creek.

The first child born in Bengal was Clinton J. Hill, son

of Judge Cortland and Lucinda llill, who was born on the

liomestead in 1838, and named Clinton from the name of

the county.

Judge Hill, in his official capacity as justice of the peace,

officiated at the first wedding, by uniting in the holy bonds

of matrimony Miss .Julia Ann Avery and Nelson Delong.

The first post-office in Bengal was established in 1850,

with Cortland Hill postmaster. The post-office at Lyon's

Mills was established a few years since, and Charles W.
Lyon appointed postmaster.

The first highway through the town was the De Witt and

Lyons road, occupying the same ground taken by the Dex-

ter trail in 1833, coming into the township on section 31,

and passing through it in a northwesterly course into the

township of Dallas.

The first blacksmith in the town was Jerry Waldron, who
had a shop on section 31, on the corner west of Cortland

Hill's.

There have been two physieians in the town,—Dr. Bates,

who moved to another field of practice, and Dr. Messenger,

who moved to Grand Ledge.

ORGANIZATION AND CIVIL LIST.

Before the organization of this township names were se-

lected and sent to Hon. Lemuel Castle, of Shiawassee, then

representing both counties in the Legislature ; he was re-

quested to have the newly-organized town called after one

of these names
;
but of those sent none seem to have favor-

ably impressed the mind of the legislator, and, at the sug-

gestion of some member who had a fancy for Oriental names,

that of Bengal was substituted and adopted.

Act No. 58 of the Legislature, approved March 19, 1840,

is as follows

;

"Sec. 10. All that part of the county of Clinton desig-

nated in the United States survey as townships 7 and 8

north, of range 3 west, be and the same is hereby set off

and organized into a township by the name of Bengal, and

the first township-meeting therein shall be held at the house

of James Sowle, Jr., in said township."

In accordance with the above act, the first township-meet-

ing was held at the house of James Sowle, Jr., on the 18th

of April, 1840, and the following officers were elected : Su-

pervisor, Hiram Benedict ; Town Clerk, Timothy H. Pottit;

Treasurer, Charles Grant ; Assessors, Cortland Hill, Sylves-

ter Stephens, Hiram Benedict; Commissioners of Highways,

Hiram Benedict, Lyman Webster; Collector, Nelson Ben-

edict; School Inspectors, Cortland Hill, James Sowle, Jr.
;

Directors of the Poor, .Joshua Frink, Daniel Kellogg; Jus-

tices of the Peace, Timothy H. Pettit, Cortland Hill, Ly-

man Webster ; Constables, Nelson Benedict, Minor Frink,

Julius Bishop, Sylvester Stephens ; Overseers of Highways,

Hiram Benedict, Sylvester Stephens, Lyman Webster,

Charles Grant, Cortland Hill ; Poundmaster, Cortland Hill,

James Sowle, Jr.

It was voted to pay two dollars for each and every wolf

that shall be killed in the town. It was also voted to raise

two hundred and fifty dollars for the contingent expenses

of said town. It was voted that the next township-meet-

ing should be held at the house of Sylvester Stephens. The

oath of office was then administered to the officers elect, and

the organization of the township of Bengal was complete.

The following men were selected for jurymen for the year

1840 : Uriah Drake, Lucene Eldridge, Orlow W. Holmes,

James Sowle, Jr., Marcus Rowley, Joshua Frink.

The following is a list of all the legal voters in Bengal

township at its organization (all but three of these, how-

ever, were resident in what is now the township of Essex) :

Cortland Hill, Charles Grant, Uriah Drake, James Sowle,

Jr., Hiram Benedict, Timothy H. Pettit, Joshua Frink,

Sylvester Stephens, Chauncey M. Stebbins, Lyman Web-

ster, Daniel Kellogg, Alonzo Vaughn, Nelson Benedict,

Julius Bishop, Joshua Coomer, Lucene Eldridge, Orlow W.
Holmes, Marcus Riley, Miner Frink.

The second township-meeting was held at the house of

Sylvester Stephens, April 23, 1841. The whole number

of votes cast at this election averaged twenty-four. The

officers elected were as follows : Supervisor, Hiram Benedict,

Jr.; Clerk, Henry M. Starks; Treasurer, Henry M.

Starks; Assessors, Hiram Benedict, Jr., Chauncey M.

Stebbins, Miner R. Frink ; Directors of the Poor, James

Sowle, Jr., Nelson Benedict; Highway Commissioners,

Hiram Benedict, Jr., Joshua Coomer, Cortland Hill; Con-

stables, Nelson Benedict, Uriah Drake, Miner R. Frink,

James Sowle, Jr. ; Inspectors of Schools, Miner R. Frink,

Lyman Webster, Cortland Hill ; Collector, Nelson Benedict.

At this meeting it was voted that two cents a head be

paid for every blackbird killed in the town up to the 1st

day of November. The wolf-bounty of two dollars per head

was renewed, and one hundred and fifty dollars was voted

for contingent expenses of the towu. Voted that the next

township-meeting be held at the house of Chauncey M.

Stebbins. The following names were returned as jurors

for the year 1841 : grand jury, Lucene Eldridge, Chaun-
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cey M. Stebbins, Nelson Belong
;

petit jury, Joshua

Coonicr, Josliua Frink, Lyman Webster.

The third tuwiisliip-meetiDg was held at the house of C.

M. Stebbins. The average number of votes was twenty-

three. The officers elected were : Supervisor, Chauncey IM.

Stebbins; Clerk, Lyman Webster; Treasurer, Daniel Kel-

logg ;
Justice of the Peace for four years, Samuel M. Bent-

ley ; Commissioners of Highways, Samuel N. Bentley,

Uriah Drake, William L. Delbridge. The wolf-bounty was

increased to five dollars per head.

The next township-meeting was appointed at the barn of

James Sowle, Jr., April 8, 1843. The third township-

meeting was held, and the following persons wore elected

:

Supervisor, Hiram Benedict, Jr. ; Clerk, James Sowle, Jr.

;

Treasurer, Daniel Kellogg; School Inspectors, Cortland Hill,

Samuel N. Bentley ; As.5cssors, William Bentley, Lyman

Webster
;
Justices of the Peace (four years), Solomon Moss

(three years), Samuel N. Bentley ; Highway Commissioners,

Nelson Benedict, Sylvester Stephens ;
Overseers of the Poor,

Timothy H. Pcttit, Cortland Hill ; Constables, David Scott,

John W. Armstrong, Uriah Drake, Ira S. Thornton.

This election, however, was set aside, for the reason that

the north lialf of Bengal (in which most of the elected offi-

cers resided) had been set oiF and erected as the township

of Essex by an act of the Legislature approved March 9,

1843. A special election was then ordered in each town-

ship. That in Essex was held April 21st, and in Bengal

April 2Gth, at the house of William Bentley, at which

time the following persons were elected (whole number of

votes, twelve) ; Supervisor, Cortland Hill ; Clerk, William

Bentley ; Treasurer, Charles Grant ; Commissioners of

Highways, Samuel N. Bentley, Willard Knowlcs, Lyman

Swagart; School Inspectors, Charles Grant, Benjamin C.

Thompson
;
Constables, Ira S. Thornton, Willard Kuowles,

Uriah Drake, Levi Drake ;
Directors of the Poor, Cortland

Hill, Charles Grant; Overseers of the Poor, Charles Grant,

Miner K. Frink, B. C. Thompson, S. N. Bentley, William

Bentley. A bounty of twenty dollars was voted on every

full-grown Wolf, and eight dollars on each bear killed in the

town. The next township-meeting was appointed at the

house of Lyman Swagart.

Sept. 22, 1843, the township board met and ordered the

general election (in November) to be held at the hou.se of

Cortland Hill, November Gth, and at the house of Samuel

N. Bentley, November 7th.

Below i.s given a list of persons who have held the offices

of supervisor, town clerk, trcisurer, ju.stice of the peace, and

school inspector from 1844 to 1880, inclusive:

1844.—Supervisor, Cortland Hill; Clerk, Lyman Swagart;

Treasurer, Uriah Drake*; Justices of the Peace,

Cortland Hill, Ira S. Thornton, Lyman Swa-

gart, School Inspectors, Cortland Hill, Herod

Morton.

1845.—Supervisor, Cortland Hill; Clerk, Bcnjatnin F.

Kneeland ;
Treasurer, Ira S. Thornton ; Justices

of the Peace, Herud I\L)rtoii (fdur years), Cort-

land Hill (throe years, vacancy), Adam Jiaugh-

lin (one year) ; School Inspector, ITerod Morton.

• Resigned; I. S. Thornton appointed to fill vocnnoy.

1846.—Supervisor, Lyman Swagart; Clerk, Benjamin F.

Kneeland ; Treasurer, Ira S. Thornton ; Justice

of the Peace, L. Swagart (^four years), Herod

Morton (vacancy), Levi Jones (vacancy).

1847.—Supervisor, Benjamin F. Kneeland; Clerk, Levi

Jones ; Treasurer, Harrison Sutton ; School In-

spector, M. 11. Frink.

1848.—Supervisor, Benjamin F. Kneeland ; Clerk, Levi

Jones ; Treasurer, Harrison Sutton ; Justice of

the Peace, Ira S. Thornton ; School Inspector,

Uriah Drake.

1849.—Supervisor, Benjamin F. Kneeland; Clerk, Levi

Jones; Treasurer, Harrison Sutton; Justice of

the Peace, lleman Lake; School Inspector,

Cortland Hill.

1850.—Supervisor, Cortland Hill ; Clerk, Ira S. Thornton
;

Treasurer, Lyman Swag.irt; Justices of the

Peace, Cortland Hill, Peter Strickland (va-

cancy) ; School Inspector, Alanson Giledet.

1851.—Supervisor, Benjamin F. Kneeland; Clerk, John

N. Plowman; Treasurer, Andrew Weller; Jus-

tices of the Peace, Audrejv Weller (four years),

Seth Morton (three years), Lyman Swagart (two

years); School Inspector, Cortland Hill.

1852.—Supervisor, Benjamin F. Kneeland ; Clerk, John

N. Plowman; Treasurer, Andrew Weller; Jus-

tices of the Peace, Ira S. Thornton (four years),

John C. Irons (vacancy), James L. Hamer (va-

cancy) ;
School Inspector, Cortland Hill.

1853.—Supervisor, Cortland Hill; Clerk, Edward Jones;

Treasurer, Lyman Swagart; Justice of the.

Peace, William Bartholomew (four years)

;

School Inspectors, Dorr K. Stowell (two years),

Stephen F. Hammond (^onc year).

1854.—Supervisor, Ira S. Thornton ; Clerk, Emmons

Biakcslee; Trejisurer, Samuel II. GritEth
; Jus-

tice of the Peace, Uriah Drake.

1855.—Supervisor, Cortland Hill ; Clerk, Euiinons Biakcs-

lee ;
Treasurer, Nathan A. Elliott; Justices of

the Peace, John C. Irons, Edward Jones, Stephen

Hammond.

1S5G.—Supervisor, Ira S. Thornton; Clerk, Edward

Jones; Treiisurer, Nathan A. Elliott; Justices

of the Peace, Sliner B. Frink, Levi Jones (va-

cancy) ;
School In.sjiector, Dorr K. Slowell.

1857.—Supervisor, Benjamin F. Kneeland
;
Clerk, Edward

Jones; Treasurer, Dorr K. Stowell ;
Justices of

the I'eace, Levi Jones, Alonzo Ja(|nisli ; School

Inspectors, Alfred H. Lyon, D. D. T. Smith.

1858.— Supervisor, Benjamin F. Kneeland; Clerk, Edward

Jones; Treasurer, Dorr K. Slowell; Justice of

the Peace, John Travis; School Inspector, .\n-

drew Break ins.

1859.—Supervisor, Cortland Hill ; Clerk, Emmons Biakcs-

lee ;
Treasurer, Dorr K. Slowdl ; Justices of

the Peace, John C. Irons, Stephen F. Hammond

(vacancy); School Inspector.", James 11. Bush,

Alfred H. Lyon, Cortland Hill.

]8(;0.—Supervisor, Israel M. Bray ;
Clerk, Leonard 'JVavis;

Treasurer, Willard Lyon; Justice of the Peace,
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Emmons Blakeslee ; School Inspector, Alfred B.

Bloomer.

1861.—Supervisor, Dorr K. Stowell ; Clerk, Leonard

Travis ; Treasurer, Benjamin I. Sheldon ; Jus-

tices of the Peace, D. D. T. Smith, Levi Jones,

Alonzo Jaquish ; School Inspector, Israel M.

Bray.

lS62.^Supervisor, Dorr K. Stowell ; Clerk, Isaac C. Jones;

Treasurer, Willard Lyon ; Justices of the Peace,

Alonzo Jaquish, Miner R. Frink ; School In-

spectors, Willard Lyon, Dorr K. Stowell.

1863.—Supervisor, Leonard Travis ; Clerk, Lyman Swagart;

Trea.surer, Willard Lyon ; Justice of the Peace,

Cortland Hill ; School Inspector, Leonard Travis.

1864.—Supervisor, Cortland Hill; Clerk, Willard Lyon;

Treasurer, Israel M. Bray ; Justices, James L.

Hamer, Edward Jones (vacancy) ; School In-

spector, Charles E. Blakeslee.

1SG5.—Supervisor, Dorr K. Stowell; Clerk, Leonard

Travis ; Treasurer, E. G. Wellington
;
Justice,

William Sutton ; School Inspectors, Willard

Lyon, I. M. Bray (vacancy).

1866.—Supervisor, B. F. Kneeland ; Clerk, William W.
Humaston ; Treasurer, Leonard Travis ; Justices,

Israel M. Bray, John C. Sewell (vacancy) ; School

Inspectors, Charles Travis, Edward Brown (va-

cancy).

1867.—Supervisor, Richard S. Coshun
;
Clerk, Eliakim R.

Blakeslee ; Treasurer, John Brown ; Justices,

Edward Mack, Stephen F. Hammond, John N.

Van Duyn ; School Inspector, Edward Brown.

1868.—Supervisor, Cortland Hill; Clerk, Charles H.

Palmer ; Treasurer, Joshua Brown ; Justices,

Ebenezer W. Buck, Ira S. Thornton ; School

Inspector, James H. Bush.

1869.—Supervisor, Cortland Hill ; Clerk, Edward Brown
;

Treasurer, Harrison Sutton ; Justices, Miner R.

Frink, Cortland Hill (vacancy) ; School Inspec-

tor, Stephen F. Hammond.

1870.—Supervisor, Joshua Brown ; Clerk, Dorr K. Stowell

;

Treasurer, Edward Brown ; Justices, Charles

Eider, John N. Van Duyn
;
School Inspector,

Willard Steward.

1871.—Supervisor, Joshua Brown ; Clerk, Charles H.

Palmer ; Treasurer, Edward Brown ; Justices,

Cortland Hill, 11. Coshun, William Hammond;
School In.spector, S. F. Hammond.

1872.—Supervisor, Cortland Hill; Clerk, Charles H.

Palmer ; Treasurer, Joshua Brown ; Justices,

Parker Travis, William II. Sutton ; School In-

spector, Warren Jennings.

1873.—Supervisor, Charles H. Palmer; Clerk, D. K.

Stowell ; Treasurer, John Brown ; Justices,

Ebenezer Buck, Newton Baker; School Inspec-

tor, L. Grant.

1874.—Supervisor, Edward Brown ; Clerk, Oliver Wright

;

Treasurer, John Brown; Justices, George Brown,

William W. Humaston, Ebenezer W. Buck

;

School Inspector, Warren Jennings.

1875.—Supervisor, Edward Brown; Clerk, H. S. Frisbie;

Treasurer, John Brown
; Justice, Ormel Whit-

taker ; School Inspector, Lorcn Grant ; School

Superintendent, Eliakim R. Blakeslee.

1876.—Supervisor, Newton Baker ; Clerk, Oliver Wright;

Treasurer, Isaac Travis ; Justice, David Weather-

wax ; School Inspector, George Brown ; School

Superintendent, Charles Travis.

1877.—Supervisor, Edward Brown; Clerk, Warren Hal-

sey ;
Treasurer, Isaac Travis ; Justice, Dorr K.

Stowell ; School Inspector, P. W. Buck.

1878.—Supervisor, Edward Brown ; Clerk, Warren Hal-

sey ; Treasurer, Isaac Travis ; Justice, Ebenezer

W. Buck, George Brown (vacancy) ; School In-

spector, Peter Frisbie; School Superintendent,

Charles Travis.

1879.—Supervisor, Charles H. Palmer ; Clerk, Warren

Halsey ; Treasurer, Edward Brown ; Justices,

Riley Rice, A. Y. Boak (vacancy) ; School In-

spector, John Love, Jr. ; School Superintendent,

Alva H. Corwin.

1880.—Supervisor, Edward Brown ; Clerk, Alva II. Cor-

win ; Treasurer, Edward H. Lyon; Justice, 0.

C. Whittaker ; School Inspector, Frederick

Stowell ; School Superintendent, Abram R.

Brown.

SCHOOLS.

The first school district organized in the township was

what is still known as district No. 1, commonly called the

Sutton School. Herod Morton, Uriah Drake, and Ben-

jamin F. Kneeland, school inspectors, met May 2, 1846,

at the house of Lyman Swagart, and organized the district,

which comprised the southwest quarter of the township.

The first school-house was built of logs and stood west of

the present frame building, which was erected about 1858.

Mr. Dorr K. Stowell was the first teacher in the log school-

house. The school report for 1878-79 give.s the follow-

ing: Children in district, 73; attending school, 73; one

frame school-house, value $500 ; teachers employed, 1 male

(wages S112), 2 female (wages 876); resources for the

year, $323.75.

District No. 2 was organized Dec. 29, 1859, and com-

prised sections 16 and 17, the south half of sections 14

and 15, and the west half of section 9. The first school-

house, a small frame structure, stood on the same ground

now occupied by a neat and substantial brick building, and

the only one in the township. It is in the centre of the

town, on the southeast corner of section 16. The school

report for 1878-79 is as follows : Number of children, 59

;

attending school, 47 ; one brick school-house, seats G8,

value $1100; 1 male teacher, pay $80; 1 female teacher,

pay $48 ; resources for the year, $654.52.

District No. 3 was laid out April 24, 1847, and embraced

all the sections in the southeast quarter of the town. The

first meeting was held at the house of Adam Laughlin, and

very soon after its organization a school-house of logs was

built on land given by John N. Plowman, and across the

road from the present site. The first frame school-house

was erected on the present site. The building was poorly

built, and was not satisfactory to the inspectors or to the

inhabitants of the district. It was never occupied for school
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purposes. The school, meanwhile, was taught in a log

buildin;^ which stood opposite the house of Luther Jones,

and was used as a church by the United Brethren. The

structure in dispute finally gave place to the present neat

edifice, which was built in the 3'ear 1870. The school re-

port for 1878-79 gives the following : Number of children,

73 ; attending school, 63 ; frame school-house, will seat 60

pupils, value $700 ; 1 male teacher, pay S144 ; 1 female

teacher, pay $50 : resources for the year, 8347.99.

District No. 4 (commonly called the Frink School) com-

prised when organized sections 2, 3, 10, and 11, and was

organized April 14, 1851, at a meeting held at the house

of B. F. Knecland. The first school building was of logs,

and was situated about forty rods north of Miner R. Frink's

house, on the west side of the road. The first teacher was

Mary L. Nichols, now Mrs. D. K. Stowell. Succeeding

teachers were Esther Hammond, Eunice Randolph, Martha

Avery, Mary J. Corwin, Nancy Sewell. The new school-

house was built in the spring of 1858. The first teacher

was Jennie Kueeland. She taught the summer term and

Abel Wightman taught the winter term. Robert Lyon

taught the winter term of 1859-60. The report of the

district for 1878-79 is as follows: Children, 63 ;
attending

school, 55 ; one frame school-house, value $100, seats 36
;

male teacher, pay $96 ;
female teacher received $56 ;

re-

sources for the year, $230.44.

District No. 5 has a frame school-house, situated on the

northea.st (juarter of section 7. The district was organized

Aug. 10, 1S72, and at that time comprised sections 5, 6, 7,

8, and 18 (except southeast quarter on southeast corner).

The school-house will seat 40 pupils, its value is $400
;

scholars in district, 69 ; in school, 60
;
pay of mule teacher,

$120 ; female, $54 ; resources for the year, $240.08.

Fractional school district No. 1 (Bengal and Kiley) was

formed by the inspectors Nov. 18, 1850, at a meeting held

at the house of Cortland Hill. The district at that time

was composed of sections 31, 32, 33, and the west half of

section 34 in Bengal, and the north half of sections 4, 5,

6, and the northwest quarter of section 3 in Riley. The

first school-hou.se in this district was a log structure, which

stood on the southeast corner of Mr. Hill's farm. The first

teacher was Maria T. Dryer. The next school-house was

located about a half-mile farther east. It is a frame build-

ing, and was erected about 1864. Children in the district,

52 ; attending school, 44 ; value of school-house, $()00,

will scat 40; 1 I'eniale teacher received for services, $188.00
;

resources, $227.32.

Fractional district No. 2 (Bengal and Riley") was organ-

ized at a meeting hold at the house of John M. Jones

June 26, 1852. The district ttien embraced sections 34,

35, and 30 in Bengal, and sections 1 and 2 and east half

of .section '.) in Riley. The school-house is a frame build-

ing, valued at $300 ; tiie district contains 67 children, and

all attend school ; the seating capacity of school-house is

50
;
the male teacher was paid $130 ;

female teacher, $60.

The fcjllowing are the names of toiichcrs who taught

school in this township from 1840 to 1800; Dorr K. Sto-

well, Mary L. Nichols, Esther Hammond, Mary V. I'ratt,

Elizabeth Pratt, A. Benedict, Martha Lowell, Wuldah Taft,

Utensia Gee, Miu-tha Avery, H. M. Sage, Mary June Cor-
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win, Jane Bartholomew, Charlotte Thomas, Sarah J. Ten

Eyck, Ann E. Shoemaker, Nancy E. Sewell, B. S. Pratt,

B. C. Maeoraber, Charles J. Eno, Lovisa A. Densmore,

Margaret A. Davenport, Harriet Hall, Pembroke S. Buck,

Ellen Cronin, Ellen M. Face, Sarah Thompson, Jane

Kneeland, Robert Lyon, Betsey M. Parker, Mary A. Hal-

sey, Jane Walker, Emerett E. Hill, Leonard Travis.

RELIGIOUS HISTOKY.

The Methodist Episcopal society or class was organized

about 1844, at the hou.se of John N. Plowman. Among
the early members were John N. and Sarah Plowman,

Mr.s. Sarah Swagart, David and Agnes lloughtaling, and

Mr. Day and wife. The meetings were held in the dwel-

ling-house of J. N. Plowman until the log school-house

was built. The loss of tlie cla.ss-book makes a gap in the

history of the cla.ss until 1850, when a new book was sub-

stituted and the record is as follows

:

The additional members were Juliana Plowman, Edward

Jones, Lois Jones, George Jones, Joseph G. Plowman,

Francis Lyon, Dow Lyon, L. M. Lyon, William Houghtaling,

Eliza A. Shoemaker, and Charlotte Ames. The pastors have

been J. Harder, T. J. Hill, N. L. Broekway, J. W. Caw-

thorne, J. Fowler, D. 0. Fox, S. Steele, L. Hutt, William

McKnight, F. L Bell, H. H. Hulbert, B. S. Pratt, C. A.

Jacokcs, S. G. Blanchard, J. S. Harder, Hiram B. Nichols,

and S. Snyder. This ela.ss has been merged with the

Bengal Centre, formerly the West Bengal class, and trans-

ferred to Bengal Centre, and now worship in the brick

school-house. Present membership, twenty-four, under the

pastoral charge of Rev. L. M. Garlick.

The North Bengal class was organized in the fall of

1807, by Rev. F. L Bell, at the Frink school-house. The

members then were John N. and Angeline Van Duyn,

Andrew and Charlotte Weller, Emeline Grant, and Julia

D. Young. The pastors include some of those named above.

While in charge of Rev. William McKnight a revival oc-

curred, which added some twenty-five to the class. Pres-

ent membership, twenty-six. Present pastor Rev. Ji. M.

Garlick.

The only church edifice in the township of Bengal is

that of the United Brethren in Christ.* The society was

organized Oct. 1, 1855, by Rev. William L. Kennard, cir-

cuit preacher of Pine Lake Mission, Michigan Conference.

The first nR'ml)ers were Emmons and Sarah L. Blakcsleo,

Abraham and Lydia Ten Eyck, and Betsey Lyons. For

church officers Emmons Blakesleo was elected class-leader,

and Abraham Ten Eyek .steward.

During the next winter a revival was had, wliieh added

some thirty to the church, hi the summer of 1856 a log

ehurcli, size thirty by thirty feet, was built, located on sec-

tion 2(i, on land opposite the present residence of Luther

Jones.

Their new frame church ediliee was erected in 1877, at a

cost of about twenty-eiglit hundred dollars; »ir,e thirty-six

by (ifly, with a veslilmle eleven by sixteen ;
the tower and

spin^ rises ninety-six feet higli. The inside is neatly fin-

ished and furnished. It was dedicated by lti>liop .1 . Weaver.

* Cuntribulo<l bj' Kiiiinuna Blnkcalco.
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The present class numbers twenty-three. The pastor is

Kev. B. H. Mowers ; class-leader, John Brown. The so-

ciety has a good parsonage for their minister. The Sunday-

school was organized in 1854, with thirty scholars; the

present school numbers seventy in all. John Brown is

superintendent. The school is in a very prosperous condi-

tion. The church society, though few in numbers, is doing

very well.

BUKIAL-GROUNDS.

The Bengal Cemetery Association was organized in 1863,

John Travis, President ; Israel M. Bray, Secretary and

Sexton ; Dorr K. Stowell, Treasurer. This society owns a

half-acre of land adjoining the Bray farm. It is neatly laid

out and fenced.

There is another burying-ground in the northern part of

the town, in the Frink neighborhood.

AGRICULTURAL STATISTICS.

In 1879 there were sown 5337 acres of wheat, against

4985 in 1878 and 2829 acres in 1874; and there were

1375 acres of corn planted in 1879, against 945 in 1874.

The crop of 1874 yielded 41,674 bushels of wheat,

58,963 bushels of corn, and 6721 bushels of potatoes. The

crop of 1879 yielded 141,064 bushels of wheat, 105,722

bushels of corn, and 12,656 bushels of potatoes, 62,909

bushels of oats, 1395 bushels of clover-seed, 2227 tons of

hay, 15,191 pounds of wool from 3050 sheep.

The yield of maple-sugar in 1854 was 6582 pounds;

1860, 20,095 pounds; in 1874, 11,778 pounds.

The amount of butter made in 1854 was 8485 pounds;

in 1864, 20,700 pounds; in 1874, 67,381 pounds.

In 1860 there were 80 horses, 249 milch cows, 134 oxen,

and 794 swine in the town. The year 1879 shows the in-

crease to 662 horses, 644 milch cows, and 1075 swine.

The following is a list of names of farmers in the town-

ship who produced one thousand bushels of wheat or over

during the year 1879 :

Philip Sturgis, 33 acres, 1000 bushels; Corwin Slurgis,

34 acres, 1000 bushels; H. B. Kueeland, 36 acres, 1170

bushels; George Seifert, 36 acres, 1015 bushels; James

Strong, 40 acres, 1056 bushels; Mrs. Isaac Travis, 40

acres, 1260 bushels; Harrison Sutton, 42 acres, 1300

bushels ; Henry Sheldon, 42 acres, 1064 bushels ; George

Browu, 42 acres, 1420 bushels; John Brown, 43 acres,

1343 bushels; C. W. Lyon, 48 acres, 1720 bu-shels; B. F.

Young, 50 acres, 1404 bushels ; William Swagart, 50 acres,

1480 bushels; Hiram Nestle, 50 acres, 1100 bushels;

Loren Grant, 58 acres, 1560 bushels; William Byrne, 54

acres, 2500 bushels ; M. Ryan, 56 acres, 2300 bushels

;

M. R. Georgia, 58 acres, 1586 bushels
; William Polhemus,

60 acres, 1764 bushels; Miner R. Frink, 60 acres, 1800

bushels ; Dorr K. Stowell, 63 acres, 1920 bushels ; E. Plow-

man, 63 acres, 2400 bushels ; William Mack, 05 acres,

1597 bushels; J. S. Sturgis, 70 acres, 2262 bushels; J.

N. Parker, 75 acres, 2550 bushels ; A. Ro.senkrans, 75

acres, 1848 bushels; James L. Hamcr, 80 acres, 2200

bushels; B. F. Kneeland, 80 acres, 2700 bushels.

PATRONS OF HUSBANDRY.

Bengal Grange, No. 225, was organized Dec. 28, 1878.

The officers for 1880 are, Master, Warren Halsey; Over-

seer, Dorr K. Stowell ; Lecturer, Mrs. Willard Steward

;

Steward, Darius Pectil ; Asst. Steward, Frederick Stowell

;

Lady Asst. Steward, Mrs. Riley Rice ; Chaplain, Willard

Steward ; Treasurer, Hiram Tubbs ; Secretary, Dow Lyon
;

Gatekeeper, L. Hammond ; Ceres, Mrs. W. Jennings

;

Pomona, Mrs. Emma Chapman ; Flora, Miss Flora Plow-

man. The grange has a hall situated on section 23, about

one mile east of the town-house.

POPULATION.

In 1847 the inhabitants of the township numbered 49.

In 1854 they had increa-sed to 350, and in 1860 to 638.

In 129 families there were 148 dwelling-houses ; 99 farms

were occupied. The State census for 1864 gave 706. The

United States census, 1870, showed 1086, which was in-

creased in 1874 to 1200; and the census of 1880 shows

1295, a gain of 95 in six years.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

B. F. YOUNG.

Jonathan Young, father of B. F. Young, was a native

of Y^orkshire, England, born in 1778. He was about sixty

years of age when he came to America. First settled in

Wayne Co., Mich., and married Mrs. Hannah Green, a

native of Massachusetts. From Wayne County they removed

iu 1841 to Bengal township, where Mrs Young had en-

tered a piece of government land, upon which they settled.

Here their three children were born : B. F. Young, born

in 1844, being the youngest and only surviving child, the

others dying when infants. Here Jonathan and his wife

resided until their deaths, which occurred in 1856,—his

January 14th, hers November 1st.

Benjamin F. continued to reside on the old homestead

after the death of his parents, and in 1867 married Miss

Julia D., daughter of Charles Grant. Mr. and Mrs. Y'^oung

are the parents of four children,—Viola A., Myron, Charles

L., and Ida M.

Mr. Young at the age of twenty enlisted in the army

for the suppression of the Rebellion. He was a member of

Company A, Twenty-third Michigan Infantry, and his term

of service was from March 23, 1864, to June 10, 1866. He
participated in the battles of Kencsaw Mountain, Atlanta,

Nashville, Franklin, and Fort Anderson.

Mr. Young's farm now consists of two hundred acres,

one hundred and twenty of which he inherited from his

mother, which were purchased with her earnings, eighty

having been added by Mr. Young. In politics he is Re-

publican ; in religion, both himself and wife are members

of North Bengal Methodist Episcopal Church.
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CHAPTER LIV.

DE WITT TOWNSHIP.*

Boundaries, Soil, and Streams— Laiid-Eiitries—Early Villages in

De Witt Township—Settlement and Progress—Early Highways

—

Township Organization and Civil List—Schools—Heligioiis Organ-

izations—De Witt Grange.

The township of De Witt, the scene of the early lahors

of the first pioneer to the south half of the county, as

also of the earliest session of the county court, may be geo-

graphically described as bounded on the north by the town-

ship of Olive, south by Ingham County, east by Bath, and

west by Watertown. It is designated by the United States

survey as township 5 north, of range 2 west.

The township is watered by numerous streams of greater

or less magnitude, the most important being the Looking-

Glass River, which enters it from the north at section 1,

and flowing southwest through sections 2, 3, and 4, di-

verges to the west, passing through the village of De Witt,

and again to the south at section 7, making its exit into

Watertown at section 18. This .stream, which affords a

considerable water-power, is fed by Prairie Creek, which

rises in a marsh in the southeast portion of the township,

and flowing north and west while pursuing a tortuous course,

enters the main waters at the village of De Witt on sec-

tion 8.

The soil of the township embraces sand, gravel, and

clay, the former prevailing to a greater extent on the south-

erly border, while clay is found in the north and north-

west. Gravel in limited amount is distributed generally

throughout the township. Tlie southwest abounds in ex-

tensive marshes and swamps of tamarack, though an elabo-

rate .system of drainage has greatly improved much of this

land. The surface of De Witt is somewhat rolling in

character and offers a pleasing variation to the eye. The

landscape from all points is attractive, and in many places

impressive in its beauty, vying in this regard with the

most beautiful portions of the county. The soil is well

ailapted to grains of all kinds, wheal and corn being es-

pecially prolific in their yield. The average harvest of

wheat in localities is twenty-five bushels to the acre, though

this is exceptional. The various fruits find here a congenial

soil, and orchards producing the choicest grafted fruit

abound in all parts. Peaches are being cultivated with

much success, and the smaller fruits are abundant in their

yield. Most of the woods peculiar to the State flourish in

De Witt, oak, maple, a.sh, and walnut being very thrifty in

their growth. The marshes produce the usual growth of

tamarack, which prevails ]irincipally in the south and south-

west. The township is not unlike other portions of the

county in its destitution of pine-lands, a single tree of that

kind being almost a curiosity in De Witt.

LAND-ENTRIE.S.

The folluwing-named persons were tlie original purehasei-s

from the government of the land in township .'» north, of

range 2 west

:

• By E. 0. Wiigner.

SECTION 1.

Acrv*.

John Lowery, l.S:!5 65.28
Dewitt Parshnll, IS.tfi 320
Samuel Sherman, 1836 89.28
John Dodge, lS;i6 148.69

SECTION 2.

Cynthia M.Collins, 18.')4 112.70
John Lowery, 1835, 1836 295.48

SECTION 3.

Henry Miller, 1835 81.62
Eraslus S. Ingcrsoll, 1835 80
H. H. Lcroy, 1835 129.96
Elias Daniels, 1836 81.70
D. E. Matthews, 1836 .39.14

Piatt Smith, 1836 206.97

SECTION 4.

S. Beokwith, 1835,1836 100
Leah Packard, 1836 80
S. Beckwiih, 1836 232.03
D. E. Matthews, 1836 78.61
Daniel Moore, 1836 78.45

SECTION 5.

David Scott, 1S33 240
Sylvester Scott, 1833 80
liandolph Manning, 1S36 80
J. R. Langdon, 1S36 158.16

D. E. Matthews, 1836 77.40

SECTION 6.

C. S. Ferguson, 1834 160

William H. Webb, 1835 169.44

Alanson Goodrich, 1836 84.73

J. R. Ltingdon, 1836 157.20

E. 11. Utley, 1836..... 82.11

SECTION 7.

C. S. Ferguson, 1834 9.13

Calvin Marbin, 1835 55.52

E. II. Utley, 1835 203.04

Franklin Oliver, 1835.. .i 204.16

Alanson Goodrich, 1836 166.27

SECTION 8.

David Scott, 1833 82.81

Iliram F.Sheldon, IS33 107.80

Ocorgt! Pearsall, 1S3.^ 80

William A. Hewitt, 1835 40

F. R. Bollos, 1S3J. 197.54

J. R. Langdon, 1830 120

SECTION 9.

S. licckwith, 1835 34.47

William Ifley, IS.35 234.17

George Pearsall, |836 40

David Scott, IS36 SO

Plait Smith, 1S3« 80

Fi^zalan Gardner, 1836 160

SECTION 10.

Philip French, 1836 100

John Groves, 1836 100

Fit/.alan Gardner, 1S36 80

Salam F. King, IS30 240

SECTION 11.

William S. Warner, 1836 100

Edward TownU-y, 1836 160

Piatt .Smith, 1836 320

SECTION 12.

Stephen P. MorehouKo, 1836 160

WirUaui M. Lowell, 1836 320

Levi A. .Mills, 1836 160

SUCTION 1.1.

S. S. Knilock, 1S36 SO

William Paekard, 1836 80

William G. Smith, 1836 40

K. L. Smith, 1836 160

.l.ihn Taylor, 1836 80
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Acres.

Lewis Boyd, 1836 80

Russel Cufhin.TD, 1846 80

Ellen Cushman, 1852 40

Hiram Rathburn, 1854 40

SECTION 14.

Elihu Jamison, 1835 160

William Moore, 1836 40

S. S. Bullock, 1S36 SO

S. P. .Morehouse, 1836 240

Philip French, 1836 80

Harvey C. Boyd, 1S36 40

SECTION 15.

William Hunt. 1836 40

L. 1). Jennison, 1836 40

William Roose, 1836 80

Harvey C. Boyd, 1836 120

Joshua Cushman, 1836 80

David Scott, 1837 40

L. D. Jennison, 1837 40

Thomas Robbins. 1843 40

Elvira Robbins. 1847 40

Samuel Smith, 1851 80

Thomas Robbins, 1S54 40

SECTION 16.

School section.

SECTION 17.

J. R. Pearsall, 1835 SO

J. R. Langdon, 1836 80

David Scott, 1836 160

John Gould, 1S3H 160

Elisha Lester, 1836 160

SECTION 18.

Ephraim H. Utley, 1835 20.96

Daniel Ferguson. 1836 80

H. N. Andrus, 1836 92.08

James Oay, 1836 80

John Gould, 1836 160

Philip Burnett, 1836 160

James Dean, 1836 66.76

SECTION 19.

Samuel Crowell, 1836 .346.68

J. D. Child, 1836 160

Amos Waterhouse, 1837 80

Dexter White, 1837 80

SECTION 20.

Dexter AVhite, 1836 SIP

James Perkins, 1836 160

J. S. Hollister, 1837 320
Lucinda Colbnrn, 1838 80

SECTION 21.

Lewis Boyd, 1836 80
Frederic Perkins, 1836 80
Barnabas Bassett, 1836 80
Thompsons. Hollister, 1837 240
William H. Hockenbury, 1849 40
Samuel Steele, 1850 40
Margaret Steele, 1854 40

SECTION 22.

H. C. Boyd, 1836 160
Joshua Cushman, 1836 80
Sizar L. Stoddard. 1836 80
Samuel Higgins, 1836 80
Daniel Gunderman, 1848 40
E. A. Gunderman, 1850 40
William Vail, 1850 40

SECTION 23.

Francis Moore, 1836 80
William Moore, 1836 240
Ruth A. Gunnison, 1843 40
Stephen W. Downer, 1S50 280

SECTION 24.

William Moore, 1836 80
J. B. Ackley, 1836 160
Gilbert Cushman, 1837 80
S. W. Downer, 1850, 1851 80

Acres.

Morris Cushman, 1854 40
Joseph C. B.ailey, 1854 80

A. M. Crawford, 1854 40

SECTION 25.

J. B.Bennett, 1852 40

SECTION 26.

Allen Ilutchius. 1836 160
Charles M. McKenzie, 1846 80
Anson Simmons, 1847 40
Nathan Weldon, 1850 40
S. W. Downer, 1851 40

Ira Durand, 1852 40
J.B.Bennett, 1852 120

SECTION 27.

M. M. Boyd, 1836 80
G. W. Boyd, 1836 80

W. D. llurd, 1836 80
0. H. Lvon, 1842 80
Nelson H. King, 1847 80
Donnell Melntire, 1847 80

William Moon, 1847 80

G. R. Culver, 1848 40
H.H.Smith, 1854 40

SECTION 28.

O.H.Lyon, 1842 40
Stephen F. Dc.xter, 1847 160

John Guuderman, 1848 80

R. R. Quiglev, 1848 160

William C. Brangwin, 1848 160

SECTION 29.

Henry Moon, 1837 160
Richard Moon, 1838 80

L. A. Ayers, 1838 40

J. R. Jenett, 1847 80

N. H. Wing, 1847 120

J. R. Jewett, 1847 40

James Sickles, 1851 80

SECTION 30.

AVilliam Congdon, 1836 174.68

R. S. Van Scoy, 1847 40

Orville Bacon, 1849, 1S50 80
James Sickles, 1851 80

Henry Gibbs, 1852 47.53

SECTION 31.

M.L.Stanley, 18.37 240

D. S. Ingersoll. 1837 95.52

E. F. Sweet, 1850 47.74

E. Richardson, 1851 80

Andrew Shadduck, 1852 40

Allen Goodridge, 1852 40

George J. Parson and F. M. Cowlcs, 1854 40

SECTION 32.

James Cram, 1836 320
Samuel and Elias Bliss, 1836 160

Matthew Dearin, 1847 40
Robert Dearin, 1847 40
David Westcott, 1852 40
John F. Welsh, 1854 40

SECTION 33.

Allen Hutchins, 1836 160

Jonathan Birdsall, 1836 80
Nelson II. Wing, 1847 160

David Sturgis, 1847 40
Calvin Woodward, 1849 160

SECTION 34.

Samuel Higgins, 1836 320
AVarner D. Hurd, 1836 80
Stephen A.Smith, 1839 : 160

William Moon, 1847 80

SECTION 35.

William Birge, 1836 160
Samuel Higgins, 1836 160
B. P. Kercheval, 1836 160

Samuel Cutler, 1848 160
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SECTION 36.

Acres.

KlizaJiiDO Bennett, 1852 4(1

Ja<-c,b B. Uennelt, 1852 80

Robert AYest, ISS-S 40

EARLY VILLAGES IW DE WITT TOWNSHIP.

The lands lying along both sides of the Looking-Glass

River, at and opposite the mouth of Pniirie Creek, were,

about the year 1836, selected as locations for a cluster of

(prospective) villages. The old Indian trail which after-

wards became the Pontiac and Grand River road, passed

along the north bank of the river at this point, and in that

year, as for many years later, it was the principal thorough-

fare through this portion of country.

The first of these embryo villages was Middletown or

Middleton. The land on which it was laid out was entered

from the United States by Sebastian Bcckwith, in 1835,

but at the time it was platted the proprietors were Sebastian

Bcckwith, Joel Wicks, and George J. Goodhue. It was

situated on the north side of the river east of the present

village of De Witt, and was the north fraction of the north-

west quarter of section 9 and tlie southwest quarter of sec-

tion 4. It was surveyed on the 25th of January, 1836, and

the original map filed in Kalamazoo County, February 6th

of that year. The plat shows the village to have been di-

vided into eighty-six blocks, each block containing one and

three-fifths acres. Block No. 36 was reserved fur a public

square. Each block was subdivided into eight lots, each of

which was four by eight rods. The streets were laid out

four rods wide, except Clinton and Detroit, which were six

rods in width. From the north to the south the streets

were named as follows: Huron, Superior, Ontario, Detroit,

Erie, Michigan, Mason, St. Joseph, Mill, and Ionia. From

ea.st to west. Quay, Toledo, Chicago, Main, Clinton, Monroe,

Jefferson, and Washington.

This pretentious array of streets, however, did not cause

the village to thrive, as on the 12th day of October, 1842,

the lots of the village were sold for unpaid taxes to Milo

H. Turner, David Sturgis, Hiram Stowell, W. H. Case, and

W. A. Hewitt.

NEW ALBANY.

The land on which this village was laid out was entered

by Hiram F. Sheldon, of Cleveland, Ohio, Oct. 21, 1833,

and by him the village was laid out and mapped. This

map was not recorded and is lost. On the 1st day of Oc-

tober, 1836, he sold the land on which the village was sit-

uated to George F. Clark, of Albany, N. Y., it being de-

scribed as the south fraction of the northca.st quarter of

section 8, containing 107-jSjj\ acres, "saving and reserving

certain village lots as laid down on a map made for said

Sheldon" (eighteen lots in different blocks). Milo H.

Turner, of Rochester, N. Y., was the agent for Mr. Clark,

and managed the sale of the property. The village was

divided into twenty-nine blocks ; many lots were sold, but

the anticipations of the proprietors soon came to naught,

and in 1840 the lots were adverli.scd to be .sold for unpaid

taxes. The prices paid ranged from a dollar and six cents

to a dollar and seventy-four cents per lot, and were pur-

chased as follows: Milo H. Turner, fifty-five lots; David

Sturgis, five; Seth P. Marvin, two; J. F. Turner, two;

William E. Turner, one ; Georpe F. Clark, one. They

were not all sold, however, in 1840, for the sale continued

for several years, the last being sold in 1848.

OLD DE WITT.

On the second day of January, 1837, there was offered

for record at the county of Washtenaw a map of the plat

of De Witt, Clinton Co., Mich. Frederick A. Bolles ap-

peared before James Kingsley, notary public, of that county,

on the 23d day of December, 1836, and acknowledged the

execution of the plat and map to be his act and deed for

the purpo.ses therein expressed, and to answer the require-

ments of the statute in such cases provided. Frederick

A. Bolles entered the land from the United States on which

this village was platted, and on the 12th day of December,

1836, it was surveyed by William Finley, Jr., laid out on

a scale of thirty-two rods to an inch, and platted by Dr.

Bennett and J. M. Wilcox. The map contains the follow-

ing remarks ;
" All lots are (4) rods wide and eight rods

deep, except on block five, six and seven, which are four

rods by five deep, anil the water-lots and other fractions are

variable in depth. This plat contains according to original

surveys one hundred and ninety-seven j^^^ acres. All streets

in plat are (4) rods wide, and intended as public highways,

and the Timber in the .same at the proprietor's service, if

required ; if not, the buyers of lots are to have it. Lots

No. 3, 4 in Block No. 51, and Lots No. 3, 4 in Block No.

54 are given for the firm established church in said Plat,

and also said named Publick Square for publick purposes,

and all other lots in the proprietor's name for his own use.

" Fredkrick a. Bolles,

" Proprietor."

This village was situated east of and adjoining New
Albany. Tiie streets were named as follows : From the east

to the west, Newton, Wayne, Main (these three streets ran

from the river south to the section-line). Park, Hall, Lyon,

and Lynn. From the river and parallel with it, lliver. Wall,

Spring, Franklin, Jefferson, Madison, Hrighton, Church,

Summer, Green, St. Ann's, Catharine, St. Mary's, and

Frederick.

In the sales-book of Clinton County in the treasurer's

office is an account of the " Village of De Witt, south of

the Looking-Glass River," advertised for unpaid taxes of

1842. Seventy-eight blocks are dcscribod witli the lots,

numbering eight lol.s to each block. The taxes due on

each block arc given, ranging from ninety-five cents to one

dollar and twenty-four cents. It does not appear that these

lota were sold, as no account is made of sale. The follow-

ing statement is appended to the description :

" The entire descriptions of the above village of Do

Wilt, south side of the Looking-tilass Kivcr, was passed

to the State of Michigan at the sales in account of 1844

for the lax of 1842."

i)K wrrr

The land on wiiich the present village of Do Will is

located was entered by Capt. David Scott in 1833, and

platted by him on the 2(!ili of October, IHIl. It is situ-

ated on the north .side of Jjooking-Gla.s,s River, on sections

5 and 8, and was the counly-sitc of Clinton County until
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1857, when, by a vote of the various townships of the

county, the seat was removed to St. Johns, the recorded

vote of De Witt having been two hundred and thirty-

three against and three in favor of the measure.

The settlement of De Witt, as of the south half of the

county, began with the coming of Capt. David Scott, who left

Ann Arbor with his wife and two sons, David and Charles,

in September of 1833. They began their pilgrimage in

wagons drawn by ox-teams and laden with their household

goods, their objective point being the land he entered in

Clinton County, embracing altogether fourteen hundred

and twenty-six acres in various portions of the township.

They forded rivers, drove into lakes, were frequently mired

in dismal marshes, and pitched their tents where night

overtook them, until their arrival at the present De Witt

village on Oct. 4, 1833. Capt. Scott obtained the consent

of the Indians to occupy one of their wigwams for several

weeks, when their own cabin was corapleted, to which they

then removed. This Indian hou.se was constructed of bark,

with bunks on the sides, and a fire was built in the centre,

the smoke of which escaped through a hole or remained in

the room. While dwelling in this rude habitation a party of

English travelers on their way to Grand River, now Port-

land, tarried and sought shelter for the night. One of the

party, overcome with fatigue, died soon after, and was

buried in a coffin of bark taken from the wigwam. The

funeral was attended by Capt. Scott's family, the only in-

habitants of the county, except the people at the trading-

post on Maple River, the physician from an adjoining

county, and the hind companion of the captain. The log

cabin of Capt. Scoti, twenty feet square, was begun the

5th of October and (iccupied soon after with demonstra-

tions of great joy. Sovintcen head of cattle and one hor.so

were brought by them into the wilderness, whose broad

pasture-land was the whole of Clinton and portions of

Ionia, Eaton, Ingham, and Shiawassee Counties. There

being no fodder for winter, trees were felled, upon which

they browsed, the sound of the axe being the only call

needed. They were all attracted by the falling of a tree.

Ground was broken for wheat in July, 1834, twenty acres

was sown, and harvested the following year during the

same month, yielding thirty-two bushels to the acre. A
piece of ground was leveled, logs laid round it, when a

flooring of wheat was placed over it, and thrashed by four

yoke of oxen.

The earliest settlers made journeys to Pontiac to have

their grain ground until 1837, when a grist-mill was com-

pleted at Wacousta.

Capt. Scott built in 1839 a frame building for a store-

room and grocery, and the point having been established

the following year as the county-seat the early sessions of

the court were there held. Judge Hubbard presiding.

In 1840 a school-house was built on the present school-

house site, which was at that period the most spacious and

convenient of the buildings yet erected in the embryo vil.

lage. Here court was held at a later date, and the Board

of Supervisors also convened within its walls. In 1842 a

spacious and well-appointed hotel was erected by Capt.

Scott, the hall of which for years afforded a place of meet-

ing for the county court, small buildings having been

previously provided for the convenience of the county

officers.

Capt. Scott early received his commission as postmaster

of the hamlet, and established an office at his house. He
continued to reside in Dewitt until his death, in 1851,

having been the leading spirit in all business enterprises.

His son, David Scott, still occupies a portion of the land

he entered. Another son, Sylvester Scott, made his advent

the month succeeding that of his father, and located on a

portion of the land entered by the former. His wife, Mrs.

Sophronia Scott, who is still living in De Witt, and one son

arrived soon after, and Sept. 15, 183G, a second son,

Charles, was born, he having been the first white child

born in the county.

Sylvester Scott did not long .survive his early pioneer

experiences. Hiram Wilcox had in 1837 erected the first

saw-mill in the county, on the south side of the river, upon

the plat known as New Albany. It was completed and in

running order early in 1838, and a party of settlers having

assembled at Capt. Scott's one Sabbath afternoon, it was

suggested that they should visit the mill on a tour of in-

spection. On their arrival, Mr. Scott with others was ex-

amining the construction of the machinery and had uncon-

sciously placed himself in a position of great danger. One

of the party, not aware of this fact, suddenly turned on the

water, which set the mill in motion and instantly killed the

unfortunate man. This event caused profound sorrow in

the little community.

Milo II. Turner arrived in 1838, as the agent of George

T. Clark, who had previously purchased the land platted on

the south side of the river known as New Albany. He
brought with him a stock of goods, erected a log house,

and opened the first store in the village of Do Witt. He
leased the saw-mill of Hiram Wilcox, and after efiFccting a

considerable clearing, built a large frame structure, which

was devoted to the uses of a hotel. His brother, Jesse

Foot Turner, arrived the following year, and embarked with

Milo II. in business enterprises. In 1844 they erected on

the Look iiig-G lass River a grist-mill, which was consumed

by tiro in 1847, but soon after rebuilt. The brothers

Turner were men of much activity, and largely identified

with the interests of the township and the county. They

remained residents until 1850, when the gold fields of

California lured them to the Pacific coast. George T. Clark

also became a resident at a later period.

The earliest store on the north side of the river was

built by David Sturgis, who came from Portland, Ionia Co.,

in 1840, with a stock of goods which he offered for sale,

as the agent of Messrs. Abbott & Beecher, of Detroit.

He soon after built an ashery near by, and remained in

business at De Witt until 1850, when he removed to St.

Johns, and later to Gratiot County, where he died. He at

one time filled the position of associate judge of the county

court.

The distinction which was accorded to De Witt as the

centre of the judicial business of the county attracted

many representatives of the bar, and made it lor a period

of many years the centre of legal talent. A brief review

of the advent and subsequent career of the lawyers

of the village is embodied in a chapter on the Bar of
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the County in a preceding portion of this work. The

uncertain tenure by which De Witt maintained its prestige

as the eounty-seat offered strong obstacles against the erec-

tion of county buildings, and on the occasion of its later

removal to St. Johns not a single structure of importance

liad been devoted to county uses. This fact also materially

influenced tiie growth of the village, and has effectually

checked the development of its business interests since 1857.

The village now has one hotel, of which R. Durham is the

landlord ; two general stores, kept by J. E. Jayne and A.

A. Woodruff; one drug store, owned by Dr. G. .W. Top-

ping ; two millinery-shops, kept by Mrs. Ware and Mi's.

Woodruff respectively ; one shoe-store, by J Averill ; one

wagon-shop, of which A. Lott is proprietor ; and three

blacksmith-shops, owned by Messrs. Tout, Pilbeau, and

Wordcn. J. A. Sweet holds the commission as postmaster.

There are two saw-mills, owned by William M. Potter and

E. Gr. Holmes & Son, and a completely-appointed flouring-

mill, equipped with four run of stones and enjoying an ex-

tensive custom trade, of which Messrs. O.sgood & Co. are

proprietors. There is also a foundry, owned by R. Merritt.

De Witt has two churches, whose early history, found else-

where, is coexistent with the primitive days of the hamlet.

The second pioneer in the township of De Witt came

there to settle in 1834. This was Chauncey S. Ferguson,

who brought with him his family, including his father,

Daniel Ferguson, and located upon section 6, where he

entered in the same year one hundred and sixty acres of

land. He removed from Oakland County, and at once

erected a log house, but effected little in the way of clear-

ing. Mr. Ferguson seems not to have been well satis-

fied with the advantages Clinton County offered to the set-

tler, for the year 1837 found him a pioneer to the wilds of

Ionia County, where he became a land-owner. Mr. Fer-

guson exercised a generous ho.spitality to subsequent comers,

who never failed to receive a cordial welcome to his humble

homo and frugal board on their arrival.

The third pioneer in order of arrival was Franklin Oliver,

who came from Niagara Co., N. Y., in 1835, and settled

upon two hundred and four acres, which he entered the

same year. He' remained with Chauncey Ferguson while

building a house, and very early effected a considerable

clearing. Four years later he constructed a saw-mill, which,

however, for want of power, was never operated successfully,

and was ultimately abandoned. Mr. Oliver died a few

years later, and the estate was purchased by Mori is S.

Allen.

William M. Webb has with justice advanced his claim

to having been the fourth settler. He entered, in 1835,

one hundred and seventy acres on section (!, upon which he

located in the same year, having come from I'lynionlli,

Wayne Co., Mich. The land he found entirely uncleared,

and for four weeks enjoyed the hos]iitality of Mr. Fergu-

son's log cabin afforded while constiuiting a temporary

abode for his own family. At De Witt there was an Indian

village, several families of wlunn were still enjoying peace-

able possession of their wigwams. Rears and wolves were

fre(|uent visitors, and cau.sod consternatiiiii among the sheep

and swine. Mr. Webb was very successful in construct-

ing pitfalls by which the stock of bears was considerably

diminished. He still resides upon the land he at first en-

tered, where a highly-improved farm is the result of his

industry. The first Fourth of July a gathering of a social

character was held at the house of Mr. Webb in 1837,

dancing having been enjoyed upon a puncheon floor.

The next settler in order of arrival was Ephraim H.

Utley, who also came from Plymouth, Wayne Co., and

arrived the day following Mr. Webb's coming. He entered

thirty plats of eighty acres each in De Witt and elsewhere,

and made a settlement upon section 7. He cleared and im-

proved this farm, but ultimately removed to Newaygo

County, where he died on Big Prairie, in 1860. Mr. Ut-

ley held oflice the first year of the township orgauizatiun,

and was also at one time county commissioner. He occa-

sionally practiced as a lawyer, and was a man of influeuce

during his brief residence in De Witt.

Alanson Goodrich was among the pioneers of 1835, as

stated by his early neighbors, though he does not appear to

have made an entry of land until 1836, when he secured

one hundred and sixty-six acres on section 7, and resided on

it until his death. The earliest school-house in the county

was built upon this land, and the Goodrich neighborhood

was, until 1840, the centre of the educational interests of the

township.

Isaac Hewitt arrived in 1835 and located on section 17,

where he had one hundred and twenty acres, having been

a former resident of Steuben Co., N. Y. He devoted him-

self with much energy to the clearing of his farm, being

greatly aided by his six sons, but one of whom—Edinond

—now resides in the township, where he has a farm on

the same section.

Gilbert Cushman came from Putnam Co., N. Y., in

1836, three of his sons having preceded him to this State

and located in Bath. He remained with them until a

house was built upon eighty acres on section 24, when all

removed to the township of De Witt. There was no

neighbor within five miles, and Dexter, sixty miles away,

was the most convenient milling point. With the circuit-

ous route usually followed the distance wits increa.sod to

nearly one hundred miles. A mill was later built at Wa-

cousta, which enjoyed a very liberal patronage from the ad-

jacent country. On the farm of Mr. Cu>hman, and those

of his six sons, forty acres were cleared the first year. Of

this large family, embracing the jiarent and six sons, all of

whom lollowod agricultural pursuits, but two survive, both

of whom reside on section 24, in Do Witt. George Cush-

man has one hundred and twenty acres, and an additional

forty on section 13, while Uussell lias one hundred and

twenty on each section. The father's death occurred in

De Witt during the year 1855.

In 1836, among the proiiiiiieiit arrivals, was that of

Jonathan R. I'earsall, who in tlie year previous had enlerod

eighty acres on section 17. He found this land uncleared,

and began at once the work of chopping, with a view to

the erection of a Idg house, and became soon aftvr alwirbed

in the imiuovement uf his farm, lie was an industrious

farmer and a leading man in all religious enterprises. Mr.

Peaisall .served aiiiung the earliest township oflicers, and

held many positions of inllnence in De Wilt.
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Peter Lott, who had formerly located in Washtenaw

County, purchased in 1837, ou sections 19 and 30, three

hundred and fifty-five acres, and settled on the former the

same year. With him came five sons, all of whom camped

out while building a house of logs. Benjamin Lott, a

brother, followed him soon after, and, purchasing eighty

acres on section 19, remained with him while building a

house and making a preliminary clearing. He later re-

moved to his present residence on section 3, where he has

one Iwindred and sixty acres. Two .sons of Peter Lott—

Chauncey and Albert Lott—still survive, and reside in the

town.ship.

Henry Moon entered, in 1837, one hundred and sixty

acres on section 29, embracing the southeast quarter of the

section. He remained at the house of Mr. Utley while

building a cabin in the forest that covered his land. Mr.

Moon improved his purchase and converted it into a pro-

ductive farm, but ultimately removed to the village of De

Witt, where he now resides in advanced years.

Dr. Levi D. Jenison, who was the earliest resident

physician in the township, and for a period of some years

enjoyed an extended practice, entered in 1836 forty acres

on section 15, and subsequently purchased other land in

the township. His career will be more fully mentioned in

a chapter on the medical fraternity of the county, as will

also that of Dr. Hiram Stowell, who settled in 1837 on

section 2, ou a farm originally owned by Capt. Lowry,

of Watertown. The doctor was originally from Cayuga

Co., N. Y., and came from Ann Arbor to this township,

where he followed his profession and agricultural pursuits

until his death, in 1857. His widow resides in De Witt.

Barnabas Bassett entered eighty acres on section 21 in

1836 and became a resident. He improved the land after

having built a house upon it, and converted it into a farm

which has well repaid the labor bestowed upon it. After

a life of activity, Mr. Bassett removed to the village of

De Witt, where the advancing years of his life are spent

among scenes familiar to him since his settlement in the

township.

The earliest circuit preacher in De Witt was Washington

Jackson, of Wayne Count}-, who in 1838 held .services at

the various log houses in De Witt. Later, school buildings

were erected, and Elders Cole and Bigelow officiated. The

townspeople, while devoted to the word as expounded by

these gospel messengers, were not without occasional social

diversions as well. The log cabins of the day, though lim-

ited in dimensions, were the scene of many terpsichorean

revels, at which music of a novel character was introduced.

For want of better melody, a venerable pioneer, still resident

in the township, regaled them with a whistle, and this

music is said to have often furnished inspiration and pleas-

ure to the dancers from "early candle-lighting till dawn."

From Lockport, N. Y., in 1839 came Theodore Chapin

and his son De Witt C, who located in the village of De
Witt and followed for years their profession as lawyers,

where they were known as successful practitioners. They

subsequently removed to Ionia, and then to Allegan County,

where De Witt C. attained .some distinction in his profes-

sion. He returned again to De Witt and was elected

county clerk in 1856, and died at his later residence in

Gratiot County in 1874. The father's death occurred in

Allegan.

Nelson K. Allport came to De Witt as early as 1839

and opened a store, having erected a building for the pur- _
pose. He later purch;ised the hotel formerly kept by Milo i

H. Turner and built by David Scott.

Elihu Gunnison, formerly of Livingston Co., Mich.,

settled in Bath in 1836, and three years later removed to

the township, where he found an attractive location on sec-

tion 14, embracing one hundred and sixty acres. He first

built a Ciibin, and later a log hou.se, having remained upon

the farm until his death in 1877. Three sons, Alfred,

Joseph W., and James H., now reside in the township.

Alfred has eighty acres on section 23, Joseph W. is on

section 9, and James H. occupies the homestead. The

widow still survives and resides in the township.

William A. Moore became a settler at nearly the same

period, having entered forty acres on section 14, two hun-

dred and forty on section 23, and eighty on 24. He im-

proved the land on which he located, and was not only a

successful farmer but a man of some influence in the town-

ship.

Erastus S. IngersoU entered land on section 3 in 1836,

and became a settler. He was a man of excellent judg-

ment in his agricultural pursuits and of much public spirit,

having during his residence taken an active part in the

administration of township affairs.

George Allen, a venerable pioneer of 1841, still living,

is a native of Oneida Co., N. Y., and removed from Oak-

land County to this township, where he purchased forty

acres on section 19. His father, Barney Allen, had pre-

ceded him by four years, and located upon the same sec-

tion. With him he found a temporary habitation while

erecting a log house on the eighty acres he had purchased.

The father survived until 1847, and died at the home of

his son. His neighbor was Elder Lewis Coburn, who re-

sided upon eighty acres on section 20, and combined the

sacred office of a preacher with that of farming pursuits.

Elder Coburn entered his land in 1838 and occupied it a

year later, was the earliest resident minister, and conducted

most of the religious services of that early day. There

were no roads at this period, and Mr. Alffen on his arrival

followed the Grand River road, then only partially under-

brushed, to his land. Indians were numerous, and wolves

and bears were very destructive to cattle. With his own

hands Mr. Allen has cleared two hundred acres of land,

and is still actively employed in the superintendence of his

home interests.

Dr. Seth P. Marvin was one of the earliest representa-

tives of the medical profession, and followed Dr. Jenison

to this township. He came with his father, Calvin Marvin,

to Watertown in 1835, and soon after removed to De Witt.

He engaged actively in political conte.sts, and filled many

important township and county offices, among them that of

register of deeds.

James Collins came from Marshall, Mich., to the town-

ship in 1845, and located upon one hundred and sixty acres

on section 21. He temporarily occupied with his family

a cabin on the farm of Mr. Hewitt, and later erected a

substantial house of logs upon his own farm. He raised
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little grain at first, but devoted his spot of cleared land to

garden products for family use, though a fine farm was

ultimately improved, upon which he resided until his death,

in 1860. The widow and son still occupy the homestead,

upon which an elegant brick residence was erected in

187G.

Kdward A. Gunderuian came from Orange County in

18-17, and selected a farm of forty acres on .section 22 and

an additional forty upon section 16. The former was pre-

empted by him, and entered in 1850.

Barnabas Ba.s.sctt and Charles Cushman were near neigh-

bors, the former having preceded Mr. Gunderman and died

on the farm he then occupied. Indians were numerous,

there being a small encampment of them on the land, which

was vacated on his arrival. They paid him fre(iuent visits,

principally in pursuit of fire-water, and were occasionally

boisterous. Mr. Gunderman still occupies the land ho first

purcha.sed, and is engaged in farming.

Stephen W. Downer came from Bingham to ihis town-

ship in 1849, and located upon one hundred and sixty

acres on section 22, which has since been increased to eight

hundred. He first built a cabin, which was occupied for a

period of nine years, after which his present residence was

erected. Thomas Lester was a near neighbor, as was alho

William A. Moore, who later removed to Iowa. Mr. Dow-

ner's progress was at first moderate, much of his land being

marshy. This when drained, however, was converted into

the most productive land in the township.

In reviewing the long list of pioneers or settlers who

though not early in point of arrival still did much to level

the forests of the township, it will be pos.sible to give only

a brief mention of many names that are justly entitled to

notice.

Levi Townson came in 1840, having been the first lawyer

in the county, and also prosecuting attorney and judge of

probate from 1816 till his death in 1849. Mark A. Cliilds

was a lawyer of prominence, and the founder of the Cllii-

toniim newspaper, established in 1842.

Joseph HoUister, who came to De Witt in 1846, was ac-

tively engaged in the practice of law until his departure for

Dowagiac, where he died. Joseph Baker came liom Ionia

in 1847, and remained ten years in De Witt. Randolph

Strickland, who arrived in 1847, is now one of the promi-

nent lawyers of St. Johns, his brother O. F. Strickland,

wiio came in 1851, as did also D. C. Wiley, having both

been practitioners, the former being now a resident of St.

Johns, and the latter of Lansing. Dr. G. W. Tu]ii>ing

came from Ann Arbor to the village of De Witt in 1S51,

and engaged in the practice of medicine, being still in the

enjoyment of an extended practice. .lohn Gould settled

early on section 18, where he had one hundred and sixty

acres. D. Ward had eighty acres on section 18, and later

removed to St. Johns, lloland S. Van Scoy resided upon

one hundred and sixty acres on section 17. Samuel 15.

Smith owned forty acres on section 4. Hcnjainin Van

Louven located one hundred and sixty acres in the mirth-

east corner of Do Witt on section 1. Samuel Sliernian

also settled upon the same section. John S. Swezey bad

two ((uarter-sections on 10 and 12, and Sanborn S. Matthews

purchased forty acres on section 2.

52

Below are given lists of persons who were resident tax-

payers in De Witt in 18:!9 and 1810, showing very nearly

who were the .settlers who had located in the township prior

to that time. The lists arc taken from the original assess-

ment rolls of the township for the years indicated

:

1839.

Town 5, Range 2, Wftt.
Names. Acre*.

Peter Lott, section 19 160
George Pesirsall. section 8 100
Ahinpon (iuodrich, section 6 260
Daniel Moon, section 4 80
S. li. .'^iiiitli, .''cction 4 40
Iliriim Wilcox, section 8 40
M. H. Turner, section 8 148
S. D. Jcnison, section 15 100
Roljert AI. Folh, section —
Ejihraim 11. Utley, section 7 420
Ricliard Moon, section 27 80
Chauncey Lott, section -iO 80
Tiionias Myers, section 17 80
William W. Webb, section 6 166
William Utley, section 9 162
John Berry, section 2 40
Benjamin Van Louven, section 1 160
Samuel .Sherman, section 1 89

E. .S. Ingcrsoll, section 3 161
Elihu Gunnison, section 14 160

William .Moon, sections 21, 14 440
Gilliert Cushman, section 24 80

Russell Cushman, section 24 160
^V'arrcn Cushman
lliram .Stowcll, section 2 113

Trustees of Sylvester Scott, sections 5, 6 243
Charles Lent, section 34 40

David Scott, sections 5, 8, 2, 36, 35, 9, 15, 6 1426

1840.
Acres.

David Scott, sections 1, 2, 5, 6, 8, 9, 15, 25, 35, 36... 1426

Isaac Hewitt, section 17 120

J. R. Pcarsall, section 17 80

Asa Parker, section 17 80

•lobn (ioulil, section 18 160

Franklin Oliver, section 7 204

D. Ward, section 18 80

Cheney Lott, section 30 80

Barney Allen, section 19 80

Benjamin Lott, section 19 80

Peter Lott, section 19 190

Lewis Cobane, section 20 8U

K. S. Van Scoy, section 17 lOO

TIion)as Myers, section 17 80

Henry .Moon, section 29 160

Richard Moon, section 29 '. 80

Levi 11. .lenisou, sections 8, 15 100

Hiram Withou, section 8 40

William Utley, section 9 162

.lohii Sands, section 9 72

Siuuuel IS. Smith, section 4 40

Alanson Goodrich, sections 6, 7 253

William W. Webb, section 6 166

v.. II. Utley. sections 7, 9 353

Sojihronia Scott, sections 5, 6 249

.^L n. Turner, secliim 17 40

Charles Cushman, section 22 80

I)avi4l Otis, section 23 SI)

William A. Moore, sections 14, 23, 24 360

(iilbert (,'uslunan. section 24 80

Russel Cu-'hmaii, section 21 100

David G. Wilsey, section 26 120

Benjamin Van Louvon, section 1 100

Samuid .Sherman, section I 89

Sanborn S. Malllii ws, sections 2, 35 120

lliram Slowell, seution 2 112

,lidlii S. Snee/ey, sections 10, 12 320

•fames .SweeKey, section 14 320

K. .^. In^orsoll, se4!tion 3 ItlO

Klihu Gunnison, section 14 100

{)anitd Moore, section 4 SI)

l.ymau .1. ILnrilt, section 31 80

Alinan/.o Kldred

Morris (^i simian

tieurKo .Sinitli

Tlie following list enibraees the nanie.'< of llie jurors

drawn in Do Witt for the year 18:19 : Iv S. liigersoll, Klihu

(Junnison, William Mooie, Boigiimin Van II ouvcn, Orange
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Ferguson, Ephraim Merrihew, James Annis, Ransom Read,

William W. Webb, Harvey Alexander, Franklin Oliver, J.

R. Pearsall, Alanson Goodrich, Barney Allen, Thomas

Myers, William Utley, Asa Parker, Levi D. Jenison,

Orange Cushman, Lyman J. Hewitt.

" Jurors for 1842.—David Scott, Jesse Foot Turner,

assessors, and Seth P. Marvin, township clerk of De Witt,

Clinton Co., having convened at the office of the township

clerk of De Witt for the purpose of revising the assess-

ment rolls for the year 1842, agreeable to notice given pur-

suant to law, do at said meeting, as the law directs, propose

a test of such inhabitants of said town as we deem well

qualified for serving as jurors in the circuit court of said

county of Clinton, being of good moral character, sound

judgment, and free from all legal exceptions, which list in-

cludes not less than one for every one hundred inhabitants

of said township, computing from the last census, and which

were not returned as jurors at the last preceding review of

its assessment roll, from the best of our knowledge.

" Grand Jurorx.—William Utley, Elihu Gunnison, Jon-

athan R. Pearsall, Samuel Greeley, Lewis Coburn, Charles

Cushman.

" Petit Jurors.—John S. Sweezey, George Smith, John

Scott, Edward Greeley, Thomas H. Myers, William Rouse.

" David Scott,

"Jesse Foot Turner,

''Assessors.

"Seth p. Marvin,
" Township Clerk."

EARLY HIGHWAYS.

The earliest highway that traversed De Witt was the old

Indian trail, subsequently known as the Pontiac and Grand

River road, which ran from Pontiac and followed the north

line of the township to the northeast corner of section 8,

where it diverged to the southwest and into the village of

De Witt. The earliest pioneer, David Scott, followed this

trail in making his advent to the township in 1833.

In an examination of the early highway records, road

No. 1 is described as " beginning at the northwest comer of

section No. 7, in township No. 5 north, of range 4 west,

and running easterly along the line of sections through the

3d and 4th ranges, and terminating at the quarter section

post on the north line of section 7, in township 5 north, of

range 2 west.

"E. H. Utley,
" David Scott,

" Commissioners of Higliwai/s."

The above road was continued as follows

:

" Beginning at the quarter section post on the north line

of section 7, township 5 north, of range 2 west, and run-

ning east along the section-line fifteen chains ; thence north

seventy-four and a half degrees, east three chains ; thence

easterly nearly parallel to the section-line fourteen chains
;

thence south seventy-three degrees, east two and a half

chains to the section-line
;
thence continuing east on said

line to the northeast corner of section No. 8 in said town."

Recorded March 0, 1837.

Road No. 2 was established by William A. Hewitt and

David Scott, highway commissioners, and recorded Dec. 3,

1837, commencing one hundred and five rods west of the

northeast corner of section 8, in towu.ship 5 north, range 2

west, and terminating on the south line of section 34, in

township 5 north, of range 1 west. Said road was to be

six rods wide from the first to the second section, and the

remainder to be four rods wide. The commissioners of

highways continued to survey and award contracts for the

construction of highways as the presence of settlers de-

manded them.

The township in the spring of 1840 was divided into

the following road districts, a meeting for the purpose

having been held March 24, 1840, at the house of David

Scott

:

District No. 1 to include south half of sections 10, 11,

12, .sections 13, 14, 15, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26,27, 34, 35, 36,

township 5 north, range 2 west.

District No. 2 to include sections 31, 32, 33, south half

of .section 30, and all of sections 38, 29.

District No. 3 to include north half of section 30, all of

sections 19, 20, 21, and the south half of section 13.

District No. 4 to include sections 16, 17, north half of

18, and the south half of sections 7, 8, 9.

District No. 5 to include north half of section 7, north

fraction of 8, 9, south half of sections 5, 6, south fractional

half and northwest fractional quarter of section 4.

District No. 6 to include north half of sections 10, 11,

12, and south fraction of sections 1, 2.

District No. 7 to include sections 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, north

half of sections 7, 8, 9, 10, and all of sections 11, 12,

township 6 north, range 2 west.

District No. 8 to include the south half of sections 7, 8,

9, 10, all of 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, township 6 north,

range 2 west.

District No. 9 to include north lialf of sections 5, 6,

township 5 north, range 2 west ; south half of sections 2, 8,

29. 30, all of 31, 32, west half of 33, township 6 north,

range 2 west.

District No. 10 to include sections 25, 26, 27, 34, 35,

36, township 6 north, range 2 west, east half of section

33, of same township, north fraction of the northeast

quarter of section 4, and north fraction of sections 1, 2, 3,

township 5 north, range 2 west.

District No. 11 to include sections 19, 20, 21, 22, 23,

24, north half of 28, 29, 30, township 6 north, range 2

west.

District No. 1 2 to include the south fraction of the north

half of sections 8, 9, township 5 north, of range 2 west.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND CIVIL LIST.

The act of the State Legislature organizing the township

of De Witt was approved March 23, 1836, and provides

:

" That the county of Clinton be and the same is hereby set

off and organized into a separate township by the name of

De Witt, and the first township-meetiug therein shall be

held at the dwelling-house of David Scott in said town-

ship." As specified in the above act, the townsliip of De

Witt early embraced the whole of the county of Clinton.

The township of Watertown, embracing the west half of
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the county, of ranges 3 and 4, was erected March 20, 1837.

The township of Bingham, including the present Biiigiiaui,

Ovid, Greenbush, and Sena (now Duplain), was set off

March 21, 1839. Ossowa, including Bath and Victor, was

erected March 22, 1839, and Olive was erected March 20,

1841, leaving De Witt a township with boundaries as at

present existing.

At the earliest meeting of the electors of the township

of De Witt, held at the house of David Scott on the 8th

day of April, 1836, 11. H. Utley was chosen moderator

and Sylvester Scott clerk. The following township officers

were elected for the year : Supervisor, Welcome J. Partelo
;

Township Clerk, Sylvester Scott; Justices of the Peace,

W. J. Partelo, E. H. Utley, Henry Rowland, John Ben-

son ; Collector, Chauncey S. Ferguson ; Directors of the

Poor, David Scott, Anthony Niles ; School Commission-

ers. Alexander Chappel, Calvin Marvin, W. J. Partelo;

Assessors, John Benson, Calvin Marvin, Elihu Gunnison;

Highway Commissioners, David Scott, E. H. Utley, Stephen

B. Groger ; Constables, Chauncey S. Ferguson, Ezekiel

Niles.

The town.ship officers annually elected from the organiza-

tion to the present time have been as follows

:

SUPERVISORS.

1837-.'?8. Welcome J. Partelo.

ISIia. William Utley.

184U. lliram Wileo.\.

1841. Franklin Oliver.

1842, Jesse Foot Turner.

1843-44. David Scott.

184S. Mile II. Turner.

1846^48. Jesse F. Turner.

1849. William W Webb.

1850. David Sturgis.

1851. Jesse F. Turner.

1852. F. R. Read.

18J3. David Sturgis.

1854. Jonathan R. Pearsall.

1855.

1856.

1857-

1860.

1861.

1862-

1864.

1865.

1866-

1870-

1872.

1873-

1875-

1880.

CLERKS.

F. R. Read.

S. W. Downer.

59. Asahel R. Marvin.

A. R. Marvin.

Randolph Strickland.

63. Frederick A. Read.

A. G. Gunnison.

Charles Day.

69. David Scott.

71 Samuel B. McPherson.

James Cortright.

74. Galusha Pcnncll.

79. Williiim Collins.

Charles Baucrly.

1837. Sylvester Scott. 1863.

1838-41). J. R. Pearsall. 1864.

1841. iMilo H. Turner. . 1865.

1842. Seth P. Marvin. 1866-

1843-44. Sylvester Townson. 1371.

1845. Seth P. Marvin. 1872.

1846. George 0. Wells. 1873.

1847-48. Joseph 11. Adams. 1874.

1848-53. John F. McKccn. 1875.

1854-55. James M. Esles. 1876.

1856-57. Elisha C. Cook. 1877-

1858-59. 0. F. Stricklan.l. 1879.

1800. Ebcn W. Darl. ISSO.

1861-02. Jonathiin A. Sweet.

A. J. Dement.

R. J. Woodruff.

Tobias Foreman.

70. Milton F. White.

Denton Dement.

J. A. Sweet.

Mark Scott.

J. A. Sweet.

Odell Brinkerhoir.

0. W. Smith.

78. A. A. Woodruff.

Horace S. llolines.

A. A. Woodruff.

TREASURERS.

1811. Samuel 1!. Smith.

1842-57. David Scott, Jr.

1858. George W. Scott.

1859. William K. Allen.

1860. David Scott.

1861-62. William R. Allen.

1803. Parker Webber.

1864. George W. Scott.

1805-71. Parker Webber.

1872-77. Charles liauerly.

1878, Sylvc-^ter Moon.

1879-30. Mark Scott.

1838. William W. Webb.

J. W. Merrihew.

Oliver Bebce.

1839. William W. Webb.

Daniel Ferguson,

lliram Stowell.

1840. Isaac Hewitt.

Daniel Ferguson, Jr.

Elihu Gunnison.

184 1. W. W. Webb.

1841. Hiram Stowell.

Elihu Gunnison.

IS42. David ScotU

William Utley.

1843. William Utley.

Charles Cusbman.
IS44. John S. Sweciey.

William A. Hewitt.

1845. Charles Cushmaii.

William A. Hewitt.

JU.STICES OF THE PEACE.

ASSESSORS.

1837. Samuel Barker.

C. S. Ferguson.

1837. Elihu Gunnison.

18,38. Hiram Stowell.

1837.
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April 21, 1851, for the purpose of organizing a society and

electing a board of trustees. The following gentlemen were

chosen : Adam W. Kuttridge, Jesse Foot Turner, Joseph

HoUister, J. W. Gardner, Nelson J. Allport, Frederick 11.

Read, Kowland S. Van Scoy, James Sturgis, and Morris S.

Allen.

This board having been disorganized, a new board was

formed in 1853, embracing Riley A. Hoyt, James M.

Estes, and Frederick R. Read. Services were held in the

school-hou.se at De Witt for a brief time, but the organi-

zation seemed not to possess the elements of permanent ex-

istence, and was eventually disbanded.

BAPTIST CHURCH.

Meetings under the charge of the Rev. John Gunder-

man, in connection with the Baptist denomination, had

been held prior to 1850 at the school-house in De Witt.

On the 20th of September a public meeting was convened

at the above school-house, for the purpo.sc of organizing a

church in accordance with the statutes of Michigan. Dea-

con Jonathan R. Pearsall and Rev. Thomas W. Merrill

were chosen to preside, and an election was held, the fol-

lowing trustees having been chosen : Jonathan R. Pearsall,

Rowland S. Van Scoy, David Sturgis, J. B. Clark, Orville

Bacon, David Olin, N. B. Allen, Silas Walton, and Na-

thaniel Foreman. It was on this occasion resolved " that

the trustees elected be and their successors are forever

hereafter called the ' The First Baptist Church and Society

of De Witt,' and that Rev. John Gunderman is declared

president of the said association and Jonathan R. Pearsall

secretary." The meeting then adjourned subject to the call

of the president. Rev. John Gunderman.

This society grew in numbers and influence, and at one

period of its existence embraced one hundred and sixty

members on its church-roll. An edifice was erected and

services were regularly maintained.

It afterwards suffered a period of decline, which seems to

have reached a culmination with its present membership of

thirty, all of whom are residents of the adjacent country

and not of the village. Under the present pastorale of

Rev. A. N. Niles new life has been infused into the con-

gregation, and with a revival of interest a more extended

membership and greater activity is hoped for.

GEllMAN METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

This society was formerly connected with the Lansing

charge, having been associated with it under the ministry

of Rev. Jacob Krehbcil in 1S51. The members continued

their connection with the Lansing organization lor many

years, services having usually been held at the Allen school-

house in the town.^hip of De Witt. The pastors afier Rev.

Jacob Krehbeil, in succession, were : 1855, Rev. Gustav

Bertrams ; 1856, Rev. Henry Krill ; 1857, Rev. John F.

Jahraus; 1859, Henry Meniz; 1800, Daniel Meyer;

18G2, Adolph Heluker; 18G3, Gustav Bertrams; 18G5,

Andreas Meyer; 18U7, Jacob Bram ; I8G8, Gustuv Ber-

trams; 18G'J, C. F. Heitnieyer; 1870, C. A. Mililzer;

1874, William Audran ; 1877, C. F. Hietmeyer; 187U,

Conrad Wehiies, the present pastor. Under the ministra-

tions of Hcv. William Audran, in 1874, a church cdiiicc

was erected on section 18, at a cost of two thousand one

hundred and seventeen dollars and fifty-four cents, the

board of trustees who superintended its construction hav-

ing been C. F. Heilmeyer, John Schlee, Gebhart Gude-

kunst, and John Stutts. The present church-roll embraces

eighty members, and a flourishing Sabbath-school is con-

nected with the charge, embracing fifty scholars, with Theo-

dore Shaffer as superintendent. Adjoining the church is a

comfortable parsonage in which the pastor resides, services

being held each Sabbath. The present board of trustees

are John Schlee, Gebhart Gudekunst, John Fell, Gottlieb

Schrey, and Charles Stebler.

DE WITT GKANGE, No: 459.

The De Witt Grange was organized in the year 1875,

with the following oflBcers : Galusha Ponnell, Master

;

George W. Scott, Overseer; O. G. Pennell, Lecturer; M.

L. Alexander, Chaplain ; S. E. Scott, Steward ; Bishop

Downer, Sec. ; De Witt Brinkerhoff, Treas. Its present

officers are R. G. Mason, Master ; J. T. Morris, Overseer

;

O. G. Pennell, Lecturer; Mrs. O. G. Peimell, Chaplain
;

William Collins, Sec; Newton McClough, Treas. The

meetings, which are well attended, are held at Bates' Hall.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

GEORGE ALLEN.

George Allen, one of the first settlers of the town of De

Witt, was born in Rome, Oneida Co., N. Y., Aug. 23, 1806.

His father was a soldier in the war of 1812, and was born

in Washington Co., N. Y., Nov. 12, 1786. At the age of

eighteen he was married to Miss Betsey Heath, and shortly

after removed to Oneida County, where he resided until

181G, when he emigrated with his family to Niagara County,

then an almost unbroken wilderness. But little is known

of his history; he was a liirmer by occupation, but never

attained .special prominence in any way. When George was

nine years of age he went to live with a Baptist minister,

with whom he was to remain until he was twenty-one

;

but after five years of toil and inhuman treatment ho ran

away and returned to his home in Niagara County. At

the age of fourteen he was thrown upon his own resources.

He obtained employment of a farmer, with whom he re-

mained nearly four years, hen, with an idea of bettering

his condition, he went on to the Erie Canal, but that life

was not a congenial one, and ho returned to the farm. In

1831 he was married to Miss Margaret Laughlin. She was

born in Ashlabula Co., Ohio, April 17, ISltl
;

sii.' has been

the partner of all his pioneer experiences, and has shared

with him the hardships and privatinns incident to a life in

a new country. Six years after their marriage they camo

to Michigan, and first settled in I'lymoulh, Wayne Co.,

where he rented a large farm ;
slnirtiy alter, however, ho

dispo-sed of his interest for eighty acres of land in the town

of De Witt, upon which he now resides During his resi-

dence in De Witt, a period of over forty years, he has

demonstrated his general worth as a citixen, and has idcnti-
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GEORGE ALLEN.

Bed himself largely with the development of the town. He

has attracted to himself a large circle of friends, by whom

he is appreciated for his integrity as a man, and as a kind,

obliging neighbor and friend. He is an honored and con-

sistent member of the Methodist Church, and a generous

supporter, so far as his means will allow, of all religious and

benevolent enterprises. In his political belief he is a staunch

MRS. GEORGE ALLEN.

Republican, but has never desired or sought oflBce, prefer-

ring rather the retirement of the farm, the companionship

of his family, and the good-will and esteem of all to the

slight distinction gained by the occupancy of a subordinate

position.

Mr. and Mrs. Allen are the parents of two children,

—

Oscar, born Aug. 23, 1832, and Mary, born Aug. 28, 1834.

*,

i.

CHAPTER LV.

DALLAS TOWNSHIP.*

Description—The Pioneers of Dallas—Township Organization and

List of Officers—Schools—Township Ro.ids—Village of Dallas

—

Fowler Village^ReUgious Organizations—Societies.

The township of Dallas, known in the United States

survey as town 7 north, in range 4 west, lies upon the

western line of Clinton County, and is bounded on the

north by Lebanon township, on the south by Westphalia,

on the east by Bengal, and on the west by the Ionia

County line.

The Detroit, Grand Haven and Milwaukee Railway

passes through Dallas on an air-line between east and west,

and traverses sections 7, 8, t), 10, 11, and 12. Stony Creek,

a stream of some water-power, flows northward and west-

ward from section 3G through sections 25, 26, 27, 28, 29,

20, and 19. Following the course of the creek the old

State road gave in the pioneer days convenient passage

westward to Lyons, and even before the settlement of the

town was a much-traveled highway. The country is gen-

erally level and the soil clayey. There is some waste land,

but only a trifle compared to the area of similar nature

presented to the first comers. Fowler, a station on the

Detroit, Grand Haven and Milwaukee Railway, is a grow-

ing village, and a wheat-market of some pretensions, as

well as a lively business centre.

"* By David Schwartz.

THE PIONEERS OF DALLAS.

In the year 1836, Morris Boughton and his brother-in-

law, Benjamin Welch, came westward, in company with

their families, and founded each a settlement in a Clinton

County town,—Boughton in Riley and Welch in Dallas.

Welch made his commencement upon section 36, on the

line of the road chopped out by Dexter while pushing on

for Ionia some time before, the place being now known as

the Feldpanoch fiirm. Welch was for some little time the

only settler in Dallas, until 1837, when a man by the

name of Simeon McCoy rolled up a cabin on section 27 and

started a clearing. McCoy owned no land, but came on for

Giles Isham, of Lyons, who owned a tract of four hundred

acres on section 27. McCoy did not, perhaps, fancy the

work of pioneering, for after clearing about eleven acres he

concluded he had had enough of it, packed his traps,

migrated, and was heard of no more.

Following close upon that event came George F. Dutton,

who in 1835 first pitched his tent in Michigan, upon the

Grand River, at Lyons, and exchanged that location for one

in Dallas, upon section 22, where his widow still lives

with her sou George. Mr. Dutton was a solitary settler in

a wild tract of some extent, for his nearest settled neighbor

was no nearer than Lyons. McCoy had been in and gone,

and a mile east Nathan Bigelow and his wife had been

living on section 23 since the previous September, in a

wagon-box. Bigelow was the owner of one hundred and

sixty acres of land, but did not seem to care to exert him-

self to put up a cabin until his neighbors rallied and as-
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sisted him to one. Keeping house in a wagon-box ap-

peared to suit liiin and his good wife quite well enough

while the luilJ season endured, and they were probably

happy enough. Daniel Dutton, now living on section 14,

was George F. Dutton's younger brother, and lived awhile

with Mr. Dutton in Dallas. After a sojourn of a few

years he moved to Portland ; became a settler in West-

phalia in 1851, and some years later upon the place in

Dallas where he now lives. George F. Dutton built the

first framed barn in Dallas, and when he got ready i'or the

raising could not find neighbors enough to assist him without

going to the Reynolds settlement, five miles or more away.

There were sixteen men at that raising, and they were

entertained by Mrs. Dutton in a hearty and hospitable, if

not an elegant, manner. Hospitality was in those days a

crowning virtue of the time, and was a spirit so broad and

large-hearted that it pervaded every pioneer home and

made itself felt wherever a stranger or wayfarer applied for

food or shelter.

George F. Dutton owned one of the few pairs of hor.ses

boasted by the neighborhood, and the business of hauling

goods from Detroit to Lyons and other places, which he

entered upon soon after his setiiement at Lyons, he con-

tinued after he located in Dallas. The road now known as

the State road follows essentially the path marked by Dexter,

Ionia's first settler, when he parsed on to his destination

and cut out his road as he traveled (wherefore it was known

for a long time as the Dexter road) over that highway.

Dutton made many a trip as freighter between Detroit and

points in Clinton and Ionia Counties. There was another

early road through the town, passing between east and west,

upon a line about one mile south of the present line of the

Detroit, Grand Haven and Milwaukee Railroad. It was

originally intended for the Northern Railroad, the bed of

which was constructed in 1887 or thereabouts, but never

came to any further conclusion. The line of that road,

straightened so as to pass along section-lines, is now a town-

ship road.

Off at the north, Andrew R. ^'^ance, one of the Vance

families whose members made an important settlement in

the locality known as the Plains, came in about the time of

Dutton's advent and located on section 4, close to the Vancos

of the 1 Mains. He was a bachelor and lived for several

years alone in his primitive shanty.- His was the first sct^

tiemcnt in the northern portion of Dallas.

The entrance of the Parks families and the numerical

strength of the various branches thereof who became pio-

neers in the township marked an event of some conse-

quence in the early history of Dallas. Smith Parks, with

a family of seventeen children, led the Parks' advance into

Dallas close upon the appearance of the Duttons. Smith

Parks and his wife were married at the respective ages of

sixteen and fifteen, and, as has been seen, boasted at the

time of their settlement in Dallas the possession of a small

aruiy of descendants. It is further worthy of remark that

of these scvcnlcf^n children all lived to become men and

women. Parks' location was on section 27, upon a portion

of the four hundred acres owned by Giles Isham, of Lyons,

who in 1837 had sent Simeon McCoy over to make a

clearing upon it. Davis I'arks, now living in the village of

Fowler at the age of eighty-six, and tlie oldest living male

settler in the town, was the next to follow his brother

Smith, and settled likewise upon section 27, on Stony Creek,

where there was a mill-site, and where in 1840 he and

Smith Parks, Jr., built the first sawmill in the township.

The lumber for the mill they got at Miles Mansfield's mill,

on the Looking-(Jlass in Kagle township, whence they

hauled it over a rough and roadless country. Davis Parks

had a considerable lot of supplies to bring in when he

settled, and before he could get his goods to his clearing

made no less than five trips over the State road, with an

ox-team, between Dallas and Oakland County, his former

home.

As before mentioned, that State road was much trav-

eled. It was chopped out four rods wide, but cleared only

two rods, and was for a long time at best a pretty wild and

stumpy track. On Smith Parks' place a fine black-walnut,

measuring twenty-eight feet in circumference, bordered

the highway, and at its foot a flowing spring cheerily in-

vited passing travelers to halt. This spot was a favorite

one for night encampments, and the spring and walnut-tree

came to be gratefully known by many a tired traveler.

Although every man's liou.se was a " house of entertain-

ment," there were no licensed inns on the road in Dallas.

Those who chose to " keep people" for pay obtained excel-

lent financial returns, for entertainment was in demand and

the entertained were usually quite willing to pay whatever

was asked. Ben Welsh used to keep people very often, and

charged them good round prices. When he got a chance

to keep a man over night with a pair of oxen, he put up

his bill to a couple of dollars or so for the man and an extra

dollar for cornstalks enough to fodder the cattle. Some-

times he kept parties conveying wagon-loads of money be-

tween the Ionia land-ofiice and Detroit, and then he rolled

up an account for lodging and subsistence that leaped fairly

into the atmosphere of the bonanza world- At a later

period stages ran over the road between Portland and

points eastward, and the mail was also carried over it, but

neither the stage nor the mail-route era lasted very long.

The first child born in Dallas was Phoebe, daughter of

Benjamin Welch, her birth occurring in the spring of

18157. She is now the wife of a Mr. Hallanl, of Jackson,

Mich., where at last accounts her father, Benjamin Welch

(Dallas' first settler), was also living. The pioneer marriage

was celebrated in 18H'J, at Benjamin Welch's house, on

which occasion the bride was l^ydia .\nn Aycrs and the

groom Nelson D. Long,—botii bride and groom being in

the employ of Mr. Welch. The ceremony was performed

by "Sfiuire Cortland Hill, of bengal. The first death in

the town was the traj;ic taking ntl' nf .\masa Dorn, brother-

in-law to Smith I'arks, with whom hi- came to the town

and made a settlement. Dorn was somewhat noted as n

hunter, and for being moreover ehroiiieally (Icspondent, liut

whilliir liir good reason or not cannot be said. He was at

all events tnueh disposed to rail at fortune and make him-

self despiTati'ly niiliap]iy by reflections upon what he wii.s

pleased to terra " his hard lot." One day, while more than

ordinarily depres.sed, ho called one of his children to hini,

patted her on the head, told her he had made up his mind
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to kill himself, placed the muzzle of his gun against his

head, pulled the trigger with his too, and blew his head to

pieces. The incident was of course a sensation in the in-

fant settlement, and rather supplanted for a time the prac-

tical considerations of everyday life, for the course of com-

mon events in that neighborhood was naturally simple and

even in its flow, and thus roughly disturbed did not soon

regain its customary placidity. Dorn was buried upon

Cortland Hill's farm in Bengal, where his bones still lie,

although the traces of his grave have been swept away by

the plowshare.

Davis Parks relates an instance of .starvation diet in-

flicted upon the Parks families during the absence, in De-

troit, of Davis and his brother Smith. They went over to

Ionia to sell a cow, and took in part exchange a little bar-

ley flour. This happened to be all the flour they could

secure, and so leaving it at homo they hurried away to De-

troit for a larger supply ; but hasten as they would they

were six days making the trip, and meanwhile the band of

little ones at home had eaten of the barley flour, and were

endeavoring to sustain life on roasted leeks, which were not

the most palatable food in the world. The struggle was a

tough one, and promised to end in disaster, but finally the

wanderers appeared with the long-expected flour, and star-

vation was averted.

The widow of George F. Dutton, in dwelling upon the ex-

periences that assailed the pioneers of Dallas, remarks that

hardships were not exceedingly rigorous among those who

sturdily and bravely pitshed their energies to the tasks be-

fore them,—that those who tried to do so got along well

enough,—and that there were, of course, a sufiiciency of

those who sought to shirk the serious issues of bread-

winning, and found themselves, accordingly, the subjects of

privations and sufi"ering, which, instead of rightly charging

to their own improvidence and love of ease, they imposed

as a complaint against tlie country and circumstances over

which they had no control.

The earliest school taught in the township was one over

which one Sheldon Sherman presided. Sherman was a

resident of Oakland County, where Smith Parks had been

his neighbor. The latter induced him to come out to Dal-

las and open a school, but the recollection of that school by

Stephen Parks, one of the pupils, is to the efi'ect that Sher-

man was so full of mischief and play that keeping school

was a farce that encouraged the scholars in their fondness

for sport rather than for book-learning. The school-house

was the abandoned cabin of Amasa Dorn, on section 3G,

—

the building in which Dorn killed himself,—and the pupils

not more than a half-dozen in number. Smith Parks and

Benjamin Welch agreed to pay the school-master and get

what *Wy could of other parents to reimburse themselves.

Sherman was famous as the man with the clubfoot and a

most extraordinary taste for dancing and cutting up all sorts

of " shines." Just as school was over he would hurry the

boys and girls to the school-house green and start himself

and them upon a dancing-campaign that endured just as

long as the physical forces could bear the burden. He

was, moreover, inclined to romp with the children during

school- hours, and as a consequence they learned very little.

Charles Maynard, the second teacher, taught in a school-

house on the State road just east of the Parks saw-mill,

and was accounted a pedagogue of much worth. In 1849

a log school-house wa.s built on section 22, and in that

house the first teacher was Christina Hutchinson, of Ionia.

P]arly religious services in the settlement were held by

Methodist exhorters, among whom the most prominent were

Mr. Deitz and James Moore, of Maple Ilapids, and " Bible-

back" Reynolds, of the Reynolds settlement in Ionia

County. Reynolds was a good deal of a character in tho.se

days, and devoted himself earnestly and steadily to the

work of furthering public religious worship wherever it

appeared to be in demand.

Among the early settlers in Dallas were some Germans,

who drifted into the town by way of Westphalia, and

located chiefly south of Stony Creek, where the residents

of to-day are nearly all of German extraction. Among

the German pioneers alluded to were John Shaffer, who

bought land on section 31, originally improved by Mr.

Chamberlain ; Henry Bartow, on section 31 ; John A.

Fedewa, who kept a store at an early date on the southern

town line in section 32 ; the Sniders, Hafners, Dunne-

backers, Millers, Lehmans, and others. Richard Welling

was an early settler on section 25, and the Sargents like-

wise, on section 23. Upon section 22, in May, 1847, Ze-

bina Rice, of Oakland County, became a settler upon a

tract of which George F. Dutton had cleared ten acres.

He used to find a road out of town over the old Northern

Railroad bed, and when he did not wish to travel that way

he had to manufacture a road of his own. Three miles

west of him was Hiram Willis, vfho had moved into the

town in the fall of 1814, at which time also Marcellus

Vangeison made a location on the State road, in section 25.

South of Vangeison's, on section 35, William Hayes was

living in 1845, ;is was Israel Smith, while on section 36

Samuel Sterns was one of the new-comers.

UKSIDENT T.VX-PAYERS OF DALLAS IN 18-Jo.

Acres.

Isa:ic FifieUl, section 3 30

Samuel Fitield Personal.

Andrew K. Vance, section 4 99

]Iin\ui l)enn, section 6 162

Orrin Parks, sections 26, 27 120

Vincent Parlis, sections 15,26 180

Smith I'arks, section 26 190

Smitli Parks, Jr., section 26 70

William Hayes, section 35 80

Alexander Parks Personal.

Marcellus Vangeison, section 25 80

Nathan Bigelow, sections 23, 36 160

Uriah Drake Personal.

Samuel Sterns, section 36 160

Samuel H. Parks, section 35 811

William Bartow, section 34 160

Constance Shaw, section 33..; SO

Israel Smith, section 35 :- 80

Henry Bartow, section 31 1**0

Peter Shaft'er, section 32 •"

J. A. Fedewa, section 32 ., 20

Kichanl Welling, sections 15-20 240

Hiram F. Willis, sections 18-17 120

(Jeorge F. Dutton, section 22 240

Davis Parks, section 27 '. 80

Sidney Parks, section 25 80

Frederick Myers, living now on section 16, was a farm

hand with George F. Dutton in 1852, and remained in Mr.

Dutton's employ upwards often and a half years. In 1869

he took possession of the farm he now owns on sections 16

*;•
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and 21, which was at that time an untouched forest. Wil-

liam Hayes, who penetrated the township of Riley as a set-

tler as early as 1837, became subsequently a moderately

early settler in Dallas, and lives now therein upon a place

previously settled by Alexander Parks.

THE NOKTHERN PORTION OF THE TOWNSHIP.

North of the centre of the township, settlements pro-

gressed much more slowly than elsewhere until about

1856, when the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad line

traversed that quarter, and called settlers to its vicinity in

rapidly swelling volume. Andrew R. Vance, who opened

bachelor's hall on section 4, was the first settler in that

quarter, and on sectiotis 3 and 6 Isaac Fifield and Hiram

Dean were early on the ground. One Sever made a begin-

ning in 1845 on section 17, where J. W. Shumway now

lives, and in 1852 Josephus Mundell came to section 14,

then a wild tract. Mr. Mundell occupied, with his family,

temporary quarters in an abandoned lumberman's shanty

that he found hard by on .section 11, where somebody had

chopped a five-acre tract. Upon section 14, southward,

Sidney Parks and Stephen Parks, with their families, were

living at the period of Mr. Mundell's arrival. North of

them Peter Strickland was living, on the old Andrew Vance

place. Their nearest neighbors on the west were the Severs,

on section 17, three miles away.

In 1853, P. T. JoUey, now living on section 11, made a

location on the south town line of Lebanon, north of where

he now lives. James McRoberts, a settler in Westphalia,

as early as 1839, had moved to section 4 in Dallas before

JoUey got in, and a man, by name Seaton, was on the place

now occupied by William N. Upson, who came in during

1853. Jolley was a cooper, and made pork-barrels, which

he carried over south into the Parks settlement for sale.

The road he traveled was a trail he cut out himself, and as

he passed straight southward on that line, the first house

he encountered was that of a Mr. Smith, just three miles

distant from the north town-line. Mr. Jolley .says that when

he made his settlement in 1853 the neighborhood in which

he now lives was but little better than a swamp, and he

ventured then the remark that he really would not live there

if he could get a farm for nothing. In 18(14 he did move

there, however, and then found that time had vastly im-

proved matters. Following close upon Mr. Jolley, in 1854

and afterwards, came the Mankeys,—Charles and Frederick,

—James Pierce, Thomas and James Jjong, Samuel Sage

(April, 1854), G. N. Clark (where Mr. Hyams had made

some improvement), the Krugers, Samuel Green, the

Wrights, Toilers, Millers, Kineaid, Salisbury, Nowland, and

iithers.

The soil of Michigan gave birth in the pioneer days to

many a counterfeiters' den, and although Dallas never cut a

very important figure as a bogus neighborhood, there was,

nevertheless, a trifling bit of business done on Stony Creek

in the matter of manufacturing spurious coin. The coun-

terfeiters were a shrewd lot, and kept themselves so shady

(hat despite earnest efl'orts to unearth them they avoided

dc'tection a long time, and turned out counterfeit "Mexi-

can dollars upon an unsuspecting and innocent jjublie.

53

When the search grew so hot that they could remain hidden

no longer they made off,—that is, some of them made off,

while some less fortunate were captured and eventually con-

veyed to prison. For some reason, however, their putiish-

ment was light, and as a net result of their operations it is

likely they gained much jirofit.

TOWNSHIP OKG.\NIZ.\TION AND LIST OF
OFFICERS.

A legislative act, approved March 19, 1845, detached

township 7 north, in range 4 west, from the town.ship of

Lebanon and named it Dallas. Davis Parks says that the

naming of the town was left to him and George F. Dutton
;

that he wished to call it Dallas, in honor of the Vice-

President-elect, while Dutton chose Polk, in honor of the

newly-elected President; and that deciding the point by lot

he (Parks) won, and thus christened the new township.

The widow of George F. Dutton says that her husband

upon being asked to circulate a petition for organization,

requested the privilege of naming the town, and the privi-

lege being accorded him, he chose Dallas, through his

admiration for the statesman of that name.

The first township-meeting was held April 23, 1845, at

the house of George F. Dutton. The inspectors of elec-

tion were Davis Parks, Vincent Parks, Smith Parks, Jr.,

Smith Parks ; the moderator George F. Dutton ;
and the

clerk Zebina Riee. The votes cast numbered twenty- seven.

The result of the election was as follows :

SUPERVI.«OR.
Votes.

»D,ivis Parks 17

Andrew R. Vance t*)

CLKRK.

*Davis Parks 16

Uriah Drake 1"

Orrin Parks 1

TKK.l.^lKKK.

»Gcorge F. Dutton 17

William Barluw 10

JIJSTICE.S OF THE PEACE.

•George F. Dutlon 17

•Smith Parks, Jr 18

•Vincent Parks 17

Marcellus Vangcison IW

Iliram Dean '"

Uriah Drake «

IIICIIWAY COMMISSIONERS.

•Morris Parks 27

»Sniitli Parks, .Ir '7

•Vincent Parks 17

Isaac Filicld 1"

Israel 1). Smith If

SCHOOL INSPECTOR.S.

•George F. Dulton 17

•Smith Parks, .Ir 1«

William liart.iw 10

Anilrciv K. Vance '0

roNSTAIlI.KS.

•Orrin Parka 21

• William Hayes 17

• Uriah Drake 18

Morris Parks 10

• ElMtod.
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rOORMASTERS.

»Smith Parks 25

«George F. Dutton 17

Hiram Dean It)

Richard Welling 1

HIGHWAY OVERSEERS.

"Hiram Dean District No. I

^"^George F. Dutton ** '* 2

*Smith Parks, Jr " " 3

""'William Uajes " " 4

POUNDMASTER.

'Samuel Sterns

Following is a list of persons chosen annually between

1846 and 1880 to be supervisors, clerks, treasurers, and

justices of the peace:

1872. J. F. Shraft.

1873. J. D. Burns.

1874. G. W. Parks.

1875. J. Bullard.

1876. J. P. Miller.

1877. W. N. Upson.

1878. G. Cuddeback.

1879. G. W. Parks.

1880. J. Bullard.

SUPERVISORS.

1846. A. R. Vance.

1847. D. Parks.

184S. G. F. Dutton.

1849-50. A. R. Vance.

1851. A. Parks.

1852-53. G. F. Dutton.

1854-56. A. Parks.

1857-59. A. Cook.

1860. W. S. Green.

1861-63. G. F. Dutton.

1864. AV. N. Upson.

1865. P. Ulrich.

1866. 0. R. Rice.

1867-68. A. Cook.

1869. 0. R. Rice.

1870-80. L. W. Baldwin.



DALLAS TOWNSHIP. 41d

The books in use in the township schools in 1857 were

the Elementary Spelling Book, Saunders' Reader, Smith's

Arithmetic, Mitchell's Geography, Smith's Grammar.

The report for 1879 contained the subjoined details :

Number of districts 8

Number of scholars of school age 579
Average attendance 422
Value of school property $3465.00
Teachers' wages 1748.25

The school directors for 1879 were William Luttig, P.

T. Jolley, John Luttig, George Button, J. P. Miller, David

Douglass, and F. Schemer.

TOWNSHIP ROADS.

The first township road recorded in the Dallas highway-

book was recorded May 24, 1846. It was laid by A. 11.

Vance and Fayette Bartow, commenced at the southwest

corner of section 6 and extended thence east on section-line

six miles. The road was laid upon the application of Isaac

Fifield, Hiram Dean, and James Hall. May 22, 1847, a

road was laid out, commencing at the northeast corner of

section 27 and running thence one mile on section-liue to

the northwest corner of section 27. This road was laid out

upon the application of Davis Parks, Vincent Parks, Smith

Parks, Jr. June 4, 1847, a road was laid on the quarter-

line of section 35, running east and west one mile.

Dec. 26, 1842, a road was laid out -in town 7, commencing

at the northeast corner of section 26, running thence north to

the northwest corner of section 1. A second road was laid

out the same day, commencing at the northeast corner of sec-

tion 16 and extending north on the said line to the road

running up between towns 7 and 8.

June 23, 1843, A. II. Vance and William Barton, high-

way commissioners, laid out a road commencing at the State

road between sections 27 and 28, and extending south to

the town-line between sections 33 and 34. Aug. 7, 1841,

the highway commissioners of Lebanon and Westphalia

divided the road on the town-line between said town.ships,

and agreed that Lebanon should take three miles of the east

end and Westphalia three miles of the west end.

June 10, 1848, J. W. Turner, special commissioner, no-

tified the town clerk of Dallas that the portion of the Do
Witt and Lyons road lying in the township of Dallas com-

menced eighty links east of the southeast corner of section

31, and extended thence north 89 degrees, west 30!)jYt)

rods to the southwest corner of said section. The annual

highway fund of 1854 was divided as follows:

District No. 1 $10
" 2 25

3 19
4 12
5 20

35
7 15

8 19
" 9 20
" :u 25

$200

THE VILLAGE OF DALLAS.

Late in 185G, or early in 1857, Robert lligliani (chief

engineer of the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad, then push-

ing westward) and K. A. Wales, of Detroit, eontraetcd fur

the purchase of one hundred and sixty acres of land lying

on the line of the road, three-quarters of a mile eastward

of the station now called Fowler, their purpose being to

found a village there, as Iligham had already settled upon

the site as a place for a railway-station which he was to

designate as Dallas. The tract was therefore laid out into

village lots, and in 1857, when the construction of the rail-

way reached that point, Hiram Marsh was appointed station

agent, and the Dallius post-office, then in charge of Alanson

Parks on Stony Creek, was transferred to the new town.

Meanwhile, with an eye single to the rise and progress of

the embryo city, E. A. Wales had erected a hotel and Hi-

ram Marsh a store building, while other people, enthused

with the prospect of a village, bought a few lots and began

to' make improvements. Nelson Kuhn opened a small

grocery, and a Mr. Branswick, keeping abreast of the spirit

of the times, set up in business as a shoemaker. Despite

these efforts to trundle the village of Dallas into public

favor, the affair was a di.smal failure from the first. The

surrounding country was so swampy that travel to and from

the village, except in the dryest of weather or in the winter

season, was a task of difficult accomplishment. As a conse-

quence, the inhabitants of the outlying region came in to

trade only under pressure of strongest necessity, and Dallas

appeared to drag out a wearisome existence under protest.

After thus struggling for the space of ten years the vil-

lage found itself in 1867 no farther along in dignity or

growth than it had progressed during the first year of its

life. Recognizing, therefore, that if they were ever to own

a village worthy the name it must be fixed at some other

spot, citizens of Dallas township, as well as others near by,

began to agitate the matter of a new location, and in this

project they were materially aided and encouraged by J. N.

Fowler, of Detroit, who owned considerable land in the

vicinity. The upshot of the matter was that the railway

company was induced in 1867, by the donation of seven

hundred and fifty dollars, to transfer their depot buildings

and station to a point three-quarters of a mile west, where

there was a better outlook for a village. Fowler, who owned

the land occupying the proposed site, surveyed and platted

a village on the north side of the railway, on sections 11

and 12, in September, 1867, and called it Lsabella, after the

county of Isabella, where ho had largo landed interests.

Isabella was likewise the name chosen fur the station, and

simultaneously with the move of the railway-station from

Dallas there ensued a transfer of (he business po]pulation

and every other feature that had contributed in any way

to lift the town from the atmosphere of rural felicity into

the domain of village life. Dallas was therefore relegated

to obscurity, where for many a day had been domiciled the

sanguine hopes born in the breasUs of Wales and Iligham

when they first set Dallas on its legs, so to speak, and

awaited the coming of its future greatness.

The hotel hnildiiig put up at Dallas by Wales was moved

bodily to Isabella, and upon the spot where it then landed

still invites the attention of ti-uvelers as the Fowler House.

.lames liance was storekeeper and postmaster at Dallas

when the change was made, and moving his establishment

westward set it up again just south of Isabella village,

upiin land he owned, where he subse(|uently laid out an

addition to the village of Fowler. The store ho then
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started occupied the building now known as the Dallas

House, and was the pioneer trading-post at Isabella, al-

though, strictly speaking, it was not in Isabella. The second

store was opened by Jacob Schraft in a log house just west

of where the Fowler House stands. At this time Fowler

moved the tavern from Dallas and leased it to Sliemer &
Gruler, who carried on in the building a store as well as

hotel business. Willey & Peterson kept the hotel after-

wards, and after them a Mr. Stiles and Mathias Petsch

were respectively the landlords.

FOWLER VILLAGE.

As the name of Isabella was not exactly to the liking of

the villagers, Fowler agreed to change it, and, upon request,

called it by his own name when, in May, 1869, he caused

an addition to be platted on section 14, south of the rail-

way. At that time, too, the name of the station was

changed, as was the name of the post-oflBce, which had thus

far retained the name of Dallas. The plat of the village of

Fowler, recorded Feb. 1, 1870, certifies that "the village

is located on the line of the Detroit and Milwaukee Rail-

road, on sections 11, 12, and 14." James Lance's addition

was recorded May 31, 1873, and is described as " beginning

at the northwest corner of section 13, running thence east

on section-line sixty-sis rods and six feet ; thence south

parallel with the west section-line sixty-eight rods and six

feet ; thence west parallel with the north line sixty-six rods

and six feet to said west line ; and thence north on the sec-

tion-line sixty-eight rods and six feet to the place of begin-

ning."

Of those who set the wheels of trade in motion when

Isabella village was founded Messrs. Constantiue Gruler,

Frederick Shemer, and Jacob Schraft are now merchants in

Fowler. Constantine Gruler is, moreover, a dealer in grain

to a very large extent, and almost since his first appearance

as a merchant in the town has been a heavy wheat-buyer.

He has a commodious wheat-house at the station, and near

there, too, P. L. Vancousant, of St. Johns, has a wheat-

house. Fowler is esteemed an excellent point for wheat

shipment, and the business carried on by Messrs. Gruler

and Vancousant in that department is of valuable importance

to the town.

The first post-office established in Dallas township was

created in 1855 and called Dallas. Alanson Parks, living

on the State road, was appointed postmaster, and upon the

location of Dallas Station he transferred the office to that

point. In 1859, James Lance succeeded to the office, and

retiring for a brief period in favor of David Richards, he

renewed his possession, and was the incumbent when the

railway-station and village were moved westward. Fred-

erick Shemer was postmaster for a short time after Lance's

retirement, and in 1869 Jacob Shraft came in. During

his occupancy the name of the office was changed from

Dallas to Fowler. In 1874, Shraft was succeeded by

William M. Youngs, and he, in 1877, by John Hicks, the

present incumbent.

Dr. L. A. Laurason, now a physician and druggist in

Fowler, made his home upon the site of the village in 1866,

and, fresh from the State University, there began his medi-

cal career. Gustavus Miller had been practicing medicine

in the township, but in the village Dr. Laurason was the

pioneer physician. Other doctors followed the flow of pop-

ulation, among them being Drs. Schmitten, Cole, Miller,

and Spears, but neither tarried long enough to leave a mark

upon the face of passing time, and may therefore be dis-

missed with but casual notice. Drs. W. H. McKenzie and

George E. Bliss, now in village practice, have been located

some little time, and with Dr. Laurason divide the business

of doctoring the people of the immediate and adjacent ter-

ritories. John G. Patterson, engaged in the practice of law

in Fowler, is the only pereon resident who ever ventured

upon the enterprise of expounding the mysteries of Coke

and Blackstone for the benefit of the villagers and towns-

people.

Fowler is a growing village of about three hundred and

fifty people,—the entire township including seventeen hun-

dred and thirtj'-two,—and enjoys much business pro.sperity.

It supports two hotels and includes in its marts of trade the

general stores of Constantine Gruler and Frederick Shemer,

the hardware-store of Jacob Schraft, the hardware- and

grocery-store of Baldwin & Gary, the boot- and shoe-store

of Gillam & Doolittle, the groceries of N. H. Geller and

J. T. Connell, the drug-stores of L. A. Laurason and S.

G. McLaughlin, and the furniture-store of Charles Bengal.

There are also wagon-shops and minor village industries of

a promiscuous character.

BELIGIOUS ORGANIZATIONS.

UNITED BRETHREN CHURCH.

One of the earliest religious organizations of Dallas was

a United Brethren class, which was formed in the Sargent

neighborhood and flourished apace for several years. As

the members of the organization lived here, there, and

everywhere, the place of worship was frequently changed as

convenience demanded, and eventually settled at what was

called the " Bell School-House" in 1868, where it remained

until 1875, when a house of worship was built at Fowler.

The class has now a membership of forty-four and is on the

Bengal Circuit, in charge of Rev. Benjamin Mowers, who

preaches at Fowler once a fortnight. The leader is W. B.

Garrison, the trustees A. Compton, Miron Sargent, and

Eli Grimes, and the Sunday-school superintendent Mrs. A.

Compton. The school has an average attendance of thirty.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, FOWLER CLASS.

Two Methodist Episcopal classes were organized after

1860, one at the Bell school-house and one at the Nowland

school-house. The former failed to prosper beyond a

weakly condition of being, and after persistent but fruitless

efi'orts to reach a healthful atmosphere dissolved, and its

members thereafter joined the class at Nowland's, which

had got on excellently well from the outset. Class-meet-

ings were also held at the village, as well as at Nowland's,

until 1880, when the church at Fowler was built, and then

all joined in common worship at that place. The class has

now about fifteen members, and is attached to the Fowler

Circuit, upon which Rev. Mr. Garlick is employed. Since

1868 the pastors on the charge have been Revs. MeKnight,

Hulburt, Pratt, Jacokes, Harder, Nichols, Snider, and
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Garlick. Calvin Coon, the present class-leader, has been

leader since 1870. Tlie church trustees are Calvin Coon,

George Clark, and Hanford. The Sunday-school is

in charge of G. W. Gillan and a corps of five teachers.

GERMAN LUT1IEK.\N ClUKCII OF FOWEER.

This church organization was formed in 18G9 by mem-

bers of a similar denomination in the southern portion of

the township. The church at that point was at a tiresome

distance for tho.«e of the faith who lived towards the north,

and, as a matter of more convenience, they formed a second

society in 1879, and in that year built a church. Rev.

Mr. Wittey, who preaches for the church in the south,

preaches also at Fowler three times each month. About

twenty-five families are represented in the membership.

GERMAN LUTHERAN CHURCH OF DALLAS.

The German Lutherans of Dallas organized a church

about 18G9, under the direction of Rev. Mr. Fuor, of

Owosso, and the same year built a neat house of worship

on section 36. Besides Mr. Fuor, the pastors have in-

cluded Revs. Smith and Wittey, the latter uf whom is now

in charge, preaching three times each month. The mem-

bership comprises now about thirty-five families, and that

of the Sunday-school, which is in charge of the pastor.

about sixty scholars. The trustees are William Rossow

August Schroeder, and Frederick Speerbrecker.

SOCIKTIES.

FOWLER LODGE, No. 19, A. 0. U. W.

This lodge was organized at Fowler in November, 1878,

with ten members. It has now a membership of twenty-

seven. Regular sessions are held weekly. The officers for

1880 are S. G. McLaughlin, M. W. ; Edwin Baldwin, G.

F. ; R. L. Bunting, 0. ; Joseph Austin, F. ; L. W. Bald-

win, Receiver; J. F. Gary, Recorder; John Bullard,

Guide; Philo Parks, L W. ; H. D. Welling, 0. W.

;

Jacob Schraft, P. M. W. The Master Workmen of the

lodge since its organization have been L. W. Baldwin,

Jacob Schraft, and S. G. McLaughlin.

DALLAS GRANGE, No. 505, 1>. OF H.,

was organized September, 1874, in the Bell school-house,

Winchester Rice being then chosen Master. The officers

for 1880 are H. D. Wellings, M ; E. W. Buck, 0.

;

George E. Bliss, L. ; F. S. Brooks, Sec. ; Maurice Drake,

Trcas. ; J. H. Bush, Chaplain ; Frederick Myers, Steward.

Meetings are held at Fowler weekly. The membership is

fifty-seven.

BIOGEAPHICAL SKETCHES.

GEOIiaE p. DUTTON.

GEORGE F

George F. Dutton was boin in Chenango Co., N. Y.,

April 27, 1814. His parents, Robert and Sarah (Fowler)

Dutton, were of ilnglish extraction; lived to raise a family

of seven children. After the death of the elder Dutton,

George witii his mother moved to Detroit, wiicre he be-

came acquainted with and married Miss Sarah Horner. In

the .spring of 183.5 they removed to Ionia County. Five

years later exchanged for one hundred and sixty acres of

wild land on section 22, the present home. The town had

not yet received a name, and Mr. Dutton being elected

IVIU.S. GKOHUK F. DUTTON.

DUTTON.

supervisor secured the name Dallas, in admiration of the

candidate for national honors by that nnnie. Mr. (ieorgc

F. Dutton died May 15, lSt)3, laiucnlod by all. lie had

filled many places of public trust, and in departing this

life left a name and rejiutatioii worthy the life of honor

and integrity he had lived, lie left a widow and five

children,— Mrs. Julie A. Buldcn ; James; Adnline, died at

six years of age; Richard; Mrs. Charlotia Myers; and

George, born Oct. 9, IS.'il, grew to manhood upon the

farm, and soon after his father's death assumed (he wan-
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agement of affairs. April 8, 1872, he married Miss

Nancy J., daughter of Thomas and Christa (Hutchinson)

Rudgers, who were among tlie earliest settlers in Ionia

County, having located in the town of Lyons in 1834. Mrs.

Rudgers taught the first school in the town of Dallas.

George and Nancy are the happy parents of one child,

James, who was born on the 27th of December, 1876.

Mrs. George Dutton still continues at the old homestead,

beloved by her children and respected by a large circle of

friends.

DANIEL BUTTON. MRS. DANIEL DUTTON.

Daniel Dutton is one of the family of Robert and Sarah

(Fowler) Dutton, a sketch of whose life we give in connec-

tion with that of George F. Dutton in another place. Daniel

was the youngest son and child ; his birth occurred at Co-

lumbus, Chenango Co., N. Y., March 7, 1825. At the age

of thirteen he came with an elder sister to Clinton Co., Mich.,

and lived with (xeorge F. three years ; then one season with

William F. Dutton in Westphalia. Then lived with Rob-

ert Dutton, Portland, Ionia Co., until past twenty. Then

went to Cass County, obtained a few tools, and set himself

up as a carpenter and joiner, commencing business for

himself; remained four years ; returned to Clinton County,

and in 1850 purchased forty acres in the town of West-

phalia. Jan. 1, 1852, he married Mary R., daughter of

Richard and Lucette (Wheeler) Farman, who emigrated

from Oswego County in 1838. He continued at his trade

and farming until 1864, when he exchanged for eighty

acres on same section. Considerable clearing had been pre-

viously made, but only a log house erected. Ho immedi-

ately set about erecting a suitable building, and a few years

sufiSced to render it one of the pleasantest locations in

town. Their large flimily of children were early taught

that steady application to their calling, with economy, was

the true way to success, as exemplified by them. Their

children number ten, as follows : Alfred E., born Jan. 12,

1853; Hattie L., Oct. 3, 1854; Ida S., June 24, 1857;

Judson H., Nov. 2, 1858 ; Dora A., July 22, 1860
; Emma

L, Dec. 26, 18G1 ; Charles R., July 2, 1863 ; Elmer E.,

Jan. 17, 1865 ;
Laura A., Nov. 2, 1868 ; Ellen N., Jan.

3, 1876.

In politics he affiliates with the Republican party ; has

DANIEL DUTTON.

held several local offices, but has never sought or desired

them, preferring the peace and comfort of home-life to the

anxiety experienced by office-seekers.

CHAPTER LVL

DUPLAIN TOWNSHIP.*

Location and Natural Features—Early Settlement of Duplain—Vil-

lage of Mapleton— Early Religious Meetings— Town Roads—
Schools—Township Organization and Civil List—Craven's Mills-

Village of Elsie—Societies and Orders.

Duplain is town 8 north, in range 1 west, and occupies

the northeastern corner of Clinton County, with the Gratiot

County line as the northern boundary, Ovid township on the

south, Shiawassee County on the east, and Greenbush town-

ship on the west. There was originally much heavily tim-

bered land in the town, and there was west of the river

until 1870 a good deal of swampy region, but that quarter

is now almost entirely free from waste lands, although the

period of its reclamation was a late one, and settlements

there were put back as a consequence. The Maple River,

known early by the French name of Riviere Du Plain, pur-

sues a winding course from south to north, and has since

the foundation of the town been a mill-stream of more or

less value.

There is upon the northeastern corner of the town the

* By David Schwartz.
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graded bed of what was once proposed to become the

Owosso and Big Rapids Railway, but the enterprise stopped,

as a failure, short of actual operation. The town voted

Oct. 16, IStiO, by a vote of two hundred and eighteen to

one hundred and one, to appropriate ten thousand dollars

towards the expenses of the road, only, however, upon the

completion thereof, and therefore escaped a sacrifice. Du-

plain contains two villages, called respectively Mapleton and

Elsie. The former, laid out in 1837, has declined to feeble

proportions. Elsie is a small but active hamlet, and is by

those who reside within its limits esteemed a place of much

promise.

EARLY SETTLEMENT OF DUPLAIN.

THE ROCHESTER COLONY.

The pioneer settlements in Duplain were made during

the summer of 1836 by members of a community styled

the Rochester Colony, .so called because they lived previous

to that in or near Rochester, in the State of New York.

A discussion by a few persons living in that neighborhood

touching advantages of a colony emigration to some point

in the far West led to the formation in the city of Roches-

ter of the Rochester Colony. The organization was effected

at a meeting held Feb. 29, 1836, upon which occasion ar-

ticles of association were subscribed to in substance as

follows

:

Article one provided that the association should be

called and known as " The Rochester Colony." The articles

provided for the raising of a fund with which to purchase

lands, and authorized any person to become a member and

be entitled to a vote by subscribing for one share of one

hundred and twenty-five dollars, and paying five dollars

down and the balance on call.

Article five provided that " Deeds for any purchase of

lands may be executed to the agents as grantees, but ex-

pressed to be to them as joint tenants in common, in order

that there may be a survivorship on the death of either.

The lands, although conveyed thus absolutely for the sake

of convenience, shall be considered as purchased and held

in trust for the subscribers who contribute to the funds."

It was also provided that the lands purchased should be

surveyed and laid out into farm lots of eighty acres each

and village lots, and that one farm lot and one or more vil-

lage lots should constitute a share, and that a drawing

should be held in the city of Rochester, and that each

shareholder should be entitled to draw one farm lot and one

or more village lots, and that after the drawing the agents

.should give to each subscriber an article or contract for his

portion of the land so drawn ; and as soon as any sub-

scriber had actually settled with his family on his poi'tion,

and made affidavit of his bona fide intention to remain a

settler, or, in lieu of settling, had made improvements on

his portion to the value of one-fourth of the cost thereof,

the agents should give him a deed in fee simj)le for his

share.

It was further provided that the balance of the land

should be sold at auction, and the proceeds divided between

the shareholder.^. And it was further provided that if any

subscriber did not settle or make the reciuisito im])rove-

meuts on his land within eighteen months after the draw-

ing he forfeit all his interest in the lands and property of

the colony, and that the same should be sold at auction,

and the proceeds, not exceeding the original cost, without

interest, after deducting all taxes, charges, and assessments,

should be paid to such delin<[uent subscriber, and the

balance divided among the shareholders. It was also pro-

vided that the agents should not purchase any land con-

tiguous to that purchased for the company until after the

purchase for the company was completed and the agents

had returned to their homes in Rochester, N. Y.

The names of those subscribing to the articles embraced

the following: E. R. Everest, W. G. Rus.sell, Joseph Sever,

W. P. Stanton, Jacob Blartin, Oliver Bebee, Benjamin Car-

penter, Joseph Atwood, Calvin Brainard, William Cliyn-

worth, Samuel Barker, M. T. Croade, Francis Faxon,

Samuel Graves, John Ferdon, Electus Boardman, E. W.
Collins, Samuel Brass, Henry Wilson, llufus Collier, Jr.,

Martha Osborn, V. R. Cook, P. A. Ford, Rowley & Brit-

ton, and E. Rowley. At the next meeting, held April 2,

1836, the association appointed W. G. Russell, Jo.seph

Sever, and E. R. Everest to act as agents in the selection

and purchase of lands, and being instructed to attend to

the matter in hand without delay, Russell and Sever set out

April 12, 1836, upon the tour of exploration.

They were directed to proceed first to Ohio, and go up

the Wabash and Erie Canal to Fort Defiance, examining

the country in that section, and also to look at Perrysburg,

on the Slaumee. Thence they were to go to Fort Wayne,

Ind., " and examine the country north and west of there,

especially along the Eel River and all the northern coun-

ties of Indiana." Then go to Michigan and "examine the

Grand River and its tributary streams with great attention."

They were told that " the head-waters of the Huron and

the Grand are not far distant from each other, and it is con-

jectured with strong probability that a canal will soon inter-

sect those two streams; look between those two points.

Tlic Grand River is said to embrace water privileges which

must soon be of great value. Look well to the village of

Grand Rapids and the country south of it, for that place

must be of importance. We have heard that a railroad

has been laid out from that place to Monroe village. The

counties of Clinton, Ingham, Eaton, and Barry should not

be passed unnoticed. You may be suited on the Thorn-

apjile River. We loam that there is a valuable tract of

land near the centre of Barry County. If you .should con-

clude to go to Grand Rapids and examine a,s far north as

Clinton County and the Maple Hiver, y(iu must not fail to

go into Saginaw County. Dr. Kitzhugh think.s the Saginaw

flats are ecpial to the Genesee flats. This is also the opinion

of Dr. Town, who lives at Ypsilanti, and his partner, who

have all i)nrcliascd there largrly. Daniel Ball and hia

brother are now on a lour to that section."

Within a month aftrr their departure from lloeheator

Russell and Sever completed tlieir land piirolixscs, having

selected a tract lying chiefly in what is now Duplain town-

ship. Their purcha.se embraced sections 28, 29, 31, 32,

and 33, and the .southwest (luarler of .section 30, in town 8

north, range 1 west, and the north halves of sections 5 and

6 in town 7 north, raugo 1 west, aggregating 4003^ J ^
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acres. The stipulated price of SI .25 per acre gave the sum

total of the purchase money as $5003.82.

The story of Russell and Sever's land search, as told by

Russell in a letter to Everest, is comprehensive and inter-

esting, and is given, as follows :

" BnoNSON, Mich., May 11, 1S.36.

" E. R. Everest : Sir,—We arrived in Detroit Friday,

22d of April, making ten days from Rochester; found the

roads bad. The Ball hoi-se tired and we had to put him oflF.

We exchanged him for a pony and paid $35. We stayed

in Detroit until the Monday following
;
got what information

we could from Messrs. Alcott, Ketchum, Strong, and others

that we thought advisable to inquire, and started on the

Pontiac turnpike leading through the northwest part of the

Territory. We stopped and explored different sections of

the country. We found all the important points taken, ex-

cepting one which lies on the Maple River. We spent

some four days in that part. We think that the water

privileges are good and the land first best. Sever and my-

self are much pleased with it, although it is timbered land.

The timber is beech, maple, hickory, oak, bass, butternut,

and black-walnut, and as handsome as you ever saw, and

well watered with beautiful springs. There is a contem-

plated canal to connect the Maple and Siiiawassee together

near this place, which, if that takes place, will cause a great

drift of business through this section of the country, as it

will save something like one thousand miles of water-car-

riage around the lakes. We thought best to look further,

and went to Barry County. We went, but soon returned.

Got satisfied that it was too heavy timbered and rough,

broken land for us. We then made up our minds that the

Maple River must be the place. We started off for Bronson

that night; rode until eleven o'clock, evening; put up at a

tavern, and got permission to sleep on the floor. Started

in the morning ; fell in company with a speculator ; was sat-

isfied that he was after our land. Feeling determined not

to give it up, I changed horses with Sever, the other man

being ahead a mile or two. I set out, determined not to

lose the prize ifJ lost the horse. After we got within four-

teen miles of Bronson I had a fresh horse to contend with.

For four or five miles I let him go ahead, until we got on

the last ten miles to the ofSce. I passed him within a few

miles of the ofiice, and got my application in a few minutes

before him, after coming ten miles in forty minutes. The

country around this place is new, and if any family should

leave Rochester for this they had better bring everything

they want for family use. There is no house near. If any

one should set off before we get home you must direct them

from Detroit to take the road leading northwest fifty miles

to Grand Blanc ; then take a west course to Mr. Williams',

on the Shiawassee River, where they will get all the infor-

mation necessary. We applied on Friday last, and are to

have our duplicates at nine o'clock this morning. We are to

leave this place for the Maple to-day, with Mr. Hill, to make

the survey and lay the lots. We feel glad to get away. It

is like town-meeting here every day (Sundays excepted).

We shall be in Rochester about the middle of June, proba-

bly. " William G. Russell,

" For the Colony."

According to the information in the closing portions of

the letter, Russell and Sever went over to the Maple with

Calvin G. Hill, the surveyor, who platted the colony lots.

The plat, including the territory already mentioned, was

received for record Oct. 27, 1837, from " E. R. Everest,

acting agent for the Rochester Colony." The plat of the

village received for record on the same day contains the

following :
" On the 27th day of October, 1837, personally

appeared before me, a justice of the peace, Edward R. Ev-

erest, now acting agent for the Rochester Colony, in the

county of Clinton and State of Michigan, known to me to

be the person who executed this plat, and acknowledged the

same to be his free act and deed, and furthermore that this

plat was made by Benjamin H. Brown.

"JOSIAH PeARCE, J.P."

June 15, 1836, Russell and Sever returned to Rochester

and reported the results of their labors. On the 29th instant

the members of the colony met at the oflice of Edward R.

Everest and drew each his share by lot. At a meeting

held the 30th instant it was voted to dispose of the Maple

River water-power on section 29 at auction. The power

was estimated as capable of running two saws and three

run of stones, and, precedent to the contract of sale, it was

stipulated that the purchaser should bind himself in the

sum of three thousand dollars to have one saw in operation

within a year, and that within two years he should have

erected a grist-mill with at least one run of stone. The

mill-privilege was sold under the named conditions to

Willis Thempshall for one thousand one hundred and

fifteen dollars.

The first movement towards an actual settlement upon

the Colony lands was made early in July, 1836, by John

Ferdon, Samuel Barker, and Oliver Bebee, who, with their

families and Ellen Lowe, then set out for the West to take

possession of the colony lots that had fallen to their share.s.

In the company were sixteen persons, of whom ten were

children. They journeyed by water to Detroit, and thence

by ox-teams to the place of proposed settlement. They fol-

lowed the Grand River trail to a point some miles east of

where Laing.sburg now stands, and struck through the

trackless forest northward. The distauce to their destina-

tion was full twenty miles, and over the entire route they

were compelled to cut a road. So tedious was the progress

that, although they persevered diligently, they were nine

days making the trip of twenty miles.

However long their road it had a turn, and so on the

28th of July, 1836, they came to the end of their weari-

some travels. Their first night upon the Colony land was

spentr upon Bebee's place, and on the day following they

moved to Ferdon's lot, where it was proposed to put up a

cabin. The shanty, built of logs with bark roof and bark

floor, was finished within a day or two, but stood just over

the town-line, in what is now the town of Greenbush,

Ferdon's lot bordering upon the west line of town 8.

Barker's cabin was next put up, and occupied a place on

the north line of town 7 (now known as Ovid), in section

6. It will have been seen therefore that the first improve-

ment in the colony was made in town 7 by Barker, Ferdon's

hut not being upon Colony land. It will be further seen
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that Ferdon and Barker built respectively the 6rst houses

io Greenbush and Ovid. The third Colmiy house, and the

first iu town S, was Bebcc's cabin, built directly after the

completion of Barker's. It stood upon the soutli line of

town 8, in section 31, directly opposite Barker's.

Illustrative of the peculiar inflictions of the densely-

wooded country into which these hardy pioneers had pene-

trated, it may be mentioned that the multitudes of mosqui-

toes they encountered made life well-nif^h a burden. So

thick were the pests that while two of the men labored at

cabin building the third found his time and enerj;ies fully

occupied iu driving oiF mosquitoes. Veils were absolutely

necessary as face coverings, and, at best, for some time the

troubles that arose from the insect source were sorely

distressing.

Of the sixteen persons who came as the Colony pioneer

advance-guard six still live,—Mrs. Henry S. Harrison (then

Mrs. Barker), Mrs. Oliver Bebee (then Ellen Lowe),

Thomas Bebee, Mrs. Z. H. Harrison (daughter of Mrs.

Bebee), Lorenzo Ferdon, and Henry P. Barker. Mrs.

Harrison lives in Elsie, and Mrs. Bebee upon the farm Mr.

Bebee occupied in July, 1836.

Barker, Bebee, and Ferdon were not joined by others of

the Colony until September, although it was confidently ex-

pected that they would be followed almost immediately by

several families. As it was, the next to come were Joseph

Sever and Francis Faxon,—only the i'ormer, however, bring-

ing a family. Faxon put up a cabin and made a clearing,

and returning eastward for his family brought them out in

September, 1837. Until then (except David Watson, a

blacksmith) there had been no fresh accessions to the Colony

settlement, which progressed, indeed, at first very slowly.

Charles Baldwin came with his family Nov. 15, 1837, and

after that the settlement began to slowly but surely receive

numerical strength. In December, 1836, Barker vacated

his house in town 7, and passed over into town 8, where he

had U)ade a new location. He had but three miles to go,

yet the journey consumed an entire day. In fording the

river his wagon came apart, and being covered with ice re-

sisted for a long time the eliorts of himself and wile to put

it together. They conquered the emergency, however, by

nighll'all and pushed on.

PASSING INCIDENTS.

Getting to market or to mill was to the first comers a

task of considerable magnitude, since either involved a

journey to Ann Arbor, Battle Creek, or Pontiac, and some-

times even to Detroit, while to obtain access to a jiost-ollicc

re(juired a trip to Laingsburg or Owosso. After a little

while Jo.seph Sever, Edward K. Everest, and Willis Thcmp-

shall built a grist- and saw-mill at the colony. J'^vcrest

opened a store and cau.scd a post-office to be established

there, so that existence began to flow in smoother chaiiiii'Is.

The first hii'th in the sctllemctit was that ol Willi^im

Henry, son of Stcrry Lyon, whose birth occurred in 1838.

He died in 1839. Fidelia Carpenter, the ten-year-old

daughter of Benjamin Carpenter, was the first person to

die. She died in 1838, and was the first to be buried in

the Colony cemetery laid out some time before and ever

since continued in its original use. The funeral sermon

54

was preached by Mr. Whiting, a member of the Colony,

and a Methodist exhorter. The first marriage was that of

Oliver Bebee and Ellon Lowe. They were married at Be-

bee's house, by John Ferdon, then a justice of the peace,

in July, 1837. The only wedding-guests were Mr. and

Mrs. Barker and Mr. and Mrs. Ferdon. Mrs. Bebee still

lives on the old Bebee place at the Colony.

The first blaek.smith was David Watson, who opened a

shop on section 31, in the summer of 1837. Whiting, the

exhorter, was also a blacksuiilh, but he did not set up his

shop until 1843. Oliver Bebee was the first carpenter and

Charles Stevens the second. Samuel L. Brass was the first

shoemaker, and afterwards kept a store at an early date.

At the meeting held June 29, 1836, the result of the

drawing for lots was as follows

:

Fnrni ViMiigo

Ecinard R. Everest 1 12
AVilliaiii (i. Russell 2 5~

Joseph Sever 2 7

.luhii Ferdon 2 7
William Chynoworth 2 9
IJenjamin Carpenter ;{ i;i

Samuel (iraves .'J 1>II

Oliver Ilebee 2 5
Samuel IJarker 2 4
M.T. Croade 2 8
Jaeob Martin 1 4
John Boardniati 1 3
Eleetus lioardinnn t. 1 5
Kdivin W. Collins 1 1

Rufus Collier, Jr 1 I

Von Rensselaer Cook 1 1

Joseph Atwood 1 1

W. 1'. & H. Stanton 1 1

(icorge S. Shelmire .•. 1 1

Henry N. Sever I 1

Samuel lirnss I 3
Sunaiious Rritton 1 3

Martha Osborne 1 2
P. A. Ford and E. Rtiss •

1 2
Rowley A- lirilton I 2
Eliazar Rowley I 3
Calvin Rrainard I ft

Francis Fa.\on 2 4

Sylvester Bliss 2 5

The drawing disposed of forty-five Colony lots. There

were reserved to the Colony eighty acres in lots 11, 12, and

13, lying ofl the Maple Kiver, besides four large and forty-

four small village lots, as well as a lot for a burial-place and

farm lots 'J and 42.

KESIUENT TAX-1'AYEUS IN TOWN 8 NoUTll,
RANGE 1 WEST, IN 18IW.

Arrpa.

1!. liicks, section II 40
Thomas Craven, Sr., section 14 200

R. K. (ravin, soolions 11, 14 3110

Sydney 1.. Smith, seeliona 22, 23 210
Charles Stephens, .^eelion 27 8U
Nathan Lowe, section 34 IGO

I.N iiiK idi.o.NY rntniASK.

E. U. Everest 480
Frinu-is Faxon 100
()liver Uebeo I BO

Joseph Suvur IdO

John Copeland 320
Samuel llarkor Kill

KESIUENT TAX-1'AVKKS IN SKNA IN IHIO.

Acre*.

John nurnoll, Colony lulu 1 nnil 2 100

Sterry I,yun, Colony lot 3 80
' '•• necti.inll 40

Abram Itocker, (,'cdony lot 21 : 80
FraneiH Fii.xi>n, Colony lots IC HuiI 34 nud vuulh-

wcsl qmirtir nl' >vetinn 21 320
Oli\er Uobev, lotii 32 and 33 180
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Acres.

Joseph Sever, lots 8 and 1 J 16»

Samuel Barker, lot 19 SU

Grove Cooper, luts 31 and 32 IfiH

H. M. Sever, lot 18 8«

Oliver Everest, lot 17 S"

John Ferdon, lot 29 SO

Benjamin Carpenter, lot 28 80

David Watson, fraction of lot 26 20

Samuel Brass, lot 25 iO

Temiishall A Sever, mill-lot 9

Nathan Lowe, section 34 Ifi"

Charles Slevens, section 27 80

Sidney L. Smith, sections 27 and 23 240

K. E. Craven, sections II, 22. 23, 10 400

Thomas Craven, Sr., section 14 160

Thomas Craven, Jr., section 14 80

Liberty Carter, section 24 1*50

Patrick Calligan, section 12 80

AVilliam B. Watson, sections 2 and 21 160

Chandler Coy, section 36 80

Benjamin Hicks, section 11 40

Soon after the coming to the town of the advance-guard

of the Colony there came also other settlers, and they drift-

ing to various portions of the township generally populated

it at a comparatively early day. Nathan R. Lowe, a New

Yorker, settled in 1838 on section 34, to which he had to

cut his road from the Colony. Chandler Coy settled on

Section 35. Dexter Cooper was one of the earliest comers

to the vicinity of the Colony, and in 1840 E. J. Stone

made a home upon a farm in section 33, for which he ex-

changed a farm in Calhoun County, whither he migrated

from the East as early as 1835. Later comers to that

neighborhood were Edward Paine, F. L. Hall, Robert Coy,

George Wilcox, Benjamin Wilcox, Richard Tompkins,

Henry Spencer, and John Spencer.

About 1840 the northeastern and eastern portions of the

town began to receive settlers, of whom several had located

their lands in 1836. On the west side of the river the

prevalence of lowlands repelled the pioneer, and in that

quarter settlements were meagre until a late date. Liberty

Carter entered land in section 24 in the fall of 1830, but

did not occupy it until the .spring of 1841, when he came

with his father, and brother Sylvester, having meanwhile

worked at the Colony on the places of Ferdon and Bebee.

The only man north of Carter was Patrick Galligan, on

section 12, where he had in the spring of 1841 just made

a commencement. In that portion of the town Galligan

and the Carters were the pioneers. Franklin, Baker, and

H. B. Gleason came into the Carter neighborhood in 1841,

and in 1844 E. W. Cobb, with his brother, Lyman, and

father, Joshua, made settlements upon section 12. H. P.

Cobb was on section 13, where he had been about two

years ; the Cravens were in section 10, on the Maple, where

they soon built a mill ; Charles Baldwin was near there,

and afterwards kept a boarding-house for the mill hands,

and on section 12 was Patrick Galligan. That portion of

the town was heavily timbered, and had in 1844 scarcely a

semblance of a road, except one the Cravens had cut out

between their place and the Colony. In 1845, Levi Hicks

settled in Livingston County, and when in 1854 he made

a new home upon section 1 in Duplain the only other resi-

dents upon that section were Abram Hobbs and A. J. Lin-

man. Z. A. Ford came to the section in 1855, the Ben-

netts to section 12 in 1855, and J. B. Moore to section 2

in 1855. Among the settlers in the east were also W.
Wooll, E. N. Wait, Charles Sexton, E. Nethaway, Mr.

Hickox, William Tillottson, and James Shaw, the latter in

1845 to the place now occupied by A. B. Jeffrey.

Upon the west side of the river the earliest settlements

were made by C. Stafford, Thomas Leet, and Daniel Lett.',

who penetrated that quarter upon sections 9 and 15 in

1850. After that C. Ranney located on section 3, J. W.

Garrett on section 9, C. B. Dodge on section 10, and Israel

Mead on section IC.

VILLAGE OF MAPLETON.

As already remarked, the village of Maplcton was platted

by Edward R. Everest, as the Colony's agent, Oct. 27, 1837.

The erection of the saw-mill and grist-mill in 1840, and the

opening of a store by Edward R. Everest, soon afterwards

contributed something of a vigorous start to the little ham-

let, and directly afterwards a post-office was added to the

conveniences, William B. Watson, a physician, having pre-

viously located in 1830. Previous to Everest's time, ^ome

time in 1838 or 1839, John Ferdon had a small quantity

of goods in his house, having taken them in Rochester,

N. Y., on a debt, and these he doled out to whoever would

buy, but the first regularly-equipped store was Everest's.

The second store was set up by William Shepard, in 1844,

and in connection with his store Mr. Shepard opened a

tavern. In 1849, Shepard was still keeping store, and in

1850, 0. M. Pearl became a Colony trader. Paine & Kipp

opened a store in 1852, and in 1853, Faxon & Pearl suc-

ceeded 0. M. Pearl. Among succeeding merchants at Ma-

plcton were Henry Paine and Samuel L. Brass.

A post-office was established at Mapleton about 1840, and

given the name of Colony, but this being found to conflict

with another office of a similar name in the State, a change

was made to Duplain. Mail was at first delivered to Du-

plain over the route between Owosso and Lyons once a

week. Edward Everest, the first postmaster, continued in

the oflBce until 1847, when he was succeeded by James

Tucker. Tucker stepped out in 1852, in favor of J. W.

Paine, who gave way in 1853 to William Shepard, and he

to William H. Faxon, whose term of service endured only a

few months. Samuel L. Brass, the next incumbent, held

the place from 1855 to 1861. R. Dewstoe served from

18C1 to 18Gt), James Tucker (second term) from 1866 to

1869, and William Smead (who came to Mapleton in

1850) from 1869 to the present time.

In 1839 the village received its pioneer physician. Dr.

William B. Watson, who, when he" first set up in practice

in the Colony, boarded with Francis Faxon, and married

one of Mr. Faxon's daughters. Dr. Watson lived in and

near the Colony from 1839 until his death in 1875, and

continued his professional pursuits to within a few years of

his demise. For fifteen years Dr. Watson was the sole

physician the Colony had. In 1854 came Dr. M. L. Leach,

who practiced thereabout, with more or less regularity,

until his removal to Elsie in 1878. Dr. H. H. House

opened an office in 1858, and remained continuously to 1876

a village doctor there, except for a space of six years spent

in Indiana. Dr. E. S. Leonard practiced one year, from

1857 to 1858, and Dr. A. C. Joslyn, five years, from 1860

to 1865. Dr. D. W. Emerson, now the only physician at

the colony, has been located there since 1864.
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RELIGIOUS MEETINGS.

The pioneer sernion in the Colony was preached at John

Ferdon's liouse, in the fall of 1836, by Rev. Sir. Kanouse, a

Presbyterian minister of Lodi, Mich., who, while on a

land-iooiving tour, tarried at Ferdon's house. Mr. Kanouse

preached from the thirty-second cliapter and eleventh verse

of Deuteronomy,—" As an eagle stirreth up her nest, flut-

tereth over her young, spreadeth abroad her wings, taketli

them and beareth them on her wings." The clioir was

composed of Mrs. Samuel Barker and John Ferdon, and .

besides them there were in the congregation Mr. and Mrs.

Bebee and four children, Mrs. Feidon and three children,

Mr. Barker and three children, and Mr. Ferdon's liired

man, William. One Sunday in the summer of 1837 there

came to Mr. Barker's house two men, who represented

that they were laborers on the mill at Owosso, and that

having heard there were occasional prayer meetings at the

Colony they were determined to come out ;
" for," added

the spokesman, " we were so hungry for prayer and a

prayer-meeting that we would liave walked twice the dis-

tance." The Barkers were of course glad to see them,

and in the prayer-meeting that followed there was one

Hicks, a land-looker, besides the Barkers and the two men

from Owosso. Hicks was a powerfully-voiced singer, and

Mrs. Harrison thinks his voice, when pitched to its highest,

could have been heard well-nigh a mile. After prayers an

excellent dinner followed, and the two pilgrims from Owosso

departed on their return journey happy and refreshed.

They walked thirty-two miles to participate in that prayer-

meeting, but the satisfaction they derived was presumably

more than enough to afford compensation for what weari-

ness the walk may have occasioned.

DUPLAIN METHODIST EPISCOPAL CLASS

In November, 1837, Revs. W^ashington Jack.son and

Isaac Bennett, sent out by the Michigan Methodist Epis-

copal Conference, organized at the house of Joseph Sever

the Duplain class. The members numbered ten, and in-

cluded Francis Faxon and Bet.sey his wife, Joseph Sever,

June his wife, and his two daughters, Sarah and Bathsheba,

Charles and Sophronia Baldwin, Frederick Cranson, and

Mrs. Cusick, Charles Baldwin being clas.s-leader. The

circuit embraced a tour of three hundred miles, and as

there were but the two preaeluis on the work, the Du-

plain class was not enabled to have public worship oftencr

than once in four weeks. In the December following a

Sunday-school was organized in Francis Faxon's house

with nine scholars, Charles Baldwin being chosen superin-

tendent. Church and school have maintained from the

first a continuous active existence, and are today flourish-

ing organizations. The class is now on the Duplain Cir-

cuit, in charge of Rev. C. A. Jacokes; has a membership

of eighty and has worship every Sunday.

A church edifice was built in 1855, and still continues

in use. The present class-leader is Albert McEwen, who

is also local preacher. The church trustees are J. H. Love,

Lewis McKnight, J. H. Faxon, R. Chapman, and E. J.

Stono. Albert McEwen is superintendent of the Sunday-

school, which has one hundred and ten scholars on the

fjU.

FIRST DISCIPLE CHURCH OF DUPLAIN.

The First Disciple Church was organized in the Colony

school-house in 1870 by Elder Brooks, with about thirty

members. A house of worship was begun the same year

and completed in 1871. Elder Brooks preached a year, and

was succeeded in regular order by Revs. Fraut, John A.

Mafferty, La Grange, Cook, Hurd, and Sweatman. Rev.

S. K. Sweatman is the present pastor, and preaches once a

week. The membership is seventy-five ; the trustees and

elders are Peter Moore, Looraan Wilcox, and Clinton

Shaw ; the deacons, T. C. Avery and P. Fo.«s. The Sab-

bath school, organized in 187(1, has an average attendance

of six teachers and fifty scholars. The superintendent is

Peter Moore.

TOWN KOADS.

The first road laid in town 8 north, range 1 west, while

it was yet a portion of Bingham, was surveyed by Charles

R. Spicer, and recorded Aug. 7, 1839, Samuel Barker and

Charles Stevens being highwaj' commissioners. The survey,

made July 15th, commenced at the quarter post on the east

side of section 31, thence running north two and a half de-

grees, west twelve and a half chains to angle ;
thence north

forty-five degrees, west five chains and forty-five links to a

beech-tree; thence north twenty-nine degrees, west one

chain and eighty-seven links to a post; thence north twelve

degrees, east three chains and twenty-five links to a post;

thence north seventy-one degrees, east five chains and twelve

links to a post; thence north eighteen degrees, west six

chains to the east line of said section 31, eleven chains and

sixty links south of the northeast corner of said section.

Survey No. 2 commenced at the quarter post on the

north line of section 31, thence running south two and one

half degrees, east twenty-four chains to angle ;
thence south

forty-seven and one-half degrees, east nineteen and one-half

chains to a beech-tree ; thence south sixty-two degrees, east

forty chains ; thence south seventy-three degrees, east six

chains to post ; thence south forty-seven and a half degrees,

east twenty-five chains and eleven links to a beech-tree

;

thence south twenty degrees, east eleven chains and sixty-nine

links ; thence south thirty-eight degrees, east forty chains to

post; thence south forty-seven and a half degrees, ca.st sixty

chains ; thence south twenty-four degrees, east twenty-two

chains and seventy links to a basswood-trcc ; thence south

sixty-two degrees, east twenty chains and seventy-live links

to a maple-tree ; thence south fifty-one degrees, east four-

teen chains to post ; thoncc south nine degrois, cast four

chains and eighty-seven links ; thence south fifty chains,

east thirty and a half chains to the meridian line, three

chains sixty-five links north of the southeast corner of sec-

tion 12, town 7 north, range 1 west.

Survey No. 3 commenced at a stake twenty chains twenty

links east on the section line from the southwest corner of

section 2!) ;
thence north two and a half degrees, west forty

chains tu u point twenty chains twenty links cast, two and

a half degrees north of the quarter stake on the west line

of section 21).

Survey No- ! commenced seventy-nine rods north on the

section-line of the southeiLst corner of sectioi) 21, running

thence |brty-fourund a half degrees, cast fo«r chains seventy-
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three links; thence north forty degrees, east forty-eight

chains fifty links to the centre of the highway ; thence west

and south to intersect road No. 3.

The following road districts in Sena were set off and

recorded March 30, 1840, by Charles Stevens and John

Jessup, highway commissioners :

District No. 1, bounded as follows, to wit: commencing

at the quarter post on the meridian of tlie 25th section,

thence running west on the quarter line through sections

25, 26, 27, 28, 29 and 30, and including all the land north

of said line in the town.

District No. 2, bounded as follows : commencing at the

quarter post on the east line of section 25, thence running

west, on the quarter line, through sections 25, 26, and 27
;

thence on the section-line to the southwest corner of .sec-

tion 34 ; thence east on the town line to the meridian line

;

thence north on the meridian to the place of beginning.

District No. 3 comprised the remainder of the town not

contained within the limits of districts Nos. 1 and 2.

At a public meeting held Dec. 12, 1840, for the purpose

of letting contracts for improvements upon the roads of

Sena, contracts were awarded as follows, the work to be

completed March 1, 1841

:

Contract No. 1.—To build eiglit rods of causeway on the road
leading from the mill to Dr. W.atson's, near Austin's, Let
to Silvester Carter at U7 cents per rod, said causeway to

be laid on stringers or poles, and to be made in the best

manner twelve feet wide $8.73

No. 2.—To build six rods of causeway on the south line of sec-

tion 21. Let lo Silvester Carter at $1 per rod 6.00

No. 3.—To build twenty rods of causeway on south line of sec-

tion 21. Let to Henry M. Sever at SI per rod, subse-

quently taken by Abraham Becker and S. Carter at same
rate 20.00

No. 4.—To build twelve rods of causeway on south line of sec-

tion 21. Let to Liberty Carter at $1.17 per rod 14.0-1

No. 5.—Til chop and clear one mile of the road from Barker's
to Jessop's, two rods wide, of all timber under si.\ inches
in diameter, and otherwise to make the road passable.

Let to Liberty Carter at 9.87

No. 6.—To build eight rods of causeway on the south line of

section 29, and digging up a large pine-stump at the end
of the same. Let to Oliver Bebee at 8.76

No. 7.—To build seven rods of causeway on the south line of

section 31. Let to Oliver Bebee at SI per rod 7.00

No. S.—To log out and clear three acres of the Owosso road
three rods wide. Let to Oliver Bebee at 8.75

No. 9.—To build four rods of causeway over a brook on sec-

tion 21. Let to K. E. Craven at 94 cents jjcr rod 3.76
No. 10.—To ehop and clear one acre of the road leading to

Owosso four rods wide. Let to Henry Fa.xon and Henry
M. Sever at SIO per acre, all of the above jt)hs to be fin-

ished according to specifications in contract No. 1 10.00
No. 11.—To remove three stumps out of the way of the six-

rod causeway on the south line of section 21. Let to L.
Carter 1.50

No. 12.—To build a bridge over a ravine on section 22. Let
to Robert E. Craven at $75, to be finished by the 1st of
April 75.00

No, 13.—.\llowed to Abraham Becker for clearing out the road
from the school-house west thirty rods 1.50

No. 14.—To chop one acre on the Owosso road four rods wide.
Let to Francis Faxon at 6.00

No. 15,—To chop one acre and a quarter on the Owosso road
four rods wide. Let to Sydney L. Smith at 7.50

No. 16.—To ehop one acre on the Owosso road four rods wide.
Let to Nathan Lowe at 5.00

No. 17.— To chop and clear a job on the Owosso road four rods
wide. Let to Charles Baldwin at $11 per acre 11.00

SCHOOLS.

One of the first two schools established in Clinton County

was taught by Miss Bathsheba Sever (subsequently the wife

of W. H. Faxon) in a school-house built at the Colony (on

the present Peter JMoore place) in February, 1838, Frac-

tional school district No. 1 was organized May 20, 1843,

to embrace the south half of section 19, the whole of sec-

tions 30 and 31, the southwest quarter of section 32, and

so much of the northwest ([uarter of section 32 as lay"on

the west side of Maple River, containing seventeerf acres,

all in the township of Duplain
; lots Nos. 45, 46, 47, 48,

49, and 50 of the Rochester Colony tract, and the south

half of section 25, the east half of section 35, and the

whole of section 36 in Greenbush.

District No. 2 was formed Sept. 13, 1845, of sections 1,

2, and 3, the east half of section 4, the east half of the

northeast quarter of section 9, the whole of sections 10,

11, and 12, and the north halves of sections 13, 14, and

15. The first meeting of the district was ordered to be

held at the house of Charles Baldwin, Sept. 26, 1845.

District No. 3, organized Oct. 1, 1845, included the

south halves of sections 13 and 14, southeast quarter of

section 15, the east half of section 22, the whole of sec-

tions 23 and 24, the north half of section 25, and the

northeast quarter of section 26.

Although district No. 1 must have been organized pre-

vious to May 20, 1843, there is no reference in the records

to district No. 1 until Oct. 1, 1845, when it was stated

that " School district No. 1 comprises within its limits sec-

tions 33, 34, 35, 27, and 28, the east half and southwest

quarter of section 29, the east half and northwest quarter

of section 32, the west half and southeast quarter of sec-

tion 26, the southwest quarter of section 22, and the south

half of section 21."

Of the money received from the State school fund for

1847 the apportionment was twenty-five dollars and twenty-

eight cents to district No. 1, having seventy-nine scholars,

and six dollars and seventy-two cents to fractional district

No. 1, having twenty-one scholars. District No. 4 was

formed April 4, 1850, to embrace sections 35 and 36 and

the south halves of sections 25 and 26. The first meeting

of the district was ordered to be held April 30, 1850, at

the house of Thomas Leet.

The apportionment of the primary-school fund for 1851

was as below :

District. Scholars. Amount.
• No. 1 77 S2G.,'i3

" 2 27 9.23
" 3 24 8.21
" 4 14 4.79
" 1 (fraclional) 31 10.60

173 $59.16

For the year 1852 the apportionment was as follows:

District. Scholars. Amount.

No. 1 78 $25..38
" 2 40 13.01
tt 3 27 8 77
" 1 (fractional) 22 7.16

167 $54.32

For 1858 as follows:

I

District.

No. 1
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The first recorded appointment of a teacher is under date

of Nov. 14, 1849. From that date to 1860 teachers' cer-

tificates were issued by tlie school inspectors as follows

:

Nov. 14, 1849.—Arozina Chapman.

April 13, 1850.—Ann S. Avery, Albina Chapman.

March 29, 1851.—Eleanor M. Rockwell.

May 24, 1851.— Mary Hill, Margaret Janes.

Nov. 12, 1851.—Delia S. Janes.

Dec. 1, 1851.—Stephen Chapman, Jr.

April 10, 1852.—Mary A. Stevenson.

May 8, 1852.—Mrs. Hicks.

June 7, 1852.—Catherine E. Beebe.

Nov. 6, 1852.—J. H. Faxon, Henry Harrison, Hannah

Wilcox.

Jan. 15, 1853.—William Tillottson.

June 21, 1853. Shepard.

Oct. 18, 1853.—Lounsberry Swarthout.

April 8, 1854.—Mrs. Marshall Wilcox.

April 17, 1854.—Nancy M. Gunsally.

May 8, 1854.—Malinda Richmond.

Nov. 4, 1854.—Samuel L. Brass.

Nov. 18, 1854.—Miss B. A. Sickels.

Nov. 27, 1854.—Marshall L. Wilcox.

Dec. 21, 1854.—Sylvia Guilford.

Jan. 13, 1855.—Edward Clark.

April 14, 1855.—Mary L. Kipp, Adelia Smith.

April 27, 1855.—Mary A. Faxon.

May 11, 1855.—Eleanor M. Rockwell.

Nov. 3, 1855.—Morgan L. Leach, William L. Tillott-

son, Delia A. Leckenby.

Dec. 25, 1855. Gaskill.

Jan. 5, 1856.—Margaret Janes.

April 12, 1856.—Rebecca Salyer.

May 8, 1856.—Elizabeth Borden.

March 30, 1857.—Maria Wood, James Roberts, William

Sickels.

April 10, 1858.—Emory B. Hyde, Loreo Shelley, Nancy

Budd, and Marilla Nethaway.

April 12, 1858.—Mary E. King.sley.

May 22, 1858.—Fanny Chapcll.

April 14, I860.— Miss Achsah Giddings, William H.

Stone, and Marilla Nethaway.

Below is a copy of the annual school report for 1879 :

No. 1

" 2

I""'='°"'-
ation.

J. H.Faxon 04

M. W. Duiilmin* 102
Willinm Wii»n h7
J. MeacilicT 46
Morgftn Morj^e 35
J. <i. Wilcox .39

liyron lirown 4.'1

Hishop .Miller 77

A. McKhhii 60

613

Average
Allonii-

anco.

37

123
49
27
28

29
26

1U8

44

Value of
Property.

$800
1200
40G
4IIU

375
250
1200
600

200

Tenclicn*'

Wjiges.

$183
6:i»

2:\C,

144

67

128
131

111

no

491 $5425 $1773

TOWNSHIP OKGANIZ.VTION AND CIVIL LIST.

Under act approved March 19, 1840, town 8 north, in

range 1 west was set off from Bingham and culled Sena

township. Whence came the name of Sena, or who the

person that suggested it, the most diligent imjuiry has

* Elsie graded school. ( Frootionnl.

failed to reveal. It can only be said that with the petition

for separate organization went also the three names Sena,

Sinai, and Napanee, and that the former was selected. The

name did not, however, suit upon closer acquaintance, and

in accordance with a petition, the name of Dujilain was

substituted March 20, 1841. The wife of Dr. William B.

Watson is credited with having bestowed the new appella-

tion, and with having taken it from the name given by the

French- Indian traders to the river now called the Maple.

In the French the word is written Du Plain,—meaning

"of the plain,"—and should properly be so written now,

but by custom it has somehow lost the feature of the capi-

tal P, and is commonly written Duplain.

March 9, 1848, towns 9 and 10 north, in range 1 west,

being a portion of Gratiot County, were attached to Du-

plain, and remained so attached until the organization of

Gratiot County in 1855.

The first meeting of the town of Sena was held in the

school-house of school district No. 1 April 23, 1840, when

twenty votes were cast, but one ticket being offered for the

consideration of the suffragans. Appended is a full list of

the persons chosen at that meeting to be town officials

:

Supervisor, Robert E. Craven ; Clerk, Francis Faxon; Treas-

urer, Sydney L. Smith ; Justices of the Peace, Joseph

Sever, David Watson, Nathan Lowe, and Abram Becker

;

Assessors, Samuel Barker. Francis Faxon, Oliver Bebee
;

Commissioners of Highways, Robert E. Craven, Francis

Faxon, Charles Stevens; School Inspectors, William B.

Watson, Chandler Coy, Sydney L. Smith ; Collector, Henry

M. Sever, Liberty Carter, Henry M. Sever ; Overseers of

the Poor, Joseph Sever, Thomas Craven, Sr. ; Overseers of

Highways, Thomas Craven, Sr., in No. 1, Sydney L. Smith

in No. 2, Joseph Sever in No. 3 ; Poundmaster, Samuel

Barker.

The names of the persons chosen annually from 1841 to

1880 to be supervisor, clerk, treasurer, and justice of the

peace will be found here appended

:

SUPERVISORS.

1841.

1842-

1845.

1846.

1847-

1850.

1851.

1852.

1853-

1855-

1858.

Nathan Lowe.

44. R. E. Craven.t

S. L. Smitli.

William Shepard.

49. S. L. Smith.

II. K, Cra%'cn,

J. D. Sii-kols.

R. E. Craven.

54. 0. M. I'oarl.

57. J. I). Siekols.

Levi llieks.

1859.

1860-

1864.

1865.

1866.

1867-

1869.

1870.

1871.

1S72-

1879-

CLERKS.

J. F. Gleason.

03. J. D. Sickels.

Jos. Keen.

A. lirown.

E. Nethaway.

68. J. D. Sickels.

T. L. Hall.

M. U. Kelly.

J. D. Sickels.

78. E. V. Chnso.

80. L. U. Bates.

1841. E.
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TREASURERS.

1841.
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quarter of the southeast quarter of section ] 1 , and twenty-

six rods wide across the north part of the northeast quarter

of the northeast (juarter of section 14." The new vilhige

was named Elsie as a compliment to one of Franklin Tillot-

son's daughters.

Additions to the plat were made May 24, 1858, by

Franklin Tillotson ; June 23, 1858, by Jonathan Hicks;

July 26, 1870, by Elijah W. Cobb, Levi Kandall, and

Kingston WooU ; and June 23, 1871, by B. D. Hicks.

The first improvement at Elsie was a framed store built

by Job U. and William Sickels in 1857 on the first lot

west of the present tavern, and in 1858 a second store was

started by Aaron Sickels and E. W. Cobb. When VAs'io

began to loom up, Cravens' Mills began to lose its vitality,

and in a brief time boasted nothing save the mill.

A. E. Gray, now an Ovid blacksmith, was early on the

ground at Elsie with a smithy, and in 1858 Farwell &
Son, of Detroit, set in motion, a chair-factory operated by

steam and employing four people. They carried on the

business until 1800, when they failed. In 1858, Job and

William Sickels sold their store business to Aaron Durfee,

and in 1860 M. B. Kelly succeeded Cobb & Sickels. In

1865, Kelly Brothers and John.son hiunchcd out in a new

big store, and built a grist-mill at Craven's old stand. In

1870 they built a planing-mill, and, in connection with

considerable timber-land interests, carried on an extensive

business.

The earliest shoemakers in the village were John Meacher

and Henry Sexton. E. W. Gay opened a wagon-shop in

1865, and still carries it on. In 1870, J. F. Hasty & Co.

put up south of the village a stave- and shook-factory em-

ploying thirty men, and when the concern burned in 1871

started another one east of the village. In 1878 they re-

moved the business to Detroit.

Elsie village contains now among its business interests

three general stores, hardware-store, grocery-, drug-, and

boot-and-shoe stores.

The Elsie post-office was established in 1857, and Frank-

lin Tillot.son appointed postmaster. Mail was received by

way of the Colony post-office until the creation of the Ovid

post-office. In 1861, J. D. Sickels succeeded Tillottson,

and gave way in 1806 to Ichabod Chase. J. D. Sickels

was reappointed in 1867 and retained the office until 1878,

when E. W. Cobb, the present incumbent, was appointed.

The office receives now a daily mail by way of Ovid.

TAVERNS.

D. B. Fox built Elsie's first tavern in 1859, forty rods

west of the present tavern, which—the only one now open

—was erected in 1865 by J. L. Doty, who has been its

landlord cuutitiuously ever since.

CEMETERY.

The Elsie cemetery was laid out in 1851. The first per-

son buried therein was Jo.shua W. Cobb, the date of whose

burial was May 4, 1851.

CHEESE-FACTORY.

M. S. Doyle purchased in 1875 the cheese-factory estab-

lished by Sheldon Si Eddy, and still carries it on. In 1879

he manufactured sixty-eight thousand seven hundred

pounds of cheese, in the production of which six hundred

and eighty-seven thousand pounds of milk were used.

Elsie's first resident physician was one Dr. Taugersen, a

Texan, who, during a few months' stay in the year 1858,

divided his time between lecturing on temperance and prac-

ticing physic. Dr. Leach, of the colony, practiced also

medicine at Elsie and vicinity at that period, but did not

take up his residence there until many years later. Dr. E.

V. Chase, now in practice in Elsie, began his professional

career in Clinton County at Ovid, in 1857, and removing

thence in 1860 to Elsie, has practiced continuously at the

latter place ever since, except for a period of four years

and seven months passed in the military service. Follow-

ing is a list of the physicians who appeared at Elsie subse-

quent to Dr. Chase's coming, with date of each arrival and

departure

:

Dr. Allen, 1801-63.

De Los Starr,* lS(i3.

J. B. Swcalland, 1864-(;6.

A. T. Worden, 186S-70.

S. E. Gillam, 1869-79.

J. H. Travis,* 1877

A. M. Lawreson,* 1878.

M. L. Leach, 1878-79.

E. B. Taylor, 1878-79.

CHURCHES IN ELSIE.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The Elsie Methodist Episcopal class was organized in

1849, by Elder Noah Fassett, of the Colony, as the East

Duplain class. The organization was effected in a log

school-house, one and a half miles south of the site of

Elsie. In 1851 the place of worship was changed to the

school-house just west of the Elsie site, and the name of

the cla.ss changed to North Duplain. The organizing

members of the East Duplain cla.ss were few in number,

and came to worship from far away ; but they pro.spered

ill their work, nevertheless, and so firmly established their

purpose that from 1849 to the present day the class has

maintained an active existence and enjoyed regular periodi-

cal worship. Services were held once in every two weeks

until 1872; since then the service has been weekly. In

1857 the place of worship was changed again, this time to

Elsie, and then the class received the name it now bears.

The erection of a church edifice was commenced in 1S60,

but progress was slow, and it was not until 18t!4 that the

building was dedicated. The class is now on the Duplain

Circuit, in charge of Rev. C. A. Jacokes. The leader is

Lyman Cobb, and the trustees, J. D. Sickles, Alfred Ijin-

niaii, Lyman Cobb, Jolin Curtis, Hiram Curtis, J. W.
Curtis, and Liberty Carter. Alfred Linniun is superin-

tendent of the Sunday school, which has one luindrcd and

thirty scholars an<l twelve Icachcrs.

FRKi: w u.i, itAi'iisr (111 itcii.

This church was fornu'il in ISTd, liy I'lKJii- Cliauncey

Reynolds, in the school-hou.se west of the KIsic site. The

organizing members were five in number,

—

Qeorge \V.

* In prncticc nt Kli*ie Ht proBcnt.
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Lewis, Samantha Lewis, Seth Richards, Mary Ann Rich-

ards, and Moses Wooll. Eider Reynolds came from Lyons

to preach for the church, and for about a year held services

once each fortnight. After that George W. Lewis, the

first church clerk, was ordained, and with Elders Parchal

and Ross served the church until 1864. Then Elder Ira

Allen took charge, and to the present time he has continued

uninterruptedly to be the pastor. In 1865 the society's

new church edifice was dedicated, Rev. William R. Norton,

of Bath, preaching the dedication sermon. To the time of

the completion of the church services were held at the

school-house and the Methodist Episcopal church. The

organization is now in a prosperous condition, and enjoys

the support of a numerous congregation.

PROTESTANT METHODIST CHURCH.

The Elsie Protestant Methodist class was organized in

the Baptist church by P. M. Rowell in 1870, and began

straightway to increase in strength. A church edifice was

built in 1875, but after that the church began to decline

by reason of being set off into the Western Conference as

the only church in the Conference, and inability to support

a pastor unaided led to the practical dissolution of the or-

ganization in 1878, although the society has yet a legal

existence. Tiie organizing members of the church were

George W. Gillam and wife, Mrs. Ichabod Chase, H. E.

Smith and wife, Mrs. Elizabeth Chase, T. C. Chase and

wife.

SOCIETIES AND ORDERS.

MAPLE RIVER LODGE, No. 76, I. 0. 0. F.

This lodge was organized at the Colony Jan. 16, 1856,

and removed not long afterwards to Elsie. The charter

members were B. W. Darling, C. D. Searl, Almon Brown,

Henry Stebbins, William Oaks. At the first meeting after

charter, held Feb. 15, 1856, E. S. Hamilton, Oscar Darling,

W. 11. Turk, Jedediah Owens, and Edward Paine were re-

ceived into membership. On the same night William Oaks

was installed as N. G. ; Almon Brown, V. G. ; Chauncey

D. Searl, Secretary ; B. W. Darling, Trea.surer ; and Jede-

diah Owens, Warden. The lodge is exceedingly prosperous,

with an active membership of ninety, and owns a lodge-

room at Elsie. It has during its existence supplied organ-

izing members for lodges at St. Johns, Ovid, Mungerville,

Greenbush, and Chapin, in Saginaw County. The roll of

officials is now C. Loyens, N. G. ; R. G. Van Deusen,

V. G. ; George W. Davis, F. S. ; George Craddock, R. S.

;

William W. Wooll, Treasurer.

ELSIE LODGE, No. 238, F. AND A. M.

The first recorded meeting of this lodge is under date

of Nov. 6, 1867, when the organization was efiected. A
charter was issued Jan. 9, 1868, to T. W. Lusk, E. V.

Chase, W. A. Linman, L. D. Lusk, G. W. Gillam, G. W.
Bates, A. D. Linman, G. C. Bell, and Ichabod Chase. The

first list of officials recorded, Nov. 6, 1867, was T. W.
Lusk, W. M. ; E. V. Chase, S. W. ; G. W. Gillam, J. W.

;

W. A. Linman, Secretary ; L. D. Lusk, Treasurer ; G. W.
Bates, S. D. ; A. D. Linman, J. D. ; George C.^ell, Tiler.

Since 1868 the lodge has received seventy-eight members,

of whom fifty-five remain. The officers for 1880 arc M.

S. Doyle, W. M. ; T. W. Snelling, S. W. ; M. W. Dun-

ham, J. W. ; L. F. Randolph, Secretary ; C. Powers, Treas-

urer ; J. C. Sickels, S. D. ; L. G. Bates, J. D. ; I. Eddy,

Tiler.

ELSIE LODGE, No. 92B, I. 0. G. T.

This lodge of Good Templars was chartered Dec. 23,

1875, with thirty members, R. G. Van Dusen being W.

C. T. and Ellen Austin W. V. T. The membership is

now forty, and the officers as follows : Alice L. Sickels,

W. C. T. ; Jasper Blayney, W. V. T. ; Marian Tillott^on,

W. S. ; Irwin Wooll, W. T. ; Orrin Dunham, W. 1< . S.

;

Mrs. C. L. Chase, W. Chaplain ; Harry Sexton, W. M.

GOOD INTENT REBEKAH LODGE, No. 11.

The Rebekah lodge was chartered Feb. 22, 1879, to

Henry B. Smith, J L. Le Beau, D. A. Maynard, I. Chase,

Levi Hicks, William Wooll, C. D. Searl, Z. A. Ford, J. T.

Huston, Henry Wooll, Mary A. Smith, Elvira T. Le Blanc,

Annie S. Maynard, Margaret B. Chase, I. C. Hicks, Ros-

anna Wooll, Harriet Searl, Mary J. Ford, C. E. Huston,

Vienna Wooll. The membership is twenty, and the official

list, Eleanor Bennett, N. G. ; R. G. Van Deusen, Sec.

;

George Davis, F. S. ; Sarah Linman, Treas. ; J. B. Moore,

D. D. G. M.

ERIE GRANGE, No. 202, P. OF H.

This grange, organized in the Baptist church Jan. 20,

1874, with a membership of thirty-four, and chartered

Aug. 1, 1875, has now ninety paying members, and meets

every Monday night in the Odd-Fellows' Hall. The first

list of officers included T. W. Lusk, M. ; W. T. Tillottson,

0. ; W. A. Linman, Sec. ; W. W. Wooley, Treas. Since

the organization the Masters have been T. W. Lusk, W. T.

Tillottson, M. W. Dunham, R. G. Van Deusen, W. A. Lin-

man, and W. T. Tillottson (second term). The officers

chosen in 18S0 were W. T. Tillotteon, M. ; William War-

ner, O. ; Abram Sebring, L. ; Irwin 0. Wooll, Sec; J.

J. Miller, Treas. ; J. 0. Wool, Chaplain.

PREHISTORIC RELICS.

Prehistoric mounds are stated to have existed in Du-

plain in considerable numbers, and the claim is still urged

that marks of the presence thereof may yet be seen. Sec-

tion 32 is said to contain the site of what was probably

the largest mound in this portion of the country. It is on

the farm of Edward Paine, and despite the fact that it has

been plowed over year after year, there yet remain traces

of it, although they are vague. It is thought to have been

forty feet in length extending east and west, and about five

feet high, while upon its side grew an oak-tree fourteen

inches in diameter. Three skulls and a number of bones

were excavated at a comparatively recent date, and it is

further alleged that later investigations revealed what

might have been a fireplace some distance below the sur-

face, in the southwest part of the mound. Southwest of

the spot mentioned were several smaller mounds, and a

short distance towards the northwest were two others, the

larger of which was four feet high and twenty-five feet

wide at the base.
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E. V. Chase, of Elsie, Clinton Co., Mich., was

born in the township of Gustavus, Trumbull Co.,

Ohio, Sept. IG, 1833. His parents were poor, and

had a hard struggle to support their family. His

father was a niillwriglit, and would have educated

the son to the same trade, but for an accident which

nearly crippled him for life. This determined the

father to put his son at school that he might lay the

foundation for a profession. Mr. Chase taught school

as soon as he was competent, and thus assisted him-

self until he had acquired not only an academical

but also a professional education. He read medicine

three years with Dr. G. W. Willey, of Spencer, Ohio;

attended lectures in Michigan University ; and in the

spring of 1857 settled in the small village of Ovid,

Clinton Co., on the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad.

He married, in the fall of 1857, Miss Emily Wilkin-

son, an estimable young lady, to whom his success

may, in a measure, be attributed. In the spring of

1860 he removed to tlie village of Elsie, where he

resided until the commencement of the civil war.

He enlisted as a private in the First Michigan Cav-

alry, was promoted to the rank of first lieutenant,

and at the close of the war went with the regiment

across the Plains to Salt Lake City, Utah. In the

sj)ring of 1866 he was mustered out of the service,

and returned to Elsie, where he has since resided, in

the active discharge of his professional duties. He

lias been six years supervisor of the township iu

wliich his village is located. In the fall of 1876

he was elected representative to the State Legislature,

by the Republican party, from the first district,

—

Clinton County. So well did he serve his constitu-

ents that he was re-elected in 1879. He served upon

several committees, among them that on insane

asylums, in which he held the office of chairman.

His duties necessarily called him away much of the

time from the representative halls, but when present

he was arduously engaged in duties which rank him

among the foremost, always striking at the heart

of any measure to which he w'as opposed sharp and

effectual blows, that produce more effect than the bold

speculations and fantastical theories which, to a cer-

tain extent, characterize many of the representatives.
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Upon the eastern portion of the east half of the soutliwest

quarter of section 33 are traces of a group of mounds, the

hirgest of wliich was probably twenty-five feet loii^, twenty

feet wide, and three feet in height. Rows of other and

smaller mounds appear to have joined the base of this largo

mound, and south of the latter was a clearly-defined oblong

mound two and a half feet high, twenty-two feet long be-

tween east and west, and fourteen feet in width between

north and south. Southwest of the principal mound about

twenty feet is another pretty clearly marked one, three feet

high, twenty-five feet long, and fifteen feet wide. Near at

hand is a circular mound about twenty feet through, from

which human bones have been unearthed. Recent excava-

tions in these mounds have brought to light human skele-

tons as well as miscellaneous bones, and in one of them

evidences pointed to the existence, at one time, of altar-fires

and po.ssibly human sacrifices thereon.

On the northciust (juartcr of the southeast quarter of sec-

tion 33 were a number of small mounds, of which there is

now no trace. Upon the farm of H. B. Smith, on the

southeast quarter of section 27, Ls shown the site of a now

obliterated large mound. Where it once stood two peach-

trees now grow. Mr. Smith recollects that the mound was

more than thirty feet in diameter and four feet high ; that

several second-growth maples adorned its sides, and that

heavy timber surrounded it. Evidently these mounds

served as burial-places, since in each have been found

human bones, but whether the burial-places of Indians or

members of a prehistoric race, as some Sdvanls claim, is

simply matter for conjecture.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

in ^

mis. Wll.I.lAM TII.LOTSON. \VII.I,1.\.M TU.l.OTSO.N.

WILLIAM TILLOTSON.

Leonard Tillotson was born March 15, 1803, at Hcrk-

sliire, Mass. The family removed to Medina Co., Ohio,

in 1814. At twenty-three years of age he married Miss

Mary Thomas, of New Haven, Conn., rearing a family of

six children. He died at the age of sixty-two. Mrs. Til-

loLsoii, at the advanced age of seventy-five, in good health

and sound miiul, resides with a son, William, the subject

of this sketch, who was born Nov. 23, 182(!. In 1852 ho

came to the town of Duplain, and purchasing eighty acres

of wild land on section 1
1

, immediately Ix'gan improving

it. Sought and found a companion in Miss Mary E. Wooll,

55

whose family came, in 1851, to Unplain from Loniine,

Ohio. They were married Septenibor 2r>tli
;
pursued their

improvemcnt.s, wliieh have resulted in a finely-improved

farm, and surroumlrd ihem with many conifort.s of life,

upon which they can look with pride as the result.s of their

industry. Surrounded by a largo circle of friends, life

iia.ssi's pleasantly. Their union has been bles,sed with four

children,—Marion, horn Sept. 23, 18G(t; Myra, April 13,

1864; Hattie, May G, 18(38; Willie, May G, 187G. Mr.

and Mrs. TilloLson have long been consistent members of

the Methodist Hpiseopal Church.
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CHARLES R. DOTY.

GEORGE R. DOTY. MRS. GEORGE R. DOTY.

GEORGE R. DOTY.

Josiah Doty's birth dates back to Nov. 18, 1792. He
was twice married. One child was born to the first union.

The second wife, Cliloe (Rash), born March 24, 1793, bore

him four children, three living to manhood. George R.,

the subject of this sketch, was born Dec. 30, 1821, at

Seneca, Ontario Co., N. Y. When he was eight years of

age the family removed to Greece, Monroe Co., N. Y.,

where the parents continued to reside until the death of

Mrs. Doty, which occurred Sept. 19, 1876. The home

was then broken up, Mr. Doty thereafter making his home

with a son residing in Rochester, where he is yet living at

the advanced age of eighty-eight.

In the fall of 1844, George R. came to Livingston Co.,

Mich., and the following year, May 20, 1845, married

Eunice Seeley, born Dec. 14, 1822. Her father, Seth C.

Seeley, was a native of Connecticut, born Feb. 22, 1789, and

was twice married, first to Anna Bradley, by whom he had

three children; and the second time to Betsey Green, a

native of Vermont, born Feb. 18, 1798 ;
to this union were

born five children. The family resided in Monroe Co.,

N. Y., until 1844, when they removed to Ionia Co., Mich.

Both parents have since passed away. George and Eunice

were married at her parental home, Ionia County. The day

following they took their departure for Livingston County
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with a single horse and buggy, it suflScing to carry them

and their worldly effects. No permanent location was made

by them, but they changed their location as his occupation

of cooper required. In 1853 he received the appointment of

light-house keeper at Mama Judec, on Detroit River; this

proved the laying of a foundation for future .success. For

eight years he continued, his wife assuming the duties of

keeper, he finding employment at the cooper's trade. In

1861, Mr. Doty moved to Elsie, Clinton Co., and for six

years followed his trade. Previous to his coming he had

purchased a hundred acres on section 2(5, Duplain town-

ship. The village of Elsie was becoming a place of some

importance, and Mr. Doty decided upon opening a hotel,

and accordingly purchased a suitable location, disposed of

his farm, and on Cliri.stmas, 18(J7, his house was duly

opened to the public. Success attended him ; the public

gave him a liberal patronage, and the genial host and his

lady are known far and near. In 1877 he purchased

seventy-seven acres on .section 13, upon which a part of the

village of Elsie is located. In addition to the hotel be also

conducts the farm.

To Mr. and Mrs. Doty have been given three children,

of whom one only is now living, Charlie R., born Dec. 22,

1863.

LVMAN COBB. MRS. LYM.\.N CCIItll.

LYMAN COBB.

Joshua W. Cobb was a native of Canaan, Conn. When
of age found his way west to Rochester, N. Y., and helped

to erect the first bridge across the Genesee River. It was

commenced in 1812, but not completed until 1814, the west

side refusing for some time to Imild their half, lie also

purchased eighty acres of land now lying within the city

limits. Becoming di.sheartcned mi account of the unhealthy

location he, though having made a partial payment, aban-

doned the place, pu.shing on west to Sheldon, Wyoming
Co.

;
purchased eighty acres, which he afterwards sold, and

removed to Niagara County ; remained there a short time,

then returned to Bennington, Wyoming Co., where he re-

sided for a period of twenty years. He then removed to

Duplain, Clinton Co., and purchased forty acres on section 11,

where he resided until his death, which occurred in May,

1852, his being the first burial in the cemetery at Elsie.

Mr. Cobb was married quite early in life to Miss Susanna

Doty, and raised a family of nine cliiMreii. At present all

are living, except one, a son, who died at Bowling Green,

Ky., while in the army. Mrs. Cobb is still living, at the

advanced age of eighty-eight, making her home among the

children, where she is ever made welcome.

Lyman Cobb was the sixth in the family, and born Aug.

14, 1826, at Bennington, N. Y. ; came West with the

family in 1844, and when of age purchased eighty acres

on section 13, Duplain township, from an elder brother

residing in Oakland County, giving in payment two years'

labor. Payment being made, he returned and began the

improvements by which he has succeeded in making one of

the finest farms in that locality. For several years he la-

bored single-handed and alone, but his better judgment

finally prevailed, and on A]iril 20, 1853, he led to the hy-

meneal altar Su.san, daughter of Oliver and Sally Hicks,

natives of Wayne Co., N. Y. ; they removed to Cuyahoga Co.,

Ohio, whore they resided nearly twenty years, and in 1852

removed to Elsie. Both have since pa.s.sed away. Oliver

Hicks served during the war of 1S12. The family consisted

of eleven children, seven living to maturity, Mrs. Cobb being

the tentli in number, .^!r. Lynian Cobb united with the

church while yet a youth, atul Mrs. Cobb .soon ader their

nuirriago. Both have been prominently identified with the

erection of the church building, and with the growth and

prosperity of the society.

To Mr. and Mrs. Cobb have been born six children,

—

George W., Jan. IS, 1854; Su.sic M. (now Mrs. Davis),

born Sept. IG, 1S5G; Samuel R., July 3, lS5;t ; Henry

P., Jan. 11, 1863; Dellie L., May 29, 1870; and Judson

L., born Feb. 24, 1875.
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COMFORT RANNEY.

The grandparent of Comfort Ranney was a native of

Connecticut; emigrated to Cuyahoga Co., Ohio, and pur-

chased eighty acres of land at government prices, of which

the public park in the city of Cleveland is now a part. He

engaged in ship-building, putting afloat the first boats of con-

siderable tonnage built at that place. A few years later he

sold his land at a slight advance upon the price he paid,

closed out his business, and removed to Summit County,

COMFORT RANNET.

Ohio, where he passed the remainder of his life, his death

occurring in 1834. Luther B., a son, was born at Hudson,

Summit Co., Ohio, Nov. 29, 1809. Farming seems to have

particular fascination for him,—almost inherent,—as he has

continued at that occupation, and now at the advanced age of

seventy-one manages a large farm, leading in many of the

arduous physical duties required in that calling. Comfort,

the subject of this sketch, was born in Boston, Summit

Co., Ohio, on Feb. 7, 1838. He, iu company with Leach,

Sheldon, and Clark, came to Clinton County and purchased

a large tract of land, erected a steam-mill, and engaged

quite extensively in the manufacturing of lumber. Also

Ranney, Leach, and Berry in 1879 erected a large custom

flouring-mill at Bath, which they are still operating. Since

1874 Mr. Ranney has had the management of the lumber and

mill interests. But on the death of his brother-in-law (Mr.

Leach) he leased the mills and returned to their farm in

Clinton County, and intends to devote his time to the im-

provement of his farm and rearing of fine stock, in which

he has always taken great pride. Dec. 18, 1868, Mr.

Ranney united in marriage with Miss Mary M. Hesser, of

Nevada, Wyandot Co., Ohio. They are the parents of four

children,—Luther B., Sadie M., Luella, and James.

WILLIS LEACH.

Willis Leach was born May 23, 1831, in Summit Co.,

Ohio, where his parents had located in an early day in the

settlement of that county. When twenty-three years of age

he married Miss Mary Ranney, with whom he lived six

years, when death's summons came to her, leaving a family

of four children,—Willie E., Luther J., Burritt B., and

Mary J. Again, on July 16, 1861, he married Sophia Ran-

ney, a sister of his first wife. By his second wife he had

eight children,—Cora A., Melvin C, Sallie P., Floyd, Leon

B., Morris K., Lucetta L., Nora W.
In January, 1865, he moved to Duplain, Clinton Co.,

and, in company with I). F. Sheldon, 0. A. Clark, and C.

Ranney, purchased two hundred acres of timbered land and

WILLIS LEACU.

erected a steam saw-mill, which was successfully operated

for three years. In 1868, Sheldon, Ranney, and Leach

purchased several hundred acres of wild lands in the south

part of Saginaw and Gratiot Counties, to which they re-

moved their mill. The following year, 1869, Leach and

Ranney purchased the interest of Sheldon. From the date

of Leach and Ranney 's purchase to January, 1872, the

mill property and lumber was three times destroyed by fire,

and still they prosecuted the work with a will and energy

worthy of success. Mr. Leach's health being somewhat

impaired, .he determined upon removing to the first purchase

to recuperate, and for the better advantages of schooling his

children. He continued in failing health until March 2,

1880, when death's summons came, regretted by all with

whom he had been associated.

CHAPTER LVLL

EAGLE TOWNSHIP.*

Location and Natural Features—Settlements and Early Incidents

—

Schools

—

Churches—List of Township Officers—Eagle Village.

Eagle is the southwestern township of Clinton County,

designated in the United States survey as township 5 north,

of range 4 west. The surface, generally undulating, be-

» By G. A. McAlpine.
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comes hilly and terminates in places in abrupt blufis near

the Grand River. The banks of the Looking-Glass are

less precipitous, and the northern part of the township is

more level. Along the Grand River the timber is mainly

oak and the soil is somewhat sandy in certain sections.

The timber along the Looking- Glass is basswood, beech,

and maple, and the soil is heavier. By these streams and

many rivulets the township is well watered and drained.

In agriculture this town.ship ranks among the must produc-

tive in the county.

It was observed at an early day, by Marshal Meade and

Mr. Townsend, who owned land between the rivers (which,

on sections 16, 17, and 21, approach by abrupt curves

within less than two miles), that, while the distance to

Portland by the almost direct course of the Looking-Glass

was less than ten miles, and the distance to the same village

by the course of the Grand River was reported to be nearly

forty miles, the fall of the two streams appeared to be, on

an average, nearly equal. This fact led to the conclusion

that there was considerable difference in their respective

levels in Eagle. Mr. Townsend accordingly employed

John Mullet, a competent surveyor, to run a line between

the rivers on the sections above referred to, in which

work he was assisted by Alexander Chapel, Ezekiel Miles,

and Lewis Miles. This survey demonstrated that there was

a fall of more than twenty-one feet from the surface of the

Grand River to that of the Looking-Glass. The ground

between them was favorable to ditching, and in no place

was a deep cut necessary except through the narrow rise on

the shore of the Grand River, and even here it did not

offer any serious obstacle to the plan of uniting them by

this means. Mr. Townsend expected in this way to secure

one of the most extensive water-powers in the State. His

death, however, terminated this splendid enterprise, and

the immense power up to this time is undeveloped.

Until March 15, 1841, town 5 north, range 4 west, was

included in the township of Watertown. On the previous

year Jared lligbee had circulated a petition which was

signed by the voters of said town, asking the Legislature

that it be set off as a separate and distinct township. In

compliance with this petition the township of Eagle was

formed, and although the name does not apply to town 5

north, range 4 west, previous to the date given above, in

order to prevent confusion it will be neccs.sary in these

pages to use it in connection with the first settlement of the

township.

In 1831 three steamboats—the " Superior," the " Henry

Clay," and the "Robert Fulton"—plied the waters between

Buffalo and Detroit. Among the many passengers of the

last-named vessel on its trip westward in the month of June

of that year, were the families of Anthony Niles and Ste-

phen 15. Groger, from Genesee Co., N. Y. Scattered here

and there about the boat were little groups of men, women,

and children, surrounded with boxes of goods, bundles of

bedding, clothes, barrels, cooking-utensils, and everything,

from an oxcart to a fire-shovel, that could be of use on the

I'ronticr. A variety of resources indicated in tliis instance

at least unity of purpose; and it is probable that nearly

all were actuated by the same motives, an<i had I lie same

end in view.

Some were there who were more wealthy and some pos-

sibly who were poorer in this world's goods than those men

whose names we have given, but few could compare at all

with either of thcni in physical power. It is said Anthony

Niles never met his equal with an axe, and few men were

found able to stand under a load which Stephen B. Groger

could carry. These men and their families were the first

settlers of Eagle. Upon reaching Detroit they employed

two men with teams to bring them and their families to

Troy, Oakland Co. The next year Anthony Niles, Daniel

Clark, and Austin Wood followed an Indian trail from

Pontiac to an Indian village, which occupied the site upon

which Portland now stands. They were favorably impressed

with the country along the route, but did not at this time

select any particular locality as a future home.

In the month of February, 1834, Anthony Niles and

Stephen B. Groger with their families set out from Troy

westward, but, as subsequent events proved, without any

definite purpose as to where to locate. In the township of

De Witt, the teams which had been secured to bring their

families and goods were mired, the horses being " all down

at the same time." The women, children, and goods were

carried through the deep mud and water several rods to

higher ground, the horses after much trouble were finally

extricated, and by means of ropes the wagons were drawn

across the marsh, and after an infinite number of trying

and tedious delays the party reached the cabin of Capt.

Scott, who had come to De Witt the fall previous.

Here wc must again introduce the name of Daniel Clark,

and his companions Heman Thomas and John Benson,

who also required shelter under the roof of the hospitable

but rough and eccentric captain. As these parties were all

bound westward, in the direction pursued previously by

Clark and Niles, down the Looking-Glass River, it was

decided to build boats and a raft to assist in the expedition.

The men of the party at once began their construction,

and after several days' diligent work conqileted two boats

and a raft. The boats, commonly known as dugouts, were

each made from a whitewood log, and were about eighteen

feet long and two and a hall' feet wide. They were lashed

together, the goods were loaded on the raft, which was a

huiie, unmanageable concern, and the trip down .stream

commenced. It was not all smooth sailing, however. After

proceeding about six miles the raft struck a snag, and all

efforts to free it proved futile. Clark and his companions

went ashore in the boats and camped to await the arrival

of Anthony Niles and Stephen Groger, who, with their

families and one yoke of oxen, were trying to make a way

throuuh the wilderness, and who did not make their appear-

ance until evening. The next morning (the water having

risen somewhat during the night) the rail was freed, the

families carried aero.ss the river in the boats, and the jour-

ney resumed.

In the afternoon a landing was madi' on the south hhore

of the river, on the southwest quarter of section 11, town

north, range 4 west. The next morning the goods were

transl'erred from the raft to the boats and it was abandoned.

They then continued their way down the river, and linally

reached the Indian village (already alluded lo) on the pres-

ent site of I'ortland. On the way one of tiie overloaded
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boats nearly capsized. It righted, however, with no more

serious loss than that of a coop of fowls and the free appli-

cation of cold water to some of the passengers.

When Anthony Niles reached the vicinity where the

goods were transferred he pitched a large tent, which he

had brought with him, on section 23. On the next day

he was delayed to .search for one of his cows, which had

strayed away, and did not continue his journey until the

afternoon. An entire life is sometimes modified by a little

incident of no apparent importance in itself, and in this

instance it is probable that had it not been for his long and

tedious search the fine forests and streams of Eagle would

not have been fully appreciated. As it was, Mr. Niles fol-

lowed his companions to the Indian village, but after living

two weeks in a wigwam he declared he had found no place

that suited him so well as the land by the little stream

where he had camped and lost his cow. The whole party

at last returned. Its members took minutes of the several

parcels of land which each wished to enter, and Daniel

Clark and Heman Thomas set ofi' on foot for the land-

oflBce at White Pigeon, to enter land for themselves and

for Anthony Niles, Stephen B. Groger, and John Benson.

All cho.se land on section 23. Daniel Clark entered the

east half of the northeast quarter. Heman Thomas entered

forty acres for himself and forty for John Benson, on the

southeast quarter. Stephen B. Groger took the west half

of the southwest quarter, and Anthony Niles chose the west

half of the northeast quarter.

Antliony Niles and Stephen B. Groger must be considered

the first settlers in the township of Eagle, as the other

members of the party, after entering their land, did not re-

tuan to the township till in the summer and fall following.

Anthony Niles built the first cabin in the township, and

for this purpose his son Ezekiel, who had accompanied

him in all his wanderings, chopped down the first tree

probably that was felled in the township about the 1st day

of March, 1834. This cabin stood near where Mr. Niles

pitched his tent when he first came to Eagle on his way to

Portland, and the site is now nearly marked by the east

barn, which he built many years after. He also prepared

and planted a piece to corn and potatoes, but the crop was

very light.

Stephen B. Groger built the second cabin in the town-

ship, and planted the second piece to corn and potatoes.

He worked for Capt. Scott, in De Witt, at odd intervals

for a number of years. It is said that at one time after

working all day he walked home, carrying one hundred

pounds of flour, a quarter of a deer, and several other

articles for the use of his family.

In October, 1834, Susan M. Groger was born. This

was the first birth in Clinton County. Stephen B. Gro^'er

died in 1878. Until recently his wife occupied the old

home.

John Benson and Heman Thomas were the next to set-

tle permanently in Eagle. They immediately built cabins

on the land entered the spring previous. Mr. Benson sub-

sequently moved to Iowa, where he died. His son Edwin

was the second child born in Eagle, and the first male child

born in Clinton County. He enlisted and died in the late

war. Heman Thomas and wife still live in the township.

They probably alone are left, the only couple who came to

Clinton County in the fall of 1834. Their son, G. W.
Thomas, who was a lad at the time of their settlement, also

lives in Eagle.

After entering his land, in the spring of 1834, Daniel

Clark returned to Eagle accompanied by David Clark, his

brother. They felled the timber on about five acres, and

then returned to Pontiac, Oakland Co., to which place

Jonas Clark had brought his family in 1833. In the fall

of 1834, Daniel Clark and his brother Henry came to

Eagle and cleared and sowed the field to wheat which had

been partially prepared the previous spring. Henry Clark

moved to Ingham County, where he still lives one of its

oldest pioneers. Jonas Clark brought his family to Eagle

in the fall of 1835. David Clark, his son, one of the oldest

and most respected citizens, now occupies the old home-

stead.

In the fall of 1834, Anthony Niles built a log. house,

which was twenty-eight by thirty feet. Houses have histories

as well as men sometimes. In this rude log structure was

organized the first church society in Eagle ; and a little

later, when the settlement of the surrounding country was

an assured fact, and the youth with their sweethearts were

wont to assemble for a " social dance," its rough floors were

the smoothest to be found. Beside its great fireplace,

heaped with logs, William Cryderman wooed and won the

fair Alvira, daughter of Anthony Niles^ and their nuptials,

the first in the township, were celebrated in it in 1837.

Travelers, few or many, always found ample cheer and

shelter beneath its basswood roof.

The settlement of Eagle was gradual, until the rush of

immigration in 1836. In 1835, however, several settlers

came in, who, in addition to the family of Jonas Clark (al-

ready mentioned), deserve notice. Oliver Kowland and his

son Henry entered land on section 13. The latter is still

a resident of the township. John B. Shear settled on sec-

tion 26, where l>e still lives. In 1836 the first frame build-

ing in Eagle was erected. It was a barn, and was built for

Jesse Monroe by Anthony Niles and his son Ezekiel.

The lumber used in its construction was hauled from Port-

land, where a saw-mill had just been completed. Mr. Mon-

roe had recently entered one hundred and sixty acres on

section 7.

About the same time a saw-mill was built by Peter

Kent, for Philo Beers, on section 14. It was the first in

Eagle, and did valuable service for several years. The re-

mains of the dam built across the little stream are yet

plainly visible.

Mr. Beers also opened the first blacksmith-shop. It

stood by the quarter post on the south line of section 14.

The settlers came with work from all quarters, and often

from four o'clock in the morning until late at night was he

kept steadily at the anvil.

Before coming to Michigan, Mr. Beers had been a man

of considerable competence, but through an unfortunate

business connection with the great showman, Barnum, he

was financially ruined. He sought the woods of Michigan,

and, like so many others, retrieved his broken fortune.

Lazarus Doty came to Eagle, and entered a large tract of

laud for his three sons,—Oliver, Philo, and Charles. The



EAGLE TOWNSHIP. 439

three are residents of the township, and still occupy the

laud entered for them by their father. Oliver is on section

26, Philo is on 14, and Charles on 34. The family has

been one of the most substantial and enterprising in the

township.

The .second saw-mill was built by Henry Gibbs, Jr., for

Philo Doty, on section 14.

Henry Gibbs settled the farm upon which Isaac Brown

now lives. Morris Alien settled on the west half of the

northwest quarter of section 23. He has since moved to

Iowa. His fiither, Neheniiah Allen, died in January, 1837.

This was the first death in Eagle. He was buried near the

north bank of the river, on section 15, on land which was

entered by Joseph Eddy in the spring of 1836.. Mr.

Eddy and his wife were both subsequently interred here.

This was the first burial-place in the township. The land

is now occupied by Christopher C. Tallman. Jacob De

Witt settled on the east half of the southeast quarter of

section 15 in 1836, and remained there until his death.

The place is now occupied by his son-iu-law, William

Sutherland.

In the same year Valentine Cryderman came from Canada

and located the east half of the northeast fractional quarter

of section 13. He subsequently sold his land and returned

to Canada. His daughter Sarah and Ezckiel Niles were

married in 1841. At the marriage of his son William and

Miss Alvira Niles, in the fall of 1837, David A. Simmons,

who had recently come to the township and settled on sec-

tion 9, officiated. The land entered by Mr. Simmons is

now occupied by Hiram Briggs, who came in at the same

time.

In 1837, Josiah Hogle entered the west half of the north-

west quarter of section 13. The same year Isaac Phillips

settled on the east half of the southwest quarter of .section

10. This place is now occupied by his son, Joseph Phillips,

whose elder brothers, Orin and Perry, are also old settlers

of Eagle.

Jeremiah, Stephen, and Abraham Eddy, sons of Joseph

Eddy, who settled on section 15, entered land in the town-

ship in an early day. Jeremiah built a tavern, which still

bears the name Western Grand River House. He sold it

to Isaac Pennington, who came in an early day and settled

on the southeast quarter of section 10. His eldest son,

Josiah Pennington, at that time a young man, now occupies

the old homo. His daughter Lucinda married S. M.

Howard, who is also an early settler.

Jason Macomber entered the west half of the southeast

quarter of section 4. It was subsequently purcha.scd by

Stephen Eddy. Abraham Eddy settled the northeast quar-

ter of section 22. Luther settled on the west half of the

northeast (juarter of section 9. His son, Jefferson E. Eddy,

now lives on section 4. Jo.seph Eddy, Jr., who married

Miss Almeda Hill, lives on the west half of the northwest

quarter of section 15. Her father settled on section 20

and opened a blacksmith-shop. The north half of the

southwest quarter of section 15, now occupied by Joseph

Hinman, was entered by his father in an early day.

Fletcher Jenison came to Eagle with his sou, W. F.

Jenison, and was appointed the first postniastor in the town-

ship in 1841. A mail-route was establi.shed from Ann

Arbor to Ionia, and the mail was first carried, on horseback,

by a man named in Ingersoll.

The names of Palmer Partelo and H. Lyon should not

be omitted. The former settled on the southwest quarter

of section 22. H. Lyon settled on the west half of the

southwest quarter of section 8, where he still resides. Wil-

liam 11. Howe occupies land settled by his father.

The names, also, of some of the early settlers which we

have omitted will be given in the following list, taken from

the asses.sment-roll of 1841.

Acre*.

George J. I'bincy, section 1 SO
David McCliinsey, section 1 40
Orange Eddy, section 2 „ 40
Jason Macomber, section -1 160
Peter Carrow, section 6 140
Jesse Munroe, section 7 160
Hiram C. Kriggs, section 8 72
David A. .Simmons, section SI 197
Richard I^ewis, section y 40
Isaac Pliilli()S, section 10 74
.Teremiah Ed<ly, section 10 78
Nathaniel D. Macomber, section 10 80
David i'. Burgess, section 11 80
Jared Higbee, section 11 160
Henry Rowland, section 1.1 loo

Oliver Rowland, section 1.3 182
Philo Beers, section 14 103
Philo Doty, section 14 126

Joseph Eddy, sections 14, 15 385
Jacob Dewitt, section lo 80

Hiram C. Briggs, section 18 147
Nathan Stevens, section 21 40
John G. Harrington, section 22 15

Abram Eddy, section 22 145

W. F. Jenison, section 22 240

Stephen B. Groger, section 22 120

Heman Thomas, section 23 80

Jolin Benson, section 23 40

Daniel Clark, section 23 80

Anthony Niles, section 23 120
Philo Doty, section 23 80

Ezeliiel Niles, section 23 80

David Clark, section 24 40

Andrew Shadduck, section 24 40

Henry (iilibs, section 25 80

Henry Gibbs, Jr., section 25 SO

Chester Brown, section 25 160

Calvin Barber, section 25 SO

Oliver Doty, sections 25, 20 240

John B. Shear, section 26 40

George W. Jones, section 31 80

.Toab Dobbins, section 32 40

Cluirles .loncs, section 32 20

Oliver Doty, section 36 80

Miles Mansfield, section 3t> 160

SCHOOLS.

Up .to the summer of 18:i7 there had been no school

taught in Eagle. In the spring of that year an inrormal

meeting was called at the house of Anthony Niles, and it

was resolved to build a log school-house atid have a .school.

At the a])poiiited time, accordingly, the iiicti a.s.semblcd, and,

though few in numbers, strong in ])urpo.se, they took hold

of the logs with hearty pood will, and soon a commodious

cabin stood ready for use on the cast side of the quarter-

line on section 23, nearly opposite the site of the brick resi-

dence of G. W. Thomas. The benches were made of slaks,

and the teacher's desk was u board rusting uiKin two pins

driven into the wall. The fiivplaco, sticli as was common

in those days, was made of sticks lined with .sloncx and

mud. Jlrs, Alice Allen, whoso husband had di<'d in ihe

picviotis winter, taught the first school. The follnwing arc

the naiMi's of some of the Hcholars : Fannie, (Murimia, and

Charles Groger, lloyal and Marian Honson, Emily, Julia,

and Angelino Niles, and Phci-be IJecrs.

In the winter of 1837-;i8, W. F. Jenison taught four
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months. He was the first male teacher in the town.ship.

The next summer Mrs. Amanda Blaisdale, usually known

as Aunt Amanda, taught. She was subsequently married

to Chester Brown. During the summer of 1839 the school-

hou.se known for many years as the Red School-House was

built. It took its name from a liberal coat of red paint

which it received when completed. It was the first frame

school-house in the township, aud said to be the first in

Clinton County. It stood near the residence of Heman

Thomas, on section 2.3. The first school in this building

was taught by W. F. Jenison. It was composed of chil-

dren from Watertown, some from the Canada settlement in

Eaton County, and some from Delta.

The next school-house was built on the southwest quarter

of section 32. Previous to the organization of the town-

ship of Eagle its territory had been separated into school

districts, but none were organized except district No. 1 and

districts Nos. 2 and 5.

At the first meeting of the school board of Eagle, on the

1st of April, 1841, these districts were rearranged, as fol-

lows: District No. 1 comprised sections 22, 23, 25, 26, 27,

34, 35, 36, and all of 24, except a part of the northeast

quarter. Fractional districts 2 and 5 included sections 28,

29, 30, 31, 32, and 33 in Eagle, and the north half of 4,

5, and 6 in Oneida. No other districts were formed until

Feb. 4, 1843, at which time the board set off 4, 5, 6, 7, 8,

9, 17, and 18 as district No. 3 ; but this act became null

and void through the failure of its oflScers to qualify and

serve. This territory was set off on the 7th day of May,

1845, and numbered 4. In the mean time (on April 5,

1844) school district No. 3 was formed of the remaining

sections in the northeast part of the township. In the re-

port of this year, for the first time, three schools are repre-

sented. The school fund disbursed among them was thirty

dollars and eighty cents, of which district No. 1 received

fourteen dollars and eighty-four cents, districts Nos. 2 and

5 received six dollars and sixteen cents, while No. 4 re-

ceived nine dollars and eighty cents. The number of chil-

dren enrolled in each district was fifty-three, twenty-two,

and thirty-five, respectively.

At the meeting of the school board, for the purpose of ex-

amining applicants to teach, Aug. 23, 1845, certificates were

given to Misses Mary Gooch, Clarinda Groger, Emeline

Higbee, and Lucinda Barut. On 16th of November fol-

lowing similar permits were issued to Benjamin C. Mac-

omber and Silas P. Fish, as teachers for one term of winter

school each. In 1845 four schools were taught in the town-

ship, and the amount of money distributed among them was

forty dollars and sixty cents :

District. Scholars. Amount.
No. 1 50 $14.93
Nos. 2 anj s 29 S.65
No. 3 31 9.26
No. 4 26 7.76

School district No. 5 was formed by the school board on

the 4th day of November, 1848, but in the report of 1849,

and also of 1850, no returns were made from this district.

On Sept. 7, 1850, the school board formed districts 6

and 7. No. 6 did not organize, however. District No. 8

was first organized on Feb. 27, 1858, and Dec. 24, 1859,

district No. 9 was set off. Fractional district No. 10 was

formed June 3, 1865. District No. 7 was discontinued

and included in district No. 1, Dec. 28, 1872. This was

brought about by the destruction of the school-house in

that district by fire.

The aggregate value of school property in the township

in 1879 was four thousand four hundred and twenty-five

dollars. The number of scholars enrolled in the town.ship

was three hundred and forty, and there were sixteen quali-

fied teachers.

CHURCHES.

In the fall of 1835, Rev. Mr. Munett, a Methodist mis-

sionary, as they were then called, visited the remote settlement

in Pjagle. He followed his circuit, which embraced a great

extent of country, on foot, carrying a knapsack stored with

a Bible, a hymn-book, a liberal supply of tracts, and a few

articles of clothing. With these he went from one settle-

ment to another, making his rounds about once in five or

six weeks. At the time above stated he came to the log

house of Anthony Niles, and with his permission announced

religious exercises for the next Sabbath. These exercises,

the first of the kind in Eagle, passed oft" well, and while

upon that circuit he visited this settlement as regularly as

possible.

In the spring of 1837, Rev. Mr. Bennett came to Eagle

and organized the first church society. It was composed

of Anthony Niles, John Benson and wife, Heman Thomas,

and Valentine Cryderman and wife. Mr. Cryderman was

appointed class-leader. The class prospered for a little

time, but was at length discontinued.

In 1840, John Thomas, a representative of the Baptist

Church, came and held a series of meetings, which resulted

in the formation of a Baptist Church. When it was or-

ganized several persons who had previously been members

of that denomination, reunited with it. The names of

the persons composing this class were Anthony Niles, John

Benson and wife, Heman Thomas and wife, John B. Shear

and wife. Anthony Niles was chosen deacon. About the

same time the Methodist Church reorganized, with Oliver

Doty as class-leader.

The Baptist Church in Eagle was finally disbanded, its

members uniting with the society in Grand Ledge.

The Methodist class has not been discontinued, and was

really the germ of the one now in existence. The meet-

ings of this society were held for a number of years in

the Thomas school, and more recently in the Jenison

school-house. Its meeting-house was completed in 1876,

and cost two thousand nine hundred and sixty dollars. It

was dedicated by Rev. George B. Jocelyn. F. J. Freeman

is the present pastor. M. R. Hill is class-leader. L. W.

Hill is superintendent of the Sabbath-school.

The Free Methodist Church was organized at the school-

house in North Eagle in June, 1876. The church edifice

of this society was built in 1879, and dedicated by C. W.

Haines. The present membership is eight.

LIST OP TOWNSHIP OFFICERS.

As has been stated. Eagle was .set off from Watertown

March 15, 1841. The act provided that the first town-

meeting should be at the house of Philo Doty, and it was

so held in accordance with the provisions of the act. The
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following-named persons were then to fill the several town-

ship offices: Supervisor, Jared Eli-ibee ; Clerk, Edward

W. Higbee ;
Treasurer, Henry llowland

; Assessors, John

Benson, David A. Simmons, Henry Rowland ; School In-

spector, Elisha B. Isham; Collectors, Edward W. Higbee,

Thomas I. Allen, Nathan Stevens ; Directors of the Poor,

Henry Rowland, Fletcher Jeiiison ; Highway Commis-

sioners, Oliver Doty, Philo Doty, Jared Higbee; Justices

of the Peace, Oliver Doty, David A. Simmons, Henry

Rowland
;
Constables, Hiram C. Briggs, Nathan Stevens,

Thomas I. Allen, Frederick M. Groger.

The list of supervisors, township clerks, treasurers, jus-

tices of the peace, and school inspectors from 1842 to 1880,

inclusive, is as follows :

SUPERVISORS.

1842. Jared ITigbee.

1843-46. William F. Jonison.

1847-50. David C. Clark.

1851. Ezckiel Niles.

1852. Ira W. Uill.

1853-54. Ezckiel Niles.

1855. James W. McMillan.

185(5-57. Elisha I. Higbee.

1858. John C. Seadin.

1853-CO. I!. H. Beers.

1861-62. William F. Jcnisun.

TOWN
1842-44. Edward W. Higbee.

1845-50. Ezekiel Niles.

1851. B. H. Beers.

1852-54. Elisha I. Higbee.

1855. Archelaus Silsbcc.

1856. Thomas J. Allen.

1857. G. W. Thomas.

1858. James W. McMillan.

1859-00. George W. Thomas.

1863-64. Charles M. Dorbyshino.

1865-66. William F. Jenison.

1867-68. Philo Doty.

1869. Ezekiel Niles.

1870. David Clark.

1871-72. Hiram C. Kriggs.

1873. George W. McCrumb.
1874-77. Philo Doty.

1878. George W. Tbom.is.

1'879. Philo Doty.

ISSO. Henry 11. Jenison.

CLERKS.

1861-63. James W. McMillan.

1864. Henry J. Stark.

1865-66. James W. McMillan.

1867. Sheridan F. Hill.

1868. Ezckiel Niles.

1869. Loyal W. Hill.

1870-77. Ezekiel Niles.

187S-79. Edward W. Stephenson.

1880. Eugene Marsh.

TREASURERS.

1842.
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being a portion of tlie Townsend tract. To this Jacob

Schott added ten acres, the whole of which was platted as

the village of Eagle and recorded May 6, 1873. Mr.

McCrumb may therefore be regarded as the projector of

the village. He removed from Lorain Co., Ohio, in 1845,

with his father, William McCrumb, who located upon

eighty acres on section 17. This land was uncleared on

their arrival, and a cabin built in the immediate neighbor-

hood afforded them a home while erecting a log house. The

father survived his arrival but a year, when George W.

purchased the estate and remained with the family at the

homestead until 1859, when he removed to his present

farm of two hundred and forty acres, to which he later

added two hundred and sixty acres adjacent to it. Upon

this land he erected in 1877 his present spacious residence.

Mr. McCrumb at once built a depot upon his plat, bear-

ing himself the entire expense of its construction. In the

same year (1873) Loyal W. Hill removed from the town-

ship and built a store, in which he placed a general stock

of goods. This was the beginning of business enterprise

in the village. He was followed by John Force, who be-

came the pioneer blacksmith, after which Loyal Hill and

others erected dwelling-houses and Mr. McCrumb laid the

foundation for a spacious building, which was later rented

to Messrs. Cole & Marsh, who opened a general store which

supplied the wants of the surrounding country. In 1876,

Messrs. Cole & Fletcher built a store in which was placed

a stock of hardware, and the church edifice was erected in

the same year. The first public-house was opened by

Eugene Marsh in a building originally designed as a dwell-

ing. A spacious and well-appointed hotel was erected in

1879, of which Washburn Strickland is proprietor and

landlord. The present business of the place embraces, in

addition, a general store, owned by Messrs. Pearl & Starch
;

a grocery and hardware, kept by Eugene Marsh, who is

deputy postmaster, the commission being held by George

AV. McCrumb ; two blacksmith-shops, Robert Pullen and

Josiah Hogle presiding at the forge ; a milliner, who is

Mrs. Elizabeth Palmer; and a saw-, planing-, and moulding-

mill, with feed-mill combined, owned by Mr. McCrumb and

located one mile from the village. The teacher of the

public school is Miss Diana Pennington.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

DAVID CLARK.

The ancestors of Mr. Clark were early emigrants from

Great Britain to America, and among the primitive settlers

in the old Coumionwealth of Massacliusetts. His grand-

father, John Clark, was actively engaged in the battle of

Bennington, and participated also in the engagement which
resulted in the surrender of Burgoyne. John Clark, the

father of David, was born about the year 1770, at Phelen,

Ma.ss., and at the age of seven years removed with his

parents to Bennington, Vt., whore he resided when the

famous battle occurred. He was taken to the battle-field

by his father, and witnessed the encounter.

Having lost his mother at the age of fourteen, a home

was open to him at the residence of a relative, Daniel Mc-

Nutt, where he remained until he attained his majority,

and at the age of twenty-nine was married to Miss Mary

Knowlton. Their sou D.ivid was born in Castleton, Vt.,

June 13, 1817, and at the age of sixteen accompanied his

parents to Pontiac, Mich , where they located in 1833.

In 1835 the family removed to the township of Eagle, on

land entered by Mr. Clark, which his son assisted in clearing

and improving. They were in an eminent sense pioneers,

having discovered no evidences of civilization on their

arrival.

On Jan. 1, 1857, Mr. Clark was married to Miss Sarah

Smith, whose parent.s—natives of New York State—were

settlers in Eaton County in 1839. They have had three

children,—David, Jr., born April 17, 1862; Fred, whose

birth occurred July 4, 1864, and who died Oct. 20, 1868;

and Charles Henry, born Sept. 5, 1868.

Mr. Clark was formerly a strong Democrat, but subse-

quent developments occasioned a change in his political

views and have since caused him to join the ranks of the

Republican party.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Clark are supporters of the Congre-

gational Church, the latter being a member and an active

worker in its interests.

GEORGE W. McCRUMB.

William McCrumb, who was descended from Scotch an-

cestry, was an early settler in Canandaigua, N. Y., and a

soldier in the war of 1812. He was married Deo. 4, 1815,

to Miss Mary Stewart, and George W., the seventh of their

children, was born in Medina Co., Ohio, April 26, 1827,

to which State his parents had emigrated a few months

previous. They, however, soon after removed to Lorain

.County, and remained until 1844, when the family re-

paired to the township of Eagle, where Mr. McCrumb died

the year following. The mother survived until March,

1853. George W. at the age of eighteen was left with

the care of the family almost entirely devolving upon him.

He was married,June 14, 1856, to Miss Calanthe M. Hill,

whose parents are inmates of her own cheerful home.

The children of Mr. and Mrs. McCrumb were born in

the following order: Helen M., March 24, 1857; Floid,

Feb. 1, 1858; Charles, Aug. 3, 1860; Nettie and Mattie

(twins), Aug. 25, 1863 ; George W., Jr., Sept. 14, 1866
;

Jennie, Jan. 18, 1869; Calanthe May, June 11, 1875.

Of these children have died Charles and Mattie, October,

1863; Floid, Nov. 13, 1874; Calanthe May, May 11,

1876; Helen, Aug. 28, 1876; leaving still three to

brighten the home circle. Mr. McCrumb is actively en-

gaged in business pursuits, and is at present largely inter-

ested in the saw-mill on the Looking-Glass River, of which

he is proprietor, and which has a capacity of one million

feet of lumber per year. He has been especially prominent

in politics, having held many influential offices and been a

recognized leader in his township. His convictions have

caused him until recently to affiliate with the Republican

party.
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Both 31 r. and Mrs. McCrumb are ardent supporters of

the Methodist Episcopal Churcli, of which she is an es-

teemed member.

MRS. SALLY HAWLEY BEERS.

The ancestors of IMrs. Beers were of English and Scotch

descent, the family having numbered six generations since

first they left their native shores and landed in Stratford,

Conn. From thence they removed to Newtown township,

where a small hamlet was projected and called Land's End,

SAMA' II. BEEItS.

from their former re.sidence in England, and was subse-

quently christened Hawley, after its founders. Her failier,

Jabez Hawley, was born in Newtown in 1767, and married

to Perthena Booth, to whom were born seven children, of

whom Mrs. Sally H. Beers was the eldest. She was mar-

ried Oct. G, 181G, when eighteen years of age, to Philo

Beers, whoso ancestors were among the early settlers of the

same township. His father, Ebenezer Beers, was a native

of Newtown, Fairfield Co., Conn., and was early married to

Miss Anna Hard. Their son Philo, the fifth in a large

family of children, was born in Newtown, Dec. 20, 1793,

and remained at the place of his nativity until NovchiIkt,

1831, when, with his family, he repaired to Oakland

County. Here they sojourned until 183G, when, the

county of Clinton proving more attractive, they repaired to

the township of Eagle, where a considerable purchase of

land was made, and where Mrs. Beers, at the advanced ago

of eighty-two years, still resides. The services of her hus-

band in the war of 1812 entitle her to a pension, which is

annually paid by the government.

Mr. and Mrs. Beers were blessed with the following chil-

dren: Esther, born Oct. 13, 1818; Mary E., whose birth

occurred May 23, 1821 ; Burtis H., born Nov. 22, 1K23
;

Philo N., whose birth occurred Sept. 11, 182G, and his

death Jan. 2G, 1851 ; Sarah F. and Samuel (twins), born

Jan. 11, 1828, the death of the latter having taken |>laee

Nov. 17, 1832; I'hebe A., who was born Sei.t. 5, 1830,

and died in the fall of 1859; Currence, bom November,

18.33, and who.se death occurred in November, 1833; and

Anna A., born July 2, 18.i8.

Mr. Beers was the pioneer blacksmith in the township

of Eagle, and also the builder of the first saw-mill within

its bordei-s. He was a man of untiring industry, and his

early efforts did much towards advancing the interests of

the new settlement. Combined with these qualities was a

stern integrity and principle, which made him a power for

good in the community in which he lived.

Burtis H., the third child of Mr. and Mrs. Beers, was

a young man of unusual promise. He was well educated,

and had intended adopting the profession of law, but was

diverted by circumstances from the accomplishment of this

object. He was married to Miss Sarah E. Esler, and was

filling the responsible position of register of deeds, which

required his residence at St. Johns, when death .suddenly

ended his brilliant career on the 8th of January, 1877.

CHAPTER LVIII.

ESSEX TOWNSHIP.*

Boundaries, Surface, Soil, and Stri-anis—Original .Surveys and Land-

Entries—First and otiier Early Settlements—Civil History, First

Township-Meeting, and List of Officers— Educational—Village of

Maplo Kapids—Religious History.

The township of Essex is situated on the northern bor-

der of Clinton County, west of the centre. Fulton, in

Gratiot County, forms iu northern boundary, while the

townships of Greenbush, Bengal, and Lebanon, respectively,

in Clinton County, join upon its eastern, southern, and

western borders.

Its surface is of the character common to the Lower

Peninsula, undulating sufiiciently to permit of good sur-

face drainage and diversified only by occasional bluffs and

plains. Originally it was termed a " hard-wood town.ship,"

and, except " Benedict's Plains" and another opening at

" Sowle's Corners," it was generally heavily timbered with

the various deciduous varieties indigenous to this climate.

The soil, too, is of that nature which has been so fre-

quently described when speaking of Michigan lands,—an

admixture of sand, clay, and gravelly loam, and in the

lower portions alluvial deposits. It is conse<|uenlly well

adapted to the culture of grass, corn, vegetables, fruit,

wheat, and other cereals, and in their production, coupled

with stock-raising, the agricultural elas.so.s arc chiefly en-

gaged.

Maple River and Ilayworlh Creek are tln' iirincipal water-

courses. The former in il.s flow to the soulliwi'.st cro.s.<c8

the iiorlliwcst corner of the town.^hi]l. Rnpids occur in its

course near the village of Maple Itapid.s, and here it,s waters

have been utilized for mill purpoM's. Above the rupid.i,

and from thence, stretching up the river a dLilancu of ten

miles, to Bridgeville, in (iraliot County, il widens to iho

extent of from onc-ciglith to onc-lmlf mile. Hero it is

• By John 8. Sobonck.
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Bimilar to a long lake or bayou in appearance, and during

the past two or three years has been navigated between the

two points mentioned by the " May" Queen," a small side-

wheel steamer, which was built at Maple Rapids by Messrs.

Whitacre and Webster.

During the present summer (1880) Professor Davis, of

the University of Michigan, with a corps of engineers, has

been engaged in a survey of the Maple River above and be-

low the village of Maple Rapids, for the purpose of deter-

mining whether it is practicable to lower the water in the

river so as to drain and render valuable a very large area

above Maple Rapids of lands which are now submerged and

worthless. The survey was made at the suggestion and

through the influence of the Hon. S. S. Walker, of St.

Johns. Of its results Professor Davis says :

" The surveying party from Ann Arbor, who have been

sounding Maple River in the vicinity of Maple Rapids, with

the view of ascertaining the feasibility of deepening the

channel, and thereby draining the swamps which border

that stream from Maple Rapids to Bridgeville, Gratiot

County, overflowing some five thousand acres of land, re-

port that the lands can be relieved of the overflow by re-

moval of the dam at Maple Rapids and the bottom of the

river at the rapids, or a shallow place, lowered some six and

one-half feet. This will immediately lower the stream for

a number of miles, as the bed of the river above and below

this shallow place, which is only about one mile and a half

in length, extending about equally each way from the

bridge at the rapids, and also has numerous depressions, is

much lower, and only in few instances is the river so shallow

that its bed would reach this six and one-half feet level.

This would not only relieve the overflowed land, but also

afford a much better drainage for all the surrounding

country, and take away the source of much sickness.

" The bed of the river is composed largely of sand and

gravel, with a mixture of small bowlders, and the shallow

place shows made land or choke filling, being composed

mostly of soft muck, through which a stake can be thrust

to the gravel or natural bed of the river.

"The surveys made in 1831 indicate a good growth of

timber, such as oak, white-ash, and other kinds of trees

which do not grow in overflowed land. Part of these trees

have been cut ofi' in the winter-time for wood, but that now
standing is dead. This proves conclusively that at one

time the land where they are was not continually under

water. The swamp under consideration extends from

Maple Rapids about twelve miles up the river into Gratiot

County."

Hayworth Creek enters the township of Essex by cross-

ing the east line of section 25 ; thence it meanders gen-

erally northwesterly through the southern part until it

crosses the west line of section 18 and enters Lebanon
township. Reappearing again upon the same section, it

pursues a northeasterly course until its surplus waters are

emptied into the Maple River just below the village of

Maple Rapids. The Hayworth, with its tributaries, drains

the greater portion of Essex township.

With its pretty and thriving village of Maple Rapids, its

many beautiful fiirm -houses, surrounded by well-cultivated

fields, and also in point of population and the amount of

agricultural products annually produced, Essex may be

classed as one of the most prosperous and important among

the townships of Clinton County.

ORIGINAL SURVEYS AND LAND-ENTRIES.

Pursuant to contracts with and instructions received

from William Lytic, Surveyor-General of the United

States, Deputy United States Surveyors Robert Clerk, Jr.,

and Joel Wright surveyed the present township of Essex

in the year 1831. The former ran the boundary lines in

February and March, designating the same township

No. 8 north, of range No. 3 west. Mr. Wright subdi-

vided the township in May. In his field-notes mention is

made of a " beautiful mill-seat" on the creek in the north-

west corner of section 29 ; and again, in running the line

between sections 19 and 20, he spoke of" a bluff fifty feet

in height, at the base of which were several sulphur

springs." At the close of his work he said, " There is a

considerable part of the foregoing township that is valuable

land, yet I think it is somewhat inferior to those situated

on Stony Creek."

George Campau became the first individual owner of land

in the township, and probably in the county, by the pur-

chase of the northwest quarter of the northwest quarter of

section 8, Nov. 30, 1832. Following, however, are the

names of those who purchased from the general government

lands situated in this township :

SECTION 1.

Joseph R. Williams, Detroit, July 27, 1836, south half.

John Montreiul, Ionia Co., Mich., Aug. 1, 1S38, south half of north-

west quarter.

SECTION 2.

Joseph R. Williams, Detroit, July 27, 1836, south half.

John Barrett, Cayuga Co., N. Y., Dec. 12, 1836, south half of north-

west quarter.

SECTION 3.

Ilollis Pratt, July 27, 1836, southeast quarter.

Isaac A. Brooks, Kalamazoo Co., Mich., July 27, 1836, west half of

southwest quarter.

Isaac A. Brooks, Kalamazoo Co., Mich., Sept. 23, 1836, east half of

southwest quarter.

Wa-be-cake Mak-i-to-quet, Clinton Co., Mich., Feb. 1, 1811, north

part of northwest quarter.

SECTION 4.

Hollis Pratt, July 27, 1836, southwest quarter.

Joseph R. Williams, Detroit, July 27, 1836, southeast quarter.

SECTION 5.

John P. Wuchercr, Aug. 8, 1835, east half of southwest quarter.

William McCausland, Ionia Co., Mioh., Jan- 5, 1S36, southwest

quarter of southwest quarter.

S. Newton De.\ter, Oneida Co., N. Y., April 29, 1836, north half of

northwest quarter.

SECTION 6.

Warren P. Mills, Grand Rapids, Mich., May 10, 1836, southeast

quarter of southeast quarter.

Charles N. Bristol, Monroe Co., N. Y., Dee. 13, 1836, northwest frac-

tional quarter.

SECTION 7.

Edward J. Glenn, Aug. 8, 1835, west half of northeast quarter.

Louis Campau, Grand Rapids, Feb. 12, 1836, west half of southeast

quarter and east half of southwest quarter.
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SECTION 8.

George Campau, Nov, 30, 1832, northwest quarter of northwest quarter.

Louis Campau, July 11, 1835, east half of southwest quarter and

southwest quarter of northwest quarter.

William K. Thompson, Ann Arbor, Mich., Jan. 6, 1836, west half of

northeast quarter.

SECTION 9.

Hiram Benedict, Saratoga Co., N. Y., Nov. 5, 1835, west half.

Calvin Cooley, March 23, 1836, northeast quarter.

James S. Wudsworth, Geneseo, N. Y., April 25, 1830, southeast quarter.

SECTION 10.

Charles H. Carroll, April 25, 1836, southwest quarter.

Joseph R. Williams, July 27, 1836, north half and southeast quarter.

SECTION II.

Joseph R. Williams, Detroit, July 27, 1836, north half and southwest

quarter.

Joseph C. Lyon, Nov. 20, 1849, southeast quarter.

SECTION 12.

Joseph R. Williams, Detroit, July 27, 1836, north half and southeast

quarter,

SECTION 13.

Henry Auten, May 3, 18J9, northeast quarter.

Charles R. Webb, Juno 19, 1849, southwest quarter.

George Watkins, Kno.x Co., Ohio, June 20, 1850, east half of north-

west quarter and southwest quarter of northwest quarter.

SECTION 14.

John F. Lansing, Washtenaw Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 1836, west half of

northwest quarter.

John Kanouse, Jr., Washtenaw Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 1836, oast half of

southeast quarter.

SECTION 15.

Eurotas P. Hastings, Detroit, Nov. 5, 1836, southeast qu.arler and east

half of northeast quarter.

William Page, Ann Arbor, Mich., May 12, 1836, west half.

John F, Lansing, Washtenaw Co., Mich., Nov, 4, 1836, northeast

quarter and west half of southeast quarter,

Silas C. Herring (safe man). New York City, Jan. 17, 1837, cast half

of southeast quarter,

SECTION 16.

School lands,

SECTION 17,

Charles Butler, April 2.5, 1836, northeast quarter and cast half of

northwest fpiartcr.

H(!nry M. Moore, (jiencseo Co., N. Y., Sept. 23, 1836, southeast quarter.

Lewis Corning, Troy, N. Y,, Jan, 16, 1837, southwest quarter.

SECTION 18.

Oliver Johnson, April 18, 1836, north half and southwest quarter and

west half of southeast quarter.

Charles Butler, April 25, 1836, east half of southeast quarter.

SECTION 19.

Oliver Johnson, April 18, 1836, east half of northeast quarter.

Sylvester Stevens, Washtenaw Co., Mich., July 12, 1838, north half

of southeast quarter.

Daniel Kellogg, Washtenaw Co., Mich., July 12, 183S, soulh half of

southeiust quartor.

Justus and Gar<lner Hale, Onondaga Co., N. Y., Aug. 18, 1838, north-

west quarter, west half of northeast quarter, and southwest

quarter.

SECTION 20.

Abrani S. Wadsworth, Ionia Co., Mich., April 18, 1835, west half of

southwest quartor.

Henry M. Moore, (icncsee Co., N. Y., Sept. 23, I.S35, northeast quarter.

Thompson J. Daniels, Kalamasoo Co., Mich., Jan. 16, 1837, west half

of northwest quarter.

SECTION 21.

Preston Mitchell, Calhoun Co., Uioh., Sept. 24, 1836, northwest

quarter,

James Sowlo, Jr,, Washtenaw Co., Mich., Nor. I, 1836, east half.

SECTION 22.

William Page, May 12, 1830, east half, and eajit half of northwest

quarter, and co^t half of southwest quarter.

James Sowie, Jr., Nov. I, 1836, west half of northwest quarter and

west half of southwest quartor.

SECTION 23.

James Sowle, Jr., Washtenaw Co., Mich., Nov. 1, 18.36, south half.

Silas C. Herring, city of New York, Jan. 10, 1837, north half.

SECTION 24.

Sarah H. Porter, Lancaster Co., Pa., Nov. 5, 1836, soutfieast quartor.

Neheniiah D. Stobbins, Oakland Co., Mich., Nov. 8, 1836, southwest

quarter.

Sidney S. Alco;t, Marshall, Mich., Nov. 8, 1836, northeast quarter.

SECTION 25.

William McCausland, Ionia Co., Mich., May 15, 1834, west half of

southeast quarter and east half of southwest quarter.

William Page, May 12, 1836, north half and west half of southwest

quarter.

Horace Butler, May 26, 1836, east half of southeast quarter.

SECTION 26.

Philip Fayne, July 18, 1836, southwest quarter.

Horace Butler, May 26, 1836, southeast quarter.

John Kanouse, Jr., Washtenaw Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 183B, northwest

quarter and west half of northeast quarter.

SECTION 27.

Sidonius Teall, July 18, 1836, northwest quarter and west half of

southeast quarter.

John B. Nestell, Clinton Co., Mich., Juno 27, 1837, west half of south-

west quarter.

James K. Morris, Clinton Co., Mich., Oct. 26, 1839, cast half of south-

west quarter.

Paino & Teall, July IS, 1836, east half of southeast quarter.

SECTION 28.

Charles J. Walker, Kent Co., Mich., Sept. 3lt, 1836, northcajit quarter.

Elizabeth Kanouso, Washtenaw Co., Mich., Nov. 4, IS36, southeast

((uartor and west half of northwest quartor.

Noble Sperry, Seneca Co., N. Y., southwest quarter,

SECTION 29,

Joseph R, Williams, July 27, 18.36, west half of northwest quarter.

Oeorgo W. Dickinson, Ionia Co., Mich., Fob. 15, 1837, oast half of

northwest ([Uarter and northwest quartor of northeast <|uiirter.

George Stillson, Calhoun Co., Mich., April 3, 1837, southwest quarter

of northcni*t (|uartiT.

Philo Sperrv, Seneca Co., N, Y., April 3, 1837, soulhoojil (|unr(cr.

Carmi Rainsford, Monroe Co., N. Y., April 3, 1837, cost half of north-

cast quarter.

SECTION 30,

Joseph R. Williams, July 27, 1836, northeast quarter,

llonjamin Welch, Clinton Co., Mich., Feb. 15, 1837, southwest quarter.

George W. Perry, Onondaga Co,, N, Y., Aug. 13, 1838, northwest

(quarter,

SECTION 31,

Charles J, Walker, Kent Co., Mich,, Sept. 30, 1836, wo»t froolional

half.

Lucius C. Martin, West Milton, Vt., Dec. V, IS5il, cast half of norlh-

civst quarter.

SECTION 32.

Campbell A Brodloy, Sehcncetady, N. Y.. Oct, I, 18,36, ca>t half,

Silas R. Junes, Clinton Co., Mich., March II, 1850, northwest quarter

if smilhwcsl quarter.
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SECTION 33.

Campbell & Bradley, Oct. 1, 1S36, west half.

Elizabeth Kanouse, Nov. 4, 1836, east hall' of northeast quarter.

Levi B. Mori is, Cayuga Co., N. Y., April 5, IS37, southeast quarter.

SECTION 34.

James Cram, Mny 12, 1836, north half.

Lucene EUlri<lge, Oakland Co., Mich., Dec. 1.3, 1836, south half.

SECTION 35.

Horace Butler, May 26, 1836, northeast quarter.

Lucene Eldridgc, Dec. 13, 1836, southwest qu.arter.

William Thompson, Seneca Co., N. Y., Deo. 14, 1836, northwest quarter

and west half of southeast quarter.

SECTION 36.

Walter Huhbcll, Miiy 12, 1836, west half of northeast quarter and

east half of northwest quarter,

Joseph R. AVilliams, July 27, 1836, east half of southeast quarter and

west half of southwest quarter.

Miles P. Lampson, Genesee Co., N. Y., Sept. 23, 1836, west half of

northwest quarter.

Chauncey M. Stebbins, Clinton Co., Mich., Sept. 28, 1836, east half of

northeast quarter.

Thus it will be seen tliat Joseph R. Williams, a Detroit

speculator, was the largest purchaser of land.s in this town-

ship ; that the greater portion was purchased by the close

of the year 1836 ; that among the first buyers speculators

largely predominated, and that of the early settlers but

very few purchased their homesteads of the general gov-

ernment.

FIRST AND OTHER EARLY SETTLEMENTS.

George Campau, brother of Louis Campau, of Grand

Rapids, and a representative of the family whose name has

been so closely connected with the history of Michigan dur-

ing and since its occupancy by the French, was the first

settler in the present township of Essex. It is probable

that while following the vocation of an Indian trader he

had visited this region long prior to his purchase of a por-

tion of section 8, or had learned of the advantages here

offered for the establishment of an Indian trading-post

through his own or other coiireurs du hois. Makitoquet's

large band of Indians was located on the Maple, and doubtless

other bands equally as numerous, in the vicinity. Rival tra-

ders were not near enough to offer serious competition ; the

field before him w"as broad and unoccupied. On the .30th

of November, 1832, he purchased the northwest quarter of

the northwest quarter of section 8, but it seems that he did

not establish himself upon it until s(3me three years later.

Louis Campau entered the south half of the same eighty-

acre lot, July 11, 1835, and soon after, some time during

the summer or early autumn of that year, George Campau
settled* at the Rapids. His wife and two small children

came with him. Near the north line of his lot, and facinc

Maple River, was erected his dwelling. The site was well

chosen, and is to-day the most picturesque place in the

township. A building of hewn logs for trading purposes

was built near by, and yet standing, is the only relic left to

* James Sowle, Jr., was entertained at his house in October, 1836,

and Mr. Campau then mentioned that he had resided upon his land

a little more than one year.

remind the passing citizen or inquiring stranger of the

Campau trading-post.

As we view its decaying timbers, the massive but rusty

padlock which still holds in place the iron strap on the

staple, and peer in upon space confined only by the outer

walls and roof, imagination involuntarily takes us back to

scenes here enacted forty and forty-five years ago. Here were

assembled, perhaps, a score or more of Makitoquet's band,

accompanied by their stolid-faced, broad-backed squaws,

who, serving as their beasts of burden, carried the utensils

used in their domestic economy, besides a few peltries,

the latter to be bartered for articles on sale at the trading-

post.

Inside the building, and behind a long high counter which

ranged along one side of the large room, might be found

Mr. Campau chatting gayly with his dusky customers, and

speaking with equal fluency in either the French or Chip-

pewa dialect. Back upon narrow shelvings were shown

bright calicoes, cheap breeches, flint.s, knives, leaden balls,

tobacco, and other articles. But the " fire-water" of the

whites, the sale of which to the Indians was the chief

source of revenue of all the early traders, although it might

not have occupied a conspicuous place in Canipau's stock

on hand, was—if we may believe what has been related by

early settlers—at times very conspicuously displayed in

effect in the antics, brawls, and " whoopees" which followed

its sale to his thirsty customers.

Mr. Campau's post was also rendered memorable by hold-

ing the first township-meeting of Wandaugon here in 1838,

and of Lebanon in ] 839. He did not occupy a prominent

position in the civil history of this region, however, and

the only office to which he was elected by the votes of the

people was that of director of the poor of Lebanon town-

ship, in April, 1839. After having enjoyed a reasonable

degree of prosperity as an Indian trader he sold out his

interests here to John Johnson, about the year 1842, and

then removed to Grand Rapids.

James Sowle, Jr., still a resident of the township, was

the next person to make an improvement here, but uot the

next to settle after Mr. Campau. He was born in Che-

nango Co., N. Y., and afterwards resided in Monroe Co.,

N. Y., where he learned the trade of a carpenter and joiner.

He first came to Michigan in 1826, and assisted to build a

saw-mill at Waterford, Oakland Co. He then returned to

New York State, where he married and remained until

1832. During the latter year he again came to this State

as a permanent resident. Locating at Manchester, Wash-

tenaw Co., he worked at his trade and assisted to build

many houses. In the autumn of 1836 he visited this town-

ship for the purpose of selecting lands for a homestead.

He was entertained at the house of Mr. Campau, and the

next day made choice of the east half of section 21, the

west half of the northwest quarter and west half of the

southwest quarter of section 22, and the south half of sec-

tion 23, in all a tract of eight hundred acres, which was

entered at the Ionia land-oflBce Nov. 1, 1836. A large

portion of his purchase consisted of rose-willow and burr-

oak plains, and, taken together, most desirable. He then

superintended the building of the Wacousta mills, which

accomplished, in July, 1837, he came here, and, assisted
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by John Nestell, his brother-in-law, built his first dwelling,*

!i log one, on the site of his present residence.

Although Mr. Sowle's house was the first to succeed that

of George Campau, it was not occupied by him until

June, 1838, many of his household goods having been

moved therein the winter previously. In July, 1838, his

little daughter, Mary E., nearly two years old, while tied in a

chair, fell forward into a " smudge," kindled for the purpose

of driving away gnats and mosquitoes, and was so badly

burned that she died. His son, Joseph B., who lived to

be eighteen years of age, was born on the 22d of the same

month. Thus the first birth and death occurring in the

northern half of Clinton County took place in his family.

He also claims that the first marriage in the county took

place at his house in the spring of 1837, while he resided

at Wacousta, the contracting parties being Loren Miner

and Miss Margaret Nestell, both of whom were then work-

ing for Mr. Sowle, and the ceremony was performed by

William A. Hewitt, Esq., of Dowitt, who wa.s afterwards a

prominent citizen of Essex.

Mr. Sowle built the first framed barn in the township in

1839, which is still standing. He also erected for others

the first mills at Hubbardston and at Maple Rapids, the

latter for Messrs. Hewitt & Shepard. In the fall of 1839

he procured at Ionia some very small apple-trees. Of these,

his neighbors, Daniel Kollo-'g and Sylvester StephoiK, re-

ceived some. All were set out the same day, and thus

were started the first orchards. Mr. Sowle, or " Sohn," as

he was termed by them, was a great favorite with the In-

dians who lived in his vicinity. He relates that in 1838,

also in 1839 and 1840, he plowed many little patches for

the Indian women to cultivate their corn and vegetables.

Each had their own little plat, and they usually paid him

with maple-sugar. As the proceeds of one day's work he

once received four hundred and eighty pounds.

He was a justice of the peace when he came here, and

served as such for several years thereafter. Illustrative of

his experience while serving in that capacity, also of the

friendly feeling then existing between the whites and In-

dians, we relate the following: On the 4tli of July, 1839,

he visited Campau's trading-post. There were present, be-

sides Mr. Campau and himself, five buxom Indian women.

Campau was in a joking niuod, and .speaking in the lan-

guage of the Chippewas, told the women that " Sohn" was

a justice of the peace; that among tbe whites it was cus-

tomary for such officials to " treat" all women who kissed

them on the 4th of July ; therefore, if they kissed " Sohn,"

they were sure of a drink. Although not understanding

their language, Mr. Sowle was well aware from their ges-

tures and glances exchanged that it related to him. On

the alert, therefore, when the S(juaws arose and moved care-

les.sly towards him, he, ton, stood erect. A moment later

they closed in upon him on all sides. The short, sharp

struggle which ensued resulted in the forest fcmiuiucs being

^ Thtij huuso was burned in ]S.iO, A small franio dwelling fol-

lowed, which was oceupieii until 18(50. It then gave plaoe to a inoro

pretentious one costing five thousand doUars, the furniiT being moved

a short distaneo away. In March. ISGl, both the old and new houses

burned, and the present or fourth dwelling on the sumo site was soon

after erected.

thrown to the floor, lying one across another. Not satisfied,

however, they made a second attempt to gain the coveted

kiss and, wliat was of more importance to them just then,

the drink, but were again served as before. Convulsed

with laughter, Mr. Campau called off the women, saying to

them that they were beaten, but if they would bring in a

"rat skin" (meaning a muskrat skin) the next day, he

would treat. Assenting, the squaws drank their whisky

with evident relish, and thereafter Sohn's reputation as a

wrestler was fully established among the Indians.

Hiram Benedict and Timothy H. Pettit, brothers-in-law,

accompanied by their families, Nelson Benedict, an unmar-

ried brother of Hiram, and another young man named

John Brown, came from Saratoga Co., N. Y., and settled

upon the openings known since as " Benedict's Plains," in

the autumn of 1837, thus becoming the next settlers after

Mr. Campau. Their families found shelter under the hos-

pitable roof of Mr. Campau, until their own first dwellings

were ready for occupancy. Hiram Benedict purchased of

the government the west half of section 9 Nov. 5, 1835,

and soon afterwards became possessed of the two east

eighty-acre lots of section 8. The spring following his

settlement (1838) he was elected supervisor of the newly-

organized township of Wandaugon, and afterwards, without

changing his residence, served as the first supervisor of the

respective townships of Lebanon, Bengal, and Essex. He
was an able man, a good citizen, and highly respected.

His aged father—Hiram, Sr.—and mother also removed to

this township, where were pa.ssed the remainder of their

days. Hiram Benedict, Sr., had served in the war of

1812-14. Timothy H. Pettit and Nelson Benedict were

also prominent early citizens. Mr. Pettit was elected the

first clerk of Wandaugon, also a ju.slicc of the peace; was

active in the organization of Bengal and Essex townships

;

and ably served both in various official capacities. (See

lists of officers of this, Bengal, and Lebanon townships.)

It is thought that he built the first framed house in Essex.

Lyman Webster, known by the Indians of his day as

" Ma-quah," because of his heavy dark beard, and Cbaun-

cey M. Stebbins, brothers-in-law, came here from Ionia

County in the fall of 1837. They owned lands situated

upon sections 35 and 3(3, and were the first settlors in the

southeast ((uarter of the township. Both were gentlemen

of ability, and most creditably served their townsmen in

various public stations.

Daniel Kellogg and Sylvester Stevens, his son-in-law,

from Washtenaw (Jounty, purchased the southeast c|iiarler

of section 19 in July, 1838, and during the following

winter or early spring of 1839 settled upon their newly-

ac<|uired cstnte. They, too, bccanu' well-knnwii and prom-

inent citizens. Mr. Kellogg wils an early ttiwnship clerk,

justice of the peace, and Irousurer, while Mr. Slovens built

the first s»w-mill,j' which stood on Hayworth ("reck, in the

•southwest <|uart('r of .section 20.

Lucene Eldridge, Joshua Prink, and Joshua Coomor set-

tled upon sections 34 and 35, early in the spring of 1840.

All were good substantial farmers, and most worthy citizens.

Mr. Coomer still resides where he settled forty years ago.

I
This mill was afterwards ownwl by Thomas Irwin and M'iltiain

A. llowit(.
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Those living in township 8 north, of range 3 west, who

were assessed as resident tax-payers of Bengal in June,

1840, were as follows:

George Campan, west half of northwest quarter of section 8.

Sylvester Stevens, north half of southeast quarter of section 19.

Daniel Kellogg, south half of southeast quarter of section 19.

Hiram Benedict, east half of northeast quarter and east half of

southeast quarter of section 8.

Hiram Benedict, northwest quarter and west half of southwest

quarter of section 9.

Timothy H. Pettit, east half of southwest quarter and east half of

east half of southeast quarter of section 9.

James Sowlc, Jr., northeast quarter of section 21.

James Sowle, Jr., west half of northwest quarter of section 22.

James Sowle, Jr., southwest qunrter of section 23.

Chauncey M. Stebbins, east half of northeast quarter of section .16.

Chauncey M. Stebbins, cast half of west half of southeast quarter

of section 35.

Lyman Webster, cast half of southwest quarter and west half of

west half of southeast quarter of section 35.

Lucene Eldridge, southwest quarter of section 35.

Joshua Frink, southeast qu.arter and east half of southwest quarter

of section 34.

Joshua Coomer, west half of southwest quarter of section 34.

A mistake seems to exist in the description of lands

credited to Webster and Eldridge, but the foregoing is a

copy of the roll of that date.

The residents of the present township who availed them-

s elves of the elective franchise in November, 1840, the days

of " Tippecanoe and Tyler too," were Messrs. Timothy H.

Pettit, Hiram Benedict, James Sowle, Jr., Alonzo Vaughn,

Sylvester Stevens, Joshua Frink, Miner Frink, Nelson

Benedict, Daniel Kellogg, Julius Bishop, Joshua Coomer,

Chauncey M. Stebbins, Lyman Webster, Lucene Eldridge,

Orlow W. Holmes, and Marcus Kowley, who, except

Messrs. Cortland Hill, Charles Grant, and Uriah Drake,

were the only residents of Bengal who voted.

Solomon Moss, a prominent pioneer of Essex, came here

in 1841, from the town of Ira, Cayuga Co., N. Y., and set-

tled upon section 33. He was born in Vermont in 1790.

During the war of 1812-14 he was, while residing in

Canada, drafted into the British service, but at some pecu-

niary sacrifice te evaded doing duty for His Britannic Maj-

esty by returning to Vermont. His wife, formerly Miss

Fanny Jones, of Shoreham, Vt., and six children, viz.,

Hiram L., William J., Edgar D., Vesta E., Laura K., and

Myron S., came with him to this township. Mrs. Moss

died in 1856. Mr. Moss survived to the age of eighty-

one years. Their children all reside in Clinton County,

except Mrs. M. Baker, of St. Louis, Gratiot Co.

Among other prominent early settlers were John Johnson,

who succeeded Mr. Campau and, until the settlement of

William A. Hewitt at Maple Rapids, did a thriving mer-

cantile business with the Indians and early white settlers
;

Chauncey S. Wolcott, who is still one of Essex's most re-

spected citizens; Henry M. Starks, Levi D. Jenison, Samuel

M. Scott, Daniel G. Smitii, Obadiah Lyon, Walter Hubbell,

Rufus Dinsmore, and others whose faces and peculiarities

will be remembered when their names are found in accom-

panying list.

In 1844 those residents of the township assessed for

taxes were mentioned as owning property on the following-

sections

:

Sec.

Ephraira Rolfe 7

John Johnson 8

Levi D. Jenison 8

Hiram Benedict, Jr 8,9
Nelson Benedict 9

Timothy H. Pettit 9

Henry M. Starks. 9

Eleazcr Toby S

George Starks 9

John W. Armstrong 19

Sylvester St eveus 19

Daniel Kellogg 19

James Sowle, Jr 21, 22

David Scott 23

Itufus Dinsniore 25, 36

Lyman Webster 25

Sec.

George W. Gardner 25

Christian G. Nestell 27

Daniel G.Smith 29
Nelson Delong 30
Solomon Moss 33
Joshua Coomer 34
Joshua Frink 34
Lucene Eldridge 35
Chauncey S. Wolcott 36
Walter Hubbell 36
Lewis Norton Personal

Joseph Kellogg **

Oliver Aldrich
Parley Gardner **

Joseph Nestell "

The population and number of dwellings were more than

doubled during the succeeding six years, and in 1850 there

were seventy-seven families and a total population of four

hundred and ten inhabitants. The resident tax-payers at

that time were named as follows

:

Simon T. Hill

Hiram Richmond
Thomas Stickuey
Ephraim Kolfe

Alfred Stone
^Villiam Perry
John Johnson
Ransom S. Cook
Solomon Moss
Hiram Benedict 8

Timothy H. I'ettit

Nelson Benedict

Peter Schnnck
Edward Pcrrin

Josei)h O.Lyon 9,

Charles Carter

Aaron S. Baker 17,

Ransom Beach
D. W. C. Beach
David Blank
John Whitman
Josiah Ci'bb

Cornelius Onderkirk
John W. Armstrong 19,

Nelson Dclong
Palmer D. Bancroft

Guy N. AVilco.x

Adam Ocoboek
'

Jackson Ocoboek
Frederick Tuttle

Thomas Irwin
Thomas Parr 17, 20,

James Yon dan
David Scott

Mrs. Scott 23,

Sec. Soc.

... 3 John Young 24

... 3 Heirs of R. Dinsmore 25, 36

... 6 Morgan Monroe 25

... 7 Theodore Webster 25

... 7 Lyman Webster 25

... 7 C.Hammond 26

... 8 Truman B. Heath 26

... 8 Edwin W. Warren 23

... 8 Obadiah Lyon 26

8,9 James Owen 27
... 9 Christian G. Nestell 27

... 9 Frederick Delano 19

... 9 James Sowle, Jr 21, 22

... 9 Humphrey Hammond 28

11 Daniel G. Smith 29

10 Riley Jones 32

18 David Bush 26,33
19 Joshua Coomer 34

19 Hiram L. Moss 33

19 William J. Moss 33

19 Mrs. Frink 34,26
19 Lucene Eldridge 35

19 Levi D. Jennison 35

30 Chauncey S. Wolcott 36

30 Stephen McPherson 10

30 Joseph T. Hewitt Personal

31 Guy N. Wilcox "

29 David F. McPherson.... "

29 George R. Nestell "
20 Isaiah Sherwood *'

20 James Skillman "
21 0. Dunkle "
22 Charles Turner "
23 Eben B. Stiles "
24 Isaac Ocoboek "

At the expiration of another decade many improvements

had taken place. Framed dwellings and broad cultivated

fields had succeeded the log cabins and small " clearings
;"

the enterprising little village of Maple Rapids had sprung

into existence, and Essex in 1860 contained two hundred

and fourteen dwelling-houses and one thousand and thirteen

inhabitants, thus taking third place among Clinton County

townships. The tax-paying residents* of twenty years ago

were:

Sec.

Aaron W. Phillips 1

Lewis Bryant 1

William IJrown 1

Samuel H. Griffith 2

Andrew J. Taylor 2

John Anderson 2

William S. Mathews 3

Marcus Annis 4, 14

M. J. Whitacre 5

Reuben Smith Personal

Sec.

Martin V. Brown Village Lots

John N. Whitacre... '•

James K. Petteys.... "

Augustus Randolph. **

Frederick Tuttle "

Ransom Beach '*

James Carpenter 6

Arnold Payne 6

Abigail Fulton 6

Daniel Webster 6

* In this and other lists of names errors may be found in spelling,

but they cannot be avoided when not written correctly or legibly on

original rolls.
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Sec.

J. R. Moshcr
Bennett Cook 7

Hazen Jtiquish 7

Chaunccy Jaquish Personal
Azro Jaquish "

Ira S. Baker 7

Betsey M. Stone 7

William Mather 7

Hewitt and Mather...Village Lots
William A. Hewitt... "

Isaac Hewitt "

Hannah Hewitt '*

D. J. Rogers "

George Herrendeen.. "

Henry C. Lyon "

B. F. Herrendeen.... "

Owen Holland "

Franklin Hudson "

Michael Lestrange... "

Horace S. Taylor "

John Johnson 3, 7, 8

Chandler Freeman. ..Village Lots
C. W. Brown "

H. P. Lansing "

Joseph W. Hewitt... "

Lafayette Brown "

Hiram Richmond.... "

William P. Bolds "

ElishaMudge "

Nancy Webster "

Daniel Pratt "

Edgar D. Moss 8, 18

Solomon Moss 8, 18

William J. Moss o, 8, 18

Eli Madison Village Lots
William Annis "

George Hewitt "

Lydia A. Lane "

Zachary Hewitt "

Paul Hewitt "

Anderson Stout 8

Hansom J. Cook 8

William Benedict 8,9, IS

Nelson Benedict 1'

Joseph C. Lyon 9

Henry Dimon 9

James Skinner '. Personal
Peter Schanck 9

Rowland S. Van Scoy 9, 10

R. Danliy 10

R. T. Sumner 10

Guy N. Wilco.v 10

Jacob Britton 10

<iieorge A. Brition 10

Alfred Russell 12

William M. Stevens 12

Nathans. Ellis 13

Edgar C. Van Vlect 13, 14

Martin I. Hulbert U
Mary Root IJ, 15

Henry Hinckley 15

Jf^hn Groat 15

James Youdan 14, 15

Thomas Parr 15

Daniel Piniard 16

John Baker 16

Charles Carter 10,16
William J. Havens 16

Cornelius Van Sickle 16

Maria Pcrrin 4, 5, 10, 16

Newman Terry 16

0. F. Bristol 16

Isaac T. Bentley 17

George Blank 17

Joseph Ellieott 17

George Baharsh.. 18 and Vil. Lot
Harvey While 18

John P. Smith 18

Jacob Ridenour, Jr 19

Stephen Parr 19

John W. ArEustrong 19, .10

John Kidenour 19

Josiah Cobb 19

David Ridenour 19

Warren Peel 19

Ransom Beach 19

Peter and David Blank 17

Alonzo Potter Personal
Thomas Irwin 2U

Sec.

John Beach 20
Lyman Van Sickle 20
Warren Smith 20
Lewis Bentley 20
Christopher M. Bannister 20
William Parr 20
T. P. Hoyt 20
Charles Bentley 21
A. Stevens 21
Stephen McPherson 21
John Piniard 21
Mary McPherson 21
James Sowle, Jr... 15, 21, 22, 28
Martin Fisher 22
Arnold L. Lake 22
Horace M. Skinner 22
Nathan L. Carr 22
John D. Whitman 23
Francis A. Coats 23
Nathan R. Lowe 23
Abram .\nnis 24
Andrew Annis 24
John Young 24
William Y'oung 24
George B, Andrus Personal
Luther Wheat 24
Albert E. Fo.\ 24
Charles Fox 24
Henry Lyon 24
R. W. Boynton 25
Carmi Hammond 25, 26
*B. Taylor 25
Watson Rolfe 25
George Rolfe Personal
James H. Roberts 26
Simon T. Hause 2fi

Obadiah Lyon 26
A. Pietz 26

John Caiitwell 26
J. F. Frink 26
Dennis Webster 27
E. D. Webster 27
Joseph Parr 27
John 11. Parr 27
James Owen 27
Sanford Crowner 27
James D. Crowner 27
John Farnsworth 27
Hor.acc A. Sowle 27
Moses Nestell 27
Hiram Nestell 27
(ieorge R. Nestell 27
Albert Angell ,.... 27
II timphrcy Hammond 28, 33

N. S. Hammond Personal
H. C. Elkins
Richard Britton 28
Nelson Garner 28

St Arnold 29

Thomas Luck 29

Jackson Ocobock 29
Isaac M. Ocobock 29
.'Vdam Ocobock 29

Hamilton Ocobock 29

Loren Peet 29
Nelson Delong 18, 30
Loren Miner 30
Benjamin F. Ocobock 30

Palmer D. lJancr(tft 30

Simon T. Hill 9, 31

Kiley Jones 32

M. Chase 32

Hiram L. Moss 33, 34
David Bush 26, 33, 34
William Ward 34

Joshua Coomer 34

Chester Dean 34

J. C. Jewett 26, 34

John Ward 34

Lucene FIdridge 35

Rodney Kldri»l;.;e 35

.lohn Bottum 35

Levi D, Jcnisim 26, 35

Chauncoy S. Wolcott.. 25, 34, 36

Jerome Clark 36

Barney Bond 36

S. Bottom 36

H. Houck 36

Prominent among the citizen.s of to-day of those whoso

names are mentioned in tlie forepjoing list are Rowland S.

Van Scoy, the owner of about fifteen hundred acres in Essex,

67

and one of the wealthiest men in the county ; Isaac Hewitt,

a merchant and capitalist, who owns nearly six hundred

acres; Horace M. Skinner, a thorough-<roing farmer, who

has done much to improve live stock ; and Richard B. Ca-

russ, who, although a more recent settler, is deserving great

credit for his efforts in behalf of an improved stock of

cattle, sheep, and hogs, and true farm culture.

CIVIL HISTORY, FIRST TOWNSHIP-MEETING,
AND LIST OF OFFICERS.

Essex, which comprises territory designated in the orig-

inal survey-township No. 8 north, of range No. 3 west,

formed part of Wandaugon (afterwards Lebanon) township

from March 6, 1838, to March 19, 1840, when it became

part of Bengal. It continued thus until 1843, when by an

act of the State. Legislature, as follows, approved March 9th

of the same year, it began a separate existence.

" All that part of the county of Clinton designated in

the United States survey as township No. 8 north, of range

No. 3 west, be and the same is hereby set off and organized

into a separate township by the name of Essex, and the

first township-meeting therein shall be held at the house of

James Sowle, Jr., in said township."

Pursuant to the foregoing act, twenty-eight electors as-

sembled at the house of James Sowle, Jr., Ajiril 21, 1843,

to hold their first town.ship election, and as a result the fol-

lowing township officers wore declared elected: Hiram

Benedict,* Supervisor ; Daniel Kellogg, Clerk ; Lyman

Webster, Treasurer ; Henry M. Starks, Solomon Moss,

Chauncey S. Wolcott, Highway Commissioners; SolomoD

Moss, Daniel Kellogg, Chauncey M. Stebbins, Justices of

the Peace ; Daniel Kellogg, Chauncey M. Stebbins, Asses-

sors ; Chauncey S. Wolcott, Chauncey M. Stebbins, School

Inspectors; Benjamin F. Doty, Chauncey M. Stebbins,

Directors of the Poor; John W. Armstrong, Chauncey S.

Wolcott, Constables. Samuel M. Scott, Solomon Moss,

James Sowle, Jr., Hiram Benedict, and Timothy H. Pettit

served tis inspectors of this election.

Two days later a special township-meeting was hold,

when the following-named citizens were chosen pathmasters:

Henry M. Starks, district No. 1 ; James Sowle, Jr., district

No. 2 ; John W. Armstrong, district No. 3 ; William L.

Delbridge, district No. 4 ;
Solomon Moss, district No. 5

;

and it was resolved that James Sowle, Jr., serve as pound-

master; that the township biiy books for recdrds
;
that two

hundred and filly doUai-s be raised for highway purposes

;

that two dollars be paid for wolf-scalps
;
that one hundred

and fifty ddllars be raised for contingent ex]ionses, and that

the next township election be held at the house of William

L. Delbridge.

In 1845 the people voted to pay sis town bounties two

dollars for each woll'-sealp, one dollar for each bear-scalp,

and two cents for each blackbird killed in the township.

During a few years preceding 185C or 18;)7 the present

townships of Newark and Pulton, in Urutiot County, were

attached to Essex.

• Hiram lleno<licl had nerved ta the flmt 8upervi»or of Wamlnugon

in 1838, aUu of Lebanon in 1839. He was elected the first Kuper\ isor

of Bengal in 1840, also to the auiuo office in 1841, and on the 3d of

April, 1843.
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Tho f'ullowiiig tables embrace the names of those who

have been annually elected supervisors, clerks, treasurers,

justices of the peace, highway commissioners, school in-

spectors, drain commissioners, and school superintendents

for the years from 1844 to 1880, inclusive; but where

vacancies have been filled by appointments and special elec-

tions, such changes are not shown. Possibly errors will be

found ;
if so, the fault must rest upon successive township

clerks, who at the conclusion of each township-meeting

failed to summarize and declare who were elected

;

1844-45. Walter Hubbell.

1846. Hiram Benedict.

1847. Samuel M. Scott.

1848. Hiriim Benedict.

1849. Samuel M. Scott.

1850. Daniel 6. Smith.

1851-52. Hiram Benedict.

1853. William A. Hewitt.

1854. Thomas Parr.

1855. Timothy H. Pettit.

1856. Joseph T. Hewitt.

SUPERVISORS.

1857. John Young.

1858. Hirara Benedict.

1859-65. Rowland S. Van Scoy.

1866. Hiram L. Moss.

1867-69. James Youdan.

1870. Justus Root.

1871. James Youdan.

1872. Richard B. Caruss.

1873-74. James Youdan.

1875-80. Orin F. Peck.

CLERKS.

1844. Lyman Webster. 1859-

1845. Levi D. Jenison. 1863.

1846-47. Daniel G. Smith. 1864.

1848. Obadiah Lyon. 1865-

1849. Daniel G. Smith. 1867.

1850-53. David F. McPherson. 1868.

1854. Robert W. McCartney. 1869-

1855. John S. Bristol. 1875-

1856. Martin V. Brown. 1879.

1857. William J. Moss. 1880.

1858. Charles W. Brown.

62. William J. Moss.

Myron S. Moss.

Martin V. Brown.

66. Myron S. Moss.

Henry D. Sanders.

Daniel Lyon. •

74. Orin F. Peck.

78. Murdo McDonald.

William F. Petteys.

Sanford W. Smith.

1844-46. Daniel Kellogg.

1847. H. M. Starks.

1848. James Sowle, Jr.

1849-51. Humphrey Hammond
1852. Timothy H. Pettit.

1853-54. Joseph T. Hewitt.

1855. William A. Hewilt.

1856-62. George Daharsh.

1863-64. Robert T. Sumner.

TREASURERS.

1865. Thomas Parr.

1866. Rowland S. Van Scoy.

1S67. Simeon Hewitt.

1868. Edwin D. Webster.

1869. Alfred Shaw.

1870. James Y'oudan.

1871-77. Simeon Hewitt.

1878-79. John Chick.

1880. Simeon Hewitt.

1876. Albert T. Cross.

1877. Gabriel Anderson.

Franklin Hudson.

Robert B. Burt.
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Gardner. According to the school law then prevailing,

nine scholars or children of school age were necessary to

form a district and enable it to draw money from the public-

school fund. As the two families could muster but seven

children, Bengal authorities refused to organize a district,

consequently IMi.ss Moss' school was a private one.

On the 2d of January, 1845, School Inspectors Lyman

Webster, Timothy H. Pettit, and Chauncey S. Wolcott

formed school district No. 2, and ordered that it should

include sections 21, 22, 15, 10, and 3, the cast half of sec-

tions 4, 9, 16, and the southwest quarter of 16. The first

meeting to be held at the house of James Sowle, Jr., Wed-

nesday, Jan. 15, 1845, at one p.m.

District No. 1 was formed in December, 1846, and

Rufus Densmore and others of this district were duly

notified that its boundaries be as follows :
" Commencing

at the southeast corner of section thirty-six, thence west

to the quarter post on the south line of section thirty-four,

thence north through the centre of sections thirty-four and

twenty-seven to the centre of section twenty-two, thence

east through the centre of sections twenty-three and twenty-

four to the east line of the township, thence south to the

place of beginning; and the first school-meeting therein

shall be held at the house of Chauncey S. Wolcott, Tues-

day, December 15, 1846, at six p.m."

So says the record. But why district No. 2 was formed

prior to No. 1 we cannot determine. Probably the latter

description was a change of the boundary-lines of original

district No. 1, for of the primary-school fund (twenty-three

dollars and fifty-five cents) drawn in 1845, fourteen dollars

and eighty-seven and a half cents was apportioned to dis-

trict No. 1, and eight dollars and sixty-seven and a half

cents to district No. 2. But eighteen dollars and eighty-

eight cents was received from the primary-school fund in

1846. In April, 1847, it was determined to build a school-

house for district No. 1 on the northwest corner of section

36, land owned by Chauncey S. Wolcott.

District No. 3, comprising sections 13, 14, 23, 24, south

half of n and 12, and portions of 26 and 27, was liirmed

in September, 1848.

District No. 4 was organized in May, 1849. The first

meeting was held at the house of Hiram Benedict, and the

district comprised .sections 5, 6, 7, 8, 17, 18, and the west

half of sections 4, 9, and 16. This was the first district

organized which included the territory now occupied by

the village of Maple Rapids. The amount of juiniary-

school funds received the same year was sixteen dollars and

seventeen cents, which was apportioned to districts 1 and 2.

In 1850 twenty-six dollars and filly-two cents was received

from the same fund, which was ajiportioned lo the two dis-

tricts as before.

Of the seven districts counted as organized in 1851, but

four were entitled to public-school funds, viz., 1, 2, 3, and

5. Since the latter date many changes have taken place

in the numbers* and boundaries of school district-s, and

it is impracticable to follow their history fniiher.

» In 1855 there were cloven school districts, but districts in the

liruscnl ti)wn.Hln|is of Nowurk nml Fulton, Oriiliot County, wen' then

included.

EARLY TEACHERS.

Miss Martha Grooch or Gooch received a teacher's cer-

tificate May 26, 1849, and is the first mentioned in the

school inspectors' books as having received one. Other

early teachers are mentioned by years, as follows

:

1850.— Harriet Bliss, Sarah Jane Lyon, Helen E. Stevens,

Mary Richmond, and Lovina Stone.

1851.—Miss T. M. Doty, William Mather, David F. .Mc-

Pherson, D. W. C. Beach.

1852.—Emeline Moss, Francis A. Chappell, Mrs. Arm-

strong.

1854.—Emeline Moss, Catherine Ocobock, Mary P. Rich-

mond, Mary L. Kipp, Maria Hawkins. Miss T.

M. Doty, William J. Moss, Martha Pierson,

Hannibal Gaskell, Mrs. GunsoUy.

1855.—Mary L. Webster, Miss H. L. Cole, Mary L.

Seaver, Mary Hill, Mary A. Moore, America

Hoyt, and Eleazer A. Darrow.

1856.—Sarah L. Cole, Julia A. Skinner, Mary J. Vail,

Pamelia Bliss, Mr. E. I. Abbott, William J.

Moss, N. K. Hane.

1857.—Alice Moore, Mary J. Partridge, Adelia M. Smith,

Jlartha Avery, Mary Hill, T. R. Bush, Elislia

Mudge, Eleazer N. Darrow, Elizabeth Doane.

1858.—Mary Coryell, George W. King, Mary A. Moore,

Miss Baker, Lucy E. Freeman, 0. S. Ingham,

• James N. Wallace, Miss H. A. Taft.

1859.—Charlotte Nethaway or Hathaway, Laura Har-

rington, Charlotte H. Miller, Julia Sessions,

Martha Avery, Anderson Stout, 0. B. Gunnison,

Myron S. Moss, Oliver G. Webster, Charles T.

Lyon, Lois Mudge, Eunice M. Eddy, Elon Rey-

nolds, Ely Reynolds, Charles E. Hollister.

1860.—Naomi J. Everett, Mary Hill, Angeline Rush,

Amelia Brown, Oliver G. Webster, Mary M.

Coryell, America Hewitt, William Scott, Alan-

son .Mathews, Jane Slrever, Myron A. Dunning,

William M. Colby, William Hill.

1861.—Myron S. Mo.ss, D. B. Creasinger, .M. R. Eaton,

Elvira S. Cole, Naomi J. Everett, Rebecca T.

Y.iung, Albert H. Bnrcb, 11. W. Slile.s, J. M.

Harrison, Elislia McCall.

1862.—Mary L. Gillett, Miss L. Bcntley. Minerva \
Bachelor, Naomi S. Everett, Sarah E. Smith,

Sopbronia L. Burch, Jane Strever, .^Iary B.

Harnidn, F. M. Chase.

1863.—America Hewitt, Elizabeth Benjamin, (Jerirude

Benjamin, Jane Strever, Sarah Smith, Ciitharine

R. Chase, Mary K. Chase, Peter Kenjainin,

Mary Slafi'urd, Naomi J. Everett, Myron .\.

Dunning, Myron S. Mos,s, L. C. Shelley, Sarah

K. Smith, C. C. Collins, JaineB Jewetf.

1864.—Jane Strever, C. R. Chase, Lanra El.lrcd, Mi.ss L.

|{<'ntley, Eva E. Wilson, Lucy J. I'cct, Eliza-

beth 'I'ayliir, llibn I,, licwiil, .>Iary Coryell,

Peter lienjiimin, Messrs. li. C Shelley, Josliii

0. 0. Web.si.r, and O. M. Wood.

1865.—Mary Moore, Jennie Strever, Nellie L. Hewitt,

Helen Carrier, Elizabeth A. Benjamin, Amanda

Wilcox, Mary Coryell, Myron A'. Dunning,
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Esther Swayze, Elvu J. Wells, Delana Hojt,

Caroline Rouse, Oliver G. Webster, Munson

Chase, L. C. Shelley, Elmer D. North, Alice L.

Woodruff, Alice N. Taft, Naomi J. Everett,

Miss E. M. Williams.

1866.—Caroline Rouse, Amanda E. Wilcox, Helen F.

Snyder, Elva Wells, Emma L. Beebe, Livonia

S. Holmes, Elvira M. Sturgess, Mrs. Lorado

Dowd, Lois Van Vleet, Emily Skinner, Naomi

J. Everett, Amelia Rogers, Helen Lyon, Har-

riet H. Holmes, Emma L. Beebe, Fllisha

Mudge, Edwin E. Stone, Mr. 0. A. Price,

Margaret E. Reece, Nancy Chase, Almy Bent-

ley, and Amelia Rogers.

1867.—Miss A. Ferguson, Rhoda J. Mosher, Rebecca

Chase, Naney Chase, Mary Smith, Lucinda

Hanse, Annie Wakeley, Emma Rogers, and

Marie Thornton.

APPORTIONMENT OF PRIMARY-SCHOOL FUNDS.

I860.—To District No. 1, $26.68 ; District No. 2, $27.60

District No. 3, $29.90 ; District No. i, $41.40

District No. 5, $9.66 ; District No. 6, $21.62

District No. 7, $8.28.

1870.—To District No. 1, $25.44; District No. 2, $15.84;

District No. 3, $38.88; District No. 4, $69.12;

District No. 5, $19.68 ; District No.. 6, $8.64;

District No. 7, $20.16; District No. 8, $17.28;

District No. 9, $13.92 ; and Fractional District

No. 8, $25.44.

The following statistics are taken from the school in-

spectors' annual report for the year ending Sept. 1, 1879 :

Numher of districts (whole, 8; fractional, 1)... 9
Number of children of school age residing in

the township 590
Number of children attending schools during

the year.. 534
Number of children, non-residents, attending

schools during the year 41
Number of school-houses (brick, 1 j frame, S).. 9
Number of sittings 640
Value of school property $7850.00
Number of men teachers employed 5

Number of women teachers employed 15
Amount paid men teachers. $751.00
Amount paid women teachers $1267.00
Total resources for the year $3046.89

VILLAGE OF MAPLE RAPIDS.

The village of Maple Rapids, an unincorporated town of

about six hundred inhabitants, is situated in the northwest

corner of Essex township, on the south side of Maple

River, and occupies portions of sections 5 and 8.

It contains three church edifices (Christian, Congrega-

tional, and Methodist Episcopal), one graded school, two

hotels, four stores of general merchandise, two drug-stores,

three millinery-stores, two grocery-stores, two furniture-

stores, one music-store, one jewelry-store, one steam grist-

mill, one water-power grist-mill, one saw-mill, two plan-

ing-mills, one foundry and machine-shop, a bank, a news-

paper printing office {Maple Rapids Dispatch), besides

numerous small mechanical shops, in which nearly all the

trades are represented. Among the professional men are

Drs. Edwin Doty, Charles E. Knapp, R. H. Sanborn,

and Samnel Wellings ; S. S. Swigart, surgeon-dentist

;

Revs. S. Snyder, S. Kitzmiller, and C. Barstow, clergy-

men ; A. T. Cross, attorney-at-law, and Isaac Hewitt, real

estate. The village is nine miles distant from Fowler,

the nearest station on the line of the Detroit and Milwaukee

Railroad, and fourteen miles from St. Johns, the county-

seat. Daily stages run to both places, and the village is

also connected with Fowler by a telephone-line.

A LEAF OF EARLY VILLAGE HISTORY.

Although the trading-post established by George Cam-

pau in 1835, and afterwards carried on by John Johnson,

was located within what would now be the corporate limits

of the village, and though its natural advantages and routes

of travel converging here had made the Rapids familiar to

most early settlers in this and surrounding townships, it

seems that it was not until the year 1852 that any steps

were taken towards the founding of a village.

In February, 1852, William A. Hewitt, one of the first

settlers of De Witt township, came in and occupied about

two hundred and forty acres, purchased previously of Sol-

omon Moss and others. He immediately began the con-

struction of a dam and saw-mill* on the Maple, which

were completed in 1853. During the latter year he platted

a village, established a store near his mill, and was elected

supervisor of Essex. Soon after he built a hotel, and be-

came postmaster, succeeding in that ofiice Edward Perrin.

His sons were able assistants in the work of building up

the village and advancing its interests. Upon the death of

his father, in February, 1863, Isaac Hewitt succeeded to

the management of the estate, and by his energy and bus-

iness tact has accumulated a handsome competency. To

him, also. Maple Rapids can attribute much of the pros-

perity it enjoys to-day. In September, 1864, he built a

steam saw-mill just above the old mill, and for years lum-

bered extensively. The building was torn down in 1878,

however, and the present mill of William L. Hane occu-

pies its site. Joseph W. Hewitt, the eldest of William A.

Hewitt's family, came here in 1853. He was the first

cabinet-maker and carpenter, and carried on the business

for several years. He is now associated with his brother

and William F. Pettys in merchandising, under the firm-

name of I. & J. W. Hewitt & Co.

Among other early professional and business men were

Dr. Daniel Pratt, Dr. Brown, Ruel W. Boynton, attorney ;f

William Shepard, who was connected with W. A. Hewitt

in business matters
;
Robert McCartney, who established

the first foundry about 1854 ; Martin V. Brown, Beach &
Parr, J. B. Rumsey, James K. Petteys, Augustus Randolph,

merchants ; Chandler Freeman, foundryman, who did an

extensive business in agricultural implements, and also

represented this district in the State Legislature ; he re-

moved to Colorado in 1864 ; Samuel Reed, who established

the Perry House and built Reed's Hall ; and others, whose

names have also been mentioned.

* About 1858 this building was enlarged, and with one run of stone,

the industry of flouring grain was added ; finally the saw gearing

was taken out and the capacity of the grist-mill increased to two run

of stone by Isaac Hewitt. As such it continued to do work until the

spring of 1878, when it was damaged by high water to such an ex-

tent that it has since stood idle.

f William A. Hewitt was also an attorney-at-Iaw.
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The first school-house was built about 1 855, and remained

in use until the present one was erected in 1869-70. llcv.

Elisha Mudge, a niinistor of the Christian Church, was one

of the early teachers, and in other ways a promineDt and

most worthy citizen.

In 1867 it was discovered that the original plat of the

village had not been placed on record. This fact necessi-

tated a new survey and replat, which was completed July

22d of that year. Among those then named as proprietors

were Isaac Hewitt, Lafayette Brown, John A. Whitacre,

William D. Young, George W. Aiken, Cyrus B. Craig,

Stephen A. Hathaway, Zachariah N. Hewitt, Joseph W.
Hewitt, Calvin P. Cha.se, Rodolplius Jones, James H. Jones,

Orrin F. Peck, Edwin D. Calkins, Samuel Reed, Sanfurd

W. Smith, Thomas Cook, Franklin Hudson, Barnard Creas-

inger, Simon T. Hill, Rodolphus H. Sanborn, George Her-

rendeen, Edgar D. Moss, Lewis B. Wilcox, J. B. Yates,

Horace M. Skinner, Sarah Lucas, John A. White, Elisha

Mudge, Louisa Brown, Esther M. Luce, Levi Benjamin,

Louisa V. Hane, Hiram Richmond, Nancy Webster,

George Richmond, Alfred W. Shaw, James K. Petteys,

David Hollister, Letitia Underbill, Joseph E. Annable,

Alexander Quick, Edward Cooper, Reuben Smith, Simeon

Hewitt, John Johnson, Martin Ferry, Myron S. Moss, and

William F. Petteys.

During later years commercial and manufacturing inter-

ests have rapidly increased, and the more important of

them will be briefly alluded to. In 1875 a flurry was

created over the prospect of having a railway, which, pass-

ing along on the north side of Maple River, was to connect

Saginaw and Grand Rapids. The citizens subscribed lib-

erally, and probably about six thousand dollars was paid

in, but after about ten miles had been graded from the

proposed depot to the northeast of the village the matter

dropped.

MILLS AND MANUFACTURING.

The Essex Flouring-MUls were built by Mr. B. P.

Hutchinson in 1875, and completely appointed cost twelve

thousand dollars. The building is three and one-half stories

in height, handsome, and commodious. Power is derived

from steam, a marine boiler of one hundred horse-power

being in use, which propels four run of stones. The mill

began operating Aug. 5, 1875, and does both merchant and

custom work. Born in New Hampshire, Mr. Hutchinson

came to Michigan in 1837, and with his father's family

settled in Howell, Livingston Co., Mich. He has also re-

sided in Wayne County, this State, and for four years in

the State of Missouri, lie served in the Fourth Michigan

Cavalry until after the battle of Murfreeshoro', and con-

tracted a disease, from which he is still a suftercr.

liufus II. Hewitt's present furniture manufactory was

established by him in the year 1880. He has been in the

same business, however, ten years, having succeeded his

brother, Joseph W. Hewitt, who commenced here in 1858.

Steam-power is used. From six to ten men are employed,

and the principal articles uianufiictured are table.i and bed-

Steads.

IVie Maple Jiaj)i(ls Fuuiidri/, controlled by Messrs.

Jones, Perrigo & Co., employs seven men. Steam-power

is used, and their work coneista of general repairing, or

work as ordered by their patrons. Since Mr. McCartney

established his small foundry in 1854, many have been in-

terested in iron-work here. In the present foundry Chand-

ler Freeman, Wilcox, Randolph, Hathaway, M. J. Whit-

acre, C. E. Winans, J. E. Jones, S. D. Perrigo, William

H. Wheat, and Lewis Terry have all had an interest at dif-

ferent periods. The present foundry building was erected

by Charles E. Winans in 1872.

BANKING.

The banking-house of Solomon P. Creasinger was estab-

lished by himself Jan. 6, 1875. He does a general bank-

ing business, and employs a capital of from twenty thousand

to forty- five thousand dollars, according to the demands.

His bank building was erected in 1874 at a cost of six

thousand one hundred and thirty dollars. It is of brick,

handsomely finished throughout, and the most commodious

for such purposes in the county. Over six thou.sand pounds

of iron was used in the construction of a burglar and fire-

proof vault, which incloses one of Terwilliger's steel safes,

with Yale time-locks attached. Mr. Creasinger has been

identified with the interests of Maple Rapids since 1865.

He is also one of the heaviest dealers in buggies in the

State.

NEWSPAPERS.

The Maple Rapids Messenger, the first newspaper enter-

prise started in the village, was first issued by the Dickey

Bros, in April, 1874. It was an independent six-column

folio, and with the motto " The people's friend, but no

man's servant," was continued until January, 1878, when

its publication ceased.

'J he Maple Rapids Dispatch, a seven-column folio, was

established by the Messrs. Stair Bros. (Orin and E. D.).

The first number was issued Oct. 26, 1878, and, like its

predecessor, is mdependent. It is published Saturdays, and

has a circulation of over five hundred copies.

MAl'LK J;AI'II)S foKNKT HAND.

The Cornet Band of Maple Rapids was organized iti

June, 1878. After but six weeks' practice its members

played at the public installation of officers of the Odd-

Fellows' Lodge. Their first and present leader, Rufus H.

Hewitt, manipulates a first E-flat cornet. Other present

members are Frank Stitt.s, .second E-flat cornel ; Sanford

W. Smith, first H-llat cornet ; A. J. Chick, second H flat

cornet ; Morgan Perrigo, E-flnt alto ; Leander D. Perrigo,

first B-flat t<;nor ; Asa B. Jones, second B-flal tenor

;

George Whitney, baritone; William A. Nixon, K-flat

tuba ; F. B. Richards, ba.'-sdriim ; Charles Fergu.son,

tenor-drum ;
(J. A. Willett, drum-major. The band is

hand.somely uniformed, and its members have expended

about five hundred dollars fur instruments.

SECRET UENEVOLENT ASSOCIATIONS.

MAPMO U.M'IDS L0IX5K. N.i. 115. V. ANII A. M.,

began work Oct. 15, 186it, under a dispensation prnnted

by the Grand Master of the Stale of Michigan, of date

Oct. 1, 1S63. The officers first installed were Martin V.

Brown, W. M. ; George Herrendceu, S. W. ; Isaac Hewitt,
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J. W. ; R. W. Boynton, Sec; William Hane, Treas.

;

Chandler Freeman, S. D. ; L. R. Wilcox, J. D. ; A. J.

Eldred, Tiler. Edgar D. Moss was the first candidate for

membership, and was initiated into the mj'steries of the

order Oct. 26, 1863.

Subsequent Masters have been Martin V. Brown, 1864
;

Isaac Hewitt, 1865 ;
Edgar D. Moss, 1866; George Her-

rendeen, 1867; Isaac Hewitt, 1868; Elisha Mudge, 1869

to 1877, inclusive; Murdo McDonald, 1878; Clayton C.

Taylor, 1879.

The present officers are Isaac Hewitt, W. M. ; Clayton

C. Taylor, S. W. ;
Solomon Doty, J. W. ; Myron S. Moss,

Treas. ; Adelbert J. Moss, Sec. ;
Scott S. Swigart, S. D.

;

George H. Newton, J. D. ; Chauncey S. Hubbell, Tiler;

L. H. Peace and William L. Hane, Stewards. Regular

communications are held in Odd-Fellows' Hall, village

of Maple Rapids, Friday evenings, on or before the full

moon of each month. Number of present members, ninety.

MAPLE RAPIDS LODGE, No. 224, L 0. 0. F.

This lodge was instituted March 26, 1874. The first

officers installed were Samuel Reed, N. G. ; R. H. San-

born, V. G. ; James A. Casada, Sec. ; Samuel Sheperd, P.

Sec. ; L. L. Smith, Treas.

Subsequent presiding officers are named in the order of

their succession, as follows : Lyman Crowley, 1874 ; James

A. Casada, Robert Anderson, 1875
; R. H. Sanborn, Cyrus

A. Lyon, 1876 ; Rufus H. Hewitt, Joseph F. Owens,

1877 ;
Lincoln L. Smith, John N. Whitacre, 1878

; Albert

T. Cross, John H. Marsh, 1879 ; and Asa B. Jones, 1880.

Other present officers are Charles E. Price, V. G. ; T. A.

Willett, Sec. ; L. L. Smith, Per. Sec. ; James H. Jones,

Treas.

The fii-st meetings were held in the Masonic Hall, R.

Smith's store. The lodge now owns about eight hundred dol-

lars' worth of property, and meetings are held every Saturday

evening in Odd-Fellows' Hall, Brown's Block. Present

membership eighty. Among those who have been particu-

larly zealous in working for the success of this lodge may
be named James A. Casada, Robert Anderson, Thomas A.

Willett, J. P. Owens, James H. Jones, P. S. Percy, and

William H. Hamilton.

ESSEX LODGE, No. 1, A. 0. U. W.

As its number implies, this was the first lodge of the

order organized in the State. It was instituted Feb. 28,

1876, with ten charter members, and now numbers eighty

members. Those who have served as Master Workmen
have been Orion F. Peck, William A. Nixon, 1876

; Chaun-

cey A. Hubbel, Lincoln L. Smith, 1877 ; Albert T. Cross,

A. B. Carter, 1878; Carlos A. Webster, J. E. Jones, 1879
;

George H. Sowle and Clayton C. Taylor, 1880. Regular

meetings are held at Grange Hall Monday evenings.

CARSON CITY ENCAMPMENT, No. 40, I. 0. 0. F.,

was organized at Carson City, Montcalm Co., Jan. 18, 1878,

there being present George H. Shearer, G. P. ; Norman
Bailey, G. H. P. ; Charles H. Palmer, G. S. W. ; Henry
P. Adams, Acting G. S. ; J. H. Ingalls, Acting G. S. W.';

and L. Z. Munger, Acting G. I. S. of the State encamp-

ment; G. B. Esler, J. L. Zuver, Anderson Chestnut, E. R.

Phinney, Albert Tuthill, Lewis Reynolds, Alvin Hodges,

W. A. Sweet, Jr., and Patrick Martin composed the char-

ter members. The officers first installed were Patrick

Martin, C. P.; W. A. Sweet, Jr., H. P.; J. L. Zuver, S.

W. ;
Albert Tuthill, J. W. ; George B. Esler, Scribe

;

Alvin Hodges, Treasurer. Subsequent presiding officers

have been William A. Sweet, 1878 ; Albert Tuthill, 0. R.

Goodnow, 1879; Lewis Reynolds, H. L. Porter, 1880.

Other present officers are W. E. Hamilton, H. P. ; J. A.

Casada, S. W. ; E. R. Terry, Scribe; Alvin Hodges,

Treas. ; C. E. Price, J. W. The encampment was removed

from Carson City to Maple Rapids in May, 1880. It has

thirty-eight members, and regular meetings are held on the

first and third Thursdays of each month, in Odd-Fellows'

Hall, village of Maple Rapids.

ESSEX GRANGE, No. 439, P. OF H.,

began work under a dispensation granted by the National

Grange, of date July 2, 1874 ; was chartered July 21st of

the same year, and incorporated according to the laws of

the State of Michigan, May 24, 1877. Thomas Garner,

S. N. Allen, Oliver Cunningham, William Pinckney, John

L. Lyon, Andrew J. Ennis, Joseph F. Owen, JL Hubbert,

Rowland S. Van Scoy, Luther Wheat, James Anderson,

John Anderson, and James H. Stonebrook being named as

corporators. Further information concerning this lodge

was requested from official members, but they failed to

comply.

RELIGIOUS HISTORY.

THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF MAPLE
RAPIDS.

The Methodists formed the first religious organization

in the township in 1846, by organizing a class which was

attached to the Duplain Circuit. But in the absence of

any authentic data little can be told concerning it. The

IMaple Rapids Circuit was formed in 1858, and among the

members at that time, according to the class-book, were

Simon T. Hill, leader ; Fidelia Hill, Mary Hill, Paul Dewitt,

Mary M. Dewitt, C. T. Nestell, Rachel Schanck, Martin V.

Brown, Fanny Brown, Electa Pratt, Emily C. Brown, Eliza

Terry, Stephen Dodge, Rhoda Dodge, Hannah Dodge, Sarah

C. Caplin, LymanWickham, Catharine Wickham, Franklin

Hudson, Solomon Moss, William J. Moss, Hiram Nestell,

E. D. Moss, Lydia M. Moss, George A. Britton, James

Anderson, Helen Mather, John Parish, Eliza Parish, Mary

Grant, Betsey Ferguson, J. N. Wallace, Elizabeth Ander-

son, Andrew A. Hooker, Mark Annis, Holden Bannister,

Kate Benedict, Eliza Strever, Hannah Hewitt, Eunice Ean-

dolph, Maria Perrin, Sarah McGraw, Alfred Cowles, Ma-

tilda Cowles, Martha Casper, Melissa Bannister, Newell

Bannister, William Brown, A. B. Snyder, C. B. Snyder,

R. J. Cook, Ann Herrendeen, and Mary J. Dodge.

Among those who have served as preachers in charge of

this circuit are mentioned the names of Revs. F. Glass,

George W. Hoag, William Benson, William M. Copeland,

N. L. Otis, McKnight, House, Noah, Fassett, Thomas Clark,

Staiford, B. W. Blanchard, J. R. Caldwell, E. Wilkinson,

A. L. Crittenden, S. C. Woodard, F. J. Freeman, and S.

Kitzmiller, the present pastor. The circuit includes a

total membership of one hundred and seventy-two. Their
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church edifice, which will seat two hundred and fifty people,

was built in 1SC8, and cost S2400.

THE MAPLE RAPIDS CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH

was organized April 26, 18C8, at a meeting held in Union

Hall. Rev. H. A. Reed, ageni of the Home Mission So-

ciety, was present, and served as moderator. Rev. E. T.

Branch, scribe.

Of the original members were James S. Bristol, Mrs.

Julia Bristol, John Lambie, Rev. E. T. Branch, Mrs. L. L.

Branch, James K. Petteys, Mrs. Sylvia M. Pctteys,

William F. Petteys, John Blackler, Mrs. J. Blackler, E.

Mattoon, Mrs. E. Mattoon, Mrs. A. Webster, Mrs. I^Iary

Mudge, Miss Mattie F. Branch, Mrs. Martha Daniels, Mrs.

Almeda Moss, Mrs. S. Sanders, Mrs. Nancy Smith, and

Mrs. M. HoUister.

A house of worship, built in the summer and autumn of

18G9, was dedicated Jan. 16, 1870. It cost about $3000,

and will seat nearly three hundred persons. The society

now numbers ninety-six members. Those who have pre-

sided as pastors have been Revs. Edwin T. Branch, Wil-

liam Piatt, and Charles Barstow, the present incumbent.

THE CHRLSTIAN CHCRCU* OF MAPLE RAPIDS,

as now organized, was formed in 1874, under the ministra-

tions of Rev. Elisha Mudge, who remained here as pastor

until May, 1878, when the present pastor, Rev. S. Snyder,

took his place.

At a meeting held in Union Hall, Dec. 29, 1874, Row-

land S. Van Scoy, Isaac Hewitt, Samuel Reed, Simeon

Hewitt, and William L. Herman were elected trustees.

The society was soon after incorporated according to the

laws of the State, and some forty members signed the

articles as corporators.

Union Hall was purchased in 1876, which, remodeled into

a handsome church edifice, was dedicated Sept. 24, 187t>,

the dedicatory sermon being preached by Rev. Warren

Hathaway, of New York State. The building cost two

thousand five hundred dollars, which includes the purchase

of hall and grounds, fixtures, furnishing, bell, etc., and will

seat three hundred and sixty people.

Two other religious societies, known as the First Con-

gregational Church of Essex and the Fiist Baptist Church

of P]ssex, have been organized in the township, but as

both have ceased to exist, no further mention is deemed

necessary.

BIOGEAPniOAL SKETCHES.

y%^^
sins NA.NNAII c. IIKW I IT.

WILLIAM A. HEWITT.

William A. Hewitt was born in Steuben Co., N. V., on

the 2Gth day of November, 1811. Prominent among the

early settlers of Michigan we find the name of William A.

Hewitt, who came to this State in 1835, accompanied by

his wife, a daughter of Zachariali Hyatt, who was one of

the first clothiers in the city ofiNew York. She was born

in Orange Co., N. Y., March I.'), 1813, anil married Mr.

Hewitt in 1830. They stojiped in Oakland County, where

they remained until February, 183(1; then ranic (n Clinton

County, settling in the town of De Wilt, being the tliird

family in tlie county. Mr. Hewitt and hi.s worthy wife

endured many of the |)rivalions and liardHliips eoinnxin to

early .settlers. Tlu'ir first home wius a log cabin, built uiwn

* Fri>iM (Inin ulilniiKMl Trnin Imuic Hoivitt, Esq., and county rocordi.

Till' iliiiri'li lUik wo." rcapocl fully rvqucatod to Turnisb further infar-

miitiiui, but failuii to roHpuad.
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forty acres purchased from the government. During fifteen

years' residence in De Witt, all of which time he was jus-

tice of the peace, while engaged in different kinds of busi-

ness, he cleared and improved three farms, and in the sum-

mer of 1851 he cleared and put in seventy acres to wheat.

He was known as a land-agent, looking up and locating

land for settlers and speculators, doing a general real-estate

business. Was engaged in mercantile and hotel business in

De Witt ; was the first justice elected, and married the

first couple in the county, viz., L. Minor to his present wife,

who to-day are living in Essex, at a ripe old age, having

enjoyed the fruit of over twoscore years of unbroken mari-

tal life. On the 20th of February, 1852, Mr. Hewitt re-

moved to Essex township, locating on section 5, on the

banks of Maple River. Purchasing two hundred and forty

acres of land, upon which site part of the village of Maple

Rapids is now located (and it may well be accorded to him

as having been really the founder of said village), his efforts

were untiring ; he erected a saw-mill, hotel, and store, fol-

lowing a grist-mill, and engaged in a general mercantile

business, and having read law in earlier years with Joab

Baker in De Witt, was admitted to the bar, ever continuing

in the practice of his profession to his death in Essex. He
was elected justice of the peace the first year of his resi-

dence, and subsequently supervisor and treasurer, holding

the oflSce of justice from his first election to the time of his

death. The issue of this marriage with Hannah C. Hyatt

is five children, viz. : Joseph W., who is now engaged in

mercantile business at Maple Rapids ; Zachariah N., now

residing near St. Louis, Mich.
; Fanny M., the first white

child born in the county, now wife of M. V. Brown, who

is engaged in mercantile business at St. Johns ; Isaac

and Rufus H., both residing at Maple Rapids, the latter

now engaged in the manufacture of doors, .sash, and blinds,

and furniture, etc. William A. Hewitt's death occurred

on the 12th day of February, 1863, at Maple Rapids, Mich.

In 1865 his widow married Simeon Hewitt, a brother of

her first husband, both still living at Maple Rapids.

Isaac Hewitt, the fourth child and third son, was born

Jan. 20, 1839, in De Witt; removed to Essex with his

parents in 1852, where ho has since resided. He married

Miss Helen C. Lansing, of Maple Rapids, April 3, 1859.

Upon the death of his father he was appointed executor of

his Other's will, and settled his estate in 1863
; was elected

justice of the peace to fill his father's vacancy, subsequently

holding the oflSce of township treasurer. In 1860, when
twenty-one years of age, he conducted a flouring-mill, and

in the fall of 1800 engaged in the mercantile business, con-

tinuing in the same to the present time. In 1864 he

erected a steam saw-mill at Maple Rapids, and was engaged

in the lumber business until 1874. Following the father's

footsteps, he has ever inclined to the legal profession, and for

many years past has done a large conveyancing business and

dealt largely in real estate. His possessions cover over five

hundred acres of land in Essex, and he enjoys the full con-

fidence of the community in which he lives.

SOLOMON P. CREASINGER.

This gentleman, the fifth of the ten children of Barnard

and Ann Wilhelm Creasinger, was born in the township of

Perrysburg, Ashland Co., Ohio, March 10, 1844.

His great-grandfather, Michael Creasinger, emigrated

from Germany to Bucks Co., Pa., prior to the war of the

Revolution, and during the long struggle which resulted

in the independence of the United States served seven

years in the Continental army. He participated in many

SOLOMON p. CREASINGER.

engagements and received several wounds. His wife also

accompanied him in all his campaigns, and did much to

alleviate the sufferings of the sick and wounded soldiery.

Afler the close of the war Michael Creasinger settled in

Augusta, Northumberland Co., Pa. His son Henry, father

"and grandfather of Barnard and Solomon P. Creasinger,

respectively, was born in the latter place. He served with

credit in a Penn.sylvania regiment during the war of 1812

-14. Of Henry's family, Barnard was born during the

last war with Great Britain. He (Barnard) remained in

Northumberland until the year 1837, when he removed to

the State of Ohio, and from thence to Essex, Clinton Co.,

Mich., in 1857. In recent years he has been engaged in

commercial pursuits in the village of Maple Rapids, where

he still resides.

Until arriving at years of discretion Solomon assisted his

father in farm duties, when, wishing to obtain better edu-

cational advantages than the district schools of his neigh-

borhood afforded, the year 1863 found him pursuing his

studies in the city of Lansing. Although but little more

than nineteen years of age he promptly responded to the

call of his country for volunteers, and on the 1st day of

August, 1863, enlisted in Company M, First Regiment

Michigan Engineers and Mechanics. After the expiration

of his term of enlistment he returned to Clinton County

and taught school nine terms. With his father he then



ESSEX TOWNSHIP. to7

engaged in the drug business in the village of Maple

Rapids. Two years later he removed to Ithaca, Gratiot

Co., where he alone successfully carried on merchandising

and lumbering. Selling out his interests tliere he again

returned to IMapJo Kapids, and in 1874 erected his bank

building. The following year he established his present

banking-house, supplying a want long needed. Besides

attending to liis duties as a banker, ho is probably the

largest dealer in buggies in the State of Michigan, employ-

ing some forty men.

On the 25th of November, 187.'), he married Miss Clara

A., only child of Roswell Jones, Esq. To them two chil-

dren have been born, viz., Lena, Feb. 28, 1878, who died

March 30, 1878, and Grace L., Jan. 27, 1879.

In his political sentiments Mr. Creasinger is a Repub-

lican, and although not a member of any religious denomi-

nation, he is active and liberal in the support of all churches,

having served ten years as Sabbath-school superintendent.

When it is stated that Mr. Solomon P. Creasinger is the

most pro.'iperous man of his years in the county of Clinton,

that his capital has been accumulated by his own unaided

exertions, and that he enjoys the esteem and confidence of

all who have the honor of his acquaintance, no more need

or can be said.

0. F. PECK.

The gentleman whose name heads this sketch occupies a

prominent position among the self-made, reliable, and re-

spected citizens of Clinton County. Born in Wayne
Co., Mich., June 2, 1835, he is thoroughly Michigan in all

his antecedents,—self-reliant, energetic, enterprising, and

charitable to tho.se in need and deserving. His parents

were Yankees. By them his character was moulded and

habits formed. At the age of twenty-two he removed to

Calhoun Co., Mich. After three years' stay there he went

to New York State and learned the trade of a tinner, fol-

lowing this occupation until 18G4, when he returned to the

place of his birth and worked at his trade about two years.

In the fall of 1866 he engaged in the hardware business

in Maple Rapids, and at this time carries on a large farm

besides this hardware business. He has been largely inter-

ested in the improvement and advancement of this village,

having erected two of the finest residences here. He has

occupied several offices of trust: was township clerk five

years, supervisor six years; also Grand Reviewer for two

years of the A. 0. U. W. of Michigan, and during this time

has paid out twenty-eight thousand dollars (^S28,UU0) to its

widows and orphans. He is also one of the directors of the

Home Mutual Fire Insurance Company of Ionia, Clinton,

and Montcalm Counties.

Mr. Peck was united in marriage. May 8, 18C4, with a

daughter of David Hodges, Es(). For the pa.'^t si.\ years

he has been a member of the Congregational Church.

Politically, he affiliates with the llcpublicans.

NATHAN R. LOWE.

The parents of Nathan R. Lowe were Cornelius and Phebe

Roberts Lowe, who were both natives of New York State.

He was the eldest of five children, and was born in Elmira,

N. Y., Dec. 26, 1801. His parents, who were farmers,

resided at Big Flats, near the former city, and their son

remained at home, engaging in the labors incident to

farm life, until his marriage at the age of twenty-three to

Miss Rachel Goble, whose parents were residents of the

NATHA.V R. LOWE.

same locality. Four children were born to them, a son and

three daughters. The biitli of Phebe, the eldest, occurred

in 1824, that of Sarah Ann in 1S26
; Joseph was born in

1827, and Mary in 1832. Of the.se children all but the

eldest arc still living. Mrs. Lowe died Jan. 24, 1852, in

Duplain, and in December, 1853, !Mr. Lowe was again mar-

ried to Mrs. Sarah Scott, who was the mother of two chil-

dren,—Robert C. Lowe, born Dec. 14, 1S54, and Charles,

Oct. 8, 1856. Mrs. Sarah Lowe died Sept. 8, 1863, and

Jan. 28, 1864, Mr. Lowe was united to Mrs. Rachel F.

Walker, who had two sons,— Ernest, born Feb. 14, 1865,

and William S., who.se birth occurred July 15, 1867.

In 1835, Mr. Lowe left his native State for the attractive

soil of Michigan, and located in the township of Duplain,

Clinton Co., where he purcha.sed one hundred and sixty

acres of land, anil additional land elsewhere. This was en-

tirely uncleared, the country wius devoid of loads, and a

pilgrinuige with o.\en to Detroit was necessary to obtain

supplies for family use. This estate was later disposal of,

and another, partially improved, in the township of Ks.si'x

purchased, upon which the family now reside.

Till! death of Mr. Lowe occurred Aug. 8, 1S74. lie

represented his township as supervisor, though averse to the

burden of official honors, and rarely ambitious for such dis-

tinctions. He was modest in his tastes and cared little for

public life, his attention having been principally devoted to

iho labors incidental to farm-life. Botli he and his wife

were active members of the Methodist K|)iseopal Chureh.

58
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CHAPTER LIX.

GREENBUSH TOWNSHIP.*

Settlements and Settlers— Township Organization— Civil List of

Greenbush—Voters in 1844 anJ IS50—Old State Koad—Schools-
Town Koads—The A'illago of Eureka—Churches—Manufactures

—

Secret Orders.

Greenbusii is the eighth towuship north in range 2

west. On the north it has Gratiot County, on the south

the township of Bingham, on the east Duplain, and on

the west Essex. It contains a village called Eureka, and

has two post-offices. Besides the interest of agriculture,

which is, of 'course, paramount, Greenbush has at least

three quite important manufacturing enterprises, and is

altogether a town of thrift and wealth. Although no rail-

way traverses its territory, it has a popular highway known

as the State road, over which, it is said, the village of St.

Johns receives more travel than over any other two roads

centering at that point. In the southern portion of the

town there is a broad stretch of swamp which covers thou-

sands of acres, and which, despite energetic efforts towards

its reclamation, is likely to remain waste land for some

time to come.

SETTLEMENTS AND SETTLERS.

Simultaneously with the earliest settlement of Duplain

township by members of the Rochester Colony, Greenbush

received its first settler in the person of John Ferdon, him-

self a member of the Colony and a comer to the settlement

with Oliver Bebee and Samuel Barker, in July, 1836. A
detailed reference to the Colony settlement in the history of

Duplain deals in extenso with the incidents of Ferdon's

journey to Michigan with his fellow-pioneers and the inci-

dents of his earlier pioneer experience. In this connection,

however, it is appropriate to repeat the story of his locating

his cabin upon the northeast corner of section 36 in Green-

bush, just over the Duplain line, his landed possessions

lying in both towns. And there, as the first white man resi-

dent in that town, he abided a few years before passin"

fur a permanent location into Duplain, where he lived until

his death, at the age of eighty-six, upon the place now oc-

cupied by his son Charles. Mr. Ferdon was famous in his

day as a hunter of bears, and with Samuel Rowell, likewise

a mighty Nimrod, worked from time to time sad havoc

among the wild beasts of the forest. In the summer of

1847, Mr. Ferdon slaughtered no less than nine bears, as-

sisted only by a club and an old dog, and during that sum-
mer was the conquering hero of a stubbornly-contested bear-

fight, which was at the time something of a sensation.

When he came to Michigan Mr. Ferdon brought a stock

of goods he had taken in Rochester on a debt, and having

in his employ a good many hands engaged in clearino- lands

of which he owned upwards of five hundred acres, he dealt

out supplies to his men from his Greenbush shanty, although

he made no further effort at store-keeping after his stock

was disposed of

The next comer into Greenbush was Samuel Rowell, who
in the spring of 1837 moved westward with Stephen Pearl.

• By David Schwartz.

Pearl settled in Ovid, and Rowell, af\er remaining a short

time with Allen Loun.sbury in Ovid, bought thirty acres on

section 36 of John Ferdon, and moved to the place with-

out delay. There he lived until his death in 1876, whore

his son Stephen lives and carries on the foundry started by

his father in 1850.

In the fall of 1838, David Richmond and Thomas Fisk,

of Stafford, N. Y., visited Michigan for the purpose of lo-

cating lands for themselves and others living in the same

town. About all the desirable spots available they found

in the hands of speculators, and determined to secure lands

from first hands, they eventually discovered what they

wanted in the town now called Greenbush, upon sections 22,

23, and 27. The tract was hedged in on three sides with

swamps, and for that reason doubtless had been neglected

by speculators, but it suited Fisk and Richmond, and so,

having secured it, they went back to Stafford to report pro-

gress. Their report proving satisfactory, it was decided

that Thomas Fisk with others should start at once for the

place of proposed settlement, to prepare habitations for the

families of all concerned. Accordingly, Fisk set out in

April, 1839, accompanied by G. W. Rood, Henry Fi.sk,

Ora B. Stiles, and James Stiles, Jr. They traveled by os-

team by way of Canada, and arriving upon the ground set

at once diligently to the task of getting up cabins. Work,

however, as f;ist as they could, they found the job a slow

one, and before they had got up one cabin along came the

families of David Sevy, W. N. Daggett, James Stiles, and

Thomas Fisk. They had come together via the lake to

Detroit, and thence by teams over the Grand River road to

Leach's, near Laingsburg. At that point they struck north-

ward over the path earlier marked by the Colony pioneers,

and landed at John Ferdon's about the middle of May,

1839, after a four days' trip from Detroit. The night be-

fore their arrival was spent at Henry Leach's, in Sciota.

Leach kept a house of entertainment, and upon a tree in

front of his shanty had nailed a board bearing in rude let-

ters the legend, " Call and C."

A few days subsequent to the arrival of the families, two

settlers named David and Alvah Richmond, with their fami-

lies, came upon the ground, and completed the little colony

for whose members Fisk and Richmond had made the land

locations in 1838.

All hands had, it is true, reached Ferdon's, only a couple

of miles or so from their prospective homes, but the better

part of that two miles or more lay through a veritable

" Dismal Swamp," and it will be hereafter seen that to over-

come the obstacle presented by that swamp gave them well-

nigh as much trouble as did the journey from Detroit to

Ferdon's. It was possible to cross it afoot, but as for trav-

ersing it with teams it was simply out of the question, and

the hardy band therefore faced with heroic determination

the conviction that they would have to carry afoot over a

mile and a half of swamp everything they intended to take

to their homes. From Ferdon's westward for the distance

of a mile they cut out a road, and passed over it with their

loaded wagons well enough, but at the end of the mile the

swamp began, and there they therefore unloaded their

goods and carried them, as best they could, about a mile and

a half from the southeast corner of section 26 to the north-
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west corner of the same section, where they found dry

land.

That swamp journey was a memorable and a difficult

one. Even under the most favorable circumstances it

would have been no easy task, but when undertaken with

heavy loads of furniture, stoves, and what not to impede

the movements of the toilers, who were compelled to wade

through mire and cross narrow log footways to avoid total

immersion, the troubles that marked the passage may be

slightly understood. The goods thus transferred included

general supplies and household goods, of which latter four

cook-stoves formed no small element. For carrying his

cook-stove over David Sevy paid the carriers one day's

labor, and the same price for transporting a bureau, which

lie still preserves as a portion of his household furniture at

his home in Greenbush.

As already mentioned, the families arrived before Thomas

Fisk and his companions liad fairly completed one cabin,

but into it a majority of the nevr-comers moved after a few

days' stay at Ferdon's, and although the fjuarters were

close, the best was made of the matter, albeit that best was

very bad. Ferdon kept as many as he could, but those who

crowded into Fisk's cabin filled it to the door. The cabin

measured ten by twelve, and with two beds in it left just

room enough for a single file of lodgers, and when at night

the household slept the beds and lodgers upon the floor

took up every available inch of space. There was not room

in the house for a table, and so they ate in the open air at

a table made of a plank laid across two upright crotched

sticks. The kitchen was the open air, and the kitchen-fire

a log heap against a stump. After that fashion they man-

aged to struggle along until each family got up a cabin and

passing time introduced some of the comforts and con-

veniences of civilization.

Of course cabins were built as fast as hands could work,

and between cabin-building, chopping, transferring their

goods across the swamp, and putting in crops the pioneers

were during their first .summer put to their busiest efforts.

They could not stop to do any clearing, for they were too

anxious to sow what would produce food, and thus their

clearing during that summer was just what sufficed to give

places for their cabins. Settled at last in their own homes

by midsummer, the families were distributed in close prox-

imity,—Alvah lliehmond, James Stiles, and W. N. Dag-

gett on section 22, David Sevy and Thomas Fisk on sec-

tion 23, and David Richmond on section 27. Meanwhile

they were still getting their goods over the swamp, and be-

fore they finished that job the season had advanced to the

latter part of August. It is worthy of remark that David

Sevy carried a barrel of pork over the swamp single-handed.

He accomplished the feat by transporting the pork in pails,

and then the empty barrel. The Richnionds owned the

only two pairs of horses boasted by the little band, and

Thomas Fisk the only team of oxen. The horse-teams

were engaged in hauling the goods of tlic settlers from De-

troit to the edge of the swamp until August, and then

driven into the settlement by way of Essex as the only

available route, and thus to got around a swamp which

measured but one mile and a half across they had to inak<'

a trip of twenty- two miles.

Important among their first efforts after getting settled

was the work of making roads, and especially a road across

the swamp towards the Colony. This swamp road, however,

they made but a foot-path, and in that shape at least they

found it a decent thoroughfare, and over which they man-

aged to bring without much trouble such things as they

needed from time to time. In the winter season, when the

earth was frozen, they crossed tlie swamp with teams, much

to their convenience. The first highway they cut out after

their arrival was one running westward from the southeast-

ern corner of section 22 to what is now Coleman's, a dis-

tance of two miles.

Luckily they found upon their arrival that John Ferdon

was abundantly supplied with potatoes, and upon them they

feasted in the absence of something better. Their first

milling was done at Ionia, and for their first grist they

bought wheat of Benedict, of Essex. David Sevy made

the first trip to mill, accompanied by an Indian whom he

hired to manage the canoe. The trip was made via the

Maple River, starting at Maple Rapids, and occupied three

days. Alvah IliLliniimd went to the mill at Eaton Rapids,

in the fall of 188'J by ox-team. When Sevy made his

second luill trip by river, John Ferdon agreed to accompany

him and manage the canoe. Sevy was doubtful of Fer-

don's ability to do it, but the latter derided the doubt, and

declared that as he had all his life been used to the man-

agement of skiffs, it would be queer indeed if he couldn't

handle a canoe. As it turned out he ftjund that there was

a vast difi'erence between handling a canoe and managing a

skifi", and before half the journey was accomplished con-

fessed that he knew but little about the canoe business.

Although they did not capsize they came .several times within

an ace of doing so, and had altogether a hazxirdous and

wearisome experience. While on the return voyage, worn

out and ready to give up in despair, they hailed an Indian

and tried to hire him to paddle them homeward, but the

savage absolutely declined to help ihcni unless they would

pay him in whisky, and, as of whisky they had not a drop,

they were compelled to press on as best they could. They

finished the journey in the course of events, but in such an

exhausted condition that they were laid up for two or three

days afterwards. On another occasion Sevy engaged John

and Horace Avery to go down the river to mill for hiui

with eighteen bushels of wheat. The Averys reached

Ionia all right, and started back with the tlimr. but <';i mule

their erafl- capsized, and the ciirgo descended to the bottom

of the river. The flour was recovered, but only a very litllo

of it was found to be available for use.

The first birth in the settlement occurred May 20, 1840,

when Willard. son of W. N. Daggett, was born, lie is now

liviii" in Mis.Miuri. The first wedding was that of Truman

Watson and Esther, daughter to Sylvester Carter. S(|uirc

John Ferdon performed the ceremony at his hou.so, which

was then the home of the bride as well as of her father.

The second wedding occurred in 1H41, ut the house of David

Sevy, who, as justice of the jieace, married Krastus Tinkcl-

paugh and Orpha Fisk. The first death was that of Miranda,

(lie one-year old daughter of David Sevy. She died Oct.

1(1, IH'M. The first adult person to die was Alfred Dane,
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who was buried on Thomas Fisk's place. There was, how-

ever, no public buiial-place until after the death of Celestia

F. Sevy, Feb. 26, 1847. At that time a cemetery was laid

out upon David Sevy's place, in section 23, and in the in-

closure Sevy's daughter was the first to be buried. A school

was taught in the summer of 1840, and Thomas Fisk being

an ordained minister of the Christian faith, public worship

was introduced as soon as the settlements were made. David

Sevy was by trade a cabinet-maker, and having brought a

turning-lathe with him, lost no time in setting up a small

shop, in which he carried on for many years thereafter the

manufacture of chairs, tables, etc., which as fast as made

he carried to De Witt and other places and exchanged for

wheat and various supplies. There was no blacksmith in

the community for years after its creation, and when a

blacksmith's services became necessary a journey to De

Witt was imperative to secure them. A post-office was

established at David Richmond's in 1843, before which

date mail was got at Owosso or Laingsburg. Postage in

those days was twenty-five cents per letter, and as it was

almost impossible to sell produce for anything but trade

short of Detroit, the sum of twenty-five cents in hard cash

was of some consequence and not aUvaj's at hand. Mr.

David Sevy got word one day that a letter awaited him at

the Laingsburg post-office, and collecting the required

twenty-five cents—not without an effort—he went over.

When he got there he found that instead of one there were

three letters, but, alas ! he had only the simple twenty-five

cents to pay for one. Letters were valuable prizes, how-

ever, if they did cost twenty-five cents each, and, determined

to have the entire batch, Sevy scoured the community at

Laingsburg for the loan of fifty cents, and luckily obtaining

it he got his letters and bore them homeward in triumph.

The construction of roads was pushed forward with zeal-

ous industry, and as other settlers came highways were

opened rapidly, and travel rendered a comfortable con-

venience instead of a dread. Road-bees were the favorite

methods by which roads were made, and as at these bees

about all the inhabitants gathered for work upon a stated

day of each week, the business in hand was pushed on with

celerity. The first grist carried over to the Colony mill

from the settlement was a bushel of wheat which Henry
Fisk packed on his back and lugged afoot across the

swamp. Lyman Richmond is supposed to have built the

first framed house, Thomas Fisk to have raised the first

crop of wheat, and the first orchards to have been set out

by David Sevy and John I. Tinkelpaugh, the latter of whom
got his trees at an Indian nursery at Chesaning and carried

them home on his back.

Thomas Fisk has already been alluded to as a minister,

and for some years preached regularly here and there, pre-

sumably to good purpose. By and by, however, reports

began to spread that Fisk was falling into worldly immoral-

ities, and the tide of popular prejudice and suspicion soon

set in so strongly against him that he was openly charged

with the grossest wickedness. Public indignation broke

out presently in a violent form, and those in whom it was
felt the strongest banded for the common cause and set out

to harass and persecute Fisk by divers and sundry midni"-ht

raids upon his premises,—burning his haystacks, threaten-

ing him with death, destroying his stock and other property,

and resorting, in short, to such efforts as they could think

of to show the disfavor under which he rested. His per-

secutors were known as the Swamp Guard, and at times as

the Swamp Angels, and so persistently did they pursue

Fisk with vindictive persecution that he was eventually com-

pelled to leave the town and seek a residence elsewhere.

Before dismissing the history of the settlement of the

six families mentioned, it will be of interest to note that of

the heads of those six fitmilies three still live,—David

Richmond, in Kent County ; W. N. Daggett and David

Sperry, in Greenbush.

The ensuing autumn saw additions to the immediate set-

tlement, in Nathan Spooner, Truman Watson, and Moses

Phillips. At the same time John and Horace Avery,

Herod and Runa Morton, and Marvin Greenwood located

in the southwestern corner of the town, while Edwin Hol-

brook made a settlement near Samuel Howell's, on section

36. John I. Tinkelpaugh settled in the fall of 1840 near

the site of the village of Eureka, and in 1841 Joseph Rus-

sell, one of the early settlers in Bingham, came to Green-

bush and settled at what is known as McM;ister's Corners.

When Russell located there his was the only house between

the Sevy settlement and Benedict's Plains in Essex. His

son William joined hira in 1842, and his son James in

1843.

Joseph Russell fell a victim in the year 1852 to a sad

calamity, in which he was slain by his son Nathaniel.

The boy had been out on a hunting expedition, and having

had bad luck thought upon his return to amuse himself by

firing at a mark placed upon a shingle shanty. Unknown

to Nathaniel, his father was at work in the shanty, and

being within range of the first shot fired, which passed

through a crack in the building, received it in his brain

and expired almost instantly.

The following list embraces the names of the resident

tax-payers of Greenbush in the years 1840 and 1841

:

1840.
Acres.

John Fenlon, sections 25, S, .31, 36 .iZU

S. Kowell, section 36 :UI

G. W. Reed, section 27 SO

B. Riciimond, section 27 160

T. Fifk. section 23 SO

H. S. Fisk, section 23 40
David Sevy, section 23 40
James Stiles, sections 21, 22 160

A. Richmond, section 22 , 200
T. Watson, section 23 SO
W. N. Daggett, section 22 40
J. Stanley, Jr., section 33 160
J.Stanley, section 32 80
S. Stanley, section 32 80
D. Allison, sections 31, 32 160
J.Avery, section 33 40

M. (rreenwood, section 31 140

R. Morton, section31 40

H. Avery, section 31 SO

M. Phillips, section 20 SO

1S41.

David ^evy, section 23 40

Joseph Uiisscll, section ^ 100
T. Watson, section 23 SO

E. Tinkelpaugh, section HI .SO

W. N. Daggett, section 22 40
A. Richmond, section 22 200
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Acres.

M. Phillips, section 21 240
J. I. Tinkelpaugh, section 11 40
H. S. Fisk, section 23 120
T. Fisk. section 23 120
J. FcrJun, sections XI, 30, 25, 8 370
J. M. Rowell, section 36 30

J. U. Richmond, section 27 IBO

(J. W. Reed, section 27 80

M. (Ircenwood, section 31 132
Runa iVIorton, section 31 40
Herod Morton, section 31 40
Horace Avery, sections 31, 32 80
N. W. Aldrich, section 30 40

John Avery, section 33 40

In February, 1849, George Waj^nor, John Wagner,

Henry Wagner, James Sargent, Nathan Kirhy, Gilbert

Owen, William Owen, Aaron Smith, and Caspar Wagner,

of Knox Co., Ohio, and H. A. Smith, of Morrow Co.,

Ohio, set out for Michigan to locate land on Mexican war

land-warrants, of which all save George Wagner had be-

come possessed by purehasfr, Wagner alone having served in

the Mexican war. The party numbered ten, and all but

three (who had horses) made the journey of three hun-

dred miles each way afoot. All except Aaron Smith

bought lands in Greenbush and made settlements thereon,

Smith making his location in Essex. H. A. Smith .says

the hardest day's work he ever accomplished was the day's

work required for him to walk to Ionia for the purpose of

entering his land. He says he walked all day through the

roughest, wildest kind of a country, saw no human being,

saw no track, and crossed but one trail during the entire

journey.

Henry A. Smith's remarkable adventure with a bear in

October, 1850 (remembered as the smoky fall), is within

the general knowledge of the local populace as a historical

incident of much importance, and will therefore bear repe-

tition here.

Smith ventured one day upon a bear-hunt, accompanied

by a small black dog, and had reached a cedar swamp three

miles distant when Hruin came to view, but straightway

took to his heels and made good his escape. Pushing on,

the hunter came up directly with a second bear, at whom

shooting he wounded, and saw make rapidly off, pursued by

the dog. Smith hurried to the rescue, but lo ! almost in-

stantly there crossed liis path a third bear, and at liiin he

discharged his weapon, with the effect of hastening his

pace. Smith chased him, and three limes fired at him as ho

ran. At that juncture, however, the programme changed.

Up to that time Smith had been hunting the boar; then

the bear began to hunt Smith. Smith had ofken thought

lie would he happy if he could take part in a bear-fight, but

when he saw Bruin turn upon him and, with gnashing

teeth as well as angry roar, threaten iiim with destruction,

he felt as if he would give a good deal to get out of the

mess he had got into. It was, however, too late to re-

treat, and so he Axced the issue boldly. Quickly putting

the dog hnrs da combat, the bear faced Smith, who, club-

bing his gun, dealt a swinging blow, which, although it

felled the beast, shattered the weapon. In a tiiec the boar

was on his foot renewing the attack, and so furiously did

he press the onslaught that Smith, torn and bleeiling, was

about to give himself up for lost, when by a lucky chance

he tore himself from Uruin's grasp and made off, wilh ihe

bear in hot chase. Grasping a heavy stick. Smith turned

and dealt his enemy a powerful blow. Down went the

brute, and thicker and I'a.stor rained the blows of Smith's

cudgel, until the enemy lay dead before him, and then up

went a shout of thankful joy from the hero of the well-woo

victory.

Smith's settlement was made in November, 1849, with

his family, whom he lodged temporarily with James 11.

Carter, who had been living on section 10 since November,

1848. When Smith built his house on section 9 there

was no house, he says, between him and Mackinaw. East

of him, on section 10, was John I. Tinkelpaugh, of whom

it is said that when he was a workman in Owosso for B. 0.

Williams, in 1839, he persisted in denying himself and

family the comforts of life so that he might save money

enough to buy forty acres of land. He saved the neces-

sary amount of money, bought forty acr&s in Greenbush,

and was probably made happy. When Smith came to his

place he traveled via De Witt and Gardner's Corners, and

thence by trail along the river to within three miles of his

land.

William Thomas entered in 1850 a piece of land upon

section 17, then a wild tract, and the same year made a

settlement. His son, Philip Thomas, and George Adleman

were living on the same section, to which they had come

in 1849 and made a small clearing. The road now known

as the State road was then laid out as a town road, but

scarcely any work had been done upon it. Oscar George

was a close neighbor on the north, and on the south was

James Stiles.

On the north town line Nathan Russell, son of Joseph

Russell, made probably the first location. He put up a

shanty on section 5, but effected no clearing of any con-

sequence. He sold the place in 1852 to Benjamin Doty,

who moved right in with his family. He had to cut a

road to the shanty put up by Russell, and when the

women-folks got a look at the building, it^ dreary, deso-

late appearance, lacking floor, door, and window, they

were so oppressed and disheartened at the miserable pros-

pect before them that they .sat down upon a log and cried

bitterly. Pliilo.sophy, however, soon came to their aid,

and they faced the situation with a renewed hope that

gave them courage and patience. Thoy bore it all heroic-

ally after that until better times greeted and cheered them;

" but many's the time," says Mrs. Doty in speaking of

their experiences, " that we were awfully, pitifully home-

sick for the comforl.s of civilization we had left in oxchiingo

for the wild woods of Michigan."

The Russclls, a mile south, were the Dntys' nearest

neighbors. Their milling-point was at the Colony or Fish

Creek, and whenever Mr. Doty set out for a journey with

his team an axe to cut out his road was an abwiliilely indis-

pensable necessity. The same day that saw ihein make

their home on section 5 saw also the arrival u]iMn .s,-ction (»

iif .1. W, UryiiMl. Kaillicr ea.stward Henry Autcu had

sillK-d on siTtion I in 1S.")0, ("hauncey Dexter Hctllod

upon a place taken up in 1849 by Andrew K. Bryant on a

Mexican war land-warrant. .\ililis()n Hnlse came during

the fall of 1S50, and in that neighborhood later •n William
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Scott, William Besley, and Nathan Matthews pitched their

tents, as did Thomas Jeffreys, Nelson Strons;, James Pat-

terson, and Miron Ellis. Among other early settlers in

the town may likewise he mentioned Isaac Eagles, J. E.

Power, David Blank, Peter Fleagle, Emmet Kirby, William

Burke, David Nye, James OdcU, and Benjamin Hawkins.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION.

Town 8 north, in range 2 west, was a portion of Bing-

ham town-ship until Feb. 16, 1842, when an act of the

Legislature detached it and named it Greenbush. The

name was suggested by Mrs. David Sevy on the occasion

of a meeting of citizens at her husband's house for the

purpose of christening the new township. Mrs. Sevy had

a fancy that the name would perpetuate the recollection of

the sight of many handsome-looking green bushes which

greatly refreshed her senses upon her first entrance into

the town. She remembered also a place known as Green-

bush in New York State, where with her father's family

she spent one night while journeying in the earlier days

from New England to Western New York. So, in accord-

ance with her suggestion, those present at the meeting took

at once favorably to the name of Greenbush, and sent it in

along with the petition for organization. March 16, 1847,

towns 9 and 10 north, in range 2 west, in Gratiot County,

were attached to Greenbush for township purposes, and re-

mained so attached until the organization of Gratiot County

in 1855.

The first town-meeting in Greenbush was held April 5,

1842, at the school-house in district No. 1. Marvin Green-

wood was chosen moderator and John Ferdon, David Sevy,

W. N. Daggett, and David Kichmond inspectors of elec-

tion.

The poll-list on that occasion was as follows : Thomas

Russell, Henry Fisk, Joseph Russell, Samuel Rowell, Na-

than Spooner, William Russell, Hosea Fletcher, John Fer-

don, W. N. Daggett, David Richmond, James Stiles, Mar-

vin Greenwood, 0. B. Stiles, Herod Morton, Runa Morton,

Alvah Richmond, Thomas Fisk, John Avery, Horace

Avery, David Sevy,—twenty in all. Twenty-one dollars

was voted for the support of schools ; two hundred dollars

for contingent expenses. David Richmond was chosen

poundmaster. A pound six feet square, of logs fourteen feet

long, was ordered to be built, and the contract therefor

given to Willard N. Daggett for five dollars and seventy-

five cents, the bargain being that the pound should be fin-

ished by June 1, 1842. The election for town oSicials

then went forward with the following result : Supervisor,

David Sevy ; Treasurer, Horace Avery ; Clerk, Alvah

Richmond ; Highway Commissioners, Runa Morton, David

Richmond, and William Ru.ssell ; School Inspectors, Henry

S. Fisk, Runa Morton, and 0. B. Stiles ; Justices of the

Peace, Marvin Greenwood, John Ferdon, Herod Morton,

and William Russell ; Directors of the Poor, W. N. Dag-

gett and Herod Morton ; Constables, H. S. Fisk and John

Avery.

CIVIL LIST OF TUE TOWNSHIP.
Appended is a list of the persons annually chosen from

1843 to 1880 to be supervisors, clerks, treasurers, and jus-

.tices of the peace

:

18-J3. H. Avery.

1844. D. Sevy.

1845-50. S. Pearl.

1851. H. Avery.

1852. J. C. Fox.

185.3. H. Avery.

1854. L. Wilcox.

1855. II. G. Thompson.

1856. W. N. Daggett.

1857.' H. Avery.

1858-59. L. Wilcox.

1843-45. L. M. Richmond.

1846-51. J. Sevy.

1852. INI. A. Cbappell.

1853. J. Cuffman.

1854-56. M. A. Chappcll.

SUPERVISORS.

1860-61. M. Elli^.

1862. J. E. Power.

186.3-64. M. Ellis.

1865. L. Wilcox.

1866-07. M. Ellis.

ISOS.f J. E. Power.

1869-70. M. Ellis.

1871-74. J. E. Power.

1875-78. J. A. Malthews.

1879-80. A. Ilulso.

CLERKS.

1857-59. J. L. Curtis.

I860. W. N. Daggelt.

1861-62. R. E. Davies.

1863-65. M. A. Chiippell.

1866-80. R. E. Davies.

TREASUBER.S.

1843.
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Philip Thomas, Marvin Greenwood, William L. Massey,

John Manchester, James H. Kennic-ott, H. S. Fisk, Jehiel

Dunning, 0. P. George, Parsons Jeffreys, Henry Smith,

A. E. Olin, James M. Stiles, Erastus Tinkelpaugh, James

R. Carter, Walter Hulbert, Zelotes Avery, Samuel M.

Rowell, B. W. Hobert, William Besley, Addison llulse,

W. N. Daggett, John I. Tinkelpaugh, William Johnson,

William Russell, Isaac Eagles, William Badgerow, O. B.

Sevy, Horace Avery, D. B. Cranson, I. B. Freeco, L. W.
Stiles, Nathaniel Russell, I. A. Hooker, 0. M. Pearl,

George W. Richmond, D. F. Badgerow, Benjamin Stiles,

A. H. Richmond, 0. B. Stiles, Harmon Richmond, David

Sevy, F. 0. Richmond, Alvah Richmond, David Rich-

mond, John C. Fox.

THE STATK KOAD.

The old State road, laid out between Lansing and St. Louis,

was a famous highway in its day, not only for the great vol-

ume of travel flowing over its surface, but for the roadside

inns which dotted it at frequent intervals and refreshed as

well as sustained the weary wayfarers of the time. The road

is still much traveled, and boasts still numerous roadside

inns, of which there are three in Greenbush township. The

pioneer tavern on the road in Greenbush was one put up by

William Wyman, or Yankee Bill, as he was called, on sec-

tion 8 ju.st east of the burying-ground. Yankee Bill's

tavern was a poor sort of an affair, and although it suited

well enough in the absence of other places of entertain-

ment, it was relegated to obscurity as soon as better taverns

appeared upon the road. Presently Drake's and Coleman's

taverns presented excellent claims upon the traveling public,

and farther north, about 18G(), Chauncey Morton moved

into a house built by Stephen McPherson, at what is now

McMaster's Corners, and converted it into a tavern. A
post-office was established at Coleman's Corners about 1858,

and named Keystone, presumably by some admirer of

Pennsylvania or of Buchanan, who was then in the Presi-

dential office. Horace Caster was appointed postmaster,

but the business of the office proving insignificant, it was

soon discontinued. Shortly afterwards the office was re-

newed and located at Chauncey Morton's old tavern-stand,

then being kept by George W. Miller and called the Union

Home. The latter name was likewise the one bestowed

upon the pogt-oflBce, and that name it yet bears. The ofiicc

was abolished in 18G4 and restored in 1871 , with James

C. Barrus as postmaster, who moving away in 1876 was

succeeded by William Cams, and the latter in 1878 by the

present incumbent, S. L. McMiister. A daily mail is re-

ceived over the route between St. Johns and St. Louis.

SCHOOLS.

The pioneer school hou.sc in Greenbush was an aban-

doned shanty that had previously served David Sevy as

a residence. It stood ujion the southwestern corner of

section 2!5, and in it the first school was tanghl by Lucinda,

daughter to David Richmond. Mi.ss Riclnndiid (aught also

the second school, and continued to teach in the town and

vicinity several years.

The board of school inspectors met for organization in

the school-house of district No. 1 on the 13th of April,

1842, and chose Runa Morton chairman. District No. 1

was apportioned to contain the north half of section 2G,the

whole of sections 23, 14, 11, 2, 3, 10, 15, the east half of

section 22, and the cast half of the southeast quarter of the

southwest quarter of section 22. No. 2 was ordained to

contain the south half of section 26, the whole of sections

27, 28, 29, 20, and 21, the west half of the southwest

quarter of section 22, the west half of the southeast quarter

of the southwest quarter, and the northeast quarter of the

southwest quarter and northwest quarter of 22. No. 3

(fractional) composed of portions of Ovid and Duplain,

and the .south half of section 25, the ea.st half of section

35, and the whole of section 36 in Greenbush, was formed

April 9, 1847, as was district No. 4, composed of sections

2, 3, 4, !), 10, and 11. No. 5 was organized May 6, 1850,

and contained sections 30, 31, 32, and 33, with the south

halves of 28 and 29. No. 6 was organized Oct. 25, 1852,

and included sections 16, 17, IS, 19, and 20, the west half

of section 21, and the north half of section 29. The same

day No. 7 was formed with .sections 3, 4, 9, and 10. No.

8 was formed April 15, 1856.

A report dated 1847, touching the township library, sets

forth that Feb. 1, 1846, ]j. M. Richmond bought books to

the amount of fifty dollars and twenty-eight cents; that

September, 1846, Zelotes Avery bought books in the sum

of forty-one dollars and twelve cents; that June, 1847, the

school inspector bought a book-case for twelve dollars; and

that in July, 1847, John Sevy bought books for twenty-

one dollars and sixty cents. Oct. 18, 1843, an annual re-

port testified that there were twenty-two school children in

district No. 1, that school had been taught three months by

Nancy Richmond, that she had been paid two dollars per

week for her services, and that nine children had attended

private school. The annual report dated Oct. 15, 1844,

gave out that in district No. 1 were twenty-four school

children, that in fractional 1 there were twenty-seven, that

the attendance in both districts was forty-four, and that

seven children attended private school.

The list of teachers appointed between 1843 and 1S(!0

follows here

:

Jan. 20, 1843.—Nancy Richmond.

July 1, 1843._Orpha Tink.4pangh.

Nov. 4, 1843.—L. M. Richmond.

May 8, 1844.—Amelia F. Richmond, Celeslia F. Sevy.

May 3, 1845.—Sophia Stark.

Nov. 25, 1845.—John Avery, Jr.

May 2, 1840.—Caroline M. Richmond, Mary K. Sevy.

Nov. 22, 1847.—Byron Ilollisier.

April 28, 1849.— .Mary E. Sevy, Harriet Englo.

April 26, 1851.— Elvira A. Sevy.

May 10, 1851.—Albina S. Chapman.

May 17, 1851.—Catherine K. Beebc.

Oct. 17, 1851.—Nancy M. Gunsally, Mary P. Richmond.

April 10, 1852.—Frances A. Chappell.

Nov. 27, 1852.—Mary M. Hill, Ann S. Avery.

April 9, 1853.-— .Mhina S. and Maria S. Chapman.

May 28, 1853.— Matilda Be.-,l<y.

Nov. 5, 1853.—Mary A. Collier.

Di'C. 1, 1H54.— Hi'inii'lla L. Richmond, Mary K. Tlmmp-

.soii, I). \. Clark, and Orrin Biorce.
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April 14, 1855.—Mclinda M. Richmoud, Mary C. Rich-

mond, Catherine E. Bebee.

June 2, 1855.—Adelia Smith.

Nov. 3, 1855.—Arozina P. W. Chapman.

April 12, 185G.—Mary Cole.

April 24, 1856.—Rebecca V. Young.

May 6, 1856.—Mary L. Lane.

June 7, 1856.—Mary Jane Corwin.

Nov. 12, 1856.—Sanford H. Baker.

Dec. 2, 1856.—Henry M. Harrison.

Dec. 10, 1856.—Lorenzo D. Cole.

April 11, 1857.—Nancy E. Budd, Ellen Bachelder, Lu-

cinda M. Manchester.

May 13, 1857.—Harriet A. Mattoon.

Nov. 28, 1857.—William W. Wyman.

Nov. 7, 1857.—Myron Ellis, Mr. Hamlin.

Jan. 23, 1858.—Nancy Richmond.

Dec. 14, 1857.—Harriet Crow.

April 10, 1858.—Miss R. N. Young.

April 24, 1858.—Lucy A. Baldwin.

May 15, 1858.—Charlotte Smith, Augusta Chappell,

Fannie Chappell.

May 28, 1858.—Emma Pearl.

Nov. 6, 1858.—J. L. Hamiel, J. C. Jewett, Anthony

Swarthout, Myron A. Dunning, Hattie A. Stiles.

March 19, 1859.—Mary Ann Bryant.

April 9, 1859.—Sarah Nickerson, Harriet Jewett.

June 13, 1859.—Lois Mudge.

The annual report for 1879 gave the subjoined details

:

Number of districts (whole, 7; fractional 1) 8

Number of scholars of school age 446
Teachers' wages S1074.S0

The school directors for 1879 were C. L. Putt, C. H.

Bogardus, W. J. Havens, D. K. Greenwood, J. W. Besley,

H. H. Van Sickle, W. N. Daggett, and J. J. Bishop.

TOWN ROADS.

Highways were to the early settlers among the most im-

portant of requirements, and among their earliest efforts

after getting located they made the chopping-out of roads

a prominent business. Road-bees, at which all hands as-

sembled, usually on Saturdays, pushed matters briskly

forward in that direction, while the working upon high-

ways for the nou-resident tax was almost the sole means

by which settlers could obtain ready ca.sh. In April, 1842,

the town was divided into six road districts, and for the

year 1842 the report was to the efiFect that one hundred

and ninety-two and a half days' labor were assessed, that

ninety-nine and a half days were worked, and that Joseph

Russell and John Avery were paid twenty-eight dollars for

repairing highways.

In 1844 the assessment of highway labor in days was

as follows

:

District No. 1 oli
2 16
3 39i
4 2H4
5 fi^

THE VILLAGE OF EUREKA.
During the year 1855, J. A. Barrington, the proprietor

of a mill in Knox Co., Ohio, was compelled in course of a

business transaction to take one hundred and sixty acres

of wild land on section 15 in the township of Greenbush,

and while wondering what he would do about it he met

John Power, then just returned home from a land-looking

tour through Michigan. When Power learned that Bar-

rington had bought some timber-land in Greenbush, he

advised him to take his mill-right out there as an invest-

ment that would pay him well. Barrington acted upon

the advice so far as to leave at once upon a tour of inspec-

tion, and in looking through the neighborhood of his land

for a mill-site came upon a spot in section 2, upon Mill

Creek, which suited him, and putting down a stake declared

that he would bring his mill out and put it up there. His

guide over the territory was Isaac Eagles, then living on

section 11, and afterwards one of a company of three who

platted Greenbush village in 1857.

Barrington bought what land he needed, engaged Par-

sons Jeffreys to build a log house, George Brewbaker to

put in the under-frame for the mill, and went back to Ohio.

When he got there and told what he had done, Clark Wil-

liams (one of his mill-hands) and a Dr. Rigdon Potter

bought each an interest with him as partners, and in Feb-

ruary, 1856, Barrington and Potter made a trip to Green-

bush. They found matters progressing favorably, and upon

their return to Ohio made such preparations for a perma-

nent transfer of the mill that in May following they were

en route. Williams and Jacob Zullman, a mill-hand, had

their families with them, and moved into the doorless and

windowless log house built by Jeffreys, then the only

house upon the site now occupied by the village, which

was then simply a forest. All hands set in to complete

the mill, and got on so well that on the 1st day of July,

1856, the mill-wheel was started.

The saw-mill being accordingly in active operation, Bar-

rington returned to Ohio in October. In January, 1857,

he came back to Greenbush with a small run of stones, and

directly a grist-mill added its music to the buzz of the saw.

Meanwhile the starting of the mill had suggested the idea

of a village, and as the place began to draw considerable

business, the village idea took shape. Barrington, Potter,

and Williams laid out a few lots in the vicinity of the mill,

and presently along came James H. Morrison with half a

wagon-load of goods, and opened a store on the lot now oc-

cupied by 0. R. Baker's hardware-store. The building

was used also by Morrison as a residence, and was the first

framed house the village boasted. It was afterwards en-

larged by David Sturgis, and serves, as related, as Mr. Ba-

ker's store. About this time Parsons Jeffreys, Isaac Eagles,

G. P. Moore, and M. E. Burroughs, owners of land there-

about, laid out the plat of the present village, and recorded

it Dec. 17, 1857, as follows: "That part of the southeast

quarter of the southeast quarter of the southwest quarter

of section 2 commencing at the quarter post on the south

side of said section ; thence north on the quarter line of said

section thirty-one rods ; thence west forty-four rods so as to

include a portion of the stream marked Mill Creek, on the

plat of said village ; thence south twenty-two rods ; thence

east three rods eighteen links ; thence south to the section

line ; thence east to the place of beginning. Also that part

of section 11 commencing at the quarter post on the north
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side of said section, running west twenty-one rods and one

link ; tlicnco south thirty-eight rods and ten links ; tlicnce east

twenty-one rods one link tu tlie quarter line ; theiiee north to

the place of heginning. Also that part of section 1 1 com-

mencing at the quarter post aforesaid, thence south on the

quarter line thirty-eight rods ten links ; thence east forty-four

rods ; thence north thirty-eight rods ten links to the section-

line ; thence west on the section-line to the place of hegin-

ning." The village was named Greenbush by the pro-

prietors, although before the platting the place had been

variously known by the names of VVilliamsport, 15ariiiigton,

and Swizzletown. Indeed, the latter designation clung to

the place even after Greenbush became the formally-adopted

ajipellatioD. It was a name applied in derision, because of

a conceived notion that the villagers were in the main given

overmuch to a taste for strong drink. Despite the coun-

teracting influence of those who blushed to hear the name,

Swizzletown was spread far and near, and by that mark

alone was the village known to many.

When the village was platted Avery Chappell, who had

been keeping a small store and the Greenbush post-office,

about a mile to the westward, removed the store and post-

office to the town. This post-office was established as

Greenbush as far back as 1843 at David llichmond's house,

and his son Lyman appointed postmaster. Mail was re-

ceived from Owosso by way of the Colony. Lyman Rich-

mond was the postmaster until 1846, when David Sevy re-

ceived the office, and after holding it a year relinquished it

to Alvah Richmond. The latter was in possession from

1851 to about 1850, when Avery Chappell came in. p].

R. Hayden succeeded Chappell in 1861, and to Uayden

succeeded Edward Stark. During Stark's time the name

of the office as well as that of the village was changed to

Eureka. There being a post-office in Alcona County called

Greenbush there was some confusion in the mails, and thus

a change was demanded. Edward Stark being called upon

to suggest a name declared at once in favor of Eureka, on

the ground that he thought he had found in the village a

most excellent opening for business, together with the

promi.se of greater things to come. The time seemed also

appropriate to make a change in the village name, since

Swizzletown kept right on disputing the honors with

Greenbush. Stephen Pearl, determined to do what he

could to impress the general public with the truth that

the village was not Swizzletown, placed a great sign over

against his store adorned with the letters E-u-r-e-k-a.

Continuing the post-office history, W. N. Daggett suc-

ceeded Stark in 1868, and in 1875 gave way to William

Bowles, who, in 1878, was followed by Daniel Turner, the

present incumbent.

Morrison, the first storekeeper, soon sold out to David

Sturgis, and he to M. E. Burroughs. George Stark, who

had been selling a few goods from his Imn.Ke, bought out

Burroughs, and soon after that joined Stephen Pearl in

trade. When Pearl and Stark decided to remove they led

their stock of goods with Robert Clark, a blacksmith, who

had, with George P. Moore, ,set up the pion<'er smithy in

the village. Moore was a partner in the mill as well as in

the blacksmith's shop, and was one of t!ie village proprie-

tors. Clark continued his shop business wliile ho sold

5l»

goods, and doing so well at the latter he relinquished the

shop, and, devoting himself to trade, soon became a promi-

nent merchant.

Martin Merritt built the tavern now called the Northern

Hotel soon after tlie mill started, and in due season there

came a Dr. Cargill, who boarded at W. N. Daggett's and

practiced medicine about six months. He probably found

the practice profitless, for he retired from the field in favor

of Dr. H. A. Stokes, who stopped a year or so, and then

Dr. A. H. Weston supplied the vacancy. Weston entered

the military service in ISti.'i and returned no more. In

1864, Dr. E. R. Hayden opened an office, and t;irrieil for

the extended space of fourteen years. Eureka's physicians

now number three,—Dr. Samuel Post, Dr. Ilumlft Hart,

and Dr. E. S. Walker.

The mill built by Barrington, Potter & Williams stood

until 1861, when a fire destroyed it. In 1863, Mr. Bar-

rington built a new saw-mill and a grist-mill in 1865.

Those mills arc the ones still carried on by Barrington.

CUUKCHKS.
THE GREENBUSH ClIRISTtAN CHURCH,

the oldest religious organization at Eureka, was formed May
14, 1856, at the Sherwood school-house, then a log struc-

ture. The organizing members were Walter Pierson and

wife, Albert Pierson and wife, Samuel Westbrook, and

Esther Thomp.son, all of whom had been members of Chris-

tian churches in Ohio. Elder Elijah Beard, who effected

the organization, was employed to preach once a month,

and in 1857, Elder Elisha Jluilge, of Maple Rapids, was

called to succeed him. In the spring of 1858, I. Cofi'man

joined the church, and with Walter Pierson served as

deacon. During Elder Mudge's term of service the school-

house at what is now the village of Eureka was completed,

and directly upon that event, in the fall of 185U, he preached

there the first sermon delivered in the village. The subject was

" The relation of science to religion," and .so well plea.sed were

the inhabitants with the introduction of religious services

that Elder Mudgc was engaged to preach at the village at

stated intervals, his labors for the Christian Church at llio

Sherwood school-house continuing as before. In the win-

ter of 1859 and '60 a series of revival-meetings set in,

and thirty-five persons were as a result received into church

membership. At this time the place of woi-ship was per-

manently transferred to Greenbush village, and in the fall

of 1860 a membership of fifty-sis was reported lo the

Grand Valley Christian Conference.

Elder Mudge resigned in IHlii, ami Klder Heard was

recalled. In 1865 he retired, and until 1868, Elder Mudgc

preached from time lo lime. Elder E. Cro.sliy liillowed,

and in 1S6!I a (Miurrh Society was (irganizetl for the pnrposo

of building a church, which was, however, i^o slow in con-

struclion that it was not dedicated until 1871, the dedica-

tion scrniiin being preached by Kev. D. E. Millard, ol

Jackson. Meanwhile, Revs. ]j. N. Barber and S. Brad-

sliaw oceuiiied the charge, and Barber returning in 1871,

remained until 1873. After that the pulpit was occupicil

successively by Ucvs. (ieorge Myers, (). P. Aldennan,

Frank O. Dickey, and Elijah Beard. Beard w:u) succeeded

by the Hcv. Solomon Snyder, the present pa.s(or, who
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preaches twice each month. The church membership is

now thirty. The deacons are Walter Pierson and Ben-

jamin Wadsworth.

UNITED BRETHREN CHURCH.

Previous to 1866, llev. Mr. Shelley visited Eureka occa-

sionally to hold United Brethren services in the village

scliool-house, and in that year organized a class with about

twelve members. The school-house was used as a place of

worship until 1870, when the present church edifice was

completed and dedicated the fall of that year, Rev. Ben-

jamin Mowers preaching the dedication sermon. Then the

membership was twenty ; now it is twenty-eight. Among

the ministers in charge early in the history of the church

were Revs. Miller, Briedenstein, and Kinney. The present

pastor is Rev. J. J. Sly, in charge of the Ovid Circuit.

The class-leader is Lester Wright, and the Sunday-school

superintendent S. J. Mullet. The school is supported by

the attendance in union of representatives of various relig-

ious denominations, and has upon its roll about one hundred

and fifty names.

EUREKA METHODIST EPISCOPAL CLASS.

In April, 1880, Rev. C. A. Jacokes, of Duplain, organ-

ized a class at Eureka with about twelve members. Mr.

Jacokes preaches to the class in the United Brethren class

once in two weeks.

GREENBUSH METHODIST EPISCOPAL CLASS.

This, one of the earliest religious organizations in the

township, was formed about 1855, in what was then known

as the Wildcat school-house. In ISGO it contained about

fifteen members, and in 1865 moved over to the Sherwood

school-house, where services were held until 1877, when the

Grange Hall was occupied. There the class still worships

once each fortnight, Rev. Mr. Hamilton being the pastor,

and Peter Fleagle the cla.ss-leader. The membeiship is

about thirty. A union Sunday-school meets in the same

place, and is prosperously patronized.

MANUFACTURES.

The most extensive manufacturing interest in Grcenbush

is tlie fanning-mill factory of W. T. and R. E. Davies on

section 15, founded by them in 1855. The Davies broth-

ers had worked at the fiuining-mill business in New York

State, and in 1855, with the savings of a few liundred

dollars, were prospecting in Michigan for a location

where they might set up in that business on their own
account. That location they concluded to fix somewhere

near the route of the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad,

about half way between Corunna and Ionia, at each of

which places there was a fanning-mill factory. Visiting St.

Johns, they found it a place " of logs, fire-heaps, and mud,
without a passable road anywhere," and although John
Swcgles offered to donate them land as an inducement to

them to locate their factory there, they would not stop, but

pushed on with intent to visit Craven's mills, in Duplain.

En route they stopped overnight at Alvah Richmond's, in

Greenbush, and that night attending school-meeting, met

David Sevy, who carried on near his residence a little shop

where he made chairs and spinning-wheels. Sevy soon

learned the bent of the brothers' inclination, and suggested

that they might do worse than make their location right

there, adding that he would agree to do what " turning"

they might need. They considered the suggestion favora-

bly, and the next day decided to start their factory there,

rented Sevy's shop, and arranged to board with him at two

dollars per week. They began business Oct. 5, 1855, and

that year, unaided, made one hundred fanning-mills entirely

by hand, and sold them as fast as they could make them.

The next year Henry Toms, a former fellow-workman in

New York State, came along, and having a little ready

money, of which the brothers then stood in need, he

bought a third interest in the business. During that year

the firm turned out one hundred fanning-mills and one

hundred milk-safes. In 1857, R. E. Davies went out on a

pedestrian collecting tour, and after an absence of a week

got back with just one hundred dollars. This was the year

of the financial panic, and Michigan banks went down right

and left. Of the one hundred dollars every dollar but a

twenty-dollar Ohio bank-bill was Michigan money, and al-

though it was presumably good when Davies took it, it was

worthless when he got home. Such a condition of things

discouraged Toms, who sold out to the brothers. They

kept right on with rugged faith and persistence, and by

1859 had reached a prosperous era. They then removed

their works to their present location, and have each succes-

sive year expanded and strengthened their business to its

present considerable proportions. They employ sixteen

men, and manufacture yearly five hundred fiinning-mills

and two hundred milk-safes, all of which they sell directly

through their own agents in various portions of the State.

The Greenbush Foundry.—This manufactory antedates

any of Greenbush's manufacturing enterprises. It has been

in active operation since 1850, when Samuel Rowell and

Stephen Pearl undertook upon section 36 to make plows and

andirons. Pearl disposed of his interest (o Zelotes Avery,

who was in turn bought out by Samuel Rowell, his partner.

Mr. Rowell carried on the business until 1873, when he

retired from active pursuits and the foundry passed to the

possession of his son Stephen, who is still its proprietor.

He employs five people, and manufiictures plows, cultiva-

tors, drags, etc., besides doing a large business in the way

of general repairs. The annual product of his foundry

aggregates one hundred and twenty plows, one hundred

and thirty-five cultivators, twenty drags, and upwards of

six thousand plow-points.

Greenbush Pump- Works.—II. L. Post settled in Green-

bush in 1857, upon section 4, where a Mr. Tubbs had

cleared about five acres. He used to make pumps for his

neighbors, but devoted to the production of each no more

skill than was necessary to simply bore out a common log

and trim it down. In 186-1, however, his son Leonard

conceived the idea of starting a pump-factory of some pre-

tensions, and in that year, accordingly, he put up on section

4 a small affair, which he carried on until 1866. An in-

crease in his business then warranted an extension of facili-

ties, and in the year last named he built the works on sec-

tion 8 which he still controls. He manufactures yearly about
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three hnodred pumps, two hundred m!lk-safes, and a mis-

oellancous list of agricultural implemeDts, etc.

SECRET ORDERS.

GREENEUSn LODGE, No. 209, I. 0. 0. F.

This lodge was organized at Eureka June 3, 1873, and

chartered Feb. 20, 1874. The charter members were Wil-

liam Spade, John J. Bowers, S. M. Post, William Cobble-

stone, L. Randolph, L. N. Barber, and W. II. Morrison.

The first list of officers included William Spade, N. G. ; S.

M. Post, V. G. ; J. J. Bowers, R. S. ; W. II. Morrison,

Treas. From the date of organization to the present those

who have filled the chair of Noble Grand have been William

Spade, S. M. Post, J. J. Bowers, Benjamin Austin, Jackson

Page, James Lindley, C. L. Putt, I. D. Richmond, and

David Henry. The present membership is forty. The of-

ficers are David Henry, N. G. ; Chauncey Sevy, V. G.

;

J. R. Jeffreys, R. S. ; William Funk, P. S. ; J. J. Bowers,

Treas.

GREENBUSH LODGE, No. 318, F. AND A. M.

This lodge was organized at Eureka June 23, 1873.

The first officers were J. R. Carter, W. M. ; J. E. Power,

S. W. ; Robert Clark, J. W. ; Eli Tinkelpaugh, S. D. ; H.

A. Smith, Sec. ;
Wm. J. Havens, J. D. ; Henry Dcniolt,

Treas. ; Thomp.son Kirby, Tiler. J. E. Power and J. R.

Carter have occupied between them the office of Worship-

ful Master since the organization of the lodge. The mem-

bers number now forty. Tiio officers for 1880 are J. R.

Carter, W. M. ; J. L. Eagles, S. W. ; H. H. Smith, J. VV.

;

H. V. Pray, Sec. ; Robert Clark, Treas. ; I. N. Eagles, S. D.

;

Charles Hunt, J. D. ; Uriah Iligbee, Tiler.

KEYSTONE GRANGE, No. 2211, P. OF II.

This flourishing grange, which has an active membership

of one hundred and fifty, owns a finely-appointed grange

hall and store on section IG. Regular sessions are held each

Saturday. The officers for 1880 are John Keiser, M.

;

C. li. Putt, O. ; Altman, L. ; Peter Fieagle, Chap-

lain ; Roswcll Dexter, Sec. ; John Matthews, Treas. ; D.

Perkins, Steward.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

CAPT. DAVID S. FRMNCII.*

Capt. David S. French, of St. Johns, Mich., was born in

Lawrcnceburg, Ind., April 4, 1844. Lewis and Maria

(Sargent) French, his parent.-*, were early scttlcra in the

Ohio Valley. His father, a lawyer for thirty years in Cin-

cinnati, luaricd a daughter of one of the leading families of

that city.

Mr. French was educated in the schools of Cincinnati.

The year that he should have graduated, Mr. Lincoln issued

a call for seventy-five thou.sand men. Thirty-.si.x hours

atlerwards the Cincinnati Zouave Guard, to which Mr.

• From " Eminent Men of Michigan."

French belonged, entered the service. They were incor-

porated in the Second Ohio Infantry, and went to Baltimore

and Washington. Mr. French was engaged in the first

Bull Run fight, and was mustered out of service Aug. 6,

18G1. Ill August, 18(52, altliough but eighteen years of

age, under protest of friends and relatives, he again sacri-

ficed the comforts of home for his country, and enlisted as

private in the Eleventh Ohid Infantry, under Gen. J. War-

ren Keifer. He served in West Virginia during 1862

and the spring of 1863, participating in the battles of

Strasburg, Capon Springs, Moorfield, Romney, and Win-

chester, remaining in Winchester, Va., until driven out

by Lee's army in their advance into Pennsylvania in June,

1863. After this the army to which he was attached

hastened forward to reinforce the Army of the Potomac.

On the 6th of July, 1863. immediately after the battle

of Gettysburg, Mr. French was transferred with his regi-

ment to the Army of the Potomac, and took part iu nu-

merous engagements during the remainder of that year and

the spring of 1864. He was in the campaign with Gen.

Grant from the Rapidan through the Wilderness, and its

numerous engagements to Richmond. In July, 1864, he

was promoted to the second lieutenancy, and during that

month the Sixth Corps, under Gen. Wright, to which his

regiment belonged, was ordered to the defense of Wiishing-

ton against Gen. Early. After the battles of Kcrnstown,

Monocacy, Md., and Frederick, the corps was ordered to

join Gen. SheiiJan's army at Harper's Ferry, Va. Dur-

ing the campaign in the Shenandoah Valley, Mr. French

took part in the battles of Opequan, Winchester, Fisher's

Hill, Cedar Creek, and after the last battle was commis-

sioned first lieutenant. On the close of Sheridan's cam-

paign he was transferred with his regiment hack to tlie

Army of the Potomac. In 1865 he joined in the final

a.ssault on the outer line of works of the last stronghuld

of the Cdnfi'dcnicy, Pctcnsburg, and took ]i:irt in the attack

which carried the place, April 2d, and culminated in the

surrender of Lee. He was brevetted captain for merito-

rious conduct in this campaign. He Wiis mustered out of

service July 1, 1865, and engaged iu general mcrcaiitilu

business at Brookston, Ind., four years. In 1870 he en-

gaged with tlic St. Johns Manufieturing Company at

Piqua, Ohio. The following year, at the rojui'.si of tlic

president of the company, ho removed to St. Johns, Clin-

ton Co., Mich., to act as secretary and general manager of

the business of the company. In 1877 he wa.s elected

president of the village, and re-elected in 1878-7!). lie is

a member of the Consistory in the Masonic fraternity,

and has taken all the degrees in the Blue Ixnlge Chajitor

and Comniandery. He is an Kpi.seo|>alian. He cast his

first vote for Grant, and is an active llejuiblican. IIo

married. May 26, 1H66, Cornelia U. Miteholl, daughter of

Joseph M. Mitchell, a pionci-r .settler in Miami Co., Ohio.

Energy, perseverance, and strict integrity have marked liis

course in life. In December, 1879, ho traded his villngo

properly for an elegant farm of two hundred and twenty

acrcM, four miles north of the village ;
it has been known as

Coleman's Hotel. Since its ohuiigc of hands it has under-

gone some very marked iuiprovement.s, and under ila new

name (The Park llou.se) it is a de^irublo summer resort,
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and has had the praise of all the surrounding citizens and

his larM circle of friends.

DAVID LEVY.

This gentleman was one of a family of six children, and

the only one now surviving ; was born in New Hampshire,

June 19, 1804, his parents, Joseph and Mary (Blake) Levy,

being also natives of the same State.

When David was six years old his parents removed to

Vermont, and at thirteen removed with him to Genesee

DAVID LEVY.

Co., N. Y., where they both died, his father in 1S4S, his

mother surviving three years later.

David remained at home until he reached the age of

twenty, assisting his parents. Feb. 24, 1824, he was married

to Miss Rhoda Baker, a resident of the same county but a

native of Vermont. Here in Genesee County they re-

mained for some fifteen years, David following his trade as

cabinet-maker. In the spring of 1839 they removed to

Michigan, coming by wagon to Buffalo, lake to Detroit,

thence by wagon to this township, locating first on section

23. They were one of the first families to settle in that

part of the township, and Mr. Levy and Mr. Daggett being

the only ones left of the first pioneers of this section. Mr.

Levy's first purchase was of forty acres, to which he toon

added forty, clearing and improving them.

To Mr. and Mrs. Levy were born seven children, of whom
only four are living, these grown to maturity, married and

settled, living near tlieir father. The mother, after endur-

ing all the hardships and privations of pioneer life, and

burying three of her children, succumbed to her trials and

in 1870 passed from earth, regretted and mourned by many
friends besides her husband and children.

Mr. Levy for three years subsequently lived with his

daughter, Mrs. Covertsou, when he was again married, his

second wife having been a Mrs. Stiles. She only lived four

years. Since her death he has resided with his eldest son.

He is in politics Republican, and has held a number of

township oflBces, among which are supervisor (two years),

township clerk, justice of the peace, and highway commis-

sioner He is a member of the Seventh-Day Adventist

denomination, as was his last wife, and although seventy-

six years of age assisted in planting corn this spring. Is

hale and hearty, retaining his full mental faculties, a true

pioneer of pioneer days.

WILLIAM T. AND ROBERT E. DAVIES.

William T. and Robert E. Davies were born in England,

the first named in Kent County, Aug. 30, 1829, the

second in Sussex County, Oct. 5, 1830, and are the sons

of Robert and Mary Ann (Thomas) Davies. Their father

traces his ancestry to Wales ; served as sergeant in the Eng-

glish army twenty-six and one-half years ;
he was with Wel-

lington in the battle of Waterloo, after which he was dis-

charged from the service and pensioned for life, receiving

in addition in consideration for past services an appoint-

ment from the government as station-keeper at the ancient

town of Winchelsea, where he died in August, 1859, at the

advanced age of seventy.

Robert, Jr., came to America in 1849, and was followed by

William two years later. They located at Lyons, N. Y
where they learned their trade, that of fanning mill making,

of John Gilbert, serving an apprenticeship of three years.

They then came West, locating the first year in Grand

Rapids, working at the same trade. In 1855 they moved

to Greenbush and est.iblished their present business, first

renting a shop of David Levy, manufocturing the first one

hundred mills by hand. The second year they added tiie

manufacturing of milk-safes, taking as a partner an old

schoolmate, Henry Toms ; he only remained one year. In

1859 they bought their present home, which then had but

little improvement, but by their energy and zeal they have

erected their buildings, increased their business until at the

present time they employ fourteen men in building mills

and safes. They also combine farming with their manu-

facturing, owning three hundred and thirty-six acres in their

home-farm, besides one hundred and twenty acres in Gra-

tiot County. When they started their capital was health, a

strong arm, and willing heart, and not over five dollars in

cash when landed in America.

William was married in November, 185G, to Miss Janette

Levy, daughter of Daniel Lavi, Esq. To them have been

born two boys and four girls. Robert was married in

Grand Rapids, June, 186(5, to Miss Alice Thomas, wlio was

a native of Lyons, N. Y., born Aug. 8, 1833. They are

tiie parents of two boys and two girls.

After the death of their father their mother came to

Michigan, where she lived with her sons until her death,

which occurred in 1874, at the ripe old age of seventy-

seven.

In politics both are Republicans, and have filled several

of the various township offices. Robert was for eighteen
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years township clerk, and William several years highway

couimissioner.

Robert and wife are both members of the Methodist

Episcopal Church. William is liberal in his views, and his

wife is a member of the Adventist denomination.

W. T. Davies' residence is on the same side of tlie street

as the fiictory.

CH A FT Ell LX.

LEBANON TOWNSHIP.*

General Description of the Township—Original Surveys—Land-En-

tries—First and Other Early Settlements—.^alt-Worlvs Yilhigc and

Wildcat Banking—Hesidents in the Township in 1810—The In-

dian Chief Makitoquet—Educational and Religious—Civil History

of the Township.

This township, which was designated in the field-notes

of the United States survey as township No. 8 north, of

range No. 4 west, lies in the extreme northwest corner

of Clinton County. North Shade, in Gratiot County, forms

its northern boundary ; North Plains, in Ionia County, its

western ; while Essex and Dallas townships, respectively, in

Clinton County, are situated upon its eastern and southern

borders.

The surface, diversified by plains, occasional bluffs, and

rolling uplands, is drained by the Maple River and its

numerous small tributary creeks and rivulets. The former

stream in its flow towards Grand River crosses the town-

ship diagonally from the northeast to near the southwest

corner. It has a sluggish current, offering no advantiigeous

luill-sitcs. Rack from it in either direction for the distance

of about one mile occurs a surface more than usually

broken and covered with loose bowlders. The original

timber was principally of the deciduous varieties common

to the Penin.sular State, and in conseiiueuce the soil is well

adapted to grazing and the production of corn, fruit, vege-

tables, and the various cereals.

Lebanon boasts neither a railroad, village, church, or

post-office. Mail facilities are afforded at the village of

Majile Rapids, in E.s.sex township, also at llubbardston

and Matherton villages, which lie mainly in the town.ship

of North Plains, Ionia Co., yet encroach upon the limits

of this.

The fair-grounds of the Central Fair Association, com-

posed of members residing in the counties of Clinton,

Gratiot, Ionia, and Montcalm, are located on section 18,

just cast of the village of llubbardston. The grounds,

about thirty acres in extent, are very pleasantly situated,

and the annual meetings are largely attended.

Agricultural pursuits occupy the chief attention of the

people. Many buildings evince taste and wealth, while the

farm-lands seem to be uuder a high state of cultivation.

OIUGINAL SURVEYS.

In February and March, 1831, Robert Clark, .Ir., ran

out the boundary lines of the territory then first designated

• By John S. Schenck.

township No. 8 north, of raoge No. 4 west. The work of

subdividing the same was performed by Orange Risdon

from July 26 to Aug. 10, 1831. He also meandered

Maple River in October of the same year. Roth Messrs.

Clark and Risdon were entitled Deputy United States Sur-

veyors, and did their work under contract and instructions

received from William Lytic, Surveyor-General of the

United States. They reported the lands as generally good,

rolling, and heavily timbered.

LAND-EXTUIES.

The following list includes the names of those who pur-

chased of the general government lands situated in this

town.ship.

SECTION 1.

William Iloskins, May 7, 1836.

diaries N. liristol, Monroe Co., N. Y., Dec. U, 1836.

David P. Weeks, Clinton Co., Mieh., May, 1850.

Warren A. Slierwood, I.ockport, N. Y., December, I8i2.

Joshua W. Waterman, Detroit, Mich., August, 1853.

SECTION 2.

Alvin Billings, Richland, Ohio, Feb. 15, 1837.

Luther Briggs, Wayne Co., Mieh.. Feb. 15, 1837.

Warren A. Sherwood, Loekport. N. Y., Dec. 22, 1852.

Joshua W. Waterman, Detroit, Mich., Aug. 18, 1853.

SECTION 3.

Bradley True, Wayne Co., Mich., Feb. 15, 1837.

Alanson Aldrieh, W;iyno Co., Mich., Feb. 15, 1S37.

Alvin Billings, Richland, Ohio, Feb. 15, 1837.

John Ennis, Jackson Co., Mich., July, 1853.

Joshua W. Waterman, Detroit, Mich., August, 1853.

Chauncey D. Webster, Clihton Co., Mich., April, 1851.

SECTION 4.

(lorgc W. Dickinson, Ionia Co., Mich., Nov. 8, 1836.

.^ylvanus Hopkins, Sept. 4, 1851.

(Jeorge W. Ralhburn, Jackson Co., Mich., July, 1853.

John ICnnis, Jackson Co, Mich., July, 1853.

Joshua W. Waterman, Detroit, Mich., August, 1853.

SECTION 5.

Amos Daniel.s, Steuben Co., N. Y., Sept. 2'J, 1836.

Sanford Vanduscn. Inula Co., .Mieh., September, 1851.

Thomas Jennings, Roehostor, N. Y., September, 1S5I.

Thomas French, Rochester, N. Y , October, 1851.

Abram Torwilliger, Clinton Co,, Mich., August, 1853.

Albert Daniels, Lenawee Co., Mieh., December, 1853.

SECTION 6.

George W. Dickinson, Ionia Co., Mich., Nov. 8, IS:l«.

Eilward I'eltcys, Washtenaw Co., Mioh.. Doe. 12, l!l:i6.

.Milo Uenhain, Ontario Co., N. Y., Jan. .30, 1837.

John U. Contine, Monroe Co., N. Y., Sept. 12. \»j\.

SElVriON 7.

Andrew t. McRoynolds, Woyno Co., Mich., September. 1830.

Amos lioughlon, Ontario Co., N. Y., February, 1837.

John Minieh, Clinton Co., Mich., AuguM, ISil.

Lyunin Daniels, Ionia Co., Mich., OoUibor, 1852.

SECTION 8.

Chenler Ingalls, Wanhtonaw Co., Mioh., Feb. 13, 1837.

William W. Ainsloy, Clinton Co., Mich.. January. I81B.

lleuben Ferris, Clinton Co., Mieh., February, 1851.

(ieorge E. OilTord. July. 1851.

Tllomns Sitterlee. WelshtlelJ, Ohio, August. 1S5I.

Koyal llr«dii>h, Ionia Co., Mich., November, IS5I.

Winium W. Edminsler, lonin Co.. Mioh., .March, l.sJI.
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SECTrON 9.

Jarris Hoag, Chittendon Co., Vt., Nov. 8, 18,16.

Andrew T. McRoynolds, Wayne Co., Mich., November, 1836.

Sylvanus llopkin,*, September, 1851.

John Stoddard, October, 185 1.

Robert W. Davis, September, 1852.

SECTION 10.

Richard P. Hart and George M. Mills, Grand Rapids, Mieh., Feb. 2,

1836.

Robert S. Parlss and Lawaon S. Warner, Ionia Co., Mich., September,

1836.

John Booth, Oakland Co., Micli., Jan. 13, 1837.

R. S. Parks and L. S. Warner, Ionia Co., Mich., January, 1 837.

Charles A. Trowbridge, Detroit, Mich., January, 1837.

SECTION 11.

Hart & Mills, Grand Rapids, Mich., February, 1836.

Michael Smead, Genesee Co., N. Y., January, 1837.

Horace Halloek, Wayne Co., Mich., February, 1837.

Leiand Green, Oakland Co., Mich., February, 1837.

Norman P. Green, Clinton Co., Mich., June, 1853.

Henry A. Jennison, Clinton Co., Mich., October, 1854.

SECTION 12.

Hart A Mills, Grand Rapids, Mich., Feb. 2, 1836.

Eliia Moore, Ionia Co., Mich., January, 1837.

Baptiste Mak-i-to-quet, Clinton Co., Mich., Jan. 31, 1837.

Pe-aw-mo, Tan-wa-so-mc, and Ka-wy-aw-so-me, Clinton Co., Mich.,

Jan. 31, 1837.

Hiram Nestell, Clinton Co., Mich., September, 1851.

Nathaniel R. Catlin, Clinton Co., Mich., October, 1852.

SECTION 13.

Oliver Johnson, April 25, 1836.

Marshall Smead, Genesee Co., N. Y., January, 1837.

Thomas 0. Hill, Wayne Co., Mich., May 5, 1837.

Isaac Reynolds, Ionia Co., Mich., June, 1852.

SECTION 14.

Parce Barber, May 21, 1836.

Elias Daniels, May 24, 1836.

Andrew T. McReynolds, Wayne Co., Mich., Nov. 8, 1836.

Baptiste Makitoquet and Eticnue Lemorandfere, Clinton Co., Mich.,

Jan. 10, 1837.

Win-ta-go-wish, Clinton Co., Mich., Jan. 11, 1837.

Francis Bailley, Ionia Co., Mich., Jan. 31, 1837.

Frederick Gire, May, 18,52.

Phileuiore Reynolds, Clinton Co., Mich., November, 1852.

Henry and Franklin Vredeuburg, Clinton Co., Mich., March, 1864.

SECTION 15.

Lawson S. Warner, Ionia Co., Mich., July 22, 1836.

Henry V. Libhart, Ionia Co., Mich., Februivry, 1837.

JSdward Y. Morton and John B. Guiteau, Ionia, Mich., February,

1837.

Clemens Gibbs, Clinton Co., Mich., November, 1854.

SECTION 16.

School lands.

SECTION 17.

Parce Barber, May 21, 1836.

Abner Spencer, Jackson Co., Mich., Sept. 26, 1836.

R. S. Parks and L. S. Warner, Ionia Co., Mich., Feb. 13, 1837.

John and ,Iohn B. Brownoll, Oakland Co., Mich., Feb. 16, 1837.

Thomas Blackmer and P. S. Stoddard, Livingston Co., N. Y., April,

1837.

SECTION 18.

David Irish, Ionia Co., Mich, (west half), Sept. 26, 1836.

James W. Tabor, Ionia Co., Mich, (cast half), Sept. 26, 1836.

SECTION 19.

Parce Barber, May 21, 1836.

Ale.iander H. Edwards, July 12, 1836.

William A. Burgess, Ionia Co., Mich., September, 1836.

Robert McClelland, Monroe Co., Mich., September, 1836.

Levi A. Mills, city of New York, December, 1836.

SECTION 20.

Daniel Barker, Deo. 26, 1836.

Robert S. Parks and Elias Daaiels, April 29, 1836.

Horace Butler, May 17, 1836.

William Mann, Ionia Co., Mich., Sept. 23, 1836.

Levi A. Mills, city of New York, Dec. 17, 1836.

Phineas Van Ness, Clinton Co., Mich., October, 1854.

SECTION 21.

William Mann, Ionia Co., Mich., Sept. 23, 1836.

Ledra Phillips, Clinton Co., Mich., April 27, 1836.

William L. Drake, November, 1852.

Hiram Segar, Lenawee Co., Mich., July, 1853.

SECTION 22.

Hiram Benedict, Saratoga Co., N. Y., Sept. 27, 1836.

Henry J. Pearsall, Oakland Co., Mich., February, 1837.

Ledra Phillips, Clinton Co., Mich., April, 1837.

William Faragher, Clinton Co., Mich., April, 1837.

Charles Sessions, Ionia Co., Mich., Nov. 14, 1837.

Nathaniel Sessions, Ionia Co., Mich., Nov. \i, 1837.

Charles Sessions, Clinton Co., Mich., October, 1852.

SECTION 23.

Horace Butler, May 17, 1836.

Elias Daniels, May 24, 1836.

Allen A. Robinson, Monroe Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 1836.

Charles Osgood, Monroe Co., Mich., Dec. 12, 1836.

Michael Pearsall, Oakland Co., Mich., Feb. 15, 1837.

SECTION 24.

Horace Butler, entire section. May 17, 1836

SECTION 25.

Benjamin Piorson, Wayne Co., Mich., Feb. 15, 1837.

William J. Wells, Wayne Co., Mich., Feb. 15, 1837.

Ismic W. Averell, Wayne Co., Mich., April 8, 1837.

Benjamin F. Larned, Wayne Co., Mich., April 12, 1837.

Caroline Sprague, Oakland Co., Mich., Feb. 15, 1838.

Harriet Sprague, Ionia Co., Mich., April 8, 1839.

SECTION 26.

Charles Osgood, Monroe Co., Mich., Dee. 12, 1836.

Horace Halloek, Wayne Co., Mich., April 12, 1837.

Seth B. Pearsall, Oakland Co., Mich., Oct. 17, 1837.

Louis S. Lovell, Ionia Co., Mich., Nov. 14, 1853.

SECTION 27.

Harlow Benedict, Saratoga Co., N. Y., Sept. 27, 1836.

Perry Billings, Saratoga Co., N. Y., Sept. 27, 1836.

Horace Halloek, Wayne Co., Mich., Feb. 15, 1837.

Robert S. Parker, Ionia Co., Mich., April 8, 1837.

SECTION 28.

Horace Butler, May 17, 1836.

Perry Billings, Saratoga Co., N. Y., Sept. 27, 1836.

SECTION 29.

Horace Butler, May 17, 1836.

William Mann, Ionia Co., Mich., Sept. 29, 1836

SECTION 30.

Daniel Barker, May 2, 1834.

James B. Murray, Aug. 8, 1835.

Daniel Slawson, Jr., Sept. 9, 1835.

Sebastian Beckwith, Ionia Co., Mich., Dee. 24, 1835.

William Mann, Ionia Co., Mich., September, 1836.
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SECTION 31.

Daniel Barker, May 2, 1831.

Uaoicl Slawson, Jr., Sept. 9, 1835.

Sebastian Bickwith, louia Cu., Mich., Dec. 24, 1835.

Lucius Warner, Geneva, N. Y., Dec. 12, 1836.

SECTION 32.

William Mann, Ionia Co., Mich., Sept. 23, 1836.

Sherman Goodwin and George Henderson, Wayne Co., Mich., Sept.

24, 1836.

SECTION 33.

John Norvell, Wayne Co., Mich, (whole section), Feb. 15, 1837.

SECTION 34.

Homer Loomis, Ontario Co., N. T., Jan. 27, 1837.

Henry H. Loomis, Geneva, N. Y., May 21, 1853.

Anson C. Loomis, Ontario Co., N. Y., Oct. 18, 1853.

SECTION 35.

Joseph Penniman, Wayne Co., Mich., Feb. 15, 1837.

Jesse Jolly, Washtenaw Co., Mich., Sept. 12, 1853.

Anson C. Loomis, Geneva, N. Y., Sept. 14, 1853.

John N. Fowler, Jefferson Co., N. Y., Nov. 5, 1853.

SECTION 36.

Alanson Aldrich, Wayne Co., Mich,, February, 1837.

Samuel Boughton, Oakland Co., Mich., February, 1837.

Edwin H. Jones, Wayne Co., Mich., February, 1837.

George W. Perry, Wayne Co., Mich., April 12, 1837.

Anson C. Loomis, Geneva, N. Y., Sept. 14, 1853.

John N. Fowler, Jefferson Co., N. Y., Nov. 5, 1853.

FIRST AND OTHER EARLY SETTLEMENTS.

Upon sections 30 and 31 began the first settlements and

improvements in the present township of Lebanon. Daniel

Barker, a native of one of the New England States, was

an early settler in Washtenaw County. On the 2d of

May, 1831, he became the first individual owner of land

in township 8 north, of range No. 4 west, by the purchase

of the west half of the southeast quarter and the west

half of the northeast quarter of section 30; al.so the north-

west quarter of the northeast quarter of section 31. Mis

location was a desirable and well-chosen one, being situated

near the northea.stcrn limit of the beautiful tract known at

an early day as the East Plains,—lands which in a state of

nature produced only wild grass, willows, and scattered

oaks, and readily yielded to cultivation.

Some time during the summer or fall of 1834, accom-

panied by his wife and two or tliree small children, Mr.

Barker took up his abode on the west half of the south-

east quarter of section 30, building his cabin about sixty

rods in rear of Hon. John Vance's present residence, lie

was a young man about thirty years of age, and in the

course of two or three years had placed under cultivation

about twenty live acres of iaiiil. On the 20th uf December,

183C, he increased his landed estate by the purcliase of the

west half of the southwest quarter of section 20. An

event of unusual uceurreiice (even in thickly-settled com-

munities) took place in his family June 1, 1S37, and in

time his neighbors were made aware of the fact tliat he

was the proud father of twin dauglilers.

But Mr. Barker was destined not to remain long con-

spicuous as a pioneer and first settler of the now populous

township of Lebanon. Ueturning from Ionia on the Oth

of November, 1837, whither he had been to obtain flour

and other supplies for his family, he met his death by

drowning in attempting to cross .Maple lliver. Thus in

Mr. Barker's family occurred the first births and death in

the township. His widow and children removed from tliis

vicinity the year following his decea.se.

The town of Starkey, Yates Co., N. Y., furnished the

next settlers, in the persons of the brothers John, William,

and Andrew Vance, who arrived here May 10, 1837. The

former had resided in Livingston Co., N. Y., three years

prior to his coming to Michigan, and was accompanied by

his wife, Cornelia A., and two children, Emmet and Ursula.

His brothers were unmarried. Having purchased from

Daniel Slawson, Jr., the southwest quarter of the northeast

((uarter of section 31, John Vance erected his dwelling

thereon, and as a Michigan farmer began a career which

has been remarkably successful. Beginning with forty

acres, the purchase of which took all his available cash, his

estate has been increased until he now owns eight hundred

and ninety-four acres, besides having given his sons three

hundred acres. He was present at the organization of

Wandaugon township, and, as will be seen by reference to

the lists of township officers, has been prominently identi-

fied with the civil history of Lebanon. He has served as

supervisor eleven terms, besides in various other capacities.

His brothers, also, have proved themselves most worthy

citizens.

John A. Millard, a brother-in-law of John Vance, also

came from Starkey, Y^atos Co., N. Y., and settled where he

now resides in July, 1837. His name occupies a conspicu-

ous place in the annals of Lebanon, and he has ever been

accounted one of its most prominent and trustworthy in-

habitants.

In December, 1835, Seba.stian Bcckwith, of Ionia County,

purchased quite extensively of lands situated on both sides

of the county-line, including in this township the greater

portion of the west half of section 31 and the fraction

of section 30 lying north of Maple River. He was a

bachelor, and for a short time resided in Lyons township,

Ionia County. He died about the spring of 1838, when

his brothers. Dr. Norton II. and Miner Y. Beckwith,c4iine

in and occupied that portion of his estate lying in Leb-

anon. The Bcckwiths were from Geneva, N. Y., and first

located in Wa.shtcnaw County. They were active, energetic

men, and at an early day took the lead in farining and

making improvements. Norton II. Bcckwith built a fniuied

barn and a plank houm^ on the northwest fractional t|uar-

ter of section 31 in 1810, which, except tlio-ti' built by the

salt company, arc believed to have b<'cn the first framed

buildings crcetcil in the township. Miner Y. Ueckwilli

was an early ju^liel! nl' tin- peace.

Alon/.o D. Brewster, pronuMeiit as one nf the first re.»i-

dents of the township, and who served as its siqiervisor

in 1810 and '41, was al.so heri^ in I83S, |K'rli»ps earlier.

As yet hCtllemenUi all tended towards the soulhwoMt

corner of (he township, or that lornlity known as the l<^u<t

Plains. In Deei'nibcr, 1838, Charles Se.>wion» began the

first inqirovcnienls in the ceiilmi part. Mo was horn in

Mareellus, Onondaga Co., N. Y., and with his father's

lamily (he being the eldest of soventeen children) euii-

grated to North Plains, louia Co., in the spring of 1837.
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In November of the same year he purchased one hun-

dred and twenty acres situated upon section 22, where,

as before stated, he began "clearing" one year later.

His location was in the midst of a wilderness ten miles

wide from east to west, and his nearest neighbors were

one-half that distance away, viz., to the southeast on the

East Plains, and to the northeast on Benedict's Plains.

He built a small cabin, which stood near the site of his

present dwelling, and with his axe and twenty dollars in

money began hewing out a farm. Ten acres were cleared

the first winter. With plenty of Indians and wild ani-

mals around him, he lived alone until 1840, when he

married his first wife. Miss Miriam McCooley, of Ionia

County. Ionia, twenty miles distant, was his nearest post-

office. Those settlers who preceded him here, according to

his recollections, have already been mentioned. His first

team grew up under his care from calves. Mr. Sessions

has always been one of the most prominent men in his

township. He has .served in nearly every position in the

gift of his townsmen, is now the owner of eleven hundred

and seventy-one acres, and still resides where he settled

forty-two years ago. John Vance, James W. Tabor, John

A. Millard, and himself all set out apple-trees soon after

their settlement. Mr. Millard brought .some cherry-trees

from New York State when he came here in July, 1837.

James W. Tabor was another prominent early settler of

Lebanon. On the 26th of Septoniber, 183(5, ho bought of

the government the east half of fractional section IS. He
settled upon the same in 1838 or 1839, and prior to June,

1840, owned the entire section. He served several terms

as supervisor, also as township clerk and justice of the

peace.

Among other early settlers who came in at about the

same time as those last mentioned were Harvey Waterman,

Russell Smith, Martin Yetter, one of the first parties mar-

ried here, and A. Warner.

Lebanon in 1838 was the scene of a series of wild spec-

ulations, so rife in the State of Michigan at that time, and

perhaps no historical paper relating to the township would

be considered at all complete which did not allude even

briefly to them. The pioneers yet living relate the oft-

repeated story of excessive prices of wild or uncultivated

lands, and of lots in prospective villages and cities which

now have nothing but the recorded plat in the ofiice of the

register of deeds to indicate their location. This specula-

tion no doubt was largely owing to the great amount of

paper money then afloat in the State. The men engaged

In these enterprises were full jjf energy and activity, pos-

sessed of first-class business attainments, and, perhaps it was

claimed for them, of sterling worth, who, although living

in a region but yet sparsely settled, were anxious to become

wealthy at once. In the attempt to compass their objects,

however, the most unscrupulous means were not unfre-

quently employed, and when occasion offered they did not

hesitate to dupe men of their own State, although it was

generally claimed that their victims were more particularly

sought for on the east side of Lake Erie.

It seems that during the years 1836 and '37, Robert S.

Parks, liawson S. Warner, and others of Ionia County

purchased lands situated upon sections 10, 15, 17, and 20.

Soon after settlements had began to thrive in this and ad-

joining townships it was rumored that salt springs of value

existed on that part of section 15 lying north of Maple

River. Whether salt springs or brackish water existed

there then or now it is not our province to determine, for

some old residents have asserted that " Parks sunk a barrel

of .salt in a hole on the bottoms of Maple River for purposes

of speculation," while others of this county, also of Shia-

wassee, assert that to their personal knowledge the Indians

boiled salt in the present township of Lebanon, hence the

origin of its original name Wandaugon, meaning "salt

springs." However, during the legislative session of 1838

an act waspa.'-sed (approved April od of that year), of which

the following is an extract, duly incorporating the Clinton

Salt-Works Company

:

"Robert S. Parks, Lawson S. Warner, Thomas B. An-

drews, Charles Hubbell, Calvin C. Parks, and such other

persons as shall hereafter associate with them and their suc-

cessors, shall be and they arc hereby created a body corpo-

rate and politic by the name of the ' Clinton Salt-Works

Company.' The said corporation is hereby required to im-

prove the real estate belonging to said company, situate

at Clinton Salt-Works, in the county of Clinton and State

of Michigan, known as all that part of the village of Clinton

Sal^ Works described as the 'reserve' on the map of said

village, duly executed and recorded, the which is situated

on section No. 15, in township No. 8 north, of range No.

4 west, in the Grand River land district, and is held and

owned by the said Robert S. Parks and others for the pur-

pose of manufacturing salt, b}' erecting the necessary build-

ings and vats, by boring the earth and sinking proper tubes

and pumps to procure a sufficient quantity of water ; and

also shall have power to construct or purchase such and all

other apparatus and machinery neces.sary for the carrying

on of said salt manufacturing establishment to such an ex-

tent as shall be deemed necessary to advance the interest of

said company and to transact the business of the .same."

The foregoing act was to remain in force twenty years.

The company erected several frame buildings in 1838, and

doubtless brilliant prospectuses accompanied the engraved

copies of their village plat which circulated in the Eastern

country. The finding of salt-brine, at least in paying

quantities, proved an utter failure. But before its collapse

the ruling spirits of the company found time, and the op-

portunity under the general banking law of 1837, to estab-

lish the " Clinton County Salt-Works Bank." The general

provisions of this law were fairly drawn, except that in the

two important features that concern most the public—se-

curity to the bill-holders and a bona fide capital to secure

the depositors—they were inadequate. The capital must

not be less than fifty thousand dollars, or more than one

hundred thousand dollars. The issue could be two and one-

half times the capital paid in. The interest should not

exceed seven per cent, on discounts, and tlic banks were

required to make semi-annual dividends, assuming always

the banks' ability to do this. The security for the payment

of the banks' obligations were to be bonds and mortgages

on real estate, to be held by the bank commissioner, and

the specie in the vaults of the corporation. Few banks

had this specie, though the law required thirty per cent, of
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the capital to be paid in " in legal moaey of the United

States." These specie deposits furnished little reliable se-

curity. The fact was, tiie bank commissioner, whose duty

it was to examine these banks once in three months, was

often deceived, as one bank would inform another when tlie

commissioner was coming, and the banks would borrow

money to exhibit to the commissioner and return it when

he went away. In this manner the same specie would often

serve for the use of several banks.

We are credibly informed that a pailful of silver coin,

owned by Moses Dean, of Maple township, Ionia Co.,

furnished the " legal money of the United States" on

which was based and established, " according to law," the

Clinton County Salt-Works Bank, and the only evidence

its managers ever could have produced in their assumption

of having specie in the vaults of the corporation arose from

the fact that the coin was brought to the dwelling of John

Vance* by Mr. Dean. It was there counted in the pres-

ence of the said bank officials, after which, without any

transfer having been made, Mr. Dean returned with it to

his home. This was the system of banking inaugurated

in the early days of Michigan, the overthrow of which pro-

duced such a financial shock in the State that many years

elapsed before a recovery from its effects was experienced.

Messrs. Parks, Warner & Co. went forward and issued

their elaborately engraved notes of the Clinton County Salt-

Works Bank, but their circulating power proved to be of

but short duration, however, and this bank, with other like

institutions, suspended payment on the decision of the

Supreme Court relieving the stockholders from any lia-

bility touching the redemption of the bills of the bank.

Thus ended the manufacture of salt and wildcat banking

on the wilderness bottom-lands of Maple River.

RESIDENTS IN TIIE TOWNSHIP IN 1840.

The resident tax-payers of Lebanon in 1840, and the

lands upon which taxes were assessed,, were as follows:

Acres.

Morton H. Beckwith, sections 30, 31 206
John Vance, ccct ions 30, '31 253
James W. Tiibor, entire section 18 585
Daniel liarlter's lieire, sections 20, 311, 31 280
diaries Sessions, section 22 120
John A. Millard, section 31 HU)
Russell Smith, section II 1 15

Ilarvoy AVaternian Personal
Alonzo D. Brewster and Miller Personal

Those named in addition, in 1841, were:

Acros.

Miner Y. Beckwith, section 31 51

Martin Yettcr, section 31 80
A. Warner, sections 20, 30, 31 280

In 1844 there were as additional residents :

Palmer I>. Bancroft, sections 10, 22.

Elijah Ford, section 32.

Isaac Sherman, section 32.

Avery Uelong, section 20.

IJnniel Fifiold, Jr , section 6.

Walter Ilnlslead, section 32.

Ezckiol llalstead, section 32.

I.edra Phillips, sections 21, 22.

Charles Millard, section 22.

The total tax levied on real and pciiioual estate (includ-

t Mr. Vance was not interested in these spoculations.

60

ing present township of Dallas) was one hundred and

eighty-eight dollars and sixty cents.

The holding of a large portion of the township as non-

resident lands by speculators proved to be here, as else-

where in the State, a great detriment to its material wealth

and increase of population, and as late as 1850 there were

but thirty menf mentioned aa resident tax-payers, viz.

:

Acres.

John Vance, sections 30, 31 352
John A. Millard, section 31 180
Jan.cs W. Tabor, section 18 58S
Lucius H. Peot, section 36 110
William Vanderhoof, section 17 80
Dennis Merivin, sections 26, 36 130
Lcdni Phillips, section 22 160
Kussell Phillips, section 21 40
William Daniels, section 5 150
Lymun Daniels, section 5 40
Reuben Ferris, section 5 40
Ezekicl Halsiead, section 32 30
Avery Delong. section 29 16'J

Miner Y. Beckwith, section 31 53
Elijah Ford, section 32 80
Charles Sessions, section 22 160
Hezekiah Austin, section 22 40
Isaac Fifield, section 6 80
Thomas Bellows, section 32 10
William Wanisley, seclion 8 40
Nelson P. j4)biison, section 1 69
AVilliam Mather, section 1 64
John Sturgess, section 32 160
Paris Corey, sections 30, 31 232
Chester Wood, section 32 70
Cornelius Valeau, sections 30, 31 100
.Albert («. Russell Personal
William McAllister, section 32 40
R. M. Cone, section 10 80
David Fifield, section 6 80

During the succeeding decade a marked increase in popu-

lation took place, and the residents assessed for Lixes in

I860 were as follows:

Sec.

J, C. Caldwell 1

Albert (;. Russell 1

M. N. Wade 1, 2

Paul Do Witt I

L. S. Scott 2

C. n. Townsend 2

M. L. Weathorwax 2

0. BriKgs 2

L. S. Aldrich 3

Joseph llayncs 3

W. L. Ila.vnos 3

Russell (.'ommons 4

Jonathan Terwilliger 5

C. II. Neweomb 5

A. Terwilliger 5

Lymiin Daniels
.^ 5,8

Willitim Daniels 5

Reuben Ferris 5,8
iJavid Filicld 6

lleurv S. Barker 6

Volney Newlund 6

Sanford \^induson 6

Pliny Moore 7

Harrison Colby 7

Henry Colby 7

Chester Warner 8

Joseph F. Lathrop 8

lleurv Miinga S

H, D." Tabor 8

Charles Kosecriins 8

John II.Kobertii 8

Mason VV. Sloildaril V

II. I,. Stoddard U

E. C. C'hurebill U

Williljm Iteynolds »

C. (). Sherwood 10, 1i

A. Miles 10

Oliver ('unninghnm 10

J. W. Crawford 10

II. K.Ilavnes II

David P. Weeks II

T. J. Terwilliger II

Robert Frank II

Willlitui N'redenburg II

J. T. Hewitt 12

Jacob llancher I'ersoual

J. P. easier 12

H. Jaijues 12

Robert Winlield 12

Broderick Winfield 12

11. .A. Jennison 12

J. F. Oivin 12

Henry While 13

Isaac Reynolds 13

John Pinkney 13

Michael Freur 14

Herman .'Sprngue 14

Henry (ieer 14

Piter Winans 1&

C. (iibbs 15

J. Wright IS

Marcus .Smith 15

Charles Sessiiins..l5, 10, 20, 23, 2.1

I-. I,. Wiiuisley I«

C. C. Stoddard 16

P. H. Ilolnoek 16

John Leury 16

A. N. Fuller 17

0. A.deluf IT

Itufus II 17

Oscar Uogoni 17

I,. Deilor 17

Justus Perry 17

Henry Dexter Portunal

Either Tabor 18

J. A.Tabur 18

E. M.Tnbar 18

M. N. Tabor 18

f Poiwibly inistikkea in the ipolling of names irlll bo found in this

and the sueeeedtng long list. If so, the fault must be altributeil to

those who niade out the assessment. rtilU.
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W. L. Tabor
Herman Green ^.

0. Burt
Ilrnrv Silner

William Alljro

w. n. Ru.iii

AV. H. Stone la,

Harvey G ration

Saraiiel Urtioks 19,

A. Mathers
George D. Barker
Calvin Merwin
E.lgar Loomi?
Eiumct Vance
Benjamin CaUlwell

Alfred Benjamin
B.T. Beeves 21,

Nathan Benjamin
Calvin Benjamin
Leilra Phillips

Richard Evans
J. W.Russell
Ezra .I. Glass

E. Perry

C. J. Warner
N. J. Willi.ims

Charles Piggott

Joseph Clark

Sec. Sec.

IS L. H. Peet 25,26
l'.» David C.GonId 26

lU ElenezerWest 27

19 H. K. Octant 27

19 A.W.Williams 27,28
19 Nathan Evans 28

21 N.P.Johnson 28

19 Uriah Fritts 28

29 W. ^;. Latlimer 28

19 Chester Winans 29

20 Theo. Delong 29

2U Avery Delong 29

20 Thomas XIcBride 29

20 Leonard Clark 29

21 Philip Mills ."iO

21 John Vance .30. .SI

20 John A.Millard 31

21 Phineas Millard .'il

21 ParisCorey 31

22 Chester AVood 32
22 Chauncev B. Vance 32

22 J. F. Big'nals heirs 32

23 Betsey Fitield 32
23 M.Bird 34
23 Calvin Co.. n 35
25 Stephen Hammond 35

25 Joel Wagar 36
35

Much could be written concoinin<; the doings of tlie In-

dian chief JMaliito((uet* and liis hirge band of followers,

among whom were Wintagowisli, their speaker, Aiken the

half-breed with his two wives, Lemorandiere, and others.

Several of these purchased of the general government,

in 1S37, lands situated on sections 12 and 14. They had

a village on the latter section, also one upon 19. As many

sugar-maples grew in this township, early settlers relate

that during the sugar-making .season the woods were full of

Indians. Supplies of whisky were obtained at Campau's

trading-post, and in consequence shouting, singing, drinking,

and fighting were indulged in all liiiough the night. Other-

wise they were generally well behaved, and were of much

service in assisting to rid the country of noxious wild ani-

mals. But as much space is directed to the aborigines in

the general chapters of this work, I'urther remarks here are

deemed unnecessary.

EDUCATIONAL AND RELIGIOUS.

According to the recollections of Jlr. John Vance, the

first school t«ught in the township was held in the build-

ing built and formerly occupied by Daniel Barker. Soon

after the removal of Mrs. Barker and family the house was

fitted for school purposes, and a school opened. Miss Ma-
tilda Sessions, sister of Charles Sessions, presided as teacher,

and taught two or three successive terms in it.

On the 14th of May, 1841, Alonzo D. Brewster and

John A. Millard, school inspectors of Lebanon, and W. Z.

Blanchard and Luke H. Parsons, school inspectors of Lyons,

ordered the formation of the first school district—of which

oflicial data has been obtained—that embraced any por-

tion of this township. The district was denominated Frac-

tional School District No. 3, of the townships of Lyons
and Lebanon. Its boundaries were described as follows

:

" Beginning at the southeast corner of section 32 in

township 8 north, of range 4 west, thence north on sec-

tion-line to Maple River
; thence down said river to the sec-

tion-line between townships 8 and 7 north, of range 5 west

thence east to the place of beginning." John A. Millard

*• " Makey," as be was termed by the whites, was part French. His
son also married a Frenchwoman.

was required to notify each person liable to pay a school

district tax in said district of the proceedings of the joint

board of inspectors, and the first school meeting was ordered

to be held at the house of Moses Dean, in the township of

Lyons, on Saturday, May 22, 1841, at six o'clock p.m.

In 1844 the first building designed for schools was

erected in this township. It was situated upon the northeast

corner of section 31, and in it De Witt C. Chapin delivered

the first pulilical speech (Whig) the same year. This dis-

trict was then denominated No. 1, that in the Tabor

neighborhood No. 2, and the Sessions district No. 3. In

the latter district it is believed that Miss Caroline Stevens

taught the first school about thirty-five years ago.

During years intervening since 1845 many changes have

occurred in the numbers and boundaries of school districts,

and doubtless educational matters have been as well attended

to here as in agricultural regions generally. The following

statistics, gathered from the school inspectors' annual report

for the year ending Sept. 1, 1879, shows the present condi-

tion of school interests

:

Number of districts (whole, 7: fractional. 2).... 9
" children of school age in the town-

ship 340
** children attending schools during

the year 302
" children non-residents attending

schools during the yenr 31
" school-houses (brick, I j frame, 8)... 9
" sittings 466

Value of school property $6650
Number of teachers employed (male, 10; female,

13) 23
Paid teaeheis (male, S912; female, $534) $1446
Total resources lor the year $2404.23

RELIGIOU.S.

The Methodists were the pioneers in religious matters

here. In subsequent years other denominations have fol-

lowed, yet none of them seem to have flourished to the

extent of making necessary the building of church edifices,

and services thus far have been held in the district school-

houses. Those who Delieve in the doctrines of the United

Brethren Church now predominate.

In November, 1858, Nelson P. Johnson, Stephen Ham-
mond, William Sessions, Herman Sprague, and John Stur-

gess were elected trustees, and empowered to hold in trust

all the church property of the Matherton Mission, the

church of the " United Brethren in Chri.st."

CIVIL HISTORY.

By an act of the State Legislature, approved March 6,

1838, " All that part of Clinton County designated by

the United States surveys as townships Nos. 7 and 8

north, of range Nos. 3 and 4 west, be and the same

is hereby set off and organized into a separate township

by the name of Wandaugon,f and the first township-

t The people generally were not pleased with the Indian name of

Wandaugon, meaning in the Chippewa dialect "salt-springs," and
soon after an attempt was made to have it changed. This resulted

in the passage of an act. approved April 2, 1838, which provided

that " That portion of townships 7 and 8 north, of ranges Nos. 3 and
4 west, according to the United States survey, be and the same is

hereby set ofif and organized by the name of Lebanon, and the first

township-meetiug shall be held ut the house of James Sowlc, Jr."

The State law-makers intended doubtless to enact that "That portion

I

I
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meeting therein shall be held at the house of Gcorsie Cam-

pau, in said township."

According to the foregoing act, the inhabitants of the

territory described assembled at the trading-post of George

Campau early in April, 1838, and elected township officers.

Complete records of this meeting and of other township

proceedings during the year 1838 have not been preserved.

We learn, however, from various sources that Hiram Bene-

dict was elected Supervisor; Timothy H. Pcttit, Townsiiip

Clerk; Nelson Benedict, Collector; Cortland Hill, High-

way Commissioner, Assessor, and School Inspector ; and

Chauncey M. Stebbiiis, Highway Coniniis.sioner. The other

officers are unknown. At that time Clinton County was

attached to Shiawassee for judicial purposes, and the town-

ships then organized in the former were De Witt, Water-

town, and VVandaugon. That the township officials of

Wandaugon were lax in the performance of their duties

in more ways than one the following paragraph will

show.

When the county canvassers met at the clerk's office in

Shiawas.see County, Nov. 13, 1838, to count the votes

polled at the last general election, there were present

proper representatives from the townships of Antrim, Ben-

nington, Burns, Owosso, Shiawassee, and Woodhull, in

Shiawassee County, and from De Witt and Watcrtown,

in Clinton. Wandaugon was not represented, whereui)i)n,

the record says, " The clerk dispatched a special messenger

to procure a Statement of the votes polled in .said town,

and the Board adjourned to the hour of two o'clock next

day. And it appearing that the returns had not then come

in for said town of Wandaugon, the Board voted to hold

open meeting until twelve o'clock of the next day, in case

said returns should not come in previous to that time." It

seems that "twelve o'clock of the next day" arrived, but

no returns from Wandaugon, and the board then resolved

to proceed without them. Whatever became of the "spe-

cial messenger" written history fails to inform us.

On Monday, the 1st day of April, 18^!9, the second

township-meeting was held at the house of George Campau.

Thirty-two votes were polled, and the officers elected were

Hiram Benedict, Supervisor; Timothy H. Pettit, Township

Clerk; Ahjiizo I). Brewster, Treasurer; (Portland Hill,

Hiram Benedict, Chauncey M. Stebbiiis, Assessors; Nel-

son Benedict, Collector; James Sowlc, Jr., Cortland Hill,

Alon/.o Vaughn, School Inspectors; George Canijiau, I-y-

man Webster, Directors of the Poor ; James Sowie, Jr.,

Cortland Hill, John A. Millard, Highway Commissioners;

Cortland Hill, Timothy H. Pettit, John A. Millard, Chaun-

cey M. Slebbins, Justices of the Peace; Nelson Benedict,

Charles Sessions, Uriah Drake, Robert Holmes, Consta-

bles.

of the counlv of Clinton embraced in townships 7 iinJ 8 north," olo.

It seems that the omission was fatal to the act; that it became in-

operative, and the cluinge of name was postponed until, liy an act

of the Legislature, ap|iroved March 22, IS."!!), the name of Wandau-

gon was dropped and that of l.cbanon substituted. In working so

determinedly for the change it is possible that the eiti/.ens of Wan-

daugon were actuated more by a spirit of disgu.-t at the failure of

Parks & Co., their salt company, and the operations of tlieir Clinton

County Salt-Works (wildcat) Hank, than dislike for a name so <-u-

jihonious.

The overseers of highways, elected by voice, were Hiram

Benedict, for district No. 1 ; Lyman Webster, for district

No. 2; John A. Millard, for district No. 3; Andrew

Vance, for district No. 4; William Merrill, for district No.

5; Cortland Hill, for district No. G; and Uriah Drake,

for district No. 7. Hiram Benedict, Timothy H. Pettit,

Jamas Sowlc, Jr., Cortland Hill, and Daupiiin W. Osgood

served as inspectors of this election.

It was further resolved that a bounty of four dollars

should be paid for each wolf killed in the townsiiip ; that

one hundred dollars be raised for contingent expenses, and

twenty-live dollars for the support of the poor; that all

hogs over forty pounds in weight be free commoners ; that

no pound be built the present year, and that the next town-

ship-meeting be held at the house of John A. Millard.

At' a special township-meeting, held at the house of

George Campau, April 29, 1839, Alonzo Vaughn, the

candidate for the office of justice of tlie peace to fill vacancy,

received eleven votes, the whole number polled.

During the year ending April 1, 1840, Alonzo D.

Brewster, for killing two wolves ; Stephen Wiliits, for kill-

ini; one wolf; Alonzo Vaughn, for killing four wolves;

Ash-ka-be, for killing one wolf; No-wob-a-no, for killing

one wolf; and Lo-lon-da, for killing one wolf, were allowed

the township bounty of four dollars for each scalp.

Following is a copy of the certilicate usually granted hiiu

who slew the wolf:

" We, Alonzo Vaughn, a justice of the peace for the

township of Lebation, in the county of Clinton, and John

A. Millard, a commissioner of highways of said township,

having been associated together for the purpose of examin-

ing Ash-ka-be touching his claim for bounty on a certain

wolf's head, by him presented to us, we do therefore certify

that the said Ash-kabe is in our judgment entitled to the

township bounty on said wolf's head, and, further, we did

buru the said wolf's .scalp and ears, according to law.

" Ai.ONZo Vauc.iin, ./. F.

"John A. Millard, Com. of Uiyhwuys.

' l,i:iiA\()S, May 31, 18;i9."

Bi'ii^'al, including the present township of Ks.sex, was set

off from Lebanon by an act approved March 19, IS4<1, and

Dallas l)y an act approved March 19, 184.">.

The voters of Lebanon at the fall elect ion of 1840 were

Sniilh Parks, Alexander Krazier, John Vance, Vincent

Parks, George V. Dutloii, Amacy Dorii, Willis I'arks,

Alonzo D. Brew.ster, William .Merrill, John A. .Millard,

Charles Sessions, Benjamin Welch, Nelsou Dclong, Nathan

Bigelow, Daniel T. Locke, Harvey Wateriuan, Silas Win-

ters, Martin /ictter, Joseph Uowloy, and Thomas Tripp.

Those who availed themselves of the cleclidii franchiso

one year later were George F. Dutton, Uiehard Willing,

Sniilli Parks, Tompkins Parks, Orriii Parks, Ira Pinrknoy,

William Hayes, Nathan Bigelow, William Parks, Alonzo

D. Brewster, Constant Shaw, David Parks, Samuel I'arks,

Andrew 11. Vance, John Vance, John A. Millard, Martin

/ictler. Minor /. Bcckwith, Charles Sessions, Norton H.

Beekwith, Harvey Waterman, William Vance, and Charles

Millard.

I',)r a ft w yeais prior to 1855 the present township.'* of
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North Shade and New Haven, in Gratiot County, were at-

tached to this for judicial purposes.

TOWNSHIP OFFICERS.

The following tables embrace the names of the principal

township officers elected annually from 1840 to 1880, in-

clusive. Vacancies, appointments, and resignations are not

shown :

SUPERVISORS.

1840-41. Alonzo D. Brewster.

1842. John Vance.

1843. William J. Bancroft.

1844. Jauies W. Tabor.

1845-47. John Vance.

1848-50. James W. Tabor.

1851. John Vance.

1852. Albert G. Russell.

1853-57. John Vance.

1858. Benjamin Caldwell.

1859. Henry Lane.

1860. John Vance.

1861-82. Charles Sessions.

1S03. NelsQn P. Johnson.

1864. Charles Sessions.

1865. Roderick I). Tabor.

1866-69. Charles Sessions.

1870-74. Loren G. Burch.

1875-77. Jacob E. Ludwick.

1878. Loren U. Burch.

1879-80. Emerson Vance.

1840. Norton H. Beckwith.

1841. John Vance.

1842-47. John A. Millard.

1848. Thomas Bellows.

1849. John A. Millard.

185U. No record.

1851. James W. Tabor.

1852. John A. Millard.

1853. James W. Tabor.

1854-58. Nelson P. Johnson,

1859-60. Pliny Moore.

CLERKS.

1861. Warren H. Stone.

1862-68. Pliny Moore.

1869-70. Henry G. Cooley.

1871. Frank Abbott.

1872. Henry G. Cooley.

187.3-74. Frank Abbott.

1875-76. Pliny Moore.

1877. Emerson Vance.

1878. Jay Sessions.

1879-80. Martin L. Peck.

TREASURERS.

1840-41. Alonzo D. Brewster.

1842. George F. Button.

1843-46. Isaac Sherman.

1847. Lucius H. Pcet.

1848. Dennis Merwin.

1849. John Vance.

1850. No record.

1851. Charles Sessions.

1852-53. George E. Walker.

1854-58. Charles Sessions.

1859-62. Moses N. Wade.

186.3. David R. Cory.

1864. Joseph P. Owen.
1865. Charles Sessions.

1866-68. Benjamin S. Patrick.

1869. Nathan H.Evans.
1870-76. David P. Weeks.

1877. D. H. Kirkpatrick.

1878. David P. Weeks.

1879. Benjamin S. Patrick.

1880. Loren G. Burch.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

1840.

1841

1842.

1843.

1844.

1845.

1846.

1847.

1848.

1849.

Norton II. Beckwith.

Benjamin AVclsh.

Charles Sessions.

Harvey AVatcrman.

George F. Dutton.

Vincent Parks.

Charles Sessions,

William Merrill.

George F. Dutton.

Davis Parks.

James W. Tabor,

Miner Y. Beckwith.

Constant Shaw.

Charles Sessions.

James W. Tabor.

No record.

James W. Tabor.

Miner Y. Beckwith.

William Wamsley.

Miner Y. Beckwith.

Avery Belong.

Charles Sessions.

James W. Tabor.

Dennis Merwin.

1850,

1851.

1852.

1853.

1854.

1855.

1856.

1857.

1858.

1859.

1800.

1861.

1862.

1863.

1864.

1865.

1866.

No record.

Albert G. Russell.

Charles Sessions.

George E. GiBbrd.

Charles Sessions.

Uirum Burgess.

James W. Tabor.

Ezra J. Glass.

Moses N. Wade,
Henry Lane.

Henry S. Barker.

Calvin Benjamin.

Ezra P. Glass.

George D. Barker.

Warren H. Stone.

George D. Barker.

John G. Roberts.

L. B. Burch.

Joseph F. Owen.
J. F. Albro.

Warren H. Stone.

Pliny Moore.

A. T. Cross.

Lucius H. Pect.

1867.

1868.

1869.

1870.

1871.

1872.

1873.

Harrison Colby.

Joseph F. Owen.

William C. Frank.

Harrison Colby.

Henry W. Brown.

Lucius H, Peet.

Guilford A. Smith.

Nelson P. Johnson.

Joseph F. Owen.

L. D. Burch.

Guilford A. Siuith.

1874.

1875.

1876.

1877.

1878.

1879.

1880.

L. D. Burch.

Samuel A, Brooks.

Daniel McGraw,

Joseph F. Owen.

Milo Grove.

Charles Sessions.

Guilford A. Smith.

Samuel A. Brooks.

A. S. Harris.

Charles J. Graham.

HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS.

1840.
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BIOGEAPHICAL SKETCH.

MRS. CHARLES SESSIONS.

CHARLES

This gentleman, well known to the citizens of Clinton

and lunia Counties for tlie past forlyfhiee j-ears, was born

in the town of Marcellus, Onondaga Co., N. Y., Dec 20,

1817, being the eldest in a family of seventeen children,

of whom fourteen survived to an adult age.

Tiie Session.ses are descended from a sturdy Welshman,

who was an early settler in New England. Nathaniel Ses-

sions, the father of Charles, was born in the State of Con-

necticut, Aug. 20, 1789. He served in the American

army during the war of 1812, and in the year 1814 re-

moved to Marcellus, Onondaga Co., N. Y. Here on the

4th day of November, 181 (J, he married Miss Chloc

Thompson, a lady who was born in Oneida Co., N. Y.,

Sept. 26, 1798. In 1822 he again removed to Harmony,

Chautauqua Co., N. Y., becoming one of the first settlers

in that region. He remained a resident of Chaulauf|ua

County until the spring of 1837, when, judging wisely

that the new Slate of Michigan offered superior advantages

to one blessed with so large a family, a third removal wa.s

made, and a final settlement effected in tiie present town-

ship of North Plains, Ionia Co. He was an indulgent

father, a strict temperance man, and an earnest Cinislian.

Early in life he had joined the Baptists, but before settling

in Michigan had adopted the tenets of tiie Methodist

Episcopal faith, and in the latter ciiurch served as steward,

class-leader, and Sunday-school superintendent for many

years. He was also prominent in civil lif((, and mo.st

creditably served his townsmen as supervisor, justice of the

peace, and in other capacities, and whether us a Whig,

Abolitionist, or Republican, stood- firm as the rocks of his

native State, believing in principles rather than expediency.

Full of years, sincerely mourned by ten surviving children,

he died, March 15, 1880. The worthy partner of hi.s joys

CHARLE.S SESSIONS.

SESSIONS.

and sorrows, who during iho later years of her life was

affectionately termed Mollier Sessions, died Nov. 14, 1879.

She was an active, earnest Christian, an exemplary wife

and mother, and rejoiced to .see the principles inculcated by

her practiced by her children.

Charles Sessions grew up a farmer. His educational

advantages were limited to such as could be obtained by

attending the district schools in winter. Alter assisting

his father in the many difficulties and hardships attendant

upon the removal from New York State to Michigan, ho

remained under the paternal roof until the fall of 1838,

meanwhile assisting to clear forty acres of land. He then

built a small cabin near his present residence in Lebanon,

upon one hundred and twenty acres of land purchitscd the

year previously of the general government. His location

was in the midst of a den.sc wilderness, his nearest neigh-

bors being John Vance and James Sowle. Here in his

lonely cabin, the posses-sor of his lands, strong arms, a

stout heart, an axe, and twenty dollars in cash, Charles

Sessions began his work. Surrounded by IndiunN, who

were then more numerous than the present white inhabi-

tants, the forest (eeniing with boars and wolves, he lived

alone until Aug. 27, 1840, when ho married Mi.ss Miriam

Cooley, of Portland, Ionia Co., who was born in New York

State in 1822. As time passed and the township gnidu-

ally incriMi.scd in population, although not an onice-.seeker,

he very naturally became prominent among his townsmen,

and successively held the offices of collector, juslieu of llio

peace, as.sc.s.sor, treasurer, supervisor, and drain commis-

sioner. His original purchiLse, by industry and good man-

agement, has been added to until ho is now the proud

owner of eleven hundretl and seventy-one broad actcts.

Hy his fii-sl iiiiiriiage were born two riiihiri'n. vi/.
,
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Cynthia (wife of Frank Abbott), July 8, 1842, and

Natliau C, Feb. 1, 1844, who, wiiile serving in the Union
"

army, died at Chattanooga, Tenn., during the war of the

Rebelhon. His first wife, Mrs. Miriam Sessions, died Feb.

1, 1841.

On the 14th of April, 1846, lie was again married to

Mrs. Mary Ilyan, a widow lady, the mother of two chil-

dren, named Elmore D., who died at New Orleans, La.,

while a member of Michigan's volunteer force during the

war, and Alice, now Mrs. N. H. Evans, of Montcalm

County. The children born of the second marriage were

Amelia (now Mrs. Horace Winans), Feb. 4, 1847
;
Emily

(wife of H. N. Blakosleu), May 2tj, 1849 ; May, March

12, 1852; Jay, Aug. 5, 1854; Kay, April 2, 1859; and

Belle, Nov. 23, 18G3. After but one week's illness, his

second wife, who was born in 1819, at Paris, Oneida Co.,

N. Y., died at her home, April 21, 1880.

Mr. Sessions has been most liberal and indulgent in the

care and education of his children. His sons are gradu-

ates of the State Agricultural College, while his daughters,

having had superior advantages, are equally as accom-

plished. A Whig, while that party existed, he is now a

Republican. Conservative in his religious opinions, as

well as in other matters of everyday life, Charles Sessions,

as a pioneer and present citizen of Lebanon township, is

esteemed by all who know him.

CHAPTER LXL

OVID TOWNSHIP.*

Natural Features—Indian Mounds—Settlement of the Township

—

The Darls Day of 1S56—Resident Tax-payers in 1840—Township
Organization and Civil List—Highway Records—Schools—Ovid

Village—Post-Offiee—Physicians— Churches—Village Incorpora-

tion and List of Officers—Manufacturing Industries—The Press of

Ovid—Ovid Union School—Secret Orders—Ovid Fire Department

—Village of Shepardsville.

The six miles square of territory designated in the United

States survey as town 7 north, in range 1 west, and known
as Ovid township, is one of the four towns lying on the

eastern border of Clinton County. It has Duplain on the

north, Victor on the south, the Shiawassee County line on

the east, and Bingham township on the west.

Ovid is not only agriculturally prosperous, but contains

moreover two villages, at one of which, Ovid, there are im-

portant manufacturing interests. The surface of the country

,

like that of neighboring towns, is generally level, the soil is

productive, and the members of the farming community

are, as a rule, a prosperous people.

The supervisors' report for 1879 gives the number of

acres of wheat harvested during that year as 2964, the

number of bushels yielded as 65,764. May 1, 1880, there

were on the ground 3231 acres of wheat. Eleven hundred

acres of corn harvested in 1879 yielded 50,986 bushels.

Twenty-five hundred and fifty-seven sheep were sheared,

"^'" Rv Daviil Schwartz.

and gave a yield of 10,194 pounds of wool. The sheep in

the town May 1, 1880, nuiubered 2865.

INDIAN MOUNDS.

Traces of Indian mounds are alleged to have been dis-

covered in Ovid, and from a paper prepared by Dr. M. L.

Leach, of Duplain, in 1877, it would appear that at one

time a chain of mounds extended northwest and south-

east, and lay in the northern portion of Ovid and south-

ern part of Duplain,—chiefly in the latter town. Sev-

eral small mounds are supposed to have had an existence

on the Benjamin Hicks place, just wo.it of Ovid village.

About forty rods west of the centre of section 11 is

a mound measuring two and a half feet in height and

seventeen feet in diameter. Report has it that excavations

therein have revealed the presence of human bones. Pro-

ceeding towards the northwest a distance of two miles one

comes to the site, upon section 4, of a mound which is

described by those who have seen it as having been two

feet high and sixteen feet broad. It is upon the farm of

C. H. Gleason, who claimed to have dug a human skull

out of it, and to have seen, moreover, in the mound other

skulls and human bones. On the top of the mound grew

an oak-tree containing one hundred and forty-three rings

of growth. Where the relic occupied a place may yet be

designated, but the relic itself and all it contained have

long since been leveled and scattered by the plowshare.

SETTLEMENT OF THE TOWNSHIP.

Contrary to the general impression, the pioneer settle-

ment in Ovid was eifected by Samuel Barker, in July,

1836, simultaneously with the settlement in Duplain of

Oliver Bebee, with whom and John Ferdon came Barker,

as a member of the Rochester Colony and one of the

three above named, who led the van in the Colony settle-

ment. In the drawing of Colony lots Barker had drawn a

lot in section 6 of Ovid, and upon the north town-line in

that section he built a log cabin with a bark roof and

bark floor. In that cabin Barker lived, however, only

until the following December, when he moved over into

Duplain and made his home upon one of the Colony lots in

that town. As the record of his early experiences belongs

to the Colony history, it will bo found there.

Barker had no more than moved out of his Ovid cabin

than along came Allen Lounsbury, who, with William H.

Faraghar, had taken up land in July, 1836, upon sections

4 and 6 in Ovid. Lounsbury was then—December, 1836

—just in with his family, whom he had transported from

Oakland County by ox-team by way of Henry Leach's, in

Sciota, and so over the Colony road to within a mile of his

destination. Finding Barker's cabin vacant, he took pos-

session of it, and then, with the assistance of Enoch Willis,

his brother-in-law, set about building a house for himself on

section 4, where he and his wife have ever since resided,

—Ovid's oldest living settlers.

Illustrative of the difficulty encountered in obtaining

bread, Mr. Lounsbury tells the story of his setting out in

the spring of 1837 for a walk over to Laingsburg for a

supply of flour. When he reached Dr. Laing's he found

'the supply of flour there reduced to the infinitesimal
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<|uantity of nothing. Determined to keep up the search

until successful, Lounsbury continued his travels as far as

De Witt, where he got what he wanted, and then trudged

homeward with his load. He had started from home with

the intention of getting back the same day, but his absence

was extended to three days. His wife, worried by liis con-

tinued and unaccountable non-appearance, and growing

hourly more fiightened at her lonely condition, was about

to put off through the woods for the Colony when her bus.

band appeared on the scene safe and .sound, with the precious

flour secure in his grasp.

Barker was Ovid's first settler; and Lounsbury the second.

The third comer to the town and the first to the southern

portion thereof was John Cross, who in 183G located a

tract of land on section 36, and who in September, 1837,

came with his family to make a settlement. He brought a

supply of provisions sufficient to last, he thought, until the

following spring, but his calculations proved at fault, for

the larder gave out before the winter did, and then .set in

"hard times," although until then they had fared decently

enough. Many were the hungry days they passed, and

many the determined efforts they made to get a bit of meat

or flour from far-off neighbors. During the winter Law-

rence Cortright came along, axe on shoulder, bound for the

Colony, and Cross persuaded him to stop and work for him

a year, for which service he was to have eighty acres of

land. Shortly afterwards Cortright sallied out to borrow

some flour for the family, and, although he succeeded in

getting it, he had a desperate job of finding his way home.

He was absent so long that he was given up for lost, and

was about to be searched for when he turned up all right.

The Cross family thereupon fell to congratulating them-

selves that they had onee more the prospect of bread,

but directly along came llobert G. McKee and a party

of twelve surveyors, all very hungry. As badly off as

they were, the Cross family placed their hospitality before

selfish considerations, and set out before the party what

they had. The consequence was that the surveyors ate up

all there was in the hou.se, and Mr. Cro.ss and his house-

hold were once more reduced to theif usual condition of

destitution.

When Cross brought his family to his place, they found,

it is true, a cabin which Cross and his brother Thomas had

previously prepared, but it was a rough specimen of a

cabin, minus a floor and minus door as well as windows.

Being without the convenience of a bedstead, they all

slept the first few nights in the wagon-box, and being like-

wise without a stove, they prepared their meals as best

they could at a log-heap fire.

Cross, a shoemaker by trade and lame at that, found

himself by the spring of 1838 pretty thoroughly discour-

aged with the hard experience he had endured, and the

prospect of more hard work and hard times yet to a.ssail

hm. He resolved, therefore, to remove his family to the

East, and to remain with them in that country until the

vioinity of his Michigan po.sscssions should become more

thoroughly subdued by the advance of civilization. Ac-

cordingly he packed away his goods in his cabin, nailed

the latter close shut, and turned his fiice and the faces of

his people towards the rising sun. He came not again to

Ovid until 1S44, and then he found that the cabin lie

thought to rooceupy, and the household goods he thought

to use again, had been confiswited by maniuding hands,

and all he found amounted to scarcely sufficient, he re-

marked, " to swear by."

About the time Cross left the town—that is to say, the

summer of 1838—William Vansickle made a small clear-

ing and put up a cabin on the south half of section 31.

lie did not, however, continue his efforts in the matter of

clearing his land, and after a while those knowing him to

be there, and knowing that no land improvement was being

effected, began to speculate upon the character and busi-

ness of the people located there, for there were known to

be at least five pereons in the household. !Ienry Leach,

of Sciota, who was frequently engaged in the business of

looking up lands for others, had encountered the Van-

sickle cabin ill his travels, and, like others, thought there

was something queer about the place. Unlike others, he

made secret iiive.stigatiuiis, and soon satisfied hims;lf that

Vansickle was the master of a counterfeiter's den. Acting

upon his conelu.sions, Jjcaeh gave due information «t De-

troit, and a po.sse being sent out for the capture, Vansickle

and his party were surprised and taken in the very busi-

ness of manufacturing counterfeit Mexican dollars. Be-

sides Vansickle there was a woman and three men, named

Ward, Skiff, and Gridley. The woman kept house for the

party, the three last-named men performed the mechani-

cal work of manufacturing the coin, while Vansickle, the

leading spirit, charged himself with the business of dis-

posing of the fruits of their bogus dollar-factory. His

method of conveying his dollars to Detroit wa.s by means

of a black valise, which he always carried on foot, and with

which he became a tolerably familiar figure to dwellers

along the line of the State road and Grand River road,

although until his capture by the law he was regarded as

an industrious and innocent peddler. The Vansicklcs

place and the neighborliood have to this day continued to

bear the name of the Bogus settlement. John McCollom

aiid James Nelson settled upon the place in 18;!lt,and close

by them, at about the .same lime, settled also JIark and

Benjamin Brown.

Jabcz Denison came to the town in the fall of IS-'il), his

brother-in-law, Knos Kciiyon, having preceded him in the

spring. Denison became noted us a successful slayer of

bears, and killed, it is .said, iliiring his residence in Ovid

nineteen of the beast.-*, no less than four falling victims to

bis prowess on one day, the I'Jth day of February, 1845,

to wit. So .say the town reeonls. rrevioiis to Denison 's

coming Stephen I'earl had made a sctlleiiient in 1S37 upon

the site of Shepardsville, and in 1S31» William Swarlhoul

niiived to section 3(i from Victor township. To that section

eaiiH' also, in ISlt), Lawrence Cortright, lierrtofiin- mcn-

lioiii'd ii« liuviiig siiJMiiincd li'iiqMirarily in IH37 with Juliii

Cross, lie had lieeii for a couple of years at tlie Uoclic.slcr

Colony, and after abiding seven years in Ovid proceeded

eastward, whence he returned in the spring of 185.'i, fol-

lowed in the fall of the same year by Daniel Dill.s.

Among the settlers of I83'.t and 1840 were Frederick
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Cranson (upon the place occupied by John Gilbert in 1857),

Joseph Parmenter, Moses Smith, and John Voorhies. In

Cross' time Ann Arbor was the objective-point when a

journey to mill became necessary, and in Voorhies' time

Ann Arbor and Ypsilanti were his market as well as milling

towns. Mrs. Voorhies remembers her rides thither upon

loads of wheat and behind an ox-team. "The roads were

that bad and tortuous," remarks she, " that we had at times

to go three miles around a swamp to make a half a mile in

a straight cour.se, and by the time we got to Ann Arbor we

felt sure we had traveled a hundred and fifty miles."

Voorhies bought his place (on section 25) in 1839 of

David Cranson, who had entered upon its occupation in

1838 and chopped about two acres. Into his log shanty

Voorhies conveyed his family, and so desolate and wretched

a habitation did it appear that Mr. Voorhies offered the re-

mark that as a horse-stable it would be a miserable affair.

It possessed a bark roof, and as a consequence the interior

of the house was" generally afloat whenever the rains of

heaven descended upon the earth. When Mr. Voorhies

settled upon section 25, in 1840, the coutitry north of him

was a wilderness. There was not a settler in that direction

between him and Frederick Cranson, on what is now the

Gilbert place. Later to section 2-1 came Solomon Buck

and 0. Carpenter, and clo.se by John Kent, Manzey Sowles,

Dodge, and others.

Passing northward towards the Shepardsville region, re-

mark may be made that John Jessup settled in 1840 upon

the place now owned by John Miller, Enoch Willis to

section 9 (Willis had come in with Lounsbury in 1836),

and William and B. M. Shepard, who settled at what is

now Shepardsville, but which was then a trackless wild.

North of the present town of Ovid Orville Williams, a

comer to Michigan in 183(5, bought some land on section 1

in 1843, and in 1847 began chopping upon it, boarding

meanwhile with John McCarty, in Middlebury. He
chopped and cleared ten acres, and then, winter coming on,

he took a job at Sickles' mill, in Elsie, and during that

period lived with George McClintock, who had eighty acres

on section 1 in Ovid. Previous to Williams' appearance,

in 1843, one Bigelow had in 1840 made a clearing in that

vicinity, and lived there until his death in 1843. In 1850,

Williams, having been away three years, permanently re-

occupied his place on section 1, and there still abides. In

1850 there was also on section 1 one Elijah Fitch, but in

that locality settlements progressed slowly until the comple-

tion of the railway at Ovid gave to the surrounding country

a bold push forward. 'Sriuire Guile settled upon section 2

in 1856 and cut the first stick on that section. Following

upon Guile's settlement, Ueman Smith came to section 2,

John Winfield to section 3, and Oliver Hammond and Wil-

liam Hall to section 2.

The Joseph Parmenter place on the town-line was occu-

pied after Parmenter by James McGuire, and in 1852 by

John Jamison, who found one hundred acres underbrushed

and girdled and twenty acres cleared.

In 1855, Edward Potter and J. W. Welter occupied

places on section 22, which was then a wild tract. Welter

was t'-ie first one in his neighborhood, and had to cut a

road to the spot on which he proposed to make a commence-

ment. West were Christian Baker, H. C. Shiffer, Charles

Wilson, Jonathan, John, and Jacob Baer ; north were Eli

Anderson and James Davis; south, Enoch De Camp and

H. S. Ellis; and east, Ilarvey Dodge. David H. Sowles

had a saw-mill on section 14, but the country generally

round about was a dense forest. N. R. Allen made his

home in 1854 on section 32, where Layton Swarthout had

girdled twenty acres. William Ellis was on a place in sec-

tion 33, which in 1855 he sold to 1. W. Taft. Later set-

tlers in Ovid included Jacob Dunkle, D. A. Sutfin, George

Cox, W. A. Barnes, George Ramsey, C. Boyd, Josiah Mur-

dock, George W. Simpson, W. Cronk, Frederick Perkins,

Perry St. Clair, A. St. Clair, and Jackson Voorhies.

THE DAKK DAY OF 18.50.

The great forest-fires of October, 1856, worked consider-

able damage to the timber and fences in the Welter neigh-

borhood, and for ten days filled the atmosphere with smoke

and the people with apprehensions and fears. The 16th of

October is remembered as the " dark day." It was so dark

that objects at a distance of two rods could not be distin-

guished, and lights were necessary indoors. Fish in the

streams were killed, and some people, sure that the end of

the world was at hand, made haste to bury their valuables

and to make their peace with Heaven.

IIESIDENT TAX-PAYERS OF OVID IN 1840.

Acres.

Allen Lounsbury, section 4 160

Enoch Willis, section 5 80

Williiun Faraghar, section 6 2.|0

John Jessop, section 9 160

Stephen Pearl, sections 9 and 10 60

Frederick Cranson, section 16 40

Jude Carter Per.^onal

I). B. Cranson, section 26 160

William Van Sickle, section 31 160

.Tohn McCuUom, section 31 80

Jiimes Xelson, section 31 80

Eiios Kenyon, section 35 80

.Iiibez Dcnison, section 36 120

Lawrence Cortright, section 36 80

Willi.iin Swarthout, section 36 320

James Ijunsally,^' '* Lot 43," section 6 80

TOWNSHIP OKGANIZATION AND CIVIL LIST.

Town 7 north, in range 1 west, was, under act of Legis-

lature approved March 19, 1840, organized as the township

of Ovid, the name having been bestowed by William

Swarthout, who came to Michigan from the town of Ovid,

in the State of New York. The first town-meeting was

held at Stephen Pearl's house, April 22, 1840, on which

occasion fifteen votes were cast. But one ticket of candi-

dates was placed in the field, since there were not people

enough in the town to make up two tickets had there in-

deed been a disposition for it, and there was of course no

particular difficulty in declaring for the successful ones. A
full list of the officials chosen follows : Supervisor, Fred-

erick Cranson ; Clerk, Stephen Pearl ; Treasurer, John

Jessop; Justices of the Peace, William Van Sickle (four

years), Stephen Pearl (three years), John Jessop (two

years), Jabez Dennison (one year) ; Collector, David B.

Cranson ; Assessors, John Jessop, Jabez Dennison, John

MeCollum ; Highway Commissioners, William Swarthout,

* Colony Purchase.
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John Jcssop, John McCullom ; School Inspectors, Stephen

Pearl, Jabez Dennison, William Van Sickle; Constables,

Enoch Willis, Enos Kinyon, Ciiiistopher Van Devcnter

;

Overseers of the Poor, William Swarthout, Allen Louns-

berry ;
Hiiijhway Overseer in District No. 4, John Jessop;

in No. 5, William Swarthout.

One hundred and fifty dollars was voted for expenses of

the township during the ensuing year, and it was further

resolved that the next town-meeting should bo held at Ste-

phen Pearl's house. A by-law was moreover adopted to the

effect that " any person leaving syrup in the woods to the

damage of his neighbor's cattle should be liable fur all

damage." The inspectors of the election just recorded

were Stephen Pearl, Frederick Cranson, William Swarth-

out, John Jessop, and David B. Crauson.

From 1841 to 18S0 those persons elected annually to be

supervisor, clerk, treasurer, and justice of the peace were

as follows

:

SUPERVISORS.

1841. F. Cranson.

1812-43. I. V. Swarthout.

1844. S. Pearl.

1845. I. V. Swarthout.

1846-51. L. Sw.irthout.

1852-55. E. Fitch.

185C. J. Jamicson.

1857. J. B. Park.

1858. No record.

1859-61. I. W. Taft.

1841-42. J. S. Denison.

1843. S. Pearl.

1844. I. V. Swarthout.

1845. L. Swarthout.

184C-47. J. W. Cross.

1848. I. Lounsberry.

1849. Joseph Wilson.

1850. I. Lounsberry.

1851. James McGuiro.

1852. J. McGuire.

1853. J. C. Mclntyro.

1854. R. (1. Finch.

1855. A. 0. Cliai>inan.

1856-57. William Shcpard.

1858. No record.

1859. E. D. Clark.

1S62-65. W. C. Bennett.

1S66-C8. J. A. Potter.

1809-71. I. W. Taft.

1872. D. C. Uarrington.

1873. J. A. Potter.

1874-77. D. C. Harrington.

1878. J. C. E. Gumear.

1879. D. C. Harrington.

1880. S. H. Valentino.

CLERKS.

1860-61. W. C. Bennett.

18G2. J. A. Potter.

1863. J. M. Fitch.

1864. George Shepard.

1865. Thomas Hall.

1866. II. A. Potter.

1867. A. Swarthout.

1868. S. D. Haight.

1809-70. D. C. Harrington.

1871-72 F. S. Davis.

1873. C. M. Hagadorn.

1874-75. F. S. Davis.

1876-77. S. C. King.

1878. C. U. Misnor.

1879. E. De Camp.

1880. E. C. White.

1841. F. Cranson.

1842-45. J. Parmentcr.

1846. J. Cross.

1847-48. F. Crauson.

1849-51. L. Swarthout.

1852-53. J. Wilson.

1854. L. Richards.

1855-56. W. S. Ellis.

TREASURERS.

1857. E. Potter.

1858. No record.

1859-60. E. Potter.

1861-67. P. A. Winfield.

1868-73. J. li. Button.

1874-78. P. A. Winfield.

1879. L. H. Allen.

1880. P. A. Winlield.
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west corner of section 9 ; thence west on the section-line

to the southwest corner of section 6.

March 30, 1844, the town was divided into road dis-

tricts, embracing sections as follows

:

No. 1.—Sections 1, 2, and 12.

No. 2."—Sections 3, 4, 9, and 10.

No. 3.—Sections 11, 13, 14, 15, and 16.

No. 4.—Sections 5, 6, 7, 8, 17, and 18.

No. 5.—Sections 19, 20, 29, 30, 31, and 32.

No. 6.—Sections 21, 22, 27, 28, 33, 34, and 35.

No. 7.— Sections 23, 24, 25, 26, and 3G.

The annual report for 1843 gave the following: days

assessed, four hundred and fifty-nine; days returned to the

clerk, two hundred and seventy-three.

The commissioners said in their report :
" The state of

the roads and bridges in the town is bad in the extreme,

but if the jobs should be let to the amount of the back

taxes, we have no doubt but that it would be sufficient to

improve the roads. Of the rejected road-tax of 1838 it

appears that eighty seven dollars and sixty-seven cents have

been collected."

March 22, 1842, the town was set off into four road

districts. No. 1 contained twelve sections in the northeast

corner of the town ; No. 2 the remaining six sections in

the northern half of the town ; No. 3 the southwest quarter

of the town ; and No. 4 the southeast quarter.

Nov. 21, 1843, a road was laid beginning at the north-

east corner of section 1, in town 6, and running thence on

the section line to the northwest corner of section 1.

March 12, 1845, a road was laid commencing at the north-

western corner of section 6, running thence south eighty-

three degrees west nineteen chains and eighty-nine links to

the highway leading past the house of John Cross. A
road, Feb. 19, 1845, beginning at a stake standing in the

Colony road, running south forty-five degrees east to a

stake standing in the section-line and eight chains due east

of the quarter-post on the south side of section 25, in

town 7 ; thence south twenty-eight degrees fifteen chains.

A road beginning at a stake eight chains due east of the

quarter-post on the south side of section 25 in town 7,

running thence west on the section-line forty-eight chains

to the southwest corner of section 25.

The commissioners' annual report, dated April 7, 1845,

contained the following

:

Whole number of days assessed 23.5
" '* " returned 155J" " " worked 77}

District chopping out four rods wide 70 rods.
*' crosswaying 135 »*

Number of rods of crosswaying by jobs let 256
Amount of highway orders issued by commis-

sioners J223

At the time of making the report, " the state of the roads

was extremely bad."

Other early roads were laid as follows: May 23, 1845,

one beginning at the northwest corner of section 4, thence

west on the town-line twenty-two and a half chains to a

stake standing in the centre of the highway. Sept. 5,

1846, the towns of Ovid and Sciota laid out a road from

the southeast corner of Ovid north, on the principal merid-

ian, thirty-two rods, and divided the road into two equal

parts, apportioning one part to each town. Nov. 7, 1846,

a road beginning at the town-line of sections 30 and 31,

thence one mile east. The towns of Ovid and Bingham

laid out a road commencing at the corners of the towns and

running one mile north on sections 31 and 36. Dec. 4, 1847,

a road beginning at the quarter-stake on the south side of .sec-

tion 32 ; thence north on the quarter-line to the quarter-stake

of said section ; thence north on the quarter-line twenty-

seven and a half chains to a stake standing on the quarter-

line running north and south through section 17 ; thence

north on the quarter-line to the south line of G. R. Louns-

berry's land; thence east on the south line of said land

four chains seventy-one links; thence north and west six

chains fifty links to a stake standing in the centre of the

highway. Sept. 26, 1849, a road beginning at a stake

standing on the section-line between sections 5 and 8, two

chains eighteen links from the section corners west ; thence

north to the quarter-line on section 5. The same day a

road beginning thirteen chains thirty-seven links north of

where the former road ended on the quarter-line running

north to the town-line road. April 17 and 18, 1849, a

road beginning in the centre of the road on the south side

of Maple Iliver, on a line with the centre of the bridge

across said river and near the northeast corner of section

9, thence north to the north line of said section 9. A road

commencing on the section-liue between sections 28 and

29 on the south side of said sections, and running north

two miles.

SCHOOLS.

Ovid's pioneer school-house was built in 1839, upon Wil-

liam Swarthout's farm in section 36. It was constructed of

basswood logs, and within its walls Hannah Slocomb taught

the first school. The second teacher was probably Nellie

Laing. In that school-house the town enjoyed its pioneer

preaching at the hands of Revs. Levi Warner and Mr.

Blowers. Je.sse Treat, a settler in Victor, preached Wes-

leyan Methodist sermons in that school-house occasionally,

and was eventually buried within its shadows.

Aug. 19, 1840, the school inspectors formed district No.

1, and apportioned to it sections 3, 4, 9, 10, 15, 21, 22, 27,

28. May 20, 1843, a school district was organized to em-

brace portions of Duplain and Greenbush and Colony

lots Nos. 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, and 50 in Ovid. A district

was likewise formed of sections 31 and 32 in Ovid and

portions of Bingham, Olive, and Ossowa.

The annual report of fractional district No. 2, dated Oct.

10, 1841, gave the number of children in the district as

twenty-four, and the number of children between the ages

of five and seventeen as thirteen. The annual report of

fractional district No. 4, in Ovid and Ossowa, gave nine as

the number of children over five and under seventeen, and

three children under five and over seventeen, three months'

school being kept. The school records touching early

schools were imperfectly kept, and but little can be gleaned

from them. The only report concerning teachers prior to

1860 is one dated 1851, reciting the engagement of An-

geline Ladue to teach in district No. 5
;
Mary Smith, in

fractional district No. 2 ; and Hannah Wilcox, in district

No. 1.
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The annual school report for 1878 presented the sub-

joined details

:

Number of tlistriets (whole, 7 ; fractionul, 4)... 11

Number of gchuhirs of school age H)(»:i

Average attciuhincc 1105

Value of school property $lfi,H'.l2

Teacher's wages S:!,lia

The school directors for 1879 were A. R. Dayen, D. Mc-

Colluiu, II. L. Munson, JI. Nichols, Hu;_'h Swarthuiit, D.

A. Sutfin, William Hunter, William F. Hall, Joseph Har-

ris, S. J. Sutlift', and George C. Marvin.

OVID VILLAGE.

The village of Ovid, a station on the Detroit, Grand

Ilavcn and Milwaukee Railway, ten miles eastward from

St. Johns, the county-seat, is a bright and enterprising town

of about fifteen hundred inhabitants, and a point of con-

siderable manufacturing importance. There are several fine

brick business blocks in the central portion of the place, and

for many miles about this is the centre of a rural trade of

profitable proportions. The village streets are handsomely

shaded, and are, moreover, additionally beautified with many

attractive-looking homes, which are in some cases costly

and elegant.

Tiie inhabitants are abreast of the times, and engage

with niucli cntcrpri.sing spirit in the business of promoting

the interests of the village and expanding its value as a

trading and manufacturing town.

While the Detroit and Milwaukee Railway was in course

of construction J. C. E. Gumaer, of New York, and a

land-owner in Michigan, sought to have a railway-station

fixed upon the line in the township of Ovid, upon land

wliich he owned on section 11, and delegated W. II. Faxon,

of Duplain township, to consult the railway directors in

the premises. Jlr. Faxon accordingly visited H. P. Bald-

win, a leading member of the board of directors in IS.^U,

and oti'eied to donate to the company two tliousaud dollars

and five acres of land upon section 11, contingent upon the

selection of that site fur a .station. Mr. Baldwin ap])eared

to regard the proposition with favor, and promised to con-

sider it. Meanwhile B. 0. Williams had put up a .saw-mill

in Middlebury, on the railway line, one mile and a (juar-

tcr cast of where Ovid station now is, and confidently

expecting to have a railway depot assigned to tliat place

he platted a town there and began to sell village lots.

H. G. Iligham, chief engineer of the road, and Amos

Gould appeared anxious to join Williams in the enterprise,

but for some reason negotiations were not satisfactory, and,

to comiirumi.se existing differences, Williams, (Jould, and

Iligham agreed to purchase land now occupied by tlie vil-

lage of Ovid, and there, through Higham's efforts, Ovid

Station was located. Baldwin had evidently forgotten his

promise to Faxon to "consider" the latt<!r's pniposilion, for

he declined to make any sign, and the first intimation to

Faxon that the company had taken action as to Ovid was

the announced success of the Williams, Gould, and Iligham

scheme.

B. 0. Williams' plat of the village of Ovid was received

for record May 27, 1858, and embraced the .suntheast (|uar-

ter and east half of the east half of the .soulhwcst i|uaner

of section 12. Additions were made by E. N. Fitch, April

15, 1867 ; by J. Q. A. Patterson and P. C. Basi^ett, July 3,

18G7
; by Hamilton Stone, Dec. 7, 18C7; and by W. II.

Faxon, May 30, 1872, the latter addition embracing thirty

acres in the south end of the west half of the northeast

quarter of section 12.

With the prospect of a village at that point, came, of

course, an opening for a trader, and the first to embrace

the opportunity happened to be B. I. Udell, who in the

winter of 185G opened a small store, with " a handful of

goods," upon the lot now occupied by the llctan House.

As the field widened a wider enterprise tlian Udell's estab-

lishment was called for, and so, in May, 1857, W. C. Ben-

nett came along, built a commodious frame store, stocked it

liberally, and added, moreover, to his business of store-

keeping that of buying staves, wood, etc., for shipment

East, and in a little time pushed his operations to import-

ant proportions. Previous to Bennett's coming llicliard

Baylis had put up a saw-mill, and contributed in no small

degree to the general prosperous progress.

Udell, the pioneer .store-keeper, took a hurried and .some-

what dramatic departure from the place in the fall of

1857, but the village kept on growing nevertheless, and

early in 1858 received fresh impetus from the appearance

of John Burkhart and Samuel Gil.son among others, the

former of whom began the manufacture of chairs and cabi-

net-ware, and the latter the business of cooperage. The

outlook had grown at this juncture fjuite bright, and great

things were fondly expected of the new town.

After Udell's departure Bennett monopolized the store-

trade only a short time, for in the winter of 1S57 A. B.

Wood entered the field. In May, 1858, W. H. Faxon and

0. M. Pearl, store-keepers at Duplain, rented Wood's store,

formerly a dwelling-house standing upon ground now occu-

pied by the Potter Block, stocked it with goods, and engaged

John A. Potter, then from the East on a visit, to take charge

of the business, Faxon and Pearl tiiemselves remaining iu

Ovi<l. In March, 1800, .^lr. Faxon removed ]]i"rmaricntly to

Ovid to take charge of his iutercsls at that point, and directly

after his coming built upon the site of tiic present Pha>nix

Block what was then considered the best store in Clinton

County. Before that lime the commercial interests of the

village had been additionally furthered by the erection of u

grist-mill by Park & Kellogg, the opening of a hardware-

store by E. 1). Gregory, a drugstore by John Fit<;h i.who

soon sold out to Charles Farmer), and n clothing-store by

F. L. T. llasse. Tliero was, besides, considerable bu.^ineMi

in the way of tlic manufacture of cooperage, und from tlmt

time forward the commercial progress of Ovid was rapid.

Mr. lliusse, wim commenced business in Ovid as a clotiiing

merchant in August, 18511, has coniiuuud to follow the

business in the village without inlorruptioii to the pro.-v^nt

time, and is the only one of the then merchaiil.s ol Ovid

now in trade.

A village tavern wiLs built in 1S57 by J. S. Hcnni'lt, and

kept by him some time. It was called the I'ark House,

because it occupied land owned by Josiah H. Park, and con-

tinues to serve its original purpose today as the Clinton

Hou.sc.
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Tlie first brick store in Ovid was built by Anthony

Swarthout in 18G9, and leased to C. Beebe & Sons for a

drug-store, and the second by Henry Montague. The

Phoenix Block was built in 1873 by Charles Farmer, An-

thony Swarthout, W. C. Bennett, and S. C. King, and

later the Marvin, Potter, and De Camp Blocks were added

to the town's architectural features.

POST-OFFICE.

A post-ofiBee was established at Ovid in 1857, and J. B.

Park appointed postmaster. The office was kept at first

in the Park House, but soon transferred to \V. C. Ben-

nett's store. W. H. Faxon was appointed in 18G0, and in

1865 resigned in favor of Capt. A. B. Wood, who was suc-

ceeded in 1866 by L. T. Southworth, and the latter in

turn by L. C. Mead in 1868, since which time Mr. Mead

has been the incumbent.

The business of the ofiSce during the three months ending

March 31, 1880, will be found detailed in the following:

Received for sales of stumps, stamped envelope?, etc I?o8fl.fl0

" " box rents o.i.OO

Amount of money-orders issued 21G,'i..')."t

" " paid 1373.10

OVID'S PHYSICIANS.

Twenty physicians have pursued the practice of their

profession at Ovid between 1858 and 1880, and of the

twenty there are still seven in the village. The pioneer

doctor was E. V. Chase, who opened his oflBce in 1857

and remained until 1860. His field of practice is now at

Klsie, in Duplain township. Dr. S. C. King, who came

next to Dr. Chase, in 1859, has practiced in Ovid con-

tinuously ever since.

Herewith is presented a list of the names of those who

have practiced medicine in the village, the schools to which

they belonged, the date of location where it could be ascer-

tained, and duration of stay :

Name.

E. V. Chase
S. C. King
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Elder Bassett continued his pastorate until Marcb, 1866,

and after him Ecvs. J. H. Morrison, A. W. Baker, H. A.

Rose, M. Mulcahy, E. Mills, and 11. Pettit occupied the

charge. Mr. Pettit resigned in January, 1878, after a

service of nearly five years, and was succeeded by Rev.

A. Waxman, tlie present pastor.

Since 18G0 the church has received four hundred and

eight members, and retains now one hundred and twenty-

five. A. S. Rose, Nathan Ilerrick, and H. N. Mapes are

the dcticons, and II. N. Mapes superintendent of the Sun-

day-school, which has an average attendance of one hundred

and fourteen scholars and a corps of nine teachers.

FIRST CONGREflATIONAL CIIURCU.

At a meeting held at the ofiice of the Ovid Register,

Jan. 30, 1871, there were present Dr. C. V. Beebe, David

Davis, William G. Fulkerson, R. G. Young, L. C. Mead,

Frank Davis, D. H. Moore, F. L. T. Hasse, John Bennett,

John Potter, J. G. Mabbitt, H. M. Enos, M. H. Goff, D.

A. Howe, J. S. Kribbs, George C. Beebe, Harry Jlarvin,

John Q. Patterson, T. M. Scoville, and J. W. Fitzgerald.

At that meeting those present subscribed to the following

agreement:

" We, the undersigned citizens of Ovid, herewith form

ourselves intf) a temporary organization for the purpose of

conducting Congregational services in this village semi-

weekly for the n(^xt three months, and that wo will indi-

vidually assist in paying all expenses that may occur ; meet-

ings to be held in Metropolitan Hall until better accommo-

dations can be procured."

Rev. William Mulder, of Laingsburg, was engaged to

preach " for expenses and what the society saw tit to give

him." Feb. 13, 1871, a company of twenty-two persons

formed " a body for the purpose of organizing themselves

into a Congregational Church ;" and in the Baptist church,

March 3, 1871, a permanent organization was effected, on

which occasion nine persons were received into church fel-

lowship. They were C. V. Beebe, Maria D. Beebe, R. G.

Young, Jennie Young, Annie Davis, Mrs. C. A. Bennett,

Susan Beebe, Mary Ray, and 11. M. Enos. March 20,

1871, C. V. Beebe and H. M. Enos were chosen deacons;

II. G. Young clerk and treasurer ; and iMarch 28, J. C.

Darragh, George Fox, J. G. JIabbilt, and R. G. Young

trustees.

Measures were at once commenced for the erection of a

house of worship, and in 1872 it was dedicated. Rev. J. B.

Dawson being called to the pastorate. Consequent upon

the building of the church the society became financially

embarrassed, and the jiroperty being sold under a mortgage

the active history of the organization ceased for a time.

Sturdy efforts resulted, however, in the restoration of the

jirojierty and the resumption of worship, and latterly the

progress of the church has been gratifying. Rev. D. L.

Eaton is the pastor, and preaches every Sunday. Thu

deacons arc Thomas Neal, G. L. Lignian, and I. W. Drake
;

and the trustees, C. W. Marvin, L. C. Mead, Horace Brad-

ley, E. C. White, and George Sowers. There are about

seventy members in the church and one hundred scholars

in the Sunday-school, of which George Sowers is the super-

intendent.

OVID MISSION'(PROTESTANT EPISCOPAL CHURCH).

The first Protestant Epi.-:copal services held in Ovid were

conducted by Rev. Henry Bauwell, of St. Johns, Feb. 1,

18CG, and from that time occasional services were held in

Ovid by the rectors of churches at St. Johns and Owosso

until 1875, when Ovid was established as a mission, and

Rev. S. S. Chapin taking charge thereof, has remained in

charge ever since. Early services were held in the Con-

gregational and Baptist churches, later at the residence of

the rector, and now in the society's church edifice, which

was completed in July, 1880. The communicants number

twenty-five, and the church is in a flourishing condition.

THE OVID YOUNG MEN'S CHRI.STIAN ASSOCIATION

was organized March 25, 1879, with fifteen members, W.
Ifo.ss being chosen president. Jleetings are held twice

each week in Marvin Block, for prayer on Wednesday

night and Bible study on Sunday afternoon. The member-

ship is now twenty-five, and the oflicers as follows : Frank

Allen, President ; Sarah Reed, Vice-President ; Charles

Waldron, Secretary'; P. B. Smith, Assistant Secretary; D.

Doremus, Treasurer.

VILLAGE TNCORI'OU.VTION AND LIST OF
OKFICEKS.

A legislative act, approved Alarch 2 1, 1^09, provided

that " All that tract of country situated in the township of

Ovid, in the county of Clinton, and distinguished as the

southeast (piarter of section 12, the east half of the south-

west quarter of section 12, the south three-eighths of the

northeast quarter of section 12, the south three-eigliths of

the east half of the northwest quarter of section 12, the

northeast (juarter of .section 13, the cast half of the north-

west quarter of section 13, in town 7 north, of range 1

west, is hereby constituted the village of Ovid."

The first election was ordered to be held in the village

school house on the second Monday in April, 1869, and

was held accordingly April 12. Do Witt C. Harrington

and Henry C. Barber were chosen judges of election, and

L. T. Soulhworth clerk. After that the meeting adjourned

to Metropolitan Hall, where the election was held, the

whole number of votes cast being two hundred and twenty-

seven. The result of that firet election is here appended.

rilE.SIDEXT.

Iliirrv Marvin* "*
Abiic'r It. \Voo.l, Jr lUf

RECORDER.

It. II. Scoville "I'
D. C. llurringtuii* "•'

TREASURER.

JiimiokC. Darragli* ""
!•. 1.. T. lliiMO 'OT

ASSESSOR.

1'. I,. Duvi.» Il"

II. A. I'otlir
"••'•

TRUSTKh-S.

Iliiiuilton Stono* '-*

llnir.il .Mnrviii* "•'•

A. II. Diiiiliniii* I"
,j,.,,r.... !..,• „ ll«

• KlootwI.
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Samuel B. Leddick* : 115
William Rose* 115
William J. Gibbs 110
Abram Sehenck 101
John Q. Patterson 105
Anthony Swarthout 109

P. A. Voorhies 110
Alsynus E. Gray 105

At the first meeting of the council, Perry Phelps was

appointed Marshal, Kingsley Bockwith Street Commis-

sioner, Henry Cuddeback and F. A. Voorhies Fire-Ward-

ens, Perry Phelps Poundmaster, and A. B. Wood Village

Surveyor.

Herewith is presented a list of persons chosen to the

chief village offices from 1870 to 1880.

1870.—President, F. A. Voorhies ; Recorder, D. C. Har-

rington
;
Treasurer, Charles N. Cowan ; Assessor,

F. S. Davis; Trustees, Harry Marvin, L. F.

Southworth, William Rose.

1871.—President, J. H. Robson ; Recorder, B. H. Sco-

ville ; Treasurer, D. C. Harrington ; Assessor,

F. S. Davis ; Trustees, George D. Sowers, 0. H.

Corbett, and James A. Cooper, for two years
;

Harry Marvin, William Harris, and Hamilton

Stone, for one year.

1872.—President, J. H. Robson ; Recorder, B. H. Sco-

ville ; Treasurer, Brazil Marvin
; Assessor, F. S.

Davis ; Trustees, S. B. Leddick, William Rose,

J. Q. Patterson, and George Fox.

1873.—President, Hijrry Marvin ; Recorder, Charles M.

Hagadorn ; Treasurer, Brazil Marvin ; Assessor,

F. S. Davis ; Trustees, J. C. E. Gumaer, Hamilton

Stone, D. C. Harrington.

1874.—President, S. B. Leddick; Recorder, Charles M.
Hagadorn ; Treasurer, Brazil Marvin ; Assessor,

F. S. Davis ; Trustees, Thomas H. Meehan,

Harry Marvin, George C. Beebe.

1875.—President, S. B. Leddick ; Recorder, II. L. Mc-
Carty ; Treasurer, Brazil Marvin ; Assessor,

Henry M. Enos ; Trustees, F. S. Davis, Thomas

B. Southworth, J. N. Brokaw.

1876.—President, T. M. Scoville; Recorder, C. M. Haga-

dorn
; Treasurer, E. C. White ; Assessor, D. C.

Harrington ; Trustees, George W. Stickney,

Joseph Barden, Chauncey Mulock.

1877.—President, J. F. Harris; Recorder, Charles M.
Hagadorn ; Treasurer, E. C. White

; Assessor,

H. A. Potter ; Trustees, J. N. Brokaw, George

W. Wortraan, James A. Cooper.

1878.—President, D. H. Misner; Recorder, Samuel Van
Blarcom ;' Treasurer, Edgar C. White ; Assessor,

J. C. E. Gumaer; Trustees, Charles Bement,

Hugh Morgan, F. L. T. Hasse.

1879.—President, Jolin Sowers; Recorder, F. W. Lam-
phere; Treasurer, E. C. White; Assessor, D.

C. Harrington
; Trustees, F. H. Scofield, Lewis

C. Mead, Simon W. Rose.

1880.—President, Ezekiel De Camp; Recorder, C. M.
Hagadorn

; Treasurer, E. C. White ; Trustees,

H. A. Potter, George M. Edwards, Charles

Cowan.

* Elected.

MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES.

Ovid village contains among her manufacturing industries

two important enterprises, the Ovid Carriage-Works and

Robertson & Co.'s cooperage, in both of which the aggre-

gate force of men employed is upwards of one hundred.

Ovid Carriage- Works.—The senior member of the Ovid

Carriage-Works, located at Ovid, Clinton Co., Mich., Mr.

F. A. Scofield, in connection with Mr. E. A. Reed, first

began the manufacture of buggies on a limited scale during

the year 1877. Later, Mr. Reed's interest was purchased and

Mr. W. J. Danforth became a partner, remaining less than a

year, when he was succeeded by Mr. James A. Cooper, a

prosperous hardware merchant of Ovid. This partnership

has proved a very active and lucrative one. During the

brief period of nine months the business has been increased

to three times its former proportions in every department,

buildings having been erected, and machinery of the mo.st

approved character been introduced for the more expedi-

tious and perfect execution of their orders. Many cutters

are manufactured, though buggies are made a specialty,

and the superior quality of the latter is universally

conceded. Sixty men are employed in the various depart-

ments, including planing, moulding, resawing, matching,

etc., each piece being submitted to personal iu.spection be-

fore approval. The present year the business will reach

$140,000 in amount, and is regarded as the most complete

and extensive in the State in this particular branch of in-

dustry.

R. A. Robertson & Co., of New York, proprietors of the

cooperage, set their business in motion at Ovid in the sum-

mer of 18GG, and appointed John Culver to manage the

enterprise. But six men were employed at first, but the

enlargement of the business took early hold, and continued

steadily until from forty to fifty men represented the work-

ing force, and about three acres of land were required to

contain the buildings, and give yard room to the eoq-

eern. These latter statements apply to the present condi-

tion of the establishment, in which the daily product is from

two to three hundred hogsheads, barrels, etc., which are

shipped to Eastern and foreign markets. The firm is repre-

sented at Ovid by Thomas U. Meaghan, who begau as a

workman for them in 18G6, and who has been their manager

since 1873.

Ovid Flouring-Mills.—The site of Ovid's first grist-mill,

built in 1859, by Park & Kellogg, is now occupied by a

commodious three-story structure fitted with four run of

stones, and engaged largely in the manufacture of flour for

shipment to Eastern markets. Sehenck & Sowers, the pres-

ent proprietors, have been in control of the property since

March, 1878.

Dunham & Kimball started a foundry in 1865, and this

business is still pursued upon the same premises by Haight

& Guio, who took possession in March, 1878. They em-

ploy eight people, and manufacture general machine-castings.

THE PRESS OF OVID.

Ovid has two newspapers,— The Ovid Register and

Tlie Clinton and Shiawassee Union. The Register is the
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Button. William Shepard is superinteudent of the Sun-

day-school, whioh has an average attendance of fifty and

employs eight teachers.

BAPTIST CHORCU OF SlIErARBSVILLE.

April 15, 1876, a meeting was held at Shepardsville for

the purpose of organizing a Baptist Church. Among those

present were P. C. Bassett, John D. Glea.son, Jacob W.
Welter, P. A. Winfield, Thomas Sturges, I. E. Hobart,

Edward P. Castner, D. F. Aldrich, John Miller, 11. II.

Faragar, William Castner, Isaiah Castner, and Edward

Potter. The persons named subscribed to the following

:

" We who do hereby subscribe our names, anxious to do

something in an organized form to promote the Christian

religionj and to maintain the permanent worship of God

and the institutions of the Gospel in this vicinity, do or-

ganize ourselves into a society known as The Baptist Church

and Society of Shepardsville." Samuel B. Spink, Edward

Potter, John Miller, I. E. Hobart, and Thomas Sturges

were chosen trustees and Edward Potter clerk.

The Methodist Episcopal church edifice was used for

public worship until the fall of 1879, when the society's

new church was occupied. Elder P. C. Bassett, the first

pastor, was succeeded by Rev. E. V. Ney, and after the

latter came Rev. A. Waxman, who is now in charge,

preaching once each week at Ovid and Shepardsville.

There is in connection with the church a Sabbath-school,

which enjoys much prosperity.

SOUTH OVID UNITED BRETHREN CLASS.

About 1858, Eggleston and Lee, missionaries in the

United Brethren Church, visited the region known as

South Ovid and organized the South Ovid United Breth-

ren class in the Wilson school-house. There services were

afterwards held until 1869, when a change of location was

made to the Baker school-house, which was used until the

completion of the United Brethren church in 1879, upon

December 7th of which year it was dedicated. The class,

having now a llouri^liing membership of upwards of one

hundred, is on the Ovid Circuit, iu charge of llev. M. II.

Sly, and including points in Ovid, Victor, Duplain, and

Grcenbush. Preaclung is supjilied at South Ovid once

each fortnight. The class-leader is George Cox, the clas.s-

steward John M. Kosht, and the trustees Christian Baker,

George Cox, T. N. Yarger, J. M. Kosht, and L. H. Allen.

Cyrus Sherman is the superintendent of the Sunday-school,

which has an average attendance of fifty scholars and eight

teachers.

SOUTH OVID FREE METHODIST CLASS.

Tliis class was formed June, 1871, by Rev. Jolin Ellison

(in charge of the St. Johns Circuit) in a grove upon Seba

Squires' farm. The organizing members numbered nine,

of whom Jeremiah Cox was class-leader. Since tliat time

regular services have been held in South Ovid. School-

houses and residences of class- members were used until

1879, when a house of worship was built, and in July of

that year dedicated. There is preaching once in two weeks

by Rev. G. 11. Joslyn, in charge of St. Johns Circuit, and

prayer-meeting on alternate Sundays. Seba Scjuires is the

62

leader of the class, which has a membership now of twenty.

Seba Squires is likewise superintendent of the Sabbath-

school, which enjoys a flourishing existence.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

EZEKIEL DE CAMP.

On the occasion of Gen. Lafayette's presence in the

United States as the champion of freedom, he was ac-

companied by the paternal grandfather of Mr. Be Camp
(Ezekiel), who also shared with him the dangers of battle

in the cause of the Republic. He served under Gen.

Knox, and participated in both the battles of Monmouth

and Long Island. His maternal grandfather, Stephen

Austin, was present, and .assisted in disposing of the mem-

orable cargo of tea in Boston harbor, and died in Orleans

Co., N. Y. The father, Enoch De Camp, was born iu

Somerset Co., N. J., in 1784, and at the age of thirty

years engaged actively in the war of 1812 under Gen.

Winfield Scott, and participated in the battle of Lundy's

Lane, as well as other important engagements. His death

occurred at Ovid at the advanced age of eighty-four years.

His wife, Mrs. Eliza De Camp, who survived him less than

two years, died at the age of .seventy-nine.

Ezekiel De Camp, the brief sketch of whose life is here

given, was a native of Tyrone, Steuben Co., N. Y'., having

been the tenth and youngest child of his parents, who four

years subseijuent to his birth removed to Reading, in the

same county. He was at an early age thrown upon his

own resources, and until twenty-two years of age followed

farming pursuits, varied by such advantages as the primi-

tive schools of the day afforded. He then repaired to

Michigan and puichascd a farm in ^'ictor, and the follow-

ill" year an unimproved farm in Ovid. The township then

displayed very few evidences of the settler's presence.

There were no roads on his arrival, and the market for

wheat was reached only alter a tedious ride of one hundred

miles lo Detroit. On the 8th of February, 1S.J7, Mr.

De Camp was married to Miss Polly E., daughter of John

L. and Lois Cross, who were among the early pioneere to

Ovid. They have had three children,—C. C, A. P., and

Autha.

Mr. De Camp has held mariy important village and

township offices, among them tho.se of town.ship clerk.

hi"hway commissioner, president of the village, and mem-

ber of the board of education, in which last position he

has served the public for eight yeain. In politics he is an

ardent ]{cpubliean. lie is the senior member of tlie exten-

sive firm of Do Camp & Stiekney. lie was also (ho

founder of the firm of Potter, Beatlie & Co., and has been

during his business career one of the m<i.Ht reliable and

popular of the mercantile representatives of the village.

He has matle many iinjirovemeiit.s in the township anil

village.
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B. M. SIlEl'ARD.

'

MRS. EI.IZAHETII SHE^AUD. MKS. MATILDA SHEPARD, (DEC'd.).

B. M. SHEPARD.

Samuel and P]unice Duke Shepard were the parents of

two children, William and B. M., the latter of whom was
born in Saratoga County, Nov. 24, 1816. When six years

old the family removed to Yates Co., N. Y., and at the

early age of nine years lie met with an irreparable loss in

the death of his mother. He pursued his studies until

twenty years of ago, and at the age of twenty-two was mar-

ried to Miss Matilda Stilwell, of Erie Co., Pa. Eight

children were born to them. Mr. Shepard removed to

Ohio and remained ten yeans, after which he repaired to

Pennsylvania. In 18G1, at the solicitation of his brother,

he came to Ovid Centre and began the improvement of a

farm of sixty acres, for which he had previously effected

an exchange. He later engaged in the purchase and ship-

ment of live stock, his neighbors trusting him for the first

investment made in the enterprise. He was also a large

speculator in grain, and as the result of his various ven-

tures became the owner of three hundred and twenty acres

of land, which he later disposed of and retired from active

business pursuits. In politics Mr. Shepard is a Democrat,

though liberal in his opinions. Having been afflicted in

1874 by the loss of his wife, he in 1878 was married to

Mrs. Elizabeth Gates, daughter of William and Rachel

Green, who is of English extraction, and came to Clinton

I
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County in 1846. Mr. Shepard is still a resident of Shcp-

ardville, and his children all reside in Michigan. Durinp;

this time Mr. Shepard has resided on his farm, which he

has successfully managed.

Dll. SOLON C. KING.

The father of the subject of this brief biography, Mager

King, was born in Sodus, Wayne Co., N. Y., in 1804, and

later married Miss Caroline Graves, of Wilioughby, Ohio.

They were the parents of seven children, Solon having

SOLON C. KING.

been the third in order of birth. Austinburg, Ohio, was

the place of his nativity, and the date June 12, 18l!0. He

was a pupil at the school of the district of his residence

until twelve years of age, when he entered the Grand

Kivor Institute in Austinburg, and remained four years,

after which he repaired to the home of his grandfather in

Vernon, Shiawassee Co., for a brief period, and there

assisted his father in farm labor. Later he became clerk

for John Owens & Co., of Detroit, where he remained

four years, when the study of medicine occupied his atten-

tion. He first repaired to Vernun, and later finished his

course at the Medical Department of the University of

Michigan, where he graduated after a career involving three

year.s. In 18(10 he established himself in the practice of

his profession at Ovid, which was then but a mere hamlet.

In 1871 he formed a copartnership with Samuel S. Moore

in the business of drugs and medicines, and two years later

jiurchascd the interest of his partner, having since con-

ducted the business alone. lie had enjoyed prior to his

business venture an extended practice, which was nban-

(Idiud for the less arduous labors of the store. In 1H61

Dr. King was married to Mrs. Jj. J. Longeor, wlio had two

children by a previous marriage. Addie is now Mrs.

Charles Cowan, and Frances is Mre. F. W. Lamphirc. Dr.

King is an ardcDt Democrat in his political convictiong, and

was during the year 1877 the successful candidate for the

office of county clerk.
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The sis miles stjuare of territory known as Olive town-

ship is designated in the governmental survey as town G

north, range 2 west. Its boundaries are Bingham on the

north, De Witt on the south, Victor on the east, aud Ililey

on the west. The surface of the town is generally level,

and although marked in numerous places with tracts of

swamp-land, presents a remarkable improvement in that

respect over the condition of things prevalent twenty or

more years ago, when swamps were much larger and much

more plentiful than now.

The producing capacity of the soil is something beyond

the common, and in respect to the growth of wheat Olive

ranks high. Tlio town contains no manufacturing in-

dustry, has but one church building, no village, nor yet a

post-office. There is, however, a large amount of wealth

in the community, aud aflfairs are generally in a prosperous

condition.

EAKLY SETTLEMENTS AND SETTLERS.

During the month of October, 183G, Peter Mcrrihow

and his sons, Adam and John W., were looking through

Michigan for land-locations, and coming to De Witt met one

Mr. Webb, who piloted them into the town now called

Olive. So well pleased were they with the country there

that they selected eleven eighty-acre lots upon sections 5,

C, 7, 8, 9, and 10. Tlioy returned then to Livingston

County, and awaited the coming of their families from

Ulster Co., N. Y. In November came their families, and the

family of Kpliraini Morrihcw, who was also a .son to I'ctor.

The lir.st to push on to Olive was Kphraim, who, with his

wife and children, entered the town in January, 1837, and

made a conimencenient upon section 5. On the same day

came also to the town Orange Ferguson and his family, and

occupied a place ou section 18, near Muskrat Lake. Kjih-

raim Mcrrihcw's father came with him and gave a.-wiiNtaiico

in jiuttiiig up a cabin, Ephraiiu's family abiding meanwhile

at De Witt. Continuing the record of the Merrihew settle-

ment, which was an important and numerous one, mention

is ne.vt of the coming of John W. .Merrihew and his family

in June, 1837, to section 5. Where he built his first cabin

Mr. Merrihew luis lived ever since, the oldest living settler

to-day in Olive. In July, 1837, the elder Merrihew, who

had been living in Wayne (bounty, made also a .Kctllcment in

Olive, in company will) bis sun Adam. Adam made bis stand

• Itj Darid Sohoarti.
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upon section 7, while his father began his clearing on sec-

tion 5. In 1838 yet another son, Benjamin, came on with

a family and joined the pioneer band on section 7, where

he set up the pioneer blacksmith-shop in the town. Nehe-

miah, the fifth son, unmarried when he came to the town

with his fiither, married in due season and settled on sec-

tion 8.

It will be seen from the foregoing that the Merrihew

families were sufiiciently numerous to give the town a good

start, for they numbered at least six voters, nearly as many

as some of Clinton County's towns started their township

organizations with. Of those here mentioned the elder

3Ierrihew died on his Olive farm in 1860 at the age of

eighty-four. John W. and Benjamin are still living in the

town. Ephraim lives in Wayne County, Nehemiah in

Bingham township, and Adam in Maple Rapids.

I'eter Merrihew was a man of some means for that

day. He not only brought a few thousand dollars west

with him, but he made a lucky speculation on some Wayne

County land, which he bought for a pair of horses and sold

soon after for two thousand dollars, so that when he en-

gaged in his western pioneering he was well provided

against the privations and hardships that beset the average

pioneer. He is believed to have brought to the town the

first horse-team seen therein, and to have built the first

fiaiued barn. Benjamin Merrihew, who set out to accom-

modate the settlers with a smithy, did so to good purpose,

as far as they were concerned, but there were not people

enough in the community to encourage his enterprise satis-

factorily, and so after a brief experience he abandoned it.

He did cousiderable business in the way of hauling in sup-

plies from Detroit and other places, and used to go to mill

to North ville for all hands frequently. In 1838 he was

called upon to go to Northville to buy twelve barrels of

flour, but the roads were so bad he declared it to be absurd

to think of making the trip with an ox-team. He volun-

teered, however, to foot it to Northville, and hire some one

else to bring the flour back. So foot it he did, a distance

of upwards of eighty miles, bought twelve barrels of flour

at twelve dollars a barrel, and bargained to pay two dollars

a barrel additional for their transportation to Do Witt,

whence he hauled them to Olive with his own team.

Referring to the matter of roads, the town of Olive was

quite badly off' in that respect when the Merrihews made

their settlement. When Benjamin was moving in he was

mired when within a few miles of his destination, and after

several ineffectual attempts to extricate his team, he and

his wife went forward afoot to the settlement for assistance.

At that, with all the assistance he could get, lilerrihew was

a good while getting his oxen out of their predicament.

At this time the road on which the Merrihews located had

been worked some as a State road, but beyond some under-

brushing no effective labor had been expended. When
John came in he found the traveling terribly tedious, and

between passing around marshes and miring in apparently

safe spots the miles were long and the work hard. John

started for the Colony mill one day, and hud not gone far

when he found himself fast in the mire. Seeing a man

hard by thrashing wheat with a pair of oxen,—the feet of

oxeu were in those days the thrashers and the earth the

thrashing-floor,—he got the assistance of his team, to no

good purpose, however, since he emerged from his troublous

position only when a third pair of cattle came upon the

scene and were pressed into service. Reports go as far even

as to say that teams used in some cases to be mired a whole

day, and that, unable to extricate themselves or to be ex-

tricated, they were left there to perish.

Orange Ferguson, of whom mention has been made,

built Olive's pioneer saw-mill,—and indeed the only mill

of any kind the town has ever had,—near Muskrat Lake,

about 1843. It was composed of hewn logs, and for its

irons Ben Merrihew made a journey to Detroit.

On the south line of the town Alexander Calder made a

settlement early in the year 1837 upon section 31. He
came to the town in the fall of 1835, and bought his land

of Capt. Scott. In May, 1836, he brought his family to

De Witt, and worked a year for Capt. Scott. In May,

1837, he occupied his Olive place. He was the first to

settle in that portion of the town. The next year he was

joined by Harvey Alexander, who made also a settlement

on the town-line. From that neighborhood the settlers in

Olive in the early days attended church and enjoyed school

privileges in either De Witt or Riley. North of the south

town-line Atwell Simmons, a resident in Riley, made an

improvement in Olive upon section 30, and in the winter

of 1837 and 1838 put in there three and a half acres of

wheat, from which he gathered the next summer one hun-

dred and twenty-six bushels, or an average of thirty-six

bushels per acre. Wheat-thrashers at that time were oxen,

and although they were slow in the performance of the

duty, and the method itself not of the most satisfactory

kind, it had to answer, and did answer very decently until

something better came to hand.

Peter Ennest, .son-in-law to Peter Merrihew, who had

come with the latter to Olive in the fall of 1836, then se-

lected some land on section 10, and in 1838 came with his

brother-in-law. James Ennest, to make a permanent location,

James settling upon section 5. In 1839, Daniel Ferguson

—brother to Orange Ferguson—located on section 17.

During his residence in Olive he served one term as county

treasurer.

In 1839, Nathan Smith came from New York and located

upon a place on the De Witt and Colony road, one and a half

miles south of Orange Ferguson's. This thoroughfare,

known now as the Lansing and St. Johns road, was then

simply an underbrushed highway. On that road in Olive

there was then no settler between Smith and George Kin-

ney, on the south townl-ine. Half a mile north of Smith

was Henry Leuts, just north of him his brother Hopkins

Leuts, and just north of the last was the father, Peter.

Next north was Daniel Ferguson, then Orange Ferguson,

and so northward to Ransom lleed, Benjamin Merrihew,

and Ephraim Merrihew.

The De Witt road became after awhile a much-traveled

thoroughfare, and about 1853 was opened as a mail- and

stage-route between Lansing and St. Johns via De Witt.

The volume of travel called, of course, for taverns, and the

first to respond was Myron Wolcott, who kept in a shanty

what he was pleased to call " The Half-Way House," in
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recognition of the f;ict that it was midway between De Witt

and St. Johns. Later Wiilcott's sliaiit}' was supjihinted by

a more pretentious edifice, which still does duty as a way-

side inn on section 17. About the time Wolcott opened

his tavern Orange Ferguson followed suit with a second

hostelry at Muskrat Lake. Two miles south of Wolcott's

a Frenchman named J. P. Russell set up a tavern-stand,

and hard by John Huits had what he was pleased to call a

brewery. Russell called his place " The Traveler's Home,"

and the presumption is fair that the travelers who sojourned

beneath Ru.ssell's hospitable roof were fortunate in being

within such easy reach of soothing beer wherewith to mois-

ten their clay. Of the taverns mentioned none are left to

cheer and refresh the weary wayfarer save the one occupy-

ing the site of Wolcott's old stand. As before remarked,

a mail- and stage-route was established upon the road, and

daily a four-bor.se coach bowled merrily over its smooth

surface, while general travel of considerable consequence

animated and enlivened to no small degree the stretcli of

country that bordered the highway. When a post-office

was established John Norris was appointed postmaster.

When the Detroit and Milwaukee Railroad was pushed as

far westward as St. Johns, the mail-route over the De AVitt

road was abolished, and the post-office in Olive discontinued.

Some time afterwards it was revived and the office given to

Nancy Rouns. Her successor was Alonzo Huntoon, the

tavern-keeper, who retained the place until 1875, when the

government decided again to cut Olive from the list of post-

offices, and since that day the town has had no mail con-

veniences within its borders.

IiKjuiries touching the first birth and first death in

Olive have failed, although diligently pursued, in pro-

ducing satisfactory conclusions. The first marriage in the

town may, however, be noted as having been that of Hor-

ace S. Green to Mary Ann, daughter to Peter Merrihew.

The ceremony was performed by Rev. Lewis Coburn, a

Methodist Episcopal preacher, in the year 18159, at the

hou.se of the bride's father. The occasion was naturally a

notable one, and the signal for the gathering of a goodly

company and the prevalence of a season of merry enjoy-

ment.

Early log cabins were built with what were called single

roofs. The first cabin that boasted a double roof was the

one built by Peter Merrihew. Guy Wilcox built the first

framed house, which Peter Merrihew bought and moved to

his own place. Wilcox had also an ashery, and between

pioneering and making potash kept himself busily cm-

ployed.

Boar-hunta were common pastimes, an<l bcar-lmnlers of

more than ordinary skill won much local lame. A noted

bear-hunting party was composed of Adam, I'lphraini, and

John Merrihew and Linus Gillett. They hunted a hear

which had the night before raided and carried off a settler's

hog. The hunt was detern)ined and protracted, but it

terminated in Bruin's capt\ire and a general rejoicing all

around. Capturing bears by means of dead-falls was, how-

ever, the favorite and most successful method, and at this

Horace Green was exceedingly adejit and lucky. Joiin W.

Merrihew tells of taking part in a bear-hunt in whiih the

bear was shot dead in a tree, and there remained stuck fast

until the tree was felled to dislodge him. He was a large

animal, and yielded five pailfuls of fat.

The early history of Olive was somewhat painfully im-

pressed with the lawless exploits of one Fletcher, and his

subse(jucnt expulsion from the town. He pretended to be

a blacksmith, but devoted himself chiefly to laying unlaw-

ful hands upon the property of his neighbors, and working

grievances in manifold ways. Tiring of his ordinary

methods of deviltry he took to poisoning the cattle of his

fellow-citizens, and at this latest and sharpest demonstration

of sin the community rose eii innsse and vowed that he

must be made to feel the sharp sting of public vengeance.

Previous punishments had been inflicted upon him and

warnings of greater wrath to come had reached him, but

at this time general opinion inclined to the belief that pa-

tience had ceased to be a virtue, and desperate measures

were accordingly resolved on. An indignation meeting was

held, and after a brief and hurried discussion of the situa-

tion it was proposed to lynch the sinful Fletcher, and

further proposed to draw lots to see who should have the

distinguished honor of leading the expedition and striking

the first blow. One of the members of the party was indi-

vidually so anxious to be chief in Fletcher's taking off that

he suggested the postponement of drawing cuts, since he

himself would take the job of killing the wicked Fletcher,

and would further guarantee that the killing should be done

promptly and effectually. Unfortunately for his ambition,

word was .soon brought that Fletcher had been captured by

officers of the law and conveyed to the county jail. There-

upon the company resolved not to lose all chance for s;Uis-

fyiiig their vengeance, disguised themselves as a parly of

Indians, and moving rapidly upon Fletcher's house, utterly

destroyed it. His family fled for their lives and sought

shelter in De Witt, but they were in such bad odor that no

one would take them in, and .so they pre.s.sed on, nobody

knows whither. There was some talk of moving upon the

jail, dragging Fletcher forth, and lynching him anyway, but

discussion ]iroved the plan impolitic and it wits abamloned.

Its abandonment was probably afterwards regretted when,

having been in jail but a short time, Fletcher made good

his escape therefrom and fled to other scenes. Nolliing

more was heard of him after that for some years, when it

was told that in the Far West he had been run over and

killed by a railway-train.

Among the jjionecrs of Olive canic David G. Wilsoy, in

18!!!), to section 'Jti, where he lived until 1811, and then

removed to a place on section Il'i he had bmight of |)jivid

Scott, who had improved forty acres of the tract. When

Wilsey located upon section 2(i his nearest neighbor was

more than a mile distant, and in 1814 his noiglilMir

I

on the town-line was Charles liCnt, who livi-d we.sl of

I
him. Wilsey used to go to Owos.so lo mill, and allhougli

i
it was a trip ol' fifty miles, he was not so badly off in that

respect as some of his fellow-settlers farther west. Cnsli

for "rain was not to be had short of Pclroit, and to that

I
point ho had to go when he wanted money for wheal. I,ii-

boring for ollicrs frei|nenlly, lie ctmld always get pay in

L'raiii and provisions but no money. Having accumulalod
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at the De Witt mill as many as a hundred barrels of flour,

he hauled the lot a hundred miles to the Detroit market,

and got only three dollars a barrel for it after all,—not much
more than it cost him to get it there. As an illustration

of how she bore her share of pioneer burdens, Mrs. Wilsey

relates that when, shortly after their coming to the town,

Mr. Wilsey was takeu down sick, she used to go twice a

day for drinking-water a mile distant from her cabin, did

her cooking at a stump out-of-doors, had nothing better

than a blanket for a door and sheet for a window, and lay

many a night trembling all night long at the doleful howls

of wolves, who made the darkness hideous with their

mu.sic.

Linus Gillett, who was a settler in Olive in 1840, settled

in the State in 1829, and claimed that his was the first

family to occupy the present site of the city of Jackson.

His settlement in Olive was made upon section 3, where

now lives J. W. Outcalt, whose father occupied the place

in 1854. Into the Merrihew neighborhood Edward Ennest

was a comer in 1838, as were the Norris families in 1840.

John Parks (who settled in the State in 1838), Addison

Cook, William Van Dyke, M. D. Tabor, Thomas Reed (a

comer to the State in 1834), and William Sperry, were

among the moderately early settlers in Olive. William

Dills, who entered the State in 1842, made a location in

1852 upon the south town-line in Olive in section 32,

the place being the one originally settled by George Kin-

ney. West of Dills, on the town-line in Olive, were then

Harvey Alexander, Alonzo Calder, and Thomas Reed ; but

east of him there was nobody nearer than Wilsey 's, on sec-

tion 35. Later came L. W. Sibley and H. G. Dills, on

.section 33, and Warren Ives in 1854 to a place on section

36, where Amasa Bugbce had been an earlier settler.

R. W. Holly made his home on section 26 in 1852, and
made it, too, in the midst of a forest. His nearest neigh-

bor was the widow Rathburn, forty rods south. William

Van Looven was one and a half miles south and east, and
in the southeast quarter of the town in 1852, Wilsey bein"-

in California, Van Looven and Holly were the only voters.

In 1855, William Blizzard settled upon section 19, on the

west town-line, and at that time section 19 had but two
other .settlers,—B. F. Ware and Samuel Knapp. Oliver

and Thomas Knapp came to section 29 in 1854. North-
ward Blizzard had no neighbors on the east side of the

line. Southward were Samuel Knapp, George Simmons,
Jonathan Mosher, and Joseph Thomas. Off in the eastern

portion of the town Eunice Carpenter came with her sons

George, Benjamin, and Jackson, in 1856 to section 24.

The surrounding country was a forest, and to get to their

place they had to cut out a road. Even then they could not
get through because of the swamps, and had to "o back to

R. W. Holly's, where they stopped until, after some con-

siderable delay, a roadway was constructed to their new
abode. In the Carpenter neighborhood William Rheubot-
tam settled upon section 23 in 1859, when the best public

highway in the vicinity was an underbrushed road through
the woods. John Jones and Abram Middleton were in

the vicinity, as were M. Black and L. I). Chadwick. P.

F. Francisco and Alonzo Hamilton came later. On section

1, Marshall Hand was a settler in 1854; west of him came

A. G. Foote at a later date ; still farther west Ira Gage
made a location on section 4 in 1854,—his residence in

Michigan dating from 1826 ; and west of him still, Wil-
liam Sperry and M. Picktril located about the same time.

KESIDENT TAX-PAYERS OF OLIVE IN 1841.

TT- -r.
Acres.

Hiram Burgess, section 1 no
Linus Gillette, section .! 120
Peter Ennest, section 10 go
John M. Merrihew, sections 9,10 ]60
Peter Merrihew, sections 4, 970
George A. Merrihew, section .*> 120
E. S. Merrihew, section S 120
Benjamin Merrihew, section 7 80
Isaac L. Austin, section 5 50
Ransom Rees, section 7 2.32
Orange Ferguson, sections 7, 8, 18 2;f8
I>anicl Ferguson, sections 18, 17 120
H, .S. Green, sections 5, 17,8 2fi0
James Ennest, section 17 60
Harvey Alexander, section :jl 160
Nathaniel Moon, section '^2 80
George Kinney, section 32 80
Nathan Smith, section 20 120
Alexander Calder, sections 31, 32 120
Henry Leuts, section 20 40
Hopkins Leuts, section 20 50
David G. Wilsey, section 26 120
Peter Leuts, section 20 30

THE TREASUKER'S REPORT FOR 1841.

March 22, 1842, the town treasurer presented his annual

report for 1841, in which he set forth that he had received

from the county treasurer $252.30 ; that he had paid out

for highway work S202.09 ; and that there were in the

treasury S50.71. Further, that he had received from the

town collector S79.89 for town expenses, and that of that

amount S22.49 still remained in the treasury.

VOTERS IN THE TOWNSHIP IN 1844.

The oldest recorded list of voters in Olive bears date

1844. Those who voted at the election held that year

numbered forty, and were named Adam Merrihew, Boyce
Penden, Peter Merrihew, Philip Coon, Peter Ennest,

Orange Eddy, Perry Armstrong, David Groom, James En-
nest, Benjamin Merrihew, Daniel Ferguson, M. W. Pike,

Alonzo Groom, Richard Ferguson, Isaac Parks, John
Groom, Jr., Arvin Groom, Edward Ennest, Harvey Alex-

ander, George Henry, Horace S. Green, Addison W. Cook,

John W. Merrihew, Alexander Calder, N. S. Merrihew,
D. G. Wilsey, Nathan Smith, Linus Gillett, Daniel Fergu-

son, Jr., Orange Ferguson, Guy N. Wilcox, Smith Penden,
Ransom Reed, E. S. Merrihew, Sidney Leuts, William In-

galls, Peter Nelson, Moses Tabor, George H. Cook, George
Kinney.

JURORS IN 1849.

The jurors in 1849 included Harvey Alexander, Alexan-

der Calder, Orange Ferguson, Linus Gillett, E. S. Merri-

hew, and J. W. Merrihew as grand jurors, and H. S. Green,

A. W. Cook, L. D. Rathburn, Adam Merrihew, 0. S. Stod-

dard, and Perry Armstrong as petit jurors.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION.

Town 6 north, range 2 west, was, by act of Legislature

approved March 20, 1841, detached from De Witt, and
organized as a separate township, under the name of Olive.

The name was given it by the Merrihews at a meeting held
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at Orange Ferguson's fur the purpose of christening the

proposed new organization. Orange Ferguson wanted to

name it after his daughter, but the Merrihews iuclined to

the name of the place in New York whence they had

come to Michigan, and being in the majority they carried

the day, wherefore " Olive" was sent in to the Legislature

along with the petition for organization.

According to public notice the first town-meeting was

held at the house of Kansom Kecd, April 5, 18-11. Daniel

Ferguson, John W. Merrihcw, Orange Ferguson, Hiram

Burgess, and Harvey Alexander were inspectors of election.

Eighteen votes were cast, and the following persons chosen

to the various oflBces : Supervisor, Daniel Ferguson, Sr.

;

Clerk, John W. Merrihew ; Treasurer, George A. Merri-

hew; School Inspectors, John W. Merrihew, Hiram Bur-

gess, Alexander Calder ; Assessors, Hiram Burgess, Horace

S. Green, Alexander Calder ; Justices of the Peace, Hiram

Burgess, Orange Ferguson, Alexander Calder; Highway

Commissioners, John W. Merrihew, David G. Wilsey

;

Constables, Isaac L. Austin, Ephraim S. Merrihew, Na-

thaniel Moore ; Overseers of Highways, Peter Ennest,

Ephraim Merrihew, Ransom Heed, Henry Leuts, George

Kinney.

CIVIL LIST OF OLIVE.

Herewith is presented a list of persons chosen to the

chief township offices annually from 1842 to 1880

:

SUPERVISORS.

1842-46. D. Ferguson, Jr.

1847-49. J. W. Merrihew.

1840. II. Alexander.

1851-52. J. W. Merrihew.

185.3-55. A. Calder.

1856. R. S. Coshun.

1857-61. B. F. Ware.

1862. R. S. Coshun.

186;i. S. M. Ale.\ander.

1842. F. R. Reed.

184.3. J. W. Merrihew.

1844. G. N. Wileo.x.

1845-46. J. W. Merrihew.

1847-53. 0. Ferguson.

1854-55. R. S. Coshun.

1856. Ira Uage.

1857. 0. Ferguson.

1858-59. 0. li. \Vi.\on.

1864. B. F. Ware.

1865-66. S. M. Alexander.

1867. R. Reed.

1869. R. Young.

1868-71. A. Story.

1872. R. Young.

1873-79. M. Hand.

1880. T. W. Baldwin.

CLERKS.

1860-62. P. Howe.

1863. E. D. Clark.

1864-65. W. H. II. Knapp.

1866-72. M. Hand.

1873-76. W. L. Brown.

1877-78. T. W. Baldwin.

1879. E. Locher.

1880. G. R. Simmons.

TREASURERS.

1842. J. W. Merrihew. 1865. G. A. Merrihew.

1843. J. O. Cagwin. 1866. R. Young.

1844. P. Armstrong. 1867. A. C. Preston.

1845-50. E. S. Merrihew. 1S08-70. M. L. Alexander.

1851-53. R. Heed. 1871-78. (i. R. Simmons.

1854-56. William Dills. 1879-80. A. L. McWelhey.

1857-64. R. Reed.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

1812. F. R. Reed. 1S5I. N. Baker.

1843. 0. Ferguson. 1852. F. Preston.

1844. R. Reed. 1853. U. R. Owen.

1845. D. Ferguson, Jr. 1854. A. Ciildor.

1846. A. Calder. 1855. R. W. lluUy.

1847. J. Sumner. 1856. P. Howe.

1848. F. R. Reed. 1867. A. (lillot.

1849. M. IIu.«ton. 1858. Ini Gage.

1850. A. Calder. 1859. R. W. Holly.

1860. P. Howo.

1861. A. Calder.

1862. L. Howe.

1S63. F. Preston.

1864. William Dills.

1865. N. Lcmin.

1866. James Tubbs.

1867. F. Preston.

1868. U. Rowen.

1869. E. Brink.

1870. J. M. De Witt.

1871. E. Ciwc.

1872. P. Howe.

1873. Lewis lebell.

1874. P. Kyc».

1875. P. Uowc.

1876. A.Gillct.

1877. P. Howe.

1878. L. S. Rue.

1879. W. C. Lankton.

1880. Z. Sexton.

niGinvAvs.

The first road laid in town (now Olive) was recorded

March 23, 1838, in -the highway records of the town of

De Witt as having been laid by O. Ferguson and William

A. Hewitt, commissionere of highways. The road com-

menced at the northeast corner of section 18 and extended

thence east on section-line to the northwest corner of sec-

tion IG, and thence south and east to the quarter post on

the east line of section 24.

Road No. 2, recorded June 28, 1839, was laid by John

Gould and Harvey .Mexander. It commenced at the south-

west coiner of section 32 and ran north to the northwest

corner of section 29. No. 3, recorded Feb. 19, 1839, ex-

tended from the northeast corner of section 9 westward to

the north line of section 7. No. 4, recorded the same date,

commenced ten chains north of the southwest corner of

section 8 and extended north to the northwest corner of

said section. No. 5 commenced twenty chains west of the

southeast corner of section 34 and ran north twenty chains.

No. G commenced at the northeast corner of section 31 and

extended thence south one mile to the southeast corner of

said section. No. 7 began at tlie quarter post on the south

line of section 4 and pa.ssed thence north two and one-half

degrees west to the quarter post on the north line of .said

section. No. 8 extended from the northwest corner of sec-

tion 34 to the southwest corner of said section. No. 9 was

laid by the commissioners of De Witt and liingliani, and

commenced at the southwest corner of section 32, town 7,

extending thence eastward to the east line of the town.

The roads above mentioned were laid while town li was

attached to De Witt.

The town was divided into road districts in 1842 a.s fol-

lows: No. 1 to comprise sections 1, 2, 3, 10, 11, 12. No.

3 to contain the south halves of sections 7, 8, 9, the wliolo

of sections 13, 14, 15, IG, 17, 18, 22, the west half and

the northeast quarter of section 23, and the wiiolc of 24.

No. 2 had sections 4, f), G and the north halves of 7, 8, 9.

No. 4 had .sections 20, 21, 28, 29 and the iiiirllioa.st quar-

ter and east half of the northwijst quarter of 32. No. 5

had sections 19, 30, 31, tlie south and west halvtM of tho

northwest quarter of 32, and the .southwest and the iiorlh-

wcst quarters of 33. No. G had .sections 25, 2G, 27, tlio

east half of section 33, the southeast quarter of section 23,

and the whole of sections 31, .35, and 3(1.

A]i]>cndi'd is a list of the persons subject to work on the

highways in 1842

:

Di.strict No. 1.—Linus Gillcl, Peter ivincst, William l>.

Davis, Hiram Hurgcss.

No. 2.—J. W. .^Ierrillew, IVlor Merrihew, N. S. Merri-

hew, E. S. Merrihew, James Enncjtl, I. L. Austin, 0. A.

Merrihew.
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No. 3.—Ransom Reed, Orange Ferguson, Daniel Fer-

guson, Jr., Daniel Ferguson, Sr., Richard Ferguson, Hor-

ace S. Green.

No. 4.—Peter Lutes, Henry Lutes, Hopkins Lutes, Sid-

ney Lutes, Nathan Smith.

No. 5.—Alexander Calder, Harvey Alexander, Nathaniel

Moore, George Kinney, Richard Kinney, M. W. Pike.

No. 6.—David G. Wilsey, F. R. Read.

SCHOOLS.

The first school taught in Olive was doubtless the one

of which Harvey Alexander's daughter was the teacher.

The school-house was put up in the Merrihew settlement,

about one mile west of John Merrihew's. Nathan Smith's

daughter, Mary, taught in 1840 a subscription-school, just

north of the Ferguson settlement, in a log cabin built by

Ransom Reed for a dwelling-house. Miss Smith's school

lasted three months, and gave instruction to fifteen scholars.

It is held by some that hers was the pioneer school. If

not the first, it was surely the second.

The township board of school inspectors organized May

15, 1841, by choosing Hiram Burgess chairman. Their

first business was to organize with the inspectors of Bing-

ham, Ossowa, and Ovid fractional district No. 2 of Ovid,

which comprised sections 1, 2, and 12 in Olive and por-

tions of the other towns named.

At a meeting, October 12, 1841, district No. 2, in Olive,

was formed, to include sections 3, 4, 5, and 6, the north

halves of 7, 8, 9, and 10. On the .same date the south

halves of sections 7, 8, 9, and 10, and the whole of sec-

tions 19, 20, 21, IG, 17, and 18, were set apart as district

No. 3. The annual report of the director of fractional dis-

trict No. 1 of Ovid to the inspectors of Olive, rendered

Oct: 15, 1842, set forth that in that fractional district Olive

had four school children. The annual report of district

No. 2, in Olive, for 1842, gave the number of children at

twenty-four, the average attendance eighteen, and thirteen

dollars as paid to teacher for five months' service.

The town school records fail to note the appointment of

any teachers prior to 1850. Subsequent to that date and

to ISGO tlie appointments included the following:

April 13, 1850.—Alice Marvin.

June 14, 1851.—Seraphina Alexander.

Dec. 3, 1851.—Emeline Moss.

Dec. 20, 1851.—Mary A. Moore.

Jan. 5, 1852.—Achsah Blood.

May 1, 1852.—Minah Moore.

May 8, 1852.—Sarah Ann Avery.

May 22, 1852.—Miss Iri.sh.

Dec. 1, 1852.—N. M. Gunsally.

April 7, 1853.—Stella Ferguson.

April 11, 1853.—Sarah Chapin.

April 8, 1854.—Laura Bates, Sarah A. Marsh.

May 1, 1854.—Laura Stowell.

June 20, 1854.—Lovina Young.

Dec. 30, 1854.—Samuel B. Owen, Emily Southwortii.

Nov. 7, 1857.— Harvey Bartram, Joseph Coryell.

April 10, 1858.—Esther A. Lemm.

May 5, 1858.—Maria Wood, Rachel Dunham.

March 6, 1858.—Rebecca Buck.

Nov. 5, 1858.—James Du Bois, Ira Wightman.

March 12, 1859.—Martha Van Dyke.

May 25, 1859.—Sarah Smith, Miss Delano.

The annual report for 1879 touching the condition of

the public schools of Olive presents the following details

:

Number of districts 6
" children of school age 400

Average attendance 353
Value of school property $2775
Teachers' wages •. S1003

The school directors for 1879 were Andrew Scott, A.

G. Foote, George Smith, "William C. Lankton, A. T.

Sturges, and Alouzo Hamilton.

KELIGIOUS HISTORY.

The pioneer preaching in Olive was heard in the year

1840 at Daniel Ferguson's house, on which occasion ser-

vices were conducted by a Methodist Episcopal missionary

named Lapham, who organized at Ferguson's house in 1840

a Methodist Episcopal cla.ss, of which the constituent mem-

bers were Daniel Ferguson, Orauge Ferguson, and Horace

S. Green, and their wives; Ephraim Merrihew's wife,

Adam Merrihew and wife, and J. W. Merrihew and wife.

After the organization preaching was held in the Fer-

guson schooI-hou.se once a month by Revs. Jackson, Mount,

and others. Presently, as the class membership increased,

services were held once each fortnight. From the first,

services have been regularly held, although the place of

worship has been changed more than once. To 1864

school-houses were used. In that year the Olive church

was built, and since that time the organization has been

known as the Olive Centre Class. The first board of church

trustees was composed of Alonzo Wood, Charles Rockwell,

John Le Baron, William Hickox, and J. W. Merriman.

The present trustees are J. W. Merriman, Henry Mc-

Wethey, Charles Rockwell, and J. M. Merrihew. Earlier

the class wiis attached to the De Witt Circuit. Now it is on

the Victor Circuit, in charge of Rev. Mr. Gray. Although

having at one time as many as seventy members, the class

has now but about twenty, Anson L. McWethey being the

leader. He is also the superintendent of the Sunday-

school, which has an average attendance of fifty scholars.

The United Brethren Class, of which L. D. Chadwick

is leader, has been having periodical worship at the Rheu-

bottam school-house for the past ten or fifteen years, and

now has public services once each fortnight.

OLIVE GRANGE, No. 358, P. OF H.

This grange was organized by Deputy Richard Moore,

of St. Johns, Clinton Co., on the 27th of March, 1874.

The meeting for the purpose of organization was held at

the Muskrat school-house, near the bank of the Muskrat

Lake, and notwithstanding the roads were very bad the

attendance was good, and the efibrts of Mr. Moore resulted

in the organization of Olive Grange, with a charter mem-

bership of thirty-nine members, twenty-one of whom were

males and eighteen females, and were officered as follows :

Master, Isaac Vought ; Overseer, Thomas W. Baldwin

;

Secretary, William H. H. Knapp. Great credit is due

I
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Cornelius Walters for his labor and time spent in bringing

about the organization, and also credit is due William A.

Merchant, John Blass, and others for their liberality in

opening their houses for meetings of the grange until a

hall was built for their accomniodatiou. In the year 1875

the uierabors of the order succeeded in building a hall

twenty-two by forty feet and two stories high, the upper

room calculated for the grange meeting, the lower part for

a diiiing-hall, sitting-room, and a small grocery, which has

been in successful operation since that time up to the pres-

ent, and is now carried on by Cornelius Walters. In the

spring of 1878 ati addition of tweuty-two feet was built

on the south end to accommodate the increase in numbers.

The site was donated to the society by Charles Ferguson,

being sufficient ground for the hall and sheds to accommo-

date the teams of the jiatrons. The institution has been a

success, and has exerted a lasting influence on the surround-

ing country. Cases of dispute and misunderstandings have

been adjusted .satisfactorily by arbitration in the grange,

which otherwise would have led to litigation and cost in the

courts. The office of Master was held by Isaac Vought

one year, George Smith one year, and three years by

Thomas W. Baldwin, who is the present incumbent. The

membership has reached the number of one hundred and

twenty, and the present merabersliip is one hundred and

fourteen. The society has the confidence of its members

and the respect of those outside, and can no doubt be counted

on as a permanent institution of the township.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

AUGUSTUS GILLETT.

Linus and Roxy (Cody) Gillett were natives of Con-

necticut and New York respectively. Linus made his

home with relatives in New York during his younger days,

where he became acquainted with Miss Cody, whom he

subseciueiitly married. They removed to Upper Canada

soon afterwards, and settled near London, where Augustus,

the subject of our sketch, and Phebe Jane were born,

Augustus in 1826. In 1829 the family removed to Ann

Arbor, Mich., and in 1830 to Jackson County, where

another daughter, Lucy Ann, was born. Mrs. Gillett was

the first white woman to reside where the city of Jackson

now is.

In 1810 the family again changed their abiding-place,

effecting a permanent settlement in Olive, where they now

live.

In 184C, Augustus married Miss Louisa Ann Arm-

strong, and to them were born Francis M., Lauia J., U.

K., Lsadora, and Kzra A., all oi' whom arc living with the

exception of the last named, who died when about a year

old.

Mrs. Gillett died in August, 18G3, and in IHCI !\Ir.

Gillett was united in marriage with Loretta L. Footc,

daugliter of Zelona and Betsy Elizabeth Footc, rcsidenta

of l)e Wilt.

03

Mr. Gillett began his career a poor man, and his life

has been an earnest effort fur and crowned with success

;

and in his advancing j'cars he is enjoying the fruits of his

labor. He has been officially identified with (^)livc town-

ship in different capacities, is lionored and respected by

tliose who know him, and a worthy representative of the

pioneers of Clinton County.

JOHN W. OUTCALT.

William Outcalt was a native of Portage Co., Ohio,

where he was born April 10, 1815, and continued to re-

side until Jan. H, 1839, when he married JIary Ann
Richards, of Stark County, same State, and immediately

removed to La Grange Co., Iiid., where they resided until

1851:. Here John W., Melissa, and Nancy were born.

Then Mrs. Outcalt returned to Stark County, where she

died Nov. 25, 1851.

In 1854, John W. and his father removed to Olive

township. Here he remained until ISGC, when he was

united in marriage to Miss Betsey M. Gage, and removed

to Shiawassee County, where they remained three years

—

then returned to their old home in Olive, where they still

live, and where his father died May IS, 18G9.

Politically, Mr. Outcalt is a Republican, aiming to sus-

tain with his ballot what he fought with his musket to

preserve, having been a member of Company I, Twenty-

seventh Michigan Volunteer Infantry, and wounded and

disabled on Weldeti Road, near Petersburg, Va. He luis

occupied several official positions in his township, and is,

though young in years, much respected and possessed of a

competency acquired by industry and economy.

We present ujion another page a view of his residence,

together with portraits of liimself and estimable wife.

CHAPTKll LXllI.

RILEY TOWNSHIP.*

To|i(>gni|iliy—Origiiml I.nnilKiilricH— .'»ctllciiK-iil uT lliu Tii<<n'lii|>

—

Tliu I'iint Iligliwujs—Orjjiiniiiitiiin iind l.int of Oniours— I{eligii>u»

]||stiirv .Selioiils— I'uht-OfliocK— I'litroiia of llualuinilry—.'^Uti>lioa

of Agriuulluro anil ro|iiiliilioii.

Tins township wa.s set off frmn \\ atcrtown and urgnn-

ized as Kiley in March, ISIl. It is not drfinilely knuwn

liow the name originated. Ils iiorthea.Ml corner is at the

centre of Clinton County. It is designalwl on the govorn-

meiit survey of the Slate us lown.ship (j north, of ninge 3

west. A survey of the township was made in lS2t) hy

Lucius Lyon; tlie subdivision linen were niach? by llorvey

I'aikc, and certified Feb. 12, 1827. It has tli.' following

suriimndings : Uengal on the north, Olive on the wixt,

Walrrtiiwn nii the south, and Westphalia on the vieM. The

township contains within its liinit.s twenty-two thousand

eight hunilreil and eighty-seven and i-ighty-one one hun-

*By CbarloK A. Clinpiii.
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dredths acres of land. The soil of the entire township is

remarkably fertile, being a rich clay loam intermixed with

sand and saudy loam, and is well adapted for the successful

cultivation of the cereals, corn, fruit, etc. Its water-courses

are unimportant. Bad Creek, rising in section 34, runs

west into 33, thence northeasterly into 34 again, and taking

a northeasterly course it drains sections 34, 27, 22, 15, 14,

and 11, and runs into 2, passing through 2 in a northerly

and westerly direction, through the northeast corner of sec-

tion 3 into Bengal, and thence into Stony Creek. A branch

of Bad Creek rises in section 35, and flows into it on sec-

tion 27. Muskrat Creek rises on the west line of section

19, runs northeasterly through 19 and 18 into 17, where it

receives a branch, thence through sections 8 and 6 into

Bengal, where it empties into Stony Creek.

ORIGINAL LAND-ENTRIES.

The following names will show who made entries for land

in this township, with residence, date of entry, and descrip-

tion. Very few were actual settlers ; they were mostly

non-residents and speculators.

SECTION 1.

Sherman Page, Feb. 19, 1.S36, north half of northeast quarter.

James J. Godfrey, Monroe Co., Mich., Nov. -1, 1836, south half of

northeast quarter.

Mortimer Buell, Ontario Co., N. Y., April 3, 1837, southwest quarter.

SECTION 2.

Allen A. Rabineau, Monroe Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 1830, south half.

SECTION 3.

James K. Guernsey, Monroe Co., N.Y., Dec. 10, 1836, north frac-

tional half.

Jeremiah Jacobs, Onondaga Co., N. Y., April 17, 1837, south half.

SECTION 4.

Robert Armitage, Wayne Co., Mich., Dec. 10, 1S36, northwest frac-

tional quarter.

B. B. Kercheval, Detroit, Mich., Dec. 10, 1836, northeast fractional

quarter.

Seba Murphy, Monroe Co., Mich., Dec. 13, 1830, southwest quarter.

SECTION 5.

Thomas W. Merrill, Kalamazoo Co., Mich., Sejit. 23, 1S36, north half.

Abby Mapes, Livingston Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 1S30, south half.

SECTION 6.

Thomas Osborn, May 12, 1836, southwest quarter and west half of

southeast quarter.

Richard P. Hart, Rensselaer Co., N. Y^., Sept. 23, 1836, north half and
east half of southeast quarter.

SECTION 7.

Phebe Boughton, Wayne Co., Mich., Nov. 2, 1836, northeast quarter.

Ira A. Reynolds, Ionia Co., Mich., Nov. 3, 1836, northwest fractional

quarter.

B. B. Kercheval, Detroit, Mich., Nov. 5, 1836, southeast quarter;

Dec. 10, 1836, southwest fractional quarter.

SECTION 8.

Philip P. Peck,* Lenawee Co., Mich., Sept. 22, 1836, northwest quar-

ter.

B. B. Kercheval, Detroit, Mich., Dec. 10, 1836, southeast quarter.

Seba Murphy, Monroe Co., Mich., Dec. 13, 1S36, east half of northeast

quarter.

* Actual settlers.

William T. Gibson, Seneca Co., N. Y., Dec. 13, 1836, west half of

northeast quarter,

SECTION 9.

Uzziel Kanouse, Washtenaw Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 1836, east half.

SECTION 10.

David G. Mouat, Washtenaw Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 1836, west half.

SECTION 11.

Franklin D. Markham, Wayne Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 1836, southeast

quarter.

Richard Van Lew, Seneca Co., N. Y'., Nov. 4, 1S36, northeast quarter.

John C. Blanehard, Ionia, Mich., July 1, 1837, northwest quarter of

northwest quarter.

SECTION 12.

Franklin D. Markhijui, Nov. 4, 1836, southwest quarter.

Samuel B. Dewey, Monroe Co., N. Y., April 3, 1837, northwest quar-

ter.

SECTION 13.

John Crysler, Onondaga Co., N. Y., Nov. 4, 1836, west half of north-

west quarter,

John Dennis, Seneca Co., N. Y., Nov. 4, 1836, southwest quarter and

west half of southeast quarter.

Peter Fralick, Plymouth, Mich., April 22, 1837, east half of northeast

quarter.

SECTION 14.

John Crysler, Nov. 4, 1836, east half of northeast quarter.

Phebe Rogers, Genesee Co., N. Y., Dec. 9, 1836, east half of northwest

quarter and west half of northeast quarter,

Peter Fralick, April 22, 1837,

SECTION 15,

Warren Fay, Genesee Co., N. Y., Jan. 31, 1S37, northeast quarter.

School lands.

SECTION 16.

SECTION 17,

David S. Hodgman, Onondaga Co., N. Y'., Sept, 27, 1836, east half of

northeast quarter and northeast quarter of southeast quarter,

Elisha Hodgman, Onondaga Co., N. Y., Sept. 27, 1836, west half of

northeast quarter.

James V. Ryan, Ionia Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 1836, west half.

SECTION IS.

Peter Misner, Tompkins Co., N. Y"., Nov. 4, 1836, northeast qu.arter.

David Entrican, Oakland Co., Mich., April 25, 1837, west half of

southwest quarter.

SECTION 19.

William W. Arnold, May 13, 1851, east half of northeast quarter and

northwest quarter of northeast quarter.

James Burns, Nov. 20, 1851, east half of southeast quarter.

SECTION 20,

B. B. Kercheval, Detroit, Mich., Nov. 5, 1836, northeast quarter.

William Thompson, Seneca Co., N. Y., Dec. 14, 1836, west half,

SECTION 21.

Alexander F. Bell, Ionia Co., Mich., April 5, 1837, north half.

Augustus L. Gould, Genesee Co., N. Y'., June 28, 1838, east half of

southeast quarter,

SECTION 22,

Harry Boardman, Seneca Co., N. Y., Nov. 4, 1836, northeast quarter.

Raljih C. Markham, Tompkins Co., N. Y., Nov. 4, 1836, southeast

quarter.

Joshua G. Knight, Genesee Co., N. Y'., Nov. 7, 1836, west half.
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SECTION 23.

John Paul, Goncsee Co., N. Y., Nov. 7, 1836, southwest quarter and

vtGst lialf of southeast quarter.

Luke Wood, Tecumseh, Jlich., Xov. t5, 1S51, northwest quarter.

SECTIOX 24.

Oliver Millt-r, Lenawee Co., Mich., Dec. 13, 1836, northwest quarter.

Jeremiah Naftzgar, Wayne Co., Mich., Oct. 10, 1848, south half of

northeast quarter.

SECTION 25.

*AtwclI Simmons, July 20, 1836, southeast quarter.

Samuel 1). McDowell, Washtenaw Co., Mich., west half of southwest

quarter.

SECTION 26.

Philo Ilungcrford, July 19, 1836, southwest quarter.

Herman V. Prentice, July 19, 1836, southeast quarter.

SECTION 27.

Samuel Hungerford, July 19, 1836, southeast quarter.

Luther Ingraham, July 19, 1836, southwest quarter.

Augustus L. Gould, Genesee Co., N. Y., June 28, 1838, west half of

northwest qtuirter.

•Jacob Miller, Jan. 16, 1851, southwest quarter of northeast quarter.

Henry Jones, Oct. 19, 1851, southeast quarter of northwest quarter.

SECTION 28.

Lather Ingrahaui, July 19, lS36,^east half of southeast quarter.

Thomas K. Godley, July 19, 1836, west half of southeast quarter.

Geo. W. Knapp, Oakland Co., Mich., Nov. 4, 1836, northeast quarter.

SECTION 29.

Setli M. Hoot, Lorain Co., Ohio, Oct. 7, 1851, west half of northwest

quarlcr and west half of southwest quarter.

William Drake, Hochester, N. Y., April 19, 1852, northeast quarter.

SECTION 30.

Edwin Lawrence, Ann Arbor, Mich., July 6, 1837, northeast quarter.

SECTION 31.

BcDoni Adams, Lorain Co., Ohio, Oct. 4, 1851, southwest quarter of

southeast quarter.

Anirod IVIoorc, Itrighton, Mich., .lune 27, 1853, east half of north-

east riuarter.

*AiIam II. Kincaid, Oct. 31, 1854, northeast quarter of southeast

quarter.

SECTION 32.

Soth M. Rout, Piltslleld, Lorain Co., Ohio, Oct. 7, 1851, southwest

quarter.

William Deits, Dec. 12, 1853, southwest quarter of northwest quarter

and southeast quarter of northwest quarter.

''Adam II. Kincaid, Oct. 9, 1854, northwest fractional quarter of

northwest fractional quarter.

•John Shilling, Jr., Stark Co., Ohio, Oct. 21, 1854, east half of north-

east quarter.

SECTION 33.

Thcodoric T. Phillips, July 19, 1836, southeast quarter.

•Thomas Ferris, Clinton County, Dec. 3, 183S, southeast quarter of

northwest quarter.

•Francis Cisco, Clinton County, Jan. 26, 1839, southeast quarter of

southwest quarter.

SECTION 31.

•Charles M. Thornton, July 19, 1836, southeast quarter.

Loland Green, July 19, 1830, northwest quarter.

William Taft, July 19, 1836, west half of southwest quarter.

"Lyman Ilungcrford, July 19, 1836, northeast quarter.

Nathan Case, Oakland County, Sept. 23, 1836, east half of soutlnvesi

quarter.

* Actual scttlora.

SECTION 35.

William F. Shaw, July 19, 1836, northwest quarter.

Sarah Thornton, July 19, 1836, southwest quarter.

James Parka, Lenawee County, Sept. 22, 1836, cast half of soutbcxt
quarter.

SECTION 36.

David Scott, Clinton County, Sept. 22, 1836, northwost quarter of

southwest quarter.

Stephen P. Morehouse, Tompkins Co., N. Y., Sept 22, IS36, southeast

quarter.

John Gould, Ann Arbor, Mich., Nov. 4, 1836, west half of northwest

quarter.

Sylvester Scott, Clinton County, Nov. 4, 1836, southwest quarter of

southwest quarter.

SETTLE.\IENT OF THE TOWNSQIP.

Atwell Simmons, a native of Ontario Co., N. Y., with

Ills wife emigrated to Salem, Wxslitenaw Co., in 1832. In

183G lie sold his land there and concluded to go farther

into the wilderness. On July 7th of that year he was ex-

ploring the country, and selected the land which he pur-

chased, July 20th, at the Kalamazoo Land-Office. In No-

vember, 1836, they started for their new home by wagon,

drawn by oxen, and were six days making the journey ; the

roads were in a terrible condition and the oxen were often

mired. They stopped with a family named Webb, living

in De Witt township, until a log cabin could be built ; this

cabin was fourteen by sixteen feet, and stood in front of the

present house and near the maple-tree in the front yard.

That winter he chopped and cleared about seven acres,

and in the spring put in a crop of oats and rutabagas. In

the fall of 1837 he sowed three and one-half acres with

wheat, which was cut the next summer with a sickle and

thrashed out with oxen ; the yield was thirty-six bushels

per acre. The finst orchard in the township was planted in

1842, with trees brought from I'iyinoutli, Wayne Co., and

included all kinds of fruit. About six years al\cr the

erection of the cabin a blockhouse of logs was built. The

logs were hewed on both sides, ami put up so as to make u

two-story house; this house stood just back of the present

frame liousc. Mrs. Simmons spun atid wove the first flux.

Their children are pleasantly settled on adjuiniiig fiirnis,

—

George 11., living just over tiie line in Olive, and Mrs. Ani-

ariah B. Cook, living about a half-mile west of her falherV.

Mr. and Mrs. Simmons are still living.

Some time during tlic month of Nnvembcr, lS3(i, Morri.t

Bougliton, of Klmira, N. Y., accom])anied by his brotlior-

inlaw, Benjamin Welch, came into Clinton County. Mr.

Welch settled in Dallas and Mr. Houghloii sollled on the

norlliciLst (|uarterof section 7, town G north, range 3 we»t,

afterwards called by its present name, Ililey. That winter

was s]ieiit in chopping on IiIh farm
; ho boarded nt Mr.

Cortland Hill's, wlio had moved into Bengal only n few

months before. Afler putting up a lug enhin on his land

ho kept haelielor's hall, and his only cooking u(en.-<il was a

kettle, which served for baking, boiling, and frying. A
large clean chip took the place of a ]ilaie. Two yctirsafkor

settling in Hiley his sister, Mrs. William Hayes, and her

hii.sbaiid moved in and occupied his house, thus relieving

till! lonely hours of his hermit life. Ilis log aihiii stood on

the southeast corner of his farm ;
but eho<i.siiig a more de-

sirable site he erected a second cabin, thus leaving the first
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one to be occupied successively by the settlers moving into

the town. lie was frequently employed to look up and

locate land for speculators. When not thus engaged he

was at work clearing up and improving his farm
;

as soon

as a piece of land was cleared seed was sown, and the yield

was abundant. More than once he drew his wheat to

Detroit with an ox-team and sold it for fifty cents per

bushel. The nearest grist-mill at first was at Ionia, twenty-

two miles distant. Going to mill often took from three to

six days. In chopping and clearing out the roads the early

settlers expended a vast amount of labor.

Mr. Boughton, having cleared the greater portion of his

farm and erected comfortable buildings of all kinds, set out

for the State of New York, and on the 10th of December,

!1843, was united in marriage with Miss Lucretia Culver.

They imaiediately departed for their home in Michigan.

During his long residence of nearly forty years in Riley he

was closely identified with the history, development, and

growth of this section of Clinton County. He possessed

the confidence of his fellow-townsmen, and repeatedly filled

the highest offices of the town. He died Feb. 16, 1876,

at the age of sixty-four years, leaving a wife and eight

children to mourn his loss.*

In May, 1811, Philip P. Peck, his wife, and three chil-

dren, with Mrs. Peck's father, John Gunn, moved from

Tecumseh (where they had lived four years) to Riley.

After a tedious journey over bad roads, they found the

road ended at Gordon Treat's clearing. After that the path

or trail was by marked trees to Morris Boughton's clearing.

When they came out on the clearing near where the school-

house stands, Mr. Boughton was at work logging. When
he saw the emigrants his joy was great, and he invited

them to his house and set before them the best it afforded.

Having an unoccupied cabin standing near Mr. Peck's land,

he said, " There's a house for you, and there's your land."

For the first year Mr. Peck worked some of Mr. Bough-

ton's land on shares, and thus got along finely until he

could clear some of his own land. That summer he put

up a log house, size sixteen by twenty feet, covered with a

shake roof, the floor of split timber hewed smooth, fireplace

with clay back and clay hearth, the chimney built of sticks

plastered with clay. This small house afforded a home
and shelter to many emigrant families until such time as

they could provide a cabin for themselves. The Indians

shared their hospitality and became firm friends. This

house stood a few feet west of their present residence. In

the winter of 1844, Mr. Peck made ready to build a frame

barn by drawing his lumber on sleighs from a saw-mill

located at Muskrat Lake. The path was marked by blazed

trees. A man named Chubb, from Lyons, was the master

carpenter who framed and superintended it ; his pay was

twelve pounds of maple-sugar for each day's work. In

April all was ready for the raising. Assistance to raise

the barn came from ten miles around. Everythin"^ was in

good order, help was plenty, and the frame went up with-

out any delay. Some seventy people, men and women,
partook of the banquet which was served up after the

raising ; all enjoyed the occasion and had a good time. This

* Contribute*! by his son, George E. Boughton.

barn is still standing. The front part of their present resi-

dence was built in February, 18G0, the back part since that

time. Of the three children who came with their father

and mother, two are living. William lives on a farm about

half a mile east; Emma J. (Mrs. Henry Jones) died in

1861 ; Amanda (Mrs. David P. Bliss) lives with her hus-

band on the homestead. Mr. and Mrs. Peck are yet living,

and have reached a ripe old age.

Elkanah Peck, a brother of Philip P., with his family,

moved from Tecumseh in October, 1841. They occupied

the Boughton cabin until the next summer, when he built

a log cabin on his land, which adjoined his brother on the

east. Mr. Peck died in 1874, and his family moved to

Kansas.

Charles M. Thornton, wife, and family arrived in this

town from Novi, Oakland Co., in 1838, and settled on .sec-

tion 34. His first house was a log cabin, but he proceeded

to erect a frame house, which was the first in the town.

After living here a few years he traded farms with his

brother, then living in Novi, and removed there.

Ezra Thornton moved in with his family about the year

1844, stayed here a few years, and moved back to Oakland

County.

In 1839, Gordon Treat came to Riley and chopped five

acres of land for Charles M. Thornton, and in the following

year, in December, with his family, he moved in and took

up their permanent residence on the farm—on section 28

—

now owned by Mrs. Josiah E. Smith. Their first cabin was

of logs ; the roof of logs hollowed out ; the roof was tight

enough to keep out a wildcat, but admitted plenty of air,

and was not snow-proof This cabin stood near where the

barn now stands. Its size was sixteen by eighteen feet.

They lived in it six years, and then built a log house, size

eighteen by twenty-four feet. It stood back of their present

residence, which was built in 1863. Mr. Treat died in

1859, leaving a wife and three children. Mrs. Owen,

a daughter, died in 1877 ; L. H. Treat, now living in

Gratiot County, was in the Twenty-third Regiment during

the war ; Lucy 0. (Mrs. Gage) is living on the homestead

with her mother, Mrs. Smith.

Gabriel Cronkhiteand wife, fi-om Oakland County, settled

on section 34 previous to 1841. Their sons, Watson,

Jackson J., and Washington, with their families, moved

about the same time. Their married daughters, Mrs. C.

M. Thornton, Mrs. Nathan Reed, and Mrs. Edwin Butt,

lived near by. None of these families are in the township.

Francis Francisco moved in from De Witt about 1841,

and settled on section 34 ; afterwards moved to Olive, and

died there. Robert McFall was here about 1841, stayed

two or throe years, and moved away. Elison Campbell and

family settled on section 35 about 1841 ; afterwards moved

to Eagle in 1843. One son is living in Wacousta, and one

in Eagle. Lloyd Worth, with his wife and four children,

moved from Commerce, Oakland Co., about 1841, and

bought land on sections 27 and 28. After staying six or

seven years, moved back to their old home.

Other settlers about the years 1840-41 were Charles

Kellogg and family, from Ypsilanti, who settled on section

14. Mr. Kellogg having to go back to Ypsilanti, left his

family alone. The Indians became so lawless and trouble-
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some that Mrs. Kellogg took her children and went to the

nearest neighbor for protection and safety. After living

here a few years they moved to Berry County and settled

on the Thornapple River.

Parley and Robert B. Gardner became settlers on section

3 about 1841. They stayed a short time, and moved away.

John Reed and his son Nathan (now in Lansing) were

among the early settlers on section 3G. John Reed built

the first frame barn in the tow'nship. Nathan Case was a

pioneer on section 34, and is still living, though very old

and infirm. Benjamin F. Nichols, with his wife and child,

from Farmington, Oakland Co., moved in and settled on

section 6 about 1843. He bought one hundred and twenty

acres, stayed a short time, and moved back to Oakland

County.

Constant Shaw and wife moved from Novi, Oakland Co.,

in 1843. He settled on the northwest quarter of .section

35. His first work was to chop and clear about ten acres

of his land. He erected a log house which stood till 1879,

when it was taken down to make room for the main part

of a new frame dwelling. Mr. Shaw died in 1855, Mrs.

Shaw in 1879. The homestead is now occupied by their

daughter, Mrs. Jerome Cardinal.

The following names show who were resident tax-payers

in 1841, giving the sections in their order and the number

of acres owned by eacli person :

Acre«.

Pnrlcy (iardner, section 3 SO

liobert li. Oanlner, section ."i '10

Morris Tioii^^htoii, suction 7 1<>0

Ciuirlc-s Kellogg, section 14 IliO

Alwcll Siniinoiis, sections 25-30 110

Henry Williams, section 27 IfiO

Lloyil Worth, sections 27, 28 240

Gortlon Trent, section 28 80

Francis Francisco, sections .3.3, 34 fiO

Gabriel Cronkliite, section 34 40

.T.J. Cronkhitc. section 34 40

Nathan Case, section 34 60

S. W. Cronkhitc, section 34 80
Charles M. Thornton, sections 34, 3.") 240
Uobert McFall, section 35 70

Klisou Campbell, section 35 10

Nathan Hcci', section .'Ifi 100

The asscs.sment-roll for 1844 will show the changes in

the township in three years

:

Acres.

William Davis, section 3 80

IJenjaiiiin F. Nichols, section 120
Ai'chibald Uiley, section li 80
Morris liouj^liton, section 7 IGO

l'hili|. 1'. I'ecli, section 8 120

KlkaiMih I'cck, Jr., section 8 80
Klknnah Peck, section 8 40

James II. ('hant, section 14 80

Joseph Cook, section 25 80
(jcorgo Cook, section 25 50
Atvvell Simmons, sections 25, 30 178
Thomas Ferris, section 27 80
James J. Foreman, section 27 80
J)aiii.l C. Smith, sections 27, 28 240
(iorilon Treat, section 28 80

Kphniim II. I'hilli|is, section 33 80

Francis Francisco, sections 33, 34 60

Nathan II. Case, section 34 fiO

Nathan E. .Tones, section 34 160

F/.ra Thornton, sections 34, 35 100

William liiirrett, sections 34, 35 2S0

Ijyman Ilungerford, section 34 160

Klison Cainjibell, section 35 10

Constant Shaw, section 35 1*^0

John lied, secti<]n 36 160

John iM. Aplhorp 80

Charles llccd —

Joseph Cook, born in Vermont in 1790, emigrated to

Avon Springs, N. Y., and from that place to Riley in the

fall of 1842, accompanied by his wife and seven children
;

one son, George H., was married. They all settled on sec-

tion 25, on one hundred and thirty acres. Mr. Cook was

on land now owned by P. R. Freeman ; George H., on land

now owned by his bmtlier, A. B. Cook. George H. moved

back to the Slate of New York after living here three or

four years. Mr. Cook and his son George were the first

shoemakers in the town. Joseph W., a son, died unmar-

ried ; he held the office of justice for several years. Char-

lotte (Mrs. Newman) is not living. Abigail (Mrs. P. R.

Freeman) is living on a part of the homestead. Aniariah

B. married Amina Simmons. Sally died young. William

H. H. was in Third Michigan Cavalry, and died at New
Madrid, Mo. A. B. Cook's children are Kineliue S. (Mrs.

Dills), living at home; Viola (Mrs. Pike), living on section

30 ; Ida 0., living at home.

liyman Hungcrford, a native of Oneida Co., N. Y., with

his wife and daughter emigrated to Riley in September,

1843, and settled on section 34, having bought the north-

east quarter in July, 183G. He built a log house in the

usual backwoods style. Mrs. Hungcrford died in 18G3.

Of three chifdren one is living, a son, William W. ; lives

on section 27, across the road from the old homestead ( now

owned by Augustus Robinson). He married Miss Ann
Tracy, and they have two sons and one daughter. Mr.

Lyman Ilungerfbrd has been honored by his fellow-towiKS-

men by having been elected supervisor thirteen times, and

has also held other offices in the town.

Nathan K. Jones and family, from Novi, Oakland Co.,

arrived at the site of their future home, on section 34, in

the year 1843. lie bought his land of Leiand Green, who

took it from government in July, 1S3(!. The children who

came in with their parents are Henry J., living at Dimon-

dale, Eaton Co. ; Nathan E., Jr., lives on a portifin of the

homestead; Nancy (Mrs. Peck), lives near Boughton

schooMiouse; Andrew J., lives in Watcrlown ; William J.,

lives in Watcrtown ; Albert, lives in the centre of this

town ; Frank, lives in Watcrtown.

Henry Jones and wife moved from Novi to Danby, Ionia

Co., where they lived nearly three years, and then movinl

to Riley in January, 1848, having bought land of Daniel

C. Smith, who had made a small clearing and erected a log

house; they lived in this lill he huill the prwiciit frame resi-

dence in 18G2. The children are Adolphus, married and

lives on the honiestead, :ind is the present jxislmasler of

South Uiley; Ella (Mrs. William linrritl\ livo.s about a

mile southwest; Catharine M. (Mrs. Fields), died in 1874.

Ephraim H. Philliiis was an early settler on section 33.

Ho came from Plymouth, Wayne Co., a single man, cleared

some of his land, built a log hou.se, and went back and

marrictl. He died on his place. His widow married Wil-

liam IJurritt. A son, Alonzo Hurrilt, lives on the farm.

William Burrilt was an early .si^tller on sections 34 and

35, owning two hundred and eighty acres.

Among the lat4T settlers were Jacob Miller, wife, and

fiimily, from Wayne Co., Ohio, in 1852. He bought hi.«i

land of Jacob Carlisle and Samuel Hungcrford, paying for

the .sDUlhcasI (|iiarterof .scclion 27, bought of Hungcrford,

si.x hundred dollars. The log hou.se was built by Carlisle,
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who was the first carpenter to locate in the town. In 1862,

Mr. Miller erected his present substantial dwelling. Ben-

jamin F., a son, lives on the rise of ground just east of his

father, in a neat and tasty farm-house. William, another

son, lives in Watertown ; Septimus M. lives on a farm ad-

joining on the north ; James lives in Matherton, Ionia Co.
;

Lucinda (Mrs. Cardinal) lives about half a mile north.

David P. Wilcox came to Michigan from Haddam, Mid-

dlesex Co., Conn., and located a farm in Homer, Calhoun

Co. ; then went back for his family and brought them out

to reside in their new home. Here they lived till March,

1854, when poor health obliged him to sell his farm and

seek another location. Thinking that the climate of Kan-

sas might benefit him, he went there. It did not suit ; then

Iowa was tried. While there he purchased five hundred

acres of land. Becoming convinced that there is no better

State than Michigan, he came back with the intention of

locating in the Grand River country. In June, 1854, he

was exploring the lands in Riley, and finding the school sec-

tion to his mind, purchased one hundred and sixty acres,

for which he paid four dollars per acre. In July he moved

in with his family, and had to chop out and underbrush

the road from the corner near the cheese-factory south to

the place where he built his log house, which stood on the

farm where his daughter Aurelia (Mrs. Chapman) lives.

Another daughter (Mrs. Robinson) lives on section 34, on

a farm bought of L. Hungerford, on which is built the

first and only brick dwelling-house in the township. In

18G4, Mr. Wilcox removed to St. Johns and engaged in

the hardware business. After remaining there eight years

he went back to farm-life, having built a handsome resi-

dence on section 17. He built this spring (1880) one of

the finest barns in the town. He has been engaged about

twenty years in raising the short-horn breed of cattle, and

has one of the best herds in the county.

The question of whose was the first marriage in the town-

ship being ditferently answered by many of the old pioneers

now residing in the township, it was referred to Mrs. Jo-

siah E. Smith, who gave the following reply :
" Jly first

recollection of a wedding in Riley township is that of Char-

lotte Cook and Moses Newman, also of Nancy Reed and

Willard Brooks, and the ceremony was performed by my
first hu.sband, Gordon Treat, then a justice of the peace."

The first birth in the township was that of Stephen

Thornton, son of Charles M. and Harriet Thornton.

The first death was that of a child of Lloyd Worth.

The first burial-ground in South Riley was that on section

35, on land given by William Yerkes and deeded to four

trustees about 1845. The first burial was that of a man
named Ingalls.

The North Riley cemetery was taken in hand by an as-

sociation organized Feb. 28, 1867, and reorganized April 2,

1879, with the following ofiioers : President, Cortland Hill

;

Clerk, S. N. Hildreth; Treasurer, C. N. Plowman; Sexton,

F. W. Benjamin.

The first person buried in this cemetery was Mrs. Han-

nah Peck, whose remains wore brought here in 1847.

They were first buried in a farm-lot.

Riley was originally covered with a dense forest, consist-

ing mainly of ash, basswood, beech, elm, cherry, oak,

maple, and walnut. The woods are leveled now, and thin

screens of trees but veil the fields beyond. To-day, aside

from speedy transit and neighbors near, the work of chop-

ping and clearing is continued, and the northern portion of

this State has territory in its natural condition. The work

of clearing lands was plain, hard work. The choicest oak,

walnut, and cherry were cut in logging lengths and burned

on the ground. Ox-tearas were everywhere used. It was

common for a farmer who had no yoke of cattle of his own

to go and help his neighbors get the log-heaps in place for

burning, and when ready, they would come and give him

a log-rolling. Often the settler, having spent the day at a

logging-bee, has passed the night in kindling up and keep-

ing his log-heaps burning. In those spring days the woods

were often dark with smoke, and lurid fires by night gave

to the scene a weird aspect. If the season, far advanced,

did not admit full clearing, the various crops of corn,

pumpkins, turnips, and potatoes were planted irregularly

amidst the blackened logs. There was no hoeing needed,

but it was necessary to go through and pull up or cut

down the fire-weed, which sprang up numerous and rank

on newly-cleared ground. It was soon exterminated with

a few successive crops. By some, wheat and rye were

sown after corn, but generally a special piece was cleared,

sowed, and harrowed in. Farming was in a crude state,

and hoes and drags were the implements for putting in the

crop. The drag was made by the settler himself.

The first consideration of the pioneer was a shelter for

himself and family. The house was built somewhat in this

wise. Its walls were of logs notched together at the corners,

and the openings between chinked and plastered with clay

or mud ; its floors of puncheons or split logs, with the flat

side up; roof made of bark, hollovv logs, or .shakes; the

partitions were formed by blankets hung up ; the door was

hung on wooden hinges, and fastened with a wooden latch

opened from the outside with a cord or string, and the

" latch-string was always out ;" its windows were often of

white paper to let in light, and well grea.sed to shed the

rain and make it nearer transparent. The fireplace reached

nearly across one end ; its back, sides, and hearth were, in

the absence of stones, made of clay or mud plastered about

one foot thick, and baked hard by the fire ; two sticks of

the proper crook rested one on either end of the wall and

against a beam overhead, forming the jambs, and upon

these rested the chimney, made of sticks and clay mortar,

very wide at the bottom and tapering to the top, serving

the purpose of both chimney and smokehouse. When a

fire was to be built in winter a log six or eight feet long

and two or three feet in diameter was brought in and rolled

on the fireplace, this was called the back-log ; next came a

smaller log, which was placed on the top and called the back-

stick
;
then came two round sticks six or eight inches in

diameter and three feet long, the greenest that could be

found ; these were placed endwise against the back-log,

and served for andirons ; upon them was placed the fore-

stick, and between this and the back-log were piled dry

limbs and wood, and the fire applied. The fire thus built

would last, with a little attention, a whole day. In the
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fireplace were liooks aud trammel, the bake-pan and the

kettle ;
at the side of the room and about it stood a plain

walnut or cherry table and splint-bottom chairs, and the

easy hifjh-backcd rocker ; upon the shelf were spoons of

pewter, blue-edged plates, cups and saucers, and the earthen

tea-pot. In one corner stood the old-fashioned high-post,

corded bedstead, covered with quilts, a curiosity of patch-

work and laborious sewing each one, the ever-present

spinning-wheel, and not unfrequently a loom. In the ex-

pressive language of another it can truly be said, " When

it i.s seen what difliculties the pioneers had to encounter,

—

at the dense forest that covered the soil,—at the cost of

marketing their products,—we can only marvel at the im-

jjrovemcnts that have been made. Year by year, under

tlie sturdy blows of the axe, the forests have receded and

the fruitful fields taken the place of the mighty wilderness.

Hard work was their lot,—their only guarantee of success."

From a pioneer address we quote :
" Brave, strong, earn-

est, honest men were these pioneers. Those named do not

deserve mention more than many others, only they hap-

pened to be among the first. As fathers of the township

they merit the warmest words of commendation,—grateful

remembrances. They laid, broad and firm, the foundations

of present prosperity, which is rich with the promise of

future progress. Their monuments are in the fields made

fertile by their labor, in the golden harvests and the waving

corn, and in the orchards that they planted."

THE FIRST HIGHWAYS.

The Dexter trail (so called) was cut through in May,

1833. Mr. B. 0. Williams, in a paper read before the State

Pioneer Society, Feb. 6, 1878, says: " In the early part of

May, Judge Dexter, with a colony of eight or ten families,

arrived in wagons with horses, oxen, and cows at the Kech-

e-won-dau-gon-ing reservation, en route for the present site

of Ionia, on the Grand Iliver. Having tried in vain to

get a guide, Mr. Dexter and others came to us for help. I

left our planting, taking my blankets and small tent, and

ill six days landed them at Ionia, looking out the route

and directing where the road was to be. This was the fir.st

real colonizing party we had ever seen, myself having never

been farther than De Witt (the Indian village). I then

procured Mack-e-ta-pe-na-ce (Blackbird) to pilot me past

Mu.skrat Lake aud Creek, and from there proceeded with

the party."

This trail entered the town of Riley at the southeast

corner of section 35, and went in a northwesterly direction

through 35 and 20 to its northwest corner ; thence diago-

nally througli .sections 22 and IG into section 8 at its south-

east corner ; thence through section 8 into the southwest

corner of section 5, and into and through the northeast

corner of section 6, where it joins the State road that now

runs tlirough section 31 in Bengal. As the country be-

came settled and fenced this trail was discontinued, and tlio

State road, which ran in nearly the same direction, was

worked and became the highway. This road after leaving

the section-line road began on section 28 ;
running north

forty rods, it bore off in a northwesterly course through sec-

tion 28 across the northeast corner of section 2!) ; thcnco

across section 20 and across the northeast corner of section

19 into section 18 to the half Boction-Iine ; thence on that

line about forty rods ; thence in a northeasterly direction

about forty rods it enters the present (juarter section-line

road ; thence north on that road till it enters the town of

Bengal. This road, where it ran in a northwesturl}- course

through sections 28, 29, 20, I'J, aud 18, was taken up

about ten years since.

ORGANIZATION AND LIST OF OFFICER.S.

The act organizing the township of Riley was approved

March 15, 1841. It provides that " All that part of the

county of Clinton designated in the United States survey

as township No. G north, of range 3 west, be and the same

is hereby set ofi" and organized into a separate township by

the name of Riley, and the Brst township-meeting therein

shall be held at the house of Charles M. Thornton, in said

township." In conformity with this act, the first township-

meeting was held at the house of Charles M. Thornton, in

April, 1841, and the township officers were elected. The

records of that first election having been destroyed by fire,*

it is impossible to give the names of the officers then elected.

The second township-meeting was held at the house of

Charles M. Thornton, April 7, 1842. The whole number

of votes cast was twenty-four. The following persons were

elected to fill the various offices of the town : Supervisor,

Atwell Simmons ; Town Clerk, Nathan Case ; Treasurer,

Charles M. Thornton ; School Inspectors, Morris Boughton,

Atwell Simmons, Daniel C. Smith ; Comnii.ssioncrs of

Highways, Morris Boughton, Nathan Reed, Samuel "W.

Cronkhite; Directors of the Poor, Atwell Simmons, Charles

M. Thornton ; Justices of the Peace, Jlorris Boughton, J.

J. Cronkhite (vacancy) ; Constables, Philip P. Peck, Nathan

Reed.

The township officers of Riley elected annually frem

1843 to 1880, inclusive, have been the following-named,

viz.

:

1843.—Supervisor, Morris Boughton; Clerk, Ephniini II.

Phillips ; Treasurer, Daniel C. Smith ; School

Inspectors, Joseph W. Cook, Atwell Simmons
;

Justices, Jo.sepli Cook, (iordoti Treat, P. P. Pi-ck.

1844.—Supervisor, Jlorris Boughton ; Clerk, Kphraim II.

Phillips ; Treasurer, Daniel C. Smith ; School

Inspector, Lyman Ilungcrford ; Justice, Lyman

Hungerford.

18.t5.—Supervisor, Lyman Hungerford; Clerk, William

B. Burritt ; Treasurer, Constant Shaw ; ScIiimiI

Inspector, Kiehard 1. Hurt; Ju.stico, Constant

Shaw.

1840.—Supervisor, Lyman Hungerford; Clerk, Jo.s<-ph W.

Cook; TreiLsurer, Constant Shaw; School In-

spectoi-s, L. Hungerford, M. Boughton ; Justice,

Philip P. Peek.

1847. Supervisor, Philip Burritt; Clerk, Jacob Carlisle;

Treasurer, Con.slunt Shaw; Sehiml Inspector,

Philip Burritt; Justice, Josejih W. Cook.

1848.—Supervisor, Lyman Hungerford; Clerk, Henry

Jones; Troasuror, Constant Shaw; Schmil In-

• Tlio lowiii-liip ri'c<inl» wiro l<i-|it nt Iho lioufo "f .1. J. Crnnkbito,

deput.v clerk, mid wort- liunii-il willi llii- Imuw, Julj I, IS4I.
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1849.—;

1850.—!

1851.

1852

1853.-1

1854.—

1

1855.-

1856.

1857.

1858.

1859.—

1

1860.

1861.

1862.—

1863.-

1864

1865.

speotor, Benjamin F. Nichols ; Justice, P. Bur-

ritt.

Supervisor, L. Hungerford ; Clerk, Henry Jones
;

Treasurer, P. Burritt; School Inspector, P.

Burritt ; Justices, Piiilip P. Peck, Henry Jones.

Supervisor, L. Hungerford ; Clerk, Henry Jones
;

Treasurer, Henry F. Jones ;
School Inspector,

L. Hungerford ;
Justice, Philip Burritt.

Supervisor, L. Hungerford ;
Clerk, Henry Jones

;

Treasurer, Morris Boughton ;
School Inspector,

P. Burritt; Justices, Joseph Cook, William

Hildreth.

Supervisor, L. Hungerford ; Clerk, Henry Jones

;

Treasurer, Henry F. Jones; School Inspector,

L. Hungerford ;
Justice, William B. Hildreth.

Supervisor, Philip Burritt ; Clerk, Philip P. Peck
;

Treasurer, Constant Shaw ; School Inspector,

Philip Burritt ; Justice, Henry Jones.

Supervisor, P. Burritt ; Clerk, P. P. Peck ; Treas-

urer, Henry Jones ;
School Inspector, Constant

Shaw ; Justices, Ansel Chapman, Ray G. An-

drews.

Supervisor, Henry Jones; Clerk, P. P. Peck;

Treasurer, Henry F. Jones ; School Inspector,

Philip Burritt ; Justices, P. P. Peck, Atwell

Simmons.

Supervisor, Henry Jones; Clerk, P. P. Peck;

Treasurer, Henry F. Jones; School Inspectors,

Edwin H. Pratt ; Shubael Vincent.

Supervisor, David P. Wilcox ; Clerk, Henry Jones
;

Treasurer, Henry F. Jones; School Inspectors,

An^el Chapman, Harvey Nutting; Justice,

Henry Jones.

•Supervisor, Henry Jones ; Clerk, P. P. Peck
;

Treasurer, Henry F. Jones ;
School Inspector,

L. Hungerford ; Justice, Homer Chase.

Supervisor, L. Hungerford ; Clerk, P. Burritt

;

Treasurer, Morris Boughton ; School Inspectors,

William B. Owen, Ezra L. Tracy ; Justices,

Cyrus B. Pratt, John S. Hildreth.

Supervisor, Homer Chase ; Clerk, P. Burritt

;

Treasurer, Morris Boughton
;
School Inspector,

Smith N. Hildreth ; Justices, Jo.seph Cook,

Homer Chase.

Supervisor, L. Hungerford ; Clerk, Ransom M.

Brooks; Treasurer, M. Boughton; School In-

spector, Harvey C. Nutting; Justice, H. C.

Nutting.

Supervisor, Lyman Hungerford ; Clerk, P. Bur-

ritt ; Treasurer, M. Boughton; School Inspec-

tor, L. Hungerford ; Justice, Ansel Chapman.

Supervisor, L. Hungerford; Clerk, P. Burrritt;

Treasurer, M. Boughton ; School Inspector,

Smith N. Hildreth; Justices, Cyrus B. Pratt,

Isaac M. Molineaux, Phineas R. Freeman.

Supervisor, Morris Boughton ; Clerk, William B.

Owen ;
Treasurer, James Hodges ; School In-

spector, Horace Wixon ; Justice, Phineas R.

Freeman.

—Supervisor, Horace Wixon ; Clerk, Ammi 11.

1866.—

1

1867

1868.—

I

1869.—;

1S70.-

1871.—;

1872.

1873.-

1874.—;

1875

1876.-

1877.-

1878.-

1879.-

Boss ; Treasurer, Henry F Jones ; School In-

spector, S. N. Hildreth
;
Justices, P. R. Free-

man, Rufus B. Pratt.

Supervisor, M. Boughton ; Clerk, William H.

Chaddock ; Treasurer, C. B. Pratt ; School In-

spector, P. Burritt ; Justices, Horace Wixon,

James Hodges, Matthew Williams.

Supervisor, Henry Jones ; Clerk, William H.

Chaddock ; Treasurer, C. B. Pratt ; School

Inspector, Charles W. Hildreth ; Justices, R.

M. Brooks, Josiah D. Wickham, William L.

Davis.

Supervisor, Henry Jones; Clerk, A. R. Boss;

Treasurer, H. F. Jones ; School Inspector, P.

P. Peck ; Justices, P. P. Peck, Ephraim Case.

Supervisor, M. Boughton ; Clerk, Calvin Ingram
;

Treasurer, S. N. Hildreth ; School Inspector,

Stephen S. Gage ; Justices, James Hodges, An-

drew J. Halsted.

Supervisor, L. Hungerford ; Clerk, Calvin Ingram
;

Treasurer, Byron S. Pratt ; School Inspector, A.

C. Robinson ; Justices, A. Halsted, Adam K'.n-

caid.

Supervisor, Henry Jones ; Clerk, A. R. Boss

;

Treasurer, Amariah B. Cook ; School Inspector,

John R. Kimball ; Justices, Holland Sias, C.

W. Hildreth, William Frost.

Supervisor, A. R. Boss; Clerk, Lafayette Fenton
;

Treasurer, Amariah B. Cook ; Justices, John
• P. Madden, P. P. Peck, John Q. Benedict.

Supervisor, L. Hungerford ; Clerk, L. Fenton

;

Treasurer, Charles N. Plowman ;
School In-

spector, Charles W. Hildreth; Justice, Elam

Cutter.

Supervisor, William H. H. Knapp; Clerk, L.

Fenton ; Treasurer, Amariah B. Cook ; School

Inspector, J. B. Knapp ; Justice, Richard

Baylis.

Supervisor, William H. H. Knapp ; Clerk, L.

Fenton ; Treasurer, A. B. Cook ; School Inspec-

tor, M. Boughton ; Superintendent of Schools,

George E. Boughton ; Justice, Jacob Miller.

Supervisor, William H. H. Knapp ; Clerk, Thomas

H. Jones ; Treasurer, A. B. Cook ;
School In-

spector, John Pingel ; School Superintendent,

A. R. Boss ;
Justice, John P. Madden.

Supervisor, William H. H. Knapp ; Clerk, T. H.

Jones ; Treasurer, A. B. Cook ; School Inspec-

tor, John Pingel ; School Superintendent, George

E. Boughton.

•Supervisor, William H. H. Knapp; Clerk, L.

Fenton ; Treasurer, Charles N. Plowman
;
School

Inspector, John H. Boss; School Superintend-

ent, John W. Keeny; Ju.stices, Roderick I.

Foot, John Wandel.

•Supervisor, William H. H. Knapp ; Clerk, Robert

B. Peabody; Treasurer, Charles N. Plowman;

School Inspector, H. L. Pratt; School Superin-

tendent, John W. Keeny ; Justices, Walter M.

Croiikhite, S. N. Hildreth, John H. Boss.
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1880.—Supervisor, William H. H. Knapp; Clerk, Charles

Dane; Treasurer. Henry W. Bliss; School In-

spector, Albert Whitaker ; School Superintend-

ent, George E. Barnes; Justices, Henry Jones,

John Wandel, Albert Whitaker.

RELIGIOUS HISTORY.

Wherever the smoke of the settler's cabin rose, there

soon came the circuit preacher bound on his mission of

good.

Traversing trail and forest-path, he found cordial wel-

come everywhere. The first of these pioneer preachers was

a man named Jackson, and his first meeting in the township

was at the house of Charles M. Thornton.

The North Kiley class, Methodist Episcopal Church, was

organized about 1842, at the house of Philip P. Peck, by

a preacher from Lyons. The members were very few.

The class was reorganized in 1863-64, by lievs. L. M.

Garlick and C. Chick. The members were P. P. Peck and
'

wife, M. Boughton and wife, J. H. Patterson and wife,

John Jay and wife, William Owen and wife, S. N. Hildrelh

and wife, Lydia Hildreth, John Hildrcth, pjlizabeth Ben-

jamin, and Mrs. Temple
;

their meetings were held in the

Boughton school-house. That winter. 1863-64, there was

a revival, which added some forty to the class. The fol-

lowing fulfilled their mission herefrom 1864 to the present

time, 1880 ; William Jenkins, James Roberts, Joseph Wil-

kinson, F. I. Bell, William McKnight, J. S. Harder, H. B.

Nichols, S. Snyder, and the present pastor. Rev. L. M.

Garlick. The present membership is twenty-one.

The Baptist Church of Riley and Bengal was formed

June 8, 1878, by Loren Benton, Alvin Winegar, John S.

Sturgis, Charles W. Benton, and Jonathan Walker. They

met at the .school-house in Bengal (fractional No. 1), and

chose E. M. Ney chairman, Loren Benton secretary, and

James M. Chapman, L. Benton, and A. Winegar trustees.

SCHOOLS.

The first school in the township was taught by Mary

Smith in a log house which had been occupied by Wash-

ington Cronkhite. The second school was taught by Mary

Ann Shears in the log dwelling which J. J. Cronkhite

erected after his first house was burned, July 1, 1841.

There was a school just over the line in Watertown,

taught by Mrs. Bet.sey JLiconiber, in 1S42; it was located

in the Thornton and Ferris neighborhodd. There have

been so many changes in districts that it is difficult to foU

low or designate their boundaries with any certainty.

District No.' 1 (Boughton school) has a frame school-

house situated on the noitheast quarter of section 7. The

report for 1878-79 gives 41 children of school age, 34 in

attendance; frame school-house, value SlOO, will .scat 50

pupils ; 1 male teacher (winter term), pay 8112 ; 1 female

teacher (for summer term), pay $64 ; resources for year,

$312.46.

District No. 2 (Jason school) has <|uite a hand.wnie

frame school-house, built in 1872 (finished with a bell,

cupola, and blinds to the windows), situated on the south-

east (|uarter of section 10. The report for 1H7S-7!! is as

follows; 45 children, 38 altendiug .'^cImkiI ; frame .school-

64

house, seating 60 pupils, value 81300; 1 male teacher

(winter term), pay $120; female teacher (summer term),

pay $36 ; resources, $207.79.

District No. 4 (Jones school) has the only brick school-

house in the town. It was built in 1878, and is valued

at $1000; seating capacity, 60 scholars; children in dis-

drict, 57 ; attending school, 35 ;
pay of male teacher for

winter term, $100; female teacher, summer term, received

844 ; resources for the year 1878-79, $492.61 ; school-

house situated on section 34.

District No. 5 (Kincaid school) has a small frame house

situated on the northeast corner of section 32 ; seating ca-

pacity, 40 pupils ; in attendance, 50 ; value of school-house,

8500 ; 1 male teacher employed; pay, 8213 ; resources for

1878-79, 8376.15.

District No. 6 (Wilcox school) has a handsome frame

school-house (similar in finish and appearance to the Jason

school), erected in 1878 and situated on section 17. The

report for 1878-79 gives the following: children, 78; at-

tending school, 65 ; 1 frame school-house; value, $1000
;

will seat 60 scholars ; 1 female teacher employed
;
pay,

$136; resources, 8546.31.

Fractional district No. 1 (Riley and Olive) has a srosdl

old frame school-house situated a short distance west of

Atwell Simmons' residence. The report for 1878-79 gives

69 children; 30 attending school; value of house, 8100;

seats 50; 1 male teacher; pay, $140
; 1 female teacher;

pay, $64 ; resources, 8254.50.

District (fractional) No. 2 (Riley and Olive) has a neat

frame school-house situated on the southeast corner of sec-

tion 13. School report for 1878-79 shows 52 children;

46 attending school ; frame school-house, value, $600

;

seats 60 ; 1 male teacher
;

pay, $84 ; 1 female teacher

;

pay, 842 ; resources, 8266.27.

The following names appear on the records as teachers in

this township to 1860: Martha liowell, Hannah J. Young,

Dorr K. Stowell, Addis E. Lloyd, Indiana Walton, Mary

Ann Shear, Betsey Macombcr, Charlotte Ferguson, Miss

T. Alexander, Eleanor S. Macombcr, Ann Cain, Mr. Mon-

tague, Mary Daniels, Frances E. Lloyd, Cyrus Pratt, Cor-

nelia N. Daniels, Elizabeth Tucker, Joseph Berry, Smith

Ilililreth. Mary J. Partridge, Rebecca Burk, .Mary .^Il>ore,

Mary Weber, William E. Barber, William 11. 11. Knapp,

Harvey C. Nutting, Helen Humphrey, Lucy M. Whitaker,

Emma D. Badger, Mary Austin, Enielino Heaeox, Mi!<8

Kincaid, Arnilnila Bartow, Mary .\nn Ilayi-s, Catharino

II. Stevens, Martha Howard, Khoda B. Wilber, Byron H.

Pratt, Augusta Fink, Leonard Travis, Clinton J. Hill,

Mary Reynolds, Martha Cokeland, .Vngeline Reynolds.

POST-OKKICKS.

The Riley post-office was established alM)Ut 1S55. Jon-

athan Owen was the first poslmaslcr. His »uceea.soni hove

been Philip P. Peck, John N. Hildrelh, and the pri^ont

ineunibeTit, S. N. Ilildn-lh.

The South Riley post tiffice was established alniut 1857,

with NRthan E. Jones, Sr., postmaster, succeeded by Au-

gustus Itobinson, Nathan E. Jone4<, Jr., and thi- present

poslmasliT, .\dolpluis E. .lonc-s.
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SAW-MILL.

The first stationary saw-mill in Riley was built on section

25 about 1875 by Henry Harlow & Co. The partner was

killed by being accidentally thrown upon the saw. The

machinery was removed to Woodhull, Shiawassee Co., and

set up in a mill built on the Chicago and Lake Huron

Railroad.

PATRONS OF HUSBANDRY.

NORTH RILEY GRANGE, No. 342,

was organized March 19, 1874, Col. Richard Baylis being

the first Master ; Morris Boughton, Overseer ; Cyrus B.

Pratt, Lecturer ; George H. Peck, Steward ; S. N. Hil-

dreth. Chaplain ; Cory Owen, Trea.surer
;
H. L. Pratt, Sec-

retary ;
John Pingel, Gate-keeper; Mrs. Eunice E. Baylis,

Ceres; Miss Lucretia Temple, Pomona; Miss Hattie

Boughton, Flora; Mrs. Adelia Walters, Lady Assistant

Steward.

SOUTH RILEY GRANGE, No. 456,

was organized under dispensation, June 11, 1874. They

have a grange hall adjoining the brick school-house on the

east side.

FOREST HILL CHEESE-FACTORY,

owned and operated by a stock company, was organized in

the spring of 1874, and the factory erected. The building

is in size thirty by eighty, and cost, with machinery, twenty-

four hundred dollars. It stands on the northeast corner of

section 17.

The stockholders are D. P. Wilcox, Horatio S. Bliss,

Henry L. Bliss, Sidney J. Bliss, David P. Bliss, Stebbins

C. Bliss, Bliss Temple, J. M. Dane, Henry Jones, Chris-

tian Jacobs, Andrew J. Chapman, Frederick Oding,

John Pingel, Charles Walters, and A. R. Boss; President

of the company, D. P. Wilcox ; A. R. Boss, Secretary.

AGRICULTURE AND POPULATION.

The United States census of 1860 gives the following

exhibit. There were owned in the town 94 horses, 248

milch cows, 110 work-oxen, 617 sheep, and 485 swine.

The yield of grain, etc., was 3653 bushels of wheat, 7536

bushels of corn, 4367 bushels of oats, 2758 bushels of po-

tatoes, 2469 pounds of wool, 26,900 pounds of butter,

2430 pounds of cheese, 876 tons of hay, 41,486 pounds

of maple-sugar.

The United States census of 1870 shows the increase of

the products of the township over the census of 1860. Of
horses there were 222 ; cows, 302 ; oxen, 60 ; sheep, 1830

;

swine, 355
;

pounds of wool, 8935
;
pounds of butter,

41,345 ; bushels of wheat, 17,382 ;
bushels of corn, 9985

;

bushels of potatoes, 7340 ; bushels of oats, 16,245 ; tons

of hay, 1410
;
pounds of maple-sugar, 9505.

The State census of 1874 exhibits the gain over the

census of 1870. Wheat on ground, 2249 acres ; wheat

cut in 1873, 1741 acres, which yielded 29,239 bushels
;

corn, 20,073 bushels
;
potatoes, 3634 bushels ; tons of hay,

1651
;
pounds of wool, 7793; pounds of butter, 53,373

;

pounds of cheese, 6500
;
pounds of maple-sugar, 19,247

;

horses, 375; oxen, 152; cows, 636; swine, 604; sheep,

2149. The census of cereals for 1877 shows 2452 acres

of wheat cut, which produced 61,747 bushels. The wheat

on the ground in 1878 was 3306 acres, which would give

(as estimated) an average yield of 83,245 bushels.

In 1847, Riley had a population of 134, which had in-

creased io 1854 to 400. In 1860 the enumeration gave

607 souls in 122 families. There were 142 dwelling-houses

and 106 farms occupied. The State census in 1864 showed

641, showing a gain of only 34 in four years. The census

of 1870 gave 1139, an increa.se in six years of 498. The

next four years only 24 were added to the population, mak-

ing for 1874, 1103. The United States census for 1880,

just completed, gives the number of inhabitants at 1469,

a gain in six years of 306.

I
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

LYxMAN HUNGERFORD.

Lyman HungerforJ was born in the town of I'aiis,

Oneida Co., N. Y., Aug. 1, 1812. His father, Orin

Huiifjcrford, was a native of the Green Mountain State,

and was born in the town of Pownal, Bennington Co.,

in 1790. He was a blacksmith by trade, and removed to

Oneida County about 1808, where lie re.sided until 181G,

when he removed to Jefferson County and ]jurcha.sed a farm

in the town of Henderson, wliere he resided until liis

death, which occurred in 1868. He married Jlifs Abigail

Morgan in 1811. She was born in the town of I'ownal,

in 1789. They reared a family of nine children,—si.\ boys

and three girls,—Lyman being the eldest of the family.

The elder Hungerford was an energetic and successl'ul

farmer of liberal and progressive ideas, and in all respects

a valuable citizen. His wife was one of those thrifty

housewives of the olden time. She spun and wove the

cloth from which the family clothing was made, and reared

lier children to habits of industry and thrift. Lyman

acquired what was at that time considered a good educa-

tion. His life up to the age of twenty-one was spent upon

his father's farm. On attaining his majority he sLirted fcjr

himself, working as a I'arm lianil during tiie summer, and

teaching during the winter. In 183G he purchased from

the government the northeast quarter of sccliim IJ4.

In 1838 he was uuirried to Miss Sarah Nutting, of

Henderson. She was born in 1815. In 1843, Mr. Hun-

gerford came West with his family, and settled upon the

farm which he had previously purcha.sed. Riley was at

this time an almost unbroken wilderness; his purchase was

heavily timbered, and the construction of a farm was an

undertaking involving years of hard labor and privation.

The life of Mr. Hungerford has been a success in all that

the word implies. He has secured a well-won competency,

and has attained an enviable j)osition among his fellow-

citizens, by whom he is fully ajipreeiated for his integrity

and ability. He has been placed in various positions of

trust, notably among the number that of supervisor and

magistrate. The ofTice of supervisor ho Glled acceptably

for over eleven years. In all matters of county legislation

he took broad and liberal positions, and among his brother

supervisors he was esteemed, not oidy for his gentlemanly

deportment, but for sterling common sense and sound judg-

ment. As a magislnite iiis decisions were always impartial,

and evidenced much legal acumen. Mr. Hungerford reared

a family of three children, only one of whom is now living,

William W., who was born in the town of Riley, in ISU,

and is living on a place which was presented to him by liis

father.

Accompanying this biogiii|iliy mjiy bi' .>*een the portrait

of Mr. Hungerford, which is indicative of generosity and

hospitality, and is evidence of a positive eharaeler and a

well-balanced mind.
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PHILIP P. P13CK.

If the future generations are asked tlie question, " Who
has done the most for Anaeiica, the pioneer or the inventor

of the telegraph, the locomotive, the steamboat, or the

many great inventors of the present or any other age?" we

believe the answer will be, " The Pioneer." Without him

there would have been no need of locomotives or steam-

boats, no cities to connect with the telegraph-wire, and no

use for the labor-saving machinery we .see on every hand.

Of the pioneers of Clinton County there arc none deserving

of more credit than Philip P. Peck, of whom this is a

brief history. He was one of a family of six children,

and was born in Danbury, Conn., Nov. 23, 1802. When
he was fourteen years old his ftither, who was a shoemaker,

moved to Seneca Co., N. Y., where the family resided

fourteen years, and where young Piiilip learned his father's

trade. Arrived at his majority he started out in life for

himself, locating first at Lodi, in Seneca County. But

having no means with which to start, he found a hard road

to travel. He then became an itinerant shoemaker, going

from farm to farm and making up the yearly supply of

shoes for the families where he stopped, as was the custom.

After several years spent in wandering he married, and

then emigrated to Huron Co., Ohio, where he bought fifty

acres of unimproved land, on which he did but little

clearing, as his trade engrossed the most of his time.

Soon after his arrival in Ohio, his brother joined him and

opened a cooper-shop. Philip's health becoming impaired

by too close application to the bench he (juit his trade, and

then for four years worked at the cooper's trade. Becoming

dissatisfied with the progress he was making he sold his fifty

acres, and with two ox-teams started for Michigan, locating in

Tccumseh, Lenawee Co., where he bought forty acres of land.

but did not work it, as his recovered health made it possible

for him to again work at his trade, which he followed four

years; then sold out and again wended his way westward,

this time locating in Riley township, Clinton Co. There were

then but few families, and Mr. Peck's arrival was hailed

with groat pleasure by Mr. Boughton, who was living a

bachelor on his farm, which was near Mr. Peck's. He had

previously built a small house near Mr. Peck's farm, into

which he at once invited Mr. Peck and his family, and

where they resided many years. The house, though small,

was always the home of any new-comer, and families of

eight and ten were often entertained for weeks until their

own houses could be built. The Indians, too, always found

a welcome beneath his roof and at his table, and were

always warm friends of the family. Years have passed,

and the wild land he then bought is now a well-improved

farm, which is surrounded by the homes of the many

thrifty farmers of Riley, all of which Mr. Peck has lived

to see, and towards which he has contributed more than

his share. And now in the seventy-eighth year of his age

he is enjoying the comforts his life of toil has brought

him. He has always stood high in the estimation of his

fellow-citizens, and has nearly always held some office in

his town, having been justice of the peace thirty years in

succession, and town clerk five years; also county superin-

tendentof the poor two years. He was in early life converted

to the Methodist faith, and is now a member of that church.

There have been born to Mr. and Mrs. Peck the following

children: William B., born Oct. 11, 1825; Emma J.,

March 12, 1827; and Amanda M., June 23, 1833, who

married David P. Bliss, July 30,1853; their children

are Eva, born July G, 1854, and Huron S., April 22, 1861.
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JONATHAN OWEN.

Among tlie patriots of the Revolution was Col.

Jesse Owen, father of the subject of this memoir.

He was a brave soldier and an intrepid commander.

He served with distinction tliroughout that sanguin-

ary struggle, and at the close of the war settled in

Orange Co., N. Y., where Jonathan was born, April

1, 1805. He lived with his father, who was a farmer,

until he was twenty-two years of age, when he mar-

ried Miss Lydia Bcnnet, who was born in New Jer-

sey in 1804. In 1805 the family removed to Tomp-

kins Co., N. Y., where the motiier died.

In 1845, Mr. Owen emigrated with his family to

Michigan, and settled in the town of Riley, where

he purchased one hundred and twenty acres of new

land on secticin 18. The jiionccr life of Mr. Owen

was one of peculiar privation and iiardship; lie was

jxKir and was obliged to work for three shillings per

day to support his family, but being a man of in-

domitable perseverance and energy he overcame tin?

obstiiclcs that beset his way, and not only accumulated

a competency, but established a valuable reconl as a

citizen.

In his religious belief lu; was a Baptist, and

carried his religion iuto his everyday life, and it.s

precepts were his guiile in all transactions. Politi-

cally, he was a Republican.

He died April Iw, Isfiil, ;ii his home in Itiiey, in

the sixty-first year of his age. He liad been closely

identifieil with the best intere.sts of tiie town for over

twenty-one years. He owned at the time of his

death a fine farm of four hundred acres, over two

hundretl of which were improved. He had erected

commodious buildings, and possessed all the appoint-

ments of a well-conducted farm. He was tin- father of

a family of nine children, viz.: Betsey, born .Sept.

1, 18->7; William B., b,,rn June '_>-J. 1829; Mary,

born .Inly 27, IS.',] ; .lane, born Aug. 24, 1833;

Ji^sepli B., born Sept. 17, 18.')"); John, Inirn May 5,

1837; Jesse C, born Aug. 18, 1839; Rebcwa A.,

born March 19, 1844; Caroline C., born Nov. 21,

1847. Of the above all are living, with the excep-

tion of Betsey, Mary, and John. 'I'he latter enlisted

in Co. .\, Twenlv-tliinl .Michigan X'olunlit'r Iii-

fautrv, anil died in lio-piia! ai Howling (tiven, Ky.,

Dec. 1. 1S(;2. Jesse C. wa-^ a niemU'r of Co. (1,

s;une regiment.

Accompanying this brief biogniphy may Iw seen

(he portraits of Mr. and Mrs. Owen, |)laco<l in (his

volume by their children as a monument for the per-

peiualioM of their memory, and as a slight acknowl-

edgment of what they did in the development of

the towu.
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CHAPTER LXIV.

VICTOR TOWNSHIP.*

General Description—The Pioneers of the Townstiip and its Settle-

ment—The Indian Chief Chippewa— Lists of Early Tax-Payers

and Voters—Township Organization— List of Township Officers

—

Post-Offices—Highways—Religious History—Schools.

Town 6 north, in range 1 west, named Victor, is one of

the eastern border towns of Clinton County. North it has

Ovid, south is Bath, east Shiawassee County, and west the

townsliip of Olive.

Originally the town consisted of oak-openings, with some

marsh-lands on the west, and a generally even surface except

on the east, where the country is inclined to be iiilly. The

soil is exceedingly productive, and, illustrative of the esteem

in which it is held, the language of one of Victor's most

prosperous farmers testifies that the soil of the town " will

produce just what you put the crop in for." Much of the

acreage is given over to tlie cultivation of wlieat, of which

the average yield in the best portions reaches twenty-five

bushels to the acre, while in some instances forty bushels

have been yielded. Victor is moreover an excellent sheep-

raising town. In 1879 the sheep sheared numbered four

thousand three hundred and eighty-.six, and the wool-clip

twenty-five thousand eight hundred and ibrty-seven pounds.

The number of sheep reported in 1880 aggregated four

thousand nine hundred and sixty-six.

The Looking-Glass lliver, an exceedingly crooked stream,

passes through the southern part of the tciwn from east

to west, but affurds no power that can be utilized to

profitable advantage. Round hake, a handsome sheet of

water, covering about one hundred and fifty acres upon sec-

tions 28 and 29, was at one time a very popular resort for

anglers, picnic-parties, and pleasure-seekers in general, but

latterly its attractive features have faded by neglect, although

there is .still much thereabout that invites the attention of

the rambler.

The town has no village, nor has it yet any business

interests save those of agriculture. The line of the Jack-

son, Lansing and Saginaw Railroad crosses the southeast

corner of Victor, but has no station therein.

THE PIONKEKS OF TlIK TOWNSIIII' AND ITS

SETTLE.MKNT.

Until the summer of 18156 the township now called

Victor contained no white settlers. At that lime one

Welcome J. Parlelo effected on the southwest (|uarter of

section l!l the pioneer clearing. Although lie did not

discover his error until some years afterwards, he settled

upon land belonging to other parties, but adjoining his

own. Unconscious of his mistake he worked and im-

proved that place, .set out an orchard, and very materially

enhanced its value, when there came to him the knowledge

one day that he had been improving another man's land

while his own had all that time been suffered to lie ne-

''lected. I'artilo was of course cliauiimd and much dis-

gusted wluri the revelation fell u|inii liim, but as he was

fortunately permitted to purchase the property at the price

• Hv David .Sfliwarti!.

of unimproved land, he escaped from the dilemma with

considerable satisfaction, aird continued to make liia home

where he had begun. Mr. Partelo was chosen the first

supervisor of the township of De Witt in 183C, and occu-

pied for some time a prominent place as a county official.

Victor's second settlor w;is Robert G. McKee, now and

since 18(!0 a resident of Laingsburg, in Sciota. Mr. .\IcKee

located land in 1836 upon sections 25, 35, and 36, and in

the spring of 1837 began to make an improvement thereon.

He was then a bachelor, and devoted him.self chiefly to the

business of surveying, but engaging a family to live on his

place and clear it up, he " made a commencement" just as

if he had liimself taken literally hold of the pioneer busi-

ness. Indeed, he did do considerable work in that direc-

tion, although, as before remarked, he was dashing through

the country much of his time with his surveying-party.

Mr. SIcKee's mode of life brought him naturally into familiar

contact with the roving Indians of that section, and he

became in time their well-known and esteemed patron.

The most important of the early settlements in the town-

ship were made, however, in June, 1837, wheti there came

to Victor a company of three families, whose respective

heads were William Swarthout, John Parker, and Jesse

Jamison, of whom the last named, still living in the town,

is the only surviving member. William Swarthout, who

was a man of means, had instructed his brothers-in-law,

Van Vleet, of Ann Arbor, to locate for him six eighty-

acre lots in Victor, his purpose being to start a large farm,

so that he might eventually apportion it to his sons, of

whom he had six. Instead of locating the lots together,

Van Vleet scattered them east, west, and north, much to

Swarthout's aggravation, but the mischief being done he

made the best of it. The land location was made in 1 836

and the settlemeiil in 1837, Swarthout's selection being

made in section 23.

The three families journeyed together from Seneca Co.,

N. Y., to Detroit, and there leaving the women and chil-

dren, William Swarthout, Jesse Jamison, John Parker, and

Swarthout's two sons, Isaac V. and Layton, pushed on

westward for Swarthout's land in Victor. In short order

they put up a.shanty, and then William Swarthout reluming

to Detroit for their families, brought them out without much

delay, and into the completed shanty all hands bunked until a

house was built for Parker on section 14. Then Jamison

was provided with a habitation on section 22, and .so all had

in due season roofs over their separate heads. Jamison,

the oldest living settler now in the town, abides still on tho

spot where he init up his rude cabin. Parker's wi.low

lives on the old Parker place. Swarthout tarried in Vict.ir

only two years, when ho removed to Ovid and there died.

Jamison, a blacksmith by Iraile, set up a smithy in

pretty (|uick order, and jdtlumgh he was not ei|uip|H'd to

do nincli skillful work, hi,s presence niul business becoming

straightway known for miles around, he was abundantly

besicL'cd by settlers in-eiling his services, and in many eases

these needy ones came many mile-s to him for plow-points

or such work as he could furni.sh. Soon afterwards .Miisea

Smith setlling upon section 2. openeil n Hniilhy there, and

not long afterwards John Runeiinan started a similar shop

near Hound Lake, on iIk' (Inoid Hiv.T road, liiil to Janii-
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son belongs the distinction of " pioneer blacksmith of

Victor."

Returning to mention of Welcome J. Partelo, it is of

interest to mention that he raised the pioneer crop of wheat

in the town and set out the first orchard, and that De Witt

C. Partelo, his son, born in 1837, was the first born in

Victor. William Swarthout, supposed generally to have

been the first, was the second, the date of his birth being

August, 1838.

The first death in the town was that of the juother of

John Parker. She died in the summer of 1839, and was

buried upon John Parker's fiirni. I). S. Cotes dug the

grave, and D. H. Blood delivered a prayer as the only

funeral service, a minister being not readily obtainable.

Nothing was done towards procuring a public burial-

ground until the town-meeting of April 1, 1844, when the

town board was authorized to purchase three suitable sites

for burying-grounds ; and to pay for the land and breaking

and fencing it fifty dollars were appropriated, eight dollars

being also voted to build a pound on ground bought of

Joseph Holiister. From the town records it appears that

William Branson and Joseph Holiister each received five

dollars for half an acre of land to be used as a cemetery.

Of these the one now on section 13 was laid out first.

In February, 1839, D. H. Blood, a New Yorker, entered

the town with his family—having already located land on

section 13—and took possession temporarily of a log house

body put up in the fall of 1838 on section 10 by William

W. and James Upton, who, at the time mentioned, had

broken four acres on the place, put it into wheat, and re-

turned to the East. Later on William AV. came back to

Victor, and resided in the township many years. He became

subsequently an occupant of the supreme bench of Oregon,

and now holds an important place in the treasury depart-

ment at Washington.

When Blood made his settlement there were already in

the town W. J. Partelo, Jesse Jamison, R. G. McKee,

Joseph Simpson, Jolin Parker, Hugh Haggerty, William

Swarthout, and Thomas Cross. When Blood came in

there was no grist-mill available short of Shiawasseetown,

and during the first year of his stay he had to go to Capt.

Scott's, of De Witt, to buy a grist, consuming a day to do

it in, and after that using two days more to get his grist to

mill and his flour homo.

Joseph Simpson, alluded to above, came with his flimily

to Victor in 1838, to work some land on section 14 be-

longing to his brother-in-law, D. S. Cotes, who came also

with him, but returned eastward after lending Simpson a

hand in clearing about three acres. Cotes came back in

1841 for a permanent stay, and remained a resident of Victor

until 18G6, when he removed to his present home in Ovid

township, to land first settled by one Zewick. Cotes found

in 1841 that Victor had quite a bevy of settlers, including

Thomas Cross, Hugh Haggerty, John Parker, Jesse Jami-

son, Ainsworth Reed, W. J. Partelo, R. G. McKee, John
Collister, Joseph Holiister, James and Wentworth Calkins,

Joseph Simpson, Daniel Blood, and Cyrus Robinson, who
was on section 6, where Epliraini Tiuiubull had previously

made a settlement. Samuel Treat boarded with Cotes a

year, and then occupied a place on tlie southwest.

About that time John Runciman, already spoken of,

pitched his tent in section 28, near Round Lake, on the

Grand River road, and opened business as a blacksmith.

A brief experience in that field satisfied him that the busi-

ness was neither profitable, pleasant, nor suited to his taste,

and in di.sgust he gave up the venture and returned to

New York. There he sold the Victor place to John Miller,

who came out in 1844 expecting to find a clearing of fifteen

acres on liis neW purchase, but found instead that some one

had turned simply a couple of furrows, and as to clearing

there was not sufficient to speak of When Miller reached

the spot with his family the old log house body built by

Runciman was uninhabitable, and pending its restoration

Miller moved into the house of Walter Laing, then owning

a place one mile east, but just at that time working a farm

in Bath for the widow Cushman. Walter Laing was a son

of Dr. Peter Laing, of Laingsburg, and kept on the Grand

River road in section 27 a house of public entertainment,

where he dispensed whisky as the chief stock in trade.

A house of public entertainment was also kept by Oliver B.

Westcott in 1845. Previous to that time he kept tavern

at Laingsburg. Miller's nearest neighbors were Jesse

Jamison, two and a half miles northeast, and R. G. McKee,

three miles east. There were at that time no lucifcr

matches, and on two or three occasions Miller had made

trips to Jamison's and McKee's in search of firebrands to

restore his own expired fire. The business of walking five

or six miles every time his fire went out, and made the job

necessary, set young John contemplating the possibility of

obtaining fire by an easier method. Contemplation merged

into determination soon afterwards when one Sunday morn-

ing the family fire was out and a trip to McKee's stared

him in the face. Ransacking the cabin he stumbled upon

a piece of flint, and lo ! in a trice he had a fire, nor was he

afterward called to repeat his former tiresome experiences.

Robert McKee was the only man in the neighborhood who

had a horse-team, and to him the people frequently turned

for a lift when they wanted milling done. It was nothing

uncommon for a .settler to use four days in going to Shia-

wassee to mill with ox-teams, and when the ground was

frozen hard their oxen were of course valueless as motive-

power. On such occasions McKee and his horse-team came

in the guise of timely blessings.

Mr. Miller recalls a bear-hunting incident in which he,

McKee, and an Indian took part. They treed the bear,

cut the tree down, and then, as his bearship was about to

make off', Miller mounted him. Bruin struggled and en-

deavored to lunch on his captor, who was, however, deter-

mined to stick to him until assisted by his companions, but

McKee, enjoying the fun too much to stop, yelled, " Hang

to him, Miller, or he'll kill you I" Miller fretted and

fumed and struggled with the bear until his apparent ex-

haustion warned JlcKee to render assistance. With the

aid of the others McKee got the bear down and tied, and

took him up on his horse, the intention all along having

been to convey the beast home alive. McKee had not gone

far with his prize before the prize managed to offtir a show

of fight, and that time it was the gallant McKee who was

fiightonod. The more frightened he got and the more he

called to IMiller and the Indian to help him the more Mil-
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Icr cried out, " Stick to liiin, Mac, or he'll kill you
!"

Presently the situatioQ began to look serious, and then, to

Mac's great relief, his comrades mastered the bear aud got

the alarmed McKee out of his trouble.

When the Millers landed iu the town they were very

poor in provisions, and what few they did have were soon

consumed. New Year's Day was at hand, and although

they were bound to have a feast they hadn't a thing save a

little corn upon which to found it. Foraging about the

country, John managed to borrow a peek of potatoes,

which, although not much by way of a dinner, furnished at

least a start towards one. There was no bread in the house,

and a thirty-mile journey to mill wasn't to be thought of.

The corn was, however, at hand, and that accordingly

pounded was soon resolved into johnn3'-cake. Johnny-cake

and potatoes comprised, however, the sum total of the com-

ponent parts of the proposed New Year banquet, and as

philosophy was just then one of the cardinal virtues and

high in favor, they .sat down gladly to a feast of potatoes

and johnny-cake, and thanked heaven, no doubt, that their

condition was no worse. Apropos of a scarcity of pro-

visions, the year 1843, following upon what is still keenly

remembered as " the hard winter," was an especially hard

year for many pioneers. Many too poor to buy adcrjuate

su]iplies of food subsisted for days at a time upon berries

and milk, while thojse who were considered exceedingly for-

tunate struggled along on a diet of potatoes and salt. D.

S. Cotes says he recollects a time when, there being a relig-

ious gathering at his house and no flour in the larder, he

set off on a cruise among the neighbors in search of a loan,

and that he walked seven miles before he found a house-

hold supplied with sufficient flour to spare enough for a

baking.

During the period between 1836 and 1839, Ainsworth

Heed traveled through Clinton, Shiawassee, and other

Michigan counties selling goods, and made not only the

acquaintance of about every pioneer on his beat, but pur-

.sued a profitable industry. In 1839 he concluded he had

had enough of wandering, and he therefore bought some

lanil on section 13 in Victor, upon which he at once set-

tled. In 1858 he bought on sections 21 and 22 a tract of

land measuring one mile square, and to its improvement he

addressed himself so earnestly that although he paid but

three thousand three hundred and sixty dollars for the laud

in 1858, he was offered thirteen thou.sand dollars for it in

1870. Upon that tract he cultivated two acres of cran-

berries, and from the yield in twelve years he realized up-

wards of five thousand dollars. There was not a stick cut

upon his mile square in IS-IS, and when he built his house

that year he had to go to Flint to get seasoned lumber

for it.

Among other of the earliest settlers in Victor not heretofore

mentioned were William Kennedy and John Collister, who

came in 1838, aud Joseph Ilollister, who became a settlor

in 1841. Thomas Jami.son, bnilher to Jesse, made his

home in Victor in 1843, and died in 18(51. llis widow

lives now in Laing-sburg. Dr. Isaac T. Ilollister, brother

of Joseph, visited Victor in 1847, and there being then no

physician in the town, he determined to .-cltle there and

engage in the practice of medicine. For seventeen years

he pursued his professional duties in Victor aud the adjacent

country, taking in a large circuit of territory aud bending

his efforts in an energetic way to the flood of demands

which beset liim from far and near. Doctors were rather

rare in Michigan when he entered the field in Victor, and

as he was the first physician to locate in the town, he was a

privilege and a luxury to the community, as well as almost

constantly in demand, lie w;is in almost constant practice

to 18G4, when he removed to Laingsburg, where he now
lives in retirement. Dr. Aaron McKee came to Victor

about 1860, and practiced in the town until his death.

Victor's doctors have been, as noted, but the two named,

—

Hollister and McKee. As to the settlers who came to Vic-

tor after the town began to be pretty well populated, a gen-

eral allusion embraces the names of J. Y. Perkins, C. U.

McKee, Warren Ives, Loyal SUirr, Erastus Sprague, U. C.

Grothy, John Hibbard, John Beach, R. C. Arthur, J. D.

Sleight, W. F. Potter. H. Cuddeback, and W. Montague.

THE INDIAN CHIEF CHIPPEWA.

Upon the farm of Hugh Swarthout in Victor the cu-

riously inclined may observe the grave of an Indian chief,

known as Chippewa, who was at his death at the head of

the roving .savages who infested the townships of Seiota

and Victor much of the time during the pioneer era.

Chippewa died of the smallpox, which in 1838 raged

among the Indians thereabout as an epidemic. It is .said

that Chippewa, maintaining that he had discovered a new

cure for the disorder, proceeded while severely ill to put

his remedial measure into effect by leaping into a cask of

cold water. Unfortunately for his theory, his remedy simply

hastened his death, for almost directly after applying it he

expired. His burial-place is regarded with considerable re-

spect, and there has latterly been talk of inclosing it within

a paling, so that the spot may be not only ])reserved frmn in-

trusion but more conspicuously marked its an object of in-

terest. Chippewa's son, Jackson, died also of the small]ii>x

during the epidemic of 1838, and was buried on Daniel II.

Blood's farm, where his bones still repo.so.

LISTS OV K.VKLV TA.\-PA V KKS AND VOTEK.S.

The resident tax-payers of town G north, in range 1

west (now Victor), in 1839 were the following-named

persons

:

Arrcc

'I'liDiniif* M. CroMH, poodnn 2 H7
llii){l) lliiKKcrly, fcrliuii II 1(10

U. J. M.'Km<. >i-.-liuiiii ri,2fi, 3i,3a 77i
.lolui Collii>t«r. tiuoliuns 36, '^6 100

C. Ditviii, nooliiiii '.'7 80
K. Finnli, ro'olion .'lA lAO
.Iu5fiu Jiiiiii«i>ii, i<uctioti 22 80

.liiliii I'lirkor, ncctliin U 80

\V..I. I'lirti'l.i, m-i'liiili 31 144
.Jt>tti'|i)l .'Siiii|»»fiii, Nrotinlti* l',if 14 loo

The jurors of 1S16 were m follows:

Griind.—William Hrunsoii. Henry Post, Hugh Mag-

gerly, D. H. Hlnud, ,\iiisw()rlh IIcimI, .Icihn Parker.

y',7(V._Samuel Millard, D. S. Cnle.s, Th.imas M: Cress,

John Collister, Thomas Jamison, Henry liuell.

At tlic clecticms of 1844 and IS 16 the votrr- wcrr lu-

below named :
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Thomas M. Cross.

W. Calkins.

Hugli Haggerty.

Moses Smith.

Henry Buell.

Jesse Jamison.

Ransley Sutliff.

William Letts.

Samuel Millard.

Jos. Hollister.

David Groom.

How Covert.

P. B. Aldrich.

Alonzo Groom.

Phineas Partelo.

John Miller.

William Biunson.

James Calkins.

Reuben Rogers.

J. H. Adams.

Henry Buell.

Henry Post.

R. G. McKee.

AVillard Richards.

John Parker.

Thomas Jamison.

Reuben Rogers.

Jesse Jamison.

Jacob Miller.

Martin Heathington.

S. A. Mitchell.

Joseph Hollister.

Christopher Heathington.

1844.

David B. Cranson.

Isaac Parks.

S. A. Mitchell.

Joseph Simpson.

David S. Cotes.

Ainsworth Reed.

Samuel Treat.

Philo Finch.

Joseph Hildreth.

Henry Post.

R. G. McKee.

John Parker.

John Collister.

John Groom.

W. J. Partelo.

W. W. Upton.

D. H. Blood.

W. Laing.

Thomas Jamison.

1846.

John Groom.

Ainsworth Reed.

Samuel Millard.

P. B. Aldrich.

Samuel Calkins.

W^entworth Calkins.

D. H. Blood.

Hugh Haggerty.

Samuel Treat.

John Collister.

W. J. Partelo.

David S. Cotes.

Stephen Duzenberrj'.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION.

Towns 5 and 6 north, in range 1 west, now known as

Victor and Bath, were until March 9, 1843, joined under

the township name of Ossowa. Legislative act, approved

on the date mentioned, organized town 6 as Victor town-

ship, and provided that the first town-meeting should be

held at '' the school-house near Daniel Blood's." The town

name was bestowed in accordance with a suggestion from

William W. Upton and D. H. Blood, who came to Mich-

igan from Victor in New York State.

The first election for township ofiicials was held April

15, 1843, Jesse Jamison, D. H. Blood, and William

W. Upton being inspectors of election. The voters were

twenty-six in number, as follows : William Letts, Isaac

Parks, Aaron Groom, P. P. Peck, Robert Finch, John

Groom, Jr., Thomas M. Cross, Joseph Simpson, Reuben

Rogers, W. Calkins, James Calkins, John Groom, W. J.

Partelo, David B. Cranson, Samuel Millard, How Covert,

David S. Cotes, John Parker, Daniel H. Blood, David

Groom, Ainsworth Reed, Henry Buell, John Collister, W.
P. Partelo, Jesse Jamison, Hugh Haggerty.

A caucus was held at "J. M. Blood's old place," and

the candidates then selected were subsequently elected with-

out opposition, since there was but one ticket in the field.

The officers elected were : Supervisor, Samuel Treat ; Clerk,

Henry Buell ; Treasurer, Ainsworth Reed ; Justices of

the Peace, John Collister, Hugh Haggerty, W. J. Par-

telo, John Groom ; Highway Commissioners, William Letts,

Thomas M. Cross, John Parker; Constables, David Cran-

son, P. P. Peck, Aaron Groom, W. P. Partelo ; Poor-

masters, Hugh Haggerty, William W. Upton ; School

Inspectors, John Groom, Hugh Haggerty, William W.
l^pton ; Pathmasters, How Covert in district No. 8, David

Cranson in No. 13, James Calkins in No. 7, David S. Cotes

in No. 12, Jesse Jamison in No. 5, W. J. Partelo in No.

4, John Collister in No. 6.

Seventy-five dollars was voted for a town library ; one

dollar each on scholars between the ages of four and eight-

een was ordered to be raised, and two hundred dollars were

voted for contingent expenses.

LIST OF TOWNSHIP OFFICEKS.

Beginning with 1844 and closing with 1880, the annual

town elections in Victor have designated as supervisors,

clerks, treasurers, and justices of the peace the following

persons

:

SUPERVISORS.

1844. S. Treat.

1845-48. R. G. McKce.

1849-50. T. J.imison.

1851. R. G. McKee.

1852-56. T. Jamison.

1857. William Brunson.

1858-63. I. V. Swarthout.

1864-65. J. W. Bcckwith.

1866-68. I. V. Swarthout.

1844. \V. W. Tpton.

1845. J. H. Adams.

1846. S. Treat.

1847. T. Jamison.

1848. J. M. Blood.

1849. I. T. Hollister.

1850. A. Reed.

1851. D. H. Blood.

1852. H. Ilaggerty.

1853-54. I. T. Hollister.

1855-61. T. L. Swarthout.

1862. A. Reed.

1863. J. Berry.

1844-46. A. Reed.

1847-48. N. Bixbj.

1849. P. B. Aldrich.

1850. J. Jamison.

1851-61. A. Reed.

1862-63. T. L. Swarthout.

1864-65. J. Upton.

1866. J. Gibbard.

1867. J. Upton.

1869.
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1858.
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chains ; thence north to an angle-post in said State road."

Beginning at a stake three and sixty-one hundredths chains

north of the quarter post on the west side of section 36,

and thence north fourteen and a half chains; thence north

and east to a bridge over the Looking-Glass River. Be-

ginning at a point sixty-one and thirty-two hundredths

chains north of the southeast corner of section 31
;
thence

north and east to the principal meridian.

Dec. 27, 1844.—Beginning at the centre of the State

road at the northeast corner of section 9, and thence run-

ning south and west to the Grand River road.

KELI610US HISTORY.

In the fall of 1837 the disciples of Methodism sought

the infant settlement in Victor near William Swarthout's,

and at that period, in Mr. Swarthout's house, Bennett and

Jackson, Methodist Episcopal missionaries, preached the

first .sermon heard in the town. They came to the town

about once a month after that, and held public services

wherever an available place could be found. In 1839 they

were succeeded in the work by Rev. Mr. Blowers, who in

that year organized the Blood Methodist Episcopal class at

Mr. D. H. Blood's then residence, a log cabin owned by

W. W. Upton. The organizing members numbered four :

D. II. Blood, Susan Blood, Lydia A. Blood, and Ada Hag-

gerty, D. H. Blood being class-leader. When Mr. Blood

moved to the present " Blood neighborhood," the location

of the class was also changed, and in his house services

were held about once in two weeks until the completion of

the school-house. The latter place served as a house of

worship until the erection of the Blood church in 1863 on

section 14.

Since 1839 the Blood class has had a continuous exist-

ence and has enjoyed public worship constantly. D. H.

Blood and John Parker have been the cla.ss-leaders during

nearly the entire period, D. H. Blood being now the leader.

The first board of trustees chosen in 1863 was composed of

D. H. Blood, T. L. Swarthout, Ralph Swarthout, and

George Hibbard. The trustees serving in 1880 were Isaac

V. Swarthout, Charles W. Blood, T. L. Swarthout, Ralph

Swarthout, and George Hibbard. The class, which has a

membership ol' forty-two, is on the Victor Circuit, in charge

of Rev. Mr. Gray, who preaches at Blood's once in two

weeks.

FIRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

The first entry in the records of this church reads as

follows: "I, Noah Cressy, of Portland, Me., minister of

the gospel and missionary of the American Home Mission-

ary Society, hereby certify that on Saturday, May 24, 1845,

at the house of Henry Post, by the aid and advice of Rev.

0. Parker, of Flint, Mich., I organized a Congregational

church consisting of the following persons, who adopted

the covenant and confession of faith: Henry Post, William

Brunson, Eliza D. Post, Hoyt G. Post, Thomas Jenison,

Mary Ann Brun.son, and Porter B. Pierce." Henry Post

was appointed moderator, Henry Post and Thomas Jenison

deacons, and William Brunson stated clerk.

Noah Cressy, although nearly eighty years old, was an

earnest and energetic missionary worker, and after organi-

zing the church served it as pastor two years, preaching for

it once a month. During his ministerial labors in Michi-

gan he was employed in a wide range of territory, over

which he invariably journeyed afoot, in pursuance of a

resolution taken in the East, where, happening to trade for

a horse on a Sunday and the horse dying on his hands, he

looked upon the circumstance as a divine rebuke. To do

penance he determined to ride no more. Besides Victor,

Mr. Cressy preached also in Duplain, Essex, and De Witt

from 1845 to 1847.

His successor was Rev. Sanford R. Bissell, who remained

until 1848, in which year the church joined the Genesee

Conference of Churches. Following Mr. Bissell the pas-

tors were Revs. John Scotford, 0. M. Goodell, Fox,

and William Mulder. Mr. Mulder, who is the present

pastor, has been such since 1871. The place of worship

has been at Brunson's Corners, in the district school-house,

from the outset, and there meetings have been held since

1843 with continuous regularity. The membership is

forty-two. The deacons are J. W. Beckwith and Henry

Mulder, and the clerk, Edward D. Post.

VICTOR UNITED BRETHREN CLASS.

This class was organized at the Reed School-House by

Rev. Mr. Lee in 1865 with eight members, J. Y. Perkins

being chosen leader. The Reed school-house was used for

worship until 1877, when a neat church edifice was built

just west of Reed's Corners. Since 1865 the class has met

for public worship once every two weeks, and is now at-

tached to Ovid Circuit, in charge of M. H. Sly. There

are twenty members, of whom J. Y. Perkins is the leader.

VICTOR CENTRE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

Elder Wood, of the Methodist Episcopal Church, held

a revival at the Grove school-house in 1859, and after his

departure Mr. Shiffer, a local preacher, organized at that

place the Victor Centre Methodist Episcopal Class, with

eight members. Preaching has been held at that point

fortnightly by the preachers on the Ovid Circuit, now in

charge of Rev. Mr. Gray. The members number now

thirty-eight. The leader is Truman Shattuck ; the stew-

ards, Jacob Gibbard and William Briggs. The union

Sunday-school, supported by the Methodists and Congrega-

tionalists, is in charge of J. W. Beckwith, and has an

average attendance of sixty scholars and eight teachers.

SIXTH-DAY ADVENTISTS.

A Sixth-Day Advent Church was organized by Elder

Fox in 1876 at the Reed school-house, with a membership

of about forty. Conjointly with the United Brethren the

Adventists built a church west of Reed's Corners in 1877,

but for some reason they have latterly been denied the

privilege of using it. Their place of worship is the Reed

school-house, but they are at present without a preacher.

SCHOOLS.

The earliest school privileges oifered to the children of

Victor's pioneers were obtained in a basswood-log school-

house, built on William Swarthout's farm in Ovid in 1839.
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The first school-house in Victor was built on section 13 in

1840, in which Phoebe Laing was the first teacher. At
the first town-meeting in Victor, April 15, 1843, it was

voted to raise one dollar for each scholar between the ages

of four and eighteen, " to be applied toward the payment of

teachers."

March 25, 1845, school district No. 1 was organized

from sections .3, 4, 9, and 10. Fractional district No. 2,

organized May 24, 1845, included the north halves of sec-

tions 5 and 6 of Victor, and portions of the towns of Ovid

Olive, and Bingham. No. 3 was formed in 1846, and May

2, 1848, No. 4 was organized, " to commence at the quarter

stake in the north line of section 22, running east to the

northeast corner of section 23 ; thence north eighty rods

;

thence east one hundred and sixty rods ; thence south

eighty rods
;
thence east to the northeast corner of section

24 ;
thence south to the southeast corner of section 25

;

thence west to the quarter stake on the south side of sec-

tion 27 ; thence north to the place of beginning. A frac-

tional district, taking in portions of Bath and Victor, was

formed May 13, 1848. The apportionment of the primary-

school fund, June 20, 1845, gave Victor $11.48. At that

time the number of children in district 3 was given as 33.

Apportionments in 1849, 1850, and '54 were made as fol-

lows:

1841).

DistriPt. SchoJars. Money.

No. 1 18 $5.94
" 2 18 5.94
" 3 48 15.84
" 4 25 8.25
" 5 24 7.92
" 6 i 1.32

Totals 137 $45.21

1850.

No. 1 21 $r.l4
" 2 37 12.58
" 3 50 17.00
" 5 20 6.80

Totals 128 $43.52

1854.

No. 1 $7.46
" 3 12.59
" 5 6.53
" 2.10

Total $28.68

To the year 1860, teachers' certificates were issued to the

following

:

May 3, 1845.—Joseph II. Adams, who was also ap-

pointed librarian.

July 28, 1845.—Mary Smith.

Nov. 1, 1845.—W. H. Blood.

June 12, 1846.—Diantha F. Chaffin.

Nov. 6, 1846.—J. C. Bronson.

Dec. 8, 1846.—A. Frarey.

June 29, 1847.— Mary S. Ilollistcr.

Dec. 11, 1847.—Margaret P. Johnson.

Jan. 15, 1848.—Diantha Chaffin.

Feb. 5, 1848.—R. G. McKeo.

April 29, 1848.—Polly Ann Woodhams.

May 5, 1848.—Martha Gooch.

July 8, 1848.—Emily Haggerty, Agnes Graham.

Nov. 28, 1848.—I. V. Swarthout.

Dec. 8, 1848.—Miss IngersoU.

April 14, 1849.—Mary K. Gooch.

April 14, 1849.— Eliza Hollister.

June 15, 1849.—Miss Webb.

May 9, 1849.—Miss E. Wo„dhul!.

Nov. 3, 1849.—Charles McKee.

Dec. 13, 1849.—Hiram Van Vliet.

May 8, 1850.—Helen E. Stephens.

June 7, 1850.—Sarah Cros.s.

Dec. 9, 1850.—R. G. McKee.

Dec. 14, 1850.—Agnes Graham.

April 21, 1851.— Maria Johnson.

May 3, 1851.-Maria Moore.

May 8, 1851.—Eliza Hollister.

Nov. 1, 1851.—T. L. Swarthout.

Dec. 9, 1851.—J. M. Fitch.

May 10, 1852.—Miss Eslor, Mary Parker.

Dec. 6, 1852.—Frances E. Sherman, Phoebe A. Parker.

May 6, 1853.—Miss E. L. Hollister, Margaret Jamison.

Dec. 5, 1853.—Alaoson Calkins.

Jan. 12, 1854.—Ann Aldrich, Milinda Aldrich.

April 8, 1854.—Achsah Blood, Emma Sprague.

Nov. 4, 1854.-0. C. Hollister.

Dec. 2, 1854.—Henry Carnahan, Mr. Du Bois.

May 2, 1855.—Margaret Jamison, Helen White.

Nov. 24, 1855.—Charles Tyler.

May 3, 1856.—Armenia L. McClintock, Sarah K. Cross,

Eleanor Hills.

June 10, 1856.—Miss Loomis.

Nov. 1, 1856.—Mr. Buggies.

Nov. 15, 1856.— E. Beard.

Dec. 19, 1856.—Charles Cross.

Nov. 10, 1857.—E. Haggerty, A. Hollister, P. Taylor.

Dec. 9, 1857.—William Brunson.

April 10, 1858.—Agnes Ballentine, Agnes Graham,

Sarah Blood.

May 3, 1858.—Sarah Cross.

Nov. 6, 1858.—A. Collins, T. L. Swarthout.

Nov. 15, 1858.—H. Gxskill.

Nov. 20, 1858.—Henry Scutt, Mr. Whipple.

April 30, 1859.— Elizabeth Freeman.

The annual school rejuirt for 1879 presented the sub-

joined details :

Number of diHtriotK (wholv, 0; rriictionnl, 2) 8
" Kcholtir^ of Huliool ago 340

Viiluo of seliool |>ro|ic>rty $4235

Tettolicra' wiigcs S931I

The school directors for 1879 were T. W. Curtis, C. E

Hollister, John Buehler,T. Warren, W. S. Barker, Charlo

Gifflcs, M. Hand, and J. Hallcniine.
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

MRS. JOHN C. BRUNSll.N. JOHN C. BRUNSON.

JOHN C. BRUNSON.

Among the few Michigan pioneers who are so fortunate

as to trace their ancestry back to the events of the good

ship " Mayflower" is Mr. Brunson. His progenitors on both

sides are Revolutionary soldiers, his paternal grandfather,

Amos Brunson, and his maternal grandparent, Benjamin

Goss, having both been patriots in that early struggle for

liberty. His father, Flavius J. Brunson, was born April

10, 1786, in Massachusetts, while the birth of his mother

occurred in 1799, in East Bloorafield, N. Y. John C.

recalls East Bloomfield, Ontario Co., N. Y., as the place of

his birth, where he was born July 20, 1822, and passed

through the usual monotonous experiences of the farmers'

sons,—the summer being one of labor, while (he winter

was devoted to study. At the age of eighteen he repaired

to the Genesee Wesleyan Seminary, at Lima, N. Y., for

two winters, and later to the East Bloomfield Academy.

In the year 1845 he came to Michigan and purchased one

hundred acres in the township of Victor, to which he sub-

sequently added fifty-four additional acres. The first five

winters that he spent in Michigan he taught school in

order to pay his way. On Nov. 21, 1849, he was married

to Miss Mary S. HoUister, of Victor, the adopted daughter

of Dr. T. T. Hollister, and the daughter of Newman SkiflF.

Mrs. Brunson was born Oct. 26, 1829, and aflflicted at an

early age by the loss of her parents, but found a welcome

to the cheerful home of Dr. and Mrs. Hollister, residing in

Victor, Ontario Co., N. Y., until seventeen years of age,

and then came to Victor township, Mich., and taught

school a number of terms. Mr. and Mrs. Brunson have

had no children, but have adopted two sons, both of whom
are married and residing near the home of their adopted

father.

On his arrival in Michigan, Mr. Brunson's sole capital was

three hundred dollars, which by industry and tact has been

increased to a degree that places him in the rank of the

wealthy and successful farmers of the county. Mr. Brun-

son has a great taste for farming and horticulture, is a

practical operator in these pursuits, and believes in using

his surplus money in the erection of buildings and beauti-

fying his grounds instead of putting it at interest. Mr.

Brunson has ever been prominent in the politics of the

county, and a leading and influential member, first of

the Whig and latterly of the Republican party. He has

always been an outspoken temperance man, advocating total

abstinence, and has never used liquor or tobacco. His

political record embraces the positions of supervisor for four

terms, justice of the peace for twenty years, postmaster for

twenty-two years, school inspector, highway commissioner,

director and secretary of the Clinton County Agricultural

Society since its organization in 1855, and president of the

Farmers' Mutual Insurance Company. He was represen-

tative in the State Legislature for 1873, has been presi-

dent of Clinton County Pioneer Society, and was a member

of the committee on education, a subject in which he has

taken a deep interest. In politics he is an ardent Repub-

lican, and in his religious views inclines towards the

Congregational Church, of which Mrs. Brunson is an ex-

emplary member.
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WII.I.IAM S. I'ARKEK. MKS. WII.I.IAM I'AKKEK.

WILLIAM S. PAllKKll.

The parents of Mr. Parker, John and Sarali Parker,

were natives of New York State, and were among the

earliest pioneers of 1837 to the township of Victor, where

their son was born on the home-farm in the year 1841.

The country was at this time undeveloped, the scanty live-

lihood of the settler was earned by the sweat of his brow,

and the early years of William S. Parker were those of

toil and exertion. These were varied by the usual advan-

tages of a district school in winter until he attained his

majority, when he entered the army and became a member

of Company Gof the Filth Michigan Cavalry. During his

period of service, involving nearly three yeans, he was

present at forty-nine engagements, and was wounded on

four different occasions. On his discharge from the army

and return to his home he was united in marriage to Mi.ss

Amanda, daughter of Daniel Blood, of the township of

Victor. They have three children,—Isaac, Kdna, and

Frank. Mr. Parker after his marriage removed to his

present home of one hundred and sixty acres, which at

that date was unimproved and valued at ten dollars per

acre. The labor anil excellent jiuigmcnt of its owner have

developed a degree of productivene.s.s whicli has increased

the land in value to sixty dollars per acre. Mr. Parker is

in politics a Ilepublican, and although firm in his political

convictions, is not aggressive in his views.

MRS. SARAH PARKER.

Mr. Elihu and Mrs. E.stlicr Di.sbrow Cronk were the

parents of thirteen children, of whom their daughter

Sarah, the subject of this biography, born in Orange Co.,

N. Y., March 19, 1815, was the eldest. Her early years

until the age of fifteen were devoted to school duties, at

the expiration of which time she was employed to assist in

household occupations on a neighboring farm ; and three

years later was married to John Parker, of Romulus,

Seneca Co., N. Y., who was born Nov. 27, 1804, in New
Jersey, and became a resident of Now York State at the

age of five years.

In 1837, Mr. and Mrs. Parker removed to Michigan and

settled upon the Parker homestead, illustrated upon au

adjoining page. They had eighty acres of land, for which

one hundred and ten dollars were paid, the township having

at that early period been wholly undeveloped. There were

no roads, and an Indian trail guided them to tiieir destina-

tion. Mr. Parker died in 1SG3, le;iving his wife a farm of

two hundred and sixty acres, and a cash balance of four

iiundred dollars. The land, Mrs. Parker, <Vilii the assist-

ance of her .sons, who may be spoken of as men " tcnipcr-

ato in all things," and especially opposed to liquor and

tobacco, has brought to a higli degree of prudiiolive-

ncss, and made correspondingly valuable. Her children

arc located as follows: Mrs. Pluebe Hill at Ovid; Mrs.

Mary Swarthout at Victor ; Kpson iinj William ut Victor
;

and the remaining five, Kdwin, Cliarle.t, Harriet, Martha,

and Newell, at the liomcstead with their mother. Kacli

member of the family is industrious and frugal, and cxi'iu-

plifies in the character developed the judicious and careful

training ol' the parents^

KPSON I'AKKKU.

The subject of this biogrnphicnl sketch is iho son of

John and Sarah (Crunk) Parker, nnd was born in Simuh-a

Co., N. Y., ill 1836. His parenla were cIuhtwI by the

presence of thirteen children, of whom l'ip.Hi)n was the

thir<l in order of birth. The farm was tile soeiie of the

labors of his early years, where lie remained until the aj;c of

twenty-three years, alteuding the neighboring school during
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intervals of respite from labor, and thus securing a fiir

education.

In 1837, together with two additional families, his

parents became pioneers to Victor township, which at that

early date afforded few evidences of civilization. In the

year 1859, Epson having found a congenial companion in

Miss Julia Coats, of the same township, was married.

Mrs. Parker's birth occurred in St. Lawrence Co., N. Y.,

and her advent to Michigan when but a mere infant, her

parents, David J. and Lydia Coats, having been influenced

by the advantages Michigan offered to pioneers at an early

day. Mr. and Mrs. Parker have had seven children,—A.

W., Jessie F., Emory L., Emily L., Nellie A., J. D., and

R. D., the latter of whom is deceased.

Mr. Parker is in politics a Republican, though not an active

partisan. He is a man of temperate habits, and exemplifies

in his life the principle of " moderation in all things " Both

he and his wife have been for many years active members

of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and are now connected

with the Society of the United Brethren. He has also

been for several years superintendent of the Sabbath-

school.

C. R. McKEE.

Mr. McKee was of Scotch parentage, and was born in

Arlington, Vt., June 12, 1825. His father, Aaron

C. R. M.KEE.

McKee, was a physician, and died at the age of eighty

years, and his mother at seventy-four. The early days of

the subject of this biography were passed under the paternal

roof, in pursuing his early studies, teaching, and filling

the position of clerk. At the age of twenty-four his father

gave him a tract of one hundred and sixty acres of land in

Victor, to which he removed, and began the work of the

early pioneer,—that of transforming the wilderness into

productive fields. After the preliminary labor of clearing

had been accomplished he returned, and was marrried to

Miss Mary A. Valentine, who was the daughter of Daniel

and Nancy Valentine, and was born in Washington County

in 1831. They had four children,—Mrs. Mattie Osborn,

of Owosso, Mary, Edward, and James, Edward having en-

tered the Agricultural College at Lansing, from which he

graduates in 1881. Mr. McKee was a Republican in poli-

tics, and was for a period of twelve years elected justice of

the peace of his township, which oflBce he filled with signal

ability.

Both Mr. and Mrs. McKee were members of the Baptist

Church, and exemplified in their lives the teachings of the

gospel they professed. Their attractive home was the abode

of refinement and intelligence not less than of industry and

frugality.

AINSWORTH REED.

Mr. Reed is one of many descendants of Revolutionary

stock resident in the township of Victor. His father,

Nathan Reed, a Revolutionary hero, was born in Rutland,

Mass., while his mother, whose maiden name was Miss

Lydia Smith, was also a native of Massachusetts. Ains-

worth resided upon the paternal estate until fourteen years

of age, when he became ambitious for an active business

career and engaged as a clerk. This embraced a period of

eight years of his life, after which he established himself

as a peddler of dry goods and notions, the goods he sold

having come principally from the Canadas. During this

period he traversed the entire State of Jlichigan, became

familiar with its territory, and having been impressed with

the superior quality of the land of Victor township, pur-

chased a farm on its eastern border. He was soon after

married to Miss Mariette George, daughter of Eziba George,

of New York State. The land was little else than a forest

at this time. The market for wheat was found at Pontiac,

involving a journey of sixty-seven miles, and prices were

scarcely commensurate with the distance traveled. Mr.

Reed later sold and removed to a point known as Geary

Post-Office, nearer the centre of the township and more

accessible. Here he purchased a large tract of land and

erected a new and substantial house.

Mr. and Mrs. Reed have seven children, named as fol-

lows : Leroy, Louisa, Ernest, Ellen, Julia, Watson, and

Estella. Mr. Reed has held the commission as postmaster

for a period of twenty years, has been township treasurer

for eighteen years, township clerk for seven years, and

filled many minor township oiSces. He is one of the three

oldest settlers in the township, and regarded as one of its

foremost citizens.

JAMES UPTON.

The family of Uptons are of New England extraction,

and intimately associated with the war of independence.

Elias Upton repaired to Boston during the war of 1812

to defend the city against the British. This gentleman

was born in Charlemont, Mass., March 22, 1793, and

followed agricultural pursuits during his lifetime. His

wife, formerly Miss Tryphina Hathaway, was a native of
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Buckland, Mass., and born Sept. 21, 1795. The birth of

their son, who is the subject of this sketch, occurred in

Heath towuship, Mass., on the 27th of February, ISlil,

having been the fourth in a. family of ten children.

His early education was not an exception to that of most

sons of farmers, the labor of the fields having been varied

by the scenes of the district school in winter. At the age

of eighteen he learned the trade of a carriage-maker, serv-

ing an apprenticeship of three years in Charlemont, after

which it afforded him an occupation for six yeare, and also

engaged his attention for two years in New Hampshire.

He married, at the age of twenty-three, Miss Julia H.

Woodbury, daughter of Jonathan and Harriet Woodbury,

who was born March 28, 1824.

He engaged again in manufacturing pursuits, and after a

brief residence in Ontario Co., N. Y., the family moved to

Victor, Mich., and located upon their present site, which

from a wilderness has by industry been converted into a

productive and valuable estate. Mr. Upton is an unyield-

ing Republican in his political convictions. Both he and

Mrs. Upton are active members of the Congregational

Church.

CHARLES EDWARD HOLLISTER.

The paternal grandfather of the gentleman who is the

subject of this biography, Joseph Hollister, w.is one of the

patriots of the Revolution, and was a direct descendant of

the Puritan Governor of Connecticut, Isaac Treat. His

father, Isaac T. Hollister, was born in Connecticut in 1801,

and having chosen the practice of medicine as a profession

attained some distinction as a practitioner. In the year

1827 he married Ellen Chapin, also a native of Connecticut,

who was born in 180r>, daughter of Heman Chapin, a pioneer

of East Bloomfield, Ontario Co., N. Y. To them were born

four children, viz., Oliver Chapin, Charles Edward, Ralph

Ilenian, and Caroline Amelia. They also adopted a girl,

Mary Skiff, who afterwards married John C. Brunson, of

Victor. Charles E., whose birth occurred in Victor, On-

tario Co., N. Y., in 1839, was but seven years of age when

his parents moved to Michigan, and in 184G entered from

government the land still occupied by them. The country

was in a primitive condition, and the wide practice of Dr.

HiiHi.ster called bim through many portions of the county

still undisturbed by the axe of the pioneer. In 185G he

was chosen to the Senate of the State, and served two years

in that capacity, Charles meanwhile remaining upon the

farm, and engaging in labor incident to fanning pur.-iuits,

the winter affording opportunities for education. He en-

tered the agricultural college at Lansing, May 17, 18.'57, at

the opening of the college, and after a thorougli course, in-

volving four years of study, graduated in the first claHs.

The sons proved worthy of their patriot sires by enlisting

in the armies gatiiered by the nation when a.^.-tailcd by

armed rebellion, the eldest, Oliver, enlisting in the Fifth

Michigan Cavalry, Company , and dying in h<i.s])ilal of

disease contracted in jMcClcllan's Virginia campaign, leaving

a widow and three children, (,'harles E., in an indi'pcndcnt

company of engineers, raised by Maj.-Gen. J. C. Fremont

for his Missouri campaign, which company waa discharged

after about five months' service. The younger brother,

Ralph H., enlisted in the Eleventh Michigan Cavalry, and

was honorably discharged at the close of the war. He en-

tered the army as engineer, and after a brief experience re-

turned home and followed agricultural pursuits. He wa.s

soon after united in marriage to Jli.s» Minne Olverson, of

Ingham Co., Mich., a pioneer from lier fourth year. Two
children have brightened their home circle,—May Eliza

and Oliver Gary. I. T. Hollister, as soon as he had plowed

some land in 1847, proceeded to set out fruit-trees and vines,

probably setting out the first pear-trees and grape-vines in

the town of Victor, and teaching people that fruit was

necessary for the preservation of their health as well as a

cheap luxury, and practicing what he preached by giving

away to whomsoever came for them trees, vines, and straw-

berry-jilants.

Mr. Hollister was, in 1878, elected county surveyor, and

has been honored with numerous local offices, including

those of school inspector for a long scries of years and

superintendent of schools. In 1872 he received from the

United Slates engineer officer in charge (1st Lieut. E. A.

Woodruff) an appointment as a superintendent in the re-

moval of the celebrated Red River Haft in the northwestern

part of Louisiana, a poi-ition which he held for about

eighteen months and until the channel was cleared. Mr.

Hollister affiliates with the Republican party in politics,

and in his church attachments is a Congregational ist.

CHAPTER LXV.

WATERTOWN TOWNSHIP.*

Location, Surrucc, Strcnma, and Soil—Lnnd-Enlriw— Kint and other

Karly Settlements— Karly Highways—Orgunitation of tlie Town-

Biiip—AVatcrtown Civil Lint-— ICarly .School Statistics—Waci'Usta

—

Grand Itiver City—Cburob History.

TllK township of Watertown embraces territory that

bore indications (jf the ]ircsencc of the pioneer long before

adjacent portions of the county had been purcliosed. Its

lands were principally entered between the years 1.S:14 and

183G, and at the expiration of the latter year the .siputh

and west portions were the centres of a considerable amount

of clearing. The township is known as number T) iiurth,

of range H west, and may he described as one of the .viulh

tier of townships, bounded on tlie north by Uiley, south by

Eaton County, east by Do Witt, and west by the township

of Eagle.

Its principal water-course is the l,iMiking(ilnHH Uiver,

which enters the township at sect ion III, and flowing wcxl

pursues a more devious course through section 16, flowing

northward to section S, nnd again to the .suiilli, wIhtc it

inakesiLsexit at .section IH. Several Hinaller streams tributary

to this more iin|M)rlant ourrcnt flow from the south. Tho

Jjooking-tila.ss Uiver luis a volnnie of water Miffieienlly

large to bo utilizeil for mainifncturing pur]><ise(i, nnd at va-

rious p«)ints mills liavo hwn crectetl u|H)n its banks.

• Ujr K. 0. Wagner.
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The Detroit, Lansing and Northern Railroad passes along

the south border of the township, and has a station at

Delta, adjacent to the southern line of the township, in the

adjoining county, and another at Ingersoll's, in Watertown.

The surface of Watertown is varied in character. Much

level land is found, though a sufficient undulation appears

to relieve the monotony. Its rolling aspect greatly en-

hances the attractiveness of the landscape, and many

striking views are enjoyed along the river-banks and else-

where in the township.

Tho soil of Watertown compares favorably with that of

other portions of the county. In quality it may be de-

scribed as a sandy loan with clay subsoil. In localities

there is, however, some slight variation from this rule.

Wheat and corn are the staple products, and the average

crop of each is a flattering testimonial to the strength and

productiveness of the soil. The census of 1873 gives the

number of acres of the former harvested as two hundred

and thirty-five, which produced thirty-nine thousand two

hundred and eleven bushels ; and nine hundred and four

acres of corn yielded twenty-five thousand seven hundred

and fiity-eight bushels. Of other grains more than thirty

thousand bushels were harvested, while farm products of

various kinds made an ample return for the labor of their

cultivation.

The prevailing woods are ash, maple, oak, basswood, and

walnut. Comparatively little tamarack is found, and no

pine. The various fruits peculiar to the climate are suc-

cessfully raised in the township.

LAND-ENTRIES.

The lands composing the township of Watertown were

purchased from the United States government by the fol-

lowing-named persons

:

SECTION 1.

Acres.

D. L. Smith, 1836 80
Richard P. Hart, 18.36 240
C. Buckley, 1836 160.14
Munson Wheeler, 1836 83.06
Henry Whipple, 1836 80

SECTION 2.

A.M.Roberts, 1836 40
R. P. Hart, 1836 280
Selah Farris, 1836 84.02
Sarah E. Turner. 1836 80
Henry Whipple, 1836 164.34

SECTION 3.

OIney and Wolcott, 1836 320
William Mosher, 1836 163.18
Charles Goodwin, 1836 163.66

SECTION 4.

Richard P.Hart, 1S36 320
Leander Ferguson. IS'iG 164.62
Henry AVhipple, 1836 80
J. Wordman, 1838 84.38

SECTION a.

L. D. Owen, 1836 40
R. P. Hart, 1S36 280
Seth M. Root, 1851 IRO
James J. Foreman, 1854 84.63
Thomas Wilson, 1854 86.19

SECTION 6.

L. Hunt, 1836 80
R. P. Hart, 1836 80

Acree.

William Reynolds, 1836 150.68

S. P. Potter, 1851 43.44
M. Culon, 1851 40
Samuel Hitchcock, 1851 43.44

C. P. Cole,1851 157.77

David Eddy, 1851 40

SECTION 7.

Elias Daniells 80
Clark lieardsley 80
Abram Sloan 160
J.R.Morris, 1836 148.92
Richard Leavis, 1838 40

C. E. and J. H. Spicer, 1838 69.92

J. H. Bissell, 1848 40

SECTION 8.

Thomas Emerson 85.57

Park and Hunt 124.46
Elias Daniells 91.11

T. Osborne 160
Elias Daniells 160

Nelson Sage 80

SECTION 9.

Benjamin Qooch 160

William Thompson 320
Thomas Osborne 460

SECTION 10.

William Thompson 160
Almey and Wolcott 320
Thomas O.-borne 160

SECTION 11.

Henry Weston, 1836 80

Samuel Forman, 1836 320

Almev and Wolcott, 1836 80

K. P.Hart, 1836 160

SECTION 12.

Calvin Marvin, IS35 320
R. B. Hart, 1836 160

D. M. Aspenwall, 1836 80

Ed. ButterKeld, 1836 80

SECTION 13.

Joseph Yerkes, 1835 72.82

Horace Butler, 1836 143.61

Calvin Ball, 1836 87.29

William Thompson, 1836 82..38

Elias Daniells, 1836 48.90

Thomas Woodward, 1836 83.80

Alanson Sumner, 1836 106.34

SECTION 14.

Isaac Hovett, 1835 80

Elias Daniells, 1836 43.52

Horace Butler, 1836 99.50

William Thompson, 1836 79.96

Clark Beardslev, 1836 130.45

William Packard, 1836 106.55

S. M. Pearsall, 1836 80

SECTION 15.

William H. Townsend, 1835 .307.24

Benjamin Gooch, 1835 149.80

Stephen Hill, 1836 160

SECTION 16.

School lands.

SECTION 17.

R. S. Parks 36.42

E minor Hawley 2.34

Elias Daniells 80

P. A.Selover 315.70

L. H. Trask 113.48

Richard Leavis, 1839 40

Grofton Webber, 1839 40
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SECTION 18.

Acre*.

Willnm Diets. 1836 1'>S .-iu

E. Niles, I8:ifi ......"." TS^iiS
Geor;^e Gouilmiiii. lS;iG ]ll<l 35
L. U. Trnsk, 1S:jo '."']'..'.'

72'.a()

I'^liii." Diiniflls. iS."J(J 125.72
(jleorgo I'arks, ISiJO SO

SECTION 19.

Charles Armstrong, IS.'io and '36 320
llunice liuller, 1836 Hill

1). B. Xile.-i, 1S3G 132.6S

SECTION 20.

John Koseborno, 1836 IGfl

Henry Aniuman, 1836 160
William I'ackarl, 1S3G 160
A. A. Webber, 1841 40
Andrew Shadducli, 1848 120

SECTION 21.

E. Frary, Is.i6 560
Elias Di'iniells, 1S3G 80

SECTION 22.

Benjamin Welsh, 1836 200
E. Frary, 1836 440

SECTION 23.

Horace Butler, 1836 80
William Packard, 1836 240
Anson Roland, 1S30 240
Elibu 1'. lugersoll, 1837 80

SECTION 24.

William Packard, 1836 SO

KusscM Cushnian, 1836 160
Anson lioland, 1836 80
Elibu P. lugersoll, 1837 320

SECTION 25.

B. B. Korcheval, 1836 160
E. Daniells, 1836 240
Samuel Chad wick 160

C. J. Fu.t and 0. C. Fall, 1855

SECTION 26.

Nathan Daniells, 1S36 320
Thomas 11. Perkins, 1838 320

SECTION 27.

John Fowler, 1836 80

A. P. Selover, 1836 160
K. B. Noycs, 1836 SO

William Packard, 1830 210

S. U. Scars, 1836 80

SECTION 28.

William Thompson, 1836 160

Harvey Arnolil, 1836 811

S. li. Soars, 1836 400

SECTION 29.

E. Frnry. 1836 160

James liulibins, 1830 80

llarviy Arnold, 1836 160

Alfred Williams, 1836 240

SECTION 30.

Hiram Barton, 1830 320

D. If. Niles, 1836 220.16

a. O. Soars, 1836 66.48

SECTION 31.

T. II. Perkins. IS.tO M«.OI
Amos Hall, 1836 80

A. ami K. .). Woodruff, 1836 80

Joaiab Lowell, Jr., 1851 80

A. liurrell, 1851 80

Fletcher Jamison. IS.'il -(O

Henry Uarlock, 1851 !»

William C. liordon, 1853 67.2H

SECTION 32.

Al-HMU

Jnnica Hutchins, 1836 240
Nathan Daniolls, 1830

' ." "go
T. il. Perkins, 1830 '.'...' 320

SECTION 33.

Jl. 11. Com-tock, 1836 go
Williaiji Thom|>8on, IS.IO |itu

Xalhan Daniells, 1836 )i',o

T. II. Perkins, 1838 24U

SECTION .34.

II. II. ronistock, 1836 80
Phiiicas Kavis, 1836 320
William Thompson, 1836 ICO
Elibu P. lugersoll, 1836 80

SECTION 35.

H. II. Cometock, 18.36 go
Pliineas Davis, 1836 so
Iceland (irccne, 1836 ]C0
Nathan Daniells, 1836 IJu
T. II. Perkins, 1836 .......'. 80
Erastus Ingcrsoll, 1836 go

SECTION 36.

Nathan I DanielU, 1836 4SO
Erastus lugersoll, 1837 80

FIRST AND OTHER EARLY SETTLEMENTS.

The earliest settler who broke ground within the limits

of the present township of Watertowri was unquestionably

Calvin Marvin, more familiarly known to the townspeople

as Deacon Marvin. He entered, in the year 1833, three

hundred and twenty acres of laud on section 12, and the

same year removed with his family from Oakland County,

and became a settler upon his possessions. With Deacon

Marvin came three sons, all of whom are provided with

farms immediately near the paternal home. As no settlers

had taken land in the iiuniediatc vicinity, these early pio-

neers to Watertown were obliged to provide a shelter of

such material as was at hand, and constructed a rude camp,

which atfordcd them a covering until a cabin was built.

Mr. Marvin and his sons at once began the work of chop-

ping, and had during the first year made extensive inroadd

upon the forests. Settlers gradually surrounded them, and

the wilderness of 1835 was at a later day the mo.ft produc-

tive of the broad acres of Clinton County. Deacon Mar-

vin was the earliest supervisor of the township, and a man

of marked personal influence in the community, not le»s for

the mental energy displayed by him than for hia many

genial (|ualilies of heart.

Dr. Scth P. Marvin settled early in Watertown, on LnJ

given him by his father, upon which he erected n house,

and began the practice of medicine, being the lirnt pliysiciiin

ill till' l<iwnslii|<. lie later removed to Du Wilt, and was

the .second representative of his profession in that l<iwn>hip.

Asel H., another son, also removal to De Witt, and after-

wards from the county. A third son, Kleaxer, wliilo at tlio

Ka.st for the purpose of removing a family to Clinton County,

was attacked by a .severe illne.ss that lermiiialeij faluliv. At

his liou.se occurred lhecarliej<l death in liie (dwnship,—(hat

of his chilli.

Samuel Foreman was the second arrival in Wnlerlown.

lie emigrated from Wayne County in the fall of 1S3l'>, and

entcnd lliiii' Inonlricl .mkI iiviniv ai ns mi s.i'ii.iii || jn
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the same your. He became a settler and began the process

of improvement, but afterwards exchanged his residence

and became a citizen of De Witt. Stephen Hill, another

Wayne County pioneer, located upon the northeast quarter

of section 15. In 1837 he removed with Samuel Foreman

to land on section 11 while building, or rather completing,

a cabin which had been begun the year previous by him.

He accomplished but a small clearing the first year, but

devoted much of the spring to the making of maple-sugar,

of which the maple-trees in the vicinity yielded a bountiful

supply. Mr. Foreman and Deacon Marvin were the only

settlers. Flour and other supplies had been brought from

Wayne County, which enabled the family to subsist for a

long period without replenishing their larder. Mr. Hill

still resides upon the land he entered, where he has a well-

cultivated farm and a spacious and elegant residence.

Edward Butterfield entered in 18o(i eighty acres on

section 12, and came to the township soon after to reside,

but did not settle upon his purchase until 1838, having

found employment in various portions of the township.

He first built a log house, and later secured a wife and

removed to his land. The farm was unimproved, but rap-

idly changed and made productive by his industry. 3Ir.

Butterfield resided upon the place until his death, when it

passed into the hands of its present occupant, George

Ward.

Selah Ferris, formerly of Tioga Co., N. Y., purchased

one hundred and twenty acres on sections 2 and 3 in 1837,

upon which he settled the following year. The land was

entered at the land-office in Ionia, Mr. Ferris having fol-

lowed the path known as the Dexter trail, and spent the

night in the woods after having traveled all day to reach

his destination. The demand for land was so great as to

render a stop of four days at Ionia necessary before the

business of the occasion was accomplished.

William Mosher bad arrived in 1837, and entered one

hundred and sixty-three acres on the same secticfn, which

was being rapidly cleared. With him Mr. Ferris found a

welcome while erecting a cabin, to which he at once re-

moved, and the first year had accomplished a clearing of

eight acres. Indians occasionally paid the settlers visits,

and were ever eager for an exchange of supplies or a

" swap," as they termed it. Bears and wolves were also

numerous, and so terrified the family as to eflfectually insure

their presence within doors after darkness approached.

There were no roads other than those cut by the settlers

that were in condition to be made useful for purposes of

travel, though many were surveyed during the year 1837

and awaiting improvement. In 1852, Mr. Ferris purchased

the Mosher farm, upon which he at present resides, and on

which a comfortable residence has been built. The earliest

marriage recollected by Mr. Ferris occurred at the house of

William Mosher, his daughter. Bliss Lucy, having been

united to Mr. Jackson Cronkhite. Early religious services

were held at the houses of the settlers in 1839, and later

the few families in the township were accustomed to repair

to De Witt with ox-teams for worship.

Harvey Hunter and Benjamin Silsby were both from

Steuben Co., N. Y., and came to the township early. The

latter, who came in 1838, devoted his time to moving set-

tlors from Detroit and adjacent points to their purchases

in the county. He later found a congenial pursuit in the

occupation of a peddler, having kept horses and wagons for

the purpose. While making his customary rounds he en-

countered Harvey Hunter, with whom he formed a copart-

nership in business, and together they opened a store in

Wacousta in 1840. The labors were divided—one having

the store in charge, while the other followed an itinerant

business. They exchanged goods for hides, wool, wheat,

and other commodities, which were subsequently sold in

Detroit. Mr. Silsby purchased a farm near Wacousta, and

later removed to the township of Eagle, while Hunter se-

cured in 1850, of Stephen T. Gooch, one hundred and

sixty acres on section 9. It was partially improved on his

removal to the place, upon which he remained until his

death in 1880. His widow still occupies the homestead.

William Diets, a former resident of Plymouth, Wayne

Co., located in 1836 upon the northwest fractional quarter

of section 18, embracing one hundred and twenty-three

acres, which he reached by floating down the Looking-

Glass Kivcr in a canoe. Mr. Diets built a cabin, after

which be began the work of chopping. The farm ulti-

mately, under the influence of the industry he evinced, be-

came very productive and valuable. He lived upon the

land during his lifetime, and built at different periods two

frame houses upon it. His death occurred in 1880 at the

age of eighty-four years, and the two hundred and eight

acres of land owned by him were distributed among vari-

ous heirs.

Ebenezer Smith came from Cayuga Co., N. Y., in 1823,

having settled early in Oakland County. In 183-1 he en-

tered land in the township of Watertown, and in 1837

made a permanent settlement on section 18, having the

winter previous erected a cabin and removed a portion of

his goods on an ox-sled. Pontiac was at this time the

nearest milling-point, to which the settlers carried their

grists. The Waterloo Joint Stock Company had begun

their improvements, and William Chiedaman was the man-

ager of the boarding-house erected for the convenience of

the laborers employed. J. K. Morris also lived at Wa-
cousta, and was completing his contract for the construc-

tion of a dam on the river. James Sowle was at work upon

the mill, and was the builder of the first, frame house,

while Mr. Smith boasted the earliest frame barn in the

township. Mr. Smith resided upon the farm until his

death in 1863. A portion of the land is occupied by Ran-

som Brooks, and the remainder by his son, A. J. Smith,

at present one of the township justices of the peace.

The earliest prayer-meeting in the township was con-

vened at the house of Mr. Smith, and was no doubt the

nucleus from which grew at a later period the various re-

ligious organizations of Watertown.

Parker Webber, a former resident of Cazenovia, N. Y.,

came to the township in 1839, in the capacity of miller

for the company at Wacousta, and ground the first grist,

which consisted of a bushel of corn. He was the miller for

many years, and ultimately purcha.sed a mill at De Witt,

where he died. John Andrews, brother-in-law of Mr.

Webber, settled in 1839 upon eighty acres on section 7.

This laud was uncleared until improved by him and made



WATERTOWN TOWNSHIP. 623

productive. He remained upon it and continued to labor

until his death in 1860.

Sidney J. Loouiis moved to Watertown from Orleans

Co., N. Y., in 1839, and selected a farm of forty acres upon

section 21. He found a wide field for improvement open

to him, and devoted himself with earnestness to the work.

Mr. Loomis lias not rela-Ked his energy, but still devotes

his time to the cultivation of his early purchase. Joseph

Sanborn came at the same time, and bought land also on

section 21. He afterwards moved to the township of Eigle

and secured a home in tliat township.

George West did not follow agricultural pursuits for

many years after his arrival in the township. The Water-

loo Joint Stock Company were engaged, in 1837, in per-

fecting arrangements for the various mercantile enterprises

then projected, and Mr. West sought employment with

them. He remained in Wacousta until 1857, when a Airm

was purchased by him embracing forty acres on .section IG,

formerly owned by Curtis Hart, upon which a small im-

provement had been made and a frame house erected. Mr.

West is one of the oldest residents in Watertown, and still

actively employed in the cultivation of his land.

Elder William Wood left. the exciting life he had for-

merly enjoyed in New York City for a home in the wilder-

ness of Michigan, and purchased forty acres on section 17.

He was a B.iplist preacher, and combined with his .sacred

office the calling of an agriculturist. Elder Wood was

withal a very popular man, and one who commanded the

re.spect of his neighbors, both for his intelligence and his

sincerity. He led a consistent life, professed what he

preached, and was never known to engage in a horse-trade

during the intervals between service, as were many others

of his clerical brethren. He is still a resident of the town-

ship, and one of its few venerable pioneers who survive the

lapse of years.

Francis Hart, another Oakland County settler of 1840,

purchased forty acres on section IG, which he found unim-

proved. Mr. Hart erected a house upon this land and at

once began clearing. A decided change in its condition

was effected ere many years had elaj>sed, and ultimately it

attained a high state of cultivation. Mr. Hart died at the

house of his son, who occupied the farm, in ISSK. Har-

vey Weston preceded Mr. Hart by two years, and settled

on section 11. The first winter of his residence was spent

with the family of Stephen Hill, duritig which time he

erected a cabin and then returned to the Ea.st for a wife.

He remained for .several years a resident of the township,

but ultimately removed.

The following list embraces the tax-list of lown.ship .'>

nortli, of 3 west, for 1811, giving the names of only tliose

tax-payers who were then residing in the township, viz.

:

Acroa.

riitvin M:irvin, section t2 -10

Silh 1'. Marvin, section 12 120

K. iMiirvin, Hcction 12 120

E. IJiilHi licld, Jr., pcction 12 SO

Wurrcn, -section 11 80

Woalon, flccticn II 80

Stephen Hill, section I."* IJ"'"

Samuel l''()rcnian, section II 1-1

Ilohirts. seclion 2 *0

(iooilnin, section '.i
"l"

William Mosier, section .1 IHO

Soluh Ferris, section 2 84

Aena.

Peter Ilriggs, section 22 200
Elilni Lewis, section 'Mi 20
llillin;^s an<l lluvJon, section 3o CO
A. .Ailiiins, scciion 2J 40
Charles I'roulon, section 31 80
J. Smith, seclion 2a Ifio

J. Lowell, section 21 40
J. .S. Loouiis, section 21 80
J. Sanborn
K. Smith, sections 7-14 218
J. H. Spicer, section 7 70
(i. H. .An'Ircws, section 7 <J9

.T. K. .Morris, section 7 80
Williaui I)iets, seclion 18 2.S4

I'arkcr Webber, sectiun IS 64
E. F. Thompson
Israel Carpenter
William J, King
(i. W. liruok?

1). V. .Moore, section 17 .If!

W. llubbell, sections 7-8, 17-18 391
K. F. Thompson, section 21 80

K. P. Daniells, section 17 40

K. C. Sisson, section 17 10

II. W. West, section 17 30
William Lewis, section 17 20

King, section 17 20
F. Hart, section 19 80

Joseph Lowell came from New York State in 1843, and

located upon forty acres of land purcha.sed by him of K.

Frary on section 21. In the midst of the wilderness which

enveloped it he cleared a tract sufficiently large upon which

to erect a log hou.se, dwelling moanwliile in a cabin built

for temporary occupation. At the raising of the house set-

tlers a.ssisted who came a distance of many miles, each

anxious to welcome the presence of another ]iioneer to their

little band. Mr. Lowell improved this land, and rc-^ided

upon it until his death. Four sons—Cassin, G. W., John

II., and Olhman W.—are all residents of the township, iia

are also five daughters. The homestead is occupied by Ben-

jamin F. King.

Daniel Sherman came as early as 1832 from Mas.sachu-

setts to the township of Farmington, O.ikland Co., where

he remained until 1843, after wliich one hundred and sixty

acres was purchased on section 27. Not a tree had yet

been felled on this land, and the only settlers near wore

Lowell, Sanborn, and Loomis. Twenty voters gathered at

the polls the year of his arrival. No party linea existed at

this time. A candidate was nominated, all voting for or

against him, and the day was ended with fre(|Uont draught*

of very bad whisky. A number of roads had been sur-

veyed, but were as yet little traveled. Indians were

numerous, and did much in the way of Iniffie with the

whites. Mr. Sherman in 18t)3 disposed of liis farm to

Joseph Timmerman, and has since that lime resided in

Wacou.sta, having been for yearn proprietor of the hotel at

that place.

N. Badger came from Ohi.i in 1818 and UwaU'il upon

an uncleared farm on seel imi 13. He experit-nWMl bII tho

hardships of the pioneer, and ri'inaiiu'd u|«>n this land

until his death.

Uny 0. Tifft, another emigmnt fnmi the Hurkeyc State,

came to the county in 1841!, and in \HTM purrha.HiMl eighty

acres on section 11. A log Innis)- had l>i><'n ercetol upon it

and a small trnct cleared by n selllcr naniiKl Wwlon. Mr.

Tifft made rapid progrew in the impnivement of this farm

and nflerwards ereeted a substantial n-sicloiieo, which was

occupied by him at the time of his death in \^~'i. His

widow and smia are the present owners "f ih- •>.siaU!.
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George W. Kinney, from Oakland County, located in

1847 upon section S, when a small chopping had been

made and a log cabin erected upon one hundred and

sixty acres lie purchased. This cabin Mr. Kinney shared

with a family until a log house of more spacious propor-

tions was erected. He cleared the first year ten acres, and

continued to improve the land until 1852, when his present

home on section 3 was purchased. In 1870 his residence

was burned, and sis years later the present house was

erected.

Ira Ide, formerly of Livingston County, came to the

township in 1855 and located upon eighty acres on section

11. While building a house on this uncleared land he

remained with Edson Smith, and had soon accomplished a

considerable clearing. He still resides upon the farm.

Nelson Hunt came from Oakland County in 1856 and

located upon eighty acres on section 15. He had originally

two hundred and twenty acres, a portion of which was

given to his sons. The land was purchased of a speculator

named Townsend, Mr. Hunt having come soon after and

erected a house upon it. The following spring he became

a settler. He found all the experiences of a pioneer await-

ing him, but labor and perseverance conquered every obsta-

cle, and ultimately enabled him to become the owner of a

well-improved farm of one hundred and forty acres, upon

which in 1870 he erected a comfortable residence.

Robert G. Mason came from Detroit in 1856 and located

upon seventy acres on section 17. This was uncleared, but

Mr. Mason inaugurated a system of improvements, and soon

after sold to C. N. Derbyshire and removed to De Witt.

On his return from the army in 18G4 he purchased again

on section 11, and erected a substantial residence upon the

land, which he still occupies. The farm is cleared and

highly cultivated.

Among other early settlers in Watertown who contrib-

uted to its development were A. Adams, on section 25
;

Elihu Lewis, on section 35 ; Charles Prouton, who pur-

chased eighty acres on section 31 ; J. H. Spicer, who set-

tled upon seventy acres on section 7 ; Parker Webber, who
owned sixty-five acres on section IS ; D. C. Moore, on sec-

tion 16; E. F. Thompson, on section 21; and Peter

Briggs, who owned two hundred acres on section 22.

EARLY HIGUWAYS.

The earliest road through the township is that known as

the Grand River turnpike, which was authorized by act of

Congress of 1832. It was projected from Detroit to Grand
Haven as a military road. The survey and subsequent

construction of the road was begun at Detroit, though its

progress was not rapid. The date of its completion to

Watertown, where it entered the township at section 36
and made its exit at section 31, is not a matter of record.

" At a meeting of the highway commissioners of the

township of Watertown, on the Tuesday preceding the an-

nual township-meeting, it was ordered that the said town-

.sliip be divided into the following-described districts, viz.

:

" District number 1 to be composed of sections number

1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and the north half of sections number 7,

8, 9, 10, 11, and the northwest quarter of section 12, in

township number 5 north, of range 3 west.

" District number 2 to be composed of the south half of

sections number 10, 11, 12 and the northea.st quarter of

section 12; also sections number 13, 14, 15, 22, 23, 24 in

said township.

" District number 3 to be composed of sections number

25, 20, 27, 34, 35, 36 ; and

" District number 4 to be composed of the south half of

sections number 7, 8, 9 and all of sections number 16, 17,

18, 19, 20, 21, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, all in township

number 5 north, of range 3 west.

" Given under our hands at Watertown, this 27th day of

March, 1838.
" WiLLi.\M Diets,

"Joseph Eddy,
" Sa.muel Foreman,

" Highwaij Commissioners."

The above commissioners as early as May, 1837, laid

out the following road : Commencing at the corners of sec-

tions 10, 11, 14, and 15, in town 5 north, of range 3 west;

thence north on the section-line to the corners of sections

14, 15, 22, 23, in township 6 north, of range 3 west.

Also in July of the same year a highway commencing

at the quarter stake on the west line of section 18, town.ship

5 north, of range 3 west ; thence north four degrees west

three chains ;
thence west sixty-six degrees north forty-four

chains ; thence west ten degrees north twenty chains ; thence

west eighteen degrees south sixty chains ; thence north

twenty-four degrees west thirty chains ; thence north

twenty-two degrees west twenty chains ; thence west four

degrees north sixty chains ; thence west four degrees north

ninety chains ; thence four degrees west fifty-three chains

eighty-seven links.

Also another beginning at the corners of sections 14, 15,

22, and 23 ; thence north four degrees west one hundred

and sixty chains.

Also a road beginning at the corners of sections 13, 18,

19, and 24; thence east on the section-line four degrees

north to the east line of township 5 north, of range 3 west.

ORGANIZATION OF THE TOWNSHIP.

An act of the State Legislature approved March 20, 1837,

provided and declared, " That the townships in ranges 3 and

4 west, in the county of Clinton, be a township by the name

of Watertown, and the people therein shall be entitled to

all the privileges incident to inhabitants of organized town-

ships, and the first township-meeting therein shall be held

at the house of Anthony Niles, in said township of Water-

town." This territory then embraced all the west half of

the county of Clinton.

Townships Nos. 7 and 8 north, of ranges 3 and 4 west,

embracing the present townships of Lebanon, Dallas, Essex,

and Bengal, was set off by act of Legislature dated March

6, 1838, and known as the township of Watidaugon (now

Lebanon). Township 6 north, of range 4 west, was erected

March 21, 1839, as the township of Westphalia. Town-

ship 6 north, of range 3 west, was by act of March 15,

1841, made lliley; and an act of the Legislature of March

15, 1841, created township No. 5 north, of range 4 west,

as the township of Eagle, reducing Watertown to its present

limits.
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VVATKKTOWN CIVIL LIST.

The record of the first township election has not been

preserved, and it is therefore not possible to give a list of

the olEcers for that year. It is, however, probable that

Calvin Marvin was cho.scn as the first supervisor. The offi-

cers elected in succeeding years have been as follows

:

1877. John B. Howe.

1878. AVilliain Hoylnn.

1^711. LvwiB Tiuiiucriuan.

1880. A. J. Smith.

George C. Jiriit.

1S:!S. Calvin Marvin.

IS.'i'J. Philo liecrs.

1840. JnrcJ IliRby.

1841. Calvin Marvin.

1842-43. Harviy Hunter.

1844-15. Calvin Marvin.

1S4()-4S. Harvey Hunter,

1849. E. P. Ingcrsoll.

1S50. Harvey Hunter.

1851. N. I. Duiiiells.

1852. Harvey Hunter.

1853. Horatii) Hunter.

1854. D. I. Daniells.

1855. C. M. Derbyshire.

1850. Harvey Hunter.

1857. D. I. Daniclls.

SUPERVISORS.

1858-50. Ezekiel Niles.

1860. Samuel li. Dayton.

1861. Ezekicl Niles.

1862. Henry Gibbs.

1863. D. A. Davis.

1864. Cliarles E. Eastman.

1805. F. L. Smith.

1S6G. Daniel I,. Wilson.

1807-08. F. L. Smith.

1869. George Smith.

1870-71. George W. Kinney.

1872. S. V. Alexander.

1873. George W. Kinney.

1874. S. U. Alexander.

1875-79. G. W. Kinney.

ISSO. James Timmennau.

TOWNSHIP CLERKS.

1838. Charles R. Ppicer. 1800.

1839-40. J. K. M.irris. 1861-

1841. Oraflon Webber. 1803.

1842-43. Walter Hubboll. 1864.

1844-45. J. K. Morris. 1805.

1840. Thomas .J. Allen. 1806-

1847. Stei.hcn Hill. 1808.

1848. Egbert IngersoU. 1809.

1849. Nelson DaniolU. 1870.

1850. Stephen Hill. 1871.

1851. Henry Snow. 1872.

1852-53. Sidney Frary. 1873.

1854. S. E. Hazard. 1874.

1855-50. J. C. Hackus. 1875.

1857. Ezekiel Niles. 1876-

1858. R. W. Holbrook. 1878-

1859. D. A. Davis. 1880.

Stephen Hill.

62. Lewis Timnicrnian.

D. F. Belts.

Cassin Lowell.

George E. King.

67. A. A. Hunt.

Lewis Timmerman.

A. A. Hunt.

George W. West.

Luther F. Conrad.

George W. Lowell.

George E. King.

George W. ^Vest,

George E. King.

-77. 0. A. Lockwood.

-79. George W. liurt.

G. C. Uigbce.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

1837.
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In 1848 the latter gentleman disposed of his interest to

N. I. Daniells, and Cornelius O'Flynn conveyed his share to

Elias Daniells. With this later transfer ended the decaying

fortunes of the Waterloo Joint-Stock Company.

The mill property was subsequently owned by Messrs.

Hunter & Silsbee, who arrived in 1840, and established a

general store at this point, having purchased the business of

Walter Ilubbell, though the mill property not having been

managed by them to profit, had been allowed to go to decay.

The above-named firm were formerly peddlers, and after

having by fair dealing obtained an extended patronage in

adjacent parts of the country, ultimately located at Wa-
cousta, where a very lucrative system of barter and trade

was maintained with the settlers.

N. I. and Nelson Daniells arrived in 1848 (having been

former residents of Cayuga Co., N. Y.), and at once repaired

the mill property. The grist-mill, which was in a condi-

tion unfit for service, was at once remodeled, and the saw-

mill also thoroughly rebuilt. A store was opened by them,

and in 1855 the old grist-mill was replaced by a new one,

which is now owned by Nelson Daniells. This mill has

three run of stones, and is devoted to both custom- and

merchant-Work. It is located upon the Looking-Glass

lliver, from whence its power is derived, and has a capacity

of four hundred bushels per day. Much patronage is en-

joyed from the adjacent country, though Lansing and the

East furnish a market for its merchant work.

The saw-mill, which is also owned by Mr. Daniells, em-

braces planing machinery, and has a capacity of two thou-

sand feet per day. It does custom-work exclusively.

There are at Wacousta six stores, owned as follows

:

Carey II. Daniells has a general store.

Carmer Brothers, of Lansing, have also a general store,

managed by 0. A. Smith.

H. D. Weaver has a market and also a grocery-store.

G. W. Burt combines drugs and medicines with a stock

of groceries.

Frank E. Davis deals in boots and shoes, and groceries.

Two biacksmith-shops are conducted by P. H. Blass &
Son, and Aloiizo WalJron.

Mrs. Codk has a millitiory establishment.

William Ilosner is the landlord, while Frank E. Davis

is postmaster, and Henry J. I'atterson and Joseph A.

Jlyers are the lawyers of the village. Drs. A. S. Hyatt

and S. A. Mauzer are the physicians.

The ]irojectors of the village had deternjiiied upon

" Waterloo" as a euphonious, and at the time a pujmlar cog-

nomen for the rising village, but subsequent investigation

proved that a po.st-offiee of .similar name already existed in

the State. Some early settler, with an inten.>ie admiration

for the character of the historic Wacousta,* suggested the

name as a substitute, and it was at once adopted.

GRAND KIVEK CITY.

In the summer of 18114, Erastus Ingersoll purchased a

tract of land in the township of Delta, on the northern

^ In the conspinicy of Pontiftc, in I7fi.1, Miijor (ilii'Itvin. Iho cniii-

mandiiiit lit Dctruit, wur nppritscil )»y the Iii'liiin iimi>k'ii Wiieoiitila

of tlie intciiliun of tho Inilians to sur[M'i(«c nn«I miics'iicri' llic );»rrison

lit the fort, nnd thus tlic plot wna ilofcntcd. At least tlii« ia ono of

tile triuiUiuns of tliiit eonspiraey.

boundary-line of the county of Eaton, and in 1836 added

to this purchase eighty acres on section 35 in the township

of Watertown, and a year later an additional eighty on sec-

tion 36. Elihu P. Ingersoll also bought eighty acres at the

same date on section 34. This portion of the State was at

that early date little else than a vx'it forest, diversified by

occasional oak openings, and .surprise was manifested on

the part of friends of the gentleman that he sliould have

chosen so isolated a spot. The prospective removal of the

State capital had, however, influenced him to choose what

he deemed a central location, trusting to circumstances to

enhance the value of this land.

In the year 1 830 he erected a log hotise, and having se-

cured an individual named Avery to superintend operations,

brought a squad of men for the purpose of building a dam
and erecting mills. Soon after the services of John Thayer,

a surveyor, resident in Farmington, Oakland Co., were se-

cured, and a village was marked out extending from the

Grand River to the Grand River turnpike, and this pros-

pective village was immediately christened (irand River

City. On the completion of the saw-mill the men were

employed in clearing and chopping preparatory to tlie rais-

ing of crops.

Early during the winter of 1837 E. S. Ingersoll with his

family arrived, and became residents of the place, and in

June of the same year a party of gentlemen including Dr.

Isaac Jennings, Rev. K. P. Ingersoll, Charles ^V. Gurney,

and others, all of Massachusetts, arrived, having as their ob-

ject the establishment of an extensive educational enterprise

at Grand River City. The State Legi.slature pas.sed and

approved an act incorporating the school April 11, 1S39,

indicating it as the Grand River Theological Seminary, with

Isaac Jennings, Thomas Blossom, John J. Sheppard, Josiuh

Tole, Erastus Ingersoll, Charles W. tiurncy, Samuel Chad-

wick, and E. P. Ingeiiioll as a board of trustees. It fur-

ther invested the said trustees with power to erect " in tlie

village of Orion, in Eaton and Clinton Counties [the

county line running through the village], such buiMings

as they may judge the interests of tho institution shall at

any time demand." The school was to have bi-en con-

ducted on a plan similar to that adopted by many Eastern

institutions, involving a system of nninuul labor as an ac-

companiment of instruction.

A site was cho.seii for the building, the lumluT was par-

tially prepared, and Rev. E. P. Ingersoll was delegated to

solicit aid for the enterpriHe. The sukscriptions on papi-r

were so numerous as to warrant the most sanguine predictions

of succe.<s, when the wililrat banking system of .NIii-liij;an

collaj).sed, and in the general financial wreck which ensued

were engulfed all the brilliant hopes for the future of Grand

River Cil)*. Mr. Erastus Ingcrxill resided in Farmington,

Oakland Co., where he dieil in 1S51. Hi- divided his

estate in Watertown among his sons, Elial, Orville B., Eg-

bert, and Triiiniin, all of whom as early ils the year IS 12

became residents of this township.

cm: Kill III.STOKY.

CDNliUKO.VTtOXAI. CIII'Ill'll.

An ccclcsiuslieal council convened at Wacousta, Mich.,

on the Sth day of July, IStlU, pursuant to an invitation of
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certain individuals who desired to be organized as a Con-

gregational Church. The council having been convened by

the choice of Rev. H. A. Read, of Marshall, as moderator,

and Rev. W. B. Williams, of Charlotte, as clerk, prayer

was offered and the letter read which designated the pur-

pose of the meeting. The following persons publicly

assented to the confession of fiiith, and solemnly entered

into covenant to walk together in Christian fellowship: J.

D. Millard, Jane L. Millard, John A. Hamilton, Maria

Hamilton, Mrs. Cornelia N. Hazard, Mrs. Mary Bisscll,

Mrs. Sarah M. Davidson, Miss Percis Root.

At the first regular meeting John A. Hamilton was

elected Deacon ; Persis Root, Treasurer ; and Cornelia N.

Hazard, Church Clerk. In the following year David I.

Daniells, N. L. Daniells, and Rev. William P. Esler were

elected a financial committee, and to Rev. J. D. Millard was

extended an invitation to serve as pastor the following year.

Rev. Mr. Millard accepted, and remained as pastor in charge

until 1866, when he was succeeded by Rev. J. M. Ashley.

The church next extended a call to Rev. N. D. Glidden,

who filled the ministerial office until 1872, when Rev.

William II. Skentelbury, of the Chicago Theological Sem-

inary, was invited to the charge, and at a later period ac-

cepted. An effort was made to erect a house of worship

soon after, and a lot was purchased. Subscriptions having

been offered with much zeal, the coniriegation felt encour-

aged to begin the work. The edifice was completed at a

cost of eighteen hundred dollars, and the dedicatory ser-

vices were held on the i3th uf January, 1875.

A flourishing Sabbath-school is connected with the so-

ciety, of which L. J. Gibson is superintendent. During

the summer Tuonths one hundred and twenty members are

enrolled. The present church officers are Munsen Austin,

Oscar Hart, George H. Niles, Deacons ; R. E. Hamilton,

Treasurer; G. W. Burt, Clerk. Rev. W. H. Skentelbury

is still the pastor, and resides in the village of Wacousta.

The church-roll numbers seventy-five members.

BAPTIST CHURCH.

A Baptist society was organized in Wacousta during the

year 1854, and a legal organization was effected as early as

July 4th of that year, with the following as a board of

trustees : Harvey Hunter, John C. Backus, George W.
Perigo, Charles M. Derbyshire, and David P. Daniells.

The society flourished for a time, but with the presence of

later organizations much of the support of the church-going

portion of the township was diverted into other channels,

and the Baptist Church has now no existence other than in

the memory of its former adherents.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH OF WACOUSTA.

The organization and first preachers of this society have

not been ascertained. The church in which they worship

was erected in 1867, and dedicated in April, 18G8. The

dedication sermon was preached by the Rev. Mr. Mead,

the Rev. John Bragins being in charge at that time. He
was succeeded by Revs. Thomas Clark, II. D. Jordan, S.

P. Hewitt, Cadwell, B. S. Pratt, and the Rev. W.
R. McEwen, who is the present pastor. The trustees of

tlie church are II. Farloch, T. Batcman, J. Q. Benedict,

D. Niles, and William Warbais. The church numbers at

present thirty-three. A Sunday-school is in connection

with the church containing fifty pupils. William Miller is

superintendent.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

GEORGE GALL.

George Gall was born in Newton, Cambridgeshire, Eng-

land, Oct. 11, 1824. His father, Edward Gall, was born

in Leverton, England, where he grew to manhood, working

as soon as large enough at common labor. He married

Susan Andrus. They had eight children, George being

the second. He, too, was a common laborer until he was

eighteen years old, when he was apprenticed for three years

to James Hardmeat, of Wisbech, to learn the butcher's

trade. After learning his trade he went to Ely, where he

worked in a meat-market for seven shillings per week. In

May, 1849, Mr. Gall took passage in a sailing-vessel for

New York. He had saved the money to buy his ticket by

putting a few shillings at a time in the savings-bank. He

had learned that in the mother-country only a life of toil

and poverty awaited him, and he determined to see what

labor and economy would do for him in the new world be-

yond the sea. He landed in New York after a month's

voyage, and with but ten cents in his pocket. This would

not buy a meal for himself and comrade, John Nourse, so

he bought them each a glass of American beer. Their ticket

was to Buffalo, but they went only to Lockport, where they

both hired out for ten dollars per month. Here Mr. Gall

remained during the summer. During the next two years

he worked by the month at farm labor, his highest wages

being thirteen dollars per month. Eighteen months after

his arrival he sent two hundred dollars to his father with

which to bring the family to this country. His employer

advanced one season's earnings to enable him to send that

amount. When his parents and four sisters arrived they

found a home awaiting them which had been rented by

George, who never forgot to "honor his father and mother."

In 1851 he bought forty acres of new land in Watertown,

and then after working one year more by the month, he,

with his father's family, came to Michigan and settled on

his land. Their tauiily was large and they had no means,

and for a time George found supplying the wants of so

many no easy task. But he was not easily discouraged,

and with untiring energy he went to work. In the winter

he thrashed grain with a flail, doing an amount of work

that to the young men of to-day would seem incredible.

In the summer months he worked on his farm when not

compelled to work for others to supply the family wants.

His sisters married from his home, while the lather and

mother lassed with him the remainder of their days, the

mother living to see her son the owner of a fine farm, and

a man honored and esteemed by his neighbors for his in-

dustry and sterling integrity. Oct. 19, 1863, he was mar-

ried to Miss Celia Rudgers, daughter of Thomas and Lil-

lias J. (Bush) Rudgers, born in La Grange, Wyoming Co.,
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N. Y., Nov. 22, 1840. Her people were early settlers in

Orange township, Ionia Co., Mich., where her father cleared

a new farm. He is still living in Dallas, Clinton Co. The
death of her mother when she was nine years old made it

neces-sary for her to work out by the week, which she did

for years. Mr. Gall now owns one hundred and twenty

acres of fine land under good improTement, with good

house and out-buildings, the result of hard labor and good

management. Their children were Hannah L., boru Oct.

12, 18G4, died March 28, 18G5; Ida M., April 4, 18GG;
Elizabeth J., Sept. 4, 1868; Thomas E., July 2, 1871;
George II., Nov. 13, 1873; and Linna C, April 6, 1877.

MRS. ELIEL INQERSOLL. El.lKl, INUEKSULh.

ELIEL INGEKSOLL.

In the latter part of the sixteenth century three brothers,

of whom one was William IngersoII, emigrated from Eng-

land and settled in the town of Lee, in what afterwards

became the celebrated county of Berkshire, Mass. At the

first election held in the town he was elected town clerk,

magistrate, and selectman. When the Congregational

Church of the town of Lee was organized his name

headed tlio Hat. He had five sons—Aaron, Jarcd, Sctli,

David, and William—and two daughters, names unknown.

David IngersoU, of whose family we shall write, married

a Miss Sally Parsons. She was a granddaughter of the

celebrated Jonathan Edwards. They hail thirteen chil-

dren, all of whom grew to maturity, and all of whom

became members of the Congregational branch of the

Christian Church. David was for forty-five years a dea-

con in the Congregational Church in Lee. He died there,

as did also his wife. Erastus, the oldest of the family,

lived in Lee until early manhood, when he emigrated

to the town of Victor, Ontario Co., N. Y. In March,

1806, he was married to Miss Sally Smith, daughter of

Nicholas Smith, who emigrated from Slockl)ridgo, Mass.,

to the Genesee country about the year 1781). Era.Htu8

remained in Victor until 1825, when, having lost his prop-

67

erty in building the locks on the Erie Canal at Rochester,

he with his family came to Oakland Co., Mi<'li., and iicltled

in the town of Farmington, whore there were but a few

families then .settled. They came from Buffalo to Detroit

by scliouner, and were nine days on the lake. In Detroit,

Mr. Ingersoll bought a yoke of oxen and drove by way of

Birmingham to the new home in the wilderness. There

were no roads, and lor three mile.') from his home no hou.'Hts.

His nearest ncighlxir wius a Mr. Powers, who was then

building a mill where the village of Farmington now slauds.

He bought of the government one hundred and sixty acres,

which he cleared and improved. In 1H34 he came U> Clin-

ton County, where he bought five lotA of wild land, and fmir

lots in Eaton County. He located in the town of Delln,

where he built mills. The first school taught in his town

was in his mill, and by his brother, the Uov. K. P. Inger-

soll. He was a soldier in the war of 1812, and a pionc>cr

of whom any new country may be proud. He died in

Farmington, January, 1850.

Eliel, the fifth child of Erastus, was born in Victor,

Ontario Co., N. Y., April 10, 1816. He was married,

Jan. ;!0, 18:i!t, to Mi.ss Dianllia .M. Mcllobcrl, daughter

of James and llachel (Covill; MeUobi'rt. She was born
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in Greenfield, Saratoga Co., N. Y., May 30, 1817. Her

father was born in the lowlands of Scotland, from whence

his mother emigrated to America when he was four years

old. In 1840, Eliel, with his wife and one child, moved

from Oakland County to Watertown, going with a team

and by the way of Howell, and then following a road his

father had cut through to his lands in Clinton and Eaton

Counties. He reached his father's place in midwinter, but

a house of tamarack logs was soon built, and they at once

moved in. Their house and furniture were of the most

primitive kind. Their table was plain boards, their bed-

stead made of poles driven into the logs, and their stairs a

log with notches cut in it for steps. Yet it was home, and

their settlement the foundation for a fine farm. Prior to

this he had bought one hundred and twenty acres of gov-

ernment land in Delta, eighty acres of which he traded for

a team, and the balance was sold to improve his farm in

Watertown. There was nothing cleared on their farm and

no roads. Wild game of every kind was abundant, as was

also nearly every species of snake, from the deadly rattle-

snake to the harmless streaked snake, all of which were a

terror to Mrs. Ingersoll, who often found them uninvited

guests in her home. After locating on his farm they went

to Delta to help rebuild the dams, which had been washed

away, and to help erect new mills. This kept them from

their farm five years, when they returned, and the work of

clearing and improving went on. The result is a well-im-

proved farm of over one hundred acres, the result of years

of toil and economy. Mr. Ingersoll also owns a fine resi-

dence in North Lansing. In politics he is a Republican
;

though he has never sought or wanted ofiice, still he has

held some of the minor oflBces in his township. Mr. and

Mrs. Ingersoll have been for many years members of the

Congregational Church, and are strong sympathizers in the

cause of temperance. Their union has been blessed with

the following children: Lucy E., born Nov. 18, 1839;
John N., Jan. 15, 18-14; Elihu B., Nov. 1, 1849; Eliel

B., Nov. 1, 1852; Augusta L., Nov. 20, 1854; Dwight

C, March 3, 1856; and Carter W., Nov. 19, 1862.

WILLIAM F. DUTTON.

William F. Dutton was born in Chenango Co., N. Y.,

June 23, 1812, and is a true specimen of the American
pioneer. A man of iron constitution, with nerves and
sinews of steel, he never knew the meaning of the words
" fatigue" and " fail." With him to will was to do. Before

his never-tiring arm the forests disappeared from farm after

farm, until but few men can say they have cleared as much
land as he. His father and mother, Robert and Sarah
(Fowler) Dutton, were early settlers in Chenango County,

having settled on their farm when it was entirely new.

When William was fifteen years old he engaged with the

Merchant line as a driver on the Erie Canal. Until he

was twenty-two we find him each summer on the canal in

the diiferent roles of driver, deck-hand, steersman, and

captain, while in the winter he worked in the lumber-woods

of Steuben County getting out ship-timber.

On the 18th day of August, 1836, he was joined in

marriage to Miss Mary Young, daughter of Joseph and

Ellen (Pray) Young, who was born Sept. 5, 1819. Her

parents were Massachusetts people and emigrated to Cayuga

Co., N. Y., when that county was new, and where for years

her father was a drover. He died in Brutus township, same

county. In August, 1836, Mr. and Mrs. Dutton started

for Michigan, going to Buifalo, where they shipped them-

selves and team for Toledo, from whence they drove to

Cass County, following the Chicago road. For a time he

worked land on shares on Prairie Ronde. Prior to this

Mr. Dutton had been to Michigan and had made a pedes-

trian trip over a good deal of the southern part of the

State. He walked from Detroit to White Pigeon in three

days ; thence to Kalamazoo, where he worked on the first

bridge across the Kalamazoo River ; thence by Indian trail

and wagon-road to Grand Rapids, making sixty-five miles

in one day. Near the Rapids he entered one hundred

and twenty acres of land, which he sold without going on

to it.

After working land in Cass County three years he came

to Westphalia and bought one hundred and sixty acres of

wild land, to which there was no road of any description,

and on which he in ten days built a log house, into which

they moved when there were no doors or windows, and

but a portion being floored. Their fire was built against

the logs in one corner of the room, the smoke escaping

through a hole in the roof This was their first home, and

they have never enjoyed life better than in those days. On
this farm they remained six years, clearing forty acres, .setting

out an orchard, and putting up a frame barn. They then

traded for one hundred and sixty acres of wild land in

Ca.ss County. They reached the new farm with but five

dollars in money, and a house to build and winter before

them. But nothing ever daunted Mr. Dutton, and we

soon find him with a comfortable log house, a frame barn,

young orchard, and forty acres cleared. After four years

spent on the Cass County farm, suffering repeated attacks

of the ague, he again sold out, and in the township of Riley,

Clinton Co., he bought one hundred and sixty acres of

wild land, which under his labor and management became

one of the fine farms of Clinton County, with fine build-

ings, orchards, and highly cultivated fields.

In 1874 he again sold out and then came to Watertown,

and bought one hundred and fifty-five acres of land, mostly

cleared, and on which he has built fine buildings (^a view

of which appears on another page of this history), and

where he intends to .spend the remainder of his days, be-

lieving that he has done his share as a pioneer.

In politics Mr. Dutton is an ardent Republican ; was one

term supervisor in Westphalia, and has held other minor

oflices.

Their children are as follows : Ella N., born Jan. 8,

1837; deceased. Harriet, born Dec. 31, 1838; married

to George Green, and now living near Detroit. Ann
Eliza, born Oct. 23, 1842. William Abner, born June

22, 1845 ; enlisted in Company B, Eighth Michigan In-

fantry, and killed June 2, 1864, at Cold Harbor, falling

thus early in life a sacrifice upon the altar of his country's

liberty. Jane, born May 2, 1S49 ; died Aug. 18, 1852.
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GEORGE W. KINNEY.

Among the leading selC-iuade men of Wateitowii we find

the name of George W. Kinney, who was born in the town

of Franklin, New London Co., Conn., Nov. 28, 1828. He
is of 8eotch descent, iiis ance.stors having emigrated from

Scotland to America prior to the Revolution and settled in

Connecticut. When George was nine years old Iii.s parents

moved into Monroe Co, N. Y., where they remained until

1835, when they emigrated to Livingston Co., Mich., and

settled on a new farm in the town of Hartland. On tliis

farm they remained five years, clearing and imiiroving part

of it. George then sold out and came to Clinton County,

where he had previously bought the northea.st quarter of

section 8, in Watertown. The farm was partly improved,

and under his management and industry became a well-im-

proved farm. In the spring of 1852, l)ecoming impregnated

with the gold fever, Mr. Kinney joined a train which was

organizing at l)e Witt, and with it nia<le th(' overland jour-

ney to California. The trip, which was made in si.\ months,

was attended by the interests, hardships, and dangers of an

overland trip to (California at that time. ,\rrive(l in the

El Dorado of the West, he at once went into the mines,

and mo.st of the time for two years and nine nicmths fol-

lowed mining, meeting with fair success. He then returned

to the Stat<!H, coming back by water. Soon after his return

Mr. Kinney sold his farm on seelion 8 and bought the

east three quarters of section 3 in the same town. It was

all new at that lime, but is now mostly improved, and the

work of his own hands, while on it he has erected a fine

house, surrounded by large and commodious nut-buildings.

For his first wife Mr. Kinney married Hannah J. (Jue in

the spring of 1845. To them was born one child, Ade-

laide, born March 2, 184(;; died in September, 1850.

Mrs. Kinney died in June, 184(j. In Seplond)er, 1S4H,

he was again married, his bride being MrK. Hmily II.

Phillips, who died in February, 1871. For liis third wife

Mr. Kinney married Miss .\eh.sah Keed, who was born in

Jack.son, Mich., Dec. 31, 183G. She is daughter of Alson

II. and Dolly (Jackson) Reed. Their union has been bloN«ed

with two children, viz. : A. Carl, born Aug. »j, 1872 (died

Feb. 3, 1877), and Emily F., born .\ug. 2(t, 1875. Mr.

Kinney is and has been for years a member of the Repub-

lican parly, believing it to be the exponent of advanced ideiu

and the champion of the rights of all men under (ho law.

He hiLS been the etandard-bean'r of his parly in lii.s town-

ship for years, having been for nine years HU|KTvimir, and

two yeai-s ehairman of the board, making, ax te.slififd In by

his iKMghbnrs and I'ellow-lownNnien, an cllieirnt oflieiT. He

has also been highway cominisNionur hix yean*, juHlic«> of

tin- peace eight years, and hits held other minor nfficex. He

is a member of the Methodi.st Episcopal Church, and one

of its trustees, while he slands high as a man of integrity

an<l business qualifications.
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STEPHEN HILL,

The oldest settler now living in the town of Watertown

is Stephen Hill, who bought of the government the north-

east quarter of section 15, in 1836. There were then but

few settlers in the town, all of whom have either moved

away, or have gone to that " bourne from whence no trav-

eler returns."

Mr. Hill is of English origin, his ancestors having emi-

grated from the mother-country in the infancy of the

colony. His father, Enoch Hill, was born in New Bruns-

wick, where his parents resided a few years, and from

whence they again returned to Maine, while Enoch was

still a boy, and settled on a piece of wild land in the town

of Whiting, Washington Co. On this farm Enoch grew

to manhood. He married Miss Hepzibeth Gardner, and

still remained on the old homestead, which he owned after

his father's death, and on which Stephen was born Jan. 21,

1809. He too grew to manhood on the old farm, receiving

a good common-school education, better than the majority

of his associates obtained. Becoming desirous of getting a

home of his own and having no means, he, in 1834, came
to Michigan, where land of the best quality was awaiting

the axe of the pioneer, and could be had at a mere nominal

sum. He first stopped in Plymouth, in Wayne County,

where for two years he worked his father-in-law's farm on

shares. He then, as above set forth, bought land in Water-

town, on which he made a permanent settlement in 1837.

On his farm, to which there were no roads or even a trail,

he built a log shanty, its floor of split logs, with but one

window and two doors ; it was still home, and within it

hunger and want were never felt, though its occupants saw

many hardships and privations, as they were then very poor*

With energy and perseverance he at once commenced to

clear and improve his land, which was covered with heavy

timber. But not all of the time could he work on his own

land. He had no surplus means, and had to work for

others to earn means with which to keep the wolf from the

door. He has cleared fifty acres on his own farm and a

good deal on the farms of others. In those early days deer

and other game were plenty, while the wolves had their nest-

ing-places near his home, often making the forest ring with

their howling. But Mr. Hill was not much of a Nimrod,

as he never shot either wolf, deer, or turkey. Years have

passed, and the then forests are now well-improved farms,

homes of intelligent and industrious people, all of which

Mr. Hill has lived to see, and now in the seventy-first year

of his age, surrounded by the comforts his life of toil has

brought him, respected and esteemed by those who know

him best, he is passing away the even- time of life. In

politics he was in early life a Whig, then a llepublican, of

which party he is a stalwart member. He has been town

clerk, highway commissioner, and for years a justice of the

peace. He has also taken a lively interest in schools, and

has been more or less a member of the school-board. Mr.

Hill was married May 7, 1835, to Miss Olive Goooh,

daughter of Benjamin and Lucy (Boynton) Gooch. She

was born in Machias township, Washington Co., Me., Feb.

19, 1816. To them have been born Lucy H., Feb. 2, 1836
;

Warren H., Nov. 24, 1840 ; Bartlett B., Jan. 22, 1843,—

he enlisted in Co. G, Twenty-third Regiment Michigan

Infantry, and died in hospital at or near Strawberry Plain

;
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Ellery B., Oct. 17, 1845 ; Chrksie, March 17, 1848 ; Amos
B., June 8, 1850 ; Frank, Jan. 18, 1854, died Sept. 30,

1858; and Jessie F., Oct. 14, 1856, died Oct. 6, 1858.

Amos B., who is now owner of part of the home-farm, and

with whom Mr. and Mrs. Hill now reside, was married

March 2, 1873, to Miss Lucy Webster, who was born

March 2, 1856. Their children are May, born May 12,

1874, and Pearl, born June 11, 1878.

CHAPTER LXVL

WESTPHALIA TOWNSHIP.*

General Description—^Settlement of the Township—Early Township

Roads—Township Organization and Civil List—Schools—-Village

of Westphalia—Religious History.

Westphalia is the sixth town north of the base-line in

range 4 west of the meridian, and has for its boundaries,

Dallas on the north. Eagle on the south, Riley on the east,

and the Ionia County line on the west. The township,

originally settled by Germans, is populated now almost ex-

clusively by representatives of that race ; indeed, it would

bo difficult to find more than a dozen families in the town

other than those of Germans. Among these latter, Catholi-

cism is the universal religion, and at the village of West-

phalia the people of that faith gather weekly in great

numbers for worship in one of the costliest as well as one

of the most commodious religious temples in the State of

Michigan. In keeping with the characteristics of their

countrymen, the Germans of Westphalia are a thrifty peo-

ple, and, as a class, are exceedingly prosperous and com-

fortably circumstanced. The spirit of Democracy prevails

as the ruling political mainspring, and from the beginning

of the town's existence Democracy has held undisputed

sway. Although Westphalia has no railway conveniences

within its borders, ea.sy access is found to Portland, in Ionia

County, and Fowler, in Dallas township,—both railway

stations, and both desirable markets. The Westphalia,

llubbardston and Northern Railroad was projected through

the town in 1869, and Jan. 20, 1870, the inhabitants voted

by one hundred and ninety-nine ayes to seventy-throe nays

to donate eighteen thousand dollars in aid of the enterprise,

but the act incorporating the railway company was declared

unconstitutional, and there was no railway.

Westphalia, having now a population of seventeen hun-

dred and thirty-eight (last Uniti'd States census), .mIiows an

increase since 1874 of two hundred and forty. There is

still opportunity for advancement in that direction, for

there is in the southorn portion of the town a good di'al of

lowland now unoccuiiiod, which must be in the nature of

things reclaimed for the purposes of agriculture, and thus

will add accordingly in a material way to the development

of the town's resources and woaltli.

SETTLEMENT OK THE TOVVNSllir.

Eminently a German settlement, the township of West-

phalia has been so from the hour it received ita pionoor

• By David Sohwarti.

settlers. Germans first penetrated iu forest recesses, first

peopled it, and first turned it« soil to receive the seed of the

sower. Its inhabitants compose what may be aptly termed
a colony, for they are bound by the common sympathy of a

spirit which has its origin in a common reverence for the

Fatherland, and professing one common religious belief;

while they meet each Sabbath in one common temple of

worship, they are banded together by a fraternal bond that

makes them more like members of one family than of a

community. They find a cause for much pride iu this

fraternal feeling, and they are proud, moreover, of the

hardy and heroic band whose feeble numbera led the way
to the wilderness forty-four years ago, and set up the cor-

ner-stone of what is now a massive and substantial social

fabric.

The sturdy ones who thus advanced to the work when
pioneering meant their lonely i.solalion in the forest-wilds

from those of their kind were three in number, John

Hauses, Anthony Cordes, and Joseph Platte, of whom
but John Hauses still lives. He abides yet upon the place

which in 1836 he chose as his future home, and which he

has seen seen blossom from a dreary stretch of dense wood

into a smiling and fruitful landscape.

In the autumn of 1836, John Hauses, Joseph Platte,

Anthony Cordes, William Theilman, and a Mr. Salter, na-

tives of Westphalia, and recently arrived from Germany in

search of landed homos in America's Far West, met iu

Detroit and took counsel together as to where they would

be best suited with a location. They talked with a Catho-

lic priest in Detroit, and he advising them to seek a loca-

cation in the Grand River country, they lost no time in

setting out. They traveled on foot and rcjiched Lyons by

way of the Dexter road. At Lyons they Iciirned that the

major part of the desirable land tracts in that region had

been taken up by speculators, and that the}' could bo best

accommodated with government land in the town G north,

in range 4 west, now called Wost]ilialia. As thoy were es-

pecially in .search of government lands, since thoy fell they

could not afford to pay speculators' prices, tliey decided to

go over into town 6, and accordingly engaged a Mr. Hunt,

of Lyons, to guide tliem tliitlior. The lands in that town

were not deemed by speculators as worthy their attention,

ina.sinuch a.s there wa.s much undesirable swamp country,

and to that fact is due the oireuin.stunee that llause.s and

his friends found there cheap government landH to suit

them. Indeed, F. J. Snider, now a ronident in the town,

recalls that he visit<-d the place in 1HI2, and found it no

much of a " mud-hole" that he detorminod to get out

of it as fast as he ctmid, and to htay out of il, for to liix

way of thinking il was a |HMir kind of a pincu for a man

to live in.

After looking about, the jiarty of (JiTinani) doeidod to

locate on section 5, where they made tlieir first npp<<Aranoo

Sept. 8, 18.'5t!, and where they enterol seven lot« of eighty

acres each, or the entire «vtii)n i>avi< one lot. liaumw,

Cordus, Platte, and Theilmnn renminetl on the ground and

entered at once iipoTi the work of olenring the land, while

Seller, declining to become a praolieal pidiicrr just then,

returned to Detroit, soon anerwardii Mild his L-uid, and

ended his connection with Westphalia. Theilman remained
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about two months, absented himself for about six months,

and then returning for a permanent stay, settled on sec-

tion 7.

John Hauses was the only one of the pioneer company

unmarried, but he put up a cabin on his place and kept

bachelor's hall alone, after his companions brought their

limilies out from Detroit towards the beginning of Feb-

ruary, 1837. Pearly in 1837 the settlers were joined by

Anthony Kopp, a Catholic priest, who, as will be presently

shown, was a man of much energy and force of character,

and who was an important factor during his brief stay in

the conduct of religious and secular affairs in the little

community. Hauses, who spent the first eighteen months

of his sojourn between clearing his place and working at

Lyons for others, was. upon his return to his bachelor's hall

for a permanent stay stricken down with fever and ague,

and lay thus helpless for the space of six months. He was

then taken in hand by the family of Nicholas Martin, his

neighbor, and .set upon his feet. His marriage to Martin's

daughter, Elizabeth, Feb. 1, 1840, was the pioneer wedding.

It took place at Martin's house, Anthony Kopp, the priest,

performing the ceremony. There was an humble wedding

feast, and then the bride and groom took for their wedding

t'lur a walk from Father Martin's house to the groom's

cabin. Bride and groom still live in the enjoyment of a

hearty old age, after journeying in company more than forty

years.

These first settlers were very poor, and after paying for

their lands had but little left. Such luxuries as doors or

windows for their homes they did not aspire to, but were

rlad to depend upon blankets and sheets, albeit it did cause

the hearts of the women folks to quake with terror when

at night they heard the howls of wolves and expected to

see the beasts dash at any time through the ill-protected

cabin openings and wage a war of slaughter. Poor as they

were they had to pay dearly for what they needed, and

many's the story thal^'s told about the struggles and priva-

tions they were called upon to endure by reason of their

poverty and inability to supply themselves with the common

necessaries of life while waiting for the earth to yield

them of its fruits. As an instance, it cost Anthony Cordes

fifty dollars, about all the money he had in the world, for

bringing a load of household goods from Detroit to his

Westphalia clearing. In the summer of 1837 flour was

lield at twenty-one dollars a barrel at Lyons, and even at

that was bard to get. Mr. Hauses says the timber about

them was so thick that when they wanted to see the sky

they had to chop down a tree.

Following the first comers to Westphalia in 1837 and

1838, Everhard Platte, Michael Thoma, Peter Platte,

Anton Platte, Bernard Rademacher, Michael Thomen,
Lorenz Nasman, and Nicholas Martin joined the settlement.

They came from the same neighborhood in Germany that

had owned the members of the pioneer advance auard, were

in many cases friends of long standing, and had naturally

turned their faces towards new Western homes where they

would meet their old companions.

When Anthony Kopp became one of the settlers, he set

himself at once to the business of providing a church and

school for the settlement. He held religious services in his

log cabin, after the form of the Roman Catholic Church

(for be it remembered that the early as well as the later

settlers in Westphalia were attached to that faith), and

began also to teach school therein. Church and school

were to these Germans adjuncts of great value, and the

establishment thereof they regarded as among the most

serious and important duties of the time. The church and

school thus set up in the wilderness by priest Kopp
gathered strength as time passed on, widening and strength-

ening their influence among the people, and supplying that

bond of social union which, as strangers in a strange land,

sheltered them within the folds of fraternal friendship, and

which has since that time steadily held them to the same

purpose, while they have seen the infant church and school

mount steadily upwards in the scale of expanded useful-

ness, until to-day thousands worship in a common temple,

and nearly half a thousand school children gather within

the walls of a common institution of learning. Later on

will be found a detailed history of church and school from

priest Kopp's time to the present.

Anthony Kopp was a man of mark in the community,

and besides the task of religious and secular teacher, took

also upon himself the role of adviser to his neighbors in all

affairs where his superior intelligence would naturally guide

them. He was much respected, and to his advice the

greatest deference was paid. To his natural energy of

character the settlement owes much of its advancement in

temporal matters, for he took upon himself their direction

at a time when the people, utterly strange to the necessities

and forms of local government, needed some teacher and

adviser. He was the leading spirit in the matter of town

organization, although when it came to the intricate details

and forms of holding the first town-meeting, a cry went up

for an American to assist them, and so Henry Bartow, of

Lyons, came over and set them a model by which they were

easily able to fashion their subsequent records of town

business.

In 1839 there came fresh accessions, for the planting of

this little German colony in the wilds of Michigan became

in some quarters a matter of common fame, while its mem-

bers, communicating with friends in the " faderland," pointed

the way for such as chose to join the earlier and more daring

land-seekers. Among those who came in 1839 were Franz

Rademacher, Conrad Martin, Gottfried Adicman, Mathias

Ott, Anthony Huhn, Peter Areus, and Philip H. Martz.

James J. McRoberts, now living in Dallas, settled that year

on section 12, in Westphalia, and M. McVeigh on section 2.

Following is a list of resident tax-payers of Westphalia

in 1839, which shows nearly what settlers had come to the

township prior to that time :

Acres.

Franz R.idemacher, section '6 SO

Conrad Martin, section 4 80
Mictiael Ttiomen, section 4 40
Goltfrieii Acleluian, section 4 :iS

Antiiony Cordes, section 5 112
Matthias Ott, section 4 3S
John Hauses, section 5 135
Bornhard Rademacher, section 5 24
Anthony Kopp, section 5 80
Nicholas Martin, section 5 (>5

Joseph Piatt, section 5 40
Micliael Tlioiua. section 9 80
A. Huhn, section 10 40
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Acred.

Peter Arens, section 40
.lames J. McKoberts, section 12 80
Piiilij) H. Martz, section 4 40

The early settlers went over to Lyons or Portland when
milling was to be done, and as cattle were scarce the usual

custom was to pack a two bushel bag of wheat upon the

back, carry it on foot through the woods, and bring back the

flour after the same fashion. John Ilauscs says he doesn't

remember carrying barrels of flour from Portland on his

back, but that he does recollect how he used to drag barrels

of flour from there on a hand-sled, and halt every few min-

utes to lift the flour over fallen trees which impeded the

progress of his vehicle. Indeed, the scarcity of ox-teams

was a seriously felt want, and in such work as carrying

fence-rails and doing other similar tugging labor, the back

of the pioneer became sorely weary and sighed for the time

when beasts of burden would become common. Michael

Thome brought the first pair of oxen to the settlement, and

while he was looked upon as a man favored in an extraor-

dinary way by fortune, his oxen were in constant demand,

and so put to the extent of their endeavors as mu.st have

convinced them that to be the only team of cattle in a new

settlement was far from a consoling reflection.

Earlier mention was made that flour was hard to obtain

at Portland or Lyons at even twenty-one dollars a barrel.

Additional mention may be made that other supplies were

proportionately dear, as, for example, meat twenty-five cents

a pound, potatoes two dollars a bushel, and beans six dol-

lars a bushel. Of course the settlers had to buy all needed

supplies while awaiting the growth of their first crops, and

poor as they were in money, it was not always that they

could bless themselves with sufiicient provisions to gratify

their wants, and that hunger intruded its grim front full

many a time and oft, may be well understood. Aprojios

of the poverty of some, it may be noted that Blichacl

Thomen was so poor when he sowed his first crop of wheat

he could not aff'ord a drag, and actually dragged his wheat-

field with bundles of thorn bushes.

The pioneer marriage has already been noted. The first

birth was that of Elizabeth, daughter of Conrad Martin,

born in 1840, and now the wife of Peter Petsch, of Jack-

son. The first death was a daughter of Everhard Platte,

and the first male person to die a son of Anthony Cordes.

Both died in 1839. In 1842, Lorenz Huhn's two infant

children were burned to death in the house of their parents.

The latter, who lived on section 10, went one day into the

"bush," leaving the little ones alone in the house. Not

long after the departure of the parents the house took fire,

and by the time the circumstance was discovered by those

able to help, the dwelling had fallen a prey to the devour-

ing element, and along with it the cliildrcn. The supposi-

tion was of course that they played with lire in some form

and thus destroyed themselves, but just how it all occurred

no one eouM tell.

Ill ISIU there came to the settlement from the Rhine

i-ouiitry in Germany, John Fox, Nicholas Paul, mid .John

Leluiinii, with their faniiliis, and fioin the favonilile rcporl.s

dispatched by them to their friends in Germany, arose the

following year an emigration from the same neighborhood

to Westphalia of fifteen or twenty families, among whom
were those of Lewis Weber, Anton Martin, John Dunn-.--

backer, Joseph Bohr, John Smith, Jacob Newman, Nicho-

las Knipps, Peter Simons, Pet<.>r Servatius, Matliias Bohi.

Maurice Fedewa, and Anthony Fox. Later comers to the

settlement may be named in John and Theodore Schaffor,

Jacob Abfalter, Queriti and John Smith, J. P. Smith, I'eter

Wirth, Mathiits Schafer, Jacob Spitzley, Michael Smitli,

John Pung, John Fox, Adam Fedewa, Theodore Droste,

Anthony Martin, and Mathias Simons.

Lorenz Nasman was the first shoemaker the settlement

had, and Peter Servatius, who came in 1841, the second.

Joseph Platte started a small store at Lyons directly after

his arrival in Westphalia, and when the settlers in the lat-

ter place began to make a respectable show of numbers h.c

opened a similar place on section 5, upon the road now
pa.ssing east and west through the village. That was the

first regularly-constructed highway in the settlement, and

on it Jacob Newman and Joseph Platte kept regularly

licensed taverns about the year 1842. Indians wcio

among their best customers for whi.sky, and to tlie red-

skins they dealt out copious quantities of fire-water in ex-

change for furs, hides, sugar, and anything merchantabl'^

that the savages could offbr. On the same road, in section

4, Joseph Weaver opened the first blacksmith's shop, near

where the church now stands.

English-speaking settlers came to Westphalia at an early

day, but the influx of that class was at no time numerous.

Among the earl i&st, and /Ae earliest in the northern fM)rtion

of the town, were James J. Mclloherts and Simeon .AUt'oy,

both of whom located on section 12 as early as IS^tU, or

perhaps shortly before. In the south, wliere but few

Germans penetrated until a comparatively late date, the

pioneer settler was David Wells, who settled in section 3(i,

in 183U, and who still lives on the place. He came from

Oakland County with his family, whom he lodged a week

at Hovey Spicer's, in Waterlown, while he prepared a cabin

on his own place. He had eleven people to n.ssi.sl al the

raising of his cabin, of whom Anthony and Ezekiel Nilis',

Philo Beers, a blacksmith, David Burge-ss, Mr. Whilnioro,

and the Higbees, were from Eagle, and Ilovey Spicvr,

Ebenezer Smith, and John Andrus, from Watortown.

Wells went through the wikkIs lo Portland lo mill, and

as he had usually to clear hi.i road or cut it out, it look

him two days lo make the trip. HIh children he nonl lo

Waeousta lo school. Getting uie<iieal alleiiduiicu w.us

somewhat troublesome, hut he, like many other MittlvrH In

the vicinity, got so after awliile llnil he cnuld do connider

able doctoring hiin.<telf, and in cilsch of ^imple oiikm.v.

managed very well. Trading wu« done al Juekmm, al-

though it look a good ten diiy.s lo make llu' journey iheiiec

and hack with an ox-ioain. Black i«dln, coon furn, and doer-

skins were ihc carlieitl articlcN which hu could muster lu-

the ba.ti.s of a ilicki^r at the niarkel, and for llii-w he would

bring back flour and other mueh-iiei-ded eomforUi. Cu'«h

was scarce, and »uch n thing iw Helling anything near hoiiu

H)r inonev wiut not to be lliought of, for no merehanl would

give anything but "trade." Me^il was plcnlilul, for game
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was to be had almost for the asking, and settlers had no

reason, therefore, to go hungry unless so disposed.

Wells was the only settler in that portion of West-

phalia for a year or two. Then the Haners, Hazens, and

Nettletons came in, and others soon followed. Among

these latter was John Kelly, who entered two lots on sec-

tion 2.5 in 1851. He himself settled on one of the lots,

and sold the other to his brother Chester, who occupied it

the same year, and still lives on it. It was making a home

in the heart of the woods, although the town had received

a good many settlers. On section 36 were Conrad and

John Haner, who had cut out a road ou the west line of

the section. Northwest of Chester Kelly his nearest

neighbors were William Nettleton and his brother, both of

whom had clearings iu section 23 upon a laid-out angling

road. Abram Bennett located on section 36 in 1853, and

in that year Joseph Kelly occupied on section 35 the place

upon which his son Charles now lives. David Goss located

in March, 1855, on an eighty-acre lot in section 35, which

he had entered some years before ; and in 1857 Christopher

Tallman made his home in section 35, upon a place occu-

pied at a later date by Alfred Williams. Edward Dilling-

ham came to section 36 in 1855, and in that year A. D.

Parkhurst settled on a tract of new land in the same sec-

tion. Edward Rose lived on the old Haner place in 185-t,

nnw occupied by Henry Sanford. Rose also lived in 1860

upon the place where Charles Brown succeeded him two

years after and still occupies. In ] 856, Cook Delamater

entered the farm on section 36 known as the Weatherwax

place, and on section 26 Michael Hayes settled in 185-1,

where his widow still lives. In 1854, also, S. C. Hazen

moved to the farm on sections 34 and 35 settled by his

brother Eber in 1841. Hazen had the only horse-team in

that corner of the town, and he used to haul a good many
supplies between Detroit and northern points before railway

facilities were extended to that country. Even in his time

a journey to mill by ox-team occupied two days, each man
taking turns in going for the entire neighborhood. Coon-

skins and deer-skins brought the cash in Detroit, and as a

consequence hunting for coons and deer was lively business

among the settlers. A little money was realized that way,

and at other times working on the road contracts, road-

bees being the favorite method, for the tax of non-residents,

brought in the welcome cash.

The first school taught in the southeast corner of the

town was one over which Harriet De Witt presided as

teacher in 1853, on section 36.

S. L. Jenkins settled in 1855 on section 31, after a thir-

teen years' residence in Michigan. A Mr. Mitchell was the

original settler upon the place in about 1850. Jenkins

found his neighbors to include Robinson, a blacksmith, just

south of him, and John Wingate,just .south of Robinson's.

North was Mr. Terrill, and still further north J. Colby,

who had been in since 1842. Eastward the land was

swampy, and there but few settlements were made until a

late period. Arnold Dinsmore's son William and son-in-

law, Franklin Naveman, came in a few years afterwards and

began to clear some land on the elder Dinsmore's place,

lying to the eastward, about the first clearing effected in

that locality.

EARLY TOWNSHIP ROADS.

In 1839 the township was divided into three road dis-

tricts. The first comprised all that portion of land situated

on the east section-line between sections 2 and 3, running

from north to south through the town ; the second, all that

land lying between the above-mentioned line and a line

running between sections 4 and 5 ; the third, all the re-

maining land in said township.

May 27, 1839, a road was laid commencing on the north

line of said town, and at the northeast corner of section 6

;

thence running south on section-lines to the southeast corner

of section 6. A second road was laid from the northeast

corner of section 2 to the southeast corner of the same sec-

tion. A third road commenced at the northeast corner of

section 5 and terminated at the southeast corner of the

same section. A fourth road began at the southeast corner

of section 1 and passed to the southwest corner of section

6. July 15, 1839, a road was laid commencing at the

southeast corner of section 12, and extending west on sec-

tions 11 and 14 to the southwest corner of section 11.

Sept. 1, 1840, a road was laid commencing at the southeast

corner of section 11, and running north on section-line one

mile. Sept. 29, 1840, a road was laid commencing at the

northwest corner of section 2, and running to the southwest

corner of the same section. Same date a road was laid frona

the northwest corner of section 8 to the southwest corner

of section 32, running south on section-lines. Nov. 20,

1840, a road was laid from the northwest corner of section

9 to the southwest corner of said section. Oct. 5, 1840, a

road was laid from the southwast corner of section 9 to the

southeast corner of the same section. Oct. 3, 1841, a road

was laid from the northwest corner of section 3 to the

southwest corner of said section. Dec. 25, 1841, a road

was laid from the southwest corner of section 1 to the

northwest corner of the same section.

Nov. 6, 1842, a road was laid from the southeast corner

of section 10 to the southwest corner of the same section.

At a meeting of the commissioners of highways of the

township of Westphalia, on the 24th day of March, a.d.

1846, they divided the road districts in the following

manner:

District No. 1 to contain sections 1, 2, and the north half

of section 11, and the north half of section 12, and to take

all roads in said district, as well as the south half of the

road between sections 2 and 3, and the south half of the

north half of the road between sections 10 and 11.

District No. 2 to contain sections 3 and 4, and to take

all roads in said district, as well as the north half of the road

between sections 2 and 3, the north half of the road between

sections 4 and 5, and the road between sections 3 and 10.

District No. 3 to contain sections 5 and 6, and take all

roads in said district, as well as the south half of the road

between sections 4 and 5 and the road between sections 6

and 7.

District No. 4 to contain sections 7 and 8, and to take

all roads in said district, the road between sections 5 and

8, the north half of the road between sections 8 and 9, and

the road between sections 7 and 18.

District No. 5 to contain sections 9 and 10, and to take

all roads in said district, the south half of the road between

f
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sections 8 and 9, the road between sections 9 and 16, and

the road between sections 4 and 9.

District No. 6 to contain the south half of section 11,

and south half of sections 12, 13, 14, 15, lli, 17, and 18,

and to take all roads in said district, the south half of the

road between sections 10 and 11, the road between sections

8 and 17, the road between sections 10 and 15, the rnail

between sections 13 and 24, the road between sections 15

and 22, and the road between sections 17 and 20.

District No. 7 to contain sections 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24,

27, 28, 29, and 30, and to take all roads in said district,

the road between sections 14 and 23, the road between sec-

tions ll) and 21, and the road between sections 18 and 19.

District No. 8 to contain sections 25, 26, 31, 32, 33, 34,

35, and 36, and to take all roads in said district, and the

road running cast from the northwest corner of section 31,

terminating at the east side of said town.

TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION AND CIVIL LIST.

Town 6 north, in range 4 west, was detached from the

township of Watertown by act of Legislature approved

March 21, 1839, and named Westphalia, suggested ori-

ginally as a name for the town by Rev. Anthony Kopp, in

recognition of the fact that the earliest settlers in the town-

ship came from the province of Westphalia in Germany.

The first township-meeting was held at the house of

Anthony Cordes, April 29, 1839. Anthony Cordes was

appointed moderator, Joseph Cordes clerk, and Philip

Henry Martz, James S. McRoberts, Peter Arens, and An-

thony Kopp inspectors of election. The officials chosen

on that occasion were: Supervisor, Anthony Kopp ; Clerk,

Philip Henry Martz ; Treasurer, Nicholas Martin ; Jus-

tices of the Peace, Gottfried Adleman (four years), An-

thony Cordes (three years), Peter Arens ; Assessors, An-

thony Platte, Philip Henry .Martz, James S. McRoberts
;

Highway Commissioners, Conrad Martin, Nicholas Martin,

John Hauses ; School Inspectors, Peter Arens, Michael

Thoma ; Collector, Mathias Ott ; Ojnstable, Malhias Ott
;

Directors of the Poor, Hernhard Rademacher and Anthony

Cordes ; Overseers of Highways, P'rancis Rademacher, dis-

trict No. 1, Anthony Kopp in district No. 2.

Appended is given a list of the persons chosen annually

from 1840 to 1880 to serve as supervisor, clerk, treasurer,

and justice of the peace :

I810.» J. Dunnebiiukor.

1841. Joseph IMatlo.

1812. A. Kopp.

1813. M. McVeigh.

1814. M. Bivrtow.

1845. William F. Dulton.

I84G-51. M. Bartow, .Jr.

1862-5.3. W.T. Plowman.

1854-59. M. Bartow, Jr.

ISOO-CI. Joseph liohr.

IS 10. A. Kopp.

1S41-42. S. liougbton.

SUPERVISORS.

1862-63. M. Bartow.

1861. J. Bohr.

1865. M. Bartow.

1866. No roconl.

1867-68. M. Bartow.

1869-72. J. P. Yiinckor.

1873-74. J. II. Fcdowa.

1875-76. M. Bartow.

1877-78. J. It. Fo.li.wa.

1879-81). Williiiin .-^milh.

CLERKS.

1843. W. T. Plowman.

1844. S. Oougbton.

1845. P. W. Cmin.

1846. M. MeVeigh.

1S47-48. F. .Martin.

1849. M. McVeigh.

1850. W. Xelllelon.

1851-53. J. A. McVeigh.

1S54. Joseph Bohr.

1855-«."(. Jowph Plan.-. Jr.

IsOl-A.^. J. KiiJt-iuachcr.

ISCrt. Xo recorJ-

18G7-R9. William Suiilh.

IS70-72. T. Platte.

1873-7S. Joseph Arcnf.

1S79-SU. A. A. Koi.

1840.

1811.

1842.

1843.

1844.

1845-

1S47-

1849.

1850.

1851.

1852.

1853.

1854.

1855.

18,i6.

1857.

L. Wieber.

M. Paul.

C. Martin.

J. Diinnobackor.

C. Martin.

46. F. .Martin.

48. Joseph Platlc.

D. Kopfert.

0. Aillcman.

F. Martin.

Joseph Platto.

J. Uailemacher.

P. J. Voosen.

N. Knoiss.

C. Martin.

L. Keusch.

TUEASL'RElt.S.
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Petit.—Moses Bartow, Jr., Samuel Boughton, William

F. Dutton, Gottfried Adleman.

At a meeting of the towusliip board, March 30, 1847,

it appeared that the tax raised in 1846 was four hundred

and twentj'-seven dollars and twentj-two cents, and that

the amount of non-resident tax returned was two hundred

and fifty-five dollars and fifty-two cents.

JURORS FOR ISaO.

Grand.—William T. Plowman, William Nettleton, Sam-

uel Barnes, Milton McVeigh, Moses Bartow, Jr.

Petit.—James A. McVeigh, Francis W. Crain, Conrad

Haner, John Haner, Samuel M. Grain.

June 20, 1853, the township voted five for and seventy

against the adoption of an act prohibiting the manufacture

of, and traffic in, intoxicating beverages.

COUNTY OFFICIALS FROM WESTPHALIA.

Westphalia has furnished the county prosecuting attor-

neys for ten years,—Anthony Cook, six years, and J. H.

Fcdewa, four years; Circuit Court commissioners, four

years,—Anthony Cook and Moses Bartow ; William T.

Plowman as sheriff; Moses T. Bartow as representative,

four years ; and David Goss coroner, four years.

SCHOOLS.

In regard to schools, the first settlors and organizes of

the township being emigrants directly from Germany, a

great prejudice existed against English schools, first, and
mainly, because of the national pride in favor of the Ger-

man language, and secondly, because a feeling prevailed

that a change of language would interfere with their church

interest, which was mainly Roman Catholic, and conse-

quently the progress of English schools was slow until the

Legislature enacted a law that all public records and busi-

ness should be in the English language; and since that

time, and since the passing away of tlie original Germans,
a steady growing interest has been manifested in favor of
Englisli schools. Several causes have conspired to this end.

The first was the enactment of the law that no public

money should be appropriated for any but English schools

;

second, the national pride giving way to the idea that we
are a universal Yankee nation, and that it Ls better for all

business to be done by one universal language ; and thirdly,

on account of the quiet but persistent efforts of some of
the English or American settlers in the township, firet and
foremost being Moses Bartow, the fi.rst American teacher

among the Germans, who taught in a portion of their old

log church in 184C, while in another portion of the same
church a German school was taught, both schools drawing
from the primary-school fund for their support ; but soon
after that, and upon the adoption of the constitution of
1 850, requiring at least three months of free schools each

year, and that the public schools should be conducted in

the English language, a steady-growing interest has arisen

in favor of our State or English schools, until now there

are many good English scholars among the Germans there,

and the business of the township is ably conducted wholly

by the Germans. Moses Bartow, who was originally from

Niagara Co., N. Y., and who lived in the township from

1841 to 1871), was largely conducive and conspicuous among

the American settlers to this end. He was elected super-

visor for twenty years, from 1846 to 1879, for that town-

ship, and upwards of thirty four years a justice of the

peace, and many years school inspector and superintendent

of schools. The township may now be said to be pretty

thorouglily Americanized in regard to schools, and Michi-

ganized in education.

Oct. 2, 1845, school-money was apportioned as follows:

to district No. 1 the sum of eight dollars and forty-one

cents ; to No. 2 the sum of twenty-six dollars and fifty-

nine cents.

In 1843 the sum of thirty dollars was raised for the

support of schools.

May 1, 1846, school district No. 3 was organized to con-

tain sections 26, 27, 27, 28, 33, 34, 35, 36. The dates of

the organizations of districts Nos. 1 and 2 are not fixed by

the records. In 1846 district No. 1 was apportioned nine

dollars and eleven cents, and to district No. 2 the sum of

thirty-one dollars and eighty-nine cents.

District No. 4 was formed April 2, 1853, and commenced

at the northwest corner of section 18, extended south four

miles, thence east two miles, thence north one mile, thence

cast one mile, thence north two miles, thence west two

miles, thence north one mile, thence west one mile to the

place of beginning. It contained sections 18, 19, 20, 21,

28, 29, 30, 31, and 32. Directly afterwards sections 29,

30, 31, and 32 were detached from district No. 4 and

organized as district No. 5.

District No. 6 was formed March 11, 1854, to comprbe

sections 1, 2, the north half of section 11, and the whole

of section 12 except the southwest quarter.

April 14, 1855, district No. 7 was formed to include sec-

tions 3, 4, 9, and 10, except the southeast quarter of the

section last named.

April 23, 1856, the mill-tax of 1855 was apportioned as

follows

:

District No. 1 $18.65
" 2 27.32
" 3 10.94
" 6 0.48
" 7 20.57
" 8 17.37

Total $100.33

District No. 9 was organized April 8, 1863, and included

sections 33, 34, 27, southeast quarter of section 28, north

half of the southwest quarter and the south half of the

northwest quarter of section 26, the southwest quarter of

section 22, southeast quarter of section 21, the northeast

quarter and southwest quarter of section 28,—the district

being formed from portions of districts Nos. 1, 3, and 4.

Appended is given a list of the teachers appointed between

1845 and 1865:

June 23, 1845.—Martha Jones.

Nov. 1, 1845.—Moses Bartow, Jr.

Dec. 5, 1846.—George Godez, Moses Bartow (2d).

April 13, 1850.—Anthony Fox.

June 8, 1854.—Harriet De Witt, Lucy M. Jenkson.

July 6, 1854.—Ursula Vance.
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Feb. 21, 1855.—Anthony Fox.

Nov. 25, 1854.—Benjamin and Ann McOmbor.

Nov. 3, I860.—B. C. McOmber, E. L. Tracy, J. H.

Burgcs.s, Peter Wirth.

Nov. 24, I860.—John T. Cornue.

May 30, ISGl.—Miss Lodima L. Brown.

Nov. 2, 1861.— C. J. Hill, John H. Goss, Henry D.

Hall, Emma T. Boss, Mary E. Plowman.

Nov. 25, 1861.—Henry N. MeVcigh.

May 21, 1864.—Sarah Ann Thuma, Abbie Tlioma.

June 1, 1864.—Peter Manar.

Nov. 5, 1861.—Nettie Leonard.

Nov. 18, 1864.-Miss Wood.

Nov. 19, 1864.—Miss Loots.

Nov. 29, 1864.—Julia A. Plowman.

Dec. 17, 1864.—Addie L. Packard.

April 8, 1865.—Caroline Bissell.

April 29, 1865.—Sarah M. Backus.

The annual school report for 1879 gives the following

details

:

Nural>cr of Pcliool districts (wl)olc, 6j fractional, 1)... 7

Number of scholiirs of sctiool age 620
Average attendance 178
Value uf school property $.3850

Teachers' wages $824

The school directors for 1879 were Peter Petsch, S. C.

Hayscn, J. P. Seoo, William II. Hubbard, Peter Fedcwa,

Mathew Thelcn, and L. Kensch.

THE VILLAGE OF WESTPHALIA.

Apart from the church building, the first improvement

made upon the present site of the village of Westphalia

was a house put up in 1849 by Anton Dunnebackor, a

shoemaker. That house is now included in the building

known as the village tavern. Dunncbacker sold his place

to Joseph Platte, who tran.sfcrred his store from section 5,

and became the pioneer trader of the embryo village. I'latte

owned considerable land thereabout, and his object in re-

moving his store was to found a village. His lead was fol-

lowed by others, and in due time the town took on shape

and population. Platte opened his store in 1852, and in

1854 John A. Fedcwa opened a second store just west of

where John Hafner now has a wagon-shop. In 1856 a

very important impetus was given to the growth of the vil-

lage in the erection of a saw-mill by Joseph Platle, John

Smith, and Joseph Bohr, and in 1858, in tiie addition by

the same parlies of a grist-mill. In 1854, Joseph Platte

sold his store business to his son Joseph, Jr., and Caspar

Radcmacher, who materially enlarged the premi.sos. In

1862, Platte & Radcmacher erected on the corner opposite

their place the store now owned by Thoma & Co. Their

old store was sold to Bernard Ilademacher (who had pre-

viously kejit a house of entertainment on section 3), who

converted it into a tavern, to whicli use it hius since bet^n

devoted. Platte & lladcmaclicr kept the only store in the

village for a time. In 1868 they dissolved, when llade-

uiacher retired .md built the briek store now occujiied by

Joseph Arens & Co. Each continued iu business on his

own account, and each ultimately failing, the business of

both pa.ssed to the contnil of Tlioina, Arens it Co.

Christopher Thiel started a small biewery in the village

in 1861, and carried it on until 1SG6, when Peter Thoma
and Peter Arens built tlic Clinton Brewery, just north of

the village, and straightway monopolized the busines.s. In

1866, Joseph Bohr and John Smith built the pastoral resi-

dence at the village; the new church was already under way,

and the village w:is well along as a thriving place. In 18G5,

Snitgen & Radcmacher opened a hardware-store, Jo.seph

Siiitgen having for several years previous been carrying on

business as a blacksmith at Westphalia. In 1868 the

boiler of the grist-mill exploded; and besiiles destroying the

mill, killed John Smith, one of the proprietors. His son

William was buried beneath the ruins, tiiid other persons in

and about the premises were roughly handled, but except

the death of Mr. Smitii no serious accident to life or limb

was occasioned. The saw-mill w;is at once rebuilt by Wil-

liam Smith, but the grist-mill was not replaced until 1872,

when Frank Nocker, the present proprietor, put up the

present structure, containing tiirec run of stones. Mr.

Nocker does considerable custom and merchant work, and

manufactures for shipment to Detroit about two hundred

barrels of flour per month.

VlhLAtiE PHYSICIANS.

In the early days of Westphalia's settlement medical at-

tendance was obtained from Ionia, Lyons, and Portland.

In 1848 one Dr. Seinliolt settled in Westphalia as a resi-

dent physician, and remained until 1857. He is now liv-

ing in Howard City. His successors in the settlement have

been Drs. Fisher, Stokes, Sauer, Shaltuek, Dellenbaugh,

and Ilerres. Dr. Simon Herres is now the only resident

physician in Westphalia.

POST-OFFICE.

The Westphalia post-office was probably established in

1850 or before. Rev. George Godilz was the first post-

master. As he could write the English, and as a large

majority of the townspeople couKl not, he was ordinarily

kept pretty busy superscribing letters for his German fellow-

citizens and patrons of the office. Mail came once a week

over the route from De Witt northward. Jo.sejih Platte, Jr.,

was the second postmaster, serving from 1854 to I87i!, and

alter liiiu Joseph Snitgeu, the present ineuinhent, took

pos.sessiori. A daily mail has been received at ^\'e^lphalia

since 1863.

POPULATIO.V AND BUSINESS.

Within the mile .s(iU!ire inclosing tlie villugu the popu-

lation numbered in July, 1880, just three hiindretl and

ninety-two. The business iiiterest.s were represented by

the genera! stores of Fox & Sniigen, Areiis Si Co., and

Thoma & Co., tlie drug-store of J. P. Bertram, William

Smith's tavern, the wagon-shops of John Hafner, Peter

Bauer, and Peter Doll, Frank Noeker's grist-mill, William

Smith's saw-mill, fiiur boot- and shoenianulaelurers, liar-

ne»i-makcr, photographer, etc.

ItKLKIIOl .s ni.sTOUY.

ST. MARY'S (UOM.\N CATIIOMO) I'lIUIlCIl.

It litm already been related that lussuon as Anthony Kopp,

the ]iricst, joined the selllcrd in \Vest|ihalia he founded a
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church and school. Kopp had served in the priesthood in

Germany, and in the new field opened before him in a new

world he engaged at once with much enthusiastic vigor

upon the work he was called to perform. After Kopp es-

tablished his log cabin a.s a church and school he continued

the exercises in both with unfailing regularity, and when,

amid the growth of his duties as teacher and participator

in affairs that concerned the civil government, he found his

duties becoming laborious beyond his capacity, he engaged

a young German of Detroit, by name Cronus, to come out

and teach the school. Presently the priest's log cabin be-

coming too small for the increasing church congregration,

a second and larger log church was built upon the site now

occupied by the pastoral residence. After a time the sec-

ond house of worship, like its predecessor, was found in-

adequate to supply places for all who came, and so a third

(framed) church was built just west of' the other. The

new building was capable of holding three or four liuudrcd

people, and tlie general opinion seemed that tha't church at

least would be large enough and remain large enough, but

these calculations, as will be seen, were greatly at fault. In

18G7 it became evident that enlarged church capacity must

be provided, for the congregation had risen in numbers to

something like a thousand, and so, upon consultation, it

was decided to build not only a massive and commodious,

but likewise a magnificent temple, which should be alike

a source of architectural pride and a place where all who

came, although they might number two thousand, might

find shelter and places. The result was the noble struc-

ture which now at the village of Westphalia touches the

clouds with its lofty spire, and remains an object of unfail-

ing satisfaction to those wlio worship beneath its roof.

Anthony Kopp labored among the people six years, and

saw that his labors were fruitful in establishing church and

school upon an enduring foundation. Newer and more

needy fields then inviting him he passed on, and although

he came no more to Westphalia, he cherished his work

there in fond remembrance, watched its progress with

anxious solicitude, and to the day of his death was in

kindly and friendly communication with the people, who
remember him and speak of him reverently and gratefully.

His successor, Rev. George Godez, began his labors in

1843, and continued them uninterruptedly with the con-

gregation of St. Mary's Church for the space of thirty years,

or until the year 1873, when the infirmities of age warned

him that he was unable to longer perform the duties at-

tendant upon his laborious service, and so, at his own re-

quest, be was transferred to a narrower sphere of action.

A service of thirty years had endeared him to his people,

and the severance of the bonds which had so long bound

them was a painful incident to both pastor and congrega-

tion. During Father Godez' time the church made re-

markable advancement, and provided not only the present

ehureli edifice, but the fine school building and pastoral

residence as well. Father Godez is still, at the age of sev-

enty-five, preaching at Greenfield, Mich.

His succc.s.sors at Westphalia have been Revs. Trotteu-

berg, Lightner, Reifurth, and Hcrwig. The first two were

in ciiarge of the work but a brief .«paee, while Rev. Mr.

Reil'urth's term of service extended over a period ol' five

years. Rev. William Ilerwig, the present pastor, was

called to the charge from Stony Creek (near Monroe) in

the autuu n of 1879.

The church edifice, which was begun in 18G7, was com-

pleted in 18G9, and although the people contributed con-

siderable free labor such as hauling lumber, brick, and other

materials, besides rendering minor other services, the total

cost of the structure is stated to have been upwards of

S70,t)00. Seven hundred and fifty thousand brick were

used in the construction, and these brick, as well as those

used in building the pastoral residence and the school,

were of course burned upon the ground. The two latter

buildings, located near the church, arc handsome edifices,

and cost about SIO.OOO each, the pastoral residence

having been built in 1868 and the school in 1873. The

aggregate wealth represented in the church, school, parson-

age, and surroundings reaches therefore the sum of fully

SIOO.OOO.

The church contains a seating capacity for fifteen hun-

dred people, while an additional five hundred or more may

be accommodated in an emergency. The exterior, of mas-

sive and imposing appearance, has a front of sixty feet and

a depth of one hundred and thirty-three feet. In the inte-

rior an arched roof is supported by massive pillars. The

distance from floor to ceiling measures thirty-three feet.

The spire that surmounts the majestic pile points its glist-

ening cross towards the heavens at a distance of one hun-

dred and sixty feet from mother earth. The central altar-

piece, magnificent in artistic design and decoration, is thirty

feet in height by twenty feet in width and in keeping with

its character ; the interior of the edifice is lavishly embel-

lished upon ceiling and walls with paintings and frescoes.

A large pipe-organ, purchased in Milwaukee at a cost of

three thousand dollars, occupies space in a gallery facing

the altar. The organist, Mr. Henry Horstman, is employed

exclusively in that capacity.

Few such churches may be -seen anywhere aside from

large business centres, and that Westphalia, the abode of a

rural population, can boast it testifies in an eloijuent way

to the religious devotion and liberality of the people. It

is no uncommon thing to see two thousand persons in at-

tendance at worship of a Sunday, and in this temple

—

striking in its artistic emlicllishmcnts, impressive in its

roomy architecture, and crowded with the faithful—the

spectacle offered is one that weighs with no slight effect

upon the human mind.

To this church come worshipers from five townships,

—

Lyons, Portland, Westphalia, Dallas, and Riley,—and .so

steadily do their numbers increase that even now there is

talk of affording increased church accommodations. The

temporal afi'airs of church and school, and all property

incidental thereto, are managed and held in trust by a board

of trustees five in number. The members of the board

for ISSO are Joseph Martin, Franz Wolfart, Joseph Dunne-

backer, Beniliard Hauses, and Joseph Tohiu.

ST. MAUY'S (RO.MA.V CATHOLIC) SCHOOL.

Upon the establishment of St. Mary's Church a parish

school was at ouee instituted and placed under the direct

charge of the priest. Father Kopp taught the school him-
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self until increased duties led him to jirovide another

teacher in the person of one Cronus, of Detroit. Cronus

remained only a short time, and after returning to Detroit

lost his life by accidental drowning. Anton Fuchs was his

successor, and from that time until 18(58 various teachers,

aided and directed by the pastor, guided school affairs. In

1868 the institution was given over to the charge of the

Sisters of the Immaculate Conception, and under their

charge it remained until 1874. Meanwhile—the school

having occupied quarters in the church buildings—a hand-

some brick school was erected for the parish by William

Smith, in 1873, at a cost of about ten thousand dollars.

In 187-t the school was transferred to the charge of the

Sisters of Charity, who have since then continued in con-

trol. These are five in number (three Germans and two

Americans), and with three other sisters reside in a com-

mon home provided for them near the school. The names

of these eight sisters are Boniface, Bouaventure, Eulalia,

Ildephonse, Pulcharia, Olga, Justina, and Fcbronia. The

school is supported by the church, is absolutely free to all

members of the church congregation, and contains four

departments, aggregating an attendance of four hundred

scholars, who are taught in both the German and Engli.sh

languages. Many of these children come to school from a

distance of three, four, and even six miles, and although

many of these latter board in the village during the week,

a few travcr.se the distance morning and evening.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

FRANK NOEKER.

Westphalia township affords many fine examples of suc-

cessful business enterprise as the result of industry and

close application, though perhaps the most signal instance is

discovered in the career of Mr. Noekor. He is the sou of

Frank Noeker, who was born in Westphalia, Prussia, ia

1801, as was also his son, Frank, who.sc birth occurred in

December, 1834. When eleven years of age the parents

were induced, at the earnest solicitation of their sou, to

emigrate to America, and after a weary pajeage and an ad-

ditionally tedious voyage on the Erie Canal, they landed in

Detroit. Mr. Noeker iiurcha-sod an unimproved farm three

miles from the city, where he resided until bis death in

187t). The son, having previously been educated in the

rudiments in his native land, devoted himself to farming

pursuits, and at the age of twentj'-five married Miss Mary

Damitio, of Detroit, who was a native of the township of

llamtrawick, where her parents were among the early Ger-

man pioneers. Jlr. Noeker, during the nine years that

followed, was occupied with his farming duties varied by

the exciting life of a local politician. Land in the immediate

vicinity having increased rapidly in value, he decided to

sell his possessions and remove to Westphalia, which he

did in 1867. He became the popular host of the township,

and four ycai-s later erected an extensive flouring-mill, which

so absorbed his time as to induce him to .sell the hotel

property.

lie has since the first year of his arrival filled the office

of justice of the peace, and Inis also served as school di-

rector and drain conmiissioner. The political campaign of

1879 found him the successful candidate of the Democratic

party as representative of his district in the State Legisla-

ture, where he for two years with ability and dignity filled

this responsible jwsition. Mr. Noeker, by his force of

character and manliness, has attained a cousideruble influ-

ence among the people of his own nationality, while his

genial character has rendered him deservedly pojiular with

I-hem.
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